
Selection From: Budget - 02/29/2012 2:00 PM 2012 Regular Session 

Committee Packet 06/11/2013 1:20 PM 

Agenda Order  

 

Page 1 of 2 

SB 378 by Richter; (Identical to H 0243) Expert Testimony 

813362  A      S     RCS         BC, Simmons               Delete L.22 - 47:        03/02 09:39 AM   

 

SB 1470 by Norman; (Identical to H 7029) Repeal of Administrative Rules 

 

CS/SB 1860 by BI, Negron; (Compare to CS/CS/2ND ENG/H 0119) Motor Vehicle Personal Injury Protection Insurance 

635522  A      S     RCS         BC, Richter               Delete L.99 - 166:       02/29 10:04 PM   
394864  AA     S     RCS         BC, Richter               Delete L.21 - 23:        02/29 10:04 PM   
344314  A      S     WD          BC, Richter               Delete L.296 - 1482:     02/29 10:04 PM   
611128  AA     S     WD          BC, Bogdanoff             Delete L.271:            02/29 10:04 PM   
811080  SA     S     WD          BC, Richter               Delete L.296 - 1482:     02/29 10:04 PM   
402646  AA     S     WD          BC, Bogdanoff             Delete L.401 - 406:      02/29 10:04 PM   
310400  AA     S     WD          BC, Altman                Delete L.1500 - 1611:    02/29 10:04 PM   
101792  ASA    S     WD          BC, Margolis              btw L.1160 - 1161:       02/29 10:04 PM   
616172  A      S     UNFAV       BC, Negron, Richter       Delete L.515 - 1373:     02/29 10:04 PM   
884922  AA     S     WD          BC, Negron                Delete L.32:             02/29 10:04 PM   
930134  AA     S     UNFAV       BC, Bennett               Delete L.51 - 53:        02/29 10:04 PM   
588602  AA     S     FAV         BC, Bennett               Delete L.93 - 104:       02/29 10:04 PM   
283150  AA     S     UNFAV       BC, Bogdanoff             Delete L.99 - 104:       02/29 10:04 PM   
380020  AA     S     FAV         BC, Bennett               Delete L.99 - 104:       02/29 10:04 PM   
734834  AA     S     FAV         BC, Altman                Delete L.691 - 694:      02/29 10:04 PM   
233818  ASA    S     FAV         BC, Margolis              btw L.894 - 895:         02/29 10:04 PM   
671694  A      S     UNFAV       BC, Bennett               Delete L.536 - 537:      02/29 10:04 PM   
835420  A      S     UNFAV       BC, Bogdanoff             Delete L.537:            02/29 10:04 PM   
675780  A      S     RCS         BC, Flores                Delete L.684:            02/29 10:04 PM   
465220  A      S     WD          BC, Negron                Delete L.703 - 729:      02/29 10:04 PM   
731792  A      S     UNFAV       BC, Bennett               Delete L.929 - 935:      02/29 10:04 PM   
626062  A      S     WD          BC, Negron                Delete L.1161 - 1162:    02/29 10:04 PM   
253974  A      S     RCS         BC, Flores                Delete L.1275:           02/29 10:04 PM   
878070  A      S     RCS         BC, Flores                Delete L.1298 - 1338:    02/29 10:04 PM   

 

SB 1312 by Gaetz; (Compare to H 4055) Administrative Authority of the Executive Branch 

590742  D      S     RCS         BC, Gaetz                 Delete everything after  03/02 09:39 AM   
174152  AA     S     RCS         BC, Gaetz                 Delete L.243 - 368:      03/02 09:39 AM   
383452  AA     S     RCS         BC, Simmons               Delete L.695 - 775.      03/02 09:39 AM   

 

CS/SB 402 by HR, Negron (CO-INTRODUCERS) Fasano; (Similar to CS/CS/H 0227) Prescription Drug Abuse 

508608  A      S     RCS         BC, Negron                btw L.51 - 52:           03/02 09:39 AM   
627262  A      S     UNFAV       BC, Bogdanoff             btw L.80 - 81:           03/02 09:39 AM   

 

SB 1606 by Bennett; (Similar to H 1375) Postsecondary Education 

405394  D      S     RCS         BC, Lynn                  Delete everything after  03/02 09:39 AM   

 

CS/CS/SB 1404 by JU, BI, Altman; (Similar to CS/CS/H 0643) Title Insurance 

685126  A      S     UNFAV       BC, Bennett               btw L.112 - 113:         03/02 09:30 PM   

 



Selection From: Budget - 02/29/2012 2:00 PM 2012 Regular Session 

Committee Packet 06/11/2013 1:20 PM 

Agenda Order  

 

Page 2 of 2 

CS/SB 1304 by BFT, BFT; (Compare to CS/2ND ENG/H 7099) Tax Administration 

708046  A      S     WD          BC, Bogdanoff             btw L.56 - 57:           03/02 09:39 AM   
500824  A      S     RCS         BC, Hays                  Before L.57:             03/02 09:39 AM   
114152  A      S     RCS         BC, Bogdanoff             Delete L.70 - 72:        03/02 09:39 AM   
832714  A      S     RCS         BC, Altman                btw L.162 - 163:         03/02 09:39 AM   
665438  A      S     RCS         BC, Bogdanoff             btw L.500 - 501:         03/02 09:39 AM   
290932  A      S     RCS         BC, Norman                btw L.558 - 559:         03/02 09:39 AM   

 

CS/SB 1256 by BFT, BFT; (Compare to CS/2ND ENG/H 7097) Administration of Property Taxes 

727222  A      S     RCS         BC, Norman                Delete L.147:            03/02 09:39 AM   
274206  A      S     RCS         BC, Norman                Delete L.211:            03/02 09:39 AM   
430154  A      S     RS          BC, Bennett               Delete L.225 - 229:      03/02 09:39 AM   
504124  SA     S     RCS         BC, Altman                Delete L.225 - 229:      03/02 09:39 AM   
189614  A      S     RCS         BC, Norman                Delete L.270 - 278:      03/02 09:39 AM   
663754  A      S     WD          BC, Altman                btw L.326 - 327:         03/02 09:39 AM   
337722  A      S     WD          BC, Altman                Delete L.343 - 346:      03/02 09:39 AM   
968486  A      S     RCS         BC, Norman                Delete L.544 - 545:      03/02 09:39 AM   
460970  A      S     WD          BC, Benacquisto           btw L.642 - 643:         03/02 09:39 AM   
688732  A      S     RCS         BC, Norman                btw L.642 - 643:         03/02 09:39 AM   
868778  A      S     WD          BC, Altman                btw L.642 - 643:         03/02 09:39 AM   
967692  A      S     RCS         BC, Benacquisto           btw L.642 - 643:         03/02 09:39 AM   
593480  A      S     RS          BC, Bogdanoff             btw L.695 - 696:         03/02 09:39 AM   
715646  SA     S     RCS         BC, Bogdanoff             btw L.695 - 696:         03/02 09:39 AM   

 

CS/CS/SB 202 by BJA, CF, Flores; (Compare to CS/CS/1ST ENG/H 0099) Sexual Exploitation 

855154  D      S     RCS         BC, Flores                Delete everything after  03/02 09:52 PM   

 

CS/SB 1382 by CF, Bennett; (Identical to CS/CS/H 1077) Service Animals 

610732  A      S     RCS         BC, Bennett               Delete L.245 - 252:      03/03 04:09 PM   
757156  A      S     RCS         BC, Bennett               Delete L.281 - 285:      03/03 04:09 PM   

 

CS/SB 1782 by EP, Latvala (CO-INTRODUCERS) Alexander; (Similar to CS/CS/H 1383) Fish and Wildlife 
Conservation Commission 

 

CS/SB 256 by BEA, Flores; (Compare to CS/1ST ENG/H 0291) Youth and Student Athletes 

535120  D      S     RCS         BC, Flores                Delete everything after  03/03 04:09 PM   

 

CS/CS/SB 2094 by AG, CU, CU; (Similar to CS/CS/1ST ENG/H 7117) Energy 

957254  D      S     RCS         BC, Hays                  Delete everything after  03/02 09:52 PM   
979666  AA     S     FAV         BC, Bogdanoff             Delete L.72 - 73:        03/02 09:52 PM   
794782  AA     S     TP          BC, Bennett               btw L.842 - 843:         03/02 09:52 PM   
364270  AA     S     UNFAV       BC, Siplin                btw L.1091 - 1092:       03/02 09:52 PM   
695254  A      S     WD          BC, Bennett               btw L.877 - 878:         03/02 10:14 PM   
782228  A      S     WD          BC, Siplin                btw L.1105 - 1106:       03/02 09:52 PM   



 

 S-036 (10/2008) 
02292012.1813 Page 1 of 6 

2012 Regular Session    The Florida Senate  

 COMMITTEE MEETING EXPANDED AGENDA 

   

    BUDGET 

 Senator Alexander, Chair 

 Senator Negron, Vice Chair 

 
MEETING DATE: Wednesday, February 29, 2012 

TIME: 2:00 —5:30 p.m. 
PLACE: Pat Thomas Committee Room, 412 Knott Building 

MEMBERS: Senator Alexander, Chair; Senator Negron, Vice Chair; Senators Altman, Benacquisto, Bennett, 
Bogdanoff, Flores, Gaetz, Hays, Joyner, Lynn, Margolis, Montford, Norman, Rich, Richter, Simmons, 
Siplin, Sobel, Thrasher, and Wise 

 

TAB BILL NO. and INTRODUCER 
BILL DESCRIPTION and 

SENATE COMMITTEE ACTIONS COMMITTEE ACTION 

 
1 
 

 
SB 378 

Richter 
(Identical H 243) 
 

 
Expert Testimony; Providing that a witness qualified 
as an expert by knowledge, skill, experience, training, 
or education may testify in the form of an opinion as 
to the facts at issue in a case under certain 
circumstances; requiring the courts of this state to 
interpret and apply the principles of expert testimony 
in conformity with specified United States Supreme 
Court decisions; subjecting pure opinion testimony to 
such requirements; providing that facts or data that 
are otherwise inadmissible in evidence may not be 
disclosed to the jury by the proponent of the opinion 
or inference unless the court determines that the 
probative value of the facts or data in assisting the 
jury to evaluate the expert’s opinion substantially 
outweighs the prejudicial effect of the facts or data, 
etc. 
 
JU 01/12/2012 Favorable 
BC 02/28/2012 Not Considered 
BC 02/29/2012 Fav/CS 
 

 
Fav/CS 
        Yeas 21 Nays 0 
 

 
2 
 

 
SB 1470 

Norman 
(Identical H 7029) 
 

 
Repeal of Administrative Rules; Providing for repeal 
of administrative rules upon the repeal of the law 
implemented; providing a process for summary repeal 
of administrative rules that are no longer in effect; 
nullifying specific administrative rules adopted by the 
Northwest Florida Water Management District, 
Suwannee River Water Management District, St. 
Johns River Water Management District, Southwest 
Florida Water Management District, South Florida 
Water Management District, the former Department of 
Commerce, the former Department of Health and 
Rehabilitative Services, Health Program Office, the 
former Advisory Council on Intergovernmental 
Relations, or the former Department of Labor and 
Employment Security; directing the Department of 
Health and the Department of Education to initiate 
necessary rulemaking before the effective date of 
specified rule nullifications, etc. 
 
GO 01/26/2012 Favorable 
BC 02/28/2012 Not Considered 
BC 02/29/2012 Favorable 
 

 
Favorable 
        Yeas 20 Nays 0 
 



COMMITTEE MEETING EXPANDED AGENDA 

Budget 
Wednesday, February 29, 2012, 2:00 —5:30 p.m.            
 

 

 S-036 (10/2008) 
02292012.1813 Page 2 of 6 

TAB BILL NO. and INTRODUCER 
BILL DESCRIPTION and 

SENATE COMMITTEE ACTIONS COMMITTEE ACTION 

 
3 
 

 
CS/SB 1860 

Banking and Insurance / Negron 
(Compare CS/CS/H 119, H 523, S 
254, Link CS/S 1862) 
 

 
Motor Vehicle Personal Injury Protection Insurance; 
Providing that certain entities exempt from licensure 
as a health care clinic must nonetheless be licensed 
in order to receive reimbursement for the provision of 
personal injury protection benefits; providing that 
knowingly submitting false, misleading, or fraudulent 
documents relating to licensure as a health care 
clinic, or submitting a claim for personal injury 
protection relating to clinic licensure documents, is a 
fraudulent insurance act under certain conditions; 
authorizing the Division of Insurance Fraud of the 
Department of Financial Services to establish a 
direct-support organization for the purpose of 
prosecuting, investigating, and preventing motor 
vehicle insurance fraud, etc. 
 
BI 02/02/2012 Fav/CS 
BC 02/28/2012  
BC 02/29/2012 Fav/CS 
 

 
Fav/CS 
        Yeas 15 Nays 5 
 

 
4 
 

 
SB 1312 

Gaetz 
(Compare H 4055, H 4133, CS/H 
7055) 
 

 
Administrative Authority of the Executive Branch; 
Affirming that Executive Orders 11-72 and 11-211 are 
consistent with the law and public policy of this state; 
providing that gubernatorial appointees are generally 
subject to the oversight, direction, and control of the 
Governor; specifying that an agency head who is 
appointed by and serves at the pleasure of the 
Governor remains subject to the supervision, 
direction, and control of the Governor; specifying that 
certain acts of an agency head who serves at the 
pleasure of an appointing authority are official acts, 
notwithstanding the authority of an appointing 
authority to direct and supervise the agency head, 
etc. 
 
GO 01/26/2012 Favorable 
BC 02/28/2012 Not Considered 
BC 02/29/2012 Fav/CS 
 

 
Fav/CS 
        Yeas 13 Nays 6 
 

 
5 
 

 
CS/SB 402 

Health Regulation / Negron 
(Similar CS/CS/H 227) 
 

 
Prescription Drug Abuse; Creating the Statewide 
Task Force on Prescription Drug Abuse and 
Newborns; requiring that the Department of Legal 
Affairs provide the task force with necessary staff, etc. 
 
HR 12/07/2011 Fav/CS 
BJA 01/12/2012 Favorable 
BC 02/28/2012 Not Considered 
BC 02/29/2012 Fav/CS 
 

 
Fav/CS 
        Yeas 19 Nays 1 
 

 
6 
 

 
SB 1606 

Bennett 
(Similar H 1375) 
 

 
Postsecondary Education; Creating the 
Postsecondary Education Study Committee, etc. 
 
HE 02/09/2012 Favorable 
BC 02/28/2012 Not Considered 
BC 02/29/2012 Fav/CS 
 

 
Fav/CS 
        Yeas 19 Nays 0 
 



COMMITTEE MEETING EXPANDED AGENDA 

Budget 
Wednesday, February 29, 2012, 2:00 —5:30 p.m.            
 

 

 S-036 (10/2008) 
02292012.1813 Page 3 of 6 

TAB BILL NO. and INTRODUCER 
BILL DESCRIPTION and 

SENATE COMMITTEE ACTIONS COMMITTEE ACTION 

 
7 
 

 
CS/CS/SB 1404 

Judiciary / Banking and Insurance 
/ Altman 
(Similar CS/CS/H 643, Compare 
CS/CS/H 645, CS/CS/CS/H 725, 
Link CS/CS/S 1406) 
 

 
Title Insurance; Specifying continuing education 
requirements for title insurance agents; specifying 
additional grounds to deny, suspend, revoke, or 
refuse to renew or continue the license or 
appointment of a title insurance agent or agency; 
requiring an attorney serving as a title or real estate 
settlement agent to deposit and maintain certain 
funds in a separate trust account and permit the 
account to be audited by the applicable title insurer, 
unless prohibited by the rules of The Florida Bar; 
providing procedures and requirements relating to the 
approval or disapproval of title insurance forms by the 
Office of Insurance Regulation, etc. 
 
BI 01/26/2012 Fav/CS 
JU 02/09/2012 Fav/CS 
BC 02/28/2012 Not Considered 
BC 02/29/2012 Not Considered 
 

 
Not Considered 
 

 
8 
 

 
CS/SB 1304 

Budget Subcommittee on Finance 
and Tax / Budget Subcommittee 
on Finance and Tax 
(Compare CS/H 7099) 
 

 
Tax Administration; Providing that charges for the 
storage of towed vehicles are taxable, unless the 
vehicles are impounded by a local, state, or federal 
law enforcement agency; subjecting a dealer to 
monetary and criminal penalties for the willful failure 
to collect certain taxes or fees after notice of the duty 
to collect the taxes or fees by the Department of 
Revenue; deleting provisions relating to the 
imposition of criminal penalties after notice by the 
Department of Revenue of requirements to register as 
a dealer or to collect taxes; revising the due date for 
funds collected by the clerks of court to be transmitted 
to the Department of Revenue, etc. 
 
BFT 01/24/2012 Fav/CS 
BC 02/28/2012 Not Considered 
BC 02/29/2012 Fav/CS 
RC   
 

 
Fav/CS 
        Yeas 19 Nays 0 
 

 
9 
 

 
CS/SB 1256 

Budget Subcommittee on Finance 
and Tax / Budget Subcommittee 
on Finance and Tax 
(Compare CS/H 7097, CS/S 156) 
 

 
Administration of Property Taxes; Revising the 
definitions of the terms “assessed value of property” 
and “complete submission of the rolls”; providing that 
a taxpayer has a right to have a hearing before the 
value adjustment board rescheduled if the hearing is 
not commenced within a certain period after the 
scheduled time; limiting the review of changes in the 
assessed value of real property resulting from an 
informal conference with the taxpayer to a review by 
the Department of Revenue or a designated entity; 
deleting provisions requiring that the tax collector 
report amounts of deferred tax liability to the 
Department of Revenue; clarifying provisions relating 
to the rental of a homestead dwelling, etc. 
 
BFT 01/24/2012 Fav/CS 
BC 02/28/2012 Not Considered 
BC 02/29/2012 Fav/CS 
RC   
 

 
Fav/CS 
        Yeas 18 Nays 0 
 



COMMITTEE MEETING EXPANDED AGENDA 

Budget 
Wednesday, February 29, 2012, 2:00 —5:30 p.m.            
 

 

 S-036 (10/2008) 
02292012.1813 Page 4 of 6 

TAB BILL NO. and INTRODUCER 
BILL DESCRIPTION and 

SENATE COMMITTEE ACTIONS COMMITTEE ACTION 

 
10 
 

 
CS/CS/SB 202 

Budget Subcommittee on Criminal 
and Civil Justice Appropriations / 
Children, Families, and Elder 
Affairs / Flores 
(Compare CS/CS/H 99) 
 

 
Sexual Exploitation; Citing this act as the "Florida 
Safe Harbor Act;" authorizing delivery of children 
alleged to be dependent and sexually exploited to 
short-term safe houses; providing for a presumption 
that placement of a child alleged to have been 
sexually exploited in a short-term safe house is 
necessary; providing requirements for findings in a 
shelter hearing relating to placement of an allegedly 
sexually exploited child in a short-term safe house; 
providing for a presumption that placement of a child 
alleged to have been sexually exploited in a safe 
house is necessary; requiring assessment of certain 
children for placement in a safe house; providing for 
use of such assessments; providing requirements for 
safe houses receiving such children; requiring an 
annual report concerning safe-house placements; 
requiring circuits of the Department of Children and 
Family Services to address child welfare service 
needs of sexually exploited children as a component 
of their master plans; providing duties, etc. 
 
CF 12/07/2011 Fav/CS 
BJA 01/19/2012 Fav/CS 
BC 02/28/2012 Temporarily Postponed 
BC 02/29/2012 Not Considered 
 

 
Not Considered 
 

 
11 
 

 
CS/SB 1382 

Children, Families, and Elder 
Affairs / Bennett 
(Identical CS/CS/H 1077) 
 

 
Service Animals; Citing this as the "Dawson and 
David Caras Act"; removing provisions related to 
service animals; specifying rights of an individual 
accompanied by a service animal; providing penalties 
for denying or interfering with admittance to or 
enjoyment of a public accommodation; providing 
rights of housing to the owner or trainer of a service 
animal; providing a penalty for misrepresentation as 
an owner or trainer, etc.  
 
CF 02/09/2012 Fav/CS 
BC 02/28/2012 Not Considered 
BC 02/29/2012 Not Considered 
 

 
Not Considered 
 



COMMITTEE MEETING EXPANDED AGENDA 

Budget 
Wednesday, February 29, 2012, 2:00 —5:30 p.m.            
 

 

 S-036 (10/2008) 
02292012.1813 Page 5 of 6 

TAB BILL NO. and INTRODUCER 
BILL DESCRIPTION and 

SENATE COMMITTEE ACTIONS COMMITTEE ACTION 

 
12 
 

 
CS/SB 1782 

Environmental Preservation and 
Conservation / Latvala 
(Similar CS/CS/H 1383) 
 

 
Fish and Wildlife Conservation Commission; 
Transferring and reassigning functions and 
responsibilities of the Division of Law Enforcement, 
excluding the Bureau of Emergency Response, within 
the Department of Environmental Protection to the 
Division of Law Enforcement within the Fish and 
Wildlife Conservation Commission; reassigning the 
Bureau of Emergency Response within the 
Department of Environmental Protection to the 
Secretary of Environmental Protection, as the Office 
of Emergency Response, within the Department of 
Environmental Protection; providing for a 
memorandum of agreement between the department 
and the commission regarding the responsibilities 
between the commission and the department, etc. 
 
EP 01/30/2012 Fav/CS 
AG 02/13/2012 Favorable 
BC 02/28/2012 Not Considered 
BC 02/29/2012 Not Considered 
 

 
Not Considered 
 

 
13 
 

 
CS/SB 256 

Budget Subcommittee on 
Education Pre-K - 12 
Appropriations / Flores 
(Compare CS/H 291, S 948) 
 

 
Youth and Student Athletes; Requiring independent 
sanctioning authorities to adopt policies to inform 
certain officials, coaches, and youth athletes and their 
parents of the nature and risk of certain head injuries; 
requiring that a signed consent form be obtained 
before the youth participates in athletic practices or 
competitions; requiring that a youth athlete be 
immediately removed from an athletic activity 
following a suspected head injury; requiring written 
clearance from an appropriately licensed and trained 
physician who is qualified in the field of neurology 
before the youth resumes athletic activities; requiring 
the Florida High School Athletic Association to adopt 
policies to inform certain officials, coaches, and 
student athletes and their parents of the nature and 
risk of certain head injuries, etc.  
 
ED 11/02/2011 Favorable 
HR 12/07/2011 Favorable 
BEA 01/24/2012 Temporarily Postponed 
BEA 01/31/2012 Fav/CS 
BC 02/28/2012 Not Considered 
BC 02/29/2012 Not Considered 
 

 
Not Considered 
 



COMMITTEE MEETING EXPANDED AGENDA 

Budget 
Wednesday, February 29, 2012, 2:00 —5:30 p.m.            
 

 

 S-036 (10/2008) 
02292012.1813 Page 6 of 6 

TAB BILL NO. and INTRODUCER 
BILL DESCRIPTION and 

SENATE COMMITTEE ACTIONS COMMITTEE ACTION 

 
14 
 

 
CS/CS/SB 2094 

Agriculture / Communications, 
Energy, and Public Utilities / 
Communications, Energy, and 
Public Utilities 
(Similar CS/CS/H 7117, Compare 
CS/CS/CS/CS/H 503, H 743, 
CS/CS/H 1021, CS/CS/S 716, S 
1074) 
 

 
Energy; Authorizing a municipality to collect special 
assessments to pay the additional costs to purchase 
renewable energy for the municipality; adding factors 
for the Public Service Commission to consider in 
reviewing the 10-year site plans submitted to the 
commission by electric utilities; providing for a portion 
of the proceeds of the local government infrastructure 
surtax to be used for financial assistance to 
homeowners who make energy efficiency 
improvements or install renewable energy devices; 
providing a sales tax exemption for materials used in 
the distribution of biodiesel, ethanol, and other 
renewable fuels; exempting from regulation under ch. 
366, F.S., the sale of electricity to the public for the 
purpose of electric vehicle charging stations, etc. 
 
CU 02/06/2012 Fav/CS 
AG 02/13/2012 Fav/CS 
BC 02/28/2012 Not Considered 
BC 02/29/2012 Not Considered 
 

 
Not Considered 
 

 
 
 

 
Other Related Meeting Documents 
 
 

 
 
 

 



The Florida Senate 

BILL ANALYSIS AND FISCAL IMPACT STATEMENT 
(This document is based on the provisions contained in the legislation as of the latest date listed below.) 

Prepared By: The Professional Staff of the Budget Committee 

 

BILL:  CS/SB 378 

INTRODUCER:  Budget Committee and Senator Richter 

SUBJECT:  Expert Testimony 

DATE:  March 1, 2012 

 

 ANALYST  STAFF DIRECTOR  REFERENCE  ACTION 

1. Munroe  Cibula  JU  Favorable 

2. Harkness  Rhodes  BC  Fav/CS 

3.        

4.        

5.        

6.        

 

I. Summary: 

This bill conforms the standards for the admission of expert testimony in Florida courts to the 

Federal Rules of Evidence. 

 

The bill amends section 90.702, Florida Statutes, to prohibit an expert witness from testifying in 

the form of an opinion or otherwise unless the testimony satisfies the following additional 

criteria: 

 

 The testimony is based on sufficient facts or data; 

 The testimony is the product of reliable principles and methods; 

 The witness has applied the principles and methods reliably to the facts of the case. 

 

As a result of the amendments, the effect of section 90.702, Florida Statutes, is conformed to the 

effect of Federal Rule of Evidence 702. 

 

The bill amends section 90.704, Florida Statutes, to prohibit the disclosure of inadmissible facts 

or data to a jury by the proponent of an expert opinion or by inference unless the court 

determines that their probative value in assisting the jury’s evaluation of the expert’s opinion is 

substantially outweighed by their prejudicial effect. As a result of the amendments, the effect of 

section 90.704, Florida Statutes, is conformed to the effect of Federal Rule of Evidence 703. 

 

REVISED:         



BILL: CS/SB 378   Page 2 

 

The bill further requires courts to interpret and apply sections 90.702 and 90.704, Florida 

Statutes, in accordance with Daubert v. Merrell Dow Pharmaceuticals, Inc., 509 U.S. 579 (1993) 

and several related federal cases.
1
 

 

Currently, Florida courts employ the standard articulated in Frye v. United States, 293 F. 1013 

(D.C. Cir. 1923), which requires the party who wants to introduce the expert opinion testimony 

into evidence to show that the methodology or principle has sufficient reliability. Under the bill, 

Frye and subsequent Florida decisions applying or implementing Frye will no longer apply to a 

court’s determination of the admissibility of expert witness testimony in the form of opinion and 

a court’s determination of the basis of the expert’s opinion. 

 

The bill provides an effective date of July 1, 2012. 

 

This bill substantially amends sections 90.702 and 90.704, Florida Statutes. 

II. Present Situation: 

Admission of Expert Testimony (Daubert or Frye Standard) 

Expert testimony has been used to assist the trier of fact in both civil and criminal trials for a 

wide range of subjects, including polygraph examination, battered woman syndrome, child abuse 

cases, and serum blood alcohol. The Florida Rules of Civil Procedure define an “expert witness” 

as a person duly and regularly engaged in the practice of a profession who holds a professional 

degree from a university or college and has had special professional training and experience, or 

one possessed of special knowledge or skill about the subject upon which called to testify.
2
 

Courts use expert witness testimony when scientific, technical, or other specialized knowledge 

may assist the trier of fact in understanding evidence or determining facts in issue during 

litigation. The Florida Evidence Code provides that the facts or data upon which an expert bases 

an opinion or inference may be those perceived by, or made known to, the expert at or before 

trial. If the facts or data are of a type reasonably relied upon by experts in the subject to support 

the opinion expressed, the facts or data need not be admissible in evidence.
3
 The Florida 

Supreme Court has considered the issue of whether experts can testify on direct examination that 

they relied on the hearsay opinions of other experts in forming their opinions.
4
 The Court held 

that an expert is not permitted to testify on direct examination that the expert relied on 

consultations with colleagues or other experts in reaching his or her opinion because it 

impermissibly permits the testifying experts to bolster their opinions and creates the danger that 

the testifying experts will serve as conduits for the opinions of others who are not subject to 

cross-examination.
5
 The Court emphasized that its holding did not preclude experts from relying 

on facts or data that are not independently admissible if the facts or data are a type reasonably 

relied upon by experts in the subject.
6
 

 

                                                 
1
 General Electric Co. v. Joiner, 522 U.S. 136 (1997), and Kumho Tire Co. v. Carmichael, 526 U.S. 137 (1999). 

2
 Fla. R. Civ. P. 1.390(a). 

3
 Section 90.704, F.S. 

4
 Linn v. Fossum, 946 So. 2d 1032 (Fla. 2006). 

5
 Id. at 1033. 

6
 Id. 



BILL: CS/SB 378   Page 3 

 

Frye Standard 

To admit scientific testimony into evidence, Florida courts currently use the standard governing 

the admissibility of scientific expert testimony imposed in Frye v. United States, 293 F. 1013 

(D.C. Cir. 1923).
7
 If the subject matter involves new or novel scientific evidence, the Frye 

standard requires the party who wants to introduce the expert opinion into evidence to show that 

the methodology or principle has sufficient reliability. In Frye, the court held that the “principle 

or discovery” must be sufficiently established to “have gained general acceptance in the 

particular field in which it belongs.”
8
 

 

The Florida Supreme Court imposes four steps in its articulation of the Frye test: 

 

1. The trial judge must determine whether such expert testimony will assist the jury in 

understanding the evidence or in determining a fact in issue. 

2. The trial judge must decide whether the expert’s testimony is based on a scientific principle 

or discovery that is “sufficiently established to have gained general acceptance in the 

particular field in which it belongs.” 

3. The trial judge must determine whether a particular witness is qualified as an expert to 

present opinion testimony on the subject in issue. 

4. The judge may then allow the expert to render an opinion on the subject of his or her 

expertise, and it is then up to the jury to determine the credibility of the expert’s opinion, 

which it may either accept or reject.
9
 

 

The Florida Supreme Court noted that, under Frye, the court’s inquiry focuses only on the 

general acceptance of the scientific principles and methodologies upon which an expert relies to 

give his or her opinion.
10

 The Frye test is satisfied through the court’s finding of proof of general 

acceptance of the basis of an expert’s opinion.
11

 Once the basis or foundation is established for 

an expert’s opinion, the finder of fact may then assess and weigh the opinion for its value.
12

 

 

The Frye test is not applicable to all expert opinion proffered for admissibility into evidence. If 

the expert opinion is based solely on the expert’s experience and training, and the opinion does 

not rely on something that constitutes new or novel scientific tests or procedures, then it may be 

admissible without meeting the Frye standard.
13

 By example, Florida courts admit medical 

expert testimony concerning medical causation when based solely on the expert’s training and 

experience.
14

 One court in determining the admissibility of medical expert testimony noted that 

Frye was not applicable to medical testimony (pure opinion) because the expert relied on his 

analysis of medical records and differential diagnosis rather than a study, test, procedure, or 

methodology that constituted new or novel scientific evidence.
15

 

                                                 
7
 Stokes v. State, 548 So. 2d 188 (Fla. 1989). 

8
 Frye v. United States, 293 F. 1013, 1014 (D.C. Cir. 1923). 

9
 Ramirez v. State, 651 So. 2d 1164, 1166-67 (Fla. 1995). 

10
 Marsh v. Valyou, 977 So. 2d 543, 549 (Fla. 2007). 

11
 Id. 

12
 Id. 

13
 Id. at 548. See also Charles W. Ehrhardt, Florida Evidence, s. 702.3 (2011 ed.). 

14
 See, e.g., Cordoba v. Rodriguez, 939 So. 2d 319, 322 (Fla. 4th DCA 2006); Fla. Power & Light Co. v. Tursi, 729 So. 2d 

995, 996 (Fla. 4th DCA 1999). 
15

 Gelsthorpe v. Weinstein, 897 So. 2d 504, 510-11 (Fla. 2d DCA 2005); See also, Marsh, 977 So. 2d at 548-49. 



BILL: CS/SB 378   Page 4 

 

 

Florida Rules of Evidence 

The Florida Evidence Code is codified in ch. 90, F.S. Section 90.102, specifies that the chapter 

replaces and supersedes existing statutory or common law in conflict with its provisions. As 

previously noted, the Florida Supreme Court regularly adopts amendments to the Evidence Code 

as rules of court when it is determined that the matter is procedural rather than substantive. The 

Florida Evidence Code requires an expert to demonstrate knowledge, skill, experience, training, 

or education in the subject matter to qualify as an expert.
16

 In a concurring opinion, one justice 

has argued that the Florida Supreme Court has “never explained how Frye has survived the 

adoption of the rules of evidence.”
17

 Justice Anstead also noted that the Florida Supreme Court 

has continued to apply Frye in determining the admissibility of scientific expert opinion 

testimony after the adoption of the Florida Rules of Evidence, but has done so without any 

mention that the rules do not mention Frye or the test set out in Frye.
18

 

 

Daubert Standard 

The Frye standard was used in federal courts until 1993 when the U.S. Supreme Court issued its 

opinion in the case of Daubert v. Merrell Dow Pharmaceuticals, Inc.
19

 The U.S. Supreme Court 

held that Federal Rule of Evidence 702 had superseded the Frye test, and it announced a new 

standard for determining the admissibility of novel scientific evidence.
20

 Under the Daubert test, 

when there is a proffer of expert testimony, the judge as a gatekeeper must make “a preliminary 

assessment of whether the reasoning or methodology underlying the testimony is scientifically 

valid and of whether that reasoning or methodology properly can be applied to the facts in 

issue.”
21

 The Court announced other factors that a court may consider as part of its assessment 

under the Daubert test for the admissibility of expert scientific testimony: 

 

 Whether the scientific methodology is susceptible to testing or has been tested; 

 Whether the theory or technique has been subjected to peer review and publication; 

 Whether in the case of a particular scientific technique, the court ordinarily should consider 

the known or potential rate of error; and 

 The existence and maintenance of standards controlling the technique’s operation.
22

 

 

Federal Rule of Evidence 702 was amended in 2000 to reflect Daubert and other decisions 

applying Daubert.
23

 In General Electric Co. v. Joiner, the U.S. Supreme Court held that abuse of 

discretion is the appropriate standard of review for an appellate court to apply when reviewing a 

trial court’s decision to admit or exclude evidence under Daubert.
24

 In Kumho Tire Co. v. 

Carmichael, the Court held that a trial judge is not bound by the specific factors outlined in 

                                                 
16

 Section 90.702, F.S. 
17

 Marsh, 977 So. 2d at 551 (Anstead, J., concurring). 
18

 Id. 
19

 Daubert v. Merrell Dow Pharmaceuticals, Inc., 509 U.S. 579 (1993). 
20

 Id. 
21

 Id. at 592-93. 
22

 Id. at 592-94. 
23

 Fed. R. Evid. 702, Advisory Committee Notes for 2000 Amendments. 
24

 General Electric Co. v. Joiner, 522 U.S. 136, 139 (1997). 



BILL: CS/SB 378   Page 5 

 

Daubert, but depending on the circumstances of the particular case at issue, the judge may 

consider other factors in his or her assessment under Daubert.
25

 Additionally, the Court in 

Kumho Tire Co. held that the trial judge’s obligation to be a gatekeeper is not limited to scientific 

testimony but extends to all expert testimony.
26

 

 

The Weisgram v. Marley Co. case, a part of the Daubert progeny, was a wrongful death action 

against a manufacturer of heaters in which the plaintiff introduced expert testimony that the 

alleged heater defect caused a house fire.
27

 The Court held that a federal appellate court may 

direct the entry of judgment as a matter of law when the court determines that evidence was 

erroneously admitted at trial and the remaining evidence that was properly admitted is 

insufficient to support the jury verdict.
28

 The plaintiffs obtained a jury verdict based on the 

expert testimony that the heater was defective and that the heater’s defect caused the fire.
29

 The 

U.S. Supreme Court affirmed the Court of Appeals’ reversal of the jury verdict, finding that the 

expert testimony offered by the plaintiff was speculation under Federal Rule of Evidence 702 as 

explicated in Daubert regarding the defectiveness of the heater.
30

 The Court found the plaintiff’s 

fears unconvincing that “allowing [federal] courts of appeals to direct the entry of judgment for 

defendants will punish plaintiffs who could have shored up their cases by other means had they 

known their expert testimony would be found inadmissible.”
31

 The Court stated that Daubert put 

parties on notice regarding the exacting standards of reliability demanded of expert testimony.
32

 

III. Effect of Proposed Changes: 

The bill conforms the standard for Florida courts to admit expert witness testimony to the 

Federal Rule of Evidence 702 and the standard articulated in Daubert. The requirements for a 

witness qualified as an expert by knowledge, skill, experience, training, or education to testify in 

the form of an opinion are revised to impose additional criteria for the admissibility of the 

testimony. Under the new criteria a court must consider whether: 

 

 The testimony is based on sufficient facts or data; 

 The testimony is the product of reliable principles and methods; and 

 The witness has applied the principles and methods reliably to the facts of the case.  

 

The bill requires Florida courts to interpret and apply requirements for the admissibility of expert 

witness testimony and the determination of the basis of an expert’s opinion, in accordance with 

Daubert and subsequent U.S. Supreme Court decisions applying Daubert.
33

 Frye and subsequent 

Florida decisions applying or implementing Frye will no longer apply to a court’s determination 

of the admissibility of expert witness testimony in the form of opinion and a court’s 

determination of the basis of the expert’s opinion. 

                                                 
25

 Kumho Tire Co. v. Carmichael, 526 U.S. 137, 147-52 (1999). 
26

 Id. 
27

 Weisgram v. Marley Co., 528 U.S. 440 (2000). 
28

 Id. at 445-46. 
29

 Id. 
30

 Id. at 445-47. 
31

 Id. at 455-56. 
32

 Id. 
33

 General Electric Co. v. Joiner, 522 U.S. 136 (1997), and Kumho Tire Co. v. Carmichael, 526 U.S. 137 (1999).  



BILL: CS/SB 378   Page 6 

 

 

The bill amends s. 90.704, F.S., to specify that facts or data that are otherwise inadmissible in 

evidence may not be disclosed to the jury by the proponent of an opinion or by inference unless 

the court determines that the probative value of the facts or data in assisting the jury to evaluate 

the expert’s opinion substantially outweighs the prejudicial effect of the facts or data.
34

 With the 

bill’s amendment to s. 90.704, F.S., the language of the section tracks Federal Rule of Evidence 

703. 

 

Under the bill, all proposed expert testimony, including pure opinion testimony as described in 

Marsh v. Valyou, 977 So. 2d 543 (Fla. 2007) must comply with ss. 90.704 and 90.702, F.S., in 

accordance with Daubert and its progeny as interpreted by federal courts. Moreover, the bill 

provides that any facts or data that are otherwise inadmissible in evidence may not be disclosed 

to the jury by the proponent of the opinion or inference unless the court determines that the 

probative value of the facts or data in assisting the jury to evaluate the expert’s opinion 

substantially outweighs the prejudicial effect of the facts or data. 

 

The bill provides an effective date of July 1, 2012. 

IV. Constitutional Issues: 

A. Municipality/County Mandates Restrictions: 

None. 

B. Public Records/Open Meetings Issues: 

None. 

C. Trust Funds Restrictions: 

None. 

D. Other Constitutional Issues 

There is a balance between enactments of the Legislature and the Florida Supreme Court 

on matters relating to evidence. The Legislature has enacted and continues to revise 

ch. 90, F.S., and the Florida Supreme Court tends to adopt these changes as rules. The 

Florida Supreme Court regularly adopts amendments to the Evidence Code as rules of 

court when it is determined that the matter is procedural rather than substantive. If the 

Florida Supreme Court views the changes in this bill as an infringement upon the Court’s 

authority over practice and procedure, it may refuse to adopt the changes in the bill as a 

rule.
35

 

                                                 
34

 Linn, 946 So. 2d at 1036-1037 (Florida Supreme Court acknowledging that s. 90.704, F.S., is modeled after Federal Rule 

of Evidence 703). 
35

 See, e.g., In re Florida Evidence Code, 782 So. 2d 339 (Fla. 2000) (Florida Supreme Court adopting amendments to the 

Evidence Code to the extent procedural and rejecting a hearsay exception as a rule of court); compare with In re Florida 

Evidence Code, 372 So. 2d 1369 (Fla. 1979) (Florida Supreme Court adopting the Florida Evidence Code to the extent it is 

procedural); In re Florida Evidence Code, 376 So. 2d 1161 (Fla. 1979). 



BILL: CS/SB 378   Page 7 

 

V. Fiscal Impact Statement: 

A. Tax/Fee Issues: 

None. 

B. Private Sector Impact: 

Generally, in civil litigation such as negligence actions, the plaintiff has the burden of 

proof on issues essential to his or her cause of action.
36

 The change in the new 

evidentiary standard may have a fiscal impact on the outcome of lawsuits or the number 

of such lawsuits. 

 

It is difficult to quantify the fiscal impact of the bill’s change in evidentiary standards for 

the admission of expert opinions. It may or may not result in a need for additional pre-

trial hearings depending on the manner in which it is actually implemented by the courts. 

C. Government Sector Impact: 

The committee substitute adds Fyre criteria to the proposed Daubert criteria language.   

As with the original bill’s language, the change in the standard to admit expert opinions 

in Florida courts may have an impact on the number of pre-trial hearings needed, but it is 

difficult to estimate due to the unavailability of data needed to quantify any increase or 

decrease in judicial workload. 

 

Under the bill’s original language, the Florida Prosecuting Attorneys Association (FPAA) 

estimated a recurring fiscal impact of between $1-$1.25 million due to “expert expenses 

and the utilization of Assistant State Attorneys’ time in the more complicated cases.”
37

 

According to the FPAA, the committee substitute would allow “established science” to 

meet a Frye standard, while new and emerging scientific testimony would be subject to 

the Daubert standard.  As a result, the FPAA estimates that the “hybrid” standard would 

reduce the fiscal impact in half to $500,000-$625,000. 

 

In criminal proceedings, the state may incur additional costs in litigating the application 

and interpretation of the new standards supplied in this bill. There may also be some 

short-term costs to educate judges on the application of the new standards. 

VI. Technical Deficiencies: 

None. 

                                                 
36

 Gooding v. Univ. Hosp. Bldg., Inc., 445 So. 2d 1015, 1018 (Fla. 1984). “On the issue of the fact of causation, as on other 

issues essential to his cause of action for negligence, the plaintiff, in general, has the burden of proof.”(quoting Prosser, Law 

of Torts § 41 (4th ed. 1971)). Id. 

 
37

 Florida Prosecuting Attorneys Association, Fiscal Impact of Senate Bill 378, January 10, 2012 (on file with the Senate 

Budget Committee). 



BILL: CS/SB 378   Page 8 

 

VII. Related Issues: 

None. 

VIII. Additional Information: 

A. Committee Substitute – Statement of Substantial Changes: 
(Summarizing differences between the Committee Substitute and the prior version of the bill.) 

CS by Budget Committee on March 1, 2012: 

 Adds additional criteria for permitting a witness to testify as an expert witness. 

B. Amendments: 

None. 

This Senate Bill Analysis does not reflect the intent or official position of the bill’s introducer or the Florida Senate. 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. SB 378 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì813362ÉÎ813362 

 

Page 1 of 2 

2/27/2012 7:13:53 PM 576-04090-12 

LEGISLATIVE ACTION 

Senate 

Comm: RCS 

03/02/2012 

 

 

 

. 

. 

. 

. 

. 

. 

House 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The Committee on Budget (Simmons) recommended the following: 

 

Senate Amendment (with title amendment) 1 

 2 

Delete lines 22 - 47 3 

and insert: 4 

Section 1. Section 90.702, Florida Statutes, is amended to 5 

read: 6 

90.702 Testimony by experts.— 7 

(1) If scientific, technical, or other specialized 8 

knowledge will assist the trier of fact in understanding the 9 

evidence or in determining a fact in issue, a witness qualified 10 

as an expert by knowledge, skill, experience, training, or 11 

education may testify about it in the form of an opinion, or 12 

otherwise, if: 13 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. SB 378 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì813362ÉÎ813362 

 

Page 2 of 2 

2/27/2012 7:13:53 PM 576-04090-12 

(a) The testimony is based upon sufficient facts or data; 14 

(b) The testimony is the product of reliable principles and 15 

methods; and 16 

(c) The witness has applied the principles and methods 17 

reliably to the facts of the case; however, the opinion is 18 

admissible only if it can be applied to evidence at trial. 19 

(2) The threshold required by subsection (1) to permit a 20 

witness to testify as an expert witness is satisfied if the 21 

principles or methods on which such knowledge is based are 22 

generally accepted by the relevant expert community. 23 

(3) The stated testimonial requirements apply in any case 24 

in which the expert opinion testimony is based on scientific, 25 

technical, or other specialized knowledge. 26 

 27 

================= T I T L E  A M E N D M E N T ================ 28 

And the title is amended as follows: 29 

 30 

Delete lines 7 - 11 31 

and insert: 32 

circumstances; providing that the elements necessary 33 

to permit a witness to testify as an expert witness 34 

are satisfied if the principles or methods on which 35 

such knowledge is based are generally accepted by the 36 

relevant expert community; providing for 37 

applicability; amending s. 90.704, F.S.; providing 38 



Florida Senate - 2012 SB 378 

 

 

 

By Senator Richter 

 

 

 

 

37-00133D-12 2012378__ 

Page 1 of 3 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

A bill to be entitled 1 

An act relating to expert testimony; amending s. 2 

90.702, F.S.; providing that a witness qualified as an 3 

expert by knowledge, skill, experience, training, or 4 

education may testify in the form of an opinion as to 5 

the facts at issue in a case under certain 6 

circumstances; requiring the courts of this state to 7 

interpret and apply the principles of expert testimony 8 

in conformity with specified United States Supreme 9 

Court decisions; subjecting pure opinion testimony to 10 

such requirements; amending s. 90.704, F.S.; providing 11 

that facts or data that are otherwise inadmissible in 12 

evidence may not be disclosed to the jury by the 13 

proponent of the opinion or inference unless the court 14 

determines that the probative value of the facts or 15 

data in assisting the jury to evaluate the expert’s 16 

opinion substantially outweighs the prejudicial effect 17 

of the facts or data; providing an effective date. 18 

 19 

Be It Enacted by the Legislature of the State of Florida: 20 

 21 

Section 1. Section 90.702, Florida Statutes, is amended to 22 

read: 23 

90.702 Testimony by experts.— 24 

(1) If scientific, technical, or other specialized 25 

knowledge will assist the trier of fact in understanding the 26 

evidence or in determining a fact in issue, a witness qualified 27 

as an expert by knowledge, skill, experience, training, or 28 

education may testify about it in the form of an opinion, or 29 

Florida Senate - 2012 SB 378 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

37-00133D-12 2012378__ 

Page 2 of 3 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

otherwise, if: 30 

(a) The testimony is based upon sufficient facts or data; 31 

(b) The testimony is the product of reliable principles and 32 

methods; and 33 

(c) The witness has applied the principles and methods 34 

reliably to the facts of the case; however, the opinion is 35 

admissible only if it can be applied to evidence at trial. 36 

(2) The courts of this state shall interpret and apply the 37 

requirements of subsection (1) and s. 90.704 in accordance with 38 

Daubert v. Merrell Dow Pharmaceuticals, Inc., 509 U.S. 579 39 

(1993); General Electric Co. v. Joiner, 522 U.S. 136 (1997); and 40 

Kumho Tire Co., Ltd. v. Carmichael, 526 U.S. 137 (1999). Frye v. 41 

United States, 293 F. 1013 (D.C. Cir. 1923) and subsequent 42 

Florida decisions applying or implementing Frye no longer apply 43 

to subsection (1) or s. 90.704. All proposed expert testimony, 44 

including pure opinion testimony as discussed in Marsh v. 45 

Valyou, 977 So. 2d 543 (Fla. 2007), is subject to subsection (1) 46 

and s. 90.704. 47 

Section 2. Section 90.704, Florida Statutes, is amended to 48 

read: 49 

90.704 Basis of opinion testimony by experts.—The facts or 50 

data upon which an expert bases an opinion or inference may be 51 

those perceived by, or made known to, the expert at or before 52 

the trial. If the facts or data are of a type reasonably relied 53 

upon by experts in the subject to support the opinion expressed, 54 

the facts or data need not be admissible in evidence. Facts or 55 

data that are otherwise inadmissible shall not be disclosed to 56 

the jury by the proponent of the opinion or inference unless the 57 

court determines that their probative value in assisting the 58 



Florida Senate - 2012 SB 378 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

37-00133D-12 2012378__ 

Page 3 of 3 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

jury to evaluate the expert’s opinion substantially outweighs 59 

their prejudicial effect. 60 

Section 3. This act shall take effect July 1, 2012. 61 



























The Florida Senate 

BILL ANALYSIS AND FISCAL IMPACT STATEMENT 
(This document is based on the provisions contained in the legislation as of the latest date listed below.) 

Prepared By: The Professional Staff of the Budget Committee 

 

BILL:  SB 1470 

INTRODUCER:  Senator Norman 

SUBJECT:  Repeal of Administrative Rules 

DATE:  February 23, 2012 

 

 ANALYST  STAFF DIRECTOR  REFERENCE  ACTION 

1. Jenkins  Roberts  GO  Favorable 

2. McSwain  Rhodes  BC  Pre-meeting 

3.        

4.        

5.        

6.        

 

I. Summary: 

The bill amends the Administrative Procedure Act
1
 (APA) by codifying the legal rule that the 

repeal of a substantive statute also acts to repeal the administrative rules adopted to implement 

that statute. The bill also creates a summary process for the Department of State (DOS) to repeal 

rules which are no longer in full force and effect. This process includes legal review by the 

Attorney General, notice requirements, and an opportunity for anyone to challenge a proposed 

summary rule repeal which cannot be effective until the challenge has been resolved.  

 

The bill provides for the nullification and repeal of 270 existing rules which are no longer needed 

or for which the specific law implemented has been repealed.  

 

This bill substantially amends sections 120.536, Florida Statutes. 

 

The bill creates s. 120.555, Florida Statutes. 

II. Present Situation: 

Rulemaking and the Administrative Procedure Act 

A rule is an agency statement of general applicability which interprets, implements, or prescribes 

law or policy, including the procedure and practice requirements of an agency.
2
 Rulemaking 

                                                 
1
 Ch. 120, F.S. 

2
 s. 120.52(16), F.S.; Florida Department of Financial Services v. Capital Collateral Regional Counsel-Middle Region, 969 

So. 2d 527, 530 (Fla. 1
st
 DCA 2007). 

REVISED:         



BILL: SB 1470   Page 2 

 

authority is delegated by the Legislature
3
 through statute and authorizes an agency to “adopt, 

develop, establish, or otherwise create”
4
 a rule. Agencies do not have discretion whether or not to 

engage in rulemaking.
5
 To adopt a rule, an agency must have a general grant of authority to 

implement a specific law by rulemaking.
6
 The grant of rulemaking authority itself need not be 

detailed.
7
 The specific statute being interpreted or implemented through rulemaking must 

provide specific standards and guidelines to preclude the administrative agency from exercising 

unbridled discretion in creating policy or applying the law.
8
 

 

A rule is binding and operative from its effective date until modified or superseded by 

subsequent legislation.
9
 The Administrative Procedure Act sets forth a uniform set of procedures 

that agencies must follow when exercising delegated rulemaking authority. The APA is silent on 

how to treat rules adopted to implement or interpret specific powers and duties in a substantive 

law when that law is subsequently repealed. The courts have determined that repeal of the 

specific law implemented by a rule de facto repeals the rule, since the rule no longer has a 

substantive basis.
10

  

 

The Florida Administrative Code and the Department of State’s Continuous Revision 

System  

The purpose of the rulemaking process is to provide public notice of the generally-applicable 

policies implementing or interpreting specific laws.
11

 Publication of all rules in the Florida 

Administrative Code (F.A.C.) is designed to provide a central resource for the public to find 

rules adopted by any agency having a regional or statewide jurisdiction.
12

 

 

The DOS is required to conduct a continuous revision system as part of maintaining and 

publishing the F.A.C..
13

 There is uncertainty regarding how the DOS is to deal with rules still 

published in the F.A.C. for which the promulgating agency was abolished, the rulemaking 

authority was repealed, or the laws implemented by the rules were repealed.
14

 The current 

statutes provide for the preservation and continuation of administrative rules when a program is 

                                                 
3
 Southwest Florida Water Management District v. Save the Manatee Club, Inc., 773 So. 2d 594 (Fla. 1

st
 DCA 2000). 

4
 s. 120.52(17), F.S. 

5
 s. 120.54(1)(a), F.S. 

6
 s. 120.52(8) & s. 120.536(1), F.S. 

7
 Save the Manatee Club, Inc., supra at 599. 

8
 Sloban v. Florida Board of Pharmacy,982 So. 2d 26, 29-30 (Fla. 1

st
 DCA 2008); Board of Trustees of the Internal 

Improvement Trust Fund v. Day Cruise Association, Inc., 794 So. 2d 696, 704 (Fla. 1
st
 DCA 2001). 

9
 Florida Department of Revenue v. A. Duda & Sons, Inc., 608 So. 2d 881 (Fla. 5

th
 DCA 1992), quoting Hulmes v. Division of 

Retirement, 418 So. 2d 269, 270 (Fla. 1
st
 DCA 1982), rev. den. 426 So. 2d 26 (Fla. 1983). 

10
 Office of Insurance Regulation v. Service Insurance Company, 50 So. 3d 637 (Fla. 1

st
 DCA 2011); Hulmes, supra at 270. 

11
 Sections 120.52(16), 120.54(1)(a), F.S. 

12
 Section 120.55(1)(a)1., F.S. 

13
 Section 120.55(1)(a)1., F.S. 

14
 For example, currently, both the printed and online versions of the F.A.C. include rules adopted by the former Advisory 

Council on Intergovernmental Relations (ACIR) and the former Department of Labor and Employment Security (DLES) 

despite the fact that both agencies, together with their rulemaking authority, have been abolished, and the laws implemented 

have been repealed.
 
However, certain rules of the former Department of Commerce (DOC) continued to be published in the 

online version of the F.A.C. as recently as November 8, 2011, but are now identified by DOS as “repealed” based only on the 

statute abolishing DOC and not on any repeal of the specific laws implemented by these rules.  



BILL: SB 1470   Page 3 

 

transferred completely from one agency to another.
15

 They do not, however, directly address the 

impact of abolishing an agency or a grant of rulemaking power without altering the specific 

powers and duties granted to a subdivision of that agency by a prior enabling statute. 

 

Although repeal of the law implemented has been interpreted as repealing the rules adopted to 

implement that law,
16

 this legal doctrine has not been codified. Furthermore, the DOS does not 

have express authority to determine whether a rule is still in full force and effect. Unless 

expressly repealed by act of the Legislature or as a result of repeal of the substantive law on 

which it depends, a rule may be repealed only by proper administrative action.
17

 Where a rule 

continues in force and effect because the law implemented remains unchanged, only an entity 

with the grant of rulemaking authority to implement that law is able to take action to repeal the 

rule. Where the rule remains in force but no rulemaking authority exists, the Legislature would 

have to create a new grant of rulemaking authority or repeal the rules by direct action. 

 

Water Management District Rules 

A review by the Governor’s Office of Fiscal Accountability and Regulatory Reform and each of 

the Water Management Districts concluded that a total of 165 rules of the five Water 

Management Districts were not needed for continued effective operation of the Districts’ 

programs. Most of these fall into the following general categories, with two specific exceptions: 

 

 The rule is duplicative of statute or rule. 

 The rule is not required to implement the policy of the statute. 

 The rule references another rule or statute. 

 The rule references a repealed statute. 

 The rule is outdated or unnecessary to implement the statute. 

 The statutory mandate for the rule was repealed. 

 The rule duplicates information available in the District’s Procedures Manual. 

 The authority exercised in the rule was transferred to the Department of Environmental 

Protection. 

 Rule 40D-4.054: Alteration of Exempt Projects - Rule to be combined with 40D-4.041, 

F.A.C., which sets forth what activity requires a permit. 

 Rule 40D-21.441: Public Supply Water Shortage Mitigation Plans - Burdensome 

requirements for submittal of request for alternative water shortage plan. 

 

Former Department of Commerce  

The former Department of Commerce (DOC) was abolished in 1996
18

 and several of its 

programs were moved to the Office of Tourism, Trade, and Economic Development (OTTED).
19

 

The rules in Chapters 8K-1 and 8K-2, F.A.C., pertained to one such program. After relocation to 

OTTED, the rulemaking authority for this program was repealed
20

 but the various laws 

                                                 
15

 Section 20.06(2), F.S., providing for Type Two program transfers. 
16

 Office of Insurance Regulation v. Service Insurance Company and Hulmes v. Division of Retirement, supra. 
17

 Section 120.54(3)(a)1., F.S. 
18

 Ch. 96-320, s. 3, Laws of Florida. 
19

 Ch. 96-320, s. 61, 133, Laws of Florida. 
20

 Ch. 2002-180, s. 3, Laws of Florida. 



BILL: SB 1470   Page 4 

 

implemented by the rules remained unaffected.
21

 Two of the laws implemented were repealed in 

2007,
22

 and the remainder in 2011.
23

  

 

The rules in Chapter 8M-1, F.A.C., implemented provisions of the implementing bills for the 

1991-1992 General Appropriations Act and apparently expired with the conclusion of that fiscal 

year. The rules in Chapter 8M-2, F.A.C., implemented a statute which was repealed in 1996.
24

 

The rules in Chapter 8M-3, F.A.C., pertained to a program which was also transferred to the 

OTTED along with the law implemented but with the rulemaking authority repealed.
25

 The 

specific law implemented was revised extensively but that revision may not have completely 

repealed the substance of the law implemented by the rule.
26

 

 

No entity currently has rulemaking authority to repeal these rules. The DOS now shows these 

rules as repealed due to the abolition of the DOC in 1996.
27

 

 

Former Department of Health and Rehabilitative Services  

In 1996, responsibility for all public health matters was moved from the Department of Health 

and Rehabilitative Services (HRS) to the Department of Health (DOH).
28

 This was a Type Two 

transfer,
29

 which included the rules previously adopted by HRS to implement the relevant 

statutes.  

 

The rules adopted by HRS in Chapter 10D-116, F.A.C., implemented s. 383.336, F.S., 

establishing practice parameters pertaining to the incidence of cesarean births in provider 

hospitals where the procedure was paid for with state or federal funds.
30

 This section was not 

formally transferred to the DOH until 1999.
31

 Most rules of the DOH are indexed in the F.A.C. 

under Title 64, F.A.C., but the seven rules under former HRS Chapter 10D-116, F.A.C., have not 

been amended or readopted since their effective date in 1992.
32

 Another question arises 

concerning the two rules in Chapter 10D-124, F.A.C., pertaining to the nursing scholarship loan 

program. The statute implemented by these rules was repealed
33

 in 2002. A new program has 

since been created
34

 and the DOH adopted rules to administer that program,
35

 but the DOH has 

not acted to incorporate the rules in Chapter 10D-124 into the present program.  

 

Because the DOH has not exercised jurisdiction over the rules in either chapter, a question exists 

as to whether the DOH has rulemaking authority to amend or repeal these rules.  

                                                 
21

 Former sections 288.707, 288.709, 288.7091, 288.71, 288.711, F.S. 
22

 Former sections 288.71 and 288.711 were repealed by Ch. 2007-157, s. 24, Laws of Florida. 
23

 Ch. 2011-142, s. 487, Laws of Florida. 
24

 Former s. 288.806, F.S., repealed by Ch. 96-320, s. 154, Laws of Florida. 
25

 The transfer and repeal of the rulemaking grant were by Ch. 96-320, s. 133, Laws of Florida. 
26

 Ch. 97-278, s. 49, Laws of Florida. 
27

 See note 17, supra. 
28

 Ch. 96-403, s. 6, Laws of Florida. 
29

 The operative language existing in statute at the time has since been renumbered as Section 20.06(2), F.S. 
30

 Section 383.336, F.S. (1995). 
31

 Ch. 99-8, s. 77, Laws of Florida. 
32

 https://www.flrules.org/gateway/ChapterHome.asp?Chapter=10D-116 (accessed on 11/30/2011). 
33

 Ch. 2002-387, s. 1058, Laws of Florida. 
34

 Section 1009.67, F.S., created by Ch. 2002-387, s. 450, Laws of Florida. 
35

 Ch. 64E-24, F.A.C.. 



BILL: SB 1470   Page 5 

 

 

Former Advisory Council on Intergovernmental Relations  

Title 37 of the F.A.C. is comprised of 42 rules adopted by the Advisory Council on 

Intergovernmental Relations (ACIR) in 1978. Many of the rules were adopted based on the 

authority of earlier versions of the APA
36

 as well as the separate grant of rulemaking power to 

the ACIR.
37

 In 1996, the rulemaking authority for the ACIR was partially eliminated by revisions 

to the APA and its separate rulemaking authority, together with the agency itself, were 

abolished.
38

 While the specific laws implemented by the ACIR rules were repealed at the same 

time,
39

 the substance of those statutes apparently was reenacted with the creation of the 

Legislative Committee on Intergovernmental Relations.
40

 This substantive statute was repealed 

in 2011.
41

 The F.A.C. still shows all rules in Title 37 as in force.
42

 

 

Former Department of Labor and Employment Security  

The Department of Labor and Employment Security (DLES) was abolished in 2002.
43

 Laws 

relating to the DLES asbestos management program were repealed in 1999,
44

 2001,
45

 and 2011.
46

 

In 2011, the rulemaking authority associated with this program was also abolished.
47

 The 

implementing rules, found in chapter 38I-40, F.A.C., are still listed as in effect.
48

 This chapter 

also contains rules the DLES adopted related to its oversight of vocational rehabilitation. After 

the abolishment of the DLES, the Division of Vocational Rehabilitation was placed under the 

Department of Education (DOE).
49

 This designation did not expressly transfer the rules the 

DLES adopted for the program to DOE and the Department has not acted to readopt or amend 

the rules as part of the agency’s rulemaking.  

III. Effect of Proposed Changes: 

Section 1 amends s. 120.536, F.S., to state that, unless the Legislature provides otherwise, the 

repeal of specific powers and duties granted by substantive law will automatically repeal all rules 

adopted to implement those specific powers and duties.
50

 The DOS is directed to update the 

F.A.C. by showing the repeal of affected rule(s) as of the effective date of the repealing law. 

                                                 
36

 Prior to its substantial amendment in 1996, s. 120.53, F.S., could have been interpreted as providing separate rulemaking 

authority for all agencies to adopt procedural requirements of the APA. This language was completely removed by Ch. 96-

159, s. 9, Laws of Florida. 
37

 Former section 163.706(4), F.S. 
38

 Ch. 96-311, s. 9, Laws of Florida. 
39

 Ch. 96-311, s. 9, Laws of Florida. 
40

 Ch. 96-311, s. 1, Laws of Florida, created s. 11.70, F.S. 
41

 Ch. 2011-34, s. 3 Laws of Florida. 
42

 https://www.flrules.org/gateway/Division.asp?toType=r&DivID=408 (accessed on 11/30/2011). 
43

 Ch. 2002-194, s. 69, Laws of Florida. 
44

 Ch. 99-5, s. 10, Laws of Florida, repealing former s. 255.554, F.S. 
45

 Ch. 2001-89, s. 15, Laws of Florida, repealing s. 255.565, F.S. 
46

 Ch. 2011-213, s. 35, Laws of Florida, repealing s. 255.552, 255.553, 255.555, 255.556, 255.557, 255.558, 255.559, 255.56, 

255.561, and 255.562, F.S. 
47

 Ch. 2011-213, s. 35, Laws of Florida, repealing s. 255.563, F.S. 
48

 https://www.flrules.org/gateway/ChapterHome.asp?Chapter=38I-40 (accessed on 11/30/2011). 
49

 Ch. 2002-22, s. 1, Laws of Florida. 
50

 The bill clarifies the law by codifying the legal doctrine in Office of Insurance Regulation v. Service Insurance Company 

and Hulmes v. Division of Retirement. 



BILL: SB 1470   Page 6 

 

 

Section 2 creates s. 120.555, F.S., to provide the procedure for the DOS to review and institute 

summary repeal of rules that are no longer in full force and effect. Requires a response from the 

agency with authority over the rule, or the Governor if there is no such agency, stating whether 

the rule is still in full force and effect. Provides public notice of the proposed repeal. Any 

objection to the summary repeal is required to be brought as a challenge to proposed rulemaking 

under the APA. 

 

Sections 3 through 7 nullify a total of 165 rules in Title 40, F.A.C., of the five water 

management districts.  

 

Section 8 nullifies rules in chapters 8K-1, 8K-2, 8M-1, 8M-2, and 8M-3, F.A.C., of the former 

Department of Commerce. Explanatory notes are provided. 

 

Section 9 nullifies certain rules of the former Department of Health and Rehabilitative Services 

pertaining to implementation of a review program for cesarean births paid for with state or 

federal funds. This section directs the Department of Health to initiate rulemaking to retain any 

of the rules. This section is effective July 1, 2013, to allow sufficient time for agency 

rulemaking. Explanatory notes are provided. 

 

Section 10 nullifies other rules of the former Department of Health and Rehabilitative Services 

pertaining to implementation of a review program for cesarean births paid for with state or 

federal funds, which rules exceed the scope of authority in the law to be implemented by the 

rules. Explanatory notes are provided. 

 

Section 11 nullifies certain rules of the former Department of Health and Rehabilitative Services 

pertaining to nursing scholarship loans. It directs the Department of Health to initiate rulemaking 

to retain any of the rules. This section is effective July 1, 2013, to allow sufficient time for 

agency rulemaking. Explanatory notes are provided. 

 

Section 12 nullifies rules in Title 37, F.A.C., of the former Advisory Council on 

Intergovernmental Relations. Explanatory notes are provided. 

 

Section 13 nullifies rules in chapter 38I-40, F.A.C., of the former Department of Labor and 

Employment Security, pertaining to a repealed asbestos management program. Explanatory notes 

are provided. 

 

Section 14 nullifies rules in chapter 38J-I, F.A.C., of the former Department of Labor and 

Employment Security, pertaining to vocational rehabilitation. This program now falls under the 

jurisdiction of the Department of Education. It directs the DOE to initiate rulemaking to retain 

any of the vocational rehabilitation rules that are necessary for its program and delays the effect 

of the nullification of those rules to July 1, 2013. Explanatory notes are provided. 

 

Section 15 requires rules nullified by this bill to be treated as repealed and so noted in the 

Florida Administrative Code and the Florida Administrative Weekly. It provides that sections 

nullifying rules shall not be codified in the Florida Statutes.  

 



BILL: SB 1470   Page 7 

 

Section 16 provides an effective date of 60 days after the bill becomes law. 

IV. Constitutional Issues: 

A. Municipality/County Mandates Restrictions: 

None. 

B. Public Records/Open Meetings Issues: 

None. 

C. Trust Funds Restrictions: 

None. 

V. Fiscal Impact Statement: 

A. Tax/Fee Issues: 

None. 

B. Private Sector Impact: 

None. 

C. Government Sector Impact: 

None.  

VI. Technical Deficiencies: 

None. 

VII. Related Issues: 

None.  

VIII. Additional Information: 

A. Committee Substitute – Statement of Substantial Changes: 
(Summarizing differences between the Committee Substitute and the prior version of the bill.) 

None. 

B. Amendments: 

None. 

 This Senate Bill Analysis does not reflect the intent or official position of the bill’s introducer or the Florida Senate. 



Florida Senate - 2012 SB 1470 

 

 

 

By Senator Norman 

 

 

 

 

12-01526-12 20121470__ 

Page 1 of 35 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

A bill to be entitled 1 

An act relating to the repeal of administrative rules; 2 

amending s. 120.536, F.S.; providing for repeal of 3 

administrative rules upon the repeal of the law 4 

implemented; creating s. 120.555, F.S.; providing a 5 

process for summary repeal of administrative rules 6 

that are no longer in effect; nullifying specific 7 

administrative rules adopted by the Northwest Florida 8 

Water Management District, Suwannee River Water 9 

Management District, St. Johns River Water Management 10 

District, Southwest Florida Water Management District, 11 

South Florida Water Management District, the former 12 

Department of Commerce, the former Department of 13 

Health and Rehabilitative Services, Health Program 14 

Office, the former Advisory Council on 15 

Intergovernmental Relations, or the former Department 16 

of Labor and Employment Security; directing the 17 

Department of Health and the Department of Education 18 

to initiate necessary rulemaking before the effective 19 

date of specified rule nullifications; providing an 20 

effective date. 21 

 22 

Be It Enacted by the Legislature of the State of Florida: 23 

 24 

Section 1. Present subsections (2) and (3) of section 25 

120.536, Florida Statutes, are renumbered as subsections (3) and 26 

(4), respectively, and a new subsection (2) is added to that 27 

section to read: 28 

120.536 Rulemaking authority; repeal; challenge.— 29 

Florida Senate - 2012 SB 1470 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

12-01526-12 20121470__ 

Page 2 of 35 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

(2) Unless otherwise expressly provided by law: 30 

(a) The repeal of one or more provisions of law implemented 31 

by a rule that on its face implements only the provision or 32 

provisions repealed and no other provision of law nullifies the 33 

rule. Whenever notice of the nullification of a rule under this 34 

subsection is received from the committee or otherwise, the 35 

Department of State shall remove the rule from the Florida 36 

Administrative Code as of the effective date of the law 37 

effecting the nullification and update the historical notes for 38 

the code to show the rule repealed by operation of law. 39 

(b) The repeal of one or more provisions of law implemented 40 

by a rule that on its face implements the provision or 41 

provisions repealed and one or more other provisions of law 42 

nullifies the rule or applicable portion of the rule to the 43 

extent that it implements the repealed law. The agency having 44 

authority to repeal or amend the rule shall, within 180 days 45 

after the effective date of the repealing law, publish a notice 46 

of rule development identifying all portions of rules affected 47 

by the repealing law and if no notice is timely published the 48 

operation of each rule implementing a repealed provision of law 49 

shall be suspended until such notice is published. 50 

(c) The repeal of one or more provisions of law that, other 51 

than as provided in paragraph (a) or paragraph (b), causes a 52 

rule or portion of a rule to be of uncertain enforceability 53 

requires the Department of State to treat the rule as provided 54 

by s. 120.555. A rule shall be considered to be of uncertain 55 

enforceability under this paragraph if the division notifies the 56 

Department of State that a rule or a portion of the rule has 57 

been invalidated in a division proceeding based upon a repeal of 58 



Florida Senate - 2012 SB 1470 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

12-01526-12 20121470__ 

Page 3 of 35 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

law, or the committee gives written notification to the 59 

Department of State and the agency having power to amend or 60 

repeal the rule that a law has been repealed creating doubt 61 

about whether the rule is still in full force and effect. 62 

Section 2. Section 120.555, Florida Statutes, is created to 63 

read: 64 

120.555 Summary removal of published rules no longer in 65 

force and effect.—When, as part of the continuous revision 66 

system authorized in s. 120.55(1)(a)1. or as otherwise provided 67 

by law, the Department of State is in doubt whether a rule 68 

published in the official version of the Florida Administrative 69 

Code is still in full force and effect, the procedure in this 70 

section shall be employed. 71 

(1) The Department of State shall submit to the head of the 72 

agency with authority to repeal or amend the rule, if any, or if 73 

no such agency can be identified, to the Governor, a written 74 

request for a statement as to whether the rule is still in full 75 

force and effect. A copy of the request shall be promptly 76 

delivered to the committee and to the Attorney General. The 77 

Department of State shall publish a notice of the request 78 

together with a copy of the request in the Florida 79 

Administrative Weekly next available after delivery of the 80 

request to the head of the agency or the Governor. 81 

(2) No later than 90 days after the date the notice 82 

required in subsection (1) is published, the agency or the 83 

Governor, notified pursuant to subsection (1), shall file a 84 

written response with the Department of State stating whether 85 

the rule is in full force and effect and under the jurisdiction 86 

of an agency with full authority to amend or repeal the rule. 87 

Florida Senate - 2012 SB 1470 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

12-01526-12 20121470__ 

Page 4 of 35 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

Failure to respond timely under this subsection constitutes an 88 

acknowledgement by the agency or the Governor that the rule is 89 

no longer in effect and is subject to summary repeal under this 90 

section. 91 

(3) The Department of State shall publish a notice of the 92 

agency’s or Governor’s timely response or the acknowledgement 93 

determined under subsection (2) in the Florida Administrative 94 

Weekly next available after receipt of the response or the 95 

expiration of the response period, whichever occurs first. 96 

(4) If the response states that the rule is no longer in 97 

effect, or if no response is filed timely with the Department of 98 

State, the notice required in subsection (3) shall also give 99 

notice of the following: 100 

(a) Based on the agency’s or Governor’s written response or 101 

the acknowledgement determined under subsection (2), the rule 102 

will be repealed summarily pursuant to this section and removed 103 

from the Florida Administrative Code. 104 

(b) Any objection to the summary repeal under this section 105 

must be filed as a petition challenging a proposed rule under s. 106 

120.56 and must be filed no later than 21 days after the date 107 

the notice is published in the Florida Administrative Weekly. 108 

(c) For purposes only of challenging a summary repeal under 109 

this section, the agency with current authority to repeal the 110 

rule under s. 120.54 shall be named as the respondent in the 111 

petition and shall be the proper party in interest. In such 112 

circumstances, the Department of State shall not be named as a 113 

party in a petition filed under paragraph (b) and this 114 

paragraph. 115 

(d) If no agency currently has authority to repeal the rule 116 



Florida Senate - 2012 SB 1470 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

12-01526-12 20121470__ 

Page 5 of 35 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

under s. 120.54, the Department of State shall be named as the 117 

respondent in a petition filed under paragraph (b) and this 118 

paragraph. The Attorney General shall represent the Department 119 

of State in all proceedings under this paragraph. 120 

(5) Upon the expiration of the 21-day period to file an 121 

objection to a notice of summary repeal published pursuant to 122 

subsection (4), if no timely objection is filed, or, if a timely 123 

objection is filed, on the date a decision finding the rule is 124 

no longer in effect becomes final, the Department of State shall 125 

update the Florida Administrative Code to remove the rule and 126 

shall provide historical notes identifying the manner in which 127 

the rule ceased to have effect, including the summary repeal 128 

pursuant to this section. 129 

Section 3. The following rules of the Northwest Florida 130 

Water Management District are nullified and of no further force 131 

or effect: 132 

(1) Rule 40A-1.1020, Florida Administrative Code, relating 133 

to General Procedures for Permit Applications. 134 

(2) Rule 40A-1.1030, Florida Administrative Code, relating 135 

to Contract Bidding Resolution of Protest. 136 

(3) Rule 40A-1.1040, Florida Administrative Code, relating 137 

to General Permits. 138 

(4) Rule 40A-1.180, Florida Administrative Code, relating 139 

to Procedures for Contracting for Professional Services. 140 

(5) Rule 40A-1.181, Florida Administrative Code, relating 141 

to Contracting Bidding-Reservation of Right. 142 

(6) Rule 40A-1.182, Florida Administrative Code, relating 143 

to Contracting Bidding-Resolution of Protest. 144 

(7) Rule 40A-2.311, Florida Administrative Code, relating 145 

Florida Senate - 2012 SB 1470 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

12-01526-12 20121470__ 

Page 6 of 35 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

to Competing Applications. 146 

(8) Rule 40A-3.038, Florida Administrative Code, relating 147 

to Violations of Licensing Requirements. 148 

(9) Rule 40A-4.061, Florida Administrative Code, relating 149 

to Mitigation Banks. 150 

(10) Rule 40A-4.143, Florida Administrative Code, relating 151 

to Abandonment. 152 

(11) Rule 40A-4.461, Florida Administrative Code, relating 153 

to Inspection. 154 

(12) Rule 40A-4.471, Florida Administrative Code, relating 155 

to Abatement. 156 

(13) Rule 40A-6.461, Florida Administrative Code, relating 157 

to Inspections. 158 

(14) Rule 40A-6.491, Florida Administrative Code, relating 159 

to Unlawful Use. 160 

(15) Rule 40A-44.143, Florida Administrative Code, relating 161 

to Abandonment. 162 

Section 4. The following rules of the Suwannee River Water 163 

Management District are nullified and of no further force or 164 

effect: 165 

(1) Rule 40B-1.100, Florida Administrative Code, relating 166 

to Uniform Rules of Procedure and Statement of District 167 

Organization and Operation. 168 

(2) Rule 40B-1.510, Florida Administrative Code, relating 169 

to District Investigations and Probable Cause Determinations. 170 

(3) Rule 40B-1.702, Florida Administrative Code, relating 171 

to Permits Required. 172 

(4) Rule 40B-1.705, Florida Administrative Code, relating 173 

to Complaints. 174 



Florida Senate - 2012 SB 1470 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

12-01526-12 20121470__ 

Page 7 of 35 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

(5) Rule 40B-1.801, Florida Administrative Code, relating 175 

to General provisions pertaining to procurement. 176 

(6) Rule 40B-1.802, Florida Administrative Code, relating 177 

to Definitions. 178 

(7) Rule 40B-1.804, Florida Administrative Code, relating 179 

to Certification and Competitive Selection for Professional 180 

Services. 181 

(8) Rule 40B-1.805, Florida Administrative Code, relating 182 

to Competitive Negotiation. 183 

(9) Rule 40B-1.808, Florida Administrative Code, relating 184 

to Applicability. 185 

(10) Rule 40B-1.810, Florida Administrative Code, relating 186 

to Procurement of Commodities or Contractual Services. 187 

(11) Rule 40B-1.811, Florida Administrative Code, relating 188 

to Prequalified Providers. 189 

(12) Rule 40B-1.812, Florida Administrative Code, relating 190 

to Contract Bidding – Reservation of Rights. 191 

(13) Rule 40B-1.813, Florida Administrative Code, relating 192 

to Contract Bidding – Resolution of Protests. 193 

(14) Rule 40B-2.025, Florida Administrative Code, relating 194 

to Processing of Water Use Permit Applications. 195 

(15) Rule 40B-2.201, Florida Administrative Code, relating 196 

to Permit Fees. 197 

(16) Rule 40B-2.311, Florida Administrative Code, relating 198 

to Competing Applications. 199 

(17) Rule 40B-2.341, Florida Administrative Code, relating 200 

to Revocation of Permits. 201 

(18) Rule 40B-2.441, Florida Administrative Code, relating 202 

to Temporary Water Use Permits. 203 

Florida Senate - 2012 SB 1470 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

12-01526-12 20121470__ 

Page 8 of 35 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

(19) Rule 40B-2.781, Florida Administrative Code, relating 204 

to Enforcement. 205 

(20) Rule 40B-3.011, Florida Administrative Code, relating 206 

to Policy and Purpose. 207 

(21) Rule 40B-3.031, Florida Administrative Code, relating 208 

to Implementation. 209 

(22) Rule 40B-3.038, Florida Administrative Code, relating 210 

to Violations of Licensing Requirements. 211 

(23) Rule 40B-3.039, Florida Administrative Code, relating 212 

to Penalties. 213 

(24) Rule 40B-3.0391, Florida Administrative Code, relating 214 

to Enforcement. 215 

(25) Rule 40B-3.0511, Florida Administrative Code, relating 216 

to Variances. 217 

(26) Rule 40B-3.500, Florida Administrative Code, relating 218 

to Scope of Part II. 219 

(27) Rule 40B-3.507, Florida Administrative Code, relating 220 

to Casing and Liner Pipe Standards. 221 

(28) Rule 40B-3.525, Florida Administrative Code, relating 222 

to Explosives. 223 

(29) Rule 40B-4.1050, Florida Administrative Code, relating 224 

to Permit Fees. 225 

(30) Rule 40B-5.0021, Florida Administrative Code, relating 226 

to Definitions. 227 

(31) Rule 40B-5.0051, Florida Administrative Code, relating 228 

to Exemptions. 229 

(32) Rule 40B-5.0121, Florida Administrative Code, relating 230 

to Notice and Hearing Requirements. 231 

(33) Rule 40B-5.0201, Florida Administrative Code, relating 232 



Florida Senate - 2012 SB 1470 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

12-01526-12 20121470__ 

Page 9 of 35 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

to Permit Processing Fee. 233 

(34) Rule 40B-5.0351, Florida Administrative Code, relating 234 

to Transfer of Permits. 235 

(35) Rule 40B-5.0751, Florida Administrative Code, relating 236 

to Enforcement and Penalties. 237 

(36) Rule 40B-5.0901, Florida Administrative Code, relating 238 

to Forms and Instructions. 239 

(37) Rule 40B-9.045, Florida Administrative Code, relating 240 

to Acquisition Procedures-Condemnation. 241 

(38) Rule 40B-9.065, Florida Administrative Code, relating 242 

to Disclosure of Beneficial Interest. 243 

(39) Rule 40B-9.081, Florida Administrative Code, relating 244 

to Disposition of Surplus Real Property. 245 

(40) Rule 40B-21.031, Florida Administrative Code, relating 246 

to Elements of the Plan. 247 

(41) Rule 40B-21.291, Florida Administrative Code, relating 248 

to Variances. 249 

(42) Rule 40B-21.421, Florida Administrative Code, relating 250 

to Compliance. 251 

(43) Rule 40B-21.511, Florida Administrative Code, relating 252 

to General provisions pertaining to classification of water 253 

users. 254 

Section 5. The following rules of the St. Johns River Water 255 

Management District are nullified and of no further force or 256 

effect: 257 

(1) Rule 40C-2.441, Florida Administrative Code, relating 258 

to Temporary Permits. 259 

(2) Rule 40C-3.038, Florida Administrative Code, relating 260 

to Violations of Contractor Licensing Requirements. 261 

Florida Senate - 2012 SB 1470 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

12-01526-12 20121470__ 

Page 10 of 35 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

(3) Rule 40C-3.039, Florida Administrative Code, relating 262 

to Penalties. 263 

(4) Rule 40C-3.040, Florida Administrative Code, relating 264 

to Scope of Part I. 265 

(5) Rule 40C-3.201, Florida Administrative Code, relating 266 

to Permit Processing Fee. 267 

(6) Rule 40C-3.321, Florida Administrative Code, relating 268 

to Duration of Permits. 269 

(7) Rule 40C-3.525, Florida Administrative Code, relating 270 

to Explosives. 271 

(8) Rule 40C-3.529, Florida Administrative Code, relating 272 

to Flowing Wells. 273 

(9) Rule 40C-3.532, Florida Administrative Code, relating 274 

to Violations of Well Construction Standards. 275 

(10) Rule 40C-4.011, Florida Administrative Code, relating 276 

to Policy and Purpose. 277 

(11) Rule 40C-4.201, Florida Administrative Code, relating 278 

to Permit Processing Fee. 279 

(12) Rule 40C-4.351, Florida Administrative Code, relating 280 

to Transfer of Permits. 281 

(13) Rule 40C-4.751, Florida Administrative Code, relating 282 

to Enforcement. 283 

(14) Rule 40C-9.001, Florida Administrative Code, relating 284 

to Purpose. 285 

(15) Rule 40C-9.031, Florida Administrative Code, relating 286 

to Selection of Lands – Five Year Plan Pursuant to Section 287 

373.199, Florida Statutes. 288 

(16) Rule 40C-9.045, Florida Administrative Code, relating 289 

to Acquisition Procedures – Condemnation. 290 



Florida Senate - 2012 SB 1470 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

12-01526-12 20121470__ 

Page 11 of 35 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

(17) Rule 40C-9.065, Florida Administrative Code, relating 291 

to Disclosure of Beneficial Interest. 292 

(18) Rule 40C-9.071, Florida Administrative Code, relating 293 

to Use of Trust Funds. 294 

(19) Rule 40C-9.081, Florida Administrative Code, relating 295 

to Disposition of Surplus Land. 296 

(20) Rule 40C-9.115, Florida Administrative Code, relating 297 

to Land Management Review Team. 298 

(21) Rule 40C-9.400, Florida Administrative Code, relating 299 

to Individuals Living on District Lands. 300 

(22) Rule 40C-21.031, Florida Administrative Code, relating 301 

to Elements of the Plan. 302 

(23) Rule 40C-24.001, Florida Administrative Code, relating 303 

to Policy and Purpose. 304 

(24) Rule 40C-24.010, Florida Administrative Code, relating 305 

to Definitions. 306 

(25) Rule 40C-24.020, Florida Administrative Code, relating 307 

to Incentive Program. 308 

(26) Rule 40C-24.030, Florida Administrative Code, relating 309 

to Incentive Program - Qualifying. 310 

(27) Rule 40C-40.011, Florida Administrative Code, relating 311 

to Policy and Purpose. 312 

(28) Rule 40C-40.021, Florida Administrative Code, relating 313 

to Definitions. 314 

(29) Rule 40C-40.031, Florida Administrative Code, relating 315 

to Implementation. 316 

(30) Rule 40C-40.321, Florida Administrative Code, relating 317 

to Duration of Permit. 318 

(31) Rule 40C-40.381, Florida Administrative Code, relating 319 

Florida Senate - 2012 SB 1470 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

12-01526-12 20121470__ 

Page 12 of 35 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

to Limiting Conditions. 320 

(32) Rule 40C-40.900, Florida Administrative Code, relating 321 

to Forms and Instructions. 322 

(33) Rule 40C-42.071, Florida Administrative Code, relating 323 

to Permit Processing Fee. 324 

(34) Rule 40C-42.081, Florida Administrative Code, relating 325 

to General Provisions. 326 

(35) Rule 40C-44.081, Florida Administrative Code, relating 327 

to Permit Processing Fee. 328 

Section 6. The following rules of the Southwest Florida 329 

Water Management District are nullified and of no further force 330 

or effect: 331 

(1) Rule 40D-1.902, Florida Administrative Code, relating 332 

to District Investigations and Probable Cause Determinations. 333 

(2) Rule 40D-2.311, Florida Administrative Code, relating 334 

to Competing Applications. 335 

(3) Rule 40D-2.511, Florida Administrative Code, relating 336 

to Declaration of Water Shortage. 337 

(4) Rule 40D-3.011, Florida Administrative Code, relating 338 

to Policy and Purpose. 339 

(5) Rule 40D-3.031, Florida Administrative Code, relating 340 

to Implementation. 341 

(6) Rule 40D-3.038, Florida Administrative Code, relating 342 

to Violations of Contractor Licensing Requirements. 343 

(7) Rule 40D-3.201, Florida Administrative Code, relating 344 

to Permit Processing Fee. 345 

(8) Rule 40D-3.525, Florida Administrative Code, relating 346 

to Explosives. 347 

(9) Rule 40D-3.529, Florida Administrative Code, relating 348 



Florida Senate - 2012 SB 1470 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

12-01526-12 20121470__ 

Page 13 of 35 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

to Flowing Wells. 349 

(10) Rule 40D-4.031, Florida Administrative Code, relating 350 

to Implementation, Effective Date and Applicability. 351 

(11) Rule 40D-4.054, Florida Administrative Code, relating 352 

to Alteration of Exempt Projects. 353 

(12) Rule 40D-4.201, Florida Administrative Code, relating 354 

to Permit Processing Fee. 355 

(13) Rule 40D-4.461, Florida Administrative Code, relating 356 

to Inspection. 357 

(14) Rule 40D-40.011, Florida Administrative Code, relating 358 

to Policy and Purpose. 359 

(15) Rule 40D-40.031, Florida Administrative Code, relating 360 

to Implementation, Effective Date and Applicability. 361 

(16) Rule 40D-400.201, Florida Administrative Code, 362 

relating to Policy and Purpose. 363 

(17) Rule 40D-9.101, Florida Administrative Code, relating 364 

to Recreational Land Use Policy. 365 

(18) Rule 40D-9.110, Florida Administrative Code, relating 366 

to Scope and Applicability. 367 

(19) Rule 40D-9.300, Florida Administrative Code, relating 368 

to Trespass After Notice. 369 

(20) Rule 40D-9.310, Florida Administrative Code, relating 370 

to Penalties. 371 

(21) Rule 40D-21.031, Florida Administrative Code, relating 372 

to Elements of the Plan. 373 

(22) Rule 40D-21.441, Florida Administrative Code, relating 374 

to Public Supply Water Shortage Mitigation Plans. 375 

Section 7. The following rules of the South Florida Water 376 

Management District are nullified and of no further force or 377 

Florida Senate - 2012 SB 1470 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

12-01526-12 20121470__ 

Page 14 of 35 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

effect: 378 

(1) Rule 40E-0.103, Florida Administrative Code, relating 379 

to Procedures for Processing Permit Applications. 380 

(2) Rule 40E-0.105, Florida Administrative Code, relating 381 

to Consideration of Intended Agency Decision on Permit 382 

Applications. 383 

(3) Rule 40E-1.100, Florida Administrative Code, relating 384 

to Uniform Rules of Procedure and Statement of District 385 

Organization and Operation. 386 

(4) Rule 40E-1.1065, Florida Administrative Code, relating 387 

to Misuse of Public Position. 388 

(5) Rule 40E-1.125, Florida Administrative Code, relating 389 

to Public Information and Inspection of Records. 390 

(6) Rule 40E-1.200, Florida Administrative Code, relating 391 

to Procedures for Agendas and Scheduling of Meetings and 392 

Workshops. 393 

(7) Rule 40E-1.208, Florida Administrative Code, relating 394 

to Procedure for Abstaining from Voting Conflicts of Interest. 395 

(8) Rule 40E-1.300, Florida Administrative Code, relating 396 

to Rulemaking Procedures. 397 

(9) Rule 40E-1.400, Florida Administrative Code, relating 398 

to Procedures Regarding Declaratory Statements. 399 

(10) Rule 40E-1.500, Florida Administrative Code, relating 400 

to Procedures for Proceedings Which Determine Substantial 401 

Interests and Associated Mediation. 402 

(11) Rule 40E-1.511, Florida Administrative Code, relating 403 

to Point of Entry Into Proceedings. 404 

(12) Rule 40E-1.520, Florida Administrative Code, relating 405 

to Procedures Concerning Formal Proceedings. 406 



Florida Senate - 2012 SB 1470 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

12-01526-12 20121470__ 

Page 15 of 35 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

(13) Rule 40E-1.521, Florida Administrative Code, relating 407 

to Initiation of Formal Proceedings. 408 

(14) Rule 40E-1.564, Florida Administrative Code, relating 409 

to Exceptions to Recommended Order. 410 

(15) Rule 40E-1.570, Florida Administrative Code, relating 411 

to Procedures Concerning Informal Proceedings. 412 

(16) Rule 40E-1.601, Florida Administrative Code, relating 413 

to General provisions pertaining to administrative procedures 414 

applicable to permitting decisions. 415 

(17) Rule 40E-1.608, Florida Administrative Code, relating 416 

to Denial of Permits. 417 

(18) Rule 40E-1.611, Florida Administrative Code, relating 418 

to Emergency Action. 419 

(19) Rule 40E-1.6115, Florida Administrative Code, relating 420 

to Emergency Authorization. 421 

(20) Rule 40E-2.441, Florida Administrative Code, relating 422 

to Temporary Permits. 423 

(21) Rule 40E-3.010, Florida Administrative Code, relating 424 

to Review of Water Well Permit Applications. 425 

(22) Rule 40E-3.0511, Florida Administrative Code, relating 426 

to Exemptions and Variances for Well Construction Permits. 427 

(23) Rule 40E-4.311, Florida Administrative Code, relating 428 

to Variances from Specified Review Criteria for Environmental 429 

Resource Permits. 430 

(24) Rule 40E-7.201, Florida Administrative Code, relating 431 

to Policy and Purpose. 432 

(25) Rule 40E-7.205, Florida Administrative Code, relating 433 

to Competitive Selection for Professional Services. 434 

(26) Rule 40E-7.300, Florida Administrative Code, relating 435 

Florida Senate - 2012 SB 1470 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

12-01526-12 20121470__ 

Page 16 of 35 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

to Procedures Concerning Bid Protests of Solicitations or 436 

Contract Awards. 437 

(27) Rule 40E-7.401, Florida Administrative Code, relating 438 

to District Transfer of Funds. 439 

(28) Rule 40E-20.141, Florida Administrative Code, relating 440 

to Request for Additional Information. 441 

(29) Rule 40E-20.341, Florida Administrative Code, relating 442 

to Revocation of General Water Use Permits. 443 

(30) Rule 40E-20.391, Florida Administrative Code, relating 444 

to Publication. 445 

(31) Rule 40E-21.031, Florida Administrative Code, relating 446 

to Elements of the Plan. 447 

(32) Rule 40E-21.132, Florida Administrative Code, relating 448 

to Water Use Restrictions. 449 

(33) Rule 40E-21.611, Florida Administrative Code, relating 450 

to Classification System. 451 

(34) Rule 40E-22.082, Florida Administrative Code, relating 452 

to Minimum Flows. 453 

(35) Rule 40E-22.112, Florida Administrative Code, relating 454 

to Permit Classification. 455 

(36) Rule 40E-22.132, Florida Administrative Code, relating 456 

to Water Shortage Plan. 457 

(37) Rule 40E-22.242, Florida Administrative Code, relating 458 

to Minimum Flow. 459 

(38) Rule 40E-22.252, Florida Administrative Code, relating 460 

to Permit Classification. 461 

(39) Rule 40E-22.272, Florida Administrative Code, relating 462 

to Water Use Restrictions. 463 

(40) Rule 40E-23.011, Florida Administrative Code, relating 464 



Florida Senate - 2012 SB 1470 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

12-01526-12 20121470__ 

Page 17 of 35 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

to Policy and Purpose. 465 

(41) Rule 40E-23.021, Florida Administrative Code, relating 466 

to Definitions. 467 

(42) Rule 40E-23.023, Florida Administrative Code, relating 468 

to Boundaries. 469 

(43) Rule 40E-23.031, Florida Administrative Code, relating 470 

to Implementation. 471 

(44) Rule 40E-23.043, Florida Administrative Code, relating 472 

to Application. 473 

(45) Rule 40E-23.053, Florida Administrative Code, relating 474 

to Criteria for Designation. 475 

(46) Rule 40E-63.201, Florida Administrative Code, relating 476 

to Scope. 477 

(47) Rule 40E-63.211, Florida Administrative Code, relating 478 

to Purpose. 479 

(48) Rule 40E-63.212, Florida Administrative Code, relating 480 

to Definitions. 481 

(49) Rule 40E-63.223, Florida Administrative Code, relating 482 

to Model to Quantify Annual Allocation of Replacement Water. 483 

(50) Rule 40E-63.225, Florida Administrative Code, relating 484 

to Delivery of Average Annual Allocation of Replacement Water. 485 

Section 8. The following rules of the former Department of 486 

Commerce are nullified and of no further force or effect: 487 

(1) Rule 8K-1.001, Florida Administrative Code, relating to 488 

Purpose. 489 

(2) Rule 8K-1.002, Florida Administrative Code, relating to 490 

Authority and Duties. 491 

(3) Rule 8K-1.003, Florida Administrative Code, relating to 492 

Members, Officers and Employees. 493 

Florida Senate - 2012 SB 1470 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

12-01526-12 20121470__ 

Page 18 of 35 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

(4) Rule 8K-1.004, Florida Administrative Code, relating to 494 

Meetings of the Board. 495 

(5) Rule 8K-1.005, Florida Administrative Code, relating to 496 

Notice of Meeting. 497 

(6) Rule 8K-1.006, Florida Administrative Code, relating to 498 

Records; Public Information. 499 

(7) Rule 8K-1.007, Florida Administrative Code, relating to 500 

Business Address and Hours. 501 

(8) Rule 8K-1.008, Florida Administrative Code, relating to 502 

Seal. 503 

(9) Rule 8K-2.001, Florida Administrative Code, relating to 504 

Purpose. 505 

(10) Rule 8K-2.002, Florida Administrative Code, relating 506 

to Definitions. 507 

(11) Rule 8K-2.003, Florida Administrative Code, relating 508 

to Application Procedure. 509 

(12) Rule 8K-2.004, Florida Administrative Code, relating 510 

to Board Investments; Type and Conditions. 511 

(13) Rule 8K-2.005, Florida Administrative Code, relating 512 

to Community Support. 513 

(14) Rule 8K-2.006, Florida Administrative Code, relating 514 

to Accountability. 515 

(15) Rule 8K-2.007, Florida Administrative Code, relating 516 

to Misuse of Funds; Penalty; Appeal. 517 

(16) Rule 8K-2.008, Florida Administrative Code, relating 518 

to Local Impact Projects. 519 

(17) Rule 8K-2.009, Florida Administrative Code, relating 520 

to Certified Corporations. 521 

(18) Rule 8K-2.010, Florida Administrative Code, relating 522 



Florida Senate - 2012 SB 1470 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

12-01526-12 20121470__ 

Page 19 of 35 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

to Investment Agreements. 523 

(19) Rule 8M-1.001, Florida Administrative Code, relating 524 

to Definitions. 525 

(20) Rule 8M-1.002, Florida Administrative Code, relating 526 

to Grant Applications. 527 

(21) Rule 8M-1.003, Florida Administrative Code, relating 528 

to Application Review.  529 

(22) Rule 8M-1.004, Florida Administrative Code, relating 530 

to Award of Grants. 531 

(23) Rule 8M-2.001, Florida Administrative Code, relating 532 

to Definitions. 533 

(24) Rule 8M-2.002, Florida Administrative Code, relating 534 

to Grant Applications. 535 

(25) Rule 8M-2.003, Florida Administrative Code, relating 536 

to Application Review. 537 

(26) Rule 8M-2.004, Florida Administrative Code, relating 538 

to Award of Grants. 539 

(27) Rule 8M-3.001, Florida Administrative Code, relating 540 

to Purpose. 541 

(28) Rule 8M-3.002, Florida Administrative Code, relating 542 

to Definitions. 543 

(29) Rule 8M-3.003, Florida Administrative Code, relating 544 

to Applications for Consideration. 545 

(30) Rule 8M-3.004, Florida Administrative Code, relating 546 

to Criteria for the Determination of Grant Award. 547 

 548 

Note.—The rulemaking authority for Rules 8K-1.001 549 

through 8K-1.008 and 8K-2.001 through 8K-2.010 was 550 

abolished by section 3, chapter 2002-180, Laws of 551 

Florida Senate - 2012 SB 1470 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

12-01526-12 20121470__ 

Page 20 of 35 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

Florida. No agency appears to have clear authority to 552 

repeal such rules. 553 

 554 

Note.—Rules 8K-1.001 and 8K-1.002 implemented ss. 555 

288.707, 288.709, and 288.7091, Florida Statutes, 556 

which were repealed by section 487, chapter 2011-142, 557 

Laws of Florida, leaving the rules out of conformity 558 

with the law to be implemented. 559 

 560 

Note.—Rules 8K-1.003, 8K-1.004, 8K-1.005, 8K-1.006, 561 

and 8K-1.007 implemented s. 288.707, F.S., which was 562 

repealed by section 487, chapter 2011-142, Laws of 563 

Florida, leaving the rules out of conformity with the 564 

law to be implemented. 565 

 566 

Note.—Rule 8K-1.008 implemented s. 288.709(2), Florida 567 

Statutes, which was repealed by section 487, chapter 568 

2011-142, Laws of Florida, leaving the rule out of 569 

conformity with the law to be implemented. 570 

 571 

Note.—Rules 8K-2.001, 8K-2.006, and 8K-2.007 572 

implemented s. 288.711, Florida Statutes, which was 573 

repealed by section 24, chapter 2007-157, Laws of 574 

Florida, leaving the rules out of conformity with the 575 

law to be implemented. 576 

 577 

Note.—Rule 8K-2.002 implemented s. 288.707, Florida 578 

Statutes, which was repealed by section 487, chapter 579 

2011-142, Laws of Florida, and s. 288.711, Florida 580 



Florida Senate - 2012 SB 1470 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

12-01526-12 20121470__ 

Page 21 of 35 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

Statutes, which was repealed by section 24, chapter 581 

2007-157, Laws of Florida, leaving the rule out of 582 

conformity with the laws to be implemented. 583 

 584 

Note.—Rules 8K-2.003, 8K-2.004, 8K-2,009, and 8K-2.010 585 

implemented ss. 288.71 and 288.711, Florida Statutes, 586 

which were repealed by section 24, chapter 2007-157, 587 

Laws of Florida, and s. 288.7091, Florida Statutes, 588 

which was repealed by section 487, chapter 2011-142, 589 

Laws of Florida, leaving the rules out of conformity 590 

with the laws to be implemented. 591 

 592 

Note.—Rules 8K-2.005 and 8K-2.008 implemented ss. 593 

288.71 and 288.711, Florida Statutes, which were 594 

repealed by section 24, chapter 2007-157, Laws of 595 

Florida, leaving the rules out of conformity with the 596 

laws to be implemented. 597 

 598 

Note.—The rulemaking authority for Rules 8M-1.001 599 

through 8M-1.004 and 8M-2.001 through 8M-2.004 was 600 

abolished by section 154, chapter 96-320, Laws of 601 

Florida. No agency appears to have clear authority to 602 

repeal such rules. 603 

 604 

Note.—Rules 8M-1.001 through 8M-1.004 implemented 605 

chapters 91-157 and 91-272, Laws of Florida, which 606 

were implementing bills for the 1991 General 607 

Appropriations Act. When those laws expired July 1, 608 

1992, the rules became out of conformity with the laws 609 

Florida Senate - 2012 SB 1470 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

12-01526-12 20121470__ 

Page 22 of 35 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

to be implemented. 610 

 611 

Note.—Rules 8M-2.001 through 8M-2.004 implemented s. 612 

288.806, Florida Statutes, which was repealed by 613 

section 154, chapter 96-320, Laws of Florida, leaving 614 

the rules out of conformity with the laws to be 615 

implemented. 616 

 617 

Note.—The rulemaking authority for Rules 8M-3.001, 8M-618 

3.002, 8M-3.003, and 8M-3.004 was abolished by section 619 

133, chapter 96-320, Laws of Florida. These specific 620 

rules implemented s. 311.11, Florida Statutes, which 621 

was revised extensively by section 49, chapter 97-278, 622 

Laws of Florida, leaving the rules out of conformity 623 

with the laws to be implemented. No agency appears to 624 

have clear authority to repeal such rules. 625 

 626 

Section 9. (1) Effective July 1, 2013, the following rules 627 

of the former Department of Health and Rehabilitative Services, 628 

Health Program Office, are nullified and of no further force or 629 

effect: 630 

(a) Rule 10D-116.001, Florida Administrative Code, relating 631 

to Purpose. 632 

(b) Rule 10D-116.002, Florida Administrative Code, relating 633 

to Definitions. 634 

(c) Rule 10D-116.003, Florida Administrative Code, relating 635 

to Department Responsibilities. 636 

(d) Rule 10D-116.004, subsections (1), (2), and (3), 637 

Florida Administrative Code, relating to Provider Hospital 638 



Florida Senate - 2012 SB 1470 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

12-01526-12 20121470__ 

Page 23 of 35 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

Responsibilities. 639 

(e) Rule 10D-116.005, Florida Administrative Code, relating 640 

to Practice Parameters. 641 

(f) Rule 10D-116.006, subsections (1), (2), and (3), 642 

Florida Administrative Code, relating to Functions of Peer 643 

Review Boards. 644 

(2) Before the effective date of this section, the 645 

Department of Health shall initiate rulemaking to readopt or 646 

revise those portions of the rules which are necessary to 647 

implement the affected statutes. 648 

 649 

Note.—The rules in this section were adopted by the 650 

former Department of Health and Rehabilitative 651 

Services before the Type Two Transfer of 652 

responsibility for public health matters to the 653 

Department of Health by section 6, chapter 96-403, 654 

Laws of Florida. Rules 10D-116.001, 10D-116.002, 10D-655 

116.003, 10D-116.004, 10D-116.005, 10D-116.006, and 656 

10D-116.007 implemented s. 383.336, Florida Statutes, 657 

amended by section 77, chapter 99-8, Laws of Florida, 658 

to authorize rulemaking by the Department of Health. 659 

The abolition of responsibility for public health 660 

matters in the former Department of Health and 661 

Rehabilitative Services creates uncertainty about the 662 

continued validity of these rules. Therefore, the 663 

Department of Health should readopt or revise those 664 

portions of the rules which remain necessary to 665 

implement the agency’s statutory authority. 666 

 667 

Florida Senate - 2012 SB 1470 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

12-01526-12 20121470__ 

Page 24 of 35 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

Note.—Rules 10D-116.001, 10D-116.002(4), 10D-668 

116.002(5), 10D-116.002(6), 10D-116.003, and 10D-669 

116.004 reiterate or paraphrase provisions of s. 670 

383.336, Florida Statutes, and do not conform with the 671 

requirements of ss. 120.536(1) and 120.545(1)(c), 672 

Florida Statutes. 673 

 674 

Note.—Rules 10D-116.002(2) and 10D-116.004(3) 675 

interpret s. 383.336, Florida Statutes, with 676 

references to the former Department of Health and 677 

Rehabilitative Services or repealed statutes and do 678 

not conform with the specific law to be implemented. 679 

 680 

Section 10. The following rules of the former Department of 681 

Health and Rehabilitative Services, Health Program Office, are 682 

nullified and of no further force or effect: 683 

(1) Rule 10D-116.004, subsection (4), Florida 684 

Administrative Code, relating to Provider Hospital 685 

Responsibilities, directing the making of reports to the Agency 686 

for Health Care Administration. 687 

(2) Rule 10D-116.006, subsection (4), Florida 688 

Administrative Code, relating to Functions of Peer Review 689 

Boards, stating the results of a review will not serve as 690 

evidence in certain proceedings. 691 

(3) Rule 10D-116.007, Florida Administrative Code, 692 

assigning certain responsibilities to Agency for Health Care 693 

Administration. 694 

 695 

Note.—Rules 10D-116.004(4), 10D-116.006(4), and 10D-696 



Florida Senate - 2012 SB 1470 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

12-01526-12 20121470__ 

Page 25 of 35 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

116.007 exceed the authority delegated in the specific 697 

law to be implemented. 698 

 699 

Section 11. (1) Effective July 1, 2013, the following rules 700 

of the former Department of Health and Rehabilitative Services, 701 

Health Program Office, are nullified and of no further force or 702 

effect: 703 

(a) Rule 10D-124.003, Florida Administrative Code, relating 704 

to Payment of Scholarship Funds. 705 

(b) Rule 10D-124.004, Florida Administrative Code, relating 706 

to Placement of Nursing Scholars. 707 

(2) Before the effective date of this section, the 708 

Department of Health shall initiate rulemaking to readopt or 709 

revise those portions of the rules which are necessary to 710 

implement the affected statutes. 711 

 712 

Note.—The rules in this section were adopted by the 713 

former Department of Health and Rehabilitative 714 

Services before the Type Two Transfer of 715 

responsibility for public health matters to the 716 

Department of Health by section 6, chapter 96-403, 717 

Laws of Florida. The abolition of responsibility for 718 

public health matters in the former Department of 719 

Health and Rehabilitative Services raises a question 720 

about the continued validity of these rules. Rules 721 

10D-124.003 and 10D-124.004 implemented s. 240.4028, 722 

Florida Statutes, which was repealed by section 1058, 723 

chapter 2002-387, Laws of Florida. Therefore, the 724 

Department of Health should readopt or revise those 725 

Florida Senate - 2012 SB 1470 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

12-01526-12 20121470__ 

Page 26 of 35 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

portions of the rules which remain necessary to 726 

implement the agency’s statutory authority. 727 

 728 

Section 12. The following rules of the former Advisory 729 

Council on Intergovernmental Relations are nullified and of no 730 

further force or effect: 731 

(1) Rule 37-1.001, Florida Administrative Code, relating to 732 

General Authority. 733 

(2) Rule 37-1.002, Florida Administrative Code, relating to 734 

Composition of the Council. 735 

(3) Rule 37-1.003, Florida Administrative Code, relating to 736 

Council Officers. 737 

(4) Rule 37-1.004, Florida Administrative Code, relating to 738 

General Description of Council Organization and Operations. 739 

(5) Rule 37-1.005, Florida Administrative Code, relating to 740 

Council Functions and Duties. 741 

(6) Rule 37-1.006, Florida Administrative Code, relating to 742 

Council Recommendations. 743 

(7) Rule 37-1.007, Florida Administrative Code, relating to 744 

General Information Concerning Council, Its Record and 745 

Proceedings. 746 

(8) Rule 37-2.001, Florida Administrative Code, relating to 747 

Notice of Meeting. 748 

(9) Rule 37-2.002, Florida Administrative Code, relating to 749 

Scheduling of Meetings. 750 

(10) Rule 37-2.003, Florida Administrative Code, relating 751 

to Meetings, Hearings; Intergovernmental Cooperation. 752 

(11) Rule 37-2.004, Florida Administrative Code, relating 753 

to Agenda of Meetings and Workshops. 754 



Florida Senate - 2012 SB 1470 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

12-01526-12 20121470__ 

Page 27 of 35 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

(12) Rule 37-2.005, Florida Administrative Code, relating 755 

to Emergency Meetings. 756 

(13) Rule 37-2.006, Florida Administrative Code, relating 757 

to Model Rules Application. 758 

(14) Rule 37-3.001, Florida Administrative Code, relating 759 

to Commencement of Proceeding. 760 

(15) Rule 37-3.002, Florida Administrative Code, relating 761 

to Notice of Proceeding, and the Proposed Rules. 762 

(16) Rule 37-3.003, Florida Administrative Code, relating 763 

to Petitions to Initiate Rule Making Proceedings. 764 

(17) Rule 37-3.004 Florida Administrative Code, relating to 765 

Agency Action on Petitions to Initiate Rule Making Proceedings. 766 

(18) Rule 37-3.005, Florida Administrative Code, relating 767 

to Rule Making Proceeding – Hearing. 768 

(19) Rule 37-3.006, Florida Administrative Code, relating 769 

to Description of Publication by Reference. 770 

(20) Rule 37-3.007, Florida Administrative Code, relating 771 

to Emergency Rule Hearing. 772 

(21) Rule 37-3.008, Florida Administrative Code, relating 773 

to Model Rules Application. 774 

(22) Rule 37-4.001, Florida Administrative Code, relating 775 

to General provisions pertaining to petition for declaratory 776 

statement. 777 

(23) Rule 37-4.002, Florida Administrative Code, relating 778 

to Purpose and Use of Declaratory Statement. 779 

(24) Rule 37-4.003, Florida Administrative Code, relating 780 

to Council Disposition. 781 

(25) Rule 37-5.001, Florida Administrative Code, relating 782 

to Members Present Shall Vote. 783 

Florida Senate - 2012 SB 1470 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

12-01526-12 20121470__ 

Page 28 of 35 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

(26) Rule 37-5.002, Florida Administrative Code, relating 784 

to Quorum; Majority Action. 785 

(27) Rule 37-5.003, Florida Administrative Code, relating 786 

to Voting. 787 

(28) Rule 37-5.004, Florida Administrative Code, relating 788 

to Change of Vote. 789 

(29) Rule 37-5.005, Florida Administrative Code, relating 790 

to Casting Vote for Another. 791 

(30) Rule 37-5.006, Florida Administrative Code, relating 792 

to Explanation of Vote. 793 

(31) Rule 37-5.007, Florida Administrative Code, relating 794 

to Motions; How Made, Withdrawn. 795 

(32) Rule 37-5.008, Florida Administrative Code, relating 796 

to Motions; Precedence. 797 

(33) Rule 37-5.009, Florida Administrative Code, relating 798 

to Order of Questions. 799 

(34) Rule 37-5.010, Florida Administrative Code, relating 800 

to Motions; Disposition. 801 

(35) Rule 37-5.011, Florida Administrative Code, relating 802 

to Reconsideration: Generally. 803 

(36) Rule 37-5.012, Florida Administrative Code, relating 804 

to Motion to Lay on Table. 805 

(37) Rule 37-5.013, Florida Administrative Code, relating 806 

to Amendments; Manner of Consideration. 807 

(38) Rule 37-5.014, Florida Administrative Code, relating 808 

to Amendments; Adoption. 809 

(39) Rule 37-5.015, Florida Administrative Code, relating 810 

to Sequence of Amendments to Amendments. 811 

(40) Rule 37-6.001, Florida Administrative Code, relating 812 



Florida Senate - 2012 SB 1470 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

12-01526-12 20121470__ 

Page 29 of 35 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

to Interpretation of Rules. 813 

(41) Rule 37-6.002, Florida Administrative Code, relating 814 

to Waiver and Suspension of Rules. 815 

(42) Rule 37-6.003, Florida Administrative Code, relating 816 

to General provisions pertaining to construction of rules. 817 

 818 

Note.—The rules in this section, comprising Title 37 819 

of the Florida Administrative Code, were adopted by 820 

the former Advisory Council on Intergovernmental 821 

Relations, which was abolished by section 9, chapter 822 

96-311, Laws of Florida. The rulemaking authority for 823 

the above rules was abolished by section 9, chapter 824 

96-311, Laws of Florida. The above rules variously 825 

implemented ss. 120.53 and 120.54, Florida Statutes, 826 

which were extensively revised by sections 9 and 10, 827 

chapter 96-159, Laws of Florida, eliminating certain 828 

provisions implemented by such rules, and ss. 163.703, 829 

163.704, 163.705, 163.7055, 163.706, 163.707, and 830 

163.708, Florida Statutes, which were repealed by 831 

section 9, chapter 96-311, Laws of Florida. The 832 

substance of these statutes was reenacted as s. 11.70, 833 

Florida Statutes, by section 1, chapter 96-311, Laws 834 

of Florida, which was repealed by section 3, chapter 835 

2011-34, Laws of Florida, leaving the rules out of 836 

conformity with the law to be implemented. No agency 837 

appears to have clear authority to repeal such rules. 838 

 839 

Section 13. The following rules of the former Department of 840 

Labor and Employment Security are nullified and of no further 841 

Florida Senate - 2012 SB 1470 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

12-01526-12 20121470__ 

Page 30 of 35 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

force or effect: 842 

(1) Rule 38I-40.002, Florida Administrative Code, relating 843 

to Definitions. 844 

(2) Rule 38I-40.003, Florida Administrative Code, relating 845 

to Identification of State-Owned Buildings and the Building 846 

Asbestos Contact Person for Each Building. 847 

(3) Rule 38I-40.004, Florida Administrative Code, relating 848 

to Review and Approval of Building Asbestos Surveys Completed 849 

Prior to January 1, 1989. 850 

(4) Rule 38I-40.005, Florida Administrative Code, relating 851 

to Review and Approval of Current Operation and Maintenance 852 

Plans Implemented Prior to January 1, 1989. 853 

(5) Rule 38I-40.006, Florida Administrative Code, relating 854 

to Collection of Information Concerning Completed Asbestos 855 

Abatement Work. 856 

(6) Rule 38I-40.007, Florida Administrative Code, relating 857 

to Standardization of Asbestos Management Activities. 858 

(7) Rule 38I-40.008, Florida Administrative Code, relating 859 

to Completion of Asbestos Surveys. 860 

(8) Rule 38I-40.009, Florida Administrative Code, relating 861 

to Preparation and Implementation of Asbestos Operation and 862 

Maintenance Plans. 863 

(9) Rule 38I-40.010, Florida Administrative Code, relating 864 

to Agency Responsibilities for Management of Asbestos. 865 

(10) Rule 38I-40.011, Florida Administrative Code, relating 866 

to Building Asbestos Contact Person. 867 

(11) Rule 38I-40.012, Florida Administrative Code, relating 868 

to Asbestos Oversight Program Team. 869 

(12) Rule 38I-40.013, Florida Administrative Code, relating 870 



Florida Senate - 2012 SB 1470 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

12-01526-12 20121470__ 

Page 31 of 35 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

to Regional Asbestos Program Managers. 871 

(13) Rule 38I-40.014, Florida Administrative Code, relating 872 

to Training Requirements. 873 

(14) Rule 38I-40.015, Florida Administrative Code, relating 874 

to Safety and Health Requirements. 875 

(15) Rule 38I-40.016, Florida Administrative Code, relating 876 

to Standard Technical Specifications and Guides. 877 

 878 

Note.—The rulemaking authority for the above rules was 879 

abolished by section 35, chapter 2011-213, Laws of 880 

Florida. No agency appears to have clear authority to 881 

repeal such rules. 882 

 883 

Note.—Rules 38I-40.002 and 38I-40.003 implemented s. 884 

255.554, Florida Statutes, which was repealed by 885 

section 10, chapter 99-5, Laws of Florida, and ss. 886 

255.552 and 255.553, Florida Statutes, which were 887 

repealed by section 35, chapter 2011-213, Laws of 888 

Florida, leaving the rules out of conformity with the 889 

laws to be implemented. 890 

 891 

Note.—Rule 38I-40.004 implemented s. 255.554, Florida 892 

Statutes, which was repealed by section 10, chapter 893 

99-5, Laws of Florida, and ss. 255.552, 255.553, and 894 

255.556, Florida Statutes, which were repealed by 895 

section 35, chapter 2011-213, Laws of Florida, leaving 896 

the rule out of conformity with the laws to be 897 

implemented. 898 

 899 

Florida Senate - 2012 SB 1470 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

12-01526-12 20121470__ 

Page 32 of 35 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

Note.—Rules 38I-40.005, 38I-40.008, and 38I-40.009 900 

implemented ss. 255.552 and 255.557, Florida Statutes, 901 

which were repealed by section 35, chapter 2011-213, 902 

Laws of Florida, leaving the rules out of conformity 903 

with the laws to be implemented. 904 

 905 

Note.—Rule 38I-40.006 implemented s. 255.552, Florida 906 

Statutes, which was repealed by section 35, chapter 907 

2011-213, Laws of Florida, leaving the rule out of 908 

conformity with the law to be implemented. 909 

 910 

Note.—Rules 38I-40.007 and 38I-40.010 implemented ss. 911 

255.552, 255.553, 255.555, 255.556, and 255.557, 912 

Florida Statutes, which were repealed by section 35, 913 

chapter 2011-213, Laws of Florida, leaving the rules 914 

out of conformity with the laws to be implemented. 915 

 916 

Note.—Rule 38I-40.011 implemented s. 255.554, Florida 917 

Statutes, which was repealed by section 10, chapter 918 

99-5, Laws of Florida, and ss. 255.552, 255.553, 919 

255.555, and 255.557, Florida Statutes, which were 920 

repealed by section 35, chapter 2011-213, Laws of 921 

Florida, leaving the rule out of conformity with the 922 

laws to be implemented. 923 

 924 

Note.—Rule 38I-40.012 implemented s. 255.565, Florida 925 

Statutes, which was repealed by section 15, chapter 926 

2001-89, Laws of Florida, leaving the rule out of 927 

conformity with the law to be implemented. 928 



Florida Senate - 2012 SB 1470 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

12-01526-12 20121470__ 

Page 33 of 35 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

 929 

Note.—Rule 38I-40.013 implemented s. 255.554, Florida 930 

Statutes, which was repealed by section 10, chapter 931 

99-5, Laws of Florida, and ss. 255.552, 255.553, 932 

255.557, 255.561, and 255.562, Florida Statutes, which 933 

were repealed by section 35, chapter 2011-213, Laws of 934 

Florida, leaving the rule out of conformity with the 935 

laws to be implemented. 936 

 937 

Note.—Rule 38I-40.014 implemented s. 255.565, Florida 938 

Statutes, which was repealed by section 15, chapter 939 

2001-89, Laws of Florida, and s. 255.552, Florida 940 

Statutes, which was repealed by section 35, chapter 941 

2011-213, Laws of Florida, leaving the rule out of 942 

conformity with the laws to be implemented. 943 

 944 

Note.—Rule 38I-40.015 implemented s. 255.561, Florida 945 

Statutes, which was repealed by section 35, chapter 946 

2011-213, Laws of Florida, leaving the rule out of 947 

conformity with the law to be implemented. 948 

 949 

Note.—Rule 38I-40.016 implemented ss. 255.552, 950 

255.553, 255.557, 255.558, 255.559, 255.56, 255.561, 951 

and 255.562, Florida Statutes, which were repealed by 952 

section 35, chapter 2011-213, Laws of Florida, leaving 953 

the rule out of conformity with the laws to be 954 

implemented. 955 

 956 

Section 14. (1) Effective July 1, 2013, the following rules 957 

Florida Senate - 2012 SB 1470 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

12-01526-12 20121470__ 

Page 34 of 35 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

of the former Department of Labor and Employment Security are 958 

nullified and of no further force or effect: 959 

(a) Rule 38J-1.001, Florida Administrative Code, relating 960 

to Recovery From Third Parties. 961 

(b) Rule 38J-1.002, Florida Administrative Code, relating 962 

to Definitions. 963 

(c) Rule 38J-1.003, Florida Administrative Code, relating 964 

to Right to Make Informed Choice. 965 

(d) Rule 38J-1.004, Florida Administrative Code, relating 966 

to Division Services – General. 967 

(e) Rule 38J-1.005, Florida Administrative Code, relating 968 

to Additional Requirements for Providing Certain Services. 969 

(f) Rule 38J-1.006, Florida Administrative Code, relating 970 

to Division Decisions and Appeal Procedures. 971 

(g) Rule 38J-1.007, Florida Administrative Code, relating 972 

to Case Closure due to individual’s actions. 973 

(h) Rule 38J-1.008, Florida Administrative Code, relating 974 

to Destruction of Records. 975 

(i) Rule 38J-1.009, Florida Administrative Code, relating 976 

to Forms and Documents. 977 

(2) Before the effective date of this section, the 978 

Department of Education shall initiate rulemaking to readopt or 979 

revise those portions of the rules which are necessary to 980 

implement the affected statutes. 981 

 982 

Note.—The rules in this section were adopted by the 983 

former Department of Labor and Employment Security, 984 

which was abolished by section 69, chapter 2002-194, 985 

Laws of Florida. The Division of Vocational 986 



Florida Senate - 2012 SB 1470 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

12-01526-12 20121470__ 

Page 35 of 35 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

Rehabilitation was placed under the Department of 987 

Education by section 1, chapter 2002-22, Laws of 988 

Florida, without a clear accompanying transfer of 989 

these rules, leaving the rules out of conformity with 990 

the law to be implemented. While no agency appears to 991 

have clear authority to repeal such rules, the laws 992 

implemented remain under the jurisdiction of the 993 

Department of Education. Therefore, the Department of 994 

Education should readopt or revise those portions of 995 

the rules which remain necessary to implement the 996 

agency’s statutory authority. 997 

 998 

Section 15. Upon this act becoming a law, its enactment and 999 

effective dates shall be noted in the Florida Administrative 1000 

Code or the Florida Administrative Weekly or both, as 1001 

appropriate with an appropriate notice that the rules listed in 1002 

sections 3-14 of this act have been repealed by law. The 1003 

administrative rules nullified by this act shall be treated as 1004 

repealed for purposes of all future editions of the Florida 1005 

Administrative Code. The provisions of sections 3-14 of this act 1006 

serve no other purpose and shall not be codified in the Florida 1007 

Statutes. This act does not alter rulemaking authority delegated 1008 

or withdrawn by previous law. 1009 

Section 16. This act shall take effect 60 days after 1010 

becoming a law. 1011 





The Florida Senate 

BILL ANALYSIS AND FISCAL IMPACT STATEMENT 
(This document is based on the provisions contained in the legislation as of the latest date listed below.) 

Prepared By: The Professional Staff of the Budget Committee 

 

BILL:  CS/CS/SB 1860 

INTRODUCER:  Budget Committee, Banking and Insurance Committee, and Senator Negron 

SUBJECT:  Motor Vehicle Personal Injury Protection Insurance 

DATE:  March 2, 2012 

 

 ANALYST  STAFF DIRECTOR  REFERENCE  ACTION 

1. Knudson  Burgess  BI  Fav/CS 

2. Betta, Knudson  Rhodes  BC  Fav/CS 

3.        

4.        

5.        

6.        

 

Please see Section VIII. for Additional Information: 

A. COMMITTEE SUBSTITUTE..... X Statement of Substantial Changes 

 B. AMENDMENTS........................  Technical amendments were recommended 

   Amendments were recommended 

   Significant amendments were recommended 

 

I. Summary: 

This bill amends the Florida Motor Vehicle No-Fault Law. The bill primarily amends the laws 

governing Personal Injury Protection (PIP) medical benefits under the No-Fault law and laws 

related to motor-vehicle insurance fraud. The major changes enacted by the bill are as follows.   

 

PIP Medical Benefits  

The bill eliminates PIP medical benefit reimbursement for massage as defined in section 

480.033, Florida Statutes, and acupuncture as defined in section 457.102, Florida Statutes 

  

Payment of PIP Benefits  

The bill makes the following changes regarding payment of PIP benefits: 

 

 Insurers must give priority to the payment of the $5,000 death benefit over other PIP 

benefits. 

 Expands the requirement to reserve $5,000 of PIP benefits to physicians or dentists providing 

emergency treatment to include hospitals. 

REVISED:         



BILL: CS/CS/SB 1860   Page 2 

 

 Insurers must repay the full amount of benefits paid by the Medicaid program within 30 days 

after receipt of notice. 

 An insurer that rejects a claim or pays only a portion of a claim due to an alleged error in the 

claim must include with the rejection or partial payment an itemized specification or 

explanation of benefits of the specified error. The claimant then has 15 days to submit a 

revised claim.  The insurer has 15 days after the resubmitted or revised claim to issue 

payment. 

 Insurers must maintain a log of PIP benefits paid by the insurer to each insured. The insurer 

must provide the payment log within 30 days after receiving a request for the log from the 

insured or an assignee.  

 If there is a dispute between an insurer and an insured or assignee and policy limits are 

reached, the insurer must notify the insured or assignee that policy limits have been reached 

within 15 days. 

 Hospitals; insureds claiming lost wages; and physicians, osteopathic physicians, dentists who 

provide emergency services and care or hospital inpatient care are exempted from the 

requirement to provide an insurer with a demand letter prior to litigating a PIP dispute. 

 Specifies that a demand letter is not deficient for containing calculation errors or not taking 

payments into account, and directs courts to evaluate a demand letter’s compliance using the 

standard of substantial compliance. If a demand letter is found deficient after a lawsuit has 

commenced, the insured or assignee may abate the lawsuit and correct the deficiency. The 

insurer must specify in its response to the demand letter each deficiency the insurer is 

claiming or it waives any deficiencies found in the notice. 

 

PIP Medical Fee Schedule 

The bill makes the following changes regarding the content and application of the PIP medical 

fee schedule: 

 

 Specifies that the Medicare fee schedule in effect on January 1 will apply to all medical care 

and supplies rendered in that calendar year.  

 Effective July 1, 2012, an insurer may only limit reimbursement pursuant to the PIP fee 

schedule if the insurer provides notice at the issuance or renewal of the auto insurance policy 

that the insurer will provide reimbursement pursuant to the fee schedule.  

 Authorizes insurers to use Medicare coding policies and payment methodologies so long as 

they do not constitute a utilization limit.  

 Specifies that the Medicare Part B fee schedule applies to services, supplies and care 

provided by ambulatory surgical centers and clinical laboratories under the PIP fee schedule. 

 Specifies that durable medical equipment is reimbursed at 200 percent of the Durable 

Medical Equipment Prosthetics/Orthotics and Supplies fee schedule of Medicare Part B. 

 

Mandatory Clinic Licensure; Exceptions 

All entities providing health care services must be licensed clinics in order to receive PIP 

reimbursement except for a licensed hospital, licensed ambulatory surgical center, or entities 

wholly owned by hospitals, licensed physicians (chapters 458 and 459, Florida Statutes), 



BILL: CS/CS/SB 1860   Page 3 

 

licensed dentists, and licensed chiropractors or jointly owned by such practitioners and specified 

family members. 

 

Crash Reports 

The bill requires all crash reports and the drivers exchange of information form to indentify all 

vehicles and their passengers involved in a crash. The bill also requires law enforcement to 

submit all crash reports to the Department of Highway Safety and Motor Vehicles. 

 

Clinic Licensure Insurance Fraud 

The bill defines as a false and fraudulent insurance claim under section 817.234, Florida Statutes, 

presenting PIP claims to an insurer that a person knows are made on behalf of a payee that 

knowingly submitted a false, misleading, or fraudulent document when applying for clinic 

licensure, a clinic licensure exemption, or demonstrating compliance with the Health Care Clinic 

Law. Such acts are subject to investigation by the Division of Insurance Fraud. The AHCA clinic 

licensure application and exemption forms will provide notice of criminal liability for 

committing such acts. 

 

Health Care Practitioner License Suspension 

A licensed health care practitioner found guilty of insurance fraud under section 817.234, Florida 

Statutes, will have his or her licensed revoked for five years and may not receive PIP 

reimbursement for ten years. 

 

Electronic Records 

The bill permits electronic transmission of all notices, documents, communications and 

transmissions required or authorized under the No-Fault law. It deletes the requirement that 

electronic transmission may only occur if all parties expressly agree. This portion of the bill is 

effective December 1, 2012. 

 

Auto Insurance Fraud Direct Support Organization –  

The bill creates a non-profit direct support organization designed to receive money from private 

persons that will fund state agencies, state attorneys’ offices, and the statewide prosecutor for the 

purposes of preventing, investigating, and prosecuting motor vehicle insurance fraud. The board 

of directors consists of the Chief Financial Officer (CFO), who serves as the chair, and eight 

appointed members. 

 

PIP Data Call 

The bill requires the Office of Insurance Regulation (OIR) to perform a comprehensive PIP data 

call and publish the results by January 1, 2015. The data call will analyze the impact of the act’s 

reforms on the PIP insurance market. 

 

The bill is effective July 1, 2012, except as otherwise expressly provided.   

 



BILL: CS/CS/SB 1860   Page 4 

 

This bill substantially amends the following sections of the Florida Statutes: 316.066, 400.9905, 

400.991, 626.989, 626.9894, 627.736, and 817.234. 

 

This bill creates section 626.9895, Florida Statutes. 

II. Present Situation: 

Florida Motor Vehicle No-Fault Law 

Under the state’s no-fault law
1
, owners or registrants of motor vehicles are required to purchase 

$10,000 of personal injury protection (PIP) insurance which compensates persons injured in 

accidents regardless of fault. Policyholders are indemnified by their own insurer. The intent of 

no-fault insurance is to provide prompt medical treatment without regard to fault.
2
 This coverage 

also provides policyholders with immunity from liability for economic damages up to the policy 

limits and limits tort suits for non-economic damages (pain and suffering) below a specified 

injury threshold.
3
 In contrast, under a tort liability system, the negligent party is responsible for 

damages caused and an accident victim can sue the at-fault driver to recover economic and non-

economic damages. 

 

Florida drivers are required to purchase both PIP and property damage liability (PD) insurance.
4
 

The personal injury protection must provide a minimum benefit of $10,000 for bodily injury to 

any one person.
5
 PIP coverage provides reimbursement for 80 percent of reasonable medical 

expenses,
6
 60 percent of loss of income,

7
 100 percent of replacement services,

8
 for bodily injury 

sustained in a motor vehicle accident, without regard to fault. The PD coverage must provide a 

$10,000 minimum benefit. A $5,000 death benefit is also provided.
9
 

 

In 2007, the Legislature re-enacted and revised the Florida Motor Vehicle No-Fault 

Law (ss. 627.730-627.7405, F.S.) effective January 1, 2008.
10

 The re-enactment maintained 

personal injury protection (PIP) coverage at 80 percent of medical expenses up to $10,000. 

However, benefits are limited to services and care lawfully provided, supervised, ordered or 

prescribed by a licensed physician, osteopath, chiropractor or dentist; or provided by: 

 

 A hospital or ambulatory surgical center; 

 An ambulance or emergency medical technician that provides emergency transportation or 

treatment; 

 An entity wholly owned by physicians, osteopaths, chiropractors, dentists, or such 

practitioners and their spouse, parent, child or sibling; 

 An entity wholly owned by a hospital or hospitals; or 

                                                 
1
 Sections 627.730-627.7405, F.S. 

2
 See s. 627.731, F.S. 

3
 Section 627.737, F.S. 

4
 See sections 324.022, F.S. and 627.733, F.S. 

5
 Section 627.736(1), F.S. 

6
 Section 627.736(1)(a), F.S. 

7
 Section 627.736(1)(b), F.S. 

8
 Id. 

9
 Section 627.736(1)(c), F.S. 

10
 Chapter 2007-324, L.O.F. 



BILL: CS/CS/SB 1860   Page 5 

 

 Licensed health care clinics that meet specified criteria.
11

 

 

Medical Fee Limits for PIP Reimbursement 

Section 627.736(5), F.S., authorizes insurers to limit reimbursement for benefits payable from 

PIP coverage to 80 percent of the following schedule of maximum charges: 

 

 For emergency transport and treatment (ambulance and emergency medical technicians), 

200 percent of Medicare; 

 For emergency services and care provided by a hospital, 75 percent of the hospital’s usual 

and customary charges; 

 For emergency services and care and related hospital inpatient services rendered by a 

physician or dentist, the usual and customary charges in the community; 

 For hospital inpatient services, 200 percent of Medicare Part A; 

 For hospital outpatient services, 200 percent of Medicare Part A; 

 For all other medical services, supplies, and care, 200 percent of Medicare Part B; and 

 For medical care not reimbursable under Medicare, 80 percent of the workers’ compensation 

fee schedule. If the medical care is not reimbursable under either Medicare or workers’ 

compensation then the insurer is not required to provide reimbursement. 

 

The insurer may not apply any utilization limits that apply under Medicare or workers’ 

compensation.
12

 Also, the insurer must reimburse any health care provider rendering services 

under the scope of his or her license, regardless of any restriction under Medicare that restricts 

payments to certain types of health care providers for specified procedures. Medical providers 

are not allowed to bill the insured for any excess amount when an insurer limits payment as 

authorized in the fee schedule, except for amounts that are not covered due to the PIP 

coinsurance amount (the 20 percent copayment) or for amounts that exceed maximum policy 

limits.
13

 

 

Motor Vehicle Insurance Rates 

Motor vehicle insurance rates have increased dramatically since the 2008 re-enactment of the 

No-Fault law. The OIR provided committee staff a summary of the cumulative motor vehicle 

rate increases implemented from January 1, 2009, to February 1, 2012, by the five insurance 

carriers with the largest market share in the Florida marketplace.
14

  

 

Coverage State Farm 

Mutual 

GEICO 

General
15

 

Progressive 

American
16

 

Progressive 

Select
17

 

Allstate 

Insurance 

PIP 49.7% 87.6% 62.8% 50.2% 35.1% 

                                                 
11

 See sub-subparagraphs 1-5 of s. 627.736(1)(a), F.S. 
12

 Section 627.736(5)(a)4., F.S. 
13

 Section 627.736(5)(a)5., F.S. 
14

 Data supplied by the Office of Insurance Regulation, based on data submitted in the Rate Collection System as of February 

1, 2012. 
15

 Includes two pending filings as of February 1, 2012. 
16

 Includes one pending filing as of February 1, 2012. 
17

 Includes one pending filing as of February 1, 2012 



BILL: CS/CS/SB 1860   Page 6 

 

PD 40.0% -0.9% -3.9% 5.9% 29.6% 

BI 40.0% 49.0% 33.2% 33.9% 46.3% 

UM 52.4% -3.2% 50.2% 75.4% -7.4% 

Med Pay -3.8% 5.9% 7.9% 19.5% 23.1% 

Collision -15.9% -22.1% -20.7 -14.8% -24.7% 

Comp. -7.2% -18.0% -28.2% -21.7% -26.3% 

TOTAL 26.0% 19.6% 19.2% 19.2% 11.5% 

 

These premium increases have occurred despite data obtained from the Department of Highway 

Safety and Motor Vehicles showing decreases in: 

 

 The number of licensed drivers in Florida (15,579,603 in 2008 to 15,553,387 in 2010). 

 The frequency of auto crashes in Florida (1.56 crashes per 100 licensed drivers in 2008 to 

1.52 crashes per licensed driver in 2010). 

 The number of crash-related injuries in Florida (199,658 in 2008 to 195,104 in 2010. 

 

Though the number of drivers, crashes, and injuries decreased from 2008 to 2010, the direct 

incurred losses of insurers dramatically increased from approximately $1.475 billion in 2008 to 

approximately $2.298 billion in 2010, an increase of approximately 55.8 percent.  

 

The foregoing rate increases led the OIR to promulgate a PIP data call
18

 and issue a report on its 

findings in April 2011.
19

 The OIR report found large increases in medical provider charges, 

which increased from approximately $10,000 per claim in 2007 to $12,000 per claim in 2010.
20

 

The average number of procedures per claim greatly increased from less than 70 per claim in 

2007 to over 100 per claim in 2010.
21

 The average provider charge per procedure showed a slight 

decrease during 2008-2010, which is unsurprising given the enactment of the PIP medical fee 

schedule. The OIR data call indicates that the large loss increases insurers have incurred from 

2008-2010 are due largely to sizeable increases in the number of treatments provided per PIP 

claim.   

 

In December 2011, the Insurance Consumer Advocate issued a Report on Florida Motor Vehicle 

No-Fault Insurance. The report was based largely on information gathered through a Personal 

Injury Protection Working Group (Working Group) convened in August 2011 by the Consumer 

Advocate at the request of the CFO to research and analyze the No-Fault system and why losses 

and premiums are rapidly increasing.  

 

The Consumer Advocate’s report found rapid growth in the number of procedures billed from 

2005 to 2010. The largest increases were found for “Massage, 15 minutes” and “Therapeutic 

Exercise, 15 minutes” which each increased by approximately 2.6 million units from 2005 to 

2010.
22

 Specifically, “Massage, 15 minutes” increased from approximately 1.42 million units in 

                                                 
18

 Thirty-one companies participated in the data call, constituting approximately 80 percent of the private passenger No-Fault 

premium market in Florida. 
19

 OIR Report on Review of the 2011 Personal Injury Protection Data Call (April 11, 2011). 
20

 See id. at pg. 13 
21

 See id. 
22

 Office of the Insurance Consumer Advocate Report on Florida Motor Vehicle No-Fault Insurance (Personal Injury 

Protection, pg. 23 (December 2011). 



BILL: CS/CS/SB 1860   Page 7 

 

2005 to approximately 4.05 million units in 2010, while therapeutic exercise increased from 

approximately 713,000 units in 2005 to 3.36 million units in 2010. These two procedures are 

now the two most commonly billed procedures in the PIP system. 

 

The Consumer Advocate’s report also presented data on increases in the average charge per 

claimant by provider. Average charges by massage therapists saw the greatest increase, 

increasing from $2,887 in 2005 to $4,350 in 2010.
23

 The second largest increase was by 

acupuncturists, whose average charge increased from $2,754 in 2005 to $3,674 in 2010.
24

 In 

contrast, the average charge by an orthopedic surgeon only increased $126 from 2005-2010, 

billing on average the comparatively smaller figure of $2,810 in 2010.
25

 As of 2010, massage 

therapists and acupuncturists issue the largest average charges of any medical provider that bill 

within the PIP system.
26

   

 

Motor Vehicle Insurance Fraud 

Over the past five years, Florida has experienced an increase in motor vehicle related insurance 

fraud. The number of staged motor vehicle accidents received by the Division of Insurance Fraud 

(division)
27

 nearly doubled from Fiscal Year 2008-2009 (776)
28

 to Fiscal Year 2010-2011 

(1,416).
29

 The division is also reporting sizeable increases in the overall number of PIP fraud 

referrals, which have increased from 3,151 during Fiscal Year 2007-2008
30

 to 6,699 in Fiscal 

Year 2010-2011.
31

 Florida led the nation in staged motor vehicle accident “questionable 

claims”
32

 from 2007-2009, according to the National Insurance Crime Bureau (NICB).
33

 

 

Motor vehicle insurance fraud is a long-standing problem in Florida. In November 2005, the 

Senate Banking and Insurance Committee issued a report entitled Florida’s Motor Vehicle No-

Fault Law, which was a comprehensive review of Florida’s No-Fault system. The report noted 

that fraud was at an “all-time” high at the time, noting that there were 3,942 PIP fraud referrals 

received by the division during the three fiscal years beginning in 2002 and ending in 2005. That 

amount was easily exceeded by the over 5,500 hundred PIP fraud referrals received by the 

division during the 2009-2010 fiscal year. Given this fact, the following description from the 

2005 report is an accurate description of the current situation regarding motor vehicle insurance 

fraud: 

 

                                                 
23

 See id. at pg. 21. 
24

 See id. 
25

 See id. 
26

 See id. 
27

 The Division of Insurance Fraud is the law enforcement arm of the Department of Financial Services. 
28

 Florida Department of Financial Services Division of Insurance Fraud Statistical Report: Fiscal Year 2008-2009, pg. 12. 
29

 Florida Department of Financial Services Division of Insurance Fraud Annual Report: Fiscal Year 2010-2011, pg. 30.  
30

 See fn. 25. 
31

 See fn. 26. 
32

 See fn. 19 at pg. 29. The NICB defines a “questionable claim” as one in which indications of the behavior associated with 

staged accidents are present. Such claims are not necessarily verified instances of insurance fraud.   
33

 The National Insurance Crime Bureau is a not-for-profit organization that receives report from approximately 1,000 

property and casualty insurance companies. The NICB’s self-stated mission is to partner with insurers and law enforcement 

agencies with law enforcement  



BILL: CS/CS/SB 1860   Page 8 

 

“Florida’s no-fault laws are being exploited by sophisticated 

criminal organizations in schemes that involve health care clinic 

fraud, staging (faking) car crashes, manufacturing false crash 

reports, adding occupants to existing crash reports, filing PIP 

claims using contrived injuries, colluding with dishonest medical 

treatment providers to fraudulently bill insurance companies for 

medically unnecessary or non-existent treatments, and patient-

brokering… 

 

Fraudulent claims are a major cost-driver and result in higher motor vehicle insurance premium 

costs for Florida policyholders. Representatives from the division have identified the following 

as sources of motor vehicle insurance fraud:  

 

 Ease in obtaining exemptions from the Health Care Clinic Law. 

 Failure of some law enforcement crash reports to identify all passengers involved in an 

accident. 

 Solicitation of patients by certain unscrupulous medical providers, attorneys, and medical 

and legal referral services. 

 The inability of local law enforcement agencies to actively pursue the large amount of motor 

vehicle fraud currently occurring. 

 

Examinations Under Oath 

The standard motor vehicle insurance policy contains a provision requiring the insured or 

claimant to submit to an examination under oath (EUO) as often as the insurer may reasonably 

require. When an insurer seeks an EUO of an insured or claimant, it sends a written request 

setting forth the time, date, and location of the examination and a list of any documents that the 

insurer is requesting. The examination is similar to a legal deposition as the insured answers 

questions posed by insurance company’s attorney.  

 

Medical providers and insurers dispute whether an insurer may require a medical provider who 

has accepted an assignment of benefits to submit to an examination under oath. The Fifth District 

Court of Appeals ruled in Shaw v. State Farm Fire and Cas. Co.,
34

 that a medical provider who 

was assigned PIP benefits by its insured was not required to submit to an EUO. The court stated 

that under Florida law, the assignment of contract rights (here, to receive reimbursement for PIP 

medical benefits) does not entail the transfer of contract duties (to submit to an EUO) unless the 

assignee agrees to accept the duty. The court noted that the assignment does not extinguish the 

duty to comply with the insurance contract, but stated that it is the contracting party (the insured) 

who must comply with contract conditions. The majority decision also found that State Farm 

attempted to impermissibly alter via contract the state’s No-Fault Law, which provides how 

insurers may obtain information from health care providers. A dissent in the case stated that the 

policy required the medical provider to submit to an examination under oath because the State 

Farm policy clearly stated that the medical provider must submit to an EUO under the State Farm 

policy because it required each “claimant” to submit to an EUO. The dissent also stated that an 

                                                 
34

 Shaw v. State Farm Fire and Casualty Company, 37 So.3d 329 (Fla. 5
th

 DCA 2010). 



BILL: CS/CS/SB 1860   Page 9 

 

assignment of benefits does not remove the assignee from the burden of compliance with 

contract conditions under Florida law. 

 

Demand Letter 

Prior to filing a legal action to recover PIP benefits, the insured or provider must send written 

notice to the insurer of an intent to initiate litigation. The notice must include an itemized 

statement detailing the exact amount and type of treatment asserted to be due. If the insurer pays 

the claim within 30 days (with interest and penalty) after receiving the demand letter then no 

action may be brought against the insurer. A suit may not be filed to obtain benefits and 

potentially collect attorney’s fees until the end of this 30-day period. 

 

Florida Uniform Crash Reports 

Section 316.066, F.S., provides that a Florida Traffic Crash Report-Long Form must be 

completed and submitted to the Department within ten days after an investigation by every law 

enforcement officer who, in the regular course of duty, investigates a motor vehicle crash that 

resulted in death or personal injury, that involved a violation of s. 316.061(1), F.S., or s. 316.193, 

F.S., and in which a vehicle was rendered inoperative to a degree that required a wrecker to 

remove it from traffic, if the action is appropriate, in the officer’s discretion. For every crash for 

which a Florida traffic crash report long form is not required by s. 316.066, F.S., the law 

enforcement officer may complete a short form crash report or provide a short form crash report 

to be completed by each party involved in the crash. 

 

Health Care Clinic Licensure 

The Health Care Clinic Licensure Act (ss. 400.990-400.995, F.S.) was enacted by the 2003 

Legislature for the purpose of preventing cost and harm to consumers by providing for the 

licensure, establishment and enforcement of basic standards for health care clinics. The 

definition of a health care “clinic” is expansive: “an entity at which health care services are 

provided to individuals and which tenders charges for reimbursement for such services, 

including a mobile clinic and a portable equipment provider.”
35

 However, the statute contains a 

multitude of exemptions from licensure. For instance, an entity owned by a Florida-licensed 

health care practitioner or by a Florida-licensed health care facility is exempt from the clinic 

licensure requirements. Furthermore, clinic exemptions are voluntary and the Agency for Health 

Care Administration (AHCA) has no statutory authority to verify that an entity qualifies for an 

exemption as claimed.  

 

An applicant
36

 for clinic licensure must submit to and pass a level two background screening 

pursuant to s. 435.04, F.S., which requires taking fingerprints of each applicant and conducting a 

statewide criminal history check through the Department of Law Enforcement (FDLE) and 

national criminal history check through the Federal Bureau of Investigation (FBI). AHCA also 

reviews the finances of the proposed clinic and inspects the facility to verify that the proposed 

clinic complies with licensure requirements.    

 

                                                 
35

 Section 400.9905(4), F.S. 
36

 An applicant is any person with a 5 percent or more ownership interest in the clinic. See s. 400.9905(2), F.S. 



BILL: CS/CS/SB 1860   Page 10 

 

Direct Support Organizations 

A direct service organization (DSO) collects funds through grants, donations and other sources, 

and distributes them to entities that will use the funds to further a legislative purpose. Florida’s 

nondelegation doctrine derives from Article II, Section 3 of the Florida Constitution and 

prohibits one branch of government from encroaching on another branch's power and also 

prohibits any branch from delegating its constitutionally assigned powers to another branch.
37

 

Accordingly, a DSO cannot exceed its grant of statutory authority. Additionally, as a statutorily 

created organization, the DSO is subject to the Government in the Sunshine law under ch. 119, 

F.S.
38

 Furthermore, DSOs are required to submit an audit, conducted by an independent certified 

public accountant, to the Auditor General within five months after the end of the fiscal year.
39

 

III. Effect of Proposed Changes: 

Traffic Crash Reports 

Section 1 amends s. 316.066, F.S., to require all crash reports and the drivers exchange of 

information forms to indentify all passengers involved in the crash and the vehicle the drivers 

and passengers were in. The bill also requires law enforcement to submit all crash reports to the 

Department of Highway Safety and Motor Vehicles (DHSMV). The bill expands the types of 

crashes where the use of a long-form crash report is required to include crashes that render a 

vehicle inoperable to the extent that a wrecker is required to remove it from the accident scene 

and crashes involving a commercial motor vehicle. The bill also specifies that a short-form 

report or a driver’s exchange of information form must be completed for all crashes on a public 

roadway for which a long-form report is not required. Drivers involved in accidents where a law 

enforcement report is not required must submit a report to the DHSMV within 10 days after the 

crash on a DHSMV-approved form. 

 

Section 10 provides a technical conforming change to s. 316.065, F.S., necessitated by the 

substantive amendment to s. 316.066, F.S. 

 

Health Care Clinic Related Insurance Fraud  

Submitting PIP Claims on Behalf of Fraudulent Clinics 

Section 9 amends s. 817.234(1)(a), F.S., to define as insurance fraud presenting a claim for PIP 

benefits on behalf of an entity while knowing that the entity knowingly submitted a false, 

misleading, or fraudulent application or document when applying for health care clinic licensure, 

licensure exemption, or demonstrating compliance with the Health Care Clinic Law. Insurance 

                                                 
37

 See Fla. Dep't of State, Div. of Elections v. Martin, 916 So.2d 763, 769 (Fla. 2005) 
38

 See s. 119.011(2), F.S. (defines “agency” as “any state, county, district, authority, or municipal officer, department, 

division, board, bureau, commission, or other separate unit of government created or established by law including, for the 

purposes of this chapter, the Commission on Ethics, the Public Service Commission, and the Office of Public Counsel, and 

any other public or private agency, person, partnership, corporation, or business entity acting on behalf of any public 

agency.”) (emphasis added). See also Crespo v. Florida Entertainment Direct Support Organization, Inc., 674 So.2d 154 

(Fla. 3
rd

 DCA 1996). 
39

 See ss. 11.45, 215.981, F.S. 



BILL: CS/CS/SB 1860   Page 11 

 

fraud under s. 817.234, F.S., is a felony offense and fraud related to motor vehicle insurance is 

also subject to monetary civil penalties.  

 

Notice of Health Care Clinic Licensure Insurance Fraud 

Section 3 amends s. 400.991, F.S., to require all AHCA forms for clinic licensure or exemption 

to include a notice of criminal liability. The notice states that submitting a false, misleading, or 

fraudulent document when applying for clinic licensure, clinic licensure exemption, or 

demonstrating compliance with the Health Care Clinic Law (part X, ch. 400, F.S.), with the 

intent to provide services or seek reimbursement under the No-Fault law is a fraudulent 

insurance act subject to investigation by the division pursuant to s. 626.989, F.S. The notice also 

states that presenting a claim for PIP benefits knowing that the payee knowingly submitted a 

fraudulent clinic application or document commits insurance fraud pursuant to s. 817.234, F.S. 

 

Clinic-Related Insurance Fraud Subject to Investigation by Division of Insurance Fraud 

Section 4 amends s. 626.989, F.S., which defines acts that are subject to investigation by the 

Division of Insurance Fraud as a “fraudulent insurance act.” Expansion of the definition is 

intended to expand the ability of the division to investigate health care clinic fraud. A “fraudulent 

insurance act” is: 

 

 The knowing submission of a false, misleading, or fraudulent application or document when 

applying for health care clinic licensure, a licensure exemption, or demonstrating compliance 

with the Health Care Clinic Law with the intent to use the license, exemption, or compliance 

to provide services or seek PIP reimbursement; or 

 Presenting a claim for payment or benefits under a PIP insurance policy while knowing the 

payee knowingly submitted a false, misleading, or fraudulent application or document when 

applying for a clinic license, exemption, or demonstrating compliance with the Health Care 

Clinic Law. 

 

Clinic Licensure Required to Receive PIP Reimbursement 

Section 2 amends s. 400.9905, F.S., to require that all entities providing health care services be 

licensed clinics in order to receive PIP reimbursement except for a licensed hospital, licensed 

ambulatory surgical center, or entities wholly owned by hospitals, licensed physicians (ch. 458, 

F.S. and ch. 459, F.S.), licensed dentists, and licensed chiropractors or jointly owned by such 

practitioners and specified family members. 

 

Motor Vehicle Fraud Direct Support Organization 

Section 5 amends s. 626.9894, F.S., to specify that the balance of monies deposited in the 

Insurance Regulatory Trust Fund from the DSO at the end of a fiscal year may be used to fund 

the division. The DFS may also request the appropriation of such funds for insurance anti-fraud 

purposes. 

 

Section 6 creates s. 626.9895, F.S., which establishes a non-profit direct support organization 

(DSO) designed to receive money from private persons and entities for the purposes of 



BILL: CS/CS/SB 1860   Page 12 

 

preventing, investigating, and prosecuting motor vehicle insurance fraud. The DSO is authorized 

to conduct programs and activities, raise money and invest such monies, and make grants and 

expenditures that directly or indirectly benefit specified governmental entities to exclusively 

advance the DSO’s purposes.  

 

Grants and expenditures made by the DSO may fund the salaries and benefits of motor vehicle 

insurance fraud investigators, prosecutors, and support personnel. Such monies and expenditures 

cannot interfere with prosecutorial independence or create conflicts of interest which threaten the 

success of prosecutions, nor may they be used for lobbying. Contributions from insurers shall be 

allowed as an appropriate business expense for regulatory purposes. The DSO is subject to an 

annual financial audit pursuant to s. 215.981, F.S.  

 

The DSO is governed by an eleven member board of directors, made up as follows: 

 

 The CFO (or designee) who serves as chair. 

 Two state attorneys. The CFO and Attorney General each have one appointment. 

 Two representatives of motor vehicle insurers appointed by the CFO. 

 Two representatives of local law enforcement agencies. The CFO and Attorney General each 

have one appointment. 

 Two representatives of health care providers who regularly make PIP claims. The President 

of the Senate and Speaker of the House of Representatives each has one appointment. 

 A private attorney with experience representing PIP claimants, appointed by the President of 

the Senate. 

 A private attorney with experience representing PIP insurers, appointed by the Speaker of the 

House of Representatives. 

 

The DSO will operate under a written contract with the division. The division will have approval 

authority of the DSO’s articles of incorporation and bylaws. The DSO must submit an annual 

budget to the division for its approval. The DSO will also be required to obtain an annual 

certification from the division that it is complying with the terms of the contract and operating in 

accordance with the DSO’s purposes. The DFS may authorize the DSO to use division facilities 

without charge.  

 

Personal Injury Protection Benefits 

Section 7 amends s. 627.736, F.S., regarding PIP No-Fault insurance in the following ways: 

 

PIP Required Benefits [s. 627.736(1), F.S.] 

Under current law, subsection (1) of s. 627.736, F.S., details the required personal injury 

protection benefits, which must include at least $10,000 in medical, disability, and death benefits 

(the latter of which can be up to $5,000 of the total $10,000 benefit). The bill amends this 

subsection in the following ways: 

 



BILL: CS/CS/SB 1860   Page 13 

 

Massage and Acupuncture Not Reimbursable 

The bill eliminates PIP medical benefit reimbursement for massage as defined in s. 480.033, 

F.S., and acupuncture as defined in s. 457.102, F.S. 

 

Death Benefits 

Insurers must give priority to the payment of the $5,000 death benefit over other PIP benefits. 

 

Payment of Benefits [s. 627.736(4), F.S.] 

Under current law, subsection (4) of s. 627.736(4), F.S., contains requirements related to the 

payment of No-Fault benefits that insurers and claimants must comply with. Paragraph (b) of this 

subsection requires insurers to pay personal injury protection benefits within 30 days after 

receiving written notice of a covered loss. The bill makes the following changes related to the 

payment of benefits: 

 

Reimbursement to Medicaid 

Insurers must repay the full amount of benefits paid by the Medicaid program within 30 days 

after receipt of notice. 

 

Claims Rejected Due to Claimant Errors 

An insurer that rejects a claim or pays only a portion of a claim due to an alleged error in the 

claim must include with the rejection or partial payment an itemized specification or explanation 

of benefits of the specified error. The claimant then has 15 days to submit a revised claim and 

may do so without waiving other legal remedies for payment.  The insurer has 15 days after the 

resubmitted or revised claim to issue payment. 

 

Reservation of PIP Benefits 

The bill expands the requirement to reserve $5,000 of PIP benefits to physicians or dentists 

providing emergency treatment to include hospitals. 

 

Log of PIP Benefits Provided  

The bill requires insurers to maintain a log of PIP benefits paid by the insurer to each insured. 

The insurer must provide a copy of the payment log within 30 days after receiving a request for 

the log from the insured or an assignee. 

 

Medical Fee Schedule [s. 627.736(5)(a), F.S.] 

The bill enacts the following changes to the PIP medical fee schedule: 

 



BILL: CS/CS/SB 1860   Page 14 

 

Ambulatory Surgical Centers and Clinical Laboratories  

The bill specifies that the Medicare Part B fee schedule applies to services, supplies and care 

provided ambulatory surgical centers and clinical laboratories under the PIP fee schedule. 

 

Durable Medical Equipment  

The bill specifies that durable medical equipment is reimbursed at 200 percent of the Durable 

Medical Equipment Prosthetics/Orthotics and Supplies fee schedule of Medicare Part B. 

 

Annual Update  

The bill specifies that the Medicare fee schedule in effect on January 1 will apply to all medical 

care and supplies rendered in that calendar year. The annual update remains subject to the 

prohibition against reducing reimbursement rates below those contained in the 2007 Medicare 

Part B schedule.  

 

Medicare Coding Policies and Payment Methodologies 

The bill authorizes insurers to use Medicare coding policies and payment methodologies so long 

as they do not constitute utilization limits.  

 

Notice of Fee Schedule  

Effective July 1, 2012, an insurer may only limit reimbursement pursuant to the PIP fee schedule 

if the insurer provides notice at the issuance or renewal of the auto insurance policy that the 

insurer will provide reimbursement pursuant to the fee schedule. 

 

Patient Disclosure [s. 627.736(5)(e), F.S.] 

At the initial treatment of an insured, each medical provider must require each injured person to 

execute a disclosure and acknowledgment form at the initiation of treatment. The executed 

disclosure attests that the medical services were actually performed. Current law exempts from 

this requirement services billed by a provider for emergency services, emergency services and 

care rendered in a hospital emergency department, or for transport and treatment rendered by a 

licensed ambulance provider. The bill deletes the exemption for "services billed by a provider for 

emergency services" from the requirement that providers must execute the disclosure and 

acknowledgement form. 

 

Clinic Licensure Required to Receive PIP Reimbursement [s. 627.736(5)(h), F.S.] 

The bill requires all entities providing health care services to be licensed clinics in order to 

receive PIP reimbursement. The bill provides exemptions for a licensed hospital, licensed 

ambulatory surgical center, or entities wholly owned by hospitals, licensed physicians (ch. 458, 

F.S. and ch. 459, F.S.), licensed dentists, or licensed chiropractors or jointly owned by such 

practitioners and specified family members. 

 



BILL: CS/CS/SB 1860   Page 15 

 

Notice that PIP Benefits are Exhausted [s. 627.736(6), F.S.] 

If there is a dispute between an insurer and an insured or assignee and policy limits are reached, 

the insurer must notify the insured or assignee that policy limits have been reached within 

15 days of the exhaustion of benefits. 

 

Offer of Judgment Statute Applied to No-Fault Disputes [s. 627.736(8), F.S.] 

Applies the offer of judgment statute in s. 768.79, F.S., to PIP disputes. The offer of judgment 

statute allows a defendant to recover attorney’s fees and costs from the plaintiff if the defendant 

makes an offer to the plaintiff and the plaintiff’s ultimate recovery is either $0 or 25 percent less 

than the defendant’s offer. Plaintiffs may make a similar demand for judgment that requires the 

defendant to pay reasonable fees and costs if the plaintiff recovers a judgment that is 25 percent 

or more than the amount demanded. However, s. 627.428, F.S., already requires an insurer 

defendant to pay reasonable costs to a plaintiff upon a judgment or confession of judgment in 

favor of the plaintiff. 

 

Demand Letter Requirements [s. 627.736(10), F.S.] 

 

Limited Exemption 

 

The bill exempts from the requirement to provide an insurer with a demand letter prior to 

litigating a PIP dispute: 

 

 Hospitals;  

 Insureds claiming lost wages; and 

 Physicians, osteopathic physicians, and dentists who provide emergency services and care or 

hospital inpatient care.  

 

Deficiency of Demand Letters 

 

The bill specifies a demand letter is not deficient for containing calculation errors or not taking 

payments into account, and directs courts to evaluate a demand letter’s compliance with statutory 

requirements using the standard of substantial compliance. If a demand letter is found deficient 

after a lawsuit has commenced, the insured or assignee may abate the lawsuit and correct the 

deficiency. The insurer must specify in its response to the demand letter each deficiency the 

insurer is claiming or it waives any deficiencies found in the notice. 

 

Electronic Records [s. 627.736(16), F.S.] 

Section 8 deletes the requirement that electronic transmission of records may only occur if all 

parties expressly agree, effective December 1, 2012. The bill allows electronic transmission of 

all notices, documents, communications, and transmissions required or authorized under the No-

Fault law.  

 



BILL: CS/CS/SB 1860   Page 16 

 

Office of Insurance Regulation Data Call 

Section 11 requires the OIR to perform a comprehensive PIP data call and publish the results by 

January 1, 2015. The data call is intended to evaluate market conditions relating to the No-Fault 

law and measure the effects of this act.  

 

Severability Clause 

Section 12 provides that, if any provision of the act is held invalid, the provisions of the act are 

severable.  

 

Effective Date 

Section 13 provides that the act is effective July 1, 2012, except as otherwise provided. 

 

IV. Constitutional Issues: 

A. Municipality/County Mandates Restrictions: 

None. 

B. Public Records/Open Meetings Issues: 

None. 

C. Trust Funds Restrictions: 

None. 

V. Fiscal Impact Statement: 

A. Tax/Fee Issues: 

None. 

B. Private Sector Impact: 

This bill is intended to reduce No-Fault motor vehicle insurance premiums by removing 

cost drivers related to certain medical treatments and fraud. Proponents of the bill assert 

that eliminating reimbursement for massage and acupuncture will reduce losses incurred 

by insurers and result in corresponding lower premiums for consumers. Providers who 

bill for massage and acupuncture within the PIP system will experience a negative 

economic impact.  

 

Health care providers required to obtain clinic licensure to receive PIP reimbursement 

will be subject to additional costs. Entities obtaining clinic licensure or renewing clinic 

licensure must pay a $2,000 licensure fee. The Agency for Health Care Administration 

estimates that new applicants will incur approximately $5,000 in expenses associated 



BILL: CS/CS/SB 1860   Page 17 

 

with preparing the licensure application, an estimate that is inclusive of the licensure fee. 

Proponents of this requirement assert that it will help reduce PIP fraud. 

 

The clarifications to the PIP fee schedule are designed to reduce litigation that arises due 

to disputes over the proper fee amount to be paid under the schedule. Proponents of 

allowing insurers to use Medicare coding policies and methodologies assert that their use 

will result in additional savings. Representatives of some medical providers and 

plaintiff’s attorneys have argued that allowing the use of these coding policies and 

methodologies incorporates utilization limits into the fee schedule. However, the bill 

expressly prohibits their use if they constitute a utilization limit. 

C. Government Sector Impact: 

Representatives from the OIR indicate that the legislation will present a significant 

resource challenge as the OIR expects significant numbers of auto policy contract 

changes to be filed to comply with various provisions of the bill. The OIR also anticipates 

committing significant staff resources to conduct the data call required by the bill.  

 

Representatives from the Division of Insurance Fraud and the Agency for Health Care 

Administration contend that requiring medical providers to obtain clinic licensure (with 

exceptions) will increase the ability of agency and division personnel to discover and 

track clinics engaging in insurance fraud.  

 

The Department of Financial Services also contends that the creation of a direct support 

organization dedicated to motor vehicle insurance fraud will increase the resources of the 

Division of Insurance Fraud and other law enforcement agencies to prevent, investigate, 

and prosecute such fraud. The direct support organization is authorized to use the monies 

it raises to fund insurance fraud investigators, prosecutors, and support personnel. 

Proponents of this provision assert this will increase the number of successful 

prosecutions for motor vehicle insurance fraud in the state. Concerns have been raised 

that using private funds to fund these provisions may create conflicts of interest in 

criminal prosecutions; however, the bill expressly prohibits grants and expenditures that 

interfere with prosecutorial independence or create conflicts of interest that threaten the 

success of prosecutions. 

 

The Agency for Health Care Administration (AHCA) estimates that 250 health care 

providers will obtain health care clinic licensure in Fiscal Year 2012-2013 to comply 

with the requirement that health care providers (with exceptions) obtain clinic licensure 

in order to receive PIP reimbursement. An estimated 50 new licenses are anticipated for 

Fiscal Year 2013-2014, while in Fiscal Year 2014-2015 an estimated 250 new licenses 

and license renewals will be attributable to the bill. A $2,000 fee is charged to entities 

obtaining a new or renewal clinic license. AHCA estimates two additional staff will be 

required (a field surveyor and a licensure analyst) to license the additional clinics. 

Overall, AHCA anticipates a net gain to the Health Care Trust Fund of $374,481 in Fiscal 

Year 2012-2013, a loss of $18,223 in Fiscal Year 2013-2014, and a gain of $381,777 in 

Fiscal Year 2014-2015. 



BILL: CS/CS/SB 1860   Page 18 

 

VI. Technical Deficiencies: 

None. 

VII. Related Issues: 

None.  

VIII. Additional Information: 

A. Committee Substitute – Statement of Substantial Changes: 
 (Summarizing differences between the Committee Substitute and the prior version of the bill.) 

CS/CS by Budget on February 29, 2012: 

The CS changes the bill in the following ways: 

 Requires all crash reports and the drivers exchange of information form to 

indentify all vehicles and their passengers involved in a crash. 

 The CS deletes amendatory language requiring that a long form crash report be 

completed in every crash involving passengers other than a driver or that involve 

a complaint of pain or discomfort by a party involved in the crash. It also deletes a 

proposed prohibition against including telephone numbers in crash reports. 

 Exempts hospitals; insureds claiming lost wages; and physicians, osteopathic 

physicians, dentists who provide emergency services and care or hospital 

inpatient care from the requirement to provide an insurer with a demand letter 

prior to litigating a PIP dispute. 

 The bill specifies a demand letter is not deficient for containing calculation errors 

or not taking payments into account, and directs courts to evaluate a demand 

letter’s compliance with statutory requirements using the standard of substantial 

compliance. If a demand letter is found deficient after a lawsuit has commenced, 

the insured or assignee may abate the lawsuit and correct the deficiency. The 

insurer must specify in its response to the demand letter each deficiency the 

insurer is claiming or it waives any deficiencies found in the notice. 

 Specifies that an insurer has 15 days after the resubmitted or revised claim to 

issue payment. 

 

CS by Banking and Insurance on February 2, 2012: 

Deletes from the bill a provision that would have prohibited insurance companies from 

including within their rates amounts paid to prevailing plaintiffs for attorney fees and 

costs.  

B. Amendments: 

None. 

This Senate Bill Analysis does not reflect the intent or official position of the bill’s introducer or the Florida Senate. 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì635522ÅÎ635522 

 

Page 1 of 3 

2/27/2012 3:16:16 PM 576-04049-12 

LEGISLATIVE ACTION 

Senate 

Comm: RCS 

02/29/2012 

 

 

 

. 

. 

. 

. 

. 

. 

House 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The Committee on Budget (Richter) recommended the following: 

 

Senate Amendment (with title amendment) 1 

 2 

Delete lines 99 - 166 3 

and insert: 4 

Section 1. Subsection (1) of section 316.066, Florida 5 

Statutes, is amended to read: 6 

316.066 Written reports of crashes.— 7 

(1)(a) A Florida Traffic Crash Report, Long Form must is 8 

required to be completed and submitted to the department within 9 

10 days after completing an investigation is completed by the 10 

every law enforcement officer who in the regular course of duty 11 

investigates a motor vehicle crash that: 12 

1. Resulted in death or personal injury;. 13 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì635522ÅÎ635522 

 

Page 2 of 3 

2/27/2012 3:16:16 PM 576-04049-12 

2. Involved a violation of s. 316.061(1) or s. 316.193;. 14 

3. Rendered a vehicle inoperable to a degree that required 15 

a wrecker to remove it from the scene of the crash; or 16 

4. Involved a commercial motor vehicle. 17 

(b) In any every crash for which a Florida Traffic Crash 18 

Report, Long Form is not required by this section and which 19 

occurs on the public roadways of this state, the law enforcement 20 

officer shall may complete a short-form crash report or provide 21 

a driver exchange-of-information form to be completed by each 22 

party involved in the crash. The short-form report must include: 23 

1. The date, time, and location of the crash. 24 

2. A description of the vehicles involved. 25 

3. The names and addresses of the parties involved, 26 

including all drivers and passengers, and the identification of 27 

the vehicle in which each was a passenger. 28 

4. The names and addresses of witnesses. 29 

5. The name, badge number, and law enforcement agency of 30 

the officer investigating the crash. 31 

6. The names of the insurance companies for the respective 32 

parties involved in the crash. 33 

(c) Each party to the crash must provide the law 34 

enforcement officer with proof of insurance, which must be 35 

documented in the crash report. If a law enforcement officer 36 

submits a report on the crash, proof of insurance must be 37 

provided to the officer by each party involved in the crash. Any 38 

party who fails to provide the required information commits a 39 

noncriminal traffic infraction, punishable as a nonmoving 40 

violation as provided in chapter 318, unless the officer 41 

determines that due to injuries or other special circumstances 42 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì635522ÅÎ635522 

 

Page 3 of 3 

2/27/2012 3:16:16 PM 576-04049-12 

such insurance information cannot be provided immediately. If 43 

the person provides the law enforcement agency, within 24 hours 44 

after the crash, proof of insurance that was valid at the time 45 

of the crash, the law enforcement agency may void the citation. 46 

(d) The driver of a vehicle that was in any manner involved 47 

in a crash resulting in damage to a any vehicle or other 48 

property which does not require a law enforcement report in an 49 

amount of $500 or more which was not investigated by a law 50 

enforcement agency, shall, within 10 days after the crash, 51 

submit a written report of the crash to the department. The 52 

report shall be submitted on a form approved by the department. 53 

The entity receiving the report may require witnesses of the 54 

crash to render reports and may require any driver of a vehicle 55 

involved in a crash of which a written report must be made to 56 

file supplemental written reports if the original report is 57 

deemed insufficient by the receiving entity. 58 

(e) Long-form and short-form crash reports prepared by law 59 

enforcement must be submitted to the department and may shall be 60 

maintained by the law enforcement officer’s agency. 61 

 62 

================= T I T L E  A M E N D M E N T ================ 63 

And the title is amended as follows: 64 

Delete lines 6 - 10 65 

and insert: 66 

contained in the short-form report; revising the 67 

requirements relating to the driver’s responsibility 68 

for submitting a report for crashes not requiring a 69 

law enforcement report; amending s. 400.9905, F.S.; 70 

providing that 71 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì394864LÎ394864 

 

Page 1 of 1 

2/29/2012 2:02:00 PM 576-04327-12 

LEGISLATIVE ACTION 

Senate 

Comm: RCS 

02/29/2012 

 

 

 

. 

. 

. 

. 

. 

. 

House 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The Committee on Budget (Richter) recommended the following: 

 

Senate Amendment to Amendment (635522)  1 

 2 

Delete lines 21 - 23 3 

and insert: 4 

officer shall may complete a short-form crash report or provide 5 

a driver exchange-of-information form, to be completed by all 6 

drivers and passengers each party involved in the crash, which 7 

requires the identification of each vehicle that the drivers and 8 

passengers were in. The short-form report must include: 9 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì344314|Î344314 

 

Page 1 of 146 

2/27/2012 3:22:20 PM 576-04091A-12 

LEGISLATIVE ACTION 

Senate 

Comm: WD 

02/29/2012 

 

 

 

. 

. 

. 

. 

. 

. 

House 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The Committee on Budget (Richter) recommended the following: 

 

Senate Amendment(with title amendment) 1 

 2 

Delete lines 296 - 1482 3 

and insert: 4 

Notwithstanding this subsection, an entity shall be deemed a 5 

clinic and must be licensed under this part in order to receive 6 

reimbursement under the Florida Motor Vehicle No-Fault Law, 7 

unless exempted under s. 627.736(5)(h), or under the Florida 8 

Motor Vehicle No-Fault Emergency Care Coverage Law, unless 9 

exempted under s. 627.7485(1)(a)2. 10 

Section 3. Subsection (6) is added to section 400.991, 11 

Florida Statutes, to read: 12 

400.991 License requirements; background screenings; 13 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì344314|Î344314 

 

Page 2 of 146 

2/27/2012 3:22:20 PM 576-04091A-12 

prohibitions.— 14 

(6) All agency forms for licensure application or exemption 15 

from licensure under this part must contain the following 16 

statement: 17 

 18 

INSURANCE FRAUD NOTICE.—A person who knowingly submits 19 

a false, misleading, or fraudulent application or 20 

other document when applying for licensure as a health 21 

care clinic, seeking an exemption from licensure as a 22 

health care clinic, or demonstrating compliance with 23 

part X of chapter 400, Florida Statutes, with the 24 

intent to use the license, exemption from licensure, 25 

or demonstration of compliance to provide services or 26 

seek reimbursement under the Florida Motor Vehicle No-27 

Fault Law or the Florida Motor Vehicle No-Fault 28 

Emergency Care Coverage Law, commits a fraudulent 29 

insurance act, as defined in s. 626.989, Florida 30 

Statutes. A person who presents a claim for personal 31 

injury protection or emergency care coverage benefits 32 

knowing that the payee knowingly submitted such health 33 

care clinic application or document, commits insurance 34 

fraud, as defined in s. 817.234, Florida Statutes. 35 

 36 

Section 4. Subsection (1) of section 626.989, Florida 37 

Statutes, is amended to read: 38 

626.989 Investigation by department or Division of 39 

Insurance Fraud; compliance; immunity; confidential information; 40 

reports to division; division investigator’s power of arrest.— 41 

(1) For the purposes of this section:, 42 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì344314|Î344314 

 

Page 3 of 146 

2/27/2012 3:22:20 PM 576-04091A-12 

(a) A person commits a “fraudulent insurance act” if the 43 

person: 44 

1. Knowingly and with intent to defraud presents, causes to 45 

be presented, or prepares with knowledge or belief that it will 46 

be presented, to or by an insurer, self-insurer, self-insurance 47 

fund, servicing corporation, purported insurer, broker, or any 48 

agent thereof, any written statement as part of, or in support 49 

of, an application for the issuance of, or the rating of, any 50 

insurance policy, or a claim for payment or other benefit 51 

pursuant to any insurance policy, which the person knows to 52 

contain materially false information concerning any fact 53 

material thereto or if the person conceals, for the purpose of 54 

misleading another, information concerning any fact material 55 

thereto. 56 

2. Knowingly submits: 57 

a. A false, misleading, or fraudulent application or other 58 

document when applying for licensure as a health care clinic, 59 

seeking an exemption from licensure as a health care clinic, or 60 

demonstrating compliance with part X of chapter 400 with an 61 

intent to use the license, exemption from licensure, or 62 

demonstration of compliance to provide services or seek 63 

reimbursement under the Florida Motor Vehicle No-Fault Law or 64 

the Florida Motor Vehicle No-Fault Emergency Care Coverage Law. 65 

b. A claim for payment or other benefit pursuant to an 66 

insurance policy under the Florida Motor Vehicle No-Fault Law or 67 

the Florida Motor Vehicle No-Fault Emergency Care Coverage Law 68 

if the person knows that the payee knowingly submitted a false, 69 

misleading, or fraudulent application or other document when 70 

applying for licensure as a health care clinic, seeking an 71 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì344314|Î344314 

 

Page 4 of 146 

2/27/2012 3:22:20 PM 576-04091A-12 

exemption from licensure as a health care clinic, or 72 

demonstrating compliance with part X of chapter 400. For the 73 

purposes of this section, 74 

(b) The term “insurer” also includes a any health 75 

maintenance organization, and the term “insurance policy” also 76 

includes a health maintenance organization subscriber contract. 77 

Section 5. Section 626.9895, Florida Statutes, is created 78 

to read: 79 

626.9895 Motor vehicle insurance fraud direct-support 80 

organization.— 81 

(1) DEFINITIONS.—As used in this section, the term: 82 

(a) “Division” means the Division of Insurance Fraud of the 83 

Department of Financial Services. 84 

(b) “Motor vehicle insurance fraud” means any act defined 85 

as a “fraudulent insurance act” under s. 626.989, which relates 86 

to the coverage of motor vehicle insurance as described in part 87 

XI of chapter 627. 88 

(c) “Organization” means the direct-support organization 89 

established under this section. 90 

(2) ORGANIZATION ESTABLISHED.—The division may establish a 91 

direct-support organization, to be known as the “Automobile 92 

Insurance Fraud Strike Force,” whose sole purpose is to support 93 

the prosecution, investigation, and prevention of motor vehicle 94 

insurance fraud. The organization shall: 95 

(a) Be a not-for-profit corporation incorporated under 96 

chapter 617 and approved by the Department of State. 97 

(b) Be organized and operated to conduct programs and 98 

activities; raise funds; request and receive grants, gifts, and 99 

bequests of money; acquire, receive, hold, invest, and 100 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì344314|Î344314 

 

Page 5 of 146 

2/27/2012 3:22:20 PM 576-04091A-12 

administer, in its own name, securities, funds, objects of 101 

value, or other property, real or personal; and make grants and 102 

expenditures to or for the direct or indirect benefit of the 103 

division, state attorneys’ offices, the statewide prosecutor, 104 

the Agency for Health Care Administration, and the Department of 105 

Health to the extent that such grants and expenditures are used 106 

exclusively to advance the prosecution, investigation, or 107 

prevention of motor vehicle insurance fraud. Grants and 108 

expenditures may include the cost of salaries or benefits of 109 

motor vehicle insurance fraud investigators, prosecutors, or 110 

support personnel if such grants and expenditures do not 111 

interfere with prosecutorial independence or otherwise create 112 

conflicts of interest which threaten the success of 113 

prosecutions. 114 

(c) Be determined by the division to operate in a manner 115 

that promotes the goals of laws relating to motor vehicle 116 

insurance fraud, that is in the best interest of the state, and 117 

that is in accordance with the adopted goals and mission of the 118 

division. 119 

(d) Use all of its grants and expenditures solely for the 120 

purpose of preventing and decreasing motor vehicle insurance 121 

fraud, and not for the purpose of lobbying as defined in s. 122 

11.045. 123 

(e) Be subject to an annual financial audit in accordance 124 

with s. 215.981. 125 

(3) CONTRACT.—The organization shall operate under written 126 

contract with the division. The contract must provide for: 127 

(a) Approval of the articles of incorporation and bylaws of 128 

the organization by the division. 129 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì344314|Î344314 

 

Page 6 of 146 

2/27/2012 3:22:20 PM 576-04091A-12 

(b) Submission of an annual budget for approval of the 130 

division. The budget must require the organization to minimize 131 

costs to the division and its members at all times by using 132 

existing personnel and property and allowing for telephonic 133 

meetings, if appropriate. 134 

(c) Certification by the division that the organization is 135 

complying with the terms of the contract and in a manner 136 

consistent with the goals and purposes of the department and in 137 

the best interest of the state. Such certification must be made 138 

annually and reported in the official minutes of a meeting of 139 

the organization. 140 

(d) Allocation of funds to address motor vehicle insurance 141 

fraud. 142 

(e) Reversion of moneys and property held in trust by the 143 

organization for motor vehicle insurance fraud prosecution, 144 

investigation, and prevention to the division if the 145 

organization is no longer approved to operate for the department 146 

or if the organization ceases to exist, or to the state if the 147 

division ceases to exist. 148 

(f) Specific criteria to be used by the organization’s 149 

board of directors to evaluate the effectiveness of funding used 150 

to combat motor vehicle insurance fraud. 151 

(g) The fiscal year of the organization, which begins July 152 

1 of each year and ends June 30 of the following year. 153 

(h) Disclosure of the material provisions of the contract, 154 

and distinguishing between the department and the organization 155 

to donors of gifts, contributions, or bequests, including 156 

providing such disclosure on all promotional and fundraising 157 

publications. 158 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì344314|Î344314 

 

Page 7 of 146 

2/27/2012 3:22:20 PM 576-04091A-12 

(4) BOARD OF DIRECTORS.— 159 

(a) The board of directors of the organization shall 160 

consist of the following eleven members: 161 

1. The Chief Financial Officer, or designee, who shall 162 

serve as chair. 163 

2. Two state attorneys, one of whom shall be appointed by 164 

the Chief Financial Officer and one of whom shall be appointed 165 

by the Attorney General. 166 

3. Two representatives of motor vehicle insurers appointed 167 

by the Chief Financial Officer. 168 

4. Two representatives of local law enforcement agencies, 169 

one of whom shall be appointed by the Chief Financial Officer 170 

and one of whom shall be appointed by the Attorney General. 171 

5. Two representatives of the types of health care 172 

providers who regularly make claims for benefits under the 173 

Florida Motor Vehicle No-Fault Law or the Florida Motor Vehicle 174 

No-Fault Emergency Care Coverage Law, one of whom shall be 175 

appointed by the President of the Senate and one of whom shall 176 

be appointed by the Speaker of the House of Representatives. The 177 

appointees may not represent the same type of health care 178 

provider. 179 

6. A private attorney who has experience in representing 180 

claimants in actions for benefits under the Florida Motor 181 

Vehicle No-Fault Law, who shall be appointed by the President of 182 

the Senate. 183 

7. A private attorney who has experience in representing 184 

insurers in actions for benefits under the Florida Motor Vehicle 185 

No-Fault Law, who shall be appointed by the Speaker of the House 186 

of Representatives. 187 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì344314|Î344314 

 

Page 8 of 146 

2/27/2012 3:22:20 PM 576-04091A-12 

(b) The officer who appointed a member of the board may 188 

remove that member for cause. The term of office of an appointed 189 

member expires at the same time as the term of the officer who 190 

appointed him or her or at such earlier time as the person 191 

ceases to be qualified. 192 

(5) USE OF PROPERTY.—The department may authorize, without 193 

charge, appropriate use of fixed property and facilities of the 194 

division by the organization, subject to this subsection. 195 

(a) The department may prescribe any condition with which 196 

the organization must comply in order to use the division’s 197 

property or facilities. 198 

(b) The department may not authorize the use of the 199 

division’s property or facilities if the organization does not 200 

provide equal membership and employment opportunities to all 201 

persons regardless of race, religion, sex, age, or national 202 

origin. 203 

(c) The department shall adopt rules prescribing the 204 

procedures by which the organization is governed and any 205 

conditions with which the organization must comply to use the 206 

division’s property or facilities. 207 

(6) CONTRIBUTIONS FROM INSURERS.—Contributions from an 208 

insurer to the organization shall be allowed as an appropriate 209 

business expense of the insurer for all regulatory purposes. 210 

(7) DEPOSITORY ACCOUNT.—Any moneys received by the 211 

organization may be held in a separate depository account in the 212 

name of the organization and subject to the contract with the 213 

division. 214 

(8) DIVISION’S RECEIPT OF PROCEEDS.—Proceeds received by 215 

the division from the organization shall be deposited into the 216 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì344314|Î344314 

 

Page 9 of 146 

2/27/2012 3:22:20 PM 576-04091A-12 

Insurance Regulatory Trust Fund. 217 

Section 6. Subsection (12) of section 627.0651, Florida 218 

Statutes, is amended to read: 219 

627.0651 Making and use of rates for motor vehicle 220 

insurance.— 221 

(12)(a) Any portion of a judgment entered as a result of a 222 

statutory or common-law bad faith action and any portion of a 223 

judgment entered which awards punitive damages against an 224 

insurer may shall not be included in the insurer’s rate base, 225 

and shall not be used to justify a rate or rate change. Any 226 

portion of a settlement entered as a result of a statutory or 227 

common-law bad faith action identified as such and any portion 228 

of a settlement wherein an insurer agrees to pay specific 229 

punitive damages may shall not be used to justify a rate or rate 230 

change. The portion of the taxable costs and attorney attorney’s 231 

fees which is identified as being related to the bad faith and 232 

punitive damages in these judgments and settlements may shall 233 

not be included in the insurer’s rate base and used shall not be 234 

utilized to justify a rate or rate change. 235 

(b) Any portion of a judgment or settlement for taxable 236 

costs and attorney fees in favor of a prevailing plaintiff 237 

against an insurer in a claim for benefits under the Florida 238 

Motor Vehicle No-Fault Law or the Florida Motor Vehicle No-Fault 239 

Emergency Care Coverage Law may not be included in the insurer’s 240 

rate base and used to justify a rate or rate change. 241 

Section 7. Subsection (6) is added to section 627.733, 242 

Florida Statutes, to read: 243 

627.733 Required security.— 244 

(6) The owner or registrant of a motor vehicle otherwise 245 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì344314|Î344314 

 

Page 10 of 146 

2/27/2012 3:22:20 PM 576-04091A-12 

subject to this section is not required to maintain the security 246 

described herein if the owner or registrant maintains the 247 

security required under s. 627.7483. 248 

Section 8. Subsections (1), (4), (5), (8), (9), (10), (11), 249 

and (16) of section 627.736, Florida Statutes, are amended to 250 

read: 251 

627.736 Required personal injury protection benefits; 252 

exclusions; priority; claims.— 253 

(1) REQUIRED BENEFITS.—An Every insurance policy providing 254 

personal injury protection must complying with the security 255 

requirements of s. 627.733 shall provide personal injury 256 

protection benefits to the named insured, relatives residing in 257 

the same household, persons operating the insured motor vehicle, 258 

passengers in the such motor vehicle, and other persons struck 259 

by the such motor vehicle and suffering bodily injury while not 260 

an occupant of a self-propelled vehicle, subject to the 261 

provisions of subsection (2) and paragraph (4)(e), to a limit of 262 

$10,000 for loss sustained by any such person as a result of 263 

bodily injury, sickness, disease, or death arising out of the 264 

ownership, maintenance, or use of a motor vehicle as follows: 265 

(a) Medical benefits.—Eighty percent of all reasonable 266 

expenses for medically necessary medical, surgical, X-ray, 267 

dental, and rehabilitative services, including prosthetic 268 

devices, and medically necessary ambulance, hospital, and 269 

nursing services. Medical benefits do not include massage as 270 

defined in s. 480.033 or acupuncture as defined in s. 457.102. 271 

However, The medical benefits shall provide reimbursement only 272 

for such services and care that are lawfully provided, 273 

supervised, ordered, or prescribed by a physician licensed under 274 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì344314|Î344314 

 

Page 11 of 146 

2/27/2012 3:22:20 PM 576-04091A-12 

chapter 458 or chapter 459, a dentist licensed under chapter 275 

466, or a chiropractic physician licensed under chapter 460 or 276 

that are provided by any of the following persons or entities: 277 

1. A hospital or ambulatory surgical center licensed under 278 

chapter 395. 279 

2. A person or entity licensed under part III of chapter 280 

401 which ss. 401.2101-401.45 that provides emergency 281 

transportation and treatment. 282 

3. An entity wholly owned by one or more physicians 283 

licensed under chapter 458 or chapter 459, chiropractic 284 

physicians licensed under chapter 460, or dentists licensed 285 

under chapter 466 or by such practitioner or practitioners and 286 

the spouse, parent, child, or sibling of such that practitioner 287 

or those practitioners. 288 

4. An entity wholly owned, directly or indirectly, by a 289 

hospital or hospitals. 290 

5. A health care clinic licensed under part X of chapter 291 

400 which ss. 400.990-400.995 that is: 292 

a. A health care clinic accredited by the Joint Commission 293 

on Accreditation of Healthcare Organizations, the American 294 

Osteopathic Association, the Commission on Accreditation of 295 

Rehabilitation Facilities, or the Accreditation Association for 296 

Ambulatory Health Care, Inc.; or 297 

b. A health care clinic that: 298 

(I) Has a medical director licensed under chapter 458, 299 

chapter 459, or chapter 460; 300 

(II) Has been continuously licensed for more than 3 years 301 

or is a publicly traded corporation that issues securities 302 

traded on an exchange registered with the United States 303 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì344314|Î344314 

 

Page 12 of 146 

2/27/2012 3:22:20 PM 576-04091A-12 

Securities and Exchange Commission as a national securities 304 

exchange; and 305 

(III) Provides at least four of the following medical 306 

specialties: 307 

(A) General medicine. 308 

(B) Radiography. 309 

(C) Orthopedic medicine. 310 

(D) Physical medicine. 311 

(E) Physical therapy. 312 

(F) Physical rehabilitation. 313 

(G) Prescribing or dispensing outpatient prescription 314 

medication. 315 

(H) Laboratory services. 316 

 317 

The Financial Services Commission shall adopt by rule the form 318 

that must be used by an insurer and a health care provider 319 

specified in subparagraph 3., subparagraph 4., or subparagraph 320 

5. to document that the health care provider meets the criteria 321 

of this paragraph, which rule must include a requirement for a 322 

sworn statement or affidavit. 323 

(b) Disability benefits.—Sixty percent of any loss of gross 324 

income and loss of earning capacity per individual from 325 

inability to work proximately caused by the injury sustained by 326 

the injured person, plus all expenses reasonably incurred in 327 

obtaining from others ordinary and necessary services in lieu of 328 

those that, but for the injury, the injured person would have 329 

performed without income for the benefit of his or her 330 

household. All disability benefits payable under this provision 331 

must shall be paid at least not less than every 2 weeks. 332 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì344314|Î344314 

 

Page 13 of 146 

2/27/2012 3:22:20 PM 576-04091A-12 

(c) Death benefits.—Death benefits equal to the lesser of 333 

$5,000 or the remainder of unused personal injury protection 334 

benefits per individual. The insurer shall give priority to the 335 

payment of death benefits over the payment of other benefits of 336 

the deceased and, upon learning of the death of the individual, 337 

shall stop paying the other benefits until the death benefits 338 

are paid. The insurer may pay death such benefits to the 339 

executor or administrator of the deceased, to any of the 340 

deceased’s relatives by blood, or legal adoption, or connection 341 

by marriage, or to any person appearing to the insurer to be 342 

equitably entitled to such benefits thereto. 343 

 344 

Only insurers writing motor vehicle liability insurance in this 345 

state may provide the required benefits of this section, and no 346 

such insurer shall require the purchase of any other motor 347 

vehicle coverage other than the purchase of property damage 348 

liability coverage as required by s. 627.7275 as a condition for 349 

providing such required benefits. Insurers may not require that 350 

property damage liability insurance in an amount greater than 351 

$10,000 be purchased in conjunction with personal injury 352 

protection. Such insurers shall make benefits and required 353 

property damage liability insurance coverage available through 354 

normal marketing channels. Any insurer writing motor vehicle 355 

liability insurance in this state who fails to comply with such 356 

availability requirement as a general business practice shall be 357 

deemed to have violated part IX of chapter 626, and such 358 

violation shall constitute an unfair method of competition or an 359 

unfair or deceptive act or practice involving the business of 360 

insurance; and any such insurer committing such violation shall 361 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì344314|Î344314 

 

Page 14 of 146 

2/27/2012 3:22:20 PM 576-04091A-12 

be subject to the penalties afforded in such part, as well as 362 

those which may be afforded elsewhere in the insurance code. 363 

(4) PAYMENT OF BENEFITS; WHEN DUE.—Except for emergency 364 

care coverage under ss. 627.748-627.7491, personal injury 365 

protection benefits due from an insurer under ss. 627.730-366 

627.7405 are shall be primary, except that benefits received 367 

under any workers’ compensation law must shall be credited 368 

against the benefits provided by subsection (1) and are shall be 369 

due and payable as loss accrues, upon receipt of reasonable 370 

proof of such loss and the amount of expenses and loss incurred 371 

which are covered by the policy issued under ss. 627.730-372 

627.7405. If When the Agency for Health Care Administration 373 

provides, pays, or becomes liable for medical assistance under 374 

the Medicaid program related to injury, sickness, disease, or 375 

death arising out of the ownership, maintenance, or use of a 376 

motor vehicle, the benefits under ss. 627.730-627.7405 are shall 377 

be subject to the provisions of the Medicaid program. However, 378 

within 30 days after receiving notice that the Medicaid program 379 

paid such benefits, the insurer shall repay the full amount of 380 

the benefits to the Medicaid program. 381 

(a) An insurer may require written notice to be given as 382 

soon as practicable after an accident involving a motor vehicle 383 

with respect to which the policy affords the security required 384 

by ss. 627.730-627.7405. 385 

(b) Personal injury protection insurance Benefits paid 386 

pursuant to this section are shall be overdue if not paid within 387 

30 days after the insurer is furnished written notice of the 388 

fact of a covered loss and of the amount of same. However: 389 

1. If such written notice of the entire claim is not 390 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì344314|Î344314 

 

Page 15 of 146 

2/27/2012 3:22:20 PM 576-04091A-12 

furnished to the insurer as to the entire claim, any partial 391 

amount supported by written notice is overdue if not paid within 392 

30 days after such written notice is furnished to the insurer. 393 

Any part or all of the remainder of the claim that is 394 

subsequently supported by written notice is overdue if not paid 395 

within 30 days after such written notice is furnished to the 396 

insurer. 397 

2. If When an insurer pays only a portion of a claim or 398 

rejects a claim, the insurer shall provide at the time of the 399 

partial payment or rejection an itemized specification of each 400 

item that the insurer had reduced, omitted, or declined to pay 401 

and any information that the insurer desires the claimant to 402 

consider related to the medical necessity of the denied 403 

treatment or to explain the reasonableness of the reduced charge 404 

if, provided that this does shall not limit the introduction of 405 

evidence at trial.; and The insurer must also shall include the 406 

name and address of the person to whom the claimant should 407 

respond and a claim number to be referenced in future 408 

correspondence. 409 

3. If an insurer pays only a portion of a claim or rejects 410 

a claim due to an alleged error in the claim, the insurer shall 411 

provide at the time of the partial payment or rejection an 412 

itemized specification or explanation of benefits of the 413 

specified error. Upon receiving the specification or 414 

explanation, the person making the claim has, at the person’s 415 

option and without waiving any other legal remedy for payment, 416 

15 days to submit a revised claim. The revised claim shall be 417 

considered a timely submission of written notice of a claim. 418 

4. However, Notwithstanding the fact that written notice 419 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì344314|Î344314 

 

Page 16 of 146 

2/27/2012 3:22:20 PM 576-04091A-12 

has been furnished to the insurer, any payment is shall not be 420 

deemed overdue if when the insurer has reasonable proof to 421 

establish that the insurer is not responsible for the payment. 422 

5. For the purpose of calculating the extent to which any 423 

benefits are overdue, payment shall be treated as being made on 424 

the date a draft or other valid instrument that which is 425 

equivalent to payment was placed in the United States mail in a 426 

properly addressed, postpaid envelope or, if not so posted, on 427 

the date of delivery. 428 

6. This paragraph does not preclude or limit the ability of 429 

the insurer to assert that the claim was unrelated, was not 430 

medically necessary, or was unreasonable or that the amount of 431 

the charge was in excess of that permitted under, or in 432 

violation of, subsection (5). Such assertion by the insurer may 433 

be made at any time, including after payment of the claim or 434 

after the 30-day time period for payment set forth in this 435 

paragraph. 436 

(c) Upon receiving notice of an accident that is 437 

potentially covered by personal injury protection benefits, the 438 

insurer must reserve $5,000 of coverage of personal injury 439 

protection benefits for payment to physicians licensed under 440 

chapter 458 or chapter 459 or dentists licensed under chapter 441 

466 who provide emergency services and care, as defined in s. 442 

395.002(9), or who provide hospital inpatient care. 443 

 444 

The amount required to be held in reserve may be used only to 445 

pay claims from such physicians or dentists until 30 days after 446 

the date the insurer receives notice of the accident. After the 447 

30-day period, any amount of the reserve for which the insurer 448 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì344314|Î344314 

 

Page 17 of 146 

2/27/2012 3:22:20 PM 576-04091A-12 

has not received notice of such claims a claim from a physician 449 

or dentist who provided emergency services and care or who 450 

provided hospital inpatient care may then be used by the insurer 451 

to pay other claims. The time periods specified in paragraph (b) 452 

for required payment of personal injury protection benefits are 453 

shall be tolled for the period of time that an insurer is 454 

required by this paragraph to hold payment of a claim that is 455 

not from a physician or dentist who provided emergency services 456 

and care or who provided hospital inpatient care to the extent 457 

that the amount personal injury protection benefits not held in 458 

reserve is are insufficient to pay the claim. This paragraph 459 

does not require an insurer to establish a claim reserve for 460 

insurance accounting purposes. 461 

(d) All overdue payments shall bear simple interest at the 462 

rate established under s. 55.03 or the rate established in the 463 

insurance contract, whichever is greater, for the year in which 464 

the payment became overdue, calculated from the date the insurer 465 

was furnished with written notice of the amount of covered loss. 466 

Interest is shall be due at the time payment of the overdue 467 

claim is made. 468 

(e) The insurer of the owner of a motor vehicle shall pay 469 

personal injury protection benefits for: 470 

1. Accidental bodily injury sustained in this state by the 471 

owner while occupying a motor vehicle, or while not an occupant 472 

of a self-propelled vehicle if the injury is caused by physical 473 

contact with a motor vehicle. 474 

2. Accidental bodily injury sustained outside this state, 475 

but within the United States of America or its territories or 476 

possessions or Canada, by the owner while occupying the owner’s 477 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì344314|Î344314 

 

Page 18 of 146 

2/27/2012 3:22:20 PM 576-04091A-12 

motor vehicle. 478 

3. Accidental bodily injury sustained by a relative of the 479 

owner residing in the same household, under the circumstances 480 

described in subparagraph 1. or subparagraph 2., if provided the 481 

relative at the time of the accident is domiciled in the owner’s 482 

household and is not himself or herself the owner of a motor 483 

vehicle with respect to which security is required under ss. 484 

627.730-627.7405. 485 

4. Accidental bodily injury sustained in this state by any 486 

other person while occupying the owner’s motor vehicle or, if a 487 

resident of this state, while not an occupant of a self-488 

propelled vehicle, if the injury is caused by physical contact 489 

with such motor vehicle, if provided the injured person is not 490 

himself or herself: 491 

a. The owner of a motor vehicle for with respect to which 492 

personal injury protection benefits have been obtained pursuant 493 

to security is required under ss. 627.730-627.7405; or 494 

b. Entitled to personal injury benefits from the insurer of 495 

the owner or owners of such a motor vehicle. 496 

(f) If two or more insurers are liable for paying to pay 497 

personal injury protection benefits for the same injury to any 498 

one person, the maximum payable is shall be as specified in 499 

subsection (1), and the any insurer paying the benefits is shall 500 

be entitled to recover from each of the other insurers an 501 

equitable pro rata share of the benefits paid and expenses 502 

incurred in processing the claim. 503 

(g) It is a violation of the insurance code for an insurer 504 

to fail to timely provide benefits as required by this section 505 

with such frequency as to constitute a general business 506 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì344314|Î344314 

 

Page 19 of 146 

2/27/2012 3:22:20 PM 576-04091A-12 

practice. 507 

(h) Benefits are shall not be due or payable to or on the 508 

behalf of an insured person if that person has committed, by a 509 

material act or omission, any insurance fraud relating to 510 

personal injury protection coverage under his or her policy, if 511 

the fraud is admitted to in a sworn statement by the insured or 512 

if it is established in a court of competent jurisdiction. Any 513 

insurance fraud voids shall void all coverage arising from the 514 

claim related to such fraud under the personal injury protection 515 

coverage of the insured person who committed the fraud, 516 

irrespective of whether a portion of the insured person’s claim 517 

may be legitimate, and any benefits paid before prior to the 518 

discovery of the insured person’s insurance fraud is shall be 519 

recoverable by the insurer in its entirety from the person who 520 

committed insurance fraud in their entirety. The prevailing 521 

party is entitled to its costs and attorney attorney’s fees in 522 

any action in which it prevails in an insurer’s action to 523 

enforce its right of recovery under this paragraph. 524 

(i) An insurer shall create and maintain for each insured a 525 

log of personal injury protection benefits paid by the insurer 526 

on behalf of the insured. The insurer shall provide to the 527 

insured, or an assignee of the insured, a copy of the log within 528 

30 days after receiving a request for the log from the insured 529 

or the assignee. 530 

(j) In a dispute between the insured and the insurer, or 531 

between an assignee of the insured’s rights and the insurer, the 532 

insurer must notify the insured or the assignee that the policy 533 

limits under this section have been reached within 15 days after 534 

the limits have been reached. 535 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì344314|Î344314 

 

Page 20 of 146 

2/27/2012 3:22:20 PM 576-04091A-12 

(5) CHARGES FOR TREATMENT OF INJURED PERSONS.— 536 

(a)1. A Any physician, hospital, clinic, or other person or 537 

institution lawfully rendering treatment to an injured person 538 

for a bodily injury covered by personal injury protection 539 

insurance may charge the insurer and injured party only a 540 

reasonable amount pursuant to this section for the services and 541 

supplies rendered, and the insurer providing such coverage may 542 

pay for such charges directly to such person or institution 543 

lawfully rendering such treatment, if the insured receiving such 544 

treatment or his or her guardian has countersigned the properly 545 

completed invoice, bill, or claim form approved by the office 546 

upon which such charges are to be paid for as having actually 547 

been rendered, to the best knowledge of the insured or his or 548 

her guardian. In no event, However, may such a charge may not 549 

exceed be in excess of the amount the person or institution 550 

customarily charges for like services or supplies. In 551 

determining With respect to a determination of whether a charge 552 

for a particular service, treatment, or supply otherwise is 553 

reasonable, consideration may be given to evidence of usual and 554 

customary charges and payments accepted by the provider involved 555 

in the dispute, and reimbursement levels in the community and 556 

various federal and state medical fee schedules applicable to 557 

motor vehicle automobile and other insurance coverages, and 558 

other information relevant to the reasonableness of the 559 

reimbursement for the service, treatment, or supply. 560 

1.2. The insurer may limit reimbursement to 80 percent of 561 

the following schedule of maximum charges: 562 

a. For emergency transport and treatment by providers 563 

licensed under chapter 401, 200 percent of Medicare. 564 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì344314|Î344314 

 

Page 21 of 146 

2/27/2012 3:22:20 PM 576-04091A-12 

b. For emergency services and care provided by a hospital 565 

licensed under chapter 395, 75 percent of the hospital’s usual 566 

and customary charges. 567 

c. For emergency services and care as defined by s. 568 

395.002(9) provided in a facility licensed under chapter 395 569 

rendered by a physician or dentist, and related hospital 570 

inpatient services rendered by a physician or dentist, the usual 571 

and customary charges in the community. 572 

d. For hospital inpatient services, other than emergency 573 

services and care, 200 percent of the Medicare Part A 574 

prospective payment applicable to the specific hospital 575 

providing the inpatient services. 576 

e. For hospital outpatient services, other than emergency 577 

services and care, 200 percent of the Medicare Part A Ambulatory 578 

Payment Classification for the specific hospital providing the 579 

outpatient services. 580 

f. For all other medical services, supplies, and care, 200 581 

percent of the allowable amount under: 582 

(I) The participating physicians fee schedule of Medicare 583 

Part B, except as provided in sub-sub-subparagraphs (II) and 584 

(III). 585 

(II) Medicare Part B, in the case of services, supplies, 586 

and care provided by ambulatory surgical centers and clinical 587 

laboratories. 588 

(III) The Durable Medical Equipment Prosthetics/Orthotics 589 

and Supplies fee schedule of Medicare Part B, in the case of 590 

durable medical equipment. 591 

 592 

However, if such services, supplies, or care is not reimbursable 593 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì344314|Î344314 

 

Page 22 of 146 

2/27/2012 3:22:20 PM 576-04091A-12 

under Medicare Part B, as provided in this sub-subparagraph, the 594 

insurer may limit reimbursement to 80 percent of the maximum 595 

reimbursable allowance under workers’ compensation, as 596 

determined under s. 440.13 and rules adopted thereunder which 597 

are in effect at the time such services, supplies, or care is 598 

provided. Services, supplies, or care that is not reimbursable 599 

under Medicare or workers’ compensation is not required to be 600 

reimbursed by the insurer. 601 

2.3. For purposes of subparagraph 1. 2., the applicable fee 602 

schedule or payment limitation under Medicare is the fee 603 

schedule or payment limitation in effect on January 1 of the 604 

year in which at the time the services, supplies, or care is was 605 

rendered and for the area in which such services, supplies, or 606 

care is were rendered, and the applicable fee schedule or 607 

payment limitation applies throughout the remainder of that 608 

year, notwithstanding any subsequent change made to the fee 609 

schedule or payment limitation, except that it may not be less 610 

than the allowable amount under the applicable participating 611 

physicians schedule of Medicare Part B for 2007 for medical 612 

services, supplies, and care subject to Medicare Part B. 613 

3.4. Subparagraph 1. 2. does not allow the insurer to apply 614 

any limitation on the number of treatments or other utilization 615 

limits that apply under Medicare or workers’ compensation. An 616 

insurer that applies the allowable payment limitations of 617 

subparagraph 1. 2. must reimburse a provider who lawfully 618 

provided care or treatment under the scope of his or her 619 

license, regardless of whether such provider is would be 620 

entitled to reimbursement under Medicare due to restrictions or 621 

limitations on the types or discipline of health care providers 622 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì344314|Î344314 

 

Page 23 of 146 

2/27/2012 3:22:20 PM 576-04091A-12 

who may be reimbursed for particular procedures or procedure 623 

codes. However, subparagraph 1. does not prohibit an insurer 624 

from using the Medicare coding policies and payment 625 

methodologies of the federal Centers for Medicare and Medicaid 626 

Services, including applicable modifiers, to determine the 627 

appropriate amount of reimbursement for medical services, 628 

supplies, or care if the coding policy or payment methodology 629 

does not constitute a utilization limit. 630 

4.5. If an insurer limits payment as authorized by 631 

subparagraph 1. 2., the person providing such services, 632 

supplies, or care may not bill or attempt to collect from the 633 

insured any amount in excess of such limits, except for amounts 634 

that are not covered by the insured’s personal injury protection 635 

coverage due to the coinsurance amount or maximum policy limits. 636 

5. Effective January 1, 2013, an insurer may limit payment 637 

as authorized by this paragraph only if the insurance policy 638 

includes a notice at the time of issuance or renewal that the 639 

insurer may limit payment pursuant to the schedule of charges 640 

specified in this paragraph. A policy form approved by the 641 

office satisfies this requirement. If a provider submits a 642 

charge for an amount less than the amount allowed under 643 

subparagraph 1., the insurer may pay the amount of the charge 644 

submitted. 645 

(b)1. An insurer or insured is not required to pay a claim 646 

or charges: 647 

a. Made by a broker or by a person making a claim on behalf 648 

of a broker; 649 

b. For any service or treatment that was not lawful at the 650 

time rendered; 651 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì344314|Î344314 

 

Page 24 of 146 

2/27/2012 3:22:20 PM 576-04091A-12 

c. To any person who knowingly submits a false or 652 

misleading statement relating to the claim or charges; 653 

d. With respect to a bill or statement that does not 654 

substantially meet the applicable requirements of paragraph (d); 655 

e. For any treatment or service that is upcoded, or that is 656 

unbundled when such treatment or services should be bundled, in 657 

accordance with paragraph (d). To facilitate prompt payment of 658 

lawful services, an insurer may change codes that it determines 659 

to have been improperly or incorrectly upcoded or unbundled, and 660 

may make payment based on the changed codes, without affecting 661 

the right of the provider to dispute the change by the insurer, 662 

if, provided that before doing so, the insurer contacts must 663 

contact the health care provider and discusses discuss the 664 

reasons for the insurer’s change and the health care provider’s 665 

reason for the coding, or makes make a reasonable good faith 666 

effort to do so, as documented in the insurer’s file; and 667 

f. For medical services or treatment billed by a physician 668 

and not provided in a hospital unless such services are rendered 669 

by the physician or are incident to his or her professional 670 

services and are included on the physician’s bill, including 671 

documentation verifying that the physician is responsible for 672 

the medical services that were rendered and billed. 673 

2. The Department of Health, in consultation with the 674 

appropriate professional licensing boards, shall adopt, by rule, 675 

a list of diagnostic tests deemed not to be medically necessary 676 

for use in the treatment of persons sustaining bodily injury 677 

covered by personal injury protection benefits under this 678 

section. The initial list shall be adopted by January 1, 2004, 679 

and shall be revised from time to time as determined by the 680 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì344314|Î344314 

 

Page 25 of 146 

2/27/2012 3:22:20 PM 576-04091A-12 

Department of Health, in consultation with the respective 681 

professional licensing boards. Inclusion of a test on the list 682 

of invalid diagnostic tests shall be based on lack of 683 

demonstrated medical value and a level of general acceptance by 684 

the relevant provider community and may shall not be dependent 685 

for results entirely upon subjective patient response. 686 

Notwithstanding its inclusion on a fee schedule in this 687 

subsection, an insurer or insured is not required to pay any 688 

charges or reimburse claims for an any invalid diagnostic test 689 

as determined by the Department of Health. 690 

(c)1. With respect to any treatment or service, other than 691 

medical services billed by a hospital or other provider for 692 

emergency services and care as defined in s. 395.002 or 693 

inpatient services rendered at a hospital-owned facility, the 694 

statement of charges must be furnished to the insurer by the 695 

provider and may not include, and the insurer is not required to 696 

pay, charges for treatment or services rendered more than 35 697 

days before the postmark date or electronic transmission date of 698 

the statement, except for past due amounts previously billed on 699 

a timely basis under this paragraph, and except that, if the 700 

provider submits to the insurer a notice of initiation of 701 

treatment within 21 days after its first examination or 702 

treatment of the claimant, the statement may include charges for 703 

treatment or services rendered up to, but not more than, 75 days 704 

before the postmark date of the statement. The injured party is 705 

not liable for, and the provider may shall not bill the injured 706 

party for, charges that are unpaid because of the provider’s 707 

failure to comply with this paragraph. Any agreement requiring 708 

the injured person or insured to pay for such charges is 709 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì344314|Î344314 

 

Page 26 of 146 

2/27/2012 3:22:20 PM 576-04091A-12 

unenforceable. 710 

1.2. If, however, the insured fails to furnish the provider 711 

with the correct name and address of the insured’s personal 712 

injury protection insurer, the provider has 35 days from the 713 

date the provider obtains the correct information to furnish the 714 

insurer with a statement of the charges. The insurer is not 715 

required to pay for such charges unless the provider includes 716 

with the statement documentary evidence that was provided by the 717 

insured during the 35-day period demonstrating that the provider 718 

reasonably relied on erroneous information from the insured and 719 

either: 720 

a. A denial letter from the incorrect insurer; or 721 

b. Proof of mailing, which may include an affidavit under 722 

penalty of perjury, reflecting timely mailing to the incorrect 723 

address or insurer. 724 

2.3. For emergency services and care as defined in s. 725 

395.002 rendered in a hospital emergency department or for 726 

transport and treatment rendered by an ambulance provider 727 

licensed pursuant to part III of chapter 401, the provider is 728 

not required to furnish the statement of charges within the time 729 

periods established by this paragraph,; and the insurer is shall 730 

not be considered to have been furnished with notice of the 731 

amount of covered loss for purposes of paragraph (4)(b) until it 732 

receives a statement complying with paragraph (d), or copy 733 

thereof, which specifically identifies the place of service to 734 

be a hospital emergency department or an ambulance in accordance 735 

with billing standards recognized by the federal Centers for 736 

Medicare and Medicaid Services Health Care Finance 737 

Administration. 738 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì344314|Î344314 

 

Page 27 of 146 

2/27/2012 3:22:20 PM 576-04091A-12 

3.4. Each notice of the insured’s rights under s. 627.7401 739 

must include the following statement in at least 12-point type 740 

in type no smaller than 12 points: 741 

 742 

BILLING REQUIREMENTS.—Florida law provides Statutes 743 

provide that with respect to any treatment or 744 

services, other than certain hospital and emergency 745 

services, the statement of charges furnished to the 746 

insurer by the provider may not include, and the 747 

insurer and the injured party are not required to pay, 748 

charges for treatment or services rendered more than 749 

35 days before the postmark date of the statement, 750 

except for past due amounts previously billed on a 751 

timely basis, and except that, if the provider submits 752 

to the insurer a notice of initiation of treatment 753 

within 21 days after its first examination or 754 

treatment of the claimant, the statement may include 755 

charges for treatment or services rendered up to, but 756 

not more than, 75 days before the postmark date of the 757 

statement. 758 

 759 

(d) All statements and bills for medical services rendered 760 

by a any physician, hospital, clinic, or other person or 761 

institution shall be submitted to the insurer on a properly 762 

completed Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services (CMS) 1500 763 

form, UB 92 forms, or any other standard form approved by the 764 

office or adopted by the commission for purposes of this 765 

paragraph. All billings for such services rendered by providers 766 

must shall, to the extent applicable, follow the Physicians’ 767 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì344314|Î344314 

 

Page 28 of 146 

2/27/2012 3:22:20 PM 576-04091A-12 

Current Procedural Terminology (CPT) or Healthcare Correct 768 

Procedural Coding System (HCPCS), or ICD-9 in effect for the 769 

year in which services are rendered and comply with the Centers 770 

for Medicare and Medicaid Services (CMS) 1500 form instructions, 771 

and the American Medical Association Current Procedural 772 

Terminology (CPT) Editorial Panel, and the Healthcare Correct 773 

Procedural Coding System (HCPCS). All providers, other than 774 

hospitals, must shall include on the applicable claim form the 775 

professional license number of the provider in the line or space 776 

provided for “Signature of Physician or Supplier, Including 777 

Degrees or Credentials.” In determining compliance with 778 

applicable CPT and HCPCS coding, guidance shall be provided by 779 

the Physicians’ Current Procedural Terminology (CPT) or the 780 

Healthcare Correct Procedural Coding System (HCPCS) in effect 781 

for the year in which services were rendered, the Office of the 782 

Inspector General (OIG), Physicians Compliance Guidelines, and 783 

other authoritative treatises designated by rule by the Agency 784 

for Health Care Administration. A No statement of medical 785 

services may not include charges for medical services of a 786 

person or entity that performed such services without possessing 787 

the valid licenses required to perform such services. For 788 

purposes of paragraph (4)(b), an insurer is shall not be 789 

considered to have been furnished with notice of the amount of 790 

covered loss or medical bills due unless the statements or bills 791 

comply with this paragraph, and unless the statements or bills 792 

are properly completed in their entirety as to all material 793 

provisions, with all relevant information being provided 794 

therein. 795 

(e)1. At the initial treatment or service provided, each 796 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì344314|Î344314 

 

Page 29 of 146 

2/27/2012 3:22:20 PM 576-04091A-12 

physician, other licensed professional, clinic, or other medical 797 

institution providing medical services upon which a claim for 798 

personal injury protection benefits is based shall require an 799 

insured person, or his or her guardian, to execute a disclosure 800 

and acknowledgment form, which reflects at a minimum that: 801 

a. The insured, or his or her guardian, must countersign 802 

the form attesting to the fact that the services set forth 803 

therein were actually rendered; 804 

b. The insured, or his or her guardian, has both the right 805 

and affirmative duty to confirm that the services were actually 806 

rendered; 807 

c. The insured, or his or her guardian, was not solicited 808 

by any person to seek any services from the medical provider; 809 

d. The physician, other licensed professional, clinic, or 810 

other medical institution rendering services for which payment 811 

is being claimed explained the services to the insured or his or 812 

her guardian; and 813 

e. If the insured notifies the insurer in writing of a 814 

billing error, the insured may be entitled to a certain 815 

percentage of a reduction in the amounts paid by the insured’s 816 

motor vehicle insurer. 817 

2. The physician, other licensed professional, clinic, or 818 

other medical institution rendering services for which payment 819 

is being claimed has the affirmative duty to explain the 820 

services rendered to the insured, or his or her guardian, so 821 

that the insured, or his or her guardian, countersigns the form 822 

with informed consent. 823 

3. Countersignature by the insured, or his or her guardian, 824 

is not required for the reading of diagnostic tests or other 825 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì344314|Î344314 

 

Page 30 of 146 

2/27/2012 3:22:20 PM 576-04091A-12 

services that are of such a nature that they are not required to 826 

be performed in the presence of the insured. 827 

4. The licensed medical professional rendering treatment 828 

for which payment is being claimed must sign, by his or her own 829 

hand, the form complying with this paragraph. 830 

5. The original completed disclosure and acknowledgment 831 

form shall be furnished to the insurer pursuant to paragraph 832 

(4)(b) and may not be electronically furnished. 833 

6. The This disclosure and acknowledgment form is not 834 

required for services billed by a provider for emergency 835 

services as defined in s. 395.002, for emergency services and 836 

care as defined in s. 395.002 rendered in a hospital emergency 837 

department, or for transport and treatment rendered by an 838 

ambulance provider licensed pursuant to part III of chapter 401. 839 

7. The Financial Services Commission shall adopt, by rule, 840 

a standard disclosure and acknowledgment form to that shall be 841 

used to fulfill the requirements of this paragraph, effective 90 842 

days after such form is adopted and becomes final. The 843 

commission shall adopt a proposed rule by October 1, 2003. Until 844 

the rule is final, the provider may use a form of its own which 845 

otherwise complies with the requirements of this paragraph. 846 

8. As used in this paragraph, the term “countersign” or 847 

“countersignature” “countersigned” means a second or verifying 848 

signature, as on a previously signed document, and is not 849 

satisfied by the statement “signature on file” or any similar 850 

statement. 851 

9. The requirements of this paragraph apply only with 852 

respect to the initial treatment or service of the insured by a 853 

provider. For subsequent treatments or service, the provider 854 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì344314|Î344314 

 

Page 31 of 146 

2/27/2012 3:22:20 PM 576-04091A-12 

must maintain a patient log signed by the patient, in 855 

chronological order by date of service, which that is consistent 856 

with the services being rendered to the patient as claimed. The 857 

requirement to maintain requirements of this subparagraph for 858 

maintaining a patient log signed by the patient may be met by a 859 

hospital that maintains medical records as required by s. 860 

395.3025 and applicable rules and makes such records available 861 

to the insurer upon request. 862 

(f) Upon written notification by any person, an insurer 863 

shall investigate any claim of improper billing by a physician 864 

or other medical provider. The insurer shall determine if the 865 

insured was properly billed for only those services and 866 

treatments that the insured actually received. If the insurer 867 

determines that the insured has been improperly billed, the 868 

insurer shall notify the insured, the person making the written 869 

notification, and the provider of its findings and shall reduce 870 

the amount of payment to the provider by the amount determined 871 

to be improperly billed. If a reduction is made due to a such 872 

written notification by any person, the insurer shall pay to the 873 

person 20 percent of the amount of the reduction, up to $500. If 874 

the provider is arrested due to the improper billing, then the 875 

insurer shall pay to the person 40 percent of the amount of the 876 

reduction, up to $500. 877 

(g) An insurer may not systematically downcode with the 878 

intent to deny reimbursement otherwise due. Such action 879 

constitutes a material misrepresentation under s. 880 

626.9541(1)(i)2. 881 

(h) As provided in s. 400.9905, an entity excluded from the 882 

definition of a clinic shall be deemed a clinic and must be 883 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì344314|Î344314 

 

Page 32 of 146 

2/27/2012 3:22:20 PM 576-04091A-12 

licensed under part X of chapter 400 in order to receive 884 

reimbursement under ss. 627.730-627.7405. However, this 885 

licensing requirement does not apply to: 886 

1. An entity wholly owned by a physician licensed under 887 

chapter 458 or chapter 459, or by the physician and the spouse, 888 

parent, child, or sibling of the physician; 889 

2. An entity wholly owned by a dentist licensed under 890 

chapter 466, or by the dentist and the spouse, parent, child, or 891 

sibling of the dentist; 892 

3. An entity wholly owned by a chiropractic physician 893 

licensed under chapter 460, or by the chiropractic physician and 894 

the spouse, parent, child, or sibling of the chiropractic 895 

physician if such entity has filed for a licensing exemption 896 

with the Agency for Health Care Administration; 897 

4. A hospital or ambulatory surgical center licensed under 898 

chapter 395; or 899 

5. An entity wholly owned, directly or indirectly, by a 900 

hospital or hospitals licensed under chapter 395. 901 

(8) APPLICABILITY OF PROVISION REGULATING ATTORNEY 902 

ATTORNEY’S FEES.—With respect to any dispute under the 903 

provisions of ss. 627.730-627.7405 between the insured and the 904 

insurer, or between an assignee of an insured’s rights and the 905 

insurer, the provisions of ss. s. 627.428 and 768.79 shall 906 

apply, except as provided in subsections (10) and (15). 907 

(9) PREFERRED PROVIDERS.—An insurer may negotiate and 908 

contract enter into contracts with preferred licensed health 909 

care providers for the benefits described in this section, 910 

including referred to in this section as “preferred providers,” 911 

which shall include health care providers licensed under chapter 912 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì344314|Î344314 

 

Page 33 of 146 

2/27/2012 3:22:20 PM 576-04091A-12 

chapters 458, chapter 459, chapter 460, chapter 461, or chapter 913 

and 463. The insurer may provide an option to an insured to use 914 

a preferred provider at the time of purchasing purchase of the 915 

policy for personal injury protection benefits, if the 916 

requirements of this subsection are met. If the insured elects 917 

to use a provider who is not a preferred provider, whether the 918 

insured purchased a preferred provider policy or a nonpreferred 919 

provider policy, the medical benefits provided by the insurer 920 

shall be as required by this section. If the insured elects to 921 

use a provider who is a preferred provider, the insurer may pay 922 

medical benefits in excess of the benefits required by this 923 

section and may waive or lower the amount of any deductible that 924 

applies to such medical benefits. If the insurer offers a 925 

preferred provider policy to a policyholder or applicant, it 926 

must also offer a nonpreferred provider policy. The insurer 927 

shall provide each insured policyholder with a current roster of 928 

preferred providers in the county in which the insured resides 929 

at the time of purchase of such policy, and shall make such list 930 

available for public inspection during regular business hours at 931 

the insurer’s principal office of the insurer within the state. 932 

(10) DEMAND LETTER.— 933 

(a) As a condition precedent to filing any action for 934 

benefits under this section, the insurer must be provided with 935 

written notice of an intent to initiate litigation must be 936 

provided to the insurer. Such notice may not be sent until the 937 

claim is overdue, including any additional time the insurer has 938 

to pay the claim pursuant to paragraph (4)(b). 939 

(b) The notice must required shall state that it is a 940 

“demand letter under s. 627.736(10)” and shall state with 941 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì344314|Î344314 

 

Page 34 of 146 

2/27/2012 3:22:20 PM 576-04091A-12 

specificity: 942 

1. The name of the insured upon which such benefits are 943 

being sought, including a copy of the assignment giving rights 944 

to the claimant if the claimant is not the insured. 945 

2. The claim number or policy number upon which such claim 946 

was originally submitted to the insurer. 947 

3. To the extent applicable, the name of any medical 948 

provider who rendered to an insured the treatment, services, 949 

accommodations, or supplies that form the basis of such claim; 950 

and an itemized statement specifying each exact amount, the date 951 

of treatment, service, or accommodation, and the type of benefit 952 

claimed to be due. A completed form satisfying the requirements 953 

of paragraph (5)(d) or the lost-wage statement previously 954 

submitted may be used as the itemized statement. To the extent 955 

that the demand involves an insurer’s withdrawal of payment 956 

under paragraph (7)(a) for future treatment not yet rendered, 957 

the claimant shall attach a copy of the insurer’s notice 958 

withdrawing such payment and an itemized statement of the type, 959 

frequency, and duration of future treatment claimed to be 960 

reasonable and medically necessary. 961 

(c) Each notice required by this subsection must be 962 

delivered to the insurer by United States certified or 963 

registered mail, return receipt requested. Such postal costs 964 

shall be reimbursed by the insurer if so requested by the 965 

claimant in the notice, when the insurer pays the claim. Such 966 

notice must be sent to the person and address specified by the 967 

insurer for the purposes of receiving notices under this 968 

subsection. Each licensed insurer, whether domestic, foreign, or 969 

alien, shall file with the office designation of the name and 970 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì344314|Î344314 

 

Page 35 of 146 

2/27/2012 3:22:20 PM 576-04091A-12 

address of the person to whom notices must pursuant to this 971 

subsection shall be sent which the office shall make available 972 

on its Internet website. The name and address on file with the 973 

office pursuant to s. 624.422 are shall be deemed the authorized 974 

representative to accept notice pursuant to this subsection if 975 

in the event no other designation has been made. 976 

(d) If, within 30 days after receipt of notice by the 977 

insurer, the overdue claim specified in the notice is paid by 978 

the insurer together with applicable interest and a penalty of 979 

10 percent of the overdue amount paid by the insurer, subject to 980 

a maximum penalty of $250, no action may be brought against the 981 

insurer. If the demand involves an insurer’s withdrawal of 982 

payment under paragraph (7)(a) for future treatment not yet 983 

rendered, no action may be brought against the insurer if, 984 

within 30 days after its receipt of the notice, the insurer 985 

mails to the person filing the notice a written statement of the 986 

insurer’s agreement to pay for such treatment in accordance with 987 

the notice and to pay a penalty of 10 percent, subject to a 988 

maximum penalty of $250, when it pays for such future treatment 989 

in accordance with the requirements of this section. To the 990 

extent the insurer determines not to pay any amount demanded, 991 

the penalty is shall not be payable in any subsequent action. 992 

For purposes of this subsection, payment or the insurer’s 993 

agreement shall be treated as being made on the date a draft or 994 

other valid instrument that is equivalent to payment, or the 995 

insurer’s written statement of agreement, is placed in the 996 

United States mail in a properly addressed, postpaid envelope, 997 

or if not so posted, on the date of delivery. The insurer is not 998 

obligated to pay any attorney attorney’s fees if the insurer 999 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì344314|Î344314 

 

Page 36 of 146 

2/27/2012 3:22:20 PM 576-04091A-12 

pays the claim or mails its agreement to pay for future 1000 

treatment within the time prescribed by this subsection. 1001 

(e) The applicable statute of limitation for an action 1002 

under this section shall be tolled for a period of 30 business 1003 

days by the mailing of the notice required by this subsection. 1004 

(f) Any insurer making a general business practice of not 1005 

paying valid claims until receipt of the notice required by this 1006 

subsection is engaging in an unfair trade practice under the 1007 

insurance code. 1008 

(11) FAILURE TO PAY VALID CLAIMS; UNFAIR OR DECEPTIVE 1009 

PRACTICE.— 1010 

(a) If An insurer fails to pay valid claims for personal 1011 

injury protection with such frequency so as to indicate a 1012 

general business practice, the insurer is engaging in a 1013 

prohibited unfair or deceptive practice that is subject to the 1014 

penalties provided in s. 626.9521 and the office has the powers 1015 

and duties specified in ss. 626.9561-626.9601 if the insurer, 1016 

with such frequency so as to indicate a general business 1017 

practice: with respect thereto 1018 

1. Fails to pay valid claims for personal injury 1019 

protection; or 1020 

2. Fails to pay valid claims until receipt of the notice 1021 

required by subsection (10). 1022 

(b) Notwithstanding s. 501.212, the Department of Legal 1023 

Affairs may investigate and initiate actions for a violation of 1024 

this subsection, including, but not limited to, the powers and 1025 

duties specified in part II of chapter 501. 1026 

(16) SECURE ELECTRONIC DATA TRANSFER.—If all parties 1027 

mutually and expressly agree, A notice, documentation, 1028 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì344314|Î344314 

 

Page 37 of 146 

2/27/2012 3:22:20 PM 576-04091A-12 

transmission, or communication of any kind required or 1029 

authorized under ss. 627.730-627.7405 may be transmitted 1030 

electronically if it is transmitted by secure electronic data 1031 

transfer that is consistent with state and federal privacy and 1032 

security laws. 1033 

Section 9. Section 627.748, Florida Statutes, is created to 1034 

read: 1035 

627.748 Short title.—Sections 627.748-627.7491 may be cited 1036 

as the “Florida Motor Vehicle No-Fault Emergency Care Coverage 1037 

Law.” 1038 

Section 10. Section 627.7481, Florida Statutes, is created 1039 

to read: 1040 

627.7481 Purposes.—The purpose of the Florida Motor Vehicle 1041 

No-Fault Emergency Care Coverage Law is to provide for emergency 1042 

services and care, services and care provided in a hospital, 1043 

prescribed follow-up care, funeral costs, and disability 1044 

insurance benefits without regard to fault; to require motor 1045 

vehicle insurance that secures such benefits for motor vehicles 1046 

required to be registered in this state; and, with respect to 1047 

motor vehicle accidents, to provide a limitation on the right to 1048 

claim damages for pain, suffering, mental anguish, and 1049 

inconvenience. 1050 

Section 11. Section 627.74811, Florida Statutes, is created 1051 

to read: 1052 

627.74811 Effect of law on emergency care coverage 1053 

policies.—The provisions, schedules, and procedures authorized 1054 

in ss. 627.748-627.7491 must be implemented by insurers offering 1055 

policies pursuant to the Florida Motor Vehicle No-Fault 1056 

Emergency Care Coverage Law. The Legislature intends that these 1057 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì344314|Î344314 

 

Page 38 of 146 

2/27/2012 3:22:20 PM 576-04091A-12 

provisions, schedules, and procedures have full force and effect 1058 

regardless of their express inclusion in an insurance policy 1059 

form and govern over any general provisions in the insurance 1060 

policy form. An insurer is not required to amend its policy form 1061 

or to expressly notify providers, claimants, or insureds of the 1062 

applicable fee schedules in order to implement and apply such 1063 

provisions, schedules, or procedures. 1064 

Section 12. Section 627.7482, Florida Statutes, is created 1065 

to read: 1066 

627.7482 Definitions.—As used in ss. 627.748-627.7491, the 1067 

term: 1068 

(1) “Broker” means any person not licensed under chapter 1069 

395, chapter 400, chapter 429, chapter 458, chapter 459, chapter 1070 

460, chapter 461, or chapter 641 who charges or receives 1071 

compensation for the use of medical equipment and is not the 100 1072 

percent owner or the 100 percent lessee of such equipment. For 1073 

purposes of this subsection, such owner or lessee may be an 1074 

individual, a corporation, a partnership, or any other entity 1075 

and any of its 100 percent owned affiliates and subsidiaries. 1076 

(a) The term “broker” does not include: 1077 

1. A hospital or physician management company whose medical 1078 

equipment is ancillary to the practices managed; a debt 1079 

collection agency; an entity that has contracted with the 1080 

insurer to obtain a discounted rate; a management company that 1081 

has contracted to provide general management services for a 1082 

licensed physician or health care facility and whose 1083 

compensation is not materially affected by the usage or 1084 

frequency of usage of medical equipment; or an entity that is 1085 

100 percent owned by one or more hospitals or physicians. 1086 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì344314|Î344314 

 

Page 39 of 146 

2/27/2012 3:22:20 PM 576-04091A-12 

2. A person or entity that certifies, upon the request of 1087 

an insurer, that: 1088 

a. It is a clinic licensed under part X of chapter 400; 1089 

b. It is a 100 percent owner of medical equipment; and 1090 

c. The owner’s only part-time lease of medical equipment 1091 

for emergency care coverage patients is on a temporary basis not 1092 

to exceed 30 days in a 12-month period and is necessitated by: 1093 

(I) The repair or maintenance of existing 100 percent-owned 1094 

medical equipment; 1095 

(II) The pending arrival and installation of newly 1096 

purchased medical equipment or the replacement 100-percent-owned 1097 

medical equipment; or 1098 

(III) A determination by the medical director or clinical 1099 

director that open-style medical equipment is medically 1100 

necessary for the performance of tests or procedures for 1101 

patients due to the patients’ physical sizes or claustrophobia. 1102 

The leased medical equipment may not be used, for medical 1103 

treatment or services, for a patient who is not a patient of the 1104 

registered clinic for medical treatment of services. 1105 

 1106 

However, the 30-day lease period provided in this sub-1107 

subparagraph may be extended for an additional 60 days as 1108 

applicable to magnetic resonance imaging equipment if the owner 1109 

certifies that the extension otherwise complies with this 1110 

paragraph. 1111 

(b) As used in this subsection, the term “lessee” means a 1112 

long-term lessee under a capital or operating lease but does not 1113 

include a part-time lessee. 1114 

(c) Any person or entity making a false certification under 1115 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì344314|Î344314 

 

Page 40 of 146 

2/27/2012 3:22:20 PM 576-04091A-12 

this subsection commits insurance fraud as defined in s. 1116 

817.234. 1117 

(2) “Certify” means to swear or attest to a fact being true 1118 

or accurately represented in a writing. 1119 

(3) “Emergency medical condition” means: 1120 

(a) A medical condition manifesting itself by acute 1121 

symptoms of sufficient severity, which may include severe pain, 1122 

such that the absence of immediate medical attention could 1123 

reasonably be expected to result in any of the following: 1124 

1. Serious jeopardy to the health of a patient, including a 1125 

pregnant woman or fetus. 1126 

2. Serious impairment to bodily functions. 1127 

3. Serious dysfunction of any bodily organ or part. 1128 

(b) With respect to a pregnant woman: 1129 

1. That there is inadequate time for a safe transfer to 1130 

another hospital before delivery; 1131 

2. That a transfer may pose a threat to the health and 1132 

safety of the woman or fetus; or 1133 

3. That there is evidence of the onset and persistence of 1134 

uterine contractions or rupture of the membranes. 1135 

(4) “Emergency services and care” means medical screening, 1136 

examination and evaluation by a physician or, to the extent 1137 

permitted by applicable law, by other appropriate personnel 1138 

under the supervision of a physician, to determine if an 1139 

emergency medical condition exists and, if it does, the care, 1140 

treatment, or surgery by a physician necessary to relieve or 1141 

eliminate the emergency medical condition, within the service 1142 

capability of the facility. 1143 

(5) “Hospital” means a facility that, at the time services 1144 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì344314|Î344314 

 

Page 41 of 146 

2/27/2012 3:22:20 PM 576-04091A-12 

or treatment was rendered, was licensed under chapter 395. 1145 

(6) “Knowingly” means having actual knowledge of 1146 

information and acting in deliberate ignorance of the truth or 1147 

falsity of the information or in reckless disregard of the 1148 

information. Proof of specific intent to defraud is not 1149 

required. 1150 

(7) “Lawful” or “lawfully” means in substantial compliance 1151 

with all relevant applicable criminal, civil, and administrative 1152 

requirements of state and federal law related to the provision 1153 

of medical services or treatment. 1154 

(8) “Medically necessary” refers to a medical service or 1155 

supply that a prudent physician would provide for the purpose of 1156 

preventing, diagnosing, or treating an illness, injury, disease, 1157 

or symptom in a manner that is: 1158 

(a) In accordance with generally accepted standards of 1159 

medical practice; 1160 

(b) Clinically appropriate in terms of type, frequency, 1161 

extent, site, and duration; and 1162 

(c) Not primarily for the convenience of the patient, 1163 

physician, or other health care provider. 1164 

(9) “Motor vehicle” means any self-propelled vehicle that 1165 

has four or more wheels and is of a type both designed and 1166 

required to be licensed for use on the highways of this state 1167 

and any trailer or semitrailer designed for use with such 1168 

vehicle. The term includes: 1169 

(a) A “private passenger motor vehicle,” which is any motor 1170 

vehicle that is a sedan, station wagon, or jeep-type vehicle 1171 

and, if not used primarily for occupational, professional, or 1172 

business purposes, a motor vehicle of the pickup truck, panel 1173 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì344314|Î344314 

 

Page 42 of 146 

2/27/2012 3:22:20 PM 576-04091A-12 

truck, van, camper, or motor home type. 1174 

(b) A “commercial motor vehicle,” which is a motor vehicle 1175 

that is not a private passenger motor vehicle. 1176 

 1177 

The term does not include a mobile home or a motor vehicle that 1178 

is used in mass transit, other than public school 1179 

transportation; is designed to transport more than five 1180 

passengers exclusive of the operator of the motor vehicle; and 1181 

is owned by a municipality, a transit authority, or a political 1182 

subdivision of the state. 1183 

(10) “Named insured” means a person, usually the owner of a 1184 

motor vehicle, identified in a policy by name as the insured 1185 

under the policy. 1186 

(11) “Owner,” with respect to a motor vehicle, means a 1187 

person who holds legal title to the motor vehicle or, if the 1188 

motor vehicle is the subject of a security agreement or lease 1189 

with an option to purchase and the debtor or lessee has the 1190 

right to possession, the debtor or lessee of the motor vehicle. 1191 

(12) “Physician” means an allopathic physician licensed 1192 

under chapter 458 or an osteopathic physician licensed under 1193 

chapter 459. 1194 

(13) “Properly completed” means providing truthful, 1195 

substantially complete, and substantially accurate responses as 1196 

to all material elements to each applicable request for 1197 

information or statement by a means that may lawfully be 1198 

provided and that complies with this section, or as otherwise 1199 

agreed to by the parties. 1200 

(14) “Relative residing in the insured’s household” means a 1201 

relative of any degree by blood, marriage, or adoption who 1202 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì344314|Î344314 

 

Page 43 of 146 

2/27/2012 3:22:20 PM 576-04091A-12 

usually makes her or his home in the same family unit regardless 1203 

of whether she or he is temporarily living elsewhere. 1204 

(15) “Unbundling” means separating treatment or services 1205 

that would be properly billed under one billing code into two or 1206 

more billing codes, resulting in a payment amount greater than 1207 

would be paid using one billing code. 1208 

(16) “Upcoding” means using a billing code to describe 1209 

treatment or services in a manner that would result in a payment 1210 

amount greater than would be paid using a billing code that 1211 

accurately describes such treatment or services. The term does 1212 

not include an otherwise lawful bill by a magnetic resonance 1213 

imaging facility, which globally combines both technical and 1214 

professional components, if the amount of the global bill is not 1215 

more than the components if billed separately; however, payment 1216 

of such a bill constitutes payment in full for all components of 1217 

such service. 1218 

Section 13. Section 627.7483, Florida Statutes, is created 1219 

to read: 1220 

627.7483 Required security.— 1221 

(1) An owner or registrant of a motor vehicle, other than a 1222 

motor vehicle used as a school bus as defined in s. 1006.25, a 1223 

limousine, or a taxicab, which must be registered and licensed 1224 

in this state shall continuously maintain security as described 1225 

in subsection (3) throughout the licensing or registration 1226 

period. An owner or registrant of a motor vehicle used as a 1227 

taxicab shall maintain security as required under s. 324.032(1) 1228 

and is exempt from s. 627.7486. 1229 

(2) A nonresident owner or registrant of a motor vehicle, 1230 

whether operated or not operated, which has been physically 1231 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì344314|Î344314 

 

Page 44 of 146 

2/27/2012 3:22:20 PM 576-04091A-12 

present within this state for more than 90 days during the 1232 

preceding 365 days must thereafter continuously maintain 1233 

security as described in subsection (3) while such motor vehicle 1234 

is physically present within this state. 1235 

(3) Security required by this section shall be provided: 1236 

(a) By an insurance policy delivered or issued for delivery 1237 

in this state by an authorized or eligible motor vehicle 1238 

liability insurer which provides the benefits and exemptions 1239 

contained in ss. 627.748-627.7491. Any policy of insurance 1240 

represented or sold as providing the security required under 1241 

this section shall be deemed to provide insurance for the 1242 

payment of the required benefits; or 1243 

(b) By any other method authorized by s. 324.031(2), (3), 1244 

or (4) and approved by the Department of Highway Safety and 1245 

Motor Vehicles as affording security equivalent to that afforded 1246 

by a policy of insurance or by self-insuring as authorized by s. 1247 

768.28(16). The person filing such security has all of the 1248 

obligations and rights of an insurer under ss. 627.748-627.7491. 1249 

(4) An owner of a motor vehicle for which security is 1250 

required by this section who fails to have such security in 1251 

effect at the time of an accident is not immune from tort 1252 

liability and is personally liable for the payment of benefits 1253 

under s. 627.7485. With respect to such benefits, the owner has 1254 

all of the rights and obligations of an insurer under ss. 1255 

627.748-627.7491. 1256 

(5) In addition to persons who are not required to provide 1257 

security under this section or s. 324.022, the owner or 1258 

registrant of a motor vehicle who is a member of the United 1259 

States Armed Forces and who is called to or on active duty 1260 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì344314|Î344314 

 

Page 45 of 146 

2/27/2012 3:22:20 PM 576-04091A-12 

outside the United States in an emergency situation is exempt 1261 

from such requirements. The exemption applies only while the 1262 

owner or registrant is on such active duty and while the motor 1263 

vehicle otherwise required to be covered by the security under 1264 

this section or s. 324.022 is not operated by any person. Upon 1265 

receipt of a written request from the insured to whom this 1266 

exemption applies, the insurer shall cancel the coverages and 1267 

return any unearned premium or suspend the security required by 1268 

this section and s. 324.022. Notwithstanding s. 324.0221(2), the 1269 

Department of Highway Safety and Motor Vehicles may not suspend 1270 

the registration or operator’s license of the owner or 1271 

registrant of a motor vehicle during the time she or he 1272 

qualifies for this exemption. The owner or registrant of the 1273 

motor vehicle qualifying for the exemption must immediately 1274 

notify the department before and at the end of the expiration of 1275 

the exemption. 1276 

Section 14. Section 627.7484, Florida Statutes, is created 1277 

to read: 1278 

627.7484 Proof of security; security requirements; 1279 

penalties.— 1280 

(1) The provisions of chapter 324 which pertain to the 1281 

method of giving and maintaining proof of financial 1282 

responsibility and which govern and define a motor vehicle 1283 

liability policy apply to filing and maintaining proof of 1284 

security required by ss. 627.748-627.7491. 1285 

(2) Any person who: 1286 

(a) Gives information required in a report or otherwise as 1287 

provided in ss. 627.748-627.7491, knowing or having reason to 1288 

believe that such information is false; 1289 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì344314|Î344314 

 

Page 46 of 146 

2/27/2012 3:22:20 PM 576-04091A-12 

(b) Forges or, without authority, signs any evidence of 1290 

proof of security; or 1291 

(c) Files, or offers for filing, any such evidence of 1292 

proof, knowing or having reason to believe that it is forged or 1293 

signed without authority 1294 

 1295 

commits a misdemeanor of the first degree, punishable as 1296 

provided in s. 775.082 or s. 775.083. 1297 

Section 15. Section 627.7485, Florida Statutes, is created 1298 

to read: 1299 

627.7485 Required emergency care coverage benefits.— 1300 

(1) REQUIRED BENEFITS.—An insurance policy complying with 1301 

the security requirements of s. 627.7483 must provide emergency 1302 

care coverage to the named insured, relatives residing in the 1303 

insured’s household, persons operating the insured motor 1304 

vehicle, passengers in the motor vehicle, and other persons 1305 

struck by such motor vehicle and suffering bodily injury while 1306 

not an occupant of a self-propelled vehicle, subject to 1307 

subsection (2) and paragraph (4)(b), up to a limit of $10,000, 1308 

for loss sustained by any such person as a result of bodily 1309 

injury, sickness, disease, or death arising out of the 1310 

ownership, maintenance, or use of the motor vehicle as follows: 1311 

(a) Medical benefits.— 1312 

1. Eighty percent of all reasonable expenses for: 1313 

a. Emergency transport and treatment rendered by an 1314 

ambulance provider licensed under part III of chapter 401 within 1315 

24 hours after the motor vehicle accident. 1316 

b. Emergency services and care provided within 7 days after 1317 

the motor vehicle accident if such services and care are 1318 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì344314|Î344314 

 

Page 47 of 146 

2/27/2012 3:22:20 PM 576-04091A-12 

provided: 1319 

(I) In a hospital or in a facility wholly owned by a 1320 

hospital; 1321 

(II) In a facility wholly owned by a physician, or by the 1322 

physician and the spouse, parents, children, or siblings of such 1323 

physician; or 1324 

(III) In a facility wholly owned by a dentist, or by the 1325 

dentist and the spouse, parents, children, or siblings of such 1326 

dentist. 1327 

c. Services and care rendered when an insured is admitted 1328 

to a hospital within 7 days after the motor vehicle accident, 1329 

for a condition related to the motor vehicle accident. 1330 

d. If the insured receives emergency transport and 1331 

treatment or emergency services and care pursuant to sub-sub-1332 

subparagraph a. or sub-subparagraph b., or services and care 1333 

pursuant to sub-subparagraph c., prescribed follow-up services 1334 

and care directly related to the medical diagnosis arising from 1335 

the motor vehicle accident if: 1336 

(I) The diagnosis is rendered by a physician; and 1337 

(II) The prescribed follow-up services and care are 1338 

rendered by a physician, a dentist licensed under chapter 466, a 1339 

physician assistant licensed under chapter 458 or chapter 459, 1340 

an advanced registered nurse practitioner licensed under chapter 1341 

464, or a chiropractic physician licensed under chapter 460. 1342 

2. Prescribed follow-up services and care must be provided 1343 

in a clinic licensed under part X of chapter 400 or an entity 1344 

excluded from the definition of a clinic. However, as provided 1345 

in s. 400.9905, an entity excluded from the definition of a 1346 

clinic shall be deemed a clinic and must be licensed under part 1347 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì344314|Î344314 

 

Page 48 of 146 

2/27/2012 3:22:20 PM 576-04091A-12 

X of chapter 400 in order to receive reimbursement for 1348 

prescribed follow-up services and care under sub-subparagraph 1349 

1.d. unless the entity is: 1350 

a. An entity wholly owned by a physician licensed under 1351 

chapter 458 or chapter 459, or by the physician and the spouse, 1352 

parent, child, or sibling of the physician; 1353 

b. An entity wholly owned by a dentist licensed under 1354 

chapter 466, or by the dentist and the spouse, parent, child, or 1355 

sibling of the dentist; 1356 

c. An entity wholly owned by a chiropractic physician 1357 

licensed under chapter 460, or by the chiropractic physician and 1358 

the spouse, parent, child, or sibling of the chiropractic 1359 

physician if such entity has filed for a licensing exemption 1360 

with the Agency for Health Care Administration; 1361 

d. A hospital or ambulatory surgical center licensed under 1362 

chapter 395; or 1363 

e. An entity wholly owned, directly or indirectly, by a 1364 

hospital or hospitals licensed under chapter 395. 1365 

3. Reimbursement for services provided by a chiropractic 1366 

physician is limited to the lesser of 24 treatments or to 1367 

services rendered within 12 weeks after the date of the initial 1368 

chiropractic treatment, whichever comes first, unless the 1369 

insurer authorizes additional chiropractic services. 1370 

4. Medical benefits do not include massage as defined in s. 1371 

480.033 or acupuncture as defined in s. 457.102. 1372 

5. For purposes of ss. 627.748-627.7491, a medical 1373 

diagnosis that an emergency medical condition exists is presumed 1374 

to be correct unless rebutted by clear and convincing evidence 1375 

to the contrary. 1376 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì344314|Î344314 

 

Page 49 of 146 

2/27/2012 3:22:20 PM 576-04091A-12 

(b) Disability benefits.—Sixty percent of any loss of gross 1377 

income and loss of earning capacity per individual from 1378 

inability to work proximately caused by the injury sustained by 1379 

the injured person, plus all expenses reasonably incurred in 1380 

obtaining from others ordinary and necessary services in lieu of 1381 

those that, but for the injury, the injured person would have 1382 

performed without income for the benefit of her or his 1383 

household. All disability benefits payable under this paragraph 1384 

must be paid at least every 2 weeks. 1385 

(c) Death benefits.—Death benefits equal to the lesser of 1386 

$5,000 or the remainder of unused emergency care coverage 1387 

insurance benefits per individual. The insurer shall give 1388 

priority to the payment of death benefits over the payment of 1389 

other benefits of the deceased and, upon learning of the death 1390 

of the individual, shall stop paying the other benefits until 1391 

the death benefits are paid. The insurer may pay death benefits 1392 

to the executor or administrator of the deceased, to any of the 1393 

deceased’s relatives by blood, legal adoption, or marriage, or 1394 

to any person who appears to the insurer to be equitably 1395 

entitled to such benefits. 1396 

 1397 

Only insurers writing motor vehicle liability insurance in this 1398 

state may provide the benefits required by this section, and 1399 

such insurer may not require the purchase of any other motor 1400 

vehicle coverage other than the purchase of property damage 1401 

liability coverage as required by s. 627.7275 as a condition for 1402 

providing such benefits. Insurers may not require that property 1403 

damage liability insurance in an amount greater than $10,000 be 1404 

purchased in conjunction with emergency care coverage insurance. 1405 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì344314|Î344314 

 

Page 50 of 146 

2/27/2012 3:22:20 PM 576-04091A-12 

Such insurers shall make benefits and required property damage 1406 

liability insurance coverage available through normal marketing 1407 

channels. An insurer writing motor vehicle liability insurance 1408 

in this state who fails to comply with such availability 1409 

requirement as a general business practice violates part IX of 1410 

chapter 626, and such violation constitutes an unfair method of 1411 

competition or an unfair or deceptive act or practice involving 1412 

the business of insurance. An insurer committing such violation 1413 

is subject to the penalties provided under that part, as well as 1414 

those provided elsewhere in the insurance code. 1415 

(2) AUTHORIZED EXCLUSIONS.—An insurer may exclude benefits: 1416 

(a) For injury sustained by the named insured and relatives 1417 

residing in the insured’s household while occupying another 1418 

motor vehicle owned by the named insured and not insured under 1419 

the policy or for injury sustained by any person operating the 1420 

insured motor vehicle without the express or implied consent of 1421 

the insured. 1422 

(b) To any injured person if such person’s conduct 1423 

contributed to her or his injury under the following 1424 

circumstance: 1425 

1. Causing injury to herself or himself intentionally; or 1426 

2. Being injured while committing a felony. 1427 

 1428 

If an insured is charged with conduct as set forth in 1429 

subparagraph 2., the 30-day payment provision of paragraph 1430 

(4)(f) shall be held in abeyance, and the insurer shall withhold 1431 

payment of any benefits pending the outcome of the case at the 1432 

trial level. If the charge is nolle prossed or dismissed or the 1433 

insured is acquitted, the 30-day payment provision shall run 1434 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì344314|Î344314 

 

Page 51 of 146 

2/27/2012 3:22:20 PM 576-04091A-12 

from the date the insurer is notified of such action. 1435 

(3) INSURED’S RIGHTS TO RECOVERY OF SPECIAL DAMAGES IN TORT 1436 

CLAIMS.—An insurer may not have a lien on any recovery in tort 1437 

by judgment, settlement, or otherwise for emergency care 1438 

coverage benefits, whether suit has been filed or settlement has 1439 

been reached without suit. An injured party who is entitled to 1440 

bring suit under ss. 627.748-627.7491, or her or his legal 1441 

representative, may not recover any damages for which benefits 1442 

are paid or payable. The plaintiff may prove all of her or his 1443 

special damages notwithstanding this limitation, but if special 1444 

damages are introduced in evidence, the trier of facts, whether 1445 

judge or jury, may not award damages for emergency care coverage 1446 

benefits paid or payable. In all cases in which a jury is 1447 

required to fix damages, the court shall instruct the jury that 1448 

the plaintiff may not recover such special damages for emergency 1449 

care coverage benefits paid or payable. 1450 

(4) PAYMENT OF BENEFITS.— 1451 

(a) Benefits due from an insurer under ss. 627.748-627.7491 1452 

are primary, except that benefits received under any workers’ 1453 

compensation law must be credited against the benefits provided 1454 

under subsection (1) and are due and payable as loss accrues 1455 

upon receipt of reasonable proof of such loss and the amount of 1456 

expenses and loss incurred that are covered by the policy issued 1457 

under ss. 627.748-627.7491. If the Agency for Health Care 1458 

Administration provides, pays, or becomes liable for medical 1459 

assistance under the Medicaid program related to injury, 1460 

sickness, disease, or death arising out of the ownership, 1461 

maintenance, or use of a motor vehicle, the benefits under ss. 1462 

627.748-627.7491 are subject to the provisions of the Medicaid 1463 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì344314|Î344314 

 

Page 52 of 146 

2/27/2012 3:22:20 PM 576-04091A-12 

program. However, within 30 days after receiving notice that the 1464 

Medicaid program paid such benefits, the insurer must repay the 1465 

full amount of the benefits to the Medicaid program. 1466 

(b) The insurer of the owner of a motor vehicle shall pay 1467 

benefits for an emergency medical condition as described in 1468 

paragraph (1)(a) for accidental bodily injury requiring medical 1469 

treatment: 1470 

1. Sustained in this state by the owner while occupying a 1471 

motor vehicle, or while not an occupant of a self-propelled 1472 

vehicle if the injury is caused by physical contact with a motor 1473 

vehicle. 1474 

2. Sustained outside this state, but within the United 1475 

States or its territories or possessions or Canada, by the owner 1476 

while occupying the owner’s motor vehicle. 1477 

3. Sustained by a relative of the owner residing in the 1478 

owner’s household, under the circumstances described in 1479 

subparagraph 1. or subparagraph 2. if the relative at the time 1480 

of the accident is domiciled in the owner’s household and is not 1481 

the owner of a motor vehicle with respect to which security is 1482 

required under ss. 627.748-627.7491. 1483 

4. Sustained in this state by any other person while 1484 

occupying the owner’s motor vehicle or, if a resident of this 1485 

state, while not an occupant of a self-propelled vehicle, if the 1486 

injury is caused by physical contact with such motor vehicle if 1487 

the injured person is not: 1488 

a. The owner of a motor vehicle for which security is 1489 

required under ss. 627.748-627.7491; or 1490 

b. Entitled to benefits from the insurer of the owner of 1491 

such motor vehicle. 1492 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì344314|Î344314 

 

Page 53 of 146 

2/27/2012 3:22:20 PM 576-04091A-12 

(c) An insurer may require written notice to be given as 1493 

soon as practicable after an accident involving a motor vehicle 1494 

for which the policy provides the security required by ss. 1495 

627.748-627.7491. 1496 

(d) Upon receiving notice of an accident that is 1497 

potentially covered by benefits under this section, the insurer 1498 

must reserve $5,000 of such coverage for payment of medical 1499 

benefits provided by physicians or dentists pursuant to 1500 

subparagraph (1)(a). The reserved amount may be used only to pay 1501 

claims for such providers until 30 days after the date the 1502 

insurer receives notice of the accident. After the 30-day 1503 

period, any amount of the reserve for which the insurer has not 1504 

received notice of a claim for emergency care coverage benefits 1505 

may be used to pay other claims. The time periods specified in 1506 

paragraph (f) for the payment of benefits shall be tolled for 1507 

the period of time that the insurer is required by this 1508 

paragraph to hold payment of such other claims to the extent 1509 

that the amount not held in reserve is insufficient to pay such 1510 

other claims. This paragraph does not require an insurer to 1511 

establish a claim reserve for insurance accounting purposes. 1512 

(e) An insurer shall create and maintain for each insured a 1513 

log of benefits paid by the insurer on behalf of the insured. 1514 

The insurer shall provide to the insured, or an assignee of the 1515 

insured, a copy of the log within 30 days after receiving a 1516 

request for the log from the insured or the assignee. 1517 

(f) Benefits paid pursuant to this section are overdue if 1518 

not paid within 30 days after written notice of the fact and 1519 

amount of a covered loss is furnished to the insurer. 1520 

1. If written notice of the entire claim is not furnished 1521 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì344314|Î344314 

 

Page 54 of 146 

2/27/2012 3:22:20 PM 576-04091A-12 

to the insurer, any partial amount supported by the written 1522 

notice is overdue if not paid within 30 days after the written 1523 

notice is furnished. Any part or all of the remainder of the 1524 

claim that is subsequently supported by written notice is 1525 

overdue if not paid within 30 days after subsequent written 1526 

notice is furnished to the insurer. 1527 

2. This paragraph does not preclude or limit the ability of 1528 

the insurer to assert that the claim or a portion of the claim 1529 

was unrelated, was not medically necessary, or was unreasonable, 1530 

or that the amount of the charge was in excess of that permitted 1531 

under, or in violation of, subsection (5). Such assertion may be 1532 

made at any time, including after payment of the claim or after 1533 

the 30-day period for payment set forth in this paragraph. 1534 

3. If an insurer pays only a portion of a claim or rejects 1535 

a claim, the insurer shall provide at the time of the partial 1536 

payment or rejection an itemized specification of each item that 1537 

the insurer has reduced, omitted, or declined to pay and any 1538 

information that the insurer desires the claimant to consider 1539 

related to the medical necessity of the denied treatment or to 1540 

explain the reasonableness of the reduced charge if this 1541 

information does not limit the introduction of evidence at 1542 

trial. The insurer must also include the name and address of the 1543 

person to whom the claimant should respond and a claim number to 1544 

be referenced in future correspondence. 1545 

4. Notwithstanding that written notice has been furnished 1546 

to the insurer, payment is not overdue if the insurer has 1547 

reasonable proof that the insurer is not responsible for the 1548 

payment. 1549 

5. For the purpose of calculating the extent to which 1550 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì344314|Î344314 

 

Page 55 of 146 

2/27/2012 3:22:20 PM 576-04091A-12 

benefits are overdue, payment shall be considered made on the 1551 

date a draft or other valid instrument that is equivalent to 1552 

payment was placed in the United States mail in a properly 1553 

addressed, postpaid envelope or, if not so posted, on the date 1554 

of delivery. 1555 

6. All overdue payments bear simple interest at the rate 1556 

established under s. 55.03 or the rate established in the 1557 

insurance contract, whichever is greater, for the quarter in 1558 

which the payment became overdue, calculated from the date the 1559 

insurer was furnished with written notice of the amount of the 1560 

covered loss. Interest is due at the time payment of the overdue 1561 

claim is made. 1562 

(g) If two or more insurers are liable for paying emergency 1563 

care coverage benefits for the same injury to any one person, 1564 

the maximum amount payable shall be as specified in subsection 1565 

(1), and an insurer paying the benefits is entitled to recover 1566 

from each of the other insurers an equitable pro rata share of 1567 

the benefits paid and expenses incurred in processing the claim. 1568 

(h) In a dispute between the insured and the insurer, or 1569 

between an assignee of the insured’s rights and the insurer, the 1570 

insurer must notify the insured or the assignee that the policy 1571 

limits under this section have been reached within 15 days after 1572 

the limits have been reached. 1573 

(i) Benefits are not due or payable to or on behalf of an 1574 

insured, claimant, medical provider, or attorney if the insured, 1575 

claimant, medical provider, or attorney has: 1576 

1. Knowingly submitted a false material statement, 1577 

document, record, or bill; 1578 

2. Knowingly submitted false material information; or 1579 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì344314|Î344314 

 

Page 56 of 146 

2/27/2012 3:22:20 PM 576-04091A-12 

3. Otherwise committed or attempted to commit a fraudulent 1580 

insurance act as defined in s. 626.989. 1581 

 1582 

A claimant who violates this paragraph is not entitled to any 1583 

emergency care coverage benefits or payment for any bills and 1584 

services, regardless of whether a portion of the claim may be 1585 

legitimate. However, a medical provider who does not violate 1586 

this paragraph may not be denied benefits solely due to 1587 

violation by another claimant. 1588 

(j) If an insurer has a reasonable belief that a fraudulent 1589 

insurance act, as defined in s. 626.989, has been committed and 1590 

reports its suspicions to the Division of Insurance Fraud, the 1591 

30-day period for payment is tolled for any portions of the 1592 

claim reported for investigation until the insurer receives 1593 

notice from the Division of Insurance Fraud that the claim has 1594 

been investigated and states whether a criminal action will be 1595 

recommended. 1596 

1. The insurer must notify the claimant in writing that the 1597 

claim is being investigated for fraud within 30 days after the 1598 

insurer is furnished with written notice of the fact and amount 1599 

of a covered loss. Within 30 days after receipt of notice from 1600 

the Division of Insurance Fraud that a claim has been 1601 

investigated and that no criminal action will be recommended, 1602 

the insurer must pay the claim with simple interest as provided 1603 

in subparagraph (f)6. 1604 

2. Subject to s. 626.989(4), persons or entities that in 1605 

good faith report suspected fraud to the Division of Insurance 1606 

Fraud or share information in the furtherance of a fraud 1607 

investigation are not subject to any civil or criminal liability 1608 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì344314|Î344314 

 

Page 57 of 146 

2/27/2012 3:22:20 PM 576-04091A-12 

relating to the reporting or release of such information. 1609 

(k) It is a violation of the insurance code for an insurer 1610 

to fail to timely provide benefits as required by this section 1611 

with such frequency as to constitute a general business 1612 

practice. 1613 

(5) CHARGES FOR TREATMENT OF INJURED PERSONS.— 1614 

(a) A physician, hospital, clinic, or other person or 1615 

institution lawfully rendering treatment to an injured person 1616 

for a bodily injury covered by emergency care coverage insurance 1617 

may charge the insurer and injured party only a reasonable 1618 

amount pursuant to this section for the services, treatment, 1619 

supplies, and care rendered, and the insurer providing such 1620 

coverage may pay such charges directly to such person or 1621 

institution lawfully rendering such treatment if the insured 1622 

receiving such treatment, or her or his guardian, has 1623 

countersigned the properly completed invoice, bill, or claim 1624 

form approved by the office attesting that such treatment has 1625 

actually been rendered to the best knowledge of the insured or 1626 

her or his guardian. However, such charge may not exceed the 1627 

amount that the person or institution customarily charges for 1628 

like services, treatment, supplies, or care. When determining 1629 

whether a charge for a particular service, treatment, supply, or 1630 

care is reasonable, consideration may be given to evidence of 1631 

usual and customary charges and payments accepted by the 1632 

provider involved in the dispute, reimbursement levels in the 1633 

community and various federal and state medical fee schedules 1634 

applicable to motor vehicle and other insurance coverages, and 1635 

other information relevant to the reasonableness of the charges 1636 

for the service, treatment, supply, or care. 1637 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì344314|Î344314 

 

Page 58 of 146 

2/27/2012 3:22:20 PM 576-04091A-12 

1. If a health care provider or entity bills an insurer an 1638 

amount less than that indicated in the following schedule of 1639 

maximum charges and the insurer pays the amount billed, the 1640 

payment shall be considered reasonable. A payment made by an 1641 

insurer that limits reimbursement to 80 percent of the following 1642 

schedule of maximum charges is considered reasonable: 1643 

a. For emergency transport and treatment by providers 1644 

licensed under chapter 401, 200 percent of Medicare charges. 1645 

b. For emergency services and care provided by a hospital, 1646 

75 percent of the hospital’s usual and customary charges. 1647 

c. For emergency services and care provided in a hospital 1648 

and rendered by a physician or dentist, and related hospital 1649 

inpatient services rendered by a physician or dentist, the usual 1650 

and customary charges in the community. 1651 

d. For hospital inpatient services, other than emergency 1652 

services and care, 200 percent of the Medicare Part A 1653 

prospective payment applicable to the specific hospital 1654 

providing the inpatient services. 1655 

e. For hospital outpatient services, other than emergency 1656 

services and care, 200 percent of the Medicare Part A Ambulatory 1657 

Payment Classification for the specific hospital providing the 1658 

outpatient services. 1659 

f. For all other medical services, treatment, supplies, and 1660 

care, 200 percent of the allowable amount under: 1661 

(I) The participating physicians fee schedule of Medicare 1662 

Part B. 1663 

(II) For medical services, treatment, supplies, and care 1664 

provided by clinical laboratories, Medicare Part B. 1665 

(III) For durable medical equipment, the Durable Medical 1666 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì344314|Î344314 

 

Page 59 of 146 

2/27/2012 3:22:20 PM 576-04091A-12 

Equipment Prosthetics/Orthortics & Supplies (DMEPOS) fee 1667 

schedule of Medicare Part B. 1668 

 1669 

However, if such services, treatment, supplies, or care is not 1670 

reimbursable under Medicare Part B as provided in this sub-1671 

subparagraph, the insurer may limit reimbursement to 80 percent 1672 

of the maximum reimbursable allowance under workers’ 1673 

compensation, as determined under s. 440.13 and rules adopted 1674 

thereunder which are in effect at the time such services, 1675 

treatment, supplies, or care is provided. Services, treatment, 1676 

supplies, or care that is not reimbursable under Medicare or 1677 

workers’ compensation is not required to be reimbursed by the 1678 

insurer. 1679 

2. For purposes of subparagraph 1., the applicable fee 1680 

schedule or payment limitation under Medicare is the fee 1681 

schedule or payment limitation that was in effect on March 1 of 1682 

the year and for the area in which the services, treatment, 1683 

supplies, or care was rendered, and applies until March 1 of the 1684 

following year, notwithstanding subsequent changes made to such 1685 

fee schedule or payment limitation, except that it may not be 1686 

less than the allowable amount under the participating 1687 

physicians schedule of Medicare Part B for 2007 for medical 1688 

services, treatment, supplies, and care subject to Medicare Part 1689 

B. 1690 

3. Subparagraph 1. does not allow the insurer to apply any 1691 

limitation on the number of treatments or other utilization 1692 

limits that apply under Medicare or workers’ compensation. An 1693 

insurer that applies the allowable payment limitations of 1694 

subparagraph 1. must reimburse a provider who lawfully provided 1695 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì344314|Î344314 

 

Page 60 of 146 

2/27/2012 3:22:20 PM 576-04091A-12 

care or treatment under the scope of her or his license 1696 

regardless of whether such provider is entitled to reimbursement 1697 

under Medicare due to restrictions or limitations on the types 1698 

or discipline of health care providers who may be reimbursed for 1699 

particular procedures or procedure codes. However, subparagraph 1700 

1. does not prohibit an insurer from using the Medicare coding 1701 

policies and payment methodologies of the Centers for Medicare 1702 

and Medicaid Services, including applicable modifiers, to 1703 

determine the appropriate amount of reimbursement. 1704 

4. If an insurer limits payment as authorized by 1705 

subparagraph 1., the person providing such services, treatment, 1706 

supplies, or care may not bill or attempt to collect from the 1707 

insured any amount in excess of such limits, except for amounts 1708 

that are not covered by the insured’s emergency care coverage 1709 

insurance due to the coinsurance amount or maximum policy 1710 

limits. 1711 

(b) An insurer or insured is not required to pay a claim or 1712 

charges: 1713 

1. Made by a broker or by a person making a claim on behalf 1714 

of a broker; 1715 

2. For any service or treatment that was not lawful at the 1716 

time rendered; 1717 

3. To any person who knowingly submits a false material 1718 

statement relating to the claim or charges; 1719 

4. With respect to a bill or statement that does not 1720 

substantially meet the applicable requirements of paragraph (d); 1721 

5. For any treatment or service that is upcoded, or that is 1722 

unbundled when such treatment or services should be bundled, in 1723 

accordance with paragraph (e). To facilitate prompt payment of 1724 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì344314|Î344314 

 

Page 61 of 146 

2/27/2012 3:22:20 PM 576-04091A-12 

lawful services, an insurer may change billing codes that it 1725 

determines have been improperly or incorrectly upcoded or 1726 

unbundled and may make payment based on the changed billing 1727 

codes without affecting the right of the provider to dispute the 1728 

change by the insurer. However, before doing that, the insurer 1729 

must contact the health care provider and discuss the reasons 1730 

for the insurer’s change and the health care provider’s reason 1731 

for the coding or make a reasonable good faith effort to do so 1732 

as documented in the insurer’s file; or 1733 

6. For medical services or treatment billed by a physician 1734 

and not provided in a hospital unless such services are rendered 1735 

by the physician or are incident to her or his professional 1736 

services and included on the physician’s bill, including 1737 

documentation verifying that the physician is responsible for 1738 

the medical services that were rendered and billed. 1739 

(c) The Department of Health, in consultation with the 1740 

appropriate professional licensing boards, shall adopt by rule a 1741 

list of diagnostic tests deemed not to be medically necessary 1742 

for use in the treatment of persons sustaining bodily injury 1743 

covered by emergency care coverage benefits under this section. 1744 

The list shall be revised from time to time as determined by the 1745 

Department of Health in consultation with the respective 1746 

professional licensing boards. Inclusion of a test on the list 1747 

shall be based on lack of demonstrated medical value and a level 1748 

of general acceptance by the relevant provider community and may 1749 

not be dependent entirely upon subjective patient response. 1750 

Notwithstanding its inclusion on a fee schedule in this 1751 

subsection, an insurer or insured is not required to pay any 1752 

charges or reimburse claims for any diagnostic test deemed not 1753 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì344314|Î344314 

 

Page 62 of 146 

2/27/2012 3:22:20 PM 576-04091A-12 

medically necessary by the Department of Health. 1754 

(d) With respect to any treatment or service, other than 1755 

medical services billed by a hospital or other provider for 1756 

emergency services and care or inpatient services rendered at a 1757 

hospital-owned facility, the statement of charges must be 1758 

furnished to the insurer by the provider and may not include, 1759 

and the insurer is not required to pay, charges for treatment or 1760 

services rendered more than 35 days before the postmark date or 1761 

electronic transmission date of the statement, except for past 1762 

due amounts previously billed on a timely basis under this 1763 

paragraph. However, if the provider submits to the insurer a 1764 

notice of initiation of treatment within 21 days after its first 1765 

examination or treatment of the claimant, the statement may 1766 

include charges for treatment or services rendered up to, but 1767 

not more than, 75 days before the postmark date of the 1768 

statement. The injured party is not liable for, and the provider 1769 

may not bill the injured party for, charges that are unpaid 1770 

because of the provider’s failure to comply with this paragraph. 1771 

Any agreement requiring the injured person or insured to pay for 1772 

such charges is unenforceable. 1773 

1. If the insured fails to furnish the provider with the 1774 

correct name and address of the insured’s emergency care 1775 

coverage insurer, the provider has 35 days after the date the 1776 

provider obtains the correct information to furnish the insurer 1777 

with a statement of the charges. The insurer is not required to 1778 

pay for such charges unless the provider includes with the 1779 

statement documentary evidence that was provided by the insured 1780 

during the 35-day period which demonstrates that the provider 1781 

reasonably relied on erroneous information from the insured and: 1782 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì344314|Î344314 

 

Page 63 of 146 

2/27/2012 3:22:20 PM 576-04091A-12 

a. A denial letter from the incorrect insurer; or 1783 

b. Proof of mailing, which may include an affidavit under 1784 

penalty of perjury reflecting timely mailing to the incorrect 1785 

address or insurer. 1786 

2. For emergency services and care rendered in a hospital 1787 

emergency department or for transport and treatment rendered by 1788 

an ambulance provider licensed pursuant to part III of chapter 1789 

401, the provider is not required to furnish the statement of 1790 

charges within the time period established by this paragraph, 1791 

and the insurer is not considered to have been furnished with 1792 

notice of the amount of the covered loss for purposes of 1793 

paragraph (4)(f) until it receives a statement complying with 1794 

paragraph (e), or a copy thereof, which specifically identifies 1795 

the place of service as a hospital emergency department or an 1796 

ambulance in accordance with billing standards recognized by the 1797 

federal Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services. 1798 

3. Each notice of the insured’s rights under s. 627.7488 1799 

must include the following statement in at least 12-point type: 1800 

 1801 

BILLING REQUIREMENTS.—Florida law provides that with 1802 

respect to any treatment or services, other than 1803 

certain hospital and emergency services, the statement 1804 

of charges furnished to the insurer by the provider 1805 

may not include, and the insurer and the injured party 1806 

are not required to pay, charges for treatment or 1807 

services rendered more than 35 days before the 1808 

postmark date of the statement, except for past due 1809 

amounts previously billed on a timely basis, and 1810 

except that, if the provider submits to the insurer a 1811 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì344314|Î344314 

 

Page 64 of 146 

2/27/2012 3:22:20 PM 576-04091A-12 

notice of initiation of treatment within 21 days after 1812 

its first examination or treatment of the claimant, 1813 

the statement may include charges for treatment or 1814 

services rendered up to, but not more than, 75 days 1815 

before the postmark date of the statement. 1816 

 1817 

(e) All statements and bills for medical services rendered 1818 

by a physician, hospital, clinic, or other person or institution 1819 

shall be submitted to the insurer on a properly completed 1820 

Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services (CMS) 1500 form, UB 1821 

92 form, or any other standard form approved by the office or 1822 

adopted by the commission for purposes of this paragraph. All 1823 

billings for such services rendered by providers must, to the 1824 

extent applicable, follow the Physicians’ Current Procedural 1825 

Terminology (CPT) or Healthcare Correct Procedural Coding System 1826 

(HCPCS), or ICD-9 in effect for the year in which services are 1827 

rendered and comply with the CMS 1500 form instructions, the 1828 

American Medical Association CPT Editorial Panel and the HCPCS. 1829 

All providers, other than hospitals, must include on the 1830 

applicable claim form the professional license number of the 1831 

provider in the line or space provided for “Signature of 1832 

Physician or Supplier, Including Degrees or Credentials.” In 1833 

determining compliance with applicable CPT and HCPCS coding, 1834 

guidance shall be provided by the CPT or HCPCS in effect for the 1835 

year in which services were rendered, the Office of the 1836 

Inspector General, Physicians Compliance Guidelines, and other 1837 

authoritative treatises designated by rule by the Agency for 1838 

Health Care Administration. A statement of medical services may 1839 

not include charges for the medical services of a person or 1840 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì344314|Î344314 

 

Page 65 of 146 

2/27/2012 3:22:20 PM 576-04091A-12 

entity that performed such services without possessing the valid 1841 

licenses required to perform such services. For purposes of 1842 

paragraph (4)(f), an insurer is not considered to have been 1843 

furnished with notice of the amount of the covered loss or 1844 

medical bills due unless the statements or bills comply with 1845 

this paragraph and are properly completed in their entirety as 1846 

to all material provisions, with all relevant information being 1847 

provided therein. 1848 

(f)1. At the time the initial treatment or service is 1849 

provided, each physician, licensed professional, clinic, or 1850 

medical institution providing medical services upon which a 1851 

claim for benefits is based shall require an insured person or 1852 

her or his guardian to execute a disclosure and acknowledgment 1853 

form that reflects at a minimum that: 1854 

a. The insured or her or his guardian must countersign the 1855 

form attesting to the fact that the services set forth in the 1856 

form were actually rendered. 1857 

b. The insured or her or his guardian has both the right 1858 

and the affirmative duty to confirm that the services were 1859 

actually rendered. 1860 

c. The insured or her or his guardian was not solicited by 1861 

any person to seek any services from the medical provider. 1862 

d. The physician, other licensed professional, clinic, or 1863 

other medical institution rendering services for which payment 1864 

is being claimed explained the services to the insured or her or 1865 

his guardian. 1866 

e. If the insured notifies the insurer in writing of a 1867 

billing error, the insured may be entitled to a certain 1868 

percentage of any reduction in the amounts paid by the insured’s 1869 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì344314|Î344314 

 

Page 66 of 146 

2/27/2012 3:22:20 PM 576-04091A-12 

motor vehicle insurer. 1870 

2. The physician, other licensed professional, clinic, or 1871 

other medical institution rendering services for which payment 1872 

is being claimed has the affirmative duty to explain the 1873 

services rendered to the insured or her or his guardian so that 1874 

the insured or her or his guardian countersigns the form with 1875 

informed consent. 1876 

3. Countersignature by the insured or her or his guardian 1877 

is not required for the reading of diagnostic tests or other 1878 

services that are not required to be performed in the presence 1879 

of the insured. 1880 

4. The licensed medical professional rendering treatment 1881 

for which payment is being claimed must, by her or his own hand, 1882 

sign the form complying with this paragraph. 1883 

5. The completed original disclosure and acknowledgment 1884 

form shall be furnished to the insurer pursuant to paragraph 1885 

(4)(f) and may not be electronically furnished. 1886 

6. The disclosure and acknowledgment form is not required 1887 

for services billed by a provider for emergency services and 1888 

care rendered in a hospital emergency department or for 1889 

transport and treatment rendered by an ambulance provider 1890 

licensed pursuant to part III of chapter 401. 1891 

7. The Financial Services Commission shall adopt a standard 1892 

disclosure and acknowledgment form by rule to fulfill the 1893 

requirements of this paragraph. 1894 

8. As used in this paragraph, the term “countersign” or 1895 

“countersignature” means bearing a second or verifying 1896 

signature, as on a previously signed document, and is not 1897 

satisfied by the statement “signature on file” or similar 1898 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì344314|Î344314 

 

Page 67 of 146 

2/27/2012 3:22:20 PM 576-04091A-12 

statement. 1899 

9. This paragraph applies only with respect to the initial 1900 

treatment or service of the insured by a provider. For 1901 

subsequent treatments or service, the provider must maintain a 1902 

patient log signed by the patient, in chronological order by 1903 

date of service, which is consistent with the services being 1904 

rendered to the patient as claimed. The requirement to maintain 1905 

a patient log signed by the patient may be met by a hospital 1906 

that maintains medical records as required by s. 395.3025 and 1907 

applicable rules and makes such records available to the insurer 1908 

upon request. 1909 

(g) Upon written notification by any person, an insurer 1910 

shall investigate any claim of improper billing by a physician 1911 

or other medical provider. The insurer shall determine whether 1912 

the insured was properly billed for only those services and 1913 

treatments that the insured actually received. If the insurer 1914 

determines that the insured has been improperly billed, the 1915 

insurer shall notify the insured, the person making the written 1916 

notification, and the provider of its findings and reduce the 1917 

amount of payment to the provider by the amount determined to be 1918 

improperly billed. If a reduction is made due to a written 1919 

notification by any person, the insurer shall pay to that person 1920 

20 percent of the amount of the reduction, up to $500. If the 1921 

provider is arrested due to the improper billing, the insurer 1922 

shall pay to that person 40 percent of the amount of the 1923 

reduction, up to $500. 1924 

(h) An insurer may not systematically downcode with the 1925 

intent to deny reimbursement otherwise due. Such action 1926 

constitutes a material misrepresentation under s. 1927 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì344314|Î344314 

 

Page 68 of 146 

2/27/2012 3:22:20 PM 576-04091A-12 

626.9541(1)(i)2. 1928 

(6) DISCOVERY OF FACTS ABOUT AN INJURED PERSON; DISPUTES.— 1929 

(a) In all circumstances, an insured seeking under ss. 1930 

627.748-627.7491, including omnibus insureds, must comply with 1931 

the terms of the policy. Compliance with this paragraph is a 1932 

condition precedent to the insured’s recovering of benefits, 1933 

except that an insured may not be required to submit to an 1934 

examination under oath. If a request is made by an insurer 1935 

providing emergency care coverage against whom a claim has been 1936 

made, an employer must furnish a sworn statement, in a form 1937 

approved by the office, of the earnings of the person upon whose 1938 

injury the claim is based since the time of the bodily injury 1939 

and for a reasonable period before the injury. 1940 

(b) If an insured seeking to recover benefits pursuant to 1941 

ss. 627.748-627.7491 assigns the contractual right to such 1942 

benefits or payment of such benefits to any person or entity, 1943 

the assignee must comply with the terms of the policy. In all 1944 

circumstances, the assignee is obligated to cooperate under the 1945 

policy, except that an assignee may not be required to submit to 1946 

an examination under oath. 1947 

(c) All claimants must produce and allow for the inspection 1948 

of all documents requested by the insurer which are relevant to 1949 

the services rendered and reasonably obtainable by the claimant. 1950 

(d) Each physician, hospital, clinic, or other medical 1951 

institution providing, before or after bodily injury upon which 1952 

a claim for emergency care coverage is based, any products, 1953 

services, or accommodations relating to that or any other 1954 

injury, or to a condition claimed to be connected with that or 1955 

any other injury, shall, if requested by the insurer against 1956 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì344314|Î344314 

 

Page 69 of 146 

2/27/2012 3:22:20 PM 576-04091A-12 

whom the claim has been made, permit the insurer or the 1957 

insurer’s representative to conduct, within 10 days after the 1958 

insurer’s request, an onsite physical review and examination of 1959 

the treatment location, treatment apparatuses, diagnostic 1960 

devices, and any other medical equipment used for the services 1961 

rendered, and shall furnish a written report of the history, 1962 

condition, treatment, dates, and costs of such treatment of the 1963 

injured person and why the items identified by the insurer were 1964 

reasonable in amount and medically necessary. The report shall 1965 

be furnished with a sworn statement that the treatment or 1966 

services rendered were reasonable and necessary with respect to 1967 

the bodily injury sustained and must identify which portion of 1968 

the expenses for the treatment or services was incurred as a 1969 

result of the bodily injury. The physician, hospital, clinic, or 1970 

other medical institution shall also permit the inspection and 1971 

copying of any records regarding such history, condition, 1972 

treatment, dates, and costs of treatment; however, this does not 1973 

limit the introduction of evidence at trial. The sworn statement 1974 

must read as follows: “Under penalty of perjury, I declare that 1975 

I have read the foregoing, and the facts alleged are true to the 1976 

best of my knowledge and belief.” 1977 

 1978 

A cause of action for violation of the physician-patient 1979 

privilege or invasion of the right of privacy is prohibited 1980 

against any physician, hospital, clinic, or other medical 1981 

institution complying with this paragraph. The person requesting 1982 

such records and sworn statement shall pay all reasonable costs 1983 

connected therewith. If an insurer makes a written request for 1984 

documentation or information within 30 days after having 1985 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì344314|Î344314 

 

Page 70 of 146 

2/27/2012 3:22:20 PM 576-04091A-12 

received notice of the amount of a covered loss under paragraph 1986 

(4)(f), the amount or the partial amount that is the subject of 1987 

the insurer’s inquiry is overdue if the insurer does not pay in 1988 

accordance with paragraph (4)(f) or within 10 days after the 1989 

insurer’s receipt of the requested documentation or information, 1990 

whichever occurs later. As used in this paragraph, the term 1991 

“receipt” includes, but is not limited to, inspection and 1992 

copying pursuant to this paragraph. An insurer that requests 1993 

documentation or information pertaining to the reasonableness of 1994 

charges or medical necessity without a reasonable basis for such 1995 

requests as a general business practice is engaging in an unfair 1996 

trade practice under the insurance code. Section 626.989(4)(d) 1997 

applies to the sharing of information related to reviews and 1998 

examinations conducted pursuant to this section. 1999 

(e) If there is a dispute regarding an insurer’s right to 2000 

discovery of facts under this section, the insurer may petition 2001 

the court to enter an order permitting such discovery. The order 2002 

may be made only on motion for good cause shown and upon notice 2003 

to all persons having an interest, and must specify the time, 2004 

place, manner, conditions, and scope of the discovery. The court 2005 

may, in order to protect against annoyance, embarrassment, or 2006 

oppression, as justice requires, enter an order refusing 2007 

discovery or specifying conditions of discovery and may order 2008 

payments of costs and expenses of the proceeding, including 2009 

reasonable fees for the appearance of attorneys at the 2010 

proceedings, as justice requires. 2011 

(f) Upon request, the injured person shall be furnished a 2012 

copy of all information obtained by the insurer under this 2013 

section and shall pay a reasonable charge if required by the 2014 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì344314|Î344314 

 

Page 71 of 146 

2/27/2012 3:22:20 PM 576-04091A-12 

insurer. 2015 

(g) Notice to an insurer of the existence of a claim may 2016 

not be unreasonably withheld by an insured. 2017 

(7) MENTAL AND PHYSICAL EXAMINATION OF INJURED PERSON; 2018 

REPORTS.—If the mental or physical condition of an injured 2019 

person covered by emergency care coverage is material to a claim 2020 

that has been or may be made for past or future benefits under 2021 

such coverage, upon the request of an insurer, such person must 2022 

submit to mental or physical examination by a physician. The 2023 

costs of such examination shall be borne entirely by the 2024 

insurer. The insurer may include reasonable provisions in 2025 

emergency care coverage insurance policies for the mental and 2026 

physical examination of those claiming benefits under the 2027 

policy. 2028 

(a) The examination must be conducted within the 2029 

municipality where the insured is receiving treatment, or in a 2030 

location reasonably accessible to the insured, which means any 2031 

location within the municipality in which the insured resides, 2032 

or within 10 miles by road of the insured’s residence if such 2033 

location is within the county in which the insured resides. If 2034 

the examination is to be conducted in a location reasonably 2035 

accessible to the insured but there is no qualified physician to 2036 

conduct the examination in such location, the examination shall 2037 

be conducted in an area that is in the closest proximity to the 2038 

insured’s residence. 2039 

(b) An insurer may not withdraw payment from a treating 2040 

physician without the consent of the injured person covered by 2041 

the policy unless the insurer first obtains a valid report by a 2042 

Florida physician licensed under the same chapter as the 2043 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì344314|Î344314 

 

Page 72 of 146 

2/27/2012 3:22:20 PM 576-04091A-12 

treating physician stating that treatment was not reasonable, 2044 

related, or necessary. A valid report is one that is prepared 2045 

and signed by the physician examining the injured person or who 2046 

reviewed the treatment records of the injured person, is 2047 

factually supported by the examination or treatment records 2048 

reviewed, and that has not been modified by anyone other than 2049 

the reviewing physician. The physician preparing the report must 2050 

be in active practice, unless he or she is physically disabled. 2051 

“Active practice” means that during the 3 years immediately 2052 

preceding the date of the physical examination or review of 2053 

treatment records, the physician devoted professional time to 2054 

the active clinical practice of evaluation, diagnosis, or 2055 

treatment of medical conditions or to the instruction of 2056 

students in an accredited health professional school, accredited 2057 

residency program, or a clinical research program that is 2058 

affiliated with an accredited health professional school, 2059 

teaching hospital, or accredited residency program. The insurer 2060 

and any person acting at the direction of or on behalf of the 2061 

insurer may not materially change an opinion in a report 2062 

prepared under this paragraph or direct the physician preparing 2063 

the report to change such opinion. The denial of a payment 2064 

resulting from a changed opinion constitutes a material 2065 

misrepresentation under s. 626.9541(1)(i)2. This provision does 2066 

not preclude the insurer from calling to the physician’s 2067 

attention any errors of fact in the report based upon 2068 

information in the claim file. 2069 

(c) If requested by the person examined, a party causing an 2070 

examination to be made must deliver a copy of every written 2071 

report concerning a examination rendered by an examining 2072 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì344314|Î344314 

 

Page 73 of 146 

2/27/2012 3:22:20 PM 576-04091A-12 

physician to the person examined, at least one of which must set 2073 

out the examining physician’s findings and conclusions in 2074 

detail. After such request and delivery, the party causing the 2075 

examination to be made is entitled, upon request, to receive 2076 

from the person examined every written report available to him 2077 

or her or his or her representative concerning any examination, 2078 

previously or thereafter made, of the same mental or physical 2079 

condition. By requesting and obtaining a report of the 2080 

examination so ordered, or by taking the deposition of the 2081 

examiner, the person examined waives any privilege he or she may 2082 

have, relating to the claim for benefits, regarding the 2083 

testimony of every other person who has examined, or may 2084 

thereafter examine, him or her with respect to the same mental 2085 

or physical condition. 2086 

(d) The physician preparing a report at the request of an 2087 

insurer and physicians rendering expert opinions on behalf of 2088 

persons claiming medical benefits for emergency care coverage, 2089 

or on behalf of an insured through an attorney or another 2090 

entity, must maintain copies of all examination reports as 2091 

medical records and all payments for the examinations and 2092 

reports for at least 3 years. 2093 

(e) If a person unreasonably refuses to submit to an 2094 

examination or fails to appear for an examination, the insurer 2095 

is no longer liable for subsequent emergency care benefits. 2096 

Refusal or failure to appear for two examinations raises a 2097 

rebuttable presumption that such refusal or failure was 2098 

unreasonable. 2099 

(8) DEMAND LETTER.— 2100 

(a) As a condition precedent to filing an action for 2101 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì344314|Î344314 

 

Page 74 of 146 

2/27/2012 3:22:20 PM 576-04091A-12 

benefits under this section, the insurer must be provided with 2102 

written notice of an intent to initiate litigation. Such notice 2103 

may not be sent until the claim is overdue, including any 2104 

additional time the insurer has to pay the claim pursuant to 2105 

subsection (4). 2106 

(b) The notice required must state that it is a “demand 2107 

letter under s. 627.7485(8), F.S.,” and state with specificity: 2108 

1. The name of the insured upon whom such benefits are 2109 

being sought, including a copy of the assignment giving rights 2110 

to the claimant if the claimant is not the insured. 2111 

2. The claim number or policy number upon which such claim 2112 

was originally submitted to the insurer. 2113 

3. To the extent applicable, the name of any medical 2114 

provider who rendered the treatment, services, accommodations, 2115 

or supplies to an insured which form the basis of such claim and 2116 

an itemized statement specifying each exact amount, the date of 2117 

treatment, service, or accommodation, and the type of benefit 2118 

claimed to be due. A completed form satisfying the requirements 2119 

of paragraph (5)(e) or the lost-wage statement previously 2120 

submitted may be used as the itemized statement. If the demand 2121 

involves an insurer’s withdrawal of payment under paragraph 2122 

(7)(b) for future treatment not yet rendered, the claimant shall 2123 

attach a copy of the insurer’s notice withdrawing such payment 2124 

and an itemized statement of the type, frequency, and duration 2125 

of future treatment claimed to be reasonable and medically 2126 

necessary. 2127 

(c) Each notice required by this subsection must be 2128 

delivered to the insurer by United States certified or 2129 

registered mail, return receipt requested. If requested by the 2130 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì344314|Î344314 

 

Page 75 of 146 

2/27/2012 3:22:20 PM 576-04091A-12 

claimant in the notice, such postal costs shall be reimbursed by 2131 

the insurer when the insurer pays the claim. The notice must be 2132 

sent to the person and address specified by the insurer for the 2133 

purposes of receiving notices under this subsection. Each 2134 

licensed insurer, whether domestic, foreign, or alien, shall 2135 

file with the office the name and address of the person to whom 2136 

notices pursuant to this subsection are sent, which the office 2137 

shall make available on its website. The name and address on 2138 

file with the office pursuant to s. 624.422 shall be deemed the 2139 

authorized representative to accept notice pursuant to this 2140 

subsection if no other designation has been made. 2141 

(d) If the overdue claim specified in the notice is paid by 2142 

the insurer within 30 days after receipt of notice by the 2143 

insurer, plus applicable interest and a penalty of 10 percent of 2144 

the overdue amount, subject to a maximum penalty of $250, no 2145 

action may be brought against the insurer. If the demand 2146 

involves an insurer’s withdrawal of payment under paragraph 2147 

(7)(b) for future treatment not yet rendered, no action may be 2148 

brought against the insurer if, within 30 days after receipt of 2149 

the notice, the insurer mails to the person filing the notice a 2150 

written statement of the insurer’s agreement to pay for such 2151 

treatment in accordance with the notice and to pay a penalty of 2152 

10 percent, subject to a maximum penalty of $250, when it pays 2153 

for such future treatment in accordance with the requirements of 2154 

this section. To the extent the insurer determines not to pay 2155 

any amount demanded, the penalty is not payable in any 2156 

subsequent action. For purposes of this paragraph, payment or 2157 

the insurer’s agreement are considered made on the date a draft 2158 

or other valid instrument that is equivalent to payment, or the 2159 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì344314|Î344314 

 

Page 76 of 146 

2/27/2012 3:22:20 PM 576-04091A-12 

insurer’s written statement of agreement, is placed in the 2160 

United States mail in a properly addressed, postpaid envelope, 2161 

or if not so posted, on the date of delivery. The insurer is not 2162 

obligated to pay any attorney fees if the insurer pays the claim 2163 

or mails its agreement to pay for future treatment within the 2164 

time prescribed by this paragraph. 2165 

(e) The applicable statute of limitation for an action 2166 

under this section shall be tolled for 30 business days by the 2167 

mailing of the notice required by this subsection. 2168 

(f) Any insurer making a general business practice of not 2169 

paying valid claims until receipt of the notice required by this 2170 

subsection is engaging in an unfair trade practice under the 2171 

insurance code. 2172 

(9) FAILURE TO PAY VALID CLAIMS; UNFAIR OR DECEPTIVE 2173 

PRACTICE.— 2174 

(a) If an insurer fails to pay valid claims for emergency 2175 

care coverage with such frequency as to indicate a general 2176 

business practice, the insurer is engaging in a prohibited 2177 

unfair or deceptive practice subject to the penalties provided 2178 

in s. 626.9521, and the office has the powers and duties 2179 

specified in ss. 626.9561-626.9601 with respect thereto. 2180 

(b) Notwithstanding s. 501.212, the Department of Legal 2181 

Affairs may investigate and initiate actions for a violation of 2182 

this subsection, including, but not limited to, the powers and 2183 

duties specified in part II of chapter 501. 2184 

(10) CIVIL ACTION FOR INSURANCE FRAUD.—An insurer shall 2185 

have a cause of action against any person convicted of, or who, 2186 

regardless of adjudication of guilt, pleads guilty or nolo 2187 

contendere to, insurance fraud under s. 817.234, patient 2188 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì344314|Î344314 

 

Page 77 of 146 

2/27/2012 3:22:20 PM 576-04091A-12 

brokering under s. 817.505, or kickbacks under s. 456.054, 2189 

associated with a claim for emergency care coverage in 2190 

accordance with this section. An insurer prevailing in an action 2191 

brought under this subsection may recover compensatory, 2192 

consequential, and punitive damages subject to the requirements 2193 

and limitations of part II of chapter 768 and attorney fees and 2194 

costs incurred in litigating the cause of action. 2195 

(11) FRAUD ADVISORY NOTICE.—Upon receiving notice of a 2196 

claim under this section, an insurer shall provide a notice to 2197 

the insured or to a person for whom a claim for reimbursement 2198 

for diagnosis or treatment of injuries has been filed advising 2199 

that: 2200 

(a) Pursuant to s. 626.9892, the Department of Financial 2201 

Services may pay rewards of up to $25,000 to persons providing 2202 

information leading to the arrest and conviction of persons 2203 

committing crimes investigated by the Division of Insurance 2204 

Fraud arising from violations of s. 440.105, s. 624.15, s. 2205 

626.9541, s. 626.989, or s. 817.234. 2206 

(b) Solicitation of a person injured in a motor vehicle 2207 

crash for purposes of filing emergency care coverage or tort 2208 

claims could be a violation of s. 817.234 or s. 817.505 or the 2209 

rules regulating The Florida Bar and, if such conduct has taken 2210 

place, should be immediately reported to the Division of 2211 

Insurance Fraud. 2212 

(12) ALL CLAIMS BROUGHT IN A SINGLE ACTION.—In any civil 2213 

action to recover emergency care coverage brought by a claimant 2214 

pursuant to this section against an insurer, all claims related 2215 

to the same health care provider for the same injured person 2216 

shall be brought in one action unless good cause is shown why 2217 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì344314|Î344314 

 

Page 78 of 146 

2/27/2012 3:22:20 PM 576-04091A-12 

such claims should be brought separately. If the court 2218 

determines that a civil action is filed for a claim that should 2219 

have been brought in a prior civil action, the court may not 2220 

award attorney fees to the claimant. 2221 

(13) SECURE ELECTRONIC DATA TRANSFER.—A notice, 2222 

documentation, transmission, or communication of any kind 2223 

required or authorized under ss. 627.748-627.7491 may be 2224 

transmitted electronically if it is transmitted by secure 2225 

electronic data transfer that is consistent with state and 2226 

federal privacy and security laws. 2227 

Section 16. Section 627.7486, Florida Statutes, is created 2228 

to read: 2229 

627.7486 Tort exemption; limitation on right to damages; 2230 

punitive damages.— 2231 

(1) Every owner, registrant, operator, or occupant of a 2232 

motor vehicle for which security has been provided as required 2233 

by ss. 627.748-627.7491, and every person or organization 2234 

legally responsible for her or his acts or omissions, is exempt 2235 

from tort liability for damages because of bodily injury, 2236 

sickness, or disease arising out of the ownership, operation, 2237 

maintenance, or use of such motor vehicle in this state to the 2238 

extent that the benefits described in s. 627.7485(1) are payable 2239 

for such injury, or would be payable but for any exclusion 2240 

authorized by ss. 627.748-627.7491, under any insurance policy 2241 

or other method of security complying with s. 627.7483, or by an 2242 

owner personally liable under s. 627.7483 for the payment of 2243 

such benefits, unless the person is entitled to maintain an 2244 

action for pain, suffering, mental anguish, and inconvenience 2245 

for such injury under subsection (2). 2246 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì344314|Î344314 

 

Page 79 of 146 

2/27/2012 3:22:20 PM 576-04091A-12 

(2) In any action of tort brought against the owner, 2247 

registrant, operator, or occupant of a motor vehicle for which 2248 

security has been provided as required by ss. 627.748-627.7491, 2249 

or against any person or organization legally responsible for 2250 

her or his acts or omissions, a plaintiff may recover damages in 2251 

tort for pain, suffering, mental anguish, and inconvenience 2252 

because of bodily injury, sickness, or disease arising out of 2253 

the ownership, maintenance, operation, or use of such motor 2254 

vehicle only if the injury or disease consists in whole or in 2255 

part of: 2256 

(a) Significant and permanent loss of an important bodily 2257 

function; 2258 

(b) Permanent injury within a reasonable degree of medical 2259 

probability, other than scarring or disfigurement; 2260 

(c) Significant and permanent scarring or disfigurement; or 2261 

(d) Death. 2262 

(3) If a defendant in a proceeding brought pursuant to ss. 2263 

627.748-627.7491 questions whether the plaintiff has met the 2264 

requirements of subsection (2), the defendant may file an 2265 

appropriate motion with the court, and the court, 30 days before 2266 

the date set for the trial or the pretrial hearing, whichever is 2267 

first, shall, on a one-time basis only, ascertain by examining 2268 

the pleadings and the evidence before it whether the plaintiff 2269 

will be able to submit some evidence that the plaintiff will 2270 

meet the requirements of subsection (2). If the court finds that 2271 

the plaintiff will not be able to submit such evidence, the 2272 

court shall dismiss the plaintiff’s claim without prejudice. 2273 

(4) A claim for punitive damages is not allowed in any 2274 

action brought against a motor vehicle liability insurer for 2275 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì344314|Î344314 

 

Page 80 of 146 

2/27/2012 3:22:20 PM 576-04091A-12 

damages in excess of its policy limits. 2276 

Section 17. Section 627.7487, Florida Statutes, is created 2277 

to read: 2278 

627.7487 Emergency care coverage; optional limitations; 2279 

deductibles.— 2280 

(1) The named insured may elect a deductible or modified 2281 

coverage or combination thereof to apply to the named insured 2282 

alone or to the named insured and dependent relatives residing 2283 

in the insured’s household but may not elect a deductible or 2284 

modified coverage to apply to any other person covered under the 2285 

policy. 2286 

(2) Upon the renewal of an existing policy, an insurer 2287 

shall offer deductibles of $250, $500, and $1,000 to each 2288 

applicant and to each policyholder. The deductible amount must 2289 

be applied to 100 percent of the expenses and losses described 2290 

in s. 627.7485. After the deductible is met, each insured may 2291 

receive up to $10,000 in total benefits as described in s. 2292 

627.7485(1). However, this subsection may not be applied to 2293 

reduce the amount of any benefits received in accordance with s. 2294 

627.7485(1)(c). 2295 

(3) An insurer shall offer coverage where, at the election 2296 

of the named insured, the benefits for loss of gross income and 2297 

loss of earning capacity described in s. 627.7485(1)(b) are 2298 

excluded. 2299 

(4) The named insured may not be prevented from electing a 2300 

deductible under subsection (2) and modified coverage under 2301 

subsection (3). Each election made by the named insured under 2302 

this section must result in an appropriate reduction of premium 2303 

associated with that election. 2304 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì344314|Î344314 

 

Page 81 of 146 

2/27/2012 3:22:20 PM 576-04091A-12 

(5) All such offers must be made in clear and unambiguous 2305 

language at the time the initial application is taken and before 2306 

each annual renewal and indicate that a premium reduction will 2307 

result from each election. At the option of the insurer, such 2308 

requirement may be met by using forms of notice approved by the 2309 

office or by providing the following notice in 10-point type in 2310 

the insurer’s application for initial issuance of a policy of 2311 

motor vehicle insurance and the insurer’s annual notice of 2312 

renewal premium: 2313 

 2314 

For emergency care coverage insurance, the named insured may 2315 

elect a deductible and may choose to exclude coverage for loss 2316 

of gross income and loss of earning capacity (“lost wages”). 2317 

This selection and choice apply to the named insured alone, or 2318 

to the named insured and all dependent resident relatives. A 2319 

premium reduction will result from these elections. The named 2320 

insured is hereby advised not to elect the lost wage exclusion 2321 

if the named insured or dependent resident relatives are 2322 

employed, since lost wages will not be payable in the event of 2323 

an accident. 2324 

Section 18. Section 627.7488, Florida Statutes, is created 2325 

to read: 2326 

627.7488 Notice of insured’s rights.— 2327 

(1) The commission shall adopt by rule a form for notifying 2328 

insureds of their right to receive coverage under the Florida 2329 

Motor Vehicle No-Fault Emergency Care Coverage Law. Such notice 2330 

must include: 2331 

(a) A description of the benefits provided, including, but 2332 

not limited to, the specific types of services for which medical 2333 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì344314|Î344314 

 

Page 82 of 146 

2/27/2012 3:22:20 PM 576-04091A-12 

benefits are paid, disability benefits, death benefits, 2334 

significant exclusions from and limitations on coverage, how 2335 

benefits are coordinated with other insurance benefits that the 2336 

insured may have, when payments are due, penalties and interest 2337 

that may be imposed on insurers for failure to make timely 2338 

payments of benefits, and rights of parties regarding disputes 2339 

as to benefits. 2340 

(b) An advisory informing insureds that: 2341 

1. Pursuant to s. 626.9892, the Department of Financial 2342 

Services may pay rewards of up to $25,000 to persons providing 2343 

information leading to the arrest and conviction of persons 2344 

committing crimes investigated by the Division of Insurance 2345 

Fraud arising from violations of s. 440.105, s. 624.15, s. 2346 

626.9541, s. 626.989, or s. 817.234. 2347 

2. Pursuant to s. 627.7485(5)(f)1.e., if the insured 2348 

notifies the insurer in writing of a billing error, the insured 2349 

may be entitled to a certain percentage of a reduction in the 2350 

amounts paid by the insured’s motor vehicle insurer. 2351 

(c) A notice that solicitation of a person injured in a 2352 

motor vehicle crash for purposes of filing emergency care 2353 

coverage or tort claims could be a violation of s. 817.234 or s. 2354 

817.505 or the rules regulating The Florida Bar and, if such 2355 

conduct has taken place, it should be immediately reported to 2356 

the Division of Insurance Fraud. 2357 

(2) Each insurer issuing a policy in this state providing 2358 

emergency care coverage must mail or deliver the notice as 2359 

specified in subsection (1) to an insured within 21 days after 2360 

receiving from the insured notice of a motor vehicle accident or 2361 

claim involving personal injury to an insured who is covered 2362 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì344314|Î344314 

 

Page 83 of 146 

2/27/2012 3:22:20 PM 576-04091A-12 

under the policy. The office may allow an insurer additional 2363 

time, not to exceed 30 days, to provide the notice specified in 2364 

subsection (1) upon a showing by the insurer that an emergency 2365 

justifies an extension of time. 2366 

(3) The notice required by this section does not alter or 2367 

modify the terms of the insurance contract or other requirements 2368 

of ss. 627.748-627.7491. 2369 

Section 19. Section 627.7489, Florida Statutes, is created 2370 

to read: 2371 

627.7489 Mandatory joinder of derivative claim.—In any 2372 

action brought pursuant to s. 627.7486 claiming personal 2373 

injuries, all claims arising out of the plaintiff’s injuries, 2374 

including all derivative claims, shall be brought together, 2375 

unless good cause is shown why such claims should be brought 2376 

separately. 2377 

Section 20. Section 627.749, Florida Statutes, is created 2378 

to read: 2379 

627.749 Insurers’ right of reimbursement.—Notwithstanding 2380 

any other provisions of ss. 627.748-627.7491, an insurer 2381 

providing emergency care coverage on a private passenger motor 2382 

vehicle shall, to the extent of any emergency care coverage paid 2383 

to any person as a benefit arising out of such private passenger 2384 

motor vehicle insurance, have a right of reimbursement against 2385 

the owner or the insurer of the owner of a commercial motor 2386 

vehicle if the benefits paid result from such person having been 2387 

an occupant of the commercial motor vehicle or having been 2388 

struck by the commercial motor vehicle while not an occupant of 2389 

any self-propelled vehicle. 2390 

Section 21. Section 627.7491, Florida Statutes, is created 2391 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì344314|Î344314 

 

Page 84 of 146 

2/27/2012 3:22:20 PM 576-04091A-12 

to read: 2392 

627.7491 Application of the Florida Motor Vehicle No-Fault 2393 

Emergency Care Coverage Law.— 2394 

(1) On or after January 1, 2013, any person subject to ss. 2395 

627.748-627.7491 must maintain security for emergency care 2396 

coverage. 2397 

(2) All forms and rates for policies issued or renewed on 2398 

or after January 1, 2013, must reflect ss. 627.748-627.7491 and 2399 

must be approved by the office before use. 2400 

(3) After January 1, 2013, insurers must provide notice of 2401 

the Florida Motor Vehicle No-Fault Emergency Care Coverage Law 2402 

to existing policyholders at least 30 days before the policy 2403 

expiration date and to applicants for no-fault coverage upon 2404 

receipt of the application. The notice is not subject to 2405 

approval by the office and must clearly inform the policyholder 2406 

or applicant of the following: 2407 

(a) That no-fault motor vehicle insurance requirements are 2408 

governed by the Florida Motor Vehicle No-Fault Emergency Care 2409 

Coverage Law and must provide an explanation of emergency care 2410 

coverage. With respect to the initial renewal after January 1, 2411 

2013, current policyholders must also be provided with an 2412 

explanation of differences between their current policies and 2413 

the coverage provided under emergency care coverage policies. 2414 

(b) That failure to maintain required emergency care 2415 

coverage and $10,000 in property damage liability coverage may 2416 

result in state suspension of the policyholder’s driver license 2417 

and vehicle registration. 2418 

(c) The name and telephone number of a person to contact 2419 

with any questions she or he may have. 2420 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì344314|Î344314 

 

Page 85 of 146 

2/27/2012 3:22:20 PM 576-04091A-12 

Section 22. Subsection (1), paragraph (c) of subsection 2421 

(7), paragraphs (a), (b), and (c) of subsection (8), and 2422 

subsections (9), (10), and (13) of section 817.234, Florida 2423 

Statutes, are amended to read: 2424 

817.234 False and fraudulent insurance claims.— 2425 

(1)(a) A person commits insurance fraud punishable as 2426 

provided in subsection (11) if that person, with the intent to 2427 

injure, defraud, or deceive any insurer: 2428 

1. Presents or causes to be presented any written or oral 2429 

statement as part of, or in support of, a claim for payment or 2430 

other benefit pursuant to an insurance policy or a health 2431 

maintenance organization subscriber or provider contract, 2432 

knowing that such statement contains any false, incomplete, or 2433 

misleading information concerning any fact or thing material to 2434 

such claim; 2435 

2. Prepares or makes any written or oral statement that is 2436 

intended to be presented to any insurer in connection with, or 2437 

in support of, any claim for payment or other benefit pursuant 2438 

to an insurance policy or a health maintenance organization 2439 

subscriber or provider contract, knowing that such statement 2440 

contains any false, incomplete, or misleading information 2441 

concerning any fact or thing material to such claim; or 2442 

3.a. Knowingly presents, causes to be presented, or 2443 

prepares or makes with knowledge or belief that it will be 2444 

presented to any insurer, purported insurer, servicing 2445 

corporation, insurance broker, or insurance agent, or any 2446 

employee or agent thereof, any false, incomplete, or misleading 2447 

information or written or oral statement as part of, or in 2448 

support of, an application for the issuance of, or the rating 2449 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì344314|Î344314 

 

Page 86 of 146 

2/27/2012 3:22:20 PM 576-04091A-12 

of, any insurance policy, or a health maintenance organization 2450 

subscriber or provider contract; or 2451 

b. Who Knowingly conceals information concerning any fact 2452 

material to such application; or. 2453 

4. Knowingly presents, causes to be presented, or, with 2454 

knowledge or belief that it will be presented to an insurer, 2455 

prepares or makes a claim for payment or other benefit under a 2456 

personal injury protection insurance policy or an emergency care 2457 

overage insurance policy and the person knows that the payee 2458 

knowingly submitted a false, misleading, or fraudulent 2459 

application or other document when applying for licensure as a 2460 

health care clinic, seeking an exemption from licensure as a 2461 

health care clinic, or demonstrating compliance with part X of 2462 

chapter 400. 2463 

(b) All claims and application forms must shall contain a 2464 

statement that is approved by the Office of Insurance Regulation 2465 

of the Financial Services Commission which clearly states in 2466 

substance the following: “Any person who knowingly and with 2467 

intent to injure, defraud, or deceive any insurer files a 2468 

statement of claim or an application containing any false, 2469 

incomplete, or misleading information is guilty of a felony of 2470 

the third degree.” This paragraph does shall not apply to 2471 

reinsurance contracts, reinsurance agreements, or reinsurance 2472 

claims transactions. 2473 

(7) 2474 

(c) An insurer, or any person acting at the direction of or 2475 

on behalf of an insurer, may not change an opinion in a mental 2476 

or physical report prepared under s. 627.736(7) or s. 2477 

627.7485(7), as applicable, s. 627.736(8) or direct the 2478 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì344314|Î344314 

 

Page 87 of 146 

2/27/2012 3:22:20 PM 576-04091A-12 

physician preparing the report to change such opinion; however, 2479 

this provision does not preclude the insurer from calling to the 2480 

attention of the physician errors of fact in the report based 2481 

upon information in the claim file. Any person who violates this 2482 

paragraph commits a felony of the third degree, punishable as 2483 

provided in s. 775.082, s. 775.083, or s. 775.084. 2484 

(8)(a) It is unlawful for any person intending to defraud 2485 

any other person to solicit or cause to be solicited any 2486 

business from a person involved in a motor vehicle accident for 2487 

the purpose of making, adjusting, or settling motor vehicle tort 2488 

claims or claims for personal injury protection or emergency 2489 

care coverage benefits required by s. 627.736 or 627.7485, as 2490 

applicable. Any person who violates the provisions of this 2491 

paragraph commits a felony of the second degree, punishable as 2492 

provided in s. 775.082, s. 775.083, or s. 775.084. A person who 2493 

is convicted of a violation of this subsection shall be 2494 

sentenced to a minimum term of imprisonment of 2 years. 2495 

(b) A person may not solicit or cause to be solicited any 2496 

business from a person involved in a motor vehicle accident by 2497 

any means of communication other than advertising directed to 2498 

the public for the purpose of making motor vehicle tort claims 2499 

or claims for personal injury protection or emergency care 2500 

coverage benefits required by s. 627.736 or 627.7485, as 2501 

applicable, within 60 days after the occurrence of the motor 2502 

vehicle accident. Any person who violates this paragraph commits 2503 

a felony of the third degree, punishable as provided in s. 2504 

775.082, s. 775.083, or s. 775.084. 2505 

(c) A lawyer, health care practitioner as defined in s. 2506 

456.001, or owner or medical director of a clinic required to be 2507 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì344314|Î344314 

 

Page 88 of 146 

2/27/2012 3:22:20 PM 576-04091A-12 

licensed pursuant to s. 400.9905 may not, at any time after 60 2508 

days have elapsed from the occurrence of a motor vehicle 2509 

accident, solicit or cause to be solicited any business from a 2510 

person involved in a motor vehicle accident by means of in 2511 

person or telephone contact at the person’s residence, for the 2512 

purpose of making motor vehicle tort claims or claims for 2513 

personal injury protection or emergency care coverage benefits 2514 

required by s. 627.736 or 627.7485, as applicable. Any person 2515 

who violates this paragraph commits a felony of the third 2516 

degree, punishable as provided in s. 775.082, s. 775.083, or s. 2517 

775.084. 2518 

(9) A person may not organize, plan, or knowingly 2519 

participate in an intentional motor vehicle crash or a scheme to 2520 

create documentation of a motor vehicle crash that did not occur 2521 

for the purpose of making motor vehicle tort claims or claims 2522 

for personal injury protection or emergency care coverage 2523 

benefits as required by s. 627.736 or s. 627.7485, as 2524 

applicable. Any person who violates this subsection commits a 2525 

felony of the second degree, punishable as provided in s. 2526 

775.082, s. 775.083, or s. 775.084. A person who is convicted of 2527 

a violation of this subsection shall be sentenced to a minimum 2528 

term of imprisonment of 2 years. 2529 

(10) A licensed health care practitioner who is found 2530 

guilty of insurance fraud under this section for an act relating 2531 

to a personal injury protection or emergency care coverage 2532 

insurance policy may not be licensed or continue to be licensed 2533 

for 5 years and may not receive reimbursement for benefits under 2534 

such policies for 10 years. As used in this section, the term 2535 

“insurer” means any insurer, health maintenance organization, 2536 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì344314|Î344314 

 

Page 89 of 146 

2/27/2012 3:22:20 PM 576-04091A-12 

self-insurer, self-insurance fund, or other similar entity or 2537 

person regulated under chapter 440 or chapter 641 or by the 2538 

Office of Insurance Regulation under the Florida Insurance Code. 2539 

(13) As used in this section, the term: 2540 

(a) “Insurer” means any insurer, health maintenance 2541 

organization, self-insurer, self-insurance fund, or similar 2542 

entity or person regulated under chapter 440 or chapter 641 or 2543 

by the Office of Insurance Regulation under the Florida 2544 

Insurance Code. 2545 

(b)(a) “Property” means property as defined in s. 812.012. 2546 

(c)(b) “Value” means value as defined in s. 812.012. 2547 

Section 23. Subsection (4) of section 316.065, Florida 2548 

Statutes, is amended to read: 2549 

316.065 Crashes; reports; penalties.— 2550 

(4) Any person who knowingly repairs a motor vehicle 2551 

without having made a report as required by subsection (3) is 2552 

guilty of a misdemeanor of the first degree, punishable as 2553 

provided in s. 775.082 or s. 775.083. The owner and driver of a 2554 

vehicle involved in a crash who makes a report thereof in 2555 

accordance with subsection (1) or s. 316.066(1) is not liable 2556 

under this section. 2557 

Section 24. Subsection (1) of section 316.646, Florida 2558 

Statutes, is amended to read: 2559 

316.646 Security required; proof of security and display 2560 

thereof; dismissal of cases.— 2561 

(1) Any person required by s. 324.022 to maintain property 2562 

damage liability security, required by s. 324.023 to maintain 2563 

liability security for bodily injury or death, or required by s. 2564 

627.733 to maintain personal injury protection security, or 2565 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì344314|Î344314 

 

Page 90 of 146 

2/27/2012 3:22:20 PM 576-04091A-12 

required by s. 627.7483 to maintain emergency care coverage 2566 

security, as applicable, on a motor vehicle must shall have in 2567 

his or her immediate possession at all times while operating 2568 

such motor vehicle proper proof of maintenance of the required 2569 

security. Such proof must shall be a uniform proof-of-insurance 2570 

card in a form prescribed by the department, a valid insurance 2571 

policy, an insurance policy binder, a certificate of insurance, 2572 

or such other proof as may be prescribed by the department. 2573 

Section 25. Paragraph (b) of subsection (2) of section 2574 

318.18, Florida Statutes, is amended to read: 2575 

318.18 Amount of penalties.—The penalties required for a 2576 

noncriminal disposition pursuant to s. 318.14 or a criminal 2577 

offense listed in s. 318.17 are as follows: 2578 

(2) Thirty dollars for all nonmoving traffic violations 2579 

and: 2580 

(b) For all violations of ss. 320.0605, 320.07(1), 322.065, 2581 

and 322.15(1). Any person who is cited for a violation of s. 2582 

320.07(1) shall be charged a delinquent fee pursuant to s. 2583 

320.07(4). 2584 

1. If a person who is cited for a violation of s. 320.0605 2585 

or s. 320.07 can show proof of having a valid registration at 2586 

the time of arrest, the clerk of the court may dismiss the case 2587 

and may assess a dismissal fee of up to $10. A person who finds 2588 

it impossible or impractical to obtain a valid registration 2589 

certificate must submit an affidavit detailing the reasons for 2590 

the impossibility or impracticality. The reasons may include, 2591 

but are not limited to, the fact that the vehicle was sold, 2592 

stolen, or destroyed; that the state in which the vehicle is 2593 

registered does not issue a certificate of registration; or that 2594 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì344314|Î344314 

 

Page 91 of 146 

2/27/2012 3:22:20 PM 576-04091A-12 

the vehicle is owned by another person. 2595 

2. If a person who is cited for a violation of s. 322.03, 2596 

s. 322.065, or s. 322.15 can show a driver driver’s license 2597 

issued to him or her and valid at the time of arrest, the clerk 2598 

of the court may dismiss the case and may assess a dismissal fee 2599 

of up to $10. 2600 

3. If a person who is cited for a violation of s. 316.646 2601 

can show proof of security as required by s. 627.733 or s. 2602 

627.7483, as applicable, issued to the person and valid at the 2603 

time of arrest, the clerk of the court may dismiss the case and 2604 

may assess a dismissal fee of up to $10. A person who finds it 2605 

impossible or impractical to obtain proof of security must 2606 

submit an affidavit detailing the reasons for the 2607 

impracticality. The reasons may include, but are not limited to, 2608 

the fact that the vehicle has since been sold, stolen, or 2609 

destroyed; that the owner or registrant of the vehicle is not 2610 

required by s. 627.733 or s. 627.7483 to maintain personal 2611 

injury protection insurance or emergency care coverage 2612 

insurance, as applicable; or that the vehicle is owned by 2613 

another person. 2614 

Section 26. Paragraphs (a) and (d) of subsection (5) of 2615 

section 320.02, Florida Statutes, are amended to read: 2616 

320.02 Registration required; application for registration; 2617 

forms.— 2618 

(5)(a) Proof that personal injury protection benefits or 2619 

emergency care coverage benefits, as applicable, have been 2620 

purchased if when required under s. 627.733 or s. 627.7483, as 2621 

applicable, that property damage liability coverage has been 2622 

purchased as required under s. 324.022, that bodily injury or 2623 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì344314|Î344314 

 

Page 92 of 146 

2/27/2012 3:22:20 PM 576-04091A-12 

death coverage has been purchased if required under s. 324.023, 2624 

and that combined bodily liability insurance and property damage 2625 

liability insurance have been purchased if when required under 2626 

s. 627.7415 shall be provided in the manner prescribed by law by 2627 

the applicant at the time of application for registration of any 2628 

motor vehicle that is subject to such requirements. The issuing 2629 

agent shall refuse to issue registration if such proof of 2630 

purchase is not provided. Insurers shall furnish uniform proof-2631 

of-purchase cards in a form prescribed by the department and 2632 

shall include the name of the insured’s insurance company, the 2633 

coverage identification number, and the make, year, and vehicle 2634 

identification number of the vehicle insured. The card must 2635 

shall contain a statement notifying the applicant of the penalty 2636 

specified in s. 316.646(4). The card or insurance policy, 2637 

insurance policy binder, or certificate of insurance or a 2638 

photocopy of any of these; an affidavit containing the name of 2639 

the insured’s insurance company, the insured’s policy number, 2640 

and the make and year of the vehicle insured; or such other 2641 

proof as may be prescribed by the department shall constitute 2642 

sufficient proof of purchase. If an affidavit is provided as 2643 

proof, it must shall be in substantially the following form: 2644 

 2645 

Under penalty of perjury, I ...(Name of insured)... do 2646 

hereby certify that I have ...(Personal Injury Protection or 2647 

Emergency Care Coverage, as applicable, Property Damage 2648 

Liability, and, if when required, Bodily Injury Liability)... 2649 

Insurance currently in effect with ...(Name of insurance 2650 

company)... under ...(policy number)... covering ...(make, year, 2651 

and vehicle identification number of vehicle).... ...(Signature 2652 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì344314|Î344314 

 

Page 93 of 146 

2/27/2012 3:22:20 PM 576-04091A-12 

of Insured)... 2653 

 2654 

The Such affidavit must shall include the following 2655 

warning: 2656 

 2657 

WARNING: GIVING FALSE INFORMATION IN ORDER TO OBTAIN A 2658 

VEHICLE REGISTRATION CERTIFICATE IS A CRIMINAL OFFENSE UNDER 2659 

FLORIDA LAW. ANYONE GIVING FALSE INFORMATION ON THIS AFFIDAVIT 2660 

IS SUBJECT TO PROSECUTION. 2661 

 2662 

If When an application is made through a licensed motor vehicle 2663 

dealer as required in s. 319.23, the original or a photostatic 2664 

copy of such card, insurance policy, insurance policy binder, or 2665 

certificate of insurance or the original affidavit from the 2666 

insured shall be forwarded by the dealer to the tax collector of 2667 

the county or the Department of Highway Safety and Motor 2668 

Vehicles for processing. By executing the aforesaid affidavit, 2669 

the no licensed motor vehicle dealer will not be liable in 2670 

damages for any inadequacy, insufficiency, or falsification of 2671 

any statement contained therein. A card must shall also indicate 2672 

the existence of any bodily injury liability insurance 2673 

voluntarily purchased. 2674 

(d) The verifying of proof of personal injury protection 2675 

insurance or emergency care coverage insurance, as applicable, 2676 

proof of property damage liability insurance, proof of combined 2677 

bodily liability insurance and property damage liability 2678 

insurance, or proof of financial responsibility insurance and 2679 

the issuance or failure to issue the motor vehicle registration 2680 

under the provisions of this chapter may not be construed in any 2681 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì344314|Î344314 

 

Page 94 of 146 

2/27/2012 3:22:20 PM 576-04091A-12 

court as a warranty of the reliability or accuracy of the 2682 

evidence of such proof. Neither the department nor any tax 2683 

collector is liable in damages for any inadequacy, 2684 

insufficiency, falsification, or unauthorized modification of 2685 

any item of the proof of personal injury protection insurance or 2686 

emergency care coverage insurance, as applicable, proof of 2687 

property damage liability insurance, proof of combined bodily 2688 

liability insurance and property damage liability insurance, or 2689 

proof of financial responsibility insurance before prior to, 2690 

during, or subsequent to the verification of the proof. The 2691 

issuance of a motor vehicle registration does not constitute 2692 

prima facie evidence or a presumption of insurance coverage. 2693 

Section 27. Paragraph (b) of subsection (1) of section 2694 

320.0609, Florida Statutes, is amended to read: 2695 

320.0609 Transfer and exchange of registration license 2696 

plates; transfer fee.— 2697 

(1) 2698 

(b) The transfer of a license plate from a vehicle disposed 2699 

of to a newly acquired vehicle does not constitute a new 2700 

registration. The application for transfer shall be accepted 2701 

without requiring proof of personal injury protection insurance 2702 

or emergency care coverage insurance, as applicable, or 2703 

liability insurance. 2704 

Section 28. Subsection (3) of section 320.27, Florida 2705 

Statutes, is amended to read: 2706 

320.27 Motor vehicle dealers.— 2707 

(3) APPLICATION AND FEE.—The application for the license 2708 

must shall be in such form as may be prescribed by the 2709 

department and shall be subject to such rules with respect 2710 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì344314|Î344314 

 

Page 95 of 146 

2/27/2012 3:22:20 PM 576-04091A-12 

thereto as may be so prescribed by it. Such application must 2711 

shall be verified by oath or affirmation and shall contain a 2712 

full statement of the name and birth date of the applicant 2713 

person or persons applying therefor; the name of the firm or 2714 

copartnership, with the names and places of residence of all 2715 

members thereof, if such applicant is a firm or copartnership; 2716 

the names and places of residence of the principal officers, if 2717 

the applicant is a body corporate or other artificial body; the 2718 

name of the state under whose laws the corporation is organized; 2719 

the present and former place or places of residence of the 2720 

applicant; and prior business in which the applicant has been 2721 

engaged and the location thereof. The Such application must 2722 

shall describe the exact location of the place of business and 2723 

shall state whether the place of business is owned by the 2724 

applicant and if when acquired, or, if leased, a true copy of 2725 

the lease must shall be attached to the application. The 2726 

applicant shall certify that the location provides an adequately 2727 

equipped office and is not a residence; that the location 2728 

affords sufficient unoccupied space upon and within which to 2729 

adequately to store all motor vehicles offered and displayed for 2730 

sale; and that the location is a suitable place where the 2731 

applicant can in good faith carry on such business and keep and 2732 

maintain books, records, and files necessary to conduct such 2733 

business, which will be available at all reasonable hours for to 2734 

inspection by the department or any of its inspectors or other 2735 

employees. The applicant shall certify that the business of a 2736 

motor vehicle dealer is the principal business that will which 2737 

shall be conducted at that location. The Such application must 2738 

shall contain a statement that the applicant is either 2739 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì344314|Î344314 

 

Page 96 of 146 

2/27/2012 3:22:20 PM 576-04091A-12 

franchised by a manufacturer of motor vehicles, in which case 2740 

the name of each motor vehicle that the applicant is franchised 2741 

to sell shall be included, or an independent, (nonfranchised,) 2742 

motor vehicle dealer. The Such application must shall contain 2743 

such other relevant information as may be required by the 2744 

department, including evidence that the applicant is insured 2745 

under a garage liability insurance policy or a general liability 2746 

insurance policy coupled with a business automobile policy, 2747 

which includes shall include, at a minimum, $25,000 combined 2748 

single-limit liability coverage including bodily injury and 2749 

property damage protection and $10,000 personal injury 2750 

protection or emergency care coverage, as applicable. Franchise 2751 

dealers must submit a garage liability insurance policy, and all 2752 

other dealers must submit a garage liability insurance policy or 2753 

a general liability insurance policy coupled with a business 2754 

automobile policy. The Such policy shall be for the license 2755 

period, and evidence of a new or continued policy must shall be 2756 

delivered to the department at the beginning of each license 2757 

period. Upon making initial application, the applicant shall pay 2758 

to the department a fee of $300 in addition to any other fees 2759 

now required by law; upon making a subsequent renewal 2760 

application, the applicant shall pay to the department a fee of 2761 

$75 in addition to any other fees now required by law. Upon 2762 

making an application for a change of location, the person shall 2763 

pay a fee of $50 in addition to any other fees now required by 2764 

law. The department shall, in the case of every application for 2765 

initial licensure, verify whether certain facts set forth in the 2766 

application are true. Each applicant, general partner in the 2767 

case of a partnership, or corporate officer and director in the 2768 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì344314|Î344314 

 

Page 97 of 146 

2/27/2012 3:22:20 PM 576-04091A-12 

case of a corporate applicant, must file a set of fingerprints 2769 

with the department for the purpose of determining any prior 2770 

criminal record or any outstanding warrants. The department 2771 

shall submit the fingerprints to the Department of Law 2772 

Enforcement for state processing and forwarding to the Federal 2773 

Bureau of Investigation for federal processing. The actual cost 2774 

of state and federal processing shall be borne by the applicant 2775 

and is in addition to the fee for licensure. The department may 2776 

issue a license to an applicant pending the results of the 2777 

fingerprint investigation, which license is fully revocable if 2778 

the department subsequently determines that any facts set forth 2779 

in the application are not true or correctly represented. 2780 

Section 29. Paragraph (j) of subsection (3) of section 2781 

320.771, Florida Statutes, is amended to read: 2782 

320.771 License required of recreational vehicle dealers.— 2783 

(3) APPLICATION.—The application for such license shall be 2784 

in the form prescribed by the department and subject to such 2785 

rules as may be prescribed by it. The application shall be 2786 

verified by oath or affirmation and shall contain: 2787 

(j) A statement that the applicant is insured under a 2788 

garage liability insurance policy, which shall include, at a 2789 

minimum, includes $25,000 combined single-limit liability 2790 

coverage, including bodily injury and property damage 2791 

protection, and $10,000 personal injury protection or emergency 2792 

care coverage, as applicable, if the applicant is to be licensed 2793 

as a dealer in, or intends to sell, recreational vehicles. 2794 

 2795 

The department shall, if it deems necessary, cause an 2796 

investigation to be made to ascertain if the facts set forth in 2797 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì344314|Î344314 

 

Page 98 of 146 

2/27/2012 3:22:20 PM 576-04091A-12 

the application are true and may shall not issue a license to 2798 

the applicant until it is satisfied that the facts set forth in 2799 

the application are true. 2800 

Section 30. Subsection (1) of section 322.251, Florida 2801 

Statutes, is amended to read: 2802 

322.251 Notice of cancellation, suspension, revocation, or 2803 

disqualification of license.— 2804 

(1) All orders of cancellation, suspension, revocation, or 2805 

disqualification issued under the provisions of this chapter, 2806 

chapter 318, chapter 324, or ss. 627.732-627.734, or ss. 2807 

627.748-627.7491 must be made shall be given either by personal 2808 

delivery thereof to the licensee whose license is being 2809 

canceled, suspended, revoked, or disqualified or by deposit in 2810 

the United States mail in an envelope, first class, postage 2811 

prepaid, addressed to the licensee at his or her last known 2812 

mailing address furnished to the department. Such mailing by the 2813 

department constitutes notification, and any failure by the 2814 

person to receive the mailed order does will not affect or stay 2815 

the effective date or term of the cancellation, suspension, 2816 

revocation, or disqualification of the licensee’s driving 2817 

privilege. 2818 

Section 31. Paragraph (a) of subsection (8) of section 2819 

322.34, Florida Statutes, is amended to read: 2820 

322.34 Driving while license suspended, revoked, canceled, 2821 

or disqualified.— 2822 

(8)(a) Upon the arrest of a person for the offense of 2823 

driving while the person’s driver driver’s license or driving 2824 

privilege is suspended or revoked, the arresting officer must 2825 

shall determine: 2826 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì344314|Î344314 

 

Page 99 of 146 

2/27/2012 3:22:20 PM 576-04091A-12 

1. Whether the person’s driver driver’s license is 2827 

suspended or revoked. 2828 

2. Whether the person’s driver driver’s license has 2829 

remained suspended or revoked since a conviction for the offense 2830 

of driving with a suspended or revoked license. 2831 

3. Whether the suspension or revocation was made under s. 2832 

316.646, or s. 627.733, or s. 627.7483, relating to failure to 2833 

maintain required security, or under s. 322.264, relating to 2834 

habitual traffic offenders. 2835 

4. Whether the driver is the registered owner or coowner of 2836 

the vehicle. 2837 

Section 32. Subsection (1) and paragraph (c) of subsection 2838 

(9) of section 324.021, Florida Statutes, are amended to read: 2839 

324.021 Definitions; minimum insurance required.—The 2840 

following words and phrases when used in this chapter shall, for 2841 

the purpose of this chapter, have the meanings respectively 2842 

ascribed to them in this section, except in those instances 2843 

where the context clearly indicates a different meaning: 2844 

(1) MOTOR VEHICLE.—Every self-propelled vehicle that which 2845 

is designed and required to be licensed for use upon a highway, 2846 

including trailers and semitrailers designed for use with such 2847 

vehicles, except traction engines, road rollers, farm tractors, 2848 

power shovels, and well drillers, and every vehicle that which 2849 

is propelled by electric power obtained from overhead wires but 2850 

not operated upon rails, but not including any bicycle or moped. 2851 

However, the term “motor vehicle” does shall not include a any 2852 

motor vehicle as defined in s. 627.732(3) or s. 627.7482(9), as 2853 

applicable, if when the owner of such vehicle has complied with 2854 

the requirements of ss. 627.730-627.7405 or ss. 627.748-2855 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì344314|Î344314 

 

Page 100 of 146 

2/27/2012 3:22:20 PM 576-04091A-12 

627.7491, as applicable, inclusive, unless the provisions of s. 2856 

324.051 applies apply; and, in such case, the applicable proof 2857 

of insurance provisions of s. 320.02 apply. 2858 

(9) OWNER; OWNER/LESSOR.— 2859 

(c) Application.— 2860 

1. The limits on liability in subparagraphs (b)2. and 3. do 2861 

not apply to an owner of motor vehicles that are used for 2862 

commercial activity in the owner’s ordinary course of business, 2863 

other than a rental company that rents or leases motor vehicles. 2864 

For purposes of this paragraph, the term “rental company” 2865 

includes only an entity that is engaged in the business of 2866 

renting or leasing motor vehicles to the general public and that 2867 

rents or leases a majority of its motor vehicles to persons who 2868 

have with no direct or indirect affiliation with the rental 2869 

company. The term also includes a motor vehicle dealer that 2870 

provides temporary replacement vehicles to its customers for up 2871 

to 10 days. The term “rental company” also includes: 2872 

a. A related rental or leasing company that is a subsidiary 2873 

of the same parent company as that of the renting or leasing 2874 

company that rented or leased the vehicle. 2875 

b. The holder of a motor vehicle title or an equity 2876 

interest in a motor vehicle title if the title or equity 2877 

interest is held pursuant to or to facilitate an asset-backed 2878 

securitization of a fleet of motor vehicles used solely in the 2879 

business of renting or leasing motor vehicles to the general 2880 

public and under the dominion and control of a rental company, 2881 

as described in this subparagraph, in the operation of such 2882 

rental company’s business. 2883 

2. Furthermore, With respect to commercial motor vehicles 2884 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì344314|Î344314 

 

Page 101 of 146 

2/27/2012 3:22:20 PM 576-04091A-12 

as defined in s. 627.732 or s. 627.7482, as applicable, the 2885 

limits on liability in subparagraphs (b)2. and 3. do not apply 2886 

if, at the time of the incident, the commercial motor vehicle is 2887 

being used in the transportation of materials found to be 2888 

hazardous for the purposes of the Hazardous Materials 2889 

Transportation Authorization Act of 1994, as amended, 49 U.S.C. 2890 

ss. 5101 et seq., and that is required pursuant to such act to 2891 

carry placards warning others of the hazardous cargo, unless at 2892 

the time of lease or rental either: 2893 

a. The lessee indicates in writing that the vehicle will 2894 

not be used to transport materials found to be hazardous for the 2895 

purposes of the Hazardous Materials Transportation Authorization 2896 

Act of 1994, as amended, 49 U.S.C. ss. 5101 et seq.; or 2897 

b. The lessee or other operator of the commercial motor 2898 

vehicle has in effect insurance with limits of at least 2899 

$5,000,000 combined property damage and bodily injury liability. 2900 

Section 33. Section 324.0221, Florida Statutes, is amended 2901 

to read: 2902 

324.0221 Reports by insurers to the department; suspension 2903 

of driver driver’s license and vehicle registrations; 2904 

reinstatement.— 2905 

(1)(a) Each insurer that has issued a policy providing 2906 

personal injury protection or emergency care coverage or 2907 

property damage liability coverage shall report the renewal, 2908 

cancellation, or nonrenewal of the policy thereof to the 2909 

department within 45 days after the effective date of each 2910 

renewal, cancellation, or nonrenewal. Upon the issuance of a 2911 

policy providing personal injury protection or emergency care 2912 

coverage or property damage liability coverage to a named 2913 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì344314|Î344314 

 

Page 102 of 146 

2/27/2012 3:22:20 PM 576-04091A-12 

insured not previously insured by the insurer during that 2914 

calendar year, the insurer shall report the issuance of the new 2915 

policy to the department within 30 days. The report shall be in 2916 

the form and format and contain any information required by the 2917 

department and must be provided in a format that is compatible 2918 

with the data processing capabilities of the department. The 2919 

department may adopt rules regarding the form and documentation 2920 

required. Failure by an insurer to file proper reports with the 2921 

department as required by this subsection or rules adopted with 2922 

respect to the requirements of this subsection constitutes a 2923 

violation of the Florida Insurance Code. These records shall be 2924 

used by the department only for enforcement and regulatory 2925 

purposes, including the generation by the department of data 2926 

regarding compliance by owners of motor vehicles with the 2927 

requirements for financial responsibility coverage. 2928 

(b) With respect to an insurance policy providing personal 2929 

injury protection or emergency care coverage or property damage 2930 

liability coverage, each insurer shall notify the named insured, 2931 

or the first-named insured in the case of a commercial fleet 2932 

policy, in writing that any cancellation or nonrenewal of the 2933 

policy will be reported by the insurer to the department. The 2934 

notice must also inform the named insured that failure to 2935 

maintain personal injury protection or emergency care coverage 2936 

and property damage liability coverage on a motor vehicle as 2937 

when required by law may result in the loss of registration and 2938 

driving privileges in this state and inform the named insured of 2939 

the amount of the reinstatement fees required by this section. 2940 

This notice is for informational purposes only, and an insurer 2941 

is not civilly liable for failing to provide this notice. 2942 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì344314|Î344314 

 

Page 103 of 146 

2/27/2012 3:22:20 PM 576-04091A-12 

(2) The department shall suspend, after due notice and an 2943 

opportunity to be heard, the registration and driver driver’s 2944 

license of any owner or registrant of a motor vehicle with 2945 

respect to which security is required under s. ss. 324.022 and 2946 

either s. 627.733 or s. 627.7483, as applicable, upon: 2947 

(a) The department’s records showing that the owner or 2948 

registrant of such motor vehicle did not have in full force and 2949 

effect when required security that complies with the 2950 

requirements of s. ss. 324.022 and either s. 627.733 or s. 2951 

627.7483, as applicable; or 2952 

(b) Notification by the insurer to the department, in a 2953 

form approved by the department, of cancellation or termination 2954 

of the required security. 2955 

(3) An operator or owner whose driver driver’s license or 2956 

registration has been suspended under this section or s. 316.646 2957 

may effect its reinstatement upon compliance with the 2958 

requirements of this section and upon payment to the department 2959 

of a nonrefundable reinstatement fee of $150 for the first 2960 

reinstatement. The reinstatement fee is $250 for the second 2961 

reinstatement and $500 for each subsequent reinstatement during 2962 

the 3 years following the first reinstatement. A person 2963 

reinstating her or his insurance under this subsection must also 2964 

secure noncancelable coverage as described in ss. 324.021(8), 2965 

324.023, and 627.7275(2) and present proof to the appropriate 2966 

person proof that the coverage is in force on a form adopted by 2967 

the department, and such proof shall be maintained for 2 years. 2968 

If the person does not have a second reinstatement within 3 2969 

years after her or his initial reinstatement, the reinstatement 2970 

fee is $150 for the first reinstatement after that 3-year 2971 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì344314|Î344314 

 

Page 104 of 146 

2/27/2012 3:22:20 PM 576-04091A-12 

period. If a person’s license and registration are suspended 2972 

under this section or s. 316.646, only one reinstatement fee 2973 

must be paid to reinstate the license and the registration. All 2974 

fees shall be collected by the department at the time of 2975 

reinstatement. The department shall issue proper receipts for 2976 

such fees and shall promptly deposit those fees in the Highway 2977 

Safety Operating Trust Fund. One-third of the fees collected 2978 

under this subsection shall be distributed from the Highway 2979 

Safety Operating Trust Fund to the local governmental entity or 2980 

state agency that employed the law enforcement officer seizing 2981 

the license plate pursuant to s. 324.201. The funds may be used 2982 

by the local governmental entity or state agency for any 2983 

authorized purpose. 2984 

Section 34. Paragraph (a) of subsection (1) of section 2985 

324.032, Florida Statutes, is amended to read: 2986 

324.032 Manner of proving financial responsibility; for-2987 

hire passenger transportation vehicles.—Notwithstanding the 2988 

provisions of s. 324.031: 2989 

(1)(a) A person who is either the owner or a lessee 2990 

required to maintain insurance under s. 627.733(1)(b) or s. 2991 

627.7483(1), as applicable, and who operates one or more 2992 

taxicabs, limousines, jitneys, or any other for-hire passenger 2993 

transportation vehicles may prove financial responsibility by 2994 

furnishing satisfactory evidence of holding a motor vehicle 2995 

liability policy that has, but with minimum limits of 2996 

$125,000/250,000/50,000. 2997 

 2998 

Upon request by the department, the applicant must provide the 2999 

department at the applicant’s principal place of business in 3000 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì344314|Î344314 

 

Page 105 of 146 

2/27/2012 3:22:20 PM 576-04091A-12 

this state access to the applicant’s underlying financial 3001 

information and financial statements that provide the basis of 3002 

the certified public accountant’s certification. The applicant 3003 

shall reimburse the requesting department for all reasonable 3004 

costs incurred by it in reviewing the supporting information. 3005 

The maximum amount of self-insurance permissible under this 3006 

subsection is $300,000 and must be stated on a per-occurrence 3007 

basis, and the applicant shall maintain adequate excess 3008 

insurance issued by an authorized or eligible insurer licensed 3009 

or approved by the Office of Insurance Regulation. All risks 3010 

self-insured shall remain with the owner or lessee providing it, 3011 

and the risks are not transferable to any other person, unless a 3012 

policy complying with subsection (1) is obtained. 3013 

Section 35. Subsection (2) of section 324.171, Florida 3014 

Statutes, is amended to read: 3015 

324.171 Self-insurer.— 3016 

(2) The self-insurance certificate must shall provide 3017 

limits of liability insurance in the amounts specified under s. 3018 

324.021(7) or s. 627.7415 and shall provide personal injury 3019 

protection or emergency care coverage under s. 627.733(3)(b) or 3020 

s. 627.7483(3)(b), as applicable. 3021 

Section 36. Paragraph (g) of subsection (1) of section 3022 

400.9935, Florida Statutes, is amended to read: 3023 

400.9935 Clinic responsibilities.— 3024 

(1) Each clinic shall appoint a medical director or clinic 3025 

director who shall agree in writing to accept legal 3026 

responsibility for the following activities on behalf of the 3027 

clinic. The medical director or the clinic director shall: 3028 

(g) Conduct systematic reviews of clinic billings to ensure 3029 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì344314|Î344314 

 

Page 106 of 146 

2/27/2012 3:22:20 PM 576-04091A-12 

that the billings are not fraudulent or unlawful. Upon discovery 3030 

of an unlawful charge, the medical director or clinic director 3031 

must shall take immediate corrective action. If the clinic 3032 

performs only the technical component of magnetic resonance 3033 

imaging, static radiographs, computed tomography, or positron 3034 

emission tomography, and provides the professional 3035 

interpretation of such services, in a fixed facility that is 3036 

accredited by the Joint Commission on Accreditation of 3037 

Healthcare Organizations or the Accreditation Association for 3038 

Ambulatory Health Care, and the American College of Radiology; 3039 

and if, in the preceding quarter, the percentage of scans 3040 

performed by that clinic which was billed to all personal injury 3041 

protection insurance or emergency care coverage insurance 3042 

carriers was less than 15 percent, the chief financial officer 3043 

of the clinic may, in a written acknowledgment provided to the 3044 

agency, assume the responsibility for the conduct of the 3045 

systematic reviews of clinic billings to ensure that the 3046 

billings are not fraudulent or unlawful. 3047 

Section 37. Subsection (28) of section 409.901, Florida 3048 

Statutes, is amended to read: 3049 

409.901 Definitions; ss. 409.901-409.920.—As used in ss. 3050 

409.901-409.920, except as otherwise specifically provided, the 3051 

term: 3052 

(28) “Third-party benefit” means any benefit that is or may 3053 

be available at any time through contract, court award, 3054 

judgment, settlement, agreement, or any arrangement between a 3055 

third party and any person or entity, including, without 3056 

limitation, a Medicaid recipient, a provider, another third 3057 

party, an insurer, or the agency, for any Medicaid-covered 3058 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì344314|Î344314 

 

Page 107 of 146 

2/27/2012 3:22:20 PM 576-04091A-12 

injury, illness, goods, or services, including costs of related 3059 

medical services related thereto, for personal injury or for 3060 

death of the recipient, but specifically excluding policies of 3061 

life insurance on the recipient, unless available under terms of 3062 

the policy to pay medical expenses before prior to death. The 3063 

term includes, without limitation, collateral, as defined in 3064 

this section, health insurance, any benefit under a health 3065 

maintenance organization, a preferred provider arrangement, a 3066 

prepaid health clinic, liability insurance, uninsured motorist 3067 

insurance or personal injury protection or emergency care 3068 

coverage, medical benefits under workers’ compensation, and any 3069 

obligation under law or equity to provide medical support. 3070 

Section 38. Paragraph (f) of subsection (11) of section 3071 

409.910, Florida Statutes, is amended to read: 3072 

409.910 Responsibility for payments on behalf of Medicaid-3073 

eligible persons when other parties are liable.— 3074 

(11) The agency may, as a matter of right, in order to 3075 

enforce its rights under this section, institute, intervene in, 3076 

or join any legal or administrative proceeding in its own name 3077 

in one or more of the following capacities: individually, as 3078 

subrogee of the recipient, as assignee of the recipient, or as 3079 

lienholder of the collateral. 3080 

(f) Notwithstanding any other provision in this section to 3081 

the contrary, in the event of an action in tort against a third 3082 

party in which the recipient or his or her legal representative 3083 

is a party which results in a judgment, award, or settlement 3084 

from a third party, the amount recovered shall be distributed as 3085 

follows: 3086 

1. After attorney attorney’s fees and taxable costs as 3087 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì344314|Î344314 

 

Page 108 of 146 

2/27/2012 3:22:20 PM 576-04091A-12 

defined by the Florida Rules of Civil Procedure, one-half of the 3088 

remaining recovery shall be paid to the agency up to the total 3089 

amount of medical assistance provided by Medicaid. 3090 

2. The remaining amount of the recovery shall be paid to 3091 

the recipient. 3092 

3. For purposes of calculating the agency’s recovery of 3093 

medical assistance benefits paid, the fee for services of an 3094 

attorney retained by the recipient or his or her legal 3095 

representative shall be calculated at 25 percent of the 3096 

judgment, award, or settlement. 3097 

4. Notwithstanding any other provision of this section to 3098 

the contrary, the agency is shall be entitled to all medical 3099 

coverage benefits up to the total amount of medical assistance 3100 

provided by Medicaid. For purposes of this paragraph, “medical 3101 

coverage” means any benefits under health insurance, a health 3102 

maintenance organization, a preferred provider arrangement, or a 3103 

prepaid health clinic, and the portion of benefits designated 3104 

for medical payments under coverage for workers’ compensation, 3105 

emergency care coverage, personal injury protection, and 3106 

casualty. 3107 

Section 39. Paragraph (k) of subsection (2) of section 3108 

456.057, Florida Statutes, is amended to read: 3109 

456.057 Ownership and control of patient records; report or 3110 

copies of records to be furnished.— 3111 

(2) As used in this section, the terms “records owner,” 3112 

“health care practitioner,” and “health care practitioner’s 3113 

employer” do not include any of the following persons or 3114 

entities; furthermore, the following persons or entities may are 3115 

not authorized to acquire or own medical records, but, are 3116 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì344314|Î344314 

 

Page 109 of 146 

2/27/2012 3:22:20 PM 576-04091A-12 

authorized under the confidentiality and disclosure requirements 3117 

of this section, may to maintain those documents that are 3118 

required by the part or chapter under which they are licensed or 3119 

regulated: 3120 

(k) Persons or entities practicing under s. 627.736(7) or 3121 

s. 627.7485(7), as applicable. 3122 

Section 40. Paragraphs (ee) and (ff) of subsection (1) of 3123 

section 456.072, Florida Statutes, are amended to read: 3124 

456.072 Grounds for discipline; penalties; enforcement.— 3125 

(1) The following acts shall constitute grounds for which 3126 

the disciplinary actions specified in subsection (2) may be 3127 

taken: 3128 

(ee) With respect to making a personal injury protection or 3129 

an emergency care coverage claim as required by s. 627.736 or s. 3130 

627.7485, respectively, intentionally submitting a claim, 3131 

statement, or bill that has been “upcoded” as defined in s. 3132 

627.732 or s. 627.7482, as applicable. 3133 

(ff) With respect to making a personal injury protection or 3134 

an emergency care coverage claim as required by s. 627.736 or s. 3135 

627.7485, respectively, intentionally submitting a claim, 3136 

statement, or bill for payment of services that were not 3137 

rendered. 3138 

Section 41. Paragraph (o) of subsection (1) of section 3139 

626.9541, Florida Statutes, is amended to read: 3140 

626.9541 Unfair methods of competition and unfair or 3141 

deceptive acts or practices defined.— 3142 

(1) UNFAIR METHODS OF COMPETITION AND UNFAIR OR DECEPTIVE 3143 

ACTS.—The following are defined as unfair methods of competition 3144 

and unfair or deceptive acts or practices: 3145 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì344314|Î344314 

 

Page 110 of 146 

2/27/2012 3:22:20 PM 576-04091A-12 

(o) Illegal dealings in premiums; excess or reduced charges 3146 

for insurance.— 3147 

1. Knowingly collecting any sum as a premium or charge for 3148 

insurance, which is not then provided, or is not in due course 3149 

to be provided, subject to acceptance of the risk by the 3150 

insurer, by an insurance policy issued by an insurer as 3151 

permitted by this code. 3152 

2. Knowingly collecting as a premium or charge for 3153 

insurance any sum in excess of or less than the premium or 3154 

charge applicable to such insurance, in accordance with the 3155 

applicable classifications and rates as filed with and approved 3156 

by the office, and as specified in the policy; or, if in cases 3157 

when classifications, premiums, or rates are not required by 3158 

this code to be so filed and approved, premiums and charges 3159 

collected from a Florida resident in excess of or less than 3160 

those specified in the policy and as fixed by the insurer. This 3161 

provision may shall not be deemed to prohibit the charging and 3162 

collection, by surplus lines agents licensed under part VIII of 3163 

this chapter, of the amount of applicable state and federal 3164 

taxes, or fees as authorized by s. 626.916(4), in addition to 3165 

the premium required by the insurer or the charging and 3166 

collection, by licensed agents, of the exact amount of any 3167 

discount or other such fee charged by a credit card facility in 3168 

connection with the use of a credit card, as authorized by 3169 

subparagraph (q)3., in addition to the premium required by the 3170 

insurer. This subparagraph does shall not be construed to 3171 

prohibit collection of a premium for a universal life or a 3172 

variable or indeterminate value insurance policy made in 3173 

accordance with the terms of the contract. 3174 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì344314|Î344314 

 

Page 111 of 146 

2/27/2012 3:22:20 PM 576-04091A-12 

3.a. Imposing or requesting an additional premium for a 3175 

policy of motor vehicle liability, emergency care coverage, 3176 

personal injury protection, medical payment, or collision 3177 

insurance or any combination thereof or refusing to renew the 3178 

policy solely because the insured was involved in a motor 3179 

vehicle accident unless the insurer’s file contains information 3180 

from which the insurer in good faith determines that the insured 3181 

was substantially at fault in the accident. 3182 

a.b. An insurer which imposes and collects such a surcharge 3183 

or which refuses to renew such policy shall, in conjunction with 3184 

the notice of premium due or notice of nonrenewal, notify the 3185 

named insured that he or she is entitled to reimbursement of 3186 

such amount or renewal of the policy under the conditions listed 3187 

below and will subsequently reimburse him or her or renew the 3188 

policy, if the named insured demonstrates that the operator 3189 

involved in the accident was: 3190 

(I) Lawfully parked; 3191 

(II) Reimbursed by, or on behalf of, a person responsible 3192 

for the accident or has a judgment against such person; 3193 

(III) Struck in the rear by another vehicle headed in the 3194 

same direction and was not convicted of a moving traffic 3195 

violation in connection with the accident; 3196 

(IV) Hit by a “hit-and-run” driver, if the accident was 3197 

reported to the proper authorities within 24 hours after 3198 

discovering the accident; 3199 

(V) Not convicted of a moving traffic violation in 3200 

connection with the accident, but the operator of the other 3201 

automobile involved in such accident was convicted of a moving 3202 

traffic violation; 3203 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì344314|Î344314 

 

Page 112 of 146 

2/27/2012 3:22:20 PM 576-04091A-12 

(VI) Finally adjudicated not to be liable by a court of 3204 

competent jurisdiction; 3205 

(VII) In receipt of a traffic citation that which was 3206 

dismissed or nolle prossed; or 3207 

(VIII) Not at fault as evidenced by a written statement 3208 

from the insured establishing facts demonstrating lack of fault 3209 

which are not rebutted by information in the insurer’s file from 3210 

which the insurer in good faith determines that the insured was 3211 

substantially at fault. 3212 

b.c. In addition to the other provisions of this 3213 

subparagraph, an insurer may not fail to renew a policy if the 3214 

insured has had only one accident in which he or she was at 3215 

fault within the current 3-year period. However, an insurer may 3216 

nonrenew a policy for reasons other than accidents in accordance 3217 

with s. 627.728. This subparagraph does not prohibit nonrenewal 3218 

of a policy under which the insured has had three or more 3219 

accidents, regardless of fault, during the most recent 3-year 3220 

period. 3221 

4. Imposing or requesting an additional premium for, or 3222 

refusing to renew, a policy for motor vehicle insurance solely 3223 

because the insured committed a noncriminal traffic infraction 3224 

as described in s. 318.14 unless the infraction is: 3225 

a. A second infraction committed within an 18-month period, 3226 

or a third or subsequent infraction committed within a 36-month 3227 

period. 3228 

b. A violation of s. 316.183, if when such violation is a 3229 

result of exceeding the lawful speed limit by more than 15 miles 3230 

per hour. 3231 

5. Upon the request of the insured, the insurer and 3232 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì344314|Î344314 

 

Page 113 of 146 

2/27/2012 3:22:20 PM 576-04091A-12 

licensed agent shall supply to the insured the complete proof of 3233 

fault or other criteria which justifies the additional charge or 3234 

cancellation. 3235 

6. Imposing or requesting No insurer shall impose or 3236 

request an additional premium for motor vehicle insurance, 3237 

cancelling or refusing cancel or refuse to issue a policy, or 3238 

refusing refuse to renew a policy because the insured or the 3239 

applicant is a handicapped or physically disabled person if, so 3240 

long as such handicap or physical disability does not 3241 

substantially impair such person’s mechanically assisted driving 3242 

ability. 3243 

7. Cancelling No insurer may cancel or otherwise 3244 

terminating an terminate any insurance contract or coverage, or 3245 

requiring require execution of a consent to rate endorsement, 3246 

during the stated policy term for the purpose of offering to 3247 

issue, or issuing, a similar or identical contract or coverage 3248 

to the same insured with the same exposure at a higher premium 3249 

rate or continuing an existing contract or coverage with the 3250 

same exposure at an increased premium. 3251 

8. Issuing No insurer may issue a nonrenewal notice on any 3252 

insurance contract or coverage, or requiring require execution 3253 

of a consent to rate endorsement, for the purpose of offering to 3254 

issue, or issuing, a similar or identical contract or coverage 3255 

to the same insured at a higher premium rate or continuing an 3256 

existing contract or coverage at an increased premium without 3257 

meeting any applicable notice requirements. 3258 

9. No insurer shall, With respect to premiums charged for 3259 

motor vehicle insurance, unfairly discriminating discriminate 3260 

solely on the basis of age, sex, marital status, or scholastic 3261 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì344314|Î344314 

 

Page 114 of 146 

2/27/2012 3:22:20 PM 576-04091A-12 

achievement. 3262 

10. Imposing or requesting an additional premium for motor 3263 

vehicle comprehensive or uninsured motorist coverage solely 3264 

because the insured was involved in a motor vehicle accident or 3265 

was convicted of a moving traffic violation. 3266 

11. Cancelling or issuing No insurer shall cancel or issue 3267 

a nonrenewal notice on any insurance policy or contract without 3268 

complying with any applicable cancellation or nonrenewal 3269 

provision required under the Florida Insurance Code. 3270 

12. Imposing or requesting No insurer shall impose or 3271 

request an additional premium, cancelling cancel a policy, or 3272 

issuing issue a nonrenewal notice on any insurance policy or 3273 

contract because of any traffic infraction when adjudication has 3274 

been withheld and no points have been assessed pursuant to s. 3275 

318.14(9) and (10). However, this subparagraph does not apply to 3276 

traffic infractions involving accidents in which the insurer has 3277 

incurred a loss due to the fault of the insured. 3278 

Section 42. Subsection (5) of section 626.9894, Florida 3279 

Statutes, is amended to read: 3280 

626.9894 Gifts and grants.— 3281 

(5) Notwithstanding the provisions of s. 216.301 and 3282 

pursuant to s. 216.351, any balance of moneys deposited into the 3283 

Insurance Regulatory Trust Fund pursuant to this section or s. 3284 

626.9895 remaining at the end of any fiscal year is shall be 3285 

available for carrying out the duties and responsibilities of 3286 

the division. The department may request annual appropriations 3287 

from the grants and donations received pursuant to this section 3288 

or s. 626.9895 and cash balances in the Insurance Regulatory 3289 

Trust Fund for the purpose of carrying out its duties and 3290 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì344314|Î344314 

 

Page 115 of 146 

2/27/2012 3:22:20 PM 576-04091A-12 

responsibilities related to the division’s anti-fraud efforts, 3291 

including the funding of dedicated prosecutors and related 3292 

personnel. 3293 

Section 43. Subsection (1) of section 627.06501, Florida 3294 

Statutes, is amended to read: 3295 

627.06501 Insurance discounts for certain persons 3296 

completing driver improvement course.— 3297 

(1) Any rate, rating schedule, or rating manual for the 3298 

liability, emergency care coverage, personal injury protection, 3299 

and collision coverages of a motor vehicle insurance policy 3300 

filed with the office may provide for an appropriate reduction 3301 

in premium charges as to such coverages if when the principal 3302 

operator on the covered vehicle has successfully completed a 3303 

driver improvement course approved and certified by the 3304 

Department of Highway Safety and Motor Vehicles which is 3305 

effective in reducing crash or violation rates, or both, as 3306 

determined pursuant to s. 318.1451(5). Any discount, not to 3307 

exceed 10 percent, used by an insurer is presumed to be 3308 

appropriate unless credible data demonstrates otherwise. 3309 

Section 44. Subsection (1) of section 627.0652, Florida 3310 

Statutes, is amended to read: 3311 

627.0652 Insurance discounts for certain persons completing 3312 

safety course.— 3313 

(1) Any rates, rating schedules, or rating manuals for the 3314 

liability, emergency care coverage, personal injury protection, 3315 

and collision coverages of a motor vehicle insurance policy 3316 

filed with the office must shall provide for an appropriate 3317 

reduction in premium charges as to such coverages if when the 3318 

principal operator on the covered vehicle is an insured 55 years 3319 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì344314|Î344314 

 

Page 116 of 146 

2/27/2012 3:22:20 PM 576-04091A-12 

of age or older who has successfully completed a motor vehicle 3320 

accident prevention course approved by the Department of Highway 3321 

Safety and Motor Vehicles. Any discount used by an insurer is 3322 

presumed to be appropriate unless credible data demonstrates 3323 

otherwise. 3324 

Section 45. Subsections (1) and (3) of section 627.0653, 3325 

Florida Statutes, are amended to read: 3326 

627.0653 Insurance discounts for specified motor vehicle 3327 

equipment.— 3328 

(1) Any rates, rating schedules, or rating manuals for the 3329 

liability, emergency care coverage, personal injury protection, 3330 

and collision coverages of a motor vehicle insurance policy 3331 

filed with the office must shall provide a premium discount if 3332 

the insured vehicle is equipped with factory-installed, four-3333 

wheel antilock brakes. 3334 

(3) Any rates, rating schedules, or rating manuals for 3335 

emergency care coverage, personal injury protection coverage, 3336 

and medical payments coverage, if offered, of a motor vehicle 3337 

insurance policy filed with the office shall provide a premium 3338 

discount if the insured vehicle is equipped with one or more air 3339 

bags that which are factory installed. 3340 

Section 46. Section 627.4132, Florida Statutes, is amended 3341 

to read: 3342 

627.4132 Stacking of coverages prohibited.—If an insured or 3343 

named insured is protected by any type of motor vehicle 3344 

insurance policy for liability, emergency care coverage, 3345 

personal injury protection, or other coverage, the policy must 3346 

shall provide that the insured or named insured is protected 3347 

only to the extent of the coverage she or he has on the vehicle 3348 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì344314|Î344314 

 

Page 117 of 146 

2/27/2012 3:22:20 PM 576-04091A-12 

involved in the accident. However, if none of the insured’s or 3349 

named insured’s vehicles is involved in the accident, coverage 3350 

is available only to the extent of coverage on any one of the 3351 

vehicles with applicable coverage. Coverage on any other 3352 

vehicles may shall not be added to or stacked upon that 3353 

coverage. This section does not apply: 3354 

(1) To uninsured motorist coverage that which is separately 3355 

governed by s. 627.727. 3356 

(2) To reduce the coverage available by reason of insurance 3357 

policies insuring different named insureds. 3358 

Section 47. Subsection (6) of section 627.6482, Florida 3359 

Statutes, is amended to read: 3360 

627.6482 Definitions.—As used in ss. 627.648-627.6498, the 3361 

term: 3362 

(6) “Health insurance” means any hospital and medical 3363 

expense incurred policy, minimum premium plan, stop-loss 3364 

coverage, health maintenance organization contract, prepaid 3365 

health clinic contract, multiple-employer welfare arrangement 3366 

contract, or fraternal benefit society health benefits contract, 3367 

whether sold as an individual or group policy or contract. The 3368 

term does not include a any policy covering medical payment 3369 

coverage or emergency care coverage or personal injury 3370 

protection coverage in a motor vehicle policy, coverage issued 3371 

as a supplement to liability insurance, or workers’ 3372 

compensation. 3373 

Section 48. Section 627.7263, Florida Statutes, is amended 3374 

to read: 3375 

627.7263 Rental and leasing driver driver’s insurance to be 3376 

primary; exception.— 3377 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì344314|Î344314 

 

Page 118 of 146 

2/27/2012 3:22:20 PM 576-04091A-12 

(1) The valid and collectible liability insurance, 3378 

emergency care coverage insurance, or personal injury protection 3379 

insurance providing coverage for the lessor of a motor vehicle 3380 

for rent or lease is primary unless otherwise stated in at least 3381 

10-point type on the face of the rental or lease agreement. Such 3382 

insurance is primary for the limits of liability and personal 3383 

injury protection or emergency care coverage as required by s. 3384 

ss. 324.021(7) and either s. 627.736 or s. 627.7485, as 3385 

applicable. 3386 

(2) If the lessee’s coverage is to be primary, the rental 3387 

or lease agreement must contain the following language, in at 3388 

least 10-point type: 3389 

 3390 

“The valid and collectible liability insurance and 3391 

personal injury protection insurance or emergency care 3392 

coverage insurance, as applicable, of an any 3393 

authorized rental or leasing driver is primary for the 3394 

limits of liability and personal injury protection or 3395 

emergency care coverage required by s. ss. 324.021(7) 3396 

and either s. 627.736 or s. 627.7485, Florida 3397 

Statutes, as applicable.” 3398 

 3399 

Section 49. Subsections (1) and (7) of section 627.727, 3400 

Florida Statutes, are amended to read: 3401 

627.727 Motor vehicle insurance; uninsured and underinsured 3402 

vehicle coverage; insolvent insurer protection.— 3403 

(1) A No motor vehicle liability insurance policy which 3404 

provides bodily injury liability coverage may not shall be 3405 

delivered or issued for delivery in this state with respect to 3406 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì344314|Î344314 

 

Page 119 of 146 

2/27/2012 3:22:20 PM 576-04091A-12 

any specifically insured or identified motor vehicle registered 3407 

or principally garaged in this state unless uninsured motor 3408 

vehicle coverage is provided therein or supplemental thereto for 3409 

the protection of persons insured thereunder who are legally 3410 

entitled to recover damages from owners or operators of 3411 

uninsured motor vehicles because of bodily injury, sickness, or 3412 

disease, including death, resulting therefrom. However, the 3413 

coverage required under this section is not applicable if when, 3414 

or to the extent that, an insured named in the policy makes a 3415 

written rejection of the coverage on behalf of all insureds 3416 

under the policy. If When a motor vehicle is leased for a period 3417 

of 1 year or longer and the lessor of such vehicle, by the terms 3418 

of the lease contract, provides liability coverage on the leased 3419 

vehicle, the lessee of such vehicle shall have the sole 3420 

privilege to reject uninsured motorist coverage or to select 3421 

lower limits than the bodily injury liability limits, regardless 3422 

of whether the lessor is qualified as a self-insurer pursuant to 3423 

s. 324.171. Unless an insured, or lessee having the privilege of 3424 

rejecting uninsured motorist coverage, requests such coverage or 3425 

requests higher uninsured motorist limits in writing, the 3426 

coverage or such higher uninsured motorist limits need not be 3427 

provided in or supplemental to any other policy that which 3428 

renews, extends, changes, supersedes, or replaces an existing 3429 

policy with the same bodily injury liability limits if when an 3430 

insured or lessee had rejected the coverage. If When an insured 3431 

or lessee has initially selected limits of uninsured motorist 3432 

coverage lower than her or his bodily injury liability limits, 3433 

higher limits of uninsured motorist coverage need not be 3434 

provided in or supplemental to any other policy that which 3435 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì344314|Î344314 

 

Page 120 of 146 

2/27/2012 3:22:20 PM 576-04091A-12 

renews, extends, changes, supersedes, or replaces an existing 3436 

policy with the same bodily injury liability limits unless an 3437 

insured requests higher uninsured motorist coverage in writing. 3438 

The rejection or selection of lower limits shall be made on a 3439 

form approved by the office. The form must shall fully advise 3440 

the applicant of the nature of the coverage and shall state that 3441 

the coverage is equal to bodily injury liability limits unless 3442 

lower limits are requested or the coverage is rejected. The 3443 

heading of the form must shall be in 12-point bold type and 3444 

shall state: “You are electing not to purchase certain valuable 3445 

coverage that which protects you and your family or you are 3446 

purchasing uninsured motorist limits less than your bodily 3447 

injury liability limits when you sign this form. Please read 3448 

carefully.” If this form is signed by a named insured, it will 3449 

be conclusively presumed that there was an informed, knowing 3450 

rejection of coverage or election of lower limits on behalf of 3451 

all insureds. The insurer shall notify the named insured at 3452 

least annually of her or his options as to the coverage required 3453 

by this section. Such notice must shall be part of, and attached 3454 

to, the notice of premium, shall provide for a means to allow 3455 

the insured to request such coverage, and shall be given in a 3456 

manner approved by the office. Receipt of this notice does not 3457 

constitute an affirmative waiver of the insured’s right to 3458 

uninsured motorist coverage if where the insured has not signed 3459 

a selection or rejection form. The coverage described under this 3460 

section shall be over and above, but may shall not duplicate, 3461 

the benefits available to an insured under any workers’ 3462 

compensation law, emergency care coverage or personal injury 3463 

protection benefits, disability benefits law, or similar law; 3464 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì344314|Î344314 

 

Page 121 of 146 

2/27/2012 3:22:20 PM 576-04091A-12 

under any automobile medical expense coverage; under any motor 3465 

vehicle liability insurance coverage; or from the owner or 3466 

operator of the uninsured motor vehicle or any other person or 3467 

organization jointly or severally liable together with such 3468 

owner or operator for the accident; and such coverage must shall 3469 

cover the difference, if any, between the sum of such benefits 3470 

and the damages sustained, up to the maximum amount of such 3471 

coverage provided under this section. The amount of coverage 3472 

available under this section may shall not be reduced by a 3473 

setoff against any coverage, including liability insurance. Such 3474 

coverage may shall not inure directly or indirectly to the 3475 

benefit of any workers’ compensation or disability benefits 3476 

carrier or any person or organization qualifying as a self-3477 

insurer under any workers’ compensation or disability benefits 3478 

law or similar law. 3479 

(7) The legal liability of an uninsured motorist coverage 3480 

insurer does not include damages in tort for pain, suffering, 3481 

mental anguish, and inconvenience unless the injury or disease 3482 

is described in one or more of paragraphs (a)-(d) of s. 3483 

627.737(2) or paragraphs (a)-(d) of s. 627.7486(2). 3484 

Section 50. Subsection (1) of section 627.7275, Florida 3485 

Statutes, is amended to read: 3486 

627.7275 Motor vehicle liability.— 3487 

(1) A motor vehicle insurance policy providing personal 3488 

injury protection as set forth in s. 627.736 or emergency care 3489 

coverage as set forth in s. 627.7485 may not be delivered or 3490 

issued for delivery in this state with respect to any 3491 

specifically insured or identified motor vehicle registered or 3492 

principally garaged in this state unless the policy also 3493 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì344314|Î344314 

 

Page 122 of 146 

2/27/2012 3:22:20 PM 576-04091A-12 

provides coverage for property damage liability as required by 3494 

s. 324.022. 3495 

Section 51. Paragraph (a) of subsection (1) of section 3496 

627.728, Florida Statutes, is amended to read: 3497 

627.728 Cancellations; nonrenewals.— 3498 

(1) As used in this section, the term: 3499 

(a) “Policy” means the bodily injury and property damage 3500 

liability, emergency care coverage, personal injury protection, 3501 

medical payments, comprehensive, collision, and uninsured 3502 

motorist coverage portions of a policy of motor vehicle 3503 

insurance delivered or issued for delivery in this state: 3504 

1. Insuring a natural person as named insured or one or 3505 

more related individuals resident of the same household; and 3506 

2. Insuring only a motor vehicle of the private passenger 3507 

type or station wagon type which is not used as a public or 3508 

livery conveyance for passengers or rented to others; or 3509 

insuring any other four-wheel motor vehicle having a load 3510 

capacity of 1,500 pounds or less which is not used in the 3511 

occupation, profession, or business of the insured other than 3512 

farming; other than any policy issued under an automobile 3513 

insurance assigned risk plan; insuring more than four 3514 

automobiles; or covering garage, automobile sales agency, repair 3515 

shop, service station, or public parking place operation 3516 

hazards. 3517 

 3518 

The term “policy” does not include a binder as defined in s. 3519 

627.420 unless the duration of the binder period exceeds 60 3520 

days. 3521 

Section 52. Subsection (1), paragraph (a) of subsection 3522 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì344314|Î344314 

 

Page 123 of 146 

2/27/2012 3:22:20 PM 576-04091A-12 

(5), and subsections (6) and (7) of section 627.7295, Florida 3523 

Statutes, are amended to read: 3524 

627.7295 Motor vehicle insurance contracts.— 3525 

(1) As used in this section, the term: 3526 

(a) “Policy” means a motor vehicle insurance policy that 3527 

provides personal injury protection or emergency care coverage, 3528 

or property damage liability coverage, or both. 3529 

(b) “Binder” means a binder that provides motor vehicle 3530 

personal injury protection or emergency care coverage and 3531 

property damage liability coverage. 3532 

(5)(a) A licensed general lines agent may charge a per-3533 

policy fee of up to not to exceed $10 to cover the 3534 

administrative costs of the agent associated with selling the 3535 

motor vehicle insurance policy if the policy covers only 3536 

personal injury protection or emergency care coverage as 3537 

provided by s. 627.736 or s. 627.7485, as applicable, and 3538 

property damage liability coverage as provided by s. 627.7275 3539 

and if no other insurance is sold or issued in conjunction with 3540 

or collateral to the policy. The fee is not considered part of 3541 

the premium. 3542 

(6) If a motor vehicle owner’s driver license, license 3543 

plate, and registration have previously been suspended pursuant 3544 

to s. 316.646, or s. 627.733, or s. 627.7483, an insurer may 3545 

cancel a new policy only as provided in s. 627.7275. 3546 

(7) A policy of private passenger motor vehicle insurance 3547 

or a binder for such a policy may be initially issued in this 3548 

state only if, before the effective date of such binder or 3549 

policy, the insurer or agent has collected from the insured an 3550 

amount equal to 2 months’ premium. An insurer, agent, or premium 3551 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì344314|Î344314 

 

Page 124 of 146 

2/27/2012 3:22:20 PM 576-04091A-12 

finance company may not, directly or indirectly, take any action 3552 

resulting in the insured paying having paid from the insured’s 3553 

own funds an amount less than the 2 months’ premium required by 3554 

this subsection. This subsection applies without regard to 3555 

whether the premium is financed by a premium finance company or 3556 

is paid pursuant to a periodic payment plan of an insurer or an 3557 

insurance agent. 3558 

(a) This subsection does not apply: 3559 

1. If an insured or member of the insured’s family is 3560 

renewing or replacing a policy or a binder for such policy 3561 

written by the same insurer or a member of the same insurer 3562 

group. This subsection does not apply 3563 

2. To an insurer that issues private passenger motor 3564 

vehicle coverage primarily to active duty or former military 3565 

personnel or their dependents. This subsection does not apply 3566 

3. If all policy payments are paid pursuant to a payroll 3567 

deduction plan or an automatic electronic funds transfer payment 3568 

plan from the policyholder. 3569 

(b) This subsection and subsection (4) do not apply 3570 

1. If all policy payments to an insurer are paid pursuant 3571 

to an automatic electronic funds transfer payment plan from an 3572 

agent, a managing general agent, or a premium finance company 3573 

and if the policy includes, at a minimum, personal injury 3574 

protection or emergency care coverage pursuant to ss. 627.730-3575 

627.7405 or ss. 627.748-627.7491, as applicable; motor vehicle 3576 

property damage liability pursuant to s. 627.7275; and bodily 3577 

injury liability in at least the amount of $10,000 because of 3578 

bodily injury to, or death of, one person in any one accident 3579 

and in the amount of $20,000 because of bodily injury to, or 3580 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì344314|Î344314 

 

Page 125 of 146 

2/27/2012 3:22:20 PM 576-04091A-12 

death of, two or more persons in any one accident. This 3581 

subsection and subsection (4) do not apply 3582 

2. If an insured has had a policy in effect for at least 6 3583 

months, the insured’s agent is terminated by the insurer that 3584 

issued the policy, and the insured obtains coverage on the 3585 

policy’s renewal date with a new company through the terminated 3586 

agent. 3587 

Section 53. Subsections (1), (2), and (3) of section 3588 

627.737, Florida Statutes, are amended to read: 3589 

627.737 Tort exemption; limitation on right to damages; 3590 

punitive damages.— 3591 

(1) Every owner, registrant, operator, or occupant of a 3592 

motor vehicle with respect to which security has been provided 3593 

as required by ss. 627.730-627.7405 or ss. 627.748-627.7491, as 3594 

applicable, and every person or organization legally responsible 3595 

for her or his acts or omissions, is hereby exempted from tort 3596 

liability for damages because of bodily injury, sickness, or 3597 

disease arising out of the ownership, operation, maintenance, or 3598 

use of such motor vehicle in this state to the extent that the 3599 

benefits described in s. 627.736(1) or s. 627.7485(1), as 3600 

applicable, are payable for such injury, or would be payable but 3601 

for any exclusion authorized by ss. 627.730-627.7405 or ss. 3602 

627.748-627.7491, as applicable, under any insurance policy or 3603 

other method of security complying with the requirements of s. 3604 

627.733, or by an owner personally liable under s. 627.733 for 3605 

the payment of such benefits, unless a person is entitled to 3606 

maintain an action for pain, suffering, mental anguish, and 3607 

inconvenience for such injury under the provisions of subsection 3608 

(2). 3609 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì344314|Î344314 

 

Page 126 of 146 

2/27/2012 3:22:20 PM 576-04091A-12 

(2) In any action of tort brought against the owner, 3610 

registrant, operator, or occupant of a motor vehicle with 3611 

respect to which security has been provided as required by ss. 3612 

627.730-627.7405 or ss. 627.748-627.7491, as applicable, or 3613 

against any person or organization legally responsible for her 3614 

or his acts or omissions, a plaintiff may recover damages in 3615 

tort for pain, suffering, mental anguish, and inconvenience 3616 

because of bodily injury, sickness, or disease arising out of 3617 

the ownership, maintenance, operation, or use of such motor 3618 

vehicle only if in the event that the injury or disease consists 3619 

in whole or in part of: 3620 

(a) Significant and permanent loss of an important bodily 3621 

function. 3622 

(b) Permanent injury within a reasonable degree of medical 3623 

probability, other than scarring or disfigurement. 3624 

(c) Significant and permanent scarring or disfigurement. 3625 

(d) Death. 3626 

(3) If When a defendant, in a proceeding brought pursuant 3627 

to ss. 627.730-627.7405 or ss. 627.748-627.7491, as applicable, 3628 

questions whether the plaintiff has met the requirements of 3629 

subsection (2), then the defendant may file an appropriate 3630 

motion with the court, and the court shall, on a one-time basis 3631 

only, 30 days before the date set for the trial or the pretrial 3632 

hearing, whichever is first, by examining the pleadings and the 3633 

evidence before it, ascertain whether the plaintiff will be able 3634 

to submit some evidence that the plaintiff will meet the 3635 

requirements of subsection (2). If the court finds that the 3636 

plaintiff will not be able to submit such evidence, then the 3637 

court shall dismiss the plaintiff’s claim without prejudice. 3638 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì344314|Î344314 

 

Page 127 of 146 

2/27/2012 3:22:20 PM 576-04091A-12 

Section 54. Section 627.8405, Florida Statutes, is amended 3639 

to read: 3640 

627.8405 Prohibited acts; financing companies.—A No premium 3641 

finance company shall, in a premium finance agreement or other 3642 

agreement, may not finance the cost of or otherwise provide for 3643 

the collection or remittance of dues, assessments, fees, or 3644 

other periodic payments of money for the cost of: 3645 

(1) A membership in an automobile club. The term 3646 

“automobile club” means a legal entity that which, in 3647 

consideration of dues, assessments, or periodic payments of 3648 

money, promises its members or subscribers to assist them in 3649 

matters relating to the ownership, operation, use, or 3650 

maintenance of a motor vehicle; however, this definition of 3651 

“automobile club” does not include persons, associations, or 3652 

corporations that which are organized and operated solely for 3653 

the purpose of conducting, sponsoring, or sanctioning motor 3654 

vehicle races, exhibitions, or contests upon racetracks, or upon 3655 

racecourses established and marked as such for the duration of 3656 

such particular events. The term words “motor vehicle” has used 3657 

herein have the same meaning as provided defined in s. 320.01 3658 

chapter 320. 3659 

(2) An accidental death and dismemberment policy sold in 3660 

combination with a personal injury protection and property 3661 

damage only policy or an emergency care and property damage only 3662 

policy, as applicable. 3663 

(3) Any product not regulated under the provisions of this 3664 

insurance code. 3665 

 3666 

This section also applies to premium financing by any insurance 3667 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì344314|Î344314 

 

Page 128 of 146 

2/27/2012 3:22:20 PM 576-04091A-12 

agent or insurance company under part XVI. The commission shall 3668 

adopt rules to assure disclosure, at the time of sale, of 3669 

coverages financed with personal injury protection or emergency 3670 

care coverage and shall prescribe the form of such disclosure. 3671 

Section 55. Subsection (1) of section 627.915, Florida 3672 

Statutes, is amended to read: 3673 

627.915 Insurer experience reporting.— 3674 

(1) Each insurer transacting private passenger automobile 3675 

insurance in this state shall report certain information 3676 

annually to the office. The information is will be due on or 3677 

before July 1 of each year. The information shall be divided 3678 

into the following categories: bodily injury liability; property 3679 

damage liability; uninsured motorist; emergency care coverage or 3680 

personal injury protection benefits; medical payments; 3681 

comprehensive and collision. The information given must shall be 3682 

on direct insurance writings in the state alone and shall 3683 

represent total limits data. The information set forth in 3684 

paragraphs (a)-(f) is applicable to voluntary private passenger 3685 

and Joint Underwriting Association private passenger writings 3686 

and must shall be reported for each of the latest 3 calendar-3687 

accident years, with an evaluation date of March 31 of the 3688 

current year. The information set forth in paragraphs (g)-(j) is 3689 

applicable to voluntary private passenger writings and must 3690 

shall be reported on a calendar-accident year basis ultimately 3691 

seven times at seven different stages of development. 3692 

(a) Premiums earned for the latest 3 calendar-accident 3693 

years. 3694 

(b) Loss development factors and the historic development 3695 

of those factors. 3696 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì344314|Î344314 

 

Page 129 of 146 

2/27/2012 3:22:20 PM 576-04091A-12 

(c) Policyholder dividends incurred. 3697 

(d) Expenses for other acquisition and general expense. 3698 

(e) Expenses for agents’ commissions and taxes, licenses, 3699 

and fees. 3700 

(f) Profit and contingency factors as used utilized in the 3701 

insurer’s automobile rate filings for the applicable years. 3702 

(g) Losses paid. 3703 

(h) Losses unpaid. 3704 

(i) Loss adjustment expenses paid. 3705 

(j) Loss adjustment expenses unpaid. 3706 

Section 56. Paragraph (d) of subsection (2) and paragraph 3707 

(d) of subsection (3) of section 628.909, Florida Statutes, are 3708 

amended to read: 3709 

628.909 Applicability of other laws.— 3710 

(2) The following provisions of the Florida Insurance Code 3711 

shall apply to captive insurers who are not industrial insured 3712 

captive insurers to the extent that such provisions are not 3713 

inconsistent with this part: 3714 

(d) Sections 627.730-627.7405 or ss. 627.748-627.7491, as 3715 

applicable, if when no-fault coverage is provided. 3716 

(3) The following provisions of the Florida Insurance Code 3717 

shall apply to industrial insured captive insurers to the extent 3718 

that such provisions are not inconsistent with this part: 3719 

(d) Sections 627.730-627.7405 or ss. 627.748-627.7491, as 3720 

applicable, if when no-fault coverage is provided. 3721 

Section 57. Subsections (2) and (6) and paragraphs (a), 3722 

(c), and (d) of subsection (7) of section 705.184, Florida 3723 

Statutes, are amended to read: 3724 

705.184 Derelict or abandoned motor vehicles on the 3725 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì344314|Î344314 

 

Page 130 of 146 

2/27/2012 3:22:20 PM 576-04091A-12 

premises of public-use airports.— 3726 

(2) The airport director or the director’s designee shall 3727 

contact the Department of Highway Safety and Motor Vehicles to 3728 

notify that department that the airport has possession of the 3729 

abandoned or derelict motor vehicle and to determine the name 3730 

and address of the owner of the motor vehicle, the insurance 3731 

company insuring the motor vehicle, notwithstanding the 3732 

provisions of s. 627.736 or s. 627.7485, as applicable, and any 3733 

person who has filed a lien on the motor vehicle. Within 7 3734 

business days after receipt of the information, the director or 3735 

the director’s designee shall send notice by certified mail, 3736 

return receipt requested, to the owner of the motor vehicle, the 3737 

insurance company insuring the motor vehicle, notwithstanding 3738 

the provisions of s. 627.736 or s. 627.7485, as applicable, and 3739 

all persons of record claiming a lien against the motor vehicle. 3740 

The notice must shall state the fact of possession of the motor 3741 

vehicle, that charges for reasonable towing, storage, and 3742 

parking fees, if any, have accrued and the amount thereof, that 3743 

a lien as provided in subsection (6) will be claimed, that the 3744 

lien is subject to enforcement pursuant to law, that the owner 3745 

or lienholder, if any, has the right to a hearing as set forth 3746 

in subsection (4), and that any motor vehicle that which, at the 3747 

end of 30 calendar days after receipt of the notice, has not 3748 

been removed from the airport upon payment in full of all 3749 

accrued charges for reasonable towing, storage, and parking 3750 

fees, if any, may be disposed of as provided in s. 3751 

705.182(2)(a), (b), (d), or (e), including, but not limited to, 3752 

the motor vehicle being sold free of all prior liens after 35 3753 

calendar days after the time the motor vehicle is stored if any 3754 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì344314|Î344314 

 

Page 131 of 146 

2/27/2012 3:22:20 PM 576-04091A-12 

prior liens on the motor vehicle are more than 5 years of age or 3755 

after 50 calendar days after the time the motor vehicle is 3756 

stored if any prior liens on the motor vehicle are 5 years of 3757 

age or less. 3758 

(6) The airport pursuant to this section or, if used, a 3759 

licensed independent wrecker company pursuant to s. 713.78 shall 3760 

have a lien on an abandoned or derelict motor vehicle for all 3761 

reasonable towing, storage, and accrued parking fees, if any, 3762 

except that a no storage fee may not shall be charged if the 3763 

motor vehicle is stored less than 6 hours. As a prerequisite to 3764 

perfecting a lien under this section, the airport director or 3765 

the director’s designee must serve a notice in accordance with 3766 

subsection (2) on the owner of the motor vehicle, the insurance 3767 

company insuring the motor vehicle, notwithstanding the 3768 

provisions of s. 627.736 or s. 627.7485, as applicable, and all 3769 

persons of record claiming a lien against the motor vehicle. If 3770 

attempts to notify the owner, the insurance company insuring the 3771 

motor vehicle, notwithstanding the provisions of s. 627.736, or 3772 

lienholders are not successful, the requirement of notice by 3773 

mail shall be considered met. Serving of the notice does not 3774 

dispense with recording the claim of lien. 3775 

(7)(a) For the purpose of perfecting its lien under this 3776 

section, the airport shall record a claim of lien which shall 3777 

state: 3778 

1. The name and address of the airport. 3779 

2. The name of the owner of the motor vehicle, the 3780 

insurance company insuring the motor vehicle, notwithstanding 3781 

the provisions of s. 627.736 or s. 627.7485, as applicable, and 3782 

all persons of record claiming a lien against the motor vehicle. 3783 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì344314|Î344314 

 

Page 132 of 146 

2/27/2012 3:22:20 PM 576-04091A-12 

3. The costs incurred from reasonable towing, storage, and 3784 

parking fees, if any. 3785 

4. A description of the motor vehicle sufficient for 3786 

identification. 3787 

(c) The claim of lien shall be sufficient if it is in 3788 

substantially the following form: 3789 

CLAIM OF LIEN 3790 

State of .... 3791 

County of .... 3792 

Before me, the undersigned notary public, personally 3793 

appeared ...., who was duly sworn and says that he/she is the 3794 

.... of ...., whose address is....; and that the following 3795 

described motor vehicle: 3796 

...(Description of motor vehicle)... 3797 

owned by ...., whose address is ...., has accrued $.... in 3798 

fees for a reasonable tow, for storage, and for parking, if 3799 

applicable; that the lienor served its notice to the owner, the 3800 

insurance company insuring the motor vehicle notwithstanding the 3801 

provisions of s. 627.736 or s. 627.7485, Florida Statutes, as 3802 

applicable, and all persons of record claiming a lien against 3803 

the motor vehicle on ...., ...(year)..., by..... 3804 

...(Signature)... 3805 

Sworn to (or affirmed) and subscribed before me this .... 3806 

day of ...., ...(year)..., by ...(name of person making 3807 

statement).... 3808 

...(Signature of Notary Public)......(Print, Type, or Stamp 3809 

Commissioned name of Notary Public)... 3810 

Personally Known....OR Produced....as identification. 3811 

 3812 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì344314|Î344314 

 

Page 133 of 146 

2/27/2012 3:22:20 PM 576-04091A-12 

However, the negligent inclusion or omission of any information 3813 

in this claim of lien which does not prejudice the owner does 3814 

not constitute a default that operates to defeat an otherwise 3815 

valid lien. 3816 

(d) The claim of lien shall be served on the owner of the 3817 

motor vehicle, the insurance company insuring the motor vehicle, 3818 

notwithstanding the provisions of s. 627.736 or s. 627.7485, as 3819 

applicable, if no-fault coverage is provided, and all persons of 3820 

record claiming a lien against the motor vehicle. If attempts to 3821 

notify the owner, the insurance company insuring the motor 3822 

vehicle notwithstanding the provisions of s. 627.736, or 3823 

lienholders are not successful, the requirement of notice by 3824 

mail shall be considered met. The claim of lien shall be so 3825 

served before recordation. 3826 

Section 58. Paragraphs (a), (b), and (c) of subsection (4) 3827 

of section 713.78, Florida Statutes, are amended to read: 3828 

713.78 Liens for recovering, towing, or storing vehicles 3829 

and vessels.— 3830 

(4)(a) Any person regularly engaged in the business of 3831 

recovering, towing, or storing vehicles or vessels who comes 3832 

into possession of a vehicle or vessel pursuant to subsection 3833 

(2), and who claims a lien for recovery, towing, or storage 3834 

services, must shall give notice to the registered owner, the 3835 

insurance company insuring the vehicle notwithstanding the 3836 

provisions of s. 627.736 or s. 627.7485, as applicable, and to 3837 

all persons claiming a lien thereon, as disclosed by the records 3838 

in the Department of Highway Safety and Motor Vehicles or of a 3839 

corresponding agency in any other state. 3840 

(b) If a Whenever any law enforcement agency authorizes the 3841 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì344314|Î344314 

 

Page 134 of 146 

2/27/2012 3:22:20 PM 576-04091A-12 

removal of a vehicle or vessel or if whenever any towing 3842 

service, garage, repair shop, or automotive service, storage, or 3843 

parking place notifies the law enforcement agency of possession 3844 

of a vehicle or vessel pursuant to s. 715.07(2)(a)2., the law 3845 

enforcement agency of the jurisdiction where the vehicle or 3846 

vessel is stored shall contact the Department of Highway Safety 3847 

and Motor Vehicles, or the appropriate agency of the state of 3848 

registration, if known, within 24 hours through the medium of 3849 

electronic communications, giving the full description of the 3850 

vehicle or vessel. Upon receipt of the full description of the 3851 

vehicle or vessel, the department shall search its files to 3852 

determine the owner’s name, the insurance company insuring the 3853 

vehicle or vessel, and whether any person has filed a lien upon 3854 

the vehicle or vessel as provided in s. 319.27(2) and (3) and 3855 

notify the applicable law enforcement agency within 72 hours. 3856 

The person in charge of the towing service, garage, repair shop, 3857 

or automotive service, storage, or parking place shall obtain 3858 

such information from the applicable law enforcement agency 3859 

within 5 days after the date of storage and shall give notice 3860 

pursuant to paragraph (a). The department may release the 3861 

insurance company information to the requestor notwithstanding 3862 

the provisions of s. 627.736 or s. 627.7485, as applicable. 3863 

(c) Notice by certified mail, return receipt requested, 3864 

shall be sent within 7 business days after the date of storage 3865 

of the vehicle or vessel to the registered owner, the insurance 3866 

company insuring the vehicle notwithstanding the provisions of 3867 

s. 627.736 or s. 627.7485, as applicable, and all persons of 3868 

record claiming a lien against the vehicle or vessel. The notice 3869 

must It shall state the fact of possession of the vehicle or 3870 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì344314|Î344314 

 

Page 135 of 146 

2/27/2012 3:22:20 PM 576-04091A-12 

vessel, that a lien as provided in subsection (2) is claimed, 3871 

that charges have accrued and the amount thereof, that the lien 3872 

is subject to enforcement pursuant to law, and that the owner or 3873 

lienholder, if any, has the right to a hearing as set forth in 3874 

subsection (5), and that any vehicle or vessel that which 3875 

remains unclaimed, or for which the charges for recovery, 3876 

towing, or storage services remain unpaid, may be sold free of 3877 

all prior liens after 35 days if the vehicle or vessel is more 3878 

than 3 years of age or after 50 days if the vehicle or vessel is 3879 

3 years of age or less. 3880 

Section 59. The Office of Insurance Regulation shall 3881 

perform a data call relating to coverage under the Florida Motor 3882 

Vehicle No-Fault Emergency Care Coverage Law and publish the 3883 

results by January 1, 2015. It is the intent of the Legislature 3884 

that the office design the data call with the expectation that 3885 

the Legislature will use the data to help evaluate market 3886 

conditions relating to motor vehicle insurance and the impact on 3887 

the market of reforms made by this act. The elements of the data 3888 

call must address, but need not be limited to, the following 3889 

components of the new law: 3890 

(1) Quantity of claims. 3891 

(2) Type or nature of claimants. 3892 

(3) Amount and type of benefits paid and expenses incurred. 3893 

(4) Type and quantity of, and charges for, medical 3894 

benefits. 3895 

(5) Attorney fees related to bringing and defending actions 3896 

for benefits. 3897 

(6) Direct earned premiums for emergency care coverage, 3898 

pure loss ratios, pure premiums, and other information related 3899 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì344314|Î344314 

 

Page 136 of 146 

2/27/2012 3:22:20 PM 576-04091A-12 

to premiums and losses. 3900 

(7) Licensed drivers and accidents. 3901 

(8) Fraud and enforcement. 3902 

Section 60. Any motor vehicle policy issued or renewed on 3903 

or after January 1, 2013, is subject to and deemed to 3904 

incorporate the Florida Motor Vehicle No-Fault Emergency Care 3905 

Coverage Law as created by this act and is not subject to ss. 3906 

627.730-627.7405, the Florida Motor Vehicle No-Fault Act. 3907 

Section 61. If any provision of this act or its application 3908 

to any person or circumstance is held invalid, the invalidity 3909 

does not affect other provisions or applications of the act 3910 

which can be given effect without the invalid provision or 3911 

application, and to this end the provisions of this act are 3912 

severable. 3913 

Section 62. This act shall take effect January 1, 2013. 3914 

 3915 

================= T I T L E  A M E N D M E N T ================ 3916 

And the title is amended as follows: 3917 

Delete lines 14 - 95 3918 

and insert: 3919 

injury protection and emergency care coverage 3920 

benefits; amending s. 400.991, F.S.; requiring that an 3921 

application for licensure, or exemption from 3922 

licensure, as a health care clinic include a statement 3923 

regarding insurance fraud; amending s. 626.989, F.S.; 3924 

providing that knowingly submitting false, misleading, 3925 

or fraudulent documents relating to licensure as a 3926 

health care clinic, or submitting a claim for personal 3927 

injury protection or emergency care coverage relating 3928 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì344314|Î344314 

 

Page 137 of 146 

2/27/2012 3:22:20 PM 576-04091A-12 

to clinic licensure documents, is a fraudulent 3929 

insurance act under certain conditions; creating s. 3930 

626.9895, F.S.; providing definitions; authorizing the 3931 

Division of Insurance Fraud of the Department of 3932 

Financial Services to establish a direct-support 3933 

organization for the purpose of prosecuting, 3934 

investigating, and preventing motor vehicle insurance 3935 

fraud; providing requirements for, and duties of, the 3936 

organization; requiring that the organization operate 3937 

pursuant to a contract with the division; providing 3938 

for the requirements of the contract; providing for a 3939 

board of directors; authorizing the organization to 3940 

use the division’s property and facilities subject to 3941 

certain requirements; requiring that the department 3942 

adopt rules relating to procedures for the 3943 

organization’s governance and relating to conditions 3944 

for the use of the division’s property or facilities; 3945 

authorizing contributions from insurers; authorizing 3946 

any moneys received by the organization to be held in 3947 

a separate depository account in the name of the 3948 

organization; requiring that the division deposit 3949 

certain proceeds into the Insurance Regulatory Trust 3950 

Fund; amending s. 627.0651, F.S.; prohibiting certain 3951 

costs and attorney fees awarded to plaintiffs in 3952 

claims for benefits under the motor vehicle no-fault 3953 

law from being included in insurance rates; amending 3954 

s. 627.733, F.S.; providing that an owner or 3955 

registrant of a motor vehicle does not have to comply 3956 

with this section if required security is obtained 3957 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì344314|Î344314 

 

Page 138 of 146 

2/27/2012 3:22:20 PM 576-04091A-12 

under the Florida Motor Vehicle No-Fault Emergency 3958 

Care Coverage Law; amending s. 627.736, F.S.; 3959 

excluding massage and acupuncture from medical 3960 

benefits that may be reimbursed under the motor 3961 

vehicle no-fault law; requiring that an insurer give 3962 

priority to the payment of death benefits under 3963 

certain conditions; deleting provisions prohibiting 3964 

the purchase of other motor vehicle coverage; 3965 

requiring that an insurer repay any benefits covered 3966 

by the Medicaid program within a specified time; 3967 

requiring that an insurer provide a claimant an 3968 

opportunity to revise claims that contain errors; 3969 

requiring that an insurer create and maintain a log of 3970 

benefits paid and that the insurer provide to the 3971 

insured or an assignee of the insured, upon request, a 3972 

copy of the log; requiring that an insurer notify 3973 

parties in disputes over claims when policy limits are 3974 

reached; revising the Medicare fee schedules that an 3975 

insurer may use as a basis for limiting reimbursement 3976 

of benefits; providing that the Medicare fee schedule 3977 

in effect on a specific date applies for purposes of 3978 

limiting such reimbursement; authorizing insurers to 3979 

apply certain Medicare coding policies and payment 3980 

methodologies; requiring that an insurer that limits 3981 

payments based on the statutory fee schedule include a 3982 

notice in insurance policies at the time of issuance 3983 

or renewal; deleting obsolete provisions; providing 3984 

that certain entities exempt from licensure as a 3985 

clinic must nonetheless be licensed to receive 3986 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì344314|Î344314 

 

Page 139 of 146 

2/27/2012 3:22:20 PM 576-04091A-12 

reimbursement for the provision of personal injury 3987 

protection benefits; providing exceptions; 3988 

consolidating provisions relating to unfair or 3989 

deceptive practices under certain conditions; 3990 

eliminating a requirement that all parties mutually 3991 

and expressly agree for the use of electronic 3992 

transmission of data; creating s. 627.748, F.S.; 3993 

designating specified provisions as the Florida Motor 3994 

Vehicle No-Fault Emergency Care Coverage Law; creating 3995 

s. 627.7481, F.S.; providing purposes; creating s. 3996 

627.74811, F.S.; providing legislative intent that 3997 

provisions, schedules, or procedures are to be given 3998 

full force and effect regardless of their express 3999 

inclusion in insurer forms; creating s. 627.7482, 4000 

F.S.; providing definitions; creating s. 627.7483, 4001 

F.S.; requiring every owner or registrant of a motor 4002 

vehicle required to be registered and licensed in this 4003 

state to maintain specified security; providing 4004 

exceptions; requiring every nonresident owner or 4005 

registrant of a motor vehicle that has been physically 4006 

present within this state for a specified period to 4007 

maintain security; specifying means by which such 4008 

security is provided; providing that an owner of a 4009 

motor vehicle who fails to have such security is not 4010 

immune to certain liabilities; providing an exemption; 4011 

creating s. 627.7484, F.S.; providing requirements for 4012 

filing and maintaining proof of security; providing 4013 

penalties; creating s. 627.7485, F.S.; requiring that 4014 

insurance policies provide emergency care coverage to 4015 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì344314|Î344314 

 

Page 140 of 146 

2/27/2012 3:22:20 PM 576-04091A-12 

specified persons; providing limits of coverage; 4016 

specifying limits for medical, disability, and death 4017 

benefits; providing restrictions on insurers with 4018 

respect to provision of required benefits; prohibiting 4019 

an insurer from requiring the purchase of other motor 4020 

vehicle coverage as a condition for providing such 4021 

benefits; prohibiting an insurer from requiring the 4022 

purchase of property damage liability insurance 4023 

exceeding a specified amount in conjunction with 4024 

emergency care coverage insurance; providing that 4025 

failure to comply with specified availability 4026 

requirements constitutes an unfair method of 4027 

competition or an unfair or deceptive act or practice; 4028 

providing penalties; authorizing an insurer to exclude 4029 

certain benefits; providing procedure with respect to 4030 

such exclusions; specifying when benefits are due from 4031 

an insurer; prohibiting insurers from obtaining liens 4032 

on recovery of special damages in tort claims for 4033 

emergency care coverage benefits; prohibiting an 4034 

insured party from recovering any damages for which 4035 

emergency care coverage benefits are paid or payable; 4036 

requiring that benefits received under any workers’ 4037 

compensation law be credited against the benefits 4038 

provided under the emergency care coverage; providing 4039 

that benefits under the Florida Motor Vehicle No-Fault 4040 

Emergency Care Coverage Law are subject to the 4041 

Medicaid program in specified circumstances; 4042 

specifying injuries for which an insurer must pay 4043 

benefits; providing for notice to insurers; requiring 4044 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì344314|Î344314 

 

Page 141 of 146 

2/27/2012 3:22:20 PM 576-04091A-12 

insurers to hold a specified amount of benefits in 4045 

reserve for a certain time for the payment of 4046 

providers; requiring that an insurer create and 4047 

maintain a log of benefits paid and that the insurer 4048 

provide to the insured or an assignee of the insured, 4049 

upon request, a copy of the log; specifying when 4050 

benefits are overdue; providing for interest on 4051 

overdue payments; authorizing an insurer to make 4052 

certain assertions about a claim; requiring an insurer 4053 

to provide an itemized specification of each item of a 4054 

claim which has been reduced, omitted, or denied; 4055 

providing that payment is not overdue if the insurer 4056 

has reasonable proof that the insurer is not 4057 

responsible for the payment; providing for a pro rata 4058 

distribution of benefits paid and expenses if there 4059 

are two or more insurers; requiring that an insurer 4060 

notify parties in disputes over claims when policy 4061 

limits are reached; providing for tolling the time 4062 

period in which benefits are required to be paid when 4063 

the insurer has reasonable belief that fraud has been 4064 

committed; requiring that the insurer notify the 4065 

claimant if the claim is being investigated for fraud; 4066 

providing immunity to persons or entities that report 4067 

suspected fraud in good faith; providing that an 4068 

insurer who fails to timely provide benefits violates 4069 

the insurance code; providing that a person or entity 4070 

lawfully rendering treatment to an injured person for 4071 

a bodily injury covered by emergency care coverage may 4072 

charge only a reasonable amount for services and care; 4073 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì344314|Î344314 

 

Page 142 of 146 

2/27/2012 3:22:20 PM 576-04091A-12 

providing that the insurer may pay such charges 4074 

directly to the person or entity lawfully rendering 4075 

such treatment; providing limits on such charges; 4076 

providing for determination of reasonableness of 4077 

charges; providing that payments made by an insurer 4078 

pursuant to the schedule of maximum charges, or for 4079 

lesser amounts billed by providers, are considered 4080 

reasonable; establishing a schedule of maximum 4081 

charges; specifying that reimbursement under a 4082 

schedule of maximum charges which is based on Medicare 4083 

is to be calculated under the applicable Medicare 4084 

schedule in effect on a specified date each year; 4085 

authorizing insurers to use all Medicare coding 4086 

policies and CMS payment methodologies in determining 4087 

reimbursement under a schedule of maximum charges 4088 

which is Medicare based; establishing limits on 4089 

specified emergency services and care; providing 4090 

conditions under which an insurer or insured is not 4091 

required to pay a claim or charges; requiring the 4092 

Department of Health to adopt by rule a list of 4093 

diagnostic tests deemed not to be medically necessary 4094 

and to periodically revise the list; providing 4095 

procedures and requirements with respect to statements 4096 

of and bills for charges for emergency services and 4097 

care; requiring that a notice of the insured’s rights 4098 

include a specified statement; requiring that a 4099 

physician, licensed professional, clinic, or medical 4100 

institution providing medical services require an 4101 

insured person to execute and countersign a disclosure 4102 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì344314|Î344314 

 

Page 143 of 146 

2/27/2012 3:22:20 PM 576-04091A-12 

and acknowledgement form; directing the Financial 4103 

Services Commission to adopt by rule a disclosure and 4104 

acknowledgment form to be countersigned by claimants 4105 

upon receipt of medical services; providing procedures 4106 

and requirements with respect to investigation of 4107 

claims of improper billing by a physician or other 4108 

medical provider; prohibiting insurers from 4109 

systematically downcoding with intent to deny 4110 

reimbursement; requiring insureds and persons to whom 4111 

the right to payment for benefits has been assigned to 4112 

comply with all terms of the policy; providing that 4113 

compliance with policy terms is a condition precedent 4114 

to the receipt of benefits; requiring that an employer 4115 

furnish a sworn statement of an employee’s earnings 4116 

under certain circumstances; requiring that an 4117 

insured’s assignee comply with the terms of the 4118 

insurance policy; prohibiting an insured from being 4119 

required to submit to an examination under oath; 4120 

requiring that all claimants produce and allow for the 4121 

inspection of all documents requested by the insurer 4122 

under certain circumstances; providing for insurers to 4123 

inspect the physical premises of providers seeking 4124 

payment; requiring that a provider seeking payment 4125 

furnish to the insurer a written report; authorizing 4126 

the insurer to petition the court to enter an order 4127 

permitting discovery of facts under certain 4128 

circumstances; requiring the insurer to furnish to the 4129 

injured person a copy of all information; prohibiting 4130 

an insured from unreasonably withholding notice to an 4131 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì344314|Î344314 

 

Page 144 of 146 

2/27/2012 3:22:20 PM 576-04091A-12 

insurer of the existence of a claim; providing for the 4132 

examination of the injured person and reports 4133 

regarding the examination; prohibiting an insurer from 4134 

withdrawing payment from a treating physician under 4135 

certain circumstances; providing requirements with 4136 

respect to a demand letter; providing procedures and 4137 

requirements with respect to payment of an overdue 4138 

claim; providing for the tolling of the time period 4139 

for an action against an insurer; providing that 4140 

failure to pay valid claims with specified frequency 4141 

constitutes an unfair or deceptive trade practice; 4142 

providing penalties; providing circumstances under 4143 

which an insurer has a cause of action; providing for 4144 

fraud advisory notice; requiring that all claims 4145 

related to the same health care provider for the same 4146 

injured person be brought in one action unless good 4147 

cause is shown; authorizing the electronic 4148 

transmission of notices and communications under 4149 

certain conditions; creating s. 627.7486, F.S.; 4150 

providing an exemption from tort liability for certain 4151 

damages in legal actions under the Florida Motor 4152 

Vehicle No-Fault Emergency Care Coverage Law in 4153 

certain circumstances; providing for recovery of tort 4154 

damages in certain circumstances; providing for 4155 

motions to dismiss action on specified grounds; 4156 

prohibiting a claim for punitive damages in excess of 4157 

the coverage policy limits; creating s. 627.7487, 4158 

F.S.; providing for optional deductibles and 4159 

limitations of coverage for emergency care coverage 4160 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì344314|Î344314 

 

Page 145 of 146 

2/27/2012 3:22:20 PM 576-04091A-12 

policies; requiring a specified notice to 4161 

policyholders; creating s. 627.7488, F.S.; requiring 4162 

the commission to adopt by rule a form for the 4163 

notification of insureds of their right to receive 4164 

emergency care coverage benefits; specifying contents 4165 

of such notice; providing requirements for the mailing 4166 

or delivery of such notice; creating s. 627.7489, 4167 

F.S.; providing for mandatory joinder of specified 4168 

claims; creating s. 627.749, F.S.; providing for an 4169 

insurer’s right of reimbursement for emergency medical 4170 

care benefits paid to a person injured by a commercial 4171 

motor vehicle under specified circumstances; creating 4172 

s. 627.7491, F.S.; providing for application of the 4173 

Florida Motor Vehicle No-Fault Emergency Care Coverage 4174 

Law; providing for requirements for forms and rates 4175 

for policies issued or renewed on or after a specified 4176 

date; requiring a specified notice to existing 4177 

policyholders; amending s. 817.234, F.S.; providing 4178 

that it is insurance fraud to present a claim for 4179 

personal injury protection or emergency care coverage 4180 

benefits payable to a person or entity that knowingly 4181 

submitted false, misleading, or fraudulent documents 4182 

relating to licensure as a health care clinic; 4183 

providing that a licensed health care practitioner who 4184 

is found guilty of certain insurance fraud loses his 4185 

or her license and may not receive reimbursement for 4186 

personal injury protection or emergency care coverage 4187 

benefits for a specified period; defining the term 4188 

“insurer”; conforming provisions; amending ss. 4189 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì344314|Î344314 

 

Page 146 of 146 

2/27/2012 3:22:20 PM 576-04091A-12 

316.065, 316.646, 318.18, 320.02, 320.0609, 320.27, 4190 

320.771, 322.251, 322.34, 324.021, 324.0221, 324.032, 4191 

324.171, 400.9935, 409.901, 409.910, 456.057, 456.072, 4192 

626.9541, 626.9894, 627.06501, 627.0652, 627.0653, 4193 

627.4132, 627.6482, 627.7263, 627.727, 627.7275, 4194 

627.728, 627.7295, 627.737, 627.8405, 627.915, 4195 

628.909, 705.184, 713.78, and 817.234, F.S.; 4196 

conforming provisions; requiring that the Office of 4197 

Insurance Regulation perform a data call relating to 4198 

emergency care coverage and publish the results; 4199 

prescribing required elements of the data call; 4200 

providing applicability; providing for severability; 4201 

providing an effective date. 4202 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì611128ÉÎ611128 

 

Page 1 of 2 

2/28/2012 12:57:25 PM 576-04199-12 

LEGISLATIVE ACTION 

Senate 

Comm: WD 

02/29/2012 

 

 

 

. 

. 

. 

. 

. 

. 

House 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The Committee on Budget (Bogdanoff) recommended the following: 

 

Senate Amendment to Amendment (344314) (with title 1 

amendment) 2 

 3 

Delete line 271 4 

and insert: 5 

defined in s. 480.033. Reimbursement for acupuncture services is 6 

limited to the lesser of 15 treatments or the number of 7 

treatments rendered within 15 weeks after the date of the 8 

initial acupuncture treatment, unless the insurer authorizes 9 

additional acupuncture services. 10 

 11 

Delete line 1372 12 

and insert: 13 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì611128ÉÎ611128 

 

Page 2 of 2 

2/28/2012 12:57:25 PM 576-04199-12 

480.033. Reimbursement for acupuncture services is limited to 14 

the lesser of 15 treatments or the number of treatments rendered 15 

within 15 weeks after the date of the initial acupuncture 16 

treatment, unless the insurer authorizes additional acupuncture 17 

services. 18 

 19 

================= T I T L E  A M E N D M E N T ================ 20 

And the title is amended as follows: 21 

Delete lines 3960 - 3962 22 

and insert: 23 

excluding massage from medical benefits that may be 24 

reimbursed under the motor vehicle no-fault law; 25 

limiting the number of acupuncture treatments; 26 

requiring that an insurer give 27 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì811080qÎ811080 

 

Page 1 of 154 

2/28/2012 9:45:53 AM 576-04050C-12 

LEGISLATIVE ACTION 

Senate 

Comm: WD 

02/29/2012 

 

 

 

. 

. 

. 

. 

. 

. 

House 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The Committee on Budget (Richter) recommended the following: 

 

Senate Substitute for Amendment (344314) (with title 1 

amendment) 2 

 3 

Delete lines 296 - 1482 4 

and insert: 5 

Notwithstanding this subsection, an entity shall be deemed a 6 

clinic and must be licensed under this part in order to receive 7 

reimbursement under the Florida Motor Vehicle No-Fault Law, 8 

unless exempted under s. 627.736(5)(h), or under the Florida 9 

Motor Vehicle No-Fault Medical Care Coverage Law, unless 10 

exempted under s. 627.7485(1)(a)3. 11 

Section 3. Subsection (6) is added to section 400.991, 12 

Florida Statutes, to read: 13 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì811080qÎ811080 

 

Page 2 of 154 

2/28/2012 9:45:53 AM 576-04050C-12 

400.991 License requirements; background screenings; 14 

prohibitions.— 15 

(6) All agency forms for licensure application or exemption 16 

from licensure under this part must contain the following 17 

statement: 18 

 19 

INSURANCE FRAUD NOTICE.—A person who knowingly submits 20 

a false, misleading, or fraudulent application or 21 

other document when applying for licensure as a health 22 

care clinic, seeking an exemption from licensure as a 23 

health care clinic, or demonstrating compliance with 24 

part X of chapter 400, Florida Statutes, with the 25 

intent to use the license, exemption from licensure, 26 

or demonstration of compliance to provide services or 27 

seek reimbursement under the Florida Motor Vehicle No-28 

Fault Law or the Florida Motor Vehicle No-Fault 29 

Medical Care Coverage Law, commits a fraudulent 30 

insurance act, as defined in s. 626.989, Florida 31 

Statutes. A person who presents a claim for personal 32 

injury protection or medical care coverage benefits 33 

knowing that the payee knowingly submitted such health 34 

care clinic application or document, commits insurance 35 

fraud, as defined in s. 817.234, Florida Statutes. 36 

 37 

Section 4. Subsection (1) of section 626.989, Florida 38 

Statutes, is amended to read: 39 

626.989 Investigation by department or Division of 40 

Insurance Fraud; compliance; immunity; confidential information; 41 

reports to division; division investigator’s power of arrest.— 42 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì811080qÎ811080 

 

Page 3 of 154 

2/28/2012 9:45:53 AM 576-04050C-12 

(1) For the purposes of this section:, 43 

(a) A person commits a “fraudulent insurance act” if the 44 

person: 45 

1. Knowingly and with intent to defraud presents, causes to 46 

be presented, or prepares with knowledge or belief that it will 47 

be presented, to or by an insurer, self-insurer, self-insurance 48 

fund, servicing corporation, purported insurer, broker, or any 49 

agent thereof, any written statement as part of, or in support 50 

of, an application for the issuance of, or the rating of, any 51 

insurance policy, or a claim for payment or other benefit 52 

pursuant to any insurance policy, which the person knows to 53 

contain materially false information concerning any fact 54 

material thereto or if the person conceals, for the purpose of 55 

misleading another, information concerning any fact material 56 

thereto. 57 

2. Knowingly submits: 58 

a. A false, misleading, or fraudulent application or other 59 

document when applying for licensure as a health care clinic, 60 

seeking an exemption from licensure as a health care clinic, or 61 

demonstrating compliance with part X of chapter 400 with an 62 

intent to use the license, exemption from licensure, or 63 

demonstration of compliance to provide services or seek 64 

reimbursement under the Florida Motor Vehicle No-Fault Law or 65 

the Florida Motor Vehicle No-Fault Medical Care Coverage Law. 66 

b. A claim for payment or other benefit pursuant to an 67 

insurance policy under the Florida Motor Vehicle No-Fault Law or 68 

the Florida Motor Vehicle No-Fault Medical Care Coverage Law if 69 

the person knows that the payee knowingly submitted a false, 70 

misleading, or fraudulent application or other document when 71 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì811080qÎ811080 

 

Page 4 of 154 

2/28/2012 9:45:53 AM 576-04050C-12 

applying for licensure as a health care clinic, seeking an 72 

exemption from licensure as a health care clinic, or 73 

demonstrating compliance with part X of chapter 400. For the 74 

purposes of this section, 75 

(b) The term “insurer” also includes a any health 76 

maintenance organization, and the term “insurance policy” also 77 

includes a health maintenance organization subscriber contract. 78 

Section 5. Section 626.9895, Florida Statutes, is created 79 

to read: 80 

626.9895 Motor vehicle insurance fraud direct-support 81 

organization.— 82 

(1) DEFINITIONS.—As used in this section, the term: 83 

(a) “Division” means the Division of Insurance Fraud of the 84 

Department of Financial Services. 85 

(b) “Motor vehicle insurance fraud” means any act defined 86 

as a “fraudulent insurance act” under s. 626.989, which relates 87 

to the coverage of motor vehicle insurance as described in part 88 

XI of chapter 627. 89 

(c) “Organization” means the direct-support organization 90 

established under this section. 91 

(2) ORGANIZATION ESTABLISHED.—The division may establish a 92 

direct-support organization, to be known as the “Automobile 93 

Insurance Fraud Strike Force,” whose sole purpose is to support 94 

the prosecution, investigation, and prevention of motor vehicle 95 

insurance fraud. The organization shall: 96 

(a) Be a not-for-profit corporation incorporated under 97 

chapter 617 and approved by the Department of State. 98 

(b) Be organized and operated to conduct programs and 99 

activities; raise funds; request and receive grants, gifts, and 100 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì811080qÎ811080 

 

Page 5 of 154 

2/28/2012 9:45:53 AM 576-04050C-12 

bequests of money; acquire, receive, hold, invest, and 101 

administer, in its own name, securities, funds, objects of 102 

value, or other property, real or personal; and make grants and 103 

expenditures to or for the direct or indirect benefit of the 104 

division, state attorneys’ offices, the statewide prosecutor, 105 

the Agency for Health Care Administration, and the Department of 106 

Health to the extent that such grants and expenditures are used 107 

exclusively to advance the prosecution, investigation, or 108 

prevention of motor vehicle insurance fraud. Grants and 109 

expenditures may include the cost of salaries or benefits of 110 

motor vehicle insurance fraud investigators, prosecutors, or 111 

support personnel if such grants and expenditures do not 112 

interfere with prosecutorial independence or otherwise create 113 

conflicts of interest which threaten the success of 114 

prosecutions. 115 

(c) Be determined by the division to operate in a manner 116 

that promotes the goals of laws relating to motor vehicle 117 

insurance fraud, that is in the best interest of the state, and 118 

that is in accordance with the adopted goals and mission of the 119 

division. 120 

(d) Use all of its grants and expenditures solely for the 121 

purpose of preventing and decreasing motor vehicle insurance 122 

fraud, and not for the purpose of lobbying as defined in s. 123 

11.045. 124 

(e) Be subject to an annual financial audit in accordance 125 

with s. 215.981. 126 

(3) CONTRACT.—The organization shall operate under written 127 

contract with the division. The contract must provide for: 128 

(a) Approval of the articles of incorporation and bylaws of 129 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì811080qÎ811080 

 

Page 6 of 154 

2/28/2012 9:45:53 AM 576-04050C-12 

the organization by the division. 130 

(b) Submission of an annual budget for approval of the 131 

division. The budget must require the organization to minimize 132 

costs to the division and its members at all times by using 133 

existing personnel and property and allowing for telephonic 134 

meetings, if appropriate. 135 

(c) Certification by the division that the organization is 136 

complying with the terms of the contract and in a manner 137 

consistent with the goals and purposes of the department and in 138 

the best interest of the state. Such certification must be made 139 

annually and reported in the official minutes of a meeting of 140 

the organization. 141 

(d) Allocation of funds to address motor vehicle insurance 142 

fraud. 143 

(e) Reversion of moneys and property held in trust by the 144 

organization for motor vehicle insurance fraud prosecution, 145 

investigation, and prevention to the division if the 146 

organization is no longer approved to operate for the department 147 

or if the organization ceases to exist, or to the state if the 148 

division ceases to exist. 149 

(f) Specific criteria to be used by the organization’s 150 

board of directors to evaluate the effectiveness of funding used 151 

to combat motor vehicle insurance fraud. 152 

(g) The fiscal year of the organization, which begins July 153 

1 of each year and ends June 30 of the following year. 154 

(h) Disclosure of the material provisions of the contract, 155 

and distinguishing between the department and the organization 156 

to donors of gifts, contributions, or bequests, including 157 

providing such disclosure on all promotional and fundraising 158 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì811080qÎ811080 

 

Page 7 of 154 

2/28/2012 9:45:53 AM 576-04050C-12 

publications. 159 

(4) BOARD OF DIRECTORS.— 160 

(a) The board of directors of the organization shall 161 

consist of the following eleven members: 162 

1. The Chief Financial Officer, or designee, who shall 163 

serve as chair. 164 

2. Two state attorneys, one of whom shall be appointed by 165 

the Chief Financial Officer and one of whom shall be appointed 166 

by the Attorney General. 167 

3. Two representatives of motor vehicle insurers appointed 168 

by the Chief Financial Officer. 169 

4. Two representatives of local law enforcement agencies, 170 

one of whom shall be appointed by the Chief Financial Officer 171 

and one of whom shall be appointed by the Attorney General. 172 

5. Two representatives of the types of health care 173 

providers who regularly make claims for benefits under the 174 

Florida Motor Vehicle No-Fault Law or the Florida Motor Vehicle 175 

No-Fault Medical Care Coverage Law, one of whom shall be 176 

appointed by the President of the Senate and one of whom shall 177 

be appointed by the Speaker of the House of Representatives. The 178 

appointees may not represent the same type of health care 179 

provider. 180 

6. A private attorney who has experience in representing 181 

claimants in actions for benefits under the Florida Motor 182 

Vehicle No-Fault Law, who shall be appointed by the President of 183 

the Senate. 184 

7. A private attorney who has experience in representing 185 

insurers in actions for benefits under the Florida Motor Vehicle 186 

No-Fault Law, who shall be appointed by the Speaker of the House 187 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì811080qÎ811080 

 

Page 8 of 154 

2/28/2012 9:45:53 AM 576-04050C-12 

of Representatives. 188 

(b) The officer who appointed a member of the board may 189 

remove that member for cause. The term of office of an appointed 190 

member expires at the same time as the term of the officer who 191 

appointed him or her or at such earlier time as the person 192 

ceases to be qualified. 193 

(5) USE OF PROPERTY.—The department may authorize, without 194 

charge, appropriate use of fixed property and facilities of the 195 

division by the organization, subject to this subsection. 196 

(a) The department may prescribe any condition with which 197 

the organization must comply in order to use the division’s 198 

property or facilities. 199 

(b) The department may not authorize the use of the 200 

division’s property or facilities if the organization does not 201 

provide equal membership and employment opportunities to all 202 

persons regardless of race, religion, sex, age, or national 203 

origin. 204 

(c) The department shall adopt rules prescribing the 205 

procedures by which the organization is governed and any 206 

conditions with which the organization must comply to use the 207 

division’s property or facilities. 208 

(6) CONTRIBUTIONS FROM INSURERS.—Contributions from an 209 

insurer to the organization shall be allowed as an appropriate 210 

business expense of the insurer for all regulatory purposes. 211 

(7) DEPOSITORY ACCOUNT.—Any moneys received by the 212 

organization may be held in a separate depository account in the 213 

name of the organization and subject to the contract with the 214 

division. 215 

(8) DIVISION’S RECEIPT OF PROCEEDS.—Proceeds received by 216 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì811080qÎ811080 

 

Page 9 of 154 

2/28/2012 9:45:53 AM 576-04050C-12 

the division from the organization shall be deposited into the 217 

Insurance Regulatory Trust Fund. 218 

Section 6. Section 627.732, Florida Statutes, is reordered 219 

and amended to read: 220 

627.732 Definitions.—As used in ss. 627.730-627.7405, the 221 

term: 222 

(1) “Broker” means any person not possessing a license 223 

under chapter 395, chapter 400, chapter 429, chapter 458, 224 

chapter 459, chapter 460, chapter 461, or chapter 641 who 225 

charges or receives compensation for any use of medical 226 

equipment and is not the 100-percent owner or the 100-percent 227 

lessee of such equipment. For purposes of this section, such 228 

owner or lessee may be an individual, a corporation, a 229 

partnership, or any other entity and any of its 100-percent-230 

owned affiliates and subsidiaries. For purposes of this 231 

subsection, the term “lessee” means a long-term lessee under a 232 

capital or operating lease, but does not include a part-time 233 

lessee. The term “broker” does not include a hospital or 234 

physician management company whose medical equipment is 235 

ancillary to the practices managed, a debt collection agency, or 236 

an entity that has contracted with the insurer to obtain a 237 

discounted rate for such services; nor does the term include a 238 

management company that has contracted to provide general 239 

management services for a licensed physician or health care 240 

facility and whose compensation is not materially affected by 241 

the usage or frequency of usage of medical equipment or an 242 

entity that is 100-percent owned by one or more hospitals or 243 

physicians. The term “broker” does not include a person or 244 

entity that certifies, upon request of an insurer, that: 245 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì811080qÎ811080 

 

Page 10 of 154 

2/28/2012 9:45:53 AM 576-04050C-12 

(a) It is a clinic licensed under ss. 400.990-400.995; 246 

(b) It is a 100-percent owner of medical equipment; and 247 

(c) The owner’s only part-time lease of medical equipment 248 

for personal injury protection patients is on a temporary basis 249 

not to exceed 30 days in a 12-month period, and such lease is 250 

solely for the purposes of necessary repair or maintenance of 251 

the 100-percent-owned medical equipment or pending the arrival 252 

and installation of the newly purchased or a replacement for the 253 

100-percent-owned medical equipment, or for patients for whom, 254 

because of physical size or claustrophobia, it is determined by 255 

the medical director or clinical director to be medically 256 

necessary that the test be performed in medical equipment that 257 

is open-style. The leased medical equipment cannot be used by 258 

patients who are not patients of the registered clinic for 259 

medical treatment of services. Any person or entity making a 260 

false certification under this subsection commits insurance 261 

fraud as defined in s. 817.234. However, the 30-day period 262 

provided in this paragraph may be extended for an additional 60 263 

days as applicable to magnetic resonance imaging equipment if 264 

the owner certifies that the extension otherwise complies with 265 

this paragraph. 266 

(9)(2) “Medically necessary” refers to a medical service or 267 

supply that a prudent physician would provide for the purpose of 268 

preventing, diagnosing, or treating an illness, injury, disease, 269 

or symptom in a manner that is: 270 

(a) In accordance with generally accepted standards of 271 

medical practice; 272 

(b) Clinically appropriate in terms of type, frequency, 273 

extent, site, and duration; and 274 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì811080qÎ811080 

 

Page 11 of 154 

2/28/2012 9:45:53 AM 576-04050C-12 

(c) Not primarily for the convenience of the patient, 275 

physician, or other health care provider. 276 

(10)(3) “Motor vehicle” means any self-propelled vehicle 277 

with four or more wheels which is of a type both designed and 278 

required to be licensed for use on the highways of this state 279 

and any trailer or semitrailer designed for use with such 280 

vehicle and includes: 281 

(a) A “private passenger motor vehicle,” which is any motor 282 

vehicle which is a sedan, station wagon, or jeep-type vehicle 283 

and, if not used primarily for occupational, professional, or 284 

business purposes, a motor vehicle of the pickup, panel, van, 285 

camper, or motor home type. 286 

(b) A “commercial motor vehicle,” which is any motor 287 

vehicle which is not a private passenger motor vehicle. 288 

 289 

The term “motor vehicle” does not include a mobile home or any 290 

motor vehicle which is used in mass transit, other than public 291 

school transportation, and designed to transport more than five 292 

passengers exclusive of the operator of the motor vehicle and 293 

which is owned by a municipality, a transit authority, or a 294 

political subdivision of the state. 295 

(11)(4) “Named insured” means a person, usually the owner 296 

of a vehicle, identified in a policy by name as the insured 297 

under the policy. 298 

(12)(5) “Owner” means a person who holds the legal title to 299 

a motor vehicle; or, in the event a motor vehicle is the subject 300 

of a security agreement or lease with an option to purchase with 301 

the debtor or lessee having the right to possession, then the 302 

debtor or lessee shall be deemed the owner for the purposes of 303 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì811080qÎ811080 

 

Page 12 of 154 

2/28/2012 9:45:53 AM 576-04050C-12 

ss. 627.730-627.7405. 304 

(14)(6) “Relative residing in the same household” means a 305 

relative of any degree by blood or by marriage who usually makes 306 

her or his home in the same family unit, whether or not 307 

temporarily living elsewhere. 308 

(2)(7) “Certify” means to swear or attest to being true or 309 

represented in writing. 310 

(3) “Entity wholly owned” means a proprietorship, group 311 

practice, partnership, or corporation that provides health care 312 

services rendered by licensed health care practitioners and in 313 

which licensed health care practitioners are the business owners 314 

of all aspects of the business entity, including, but not 315 

limited to, being reflected as the business owners on the title 316 

or lease of the physical facility, filing taxes as the business 317 

owners, being account holders on the entity’s bank account, 318 

being listed as the principals on all incorporation documents 319 

required by this state, and having ultimate authority over all 320 

personnel and compensation decisions relating to the entity. 321 

However, this definition does not apply to an entity that is 322 

wholly owned, directly or indirectly, by a hospital licensed 323 

under chapter 395. 324 

(5)(8) “Immediate personal supervision,” as it relates to 325 

the performance of medical services by nonphysicians not in a 326 

hospital, means that an individual licensed to perform the 327 

medical service or provide the medical supplies must be present 328 

within the confines of the physical structure where the medical 329 

services are performed or where the medical supplies are 330 

provided such that the licensed individual can respond 331 

immediately to any emergencies if needed. 332 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì811080qÎ811080 

 

Page 13 of 154 

2/28/2012 9:45:53 AM 576-04050C-12 

(6)(9) “Incident,” with respect to services considered as 333 

incident to a physician’s professional service, for a physician 334 

licensed under chapter 458, chapter 459, chapter 460, or chapter 335 

461, if not furnished in a hospital, means such services must be 336 

an integral, even if incidental, part of a covered physician’s 337 

service. 338 

(7)(10) “Knowingly” means that a person, with respect to 339 

information, has actual knowledge of the information; acts in 340 

deliberate ignorance of the truth or falsity of the information; 341 

or acts in reckless disregard of the information, and proof of 342 

specific intent to defraud is not required. 343 

(8)(11) “Lawful” or “lawfully” means in substantial 344 

compliance with all relevant applicable criminal, civil, and 345 

administrative requirements of state and federal law related to 346 

the provision of medical services or treatment. 347 

(4)(12) “Hospital” means a facility that, at the time 348 

services or treatment were rendered, was licensed under chapter 349 

395. 350 

(13) “Properly completed” means providing truthful, 351 

substantially complete, and substantially accurate responses as 352 

to all material elements to each applicable request for 353 

information or statement by a means that may lawfully be 354 

provided and that complies with this section, or as agreed by 355 

the parties. 356 

(16)(14) “Upcoding” means an action that submits a billing 357 

code that would result in payment greater in amount than would 358 

be paid using a billing code that accurately describes the 359 

services performed. The term does not include an otherwise 360 

lawful bill by a magnetic resonance imaging facility, which 361 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì811080qÎ811080 

 

Page 14 of 154 

2/28/2012 9:45:53 AM 576-04050C-12 

globally combines both technical and professional components, if 362 

the amount of the global bill is not more than the components if 363 

billed separately; however, payment of such a bill constitutes 364 

payment in full for all components of such service. 365 

(15) “Unbundling” means an action that submits a billing 366 

code that is properly billed under one billing code, but that 367 

has been separated into two or more billing codes, and would 368 

result in payment greater in amount than would be paid using one 369 

billing code. 370 

Section 7. Subsection (6) is added to section 627.733, 371 

Florida Statutes, to read: 372 

627.733 Required security.— 373 

(6) The owner or registrant of a motor vehicle otherwise 374 

subject to this section is not required to maintain the security 375 

described herein if the owner or registrant maintains the 376 

security required under s. 627.7483. 377 

Section 8. Subsections (1), (4), (5), (8), (9), (10), (11), 378 

and (16) of section 627.736, Florida Statutes, are amended to 379 

read: 380 

627.736 Required personal injury protection benefits; 381 

exclusions; priority; claims.— 382 

(1) REQUIRED BENEFITS.—An Every insurance policy providing 383 

personal injury protection must complying with the security 384 

requirements of s. 627.733 shall provide personal injury 385 

protection benefits to the named insured, relatives residing in 386 

the same household, persons operating the insured motor vehicle, 387 

passengers in the such motor vehicle, and other persons struck 388 

by the such motor vehicle and suffering bodily injury while not 389 

an occupant of a self-propelled vehicle, subject to the 390 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì811080qÎ811080 

 

Page 15 of 154 

2/28/2012 9:45:53 AM 576-04050C-12 

provisions of subsection (2) and paragraph (4)(e), up to a limit 391 

of $10,000 in medical and disability benefits and $5,000 in 392 

death benefits resulting from for loss sustained by any such 393 

person as a result of bodily injury, sickness, disease, or death 394 

to such persons arising out of the ownership, maintenance, or 395 

use of a motor vehicle as follows: 396 

(a) Medical benefits.—Eighty percent of all reasonable 397 

expenses for medically necessary medical, surgical, X-ray, 398 

dental, and rehabilitative services, including prosthetic 399 

devices, and medically necessary ambulance, hospital, and 400 

nursing services. Medical benefits do not include massage as 401 

defined in s. 480.033 or acupuncture as defined in s. 457.102, 402 

regardless of the person, entity, or licensee providing massage 403 

or acupuncture, and a licensed massage therapist or licensed 404 

acupuncturist may not be reimbursed for medical benefits under 405 

this section. However, The medical benefits shall provide 406 

reimbursement only for such services and care that are lawfully 407 

provided, supervised, ordered, or prescribed by a physician 408 

licensed under chapter 458 or chapter 459, a dentist licensed 409 

under chapter 466, or a chiropractic physician licensed under 410 

chapter 460 or that are provided by any of the following persons 411 

or entities: 412 

1. A hospital or ambulatory surgical center licensed under 413 

chapter 395. 414 

2. A person or entity licensed under part III of chapter 415 

401 which ss. 401.2101-401.45 that provides emergency 416 

transportation and treatment. 417 

3. An entity wholly owned by one or more physicians 418 

licensed under chapter 458 or chapter 459, chiropractic 419 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì811080qÎ811080 

 

Page 16 of 154 

2/28/2012 9:45:53 AM 576-04050C-12 

physicians licensed under chapter 460, or dentists licensed 420 

under chapter 466 or by such practitioner or practitioners and 421 

the spouse, parent, child, or sibling of such that practitioner 422 

or those practitioners. 423 

4. An entity wholly owned, directly or indirectly, by a 424 

hospital or hospitals. 425 

5. A health care clinic licensed under part X of chapter 426 

400 which ss. 400.990-400.995 that is: 427 

a. A health care clinic accredited by the Joint Commission 428 

on Accreditation of Healthcare Organizations, the American 429 

Osteopathic Association, the Commission on Accreditation of 430 

Rehabilitation Facilities, or the Accreditation Association for 431 

Ambulatory Health Care, Inc.; or 432 

b. A health care clinic that: 433 

(I) Has a medical director licensed under chapter 458, 434 

chapter 459, or chapter 460; 435 

(II) Has been continuously licensed for more than 3 years 436 

or is a publicly traded corporation that issues securities 437 

traded on an exchange registered with the United States 438 

Securities and Exchange Commission as a national securities 439 

exchange; and 440 

(III) Provides at least four of the following medical 441 

specialties: 442 

(A) General medicine. 443 

(B) Radiography. 444 

(C) Orthopedic medicine. 445 

(D) Physical medicine. 446 

(E) Physical therapy. 447 

(F) Physical rehabilitation. 448 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì811080qÎ811080 

 

Page 17 of 154 

2/28/2012 9:45:53 AM 576-04050C-12 

(G) Prescribing or dispensing outpatient prescription 449 

medication. 450 

(H) Laboratory services. 451 

 452 

The Financial Services Commission shall adopt by rule the form 453 

that must be used by an insurer and a health care provider 454 

specified in subparagraph 3., subparagraph 4., or subparagraph 455 

5. to document that the health care provider meets the criteria 456 

of this paragraph, which rule must include a requirement for a 457 

sworn statement or affidavit. 458 

(b) Disability benefits.—Sixty percent of any loss of gross 459 

income and loss of earning capacity per individual from 460 

inability to work proximately caused by the injury sustained by 461 

the injured person, plus all expenses reasonably incurred in 462 

obtaining from others ordinary and necessary services in lieu of 463 

those that, but for the injury, the injured person would have 464 

performed without income for the benefit of his or her 465 

household. All disability benefits payable under this provision 466 

must shall be paid at least not less than every 2 weeks. 467 

(c) Death benefits.—Death benefits equal to the lesser of 468 

$5,000 or the remainder of unused personal injury protection 469 

benefits per individual. Death benefits are in addition to the 470 

medical and disability benefits provided under the insurance 471 

policy. The insurer may pay death such benefits to the executor 472 

or administrator of the deceased, to any of the deceased’s 473 

relatives by blood, or legal adoption, or connection by 474 

marriage, or to any person appearing to the insurer to be 475 

equitably entitled to such benefits thereto. 476 

 477 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì811080qÎ811080 

 

Page 18 of 154 

2/28/2012 9:45:53 AM 576-04050C-12 

Only insurers writing motor vehicle liability insurance in this 478 

state may provide the required benefits of this section, and no 479 

such insurer shall require the purchase of any other motor 480 

vehicle coverage other than the purchase of property damage 481 

liability coverage as required by s. 627.7275 as a condition for 482 

providing such required benefits. Insurers may not require that 483 

property damage liability insurance in an amount greater than 484 

$10,000 be purchased in conjunction with personal injury 485 

protection. Such insurers shall make benefits and required 486 

property damage liability insurance coverage available through 487 

normal marketing channels. Any insurer writing motor vehicle 488 

liability insurance in this state who fails to comply with such 489 

availability requirement as a general business practice shall be 490 

deemed to have violated part IX of chapter 626, and such 491 

violation shall constitute an unfair method of competition or an 492 

unfair or deceptive act or practice involving the business of 493 

insurance; and any such insurer committing such violation shall 494 

be subject to the penalties afforded in such part, as well as 495 

those which may be afforded elsewhere in the insurance code. 496 

(4) PAYMENT OF BENEFITS; WHEN DUE.—Except for medical care 497 

coverage under ss. 627.748-627.7491, personal injury protection 498 

benefits due from an insurer under ss. 627.730-627.7405 are 499 

shall be primary, except that benefits received under any 500 

workers’ compensation law must shall be credited against the 501 

benefits provided by subsection (1) and are shall be due and 502 

payable as loss accrues, upon receipt of reasonable proof of 503 

such loss and the amount of expenses and loss incurred which are 504 

covered by the policy issued under ss. 627.730-627.7405. If When 505 

the Agency for Health Care Administration provides, pays, or 506 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì811080qÎ811080 

 

Page 19 of 154 

2/28/2012 9:45:53 AM 576-04050C-12 

becomes liable for medical assistance under the Medicaid program 507 

related to injury, sickness, disease, or death arising out of 508 

the ownership, maintenance, or use of a motor vehicle, the 509 

benefits under ss. 627.730-627.7405 are shall be subject to the 510 

provisions of the Medicaid program. However, within 30 days 511 

after receiving notice that the Medicaid program paid such 512 

benefits, the insurer shall repay the full amount of the 513 

benefits to the Medicaid program. 514 

(a) An insurer may require written notice to be given as 515 

soon as practicable after an accident involving a motor vehicle 516 

with respect to which the policy affords the security required 517 

by ss. 627.730-627.7405. 518 

(b) Personal injury protection insurance Benefits paid 519 

pursuant to this section are shall be overdue if not paid within 520 

30 days after the insurer is furnished written notice of the 521 

fact of a covered loss and of the amount of same. However: 522 

1. If such written notice of the entire claim is not 523 

furnished to the insurer as to the entire claim, any partial 524 

amount supported by written notice is overdue if not paid within 525 

30 days after such written notice is furnished to the insurer. 526 

Any part or all of the remainder of the claim that is 527 

subsequently supported by written notice is overdue if not paid 528 

within 30 days after such written notice is furnished to the 529 

insurer. 530 

2. If When an insurer pays only a portion of a claim or 531 

rejects a claim, the insurer shall provide at the time of the 532 

partial payment or rejection an itemized specification of each 533 

item that the insurer had reduced, omitted, or declined to pay 534 

and any information that the insurer desires the claimant to 535 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì811080qÎ811080 

 

Page 20 of 154 

2/28/2012 9:45:53 AM 576-04050C-12 

consider related to the medical necessity of the denied 536 

treatment or to explain the reasonableness of the reduced charge 537 

if, provided that this does shall not limit the introduction of 538 

evidence at trial.; and The insurer must also shall include the 539 

name and address of the person to whom the claimant should 540 

respond and a claim number to be referenced in future 541 

correspondence. 542 

3. If an insurer pays only a portion of a claim or rejects 543 

a claim due to an alleged error in the claim, the insurer shall 544 

provide at the time of the partial payment or rejection an 545 

itemized specification or explanation of benefits of the 546 

specified error. Upon receiving the specification or 547 

explanation, the person making the claim has, at the person’s 548 

option and without waiving any other legal remedy for payment, 549 

15 days to submit a revised claim. The revised claim shall be 550 

considered a timely submission of written notice of a claim. 551 

4. However, Notwithstanding the fact that written notice 552 

has been furnished to the insurer, any payment is shall not be 553 

deemed overdue if when the insurer has reasonable proof to 554 

establish that the insurer is not responsible for the payment. 555 

5. For the purpose of calculating the extent to which any 556 

benefits are overdue, payment shall be treated as being made on 557 

the date a draft or other valid instrument that which is 558 

equivalent to payment was placed in the United States mail in a 559 

properly addressed, postpaid envelope or, if not so posted, on 560 

the date of delivery. 561 

6. This paragraph does not preclude or limit the ability of 562 

the insurer to assert that the claim was unrelated, was not 563 

medically necessary, or was unreasonable or that the amount of 564 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì811080qÎ811080 

 

Page 21 of 154 

2/28/2012 9:45:53 AM 576-04050C-12 

the charge was in excess of that permitted under, or in 565 

violation of, subsection (5). Such assertion by the insurer may 566 

be made at any time, including after payment of the claim or 567 

after the 30-day time period for payment set forth in this 568 

paragraph. 569 

(c) Upon receiving notice of an accident that is 570 

potentially covered by personal injury protection benefits, the 571 

insurer must reserve $5,000 of coverage of personal injury 572 

protection benefits for payment to physicians licensed under 573 

chapter 458 or chapter 459 or dentists licensed under chapter 574 

466 who provide emergency services and care, as defined in s. 575 

395.002(9), or who provide hospital inpatient care. 576 

 577 

The amount required to be held in reserve may be used only to 578 

pay claims from such physicians or dentists until 30 days after 579 

the date the insurer receives notice of the accident. After the 580 

30-day period, any amount of the reserve for which the insurer 581 

has not received notice of such claims a claim from a physician 582 

or dentist who provided emergency services and care or who 583 

provided hospital inpatient care may then be used by the insurer 584 

to pay other claims. The time periods specified in paragraph (b) 585 

for required payment of personal injury protection benefits are 586 

shall be tolled for the period of time that an insurer is 587 

required by this paragraph to hold payment of a claim that is 588 

not from a physician or dentist who provided emergency services 589 

and care or who provided hospital inpatient care to the extent 590 

that the amount personal injury protection benefits not held in 591 

reserve is are insufficient to pay the claim. This paragraph 592 

does not require an insurer to establish a claim reserve for 593 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì811080qÎ811080 

 

Page 22 of 154 

2/28/2012 9:45:53 AM 576-04050C-12 

insurance accounting purposes. 594 

(d) All overdue payments shall bear simple interest at the 595 

rate established under s. 55.03 or the rate established in the 596 

insurance contract, whichever is greater, for the quarter year 597 

in which the payment became overdue, calculated from the date 598 

the insurer was furnished with written notice of the amount of 599 

covered loss. Interest is shall be due at the time payment of 600 

the overdue claim is made. 601 

(e) The insurer of the owner of a motor vehicle shall pay 602 

personal injury protection benefits for: 603 

1. Accidental bodily injury sustained in this state by the 604 

owner while occupying a motor vehicle, or while not an occupant 605 

of a self-propelled vehicle if the injury is caused by physical 606 

contact with a motor vehicle. 607 

2. Accidental bodily injury sustained outside this state, 608 

but within the United States of America or its territories or 609 

possessions or Canada, by the owner while occupying the owner’s 610 

motor vehicle. 611 

3. Accidental bodily injury sustained by a relative of the 612 

owner residing in the same household, under the circumstances 613 

described in subparagraph 1. or subparagraph 2., if provided the 614 

relative at the time of the accident is domiciled in the owner’s 615 

household and is not himself or herself the owner of a motor 616 

vehicle with respect to which security is required under ss. 617 

627.730-627.7405. 618 

4. Accidental bodily injury sustained in this state by any 619 

other person while occupying the owner’s motor vehicle or, if a 620 

resident of this state, while not an occupant of a self-621 

propelled vehicle, if the injury is caused by physical contact 622 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì811080qÎ811080 

 

Page 23 of 154 

2/28/2012 9:45:53 AM 576-04050C-12 

with such motor vehicle, if provided the injured person is not 623 

himself or herself: 624 

a. The owner of a motor vehicle for with respect to which 625 

personal injury protection benefits have been obtained pursuant 626 

to security is required under ss. 627.730-627.7405; or 627 

b. Entitled to personal injury benefits from the insurer of 628 

the owner or owners of such a motor vehicle. 629 

(f) If two or more insurers are liable for paying to pay 630 

personal injury protection benefits for the same injury to any 631 

one person, the maximum payable is shall be as specified in 632 

subsection (1), and the any insurer paying the benefits is shall 633 

be entitled to recover from each of the other insurers an 634 

equitable pro rata share of the benefits paid and expenses 635 

incurred in processing the claim. 636 

(g) It is a violation of the insurance code for an insurer 637 

to fail to timely provide benefits as required by this section 638 

with such frequency as to constitute a general business 639 

practice. 640 

(h) Benefits are shall not be due or payable to or on the 641 

behalf of an insured person if that person has committed, by a 642 

material act or omission, any insurance fraud relating to 643 

personal injury protection coverage under his or her policy, if 644 

the fraud is admitted to in a sworn statement by the insured or 645 

if it is established in a court of competent jurisdiction. Any 646 

insurance fraud voids shall void all coverage arising from the 647 

claim related to such fraud under the personal injury protection 648 

coverage of the insured person who committed the fraud, 649 

irrespective of whether a portion of the insured person’s claim 650 

may be legitimate, and any benefits paid before prior to the 651 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì811080qÎ811080 

 

Page 24 of 154 

2/28/2012 9:45:53 AM 576-04050C-12 

discovery of the insured person’s insurance fraud is shall be 652 

recoverable by the insurer in its entirety from the person who 653 

committed insurance fraud in their entirety. The prevailing 654 

party is entitled to its costs and attorney attorney’s fees in 655 

any action in which it prevails in an insurer’s action to 656 

enforce its right of recovery under this paragraph. 657 

(i) An insurer shall create and maintain for each insured a 658 

log of personal injury protection benefits paid by the insurer 659 

on behalf of the insured. The insurer shall provide to the 660 

insured a copy of the log within 30 days after receiving a 661 

request for the log from the insured. 662 

(j) In a dispute between the insured and the insurer, or 663 

between an assignee of the insured’s rights and the insurer, the 664 

insurer must notify the insured or the assignee that the policy 665 

limits under this section have been reached within 15 days after 666 

the limits have been reached. 667 

(5) CHARGES FOR TREATMENT OF INJURED PERSONS.— 668 

(a)1. A Any physician, hospital, clinic, or other person or 669 

institution lawfully rendering treatment to an injured person 670 

for a bodily injury covered by personal injury protection 671 

insurance may charge the insurer and injured party only a 672 

reasonable amount pursuant to this section for the services and 673 

supplies rendered, and the insurer providing such coverage may 674 

pay for such charges directly to such person or institution 675 

lawfully rendering such treatment, if the insured receiving such 676 

treatment or his or her guardian has countersigned the properly 677 

completed invoice, bill, or claim form approved by the office 678 

upon which such charges are to be paid for as having actually 679 

been rendered, to the best knowledge of the insured or his or 680 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì811080qÎ811080 

 

Page 25 of 154 

2/28/2012 9:45:53 AM 576-04050C-12 

her guardian. In no event, However, may such a charge may not 681 

exceed be in excess of the amount the person or institution 682 

customarily charges for like services or supplies. In 683 

determining With respect to a determination of whether a charge 684 

for a particular service, treatment, or supply otherwise is 685 

reasonable, consideration may be given to evidence of usual and 686 

customary charges and payments accepted by the provider involved 687 

in the dispute, and reimbursement levels in the community and 688 

various federal and state medical fee schedules applicable to 689 

motor vehicle automobile and other insurance coverages, and 690 

other information relevant to the reasonableness of the 691 

reimbursement for the service, treatment, or supply. 692 

1.2. The insurer may limit reimbursement to 80 percent of 693 

the following schedule of maximum charges: 694 

a. For emergency transport and treatment by providers 695 

licensed under chapter 401, 200 percent of Medicare. 696 

b. For emergency services and care provided by a hospital 697 

licensed under chapter 395, 75 percent of the hospital’s usual 698 

and customary charges. 699 

c. For emergency services and care as defined by s. 700 

395.002(9) provided in a facility licensed under chapter 395 701 

rendered by a physician or dentist, and related hospital 702 

inpatient services rendered by a physician or dentist, the usual 703 

and customary charges in the community. 704 

d. For hospital inpatient services, other than emergency 705 

services and care, 200 percent of the Medicare Part A 706 

prospective payment applicable to the specific hospital 707 

providing the inpatient services. 708 

e. For hospital outpatient services, other than emergency 709 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì811080qÎ811080 

 

Page 26 of 154 

2/28/2012 9:45:53 AM 576-04050C-12 

services and care, 200 percent of the Medicare Part A Ambulatory 710 

Payment Classification for the specific hospital providing the 711 

outpatient services. 712 

f. For all other medical services, supplies, and care, 200 713 

percent of the allowable amount under: 714 

(I) The participating physicians fee schedule of Medicare 715 

Part B, except as provided in sub-sub-subparagraphs (II) and 716 

(III). 717 

(II) Medicare Part B, in the case of services, supplies, 718 

and care provided by ambulatory surgical centers and clinical 719 

laboratories. 720 

(III) The Durable Medical Equipment Prosthetics/Orthotics 721 

and Supplies fee schedule of Medicare Part B, in the case of 722 

durable medical equipment. 723 

 724 

However, if such services, supplies, or care is not reimbursable 725 

under Medicare Part B, as provided in this sub-subparagraph, the 726 

insurer may limit reimbursement to 80 percent of the maximum 727 

reimbursable allowance under workers’ compensation, as 728 

determined under s. 440.13 and rules adopted thereunder which 729 

are in effect at the time such services, supplies, or care is 730 

provided. Services, supplies, or care that is not reimbursable 731 

under Medicare or workers’ compensation is not required to be 732 

reimbursed by the insurer. 733 

2.3. For purposes of subparagraph 1. 2., the applicable fee 734 

schedule or payment limitation under Medicare is the fee 735 

schedule or payment limitation in effect on March 1 of the year 736 

in which at the time the services, supplies, or care is was 737 

rendered and for the area in which such services, supplies, or 738 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì811080qÎ811080 

 

Page 27 of 154 

2/28/2012 9:45:53 AM 576-04050C-12 

care is were rendered, and applies until March 1 of the 739 

following year, notwithstanding any subsequent change made to 740 

the fee schedule or payment limitation, except that it may not 741 

be less than the allowable amount under the applicable 742 

participating physicians schedule of Medicare Part B for 2007 743 

for medical services, supplies, and care subject to Medicare 744 

Part B. 745 

3.4. Subparagraph 1. 2. does not allow the insurer to apply 746 

any limitation on the number of treatments or other utilization 747 

limits that apply under Medicare or workers’ compensation. An 748 

insurer that applies the allowable payment limitations of 749 

subparagraph 1. 2. must reimburse a provider who lawfully 750 

provided care or treatment under the scope of his or her 751 

license, regardless of whether such provider is would be 752 

entitled to reimbursement under Medicare due to restrictions or 753 

limitations on the types or discipline of health care providers 754 

who may be reimbursed for particular procedures or procedure 755 

codes. However, subparagraph 1. does not prohibit an insurer 756 

from using the Medicare coding policies and payment 757 

methodologies of the federal Centers for Medicare and Medicaid 758 

Services, including applicable modifiers, to determine the 759 

appropriate amount of reimbursement for medical services, 760 

supplies, or care if the coding policy or payment methodology 761 

does not constitute a utilization limit. 762 

4.5. If an insurer limits payment as authorized by 763 

subparagraph 1. 2., the person providing such services, 764 

supplies, or care may not bill or attempt to collect from the 765 

insured any amount in excess of such limits, except for amounts 766 

that are not covered by the insured’s personal injury protection 767 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì811080qÎ811080 

 

Page 28 of 154 

2/28/2012 9:45:53 AM 576-04050C-12 

coverage due to the coinsurance amount or maximum policy limits. 768 

5. Effective January 1, 2013, an insurer may limit payment 769 

as authorized by this paragraph only if the insurance policy 770 

includes a notice at the time of issuance or renewal that the 771 

insurer may limit payment pursuant to the schedule of charges 772 

specified in this paragraph. A policy form approved by the 773 

office satisfies this requirement. If a provider submits a 774 

charge for an amount less than the amount allowed under 775 

subparagraph 1., the insurer may pay the amount of the charge 776 

submitted. 777 

(b)1. An insurer or insured is not required to pay a claim 778 

or charges: 779 

a. Made by a broker or by a person making a claim on behalf 780 

of a broker; 781 

b. For any service or treatment that was not lawful at the 782 

time rendered; 783 

c. To any person who knowingly submits a false or 784 

misleading statement relating to the claim or charges; 785 

d. With respect to a bill or statement that does not 786 

substantially meet the applicable requirements of paragraph (d); 787 

e. For any treatment or service that is upcoded, or that is 788 

unbundled when such treatment or services should be bundled, in 789 

accordance with paragraph (d). To facilitate prompt payment of 790 

lawful services, an insurer may change codes that it determines 791 

to have been improperly or incorrectly upcoded or unbundled, and 792 

may make payment based on the changed codes, without affecting 793 

the right of the provider to dispute the change by the insurer, 794 

if, provided that before doing so, the insurer contacts must 795 

contact the health care provider and discusses discuss the 796 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì811080qÎ811080 

 

Page 29 of 154 

2/28/2012 9:45:53 AM 576-04050C-12 

reasons for the insurer’s change and the health care provider’s 797 

reason for the coding, or makes make a reasonable good faith 798 

effort to do so, as documented in the insurer’s file; and 799 

f. For medical services or treatment billed by a physician 800 

and not provided in a hospital unless such services are rendered 801 

by the physician or are incident to his or her professional 802 

services and are included on the physician’s bill, including 803 

documentation verifying that the physician is responsible for 804 

the medical services that were rendered and billed. 805 

2. The Department of Health, in consultation with the 806 

appropriate professional licensing boards, shall adopt, by rule, 807 

a list of diagnostic tests deemed not to be medically necessary 808 

for use in the treatment of persons sustaining bodily injury 809 

covered by personal injury protection benefits under this 810 

section. The initial list shall be adopted by January 1, 2004, 811 

and shall be revised from time to time as determined by the 812 

Department of Health, in consultation with the respective 813 

professional licensing boards. Inclusion of a test on the list 814 

of invalid diagnostic tests shall be based on lack of 815 

demonstrated medical value and a level of general acceptance by 816 

the relevant provider community and may shall not be dependent 817 

for results entirely upon subjective patient response. 818 

Notwithstanding its inclusion on a fee schedule in this 819 

subsection, an insurer or insured is not required to pay any 820 

charges or reimburse claims for an any invalid diagnostic test 821 

as determined by the Department of Health. 822 

(c)1. With respect to any treatment or service, other than 823 

medical services billed by a hospital or other provider for 824 

emergency services and care as defined in s. 395.002 or 825 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì811080qÎ811080 

 

Page 30 of 154 

2/28/2012 9:45:53 AM 576-04050C-12 

inpatient services rendered at a hospital-owned facility, the 826 

statement of charges must be furnished to the insurer by the 827 

provider and may not include, and the insurer is not required to 828 

pay, charges for treatment or services rendered more than 35 829 

days before the postmark date or electronic transmission date of 830 

the statement, except for past due amounts previously billed on 831 

a timely basis under this paragraph, and except that, if the 832 

provider submits to the insurer a notice of initiation of 833 

treatment within 21 days after its first examination or 834 

treatment of the claimant, the statement may include charges for 835 

treatment or services rendered up to, but not more than, 75 days 836 

before the postmark date of the statement. The injured party is 837 

not liable for, and the provider may shall not bill the injured 838 

party for, charges that are unpaid because of the provider’s 839 

failure to comply with this paragraph. Any agreement requiring 840 

the injured person or insured to pay for such charges is 841 

unenforceable. 842 

1.2. If, however, the insured fails to furnish the provider 843 

with the correct name and address of the insured’s personal 844 

injury protection insurer, the provider has 35 days from the 845 

date the provider obtains the correct information to furnish the 846 

insurer with a statement of the charges. The insurer is not 847 

required to pay for such charges unless the provider includes 848 

with the statement documentary evidence that was provided by the 849 

insured during the 35-day period demonstrating that the provider 850 

reasonably relied on erroneous information from the insured and 851 

either: 852 

a. A denial letter from the incorrect insurer; or 853 

b. Proof of mailing, which may include an affidavit under 854 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì811080qÎ811080 

 

Page 31 of 154 

2/28/2012 9:45:53 AM 576-04050C-12 

penalty of perjury, reflecting timely mailing to the incorrect 855 

address or insurer. 856 

2.3. For emergency services and care as defined in s. 857 

395.002 rendered in a hospital emergency department or for 858 

transport and treatment rendered by an ambulance provider 859 

licensed pursuant to part III of chapter 401, the provider is 860 

not required to furnish the statement of charges within the time 861 

periods established by this paragraph,; and the insurer is shall 862 

not be considered to have been furnished with notice of the 863 

amount of covered loss for purposes of paragraph (4)(b) until it 864 

receives a statement complying with paragraph (d), or copy 865 

thereof, which specifically identifies the place of service to 866 

be a hospital emergency department or an ambulance in accordance 867 

with billing standards recognized by the federal Centers for 868 

Medicare and Medicaid Services Health Care Finance 869 

Administration. 870 

3.4. Each notice of the insured’s rights under s. 627.7401 871 

must include the following statement in at least 12-point type 872 

in type no smaller than 12 points: 873 

 874 

BILLING REQUIREMENTS.—Florida law provides Statutes 875 

provide that with respect to any treatment or 876 

services, other than certain hospital and emergency 877 

services, the statement of charges furnished to the 878 

insurer by the provider may not include, and the 879 

insurer and the injured party are not required to pay, 880 

charges for treatment or services rendered more than 881 

35 days before the postmark date of the statement, 882 

except for past due amounts previously billed on a 883 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì811080qÎ811080 

 

Page 32 of 154 

2/28/2012 9:45:53 AM 576-04050C-12 

timely basis, and except that, if the provider submits 884 

to the insurer a notice of initiation of treatment 885 

within 21 days after its first examination or 886 

treatment of the claimant, the statement may include 887 

charges for treatment or services rendered up to, but 888 

not more than, 75 days before the postmark date of the 889 

statement. 890 

 891 

(d) All statements and bills for medical services rendered 892 

by a any physician, hospital, clinic, or other person or 893 

institution shall be submitted to the insurer on a properly 894 

completed Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services (CMS) 1500 895 

form, UB 92 forms, or any other standard form approved by the 896 

office or adopted by the commission for purposes of this 897 

paragraph. All billings for such services rendered by providers 898 

must shall, to the extent applicable, follow the Physicians’ 899 

Current Procedural Terminology (CPT) or Healthcare Correct 900 

Procedural Coding System (HCPCS), or ICD-9 in effect for the 901 

year in which services are rendered and comply with the Centers 902 

for Medicare and Medicaid Services (CMS) 1500 form instructions, 903 

and the American Medical Association Current Procedural 904 

Terminology (CPT) Editorial Panel, and the Healthcare Correct 905 

Procedural Coding System (HCPCS). All providers, other than 906 

hospitals, must shall include on the applicable claim form the 907 

professional license number of the provider in the line or space 908 

provided for “Signature of Physician or Supplier, Including 909 

Degrees or Credentials.” In determining compliance with 910 

applicable CPT and HCPCS coding, guidance shall be provided by 911 

the Physicians’ Current Procedural Terminology (CPT) or the 912 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì811080qÎ811080 

 

Page 33 of 154 

2/28/2012 9:45:53 AM 576-04050C-12 

Healthcare Correct Procedural Coding System (HCPCS) in effect 913 

for the year in which services were rendered, the Office of the 914 

Inspector General (OIG), Physicians Compliance Guidelines, and 915 

other authoritative treatises designated by rule by the Agency 916 

for Health Care Administration. A No statement of medical 917 

services may not include charges for medical services of a 918 

person or entity that performed such services without possessing 919 

the valid licenses required to perform such services. For 920 

purposes of paragraph (4)(b), an insurer is shall not be 921 

considered to have been furnished with notice of the amount of 922 

covered loss or medical bills due unless the statements or bills 923 

comply with this paragraph, and unless the statements or bills 924 

are properly completed in their entirety as to all material 925 

provisions, with all relevant information being provided 926 

therein. 927 

(e)1. At the initial treatment or service provided, each 928 

physician, other licensed professional, clinic, or other medical 929 

institution providing medical services upon which a claim for 930 

personal injury protection benefits is based shall require an 931 

insured person, or his or her guardian, to execute a disclosure 932 

and acknowledgment form, which reflects at a minimum that: 933 

a. The insured, or his or her guardian, must countersign 934 

the form attesting to the fact that the services set forth 935 

therein were actually rendered; 936 

b. The insured, or his or her guardian, has both the right 937 

and affirmative duty to confirm that the services were actually 938 

rendered; 939 

c. The insured, or his or her guardian, was not solicited 940 

by any person to seek any services from the medical provider; 941 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì811080qÎ811080 

 

Page 34 of 154 

2/28/2012 9:45:53 AM 576-04050C-12 

d. The physician, other licensed professional, clinic, or 942 

other medical institution rendering services for which payment 943 

is being claimed explained the services to the insured or his or 944 

her guardian; and 945 

e. If the insured notifies the insurer in writing of a 946 

billing error, the insured may be entitled to a certain 947 

percentage of a reduction in the amounts paid by the insured’s 948 

motor vehicle insurer. 949 

2. The physician, other licensed professional, clinic, or 950 

other medical institution rendering services for which payment 951 

is being claimed has the affirmative duty to explain the 952 

services rendered to the insured, or his or her guardian, so 953 

that the insured, or his or her guardian, countersigns the form 954 

with informed consent. 955 

3. Countersignature by the insured, or his or her guardian, 956 

is not required for the reading of diagnostic tests or other 957 

services that are of such a nature that they are not required to 958 

be performed in the presence of the insured. 959 

4. The licensed medical professional rendering treatment 960 

for which payment is being claimed must sign, by his or her own 961 

hand, the form complying with this paragraph. 962 

5. The original completed disclosure and acknowledgment 963 

form shall be furnished to the insurer pursuant to paragraph 964 

(4)(b) and may not be electronically furnished. 965 

6. The This disclosure and acknowledgment form is not 966 

required for services billed by a provider for emergency 967 

services as defined in s. 395.002, for emergency services and 968 

care as defined in s. 395.002 rendered in a hospital emergency 969 

department, or for transport and treatment rendered by an 970 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì811080qÎ811080 

 

Page 35 of 154 

2/28/2012 9:45:53 AM 576-04050C-12 

ambulance provider licensed pursuant to part III of chapter 401. 971 

7. The Financial Services Commission shall adopt, by rule, 972 

a standard disclosure and acknowledgment form to that shall be 973 

used to fulfill the requirements of this paragraph, effective 90 974 

days after such form is adopted and becomes final. The 975 

commission shall adopt a proposed rule by October 1, 2003. Until 976 

the rule is final, the provider may use a form of its own which 977 

otherwise complies with the requirements of this paragraph. 978 

8. As used in this paragraph, the term “countersign” or 979 

“countersignature” “countersigned” means a second or verifying 980 

signature, as on a previously signed document, and is not 981 

satisfied by the statement “signature on file” or any similar 982 

statement. 983 

9. The requirements of this paragraph apply only with 984 

respect to the initial treatment or service of the insured by a 985 

provider. For subsequent treatments or service, the provider 986 

must maintain a patient log signed by the patient, in 987 

chronological order by date of service, which that is consistent 988 

with the services being rendered to the patient as claimed. The 989 

requirement to maintain requirements of this subparagraph for 990 

maintaining a patient log signed by the patient may be met by a 991 

hospital that maintains medical records as required by s. 992 

395.3025 and applicable rules and makes such records available 993 

to the insurer upon request. 994 

(f) Upon written notification by any person, an insurer 995 

shall investigate any claim of improper billing by a physician 996 

or other medical provider. The insurer shall determine if the 997 

insured was properly billed for only those services and 998 

treatments that the insured actually received. If the insurer 999 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì811080qÎ811080 

 

Page 36 of 154 

2/28/2012 9:45:53 AM 576-04050C-12 

determines that the insured has been improperly billed, the 1000 

insurer shall notify the insured, the person making the written 1001 

notification, and the provider of its findings and shall reduce 1002 

the amount of payment to the provider by the amount determined 1003 

to be improperly billed. If a reduction is made due to a such 1004 

written notification by any person, the insurer shall pay to the 1005 

person 20 percent of the amount of the reduction, up to $500. If 1006 

the provider is arrested due to the improper billing, then the 1007 

insurer shall pay to the person 40 percent of the amount of the 1008 

reduction, up to $500. 1009 

(g) An insurer may not systematically downcode with the 1010 

intent to deny reimbursement otherwise due. Such action 1011 

constitutes a material misrepresentation under s. 1012 

626.9541(1)(i)2. 1013 

(h) As provided in s. 400.9905, an entity excluded from the 1014 

definition of a clinic shall be deemed a clinic and must be 1015 

licensed under part X of chapter 400 in order to receive 1016 

reimbursement under ss. 627.730-627.7405. However, this 1017 

licensing requirement does not apply to: 1018 

1. An entity wholly owned by a physician licensed under 1019 

chapter 458 or chapter 459, or by the physician and the spouse, 1020 

parent, child, or sibling of the physician; 1021 

2. An entity wholly owned by a dentist licensed under 1022 

chapter 466, or by the dentist and the spouse, parent, child, or 1023 

sibling of the dentist; 1024 

3. An entity wholly owned by a chiropractic physician 1025 

licensed under chapter 460, or by the chiropractic physician and 1026 

the spouse, parent, child, or sibling of the chiropractic 1027 

physician if such entity has filed for a licensing exemption 1028 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì811080qÎ811080 

 

Page 37 of 154 

2/28/2012 9:45:53 AM 576-04050C-12 

with the Agency for Health Care Administration; 1029 

4. A hospital or ambulatory surgical center licensed under 1030 

chapter 395; or 1031 

5. An entity wholly owned, directly or indirectly, by a 1032 

hospital or hospitals licensed under chapter 395. 1033 

(8) APPLICABILITY OF PROVISION REGULATING ATTORNEY 1034 

ATTORNEY’S FEES.—With respect to any dispute under the 1035 

provisions of ss. 627.730-627.7405 between the insured and the 1036 

insurer, or between an assignee of an insured’s rights and the 1037 

insurer, the provisions of ss. s. 627.428 and 768.79 shall 1038 

apply, except as provided in subsections (10) and (15). 1039 

(9) PREFERRED PROVIDERS.—An insurer may negotiate and 1040 

contract enter into contracts with preferred licensed health 1041 

care providers for the benefits described in this section, 1042 

including referred to in this section as “preferred providers,” 1043 

which shall include health care providers licensed under chapter 1044 

chapters 458, chapter 459, chapter 460, chapter 461, or chapter 1045 

and 463. The insurer may provide an option to an insured to use 1046 

a preferred provider at the time of purchasing purchase of the 1047 

policy for personal injury protection benefits, if the 1048 

requirements of this subsection are met. If the insured elects 1049 

to use a provider who is not a preferred provider, whether the 1050 

insured purchased a preferred provider policy or a nonpreferred 1051 

provider policy, the medical benefits provided by the insurer 1052 

shall be as required by this section. If the insured elects to 1053 

use a provider who is a preferred provider, the insurer may pay 1054 

medical benefits in excess of the benefits required by this 1055 

section and may waive or lower the amount of any deductible that 1056 

applies to such medical benefits. If the insurer offers a 1057 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì811080qÎ811080 

 

Page 38 of 154 

2/28/2012 9:45:53 AM 576-04050C-12 

preferred provider policy to a policyholder or applicant, it 1058 

must also offer a nonpreferred provider policy. The insurer 1059 

shall provide each insured policyholder with a current roster of 1060 

preferred providers in the county in which the insured resides 1061 

at the time of purchase of such policy, and shall make such list 1062 

available for public inspection during regular business hours at 1063 

the insurer’s principal office of the insurer within the state. 1064 

(10) DEMAND LETTER.— 1065 

(a) As a condition precedent to filing any action for 1066 

benefits under this section, the insurer must be provided with 1067 

written notice of an intent to initiate litigation must be 1068 

provided to the insurer. Such notice may not be sent until the 1069 

claim is overdue, including any additional time the insurer has 1070 

to pay the claim pursuant to paragraph (4)(b). 1071 

(b) The notice must required shall state that it is a 1072 

“demand letter under s. 627.736(10)” and shall state with 1073 

specificity: 1074 

1. The name of the insured upon which such benefits are 1075 

being sought, including a copy of the assignment giving rights 1076 

to the claimant if the claimant is not the insured. 1077 

2. The claim number or policy number upon which such claim 1078 

was originally submitted to the insurer. 1079 

3. To the extent applicable, the name of any medical 1080 

provider who rendered to an insured the treatment, services, 1081 

accommodations, or supplies that form the basis of such claim; 1082 

and an itemized statement specifying each exact amount, the date 1083 

of treatment, service, or accommodation, and the type of benefit 1084 

claimed to be due. A completed form satisfying the requirements 1085 

of paragraph (5)(d) or the lost-wage statement previously 1086 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì811080qÎ811080 

 

Page 39 of 154 

2/28/2012 9:45:53 AM 576-04050C-12 

submitted may be used as the itemized statement. To the extent 1087 

that the demand involves an insurer’s withdrawal of payment 1088 

under paragraph (7)(a) for future treatment not yet rendered, 1089 

the claimant shall attach a copy of the insurer’s notice 1090 

withdrawing such payment and an itemized statement of the type, 1091 

frequency, and duration of future treatment claimed to be 1092 

reasonable and medically necessary. 1093 

(c) Each notice required by this subsection must be 1094 

delivered to the insurer by United States certified or 1095 

registered mail, return receipt requested. Such postal costs 1096 

shall be reimbursed by the insurer if so requested by the 1097 

claimant in the notice, when the insurer pays the claim. Such 1098 

notice must be sent to the person and address specified by the 1099 

insurer for the purposes of receiving notices under this 1100 

subsection. Each licensed insurer, whether domestic, foreign, or 1101 

alien, shall file with the office designation of the name and 1102 

address of the person to whom notices must pursuant to this 1103 

subsection shall be sent which the office shall make available 1104 

on its Internet website. The name and address on file with the 1105 

office pursuant to s. 624.422 are shall be deemed the authorized 1106 

representative to accept notice pursuant to this subsection if 1107 

in the event no other designation has been made. 1108 

(d) If, within 30 days after receipt of notice by the 1109 

insurer, the overdue claim specified in the notice is paid by 1110 

the insurer together with applicable interest and a penalty of 1111 

10 percent of the overdue amount paid by the insurer, subject to 1112 

a maximum penalty of $250, no action may be brought against the 1113 

insurer. If the demand involves an insurer’s withdrawal of 1114 

payment under paragraph (7)(a) for future treatment not yet 1115 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì811080qÎ811080 

 

Page 40 of 154 

2/28/2012 9:45:53 AM 576-04050C-12 

rendered, no action may be brought against the insurer if, 1116 

within 30 days after its receipt of the notice, the insurer 1117 

mails to the person filing the notice a written statement of the 1118 

insurer’s agreement to pay for such treatment in accordance with 1119 

the notice and to pay a penalty of 10 percent, subject to a 1120 

maximum penalty of $250, when it pays for such future treatment 1121 

in accordance with the requirements of this section. To the 1122 

extent the insurer determines not to pay any amount demanded, 1123 

the penalty is shall not be payable in any subsequent action. 1124 

For purposes of this subsection, payment or the insurer’s 1125 

agreement shall be treated as being made on the date a draft or 1126 

other valid instrument that is equivalent to payment, or the 1127 

insurer’s written statement of agreement, is placed in the 1128 

United States mail in a properly addressed, postpaid envelope, 1129 

or if not so posted, on the date of delivery. The insurer is not 1130 

obligated to pay any attorney attorney’s fees if the insurer 1131 

pays the claim or mails its agreement to pay for future 1132 

treatment within the time prescribed by this subsection. 1133 

(e) The applicable statute of limitation for an action 1134 

under this section shall be tolled for a period of 30 business 1135 

days by the mailing of the notice required by this subsection. 1136 

(f) Any insurer making a general business practice of not 1137 

paying valid claims until receipt of the notice required by this 1138 

subsection is engaging in an unfair trade practice under the 1139 

insurance code. 1140 

(11) FAILURE TO PAY VALID CLAIMS; UNFAIR OR DECEPTIVE 1141 

PRACTICE.— 1142 

(a) If an insurer fails to pay valid claims for personal 1143 

injury protection with such frequency so as to indicate a 1144 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì811080qÎ811080 

 

Page 41 of 154 

2/28/2012 9:45:53 AM 576-04050C-12 

general business practice, the insurer is engaging in a 1145 

prohibited unfair or deceptive practice that is subject to the 1146 

penalties provided in s. 626.9521 and the office has the powers 1147 

and duties specified under in ss. 626.9561-626.9601 with respect 1148 

thereto. 1149 

(b) Notwithstanding s. 501.212, the Department of Legal 1150 

Affairs may investigate and initiate actions for a violation of 1151 

this subsection, including, but not limited to, the powers and 1152 

duties specified in part II of chapter 501. 1153 

(16) SECURE ELECTRONIC DATA TRANSFER.—If all parties 1154 

mutually and expressly agree, A notice, documentation, 1155 

transmission, or communication of any kind required or 1156 

authorized under ss. 627.730-627.7405 may be transmitted 1157 

electronically if it is transmitted by secure electronic data 1158 

transfer that is consistent with state and federal privacy and 1159 

security laws. 1160 

Section 9. Section 627.748, Florida Statutes, is created to 1161 

read: 1162 

627.748 Short title.—Sections 627.748-627.7491 may be cited 1163 

as the “Florida Motor Vehicle No-Fault Medical Care Coverage 1164 

Law.” 1165 

Section 10. Section 627.7481, Florida Statutes, is created 1166 

to read: 1167 

627.7481 Legislative findings; purpose.— 1168 

(1) LEGISLATIVE FINDINGS.— 1169 

(a) The Florida Motor Vehicle No-Fault Law, ss. 627.730-1170 

627.7405, was intended to deliver medically necessary and 1171 

appropriate medical care promptly, without regard to fault, and 1172 

without undue litigation or other associated costs. This intent 1173 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì811080qÎ811080 

 

Page 42 of 154 

2/28/2012 9:45:53 AM 576-04050C-12 

has been frustrated at significant cost and harm to consumers by 1174 

fraud, inappropriate medical treatments, overutilization of 1175 

medical services, inflated charges, and other abusive practices. 1176 

(b) Personal injury protection fraud has become pervasive. 1177 

Widespread fraud has been documented by a Statewide Grand Jury, 1178 

“Report on Insurance Fraud Related to Personal Injury 1179 

Protection” by the Fifteenth Statewide Grand Jury,” 2000; the 1180 

Insurance Consumer Advocate, “Report on Florida Motor Vehicle 1181 

No-Fault Insurance,” dated December 2011; and the Office of 1182 

Insurance Regulation, “Report on Review of the 2011 Personal 1183 

Injury Protection Data Call,” dated April 11, 2011. 1184 

(c) Personal injury protection premiums have risen to 1185 

unacceptable levels as a result of fraud and abuse, 1186 

significantly impairing the ability of insureds to maintain 1187 

coverage mandated by law. The rise in such premiums is directly 1188 

related to large increases in carrier losses. From 2008 to 2010, 1189 

personal injury protection benefits paid by insurers increased 1190 

from $1.43 billion to $2.37 billion. 1191 

(d) Significant reforms must be enacted to curtail the 1192 

level of fraudulent activity, inappropriate medical treatments, 1193 

overutilization of medical services, inflated charges, and other 1194 

abusive practices within no-fault motor vehicle insurance to 1195 

preserve the affordability and availability of coverage within 1196 

this state. 1197 

(e) Ensuring the availability and affordability of no-fault 1198 

motor vehicle insurance by requiring medical care coverage is an 1199 

overwhelming public necessity and provides a commensurate 1200 

benefit. Moreover, deterrence and prevention of fraud and abuse 1201 

is a matter of great public interest and importance to the 1202 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì811080qÎ811080 

 

Page 43 of 154 

2/28/2012 9:45:53 AM 576-04050C-12 

public’s health, safety, and welfare. 1203 

(2) PURPOSE.—The purpose of the Florida Motor Vehicle No-1204 

Fault Medical Care Coverage Law is to provide for emergency 1205 

services and care, medical services and care provided in a 1206 

hospital, prescribed followup care, funeral costs, and 1207 

disability insurance benefits without regard to fault; to 1208 

require motor vehicle insurance that secures such benefits for 1209 

motor vehicles required to be registered in this state; and, 1210 

with respect to motor vehicle accidents, to provide a limitation 1211 

on the right to claim damages for pain, suffering, mental 1212 

anguish, and inconvenience. 1213 

Section 11. Section 627.74811, Florida Statutes, is created 1214 

to read: 1215 

627.74811 Effect of law on medical care coverage policies.—1216 

The provisions, schedules, and procedures authorized in ss. 1217 

627.748-627.7491 must be implemented by insurers offering 1218 

policies pursuant to the Florida Motor Vehicle No-Fault Medical 1219 

Care Coverage Law. The Legislature intends that these 1220 

provisions, schedules, and procedures have full force and effect 1221 

regardless of their express inclusion in an insurance policy 1222 

form and govern over any general provisions in the insurance 1223 

policy form. An insurer is not required to amend its policy form 1224 

or to expressly notify providers, claimants, or insureds of the 1225 

applicable fee schedules in order to implement and apply such 1226 

provisions, schedules, or procedures. 1227 

Section 12. Section 627.7482, Florida Statutes, is created 1228 

to read: 1229 

627.7482 Definitions.—As used in ss. 627.748-627.7491, the 1230 

term: 1231 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì811080qÎ811080 

 

Page 44 of 154 

2/28/2012 9:45:53 AM 576-04050C-12 

(1) “Broker” means any person not licensed under chapter 1232 

395, chapter 400, chapter 429, chapter 458, chapter 459, chapter 1233 

460, chapter 461, or chapter 641 who charges or receives 1234 

compensation for the use of medical equipment and is not the 100 1235 

percent owner or the 100 percent lessee of such equipment. For 1236 

purposes of this subsection, such owner or lessee may be an 1237 

individual, a corporation, a partnership, or any other entity 1238 

and any of its 100 percent owned affiliates and subsidiaries. 1239 

(a) The term “broker” does not include: 1240 

1. A hospital or physician management company whose medical 1241 

equipment is ancillary to the practices managed; a debt 1242 

collection agency; an entity that has contracted with the 1243 

insurer to obtain a discounted rate; a management company that 1244 

has contracted to provide general management services for a 1245 

licensed physician or health care facility and whose 1246 

compensation is not materially affected by the usage or 1247 

frequency of usage of medical equipment; or an entity that is 1248 

100 percent owned by one or more hospitals or physicians. 1249 

2. A person or entity that certifies, upon the request of 1250 

an insurer, that: 1251 

a. It is a clinic licensed under part X of chapter 400; 1252 

b. It is a 100 percent owner of medical equipment; and 1253 

c. The owner’s only part-time lease of medical equipment 1254 

for medical care coverage patients is on a temporary basis not 1255 

to exceed 30 days in a 12-month period and is necessitated by: 1256 

(I) The repair or maintenance of existing 100 percent-owned 1257 

medical equipment; 1258 

(II) The pending arrival and installation of newly 1259 

purchased medical equipment or the replacement 100-percent-owned 1260 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì811080qÎ811080 

 

Page 45 of 154 

2/28/2012 9:45:53 AM 576-04050C-12 

medical equipment; or 1261 

(III) A determination by the medical director or clinical 1262 

director that open-style medical equipment is medically 1263 

necessary for the performance of tests or procedures for 1264 

patients due to the patients’ physical sizes or claustrophobia. 1265 

The leased medical equipment may not be used, for medical 1266 

treatment or services, for a patient who is not a patient of the 1267 

registered clinic for medical treatment of services. 1268 

 1269 

However, the 30-day lease period provided in this sub-1270 

subparagraph may be extended for an additional 60 days as 1271 

applicable to magnetic resonance imaging equipment if the owner 1272 

certifies that the extension otherwise complies with this 1273 

paragraph. 1274 

(b) As used in this subsection, the term “lessee” means a 1275 

long-term lessee under a capital or operating lease but does not 1276 

include a part-time lessee. 1277 

(c) Any person or entity making a false certification under 1278 

this subsection commits insurance fraud as defined in s. 1279 

817.234. 1280 

(2) “Certify” means to swear or attest to a fact being true 1281 

or accurately represented in a writing. 1282 

(3) “Emergency medical condition” means: 1283 

(a) A medical condition manifesting itself by acute 1284 

symptoms of sufficient severity, which may include severe pain, 1285 

such that the absence of immediate medical attention could 1286 

reasonably be expected to result in any of the following: 1287 

1. Serious jeopardy to the health of a patient, including a 1288 

pregnant woman or fetus. 1289 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì811080qÎ811080 

 

Page 46 of 154 

2/28/2012 9:45:53 AM 576-04050C-12 

2. Serious impairment to bodily functions. 1290 

3. Serious dysfunction of any bodily organ or part. 1291 

(b) With respect to a pregnant woman: 1292 

1. That there is inadequate time for a safe transfer to 1293 

another hospital before delivery; 1294 

2. That a transfer may pose a threat to the health and 1295 

safety of the woman or fetus; or 1296 

3. That there is evidence of the onset and persistence of 1297 

uterine contractions or rupture of the membranes. 1298 

(4) “Emergency services and care” means medical screening, 1299 

examination and evaluation by a physician or, to the extent 1300 

permitted by applicable law, by other appropriate personnel 1301 

under the supervision of a physician, to determine if an 1302 

emergency medical condition exists and, if it does, the care, 1303 

treatment, or surgery by a physician necessary to relieve or 1304 

eliminate the emergency medical condition, within the service 1305 

capability of the facility. 1306 

(5) “Entity wholly owned” means a proprietorship, group 1307 

practice, partnership, or corporation that provides health care 1308 

services rendered by licensed health care practitioners and in 1309 

which licensed health care practitioners are the business owners 1310 

of all aspects of the business entity, including, but not 1311 

limited to, being reflected as the business owners on the title 1312 

or lease of the physical facility, filing taxes as the business 1313 

owners, being account holders on the entity’s bank account, 1314 

being listed as the principals on all incorporation documents 1315 

required by this state, and having ultimate authority over all 1316 

personnel and compensation decisions relating to the entity. 1317 

However, this definition does not apply to an entity that is 1318 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì811080qÎ811080 

 

Page 47 of 154 

2/28/2012 9:45:53 AM 576-04050C-12 

wholly owned, directly or indirectly, by a hospital licensed 1319 

under chapter 395. 1320 

(6) “Hospital” means a facility that, at the time services 1321 

or treatment was rendered, was licensed under chapter 395. 1322 

(7) “Knowingly” means having actual knowledge of 1323 

information and acting in deliberate ignorance of the truth or 1324 

falsity of the information or in reckless disregard of the 1325 

information. Proof of specific intent to defraud is not 1326 

required. 1327 

(8) “Lawful” or “lawfully” means in substantial compliance 1328 

with all relevant applicable criminal, civil, and administrative 1329 

requirements of state and federal law related to the provision 1330 

of medical services or treatment. 1331 

(9) “Medically necessary” refers to a medical service or 1332 

supply that a prudent physician would provide for the purpose of 1333 

preventing, diagnosing, or treating an illness, injury, disease, 1334 

or symptom in a manner that is: 1335 

(a) In accordance with generally accepted standards of 1336 

medical practice; 1337 

(b) Clinically appropriate in terms of type, frequency, 1338 

extent, site, and duration; and 1339 

(c) Not primarily for the convenience of the patient, 1340 

physician, or other health care provider. 1341 

(10) “Motor vehicle” means any self-propelled vehicle that 1342 

has four or more wheels and is of a type both designed and 1343 

required to be licensed for use on the highways of this state 1344 

and any trailer or semitrailer designed for use with such 1345 

vehicle. The term includes: 1346 

(a) A “private passenger motor vehicle,” which is any motor 1347 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì811080qÎ811080 

 

Page 48 of 154 

2/28/2012 9:45:53 AM 576-04050C-12 

vehicle that is a sedan, station wagon, or jeep-type vehicle 1348 

and, if not used primarily for occupational, professional, or 1349 

business purposes, a motor vehicle of the pickup truck, panel 1350 

truck, van, camper, or motor home type. 1351 

(b) A “commercial motor vehicle,” which is a motor vehicle 1352 

that is not a private passenger motor vehicle. 1353 

 1354 

The term does not include a mobile home or a motor vehicle that 1355 

is used in mass transit, other than public school 1356 

transportation; is designed to transport more than five 1357 

passengers exclusive of the operator of the motor vehicle; and 1358 

is owned by a municipality, a transit authority, or a political 1359 

subdivision of the state. 1360 

(11) “Named insured” means a person, usually the owner of a 1361 

motor vehicle, identified in a policy by name as the insured 1362 

under the policy. 1363 

(12) “Owner,” with respect to a motor vehicle, means a 1364 

person who holds legal title to the motor vehicle or, if the 1365 

motor vehicle is the subject of a security agreement or lease 1366 

with an option to purchase and the debtor or lessee has the 1367 

right to possession, the debtor or lessee of the motor vehicle. 1368 

(13) “Physician” means an allopathic physician licensed 1369 

under chapter 458 or an osteopathic physician licensed under 1370 

chapter 459. 1371 

(14) “Properly completed” means providing truthful, 1372 

substantially complete, and substantially accurate responses as 1373 

to all material elements to each applicable request for 1374 

information or statement by a means that may lawfully be 1375 

provided and that complies with this section, or as otherwise 1376 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì811080qÎ811080 

 

Page 49 of 154 

2/28/2012 9:45:53 AM 576-04050C-12 

agreed to by the parties. 1377 

(15) “Relative residing in the insured’s household” means a 1378 

relative of any degree by blood, marriage, or adoption who 1379 

usually makes her or his home in the same family unit regardless 1380 

of whether she or he is temporarily living elsewhere. 1381 

(16) “Unbundling” means separating treatment or services 1382 

that would be properly billed under one billing code into two or 1383 

more billing codes, resulting in a payment amount greater than 1384 

would be paid using one billing code. 1385 

(17) “Upcoding” means using a billing code to describe 1386 

treatment or services in a manner that would result in a payment 1387 

amount greater than would be paid using a billing code that 1388 

accurately describes such treatment or services. The term does 1389 

not include an otherwise lawful bill by a magnetic resonance 1390 

imaging facility, which globally combines both technical and 1391 

professional components, if the amount of the global bill is not 1392 

more than the components if billed separately; however, payment 1393 

of such a bill constitutes payment in full for all components of 1394 

such service. 1395 

Section 13. Section 627.7483, Florida Statutes, is created 1396 

to read: 1397 

627.7483 Required security.— 1398 

(1) An owner or registrant of a motor vehicle, other than a 1399 

motor vehicle used as a school bus as defined in s. 1006.25, a 1400 

limousine, or a taxicab, which must be registered and licensed 1401 

in this state shall continuously maintain security as described 1402 

in subsection (3) throughout the licensing or registration 1403 

period. An owner or registrant of a motor vehicle used as a 1404 

taxicab shall maintain security as required under s. 324.032(1) 1405 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì811080qÎ811080 

 

Page 50 of 154 

2/28/2012 9:45:53 AM 576-04050C-12 

and is exempt from s. 627.7486. 1406 

(2) A nonresident owner or registrant of a motor vehicle, 1407 

whether operated or not operated, which has been physically 1408 

present within this state for more than 90 days during the 1409 

preceding 365 days must thereafter continuously maintain 1410 

security as described in subsection (3) while such motor vehicle 1411 

is physically present within this state. 1412 

(3) Security required by this section shall be provided: 1413 

(a) By an insurance policy delivered or issued for delivery 1414 

in this state by an authorized or eligible motor vehicle 1415 

liability insurer which provides the benefits and exemptions 1416 

contained in ss. 627.748-627.7491. Any policy of insurance 1417 

represented or sold as providing the security required under 1418 

this section shall be deemed to provide insurance for the 1419 

payment of the required benefits; or 1420 

(b) By any other method authorized by s. 324.031(2), (3), 1421 

or (4) and approved by the Department of Highway Safety and 1422 

Motor Vehicles as affording security equivalent to that afforded 1423 

by a policy of insurance or by self-insuring as authorized by s. 1424 

768.28(16). The person filing such security has all of the 1425 

obligations and rights of an insurer under ss. 627.748-627.7491. 1426 

(4) An owner of a motor vehicle for which security is 1427 

required by this section who fails to have such security in 1428 

effect at the time of an accident is not immune from tort 1429 

liability and is personally liable for the payment of benefits 1430 

under s. 627.7485. With respect to such benefits, the owner has 1431 

all of the rights and obligations of an insurer under ss. 1432 

627.748-627.7491. 1433 

(5) In addition to persons who are not required to provide 1434 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì811080qÎ811080 

 

Page 51 of 154 

2/28/2012 9:45:53 AM 576-04050C-12 

security under this section or s. 324.022, the owner or 1435 

registrant of a motor vehicle who is a member of the United 1436 

States Armed Forces and who is called to or on active duty 1437 

outside the United States in an emergency situation is exempt 1438 

from such requirements. The exemption applies only while the 1439 

owner or registrant is on such active duty and while the motor 1440 

vehicle otherwise required to be covered by the security under 1441 

this section or s. 324.022 is not operated by any person. Upon 1442 

receipt of a written request from the insured to whom this 1443 

exemption applies, the insurer shall cancel the coverages and 1444 

return any unearned premium or suspend the security required by 1445 

this section and s. 324.022. Notwithstanding s. 324.0221(2), the 1446 

Department of Highway Safety and Motor Vehicles may not suspend 1447 

the registration or operator’s license of the owner or 1448 

registrant of a motor vehicle during the time she or he 1449 

qualifies for this exemption. The owner or registrant of the 1450 

motor vehicle qualifying for the exemption must immediately 1451 

notify the department before and at the end of the expiration of 1452 

the exemption. 1453 

Section 14. Section 627.7484, Florida Statutes, is created 1454 

to read: 1455 

627.7484 Proof of security; security requirements; 1456 

penalties.— 1457 

(1) The provisions of chapter 324 which pertain to the 1458 

method of giving and maintaining proof of financial 1459 

responsibility and which govern and define a motor vehicle 1460 

liability policy apply to filing and maintaining proof of 1461 

security required by ss. 627.748-627.7491. 1462 

(2) Any person who: 1463 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì811080qÎ811080 

 

Page 52 of 154 

2/28/2012 9:45:53 AM 576-04050C-12 

(a) Gives information required in a report or otherwise as 1464 

provided in ss. 627.748-627.7491, knowing or having reason to 1465 

believe that such information is false; 1466 

(b) Forges or, without authority, signs any evidence of 1467 

proof of security; or 1468 

(c) Files, or offers for filing, any such evidence of 1469 

proof, knowing or having reason to believe that it is forged or 1470 

signed without authority 1471 

 1472 

commits a misdemeanor of the first degree, punishable as 1473 

provided in s. 775.082 or s. 775.083. 1474 

Section 15. Section 627.7485, Florida Statutes, is created 1475 

to read: 1476 

627.7485 Required medical care coverage benefits.— 1477 

(1) REQUIRED BENEFITS.—An insurance policy complying with 1478 

the security requirements of s. 627.7483 must provide medical 1479 

care coverage to the named insured, relatives residing in the 1480 

insured’s household, persons operating the insured motor 1481 

vehicle, passengers in the motor vehicle, and other persons 1482 

struck by such motor vehicle and suffering bodily injury while 1483 

not an occupant of a self-propelled vehicle, subject to 1484 

subsection (2) and paragraph (4)(d), up to a limit of $10,000 in 1485 

medical and disability benefits and $5,000 in death benefits 1486 

resulting from bodily injury, sickness, disease, or death to 1487 

such persons arising out of the ownership, maintenance, or use 1488 

of the motor vehicle as follows: 1489 

(a) Medical benefits.— 1490 

1. Up to a limit of $10,000, 80 percent of all reasonable 1491 

expenses for: 1492 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì811080qÎ811080 

 

Page 53 of 154 

2/28/2012 9:45:53 AM 576-04050C-12 

a. Emergency transport and treatment rendered by an 1493 

ambulance provider licensed under part III of chapter 401 within 1494 

24 hours after the motor vehicle accident. 1495 

b. Emergency services and care provided within 7 days after 1496 

the motor vehicle accident if such services and care are 1497 

provided: 1498 

(I) In a hospital or in a facility wholly owned by a 1499 

hospital; 1500 

(II) In a facility wholly owned by a physician licensed 1501 

under chapter 458 or chapter 459, or by the physician and the 1502 

spouse, parents, children, or siblings of such physician. 1503 

c. Services and care rendered when an insured is admitted 1504 

to a hospital within 7 days after the motor vehicle accident, 1505 

for a condition related to the motor vehicle accident. 1506 

d. If the insured receives emergency transport and 1507 

treatment or emergency services and care pursuant to sub-sub-1508 

subparagraph a. or sub-subparagraph b., or services and care 1509 

pursuant to sub-subparagraph c., prescribed followup services 1510 

and care directly related to the medical diagnosis arising from 1511 

the motor vehicle accident if: 1512 

(I) The medical diagnosis and determination of the 1513 

emergency medical condition was rendered in a hospital by a 1514 

physician licensed under chapter 458, an osteopathic physician 1515 

licensed under chapter 459, a dentist licensed under chapter 1516 

466, or, to the extent permitted by applicable law and under the 1517 

supervision of such physician, osteopathic physician, or 1518 

dentist, by a physician assistant licensed under chapter 458 or 1519 

chapter 459 or an advanced registered nurse practitioner 1520 

licensed under chapter 464, or the insured received services and 1521 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì811080qÎ811080 

 

Page 54 of 154 

2/28/2012 9:45:53 AM 576-04050C-12 

care while admitted to a hospital; and 1522 

(II) The prescribed followup services and care are rendered 1523 

by a physician licensed under chapter 458, an osteopathic 1524 

physician licensed under chapter 459, a chiropractic physician 1525 

licensed under chapter 460, a dentist licensed under chapter 1526 

466, a physician assistant licensed under chapter 458 or chapter 1527 

459, or an advanced registered nurse practitioner licensed under 1528 

chapter 464. 1529 

e. If the insured receives services and care pursuant to 1530 

sub-subparagraph a., sub-subparagraph b., sub-subparagraph c. or 1531 

sub-subparagraph d., all medically necessary medical, surgical, 1532 

dental, nursing, or diagnostic ancillary services, hospital or 1533 

ambulatory surgical center services, durable medical equipment, 1534 

prosthetics, or orthotics and supplies. 1535 

2. Up to a limit of $2,000, 80 percent of all reasonable 1536 

expenses as follows: 1537 

a. Services and care rendered within 7 days after the motor 1538 

vehicle accident by a physician licensed under chapter 458, an 1539 

osteopathic physician licensed under chapter 459, a dentist 1540 

licensed under chapter 466, a physician assistant licensed under 1541 

chapter 458 or 459, or an advanced registered nurse practitioner 1542 

licensed under chapter 464. 1543 

b. If the insured receives services and care pursuant to 1544 

sub-subparagraph a., prescribed followup services and care 1545 

directly related to the medical diagnosis arising from the motor 1546 

vehicle accident. The medical benefits provide reimbursement 1547 

only for followup services and care provided, supervised, 1548 

ordered, or prescribed by a physician licensed under chapter 1549 

458, an osteopathic physician licensed under chapter 459, a 1550 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì811080qÎ811080 

 

Page 55 of 154 

2/28/2012 9:45:53 AM 576-04050C-12 

dentist licensed under chapter 466 or, to the extent permitted 1551 

by applicable law and under the supervision of such physician, 1552 

osteopathic physician, or dentist, by a physician assistant 1553 

licensed under chapter 458 or chapter 459 or an advanced 1554 

registered nurse practitioner licensed under chapter 46. Such 1555 

followup services and care may be rendered by a physician 1556 

licensed under chapter 458, an osteopathic physician licensed 1557 

under chapter 459, a chiropractic physician licensed under 1558 

chapter 460, a dentist licensed under chapter 466, or, to the 1559 

extent permitted by applicable law and under the supervision of 1560 

such physician, osteopathic physician, or dentist, by a 1561 

physician assistant licensed under chapter 458 or chapter 459 or 1562 

an advanced registered nurse practitioner licensed under chapter 1563 

464. 1564 

c. All medically necessary medical, surgical, dental, 1565 

nursing, or diagnostic ancillary services, hospital or 1566 

ambulatory surgical center services, durable medical equipment, 1567 

prosthetics, orthotics and supplies. 1568 

d. Payment of benefits under sub-subparagraph a., sub-1569 

subparagraph b., or sub-subparagraph c. occur only if an insured 1570 

has been determined in a hospital to not have an emergency 1571 

medical condition or did not present at a hospital but received 1572 

treatment from a provider identified in sub-subparagraph a. 1573 

within 7 days after the motor vehicle accident. 1574 

3. Prescribed followup services and care under sub-1575 

subparagraph 1.d., and reimbursable medical benefits under 1576 

subparagraph 2. must be provided in a clinic licensed under part 1577 

X of chapter 400 or an entity excluded from the definition of a 1578 

clinic. However, as provided in s. 400.9905, an entity excluded 1579 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì811080qÎ811080 

 

Page 56 of 154 

2/28/2012 9:45:53 AM 576-04050C-12 

from the definition of a clinic shall be deemed a clinic and 1580 

must be licensed under part X of chapter 400 in order to receive 1581 

reimbursement for prescribed followup services and care under 1582 

sub-subparagraph 1.d. unless the entity is: 1583 

a. An entity wholly owned by a physician licensed under 1584 

chapter 458 or chapter 459, or by the physician and the spouse, 1585 

parent, child, or sibling of the physician; 1586 

b. An entity wholly owned by a dentist licensed under 1587 

chapter 466, or by the dentist and the spouse, parent, child, or 1588 

sibling of the dentist; 1589 

c. An entity wholly owned by a chiropractic physician 1590 

licensed under chapter 460, or by the chiropractic physician and 1591 

the spouse, parent, child, or sibling of the chiropractic 1592 

physician if such entity has filed for a licensing exemption 1593 

with the Agency for Health Care Administration; 1594 

d. A hospital or ambulatory surgical center licensed under 1595 

chapter 395; or 1596 

e. An entity wholly owned, directly or indirectly, by a 1597 

hospital licensed under chapter 395. 1598 

4. Reimbursement for services provided by a chiropractic 1599 

physician is limited to the lesser of 24 treatments or to 1600 

services rendered within 12 weeks after the date of the initial 1601 

chiropractic treatment, whichever comes first, unless the 1602 

insurer authorizes additional chiropractic services. 1603 

5. Medical benefits do not include massage as defined in s. 1604 

480.033 or acupuncture as defined in s. 457.102, regardless of 1605 

the person, entity, or licensee providing massage or 1606 

acupuncture. 1607 

6. For purposes of ss. 627.748-627.7491, a medical 1608 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì811080qÎ811080 

 

Page 57 of 154 

2/28/2012 9:45:53 AM 576-04050C-12 

diagnosis that an emergency medical condition exists is presumed 1609 

to be correct unless rebutted by clear and convincing evidence 1610 

to the contrary. 1611 

(b) Disability benefits.—Sixty percent of any loss of gross 1612 

income and loss of earning capacity per individual from 1613 

inability to work proximately caused by the injury sustained by 1614 

the injured person, plus all expenses reasonably incurred in 1615 

obtaining from others ordinary and necessary services in lieu of 1616 

those that, but for the injury, the injured person would have 1617 

performed without income for the benefit of her or his 1618 

household. All disability benefits payable under this paragraph 1619 

must be paid at least every 2 weeks. 1620 

(c) Death benefits.—Up to a limit of $5,000. Death benefits 1621 

are in addition to medical benefits and disability benefits 1622 

provided under the insurance policy. The insurer may pay death 1623 

benefits to the executor or administrator of the deceased, to 1624 

any of the deceased’s relatives by blood, legal adoption, or 1625 

marriage, or to any person who appears to the insurer to be 1626 

equitably entitled to such benefits. 1627 

 1628 

Only insurers writing motor vehicle liability insurance in this 1629 

state may provide the benefits required by this section, and 1630 

such insurer may not require the purchase of any other motor 1631 

vehicle coverage other than the purchase of property damage 1632 

liability coverage as required by s. 627.7275 as a condition for 1633 

providing such benefits. Insurers may not require that property 1634 

damage liability insurance in an amount greater than $10,000 be 1635 

purchased in conjunction with medical care coverage insurance. 1636 

Such insurers shall make benefits and required property damage 1637 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì811080qÎ811080 

 

Page 58 of 154 

2/28/2012 9:45:53 AM 576-04050C-12 

liability insurance coverage available through normal marketing 1638 

channels. An insurer writing motor vehicle liability insurance 1639 

in this state who fails to comply with such availability 1640 

requirement as a general business practice, as determined by the 1641 

office, violates part IX of chapter 626, and such violation 1642 

constitutes an unfair method of competition or an unfair or 1643 

deceptive act or practice involving the business of insurance. 1644 

An insurer committing such violation is subject to the penalties 1645 

provided under that part, as well as those provided elsewhere in 1646 

the insurance code. 1647 

(2) AUTHORIZED EXCLUSIONS.—An insurer may exclude benefits: 1648 

(a) For injury sustained by the named insured and relatives 1649 

residing in the insured’s household while occupying another 1650 

motor vehicle owned by the named insured and not insured under 1651 

the policy or for injury sustained by any person operating the 1652 

insured motor vehicle without the express or implied consent of 1653 

the insured. 1654 

(b) To any injured person if such person’s conduct 1655 

contributed to her or his injury under the following 1656 

circumstance: 1657 

1. Causing injury to herself or himself intentionally; or 1658 

2. Being injured while committing a felony. 1659 

 1660 

If an insured is charged with conduct as set forth in 1661 

subparagraph 2., the 30-day payment provision of paragraph 1662 

(4)(b) shall be held in abeyance, and the insurer shall withhold 1663 

payment of any benefits pending the outcome of the case at the 1664 

trial level. If the charge is nolle prossed or dismissed or the 1665 

insured is acquitted, the 30-day payment provision shall run 1666 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì811080qÎ811080 

 

Page 59 of 154 

2/28/2012 9:45:53 AM 576-04050C-12 

from the date the insurer is notified of such action. 1667 

(3) INSURED’S RIGHTS TO RECOVERY OF SPECIAL DAMAGES IN TORT 1668 

CLAIMS.—An insurer may not have a lien on any recovery in tort 1669 

by judgment, settlement, or otherwise for medcial care coverage 1670 

benefits, whether suit has been filed or settlement has been 1671 

reached without suit. An injured party who is entitled to bring 1672 

suit under ss. 627.748-627.7491, or her or his legal 1673 

representative, may not recover any damages for which benefits 1674 

are paid or payable. The plaintiff may prove all of her or his 1675 

special damages notwithstanding this limitation, but if special 1676 

damages are introduced in evidence, the trier of facts, whether 1677 

judge or jury, may not award damages for medical care coverage 1678 

benefits paid or payable. In all cases in which a jury is 1679 

required to fix damages, the court shall instruct the jury that 1680 

the plaintiff may not recover such special damages for medical 1681 

care coverage benefits paid or payable. 1682 

(4) PAYMENT OF BENEFITS.—Benefits due from an insurer under 1683 

ss. 627.748-627.7491 are primary, except that benefits received 1684 

under any workers’ compensation law must be credited against the 1685 

benefits provided under subsection (1) and are due and payable 1686 

as loss accrues upon receipt of reasonable proof of such loss 1687 

and the amount of expenses and loss incurred that are covered by 1688 

the policy issued under ss. 627.748-627.7491. If the Agency for 1689 

Health Care Administration provides, pays, or becomes liable for 1690 

medical assistance under the Medicaid program related to injury, 1691 

sickness, disease, or death arising out of the ownership, 1692 

maintenance, or use of a motor vehicle, the benefits under ss. 1693 

627.748-627.7491 are subject to the provisions of the Medicaid 1694 

program. However, within 30 days after receiving notice that the 1695 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì811080qÎ811080 

 

Page 60 of 154 

2/28/2012 9:45:53 AM 576-04050C-12 

Medicaid program paid such benefits, the insurer must repay the 1696 

full amount of the benefits to the Medicaid program. 1697 

(a) An insurer may require written notice to be given as 1698 

soon as practicable after an accident involving a motor vehicle 1699 

for which the policy provides the security required by ss. 1700 

627.748-627.7491. 1701 

(b) Medical care coverage insurance benefits paid pursuant 1702 

to this section are overdue if not paid within 30 days after 1703 

written notice of the fact and amount of a covered loss is 1704 

furnished to the insurer. 1705 

1. If written notice of the entire claim is not furnished 1706 

to the insurer, any partial amount supported by the written 1707 

notice is overdue if not paid within 30 days after the written 1708 

notice is furnished. Any part or all of the remainder of the 1709 

claim that is subsequently supported by written notice is 1710 

overdue if not paid within 30 days after subsequent written 1711 

notice is furnished to the insurer. 1712 

2. This paragraph does not preclude or limit the ability of 1713 

the insurer to assert that the claim or a portion of the claim 1714 

was unrelated, was not medically necessary, or was unreasonable, 1715 

or that the amount of the charge was in excess of that permitted 1716 

under, or in violation of, subsection (5). Such assertion may be 1717 

made at any time, including after payment of the claim or after 1718 

the 30-day period for payment set forth in this paragraph. 1719 

3. If an insurer pays only a portion of a claim or rejects 1720 

a claim, the insurer shall provide at the time of the partial 1721 

payment or rejection an itemized specification of each item that 1722 

the insurer has reduced, omitted, or declined to pay and any 1723 

information that the insurer desires the claimant to consider 1724 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì811080qÎ811080 

 

Page 61 of 154 

2/28/2012 9:45:53 AM 576-04050C-12 

related to the medical necessity of the denied treatment or to 1725 

explain the reasonableness of the reduced charge if this 1726 

information does not limit the introduction of evidence at 1727 

trial. The insurer must also include the name and address of the 1728 

person to whom the claimant should respond and a claim number to 1729 

be referenced in future correspondence. 1730 

4. If an insurer pays only a portion of a claim or rejects 1731 

a claim due to an alleged error in the claim, the insurer shall 1732 

provide at the time of the partial payment or rejection an 1733 

itemized specification or explanation of benefits of the 1734 

specified error. Upon receiving the specification or 1735 

explanation, the person making the claim has, at the person’s 1736 

option and without waiving any other legal remedy for payment, 1737 

15 days to submit a revised claim. The revised claim shall be 1738 

considered a timely submission of written notice of a claim. 1739 

5. Notwithstanding that written notice has been furnished 1740 

to the insurer, payment is not overdue if the insurer has 1741 

reasonable proof that the insurer is not responsible for the 1742 

payment. 1743 

6. For the purpose of calculating the extent to which 1744 

benefits are overdue, payment is considered made on the date a 1745 

draft or other valid instrument that is equivalent to payment 1746 

was placed in the United States mail in a properly addressed, 1747 

postpaid envelope or, if not so posted, on the date of delivery. 1748 

7. All overdue payments bear simple interest at the rate 1749 

established under s. 55.03 or the rate established in the 1750 

insurance contract, whichever is greater, for the quarter in 1751 

which the payment became overdue, calculated from the date the 1752 

insurer was furnished with written notice of the amount of the 1753 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì811080qÎ811080 

 

Page 62 of 154 

2/28/2012 9:45:53 AM 576-04050C-12 

covered loss. Interest is due at the time payment of the overdue 1754 

claim is made. 1755 

(c) Upon receiving notice of an accident that is 1756 

potentially covered by benefits under this section, the insurer 1757 

must reserve $5,000 of such coverage for payment to physicians 1758 

licensed under chapter 458 or chapter 459 or dentists licensed 1759 

under chapter 466 who provide medical care coverage pursuant to 1760 

sub-subparagraph (1)(a)1.b., sub-subparagraph (1)(a)1.c., or 1761 

(1)(a)1.d. The reserved amount may be used only to pay claims 1762 

for such providers until 30 days after the date the insurer 1763 

receives notice of the accident. After the 30-day period, any 1764 

amount of the reserve for which the insurer has not received 1765 

notice of a claim for medical care coverage benefits may be used 1766 

to pay other claims. The time periods specified in paragraph (b) 1767 

for the payment of benefits shall be tolled for the period of 1768 

time that the insurer is required by this paragraph to hold 1769 

payment of such other claims to the extent that the amount not 1770 

held in reserve is insufficient to pay such other claims. This 1771 

paragraph does not require an insurer to establish a claim 1772 

reserve for insurance accounting purposes. 1773 

(d) The insurer of the owner of a motor vehicle shall pay 1774 

medical care coverage benefits for accidental bodily injury 1775 

requiring medical treatment: 1776 

1. Sustained in this state by the owner while occupying a 1777 

motor vehicle, or while not an occupant of a self-propelled 1778 

vehicle if the injury is caused by physical contact with a motor 1779 

vehicle. 1780 

2. Sustained outside this state, but within the United 1781 

States or its territories or possessions or Canada, by the owner 1782 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì811080qÎ811080 

 

Page 63 of 154 

2/28/2012 9:45:53 AM 576-04050C-12 

while occupying the owner’s motor vehicle. 1783 

3. Sustained by a relative of the owner residing in the 1784 

owner’s household, under the circumstances described in 1785 

subparagraph 1. or subparagraph 2. if the relative at the time 1786 

of the accident is domiciled in the owner’s household and is not 1787 

the owner of a motor vehicle with respect to which security is 1788 

required under ss. 627.748-627.7491. 1789 

4. Sustained in this state by any other person while 1790 

occupying the owner’s motor vehicle or, if a resident of this 1791 

state, while not an occupant of a self-propelled vehicle, if the 1792 

injury is caused by physical contact with such motor vehicle if 1793 

the injured person is not: 1794 

a. The owner of a motor vehicle for which security is 1795 

required under ss. 627.748-627.7491; or 1796 

b. Entitled to benefits from the insurer of the owner of 1797 

such motor vehicle. 1798 

(e) If two or more insurers are liable for paying medical 1799 

care coverage benefits for the same injury to any one person, 1800 

the maximum amount payable shall be as specified in subsection 1801 

(1), and an insurer paying the benefits is entitled to recover 1802 

from each of the other insurers an equitable pro rata share of 1803 

the benefits paid and expenses incurred in processing the claim. 1804 

(f) In a dispute between the insured and the insurer, or 1805 

between an assignee of the insured’s rights and the insurer, the 1806 

insurer must notify the insured or the assignee that the policy 1807 

limits under this section have been reached within 15 days after 1808 

the limits have been reached. 1809 

(g) An insurer shall create and maintain for each insured a 1810 

log of medical care coverage benefits paid by the insurer on 1811 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì811080qÎ811080 

 

Page 64 of 154 

2/28/2012 9:45:53 AM 576-04050C-12 

behalf of the insured. The insurer shall provide to the insured 1812 

a copy of the log within 30 days after receiving a request for 1813 

the log from the insured. 1814 

(h) Benefits are not due or payable to or on behalf of an 1815 

insured, claimant, medical provider, or attorney if the insured, 1816 

claimant, medical provider, or attorney has: 1817 

1. Knowingly submitted a false material statement, 1818 

document, record, or bill; 1819 

2. Knowingly submitted false material information; or 1820 

3. Otherwise committed or attempted to commit a fraudulent 1821 

insurance act as defined in s. 626.989. 1822 

 1823 

A claimant who violates this paragraph is not entitled to any 1824 

medical care coverage benefits or payment for any bills and 1825 

services, regardless of whether a portion of the claim may be 1826 

legitimate. However, a medical provider who does not violate 1827 

this paragraph may not be denied benefits solely due to 1828 

violation by another claimant. 1829 

(i) If an insurer has a reasonable belief that a fraudulent 1830 

insurance act, as defined in s. 626.989 or s. 817.134, has been 1831 

committed, the insurer shall notify the claimant in writing 1832 

within 30 days of submission of the claim that the claim is 1833 

being investigated for suspected fraud. The insurer then has an 1834 

additional 60 days, beginning at the end of the initial 30-day 1835 

period, to conduct its fraud investigation. Notwithstanding 1836 

subsection (8), no later than the 90th day after the submission 1837 

of the claim, the insurer must deny the claim or pay the claim 1838 

with simple interest as provided in subparagraph (b)7. All 1839 

claims denied for suspected fraudulent insurance acts shall be 1840 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì811080qÎ811080 

 

Page 65 of 154 

2/28/2012 9:45:53 AM 576-04050C-12 

reported to the Division of Insurance Fraud. 1841 

 1842 

Subject to s. 626.989(4), persons or entities that in good faith 1843 

report suspected fraud to the Division of Insurance Fraud or 1844 

share information in the furtherance of a fraud investigation 1845 

are not subject to any civil or criminal liability relating to 1846 

the reporting or release of such information. 1847 

(j) It is a violation of the insurance code for an insurer 1848 

to fail to timely provide benefits as required by this section 1849 

with such frequency as to constitute a general business 1850 

practice, as determined by the office. 1851 

(5) CHARGES FOR TREATMENT OF INJURED PERSONS.— 1852 

(a) A physician, hospital, clinic, or other person or 1853 

institution lawfully rendering treatment to an injured person 1854 

for a bodily injury covered by medical care coverage insurance 1855 

may charge the insurer and injured party only a reasonable 1856 

amount pursuant to this section for the services, treatment, 1857 

supplies, and care rendered, and the insurer providing such 1858 

coverage may pay such charges directly to such person or 1859 

institution lawfully rendering such treatment if the insured 1860 

receiving such treatment, or her or his guardian, has 1861 

countersigned the properly completed invoice, bill, or claim 1862 

form approved by the office attesting that such treatment has 1863 

actually been rendered to the best knowledge of the insured or 1864 

her or his guardian. However, such charge may not exceed the 1865 

amount that the person or institution customarily charges for 1866 

like services, treatment, supplies, or care. When determining 1867 

whether a charge for a particular service, treatment, supply, or 1868 

care is reasonable, consideration may be given to evidence of 1869 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì811080qÎ811080 

 

Page 66 of 154 

2/28/2012 9:45:53 AM 576-04050C-12 

usual and customary charges and payments accepted by the 1870 

provider involved in the dispute, reimbursement levels in the 1871 

community and various federal and state medical fee schedules 1872 

applicable to motor vehicle and other insurance coverages, and 1873 

other information relevant to the reasonableness of the charges 1874 

for the service, treatment, supply, or care. 1875 

1. If a health care provider or entity bills an insurer an 1876 

amount less than that indicated in the following schedule of 1877 

maximum charges and the insurer pays the amount billed, the 1878 

payment shall be considered reasonable. A payment made by an 1879 

insurer that limits reimbursement to 80 percent of the following 1880 

schedule of maximum charges is considered reasonable: 1881 

a. For emergency transport and treatment by providers 1882 

licensed under chapter 401, 200 percent of Medicare charges. 1883 

b. For emergency services and care provided by a hospital, 1884 

75 percent of the hospital’s usual and customary charges. 1885 

c. For emergency services and care provided in a hospital 1886 

and rendered by a physician or dentist, and related hospital 1887 

inpatient services rendered by a physician or dentist, the usual 1888 

and customary charges in the community. 1889 

d. For hospital inpatient services, other than emergency 1890 

services and care, 200 percent of the Medicare Part A 1891 

prospective payment applicable to the specific hospital 1892 

providing the inpatient services. 1893 

e. For hospital outpatient services, other than emergency 1894 

services and care, 200 percent of the Medicare Part A Ambulatory 1895 

Payment Classification for the specific hospital providing the 1896 

outpatient services. 1897 

f. For all other medical services, treatment, supplies, and 1898 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì811080qÎ811080 

 

Page 67 of 154 

2/28/2012 9:45:53 AM 576-04050C-12 

care, 200 percent of the allowable amount under: 1899 

(I) The participating physicians fee schedule of Medicare 1900 

Part B. 1901 

(II) For medical services, treatment, supplies, and care 1902 

provided by clinical laboratories, Medicare Part B. 1903 

(III) For durable medical equipment, the Durable Medical 1904 

Equipment Prosthetics/Orthortics & Supplies (DMEPOS) fee 1905 

schedule of Medicare Part B. 1906 

 1907 

However, if such services, treatment, supplies, or care is not 1908 

reimbursable under Medicare Part B as provided in this sub-1909 

subparagraph, the insurer may limit reimbursement to 80 percent 1910 

of the maximum reimbursable allowance under workers’ 1911 

compensation, as determined under s. 440.13 and rules adopted 1912 

thereunder which are in effect at the time such services, 1913 

treatment, supplies, or care is provided. Services, treatment, 1914 

supplies, or care that is not reimbursable under Medicare or 1915 

workers’ compensation is not required to be reimbursed by the 1916 

insurer. 1917 

2. For purposes of subparagraph 1., the applicable fee 1918 

schedule or payment limitation under Medicare is the fee 1919 

schedule or payment limitation that was in effect on March 1 of 1920 

the year and for the area in which the services, treatment, 1921 

supplies, or care was rendered, and applies until March 1 of the 1922 

following year, notwithstanding subsequent changes made to such 1923 

fee schedule or payment limitation, except that it may not be 1924 

less than the allowable amount under the participating 1925 

physicians schedule of Medicare Part B for 2007 for medical 1926 

services, treatment, supplies, and care subject to Medicare Part 1927 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì811080qÎ811080 

 

Page 68 of 154 

2/28/2012 9:45:53 AM 576-04050C-12 

B. 1928 

3. Subparagraph 1. does not allow the insurer to apply any 1929 

limitation on the number of treatments or other utilization 1930 

limits that apply under Medicare or workers’ compensation. An 1931 

insurer that applies the allowable payment limitations of 1932 

subparagraph 1. must reimburse a provider who lawfully provided 1933 

care or treatment under the scope of her or his license 1934 

regardless of whether such provider is entitled to reimbursement 1935 

under Medicare due to restrictions or limitations on the types 1936 

or discipline of health care providers who may be reimbursed for 1937 

particular procedures or procedure codes. However, subparagraph 1938 

1. does not prohibit an insurer from using the Medicare coding 1939 

policies and payment methodologies of the Centers for Medicare 1940 

and Medicaid Services, including applicable modifiers, to 1941 

determine the appropriate amount of reimbursement. 1942 

4. If an insurer limits payment as authorized by 1943 

subparagraph 1., the person providing such services, treatment, 1944 

supplies, or care may not bill or attempt to collect from the 1945 

insured any amount in excess of such limits, except for amounts 1946 

that are not covered by the insured’s medical care coverage 1947 

insurance due to the coinsurance amount or maximum policy 1948 

limits. 1949 

(b) An insurer or insured is not required to pay a claim or 1950 

charges: 1951 

1. Made by a broker or by a person making a claim on behalf 1952 

of a broker; 1953 

2. For any service or treatment that was not lawful at the 1954 

time rendered; 1955 

3. To any person who knowingly submits a false material 1956 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì811080qÎ811080 

 

Page 69 of 154 

2/28/2012 9:45:53 AM 576-04050C-12 

statement relating to the claim or charges; 1957 

4. With respect to a bill or statement that does not 1958 

substantially meet the applicable requirements of paragraph (d); 1959 

5. For any treatment or service that is upcoded, or that is 1960 

unbundled when such treatment or services should be bundled, in 1961 

accordance with paragraph (e). To facilitate prompt payment of 1962 

lawful services, an insurer may change billing codes that it 1963 

determines have been improperly or incorrectly upcoded or 1964 

unbundled and may make payment based on the changed billing 1965 

codes without affecting the right of the provider to dispute the 1966 

change by the insurer. However, before doing that, the insurer 1967 

must contact the health care provider and discuss the reasons 1968 

for the insurer’s change and the health care provider’s reason 1969 

for the coding or make a reasonable good faith effort to do so 1970 

as documented in the insurer’s file; or 1971 

6. For medical services or treatment billed by a physician 1972 

and not provided in a hospital unless such services are rendered 1973 

by the physician or are incident to her or his professional 1974 

services and included on the physician’s bill, including 1975 

documentation verifying that the physician is responsible for 1976 

the medical services that were rendered and billed. 1977 

(c) The Department of Health, in consultation with the 1978 

appropriate professional licensing boards, shall adopt by rule a 1979 

list of diagnostic tests deemed not to be medically necessary 1980 

for use in the treatment of persons sustaining bodily injury 1981 

covered by medical care coverage benefits under this section. 1982 

The list shall be revised from time to time as determined by the 1983 

Department of Health in consultation with the respective 1984 

professional licensing boards. Inclusion of a test on the list 1985 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì811080qÎ811080 

 

Page 70 of 154 

2/28/2012 9:45:53 AM 576-04050C-12 

shall be based on lack of demonstrated medical value and a level 1986 

of general acceptance by the relevant provider community and may 1987 

not be dependent entirely upon subjective patient response. 1988 

Notwithstanding its inclusion on a fee schedule in this 1989 

subsection, an insurer or insured is not required to pay any 1990 

charges or reimburse claims for any diagnostic test deemed not 1991 

medically necessary by the Department of Health. 1992 

(d) With respect to any treatment or service, other than 1993 

medical services billed by a hospital or other provider for 1994 

emergency services and care or inpatient services rendered at a 1995 

hospital-owned facility, the statement of charges must be 1996 

furnished to the insurer by the provider and may not include, 1997 

and the insurer is not required to pay, charges for treatment or 1998 

services rendered more than 35 days before the postmark date or 1999 

electronic transmission date of the statement, except for past 2000 

due amounts previously billed on a timely basis under this 2001 

paragraph. However, if the provider submits to the insurer a 2002 

notice of initiation of treatment within 21 days after its first 2003 

examination or treatment of the claimant, the statement may 2004 

include charges for treatment or services rendered up to, but 2005 

not more than, 75 days before the postmark date of the 2006 

statement. The injured party is not liable for, and the provider 2007 

may not bill the injured party for, charges that are unpaid 2008 

because of the provider’s failure to comply with this paragraph. 2009 

Any agreement requiring the injured person or insured to pay for 2010 

such charges is unenforceable. 2011 

1. If the insured fails to furnish the provider with the 2012 

correct name and address of the insured’s medical care coverage 2013 

insurer, the provider has 35 days after the date the provider 2014 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì811080qÎ811080 

 

Page 71 of 154 

2/28/2012 9:45:53 AM 576-04050C-12 

obtains the correct information to furnish the insurer with a 2015 

statement of the charges. The insurer is not required to pay for 2016 

such charges unless the provider includes with the statement 2017 

documentary evidence that was provided by the insured during the 2018 

35-day period which demonstrates that the provider reasonably 2019 

relied on erroneous information from the insured and: 2020 

a. A denial letter from the incorrect insurer; or 2021 

b. Proof of mailing, which may include an affidavit under 2022 

penalty of perjury reflecting timely mailing to the incorrect 2023 

address or insurer. 2024 

2. For emergency services and care rendered in a hospital 2025 

emergency department or for transport and treatment rendered by 2026 

an ambulance provider licensed pursuant to part III of chapter 2027 

401, the provider is not required to furnish the statement of 2028 

charges within the time period established by this paragraph, 2029 

and the insurer is not considered to have been furnished with 2030 

notice of the amount of the covered loss for purposes of 2031 

paragraph (4)(b) until it receives a statement complying with 2032 

paragraph (e), or a copy thereof, which specifically identifies 2033 

the place of service as a hospital emergency department or an 2034 

ambulance in accordance with billing standards recognized by the 2035 

federal Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services. 2036 

3. Each notice of the insured’s rights under s. 627.7488 2037 

must include the following statement in at least 12-point type: 2038 

 2039 

BILLING REQUIREMENTS.—Florida law provides that with 2040 

respect to any treatment or services, other than 2041 

certain hospital and emergency services, the statement 2042 

of charges furnished to the insurer by the provider 2043 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì811080qÎ811080 

 

Page 72 of 154 

2/28/2012 9:45:53 AM 576-04050C-12 

may not include, and the insurer and the injured party 2044 

are not required to pay, charges for treatment or 2045 

services rendered more than 35 days before the 2046 

postmark date of the statement, except for past due 2047 

amounts previously billed on a timely basis, and 2048 

except that, if the provider submits to the insurer a 2049 

notice of initiation of treatment within 21 days after 2050 

its first examination or treatment of the claimant, 2051 

the statement may include charges for treatment or 2052 

services rendered up to, but not more than, 75 days 2053 

before the postmark date of the statement. 2054 

 2055 

(e) All statements and bills for medical services rendered 2056 

by a physician, hospital, clinic, or other person or institution 2057 

shall be submitted to the insurer on a properly completed 2058 

Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services (CMS) 1500 form, UB 2059 

92 form, or any other standard form approved by the office or 2060 

adopted by the commission for purposes of this paragraph. All 2061 

billings for such services rendered by providers must, to the 2062 

extent applicable, follow the Physicians’ Current Procedural 2063 

Terminology (CPT) or Healthcare Correct Procedural Coding System 2064 

(HCPCS), or ICD-9 in effect for the year in which services are 2065 

rendered and comply with the CMS 1500 form instructions, the 2066 

American Medical Association CPT Editorial Panel and the HCPCS. 2067 

All providers, other than hospitals, must include on the 2068 

applicable claim form the professional license number of the 2069 

provider in the line or space provided for “Signature of 2070 

Physician or Supplier, Including Degrees or Credentials.” In 2071 

determining compliance with applicable CPT and HCPCS coding, 2072 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì811080qÎ811080 

 

Page 73 of 154 

2/28/2012 9:45:53 AM 576-04050C-12 

guidance shall be provided by the CPT or HCPCS in effect for the 2073 

year in which services were rendered, the Office of the 2074 

Inspector General, Physicians Compliance Guidelines, and other 2075 

authoritative treatises designated by rule by the Agency for 2076 

Health Care Administration. A statement of medical services may 2077 

not include charges for the medical services of a person or 2078 

entity that performed such services without possessing the valid 2079 

licenses required to perform such services. For purposes of 2080 

paragraph (4)(b), an insurer is not considered to have been 2081 

furnished with notice of the amount of the covered loss or 2082 

medical bills due unless the statements or bills comply with 2083 

this paragraph and are properly completed in their entirety as 2084 

to all material provisions, with all relevant information being 2085 

provided therein. 2086 

(f)1. At the time the initial treatment or service is 2087 

provided, each physician, licensed professional, clinic, or 2088 

medical institution providing medical services upon which a 2089 

claim for benefits is based shall require an insured person or 2090 

her or his guardian to execute a disclosure and acknowledgment 2091 

form that reflects at a minimum that: 2092 

a. The insured or her or his guardian must countersign the 2093 

form attesting to the fact that the services set forth in the 2094 

form were actually rendered. 2095 

b. The insured or her or his guardian has both the right 2096 

and the affirmative duty to confirm that the services were 2097 

actually rendered. 2098 

c. The insured or her or his guardian was not solicited by 2099 

any person to seek any services from the medical provider. 2100 

d. The physician, other licensed professional, clinic, or 2101 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì811080qÎ811080 

 

Page 74 of 154 

2/28/2012 9:45:53 AM 576-04050C-12 

other medical institution rendering services for which payment 2102 

is being claimed explained the services to the insured or her or 2103 

his guardian. 2104 

e. If the insured notifies the insurer in writing of a 2105 

billing error, the insured may be entitled to a certain 2106 

percentage of any reduction in the amounts paid by the insured’s 2107 

motor vehicle insurer. 2108 

2. The physician, other licensed professional, clinic, or 2109 

other medical institution rendering services for which payment 2110 

is being claimed has the affirmative duty to explain the 2111 

services rendered to the insured or her or his guardian so that 2112 

the insured or her or his guardian countersigns the form with 2113 

informed consent. 2114 

3. Countersignature by the insured or her or his guardian 2115 

is not required for the reading of diagnostic tests or other 2116 

services that are not required to be performed in the presence 2117 

of the insured. 2118 

4. The licensed medical professional rendering treatment 2119 

for which payment is being claimed must, by her or his own hand, 2120 

sign the form complying with this paragraph. 2121 

5. The completed original disclosure and acknowledgment 2122 

form shall be furnished to the insurer pursuant to paragraph 2123 

(4)(b) and may not be electronically furnished. 2124 

6. The disclosure and acknowledgment form is not required 2125 

for services billed by a provider for emergency services and 2126 

care rendered in a hospital emergency department or for 2127 

transport and treatment rendered by an ambulance provider 2128 

licensed pursuant to part III of chapter 401. 2129 

7. The Financial Services Commission shall adopt a standard 2130 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì811080qÎ811080 

 

Page 75 of 154 

2/28/2012 9:45:53 AM 576-04050C-12 

disclosure and acknowledgment form by rule to fulfill the 2131 

requirements of this paragraph. 2132 

8. As used in this paragraph, the term “countersign” or 2133 

“countersignature” means bearing a second or verifying 2134 

signature, as on a previously signed document, and is not 2135 

satisfied by the statement “signature on file” or similar 2136 

statement. 2137 

9. This paragraph applies only with respect to the initial 2138 

treatment or service of the insured by a provider. For 2139 

subsequent treatments or service, the provider must maintain a 2140 

patient log signed by the patient, in chronological order by 2141 

date of service, which is consistent with the services being 2142 

rendered to the patient as claimed. The requirement to maintain 2143 

a patient log signed by the patient may be met by a hospital 2144 

that maintains medical records as required by s. 395.3025 and 2145 

applicable rules and makes such records available to the insurer 2146 

upon request. 2147 

(g) Upon written notification by any person, an insurer 2148 

shall investigate any claim of improper billing by a physician 2149 

or other medical provider. The insurer shall determine whether 2150 

the insured was properly billed for only those services and 2151 

treatments that the insured actually received. If the insurer 2152 

determines that the insured has been improperly billed, the 2153 

insurer shall notify the insured, the person making the written 2154 

notification, and the provider of its findings and reduce the 2155 

amount of payment to the provider by the amount determined to be 2156 

improperly billed. If a reduction is made due to a written 2157 

notification by any person, the insurer shall pay to that person 2158 

20 percent of the amount of the reduction, up to $500. If the 2159 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì811080qÎ811080 

 

Page 76 of 154 

2/28/2012 9:45:53 AM 576-04050C-12 

provider is arrested due to the improper billing, the insurer 2160 

shall pay to that person 40 percent of the amount of the 2161 

reduction, up to $500. 2162 

(h) An insurer may not systematically downcode with the 2163 

intent to deny reimbursement otherwise due. Such action 2164 

constitutes a material misrepresentation under s. 2165 

626.9541(1)(i)2. 2166 

(6) DISCOVERY OF FACTS ABOUT AN INJURED PERSON; DISPUTES.— 2167 

(a) In all circumstances, an insured seeking benefits under 2168 

ss. 627.748-627.7491, including omnibus insureds, must comply 2169 

with the terms of the policy, which includes, but is not limited 2170 

to, submitting to an examination under oath. The scope of 2171 

questioning during the examination under oath is limited to 2172 

relevant information or information that could reasonably be 2173 

expected to lead to relevant information. Compliance with this 2174 

paragraph is a condition precedent to the insured’s recovering 2175 

benefits. An insurer that, as a general business practice, as 2176 

determined by the office, requests examinations under oath 2177 

without a reasonable basis is subject to s. 626.9541. 2178 

(b) If a request is made by an insurer against whom a claim 2179 

for medical benefits has been made, an employer must furnish a 2180 

sworn statement, in a form approved by the office, of the 2181 

earnings of the person upon whose injury the claim is based 2182 

since the time of the bodily injury and for a reasonable period 2183 

before the injury. 2184 

(c) If an insured seeking to recover benefits pursuant to 2185 

ss. 627.748-627.7491 assigns the contractual right to such 2186 

benefits or payment of such benefits to any person or entity, 2187 

the assignee must comply with the terms of the policy. In all 2188 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì811080qÎ811080 

 

Page 77 of 154 

2/28/2012 9:45:53 AM 576-04050C-12 

circumstances, the assignee is obligated to cooperate under the 2189 

policy, except that an assignee may not be required to submit to 2190 

an examination under oath. 2191 

(d) All claimants must produce and allow for the inspection 2192 

of all documents requested by the insurer which are relevant to 2193 

the services rendered and reasonably obtainable by the claimant. 2194 

(e) Each physician, hospital, clinic, or other medical 2195 

institution providing, before or after bodily injury upon which 2196 

a claim for medical care coverage is based, any products, 2197 

services, or accommodations relating to that or any other 2198 

injury, or to a condition claimed to be connected with that or 2199 

any other injury, shall, if requested by the insurer against 2200 

whom the claim has been made, permit the insurer or the 2201 

insurer’s representative to conduct, within 10 days after the 2202 

insurer’s request, an onsite physical review and examination of 2203 

the treatment location, treatment apparatuses, diagnostic 2204 

devices, and any other medical equipment used for the services 2205 

rendered, and shall furnish a written report of the history, 2206 

condition, treatment, dates, and costs of such treatment of the 2207 

injured person and why the items identified by the insurer were 2208 

reasonable in amount and medically necessary. 2209 

1. The report shall be furnished with a sworn statement 2210 

that the treatment or services rendered were reasonable and 2211 

necessary with respect to the bodily injury sustained and must 2212 

identify which portion of the expenses for the treatment or 2213 

services was incurred as a result of the bodily injury. The 2214 

sworn statement must read as follows: “Under penalty of perjury, 2215 

I declare that I have read the foregoing, and the facts alleged 2216 

are true to the best of my knowledge and belief.” 2217 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì811080qÎ811080 

 

Page 78 of 154 

2/28/2012 9:45:53 AM 576-04050C-12 

2. The physician, hospital, clinic, or other medical 2218 

institution shall also permit the inspection and copying of any 2219 

records regarding such history, condition, treatment, dates, and 2220 

costs of treatment; however, this does not limit the 2221 

introduction of evidence at trial. 2222 

3. The person requesting such records and sworn statement 2223 

shall pay all reasonable costs connected therewith. 2224 

4. If an insurer makes a written request for documentation 2225 

or information within 30 days after having received notice of 2226 

the amount of a covered loss under paragraph (4)(b), the amount 2227 

or the partial amount that is the subject of the insurer’s 2228 

inquiry is overdue if the insurer does not pay in accordance 2229 

with paragraph (4)(b) or within 10 days after the insurer’s 2230 

receipt of the requested documentation or information, whichever 2231 

occurs later. As used in this subparagraph, the term “receipt” 2232 

includes, but is not limited to, inspection and copying pursuant 2233 

to this paragraph. 2234 

5. An insurer that requests documentation or information 2235 

pertaining to the reasonableness of charges or medical necessity 2236 

without a reasonable basis for such requests as a general 2237 

business practice, as determined by the office, is engaging in 2238 

an unfair trade practice under the insurance code. 2239 

6. Section 626.989(4)(d) applies to the sharing of 2240 

information related to reviews and examinations conducted 2241 

pursuant to this section. 2242 

7. A cause of action for violation of the physician-patient 2243 

privilege or invasion of the right of privacy is prohibited 2244 

against any person or entity complying with this paragraph.  2245 

(f) If there is a dispute regarding an insurer’s right to 2246 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì811080qÎ811080 

 

Page 79 of 154 

2/28/2012 9:45:53 AM 576-04050C-12 

discovery of facts under this section, the insurer may petition 2247 

the court to enter an order permitting such discovery. The order 2248 

may be made only on motion for good cause shown and upon notice 2249 

to all persons having an interest, and must specify the time, 2250 

place, manner, conditions, and scope of the discovery. The court 2251 

may, in order to protect against annoyance, embarrassment, or 2252 

oppression, as justice requires, enter an order refusing 2253 

discovery or specifying conditions of discovery and may order 2254 

payments of costs and expenses of the proceeding, including 2255 

reasonable fees for the appearance of attorneys at the 2256 

proceedings, as justice requires. 2257 

(g) Upon request, the injured person shall be furnished a 2258 

copy of all information obtained by the insurer under this 2259 

section and shall pay a reasonable charge if required by the 2260 

insurer. 2261 

(h) Notice to an insurer of the existence of a claim may 2262 

not be unreasonably withheld by an insured. 2263 

(7) MENTAL AND PHYSICAL EXAMINATION OF INJURED PERSON; 2264 

REPORTS.—If the mental or physical condition of an injured 2265 

person covered by medical care coverage is material to a claim 2266 

that has been or may be made for past or future benefits under 2267 

such coverage, upon the request of an insurer, such person must 2268 

submit to mental or physical examination by a physician. The 2269 

costs of such examination shall be borne entirely by the 2270 

insurer. The insurer may include reasonable provisions in 2271 

medical care coverage insurance policies for the mental and 2272 

physical examination of those claiming benefits under the 2273 

policy. 2274 

(a) The examination must be conducted within the 2275 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì811080qÎ811080 

 

Page 80 of 154 

2/28/2012 9:45:53 AM 576-04050C-12 

municipality where the insured is receiving treatment, or in a 2276 

location reasonably accessible to the insured, which means any 2277 

location within the municipality in which the insured resides, 2278 

or within 10 miles by road of the insured’s residence if such 2279 

location is within the county in which the insured resides. If 2280 

the examination is to be conducted in a location reasonably 2281 

accessible to the insured but there is no qualified physician to 2282 

conduct the examination in such location, the examination shall 2283 

be conducted in an area that is in the closest proximity to the 2284 

insured’s residence. 2285 

(b) An insurer may not withdraw payment from a treating 2286 

physician without the consent of the injured person covered by 2287 

the policy unless the insurer first obtains a valid report by a 2288 

Florida physician licensed under the same chapter as the 2289 

treating physician stating that treatment was not reasonable, 2290 

related, or necessary. A valid report is one that is prepared 2291 

and signed by the physician examining the injured person or who 2292 

reviewed the treatment records of the injured person, is 2293 

factually supported by the examination or treatment records 2294 

reviewed, and that has not been modified by anyone other than 2295 

the reviewing physician. The physician preparing the report must 2296 

be in active practice, unless he or she is physically disabled. 2297 

“Active practice” means that during the 3 years immediately 2298 

preceding the date of the physical examination or review of 2299 

treatment records, the physician devoted professional time to 2300 

the active clinical practice of evaluation, diagnosis, or 2301 

treatment of medical conditions or to the instruction of 2302 

students in an accredited health professional school, accredited 2303 

residency program, or a clinical research program that is 2304 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì811080qÎ811080 

 

Page 81 of 154 

2/28/2012 9:45:53 AM 576-04050C-12 

affiliated with an accredited health professional school, 2305 

teaching hospital, or accredited residency program. The insurer 2306 

and any person acting at the direction of or on behalf of the 2307 

insurer may not materially change an opinion in a report 2308 

prepared under this paragraph or direct the physician preparing 2309 

the report to change such opinion. The denial of a payment 2310 

resulting from a changed opinion constitutes a material 2311 

misrepresentation under s. 626.9541(1)(i)2. This provision does 2312 

not preclude the insurer from calling to the physician’s 2313 

attention any errors of fact in the report based upon 2314 

information in the claim file. 2315 

(c) If requested by the person examined, a party causing an 2316 

examination to be made must deliver a copy of every written 2317 

report concerning a examination rendered by an examining 2318 

physician to the person examined, at least one of which must set 2319 

out the examining physician’s findings and conclusions in 2320 

detail. After such request and delivery, the party causing the 2321 

examination to be made is entitled, upon request, to receive 2322 

from the person examined every written report available to him 2323 

or her or his or her representative concerning any examination, 2324 

previously or thereafter made, of the same mental or physical 2325 

condition. By requesting and obtaining a report of the 2326 

examination so ordered, or by taking the deposition of the 2327 

examiner, the person examined waives any privilege he or she may 2328 

have, relating to the claim for benefits, regarding the 2329 

testimony of every other person who has examined, or may 2330 

thereafter examine, him or her with respect to the same mental 2331 

or physical condition. 2332 

(d) The physician preparing a report at the request of an 2333 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì811080qÎ811080 

 

Page 82 of 154 

2/28/2012 9:45:53 AM 576-04050C-12 

insurer and physicians rendering expert opinions on behalf of 2334 

persons claiming medical benefits for medical care coverage, or 2335 

on behalf of an insured through an attorney or another entity, 2336 

must maintain copies of all examination reports as medical 2337 

records and all payments for the examinations and reports for at 2338 

least 3 years. 2339 

(e) If a person unreasonably refuses to submit to an 2340 

examination or fails to appear for an examination, the insurer 2341 

is no longer liable for subsequent medical care benefits. 2342 

Refusal or failure to appear for two examinations raises a 2343 

rebuttable presumption that such refusal or failure was 2344 

unreasonable. 2345 

(8) DEMAND LETTER.— 2346 

(a) As a condition precedent to filing an action for 2347 

benefits under this section, the insurer must be provided with 2348 

written notice of an intent to initiate litigation. Such notice 2349 

may not be sent until the claim is overdue, including any 2350 

additional time the insurer has to pay the claim pursuant to 2351 

subsection (4). 2352 

(b) The notice required must state that it is a “demand 2353 

letter under s. 627.7485(8), F.S.,” and state with specificity: 2354 

1. The name of the insured upon whom such benefits are 2355 

being sought, including a copy of the assignment giving rights 2356 

to the claimant if the claimant is not the insured. 2357 

2. The claim number or policy number upon which such claim 2358 

was originally submitted to the insurer. 2359 

3. To the extent applicable, the name of any medical 2360 

provider who rendered the treatment, services, accommodations, 2361 

or supplies to an insured which form the basis of such claim and 2362 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì811080qÎ811080 

 

Page 83 of 154 

2/28/2012 9:45:53 AM 576-04050C-12 

an itemized statement specifying each exact amount, the date of 2363 

treatment, service, or accommodation, and the type of benefit 2364 

claimed to be due. A completed form satisfying the requirements 2365 

of paragraph (5)(e) or the lost-wage statement previously 2366 

submitted may be used as the itemized statement. If the demand 2367 

involves an insurer’s withdrawal of payment under paragraph 2368 

(7)(b) for future treatment not yet rendered, the claimant shall 2369 

attach a copy of the insurer’s notice withdrawing such payment 2370 

and an itemized statement of the type, frequency, and duration 2371 

of future treatment claimed to be reasonable and medically 2372 

necessary. 2373 

(c) Each notice required by this subsection must be 2374 

delivered to the insurer by United States certified or 2375 

registered mail, return receipt requested. If requested by the 2376 

claimant in the notice, such postal costs shall be reimbursed by 2377 

the insurer when the insurer pays the claim. The notice must be 2378 

sent to the person and address specified by the insurer for the 2379 

purposes of receiving notices under this subsection. Each 2380 

licensed insurer, whether domestic, foreign, or alien, shall 2381 

file with the office the name and address of the person to whom 2382 

notices pursuant to this subsection are sent, which the office 2383 

shall make available on its website. The name and address on 2384 

file with the office pursuant to s. 624.422 shall be deemed the 2385 

authorized representative to accept notice pursuant to this 2386 

subsection if no other designation has been made. 2387 

(d) If the overdue claim specified in the notice is paid by 2388 

the insurer within 30 days after receipt of notice by the 2389 

insurer, plus applicable interest and a penalty of 10 percent of 2390 

the overdue amount, subject to a maximum penalty of $250, no 2391 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì811080qÎ811080 

 

Page 84 of 154 

2/28/2012 9:45:53 AM 576-04050C-12 

action may be brought against the insurer. If the demand 2392 

involves an insurer’s withdrawal of payment under paragraph 2393 

(7)(b) for future treatment not yet rendered, no action may be 2394 

brought against the insurer if, within 30 days after receipt of 2395 

the notice, the insurer mails to the person filing the notice a 2396 

written statement of the insurer’s agreement to pay for such 2397 

treatment in accordance with the notice and to pay a penalty of 2398 

10 percent, subject to a maximum penalty of $250, when it pays 2399 

for such future treatment in accordance with the requirements of 2400 

this section. To the extent the insurer determines not to pay 2401 

any amount demanded, the penalty is not payable in any 2402 

subsequent action. For purposes of this paragraph, payment or 2403 

the insurer’s agreement are considered made on the date a draft 2404 

or other valid instrument that is equivalent to payment, or the 2405 

insurer’s written statement of agreement, is placed in the 2406 

United States mail in a properly addressed, postpaid envelope, 2407 

or if not so posted, on the date of delivery. The insurer is not 2408 

obligated to pay any attorney fees if the insurer pays the claim 2409 

or mails its agreement to pay for future treatment within the 2410 

time prescribed by this paragraph. 2411 

(e) The applicable statute of limitation for an action 2412 

under this section shall be tolled for 30 business days by the 2413 

mailing of the notice required by this subsection. 2414 

(f) Any insurer making a general business practice of not 2415 

paying valid claims until receipt of the notice required by this 2416 

subsection, as determined by the office, is engaging in an 2417 

unfair trade practice under the insurance code. 2418 

(9) FAILURE TO PAY VALID CLAIMS; UNFAIR OR DECEPTIVE 2419 

PRACTICE.— 2420 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì811080qÎ811080 

 

Page 85 of 154 

2/28/2012 9:45:53 AM 576-04050C-12 

(a) If an insurer fails to pay valid claims for medical 2421 

care coverage with such frequency as to indicate a general 2422 

business practice, as determined by the office, the insurer is 2423 

engaging in a prohibited unfair or deceptive practice subject to 2424 

the penalties provided in s. 626.9521, and the office has the 2425 

powers and duties specified in ss. 626.9561-626.9601 with 2426 

respect thereto. 2427 

(b) Notwithstanding s. 501.212, the Department of Legal 2428 

Affairs may investigate and initiate actions for a violation of 2429 

this subsection, including, but not limited to, the powers and 2430 

duties specified in part II of chapter 501. 2431 

(10) CIVIL ACTION FOR INSURANCE FRAUD.—An insurer shall 2432 

have a cause of action against any person convicted of, or who, 2433 

regardless of adjudication of guilt, pleads guilty or nolo 2434 

contendere to, insurance fraud under s. 817.234, patient 2435 

brokering under s. 817.505, or kickbacks under s. 456.054, 2436 

associated with a claim for medical care coverage in accordance 2437 

with this section. An insurer prevailing in an action brought 2438 

under this subsection may recover compensatory, consequential, 2439 

and punitive damages subject to the requirements and limitations 2440 

of part II of chapter 768 and attorney fees and costs incurred 2441 

in litigating the cause of action. 2442 

(11) FRAUD ADVISORY NOTICE.—Upon receiving notice of a 2443 

claim under this section, an insurer shall provide a notice to 2444 

the insured or to a person for whom a claim for reimbursement 2445 

for diagnosis or treatment of injuries has been filed advising 2446 

that: 2447 

(a) Pursuant to s. 626.9892, the Department of Financial 2448 

Services may pay rewards of up to $25,000 to persons providing 2449 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì811080qÎ811080 

 

Page 86 of 154 

2/28/2012 9:45:53 AM 576-04050C-12 

information leading to the arrest and conviction of persons 2450 

committing crimes investigated by the Division of Insurance 2451 

Fraud arising from violations of s. 440.105, s. 624.15, s. 2452 

626.9541, s. 626.989, or s. 817.234. 2453 

(b) Solicitation of a person injured in a motor vehicle 2454 

crash for purposes of filing medical care coverage or tort 2455 

claims could be a violation of s. 817.234 or s. 817.505 or the 2456 

rules regulating The Florida Bar and, if such conduct has taken 2457 

place, should be immediately reported to the Division of 2458 

Insurance Fraud. 2459 

(12) ALL CLAIMS BROUGHT IN A SINGLE ACTION.—In any civil 2460 

action to recover medical care coverage benefits brought by a 2461 

claimant pursuant to this section against an insurer, all claims 2462 

related to the same health care provider for the same injured 2463 

person shall be brought in one action unless good cause is shown 2464 

why such claims should be brought separately. If the court 2465 

determines that a civil action is filed for a claim that should 2466 

have been brought in a prior civil action, the court may not 2467 

award attorney fees to the claimant. 2468 

(13) SECURE ELECTRONIC DATA TRANSFER.—A notice, 2469 

documentation, transmission, or communication of any kind 2470 

required or authorized under ss. 627.748-627.7491 may be 2471 

transmitted electronically if it is transmitted by secure 2472 

electronic data transfer that is consistent with state and 2473 

federal privacy and security laws. 2474 

Section 16. Section 627.7486, Florida Statutes, is created 2475 

to read: 2476 

627.7486 Tort exemption; limitation on right to damages; 2477 

punitive damages.— 2478 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì811080qÎ811080 

 

Page 87 of 154 

2/28/2012 9:45:53 AM 576-04050C-12 

(1) Every owner, registrant, operator, or occupant of a 2479 

motor vehicle for which security has been provided as required 2480 

by ss. 627.748-627.7491, and every person or organization 2481 

legally responsible for her or his acts or omissions, is exempt 2482 

from tort liability for damages because of bodily injury, 2483 

sickness, or disease arising out of the ownership, operation, 2484 

maintenance, or use of such motor vehicle in this state to the 2485 

extent that the benefits described in s. 627.7485(1) are payable 2486 

for such injury, or would be payable but for any exclusion 2487 

authorized by ss. 627.748-627.7491, under any insurance policy 2488 

or other method of security complying with s. 627.7483, or by an 2489 

owner personally liable under s. 627.7483 for the payment of 2490 

such benefits, unless the person is entitled to maintain an 2491 

action for pain, suffering, mental anguish, and inconvenience 2492 

for such injury under subsection (2). 2493 

(2) In any action of tort brought against the owner, 2494 

registrant, operator, or occupant of a motor vehicle for which 2495 

security has been provided as required by ss. 627.748-627.7491, 2496 

or against any person or organization legally responsible for 2497 

her or his acts or omissions, a plaintiff may recover damages in 2498 

tort for pain, suffering, mental anguish, and inconvenience 2499 

because of bodily injury, sickness, or disease arising out of 2500 

the ownership, maintenance, operation, or use of such motor 2501 

vehicle only if the injury or disease consists in whole or in 2502 

part of: 2503 

(a) Significant and permanent loss of an important bodily 2504 

function; 2505 

(b) Permanent injury within a reasonable degree of medical 2506 

probability, other than scarring or disfigurement; 2507 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì811080qÎ811080 

 

Page 88 of 154 

2/28/2012 9:45:53 AM 576-04050C-12 

(c) Significant and permanent scarring or disfigurement; or 2508 

(d) Death. 2509 

(3) If a defendant in a proceeding brought pursuant to ss. 2510 

627.748-627.7491 questions whether the plaintiff has met the 2511 

requirements of subsection (2), the defendant may file an 2512 

appropriate motion with the court, and the court, 30 days before 2513 

the date set for the trial or the pretrial hearing, whichever is 2514 

first, shall, on a one-time basis only, ascertain by examining 2515 

the pleadings and the evidence before it whether the plaintiff 2516 

will be able to submit some evidence that the plaintiff will 2517 

meet the requirements of subsection (2). If the court finds that 2518 

the plaintiff will not be able to submit such evidence, the 2519 

court shall dismiss the plaintiff’s claim without prejudice. 2520 

(4) A claim for punitive damages is not allowed in any 2521 

action brought against a motor vehicle liability insurer for 2522 

damages in excess of its policy limits. 2523 

Section 17. Section 627.7487, Florida Statutes, is created 2524 

to read: 2525 

627.7487 Medical care coverage; optional limitations; 2526 

deductibles.— 2527 

(1) The named insured may elect a deductible or modified 2528 

coverage or combination thereof to apply to the named insured 2529 

alone or to the named insured and dependent relatives residing 2530 

in the insured’s household but may not elect a deductible or 2531 

modified coverage to apply to any other person covered under the 2532 

policy. 2533 

(2) Upon the renewal of an existing policy, an insurer 2534 

shall offer deductibles of $250, $500, and $1,000 to each 2535 

applicant and to each policyholder. The deductible amount must 2536 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì811080qÎ811080 

 

Page 89 of 154 

2/28/2012 9:45:53 AM 576-04050C-12 

be applied to 100 percent of the expenses and losses described 2537 

in s. 627.7485. After the deductible is met, each insured may 2538 

receive up to $10,000 in total benefits as described in s. 2539 

627.7485(1). However, this subsection may not be applied to 2540 

reduce the amount of any benefits received in accordance with s. 2541 

627.7485(1)(c). 2542 

(3) An insurer shall offer coverage where, at the election 2543 

of the named insured, the benefits for loss of gross income and 2544 

loss of earning capacity described in s. 627.7485(1)(b) are 2545 

excluded. 2546 

(4) The named insured may not be prevented from electing a 2547 

deductible under subsection (2) and modified coverage under 2548 

subsection (3). Each election made by the named insured under 2549 

this section must result in an appropriate reduction of premium 2550 

associated with that election. 2551 

(5) All such offers must be made in clear and unambiguous 2552 

language at the time the initial application is taken and before 2553 

each annual renewal and indicate that a premium reduction will 2554 

result from each election. At the option of the insurer, such 2555 

requirement may be met by using forms of notice approved by the 2556 

office or by providing the following notice in 10-point type in 2557 

the insurer’s application for initial issuance of a policy of 2558 

motor vehicle insurance and the insurer’s annual notice of 2559 

renewal premium: 2560 

 2561 

For medical care coverage insurance, the named insured may elect 2562 

a deductible and may choose to exclude coverage for loss of 2563 

gross income and loss of earning capacity (“lost wages”). This 2564 

selection and choice apply to the named insured alone, or to the 2565 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì811080qÎ811080 

 

Page 90 of 154 

2/28/2012 9:45:53 AM 576-04050C-12 

named insured and all dependent resident relatives. A premium 2566 

reduction will result from these elections. The named insured is 2567 

hereby advised not to elect the lost wage exclusion if the named 2568 

insured or dependent resident relatives are employed, since lost 2569 

wages will not be payable in the event of an accident. 2570 

Section 18. Section 627.7488, Florida Statutes, is created 2571 

to read: 2572 

627.7488 Notice of insured’s rights.— 2573 

(1) The commission shall adopt by rule a form for notifying 2574 

insureds of their right to receive coverage under the Florida 2575 

Motor Vehicle No-Fault Medical Care Coverage Law. Such notice 2576 

must include: 2577 

(a) A description of the benefits provided, including, but 2578 

not limited to, the specific types of services for which medical 2579 

benefits are paid, disability benefits, death benefits, 2580 

significant exclusions from and limitations on coverage, how 2581 

benefits are coordinated with other insurance benefits that the 2582 

insured may have, when payments are due, penalties and interest 2583 

that may be imposed on insurers for failure to make timely 2584 

payments of benefits, and rights of parties regarding disputes 2585 

as to benefits. 2586 

(b) An advisory informing insureds that: 2587 

1. Pursuant to s. 626.9892, the Department of Financial 2588 

Services may pay rewards of up to $25,000 to persons providing 2589 

information leading to the arrest and conviction of persons 2590 

committing crimes investigated by the Division of Insurance 2591 

Fraud arising from violations of s. 440.105, s. 624.15, s. 2592 

626.9541, s. 626.989, or s. 817.234. 2593 

2. Pursuant to s. 627.7485(5)(f)1.e., if the insured 2594 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì811080qÎ811080 

 

Page 91 of 154 

2/28/2012 9:45:53 AM 576-04050C-12 

notifies the insurer in writing of a billing error, the insured 2595 

may be entitled to a certain percentage of a reduction in the 2596 

amounts paid by the insured’s motor vehicle insurer. 2597 

(c) A notice that solicitation of a person injured in a 2598 

motor vehicle crash for purposes of filing medical care coverage 2599 

or tort claims could be a violation of s. 817.234 or s. 817.505 2600 

or the rules regulating The Florida Bar and, if such conduct has 2601 

taken place, it should be immediately reported to the Division 2602 

of Insurance Fraud. 2603 

(2) Each insurer issuing a policy in this state providing 2604 

medical care coverage must mail or deliver the notice as 2605 

specified in subsection (1) to an insured within 21 days after 2606 

receiving from the insured notice of a motor vehicle accident or 2607 

claim involving personal injury to an insured who is covered 2608 

under the policy. The office may allow an insurer additional 2609 

time, not to exceed 30 days, to provide the notice specified in 2610 

subsection (1) upon a showing by the insurer that an emergency 2611 

justifies an extension of time. 2612 

(3) The notice required by this section does not alter or 2613 

modify the terms of the insurance contract or other requirements 2614 

of ss. 627.748-627.7491. 2615 

Section 19. Section 627.7489, Florida Statutes, is created 2616 

to read: 2617 

627.7489 Mandatory joinder of derivative claim.—In any 2618 

action brought pursuant to s. 627.7486 claiming personal 2619 

injuries, all claims arising out of the plaintiff’s injuries, 2620 

including all derivative claims, shall be brought together, 2621 

unless good cause is shown why such claims should be brought 2622 

separately. 2623 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì811080qÎ811080 

 

Page 92 of 154 

2/28/2012 9:45:53 AM 576-04050C-12 

Section 20. Section 627.749, Florida Statutes, is created 2624 

to read: 2625 

627.749 Insurers’ right of reimbursement.—Notwithstanding 2626 

any other provisions of ss. 627.748-627.7491, an insurer 2627 

providing medical care coverage on a private passenger motor 2628 

vehicle shall, to the extent of any medical care coverage paid 2629 

to any person as a benefit arising out of such private passenger 2630 

motor vehicle insurance, have a right of reimbursement against 2631 

the owner or the insurer of the owner of a commercial motor 2632 

vehicle if the benefits paid result from such person having been 2633 

an occupant of the commercial motor vehicle or having been 2634 

struck by the commercial motor vehicle while not an occupant of 2635 

any self-propelled vehicle. 2636 

Section 21. Effective December 1, 2012, section 627.7491, 2637 

Florida Statutes, is created to read: 2638 

627.7491 Application of the Florida Motor Vehicle No-Fault 2639 

Medical Care Coverage Law.— 2640 

(1) All forms and rates for policies issued or renewed on 2641 

or after January 1, 2013, must reflect ss. 627.748-627.7491 and 2642 

must be approved by the office before use. 2643 

(2) After January 1, 2013, insurers must provide notice of 2644 

the Florida Motor Vehicle No-Fault Medical Care Coverage Law to 2645 

existing policyholders at least 30 days before the policy 2646 

expiration date and to applicants for no-fault coverage upon 2647 

receipt of the application. The notice is not subject to 2648 

approval by the office and must clearly inform the policyholder 2649 

or applicant of the following: 2650 

(a) That, effective January 1, 2013, no-fault motor vehicle 2651 

insurance requirements are governed by the Florida Motor Vehicle 2652 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì811080qÎ811080 

 

Page 93 of 154 

2/28/2012 9:45:53 AM 576-04050C-12 

No-Fault Medical Care Coverage Law and must provide an 2653 

explanation of medical care coverage. With respect to the 2654 

initial renewal after January 1, 2013, current policyholders 2655 

must also be provided with an explanation of differences between 2656 

their current policies and the coverage provided under medical 2657 

care coverage policies. 2658 

(b) That failure to maintain required medical care coverage 2659 

and $10,000 in property damage liability coverage may result in 2660 

state suspension of the policyholder’s driver license and 2661 

vehicle registration. 2662 

(c) The name and telephone number of a person to contact 2663 

with any questions she or he may have. 2664 

Section 22. Subsection (1), paragraph (c) of subsection 2665 

(7), paragraphs (a), (b), and (c) of subsection (8), and 2666 

subsections (9), (10), and (13) of section 817.234, Florida 2667 

Statutes, are amended to read: 2668 

817.234 False and fraudulent insurance claims.— 2669 

(1)(a) A person commits insurance fraud punishable as 2670 

provided in subsection (11) if that person, with the intent to 2671 

injure, defraud, or deceive any insurer: 2672 

1. Presents or causes to be presented any written or oral 2673 

statement as part of, or in support of, a claim for payment or 2674 

other benefit pursuant to an insurance policy or a health 2675 

maintenance organization subscriber or provider contract, 2676 

knowing that such statement contains any false, incomplete, or 2677 

misleading information concerning any fact or thing material to 2678 

such claim; 2679 

2. Prepares or makes any written or oral statement that is 2680 

intended to be presented to any insurer in connection with, or 2681 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì811080qÎ811080 

 

Page 94 of 154 

2/28/2012 9:45:53 AM 576-04050C-12 

in support of, any claim for payment or other benefit pursuant 2682 

to an insurance policy or a health maintenance organization 2683 

subscriber or provider contract, knowing that such statement 2684 

contains any false, incomplete, or misleading information 2685 

concerning any fact or thing material to such claim; or 2686 

3.a. Knowingly presents, causes to be presented, or 2687 

prepares or makes with knowledge or belief that it will be 2688 

presented to any insurer, purported insurer, servicing 2689 

corporation, insurance broker, or insurance agent, or any 2690 

employee or agent thereof, any false, incomplete, or misleading 2691 

information or written or oral statement as part of, or in 2692 

support of, an application for the issuance of, or the rating 2693 

of, any insurance policy, or a health maintenance organization 2694 

subscriber or provider contract; or 2695 

b. Who Knowingly conceals information concerning any fact 2696 

material to such application; or. 2697 

4. Knowingly presents, causes to be presented, or, with 2698 

knowledge or belief that it will be presented to an insurer, 2699 

prepares or makes a claim for payment or other benefit under a 2700 

personal injury protection insurance policy or an emergency care 2701 

overage insurance policy and the person knows that the payee 2702 

knowingly submitted a false, misleading, or fraudulent 2703 

application or other document when applying for licensure as a 2704 

health care clinic, seeking an exemption from licensure as a 2705 

health care clinic, or demonstrating compliance with part X of 2706 

chapter 400. 2707 

(b) All claims and application forms must shall contain a 2708 

statement that is approved by the Office of Insurance Regulation 2709 

of the Financial Services Commission which clearly states in 2710 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì811080qÎ811080 

 

Page 95 of 154 

2/28/2012 9:45:53 AM 576-04050C-12 

substance the following: “Any person who knowingly and with 2711 

intent to injure, defraud, or deceive any insurer files a 2712 

statement of claim or an application containing any false, 2713 

incomplete, or misleading information is guilty of a felony of 2714 

the third degree.” This paragraph does shall not apply to 2715 

reinsurance contracts, reinsurance agreements, or reinsurance 2716 

claims transactions. 2717 

(7) 2718 

(c) An insurer, or any person acting at the direction of or 2719 

on behalf of an insurer, may not change an opinion in a mental 2720 

or physical report prepared under s. 627.736(7) or s. 2721 

627.7485(7), as applicable, s. 627.736(8) or direct the 2722 

physician preparing the report to change such opinion; however, 2723 

this provision does not preclude the insurer from calling to the 2724 

attention of the physician errors of fact in the report based 2725 

upon information in the claim file. Any person who violates this 2726 

paragraph commits a felony of the third degree, punishable as 2727 

provided in s. 775.082, s. 775.083, or s. 775.084. 2728 

(8)(a) It is unlawful for any person intending to defraud 2729 

any other person to solicit or cause to be solicited any 2730 

business from a person involved in a motor vehicle accident for 2731 

the purpose of making, adjusting, or settling motor vehicle tort 2732 

claims or claims for personal injury protection or medical care 2733 

coverage benefits required by s. 627.736 or 627.7485, as 2734 

applicable. Any person who violates the provisions of this 2735 

paragraph commits a felony of the second degree, punishable as 2736 

provided in s. 775.082, s. 775.083, or s. 775.084. A person who 2737 

is convicted of a violation of this subsection shall be 2738 

sentenced to a minimum term of imprisonment of 2 years. 2739 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì811080qÎ811080 

 

Page 96 of 154 

2/28/2012 9:45:53 AM 576-04050C-12 

(b) A person may not solicit or cause to be solicited any 2740 

business from a person involved in a motor vehicle accident by 2741 

any means of communication other than advertising directed to 2742 

the public for the purpose of making motor vehicle tort claims 2743 

or claims for personal injury protection or medical care 2744 

coverage benefits required by s. 627.736 or 627.7485, as 2745 

applicable, within 60 days after the occurrence of the motor 2746 

vehicle accident. Any person who violates this paragraph commits 2747 

a felony of the third degree, punishable as provided in s. 2748 

775.082, s. 775.083, or s. 775.084. 2749 

(c) A lawyer, health care practitioner as defined in s. 2750 

456.001, or owner or medical director of a clinic required to be 2751 

licensed pursuant to s. 400.9905 may not, at any time after 60 2752 

days have elapsed from the occurrence of a motor vehicle 2753 

accident, solicit or cause to be solicited any business from a 2754 

person involved in a motor vehicle accident by means of in 2755 

person or telephone contact at the person’s residence, for the 2756 

purpose of making motor vehicle tort claims or claims for 2757 

personal injury protection or medical care coverage benefits 2758 

required by s. 627.736 or 627.7485, as applicable. Any person 2759 

who violates this paragraph commits a felony of the third 2760 

degree, punishable as provided in s. 775.082, s. 775.083, or s. 2761 

775.084. 2762 

(9) A person may not organize, plan, or knowingly 2763 

participate in an intentional motor vehicle crash or a scheme to 2764 

create documentation of a motor vehicle crash that did not occur 2765 

for the purpose of making motor vehicle tort claims or claims 2766 

for personal injury protection or medical care coverage benefits 2767 

as required by s. 627.736 or s. 627.7485, as applicable. Any 2768 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì811080qÎ811080 

 

Page 97 of 154 

2/28/2012 9:45:53 AM 576-04050C-12 

person who violates this subsection commits a felony of the 2769 

second degree, punishable as provided in s. 775.082, s. 775.083, 2770 

or s. 775.084. A person who is convicted of a violation of this 2771 

subsection shall be sentenced to a minimum term of imprisonment 2772 

of 2 years. 2773 

(10) A licensed health care practitioner who is found 2774 

guilty of insurance fraud under this section for an act relating 2775 

to a personal injury protection or medical care coverage 2776 

insurance policy may not be licensed or continue to be licensed 2777 

for 5 years and may not receive reimbursement for benefits under 2778 

such policies for 10 years. As used in this section, the term 2779 

“insurer” means any insurer, health maintenance organization, 2780 

self-insurer, self-insurance fund, or other similar entity or 2781 

person regulated under chapter 440 or chapter 641 or by the 2782 

Office of Insurance Regulation under the Florida Insurance Code. 2783 

(13) As used in this section, the term: 2784 

(a) “Insurer” means any insurer, health maintenance 2785 

organization, self-insurer, self-insurance fund, or similar 2786 

entity or person regulated under chapter 440 or chapter 641 or 2787 

by the Office of Insurance Regulation under the Florida 2788 

Insurance Code. 2789 

(b)(a) “Property” means property as defined in s. 812.012. 2790 

(c)(b) “Value” means value as defined in s. 812.012. 2791 

Section 23. Subsection (4) of section 316.065, Florida 2792 

Statutes, is amended to read: 2793 

316.065 Crashes; reports; penalties.— 2794 

(4) Any person who knowingly repairs a motor vehicle 2795 

without having made a report as required by subsection (3) is 2796 

guilty of a misdemeanor of the first degree, punishable as 2797 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì811080qÎ811080 

 

Page 98 of 154 

2/28/2012 9:45:53 AM 576-04050C-12 

provided in s. 775.082 or s. 775.083. The owner and driver of a 2798 

vehicle involved in a crash who makes a report thereof in 2799 

accordance with subsection (1) or s. 316.066(1) is not liable 2800 

under this section. 2801 

Section 24. Subsection (1) of section 316.646, Florida 2802 

Statutes, is amended to read: 2803 

316.646 Security required; proof of security and display 2804 

thereof; dismissal of cases.— 2805 

(1) Any person required by s. 324.022 to maintain property 2806 

damage liability security, required by s. 324.023 to maintain 2807 

liability security for bodily injury or death, or required by s. 2808 

627.733 to maintain personal injury protection security, or 2809 

required by s. 627.7483 to maintain medical care coverage 2810 

security, as applicable, on a motor vehicle must shall have in 2811 

his or her immediate possession at all times while operating 2812 

such motor vehicle proper proof of maintenance of the required 2813 

security. Such proof must shall be a uniform proof-of-insurance 2814 

card in a form prescribed by the department, a valid insurance 2815 

policy, an insurance policy binder, a certificate of insurance, 2816 

or such other proof as may be prescribed by the department. 2817 

Section 25. Paragraph (b) of subsection (2) of section 2818 

318.18, Florida Statutes, is amended to read: 2819 

318.18 Amount of penalties.—The penalties required for a 2820 

noncriminal disposition pursuant to s. 318.14 or a criminal 2821 

offense listed in s. 318.17 are as follows: 2822 

(2) Thirty dollars for all nonmoving traffic violations 2823 

and: 2824 

(b) For all violations of ss. 320.0605, 320.07(1), 322.065, 2825 

and 322.15(1). Any person who is cited for a violation of s. 2826 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì811080qÎ811080 

 

Page 99 of 154 

2/28/2012 9:45:53 AM 576-04050C-12 

320.07(1) shall be charged a delinquent fee pursuant to s. 2827 

320.07(4). 2828 

1. If a person who is cited for a violation of s. 320.0605 2829 

or s. 320.07 can show proof of having a valid registration at 2830 

the time of arrest, the clerk of the court may dismiss the case 2831 

and may assess a dismissal fee of up to $10. A person who finds 2832 

it impossible or impractical to obtain a valid registration 2833 

certificate must submit an affidavit detailing the reasons for 2834 

the impossibility or impracticality. The reasons may include, 2835 

but are not limited to, the fact that the vehicle was sold, 2836 

stolen, or destroyed; that the state in which the vehicle is 2837 

registered does not issue a certificate of registration; or that 2838 

the vehicle is owned by another person. 2839 

2. If a person who is cited for a violation of s. 322.03, 2840 

s. 322.065, or s. 322.15 can show a driver driver’s license 2841 

issued to him or her and valid at the time of arrest, the clerk 2842 

of the court may dismiss the case and may assess a dismissal fee 2843 

of up to $10. 2844 

3. If a person who is cited for a violation of s. 316.646 2845 

can show proof of security as required by s. 627.733 or s. 2846 

627.7483, as applicable, issued to the person and valid at the 2847 

time of arrest, the clerk of the court may dismiss the case and 2848 

may assess a dismissal fee of up to $10. A person who finds it 2849 

impossible or impractical to obtain proof of security must 2850 

submit an affidavit detailing the reasons for the 2851 

impracticality. The reasons may include, but are not limited to, 2852 

the fact that the vehicle has since been sold, stolen, or 2853 

destroyed; that the owner or registrant of the vehicle is not 2854 

required by s. 627.733 or s. 627.7483 to maintain personal 2855 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì811080qÎ811080 

 

Page 100 of 154 

2/28/2012 9:45:53 AM 576-04050C-12 

injury protection insurance or medical care coverage insurance, 2856 

as applicable; or that the vehicle is owned by another person. 2857 

Section 26. Paragraphs (a) and (d) of subsection (5) of 2858 

section 320.02, Florida Statutes, are amended to read: 2859 

320.02 Registration required; application for registration; 2860 

forms.— 2861 

(5)(a) Proof that personal injury protection benefits or 2862 

medical care coverage benefits, as applicable, have been 2863 

purchased if when required under s. 627.733 or s. 627.7483, as 2864 

applicable, that property damage liability coverage has been 2865 

purchased as required under s. 324.022, that bodily injury or 2866 

death coverage has been purchased if required under s. 324.023, 2867 

and that combined bodily liability insurance and property damage 2868 

liability insurance have been purchased if when required under 2869 

s. 627.7415 shall be provided in the manner prescribed by law by 2870 

the applicant at the time of application for registration of any 2871 

motor vehicle that is subject to such requirements. The issuing 2872 

agent shall refuse to issue registration if such proof of 2873 

purchase is not provided. Insurers shall furnish uniform proof-2874 

of-purchase cards in a form prescribed by the department and 2875 

shall include the name of the insured’s insurance company, the 2876 

coverage identification number, and the make, year, and vehicle 2877 

identification number of the vehicle insured. The card must 2878 

shall contain a statement notifying the applicant of the penalty 2879 

specified in s. 316.646(4). The card or insurance policy, 2880 

insurance policy binder, or certificate of insurance or a 2881 

photocopy of any of these; an affidavit containing the name of 2882 

the insured’s insurance company, the insured’s policy number, 2883 

and the make and year of the vehicle insured; or such other 2884 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì811080qÎ811080 

 

Page 101 of 154 

2/28/2012 9:45:53 AM 576-04050C-12 

proof as may be prescribed by the department shall constitute 2885 

sufficient proof of purchase. If an affidavit is provided as 2886 

proof, it must shall be in substantially the following form: 2887 

 2888 

Under penalty of perjury, I ...(Name of insured)... do 2889 

hereby certify that I have ...(Personal Injury Protection or 2890 

Medical Care Coverage, as applicable, Property Damage Liability, 2891 

and, if when required, Bodily Injury Liability)... Insurance 2892 

currently in effect with ...(Name of insurance company)... under 2893 

...(policy number)... covering ...(make, year, and vehicle 2894 

identification number of vehicle).... ...(Signature of 2895 

Insured)... 2896 

 2897 

The Such affidavit must shall include the following 2898 

warning: 2899 

 2900 

WARNING: GIVING FALSE INFORMATION IN ORDER TO OBTAIN A 2901 

VEHICLE REGISTRATION CERTIFICATE IS A CRIMINAL OFFENSE UNDER 2902 

FLORIDA LAW. ANYONE GIVING FALSE INFORMATION ON THIS AFFIDAVIT 2903 

IS SUBJECT TO PROSECUTION. 2904 

 2905 

If When an application is made through a licensed motor 2906 

vehicle dealer as required in s. 319.23, the original or a 2907 

photostatic copy of such card, insurance policy, insurance 2908 

policy binder, or certificate of insurance or the original 2909 

affidavit from the insured shall be forwarded by the dealer to 2910 

the tax collector of the county or the Department of Highway 2911 

Safety and Motor Vehicles for processing. By executing the 2912 

aforesaid affidavit, the no licensed motor vehicle dealer will 2913 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì811080qÎ811080 

 

Page 102 of 154 

2/28/2012 9:45:53 AM 576-04050C-12 

not be liable in damages for any inadequacy, insufficiency, or 2914 

falsification of any statement contained therein. A card must 2915 

shall also indicate the existence of any bodily injury liability 2916 

insurance voluntarily purchased. 2917 

(d) The verifying of proof of personal injury protection 2918 

insurance or medical care coverage insurance, as applicable, 2919 

proof of property damage liability insurance, proof of combined 2920 

bodily liability insurance and property damage liability 2921 

insurance, or proof of financial responsibility insurance and 2922 

the issuance or failure to issue the motor vehicle registration 2923 

under the provisions of this chapter may not be construed in any 2924 

court as a warranty of the reliability or accuracy of the 2925 

evidence of such proof. Neither the department nor any tax 2926 

collector is liable in damages for any inadequacy, 2927 

insufficiency, falsification, or unauthorized modification of 2928 

any item of the proof of personal injury protection insurance or 2929 

medical care coverage insurance, as applicable, proof of 2930 

property damage liability insurance, proof of combined bodily 2931 

liability insurance and property damage liability insurance, or 2932 

proof of financial responsibility insurance before prior to, 2933 

during, or subsequent to the verification of the proof. The 2934 

issuance of a motor vehicle registration does not constitute 2935 

prima facie evidence or a presumption of insurance coverage. 2936 

Section 27. Paragraph (b) of subsection (1) of section 2937 

320.0609, Florida Statutes, is amended to read: 2938 

320.0609 Transfer and exchange of registration license 2939 

plates; transfer fee.— 2940 

(1) 2941 

(b) The transfer of a license plate from a vehicle disposed 2942 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì811080qÎ811080 

 

Page 103 of 154 

2/28/2012 9:45:53 AM 576-04050C-12 

of to a newly acquired vehicle does not constitute a new 2943 

registration. The application for transfer shall be accepted 2944 

without requiring proof of personal injury protection insurance 2945 

or medical care coverage insurance, as applicable, or liability 2946 

insurance. 2947 

Section 28. Subsection (3) of section 320.27, Florida 2948 

Statutes, is amended to read: 2949 

320.27 Motor vehicle dealers.— 2950 

(3) APPLICATION AND FEE.—The application for the license 2951 

must shall be in such form as may be prescribed by the 2952 

department and shall be subject to such rules with respect 2953 

thereto as may be so prescribed by it. Such application must 2954 

shall be verified by oath or affirmation and shall contain a 2955 

full statement of the name and birth date of the applicant 2956 

person or persons applying therefor; the name of the firm or 2957 

copartnership, with the names and places of residence of all 2958 

members thereof, if such applicant is a firm or copartnership; 2959 

the names and places of residence of the principal officers, if 2960 

the applicant is a body corporate or other artificial body; the 2961 

name of the state under whose laws the corporation is organized; 2962 

the present and former place or places of residence of the 2963 

applicant; and prior business in which the applicant has been 2964 

engaged and the location thereof. The Such application must 2965 

shall describe the exact location of the place of business and 2966 

shall state whether the place of business is owned by the 2967 

applicant and if when acquired, or, if leased, a true copy of 2968 

the lease must shall be attached to the application. The 2969 

applicant shall certify that the location provides an adequately 2970 

equipped office and is not a residence; that the location 2971 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì811080qÎ811080 

 

Page 104 of 154 

2/28/2012 9:45:53 AM 576-04050C-12 

affords sufficient unoccupied space upon and within which to 2972 

adequately to store all motor vehicles offered and displayed for 2973 

sale; and that the location is a suitable place where the 2974 

applicant can in good faith carry on such business and keep and 2975 

maintain books, records, and files necessary to conduct such 2976 

business, which will be available at all reasonable hours for to 2977 

inspection by the department or any of its inspectors or other 2978 

employees. The applicant shall certify that the business of a 2979 

motor vehicle dealer is the principal business that will which 2980 

shall be conducted at that location. The Such application must 2981 

shall contain a statement that the applicant is either 2982 

franchised by a manufacturer of motor vehicles, in which case 2983 

the name of each motor vehicle that the applicant is franchised 2984 

to sell shall be included, or an independent, (nonfranchised,) 2985 

motor vehicle dealer. The Such application must shall contain 2986 

such other relevant information as may be required by the 2987 

department, including evidence that the applicant is insured 2988 

under a garage liability insurance policy or a general liability 2989 

insurance policy coupled with a business automobile policy, 2990 

which includes shall include, at a minimum, $25,000 combined 2991 

single-limit liability coverage including bodily injury and 2992 

property damage protection and $10,000 personal injury 2993 

protection or medical care coverage, as applicable. Franchise 2994 

dealers must submit a garage liability insurance policy, and all 2995 

other dealers must submit a garage liability insurance policy or 2996 

a general liability insurance policy coupled with a business 2997 

automobile policy. The Such policy shall be for the license 2998 

period, and evidence of a new or continued policy must shall be 2999 

delivered to the department at the beginning of each license 3000 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì811080qÎ811080 

 

Page 105 of 154 

2/28/2012 9:45:53 AM 576-04050C-12 

period. Upon making initial application, the applicant shall pay 3001 

to the department a fee of $300 in addition to any other fees 3002 

now required by law; upon making a subsequent renewal 3003 

application, the applicant shall pay to the department a fee of 3004 

$75 in addition to any other fees now required by law. Upon 3005 

making an application for a change of location, the person shall 3006 

pay a fee of $50 in addition to any other fees now required by 3007 

law. The department shall, in the case of every application for 3008 

initial licensure, verify whether certain facts set forth in the 3009 

application are true. Each applicant, general partner in the 3010 

case of a partnership, or corporate officer and director in the 3011 

case of a corporate applicant, must file a set of fingerprints 3012 

with the department for the purpose of determining any prior 3013 

criminal record or any outstanding warrants. The department 3014 

shall submit the fingerprints to the Department of Law 3015 

Enforcement for state processing and forwarding to the Federal 3016 

Bureau of Investigation for federal processing. The actual cost 3017 

of state and federal processing shall be borne by the applicant 3018 

and is in addition to the fee for licensure. The department may 3019 

issue a license to an applicant pending the results of the 3020 

fingerprint investigation, which license is fully revocable if 3021 

the department subsequently determines that any facts set forth 3022 

in the application are not true or correctly represented. 3023 

Section 29. Paragraph (j) of subsection (3) of section 3024 

320.771, Florida Statutes, is amended to read: 3025 

320.771 License required of recreational vehicle dealers.— 3026 

(3) APPLICATION.—The application for such license shall be 3027 

in the form prescribed by the department and subject to such 3028 

rules as may be prescribed by it. The application shall be 3029 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì811080qÎ811080 

 

Page 106 of 154 

2/28/2012 9:45:53 AM 576-04050C-12 

verified by oath or affirmation and shall contain: 3030 

(j) A statement that the applicant is insured under a 3031 

garage liability insurance policy, which shall include, at a 3032 

minimum, includes $25,000 combined single-limit liability 3033 

coverage, including bodily injury and property damage 3034 

protection, and $10,000 personal injury protection or medical 3035 

care coverage, as applicable, if the applicant is to be licensed 3036 

as a dealer in, or intends to sell, recreational vehicles. 3037 

 3038 

The department shall, if it deems necessary, cause an 3039 

investigation to be made to ascertain if the facts set forth in 3040 

the application are true and may shall not issue a license to 3041 

the applicant until it is satisfied that the facts set forth in 3042 

the application are true. 3043 

Section 30. Subsection (1) of section 322.251, Florida 3044 

Statutes, is amended to read: 3045 

322.251 Notice of cancellation, suspension, revocation, or 3046 

disqualification of license.— 3047 

(1) All orders of cancellation, suspension, revocation, or 3048 

disqualification issued under the provisions of this chapter, 3049 

chapter 318, chapter 324, or ss. 627.732-627.734, or ss. 3050 

627.748-627.7491 must be made shall be given either by personal 3051 

delivery thereof to the licensee whose license is being 3052 

canceled, suspended, revoked, or disqualified or by deposit in 3053 

the United States mail in an envelope, first class, postage 3054 

prepaid, addressed to the licensee at his or her last known 3055 

mailing address furnished to the department. Such mailing by the 3056 

department constitutes notification, and any failure by the 3057 

person to receive the mailed order does will not affect or stay 3058 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì811080qÎ811080 

 

Page 107 of 154 

2/28/2012 9:45:53 AM 576-04050C-12 

the effective date or term of the cancellation, suspension, 3059 

revocation, or disqualification of the licensee’s driving 3060 

privilege. 3061 

Section 31. Paragraph (a) of subsection (8) of section 3062 

322.34, Florida Statutes, is amended to read: 3063 

322.34 Driving while license suspended, revoked, canceled, 3064 

or disqualified.— 3065 

(8)(a) Upon the arrest of a person for the offense of 3066 

driving while the person’s driver driver’s license or driving 3067 

privilege is suspended or revoked, the arresting officer must 3068 

shall determine: 3069 

1. Whether the person’s driver driver’s license is 3070 

suspended or revoked. 3071 

2. Whether the person’s driver driver’s license has 3072 

remained suspended or revoked since a conviction for the offense 3073 

of driving with a suspended or revoked license. 3074 

3. Whether the suspension or revocation was made under s. 3075 

316.646, or s. 627.733, or s. 627.7483, relating to failure to 3076 

maintain required security, or under s. 322.264, relating to 3077 

habitual traffic offenders. 3078 

4. Whether the driver is the registered owner or coowner of 3079 

the vehicle. 3080 

Section 32. Subsection (1) and paragraph (c) of subsection 3081 

(9) of section 324.021, Florida Statutes, are amended to read: 3082 

324.021 Definitions; minimum insurance required.—The 3083 

following words and phrases when used in this chapter shall, for 3084 

the purpose of this chapter, have the meanings respectively 3085 

ascribed to them in this section, except in those instances 3086 

where the context clearly indicates a different meaning: 3087 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì811080qÎ811080 

 

Page 108 of 154 

2/28/2012 9:45:53 AM 576-04050C-12 

(1) MOTOR VEHICLE.—Every self-propelled vehicle that which 3088 

is designed and required to be licensed for use upon a highway, 3089 

including trailers and semitrailers designed for use with such 3090 

vehicles, except traction engines, road rollers, farm tractors, 3091 

power shovels, and well drillers, and every vehicle that which 3092 

is propelled by electric power obtained from overhead wires but 3093 

not operated upon rails, but not including any bicycle or moped. 3094 

However, the term “motor vehicle” does shall not include a any 3095 

motor vehicle as defined in s. 627.732(3) or s. 627.7482, as 3096 

applicable, if when the owner of such vehicle has complied with 3097 

the requirements of ss. 627.730-627.7405 or ss. 627.748-3098 

627.7491, as applicable, inclusive, unless the provisions of s. 3099 

324.051 applies apply; and, in such case, the applicable proof 3100 

of insurance provisions of s. 320.02 apply. 3101 

(9) OWNER; OWNER/LESSOR.— 3102 

(c) Application.— 3103 

1. The limits on liability in subparagraphs (b)2. and 3. do 3104 

not apply to an owner of motor vehicles that are used for 3105 

commercial activity in the owner’s ordinary course of business, 3106 

other than a rental company that rents or leases motor vehicles. 3107 

For purposes of this paragraph, the term “rental company” 3108 

includes only an entity that is engaged in the business of 3109 

renting or leasing motor vehicles to the general public and that 3110 

rents or leases a majority of its motor vehicles to persons who 3111 

have with no direct or indirect affiliation with the rental 3112 

company. The term also includes a motor vehicle dealer that 3113 

provides temporary replacement vehicles to its customers for up 3114 

to 10 days. The term “rental company” also includes: 3115 

a. A related rental or leasing company that is a subsidiary 3116 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì811080qÎ811080 

 

Page 109 of 154 

2/28/2012 9:45:53 AM 576-04050C-12 

of the same parent company as that of the renting or leasing 3117 

company that rented or leased the vehicle. 3118 

b. The holder of a motor vehicle title or an equity 3119 

interest in a motor vehicle title if the title or equity 3120 

interest is held pursuant to or to facilitate an asset-backed 3121 

securitization of a fleet of motor vehicles used solely in the 3122 

business of renting or leasing motor vehicles to the general 3123 

public and under the dominion and control of a rental company, 3124 

as described in this subparagraph, in the operation of such 3125 

rental company’s business. 3126 

2. Furthermore, With respect to commercial motor vehicles 3127 

as defined in s. 627.732 or s. 627.7482, as applicable, the 3128 

limits on liability in subparagraphs (b)2. and 3. do not apply 3129 

if, at the time of the incident, the commercial motor vehicle is 3130 

being used in the transportation of materials found to be 3131 

hazardous for the purposes of the Hazardous Materials 3132 

Transportation Authorization Act of 1994, as amended, 49 U.S.C. 3133 

ss. 5101 et seq., and that is required pursuant to such act to 3134 

carry placards warning others of the hazardous cargo, unless at 3135 

the time of lease or rental either: 3136 

a. The lessee indicates in writing that the vehicle will 3137 

not be used to transport materials found to be hazardous for the 3138 

purposes of the Hazardous Materials Transportation Authorization 3139 

Act of 1994, as amended, 49 U.S.C. ss. 5101 et seq.; or 3140 

b. The lessee or other operator of the commercial motor 3141 

vehicle has in effect insurance with limits of at least 3142 

$5,000,000 combined property damage and bodily injury liability. 3143 

Section 33. Section 324.0221, Florida Statutes, is amended 3144 

to read: 3145 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì811080qÎ811080 

 

Page 110 of 154 

2/28/2012 9:45:53 AM 576-04050C-12 

324.0221 Reports by insurers to the department; suspension 3146 

of driver driver’s license and vehicle registrations; 3147 

reinstatement.— 3148 

(1)(a) Each insurer that has issued a policy providing 3149 

personal injury protection or medical care coverage or property 3150 

damage liability coverage shall report the renewal, 3151 

cancellation, or nonrenewal of the policy thereof to the 3152 

department within 45 days after the effective date of each 3153 

renewal, cancellation, or nonrenewal. Upon the issuance of a 3154 

policy providing personal injury protection or medical care 3155 

coverage or property damage liability coverage to a named 3156 

insured not previously insured by the insurer during that 3157 

calendar year, the insurer shall report the issuance of the new 3158 

policy to the department within 30 days. The report shall be in 3159 

the form and format and contain any information required by the 3160 

department and must be provided in a format that is compatible 3161 

with the data processing capabilities of the department. The 3162 

department may adopt rules regarding the form and documentation 3163 

required. Failure by an insurer to file proper reports with the 3164 

department as required by this subsection or rules adopted with 3165 

respect to the requirements of this subsection constitutes a 3166 

violation of the Florida Insurance Code. These records shall be 3167 

used by the department only for enforcement and regulatory 3168 

purposes, including the generation by the department of data 3169 

regarding compliance by owners of motor vehicles with the 3170 

requirements for financial responsibility coverage. 3171 

(b) With respect to an insurance policy providing personal 3172 

injury protection or medical care coverage or property damage 3173 

liability coverage, each insurer shall notify the named insured, 3174 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì811080qÎ811080 

 

Page 111 of 154 

2/28/2012 9:45:53 AM 576-04050C-12 

or the first-named insured in the case of a commercial fleet 3175 

policy, in writing that any cancellation or nonrenewal of the 3176 

policy will be reported by the insurer to the department. The 3177 

notice must also inform the named insured that failure to 3178 

maintain personal injury protection or medical care coverage and 3179 

property damage liability coverage on a motor vehicle as when 3180 

required by law may result in the loss of registration and 3181 

driving privileges in this state and inform the named insured of 3182 

the amount of the reinstatement fees required by this section. 3183 

This notice is for informational purposes only, and an insurer 3184 

is not civilly liable for failing to provide this notice. 3185 

(2) The department shall suspend, after due notice and an 3186 

opportunity to be heard, the registration and driver driver’s 3187 

license of any owner or registrant of a motor vehicle with 3188 

respect to which security is required under s. ss. 324.022 and 3189 

either s. 627.733 or s. 627.7483, as applicable, upon: 3190 

(a) The department’s records showing that the owner or 3191 

registrant of such motor vehicle did not have in full force and 3192 

effect when required security that complies with the 3193 

requirements of s. ss. 324.022 and either s. 627.733 or s. 3194 

627.7483, as applicable; or 3195 

(b) Notification by the insurer to the department, in a 3196 

form approved by the department, of cancellation or termination 3197 

of the required security. 3198 

(3) An operator or owner whose driver driver’s license or 3199 

registration has been suspended under this section or s. 316.646 3200 

may effect its reinstatement upon compliance with the 3201 

requirements of this section and upon payment to the department 3202 

of a nonrefundable reinstatement fee of $150 for the first 3203 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì811080qÎ811080 

 

Page 112 of 154 

2/28/2012 9:45:53 AM 576-04050C-12 

reinstatement. The reinstatement fee is $250 for the second 3204 

reinstatement and $500 for each subsequent reinstatement during 3205 

the 3 years following the first reinstatement. A person 3206 

reinstating her or his insurance under this subsection must also 3207 

secure noncancelable coverage as described in ss. 324.021(8), 3208 

324.023, and 627.7275(2) and present proof to the appropriate 3209 

person proof that the coverage is in force on a form adopted by 3210 

the department, and such proof shall be maintained for 2 years. 3211 

If the person does not have a second reinstatement within 3 3212 

years after her or his initial reinstatement, the reinstatement 3213 

fee is $150 for the first reinstatement after that 3-year 3214 

period. If a person’s license and registration are suspended 3215 

under this section or s. 316.646, only one reinstatement fee 3216 

must be paid to reinstate the license and the registration. All 3217 

fees shall be collected by the department at the time of 3218 

reinstatement. The department shall issue proper receipts for 3219 

such fees and shall promptly deposit those fees in the Highway 3220 

Safety Operating Trust Fund. One-third of the fees collected 3221 

under this subsection shall be distributed from the Highway 3222 

Safety Operating Trust Fund to the local governmental entity or 3223 

state agency that employed the law enforcement officer seizing 3224 

the license plate pursuant to s. 324.201. The funds may be used 3225 

by the local governmental entity or state agency for any 3226 

authorized purpose. 3227 

Section 34. Paragraph (a) of subsection (1) of section 3228 

324.032, Florida Statutes, is amended to read: 3229 

324.032 Manner of proving financial responsibility; for-3230 

hire passenger transportation vehicles.—Notwithstanding the 3231 

provisions of s. 324.031: 3232 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì811080qÎ811080 

 

Page 113 of 154 

2/28/2012 9:45:53 AM 576-04050C-12 

(1)(a) A person who is either the owner or a lessee 3233 

required to maintain insurance under s. 627.733(1)(b) or s. 3234 

627.7483(1), as applicable, and who operates one or more 3235 

taxicabs, limousines, jitneys, or any other for-hire passenger 3236 

transportation vehicles may prove financial responsibility by 3237 

furnishing satisfactory evidence of holding a motor vehicle 3238 

liability policy that has, but with minimum limits of 3239 

$125,000/250,000/50,000. 3240 

 3241 

Upon request by the department, the applicant must provide the 3242 

department at the applicant’s principal place of business in 3243 

this state access to the applicant’s underlying financial 3244 

information and financial statements that provide the basis of 3245 

the certified public accountant’s certification. The applicant 3246 

shall reimburse the requesting department for all reasonable 3247 

costs incurred by it in reviewing the supporting information. 3248 

The maximum amount of self-insurance permissible under this 3249 

subsection is $300,000 and must be stated on a per-occurrence 3250 

basis, and the applicant shall maintain adequate excess 3251 

insurance issued by an authorized or eligible insurer licensed 3252 

or approved by the Office of Insurance Regulation. All risks 3253 

self-insured shall remain with the owner or lessee providing it, 3254 

and the risks are not transferable to any other person, unless a 3255 

policy complying with subsection (1) is obtained. 3256 

Section 35. Subsection (2) of section 324.171, Florida 3257 

Statutes, is amended to read: 3258 

324.171 Self-insurer.— 3259 

(2) The self-insurance certificate must shall provide 3260 

limits of liability insurance in the amounts specified under s. 3261 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì811080qÎ811080 

 

Page 114 of 154 

2/28/2012 9:45:53 AM 576-04050C-12 

324.021(7) or s. 627.7415 and shall provide personal injury 3262 

protection or medical care coverage under s. 627.733(3)(b) or s. 3263 

627.7483(3)(b), as applicable. 3264 

Section 36. Paragraph (g) of subsection (1) of section 3265 

400.9935, Florida Statutes, is amended to read: 3266 

400.9935 Clinic responsibilities.— 3267 

(1) Each clinic shall appoint a medical director or clinic 3268 

director who shall agree in writing to accept legal 3269 

responsibility for the following activities on behalf of the 3270 

clinic. The medical director or the clinic director shall: 3271 

(g) Conduct systematic reviews of clinic billings to ensure 3272 

that the billings are not fraudulent or unlawful. Upon discovery 3273 

of an unlawful charge, the medical director or clinic director 3274 

must shall take immediate corrective action. If the clinic 3275 

performs only the technical component of magnetic resonance 3276 

imaging, static radiographs, computed tomography, or positron 3277 

emission tomography, and provides the professional 3278 

interpretation of such services, in a fixed facility that is 3279 

accredited by the Joint Commission on Accreditation of 3280 

Healthcare Organizations or the Accreditation Association for 3281 

Ambulatory Health Care, and the American College of Radiology; 3282 

and if, in the preceding quarter, the percentage of scans 3283 

performed by that clinic which was billed to all personal injury 3284 

protection insurance or medical care coverage insurance carriers 3285 

was less than 15 percent, the chief financial officer of the 3286 

clinic may, in a written acknowledgment provided to the agency, 3287 

assume the responsibility for the conduct of the systematic 3288 

reviews of clinic billings to ensure that the billings are not 3289 

fraudulent or unlawful. 3290 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì811080qÎ811080 

 

Page 115 of 154 

2/28/2012 9:45:53 AM 576-04050C-12 

Section 37. Subsection (28) of section 409.901, Florida 3291 

Statutes, is amended to read: 3292 

409.901 Definitions; ss. 409.901-409.920.—As used in ss. 3293 

409.901-409.920, except as otherwise specifically provided, the 3294 

term: 3295 

(28) “Third-party benefit” means any benefit that is or may 3296 

be available at any time through contract, court award, 3297 

judgment, settlement, agreement, or any arrangement between a 3298 

third party and any person or entity, including, without 3299 

limitation, a Medicaid recipient, a provider, another third 3300 

party, an insurer, or the agency, for any Medicaid-covered 3301 

injury, illness, goods, or services, including costs of related 3302 

medical services related thereto, for personal injury or for 3303 

death of the recipient, but specifically excluding policies of 3304 

life insurance on the recipient, unless available under terms of 3305 

the policy to pay medical expenses before prior to death. The 3306 

term includes, without limitation, collateral, as defined in 3307 

this section, health insurance, any benefit under a health 3308 

maintenance organization, a preferred provider arrangement, a 3309 

prepaid health clinic, liability insurance, uninsured motorist 3310 

insurance or personal injury protection or medical care 3311 

coverage, medical benefits under workers’ compensation, and any 3312 

obligation under law or equity to provide medical support. 3313 

Section 38. Paragraph (f) of subsection (11) of section 3314 

409.910, Florida Statutes, is amended to read: 3315 

409.910 Responsibility for payments on behalf of Medicaid-3316 

eligible persons when other parties are liable.— 3317 

(11) The agency may, as a matter of right, in order to 3318 

enforce its rights under this section, institute, intervene in, 3319 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì811080qÎ811080 

 

Page 116 of 154 

2/28/2012 9:45:53 AM 576-04050C-12 

or join any legal or administrative proceeding in its own name 3320 

in one or more of the following capacities: individually, as 3321 

subrogee of the recipient, as assignee of the recipient, or as 3322 

lienholder of the collateral. 3323 

(f) Notwithstanding any other provision in this section to 3324 

the contrary, in the event of an action in tort against a third 3325 

party in which the recipient or his or her legal representative 3326 

is a party which results in a judgment, award, or settlement 3327 

from a third party, the amount recovered shall be distributed as 3328 

follows: 3329 

1. After attorney attorney’s fees and taxable costs as 3330 

defined by the Florida Rules of Civil Procedure, one-half of the 3331 

remaining recovery shall be paid to the agency up to the total 3332 

amount of medical assistance provided by Medicaid. 3333 

2. The remaining amount of the recovery shall be paid to 3334 

the recipient. 3335 

3. For purposes of calculating the agency’s recovery of 3336 

medical assistance benefits paid, the fee for services of an 3337 

attorney retained by the recipient or his or her legal 3338 

representative shall be calculated at 25 percent of the 3339 

judgment, award, or settlement. 3340 

4. Notwithstanding any other provision of this section to 3341 

the contrary, the agency is shall be entitled to all medical 3342 

coverage benefits up to the total amount of medical assistance 3343 

provided by Medicaid. For purposes of this paragraph, “medical 3344 

coverage” means any benefits under health insurance, a health 3345 

maintenance organization, a preferred provider arrangement, or a 3346 

prepaid health clinic, and the portion of benefits designated 3347 

for medical payments under coverage for workers’ compensation, 3348 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì811080qÎ811080 

 

Page 117 of 154 

2/28/2012 9:45:53 AM 576-04050C-12 

medical care coverage, personal injury protection, and casualty. 3349 

Section 39. Paragraph (k) of subsection (2) of section 3350 

456.057, Florida Statutes, is amended to read: 3351 

456.057 Ownership and control of patient records; report or 3352 

copies of records to be furnished.— 3353 

(2) As used in this section, the terms “records owner,” 3354 

“health care practitioner,” and “health care practitioner’s 3355 

employer” do not include any of the following persons or 3356 

entities; furthermore, the following persons or entities may are 3357 

not authorized to acquire or own medical records, but, are 3358 

authorized under the confidentiality and disclosure requirements 3359 

of this section, may to maintain those documents that are 3360 

required by the part or chapter under which they are licensed or 3361 

regulated: 3362 

(k) Persons or entities practicing under s. 627.736(7) or 3363 

s. 627.7485(7), as applicable. 3364 

Section 40. Paragraphs (ee) and (ff) of subsection (1) of 3365 

section 456.072, Florida Statutes, are amended to read: 3366 

456.072 Grounds for discipline; penalties; enforcement.— 3367 

(1) The following acts shall constitute grounds for which 3368 

the disciplinary actions specified in subsection (2) may be 3369 

taken: 3370 

(ee) With respect to making a personal injury protection or 3371 

an medical care coverage claim as required by s. 627.736 or s. 3372 

627.7485, respectively, intentionally submitting a claim, 3373 

statement, or bill that has been “upcoded” as defined in s. 3374 

627.732 or s. 627.7482, as applicable. 3375 

(ff) With respect to making a personal injury protection or 3376 

an medical care coverage claim as required by s. 627.736 or s. 3377 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì811080qÎ811080 

 

Page 118 of 154 

2/28/2012 9:45:53 AM 576-04050C-12 

627.7485, respectively, intentionally submitting a claim, 3378 

statement, or bill for payment of services that were not 3379 

rendered. 3380 

Section 41. Paragraph (o) of subsection (1) of section 3381 

626.9541, Florida Statutes, is amended to read: 3382 

626.9541 Unfair methods of competition and unfair or 3383 

deceptive acts or practices defined.— 3384 

(1) UNFAIR METHODS OF COMPETITION AND UNFAIR OR DECEPTIVE 3385 

ACTS.—The following are defined as unfair methods of competition 3386 

and unfair or deceptive acts or practices: 3387 

(o) Illegal dealings in premiums; excess or reduced charges 3388 

for insurance.— 3389 

1. Knowingly collecting any sum as a premium or charge for 3390 

insurance, which is not then provided, or is not in due course 3391 

to be provided, subject to acceptance of the risk by the 3392 

insurer, by an insurance policy issued by an insurer as 3393 

permitted by this code. 3394 

2. Knowingly collecting as a premium or charge for 3395 

insurance any sum in excess of or less than the premium or 3396 

charge applicable to such insurance, in accordance with the 3397 

applicable classifications and rates as filed with and approved 3398 

by the office, and as specified in the policy; or, if in cases 3399 

when classifications, premiums, or rates are not required by 3400 

this code to be so filed and approved, premiums and charges 3401 

collected from a Florida resident in excess of or less than 3402 

those specified in the policy and as fixed by the insurer. This 3403 

provision may shall not be deemed to prohibit the charging and 3404 

collection, by surplus lines agents licensed under part VIII of 3405 

this chapter, of the amount of applicable state and federal 3406 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì811080qÎ811080 

 

Page 119 of 154 

2/28/2012 9:45:53 AM 576-04050C-12 

taxes, or fees as authorized by s. 626.916(4), in addition to 3407 

the premium required by the insurer or the charging and 3408 

collection, by licensed agents, of the exact amount of any 3409 

discount or other such fee charged by a credit card facility in 3410 

connection with the use of a credit card, as authorized by 3411 

subparagraph (q)3., in addition to the premium required by the 3412 

insurer. This subparagraph does shall not be construed to 3413 

prohibit collection of a premium for a universal life or a 3414 

variable or indeterminate value insurance policy made in 3415 

accordance with the terms of the contract. 3416 

3.a. Imposing or requesting an additional premium for a 3417 

policy of motor vehicle liability, medical care coverage, 3418 

personal injury protection, medical payment, or collision 3419 

insurance or any combination thereof or refusing to renew the 3420 

policy solely because the insured was involved in a motor 3421 

vehicle accident unless the insurer’s file contains information 3422 

from which the insurer in good faith determines that the insured 3423 

was substantially at fault in the accident. 3424 

a.b. An insurer which imposes and collects such a surcharge 3425 

or which refuses to renew such policy shall, in conjunction with 3426 

the notice of premium due or notice of nonrenewal, notify the 3427 

named insured that he or she is entitled to reimbursement of 3428 

such amount or renewal of the policy under the conditions listed 3429 

below and will subsequently reimburse him or her or renew the 3430 

policy, if the named insured demonstrates that the operator 3431 

involved in the accident was: 3432 

(I) Lawfully parked; 3433 

(II) Reimbursed by, or on behalf of, a person responsible 3434 

for the accident or has a judgment against such person; 3435 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì811080qÎ811080 

 

Page 120 of 154 

2/28/2012 9:45:53 AM 576-04050C-12 

(III) Struck in the rear by another vehicle headed in the 3436 

same direction and was not convicted of a moving traffic 3437 

violation in connection with the accident; 3438 

(IV) Hit by a “hit-and-run” driver, if the accident was 3439 

reported to the proper authorities within 24 hours after 3440 

discovering the accident; 3441 

(V) Not convicted of a moving traffic violation in 3442 

connection with the accident, but the operator of the other 3443 

automobile involved in such accident was convicted of a moving 3444 

traffic violation; 3445 

(VI) Finally adjudicated not to be liable by a court of 3446 

competent jurisdiction; 3447 

(VII) In receipt of a traffic citation that which was 3448 

dismissed or nolle prossed; or 3449 

(VIII) Not at fault as evidenced by a written statement 3450 

from the insured establishing facts demonstrating lack of fault 3451 

which are not rebutted by information in the insurer’s file from 3452 

which the insurer in good faith determines that the insured was 3453 

substantially at fault. 3454 

b.c. In addition to the other provisions of this 3455 

subparagraph, an insurer may not fail to renew a policy if the 3456 

insured has had only one accident in which he or she was at 3457 

fault within the current 3-year period. However, an insurer may 3458 

nonrenew a policy for reasons other than accidents in accordance 3459 

with s. 627.728. This subparagraph does not prohibit nonrenewal 3460 

of a policy under which the insured has had three or more 3461 

accidents, regardless of fault, during the most recent 3-year 3462 

period. 3463 

4. Imposing or requesting an additional premium for, or 3464 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì811080qÎ811080 

 

Page 121 of 154 

2/28/2012 9:45:53 AM 576-04050C-12 

refusing to renew, a policy for motor vehicle insurance solely 3465 

because the insured committed a noncriminal traffic infraction 3466 

as described in s. 318.14 unless the infraction is: 3467 

a. A second infraction committed within an 18-month period, 3468 

or a third or subsequent infraction committed within a 36-month 3469 

period. 3470 

b. A violation of s. 316.183, if when such violation is a 3471 

result of exceeding the lawful speed limit by more than 15 miles 3472 

per hour. 3473 

5. Upon the request of the insured, the insurer and 3474 

licensed agent shall supply to the insured the complete proof of 3475 

fault or other criteria which justifies the additional charge or 3476 

cancellation. 3477 

6. Imposing or requesting No insurer shall impose or 3478 

request an additional premium for motor vehicle insurance, 3479 

cancelling or refusing cancel or refuse to issue a policy, or 3480 

refusing refuse to renew a policy because the insured or the 3481 

applicant is a handicapped or physically disabled person if, so 3482 

long as such handicap or physical disability does not 3483 

substantially impair such person’s mechanically assisted driving 3484 

ability. 3485 

7. Cancelling No insurer may cancel or otherwise 3486 

terminating an terminate any insurance contract or coverage, or 3487 

requiring require execution of a consent to rate endorsement, 3488 

during the stated policy term for the purpose of offering to 3489 

issue, or issuing, a similar or identical contract or coverage 3490 

to the same insured with the same exposure at a higher premium 3491 

rate or continuing an existing contract or coverage with the 3492 

same exposure at an increased premium. 3493 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì811080qÎ811080 

 

Page 122 of 154 

2/28/2012 9:45:53 AM 576-04050C-12 

8. Issuing No insurer may issue a nonrenewal notice on any 3494 

insurance contract or coverage, or requiring require execution 3495 

of a consent to rate endorsement, for the purpose of offering to 3496 

issue, or issuing, a similar or identical contract or coverage 3497 

to the same insured at a higher premium rate or continuing an 3498 

existing contract or coverage at an increased premium without 3499 

meeting any applicable notice requirements. 3500 

9. No insurer shall, With respect to premiums charged for 3501 

motor vehicle insurance, unfairly discriminating discriminate 3502 

solely on the basis of age, sex, marital status, or scholastic 3503 

achievement. 3504 

10. Imposing or requesting an additional premium for motor 3505 

vehicle comprehensive or uninsured motorist coverage solely 3506 

because the insured was involved in a motor vehicle accident or 3507 

was convicted of a moving traffic violation. 3508 

11. Cancelling or issuing No insurer shall cancel or issue 3509 

a nonrenewal notice on any insurance policy or contract without 3510 

complying with any applicable cancellation or nonrenewal 3511 

provision required under the Florida Insurance Code. 3512 

12. Imposing or requesting No insurer shall impose or 3513 

request an additional premium, cancelling cancel a policy, or 3514 

issuing issue a nonrenewal notice on any insurance policy or 3515 

contract because of any traffic infraction when adjudication has 3516 

been withheld and no points have been assessed pursuant to s. 3517 

318.14(9) and (10). However, this subparagraph does not apply to 3518 

traffic infractions involving accidents in which the insurer has 3519 

incurred a loss due to the fault of the insured. 3520 

Section 42. Subsection (5) of section 626.9894, Florida 3521 

Statutes, is amended to read: 3522 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì811080qÎ811080 

 

Page 123 of 154 

2/28/2012 9:45:53 AM 576-04050C-12 

626.9894 Gifts and grants.— 3523 

(5) Notwithstanding the provisions of s. 216.301 and 3524 

pursuant to s. 216.351, any balance of moneys deposited into the 3525 

Insurance Regulatory Trust Fund pursuant to this section or s. 3526 

626.9895 remaining at the end of any fiscal year is shall be 3527 

available for carrying out the duties and responsibilities of 3528 

the division. The department may request annual appropriations 3529 

from the grants and donations received pursuant to this section 3530 

or s. 626.9895 and cash balances in the Insurance Regulatory 3531 

Trust Fund for the purpose of carrying out its duties and 3532 

responsibilities related to the division’s anti-fraud efforts, 3533 

including the funding of dedicated prosecutors and related 3534 

personnel. 3535 

Section 43. Subsection (1) of section 627.06501, Florida 3536 

Statutes, is amended to read: 3537 

627.06501 Insurance discounts for certain persons 3538 

completing driver improvement course.— 3539 

(1) Any rate, rating schedule, or rating manual for the 3540 

liability, medical care coverage, personal injury protection, 3541 

and collision coverages of a motor vehicle insurance policy 3542 

filed with the office may provide for an appropriate reduction 3543 

in premium charges as to such coverages if when the principal 3544 

operator on the covered vehicle has successfully completed a 3545 

driver improvement course approved and certified by the 3546 

Department of Highway Safety and Motor Vehicles which is 3547 

effective in reducing crash or violation rates, or both, as 3548 

determined pursuant to s. 318.1451(5). Any discount, not to 3549 

exceed 10 percent, used by an insurer is presumed to be 3550 

appropriate unless credible data demonstrates otherwise. 3551 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì811080qÎ811080 

 

Page 124 of 154 

2/28/2012 9:45:53 AM 576-04050C-12 

Section 44. Subsection (1) of section 627.0652, Florida 3552 

Statutes, is amended to read: 3553 

627.0652 Insurance discounts for certain persons completing 3554 

safety course.— 3555 

(1) Any rates, rating schedules, or rating manuals for the 3556 

liability, medical care coverage, personal injury protection, 3557 

and collision coverages of a motor vehicle insurance policy 3558 

filed with the office must shall provide for an appropriate 3559 

reduction in premium charges as to such coverages if when the 3560 

principal operator on the covered vehicle is an insured 55 years 3561 

of age or older who has successfully completed a motor vehicle 3562 

accident prevention course approved by the Department of Highway 3563 

Safety and Motor Vehicles. Any discount used by an insurer is 3564 

presumed to be appropriate unless credible data demonstrates 3565 

otherwise. 3566 

Section 45. Subsections (1) and (3) of section 627.0653, 3567 

Florida Statutes, are amended to read: 3568 

627.0653 Insurance discounts for specified motor vehicle 3569 

equipment.— 3570 

(1) Any rates, rating schedules, or rating manuals for the 3571 

liability, medical care coverage, personal injury protection, 3572 

and collision coverages of a motor vehicle insurance policy 3573 

filed with the office must shall provide a premium discount if 3574 

the insured vehicle is equipped with factory-installed, four-3575 

wheel antilock brakes. 3576 

(3) Any rates, rating schedules, or rating manuals for 3577 

medical care coverage, personal injury protection coverage, and 3578 

medical payments coverage, if offered, of a motor vehicle 3579 

insurance policy filed with the office shall provide a premium 3580 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì811080qÎ811080 

 

Page 125 of 154 

2/28/2012 9:45:53 AM 576-04050C-12 

discount if the insured vehicle is equipped with one or more air 3581 

bags that which are factory installed. 3582 

Section 46. Section 627.4132, Florida Statutes, is amended 3583 

to read: 3584 

627.4132 Stacking of coverages prohibited.—If an insured or 3585 

named insured is protected by any type of motor vehicle 3586 

insurance policy for liability, medical care coverage, personal 3587 

injury protection, or other coverage, the policy must shall 3588 

provide that the insured or named insured is protected only to 3589 

the extent of the coverage she or he has on the vehicle involved 3590 

in the accident. However, if none of the insured’s or named 3591 

insured’s vehicles is involved in the accident, coverage is 3592 

available only to the extent of coverage on any one of the 3593 

vehicles with applicable coverage. Coverage on any other 3594 

vehicles may shall not be added to or stacked upon that 3595 

coverage. This section does not apply: 3596 

(1) To uninsured motorist coverage that which is separately 3597 

governed by s. 627.727. 3598 

(2) To reduce the coverage available by reason of insurance 3599 

policies insuring different named insureds. 3600 

Section 47. Subsection (6) of section 627.6482, Florida 3601 

Statutes, is amended to read: 3602 

627.6482 Definitions.—As used in ss. 627.648-627.6498, the 3603 

term: 3604 

(6) “Health insurance” means any hospital and medical 3605 

expense incurred policy, minimum premium plan, stop-loss 3606 

coverage, health maintenance organization contract, prepaid 3607 

health clinic contract, multiple-employer welfare arrangement 3608 

contract, or fraternal benefit society health benefits contract, 3609 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì811080qÎ811080 

 

Page 126 of 154 

2/28/2012 9:45:53 AM 576-04050C-12 

whether sold as an individual or group policy or contract. The 3610 

term does not include a any policy covering medical payment 3611 

coverage or medical care coverage or personal injury protection 3612 

coverage in a motor vehicle policy, coverage issued as a 3613 

supplement to liability insurance, or workers’ compensation. 3614 

Section 48. Section 627.7263, Florida Statutes, is amended 3615 

to read: 3616 

627.7263 Rental and leasing driver driver’s insurance to be 3617 

primary; exception.— 3618 

(1) The valid and collectible liability insurance, medical 3619 

care coverage insurance, or personal injury protection insurance 3620 

providing coverage for the lessor of a motor vehicle for rent or 3621 

lease is primary unless otherwise stated in at least 10-point 3622 

type on the face of the rental or lease agreement. Such 3623 

insurance is primary for the limits of liability and personal 3624 

injury protection or medical care coverage as required by s. ss. 3625 

324.021(7) and either s. 627.736 or s. 627.7485, as applicable. 3626 

(2) If the lessee’s coverage is to be primary, the rental 3627 

or lease agreement must contain the following language, in at 3628 

least 10-point type: 3629 

 3630 

“The valid and collectible liability insurance and 3631 

personal injury protection insurance or medical care 3632 

coverage insurance, as applicable, of an any 3633 

authorized rental or leasing driver is primary for the 3634 

limits of liability and personal injury protection or 3635 

medical care coverage required by s. ss. 324.021(7) 3636 

and either s. 627.736 or s. 627.7485, Florida 3637 

Statutes, as applicable.” 3638 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì811080qÎ811080 

 

Page 127 of 154 

2/28/2012 9:45:53 AM 576-04050C-12 

 3639 

Section 49. Subsections (1) and (7) of section 627.727, 3640 

Florida Statutes, are amended to read: 3641 

627.727 Motor vehicle insurance; uninsured and underinsured 3642 

vehicle coverage; insolvent insurer protection.— 3643 

(1) A No motor vehicle liability insurance policy which 3644 

provides bodily injury liability coverage may not shall be 3645 

delivered or issued for delivery in this state with respect to 3646 

any specifically insured or identified motor vehicle registered 3647 

or principally garaged in this state unless uninsured motor 3648 

vehicle coverage is provided therein or supplemental thereto for 3649 

the protection of persons insured thereunder who are legally 3650 

entitled to recover damages from owners or operators of 3651 

uninsured motor vehicles because of bodily injury, sickness, or 3652 

disease, including death, resulting therefrom. However, the 3653 

coverage required under this section is not applicable if when, 3654 

or to the extent that, an insured named in the policy makes a 3655 

written rejection of the coverage on behalf of all insureds 3656 

under the policy. If When a motor vehicle is leased for a period 3657 

of 1 year or longer and the lessor of such vehicle, by the terms 3658 

of the lease contract, provides liability coverage on the leased 3659 

vehicle, the lessee of such vehicle shall have the sole 3660 

privilege to reject uninsured motorist coverage or to select 3661 

lower limits than the bodily injury liability limits, regardless 3662 

of whether the lessor is qualified as a self-insurer pursuant to 3663 

s. 324.171. Unless an insured, or lessee having the privilege of 3664 

rejecting uninsured motorist coverage, requests such coverage or 3665 

requests higher uninsured motorist limits in writing, the 3666 

coverage or such higher uninsured motorist limits need not be 3667 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì811080qÎ811080 

 

Page 128 of 154 

2/28/2012 9:45:53 AM 576-04050C-12 

provided in or supplemental to any other policy that which 3668 

renews, extends, changes, supersedes, or replaces an existing 3669 

policy with the same bodily injury liability limits if when an 3670 

insured or lessee had rejected the coverage. If When an insured 3671 

or lessee has initially selected limits of uninsured motorist 3672 

coverage lower than her or his bodily injury liability limits, 3673 

higher limits of uninsured motorist coverage need not be 3674 

provided in or supplemental to any other policy that which 3675 

renews, extends, changes, supersedes, or replaces an existing 3676 

policy with the same bodily injury liability limits unless an 3677 

insured requests higher uninsured motorist coverage in writing. 3678 

The rejection or selection of lower limits shall be made on a 3679 

form approved by the office. The form must shall fully advise 3680 

the applicant of the nature of the coverage and shall state that 3681 

the coverage is equal to bodily injury liability limits unless 3682 

lower limits are requested or the coverage is rejected. The 3683 

heading of the form must shall be in 12-point bold type and 3684 

shall state: “You are electing not to purchase certain valuable 3685 

coverage that which protects you and your family or you are 3686 

purchasing uninsured motorist limits less than your bodily 3687 

injury liability limits when you sign this form. Please read 3688 

carefully.” If this form is signed by a named insured, it will 3689 

be conclusively presumed that there was an informed, knowing 3690 

rejection of coverage or election of lower limits on behalf of 3691 

all insureds. The insurer shall notify the named insured at 3692 

least annually of her or his options as to the coverage required 3693 

by this section. Such notice must shall be part of, and attached 3694 

to, the notice of premium, shall provide for a means to allow 3695 

the insured to request such coverage, and shall be given in a 3696 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì811080qÎ811080 

 

Page 129 of 154 

2/28/2012 9:45:53 AM 576-04050C-12 

manner approved by the office. Receipt of this notice does not 3697 

constitute an affirmative waiver of the insured’s right to 3698 

uninsured motorist coverage if where the insured has not signed 3699 

a selection or rejection form. The coverage described under this 3700 

section shall be over and above, but may shall not duplicate, 3701 

the benefits available to an insured under any workers’ 3702 

compensation law, medical care coverage or personal injury 3703 

protection benefits, disability benefits law, or similar law; 3704 

under any automobile medical expense coverage; under any motor 3705 

vehicle liability insurance coverage; or from the owner or 3706 

operator of the uninsured motor vehicle or any other person or 3707 

organization jointly or severally liable together with such 3708 

owner or operator for the accident; and such coverage must shall 3709 

cover the difference, if any, between the sum of such benefits 3710 

and the damages sustained, up to the maximum amount of such 3711 

coverage provided under this section. The amount of coverage 3712 

available under this section may shall not be reduced by a 3713 

setoff against any coverage, including liability insurance. Such 3714 

coverage may shall not inure directly or indirectly to the 3715 

benefit of any workers’ compensation or disability benefits 3716 

carrier or any person or organization qualifying as a self-3717 

insurer under any workers’ compensation or disability benefits 3718 

law or similar law. 3719 

(7) The legal liability of an uninsured motorist coverage 3720 

insurer does not include damages in tort for pain, suffering, 3721 

mental anguish, and inconvenience unless the injury or disease 3722 

is described in one or more of paragraphs (a)-(d) of s. 3723 

627.737(2) or paragraphs (a)-(d) of s. 627.7486(2). 3724 

Section 50. Subsection (1) of section 627.7275, Florida 3725 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì811080qÎ811080 

 

Page 130 of 154 

2/28/2012 9:45:53 AM 576-04050C-12 

Statutes, is amended to read: 3726 

627.7275 Motor vehicle liability.— 3727 

(1) A motor vehicle insurance policy providing personal 3728 

injury protection as set forth in s. 627.736 or medical care 3729 

coverage as set forth in s. 627.7485 may not be delivered or 3730 

issued for delivery in this state with respect to any 3731 

specifically insured or identified motor vehicle registered or 3732 

principally garaged in this state unless the policy also 3733 

provides coverage for property damage liability as required by 3734 

s. 324.022. 3735 

Section 51. Paragraph (a) of subsection (1) of section 3736 

627.728, Florida Statutes, is amended to read: 3737 

627.728 Cancellations; nonrenewals.— 3738 

(1) As used in this section, the term: 3739 

(a) “Policy” means the bodily injury and property damage 3740 

liability, medical care coverage or personal injury protection, 3741 

medical payments, comprehensive, collision, and uninsured 3742 

motorist coverage portions of a policy of motor vehicle 3743 

insurance delivered or issued for delivery in this state: 3744 

1. Insuring a natural person as named insured or one or 3745 

more related individuals resident of the same household; and 3746 

2. Insuring only a motor vehicle of the private passenger 3747 

type or station wagon type which is not used as a public or 3748 

livery conveyance for passengers or rented to others; or 3749 

insuring any other four-wheel motor vehicle having a load 3750 

capacity of 1,500 pounds or less which is not used in the 3751 

occupation, profession, or business of the insured other than 3752 

farming; other than any policy issued under an automobile 3753 

insurance assigned risk plan; insuring more than four 3754 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì811080qÎ811080 

 

Page 131 of 154 

2/28/2012 9:45:53 AM 576-04050C-12 

automobiles; or covering garage, automobile sales agency, repair 3755 

shop, service station, or public parking place operation 3756 

hazards. 3757 

 3758 

The term “policy” does not include a binder as defined in s. 3759 

627.420 unless the duration of the binder period exceeds 60 3760 

days. 3761 

Section 52. Subsection (1), paragraph (a) of subsection 3762 

(5), and subsections (6) and (7) of section 627.7295, Florida 3763 

Statutes, are amended to read: 3764 

627.7295 Motor vehicle insurance contracts.— 3765 

(1) As used in this section, the term: 3766 

(a) “Policy” means a motor vehicle insurance policy that 3767 

provides personal injury protection or medical care coverage, or 3768 

property damage liability coverage, or both. 3769 

(b) “Binder” means a binder that provides motor vehicle 3770 

personal injury protection or medical care coverage and property 3771 

damage liability coverage. 3772 

(5)(a) A licensed general lines agent may charge a per-3773 

policy fee of up to not to exceed $10 to cover the 3774 

administrative costs of the agent associated with selling the 3775 

motor vehicle insurance policy if the policy covers only 3776 

personal injury protection or medical care coverage as provided 3777 

by s. 627.736 or s. 627.7485, as applicable, and property damage 3778 

liability coverage as provided by s. 627.7275 and if no other 3779 

insurance is sold or issued in conjunction with or collateral to 3780 

the policy. The fee is not considered part of the premium. 3781 

(6) If a motor vehicle owner’s driver license, license 3782 

plate, and registration have previously been suspended pursuant 3783 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì811080qÎ811080 

 

Page 132 of 154 

2/28/2012 9:45:53 AM 576-04050C-12 

to s. 316.646, or s. 627.733, or s. 627.7483, an insurer may 3784 

cancel a new policy only as provided in s. 627.7275. 3785 

(7) A policy of private passenger motor vehicle insurance 3786 

or a binder for such a policy may be initially issued in this 3787 

state only if, before the effective date of such binder or 3788 

policy, the insurer or agent has collected from the insured an 3789 

amount equal to 2 months’ premium. An insurer, agent, or premium 3790 

finance company may not, directly or indirectly, take any action 3791 

resulting in the insured paying having paid from the insured’s 3792 

own funds an amount less than the 2 months’ premium required by 3793 

this subsection. This subsection applies without regard to 3794 

whether the premium is financed by a premium finance company or 3795 

is paid pursuant to a periodic payment plan of an insurer or an 3796 

insurance agent. 3797 

(a) This subsection does not apply: 3798 

1. If an insured or member of the insured’s family is 3799 

renewing or replacing a policy or a binder for such policy 3800 

written by the same insurer or a member of the same insurer 3801 

group. This subsection does not apply 3802 

2. To an insurer that issues private passenger motor 3803 

vehicle coverage primarily to active duty or former military 3804 

personnel or their dependents. This subsection does not apply 3805 

3. If all policy payments are paid pursuant to a payroll 3806 

deduction plan or an automatic electronic funds transfer payment 3807 

plan from the policyholder. 3808 

(b) This subsection and subsection (4) do not apply 3809 

1. If all policy payments to an insurer are paid pursuant 3810 

to an automatic electronic funds transfer payment plan from an 3811 

agent, a managing general agent, or a premium finance company 3812 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì811080qÎ811080 

 

Page 133 of 154 

2/28/2012 9:45:53 AM 576-04050C-12 

and if the policy includes, at a minimum, personal injury 3813 

protection or medical care coverage pursuant to ss. 627.730-3814 

627.7405 or ss. 627.748-627.7491, as applicable; motor vehicle 3815 

property damage liability pursuant to s. 627.7275; and bodily 3816 

injury liability in at least the amount of $10,000 because of 3817 

bodily injury to, or death of, one person in any one accident 3818 

and in the amount of $20,000 because of bodily injury to, or 3819 

death of, two or more persons in any one accident. This 3820 

subsection and subsection (4) do not apply 3821 

2. If an insured has had a policy in effect for at least 6 3822 

months, the insured’s agent is terminated by the insurer that 3823 

issued the policy, and the insured obtains coverage on the 3824 

policy’s renewal date with a new company through the terminated 3825 

agent. 3826 

Section 53. Subsections (1), (2), and (3) of section 3827 

627.737, Florida Statutes, are amended to read: 3828 

627.737 Tort exemption; limitation on right to damages; 3829 

punitive damages.— 3830 

(1) Every owner, registrant, operator, or occupant of a 3831 

motor vehicle with respect to which security has been provided 3832 

as required by ss. 627.730-627.7405 or ss. 627.748-627.7491, as 3833 

applicable, and every person or organization legally responsible 3834 

for her or his acts or omissions, is hereby exempted from tort 3835 

liability for damages because of bodily injury, sickness, or 3836 

disease arising out of the ownership, operation, maintenance, or 3837 

use of such motor vehicle in this state to the extent that the 3838 

benefits described in s. 627.736(1) or s. 627.7485(1), as 3839 

applicable, are payable for such injury, or would be payable but 3840 

for any exclusion authorized by ss. 627.730-627.7405 or ss. 3841 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì811080qÎ811080 

 

Page 134 of 154 

2/28/2012 9:45:53 AM 576-04050C-12 

627.748-627.7491, as applicable, under any insurance policy or 3842 

other method of security complying with the requirements of s. 3843 

627.733, or by an owner personally liable under s. 627.733 for 3844 

the payment of such benefits, unless a person is entitled to 3845 

maintain an action for pain, suffering, mental anguish, and 3846 

inconvenience for such injury under the provisions of subsection 3847 

(2). 3848 

(2) In any action of tort brought against the owner, 3849 

registrant, operator, or occupant of a motor vehicle with 3850 

respect to which security has been provided as required by ss. 3851 

627.730-627.7405 or ss. 627.748-627.7491, as applicable, or 3852 

against any person or organization legally responsible for her 3853 

or his acts or omissions, a plaintiff may recover damages in 3854 

tort for pain, suffering, mental anguish, and inconvenience 3855 

because of bodily injury, sickness, or disease arising out of 3856 

the ownership, maintenance, operation, or use of such motor 3857 

vehicle only if in the event that the injury or disease consists 3858 

in whole or in part of: 3859 

(a) Significant and permanent loss of an important bodily 3860 

function. 3861 

(b) Permanent injury within a reasonable degree of medical 3862 

probability, other than scarring or disfigurement. 3863 

(c) Significant and permanent scarring or disfigurement. 3864 

(d) Death. 3865 

(3) If When a defendant, in a proceeding brought pursuant 3866 

to ss. 627.730-627.7405 or ss. 627.748-627.7491, as applicable, 3867 

questions whether the plaintiff has met the requirements of 3868 

subsection (2), then the defendant may file an appropriate 3869 

motion with the court, and the court shall, on a one-time basis 3870 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì811080qÎ811080 

 

Page 135 of 154 

2/28/2012 9:45:53 AM 576-04050C-12 

only, 30 days before the date set for the trial or the pretrial 3871 

hearing, whichever is first, by examining the pleadings and the 3872 

evidence before it, ascertain whether the plaintiff will be able 3873 

to submit some evidence that the plaintiff will meet the 3874 

requirements of subsection (2). If the court finds that the 3875 

plaintiff will not be able to submit such evidence, then the 3876 

court shall dismiss the plaintiff’s claim without prejudice. 3877 

Section 54. Section 627.8405, Florida Statutes, is amended 3878 

to read: 3879 

627.8405 Prohibited acts; financing companies.—A No premium 3880 

finance company shall, in a premium finance agreement or other 3881 

agreement, may not finance the cost of or otherwise provide for 3882 

the collection or remittance of dues, assessments, fees, or 3883 

other periodic payments of money for the cost of: 3884 

(1) A membership in an automobile club. The term 3885 

“automobile club” means a legal entity that which, in 3886 

consideration of dues, assessments, or periodic payments of 3887 

money, promises its members or subscribers to assist them in 3888 

matters relating to the ownership, operation, use, or 3889 

maintenance of a motor vehicle; however, this definition of 3890 

“automobile club” does not include persons, associations, or 3891 

corporations that which are organized and operated solely for 3892 

the purpose of conducting, sponsoring, or sanctioning motor 3893 

vehicle races, exhibitions, or contests upon racetracks, or upon 3894 

racecourses established and marked as such for the duration of 3895 

such particular events. The term words “motor vehicle” has used 3896 

herein have the same meaning as provided defined in s. 320.01 3897 

chapter 320. 3898 

(2) An accidental death and dismemberment policy sold in 3899 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì811080qÎ811080 

 

Page 136 of 154 

2/28/2012 9:45:53 AM 576-04050C-12 

combination with a personal injury protection and property 3900 

damage only policy or an emergency care and property damage only 3901 

policy, as applicable. 3902 

(3) Any product not regulated under the provisions of this 3903 

insurance code. 3904 

 3905 

This section also applies to premium financing by any insurance 3906 

agent or insurance company under part XVI. The commission shall 3907 

adopt rules to assure disclosure, at the time of sale, of 3908 

coverages financed with personal injury protection or medical 3909 

care coverage and shall prescribe the form of such disclosure. 3910 

Section 55. Subsection (1) of section 627.915, Florida 3911 

Statutes, is amended to read: 3912 

627.915 Insurer experience reporting.— 3913 

(1) Each insurer transacting private passenger automobile 3914 

insurance in this state shall report certain information 3915 

annually to the office. The information is will be due on or 3916 

before July 1 of each year. The information shall be divided 3917 

into the following categories: bodily injury liability; property 3918 

damage liability; uninsured motorist; medical care coverage or 3919 

personal injury protection benefits; medical payments; 3920 

comprehensive and collision. The information given must shall be 3921 

on direct insurance writings in the state alone and shall 3922 

represent total limits data. The information set forth in 3923 

paragraphs (a)-(f) is applicable to voluntary private passenger 3924 

and Joint Underwriting Association private passenger writings 3925 

and must shall be reported for each of the latest 3 calendar-3926 

accident years, with an evaluation date of March 31 of the 3927 

current year. The information set forth in paragraphs (g)-(j) is 3928 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì811080qÎ811080 

 

Page 137 of 154 

2/28/2012 9:45:53 AM 576-04050C-12 

applicable to voluntary private passenger writings and must 3929 

shall be reported on a calendar-accident year basis ultimately 3930 

seven times at seven different stages of development. 3931 

(a) Premiums earned for the latest 3 calendar-accident 3932 

years. 3933 

(b) Loss development factors and the historic development 3934 

of those factors. 3935 

(c) Policyholder dividends incurred. 3936 

(d) Expenses for other acquisition and general expense. 3937 

(e) Expenses for agents’ commissions and taxes, licenses, 3938 

and fees. 3939 

(f) Profit and contingency factors as used utilized in the 3940 

insurer’s automobile rate filings for the applicable years. 3941 

(g) Losses paid. 3942 

(h) Losses unpaid. 3943 

(i) Loss adjustment expenses paid. 3944 

(j) Loss adjustment expenses unpaid. 3945 

Section 56. Paragraph (d) of subsection (2) and paragraph 3946 

(d) of subsection (3) of section 628.909, Florida Statutes, are 3947 

amended to read: 3948 

628.909 Applicability of other laws.— 3949 

(2) The following provisions of the Florida Insurance Code 3950 

shall apply to captive insurers who are not industrial insured 3951 

captive insurers to the extent that such provisions are not 3952 

inconsistent with this part: 3953 

(d) Sections 627.730-627.7405 or ss. 627.748-627.7491, as 3954 

applicable, if when no-fault coverage is provided. 3955 

(3) The following provisions of the Florida Insurance Code 3956 

shall apply to industrial insured captive insurers to the extent 3957 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì811080qÎ811080 

 

Page 138 of 154 

2/28/2012 9:45:53 AM 576-04050C-12 

that such provisions are not inconsistent with this part: 3958 

(d) Sections 627.730-627.7405 or ss. 627.748-627.7491, as 3959 

applicable, if when no-fault coverage is provided. 3960 

Section 57. Subsections (2) and (6) and paragraphs (a), 3961 

(c), and (d) of subsection (7) of section 705.184, Florida 3962 

Statutes, are amended to read: 3963 

705.184 Derelict or abandoned motor vehicles on the 3964 

premises of public-use airports.— 3965 

(2) The airport director or the director’s designee shall 3966 

contact the Department of Highway Safety and Motor Vehicles to 3967 

notify that department that the airport has possession of the 3968 

abandoned or derelict motor vehicle and to determine the name 3969 

and address of the owner of the motor vehicle, the insurance 3970 

company insuring the motor vehicle, notwithstanding the 3971 

provisions of s. 627.736 or s. 627.7485, as applicable, and any 3972 

person who has filed a lien on the motor vehicle. Within 7 3973 

business days after receipt of the information, the director or 3974 

the director’s designee shall send notice by certified mail, 3975 

return receipt requested, to the owner of the motor vehicle, the 3976 

insurance company insuring the motor vehicle, notwithstanding 3977 

the provisions of s. 627.736 or s. 627.7485, as applicable, and 3978 

all persons of record claiming a lien against the motor vehicle. 3979 

The notice must shall state the fact of possession of the motor 3980 

vehicle, that charges for reasonable towing, storage, and 3981 

parking fees, if any, have accrued and the amount thereof, that 3982 

a lien as provided in subsection (6) will be claimed, that the 3983 

lien is subject to enforcement pursuant to law, that the owner 3984 

or lienholder, if any, has the right to a hearing as set forth 3985 

in subsection (4), and that any motor vehicle that which, at the 3986 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì811080qÎ811080 

 

Page 139 of 154 

2/28/2012 9:45:53 AM 576-04050C-12 

end of 30 calendar days after receipt of the notice, has not 3987 

been removed from the airport upon payment in full of all 3988 

accrued charges for reasonable towing, storage, and parking 3989 

fees, if any, may be disposed of as provided in s. 3990 

705.182(2)(a), (b), (d), or (e), including, but not limited to, 3991 

the motor vehicle being sold free of all prior liens after 35 3992 

calendar days after the time the motor vehicle is stored if any 3993 

prior liens on the motor vehicle are more than 5 years of age or 3994 

after 50 calendar days after the time the motor vehicle is 3995 

stored if any prior liens on the motor vehicle are 5 years of 3996 

age or less. 3997 

(6) The airport pursuant to this section or, if used, a 3998 

licensed independent wrecker company pursuant to s. 713.78 shall 3999 

have a lien on an abandoned or derelict motor vehicle for all 4000 

reasonable towing, storage, and accrued parking fees, if any, 4001 

except that a no storage fee may not shall be charged if the 4002 

motor vehicle is stored less than 6 hours. As a prerequisite to 4003 

perfecting a lien under this section, the airport director or 4004 

the director’s designee must serve a notice in accordance with 4005 

subsection (2) on the owner of the motor vehicle, the insurance 4006 

company insuring the motor vehicle, notwithstanding the 4007 

provisions of s. 627.736 or s. 627.7485, as applicable, and all 4008 

persons of record claiming a lien against the motor vehicle. If 4009 

attempts to notify the owner, the insurance company insuring the 4010 

motor vehicle, notwithstanding the provisions of s. 627.736, or 4011 

lienholders are not successful, the requirement of notice by 4012 

mail shall be considered met. Serving of the notice does not 4013 

dispense with recording the claim of lien. 4014 

(7)(a) For the purpose of perfecting its lien under this 4015 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì811080qÎ811080 

 

Page 140 of 154 

2/28/2012 9:45:53 AM 576-04050C-12 

section, the airport shall record a claim of lien which shall 4016 

state: 4017 

1. The name and address of the airport. 4018 

2. The name of the owner of the motor vehicle, the 4019 

insurance company insuring the motor vehicle, notwithstanding 4020 

the provisions of s. 627.736 or s. 627.7485, as applicable, and 4021 

all persons of record claiming a lien against the motor vehicle. 4022 

3. The costs incurred from reasonable towing, storage, and 4023 

parking fees, if any. 4024 

4. A description of the motor vehicle sufficient for 4025 

identification. 4026 

(c) The claim of lien shall be sufficient if it is in 4027 

substantially the following form: 4028 

CLAIM OF LIEN 4029 

State of .... 4030 

County of .... 4031 

Before me, the undersigned notary public, personally 4032 

appeared ...., who was duly sworn and says that he/she is the 4033 

.... of ...., whose address is....; and that the following 4034 

described motor vehicle: 4035 

...(Description of motor vehicle)... 4036 

owned by ...., whose address is ...., has accrued $.... in 4037 

fees for a reasonable tow, for storage, and for parking, if 4038 

applicable; that the lienor served its notice to the owner, the 4039 

insurance company insuring the motor vehicle notwithstanding the 4040 

provisions of s. 627.736 or s. 627.7485, Florida Statutes, as 4041 

applicable, and all persons of record claiming a lien against 4042 

the motor vehicle on ...., ...(year)..., by..... 4043 

...(Signature)... 4044 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì811080qÎ811080 

 

Page 141 of 154 

2/28/2012 9:45:53 AM 576-04050C-12 

Sworn to (or affirmed) and subscribed before me this .... 4045 

day of ...., ...(year)..., by ...(name of person making 4046 

statement).... 4047 

...(Signature of Notary Public)......(Print, Type, or Stamp 4048 

Commissioned name of Notary Public)... 4049 

Personally Known....OR Produced....as identification. 4050 

 4051 

However, the negligent inclusion or omission of any information 4052 

in this claim of lien which does not prejudice the owner does 4053 

not constitute a default that operates to defeat an otherwise 4054 

valid lien. 4055 

(d) The claim of lien shall be served on the owner of the 4056 

motor vehicle, the insurance company insuring the motor vehicle, 4057 

notwithstanding the provisions of s. 627.736 or s. 627.7485, as 4058 

applicable, if no-fault coverage is provided, and all persons of 4059 

record claiming a lien against the motor vehicle. If attempts to 4060 

notify the owner, the insurance company insuring the motor 4061 

vehicle notwithstanding the provisions of s. 627.736, or 4062 

lienholders are not successful, the requirement of notice by 4063 

mail shall be considered met. The claim of lien shall be so 4064 

served before recordation. 4065 

Section 58. Paragraphs (a), (b), and (c) of subsection (4) 4066 

of section 713.78, Florida Statutes, are amended to read: 4067 

713.78 Liens for recovering, towing, or storing vehicles 4068 

and vessels.— 4069 

(4)(a) Any person regularly engaged in the business of 4070 

recovering, towing, or storing vehicles or vessels who comes 4071 

into possession of a vehicle or vessel pursuant to subsection 4072 

(2), and who claims a lien for recovery, towing, or storage 4073 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì811080qÎ811080 

 

Page 142 of 154 

2/28/2012 9:45:53 AM 576-04050C-12 

services, must shall give notice to the registered owner, the 4074 

insurance company insuring the vehicle notwithstanding the 4075 

provisions of s. 627.736 or s. 627.7485, as applicable, and to 4076 

all persons claiming a lien thereon, as disclosed by the records 4077 

in the Department of Highway Safety and Motor Vehicles or of a 4078 

corresponding agency in any other state. 4079 

(b) If a Whenever any law enforcement agency authorizes the 4080 

removal of a vehicle or vessel or if whenever any towing 4081 

service, garage, repair shop, or automotive service, storage, or 4082 

parking place notifies the law enforcement agency of possession 4083 

of a vehicle or vessel pursuant to s. 715.07(2)(a)2., the law 4084 

enforcement agency of the jurisdiction where the vehicle or 4085 

vessel is stored shall contact the Department of Highway Safety 4086 

and Motor Vehicles, or the appropriate agency of the state of 4087 

registration, if known, within 24 hours through the medium of 4088 

electronic communications, giving the full description of the 4089 

vehicle or vessel. Upon receipt of the full description of the 4090 

vehicle or vessel, the department shall search its files to 4091 

determine the owner’s name, the insurance company insuring the 4092 

vehicle or vessel, and whether any person has filed a lien upon 4093 

the vehicle or vessel as provided in s. 319.27(2) and (3) and 4094 

notify the applicable law enforcement agency within 72 hours. 4095 

The person in charge of the towing service, garage, repair shop, 4096 

or automotive service, storage, or parking place shall obtain 4097 

such information from the applicable law enforcement agency 4098 

within 5 days after the date of storage and shall give notice 4099 

pursuant to paragraph (a). The department may release the 4100 

insurance company information to the requestor notwithstanding 4101 

the provisions of s. 627.736 or s. 627.7485, as applicable. 4102 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì811080qÎ811080 

 

Page 143 of 154 

2/28/2012 9:45:53 AM 576-04050C-12 

(c) Notice by certified mail, return receipt requested, 4103 

shall be sent within 7 business days after the date of storage 4104 

of the vehicle or vessel to the registered owner, the insurance 4105 

company insuring the vehicle notwithstanding the provisions of 4106 

s. 627.736 or s. 627.7485, as applicable, and all persons of 4107 

record claiming a lien against the vehicle or vessel. The notice 4108 

must It shall state the fact of possession of the vehicle or 4109 

vessel, that a lien as provided in subsection (2) is claimed, 4110 

that charges have accrued and the amount thereof, that the lien 4111 

is subject to enforcement pursuant to law, and that the owner or 4112 

lienholder, if any, has the right to a hearing as set forth in 4113 

subsection (5), and that any vehicle or vessel that which 4114 

remains unclaimed, or for which the charges for recovery, 4115 

towing, or storage services remain unpaid, may be sold free of 4116 

all prior liens after 35 days if the vehicle or vessel is more 4117 

than 3 years of age or after 50 days if the vehicle or vessel is 4118 

3 years of age or less. 4119 

Section 59. The Office of Insurance Regulation shall 4120 

perform a data call relating to coverage under the Florida Motor 4121 

Vehicle No-Fault Medical Care Coverage Law and publish the 4122 

results by January 1, 2015. It is the intent of the Legislature 4123 

that the office design the data call with the expectation that 4124 

the Legislature will use the data to help evaluate market 4125 

conditions relating to motor vehicle insurance and the impact on 4126 

the market of reforms made by this act. The elements of the data 4127 

call must address, but need not be limited to, the following 4128 

components of the new law: 4129 

(1) Quantity of claims. 4130 

(2) Type or nature of claimants. 4131 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì811080qÎ811080 

 

Page 144 of 154 

2/28/2012 9:45:53 AM 576-04050C-12 

(3) Amount and type of benefits paid and expenses incurred. 4132 

(4) Type and quantity of, and charges for, medical 4133 

benefits. 4134 

(5) Attorney fees related to bringing and defending actions 4135 

for benefits. 4136 

(6) Direct earned premiums for medical care coverage, pure 4137 

loss ratios, pure premiums, and other information related to 4138 

premiums and losses. 4139 

(7) Licensed drivers and accidents. 4140 

(8) Fraud and enforcement. 4141 

Section 60. Any motor vehicle policy issued or renewed on 4142 

or after January 1, 2013, is subject to and deemed to 4143 

incorporate the Florida Motor Vehicle No-Fault Medical Care 4144 

Coverage Law as created by this act and is not subject to ss. 4145 

627.730-627.7405, Florida Statutes, the Florida Motor Vehicle 4146 

No-Fault Act. The coverage provided under ss. 627.748-627.7491, 4147 

Florida Statutes, supersedes and replaces the coverage provided 4148 

by the Florida Motor Vehicle No-Fault Law for any motor vehicle 4149 

insurance policy issued on or after the effective date of the 4150 

Florida Motor Vehicle No-Fault Medical Care Coverage Law. 4151 

Section 61. Sections 627.730, 627.731, 627.732, 627.733, 4152 

627.734, 627.736, 627.737, 627.739, 627.7401, 627.7403, 4153 

627.7405, and 627.7407, Florida Statutes, do not apply to 4154 

persons subject to the s. 627.7483, Florida Statutes, and are 4155 

repealed effective January 1, 2014. 4156 

Section 62. If any provision of this act or its application 4157 

to any person or circumstance is held invalid, the invalidity 4158 

does not affect other provisions or applications of the act 4159 

which can be given effect without the invalid provision or 4160 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì811080qÎ811080 

 

Page 145 of 154 

2/28/2012 9:45:53 AM 576-04050C-12 

application, and to this end the provisions of this act are 4161 

severable. 4162 

Section 63. Except as otherwise expressly provided in this 4163 

act and except for this section, which shall take effect 4164 

December 1, 2012, this act shall take effect January 1, 2013. 4165 

 4166 

================= T I T L E  A M E N D M E N T ================ 4167 

And the title is amended as follows: 4168 

Delete lines 14 - 94 4169 

and insert: 4170 

injury protection and medical care coverage benefits; 4171 

amending s. 400.991, F.S.; requiring that an 4172 

application for licensure, or exemption from 4173 

licensure, as a health care clinic include a statement 4174 

regarding insurance fraud; amending s. 626.989, F.S.; 4175 

providing that knowingly submitting false, misleading, 4176 

or fraudulent documents relating to licensure as a 4177 

health care clinic, or submitting a claim for personal 4178 

injury protection or medical care coverage relating to 4179 

clinic licensure documents, is a fraudulent insurance 4180 

act under certain conditions; creating s. 626.9895, 4181 

F.S.; providing definitions; authorizing the Division 4182 

of Insurance Fraud of the Department of Financial 4183 

Services to establish a direct-support organization 4184 

for the purpose of prosecuting, investigating, and 4185 

preventing motor vehicle insurance fraud; providing 4186 

requirements for, and duties of, the organization; 4187 

requiring that the organization operate pursuant to a 4188 

contract with the division; providing for the 4189 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì811080qÎ811080 

 

Page 146 of 154 

2/28/2012 9:45:53 AM 576-04050C-12 

requirements of the contract; providing for a board of 4190 

directors; authorizing the organization to use the 4191 

division’s property and facilities subject to certain 4192 

requirements; requiring that the department adopt 4193 

rules relating to procedures for the organization’s 4194 

governance and relating to conditions for the use of 4195 

the division’s property or facilities; authorizing 4196 

contributions from insurers; authorizing any moneys 4197 

received by the organization to be held in a separate 4198 

depository account in the name of the organization; 4199 

requiring that the division deposit certain proceeds 4200 

into the Insurance Regulatory Trust Fund; reordering 4201 

and amending s. 627.732, F.S.; defining the term 4202 

“entitity wholly owned”; amending s. 627.733, F.S.; 4203 

providing that an owner or registrant of a motor 4204 

vehicle does not have to comply with this section if 4205 

required security is obtained under the Florida Motor 4206 

Vehicle No-Fault Medical Care Coverage Law; amending 4207 

s. 627.736, F.S.; revising the cap on benefits to 4208 

provide that death benefits are in addition to medical 4209 

and disability benefits; excluding massage and 4210 

acupuncture from medical benefits that may be 4211 

reimbursed under the motor vehicle no-fault law; 4212 

deleting provisions prohibiting the purchase of other 4213 

motor vehicle coverage; requiring that an insurer 4214 

repay any benefits covered by the Medicaid program 4215 

within a specified time; requiring that an insurer 4216 

provide a claimant an opportunity to revise claims 4217 

that contain errors; requiring that an insurer create 4218 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì811080qÎ811080 

 

Page 147 of 154 

2/28/2012 9:45:53 AM 576-04050C-12 

and maintain a log of benefits paid and provide a copy 4219 

of the log to the insured upon request; requiring that 4220 

an insurer notify parties in disputes over claims when 4221 

policy limits are reached; revising the Medicare fee 4222 

schedules that an insurer may use as a basis for 4223 

limiting reimbursement of benefits; providing that the 4224 

Medicare fee schedule in effect on a specific date 4225 

applies for purposes of limiting such reimbursement; 4226 

authorizing insurers to apply certain Medicare coding 4227 

policies and payment methodologies; requiring that an 4228 

insurer that limits payments based on the statutory 4229 

fee schedule include a notice in insurance policies at 4230 

the time of issuance or renewal; deleting obsolete 4231 

provisions; providing that certain entities exempt 4232 

from licensure as a clinic must nonetheless be 4233 

licensed to receive reimbursement for the provision of 4234 

personal injury protection benefits; providing 4235 

exceptions; eliminating a requirement that all parties 4236 

mutually and expressly agree for the use of electronic 4237 

transmission of data; creating s. 627.748, F.S.; 4238 

designating specified provisions as the Florida Motor 4239 

Vehicle No-Fault Medical Care Coverage Law; providing 4240 

a short title; creating s. 627.7481, F.S.; providing 4241 

legislative findings and purposes; creating s. 4242 

627.74811, F.S.; providing legislative intent that 4243 

provisions, schedules, or procedures are to be given 4244 

full force and effect regardless of their express 4245 

inclusion in insurer forms; creating s. 627.7482, 4246 

F.S.; providing definitions; creating s. 627.7483, 4247 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì811080qÎ811080 

 

Page 148 of 154 

2/28/2012 9:45:53 AM 576-04050C-12 

F.S.; requiring every owner or registrant of a motor 4248 

vehicle required to be registered and licensed in this 4249 

state to maintain specified security; providing 4250 

exceptions; requiring every nonresident owner or 4251 

registrant of a motor vehicle that has been physically 4252 

present within this state for a specified period to 4253 

maintain security; specifying means by which such 4254 

security is provided; providing that an owner of a 4255 

motor vehicle who fails to have such security is not 4256 

immune to certain liabilities; providing an exemption; 4257 

creating s. 627.7484, F.S.; providing requirements for 4258 

filing and maintaining proof of security; providing 4259 

penalties; creating s. 627.7485, F.S.; requiring that 4260 

insurance policies provide medical care coverage to 4261 

specified persons; providing limits of coverage; 4262 

specifying limits for medical, disability, and death 4263 

benefits; providing restrictions on insurers with 4264 

respect to provision of required benefits; prohibiting 4265 

an insurer from requiring the purchase of other motor 4266 

vehicle coverage as a condition for providing such 4267 

benefits; prohibiting an insurer from requiring the 4268 

purchase of property damage liability insurance 4269 

exceeding a specified amount in conjunction with 4270 

medical care coverage insurance; providing that 4271 

failure to comply with specified availability 4272 

requirements constitutes an unfair method of 4273 

competition or an unfair or deceptive act or practice; 4274 

providing penalties; authorizing an insurer to exclude 4275 

certain benefits; providing procedure with respect to 4276 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì811080qÎ811080 

 

Page 149 of 154 

2/28/2012 9:45:53 AM 576-04050C-12 

such exclusions; specifying when benefits are due from 4277 

an insurer; prohibiting insurers from obtaining liens 4278 

on recovery of special damages in tort claims for 4279 

medical care coverage benefits; prohibiting an insured 4280 

party from recovering any damages for which medical 4281 

care coverage benefits are paid or payable; requiring 4282 

that benefits received under any workers’ compensation 4283 

law be credited against the benefits provided under 4284 

the medical care coverage; providing that benefits 4285 

under the Florida Motor Vehicle No-Fault Medical Care 4286 

Coverage Law are subject to the Medicaid program in 4287 

specified circumstances; providing for notice to 4288 

insurers; specifying when benefits are overdue; 4289 

providing for interest on overdue payments; requiring 4290 

insurers to hold a specified amount of benefits in 4291 

reserve for a certain time for the payment of 4292 

providers; specifying injuries for which an insurer 4293 

must pay benefits; providing for a pro rata 4294 

distribution of benefits paid and expenses if there 4295 

are two or more insurers; requiring that an insurer 4296 

notify parties in disputes over claims when policy 4297 

limits are reached; requiring that an insurer create 4298 

and maintain a log of benefits paid and provide the 4299 

log to the insured upon request; providing for tolling 4300 

the time period in which benefits are required to be 4301 

paid when the insurer has reasonable belief that fraud 4302 

has been committed; requiring that the insurer notify 4303 

the claimant if the claim is being investigated for 4304 

fraud; providing immunity to persons or entities that 4305 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì811080qÎ811080 

 

Page 150 of 154 

2/28/2012 9:45:53 AM 576-04050C-12 

report suspected fraud in good faith; providing that 4306 

an insurer who fails to timely provide benefits 4307 

violates the insurance code; providing that a person 4308 

or entity lawfully rendering treatment to an injured 4309 

person for a bodily injury covered by medical care 4310 

coverage may charge only a reasonable amount for 4311 

services and care; providing that the insurer may pay 4312 

such charges directly to the person or entity lawfully 4313 

rendering such treatment; providing limits on such 4314 

charges; providing for determination of reasonableness 4315 

of charges; providing that payments made by an insurer 4316 

pursuant to the schedule of maximum charges, or for 4317 

lesser amounts billed by providers, are considered 4318 

reasonable; establishing a schedule of maximum 4319 

charges; specifying that reimbursement under a 4320 

schedule of maximum charges which is based on Medicare 4321 

is to be calculated under the applicable Medicare 4322 

schedule in effect on a specified date each year; 4323 

authorizing insurers to use all Medicare coding 4324 

policies and CMS payment methodologies in determining 4325 

reimbursement under a schedule of maximum charges 4326 

which is Medicare based; establishing limits on 4327 

specified emergency services and care; providing 4328 

conditions under which an insurer or insured is not 4329 

required to pay a claim or charges; requiring the 4330 

Department of Health to adopt by rule a list of 4331 

diagnostic tests deemed not to be medically necessary 4332 

and to periodically revise the list; providing 4333 

procedures and requirements with respect to statements 4334 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì811080qÎ811080 

 

Page 151 of 154 

2/28/2012 9:45:53 AM 576-04050C-12 

of and bills for charges for emergency services and 4335 

care; requiring that a notice of the insured’s rights 4336 

include a specified statement; requiring that a 4337 

physician, licensed professional, clinic, or medical 4338 

institution providing medical services require an 4339 

insured person to execute and countersign a disclosure 4340 

and acknowledgement form; directing the Financial 4341 

Services Commission to adopt by rule a disclosure and 4342 

acknowledgment form to be countersigned by claimants 4343 

upon receipt of medical services; providing procedures 4344 

and requirements with respect to investigation of 4345 

claims of improper billing by a physician or other 4346 

medical provider; prohibiting insurers from 4347 

systematically downcoding with intent to deny 4348 

reimbursement; requiring insureds and persons to whom 4349 

the right to payment for benefits has been assigned to 4350 

comply with all terms of the policy; providing that 4351 

compliance with policy terms is a condition precedent 4352 

to the receipt of benefits; requiring that an employer 4353 

furnish a sworn statement of an employee’s earnings 4354 

under certain circumstances; requiring that an 4355 

insured’s assignee comply with the terms of the 4356 

insurance policy; providing for insurers to inspect 4357 

the physical premises of providers seeking payment; 4358 

requiring that a provider seeking payment furnish to 4359 

the insurer a written report; requiring the insurer to 4360 

furnish to the injured person a copy of all 4361 

information; authorizing the insurer to petition the 4362 

court to enter an order permitting discovery of facts 4363 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì811080qÎ811080 

 

Page 152 of 154 

2/28/2012 9:45:53 AM 576-04050C-12 

under certain circumstances; providing for the 4364 

examination of the injured person and reports 4365 

regarding the examination; prohibiting an insurer from 4366 

withdrawing payment from a treating physician under 4367 

certain circumstances; providing requirements with 4368 

respect to a demand letter; providing procedures and 4369 

requirements with respect to payment of an overdue 4370 

claim; providing for the tolling of the time period 4371 

for an action against an insurer; providing that 4372 

failure to pay valid claims with specified frequency 4373 

constitutes an unfair or deceptive trade practice; 4374 

providing penalties; providing circumstances under 4375 

which an insurer has a cause of action; providing for 4376 

fraud advisory notice; requiring that all claims 4377 

related to the same health care provider for the same 4378 

injured person be brought in one action unless good 4379 

cause is shown; authorizing the electronic 4380 

transmission of notices and communications under 4381 

certain conditions; creating s. 627.7486, F.S.; 4382 

providing an exemption from tort liability for certain 4383 

damages in legal actions under the Florida Motor 4384 

Vehicle No-Fault Medical Care Coverage Law in certain 4385 

circumstances; providing for recovery of tort damages 4386 

in certain circumstances; providing for motions to 4387 

dismiss action on specified grounds; prohibiting a 4388 

claim for punitive damages in excess of the coverage 4389 

policy limits; creating s. 627.7487, F.S.; providing 4390 

for optional deductibles and limitations of coverage 4391 

for medical care coverage policies; requiring a 4392 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì811080qÎ811080 

 

Page 153 of 154 

2/28/2012 9:45:53 AM 576-04050C-12 

specified notice to policyholders; creating s. 4393 

627.7488, F.S.; requiring the commission to adopt by 4394 

rule a form for the notification of insureds of their 4395 

right to receive medical care coverage benefits; 4396 

specifying contents of such notice; providing 4397 

requirements for the mailing or delivery of such 4398 

notice; creating s. 627.7489, F.S.; providing for 4399 

mandatory joinder of specified claims; creating s. 4400 

627.749, F.S.; providing for an insurer’s right of 4401 

reimbursement for emergency medical care benefits paid 4402 

to a person injured by a commercial motor vehicle 4403 

under specified circumstances; creating s. 627.7491, 4404 

F.S.; providing for application of the Florida Motor 4405 

Vehicle No-Fault Medical Care Coverage Law; providing 4406 

for requirements for forms and rates for policies 4407 

issued or renewed on or after a specified date; 4408 

requiring a specified notice to existing 4409 

policyholders; amending s. 817.234, F.S.; providing 4410 

that it is insurance fraud to present a claim for 4411 

personal injury protection or medical care coverage 4412 

benefits payable to a person or entity that knowingly 4413 

submitted false, misleading, or fraudulent documents 4414 

relating to licensure as a health care clinic; 4415 

providing that a licensed health care practitioner who 4416 

is found guilty of certain insurance fraud loses his 4417 

or her license and may not receive reimbursement for 4418 

personal injury protection or medical care coverage 4419 

benefits for a specified period; defining the term 4420 

“insurer”; conforming provisions; amending ss. 4421 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì811080qÎ811080 

 

Page 154 of 154 

2/28/2012 9:45:53 AM 576-04050C-12 

316.065, 316.646, 318.18, 320.02, 320.0609, 320.27, 4422 

320.771, 322.251, 322.34, 324.021, 324.0221, 324.032, 4423 

324.171, 400.9935, 409.901, 409.910, 456.057, 456.072, 4424 

626.9541, 626.9894, 627.06501, 627.0652, 627.0653, 4425 

627.4132, 627.6482, 627.7263, 627.727, 627.7275, 4426 

627.728, 627.7295, 627.737, 627.8405, 627.915, 4427 

628.909, 705.184, 713.78, and 817.234, F.S.; 4428 

conforming provisions; requiring that the Office of 4429 

Insurance Regulation perform a data call relating to 4430 

medical care coverage and publish the results; 4431 

providing applicability; repealing ss. 627.730, 4432 

627.731, 627.732, 627.733, 627.734, 627.736, 627.737, 4433 

627.739, 627.7401, 627.7403, 627.7405, and 627.7407. 4434 

Sections 627.730, 627.731, 627.732, 627.733, 627.734, 4435 

627.736, 627.737, 627.739, 627.7401, 627.7403, 4436 

627.7405, and 627.7407, relating to the Florida Motor 4437 

Vehicle No-Fault Law; providing for severability; 4438 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì402646/Î402646 

 

Page 1 of 2 

2/28/2012 4:43:34 PM 576-04248-12 

LEGISLATIVE ACTION 

Senate 

Comm: WD 

02/29/2012 

 

 

 

. 

. 

. 

. 

. 

. 

House 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The Committee on Budget (Bogdanoff) recommended the following: 

 

Senate Amendment to Amendment (811080) (with title 1 

amendment) 2 

 3 

Delete lines 401 - 406 4 

and insert: 5 

nursing services. Medical benefits do not include massage as 6 

defined in s. 480.033, regardless of the person, entity, or 7 

licensee providing massage, and a licensed massage therapist may 8 

not be reimbursed for medical benefits under this section. 9 

Reimbursement for acupuncture services is limited to the lesser 10 

of 15 treatments or the number of treatments rendered within 15 11 

weeks after the date of the initial acupuncture treatment, 12 

unless the insurer authorizes additional acupuncture services 13 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì402646/Î402646 

 

Page 2 of 2 

2/28/2012 4:43:34 PM 576-04248-12 

regardless of the person, entity, or licensee providing the 14 

acupuncture services. However, The medical benefits shall 15 

provide 16 

Delete lines 1604 - 1607 17 

and insert: 18 

5. Medical benefits do not include massage as defined in s. 19 

480.033, regardless of the person, entity, or licensee providing 20 

massage. 21 

 22 

================= T I T L E  A M E N D M E N T ================ 23 

And the title is amended as follows: 24 

Delete lines 4210 - 4212 25 

and insert: 26 

and disability benefits; excluding massage from 27 

medical benefits that may be reimbursed under the 28 

motor vehicle no-fault law; limiting the number of 29 

acupuncture services; 30 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì310400QÎ310400 

 

Page 1 of 5 

2/28/2012 4:04:02 PM 576-04228-12 

LEGISLATIVE ACTION 

Senate 

Comm: WD 

02/29/2012 

 

 

 

. 

. 

. 

. 

. 

. 

House 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The Committee on Budget (Altman) recommended the following: 

 

Senate Amendment to Amendment (811080)  1 

 2 

Delete lines 1500 - 1611 3 

and insert: 4 

hospital; and 5 

(II) In a facility wholly owned by a physician licensed 6 

under chapter 458, chapter 459, or chapter 460, or by the 7 

physician and the spouse, parents, children, or siblings of such 8 

physician, which facility is selected by the injured person. 9 

c. Services and care rendered when an insured is admitted 10 

to a hospital within 7 days after the motor vehicle accident, 11 

for a condition related to the motor vehicle accident. 12 

d. If the insured receives emergency transport and 13 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì310400QÎ310400 

 

Page 2 of 5 

2/28/2012 4:04:02 PM 576-04228-12 

treatment or emergency services and care pursuant to sub-14 

subparagraph a. or sub-subparagraph b., or services and care 15 

pursuant to sub-subparagraph c., prescribed followup services 16 

and care directly related to the medical diagnosis arising from 17 

the motor vehicle accident if: 18 

(I) The medical diagnosis and determination of the 19 

emergency medical condition was rendered in a hospital by a 20 

physician licensed under chapter 458, an osteopathic physician 21 

licensed under chapter 459, a dentist licensed under chapter 22 

466, or, to the extent permitted by applicable law and under the 23 

supervision of such physician, osteopathic physician, or 24 

dentist, by a physician assistant licensed under chapter 458 or 25 

chapter 459 or an advanced registered nurse practitioner 26 

licensed under chapter 464, or the insured received services and 27 

care while admitted to a hospital; and 28 

(II) The prescribed followup services and care are rendered 29 

by a physician licensed under chapter 458, an osteopathic 30 

physician licensed under chapter 459, a chiropractic physician 31 

licensed under chapter 460, or a dentist licensed under chapter 32 

466 as selected by the injured person, a physician assistant 33 

licensed under chapter 458 or chapter 459, or an advanced 34 

registered nurse practitioner licensed under chapter 464. 35 

e. If the insured receives services and care pursuant to 36 

sub-subparagraph a., sub-subparagraph b., sub-subparagraph c., 37 

or sub-subparagraph d., all medically necessary medical, 38 

surgical, dental, nursing, or diagnostic ancillary services, 39 

hospital or ambulatory surgical center services, durable medical 40 

equipment, prosthetics, or orthotics and supplies. 41 

2. Up to a limit of $2,000, 80 percent of all reasonable 42 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì310400QÎ310400 

 

Page 3 of 5 

2/28/2012 4:04:02 PM 576-04228-12 

expenses as follows: 43 

a. Services and care rendered within 7 days after the motor 44 

vehicle accident by a physician licensed under chapter 458, an 45 

osteopathic physician licensed under chapter 459, a chiropractic 46 

physician licensed under chapter 460, or a dentist licensed 47 

under chapter 466, a physician assistant licensed under chapter 48 

458 or 459, or an advanced registered nurse practitioner 49 

licensed under chapter 464, who is selected by the injured 50 

person. 51 

b. If the insured receives services and care pursuant to 52 

sub-subparagraph a., prescribed followup services and care 53 

directly related to the medical diagnosis arising from the motor 54 

vehicle accident. The medical benefits provide reimbursement 55 

only for followup services and care provided, supervised, 56 

ordered, or prescribed by a physician licensed under chapter 57 

458, an osteopathic physician licensed under chapter 459, a 58 

dentist licensed under chapter 466 or, to the extent permitted 59 

by applicable law and under the supervision of such physician, 60 

osteopathic physician, or dentist, by a physician assistant 61 

licensed under chapter 458 or chapter 459 or an advanced 62 

registered nurse practitioner licensed under chapter 464. Such 63 

followup services and care may be rendered by a physician 64 

licensed under chapter 458, an osteopathic physician licensed 65 

under chapter 459, a chiropractic physician licensed under 66 

chapter 460, a dentist licensed under chapter 466, or, to the 67 

extent permitted by applicable law and under the supervision of 68 

such physician, osteopathic physician, or dentist, by a 69 

physician assistant licensed under chapter 458 or chapter 459 or 70 

an advanced registered nurse practitioner licensed under chapter 71 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì310400QÎ310400 

 

Page 4 of 5 

2/28/2012 4:04:02 PM 576-04228-12 

464, who is selected by the injured person. 72 

c. All medically necessary medical, surgical, dental, 73 

nursing, or diagnostic ancillary services, hospital or 74 

ambulatory surgical center services, durable medical equipment, 75 

prosthetics, orthotics, and supplies. 76 

d. Payment of benefits under sub-subparagraph a., 77 

subparagraph b., or sub-subparagraph c. occurs only if an 78 

insured has been determined in a hospital to not have an 79 

emergency medical condition or did not present at a hospital but 80 

received treatment from a provider identified in sub-81 

subparagraph a. within 7 days after the motor vehicle accident. 82 

3. Prescribed followup services and care under sub-83 

subparagraph 1.d. and reimbursable medical benefits under 84 

subparagraph 2. must be provided in a clinic licensed under part 85 

X of chapter 400 or an entity excluded from the definition of a 86 

clinic. However, as provided in s. 400.9905, an entity excluded 87 

from the definition of a clinic shall be deemed a clinic and 88 

must be licensed under part X of chapter 400 in order to receive 89 

reimbursement for prescribed followup services and care under 90 

sub-subparagraph 1.d. unless the entity is: 91 

a. An entity wholly owned by a physician licensed under 92 

chapter 458 or chapter 459, or by the physician and the spouse, 93 

parent, child, or sibling of the physician; 94 

b. An entity wholly owned by a dentist licensed under 95 

chapter 466, or by the dentist and the spouse, parent, child, or 96 

sibling of the dentist; 97 

c. An entity wholly owned by a chiropractic physician 98 

licensed under chapter 460, or by the chiropractic physician and 99 

the spouse, parent, child, or sibling of the chiropractic 100 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì310400QÎ310400 

 

Page 5 of 5 

2/28/2012 4:04:02 PM 576-04228-12 

physician if such entity has filed for a licensing exemption 101 

with the Agency for Health Care Administration; or 102 

d. A hospital or ambulatory surgical center licensed under 103 

chapter 395. 104 

4. Medical benefits do not include massage as defined in s. 105 

480.033 or acupuncture as defined in s. 457.102, regardless of 106 

the person, entity, or licensee providing massage or 107 

acupuncture. 108 

5. For purposes of ss. 627.748-627.7491, a medical 109 

diagnosis that an emergency medical condition exists is presumed 110 

to be correct unless rebutted by clear and convincing evidence 111 

to the contrary. 112 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì101792.Î101792 

 

Page 1 of 2 

2/28/2012 3:21:17 PM 576-04221-12 

LEGISLATIVE ACTION 

Senate 

Comm: WD 

02/29/2012 

 

 

 

. 

. 

. 

. 

. 

. 

House 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The Committee on Budget (Margolis) recommended the following: 

 

Senate Amendment to Substitute Amendment (811080) (with 1 

directory and title amendments) 2 

 3 

Between lines 1160 and 1161 4 

insert: 5 

(17) REFERRAL FEES.—A person, entity, or licensee may not 6 

accept a fee for the referral of the insured to a person, 7 

entity, or licensee for medical benefits under paragraph (1)(a) 8 

unless the person, entity, or licensee making the referral 9 

discloses in writing to the insured and the insurer that he or 10 

she has received a referral fee, the amount of the referral fee, 11 

and the name and business address of the person or entity that 12 

provided the referral fee. Reimbursement under the Florida Motor 13 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì101792.Î101792 

 

Page 2 of 2 

2/28/2012 3:21:17 PM 576-04221-12 

Vehicle No-Fault Law to a person, entity, or licensee who 14 

receives and fails to disclose a referral fee to the insured and 15 

insurer as required by this subsection shall be reduced by the 16 

amount of the undisclosed referral fee. 17 

 18 

====== D I R E C T O R Y  C L A U S E  A M E N D M E N T ====== 19 

And the directory clause is amended as follows: 20 

Delete line 379 21 

and insert: 22 

and (16) of section 627.736, Florida Statutes, are amended, and 23 

subsection (17) is added to that section, to 24 

 25 

================= T I T L E  A M E N D M E N T ================ 26 

And the title is amended as follows: 27 

Delete line 4238 28 

and insert: 29 

transmission of data; requiring that a person, entity, 30 

or licensee that makes a referral for medical benefits 31 

disclose referral fees in writing to the insured and 32 

insurer; creating s. 627.748, F.S.; 33 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì616172"Î616172 

 

Page 1 of 34 

2/28/2012 3:10:47 PM 576-04195C-12 

LEGISLATIVE ACTION 

Senate 

Comm: UNFAV 

02/29/2012 

 

 

 

. 

. 

. 

. 

. 

. 

House 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The Committee on Budget (Negron and Richter) recommended the 

following: 

 

Senate Amendment (with title amendment) 1 

 2 

Delete lines 515 - 1373 3 

and insert: 4 

Section 7. Subsections (1), (4), (5), (6), (8), (9), (10), 5 

and (11) of section 627.736, Florida Statutes, are amended to 6 

read: 7 

627.736 Required personal injury protection benefits; 8 

exclusions; priority; claims.— 9 

(1) REQUIRED BENEFITS.—An Every insurance policy complying 10 

with the security requirements of s. 627.733 must shall provide 11 

personal injury protection to the named insured, relatives 12 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì616172"Î616172 

 

Page 2 of 34 

2/28/2012 3:10:47 PM 576-04195C-12 

residing in the same household, persons operating the insured 13 

motor vehicle, passengers in the such motor vehicle, and other 14 

persons struck by the such motor vehicle and suffering bodily 15 

injury while not an occupant of a self-propelled vehicle, 16 

subject to the provisions of subsection (2) and paragraph 17 

(4)(e), to a limit of $10,000 in medical and disability benefits 18 

and $5,000 in death benefits resulting from for loss sustained 19 

by any such person as a result of bodily injury, sickness, 20 

disease, or death arising out of the ownership, maintenance, or 21 

use of a motor vehicle as follows: 22 

(a) Medical benefits.—Eighty percent of all reasonable 23 

expenses for medically necessary medical, surgical, X-ray, 24 

dental, and rehabilitative services, including prosthetic 25 

devices, and medically necessary ambulance, hospital, and 26 

nursing services. However, the medical benefits shall provide 27 

reimbursement only for: such 28 

1. Initial services and care that are lawfully provided, 29 

supervised, ordered, or prescribed within 14 days of the motor 30 

vehicle accident by a physician licensed under chapter 458 or 31 

chapter 459, by a dentist licensed under chapter 466, or, to the 32 

extent permitted by applicable law and under the supervision of 33 

such physician, osteopathic physician, or dentist, by a 34 

physician assistant licensed under chapter 458 or chapter 459 or 35 

an advanced registered nurse practitioner licensed under chapter 36 

464, a chiropractic physician licensed under chapter 460 or that 37 

are provided in a hospital or in a facility that owns, or is 38 

wholly owned by, a hospital. Initial services and care may also 39 

be provided by a person or entity licensed under part III of 40 

chapter 401 which provides emergency transportation and 41 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì616172"Î616172 

 

Page 3 of 34 

2/28/2012 3:10:47 PM 576-04195C-12 

treatment. 42 

2. Followup services and care consistent with the 43 

underlying medical diagnosis rendered pursuant to subparagraph 44 

1. Such follow up services and care may be rendered by a 45 

physician licensed under chapter 458 or chapter 459, a 46 

chiropractic physician licensed under chapter 460, a dentist 47 

licensed under chapter 466, or, to the extent permitted by 48 

applicable law and under the supervision of such physician, 49 

osteopathic physician, chiropractic physician, or dentist, by a 50 

physician assistant licensed under chapter 458 or chapter 459 or 51 

an advanced registered nurse practitioner licensed under chapter 52 

464. Followup services and care may also be provided by any of 53 

the following persons or entities: 54 

a.1. A hospital or ambulatory surgical center licensed 55 

under chapter 395. 56 

2. A person or entity licensed under ss. 401.2101-401.45 57 

that provides emergency transportation and treatment. 58 

b.3. An entity wholly owned by one or more physicians 59 

licensed under chapter 458 or chapter 459, chiropractic 60 

physicians licensed under chapter 460, or dentists licensed 61 

under chapter 466 or by such practitioner or practitioners and 62 

the spouse, parent, child, or sibling of such that practitioner 63 

or those practitioners. 64 

c.4. An entity that owns or is wholly owned, directly or 65 

indirectly, by a hospital or hospitals. 66 

d.5. A health care clinic licensed under part X of chapter 67 

400 which ss. 400.990-400.995 that is: 68 

a. accredited by the Joint Commission on Accreditation of 69 

Healthcare Organizations, the American Osteopathic Association, 70 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì616172"Î616172 

 

Page 4 of 34 

2/28/2012 3:10:47 PM 576-04195C-12 

the Commission on Accreditation of Rehabilitation Facilities, or 71 

the Accreditation Association for Ambulatory Health Care, Inc.; 72 

or 73 

b. A health care clinic that: 74 

(I) Has a medical director licensed under chapter 458, 75 

chapter 459, or chapter 460; 76 

(II) Has been continuously licensed for more than 3 years 77 

or is a publicly traded corporation that issues securities 78 

traded on an exchange registered with the United States 79 

Securities and Exchange Commission as a national securities 80 

exchange; and 81 

(III) Provides at least four of the following medical 82 

specialties: 83 

(A) General medicine. 84 

(B) Radiography. 85 

(C) Orthopedic medicine. 86 

(D) Physical medicine. 87 

(E) Physical therapy. 88 

(F) Physical rehabilitation. 89 

(G) Prescribing or dispensing outpatient prescription 90 

medication. 91 

(H) Laboratory services. 92 

3. Reimbursement for services provided by each type of 93 

licensed medical provider authorized to render such services 94 

under subparagraph 2. is limited to the lesser of 24 treatments 95 

or to services rendered within 12 weeks after the date of the 96 

initial treatment, whichever comes first, unless the insurer 97 

authorizes additional services. 98 

4. Medical benefits do not include massage as defined in s. 99 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì616172"Î616172 

 

Page 5 of 34 

2/28/2012 3:10:47 PM 576-04195C-12 

480.033 or acupuncture as defined in s. 457.102, regardless of 100 

the person, entity, or licensee providing massage or 101 

acupuncture, and a licensed massage therapist or licensed 102 

acupuncturist may not be reimbursed for medical benefits under 103 

this section. 104 

 105 

The Financial Services Commission shall adopt by rule the form 106 

that must be used by an insurer and a health care provider 107 

specified in subparagraph 3., subparagraph 4., or subparagraph 108 

5. to document that the health care provider meets the criteria 109 

of this paragraph, which rule must include a requirement for a 110 

sworn statement or affidavit. 111 

(b) Disability benefits.—Sixty percent of any loss of gross 112 

income and loss of earning capacity per individual from 113 

inability to work proximately caused by the injury sustained by 114 

the injured person, plus all expenses reasonably incurred in 115 

obtaining from others ordinary and necessary services in lieu of 116 

those that, but for the injury, the injured person would have 117 

performed without income for the benefit of his or her 118 

household. All disability benefits payable under this provision 119 

must shall be paid at least not less than every 2 weeks. 120 

(c) Death benefits.—Death benefits equal to the lesser of 121 

$5,000 or the remainder of unused personal injury protection 122 

benefits per individual. Death benefits are in addition to the 123 

medical and disability benefits provided under the insurance 124 

policy. The insurer may pay death such benefits to the executor 125 

or administrator of the deceased, to any of the deceased’s 126 

relatives by blood, or legal adoption, or connection by 127 

marriage, or to any person appearing to the insurer to be 128 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì616172"Î616172 

 

Page 6 of 34 

2/28/2012 3:10:47 PM 576-04195C-12 

equitably entitled to such benefits thereto. 129 

 130 

Only insurers writing motor vehicle liability insurance in this 131 

state may provide the required benefits of this section, and no 132 

such insurer may not shall require the purchase of any other 133 

motor vehicle coverage other than the purchase of property 134 

damage liability coverage as required by s. 627.7275 as a 135 

condition for providing such required benefits. Insurers may not 136 

require that property damage liability insurance in an amount 137 

greater than $10,000 be purchased in conjunction with personal 138 

injury protection. Such insurers shall make benefits and 139 

required property damage liability insurance coverage available 140 

through normal marketing channels. An Any insurer writing motor 141 

vehicle liability insurance in this state who fails to comply 142 

with such availability requirement as a general business 143 

practice violates shall be deemed to have violated part IX of 144 

chapter 626, and such violation constitutes shall constitute an 145 

unfair method of competition or an unfair or deceptive act or 146 

practice involving the business of insurance. An; and any such 147 

insurer committing such violation is shall be subject to the 148 

penalties provided under that afforded in such part, as well as 149 

those provided which may be afforded elsewhere in the insurance 150 

code. 151 

(4) PAYMENT OF BENEFITS; WHEN DUE.—Benefits due from an 152 

insurer under ss. 627.730-627.7405 are shall be primary, except 153 

that benefits received under any workers’ compensation law must 154 

shall be credited against the benefits provided by subsection 155 

(1) and are shall be due and payable as loss accrues, upon 156 

receipt of reasonable proof of such loss and the amount of 157 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì616172"Î616172 

 

Page 7 of 34 

2/28/2012 3:10:47 PM 576-04195C-12 

expenses and loss incurred which are covered by the policy 158 

issued under ss. 627.730-627.7405. If When the Agency for Health 159 

Care Administration provides, pays, or becomes liable for 160 

medical assistance under the Medicaid program related to injury, 161 

sickness, disease, or death arising out of the ownership, 162 

maintenance, or use of a motor vehicle, the benefits under ss. 163 

627.730-627.7405 are shall be subject to the provisions of the 164 

Medicaid program. However, within 30 days after receiving notice 165 

that the Medicaid program paid such benefits, the insurer shall 166 

repay the full amount of the benefits to the Medicaid program. 167 

(a) An insurer may require written notice to be given as 168 

soon as practicable after an accident involving a motor vehicle 169 

with respect to which the policy affords the security required 170 

by ss. 627.730-627.7405. 171 

(b) Personal injury protection insurance benefits paid 172 

pursuant to this section are shall be overdue if not paid within 173 

30 days after the insurer is furnished written notice of the 174 

fact of a covered loss and of the amount of same. However: 175 

1. If such written notice of the entire claim is not 176 

furnished to the insurer as to the entire claim, any partial 177 

amount supported by written notice is overdue if not paid within 178 

30 days after such written notice is furnished to the insurer. 179 

Any part or all of the remainder of the claim that is 180 

subsequently supported by written notice is overdue if not paid 181 

within 30 days after such written notice is furnished to the 182 

insurer. 183 

2. If When an insurer pays only a portion of a claim or 184 

rejects a claim, the insurer shall provide at the time of the 185 

partial payment or rejection an itemized specification of each 186 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì616172"Î616172 

 

Page 8 of 34 

2/28/2012 3:10:47 PM 576-04195C-12 

item that the insurer had reduced, omitted, or declined to pay 187 

and any information that the insurer desires the claimant to 188 

consider related to the medical necessity of the denied 189 

treatment or to explain the reasonableness of the reduced charge 190 

if, provided that this does shall not limit the introduction of 191 

evidence at trial.; and The insurer must also shall include the 192 

name and address of the person to whom the claimant should 193 

respond and a claim number to be referenced in future 194 

correspondence. 195 

3. If an insurer pays only a portion of a claim or rejects 196 

a claim due to an alleged error in the claim, the insurer shall 197 

provide at the time of the partial payment or rejection an 198 

itemized specification or explanation of benefits of the 199 

specified error. Upon receiving the specification or 200 

explanation, the person making the claim has, at the person’s 201 

option and without waiving any other legal remedy for payment, 202 

15 days to submit a revised claim, and the revised claim shall 203 

be considered a timely submission of written notice of a claim. 204 

4. However, Notwithstanding the fact that written notice 205 

has been furnished to the insurer, any payment is shall not be 206 

deemed overdue if when the insurer has reasonable proof to 207 

establish that the insurer is not responsible for the payment. 208 

5. For the purpose of calculating the extent to which any 209 

benefits are overdue, payment shall be treated as being made on 210 

the date a draft or other valid instrument that which is 211 

equivalent to payment was placed in the United States mail in a 212 

properly addressed, postpaid envelope or, if not so posted, on 213 

the date of delivery. 214 

6. This paragraph does not preclude or limit the ability of 215 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì616172"Î616172 

 

Page 9 of 34 

2/28/2012 3:10:47 PM 576-04195C-12 

the insurer to assert that the claim was unrelated, was not 216 

medically necessary, or was unreasonable or that the amount of 217 

the charge was in excess of that permitted under, or in 218 

violation of, subsection (5). Such assertion by the insurer may 219 

be made at any time, including after payment of the claim or 220 

after the 30-day time period for payment set forth in this 221 

paragraph. 222 

(c) Upon receiving notice of an accident that is 223 

potentially covered by personal injury protection benefits, the 224 

insurer must reserve $5,000 of personal injury protection 225 

benefits for payment to physicians licensed under chapter 458 or 226 

chapter 459 or dentists licensed under chapter 466 who provide 227 

emergency services and care, as defined in s. 395.002(9), or who 228 

provide hospital inpatient care. The amount required to be held 229 

in reserve may be used only to pay claims from such physicians 230 

or dentists until 30 days after the date the insurer receives 231 

notice of the accident. After the 30-day period, any amount of 232 

the reserve for which the insurer has not received notice of 233 

such claims a claim from a physician or dentist who provided 234 

emergency services and care or who provided hospital inpatient 235 

care may then be used by the insurer to pay other claims. The 236 

time periods specified in paragraph (b) for required payment of 237 

personal injury protection benefits are shall be tolled for the 238 

period of time that an insurer is required by this paragraph to 239 

hold payment of a claim that is not from such a physician or 240 

dentist who provided emergency services and care or who provided 241 

hospital inpatient care to the extent that the personal injury 242 

protection benefits not held in reserve are insufficient to pay 243 

the claim. This paragraph does not require an insurer to 244 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì616172"Î616172 

 

Page 10 of 34 

2/28/2012 3:10:47 PM 576-04195C-12 

establish a claim reserve for insurance accounting purposes. 245 

(d) All overdue payments shall bear simple interest at the 246 

rate established under s. 55.03 or the rate established in the 247 

insurance contract, whichever is greater, for the year in which 248 

the payment became overdue, calculated from the date the insurer 249 

was furnished with written notice of the amount of covered loss. 250 

Interest is shall be due at the time payment of the overdue 251 

claim is made. 252 

(e) The insurer of the owner of a motor vehicle shall pay 253 

personal injury protection benefits for: 254 

1. Accidental bodily injury sustained in this state by the 255 

owner while occupying a motor vehicle, or while not an occupant 256 

of a self-propelled vehicle if the injury is caused by physical 257 

contact with a motor vehicle. 258 

2. Accidental bodily injury sustained outside this state, 259 

but within the United States of America or its territories or 260 

possessions or Canada, by the owner while occupying the owner’s 261 

motor vehicle. 262 

3. Accidental bodily injury sustained by a relative of the 263 

owner residing in the same household, under the circumstances 264 

described in subparagraph 1. or subparagraph 2., if provided the 265 

relative at the time of the accident is domiciled in the owner’s 266 

household and is not himself or herself the owner of a motor 267 

vehicle with respect to which security is required under ss. 268 

627.730-627.7405. 269 

4. Accidental bodily injury sustained in this state by any 270 

other person while occupying the owner’s motor vehicle or, if a 271 

resident of this state, while not an occupant of a self-272 

propelled vehicle, if the injury is caused by physical contact 273 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì616172"Î616172 

 

Page 11 of 34 

2/28/2012 3:10:47 PM 576-04195C-12 

with such motor vehicle, if provided the injured person is not 274 

himself or herself: 275 

a. The owner of a motor vehicle with respect to which 276 

security is required under ss. 627.730-627.7405; or 277 

b. Entitled to personal injury benefits from the insurer of 278 

the owner or owners of such a motor vehicle. 279 

(f) If two or more insurers are liable for paying to pay 280 

personal injury protection benefits for the same injury to any 281 

one person, the maximum payable is shall be as specified in 282 

subsection (1), and the any insurer paying the benefits is shall 283 

be entitled to recover from each of the other insurers an 284 

equitable pro rata share of the benefits paid and expenses 285 

incurred in processing the claim. 286 

(g) It is a violation of the insurance code for an insurer 287 

to fail to timely provide benefits as required by this section 288 

with such frequency as to constitute a general business 289 

practice. 290 

(h) Benefits are shall not be due or payable to or on the 291 

behalf of an insured person if that person has committed, by a 292 

material act or omission, any insurance fraud relating to 293 

personal injury protection coverage under his or her policy, if 294 

the fraud is admitted to in a sworn statement by the insured or 295 

if it is established in a court of competent jurisdiction. Any 296 

insurance fraud voids shall void all coverage arising from the 297 

claim related to such fraud under the personal injury protection 298 

coverage of the insured person who committed the fraud, 299 

irrespective of whether a portion of the insured person’s claim 300 

may be legitimate, and any benefits paid before prior to the 301 

discovery of the insured person’s insurance fraud is shall be 302 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì616172"Î616172 

 

Page 12 of 34 

2/28/2012 3:10:47 PM 576-04195C-12 

recoverable by the insurer in its entirety from the person who 303 

committed insurance fraud in their entirety. The prevailing 304 

party is entitled to its costs and attorney attorney’s fees in 305 

any action in which it prevails in an insurer’s action to 306 

enforce its right of recovery under this paragraph. 307 

(i) If an insurer has a reasonable belief that a fraudulent 308 

insurance act, as defined in s. 626.989 or s. 817.234, has been 309 

committed, the insurer shall notify the claimant in writing 310 

within 30 days after submission of the claim that the claim is 311 

being investigated for suspected fraud and execute and provide 312 

to the insured an affidavit under oath stating that there is a 313 

factual basis that there is a probability of fraud. The insurer 314 

has an additional 30 days, beginning at the end of the initial 315 

30-day period, to conduct its fraud investigation. 316 

Notwithstanding subsection (10), no later than the 60th day 317 

after the submission of the claim, the insurer must deny the 318 

claim or pay the claim along with simple interest as provided in 319 

paragraph (d). All claims denied for suspected fraudulent 320 

insurance acts shall be reported to the Division of Insurance 321 

Fraud. 322 

(j) An insurer shall create and maintain for each insured a 323 

log of personal injury protection benefits paid by the insurer 324 

on behalf of the insured. The insurer shall provide to the 325 

insured, or an assignee of the insured, a copy of the log within 326 

30 days after receiving a request for the log from the insured 327 

or the assignee. 328 

(5) CHARGES FOR TREATMENT OF INJURED PERSONS.— 329 

(a)1. A Any physician, hospital, clinic, or other person or 330 

institution lawfully rendering treatment to an injured person 331 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì616172"Î616172 

 

Page 13 of 34 

2/28/2012 3:10:47 PM 576-04195C-12 

for a bodily injury covered by personal injury protection 332 

insurance may charge the insurer and injured party only a 333 

reasonable amount pursuant to this section for the services and 334 

supplies rendered, and the insurer providing such coverage may 335 

pay for such charges directly to such person or institution 336 

lawfully rendering such treatment, if the insured receiving such 337 

treatment or his or her guardian has countersigned the properly 338 

completed invoice, bill, or claim form approved by the office 339 

upon which such charges are to be paid for as having actually 340 

been rendered, to the best knowledge of the insured or his or 341 

her guardian. In no event, However, may such a charge may not 342 

exceed be in excess of the amount the person or institution 343 

customarily charges for like services or supplies. In 344 

determining With respect to a determination of whether a charge 345 

for a particular service, treatment, or otherwise is reasonable, 346 

consideration may be given to evidence of usual and customary 347 

charges and payments accepted by the provider involved in the 348 

dispute, and reimbursement levels in the community and various 349 

federal and state medical fee schedules applicable to motor 350 

vehicle automobile and other insurance coverages, and other 351 

information relevant to the reasonableness of the reimbursement 352 

for the service, treatment, or supply. 353 

1.2. The insurer may limit reimbursement to 80 percent of 354 

the following schedule of maximum charges: 355 

a. For emergency transport and treatment by providers 356 

licensed under chapter 401, 200 percent of Medicare. 357 

b. For emergency services and care provided by a hospital 358 

licensed under chapter 395, 75 percent of the hospital’s usual 359 

and customary charges. 360 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì616172"Î616172 

 

Page 14 of 34 

2/28/2012 3:10:47 PM 576-04195C-12 

c. For emergency services and care as defined by s. 361 

395.002(9) provided in a facility licensed under chapter 395 362 

rendered by a physician or dentist, and related hospital 363 

inpatient services rendered by a physician or dentist, the usual 364 

and customary charges in the community. 365 

d. For hospital inpatient services, other than emergency 366 

services and care, 200 percent of the Medicare Part A 367 

prospective payment applicable to the specific hospital 368 

providing the inpatient services. 369 

e. For hospital outpatient services, other than emergency 370 

services and care, 200 percent of the Medicare Part A Ambulatory 371 

Payment Classification for the specific hospital providing the 372 

outpatient services. 373 

f. For all other medical services, supplies, and care, 200 374 

percent of the allowable amount under: 375 

(I) The participating physicians fee schedule of Medicare 376 

Part B, except as provided in sub-sub-subparagraphs (II) and 377 

(III). 378 

(II) Medicare Part B, in the case of services, supplies, 379 

and care provided by ambulatory surgical centers and clinical 380 

laboratories. 381 

(III) The Durable Medical Equipment Prosthetics/Orthotics 382 

and Supplies fee schedule of Medicare Part B, in the case of 383 

durable medical equipment. 384 

 385 

However, if such services, supplies, or care is not reimbursable 386 

under Medicare Part B, as provided in this sub-subparagraph, the 387 

insurer may limit reimbursement to 80 percent of the maximum 388 

reimbursable allowance under workers’ compensation, as 389 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì616172"Î616172 

 

Page 15 of 34 

2/28/2012 3:10:47 PM 576-04195C-12 

determined under s. 440.13 and rules adopted thereunder which 390 

are in effect at the time such services, supplies, or care is 391 

provided. Services, supplies, or care that is not reimbursable 392 

under Medicare or workers’ compensation is not required to be 393 

reimbursed by the insurer. 394 

2.3. For purposes of subparagraph 1. 2., the applicable fee 395 

schedule or payment limitation under Medicare is the fee 396 

schedule or payment limitation in effect on January 1 of the 397 

year in which at the time the services, supplies, or care is was 398 

rendered and for the area in which such services, supplies, or 399 

care is were rendered, and the applicable fee schedule or 400 

payment limitation applies throughout the remainder of that 401 

year, notwithstanding any subsequent change made to the fee 402 

schedule or payment limitation, except that it may not be less 403 

than the allowable amount under the applicable participating 404 

physicians schedule of Medicare Part B for 2007 for medical 405 

services, supplies, and care subject to Medicare Part B. 406 

3.4. Subparagraph 1. 2. does not allow the insurer to apply 407 

any limitation on the number of treatments or other utilization 408 

limits that apply under Medicare or workers’ compensation. An 409 

insurer that applies the allowable payment limitations of 410 

subparagraph 1. 2. must reimburse a provider who lawfully 411 

provided care or treatment under the scope of his or her 412 

license, regardless of whether such provider is would be 413 

entitled to reimbursement under Medicare due to restrictions or 414 

limitations on the types or discipline of health care providers 415 

who may be reimbursed for particular procedures or procedure 416 

codes. However, subparagraph 1. does not prohibit an insurer 417 

from using the Medicare coding policies and payment 418 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì616172"Î616172 

 

Page 16 of 34 

2/28/2012 3:10:47 PM 576-04195C-12 

methodologies of the federal Centers for Medicare and Medicaid 419 

Services, including applicable modifiers, to determine the 420 

appropriate amount of reimbursement for medical services, 421 

supplies, or care if the coding policy or payment methodology 422 

does not constitute a utilization limit. 423 

4.5. If an insurer limits payment as authorized by 424 

subparagraph 1. 2., the person providing such services, 425 

supplies, or care may not bill or attempt to collect from the 426 

insured any amount in excess of such limits, except for amounts 427 

that are not covered by the insured’s personal injury protection 428 

coverage due to the coinsurance amount or maximum policy limits. 429 

5. Effective July 1, 2012, an insurer may limit payment as 430 

authorized by this paragraph only if the insurance policy 431 

includes a notice at the time of issuance or renewal that the 432 

insurer may limit payment pursuant to the schedule of charges 433 

specified in this paragraph. A policy form approved by the 434 

office satisfies this requirement. If a provider submits a 435 

charge for an amount less than the amount allowed under 436 

subparagraph 1., the insurer may pay the amount of the charge 437 

submitted. 438 

(b)1. An insurer or insured is not required to pay a claim 439 

or charges: 440 

a. Made by a broker or by a person making a claim on behalf 441 

of a broker; 442 

b. For any service or treatment that was not lawful at the 443 

time rendered; 444 

c. To any person who knowingly submits a false or 445 

misleading statement relating to the claim or charges; 446 

d. With respect to a bill or statement that does not 447 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì616172"Î616172 

 

Page 17 of 34 

2/28/2012 3:10:47 PM 576-04195C-12 

substantially meet the applicable requirements of paragraph (d); 448 

e. For any treatment or service that is upcoded, or that is 449 

unbundled when such treatment or services should be bundled, in 450 

accordance with paragraph (d). To facilitate prompt payment of 451 

lawful services, an insurer may change codes that it determines 452 

to have been improperly or incorrectly upcoded or unbundled, and 453 

may make payment based on the changed codes, without affecting 454 

the right of the provider to dispute the change by the insurer, 455 

if, provided that before doing so, the insurer contacts must 456 

contact the health care provider and discusses discuss the 457 

reasons for the insurer’s change and the health care provider’s 458 

reason for the coding, or makes make a reasonable good faith 459 

effort to do so, as documented in the insurer’s file; and 460 

f. For medical services or treatment billed by a physician 461 

and not provided in a hospital unless such services are rendered 462 

by the physician or are incident to his or her professional 463 

services and are included on the physician’s bill, including 464 

documentation verifying that the physician is responsible for 465 

the medical services that were rendered and billed. 466 

2. The Department of Health, in consultation with the 467 

appropriate professional licensing boards, shall adopt, by rule, 468 

a list of diagnostic tests deemed not to be medically necessary 469 

for use in the treatment of persons sustaining bodily injury 470 

covered by personal injury protection benefits under this 471 

section. The initial list shall be adopted by January 1, 2004, 472 

and shall be revised from time to time as determined by the 473 

Department of Health, in consultation with the respective 474 

professional licensing boards. Inclusion of a test on the list 475 

of invalid diagnostic tests shall be based on lack of 476 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì616172"Î616172 

 

Page 18 of 34 

2/28/2012 3:10:47 PM 576-04195C-12 

demonstrated medical value and a level of general acceptance by 477 

the relevant provider community and may shall not be dependent 478 

for results entirely upon subjective patient response. 479 

Notwithstanding its inclusion on a fee schedule in this 480 

subsection, an insurer or insured is not required to pay any 481 

charges or reimburse claims for an any invalid diagnostic test 482 

as determined by the Department of Health. 483 

(c)1. With respect to any treatment or service, other than 484 

medical services billed by a hospital or other provider for 485 

emergency services and care as defined in s. 395.002 or 486 

inpatient services rendered at a hospital-owned facility, the 487 

statement of charges must be furnished to the insurer by the 488 

provider and may not include, and the insurer is not required to 489 

pay, charges for treatment or services rendered more than 35 490 

days before the postmark date or electronic transmission date of 491 

the statement, except for past due amounts previously billed on 492 

a timely basis under this paragraph, and except that, if the 493 

provider submits to the insurer a notice of initiation of 494 

treatment within 21 days after its first examination or 495 

treatment of the claimant, the statement may include charges for 496 

treatment or services rendered up to, but not more than, 75 days 497 

before the postmark date of the statement. The injured party is 498 

not liable for, and the provider may shall not bill the injured 499 

party for, charges that are unpaid because of the provider’s 500 

failure to comply with this paragraph. Any agreement requiring 501 

the injured person or insured to pay for such charges is 502 

unenforceable. 503 

1.2. If, however, the insured fails to furnish the provider 504 

with the correct name and address of the insured’s personal 505 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì616172"Î616172 

 

Page 19 of 34 

2/28/2012 3:10:47 PM 576-04195C-12 

injury protection insurer, the provider has 35 days from the 506 

date the provider obtains the correct information to furnish the 507 

insurer with a statement of the charges. The insurer is not 508 

required to pay for such charges unless the provider includes 509 

with the statement documentary evidence that was provided by the 510 

insured during the 35-day period demonstrating that the provider 511 

reasonably relied on erroneous information from the insured and 512 

either: 513 

a. A denial letter from the incorrect insurer; or 514 

b. Proof of mailing, which may include an affidavit under 515 

penalty of perjury, reflecting timely mailing to the incorrect 516 

address or insurer. 517 

2.3. For emergency services and care as defined in s. 518 

395.002 rendered in a hospital emergency department or for 519 

transport and treatment rendered by an ambulance provider 520 

licensed pursuant to part III of chapter 401, the provider is 521 

not required to furnish the statement of charges within the time 522 

periods established by this paragraph,; and the insurer is shall 523 

not be considered to have been furnished with notice of the 524 

amount of covered loss for purposes of paragraph (4)(b) until it 525 

receives a statement complying with paragraph (d), or copy 526 

thereof, which specifically identifies the place of service to 527 

be a hospital emergency department or an ambulance in accordance 528 

with billing standards recognized by the federal Centers for 529 

Medicare and Medicaid Services Health Care Finance 530 

Administration. 531 

3.4. Each notice of the insured’s rights under s. 627.7401 532 

must include the following statement in at least 12-point type 533 

in type no smaller than 12 points: 534 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì616172"Î616172 

 

Page 20 of 34 

2/28/2012 3:10:47 PM 576-04195C-12 

 535 

BILLING REQUIREMENTS.—Florida law provides 536 

Statutes provide that with respect to any treatment or 537 

services, other than certain hospital and emergency 538 

services, the statement of charges furnished to the 539 

insurer by the provider may not include, and the 540 

insurer and the injured party are not required to pay, 541 

charges for treatment or services rendered more than 542 

35 days before the postmark date of the statement, 543 

except for past due amounts previously billed on a 544 

timely basis, and except that, if the provider submits 545 

to the insurer a notice of initiation of treatment 546 

within 21 days after its first examination or 547 

treatment of the claimant, the statement may include 548 

charges for treatment or services rendered up to, but 549 

not more than, 75 days before the postmark date of the 550 

statement. 551 

 552 

(d) All statements and bills for medical services rendered 553 

by a any physician, hospital, clinic, or other person or 554 

institution shall be submitted to the insurer on a properly 555 

completed Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services (CMS) 1500 556 

form, UB 92 forms, or any other standard form approved by the 557 

office or adopted by the commission for purposes of this 558 

paragraph. All billings for such services rendered by providers 559 

must shall, to the extent applicable, follow the Physicians’ 560 

Current Procedural Terminology (CPT) or Healthcare Correct 561 

Procedural Coding System (HCPCS), or ICD-9 in effect for the 562 

year in which services are rendered and comply with the Centers 563 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì616172"Î616172 

 

Page 21 of 34 

2/28/2012 3:10:47 PM 576-04195C-12 

for Medicare and Medicaid Services (CMS) 1500 form instructions, 564 

and the American Medical Association Current Procedural 565 

Terminology (CPT) Editorial Panel, and the Healthcare Correct 566 

Procedural Coding System (HCPCS). All providers, other than 567 

hospitals, must shall include on the applicable claim form the 568 

professional license number of the provider in the line or space 569 

provided for “Signature of Physician or Supplier, Including 570 

Degrees or Credentials.” In determining compliance with 571 

applicable CPT and HCPCS coding, guidance shall be provided by 572 

the Physicians’ Current Procedural Terminology (CPT) or the 573 

Healthcare Correct Procedural Coding System (HCPCS) in effect 574 

for the year in which services were rendered, the Office of the 575 

Inspector General (OIG), Physicians Compliance Guidelines, and 576 

other authoritative treatises designated by rule by the Agency 577 

for Health Care Administration. A No statement of medical 578 

services may not include charges for medical services of a 579 

person or entity that performed such services without possessing 580 

the valid licenses required to perform such services. For 581 

purposes of paragraph (4)(b), an insurer is shall not be 582 

considered to have been furnished with notice of the amount of 583 

covered loss or medical bills due unless the statements or bills 584 

comply with this paragraph, and unless the statements or bills 585 

are properly completed in their entirety as to all material 586 

provisions, with all relevant information being provided 587 

therein. 588 

(e)1. At the initial treatment or service provided, each 589 

physician, other licensed professional, clinic, or other medical 590 

institution providing medical services upon which a claim for 591 

personal injury protection benefits is based shall require an 592 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì616172"Î616172 

 

Page 22 of 34 

2/28/2012 3:10:47 PM 576-04195C-12 

insured person, or his or her guardian, to execute a disclosure 593 

and acknowledgment form, which reflects at a minimum that: 594 

a. The insured, or his or her guardian, must countersign 595 

the form attesting to the fact that the services set forth 596 

therein were actually rendered; 597 

b. The insured, or his or her guardian, has both the right 598 

and affirmative duty to confirm that the services were actually 599 

rendered; 600 

c. The insured, or his or her guardian, was not solicited 601 

by any person to seek any services from the medical provider; 602 

d. The physician, other licensed professional, clinic, or 603 

other medical institution rendering services for which payment 604 

is being claimed explained the services to the insured or his or 605 

her guardian; and 606 

e. If the insured notifies the insurer in writing of a 607 

billing error, the insured may be entitled to a certain 608 

percentage of a reduction in the amounts paid by the insured’s 609 

motor vehicle insurer. 610 

2. The physician, other licensed professional, clinic, or 611 

other medical institution rendering services for which payment 612 

is being claimed has the affirmative duty to explain the 613 

services rendered to the insured, or his or her guardian, so 614 

that the insured, or his or her guardian, countersigns the form 615 

with informed consent. 616 

3. Countersignature by the insured, or his or her guardian, 617 

is not required for the reading of diagnostic tests or other 618 

services that are of such a nature that they are not required to 619 

be performed in the presence of the insured. 620 

4. The licensed medical professional rendering treatment 621 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì616172"Î616172 

 

Page 23 of 34 

2/28/2012 3:10:47 PM 576-04195C-12 

for which payment is being claimed must sign, by his or her own 622 

hand, the form complying with this paragraph. 623 

5. The original completed disclosure and acknowledgment 624 

form shall be furnished to the insurer pursuant to paragraph 625 

(4)(b) and may not be electronically furnished. 626 

6. The This disclosure and acknowledgment form is not 627 

required for services billed by a provider for emergency 628 

services as defined in s. 395.002, for emergency services and 629 

care as defined in s. 395.002 rendered in a hospital emergency 630 

department, or for transport and treatment rendered by an 631 

ambulance provider licensed pursuant to part III of chapter 401. 632 

7. The Financial Services Commission shall adopt, by rule, 633 

a standard disclosure and acknowledgment form to that shall be 634 

used to fulfill the requirements of this paragraph, effective 90 635 

days after such form is adopted and becomes final. The 636 

commission shall adopt a proposed rule by October 1, 2003. Until 637 

the rule is final, the provider may use a form of its own which 638 

otherwise complies with the requirements of this paragraph. 639 

8. As used in this paragraph, the term “countersign” or 640 

“countersignature” “countersigned” means a second or verifying 641 

signature, as on a previously signed document, and is not 642 

satisfied by the statement “signature on file” or any similar 643 

statement. 644 

9. The requirements of this paragraph apply only with 645 

respect to the initial treatment or service of the insured by a 646 

provider. For subsequent treatments or service, the provider 647 

must maintain a patient log signed by the patient, in 648 

chronological order by date of service, which that is consistent 649 

with the services being rendered to the patient as claimed. The 650 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì616172"Î616172 

 

Page 24 of 34 

2/28/2012 3:10:47 PM 576-04195C-12 

requirement to maintain requirements of this subparagraph for 651 

maintaining a patient log signed by the patient may be met by a 652 

hospital that maintains medical records as required by s. 653 

395.3025 and applicable rules and makes such records available 654 

to the insurer upon request. 655 

(f) Upon written notification by any person, an insurer 656 

shall investigate any claim of improper billing by a physician 657 

or other medical provider. The insurer shall determine if the 658 

insured was properly billed for only those services and 659 

treatments that the insured actually received. If the insurer 660 

determines that the insured has been improperly billed, the 661 

insurer shall notify the insured, the person making the written 662 

notification, and the provider of its findings and shall reduce 663 

the amount of payment to the provider by the amount determined 664 

to be improperly billed. If a reduction is made due to a such 665 

written notification by any person, the insurer shall pay to the 666 

person 20 percent of the amount of the reduction, up to $500. If 667 

the provider is arrested due to the improper billing, then the 668 

insurer shall pay to the person 40 percent of the amount of the 669 

reduction, up to $500. 670 

(g) An insurer may not systematically downcode with the 671 

intent to deny reimbursement otherwise due. Such action 672 

constitutes a material misrepresentation under s. 673 

626.9541(1)(i)2. 674 

(h) As provided in s. 400.9905, an entity excluded from the 675 

definition of a clinic shall be deemed a clinic and must be 676 

licensed under part X of chapter 400 in order to receive 677 

reimbursement under ss. 627.730-627.7405. However, this 678 

licensing requirement does not apply to: 679 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì616172"Î616172 

 

Page 25 of 34 

2/28/2012 3:10:47 PM 576-04195C-12 

1. An entity wholly owned by a physician licensed under 680 

chapter 458 or chapter 459, or by the physician and the spouse, 681 

parent, child, or sibling of the physician; 682 

2. An entity wholly owned by a dentist licensed under 683 

chapter 466, or by the dentist and the spouse, parent, child, or 684 

sibling of the dentist; 685 

3. An entity wholly owned by a chiropractic physician 686 

licensed under chapter 460, or by the chiropractic physician and 687 

the spouse, parent, child, or sibling of the chiropractic 688 

physician; 689 

4. A hospital or ambulatory surgical center licensed under 690 

chapter 395; or 691 

5. An entity that wholly owns or is wholly owned, directly 692 

or indirectly, by a hospital or hospitals licensed under chapter 693 

395. 694 

(6) DISCOVERY OF FACTS ABOUT AN INJURED PERSON; DISPUTES.— 695 

(a) Every employer shall, If a request is made by an 696 

insurer providing personal injury protection benefits under ss. 697 

627.730-627.7405 against whom a claim has been made, an employer 698 

must furnish forthwith, in a form approved by the office, a 699 

sworn statement of the earnings, since the time of the bodily 700 

injury and for a reasonable period before the injury, of the 701 

person upon whose injury the claim is based. 702 

(b) Every physician, hospital, clinic, or other medical 703 

institution providing, before or after bodily injury upon which 704 

a claim for personal injury protection insurance benefits is 705 

based, any products, services, or accommodations in relation to 706 

that or any other injury, or in relation to a condition claimed 707 

to be connected with that or any other injury, shall, if 708 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì616172"Î616172 

 

Page 26 of 34 

2/28/2012 3:10:47 PM 576-04195C-12 

requested to do so by the insurer against whom the claim has 709 

been made, furnish forthwith a written report of the history, 710 

condition, treatment, dates, and costs of such treatment of the 711 

injured person and why the items identified by the insurer were 712 

reasonable in amount and medically necessary, together with a 713 

sworn statement that the treatment or services rendered were 714 

reasonable and necessary with respect to the bodily injury 715 

sustained and identifying which portion of the expenses for such 716 

treatment or services was incurred as a result of such bodily 717 

injury, and produce forthwith, and allow permit the inspection 718 

and copying of, his or her or its records regarding such 719 

history, condition, treatment, dates, and costs of treatment if; 720 

provided that this does shall not limit the introduction of 721 

evidence at trial. Such sworn statement must shall read as 722 

follows: “Under penalty of perjury, I declare that I have read 723 

the foregoing, and the facts alleged are true, to the best of my 724 

knowledge and belief.” A No cause of action for violation of the 725 

physician-patient privilege or invasion of the right of privacy 726 

may not be brought shall be permitted against any physician, 727 

hospital, clinic, or other medical institution complying with 728 

the provisions of this section. The person requesting such 729 

records and such sworn statement shall pay all reasonable costs 730 

connected therewith. If an insurer makes a written request for 731 

documentation or information under this paragraph within 30 days 732 

after having received notice of the amount of a covered loss 733 

under paragraph (4)(a), the amount or the partial amount that 734 

which is the subject of the insurer’s inquiry is shall become 735 

overdue if the insurer does not pay in accordance with paragraph 736 

(4)(b) or within 10 days after the insurer’s receipt of the 737 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì616172"Î616172 

 

Page 27 of 34 

2/28/2012 3:10:47 PM 576-04195C-12 

requested documentation or information, whichever occurs later. 738 

As used in For purposes of this paragraph, the term “receipt” 739 

includes, but is not limited to, inspection and copying pursuant 740 

to this paragraph. An Any insurer that requests documentation or 741 

information pertaining to reasonableness of charges or medical 742 

necessity under this paragraph without a reasonable basis for 743 

such requests as a general business practice is engaging in an 744 

unfair trade practice under the insurance code. 745 

(c) In the event of a any dispute regarding an insurer’s 746 

right to discovery of facts under this section, the insurer may 747 

petition a court of competent jurisdiction to enter an order 748 

permitting such discovery. The order may be made only on motion 749 

for good cause shown and upon notice to all persons having an 750 

interest, and must it shall specify the time, place, manner, 751 

conditions, and scope of the discovery. Such court may, In order 752 

to protect against annoyance, embarrassment, or oppression, as 753 

justice requires, the court may enter an order refusing 754 

discovery or specifying conditions of discovery and may order 755 

payments of costs and expenses of the proceeding, including 756 

reasonable fees for the appearance of attorneys at the 757 

proceedings, as justice requires. 758 

(d) The injured person shall be furnished, upon request, a 759 

copy of all information obtained by the insurer under the 760 

provisions of this section, and shall pay a reasonable charge, 761 

if required by the insurer. 762 

(e) Notice to an insurer of the existence of a claim may 763 

shall not be unreasonably withheld by an insured. 764 

(f) In a dispute between the insured and the insurer, or 765 

between an assignee of the insured’s rights and the insurer, the 766 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì616172"Î616172 

 

Page 28 of 34 

2/28/2012 3:10:47 PM 576-04195C-12 

insurer must notify the insured or the assignee that the policy 767 

limits under this section have been reached within 15 days after 768 

the limits have been reached. 769 

(8) APPLICABILITY OF PROVISION REGULATING ATTORNEY 770 

ATTORNEY’S FEES.—With respect to any dispute under the 771 

provisions of ss. 627.730-627.7405 between the insured and the 772 

insurer, or between an assignee of an insured’s rights and the 773 

insurer, the provisions of ss. s. 627.428 and 768.79 shall 774 

apply, except as provided in subsections (10) and (15). 775 

(9) PREFERRED PROVIDERS.—An insurer may negotiate and 776 

contract enter into contracts with preferred licensed health 777 

care providers for the benefits described in this section, 778 

referred to in this section as “preferred providers,” which 779 

shall include health care providers licensed under chapter 780 

chapters 458, chapter 459, chapter 460, chapter 461, or chapter 781 

and 463. The insurer may provide an option to an insured to use 782 

a preferred provider at the time of purchasing purchase of the 783 

policy for personal injury protection benefits, if the 784 

requirements of this subsection are met. If the insured elects 785 

to use a provider who is not a preferred provider, whether the 786 

insured purchased a preferred provider policy or a nonpreferred 787 

provider policy, the medical benefits provided by the insurer 788 

shall be as required by this section. If the insured elects to 789 

use a provider who is a preferred provider, the insurer may pay 790 

medical benefits in excess of the benefits required by this 791 

section and may waive or lower the amount of any deductible that 792 

applies to such medical benefits. If the insurer offers a 793 

preferred provider policy to a policyholder or applicant, it 794 

must also offer a nonpreferred provider policy. The insurer 795 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì616172"Î616172 

 

Page 29 of 34 

2/28/2012 3:10:47 PM 576-04195C-12 

shall provide each insured policyholder with a current roster of 796 

preferred providers in the county in which the insured resides 797 

at the time of purchase of such policy, and shall make such list 798 

available for public inspection during regular business hours at 799 

the insurer’s principal office of the insurer within the state. 800 

(10) DEMAND LETTER.— 801 

(a) As a condition precedent to filing any action for 802 

benefits under this section, the insurer must be provided with 803 

written notice of an intent to initiate litigation must be 804 

provided to the insurer. Such notice may not be sent until the 805 

claim is overdue, including any additional time the insurer has 806 

to pay the claim pursuant to paragraph (4)(b). 807 

(b) The notice must required shall state that it is a 808 

“demand letter under s. 627.736(10)” and shall state with 809 

specificity: 810 

1. The name of the insured upon which such benefits are 811 

being sought, including a copy of the assignment giving rights 812 

to the claimant if the claimant is not the insured. 813 

2. The claim number or policy number upon which such claim 814 

was originally submitted to the insurer. 815 

3. To the extent applicable, the name of any medical 816 

provider who rendered to an insured the treatment, services, 817 

accommodations, or supplies that form the basis of such claim; 818 

and an itemized statement specifying each exact amount, the date 819 

of treatment, service, or accommodation, and the type of benefit 820 

claimed to be due. A completed form satisfying the requirements 821 

of paragraph (5)(d) or the lost-wage statement previously 822 

submitted may be used as the itemized statement. To the extent 823 

that the demand involves an insurer’s withdrawal of payment 824 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì616172"Î616172 

 

Page 30 of 34 

2/28/2012 3:10:47 PM 576-04195C-12 

under paragraph (7)(a) for future treatment not yet rendered, 825 

the claimant shall attach a copy of the insurer’s notice 826 

withdrawing such payment and an itemized statement of the type, 827 

frequency, and duration of future treatment claimed to be 828 

reasonable and medically necessary. 829 

(c) Each notice required by this subsection must be 830 

delivered to the insurer by United States certified or 831 

registered mail, return receipt requested. Such postal costs 832 

shall be reimbursed by the insurer if so requested by the 833 

claimant in the notice, when the insurer pays the claim. Such 834 

notice must be sent to the person and address specified by the 835 

insurer for the purposes of receiving notices under this 836 

subsection. Each licensed insurer, whether domestic, foreign, or 837 

alien, shall file with the office designation of the name and 838 

address of the person to whom notices must pursuant to this 839 

subsection shall be sent which the office shall make available 840 

on its Internet website. The name and address on file with the 841 

office pursuant to s. 624.422 are shall be deemed the authorized 842 

representative to accept notice pursuant to this subsection if 843 

in the event no other designation has been made. 844 

(d) If, within 30 days after receipt of notice by the 845 

insurer, the overdue claim specified in the notice is paid by 846 

the insurer together with applicable interest and a penalty of 847 

10 percent of the overdue amount paid by the insurer, subject to 848 

a maximum penalty of $250, no action may be brought against the 849 

insurer. If the demand involves an insurer’s withdrawal of 850 

payment under paragraph (7)(a) for future treatment not yet 851 

rendered, no action may be brought against the insurer if, 852 

within 30 days after its receipt of the notice, the insurer 853 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì616172"Î616172 

 

Page 31 of 34 

2/28/2012 3:10:47 PM 576-04195C-12 

mails to the person filing the notice a written statement of the 854 

insurer’s agreement to pay for such treatment in accordance with 855 

the notice and to pay a penalty of 10 percent, subject to a 856 

maximum penalty of $250, when it pays for such future treatment 857 

in accordance with the requirements of this section. To the 858 

extent the insurer determines not to pay any amount demanded, 859 

the penalty is shall not be payable in any subsequent action. 860 

For purposes of this subsection, payment or the insurer’s 861 

agreement shall be treated as being made on the date a draft or 862 

other valid instrument that is equivalent to payment, or the 863 

insurer’s written statement of agreement, is placed in the 864 

United States mail in a properly addressed, postpaid envelope, 865 

or if not so posted, on the date of delivery. The insurer is not 866 

obligated to pay any attorney attorney’s fees if the insurer 867 

pays the claim or mails its agreement to pay for future 868 

treatment within the time prescribed by this subsection. 869 

(e) The applicable statute of limitation for an action 870 

under this section shall be tolled for a period of 30 business 871 

days by the mailing of the notice required by this subsection. 872 

(f) Any insurer making a general business practice of not 873 

paying valid claims until receipt of the notice required by this 874 

subsection is engaging in an unfair trade practice under the 875 

insurance code. 876 

(11) FAILURE TO PAY VALID CLAIMS; UNFAIR OR DECEPTIVE 877 

PRACTICE.— 878 

(a) If An insurer fails to pay valid claims for personal 879 

injury protection with such frequency so as to indicate a 880 

general business practice, the insurer is engaging in a 881 

prohibited unfair or deceptive practice that is subject to the 882 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì616172"Î616172 

 

Page 32 of 34 

2/28/2012 3:10:47 PM 576-04195C-12 

penalties provided in s. 626.9521 and the office has the powers 883 

and duties specified in ss. 626.9561-626.9601 if the insurer, 884 

with such frequency so as to indicate a general business 885 

practice: with respect thereto 886 

1. Fails to pay valid claims for personal injury 887 

protection; or 888 

2. Fails to pay valid claims until receipt of the notice 889 

required by subsection (10). 890 

(b) Notwithstanding s. 501.212, the Department of Legal 891 

Affairs may investigate and initiate actions for a violation of 892 

this subsection, including, but not limited to, the powers and 893 

duties specified in part II of chapter 501. 894 

Section 8. Effective December 1, 2012, subsection (16) of 895 

section 627.736, Florida Statutes, is amended to read: 896 

627.736 Required personal injury protection benefits; 897 

exclusions; priority; claims.— 898 

(16) SECURE ELECTRONIC DATA TRANSFER.—If all parties 899 

mutually and expressly agree, A notice, documentation, 900 

transmission, or communication of any kind required or 901 

authorized under ss. 627.730-627.7405 may be transmitted 902 

electronically if it is transmitted by secure electronic data 903 

transfer that is consistent with state and federal privacy and 904 

security laws. 905 

Section 9. Subsection (9) is added to section 627.7407, 906 

Florida Statutes, to read: 907 

627.7407 Application of the Florida Motor Vehicle No-Fault 908 

Law.— 909 

(9) All forms and rates for policies that are issued or 910 

renewed on or after July 1, 2012, for purposes of maintaining 911 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì616172"Î616172 

 

Page 33 of 34 

2/28/2012 3:10:47 PM 576-04195C-12 

security as required by s. 627.733 must reflect the reforms to 912 

the Florida Motor Vehicle No-Fault Law made by this act and must 913 

be approved by the office before their use. 914 

 915 

================= T I T L E  A M E N D M E N T ================ 916 

And the title is amended as follows: 917 

Delete lines 46 - 80 918 

and insert: 919 

627.736, F.S.; revising the cap on benefits to provide 920 

that death benefits are in addition to medical and 921 

disability benefits; revising medical benefits; 922 

excluding massage and acupuncture from medical 923 

benefits that may be reimbursed under the motor 924 

vehicle no-fault law; requiring that an insurer repay 925 

any benefits covered by the Medicaid program; 926 

requiring that an insurer provide a claimant an 927 

opportunity to revise claims that contain errors; 928 

authorizing an insurer to provide notice to the 929 

claimant and conduct an investigation if fraud is 930 

suspected; requiring that an insurer create and 931 

maintain a log of personal injury protection benefits 932 

paid and that the insurer provide to the insured or an 933 

assignee of the insured, upon request, a copy of the 934 

log; revising the Medicare fee schedules that an 935 

insurer may use as a basis for limiting reimbursement 936 

of personal injury protection benefits; providing that 937 

the Medicare fee schedule in effect on a specific date 938 

applies for purposes of limiting such reimbursement; 939 

authorizing insurers to apply certain Medicare coding 940 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì616172"Î616172 

 

Page 34 of 34 

2/28/2012 3:10:47 PM 576-04195C-12 

policies and payment methodologies; requiring that an 941 

insurer that limits payments based on the statutory 942 

fee schedule include a notice in insurance policies at 943 

the time of issuance or renewal; deleting obsolete 944 

provisions; providing that certain entities exempt 945 

from licensure as a clinic must nonetheless be 946 

licensed to receive reimbursement for the provision of 947 

personal injury protection benefits; providing 948 

exceptions; requiring that an insurer notify parties 949 

in disputes over personal injury protection claims 950 

when policy limits are reached; consolidating 951 

provisions relating to unfair or deceptive practices 952 

under certain conditions; eliminating a requirement 953 

that all parties mutually and expressly agree for the 954 

use of electronic transmission of data; amending s. 955 

627.7407, F.S.; requiring all forms and rates for 956 

policies applicable to the no-fault law to reflect 957 

changes made by the act; amending s. 958 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì8849223Î884922 

 

Page 1 of 1 

2/29/2012 11:23:55 AM 576-04311-12 

LEGISLATIVE ACTION 

Senate 

Comm: WD 

02/29/2012 

 

 

 

. 

. 

. 

. 

. 

. 

House 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The Committee on Budget (Negron) recommended the following: 

 

Senate Amendment to Amendment (616172)  1 

 2 

Delete line 32 3 

and insert: 4 

chapter 459, by a chiropractic physician licensed under chapter 5 

460, by a dentist licensed under chapter 466, or, to the 6 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì930134vÎ930134 

 

Page 1 of 1 

2/28/2012 4:39:25 PM 576-04242-12 

LEGISLATIVE ACTION 

Senate 

Comm: UNFAV 

02/29/2012 

 

 

 

. 

. 

. 

. 

. 

. 

House 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The Committee on Budget (Bennett) recommended the following: 

 

Senate Amendment to Amendment (616172)  1 

 2 

Delete lines 51 - 53 3 

and insert: 4 

physician assistant licensed under chapter 458 or chapter 459, 5 

an advanced registered nurse practitioner licensed under chapter 6 

464, or a massage therapist licensed under chapter 480. Followup 7 

services and care may also be provided by any of 8 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì588602&Î588602 

 

Page 1 of 3 

2/29/2012 12:48:55 PM 576-04309-12 

LEGISLATIVE ACTION 

Senate 

Comm: FAV 

02/29/2012 

 

 

 

. 

. 

. 

. 

. 

. 

House 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The Committee on Budget (Bennett) recommended the following: 

 

Senate Amendment to Amendment (616172) (with title 1 

amendment) 2 

 3 

Delete lines 93 - 104 4 

and insert: 5 

3. Reimbursement for services provided by each type of 6 

licensed medical provider authorized to render such services 7 

under subparagraph 2. is limited to the lesser of 24 treatments 8 

or to services rendered within 24 weeks after the date of the 9 

initial treatment, whichever comes first, unless the insurer 10 

authorizes additional services. 11 

4. Medical benefits include massage as defined in s. 12 

480.033 or acupuncture as defined in s. 457.102. However, 13 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì588602&Î588602 

 

Page 2 of 3 

2/29/2012 12:48:55 PM 576-04309-12 

massage and acupuncture services may not be reimbursed under 14 

this section unless such services are rendered by a licensed 15 

massage therapist or licensed acupuncturist who is under the 16 

direct supervision of a physician licensed under chapter 458 or 17 

chapter 459, or a chiropractic physician licensed under chapter 18 

460. 19 

 20 

Delete line 420 21 

and insert: 22 

Services, relating to applicable modifiers, to determine the 23 

 24 

Delete lines 680 - 694 25 

and insert: 26 

1. An entity wholly owned by a physician licensed under 27 

chapter 458 or chapter 459, by a chiropractic physician licensed 28 

under chapter 460, or by the physician or chiropractic physician 29 

and the spouse, parent, child, or sibling of the physician or 30 

chiropractic physician; 31 

2. An entity wholly owned by a dentist licensed under 32 

chapter 466, or by the dentist and the spouse, parent, child, or 33 

sibling of the dentist; 34 

3. A hospital or ambulatory surgical center licensed under 35 

chapter 395; or 36 

4. An entity that wholly owns or is wholly owned, directly 37 

or indirectly, by a hospital or hospitals licensed under chapter 38 

395. 39 

 40 

================= T I T L E  A M E N D M E N T ================ 41 

And the title is amended as follows: 42 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì588602&Î588602 

 

Page 3 of 3 

2/29/2012 12:48:55 PM 576-04309-12 

Delete lines 923 - 925 43 

and insert: 44 

providing that massage and acupuncture services that 45 

are rendered by specified licensees, under certain 46 

circumstances, may be reimbursed under the motor 47 

vehicle no-fault law; requiring that an insurer repay 48 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì283150tÎ283150 

 

Page 1 of 2 

2/28/2012 4:50:40 PM 576-04247-12 

LEGISLATIVE ACTION 

Senate 

Comm: UNFAV 

02/29/2012 

 

 

 

. 

. 

. 

. 

. 

. 

House 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The Committee on Budget (Bogdanoff) recommended the following: 

 

Senate Amendment to Amendment (616172) (with title 1 

amendment) 2 

 3 

Delete lines 99 - 104 4 

and insert: 5 

4. Medical benefits do not include massage as defined in s. 6 

480.033, regardless of the person, entity, or licensee providing 7 

massage, and a licensed massage therapist may not be reimbursed 8 

for medical benefits under this section. Reimbursement for 9 

acupuncture services is limited to the lesser of 15 treatments 10 

or the number of treatments rendered within 15 weeks after the 11 

date of the initial acupuncture treatment unless the insurer 12 

authorizes additional acupuncture services, regardless of the 13 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì283150tÎ283150 

 

Page 2 of 2 

2/28/2012 4:50:40 PM 576-04247-12 

person, entity, or licensee providing the acupuncture services. 14 

However, The medical benefits shall provide 15 

 16 

================= T I T L E  A M E N D M E N T ================ 17 

And the title is amended as follows: 18 

Delete lines 923 - 925 19 

and insert: 20 

excluding massage from medical benefits that may be 21 

reimbursed under the motor vehicle no-fault law; 22 

limiting the number of acupuncture services; requiring 23 

that an insurer repay 24 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì380020YÎ380020 

 

Page 1 of 2 

2/28/2012 4:42:00 PM 576-04239-12 

LEGISLATIVE ACTION 

Senate 

Comm: FAV 

02/29/2012 

 

 

 

. 

. 

. 

. 

. 

. 

House 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The Committee on Budget (Bennett) recommended the following: 

 

Senate Amendment to Amendment (616172) (with title 1 

amendment) 2 

 3 

Delete lines 99 - 104 4 

and insert: 5 

4. Medical benefits do not include acupuncture as defined 6 

in s. 457.102. Medical benefits do not include massage as 7 

defined in s. 480.033 unless prescribed by a physician in a 8 

prescription that includes the diagnosis, the frequency of 9 

treatment, the modalities of treatment, and a statement of 10 

medical necessity for the massage and any modalities. Massage 11 

therapy is covered only if it is a component of a medically 12 

necessary treatment plan, and is not covered in the absence of 13 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì380020YÎ380020 

 

Page 2 of 2 

2/28/2012 4:42:00 PM 576-04239-12 

treatment or other therapeutic modalities performed by the 14 

prescribing physician. 15 

 16 

================= T I T L E  A M E N D M E N T ================ 17 

And the title is amended as follows: 18 

Delete lines 923 - 925 19 

and insert: 20 

excluding acupuncture from medical benefits that may 21 

be reimbursed under the motor vehicle no-fault law; 22 

specifying the conditions under which massage may be 23 

reimbursed; requiring that an insurer repay 24 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì7348345Î734834 

 

Page 1 of 1 

2/29/2012 1:02:08 PM 576-04331-12 

LEGISLATIVE ACTION 

Senate 

Comm: FAV 

02/29/2012 

 

 

 

. 

. 

. 

. 

. 

. 

House 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The Committee on Budget (Altman) recommended the following: 

 

Senate Amendment to Amendment (616172)  1 

 2 

Delete lines 691 - 694 3 

and insert: 4 

chapter 395; 5 

5. An entity that wholly owns or is wholly owned, directly 6 

or indirectly, by a hospital; or 7 

6. Clinical facilities affiliated with an accredited 8 

medical school at which training is provided for medical 9 

students, residents, or fellows. 10 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì233818;Î233818 

 

Page 1 of 2 

2/29/2012 10:06:05 AM 576-04302-12 

LEGISLATIVE ACTION 

Senate 

Comm: FAV 

02/29/2012 

 

 

 

. 

. 

. 

. 

. 

. 

House 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The Committee on Budget (Margolis) recommended the following: 

 

Senate Amendment to Substitute Amendment (616172) (with 1 

directory and title amendments) 2 

 3 

Between lines 894 and 895 4 

insert: 5 

(17) REFERRAL FEES.—A person, entity, or licensee may not 6 

accept a fee for the referral of the insured to a person, 7 

entity, or licensee for medical benefits under paragraph (1)(a) 8 

unless the person, entity, or licensee making the referral 9 

discloses in writing to the insured and the insurer that he or 10 

she has received a referral fee, the amount of the referral fee, 11 

and the name and business address of the person or entity that 12 

provided the referral fee. Reimbursement under the Florida Motor 13 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì233818;Î233818 

 

Page 2 of 2 

2/29/2012 10:06:05 AM 576-04302-12 

Vehicle No-Fault Law to a person, entity, or licensee who 14 

receives and fails to disclose a referral fee to the insured and 15 

insurer as required by this subsection shall be reduced by the 16 

amount of the undisclosed referral fee. 17 

 18 

====== D I R E C T O R Y  C L A U S E  A M E N D M E N T ====== 19 

And the directory clause is amended as follows: 20 

Delete line 6 21 

and insert: 22 

and (11) of section 627.736, Florida Statutes, are amended, and 23 

subsection (17) is added to that section, to 24 

 25 

================= T I T L E  A M E N D M E N T ================ 26 

And the title is amended as follows: 27 

Delete line 953 28 

and insert: 29 

under certain conditions; requiring that a person, 30 

entity, or licensee that makes a referral for medical 31 

benefits disclose referral fees in writing to the 32 

insured and insurer; eliminating a requirement 33 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì671694IÎ671694 

 

Page 1 of 2 

2/26/2012 1:28:10 PM 576-03989-12 

LEGISLATIVE ACTION 

Senate 

Comm: UNFAV 

02/29/2012 

 

 

 

. 

. 

. 

. 

. 

. 

House 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The Committee on Budget (Bennett) recommended the following: 

 

Senate Amendment (with title amendment) 1 

 2 

Delete lines 536 - 537 3 

and insert: 4 

nursing services. Medical benefits do not include acupuncture as 5 

defined in s. 457.102. Medical benefits do not include massage 6 

as defined in s. 480.033 unless prescribed by a physician and 7 

the prescription includes the diagnosis, the frequency of 8 

treatment, the modalities of treatment, and a statement of 9 

medical necessity for the massage and any modalities. Massage 10 

therapy is covered only if it is a component of a medically 11 

necessary treatment plan, and is not covered in the absence of 12 

treatment or other therapeutic modalities performed by the 13 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì671694IÎ671694 

 

Page 2 of 2 

2/26/2012 1:28:10 PM 576-03989-12 

prescribing physician. 14 

 15 

================= T I T L E  A M E N D M E N T ================ 16 

And the title is amended as follows: 17 

Delete lines 46 - 48 18 

and insert: 19 

627.736, F.S.; excluding acupuncture from medical 20 

benefits that may be reimbursed under the motor 21 

vehicle no-fault law; specifying the conditions under 22 

which massage may be reimbursed; requiring that an 23 

insurer 24 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì835420sÎ835420 

 

Page 1 of 2 

2/27/2012 11:34:01 AM 576-03383-12 

LEGISLATIVE ACTION 

Senate 

Comm: UNFAV 

02/29/2012 

 

 

 

. 

. 

. 

. 

. 

. 

House 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The Committee on Budget (Bogdanoff) recommended the following: 

 

Senate Amendment (with title amendment) 1 

 2 

Delete line 537 3 

and insert: 4 

defined in s. 480.033. Reimbursement for acupuncture services is 5 

limited to the lesser of 15 treatments or the number of 6 

treatments rendered within 15 weeks after the date of the 7 

initial acupuncture treatment, unless the insurer authorizes 8 

additional acupuncture services. 9 

 10 

================= T I T L E  A M E N D M E N T ================ 11 

And the title is amended as follows: 12 

Delete lines 46 - 48 13 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì835420sÎ835420 

 

Page 2 of 2 

2/27/2012 11:34:01 AM 576-03383-12 

and insert: 14 

627.736, F.S.; excluding massage from medical benefits 15 

that may be reimbursed under the motor vehicle no-16 

fault law; providing a limitation on the number of 17 

acupuncture treatments that are reimbursible; 18 

requiring that an insurer 19 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì675780<Î675780 

 

Page 1 of 1 

2/27/2012 9:40:33 PM 576-04146-12 

LEGISLATIVE ACTION 

Senate 

Comm: RCS 

02/29/2012 

 

 

 

. 

. 

. 

. 

. 

. 

House 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The Committee on Budget (Flores) recommended the following: 

 

Senate Amendment  1 

 2 

Delete line 684 3 

and insert: 4 

be considered a timely submission of written notice of a claim. 5 

The insurer has 15 days after receipt of the resubmitted or 6 

revised claim to issue payment. If the claim is not paid, 7 

payment is overdue unless the insurer has reasonable proof 8 

establishing that it is not responsible for payment of the 9 

claim. 10 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì465220mÎ465220 

 

Page 1 of 2 

2/27/2012 2:15:48 PM 576-04081-12 

LEGISLATIVE ACTION 

Senate 

Comm: WD 

02/29/2012 

 

 

 

. 

. 

. 

. 

. 

. 

House 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The Committee on Budget (Negron) recommended the following: 

 

Senate Amendment (with title amendment) 1 

 2 

Delete lines 703 - 729 3 

and insert: 4 

(c) Upon receiving notice of an accident that is 5 

potentially covered by personal injury protection benefits, the 6 

insurer must reserve $5,000 of personal injury protection 7 

benefits for payment to physicians licensed under chapter 458 or 8 

chapter 459 or dentists licensed under chapter 466 who provide 9 

emergency services and care, as defined in s. 395.002(9), or who 10 

provide hospital inpatient care. The amount required to be held 11 

in reserve may be used only to pay claims from such physicians 12 

or dentists until 30 days after the date the insurer receives 13 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì465220mÎ465220 

 

Page 2 of 2 

2/27/2012 2:15:48 PM 576-04081-12 

notice of the accident. After the 30-day period, any amount of 14 

the reserve for which the insurer has not received notice of 15 

such claims a claim from a physician or dentist who provided 16 

emergency services and care or who provided hospital inpatient 17 

care may then be used by the insurer to pay other claims. The 18 

time periods specified in paragraph (b) for required payment of 19 

personal injury protection benefits are shall be tolled for the 20 

period of time that an insurer is required by this paragraph to 21 

hold payment of a claim that is not from such a physician or 22 

dentist who provided emergency services and care or who provided 23 

hospital inpatient care to the extent that the personal injury 24 

protection benefits not held in reserve are insufficient to pay 25 

the claim. This paragraph does not require an insurer to 26 

establish a claim reserve for insurance accounting purposes. 27 

 28 

================= T I T L E  A M E N D M E N T ================ 29 

And the title is amended as follows: 30 

Delete lines 54 - 56 31 

and insert: 32 

requiring that an insurer create and 33 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì731792:Î731792 

 

Page 1 of 2 

2/26/2012 1:29:03 PM 576-03990-12 

LEGISLATIVE ACTION 

Senate 

Comm: UNFAV 

02/29/2012 

 

 

 

. 

. 

. 

. 

. 

. 

House 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The Committee on Budget (Bennett) recommended the following: 

 

Senate Amendment (with title amendment) 1 

 2 

Delete lines 929 - 935 3 

and insert: 4 

effort to do so, as documented in the insurer’s file; and 5 

f. For medical services or treatment billed by a physician 6 

and not provided in a hospital unless such services are rendered 7 

by the physician or are incident to his or her professional 8 

services and are included on the physician’s bill, including 9 

documentation verifying that the physician is responsible for 10 

the medical services that were rendered and billed; and. 11 

g. For massage, as defined in s. 480.033, which exceeds 12 

more than four modalities rendered during one treatment date, 13 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì731792:Î731792 

 

Page 2 of 2 

2/26/2012 1:29:03 PM 576-03990-12 

more than eight treatment dates during 1 month, or more than 32 14 

treatment dates within 4 months of the first massage service and 15 

which is unsupported by medical records documenting the medical 16 

necessity for each treatment or modality. 17 

 18 

================= T I T L E  A M E N D M E N T ================ 19 

And the title is amended as follows: 20 

Delete line 69 21 

and insert: 22 

the time of issuance or renewal; providing a 23 

limitation on the number of reimbursable massage 24 

treatments; deleting obsolete 25 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì626062ÆÎ626062 

 

Page 1 of 1 

2/27/2012 5:56:37 PM 576-04115-12 

LEGISLATIVE ACTION 

Senate 

Comm: WD 

02/29/2012 

 

 

 

. 

. 

. 

. 

. 

. 

House 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The Committee on Budget (Negron) recommended the following: 

 

Senate Amendment  1 

 2 

Delete lines 1161 - 1162 3 

and insert: 4 

5. An entity wholly owned, directly or indirectly, by a 5 

hospital licensed under chapter 395 or an entity that owns a 6 

hospital licensed under chapter 395. 7 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì253974IÎ253974 

 

Page 1 of 2 

2/27/2012 8:35:06 PM 576-04144-12 

 

LEGISLATIVE ACTION 

Senate 

Comm: RCS 

02/29/2012 

 

 

 

. 

. 

. 

. 

. 

. 

House 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The Committee on Budget (Flores) recommended the following: 

 

Senate Amendment (with title amendment) 1 

 2 

Delete line 1275 3 

and insert: 4 

to pay the claim pursuant to paragraph (4)(b). However, the 5 

requirements of this subsection do not apply to physicians 6 

licensed under chapter 458 or chapter 459, dentists licensed 7 

under chapter 466 who provide emergency services or care as 8 

defined in s. 395.002 or hospital inpatient care, hospitals, or 9 

an insured claiming lost wages. 10 

 11 

================= T I T L E  A M E N D M E N T ================ 12 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì253974IÎ253974 

 

Page 2 of 2 

2/27/2012 8:35:06 PM 576-04144-12 

And the title is amended as follows: 13 

Delete line 76 14 

and insert: 15 

when policy limits are reached; providing exceptions; 16 

consolidating 17 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì878070&Î878070 

 

Page 1 of 3 

2/27/2012 9:26:15 PM 576-04145-12 

LEGISLATIVE ACTION 

Senate 

Comm: RCS 

02/29/2012 

 

 

 

. 

. 

. 

. 

. 

. 

House 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The Committee on Budget (Flores) recommended the following: 

 

Senate Amendment (with title amendment) 1 

 2 

Delete lines 1298 - 1338 3 

and insert: 4 

(c) A notice is not deficient merely because there are 5 

calculation errors or payments not taken into account in the 6 

demand letter. In determining compliance with this subsection, 7 

the courts shall adhere to the standard of substantial 8 

compliance and consider the purpose of the notice, which is to 9 

provide notice of the overdue claim and to allow the insurer 10 

time to pay the overdue bills before litigation is initiated. If 11 

a demand is found to be deficient for any reason and suit has 12 

commenced, the insured or the insured’s assignee may abate the 13 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì878070&Î878070 

 

Page 2 of 3 

2/27/2012 9:26:15 PM 576-04145-12 

action to allow for compliance with this section. If the insurer 14 

is asserting that the notice is deficient, the insurer must 15 

respond to the notice by specifying each deficiency that the 16 

insurer is claiming pursuant to the notice. If the insurer fails 17 

to so specify, the insurer waives any deficiencies found in the 18 

notice. 19 

(d)(c) Each notice required by this subsection must be 20 

delivered to the insurer by United States certified or 21 

registered mail, return receipt requested. Such postal costs 22 

shall be reimbursed by the insurer if so requested by the 23 

claimant in the notice, when the insurer pays the claim. Such 24 

notice must be sent to the person and address specified by the 25 

insurer for the purposes of receiving notices under this 26 

subsection. Each licensed insurer, whether domestic, foreign, or 27 

alien, shall file with the office designation of the name and 28 

address of the person to whom notices must pursuant to this 29 

subsection shall be sent which the office shall make available 30 

on its Internet website. The name and address on file with the 31 

office pursuant to s. 624.422 are shall be deemed the authorized 32 

representative to accept notice pursuant to this subsection if 33 

in the event no other designation has been made. 34 

(e)(d) If, within 30 days after receipt of notice by the 35 

insurer, the overdue claim specified in the notice is paid by 36 

the insurer together with applicable interest and a penalty of 37 

10 percent of the overdue amount paid by the insurer, subject to 38 

a maximum penalty of $250, no action may be brought against the 39 

insurer. If the demand involves an insurer’s withdrawal of 40 

payment under paragraph (7)(a) for future treatment not yet 41 

rendered, no action may be brought against the insurer if, 42 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì878070&Î878070 

 

Page 3 of 3 

2/27/2012 9:26:15 PM 576-04145-12 

within 30 days after its receipt of the notice, the insurer 43 

mails to the person filing the notice a written statement of the 44 

insurer’s agreement to pay for such treatment in accordance with 45 

the notice and to pay a penalty of 10 percent, subject to a 46 

maximum penalty of $250, when it pays for such future treatment 47 

in accordance with the requirements of this section. To the 48 

extent the insurer determines not to pay any amount demanded, 49 

the penalty is shall not be payable in any subsequent action. 50 

For purposes of this subsection, payment or the insurer’s 51 

agreement shall be treated as being made on the date a draft or 52 

other valid instrument that is equivalent to payment, or the 53 

insurer’s written statement of agreement, is placed in the 54 

United States mail in a properly addressed, postpaid envelope, 55 

or if not so posted, on the date of delivery. The insurer is not 56 

obligated to pay any attorney attorney’s fees if the insurer 57 

pays the claim or mails its agreement to pay for future 58 

treatment within the time prescribed by this subsection. 59 

(f)(e) The applicable statute of limitation for an action 60 

 61 

================= T I T L E  A M E N D M E N T ================ 62 

And the title is amended as follows: 63 

Delete line 76 64 

and insert: 65 

when policy limits are reached; providing criteria for 66 

determining when a demand letter is deficient; 67 

consolidating 68 



Florida Senate - 2012 CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

By the Committee on Banking and Insurance; and Senator Negron 

 

 

 

 

597-02844-12 20121860c1 

Page 1 of 52 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

A bill to be entitled 1 

An act relating to motor vehicle personal injury 2 

protection insurance; amending s. 316.066, F.S.; 3 

revising the conditions for completing the long-form 4 

traffic crash report; revising the information 5 

contained in the long-form and the short-form reports; 6 

limiting the inclusion of telephone numbers in crash 7 

reports; authorizing an investigating officer to 8 

testify at trial or provide an affidavit regarding a 9 

crash; amending s. 400.9905, F.S.; providing that 10 

certain entities exempt from licensure as a health 11 

care clinic must nonetheless be licensed in order to 12 

receive reimbursement for the provision of personal 13 

injury protection benefits; amending s. 400.991, F.S.; 14 

requiring that an application for licensure, or 15 

exemption from licensure, as a health care clinic 16 

include a statement regarding insurance fraud; 17 

amending s. 626.989, F.S.; providing that knowingly 18 

submitting false, misleading, or fraudulent documents 19 

relating to licensure as a health care clinic, or 20 

submitting a claim for personal injury protection 21 

relating to clinic licensure documents, is a 22 

fraudulent insurance act under certain conditions; 23 

amending s. 626.9894, F.S.; conforming provisions to 24 

changes made by act; creating s. 626.9895, F.S.; 25 

providing definitions; authorizing the Division of 26 

Insurance Fraud of the Department of Financial 27 

Services to establish a direct-support organization 28 

for the purpose of prosecuting, investigating, and 29 

Florida Senate - 2012 CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

597-02844-12 20121860c1 

Page 2 of 52 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

preventing motor vehicle insurance fraud; providing 30 

requirements for, and duties of, the organization; 31 

requiring that the organization operate pursuant to a 32 

contract with the division; providing for the 33 

requirements of the contract; providing for a board of 34 

directors; authorizing the organization to use the 35 

division’s property and facilities subject to certain 36 

requirements; requiring that the department adopt 37 

rules relating to procedures for the organization’s 38 

governance and relating to conditions for the use of 39 

the division’s property or facilities; authorizing 40 

contributions from insurers; authorizing any moneys 41 

received by the organization to be held in a separate 42 

depository account in the name of the organization; 43 

requiring that the division deposit certain proceeds 44 

into the Insurance Regulatory Trust Fund; amending s. 45 

627.736, F.S.; excluding massage and acupuncture from 46 

medical benefits that may be reimbursed under the 47 

motor vehicle no-fault law; requiring that an insurer 48 

give priority to the payment of death benefits under 49 

certain conditions; requiring that an insurer repay 50 

any benefits covered by the Medicaid program; 51 

requiring that an insurer provide a claimant an 52 

opportunity to revise claims that contain errors; 53 

including hospitals within a requirement for insurers 54 

to reserve a portion of personal injury protection 55 

benefits; requiring that an insurer create and 56 

maintain a log of personal injury protection benefits 57 

paid and that the insurer provide to the insured or an 58 



Florida Senate - 2012 CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

597-02844-12 20121860c1 

Page 3 of 52 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

assignee of the insured, upon request, a copy of the 59 

log; revising the Medicare fee schedules that an 60 

insurer may use as a basis for limiting reimbursement 61 

of personal injury protection benefits; providing that 62 

the Medicare fee schedule in effect on a specific date 63 

applies for purposes of limiting such reimbursement; 64 

authorizing insurers to apply certain Medicare coding 65 

policies and payment methodologies; requiring that an 66 

insurer that limits payments based on the statutory 67 

fee schedule include a notice in insurance policies at 68 

the time of issuance or renewal; deleting obsolete 69 

provisions; providing that certain entities exempt 70 

from licensure as a clinic must nonetheless be 71 

licensed to receive reimbursement for the provision of 72 

personal injury protection benefits; providing 73 

exceptions; requiring that an insurer notify parties 74 

in disputes over personal injury protection claims 75 

when policy limits are reached; consolidating 76 

provisions relating to unfair or deceptive practices 77 

under certain conditions; eliminating a requirement 78 

that all parties mutually and expressly agree for the 79 

use of electronic transmission of data; amending s. 80 

817.234, F.S.; providing that it is insurance fraud to 81 

present a claim for personal injury protection 82 

benefits payable to a person or entity that knowingly 83 

submitted false, misleading, or fraudulent documents 84 

relating to licensure as a health care clinic; 85 

providing that a licensed health care practitioner 86 

guilty of certain insurance fraud loses his or her 87 

Florida Senate - 2012 CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

597-02844-12 20121860c1 

Page 4 of 52 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

license and may not receive personal injury protection 88 

benefits for a specified period; defining the term 89 

“insurer”; amending s. 316.065, F.S.; conforming a 90 

cross-reference; requiring that the Office of 91 

Insurance Regulation perform a data call relating to 92 

personal injury protection; prescribing required 93 

elements of the data call; providing for severability; 94 

providing effective dates. 95 

 96 

Be It Enacted by the Legislature of the State of Florida: 97 

 98 

Section 1. Subsection (1) of section 316.066, Florida 99 

Statutes, is amended to read: 100 

316.066 Written reports of crashes.— 101 

(1)(a) A Florida Traffic Crash Report, Long Form, must is 102 

required to be completed and submitted to the department within 103 

10 days after completing an investigation is completed by the 104 

every law enforcement officer who in the regular course of duty 105 

investigates a motor vehicle crash that: 106 

1. Resulted in death, or personal injury, or any complaint 107 

of pain or discomfort by any of the parties or passengers 108 

involved in the crash;. 109 

2. Involved one or more passengers in any vehicle involved 110 

in the crash, other than the driver of the vehicle; or 111 

3.2. Involved a violation of s. 316.061(1) or s. 316.193. 112 

(b) In any every crash for which a Florida Traffic Crash 113 

Report, Long Form, is not required by this section, the law 114 

enforcement officer may complete a short-form crash report or 115 

provide a driver exchange-of-information form to be completed by 116 



Florida Senate - 2012 CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

597-02844-12 20121860c1 

Page 5 of 52 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

each party involved in the crash. The agency that employs the 117 

law enforcement officer who prepares the short-form crash report 118 

shall maintain the report. 119 

(c) The long-form and the short-form reports report must 120 

include: 121 

1. The date, time, and location of the crash. 122 

2. A description of the vehicles involved. 123 

3. The names and addresses of the parties involved, 124 

including all drivers and passengers, with each party clearly 125 

identified as a driver or passenger and the vehicle that he or 126 

she occupied. 127 

4. The names and addresses of witnesses. 128 

5. The name, badge number, and law enforcement agency of 129 

the officer investigating the crash. 130 

6. The names of the insurance companies for the respective 131 

parties involved in the crash. 132 

 133 

Except for a crash in which a party is charged with a criminal 134 

traffic offense, a long-form or short-form crash report may not 135 

include the telephone number of a party involved in the crash. 136 

(d)(c) Each party to the crash must provide the law 137 

enforcement officer with proof of insurance, which must be 138 

documented in the crash report. If a law enforcement officer 139 

submits a report on the crash, proof of insurance must be 140 

provided to the officer by each party involved in the crash. Any 141 

party who fails to provide the required information commits a 142 

noncriminal traffic infraction, punishable as a nonmoving 143 

violation as provided in chapter 318, unless the officer 144 

determines that due to injuries or other special circumstances 145 

Florida Senate - 2012 CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

597-02844-12 20121860c1 

Page 6 of 52 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

such insurance information cannot be provided immediately. If, 146 

within 24 hours after the crash, the person provides the law 147 

enforcement agency with, within 24 hours after the crash, proof 148 

of insurance that was valid at the time of the crash, the law 149 

enforcement agency may void the citation. 150 

(e)(d) The driver of a vehicle that was in any manner 151 

involved in a crash resulting in damage to any vehicle or other 152 

property in an amount of $500 or more which was not investigated 153 

by a law enforcement agency, shall, within 10 days after the 154 

crash, submit a written report of the crash to the department. 155 

The entity receiving the report may require witnesses of the 156 

crash to render reports and may require the any driver of a 157 

vehicle involved in a crash of which a written report must be 158 

made to file supplemental written reports if the original report 159 

is deemed insufficient by the receiving entity. 160 

(f) The law enforcement officer who investigates a crash 161 

may testify at trial, provide a deposition for use at trial, or 162 

provide a signed affidavit to confirm or supplement information 163 

included in the long-form or short-form crash report. 164 

(e) Short-form crash reports prepared by law enforcement 165 

shall be maintained by the law enforcement officer’s agency. 166 

Section 2. Subsection (4) of section 400.9905, Florida 167 

Statutes, is amended to read: 168 

400.9905 Definitions.— 169 

(4) “Clinic” means an entity where at which health care 170 

services are provided to individuals and which tenders charges 171 

for reimbursement for such services, including a mobile clinic 172 

and a portable equipment provider. As used in For purposes of 173 

this part, the term does not include and the licensure 174 



Florida Senate - 2012 CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

597-02844-12 20121860c1 

Page 7 of 52 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

requirements of this part do not apply to: 175 

(a) Entities licensed or registered by the state under 176 

chapter 395; or entities licensed or registered by the state and 177 

providing only health care services within the scope of services 178 

authorized under their respective licenses granted under ss. 179 

383.30-383.335, chapter 390, chapter 394, chapter 397, this 180 

chapter except part X, chapter 429, chapter 463, chapter 465, 181 

chapter 466, chapter 478, part I of chapter 483, chapter 484, or 182 

chapter 651; end-stage renal disease providers authorized under 183 

42 C.F.R. part 405, subpart U; or providers certified under 42 184 

C.F.R. part 485, subpart B or subpart H; or any entity that 185 

provides neonatal or pediatric hospital-based health care 186 

services or other health care services by licensed practitioners 187 

solely within a hospital licensed under chapter 395. 188 

(b) Entities that own, directly or indirectly, entities 189 

licensed or registered by the state pursuant to chapter 395; or 190 

entities that own, directly or indirectly, entities licensed or 191 

registered by the state and providing only health care services 192 

within the scope of services authorized pursuant to their 193 

respective licenses granted under ss. 383.30-383.335, chapter 194 

390, chapter 394, chapter 397, this chapter except part X, 195 

chapter 429, chapter 463, chapter 465, chapter 466, chapter 478, 196 

part I of chapter 483, chapter 484, chapter 651; end-stage renal 197 

disease providers authorized under 42 C.F.R. part 405, subpart 198 

U; or providers certified under 42 C.F.R. part 485, subpart B or 199 

subpart H; or any entity that provides neonatal or pediatric 200 

hospital-based health care services by licensed practitioners 201 

solely within a hospital licensed under chapter 395. 202 

(c) Entities that are owned, directly or indirectly, by an 203 

Florida Senate - 2012 CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

597-02844-12 20121860c1 

Page 8 of 52 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

entity licensed or registered by the state pursuant to chapter 204 

395; or entities that are owned, directly or indirectly, by an 205 

entity licensed or registered by the state and providing only 206 

health care services within the scope of services authorized 207 

pursuant to their respective licenses granted under ss. 383.30-208 

383.335, chapter 390, chapter 394, chapter 397, this chapter 209 

except part X, chapter 429, chapter 463, chapter 465, chapter 210 

466, chapter 478, part I of chapter 483, chapter 484, or chapter 211 

651; end-stage renal disease providers authorized under 42 212 

C.F.R. part 405, subpart U; or providers certified under 42 213 

C.F.R. part 485, subpart B or subpart H; or any entity that 214 

provides neonatal or pediatric hospital-based health care 215 

services by licensed practitioners solely within a hospital 216 

under chapter 395. 217 

(d) Entities that are under common ownership, directly or 218 

indirectly, with an entity licensed or registered by the state 219 

pursuant to chapter 395; or entities that are under common 220 

ownership, directly or indirectly, with an entity licensed or 221 

registered by the state and providing only health care services 222 

within the scope of services authorized pursuant to their 223 

respective licenses granted under ss. 383.30-383.335, chapter 224 

390, chapter 394, chapter 397, this chapter except part X, 225 

chapter 429, chapter 463, chapter 465, chapter 466, chapter 478, 226 

part I of chapter 483, chapter 484, or chapter 651; end-stage 227 

renal disease providers authorized under 42 C.F.R. part 405, 228 

subpart U; or providers certified under 42 C.F.R. part 485, 229 

subpart B or subpart H; or any entity that provides neonatal or 230 

pediatric hospital-based health care services by licensed 231 

practitioners solely within a hospital licensed under chapter 232 



Florida Senate - 2012 CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

597-02844-12 20121860c1 

Page 9 of 52 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

395. 233 

(e) An entity that is exempt from federal taxation under 26 234 

U.S.C. s. 501(c)(3) or (4), an employee stock ownership plan 235 

under 26 U.S.C. s. 409 that has a board of trustees at least not 236 

less than two-thirds of which are Florida-licensed health care 237 

practitioners and provides only physical therapy services under 238 

physician orders, any community college or university clinic, 239 

and any entity owned or operated by the federal or state 240 

government, including agencies, subdivisions, or municipalities 241 

thereof. 242 

(f) A sole proprietorship, group practice, partnership, or 243 

corporation that provides health care services by physicians 244 

covered by s. 627.419, that is directly supervised by one or 245 

more of such physicians, and that is wholly owned by one or more 246 

of those physicians or by a physician and the spouse, parent, 247 

child, or sibling of that physician. 248 

(g) A sole proprietorship, group practice, partnership, or 249 

corporation that provides health care services by licensed 250 

health care practitioners under chapter 457, chapter 458, 251 

chapter 459, chapter 460, chapter 461, chapter 462, chapter 463, 252 

chapter 466, chapter 467, chapter 480, chapter 484, chapter 486, 253 

chapter 490, chapter 491, or part I, part III, part X, part 254 

XIII, or part XIV of chapter 468, or s. 464.012, and that is 255 

which are wholly owned by one or more licensed health care 256 

practitioners, or the licensed health care practitioners set 257 

forth in this paragraph and the spouse, parent, child, or 258 

sibling of a licensed health care practitioner if, so long as 259 

one of the owners who is a licensed health care practitioner is 260 

supervising the business activities and is legally responsible 261 

Florida Senate - 2012 CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

597-02844-12 20121860c1 

Page 10 of 52 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

for the entity’s compliance with all federal and state laws. 262 

However, a health care practitioner may not supervise services 263 

beyond the scope of the practitioner’s license, except that, for 264 

the purposes of this part, a clinic owned by a licensee in s. 265 

456.053(3)(b) which that provides only services authorized 266 

pursuant to s. 456.053(3)(b) may be supervised by a licensee 267 

specified in s. 456.053(3)(b). 268 

(h) Clinical facilities affiliated with an accredited 269 

medical school at which training is provided for medical 270 

students, residents, or fellows. 271 

(i) Entities that provide only oncology or radiation 272 

therapy services by physicians licensed under chapter 458 or 273 

chapter 459 or entities that provide oncology or radiation 274 

therapy services by physicians licensed under chapter 458 or 275 

chapter 459 which are owned by a corporation whose shares are 276 

publicly traded on a recognized stock exchange. 277 

(j) Clinical facilities affiliated with a college of 278 

chiropractic accredited by the Council on Chiropractic Education 279 

at which training is provided for chiropractic students. 280 

(k) Entities that provide licensed practitioners to staff 281 

emergency departments or to deliver anesthesia services in 282 

facilities licensed under chapter 395 and that derive at least 283 

90 percent of their gross annual revenues from the provision of 284 

such services. Entities claiming an exemption from licensure 285 

under this paragraph must provide documentation demonstrating 286 

compliance. 287 

(l) Orthotic or prosthetic clinical facilities that are a 288 

publicly traded corporation or that are wholly owned, directly 289 

or indirectly, by a publicly traded corporation. As used in this 290 



Florida Senate - 2012 CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

597-02844-12 20121860c1 

Page 11 of 52 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

paragraph, a publicly traded corporation is a corporation that 291 

issues securities traded on an exchange registered with the 292 

United States Securities and Exchange Commission as a national 293 

securities exchange. 294 

 295 

Notwithstanding this subsection, an entity shall be deemed a 296 

clinic and must be licensed under this part in order to receive 297 

reimbursement under the Florida Motor Vehicle No-Fault Law, ss. 298 

627.730-627.7405, unless exempted under s. 627.736(5)(h). 299 

Section 3. Subsection (6) is added to section 400.991, 300 

Florida Statutes, to read: 301 

400.991 License requirements; background screenings; 302 

prohibitions.— 303 

(6) All agency forms for licensure application or exemption 304 

from licensure under this part must contain the following 305 

statement: 306 

 307 

INSURANCE FRAUD NOTICE.—A person who knowingly submits 308 

a false, misleading, or fraudulent application or 309 

other document when applying for licensure as a health 310 

care clinic, seeking an exemption from licensure as a 311 

health care clinic, or demonstrating compliance with 312 

part X of chapter 400, Florida Statutes, with the 313 

intent to use the license, exemption from licensure, 314 

or demonstration of compliance to provide services or 315 

seek reimbursement under the Florida Motor Vehicle No-316 

Fault Law, commits a fraudulent insurance act, as 317 

defined in s. 626.989, Florida Statutes. A person who 318 

presents a claim for personal injury protection 319 

Florida Senate - 2012 CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

597-02844-12 20121860c1 

Page 12 of 52 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

benefits knowing that the payee knowingly submitted 320 

such health care clinic application or document, 321 

commits insurance fraud, as defined in s. 817.234, 322 

Florida Statutes. 323 

Section 4. Subsection (1) of section 626.989, Florida 324 

Statutes, is amended to read: 325 

626.989 Investigation by department or Division of 326 

Insurance Fraud; compliance; immunity; confidential information; 327 

reports to division; division investigator’s power of arrest.— 328 

(1) For the purposes of this section:, 329 

(a) A person commits a “fraudulent insurance act” if the 330 

person: 331 

1. Knowingly and with intent to defraud presents, causes to 332 

be presented, or prepares with knowledge or belief that it will 333 

be presented, to or by an insurer, self-insurer, self-insurance 334 

fund, servicing corporation, purported insurer, broker, or any 335 

agent thereof, any written statement as part of, or in support 336 

of, an application for the issuance of, or the rating of, any 337 

insurance policy, or a claim for payment or other benefit 338 

pursuant to any insurance policy, which the person knows to 339 

contain materially false information concerning any fact 340 

material thereto or if the person conceals, for the purpose of 341 

misleading another, information concerning any fact material 342 

thereto. 343 

2. Knowingly submits: 344 

a. A false, misleading, or fraudulent application or other 345 

document when applying for licensure as a health care clinic, 346 

seeking an exemption from licensure as a health care clinic, or 347 

demonstrating compliance with part X of chapter 400 with an 348 



Florida Senate - 2012 CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

597-02844-12 20121860c1 

Page 13 of 52 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

intent to use the license, exemption from licensure, or 349 

demonstration of compliance to provide services or seek 350 

reimbursement under the Florida Motor Vehicle No-Fault Law. 351 

b. A claim for payment or other benefit pursuant to a 352 

personal injury protection insurance policy under the Florida 353 

Motor Vehicle No-Fault Law if the person knows that the payee 354 

knowingly submitted a false, misleading, or fraudulent 355 

application or other document when applying for licensure as a 356 

health care clinic, seeking an exemption from licensure as a 357 

health care clinic, or demonstrating compliance with part X of 358 

chapter 400. For the purposes of this section, 359 

(b) The term “insurer” also includes a any health 360 

maintenance organization, and the term “insurance policy” also 361 

includes a health maintenance organization subscriber contract. 362 

Section 5. Subsection (5) of section 626.9894, Florida 363 

Statutes, is amended to read: 364 

626.9894 Gifts and grants.— 365 

(5) Notwithstanding the provisions of s. 216.301 and 366 

pursuant to s. 216.351, any balance of moneys deposited into the 367 

Insurance Regulatory Trust Fund pursuant to this section or s. 368 

626.9895 remaining at the end of any fiscal year is shall be 369 

available for carrying out the duties and responsibilities of 370 

the division. The department may request annual appropriations 371 

from the grants and donations received pursuant to this section 372 

or s. 626.9895 and cash balances in the Insurance Regulatory 373 

Trust Fund for the purpose of carrying out its duties and 374 

responsibilities related to the division’s anti-fraud efforts, 375 

including the funding of dedicated prosecutors and related 376 

personnel. 377 

Florida Senate - 2012 CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

597-02844-12 20121860c1 

Page 14 of 52 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

Section 6. Section 626.9895, Florida Statutes, is created 378 

to read: 379 

626.9895 Motor vehicle insurance fraud direct-support 380 

organization.— 381 

(1) DEFINITIONS.—As used in this section, the term: 382 

(a) “Division” means the Division of Insurance Fraud of the 383 

Department of Financial Services. 384 

(b) “Motor vehicle insurance fraud” means any act defined 385 

as a “fraudulent insurance act” under s. 626.989, which relates 386 

to the coverage of motor vehicle insurance as described in part 387 

XI of chapter 627. 388 

(c) “Organization” means the direct-support organization 389 

established under this section. 390 

(2) ORGANIZATION ESTABLISHED.—The division may establish a 391 

direct-support organization, to be known as the “Automobile 392 

Insurance Fraud Strike Force,” whose sole purpose is to support 393 

the prosecution, investigation, and prevention of motor vehicle 394 

insurance fraud. The organization shall: 395 

(a) Be a not-for-profit corporation incorporated under 396 

chapter 617 and approved by the Department of State. 397 

(b) Be organized and operated to conduct programs and 398 

activities; raise funds; request and receive grants, gifts, and 399 

bequests of money; acquire, receive, hold, invest, and 400 

administer, in its own name, securities, funds, objects of 401 

value, or other property, real or personal; and make grants and 402 

expenditures to or for the direct or indirect benefit of the 403 

division, state attorneys’ offices, the statewide prosecutor, 404 

the Agency for Health Care Administration, and the Department of 405 

Health to the extent that such grants and expenditures are used 406 



Florida Senate - 2012 CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

597-02844-12 20121860c1 

Page 15 of 52 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

exclusively to advance the prosecution, investigation, or 407 

prevention of motor vehicle insurance fraud. Grants and 408 

expenditures may include the cost of salaries or benefits of 409 

motor vehicle insurance fraud investigators, prosecutors, or 410 

support personnel if such grants and expenditures do not 411 

interfere with prosecutorial independence or otherwise create 412 

conflicts of interest which threaten the success of 413 

prosecutions. 414 

(c) Be determined by the division to operate in a manner 415 

that promotes the goals of laws relating to motor vehicle 416 

insurance fraud, that is in the best interest of the state, and 417 

that is in accordance with the adopted goals and mission of the 418 

division. 419 

(d) Use all of its grants and expenditures solely for the 420 

purpose of preventing and decreasing motor vehicle insurance 421 

fraud, and not for the purpose of lobbying as defined in s. 422 

11.045. 423 

(e) Be subject to an annual financial audit in accordance 424 

with s. 215.981. 425 

(3) CONTRACT.—The organization shall operate under written 426 

contract with the division. The contract must provide for: 427 

(a) Approval of the articles of incorporation and bylaws of 428 

the organization by the division. 429 

(b) Submission of an annual budget for approval of the 430 

division. The budget must require the organization to minimize 431 

costs to the division and its members at all times by using 432 

existing personnel and property and allowing for telephonic 433 

meetings if appropriate. 434 

(c) Certification by the division that the organization is 435 

Florida Senate - 2012 CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

597-02844-12 20121860c1 

Page 16 of 52 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

complying with the terms of the contract and in a manner 436 

consistent with the goals and purposes of the department and in 437 

the best interest of the state. Such certification must be made 438 

annually and reported in the official minutes of a meeting of 439 

the organization. 440 

(d) Allocation of funds to address motor vehicle insurance 441 

fraud. 442 

(e) Reversion of moneys and property held in trust by the 443 

organization for motor vehicle insurance fraud prosecution, 444 

investigation, and prevention to the division if the 445 

organization is no longer approved to operate for the department 446 

or if the organization ceases to exist, or to the state if the 447 

division ceases to exist. 448 

(f) Specific criteria to be used by the organization’s 449 

board of directors to evaluate the effectiveness of funding used 450 

to combat motor vehicle insurance fraud. 451 

(g) The fiscal year of the organization, which begins July 452 

1 of each year and ends June 30 of the following year. 453 

(h) Disclosure of the material provisions of the contract, 454 

and distinguishing between the department and the organization 455 

to donors of gifts, contributions, or bequests, including 456 

providing such disclosure on all promotional and fundraising 457 

publications. 458 

(4) BOARD OF DIRECTORS.— 459 

(a) The board of directors of the organization shall 460 

consist of the following eleven members: 461 

1. The Chief Financial Officer, or designee, who shall 462 

serve as chair. 463 

2. Two state attorneys, one of whom shall be appointed by 464 



Florida Senate - 2012 CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

597-02844-12 20121860c1 

Page 17 of 52 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

the Chief Financial Officer and one of whom shall be appointed 465 

by the Attorney General. 466 

3. Two representatives of motor vehicle insurers appointed 467 

by the Chief Financial Officer. 468 

4. Two representatives of local law enforcement agencies, 469 

one of whom shall be appointed by the Chief Financial Officer 470 

and one of whom shall be appointed by the Attorney General. 471 

5. Two representatives of the types of health care 472 

providers who regularly make claims for benefits under ss. 473 

627.730-627.7405, one of whom shall be appointed by the 474 

President of the Senate and one of whom shall be appointed by 475 

the Speaker of the House of Representatives. The appointees may 476 

not represent the same type of health care provider. 477 

6. A private attorney that has experience in representing 478 

claimants in actions for benefits under ss. 627.730-627.7405, 479 

who shall be appointed by the President of the Senate. 480 

7. A private attorney who has experience in representing 481 

insurers in actions for benefits under ss. 627.730-627.7405, who 482 

shall be appointed by the Speaker of the House of 483 

Representatives. 484 

(b) The officer who appointed a member of the board may 485 

remove that member for cause. The term of office of an appointed 486 

member expires at the same time as the term of the officer who 487 

appointed him or her or at such earlier time as the person 488 

ceases to be qualified. 489 

(5) USE OF PROPERTY.—The department may authorize, without 490 

charge, appropriate use of fixed property and facilities of the 491 

division by the organization, subject to this subsection. 492 

(a) The department may prescribe any condition with which 493 

Florida Senate - 2012 CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

597-02844-12 20121860c1 

Page 18 of 52 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

the organization must comply in order to use the division’s 494 

property or facilities. 495 

(b) The department may not authorize the use of the 496 

division’s property or facilities if the organization does not 497 

provide equal membership and employment opportunities to all 498 

persons regardless of race, religion, sex, age, or national 499 

origin. 500 

(c) The department shall adopt rules prescribing the 501 

procedures by which the organization is governed and any 502 

conditions with which the organization must comply to use the 503 

division’s property or facilities. 504 

(6) CONTRIBUTIONS FROM INSURERS.—Contributions from an 505 

insurer to the organization shall be allowed as an appropriate 506 

business expense of the insurer for all regulatory purposes. 507 

(7) DEPOSITORY ACCOUNT.—Any moneys received by the 508 

organization may be held in a separate depository account in the 509 

name of the organization and subject to the contract with the 510 

division. 511 

(8) DIVISION’S RECEIPT OF PROCEEDS.—Proceeds received by 512 

the division from the organization shall be deposited into the 513 

Insurance Regulatory Trust Fund. 514 

Section 7. Subsections (1), (4), (5), (6), (8), (9), (10), 515 

and (11) of section 627.736, Florida Statutes, are amended to 516 

read: 517 

627.736 Required personal injury protection benefits; 518 

exclusions; priority; claims.— 519 

(1) REQUIRED BENEFITS.—An Every insurance policy complying 520 

with the security requirements of s. 627.733 must shall provide 521 

personal injury protection to the named insured, relatives 522 



Florida Senate - 2012 CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

597-02844-12 20121860c1 

Page 19 of 52 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

residing in the same household, persons operating the insured 523 

motor vehicle, passengers in the such motor vehicle, and other 524 

persons struck by the such motor vehicle and suffering bodily 525 

injury while not an occupant of a self-propelled vehicle, 526 

subject to the provisions of subsection (2) and paragraph 527 

(4)(e), to a limit of $10,000 for loss sustained by any such 528 

person as a result of bodily injury, sickness, disease, or death 529 

arising out of the ownership, maintenance, or use of a motor 530 

vehicle as follows: 531 

(a) Medical benefits.—Eighty percent of all reasonable 532 

expenses for medically necessary medical, surgical, X-ray, 533 

dental, and rehabilitative services, including prosthetic 534 

devices, and medically necessary ambulance, hospital, and 535 

nursing services. Medical benefits do not include massage as 536 

defined in s. 480.033 or acupuncture as defined in s. 457.102. 537 

However, The medical benefits shall provide reimbursement only 538 

for such services and care that are lawfully provided, 539 

supervised, ordered, or prescribed by a physician licensed under 540 

chapter 458 or chapter 459, a dentist licensed under chapter 541 

466, or a chiropractic physician licensed under chapter 460 or 542 

that are provided by any of the following persons or entities: 543 

1. A hospital or ambulatory surgical center licensed under 544 

chapter 395. 545 

2. A person or entity licensed under part III of chapter 546 

401 which ss. 401.2101-401.45 that provides emergency 547 

transportation and treatment. 548 

3. An entity wholly owned by one or more physicians 549 

licensed under chapter 458 or chapter 459, chiropractic 550 

physicians licensed under chapter 460, or dentists licensed 551 

Florida Senate - 2012 CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

597-02844-12 20121860c1 

Page 20 of 52 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

under chapter 466 or by such practitioner or practitioners and 552 

the spouse, parent, child, or sibling of such that practitioner 553 

or those practitioners. 554 

4. An entity wholly owned, directly or indirectly, by a 555 

hospital or hospitals. 556 

5. A health care clinic licensed under part X of chapter 557 

400 which ss. 400.990-400.995 that is: 558 

a. A health care clinic accredited by the Joint Commission 559 

on Accreditation of Healthcare Organizations, the American 560 

Osteopathic Association, the Commission on Accreditation of 561 

Rehabilitation Facilities, or the Accreditation Association for 562 

Ambulatory Health Care, Inc.; or 563 

b. A health care clinic that: 564 

(I) Has a medical director licensed under chapter 458, 565 

chapter 459, or chapter 460; 566 

(II) Has been continuously licensed for more than 3 years 567 

or is a publicly traded corporation that issues securities 568 

traded on an exchange registered with the United States 569 

Securities and Exchange Commission as a national securities 570 

exchange; and 571 

(III) Provides at least four of the following medical 572 

specialties: 573 

(A) General medicine. 574 

(B) Radiography. 575 

(C) Orthopedic medicine. 576 

(D) Physical medicine. 577 

(E) Physical therapy. 578 

(F) Physical rehabilitation. 579 

(G) Prescribing or dispensing outpatient prescription 580 



Florida Senate - 2012 CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

597-02844-12 20121860c1 

Page 21 of 52 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

medication. 581 

(H) Laboratory services. 582 

 583 

The Financial Services Commission shall adopt by rule the form 584 

that must be used by an insurer and a health care provider 585 

specified in subparagraph 3., subparagraph 4., or subparagraph 586 

5. to document that the health care provider meets the criteria 587 

of this paragraph, which rule must include a requirement for a 588 

sworn statement or affidavit. 589 

(b) Disability benefits.—Sixty percent of any loss of gross 590 

income and loss of earning capacity per individual from 591 

inability to work proximately caused by the injury sustained by 592 

the injured person, plus all expenses reasonably incurred in 593 

obtaining from others ordinary and necessary services in lieu of 594 

those that, but for the injury, the injured person would have 595 

performed without income for the benefit of his or her 596 

household. All disability benefits payable under this provision 597 

must shall be paid at least not less than every 2 weeks. 598 

(c) Death benefits.—Death benefits equal to the lesser of 599 

$5,000 or the remainder of unused personal injury protection 600 

benefits per individual. The insurer shall give priority to the 601 

payment of death benefits over the payment of other benefits of 602 

the deceased and, upon learning of the death of the individual, 603 

stop paying the other benefits until the death benefits are 604 

paid. The insurer may pay death such benefits to the executor or 605 

administrator of the deceased, to any of the deceased’s 606 

relatives by blood, or legal adoption, or connection by 607 

marriage, or to any person appearing to the insurer to be 608 

equitably entitled thereto. 609 

Florida Senate - 2012 CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

597-02844-12 20121860c1 

Page 22 of 52 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

 610 

Only insurers writing motor vehicle liability insurance in this 611 

state may provide the required benefits of this section, and no 612 

such insurer may not shall require the purchase of any other 613 

motor vehicle coverage other than the purchase of property 614 

damage liability coverage as required by s. 627.7275 as a 615 

condition for providing such required benefits. Insurers may not 616 

require that property damage liability insurance in an amount 617 

greater than $10,000 be purchased in conjunction with personal 618 

injury protection. Such insurers shall make benefits and 619 

required property damage liability insurance coverage available 620 

through normal marketing channels. An Any insurer writing motor 621 

vehicle liability insurance in this state who fails to comply 622 

with such availability requirement as a general business 623 

practice violates shall be deemed to have violated part IX of 624 

chapter 626, and such violation constitutes shall constitute an 625 

unfair method of competition or an unfair or deceptive act or 626 

practice involving the business of insurance. An; and any such 627 

insurer committing such violation is shall be subject to the 628 

penalties provided under that afforded in such part, as well as 629 

those provided which may be afforded elsewhere in the insurance 630 

code. 631 

(4) PAYMENT OF BENEFITS; WHEN DUE.—Benefits due from an 632 

insurer under ss. 627.730-627.7405 are shall be primary, except 633 

that benefits received under any workers’ compensation law must 634 

shall be credited against the benefits provided by subsection 635 

(1) and are shall be due and payable as loss accrues, upon 636 

receipt of reasonable proof of such loss and the amount of 637 

expenses and loss incurred which are covered by the policy 638 



Florida Senate - 2012 CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

597-02844-12 20121860c1 

Page 23 of 52 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

issued under ss. 627.730-627.7405. If When the Agency for Health 639 

Care Administration provides, pays, or becomes liable for 640 

medical assistance under the Medicaid program related to injury, 641 

sickness, disease, or death arising out of the ownership, 642 

maintenance, or use of a motor vehicle, the benefits under ss. 643 

627.730-627.7405 are shall be subject to the provisions of the 644 

Medicaid program. However, within 30 days after receiving notice 645 

that the Medicaid program paid such benefits, the insurer shall 646 

repay the full amount of the benefits to the Medicaid program. 647 

(a) An insurer may require written notice to be given as 648 

soon as practicable after an accident involving a motor vehicle 649 

with respect to which the policy affords the security required 650 

by ss. 627.730-627.7405. 651 

(b) Personal injury protection insurance benefits paid 652 

pursuant to this section are shall be overdue if not paid within 653 

30 days after the insurer is furnished written notice of the 654 

fact of a covered loss and of the amount of same. However: 655 

1. If such written notice of the entire claim is not 656 

furnished to the insurer as to the entire claim, any partial 657 

amount supported by written notice is overdue if not paid within 658 

30 days after such written notice is furnished to the insurer. 659 

Any part or all of the remainder of the claim that is 660 

subsequently supported by written notice is overdue if not paid 661 

within 30 days after such written notice is furnished to the 662 

insurer. 663 

2. If When an insurer pays only a portion of a claim or 664 

rejects a claim, the insurer shall provide at the time of the 665 

partial payment or rejection an itemized specification of each 666 

item that the insurer had reduced, omitted, or declined to pay 667 

Florida Senate - 2012 CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

597-02844-12 20121860c1 

Page 24 of 52 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

and any information that the insurer desires the claimant to 668 

consider related to the medical necessity of the denied 669 

treatment or to explain the reasonableness of the reduced charge 670 

if, provided that this does shall not limit the introduction of 671 

evidence at trial.; and The insurer must also shall include the 672 

name and address of the person to whom the claimant should 673 

respond and a claim number to be referenced in future 674 

correspondence. 675 

3. If an insurer pays only a portion of a claim or rejects 676 

a claim due to an alleged error in the claim, the insurer shall 677 

provide at the time of the partial payment or rejection an 678 

itemized specification or explanation of benefits of the 679 

specified error. Upon receiving the specification or 680 

explanation, the person making the claim has, at the person’s 681 

option and without waiving any other legal remedy for payment, 682 

15 days to submit a revised claim, and the revised claim shall 683 

be considered a timely submission of written notice of a claim. 684 

4. However, Notwithstanding the fact that written notice 685 

has been furnished to the insurer, any payment is shall not be 686 

deemed overdue if when the insurer has reasonable proof to 687 

establish that the insurer is not responsible for the payment. 688 

5. For the purpose of calculating the extent to which any 689 

benefits are overdue, payment shall be treated as being made on 690 

the date a draft or other valid instrument that which is 691 

equivalent to payment was placed in the United States mail in a 692 

properly addressed, postpaid envelope or, if not so posted, on 693 

the date of delivery. 694 

6. This paragraph does not preclude or limit the ability of 695 

the insurer to assert that the claim was unrelated, was not 696 



Florida Senate - 2012 CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

597-02844-12 20121860c1 

Page 25 of 52 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

medically necessary, or was unreasonable or that the amount of 697 

the charge was in excess of that permitted under, or in 698 

violation of, subsection (5). Such assertion by the insurer may 699 

be made at any time, including after payment of the claim or 700 

after the 30-day time period for payment set forth in this 701 

paragraph. 702 

(c) Upon receiving notice of an accident that is 703 

potentially covered by personal injury protection benefits, the 704 

insurer must reserve $5,000 of personal injury protection 705 

benefits for payment to: 706 

1. Physicians licensed under chapter 458 or chapter 459 or 707 

dentists licensed under chapter 466 who provide emergency 708 

services and care, as defined in s. 395.002(9), or who provide 709 

hospital inpatient care. 710 

2. Hospitals licensed under chapter 395. 711 

 712 

The amount required to be held in reserve may be used only to 713 

pay claims from such physicians, or dentists, or hospitals until 714 

30 days after the date the insurer receives notice of the 715 

accident. After the 30-day period, any amount of the reserve for 716 

which the insurer has not received notice of such claims a claim 717 

from a physician or dentist who provided emergency services and 718 

care or who provided hospital inpatient care may then be used by 719 

the insurer to pay other claims. The time periods specified in 720 

paragraph (b) for required payment of personal injury protection 721 

benefits are shall be tolled for the period of time that an 722 

insurer is required by this paragraph to hold payment of a claim 723 

that is not from such a physician, or dentist, or hospital who 724 

provided emergency services and care or who provided hospital 725 

Florida Senate - 2012 CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

597-02844-12 20121860c1 

Page 26 of 52 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

inpatient care to the extent that the personal injury protection 726 

benefits not held in reserve are insufficient to pay the claim. 727 

This paragraph does not require an insurer to establish a claim 728 

reserve for insurance accounting purposes. 729 

(d) All overdue payments shall bear simple interest at the 730 

rate established under s. 55.03 or the rate established in the 731 

insurance contract, whichever is greater, for the year in which 732 

the payment became overdue, calculated from the date the insurer 733 

was furnished with written notice of the amount of covered loss. 734 

Interest is shall be due at the time payment of the overdue 735 

claim is made. 736 

(e) The insurer of the owner of a motor vehicle shall pay 737 

personal injury protection benefits for: 738 

1. Accidental bodily injury sustained in this state by the 739 

owner while occupying a motor vehicle, or while not an occupant 740 

of a self-propelled vehicle if the injury is caused by physical 741 

contact with a motor vehicle. 742 

2. Accidental bodily injury sustained outside this state, 743 

but within the United States of America or its territories or 744 

possessions or Canada, by the owner while occupying the owner’s 745 

motor vehicle. 746 

3. Accidental bodily injury sustained by a relative of the 747 

owner residing in the same household, under the circumstances 748 

described in subparagraph 1. or subparagraph 2., if provided the 749 

relative at the time of the accident is domiciled in the owner’s 750 

household and is not himself or herself the owner of a motor 751 

vehicle with respect to which security is required under ss. 752 

627.730-627.7405. 753 

4. Accidental bodily injury sustained in this state by any 754 



Florida Senate - 2012 CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

597-02844-12 20121860c1 

Page 27 of 52 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

other person while occupying the owner’s motor vehicle or, if a 755 

resident of this state, while not an occupant of a self-756 

propelled vehicle, if the injury is caused by physical contact 757 

with such motor vehicle, if provided the injured person is not 758 

himself or herself: 759 

a. The owner of a motor vehicle with respect to which 760 

security is required under ss. 627.730-627.7405; or 761 

b. Entitled to personal injury benefits from the insurer of 762 

the owner or owners of such a motor vehicle. 763 

(f) If two or more insurers are liable for paying to pay 764 

personal injury protection benefits for the same injury to any 765 

one person, the maximum payable is shall be as specified in 766 

subsection (1), and the any insurer paying the benefits is shall 767 

be entitled to recover from each of the other insurers an 768 

equitable pro rata share of the benefits paid and expenses 769 

incurred in processing the claim. 770 

(g) It is a violation of the insurance code for an insurer 771 

to fail to timely provide benefits as required by this section 772 

with such frequency as to constitute a general business 773 

practice. 774 

(h) Benefits are shall not be due or payable to or on the 775 

behalf of an insured person if that person has committed, by a 776 

material act or omission, any insurance fraud relating to 777 

personal injury protection coverage under his or her policy, if 778 

the fraud is admitted to in a sworn statement by the insured or 779 

if it is established in a court of competent jurisdiction. Any 780 

insurance fraud voids shall void all coverage arising from the 781 

claim related to such fraud under the personal injury protection 782 

coverage of the insured person who committed the fraud, 783 

Florida Senate - 2012 CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

597-02844-12 20121860c1 

Page 28 of 52 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

irrespective of whether a portion of the insured person’s claim 784 

may be legitimate, and any benefits paid before prior to the 785 

discovery of the insured person’s insurance fraud is shall be 786 

recoverable by the insurer in its entirety from the person who 787 

committed insurance fraud in their entirety. The prevailing 788 

party is entitled to its costs and attorney attorney’s fees in 789 

any action in which it prevails in an insurer’s action to 790 

enforce its right of recovery under this paragraph. 791 

(i) An insurer shall create and maintain for each insured a 792 

log of personal injury protection benefits paid by the insurer 793 

on behalf of the insured. The insurer shall provide to the 794 

insured, or an assignee of the insured, a copy of the log within 795 

30 days after receiving a request for the log from the insured 796 

or the assignee. 797 

(5) CHARGES FOR TREATMENT OF INJURED PERSONS.— 798 

(a)1. A Any physician, hospital, clinic, or other person or 799 

institution lawfully rendering treatment to an injured person 800 

for a bodily injury covered by personal injury protection 801 

insurance may charge the insurer and injured party only a 802 

reasonable amount pursuant to this section for the services and 803 

supplies rendered, and the insurer providing such coverage may 804 

pay for such charges directly to such person or institution 805 

lawfully rendering such treatment, if the insured receiving such 806 

treatment or his or her guardian has countersigned the properly 807 

completed invoice, bill, or claim form approved by the office 808 

upon which such charges are to be paid for as having actually 809 

been rendered, to the best knowledge of the insured or his or 810 

her guardian. In no event, However, may such a charge may not 811 

exceed be in excess of the amount the person or institution 812 



Florida Senate - 2012 CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

597-02844-12 20121860c1 

Page 29 of 52 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

customarily charges for like services or supplies. In 813 

determining With respect to a determination of whether a charge 814 

for a particular service, treatment, or otherwise is reasonable, 815 

consideration may be given to evidence of usual and customary 816 

charges and payments accepted by the provider involved in the 817 

dispute, and reimbursement levels in the community and various 818 

federal and state medical fee schedules applicable to motor 819 

vehicle automobile and other insurance coverages, and other 820 

information relevant to the reasonableness of the reimbursement 821 

for the service, treatment, or supply. 822 

1.2. The insurer may limit reimbursement to 80 percent of 823 

the following schedule of maximum charges: 824 

a. For emergency transport and treatment by providers 825 

licensed under chapter 401, 200 percent of Medicare. 826 

b. For emergency services and care provided by a hospital 827 

licensed under chapter 395, 75 percent of the hospital’s usual 828 

and customary charges. 829 

c. For emergency services and care as defined by s. 830 

395.002(9) provided in a facility licensed under chapter 395 831 

rendered by a physician or dentist, and related hospital 832 

inpatient services rendered by a physician or dentist, the usual 833 

and customary charges in the community. 834 

d. For hospital inpatient services, other than emergency 835 

services and care, 200 percent of the Medicare Part A 836 

prospective payment applicable to the specific hospital 837 

providing the inpatient services. 838 

e. For hospital outpatient services, other than emergency 839 

services and care, 200 percent of the Medicare Part A Ambulatory 840 

Payment Classification for the specific hospital providing the 841 

Florida Senate - 2012 CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

597-02844-12 20121860c1 

Page 30 of 52 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

outpatient services. 842 

f. For all other medical services, supplies, and care, 200 843 

percent of the allowable amount under: 844 

(I) The participating physicians fee schedule of Medicare 845 

Part B, except as provided in sub-sub-subparagraphs (II) and 846 

(III). 847 

(II) Medicare Part B, in the case of services, supplies, 848 

and care provided by ambulatory surgical centers and clinical 849 

laboratories. 850 

(III) The Durable Medical Equipment Prosthetics/Orthotics 851 

and Supplies fee schedule of Medicare Part B, in the case of 852 

durable medical equipment. 853 

 854 

However, if such services, supplies, or care is not reimbursable 855 

under Medicare Part B, as provided in this sub-subparagraph, the 856 

insurer may limit reimbursement to 80 percent of the maximum 857 

reimbursable allowance under workers’ compensation, as 858 

determined under s. 440.13 and rules adopted thereunder which 859 

are in effect at the time such services, supplies, or care is 860 

provided. Services, supplies, or care that is not reimbursable 861 

under Medicare or workers’ compensation is not required to be 862 

reimbursed by the insurer. 863 

2.3. For purposes of subparagraph 1. 2., the applicable fee 864 

schedule or payment limitation under Medicare is the fee 865 

schedule or payment limitation in effect on January 1 of the 866 

year in which at the time the services, supplies, or care is was 867 

rendered and for the area in which such services, supplies, or 868 

care is were rendered, and the applicable fee schedule or 869 

payment limitation applies throughout the remainder of that 870 



Florida Senate - 2012 CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

597-02844-12 20121860c1 

Page 31 of 52 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

year, notwithstanding any subsequent change made to the fee 871 

schedule or payment limitation, except that it may not be less 872 

than the allowable amount under the applicable participating 873 

physicians schedule of Medicare Part B for 2007 for medical 874 

services, supplies, and care subject to Medicare Part B. 875 

3.4. Subparagraph 1. 2. does not allow the insurer to apply 876 

any limitation on the number of treatments or other utilization 877 

limits that apply under Medicare or workers’ compensation. An 878 

insurer that applies the allowable payment limitations of 879 

subparagraph 1. 2. must reimburse a provider who lawfully 880 

provided care or treatment under the scope of his or her 881 

license, regardless of whether such provider is would be 882 

entitled to reimbursement under Medicare due to restrictions or 883 

limitations on the types or discipline of health care providers 884 

who may be reimbursed for particular procedures or procedure 885 

codes. However, subparagraph 1. does not prohibit an insurer 886 

from using the Medicare coding policies and payment 887 

methodologies of the federal Centers for Medicare and Medicaid 888 

Services, including applicable modifiers, to determine the 889 

appropriate amount of reimbursement for medical services, 890 

supplies, or care if the coding policy or payment methodology 891 

does not constitute a utilization limit. 892 

4.5. If an insurer limits payment as authorized by 893 

subparagraph 1. 2., the person providing such services, 894 

supplies, or care may not bill or attempt to collect from the 895 

insured any amount in excess of such limits, except for amounts 896 

that are not covered by the insured’s personal injury protection 897 

coverage due to the coinsurance amount or maximum policy limits. 898 

5. Effective July 1, 2012, an insurer may limit payment as 899 

Florida Senate - 2012 CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

597-02844-12 20121860c1 

Page 32 of 52 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

authorized by this paragraph only if the insurance policy 900 

includes a notice at the time of issuance or renewal that the 901 

insurer may limit payment pursuant to the schedule of charges 902 

specified in this paragraph. A policy form approved by the 903 

office satisfies this requirement. If a provider submits a 904 

charge for an amount less than the amount allowed under 905 

subparagraph 1., the insurer may pay the amount of the charge 906 

submitted. 907 

(b)1. An insurer or insured is not required to pay a claim 908 

or charges: 909 

a. Made by a broker or by a person making a claim on behalf 910 

of a broker; 911 

b. For any service or treatment that was not lawful at the 912 

time rendered; 913 

c. To any person who knowingly submits a false or 914 

misleading statement relating to the claim or charges; 915 

d. With respect to a bill or statement that does not 916 

substantially meet the applicable requirements of paragraph (d); 917 

e. For any treatment or service that is upcoded, or that is 918 

unbundled when such treatment or services should be bundled, in 919 

accordance with paragraph (d). To facilitate prompt payment of 920 

lawful services, an insurer may change codes that it determines 921 

to have been improperly or incorrectly upcoded or unbundled, and 922 

may make payment based on the changed codes, without affecting 923 

the right of the provider to dispute the change by the insurer, 924 

if, provided that before doing so, the insurer contacts must 925 

contact the health care provider and discusses discuss the 926 

reasons for the insurer’s change and the health care provider’s 927 

reason for the coding, or makes make a reasonable good faith 928 



Florida Senate - 2012 CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

597-02844-12 20121860c1 

Page 33 of 52 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

effort to do so, as documented in the insurer’s file; and 929 

f. For medical services or treatment billed by a physician 930 

and not provided in a hospital unless such services are rendered 931 

by the physician or are incident to his or her professional 932 

services and are included on the physician’s bill, including 933 

documentation verifying that the physician is responsible for 934 

the medical services that were rendered and billed. 935 

2. The Department of Health, in consultation with the 936 

appropriate professional licensing boards, shall adopt, by rule, 937 

a list of diagnostic tests deemed not to be medically necessary 938 

for use in the treatment of persons sustaining bodily injury 939 

covered by personal injury protection benefits under this 940 

section. The initial list shall be adopted by January 1, 2004, 941 

and shall be revised from time to time as determined by the 942 

Department of Health, in consultation with the respective 943 

professional licensing boards. Inclusion of a test on the list 944 

of invalid diagnostic tests shall be based on lack of 945 

demonstrated medical value and a level of general acceptance by 946 

the relevant provider community and may shall not be dependent 947 

for results entirely upon subjective patient response. 948 

Notwithstanding its inclusion on a fee schedule in this 949 

subsection, an insurer or insured is not required to pay any 950 

charges or reimburse claims for an any invalid diagnostic test 951 

as determined by the Department of Health. 952 

(c)1. With respect to any treatment or service, other than 953 

medical services billed by a hospital or other provider for 954 

emergency services and care as defined in s. 395.002 or 955 

inpatient services rendered at a hospital-owned facility, the 956 

statement of charges must be furnished to the insurer by the 957 

Florida Senate - 2012 CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

597-02844-12 20121860c1 

Page 34 of 52 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

provider and may not include, and the insurer is not required to 958 

pay, charges for treatment or services rendered more than 35 959 

days before the postmark date or electronic transmission date of 960 

the statement, except for past due amounts previously billed on 961 

a timely basis under this paragraph, and except that, if the 962 

provider submits to the insurer a notice of initiation of 963 

treatment within 21 days after its first examination or 964 

treatment of the claimant, the statement may include charges for 965 

treatment or services rendered up to, but not more than, 75 days 966 

before the postmark date of the statement. The injured party is 967 

not liable for, and the provider may shall not bill the injured 968 

party for, charges that are unpaid because of the provider’s 969 

failure to comply with this paragraph. Any agreement requiring 970 

the injured person or insured to pay for such charges is 971 

unenforceable. 972 

1.2. If, however, the insured fails to furnish the provider 973 

with the correct name and address of the insured’s personal 974 

injury protection insurer, the provider has 35 days from the 975 

date the provider obtains the correct information to furnish the 976 

insurer with a statement of the charges. The insurer is not 977 

required to pay for such charges unless the provider includes 978 

with the statement documentary evidence that was provided by the 979 

insured during the 35-day period demonstrating that the provider 980 

reasonably relied on erroneous information from the insured and 981 

either: 982 

a. A denial letter from the incorrect insurer; or 983 

b. Proof of mailing, which may include an affidavit under 984 

penalty of perjury, reflecting timely mailing to the incorrect 985 

address or insurer. 986 



Florida Senate - 2012 CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

597-02844-12 20121860c1 

Page 35 of 52 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

2.3. For emergency services and care as defined in s. 987 

395.002 rendered in a hospital emergency department or for 988 

transport and treatment rendered by an ambulance provider 989 

licensed pursuant to part III of chapter 401, the provider is 990 

not required to furnish the statement of charges within the time 991 

periods established by this paragraph,; and the insurer is shall 992 

not be considered to have been furnished with notice of the 993 

amount of covered loss for purposes of paragraph (4)(b) until it 994 

receives a statement complying with paragraph (d), or copy 995 

thereof, which specifically identifies the place of service to 996 

be a hospital emergency department or an ambulance in accordance 997 

with billing standards recognized by the federal Centers for 998 

Medicare and Medicaid Services Health Care Finance 999 

Administration. 1000 

3.4. Each notice of the insured’s rights under s. 627.7401 1001 

must include the following statement in at least 12-point type 1002 

in type no smaller than 12 points: 1003 

 1004 

BILLING REQUIREMENTS.—Florida law provides Statutes 1005 

provide that with respect to any treatment or 1006 

services, other than certain hospital and emergency 1007 

services, the statement of charges furnished to the 1008 

insurer by the provider may not include, and the 1009 

insurer and the injured party are not required to pay, 1010 

charges for treatment or services rendered more than 1011 

35 days before the postmark date of the statement, 1012 

except for past due amounts previously billed on a 1013 

timely basis, and except that, if the provider submits 1014 

to the insurer a notice of initiation of treatment 1015 

Florida Senate - 2012 CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

597-02844-12 20121860c1 

Page 36 of 52 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

within 21 days after its first examination or 1016 

treatment of the claimant, the statement may include 1017 

charges for treatment or services rendered up to, but 1018 

not more than, 75 days before the postmark date of the 1019 

statement. 1020 

 1021 

(d) All statements and bills for medical services rendered 1022 

by a any physician, hospital, clinic, or other person or 1023 

institution shall be submitted to the insurer on a properly 1024 

completed Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services (CMS) 1500 1025 

form, UB 92 forms, or any other standard form approved by the 1026 

office or adopted by the commission for purposes of this 1027 

paragraph. All billings for such services rendered by providers 1028 

must shall, to the extent applicable, follow the Physicians’ 1029 

Current Procedural Terminology (CPT) or Healthcare Correct 1030 

Procedural Coding System (HCPCS), or ICD-9 in effect for the 1031 

year in which services are rendered and comply with the Centers 1032 

for Medicare and Medicaid Services (CMS) 1500 form instructions, 1033 

and the American Medical Association Current Procedural 1034 

Terminology (CPT) Editorial Panel, and the Healthcare Correct 1035 

Procedural Coding System (HCPCS). All providers, other than 1036 

hospitals, must shall include on the applicable claim form the 1037 

professional license number of the provider in the line or space 1038 

provided for “Signature of Physician or Supplier, Including 1039 

Degrees or Credentials.” In determining compliance with 1040 

applicable CPT and HCPCS coding, guidance shall be provided by 1041 

the Physicians’ Current Procedural Terminology (CPT) or the 1042 

Healthcare Correct Procedural Coding System (HCPCS) in effect 1043 

for the year in which services were rendered, the Office of the 1044 



Florida Senate - 2012 CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

597-02844-12 20121860c1 

Page 37 of 52 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

Inspector General (OIG), Physicians Compliance Guidelines, and 1045 

other authoritative treatises designated by rule by the Agency 1046 

for Health Care Administration. A No statement of medical 1047 

services may not include charges for medical services of a 1048 

person or entity that performed such services without possessing 1049 

the valid licenses required to perform such services. For 1050 

purposes of paragraph (4)(b), an insurer is shall not be 1051 

considered to have been furnished with notice of the amount of 1052 

covered loss or medical bills due unless the statements or bills 1053 

comply with this paragraph, and unless the statements or bills 1054 

are properly completed in their entirety as to all material 1055 

provisions, with all relevant information being provided 1056 

therein. 1057 

(e)1. At the initial treatment or service provided, each 1058 

physician, other licensed professional, clinic, or other medical 1059 

institution providing medical services upon which a claim for 1060 

personal injury protection benefits is based shall require an 1061 

insured person, or his or her guardian, to execute a disclosure 1062 

and acknowledgment form, which reflects at a minimum that: 1063 

a. The insured, or his or her guardian, must countersign 1064 

the form attesting to the fact that the services set forth 1065 

therein were actually rendered; 1066 

b. The insured, or his or her guardian, has both the right 1067 

and affirmative duty to confirm that the services were actually 1068 

rendered; 1069 

c. The insured, or his or her guardian, was not solicited 1070 

by any person to seek any services from the medical provider; 1071 

d. The physician, other licensed professional, clinic, or 1072 

other medical institution rendering services for which payment 1073 

Florida Senate - 2012 CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

597-02844-12 20121860c1 

Page 38 of 52 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

is being claimed explained the services to the insured or his or 1074 

her guardian; and 1075 

e. If the insured notifies the insurer in writing of a 1076 

billing error, the insured may be entitled to a certain 1077 

percentage of a reduction in the amounts paid by the insured’s 1078 

motor vehicle insurer. 1079 

2. The physician, other licensed professional, clinic, or 1080 

other medical institution rendering services for which payment 1081 

is being claimed has the affirmative duty to explain the 1082 

services rendered to the insured, or his or her guardian, so 1083 

that the insured, or his or her guardian, countersigns the form 1084 

with informed consent. 1085 

3. Countersignature by the insured, or his or her guardian, 1086 

is not required for the reading of diagnostic tests or other 1087 

services that are of such a nature that they are not required to 1088 

be performed in the presence of the insured. 1089 

4. The licensed medical professional rendering treatment 1090 

for which payment is being claimed must sign, by his or her own 1091 

hand, the form complying with this paragraph. 1092 

5. The original completed disclosure and acknowledgment 1093 

form shall be furnished to the insurer pursuant to paragraph 1094 

(4)(b) and may not be electronically furnished. 1095 

6. The This disclosure and acknowledgment form is not 1096 

required for services billed by a provider for emergency 1097 

services as defined in s. 395.002, for emergency services and 1098 

care as defined in s. 395.002 rendered in a hospital emergency 1099 

department, or for transport and treatment rendered by an 1100 

ambulance provider licensed pursuant to part III of chapter 401. 1101 

7. The Financial Services Commission shall adopt, by rule, 1102 



Florida Senate - 2012 CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

597-02844-12 20121860c1 

Page 39 of 52 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

a standard disclosure and acknowledgment form to that shall be 1103 

used to fulfill the requirements of this paragraph, effective 90 1104 

days after such form is adopted and becomes final. The 1105 

commission shall adopt a proposed rule by October 1, 2003. Until 1106 

the rule is final, the provider may use a form of its own which 1107 

otherwise complies with the requirements of this paragraph. 1108 

8. As used in this paragraph, the term “countersign” or 1109 

“countersignature” “countersigned” means a second or verifying 1110 

signature, as on a previously signed document, and is not 1111 

satisfied by the statement “signature on file” or any similar 1112 

statement. 1113 

9. The requirements of this paragraph apply only with 1114 

respect to the initial treatment or service of the insured by a 1115 

provider. For subsequent treatments or service, the provider 1116 

must maintain a patient log signed by the patient, in 1117 

chronological order by date of service, which that is consistent 1118 

with the services being rendered to the patient as claimed. The 1119 

requirement to maintain requirements of this subparagraph for 1120 

maintaining a patient log signed by the patient may be met by a 1121 

hospital that maintains medical records as required by s. 1122 

395.3025 and applicable rules and makes such records available 1123 

to the insurer upon request. 1124 

(f) Upon written notification by any person, an insurer 1125 

shall investigate any claim of improper billing by a physician 1126 

or other medical provider. The insurer shall determine if the 1127 

insured was properly billed for only those services and 1128 

treatments that the insured actually received. If the insurer 1129 

determines that the insured has been improperly billed, the 1130 

insurer shall notify the insured, the person making the written 1131 

Florida Senate - 2012 CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

597-02844-12 20121860c1 

Page 40 of 52 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

notification, and the provider of its findings and shall reduce 1132 

the amount of payment to the provider by the amount determined 1133 

to be improperly billed. If a reduction is made due to a such 1134 

written notification by any person, the insurer shall pay to the 1135 

person 20 percent of the amount of the reduction, up to $500. If 1136 

the provider is arrested due to the improper billing, then the 1137 

insurer shall pay to the person 40 percent of the amount of the 1138 

reduction, up to $500. 1139 

(g) An insurer may not systematically downcode with the 1140 

intent to deny reimbursement otherwise due. Such action 1141 

constitutes a material misrepresentation under s. 1142 

626.9541(1)(i)2. 1143 

(h) As provided in s. 400.9905, an entity excluded from the 1144 

definition of a clinic shall be deemed a clinic and must be 1145 

licensed under part X of chapter 400 in order to receive 1146 

reimbursement under ss. 627.730-627.7405. However, this 1147 

licensing requirement does not apply to: 1148 

1. An entity wholly owned by a physician licensed under 1149 

chapter 458 or chapter 459, or by the physician and the spouse, 1150 

parent, child, or sibling of the physician; 1151 

2. An entity wholly owned by a dentist licensed under 1152 

chapter 466, or by the dentist and the spouse, parent, child, or 1153 

sibling of the dentist; 1154 

3. An entity wholly owned by a chiropractic physician 1155 

licensed under chapter 460, or by the chiropractic physician and 1156 

the spouse, parent, child, or sibling of the chiropractic 1157 

physician; 1158 

4. A hospital or ambulatory surgical center licensed under 1159 

chapter 395; or 1160 



Florida Senate - 2012 CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

597-02844-12 20121860c1 

Page 41 of 52 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

5. An entity wholly owned, directly or indirectly, by a 1161 

hospital or hospitals licensed under chapter 395. 1162 

(6) DISCOVERY OF FACTS ABOUT AN INJURED PERSON; DISPUTES.— 1163 

(a) Every employer shall, If a request is made by an 1164 

insurer providing personal injury protection benefits under ss. 1165 

627.730-627.7405 against whom a claim has been made, an employer 1166 

must furnish forthwith, in a form approved by the office, a 1167 

sworn statement of the earnings, since the time of the bodily 1168 

injury and for a reasonable period before the injury, of the 1169 

person upon whose injury the claim is based. 1170 

(b) Every physician, hospital, clinic, or other medical 1171 

institution providing, before or after bodily injury upon which 1172 

a claim for personal injury protection insurance benefits is 1173 

based, any products, services, or accommodations in relation to 1174 

that or any other injury, or in relation to a condition claimed 1175 

to be connected with that or any other injury, shall, if 1176 

requested to do so by the insurer against whom the claim has 1177 

been made, furnish forthwith a written report of the history, 1178 

condition, treatment, dates, and costs of such treatment of the 1179 

injured person and why the items identified by the insurer were 1180 

reasonable in amount and medically necessary, together with a 1181 

sworn statement that the treatment or services rendered were 1182 

reasonable and necessary with respect to the bodily injury 1183 

sustained and identifying which portion of the expenses for such 1184 

treatment or services was incurred as a result of such bodily 1185 

injury, and produce forthwith, and allow permit the inspection 1186 

and copying of, his or her or its records regarding such 1187 

history, condition, treatment, dates, and costs of treatment if; 1188 

provided that this does shall not limit the introduction of 1189 

Florida Senate - 2012 CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

597-02844-12 20121860c1 

Page 42 of 52 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

evidence at trial. Such sworn statement must shall read as 1190 

follows: “Under penalty of perjury, I declare that I have read 1191 

the foregoing, and the facts alleged are true, to the best of my 1192 

knowledge and belief.” A No cause of action for violation of the 1193 

physician-patient privilege or invasion of the right of privacy 1194 

may not be brought shall be permitted against any physician, 1195 

hospital, clinic, or other medical institution complying with 1196 

the provisions of this section. The person requesting such 1197 

records and such sworn statement shall pay all reasonable costs 1198 

connected therewith. If an insurer makes a written request for 1199 

documentation or information under this paragraph within 30 days 1200 

after having received notice of the amount of a covered loss 1201 

under paragraph (4)(a), the amount or the partial amount that 1202 

which is the subject of the insurer’s inquiry is shall become 1203 

overdue if the insurer does not pay in accordance with paragraph 1204 

(4)(b) or within 10 days after the insurer’s receipt of the 1205 

requested documentation or information, whichever occurs later. 1206 

As used in For purposes of this paragraph, the term “receipt” 1207 

includes, but is not limited to, inspection and copying pursuant 1208 

to this paragraph. An Any insurer that requests documentation or 1209 

information pertaining to reasonableness of charges or medical 1210 

necessity under this paragraph without a reasonable basis for 1211 

such requests as a general business practice is engaging in an 1212 

unfair trade practice under the insurance code. 1213 

(c) In the event of a any dispute regarding an insurer’s 1214 

right to discovery of facts under this section, the insurer may 1215 

petition a court of competent jurisdiction to enter an order 1216 

permitting such discovery. The order may be made only on motion 1217 

for good cause shown and upon notice to all persons having an 1218 



Florida Senate - 2012 CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

597-02844-12 20121860c1 

Page 43 of 52 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

interest, and must it shall specify the time, place, manner, 1219 

conditions, and scope of the discovery. Such court may, In order 1220 

to protect against annoyance, embarrassment, or oppression, as 1221 

justice requires, the court may enter an order refusing 1222 

discovery or specifying conditions of discovery and may order 1223 

payments of costs and expenses of the proceeding, including 1224 

reasonable fees for the appearance of attorneys at the 1225 

proceedings, as justice requires. 1226 

(d) The injured person shall be furnished, upon request, a 1227 

copy of all information obtained by the insurer under the 1228 

provisions of this section, and shall pay a reasonable charge, 1229 

if required by the insurer. 1230 

(e) Notice to an insurer of the existence of a claim may 1231 

shall not be unreasonably withheld by an insured. 1232 

(f) In a dispute between the insured and the insurer, or 1233 

between an assignee of the insured’s rights and the insurer, the 1234 

insurer must notify the insured or the assignee that the policy 1235 

limits under this section have been reached within 15 days after 1236 

the limits have been reached. 1237 

(8) APPLICABILITY OF PROVISION REGULATING ATTORNEY 1238 

ATTORNEY’S FEES.—With respect to any dispute under the 1239 

provisions of ss. 627.730-627.7405 between the insured and the 1240 

insurer, or between an assignee of an insured’s rights and the 1241 

insurer, the provisions of ss. s. 627.428 and 768.79 shall 1242 

apply, except as provided in subsections (10) and (15). 1243 

(9) PREFERRED PROVIDERS.—An insurer may negotiate and 1244 

contract enter into contracts with preferred licensed health 1245 

care providers for the benefits described in this section, 1246 

referred to in this section as “preferred providers,” which 1247 

Florida Senate - 2012 CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

597-02844-12 20121860c1 

Page 44 of 52 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

shall include health care providers licensed under chapter 1248 

chapters 458, chapter 459, chapter 460, chapter 461, or chapter 1249 

and 463. The insurer may provide an option to an insured to use 1250 

a preferred provider at the time of purchasing purchase of the 1251 

policy for personal injury protection benefits, if the 1252 

requirements of this subsection are met. If the insured elects 1253 

to use a provider who is not a preferred provider, whether the 1254 

insured purchased a preferred provider policy or a nonpreferred 1255 

provider policy, the medical benefits provided by the insurer 1256 

shall be as required by this section. If the insured elects to 1257 

use a provider who is a preferred provider, the insurer may pay 1258 

medical benefits in excess of the benefits required by this 1259 

section and may waive or lower the amount of any deductible that 1260 

applies to such medical benefits. If the insurer offers a 1261 

preferred provider policy to a policyholder or applicant, it 1262 

must also offer a nonpreferred provider policy. The insurer 1263 

shall provide each insured policyholder with a current roster of 1264 

preferred providers in the county in which the insured resides 1265 

at the time of purchase of such policy, and shall make such list 1266 

available for public inspection during regular business hours at 1267 

the insurer’s principal office of the insurer within the state. 1268 

(10) DEMAND LETTER.— 1269 

(a) As a condition precedent to filing any action for 1270 

benefits under this section, the insurer must be provided with 1271 

written notice of an intent to initiate litigation must be 1272 

provided to the insurer. Such notice may not be sent until the 1273 

claim is overdue, including any additional time the insurer has 1274 

to pay the claim pursuant to paragraph (4)(b). 1275 

(b) The notice must required shall state that it is a 1276 



Florida Senate - 2012 CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

597-02844-12 20121860c1 

Page 45 of 52 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

“demand letter under s. 627.736(10)” and shall state with 1277 

specificity: 1278 

1. The name of the insured upon which such benefits are 1279 

being sought, including a copy of the assignment giving rights 1280 

to the claimant if the claimant is not the insured. 1281 

2. The claim number or policy number upon which such claim 1282 

was originally submitted to the insurer. 1283 

3. To the extent applicable, the name of any medical 1284 

provider who rendered to an insured the treatment, services, 1285 

accommodations, or supplies that form the basis of such claim; 1286 

and an itemized statement specifying each exact amount, the date 1287 

of treatment, service, or accommodation, and the type of benefit 1288 

claimed to be due. A completed form satisfying the requirements 1289 

of paragraph (5)(d) or the lost-wage statement previously 1290 

submitted may be used as the itemized statement. To the extent 1291 

that the demand involves an insurer’s withdrawal of payment 1292 

under paragraph (7)(a) for future treatment not yet rendered, 1293 

the claimant shall attach a copy of the insurer’s notice 1294 

withdrawing such payment and an itemized statement of the type, 1295 

frequency, and duration of future treatment claimed to be 1296 

reasonable and medically necessary. 1297 

(c) Each notice required by this subsection must be 1298 

delivered to the insurer by United States certified or 1299 

registered mail, return receipt requested. Such postal costs 1300 

shall be reimbursed by the insurer if so requested by the 1301 

claimant in the notice, when the insurer pays the claim. Such 1302 

notice must be sent to the person and address specified by the 1303 

insurer for the purposes of receiving notices under this 1304 

subsection. Each licensed insurer, whether domestic, foreign, or 1305 

Florida Senate - 2012 CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

597-02844-12 20121860c1 

Page 46 of 52 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

alien, shall file with the office designation of the name and 1306 

address of the person to whom notices must pursuant to this 1307 

subsection shall be sent which the office shall make available 1308 

on its Internet website. The name and address on file with the 1309 

office pursuant to s. 624.422 are shall be deemed the authorized 1310 

representative to accept notice pursuant to this subsection if 1311 

in the event no other designation has been made. 1312 

(d) If, within 30 days after receipt of notice by the 1313 

insurer, the overdue claim specified in the notice is paid by 1314 

the insurer together with applicable interest and a penalty of 1315 

10 percent of the overdue amount paid by the insurer, subject to 1316 

a maximum penalty of $250, no action may be brought against the 1317 

insurer. If the demand involves an insurer’s withdrawal of 1318 

payment under paragraph (7)(a) for future treatment not yet 1319 

rendered, no action may be brought against the insurer if, 1320 

within 30 days after its receipt of the notice, the insurer 1321 

mails to the person filing the notice a written statement of the 1322 

insurer’s agreement to pay for such treatment in accordance with 1323 

the notice and to pay a penalty of 10 percent, subject to a 1324 

maximum penalty of $250, when it pays for such future treatment 1325 

in accordance with the requirements of this section. To the 1326 

extent the insurer determines not to pay any amount demanded, 1327 

the penalty is shall not be payable in any subsequent action. 1328 

For purposes of this subsection, payment or the insurer’s 1329 

agreement shall be treated as being made on the date a draft or 1330 

other valid instrument that is equivalent to payment, or the 1331 

insurer’s written statement of agreement, is placed in the 1332 

United States mail in a properly addressed, postpaid envelope, 1333 

or if not so posted, on the date of delivery. The insurer is not 1334 



Florida Senate - 2012 CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

597-02844-12 20121860c1 

Page 47 of 52 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

obligated to pay any attorney attorney’s fees if the insurer 1335 

pays the claim or mails its agreement to pay for future 1336 

treatment within the time prescribed by this subsection. 1337 

(e) The applicable statute of limitation for an action 1338 

under this section shall be tolled for a period of 30 business 1339 

days by the mailing of the notice required by this subsection. 1340 

(f) Any insurer making a general business practice of not 1341 

paying valid claims until receipt of the notice required by this 1342 

subsection is engaging in an unfair trade practice under the 1343 

insurance code. 1344 

(11) FAILURE TO PAY VALID CLAIMS; UNFAIR OR DECEPTIVE 1345 

PRACTICE.— 1346 

(a) If An insurer fails to pay valid claims for personal 1347 

injury protection with such frequency so as to indicate a 1348 

general business practice, the insurer is engaging in a 1349 

prohibited unfair or deceptive practice that is subject to the 1350 

penalties provided in s. 626.9521 and the office has the powers 1351 

and duties specified in ss. 626.9561-626.9601 if the insurer, 1352 

with such frequency so as to indicate a general business 1353 

practice: with respect thereto 1354 

1. Fails to pay valid claims for personal injury 1355 

protection; or 1356 

2. Fails to pay valid claims until receipt of the notice 1357 

required by subsection (10). 1358 

(b) Notwithstanding s. 501.212, the Department of Legal 1359 

Affairs may investigate and initiate actions for a violation of 1360 

this subsection, including, but not limited to, the powers and 1361 

duties specified in part II of chapter 501. 1362 

Section 8. Effective December 1, 2012, subsection (16) of 1363 

Florida Senate - 2012 CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

597-02844-12 20121860c1 

Page 48 of 52 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

section 627.736, Florida Statutes, is amended to read: 1364 

627.736 Required personal injury protection benefits; 1365 

exclusions; priority; claims.— 1366 

(16) SECURE ELECTRONIC DATA TRANSFER.—If all parties 1367 

mutually and expressly agree, A notice, documentation, 1368 

transmission, or communication of any kind required or 1369 

authorized under ss. 627.730-627.7405 may be transmitted 1370 

electronically if it is transmitted by secure electronic data 1371 

transfer that is consistent with state and federal privacy and 1372 

security laws. 1373 

Section 9. Subsections (1), (10), and (13) of section 1374 

817.234, Florida Statutes, are amended to read: 1375 

817.234 False and fraudulent insurance claims.— 1376 

(1)(a) A person commits insurance fraud punishable as 1377 

provided in subsection (11) if that person, with the intent to 1378 

injure, defraud, or deceive any insurer: 1379 

1. Presents or causes to be presented any written or oral 1380 

statement as part of, or in support of, a claim for payment or 1381 

other benefit pursuant to an insurance policy or a health 1382 

maintenance organization subscriber or provider contract, 1383 

knowing that such statement contains any false, incomplete, or 1384 

misleading information concerning any fact or thing material to 1385 

such claim; 1386 

2. Prepares or makes any written or oral statement that is 1387 

intended to be presented to any insurer in connection with, or 1388 

in support of, any claim for payment or other benefit pursuant 1389 

to an insurance policy or a health maintenance organization 1390 

subscriber or provider contract, knowing that such statement 1391 

contains any false, incomplete, or misleading information 1392 



Florida Senate - 2012 CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

597-02844-12 20121860c1 

Page 49 of 52 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

concerning any fact or thing material to such claim; or 1393 

3.a. Knowingly presents, causes to be presented, or 1394 

prepares or makes with knowledge or belief that it will be 1395 

presented to any insurer, purported insurer, servicing 1396 

corporation, insurance broker, or insurance agent, or any 1397 

employee or agent thereof, any false, incomplete, or misleading 1398 

information or written or oral statement as part of, or in 1399 

support of, an application for the issuance of, or the rating 1400 

of, any insurance policy, or a health maintenance organization 1401 

subscriber or provider contract; or 1402 

b. Who Knowingly conceals information concerning any fact 1403 

material to such application; or. 1404 

4. Knowingly presents, causes to be presented, or prepares 1405 

or makes with knowledge or belief that it will be presented to 1406 

any insurer a claim for payment or other benefit under a 1407 

personal injury protection insurance policy if the person knows 1408 

that the payee knowingly submitted a false, misleading, or 1409 

fraudulent application or other document when applying for 1410 

licensure as a health care clinic, seeking an exemption from 1411 

licensure as a health care clinic, or demonstrating compliance 1412 

with part X of chapter 400. 1413 

(b) All claims and application forms must shall contain a 1414 

statement that is approved by the Office of Insurance Regulation 1415 

of the Financial Services Commission which clearly states in 1416 

substance the following: “Any person who knowingly and with 1417 

intent to injure, defraud, or deceive any insurer files a 1418 

statement of claim or an application containing any false, 1419 

incomplete, or misleading information is guilty of a felony of 1420 

the third degree.” This paragraph does shall not apply to 1421 

Florida Senate - 2012 CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

597-02844-12 20121860c1 

Page 50 of 52 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

reinsurance contracts, reinsurance agreements, or reinsurance 1422 

claims transactions. 1423 

(10) A licensed health care practitioner who is found 1424 

guilty of insurance fraud under this section for an act relating 1425 

to a personal injury protection insurance policy loses his or 1426 

her license to practice for 5 years and may not receive 1427 

reimbursement for personal injury protection benefits for 10 1428 

years. As used in this section, the term “insurer” means any 1429 

insurer, health maintenance organization, self-insurer, self-1430 

insurance fund, or other similar entity or person regulated 1431 

under chapter 440 or chapter 641 or by the Office of Insurance 1432 

Regulation under the Florida Insurance Code. 1433 

(13) As used in this section, the term: 1434 

(a) “Insurer” means any insurer, health maintenance 1435 

organization, self-insurer, self-insurance fund, or similar 1436 

entity or person regulated under chapter 440 or chapter 641 or 1437 

by the Office of Insurance Regulation under the Florida 1438 

Insurance Code. 1439 

(b)(a) “Property” means property as defined in s. 812.012. 1440 

(c)(b) “Value” means value as defined in s. 812.012. 1441 

Section 10. Subsection (4) of section 316.065, Florida 1442 

Statutes, is amended to read: 1443 

316.065 Crashes; reports; penalties.— 1444 

(4) Any person who knowingly repairs a motor vehicle 1445 

without having made a report as required by subsection (3) is 1446 

guilty of a misdemeanor of the first degree, punishable as 1447 

provided in s. 775.082 or s. 775.083. The owner and driver of a 1448 

vehicle involved in a crash who makes a report thereof in 1449 

accordance with subsection (1) or s. 316.066(1) is not liable 1450 



Florida Senate - 2012 CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

597-02844-12 20121860c1 

Page 51 of 52 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

under this section. 1451 

Section 11. The Office of Insurance Regulation shall 1452 

perform a comprehensive personal injury protection data call and 1453 

publish the results by January 1, 2015. It is the intent of the 1454 

Legislature that the office design the data call with the 1455 

expectation that the Legislature will use the data to help 1456 

evaluate market conditions relating to the Florida Motor Vehicle 1457 

No-Fault Law and the impact on the market of reforms to the law 1458 

made by this act. The elements of the data call must address, 1459 

but need not be limited to, the following components of the 1460 

Florida Motor Vehicle No-Fault Law: 1461 

(1) Quantity of personal injury protection claims. 1462 

(2) Type or nature of claimants. 1463 

(3) Amount and type of personal injury protection benefits 1464 

paid and expenses incurred. 1465 

(4) Type and quantity of, and charges for, medical 1466 

benefits. 1467 

(5) Attorney fees related to bringing and defending actions 1468 

for benefits. 1469 

(6) Direct earned premiums for personal injury protection 1470 

coverage, pure loss ratios, pure premiums, and other information 1471 

related to premiums and losses. 1472 

(7) Licensed drivers and accidents. 1473 

(8) Fraud and enforcement. 1474 

Section 12. If any provision of this act or its application 1475 

to any person or circumstance is held invalid, the invalidity 1476 

does not affect other provisions or applications of the act 1477 

which can be given effect without the invalid provision or 1478 

application, and to this end the provisions of this act are 1479 

Florida Senate - 2012 CS for SB 1860 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

597-02844-12 20121860c1 

Page 52 of 52 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

severable. 1480 

Section 13. Except as otherwise expressly provided in this 1481 

act, this act shall take effect July 1, 2012. 1482 





















































The Florida Senate 

BILL ANALYSIS AND FISCAL IMPACT STATEMENT 
(This document is based on the provisions contained in the legislation as of the latest date listed below.) 

Prepared By: The Professional Staff of the Budget Committee 

 

BILL:  CS/SB 1312 

INTRODUCER:  Budget Committee and Senator Gaetz 

SUBJECT:  Administrative Authority of the Executive Branch 

DATE:  February 29, 2012 

 

 ANALYST  STAFF DIRECTOR  REFERENCE  ACTION 

1. Seay  Roberts  GO  Favorable 

2. McSwain  Rhodes  BC  Fav/CS 

3.        

4.        

5.        

6.        

 

Please see Section VIII. for Additional Information: 

A. COMMITTEE SUBSTITUTE..... X Statement of Substantial Changes 

 B. AMENDMENTS........................  Technical amendments were recommended 

   Amendments were recommended 

   Significant amendments were recommended 

 

I. Summary: 

This bill clarifies legislative intent of the extent of the executive branch’s administrative 

authority in response to the Florida Supreme Court’s ruling in Whiley v. Scott. This bill also 

repeals unused rulemaking delegations to state agencies. 

 

This bill substantially amends the following sections of the Florida Statutes: 11.242, 15.16, 

16.60, 20.02, 20.03, 20.05, 39.0137, 63.167, 97.026, 97.061. 103.101, 106.165, 110.1055, 

110.12301, 118.12, 121.5911, 159.8081, 159.8083, 366.85, 501.142 and 985.682 of the Florida 

Statutes.  This bill creates section 120.515 of the Florida Statutes.  This bill repeals sections 

17.0416, 17.59(3), 25.371, 28.43, 35.07, 39.001(11), 39.824(1), 88.9051, 101.56062(3), 

110.1099(5), 110.1228(7), 112.1915(4), 121.085(1), 121.1001(4)(b), 121.4503(3), 125.902(4), 

154.503(4), 159.825(3), 161.75, 163.462, 163.517(6), 175.341(2), 177.504(2)(e), 185.23(2), 

255.25001(2), 257.34(7), 364.0135(6) and 409.5092. 

REVISED:         



BILL: CS/SB 1312   Page 2 

 

II. Present Situation: 

Rulemaking under Florida’s Administrative Procedures Act 

Rulemaking is a legislative function which may be delegated to an agency by the Legislature
1
 by 

general law. The Legislature must provide an express grant of authority in order for an agency to 

implement a specific law by rulemaking,
2
 as well as specific standards and guidelines sufficient 

to preclude the agency from exercising unbridled discretion in creating policy or applying the 

law.
3
  

 

All agencies with delegated rulemaking authority must follow the process and procedure set out 

in the Administrative Procedures Act (APA) contained in Chapter 120, F.S., unless otherwise 

provided by law. The APA ensures a uniform procedure to protect the rights of the public when 

dealing with agencies. The Act contains a general mandate to commence rulemaking within 180 

days of the effective date of a new law requiring the promulgation of rules,
4
 but does not control 

the initial process an agency follows to consider, review, research, or otherwise choose among 

alternative approaches to formulate a rule implementing law. 

 

Unless the proposal is to repeal an existing rule, the agency must publish a notice of rule 

development and may schedule workshops to allow public input.
5
 Once an internal decision is 

made and the agency head approves the adoption of a specific proposed rule, the agency must 

publish notice of intended rule adoption and the complete text of the proposal.
6
 After completing 

public hearings (if requested),
7
 resolving changes requested by the Joint Administrative 

Procedures Committee (JAPC),
8
 providing a statement of estimated regulatory costs both to 

those who provided proposed lower cost alternatives to the rule and to the public,
9
 or the entry of 

a final order on a petition challenging the proposed rule,
10

 with the approval of the agency head 

the rule may be filed for adoption with the Department of State.
11

 The rule then goes into effect 

20 days after filing, or at a later date if specified in the original notice of rulemaking, or upon 

ratification by the Legislature.
12

 

 

                                                 
1
 Section 1, Art. III, Fla. Const.; Southwest Florida Water Management District v. Save the Manatee Club, Inc., 773 So. 2d 

594 (Fla. 1
st
 DCA 2000); Dept. of Revenue v. Novoa, 745 So. 2d 378, 380 (Fla. 1

st
 DCA 1999). 

2
 Sloban v. Florida Board of Pharmacy,982 So. 2d 26, 29-30 (Fla. 1

st
 DCA 2008); Board of Trustees of the Internal 

Improvement Trust Fund v. Day Cruise Association, Inc., 794 So. 2d 696, 704 (Fla. 1
st
 DCA 2001); Askew v. Cross Key 

Waterways, 372 So. 2d 913, 925 (Fla. 1979). 
3
 Section 120.52(8) & s. 120.536(1), F.S. 

4
 Section 120.54(1)(b), F.S. 

5
 Section 120.54(2), F.S. 

6
 Section 120.54(3)(a)1., F.S. 

7
 Section 120.54(3)(c), F.S. 

8
 Sections 120.54(3)(d), 120.545(3)(a), F.S. 

9
 Section 120.541, F.S. 

10
 Section 120.56, F.S. 

11
 Section 120.54(3)(e), F.S. 

12
 Section 120.54(3)(e)6., F.S. 



BILL: CS/SB 1312   Page 3 

 

Former Governors including Bob Martinez, Lawton Chiles, and Charlie Crist have used 

executive orders in varying capacities to direct and supervise the policies implemented by their 

appointed agency heads relating to the exercise of statutorily-created rulemaking authority.
13

 

 

Executive Orders 11-01 and 11-72 

Upon taking office, Governor Rick Scott issued Executive Order 11-01 creating the Office of 

Fiscal Accountability and Regulatory Reform (OFARR) within the Executive Office of the 

Governor.
14

 The executive order also directed all agencies under the direction of the Governor to 

immediately suspend all rulemaking.
15

 Agencies not supervised directly by the Governor were 

requested to suspend all rulemaking activities.
16

 OFARR was given specific duties pertaining to 

agency rulemaking, including reviewing proposed rules under specific policy guidelines set in 

the order. The main emphasis was to ensure that “agency-created rules do not hinder government 

performance and that they are fiscally responsible.”
17

 The order also established the schedule to 

be followed by state agencies in submitting proposed or amended rules to OFARR.
18

 

In April 2011, the Governor issued Executive Order 11-72 superseding Executive Order 11-01. 

The new order also required the suspension of agency rulemaking until approval was received 

from OFARR.
19

 

 

Whiley v. Scott 

In Whiley, the Florida Supreme Court heard a petition challenging the Governor’s authority to 

direct and supervise delegated rulemaking by appointed agency heads serving at his pleasure. On 

August 16, 2011, the majority of Supreme Court ruled that portions of the executive order 

violated the Administrative Procedure Act (APA) by “suspending and terminating rulemaking by 

precluding notice publication and other compliance with Chapter 120 absent prior approval by 

OFARR.”
20

 The majority of the court more narrowly interpreted the “supreme executive power” 

vested in the Governor by article IV, section 1 of the Florida Constitution. Although executive 

agency heads serve at the pleasure of the Governor, the court concluded that “the power to 

remove is not analogous to the power to control [an agency].” The majority opinion noted that 

the Legislature may, and has in several cases, delegate particular responsibilities in the oversight 

of rulemaking to the Executive Office of the Governor.
21

 

 

In his dissent, Chief Justice Canady found that Florida law imposes no restriction on the 

authority of the Governor to supervise and direct policy choices made by subordinate executive 

officials with respect to rulemaking. In a separate dissent, Justice Polston found that “nothing in 

the APA prohibits the Governor from performing executive oversight to ensure that the 

                                                 
13

 See Staff Analysis for PCB 12-02, Rulemaking and Regulation Subcommittee, Florida House of Representatives (for a 

comprehensive discussion of the historical use of executive orders to supervise agency rulemaking). 
14

 Office of the Governor, Executive Order Number 11-01, available at 

http://edocs.dlis.state.fl.us/fldocs/governor/orders/2011/11-01-rulemaking.pdf [hereinafter Exec. Order 11-01]. 
15

 Id. 
16

 Id. 
17

 Whiley v. Scott, -- So. 3d --, 2011 Lexis 1900, 36 Fla. L. Weekly S 451 (Fla. 2011). 
18

 Exec. Order 11-01, supra note 14. 
19

 Id. 
20

 Whiley, supra note 17, at *27. 
21

 Whiley, supra note 17, at *35; see, e.g., section 14.2015, F.S., section 288.7015, F.S. 



BILL: CS/SB 1312   Page 4 

 

rulemaking process at his agencies results in effective and efficient rules that accord with Florida 

law.”
22

 Both dissenting justices adopted a more expansive reading of article IV, section 6 of the 

Florida Constitution granting the Governor authority to suspend executive agency rulemaking. 

 

Responding to the Court’s ruling in Whiley, the Governor issued Executive Order 11-211. The 

order provided that appointed agency heads can voluntarily cooperate with OFARR’s role in 

overseeing proposed rulemaking.  

 

Unused Rulemaking Delegations 

Legislative grants of rulemaking authority provide agencies with flexibility to address issues 

arising in the administration of a statute. A number of provisions authorizing agency rulemaking 

have been in statute for more than five years but have never been used. In instances where 

agencies have been able to administer statutory programs without relying on rulemaking, the 

grant of rulemaking authority appears unnecessary. 

III. Effect of Proposed Changes: 

Section 1 provides legislative findings relating to the administrative authority of the executive 

branch and the Florida Supreme Court’s ruling in Whiley v. Scott. 

 

Section 2 affirms that Executive Orders 11-72 and 11-211 are consistent with law and public 

policy of the state. 

 

Section 3 provides the Legislature’s intent that by placing an agency under the direct supervision 

of a non-elected agency head appointed by and serving at the pleasure of the Governor, the 

Legislature does not intend to limit in any way the Governor’s constitutionally vested authority 

to direct and supervise the implementation of executive policy by these appointees unless 

expressly stated otherwise in law. 

 

Section 4 creates a new s. 20.02(3), F.S., clarifying that an agency head appointed by and 

serving at the pleasure of the Governor remains under the oversight, direction, and supervision of 

the Governor. 

 

Section 5 amends s. 20.03, F.S., amending the definition of “agency head” by stating those 

agency heads appointed by and serving at the pleasure of the Governor remain under the 

Governor’s supervision and direction; amending the definition of “Secretary” by changing 

“constitution” to “State Constitution”; creating a new definition to expressly define “to serve at 

the pleasure.” 

 

Section 6 amends s. 20.05(1), F.S., by making the exercise of authority of any agency head 

subject to the allotment power under Article IV of the State Constitution. 

 

Section 7 creates s. 120.515, F.S., clarifying that the APA is a procedural statute and does not 

alter the substantive authority of elected officials over their appointees; clarifying that the APA 

                                                 
22

 Whiley, supra note 17 at *60-61. 



BILL: CS/SB 1312   Page 5 

 

does not divest any authority to direct or supervise appointed agency heads and, by adhering to 

the direction and supervision of the appointing authority, the appointee does not delegate or 

transfer any statutory authority. 

 

Section 8 amends s. 120.52, F.S., providing that an agency head appointed by and serving at the 

pleasure of an appointing authority remains subjects to the direction and supervision of the 

appointing authority, but actions taken by the agency head as authorized by statute are official 

acts. 

 

Section 9 amends s. 11.242, F.S., providing that all statutes and law, or parts thereof, containing 

duplicative, redundant, or unused rulemaking authority, shall be omitted through the process of 

reviser’s bills enacted by the Legislature, providing that rulemaking authority is deemed unused 

if the provision has been in effect for more than 5 years and no rule has been promulgated using 

that provision. 

 

Section 10 repeals s. 14.34(3), F.S., removing rulemaking authority to the Executive Office of 

the Governor to adopt rules relating to the Governor’s Medal of Merit. The rulemaking authority 

was first granted in 2004 and appears to have never been used. 

 

Section 11 amends s. 15.16(7), F.S., removing rulemaking authority to the Department of State 

to adopt rules relating to international processes for validating and verifying documents. The 

Department of State has not found it necessary to adopt rules for implementing this provision 

and has not expressed objection to the rulemaking repeal. 

 

Section 12 repeals s. 15.18(7), F.S., removing rulemaking authority to the Department of State to 

adopt rules relating to contracts for professional services and events funded by donations. The 

Department of State has never adopted rules under this provision, which was last amended in 

2002. The department has expressed no objection to the rulemaking repeal. 

 

Section 13 amends s. 16.60, F.S., removing rulemaking authority to the Office of the Attorney 

General to adopt rules of procedure relating to a mediation program that resolves public records 

disputes. The Attorney General’s office has never adopted rules under this provision, which was 

last amended in 2000. The office has expressed no objection to the removal of the rulemaking 

authority. 

 

Section 14 repeals s. 17.0416(2), F.S., removing rulemaking authority to the Department of 

Financial Services (DFS) to adopt rules to implement the section authorizing DFS to provide 

services on a fee basis to other public bodies and officers. DFS has not adopted rules under this 

provision, which was created in 2004. DFS does not object to the repeal of this rulemaking 

authority. 

 

Section 15 repeals 17.59(3), F.S., removing rulemaking authority to the Chief Financial Officer 

(CFO) to adopt rules for the management of safekeeping services. The CFO has not adopted 

rules under this provision, which was last amended in 2004. The CFO has expressed no objection 

to the repeal of this rulemaking provision. 

 



BILL: CS/SB 1312   Page 6 

 

Section 16 repeals s. 25.371, F.S., providing that Supreme Court rules override a statute in the 

case of a conflict. 

 

Section 17 repeals s. 28.43, F.S., removing rulemaking authority to the Department of Revenue 

and the Department of Financial Services to adopt rules relating to the funding and budgeting of 

court clerks. Neither department has objected to the repeal of this rulemaking authority. 

 

Section 18 repeals s. 35.07, F.S., providing that District Courts of Appeal may make rules and 

regulations for the internal management of the court. 

 

Section 19 repeals s. 39.001(11), F.S., removing rulemaking authority to the Executive Office of 

the Governor to adopt rules relating to the purposes and intent of proceedings relating to 

children.  EOG and the Governor’s Office of Adoption and Child Protection determined no rules 

were necessary to implement s. 39.001, F.S., and no rules have been adopted in reliance on the 

provision.  The rulemaking power is unnecessary because it is duplicative of s. 39.012, F.S., 

authorizing the Department of Children and Family Services to make rules to implement the 

entire chapter. 

 

Section 20 amends s. 39.0137(2), F.S., removing rulemaking authority to the Department of 

Children and Family Services to adopt rules to facilitate implementation of the federal Indian 

Child Welfare Act. This rulemaking power is unnecessary because it is duplicative of s. 39.012, 

F.S., authorizing the Department of Children and Family Services to make rules to implement 

the entire chapter. 

 

Section 21 repeals s. 39.824(1), F.S., removing a 1989 request to the Supreme Court to adopt 

rules of procedure to implement part of Chapter 39, F.S. 

 

Section 22 amends s. 63.167(3), F.S., removing rulemaking authority relating to the state 

adoption information center. This provision was last amended in 2003 and no rules appear to 

have been adopted by the Department of Children and Family Services based on this provision. 

 

Section 23 repeals s. 88.9051, F.S., relating to the Uniform Interstate Family Support Act. 

Chapter 88, F.S. currently does not contain a definition identifying the department empowered 

by the section. No rule appears to be in effect that relies on the section. 

 

Section 24 amends s. 97.026, F.S., removing rulemaking authority allowing the Department of 

State to adopt rules relating to the availability of elections-related forms in alternate formats and 

via the internet. The Department of State has rulemaking authority under s. 97.012, F.S., to 

implement s. 97.026, F.S. No rule appears to have been promulgated by the language currently in 

s. 97.026, F.S. The Department has indicated that it does not object to the repeal. 

 

Section 25 amends s. 97.0555, F.S., removing rulemaking authority allowing the Department of 

State to adopt rules relating to late voter registration by uniformed servicepersons and their 

accompanying family members. The Department of State has rulemaking authority under 

s. 97.012, F.S., to implement s. 97.0555, F.S. No rule appears to have been promulgated by the 

language currently in s. 97.0555, F.S. The Department has indicated that it does not object to the 

repeal. 



BILL: CS/SB 1312   Page 7 

 

 

Section 26 amends s. 97.061, F.S., removing rulemaking authority allowing the Department of 

State to adopt rules relating to procedures for registering persons requiring assistance. The 

Department of State has rulemaking authority under s. 97.012, F.S., to implement s. 97.061, F.S. 

No rule appears to have been promulgated by the language currently in s. 97.061, F.S. The 

Department has indicated that it does not object to the repeal. 

 

Section 27 repeals s. 101.56062(3), F.S., removing rulemaking authority allowing the 

Department of State to adopt rules relating to standards for accessible voting systems. The 

Department of State has rulemaking authority under s. 97.012, F.S., to implement s. 101.56062, 

F.S. No rule appears to have been promulgated by the language currently in s. 101.56062, F.S. 

The Department has indicated that it does not object to the repeal. 

 

Section 28 amends s. 103.101, F.S., removing rulemaking authority allowing the Department of 

State to adopt rules relating to the presidential preference primary. No rule appears to have been 

adopted in reliance on the provision. The Department of State has expressed that it does not 

intend to adopt rules under this section and does not object to the repeal. 

 

Section 29 amends s. 106.165, F.S., removing rulemaking authority relating to the use of closed 

captioning in electioneering broadcasts. The Division of Elections currently has rulemaking 

authority under s. 106.22(9), F.S., to implement s. 106.165, F.S. No rule appears to have been 

promulgated by the Department of State in reliance on the rulemaking authority currently in 

s. 106.165, F.S. The Department has indicated that it does not object to the repeal. 

 

Section 30 amends s. 110.1055, F.S., removing obsolete language that may create confusion 

about the authority of the Department of Management Services to make rules implementing 

amendments to provisions in chapter 110, F.S., that have been enacted since 2002.  The amended 

language will serve as general rulemaking authority to effectuate all of chapter 110, F.S. 

 

Section 31 repeals s. 110.1099(5), F.S., removing rulemaking authority allowing the Department 

of Management Services to adopt rules relating to education and training opportunities for state 

employees. The Department of Management Services has rulemaking authority under 

s. 110.1055, F.S, to implement s. 110.1099(5), F.S. 

 

Section 32 repeals s. 110.1228(7), F.S., removing rulemaking authority allowing the Department 

of Management Services to adopt rules relating to participation of small political subdivisions in 

the state group health plan. The Department of Management Services has rulemaking authority 

under s. 110.1055, F.S., to implement s. 110.1228(7), F.S. 

 

Section 33 amends s. 110.12301, F.S., removing rulemaking authority allowing the Department 

of Management Services to adopt rules relating to postpayment claims review and dependent 

eligibility.  

 

Section 34 repeals s. 112.1915(4), F.S., removing rulemaking authority allowing the State Board 

of Education to adopt rules to implement a special death benefit for teachers and school 

administrators. The Board does not appear to have adopted rules under the provision which has 

not been amended since 2004. 



BILL: CS/SB 1312   Page 8 

 

 

Section 35 amends s. 118.12, F.S., removing rulemaking authority allowing the Department of 

State to adopt rules relating to the certification of civil-law notaries and apostilles. The 

Department of State has not used the rulemaking authority for implementation of the section and 

does not object to its appeal. 

 

Section 36 repeals s. 121.085(1), F.S., removing rulemaking authority allowing the Department 

of State to adopt rules establishing procedures to establish claims of creditable service under the 

Florida Retirement System.  

 

Section 37 repeals s. 121.1001(4)(b), F.S., which authorizes rulemaking to implement a 1999 

provision to protect pension benefits that may exceed federal benefit limitations.  The 

rulemaking authority in paragraph (4)(b) does not appear to have been used by the Division of 

Retirement.  DMS appears to have sufficient authority under s. 121.031(1), F.S., to administer all 

provisions of law relating to compliance with federal law affecting pension benefits. 

 

Section 38 repeals s. 121.4503(3), F.S., which authorizes rulemaking relating to the Florida 

Retirement System Contributions Clearing Trust Fund.  DMS does not appear to have utilized 

this particular provision of rulemaking authority since its enactment in 2002.  The State Board of 

Administration and DMS appear to have sufficient rulemaking authority under s. 121.4501(8), 

F.S., and s. 121.031(1), F.S., to administer the Contributions Clearing Trust Fund. 

 

Section 39 amends s. 121.5911, F.S., striking rulemaking authority relating to the disability 

retirement program.  DMS does not appear to have utilized the particular provision of 

rulemaking authority since its enactment in 2002.  The Department appears to have sufficient 

rulemaking authority under s. 121.031(1), F.S., to implement legislative intent expressed in s. 

121.5911, F.S. 

 

Section 40 repeals s. 125.902(4), F.S., directing the Department of Children and Family Services 

to adopt rules as necessary to implement this section enacted in 2000 pertaining to children’s 

services councils or juvenile welfare board grant applications.  The Department does not appear 

to have adopted rules, indicating that the rulemaking authority is unnecessary. 

 

Section 41 repeals s. 154.503(4), F.S., which authorizes rulemaking by the Department of Health 

to implement the Primary Care for Children and Families Challenge Grant Act, adopted in 1997.  

The Department does not appear to have adopted rules pursuant to the provision, indicating that 

the rulemaking authority is unnecessary. 

 

Section 42 amends s. 159.8081, F.S., striking rulemaking authority concerning the allocation by 

the Department of Economic Opportunity of bonding authority to finance manufacturing facility 

projects.  No rule appears to have been adopted under this provision which has been in existence 

more than 14 years. 

 

Section 43 amends s. 159.8083, F.S., strikes rulemaking authority concerning the allocation by 

the Department of Economic Opportunity of bonding authority to finance Florida First Business 

projects.  No rule appears to have been adopted under this provision which has been in existence 

more than 11 years. 



BILL: CS/SB 1312   Page 9 

 

 

Section 44 repeals s. 159.825(3), F.S., which authorizes rulemaking by the State Board of 

Administration to administer s. 159.825 governing the terms of certain governmental bonds 

paying interest that is subject to federal income taxes.  No rule appears to have been adopted 

under this provision, which has been in existence more than 13 years. 

 

Section 45 repeals s. 161.75, F.S., which authorizes rulemaking by the Department of 

Environmental Protection and the Fish and Wildlife Conservation Commission to implement the 

Oceans and Coastal Resources Act (part IV of ch. 161).  No rules appear to have been adopted 

implementing this part, which is over 6 years old. 

 

Section 46 repeals s. 163.462, F.S., which authorizes rulemaking by the Department of 

Community Affairs to implement the Community-Based Development Organization Act (ss. 

163.455-163.462, F.S.).  No rules have been adopted since the 2000 effective date of the Act.  

HB 4027 (2012) proposes repeal of the entire Act. 

 

Section 47 repeals s. 163.517(6), F.S., which authorizes rulemaking by the Department of Legal 

Affairs to implement the section relating to the State Neighborhoods Program of matching 

planning grants and technical assistance.  HB 191 (2012) and CS/SB 582 (2012) both 

recommend repeal of s. 163.517, F.S.  The section has not been amended in 18 years, and no 

rules have been adopted to implement it. 

 

Section 48 repeals s. 175.341(2), F.S., which authorizes rulemaking by the Division of 

Retirement to implement its duties for daily oversight, monitoring actuarial soundness, and the 

statutes pertaining to firefighter pension funds.  The Department does not utilize rulemaking in 

administering either chapter 175, F.S., or chapter 185, F.S., and does not object to repeal of this 

provision. 

 

Section 49 repeals s. 177.504(2)(e), F.S., which authorizes rulemaking by the Department of 

Environmental Protection to administer ss. 177.501-177.510, F.S., the Florida Public Lands 

Survey Restoration and Perpetuation Act, pertaining to restoring controlling corner monuments 

established by prior cadastral surveys.  No rules have been adopted under this provision, which is 

over 13 years old. 

 

Section 50 repeals s. 185.23(2), F.S., which authorizes rulemaking by the Division of Retirement 

to implement its duties for daily oversight, monitoring actuarial soundness, and the statutes 

pertaining to municipal police officer pension funds.  The Department does not utilize 

rulemaking in administering either chapter 175, F.S., or 185, F.S., and does not object to repeal 

of this provision. 

 

Section 51 repeals s. 255.25001(2), F.S., which authorizes rulemaking by the Department of 

Management Services relating to the efficacy of the state entering into lease-purchase 

agreements for state-owned office buildings.  The Department of Management Services has 

never adopted rules under this statute and appears to have adequate authority to address lease-

purchase agreements under s. 255.25, F.S. 

 



BILL: CS/SB 1312   Page 10 

 

Section 52 repeals s. 257.34(7), F.S., which authorizes rulemaking by the Division of Library 

and Information Services of the Department of State pertaining to the administration of the 

Florida International Archive and Repository.  The Department of State is able to fully 

implement the statute without rules and agrees this specific rulemaking authority is unnecessary. 

 

Section 53 repeals s. 364.0135(6), F.S., which authorizes rulemaking by the Department of 

Management Services pertaining to the promotion of adopting broadband services.  The 

Department has adopted no rules under this statute and sees no need for this authority other than 

possible contingent changes in public policy. 

 

Section 54 amends s. 366.85, F.S., strikes rulemaking authority pertaining to the duties of the 

Department of Agriculture and Consumer Services for consumer conciliation conferences which 

may be required pursuant to federal law and preparing lists of energy conservation products or 

services.  The statute provides sufficient guidance, and the Department has determined this grant 

of authority is not necessary. 

 

Section 55 repeals s. 409.5092, F.S., which authorizes rulemaking by the Department of 

Economic Opportunity pertaining to obtaining permission before “weatherizing” a residence.  

The Department determined this authority is unnecessary as federal rules apply to this issue. 

 

Section 56 amends s. 501.142, F.S., strikes rulemaking authority pertaining to the regulation of 

refunds in retail sales establishments by the Department of Agriculture and Consumer Services, 

and the authority to impose sanctions for violating rules of the Department.  This rulemaking 

authority was first created in 2006, was used to adopt rules, and appears unnecessary for the 

operation of the program.  The Department has determined this grant of authority is not 

necessary. 

 

Section 57 amends s. 985.682, F.S., pertaining to the siting of facilities for children committed to 

the custody, care, or supervision of the Department of Juvenile Justice.  The amendment 

conforms the language of this statute with the repeal of s. 255.25001(2), in the bill. 

 

Section 58 provides an effective date of July 1, 2012. 

IV. Constitutional Issues: 

A. Municipality/County Mandates Restrictions: 

None. 

B. Public Records/Open Meetings Issues: 

None. 

C. Trust Funds Restrictions: 

None. 



BILL: CS/SB 1312   Page 11 

 

V. Fiscal Impact Statement: 

A. Tax/Fee Issues: 

None. 

B. Private Sector Impact: 

None. 

C. Government Sector Impact: 

None. 

VI. Technical Deficiencies: 

None. 

VII. Related Issues: 

None.  

VIII. Additional Information: 

A. Committee Substitute – Statement of Substantial Changes: 
(Summarizing differences between the Committee Substitute and the prior version of the bill.) 

CS by Budget on February 29, 2012: 

The CS reorganizes the legislative findings that were in the preamble in the original bill.  

The CS also adds additional unused rulemaking delegations to various state agencies.  

The CS also clarifies sections of the bill pertaining to the direction and supervision of 

appointees serving at the pleasure of the Governor or other appointing authority. 

B. Amendments: 

None. 

This Senate Bill Analysis does not reflect the intent or official position of the bill’s introducer or the Florida Senate. 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. SB 1312 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì590742(Î590742 

 

Page 1 of 36 

2/27/2012 3:37:37 PM 576-03350-12 

LEGISLATIVE ACTION 

Senate 

Comm: RCS 

03/02/2012 

 

 

 

. 

. 

. 

. 

. 

. 

House 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The Committee on Budget (Gaetz) recommended the following: 

 

Senate Amendment (with title amendment) 1 

 2 

Delete everything after the enacting clause 3 

and insert: 4 

Section 1. Legislative findings.—The Legislature finds 5 

that: 6 

(1) For the preservation of liberty and the protection of 7 

individual rights, the people of the State of Florida adopted a 8 

republican form of government delegating and limiting sovereign 9 

power to be exercised by their representatives in three 10 

separate, but equal, branches: the legislative branch, the 11 

executive branch, and the judicial branch. 12 

(2) By Article IV of the State Constitution the people 13 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. SB 1312 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì590742(Î590742 

 

Page 2 of 36 

2/27/2012 3:37:37 PM 576-03350-12 

vested supreme executive power in the Governor and apportioned 14 

specific substantive powers among the other elected officers 15 

designated in that Article, including the Lieutenant Governor, 16 

the Attorney General, the Chief Financial Officer, and the 17 

Commissioner of Agriculture. 18 

(3) As noted by Alexander Hamilton: “Energy in the 19 

executive is a leading character in the definition of good 20 

government .... A feeble executive implies a feeble execution of 21 

the government. A feeble execution is but another phrase for a 22 

bad execution: And a government ill executed, whatever it may be 23 

in theory, must be in practice a bad government.” 24 

(4) Since the framing of Florida‟s first constitution in 25 

1838, the people have adhered to the principles expressed by Mr. 26 

Hamilton in the vesting of supreme executive power directly in 27 

the Governor but choosing to vest other specific executive 28 

powers directly in other denominated officials or entities. 29 

(5) In uninterrupted consistency with their longstanding 30 

vesting of the supreme executive power in the Governor, the 31 

people in 1968 adopted s. 6, Article IV of the State 32 

Constitution, generally directing and limiting the Legislature 33 

to allot the functions of the executive branch among not more 34 

than 25 departments and to place the administration of each 35 

department under the direct supervision of the Governor, the 36 

Lieutenant Governor, the Governor and Cabinet, a Cabinet member, 37 

or an officer or board appointed by and serving at the pleasure 38 

of the Governor. 39 

(6) Each officer of state government is obligated to 40 

construe the language of the State Constitution consistent with 41 

its express and clearly implied intent, must give words their 42 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. SB 1312 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì590742(Î590742 

 

Page 3 of 36 

2/27/2012 3:37:37 PM 576-03350-12 

ordinary and customary meaning unless the context indicates 43 

otherwise, must construe all parts together to give them their 44 

full effect, and must not construe the terms of the State 45 

Constitution to yield an absurd result. 46 

(7) Under the authority of s. 6, Article IV of the State 47 

Constitution, the Legislature adopted and the Governor signed 48 

into law chapter 69-106, Laws of Florida, which restructured the 49 

executive branch into not more than 25 departments and 50 

designated their direct administration. 51 

(8) At the time of adopting chapter 69-106, Laws of 52 

Florida, the Legislature was informed by the debate in the 41st 53 

Legislature (under the Constitution of 1885) about the text for 54 

s. 6, Article IV for the proposed State Constitution, that the 55 

41st Legislature expressly considered and expressly rejected 56 

alternative proposals which would have required general law to 57 

provide supervisory authority to elected constitutional officers 58 

over the policies of executive departments, and that in 59 

submitting the 1968 State Constitution to the people, their 60 

Legislature intended the proposal to ensure that the 61 

administration and policies of each executive branch department 62 

would be under the final authority and control either of the 63 

Governor or one or more elected constitutional officers. 64 

(9) Construing together ss. 1(a) and 6, Article IV of the 65 

State Constitution, the Legislature at all times understood that 66 

these sections create a general legal presumption against the 67 

creation of a class of unelected, subordinate officers 68 

exercising executive power independent of the direction and 69 

supervision of the Governor or one or more specified elected 70 

constitutional officers. 71 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. SB 1312 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì590742(Î590742 

 

Page 4 of 36 

2/27/2012 3:37:37 PM 576-03350-12 

(10) Section 6, Article IV of the State Constitution has 72 

not been amended since its ratification by the people on 73 

November 5, 1968. 74 

(11) An officer appointed by and serving at the pleasure of 75 

the Governor to administer a department exercises a portion of 76 

the sovereign power assigned under the State Constitution to the 77 

executive branch. Such appointees remain subject to the 78 

direction and supervision of one or more elected constitutional 79 

officers who have the ultimate accountability to the people for 80 

the faithful discharge of such responsibility. 81 

(12) Regarding the Governor‟s accountability for the 82 

supervision and direction of those appointed officers serving at 83 

the pleasure of the Governor, the Legislature is informed by the 84 

following analysis: 85 

(a) As opined by Justice Polston: “(T)he Governor has the 86 

constitutional authority to act as this State‟s chief 87 

administrative officer as well as the constitutional duty to 88 

faithfully execute this State‟s laws and to manage and hold 89 

agencies under his charge accountable to State laws, including 90 

the APA. (The Supreme) Court has explained that „[t]he Governor 91 

is given broad authority to fulfill his duty in taking “care 92 

that the laws be faithfully executed.”‟” 93 

(b) As opined by Chief Justice Canady: “(I)f „supreme 94 

executive power‟ means anything, it must mean that the Governor 95 

can supervise and direct the policymaking choices — within the 96 

range of choices permitted by law — of the subordinate executive 97 

branch officers who serve at his pleasure.” 98 

(13) The Legislature has not expressly insulated 99 

discretionary executive policy decisions from the constitutional 100 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. SB 1312 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì590742(Î590742 

 

Page 5 of 36 

2/27/2012 3:37:37 PM 576-03350-12 

structure of accountability to elected officials established in 101 

Article IV of the State Constitution. 102 

(14) Pertaining to the exercise of delegated rulemaking 103 

authority, the Legislature is informed by the following: 104 

(a) The exercise of delegated quasi-legislative power 105 

within the parameters of Florida‟s Administrative Procedure Act 106 

and related statutes involves certain discretionary policy 107 

choices by executive branch officers. In authorizing the 108 

exercise of this power, the Legislature has imposed no 109 

restriction on the authority of the Governor or any other 110 

constitutional officer or collegial body to supervise and direct 111 

such policy choices made by subordinate executive branch 112 

officials in rulemaking. 113 

(b) Florida law provides no specific process for carrying 114 

out the Governor‟s executive duties with respect to holding his 115 

executive agencies accountable in their rulemaking functions. 116 

(c) As correctly opined by Chief Justice Canady: “Given the 117 

constitutional structure establishing the power and 118 

responsibilities of the Governor, it is unjustified to conclude 119 

... that by assigning rulemaking power to agency heads, the 120 

Legislature implicitly divested the Governor of the supervisory 121 

power with respect to executive officials who serve at his 122 

pleasure.” 123 

(d) A Governor‟s actions are presumed to be in accord with 124 

the duties of that office. 125 

(15) A statutory definition of “agency head” is neither 126 

intended nor effective to change the fundamental general 127 

principles of Article IV of the State Constitution: 128 

(a) That executive branch power may only be exercised under 129 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. SB 1312 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì590742(Î590742 

 

Page 6 of 36 

2/27/2012 3:37:37 PM 576-03350-12 

the direct or indirect supervision of one or more elected 130 

constitutional officers; and 131 

(b) That the supervision of any executive agency not 132 

expressly allocated to one or more particular constitutional 133 

officers remains under the Governor‟s supreme executive power. 134 

(16) The Administrative Procedure Act is a uniform 135 

procedural statute ensuring full public access and participation 136 

in any exercise of delegated legislative authority by executive 137 

branch entities. 138 

(17) The delegation of rulemaking authority by substantive 139 

statute and establishment of uniform procedures under the 140 

Administrative Procedure Act were intended and made by the 141 

Legislature to conform and comply with the separation of powers 142 

required under s. 3, Article II of the State Constitution, with 143 

no general intrusion into the role and authority of the elected 144 

executive branch officers as established in Article IV of the 145 

State Constitution. 146 

(18) Continual review and assessment of existing and 147 

proposed regulations is reasonably necessary to ensure that the 148 

laws of the state are faithfully executed without unduly 149 

burdening the state‟s economy and imposing needless costs and 150 

requirements on citizens, businesses, and local governments. 151 

(19) Fiscal accountability by all agencies is reasonably 152 

necessary to ensure integrity in state government. 153 

(20) While agency heads and personnel bring expertise to a 154 

particular subject matter, they are not directly accountable to 155 

the electorate and do not necessarily have an incentive to take 156 

a systemic approach to regulatory problems, to budget 157 

constraints, or to the overall regulatory burden imposed by the 158 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. SB 1312 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì590742(Î590742 

 

Page 7 of 36 

2/27/2012 3:37:37 PM 576-03350-12 

state on citizens and businesses. 159 

(21) The elected constitutional officers have a democratic 160 

mandate, are directly accountable to the people, and have the 161 

duty and power to assess the overall legality, efficiency, and 162 

operation of government within their constitutional and 163 

statutory jurisdictions. 164 

(22) Review and oversight of agency rulemaking is 165 

encompassed by the Governor‟s powers and duties under the State 166 

Constitution to “take care that the laws be faithfully executed” 167 

and to serve as “the chief administrative officer of the state 168 

responsible for the planning and budgeting for the state.” 169 

(23) The State Constitution and the Florida Statutes 170 

establish that many agencies of state government are 171 

administered by an officer “appointed by and serving at the 172 

pleasure of the governor,” and in order to determine whether an 173 

officer shall continue to serve at the Governor‟s pleasure, it 174 

is necessary for the Governor to set expectations and standards 175 

for that officer and to measure agency performance against those 176 

expectations and standards. 177 

(24) Executive Orders 11-01 and 11-72 established the 178 

Office of Fiscal Accountability and Regulatory Reform (OFARR) to 179 

ensure that agency rules (proposed and existing) are efficient, 180 

are not overly burdensome, and faithfully adhere to statutes as 181 

enacted by the Legislature. 182 

(25) Upon establishment of OFARR, all agencies under the 183 

direction of the Governor were required to obtain OFARR review 184 

and approval before developing new rules or amending or 185 

repealing existing rules. 186 

(a) OFARR‟s review process has facilitated the Governor‟s 187 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. SB 1312 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì590742(Î590742 

 

Page 8 of 36 

2/27/2012 3:37:37 PM 576-03350-12 

exercise of the power and duty to serve as the chief executive 188 

and administrative officer of the state. 189 

(b) OFARR‟s review process has facilitated the Governor‟s 190 

planning and budgeting for the state. 191 

(c) OFARR has reviewed thousands of rules and regulations 192 

and helped agencies identify over 1,000 unnecessary and 193 

unauthorized rules and regulations for repeal. 194 

(d) Since January 4, 2011, OFARR has reviewed hundreds of 195 

proposed agency rulemaking actions. 196 

(e) OFARR‟s review process has thus far been successful in 197 

helping to ensure efficient and effective performance by state 198 

government. 199 

(26) The Supreme Court of Florida, in the case of Whiley v. 200 

Scott, No. SC11-592, issued an unsigned opinion joined by five 201 

Justices, which held that Executive Orders 11-01 and 11-72 202 

“impermissibly suspended agency rulemaking to the extent that 203 

[they] included a requirement that [OFARR] must first permit an 204 

agency to engage in the rulemaking which has been delegated by 205 

the Florida Legislature.” 206 

(a) The majority opinion in Whiley: 207 

1. Failed to address and apply the plain meaning of ss. 1 208 

and 6 of Article IV of the State Constitution, and thereby may 209 

be read to restrain the power of the Governor under general law 210 

with respect to the supervision of agency heads; 211 

2. Failed to address the implications of the court‟s 212 

precedent in Jones v. Chiles, 638 So. 2d 48 (Fla. 1994), which 213 

recognized the proper scope of executive power under the State 214 

Constitution; 215 

3. Failed to address the precedent set by dozens of 216 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. SB 1312 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì590742(Î590742 

 

Page 9 of 36 

2/27/2012 3:37:37 PM 576-03350-12 

executive orders issued by prior governors of Florida; 217 

4. Failed to address the court‟s holding that “[t]he 218 

principles underlying the governmental separation of powers 219 

antedate our Florida Constitution and were collectively adopted 220 

by the union of states in our federal constitution,” Chiles v. 221 

Children A, B, C, D, E, & F, 589 So. 2d 260 (Fla. 1991), and in 222 

light of that precedent, failed to consider that Executive 223 

Orders 11-01 and 11-72 cannot be meaningfully distinguished from 224 

similar executive orders issued by the last four presidents of 225 

the United States and the governors of at least 29 other states; 226 

and 227 

5. Unreasonably relied on a 1983 Attorney General Opinion, 228 

which the Attorney General distinguished and limited to its 229 

facts in an amicus brief in Whiley. 230 

(b) The dissenting opinions of two justices in the Whiley 231 

case state the correct interpretation of the State Constitution 232 

and present persuasive reasoning and arguments in support of 233 

that interpretation. 234 

(c) The Supreme Court withheld the writ sought by Whiley. 235 

(d) Notwithstanding the above, the majority opinion in 236 

Whiley is to be afforded the deference due an advisory opinion 237 

of the Supreme Court of Florida because no writ or other final 238 

order was entered beyond a mere declaration of law. 239 

Section 2. Executive Orders 11-72 and 11-211 are affirmed 240 

to be consistent with state law and the public policy of the 241 

state. 242 

Section 3. The Legislature intends that the amendments to 243 

ss. 20.02, 20.03, and 20.05, Florida Statutes, made by this act, 244 

which apply to the organizational structure of the executive 245 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. SB 1312 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì590742(Î590742 

 

Page 10 of 36 

2/27/2012 3:37:37 PM 576-03350-12 

branch, and the creation of s. 120.515, Florida Statutes, and 246 

the amendment to s. 120.52, Florida Statutes, made by this act, 247 

which apply to administrative procedure, are to clarify that the 248 

placement of an executive department under the direct 249 

administration of an officer or board appointed by and serving 250 

at the pleasure of the Governor does not implicitly limit or 251 

restrict the Governor‟s prerogative, legal authority, and 252 

constitutional responsibility to direct and supervise the 253 

execution of the law and the exercise of lawful discretion and 254 

are intended to abolish any implication that unelected agency 255 

heads have statutory authority independent from the direction 256 

and supervision of the Governor, except as may be clearly, 257 

expressly and specifically provided by general law. 258 

Section 4. Subsections (3) through (7) of section 20.02, 259 

Florida Statutes, are renumbered as subsections (4) through (8), 260 

respectively, and a new subsection (3) is added to that section 261 

to read: 262 

20.02 Declaration of policy.— 263 

(3) Unless otherwise expressly provided in this chapter, 264 

the administration of any executive branch department or entity 265 

placed under the direct supervision of an officer or board 266 

appointed by and serving at the pleasure of the Governor shall 267 

remain at all times under the constitutional executive authority 268 

of the Governor, in accordance with ss. 1(a) and 6, Art. IV of 269 

the State Constitution, and, except as may be expressly and 270 

specifically provided by law, such officer or board is subject 271 

to oversight, direction, and supervision by the Governor. 272 

Section 5. Subsections (4) and (5) of section 20.03, 273 

Florida Statutes, are amended, and subsection (13) is added to 274 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. SB 1312 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì590742(Î590742 

 

Page 11 of 36 

2/27/2012 3:37:37 PM 576-03350-12 

that section, to read: 275 

20.03 Definitions.—To provide uniform nomenclature 276 

throughout the structure of the executive branch, the following 277 

definitions apply: 278 

(4) “Head of the department” means the individual under 279 

whom or the board under which direct administration in charge of 280 

the department is placed by statute. Where direct administration 281 

of a department is placed under an officer or board appointed by 282 

and serving at the pleasure of the Governor, that officer or 283 

board remains subject to the Governor‟s supervision and 284 

direction. 285 

(5) “Secretary” means an individual who is appointed by the 286 

Governor to head a department and who is not otherwise named in 287 

the State Constitution. 288 

(13) “To serve at the pleasure” means the appointee serves 289 

in the office until removed by the appointing authority. 290 

Consistent with the allotment of executive authority under ss. 1 291 

and 6, Art. IV of the State Constitution, an appointee serving 292 

at the pleasure of the appointing authority remains subject to 293 

the direction and supervision of the appointing authority and 294 

does not exercise any executive power independent therefrom, 295 

except as is clearly, expressly, and specifically provided by 296 

law. Unless otherwise expressly provided by law, the exercise of 297 

statutory authority by such appointee does not require the 298 

approval of the appointing authority and may not be invalidated 299 

by a contrary directive from the appointing authority. 300 

Section 6. Subsection (1) of section 20.05, Florida 301 

Statutes, is amended to read: 302 

20.05 Heads of departments; powers and duties.— 303 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. SB 1312 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì590742(Î590742 

 

Page 12 of 36 

2/27/2012 3:37:37 PM 576-03350-12 

(1) Each head of a department, subject to the allotment of 304 

executive power under Article IV of the State Constitution, and 305 

except as otherwise provided by law, must: 306 

(a) Plan, direct, coordinate, and execute the powers, 307 

duties, and functions vested in that department or vested in a 308 

division, bureau, or section of that department; powers and 309 

duties assigned or transferred to a division, bureau, or section 310 

of the department must not be construed to limit this authority 311 

and this responsibility; 312 

(b) Have authority, without being relieved of 313 

responsibility, to execute any of the powers, duties, and 314 

functions vested in the department or in any administrative unit 315 

thereof through administrative units and through assistants and 316 

deputies designated by the head of the department from time to 317 

time, unless the head of the department is explicitly required 318 

by law to perform the same without delegation; 319 

(c) Compile annually a comprehensive program budget 320 

reporting all program and fiscal matters related to the 321 

operation of his or her department, including each program, 322 

subprogram, and activity, and other matters as required by law; 323 

(d) Reimburse the members of advisory bodies, commissions, 324 

and boards of trustees for their actual and necessary expenses 325 

incurred in the performance of their duties in accordance with 326 

s. 112.061; 327 

(e) Subject to the requirements of chapter 120, exercise 328 

existing authority to adopt rules pursuant and limited to the 329 

powers, duties, and functions transferred to the department; 330 

(f) Exercise authority on behalf of the department to 331 

accept gifts, grants, bequests, loans, and endowments for 332 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. SB 1312 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì590742(Î590742 

 

Page 13 of 36 

2/27/2012 3:37:37 PM 576-03350-12 

purposes consistent with the powers, duties, and functions of 333 

the department. All such funds must be deposited in the State 334 

Treasury and appropriated by the Legislature for the purposes 335 

for which they were received by the department; 336 

(g) If a department is under the direct supervision of a 337 

board, including a board consisting of the Governor and Cabinet, 338 

however designated, employ an executive director to serve at its 339 

pleasure; and 340 

(h) Make recommendations concerning more effective internal 341 

structuring of the department to the Legislature. Unless 342 

otherwise required by law, such recommendations must be provided 343 

to the Legislature at least 30 days before the first day of the 344 

regular session at which they are to be considered, when 345 

practicable. 346 

Section 7. Section 120.515, Florida Statutes, is created to 347 

read: 348 

120.515 Declaration of policy.—This chapter provides 349 

uniform procedures for the exercise of specified authority. This 350 

section does not limit or impinge upon the assignment of 351 

executive power under Article IV of the State Constitution or 352 

the legal authority of an appointing authority to direct and 353 

supervise those appointees serving at the pleasure of the 354 

appointing authority. For purposes of this chapter, adherence to 355 

the direction and supervision of an appointing authority does 356 

not constitute delegation or transfer of statutory authority 357 

assigned to the appointee. 358 

Section 8. Subsection (3) of section 120.52, Florida 359 

Statutes, is amended to read: 360 

120.52 Definitions.—As used in this act: 361 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. SB 1312 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì590742(Î590742 

 

Page 14 of 36 

2/27/2012 3:37:37 PM 576-03350-12 

(3) “Agency head” means the person or collegial body in a 362 

department or other governmental unit statutorily responsible 363 

for final agency action. While an agency head appointed by and 364 

serving at the pleasure of an appointing authority remains 365 

subject to the direction and supervision of the appointing 366 

authority, actions taken by the agency head as authorized by 367 

statute are official acts. 368 

Section 9. Paragraphs (j) and (k) of subsection (5) of 369 

section 11.242, Florida Statutes, are redesignated as paragraphs 370 

(k) and (l), respectively, and a new paragraph (j) is added to 371 

that subsection to read: 372 

11.242 Powers, duties, and functions as to statutory 373 

revision.—The powers, duties, and functions of the Office of 374 

Legislative Services in the operation and maintenance of a 375 

statutory revision program shall be as follows: 376 

(5) In carrying on the work of statutory revision and in 377 

preparing the Florida Statutes for publication: 378 

(j) All statutes and laws, or parts thereof, which grant 379 

duplicative, redundant, or unused rulemaking authority, shall be 380 

omitted through the process of reviser‟s bills duly enacted by 381 

the Legislature. Rulemaking authority shall be deemed unused if 382 

the provision has been in effect for more than 5 years and no 383 

rule has been promulgated in reliance thereon. 384 

Section 10. Subsection (3) of section 14.34, Florida 385 

Statutes, is repealed. 386 

Section 11. Subsection (7) of section 15.16, Florida 387 

Statutes, is amended to read: 388 

15.16 Reproduction of records; admissibility in evidence; 389 

electronic receipt and transmission of records; certification; 390 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. SB 1312 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì590742(Î590742 

 

Page 15 of 36 

2/27/2012 3:37:37 PM 576-03350-12 

acknowledgment.— 391 

(7) The Secretary of State may issue apostilles conforming 392 

to the requirements of the international treaty known as the 393 

Hague Convention of 1961 and may charge a fee for the issuance 394 

of apostilles not to exceed $10 per apostille. The Secretary of 395 

State has the sole authority in this state to establish, in 396 

accordance with the laws of the United States, the requirements 397 

and procedures for the issuance of apostilles. The Department of 398 

State may adopt rules to implement this subsection. 399 

Section 12. Subsection (7) of section 15.18, Florida 400 

Statutes, is repealed. 401 

Section 13. Paragraph (a) of subsection (3) of section 402 

16.60, Florida Statutes, is amended to read: 403 

16.60 Public records mediation program within the Office of 404 

the Attorney General; creation; duties.— 405 

(3) The Office of the Attorney General shall: 406 

(a) Employ one or more mediators to mediate disputes 407 

involving access to public records. A person may not be employed 408 

by the department as a mediator unless that person is a member 409 

in good standing of The Florida Bar. The Office of the Attorney 410 

General may adopt rules of procedure to govern its mediation 411 

proceedings. 412 

Section 14. Subsection (2) of section 17.0416, Florida 413 

Statutes, is repealed. 414 

Section 15. Subsection (3) of section 17.59, Florida 415 

Statutes, is repealed. 416 

Section 16. Section 25.371, Florida Statutes, is repealed. 417 

Section 17. Section 28.43, Florida Statutes, is repealed. 418 

Section 18. Section 35.07, Florida Statutes, is repealed. 419 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. SB 1312 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì590742(Î590742 

 

Page 16 of 36 

2/27/2012 3:37:37 PM 576-03350-12 

Section 19. Subsection (11) of section 39.001, Florida 420 

Statutes, is repealed. 421 

Section 20. Subsection (2) of section 39.0137, Florida 422 

Statutes, is amended to read: 423 

39.0137 Federal law; rulemaking authority.— 424 

(2) The department shall adopt rules no later than July 1, 425 

2007, to ensure that the provisions of these federal laws are 426 

enforced in this state. The department is encouraged to enter 427 

into agreements with recognized American Indian tribes in order 428 

to facilitate the implementation of the Indian Child Welfare 429 

Act. 430 

Section 21. Subsection (1) of section 39.824, Florida 431 

Statutes, is repealed. 432 

Section 22. Subsection (3) of section 63.167, Florida 433 

Statutes, is amended to read: 434 

63.167 State adoption information center.— 435 

(3) The department shall ensure equitable distribution of 436 

referrals to licensed child-placing agencies, and may promulgate 437 

rules as necessary for the establishment and operation of the 438 

state adoption information center. 439 

Section 23. Section 88.9051, Florida Statutes, is repealed. 440 

Section 24. Section 97.026, Florida Statutes, is amended to 441 

read: 442 

97.026 Forms to be available in alternative formats and via 443 

the Internet.—It is the intent of the Legislature that all forms 444 

required to be used in chapters 97-106 shall be made available 445 

upon request, in alternative formats. Such forms shall include 446 

absentee ballots as alternative formats for such ballots become 447 

available and the Division of Elections is able to certify 448 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. SB 1312 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì590742(Î590742 

 

Page 17 of 36 

2/27/2012 3:37:37 PM 576-03350-12 

systems that provide them. The department may, pursuant to ss. 449 

120.536(1) and 120.54, adopt rules to administer this section. 450 

Whenever possible, such forms, with the exception of absentee 451 

ballots, shall be made available by the Department of State via 452 

the Internet. Sections that contain such forms include, but are 453 

not limited to, ss. 97.051, 97.052, 97.053, 97.057, 97.058, 454 

97.0583, 97.071, 97.073, 97.1031, 98.075, 99.021, 100.361, 455 

100.371, 101.045, 101.171, 101.20, 101.6103, 101.62, 101.64, 456 

101.65, 101.657, 105.031, 106.023, and 106.087. 457 

Section 25. Section 97.0555, Florida Statutes, is amended 458 

to read: 459 

97.0555 Late registration.—An individual or accompanying 460 

family member who has been discharged or separated from the 461 

uniformed services or the Merchant Marine, or from employment 462 

outside the territorial limits of the United States, after the 463 

book-closing date for an election pursuant to s. 97.055 and who 464 

is otherwise qualified may register to vote in such election 465 

until 5 p.m. on the Friday before that election in the office of 466 

the supervisor of elections. Such persons must produce 467 

sufficient documentation showing evidence of qualifying for late 468 

registration pursuant to this section. The Department of State 469 

shall adopt rules specifying documentation that is sufficient to 470 

determine eligibility. 471 

Section 26. Subsection (1) of section 97.061, Florida 472 

Statutes, is amended to read: 473 

97.061 Special registration for electors requiring 474 

assistance.— 475 

(1) Any person who is eligible to register and who is 476 

unable to read or write or who, because of some disability, 477 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. SB 1312 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì590742(Î590742 

 

Page 18 of 36 

2/27/2012 3:37:37 PM 576-03350-12 

needs assistance in voting shall upon that person‟s request be 478 

registered under the procedure prescribed by this section and 479 

shall be entitled to receive assistance at the polls under the 480 

conditions prescribed by this section. The department may adopt 481 

rules to administer this section. 482 

Section 27. Subsection (3) of section 101.56062, Florida 483 

Statutes, is repealed. 484 

Section 28. Subsection (5) of section 103.101, Florida 485 

Statutes, is amended to read: 486 

103.101 Presidential preference primary.— 487 

(5) The state executive committee of each party, by rule 488 

adopted at least 60 days prior to the presidential preference 489 

primary election, shall determine the number, and establish 490 

procedures to be followed in the selection, of delegates and 491 

delegate alternates from among each candidate‟s supporters. A 492 

copy of any rule adopted by the executive committee shall be 493 

filed with the Department of State within 7 days after its 494 

adoption and shall become a public record. The Department of 495 

State shall review the procedures and shall notify the state 496 

executive committee of each political party of any ballot 497 

limitations. The Department of State may promulgate rules for 498 

the orderly conduct of the presidential preference primary 499 

ballot. 500 

Section 29. Section 106.165, Florida Statutes, is amended 501 

to read: 502 

106.165 Use of closed captioning and descriptive narrative 503 

in all television broadcasts.—Each candidate, political party, 504 

affiliated party committee, and political committee must use 505 

closed captioning and descriptive narrative in all television 506 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. SB 1312 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì590742(Î590742 

 

Page 19 of 36 

2/27/2012 3:37:37 PM 576-03350-12 

broadcasts regulated by the Federal Communications Commission 507 

that are on behalf of, or sponsored by, a candidate, political 508 

party, affiliated party committee, or political committee or 509 

must file a written statement with the qualifying officer 510 

setting forth the reasons for not doing so. Failure to file this 511 

statement with the appropriate qualifying officer constitutes a 512 

violation of the Florida Election Code and is under the 513 

jurisdiction of the Florida Elections Commission. The Department 514 

of State may adopt rules in accordance with s. 120.54 which are 515 

necessary to administer this section. 516 

Section 30. Section 110.1055, Florida Statutes, is amended 517 

to read: 518 

110.1055 Rules and rulemaking authority.—The Department of 519 

Management Services shall have authority to adopt rules as 520 

necessary to effectuate the provisions of this chapter, as 521 

amended by this act, and in accordance with the authority 522 

granted to the department in this chapter. All existing rules 523 

relating to this chapter are statutorily repealed January 1, 524 

2002, unless otherwise readopted. 525 

Section 31. Subsection (5) of section 110.1099, Florida 526 

Statutes, is repealed. 527 

Section 32. Subsection (7) of section 110.1228, Florida 528 

Statutes, is repealed. 529 

Section 33. Subsection (2) of section 110.12301, Florida 530 

Statutes, is amended to read: 531 

110.12301 Competitive procurement of postpayment claims 532 

review services.—The Division of State Group Insurance is 533 

directed to competitively procure: 534 

(2) A contingency-based contract for dependent eligibility 535 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. SB 1312 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì590742(Î590742 

 

Page 20 of 36 

2/27/2012 3:37:37 PM 576-03350-12 

verification services for the state group insurance program; 536 

however, compensation under the contract may not exceed 537 

historical claim costs for the prior 12 months for the dependent 538 

populations disenrolled as a result of the vendor‟s services. 539 

The division may establish a 3-month grace period and hold 540 

subscribers harmless for past claims of ineligible dependents. 541 

The Department of Management Services shall submit budget 542 

amendments pursuant to chapter 216 in order to obtain budget 543 

authority necessary to expend funds from the State Employees‟ 544 

Group Health Self-Insurance Trust Fund for payments to the 545 

vendor as provided in the contract. The Department of Management 546 

Services shall adopt rules providing a process for verifying 547 

dependent eligibility. 548 

Section 34. Subsection (4) of section 112.1915, Florida 549 

Statutes, is repealed. 550 

Section 35. Section 118.12, Florida Statutes, is amended to 551 

read: 552 

118.12 Certification of civil-law notary‟s authority; 553 

apostilles.—If certification of a civil-law notary‟s authority 554 

is necessary for a particular document or transaction, it must 555 

be obtained from the Secretary of State. Upon the receipt of a 556 

written request from a civil-law notary and the fee prescribed 557 

by the Secretary of State, the Secretary of State shall issue a 558 

certification of the civil-law notary‟s authority, in a form 559 

prescribed by the Secretary of State, which shall include a 560 

statement explaining the legal qualifications and authority of a 561 

civil-law notary in this state. The fee prescribed for the 562 

issuance of the certification under this section or an apostille 563 

under s. 15.16 may not exceed $10 per document. The Department 564 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. SB 1312 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì590742(Î590742 

 

Page 21 of 36 

2/27/2012 3:37:37 PM 576-03350-12 

of State may adopt rules to implement this section. 565 

Section 36. Subsection (1) of section 121.085, Florida 566 

Statutes, is repealed. 567 

Section 37. Paragraph (b) of subsection (4) of section 568 

121.1001, Florida Statutes, is repealed. 569 

Section 38. Subsection (3) of section 121.4503, Florida 570 

Statutes, is repealed. 571 

Section 39. Section 121.5911, Florida Statutes, is amended 572 

to read: 573 

121.5911 Disability retirement program; qualified status; 574 

rulemaking authority.—It is the intent of the Legislature that 575 

the disability retirement program for members of the Florida 576 

Retirement System Investment Plan meet all applicable 577 

requirements of federal law for a qualified plan. The department 578 

shall seek a private letter ruling from the Internal Revenue 579 

Service on the disability retirement program. Consistent with 580 

the private letter ruling, the department shall adopt rules 581 

necessary to maintain the qualified status of the disability 582 

retirement program and the Florida Retirement System Pension 583 

Plan. 584 

Section 40. Subsection (4) of section 125.902, Florida 585 

Statutes, is repealed. 586 

Section 41. Subsection (4) of section 154.503, Florida 587 

Statutes, is repealed. 588 

Section 42. Paragraph (a) of subsection (2) of section 589 

159.8081, Florida Statutes, is amended to read: 590 

159.8081 Manufacturing facility bond pool.— 591 

(2)(a) The first 75 percent of this pool shall be available 592 

on a first come, first served basis, except that 15 percent of 593 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. SB 1312 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì590742(Î590742 

 

Page 22 of 36 

2/27/2012 3:37:37 PM 576-03350-12 

the state volume limitation allocated to this pool shall be 594 

available as provided in paragraph (b). Before issuing any 595 

written confirmations for the remaining 25 percent of this pool, 596 

the executive director shall forward all notices of intent to 597 

issue which are received by the division for manufacturing 598 

facility projects to the Department of Economic Opportunity. The 599 

Department of Economic Opportunity shall decide, after receipt 600 

of the notices of intent to issue, which notices will receive 601 

written confirmations. Such decision shall be communicated in 602 

writing by the Department of Economic Opportunity to the 603 

executive director within 10 days of receipt of such notices of 604 

intent to issue. The Department of Economic Opportunity may 605 

develop rules to ensure that allocation of the remaining 25 606 

percent is consistent with the state‟s economic development 607 

policy. 608 

Section 43. Section 159.8083, Florida Statutes, is amended 609 

to read: 610 

159.8083 Florida First Business allocation pool.—The 611 

Florida First Business allocation pool is hereby established. 612 

The Florida First Business allocation pool shall be available 613 

solely to provide written confirmation for private activity 614 

bonds to finance Florida First Business projects certified by 615 

the Department of Economic Opportunity as eligible to receive a 616 

written confirmation. Allocations from such pool shall be 617 

awarded statewide pursuant to procedures specified in s. 618 

159.805, except that the provisions of s. 159.805(2), (3), and 619 

(6) do not apply. Florida First Business projects that are 620 

eligible for a carryforward do not lose their allocation 621 

pursuant to s. 159.809(3) on October 1, or pursuant to s. 622 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. SB 1312 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì590742(Î590742 

 

Page 23 of 36 

2/27/2012 3:37:37 PM 576-03350-12 

159.809(4) on November 16, if they have applied for and have 623 

been granted a carryforward by the division pursuant to s. 624 

159.81(1). In issuing written confirmations of allocations for 625 

Florida First Business projects, the division shall use the 626 

Florida First Business allocation pool. If allocation is not 627 

available from the Florida First Business allocation pool, the 628 

division shall issue written confirmations of allocations for 629 

Florida First Business projects pursuant to s. 159.806 or s. 630 

159.807, in such order. For the purpose of determining priority 631 

within a regional allocation pool or the state allocation pool, 632 

notices of intent to issue bonds for Florida First Business 633 

projects to be issued from a regional allocation pool or the 634 

state allocation pool shall be considered to have been received 635 

by the division at the time it is determined by the division 636 

that the Florida First Business allocation pool is unavailable 637 

to issue confirmation for such Florida First Business project. 638 

If the total amount requested in notices of intent to issue 639 

private activity bonds for Florida First Business projects 640 

exceeds the total amount of the Florida First Business 641 

allocation pool, the director shall forward all timely notices 642 

of intent to issue, which are received by the division for such 643 

projects, to the Department of Economic Opportunity, which shall 644 

render a decision as to which notices of intent to issue are to 645 

receive written confirmations. The Department of Economic 646 

Opportunity, in consultation with the division, shall develop 647 

rules to ensure that the allocation provided in such pool is 648 

available solely to provide written confirmations for private 649 

activity bonds to finance Florida First Business projects and 650 

that such projects are feasible and financially solvent. 651 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. SB 1312 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì590742(Î590742 

 

Page 24 of 36 

2/27/2012 3:37:37 PM 576-03350-12 

Section 44. Subsection (3) of section 159.825, Florida 652 

Statutes, is repealed. 653 

Section 45. Section 161.75, Florida Statutes, is repealed. 654 

Section 46. Section 163.462, Florida Statutes, is repealed. 655 

Section 47. Subsection (6) of section 163.517, Florida 656 

Statutes, is repealed. 657 

Section 48. Subsection (2) of section 175.341, Florida 658 

Statutes, is repealed. 659 

Section 49. Paragraph (e) of subsection (2) of section 660 

177.504, Florida Statutes, is repealed. 661 

Section 50. Subsection (2) of section 185.23, Florida 662 

Statutes, is repealed. 663 

Section 51. Subsection (2) of section 255.25001, Florida 664 

Statutes, is repealed. 665 

Section 52. Subsection (7) of section 257.34, Florida 666 

Statutes, is repealed. 667 

Section 53. Subsection (6) of section 364.0135, Florida 668 

Statutes, is repealed. 669 

Section 54. Section 366.85, Florida Statutes, is amended to 670 

read: 671 

366.85 Responsibilities of Division of Consumer Services.—672 

The Division of Consumer Services of the Department of 673 

Agriculture and Consumer Services shall be the agency 674 

responsible for consumer conciliatory conferences, if such 675 

conferences are required pursuant to federal law. The division 676 

shall also be the agency responsible for preparing lists of 677 

sources for energy conservation products or services and of 678 

financial institutions offering energy conservation loans, if 679 

such lists are required pursuant to federal law. Notwithstanding 680 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. SB 1312 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì590742(Î590742 

 

Page 25 of 36 

2/27/2012 3:37:37 PM 576-03350-12 

any provision of federal law to the contrary, the division shall 681 

not require any manufacturer‟s warranty exceeding 1 year in 682 

order for a source of conservation products or services to be 683 

included on the appropriate list. The lists shall be prepared 684 

for the service area of each utility and shall be furnished to 685 

each utility for distribution to its customers. The division 686 

shall update the lists on a systematic basis and shall remove 687 

from any list any person who has been disciplined by any state 688 

agency or who has otherwise exhibited a pattern of 689 

unsatisfactory work and any person who requests removal from 690 

such lists. The division is authorized to adopt rules to 691 

implement the provisions of this section. 692 

Section 55. Section 409.5092, Florida Statutes, is 693 

repealed. 694 

Section 56. Paragraphs (d) and (e) of subsection (4) of 695 

section 411.01, Florida Statutes, are amended to read: 696 

411.01 School readiness programs; early learning 697 

coalitions.— 698 

(4) OFFICE OF EARLY LEARNING OF THE DEPARTMENT OF 699 

EDUCATION.— 700 

(d) The Office of Early Learning shall: 701 

1. Be responsible for the prudent use of all public and 702 

private funds in accordance with all legal and contractual 703 

requirements. 704 

2. Provide final approval and every 2 years review early 705 

learning coalitions and school readiness plans. 706 

3. Establish a unified approach to the state‟s efforts 707 

toward enhancement of school readiness. In support of this 708 

effort, the Office of Early Learning shall adopt specific system 709 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. SB 1312 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì590742(Î590742 

 

Page 26 of 36 

2/27/2012 3:37:37 PM 576-03350-12 

support services that address the state‟s school readiness 710 

programs. An early learning coalition shall amend its school 711 

readiness plan to conform to the specific system support 712 

services adopted by the Office of Early Learning. System support 713 

services shall include, but are not limited to: 714 

a. Child care resource and referral services; 715 

b. Warm-Line services; 716 

c. Eligibility determinations; 717 

d. Child performance standards; 718 

e. Child screening and assessment; 719 

f. Developmentally appropriate curricula; 720 

d.g. Health and safety requirements requiring compliance 721 

with applicable licensure requirements of the Department of 722 

Children and Family Services; and 723 

e.h. Statewide data system requirements.; and 724 

i. Rating and improvement systems. 725 

4. Safeguard the effective use of federal, state, local, 726 

and private resources to achieve the highest possible level of 727 

school readiness for the children in this state. 728 

5. Adopt a rule establishing criteria for the expenditure 729 

of funds designated for the purpose of funding activities to 730 

improve the quality of child care within the state but only as 731 

necessary to comply in accordance with s. 658G of the federal 732 

Child Care and Development Block Grant Act. 733 

6. Provide technical assistance to early learning 734 

coalitions in a manner determined by the Office of Early 735 

Learning based upon information obtained by the office from 736 

various sources, including, but not limited to, public input, 737 

government reports, private interest group reports, office 738 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. SB 1312 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì590742(Î590742 

 

Page 27 of 36 

2/27/2012 3:37:37 PM 576-03350-12 

monitoring visits, and coalition requests for service. 739 

7. In cooperation with the early learning coalitions, 740 

coordinate with the Child Care Services Program Office of the 741 

Department of Children and Family Services to minimize 742 

duplicating interagency activities, health and safety 743 

monitoring, and acquiring and composing data pertaining to child 744 

care training and credentialing. 745 

8. Develop and adopt performance standards and outcome 746 

measures for school readiness programs. The performance 747 

standards must address the age-appropriate progress of children 748 

in the development of school readiness skills. The performance 749 

standards for children from birth to 5 years of age in school 750 

readiness programs must be integrated with the performance 751 

standards adopted by the Department of Education for children in 752 

the Voluntary Prekindergarten Education Program under s. 753 

1002.67. 754 

9. Adopt a standard contract that must be used by the 755 

coalitions when contracting with school readiness providers. 756 

(e) The Office of Early Learning may adopt rules under ss. 757 

120.536(1) and 120.54 to administer the provisions of law 758 

conferring duties upon the office, including, but not limited 759 

to, rules governing the administration of system support 760 

services of school readiness programs, the collection of data, 761 

the approval of early learning coalitions and school readiness 762 

plans, the provision of a method whereby an early learning 763 

coalition may serve two or more counties, the award of 764 

incentives to early learning coalitions, child performance 765 

standards, child outcome measures, the issuance of waivers, and 766 

the implementation of the state‟s Child Care and Development 767 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. SB 1312 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì590742(Î590742 

 

Page 28 of 36 

2/27/2012 3:37:37 PM 576-03350-12 

Fund Plan as approved by the federal Administration for Children 768 

and Families. 769 

Section 57. Subsection (7) of section 411.01013, Florida 770 

Statutes, is repealed. 771 

Section 58. Subsection (3) of section 411.0103, Florida 772 

Statutes, is repealed. 773 

Section 59. Subsection (3) of section 411.0104, Florida 774 

Statutes, is repealed. 775 

Section 60. Subsections (1) and (3) of section 501.142, 776 

Florida Statutes, are amended to read: 777 

501.142 Retail sales establishments; preemption; notice of 778 

refund policy; exceptions; penalty.— 779 

(1) The regulation of refunds is preempted to the 780 

Department of Agriculture and Consumer Services notwithstanding 781 

any other law or local ordinance to the contrary. Every retail 782 

sales establishment offering goods for sale to the general 783 

public that offers no cash refund, credit refund, or exchange of 784 

merchandise must post a sign so stating at the point of sale. 785 

Failure of a retail sales establishment to exhibit a “no refund” 786 

sign under such circumstances at the point of sale shall mean 787 

that a refund or exchange policy exists, and the policy shall be 788 

presented in writing to the consumer upon request. Any retail 789 

establishment failing to comply with the provisions of this 790 

section shall grant to the consumer, upon request and proof of 791 

purchase, a refund on the merchandise, within 7 days of the date 792 

of purchase, provided the merchandise is unused and in the 793 

original carton, if one was furnished. Nothing herein shall 794 

prohibit a retail sales establishment from having a refund 795 

policy which exceeds the number of days specified herein. The 796 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. SB 1312 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì590742(Î590742 

 

Page 29 of 36 

2/27/2012 3:37:37 PM 576-03350-12 

department may adopt rules pursuant to ss. 120.536(1) and 120.54 797 

to enforce the provisions of this section. However, this 798 

subsection does not prohibit a local government from enforcing 799 

the provisions established by this section or department rule. 800 

(3) The department may enter an order doing one or more of 801 

the following if the department finds that a person has violated 802 

or is operating in violation of any of the provisions of this 803 

section or the rules or orders issued under this section: 804 

(a) Issue a notice of noncompliance pursuant to s. 120.695. 805 

(a)(b) Impose an administrative fine not to exceed $100 for 806 

each violation. 807 

(b)(c) Direct the person to cease and desist specified 808 

activities. 809 

Section 61. Paragraph (b) of subsection (15) of section 810 

985.682, Florida Statutes, is amended to read: 811 

985.682 Siting of facilities; study; criteria.— 812 

(15) 813 

(b) Notwithstanding s. ss. 255.25(1)(b) and 255.25001(2), 814 

the department may enter into lease-purchase agreements to 815 

provide juvenile justice facilities for the housing of committed 816 

youths contingent upon available funds. The facilities provided 817 

through such agreements shall meet the program plan and 818 

specifications of the department. The department may enter into 819 

such lease agreements with private corporations and other 820 

governmental entities. However, notwithstanding the provisions 821 

of s. 255.25(3)(a), no such lease agreement may be entered into 822 

except upon advertisement for the receipt of competitive bids 823 

and award to the lowest and best bidder except when contracting 824 

with other governmental entities. 825 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. SB 1312 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì590742(Î590742 

 

Page 30 of 36 

2/27/2012 3:37:37 PM 576-03350-12 

Section 62. This act shall take effect July 1, 2012. 826 

 827 

================= T I T L E  A M E N D M E N T ================ 828 

And the title is amended as follows: 829 

Delete everything before the enacting clause 830 

and insert: 831 

A bill to be entitled 832 

An act relating to administrative authority; providing 833 

legislative findings; providing legislative intent; 834 

amending s. 20.02, F.S.; clarifying the authority of 835 

the Governor; amending s. 20.03, F.S.; revising the 836 

definition of the terms “head of the department” and 837 

“secretary”; defining the term “to serve at the 838 

pleasure”; clarifying supervisory powers of appointing 839 

authority; amending s. 20.05, F.S., relating to powers 840 

and duties of department heads; incorporating 841 

constitutional allocation of executive authority; 842 

creating s. 120.515, F.S.; declaring policy regarding 843 

executive authority with respect to the Administrative 844 

Procedure Act; amending s. 120.52, F.S.; revising the 845 

term “agency head” to clarify supervisory powers of 846 

the appointing authority; amending s. 11.242, F.S.; 847 

providing for removal of duplicative, redundant, or 848 

unused rulemaking authority as part of the reviser‟s 849 

bill process; repealing s. 14.34(3), F.S., relating to 850 

the Governor‟s Medal of Merit; repealing rulemaking 851 

authority; amending s. 15.16, F.S.; deleting authority 852 

of the Department of State to adopt rules relating to 853 

the issuance of apostilles; repealing s. 15.18(7), 854 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. SB 1312 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì590742(Î590742 

 

Page 31 of 36 

2/27/2012 3:37:37 PM 576-03350-12 

F.S., relating to international and cultural 855 

relations; repealing rulemaking authority of the 856 

Secretary of State with respect to entering into 857 

contracts that are primarily for promotional services 858 

and events; amending s. 16.60, F.S.; deleting 859 

authority of the Attorney General to adopt rules 860 

relating to mediation proceedings; repealing s. 861 

17.0416(2), F.S., relating to the authority to provide 862 

services on a fee basis; repealing rulemaking 863 

authority of the Department of Financial Services with 864 

respect thereto; repealing s. 17.59(3), F.S., relating 865 

to safekeeping services; repealing rulemaking 866 

authority of the Chief Financial Officer for the 867 

proper management and maintenance of the collateral 868 

management service; repealing s. 25.371, F.S., 869 

relating to the effect of rules adopted by the Supreme 870 

Court on statutory provisions; repealing s. 28.43, 871 

F.S., relating to the adoption of rules in relation to 872 

ss. 28.35, 28.36, and 28.37, relating to duties of the 873 

Florida Clerks of Court Operations Corporation and 874 

clerks of the court; repealing s. 35.07, F.S., 875 

relating to power of the district courts of appeal to 876 

make rules and regulations; repealing s. 39.001(11), 877 

F.S., relating to rulemaking authority of Executive 878 

Office of the Governor with respect to the protection 879 

of children under chapter 39; amending s. 39.0137, 880 

F.S.; deleting rulemaking authority of the Department 881 

of Children and Family Services with respect to 882 

enforcement of the federal Indian Child Welfare Act 883 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. SB 1312 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì590742(Î590742 

 

Page 32 of 36 

2/27/2012 3:37:37 PM 576-03350-12 

and federal Multi-Ethnic Placement Act of 1994; 884 

repealing s. 39.824(1), F.S.; repealing a provision 885 

requesting the Supreme Court to adopt rules of 886 

juvenile procedure for purposes of pt. XI, ch. 39, 887 

relating to guardians ad litem and guardian advocates; 888 

amending s. 63.167, F.S.; repealing rulemaking 889 

authority of the Department of Children and Family 890 

Services relating to the establishment and operation 891 

of the state adoption information center; repealing s. 892 

88.9051, F.S., relating to authority of the Department 893 

of Revenue to adopt rules to implement the Uniform 894 

Interstate Family Support Act; amending ss. 97.026, 895 

97.0555, and 97.061, F.S.; repealing rulemaking 896 

authority of the Department of State under the 897 

Election Code; repealing s. 101.56062(3), F.S.; 898 

repealing rulemaking authority of the department 899 

relating to standards for accessible voting systems; 900 

amending ss. 103.101 and 106.165, F.S.; repealing 901 

rulemaking authority of the department relating to 902 

conduct of the presidential preference primary and use 903 

of closed captioning and descriptive narrative in 904 

television broadcasts; amending s. 110.1055, F.S., 905 

relating to rulemaking authority of the Department of 906 

Management Services with respect to chapter 110, 907 

relating to state employment; deleting obsolete 908 

language; repealing s. 110.1099(5), F.S.; repealing 909 

rulemaking authority of the department relating to 910 

education and training opportunities for state 911 

employees; repealing s. 110.1228(7), F.S.; repealing 912 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. SB 1312 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì590742(Î590742 

 

Page 33 of 36 

2/27/2012 3:37:37 PM 576-03350-12 

rulemaking authority of the department relating to 913 

participation in the state group health insurance and 914 

prescription drug coverage programs by small counties, 915 

small municipalities, and district school boards 916 

located in small counties; amending s. 110.12301, 917 

F.S.; repealing rulemaking authority of the department 918 

relating to dependent eligibility verification 919 

services for the state group insurance program; 920 

repealing s. 112.1915(4), F.S.; repealing rulemaking 921 

authority of the State Board of Education relating to 922 

death benefits for teachers and school administrators; 923 

amending s. 118.12, F.S.; repealing rulemaking 924 

authority of the Department of Revenue relating to 925 

certification of a civil-law notary‟s authority; 926 

repealing s. 121.085(1), F.S.; repealing authority of 927 

the Department of Management Services relating to 928 

submission of information necessary to establish a 929 

member‟s claim of creditable service under the Florida 930 

Retirement System; repealing s. 121.1001(4)(b), F.S.; 931 

repealing rulemaking authority of the Division of 932 

Retirement relating to administration of the Florida 933 

Retirement System Preservation of Benefits Plan; 934 

repealing s. 121.4503(3), F.S.; repealing rulemaking 935 

authority of the Department of Management Services 936 

relating to the Florida Retirement System 937 

Contributions Clearing Trust Fund; amending s. 938 

121.5911, F.S.; deleting rulemaking authority of the 939 

department relating to maintaining the qualified 940 

status of the disability retirement program and the 941 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. SB 1312 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì590742(Î590742 

 

Page 34 of 36 

2/27/2012 3:37:37 PM 576-03350-12 

Florida Retirement System Pension Plan; repealing s. 942 

125.902(4), F.S.; repealing rulemaking authority of 943 

the Department of Children and Family Services 944 

relating to children‟s services council or juvenile 945 

welfare board incentive grants; repealing s. 946 

154.503(4), F.S.; repealing rulemaking authority of 947 

the Department of Health relating to the Primary Care 948 

for Children and Families Challenge Grant Program; 949 

amending s. 159.8081, F.S.; repealing rulemaking 950 

authority of the Department of Economic Opportunity 951 

relating to the manufacturing facility bond pool; 952 

amending s. 159.8083, F.S.; repealing rulemaking 953 

authority of the department relating to the Florida 954 

First Business allocation pool; repealing s. 955 

159.825(3), F.S.; repealing rulemaking authority of 956 

the State Board of Administration relating to terms of 957 

bonds; repealing s. 161.75, F.S.; repealing rulemaking 958 

authority of the Department of Environmental 959 

Regulation and the Fish and Wildlife Conservation 960 

Commission relating to the Oceans and Coastal 961 

Resources Act; repealing s. 163.462, F.S.; repealing 962 

rulemaking authority of the Department of Community 963 

Affairs relating to the Community Redevelopment Act of 964 

1969; repealing s. 163.517(6), F.S.; repealing 965 

rulemaking authority of the Department of Legal 966 

Affairs relating to the Safe Neighborhoods Program; 967 

repealing s. 175.341(2), F.S.; repealing rulemaking 968 

authority of the Division of Retirement relating to 969 

firefighter pensions; repealing s. 177.504(2)(e), 970 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. SB 1312 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì590742(Î590742 

 

Page 35 of 36 

2/27/2012 3:37:37 PM 576-03350-12 

F.S.; repealing rulemaking authority of the Department 971 

of Environmental Protection relating to the Florida 972 

Public Land Survey Restoration and Perpetuation Act; 973 

repealing s. 185.23(2), F.S.; repealing rulemaking 974 

authority of the Division of Retirement relating to 975 

municipal police pensions; repealing s. 255.25001(2), 976 

F.S.; repealing rulemaking authority of the Department 977 

of Management Services relating to determining whether 978 

a lease-purchase of a state-owned office building is 979 

in the best interests of the state; repealing s. 980 

257.34(7), F.S.; repealing rulemaking authority of the 981 

Division of Library and Information Services of the 982 

Department of State relating to the Florida 983 

International Archive and Repository; repealing s. 984 

364.0135(6), F.S.; repealing rulemaking authority of 985 

the Department of Management Services relating to the 986 

promotion of broadband adoption; amending s. 366.85, 987 

F.S.; repealing rulemaking authority of the Division 988 

of Consumer Services of the Department of Agriculture 989 

and Consumer Services relating to the Florida Energy 990 

Efficiency and Conservation Act; repealing s. 991 

409.5092, F.S.; repealing rulemaking authority of the 992 

Department of Children and Family Services relating to 993 

permission for weatherization; amending s. 411.01, 994 

F.S.; limiting rulemaking authority of the Office of 995 

Early Learning relating to school readiness programs 996 

and early learning coalitions; repealing s. 997 

411.01013(7), F.S.; repealing rulemaking authority of 998 

the office relating to the prevailing market rate 999 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. SB 1312 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì590742(Î590742 

 

Page 36 of 36 

2/27/2012 3:37:37 PM 576-03350-12 

schedule; repealing s. 411.0103(3), F.S.; repealing 1000 

rulemaking authority of the office relating to the 1001 

Teacher Education and Compensation Helps (TEACH) 1002 

scholarship program; repealing s. 411.0104(3), F.S.; 1003 

repealing rulemaking authority of the office relating 1004 

to Early Head Start collaboration grants; amending s. 1005 

501.142, F.S.; repealing rulemaking authority of the 1006 

Department of Agriculture and Consumer Services 1007 

relating to retail sales establishments and authority 1008 

to sanction violations of such rules; amending s. 1009 

985.682, F.S.; conforming a cross-reference; providing 1010 

an effective date. 1011 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. SB 1312 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì174152ÄÎ174152 

 

Page 1 of 5 

2/28/2012 1:32:53 PM 576-04213-12 

LEGISLATIVE ACTION 

Senate 

Comm: RCS 

03/02/2012 

 

 

 

. 

. 

. 

. 

. 

. 

House 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The Committee on Budget (Gaetz) recommended the following: 

 

Senate Amendment to Amendment (590742)  1 

 2 

Delete lines 243 - 368 3 

and insert: 4 

Section 3. The Legislature intends that the amendments made 5 

by this act to ss. 20.02, 20.03, and 20.05, Florida Statutes, 6 

which apply to the organizational structure of the executive 7 

branch, and the creation of s. 120.515, Florida Statutes, which 8 

applies to administrative procedure, are to clarify that the 9 

placement of an executive department under the direct 10 

administration of an officer or board appointed by and serving 11 

at the pleasure of the Governor does not implicitly limit or 12 

restrict the Governor’s prerogative, legal authority, and 13 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. SB 1312 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì174152ÄÎ174152 

 

Page 2 of 5 

2/28/2012 1:32:53 PM 576-04213-12 

constitutional responsibility to direct and supervise the 14 

execution of the law and the exercise of lawful discretion. 15 

Section 4. Subsections (3) through (7) of section 20.02, 16 

Florida Statutes, are renumbered as subsections (4) through (8), 17 

respectively, and a new subsection (3) is added to that section 18 

to read: 19 

20.02 Declaration of policy.— 20 

(3) The administration of any executive branch department 21 

or entity placed under the direct supervision of an officer or 22 

board appointed by and serving at the pleasure of the Governor 23 

shall remain at all times under the constitutional executive 24 

authority of the Governor, in accordance with ss. 1(a) and 6, 25 

Art. IV of the State Constitution and such officer or board 26 

generally remains subject to oversight, direction, and 27 

supervision by the Governor. 28 

Section 5. Subsections (4) and (5) of section 20.03, 29 

Florida Statutes, are amended, and subsection (13) is added to 30 

that section, to read: 31 

20.03 Definitions.—To provide uniform nomenclature 32 

throughout the structure of the executive branch, the following 33 

definitions apply: 34 

(4) “Head of the department” means the individual under 35 

whom or the board under which direct administration in charge of 36 

the department is placed by statute. Where direct administration 37 

of a department is placed under an officer or board appointed by 38 

and serving at the pleasure of the Governor, that officer or 39 

board remains subject to the Governor’s supervision and 40 

direction. 41 

(5) “Secretary” means an individual who is appointed by the 42 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. SB 1312 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì174152ÄÎ174152 

 

Page 3 of 5 

2/28/2012 1:32:53 PM 576-04213-12 

Governor to head a department and who is not otherwise named in 43 

the State Constitution. 44 

(13) “To serve at the pleasure” means the appointee serves 45 

in the office until removed by the appointing authority. 46 

Consistent with the allotment of executive authority under ss. 1 47 

and 6, Art. IV of the State Constitution, an appointee serving 48 

at the pleasure of the appointing authority generally remains 49 

subject to the direction and supervision of the appointing 50 

authority. 51 

Section 6. Subsection (1) of section 20.05, Florida 52 

Statutes, is amended to read: 53 

20.05 Heads of departments; powers and duties.— 54 

(1) Each head of a department, subject to the allotment of 55 

executive power under Art. IV of the State Constitution, and 56 

except as otherwise provided by law, must: 57 

(a) Plan, direct, coordinate, and execute the powers, 58 

duties, and functions vested in that department or vested in a 59 

division, bureau, or section of that department; powers and 60 

duties assigned or transferred to a division, bureau, or section 61 

of the department must not be construed to limit this authority 62 

and this responsibility; 63 

(b) Have authority, without being relieved of 64 

responsibility, to execute any of the powers, duties, and 65 

functions vested in the department or in any administrative unit 66 

thereof through administrative units and through assistants and 67 

deputies designated by the head of the department from time to 68 

time, unless the head of the department is explicitly required 69 

by law to perform the same without delegation; 70 

(c) Compile annually a comprehensive program budget 71 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. SB 1312 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì174152ÄÎ174152 

 

Page 4 of 5 

2/28/2012 1:32:53 PM 576-04213-12 

reporting all program and fiscal matters related to the 72 

operation of his or her department, including each program, 73 

subprogram, and activity, and other matters as required by law; 74 

(d) Reimburse the members of advisory bodies, commissions, 75 

and boards of trustees for their actual and necessary expenses 76 

incurred in the performance of their duties in accordance with 77 

s. 112.061; 78 

(e) Subject to the requirements of chapter 120, exercise 79 

existing authority to adopt rules pursuant and limited to the 80 

powers, duties, and functions transferred to the department; 81 

(f) Exercise authority on behalf of the department to 82 

accept gifts, grants, bequests, loans, and endowments for 83 

purposes consistent with the powers, duties, and functions of 84 

the department. All such funds must be deposited in the State 85 

Treasury and appropriated by the Legislature for the purposes 86 

for which they were received by the department; 87 

(g) If a department is under the direct supervision of a 88 

board, including a board consisting of the Governor and Cabinet, 89 

however designated, employ an executive director to serve at its 90 

pleasure; and 91 

(h) Make recommendations concerning more effective internal 92 

structuring of the department to the Legislature. Unless 93 

otherwise required by law, such recommendations must be provided 94 

to the Legislature at least 30 days before the first day of the 95 

regular session at which they are to be considered, when 96 

practicable. 97 

Section 7. Section 120.515, Florida Statutes, is created to 98 

read: 99 

120.515 Declaration of policy.—This chapter provides 100 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. SB 1312 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì174152ÄÎ174152 

 

Page 5 of 5 

2/28/2012 1:32:53 PM 576-04213-12 

uniform procedures for the exercise of specified authority. This 101 

chapter does not limit or impinge upon the assignment of 102 

executive power under Art. IV of the State Constitution or the 103 

legal authority of an appointing authority to direct and 104 

supervise those appointees serving at the pleasure of the 105 

appointing authority. For purposes of this chapter, adherence to 106 

the direction and supervision of an appointing authority does 107 

not constitute delegation or transfer of statutory authority 108 

assigned to the appointee. 109 

Section 8. Subsection (3) of section 120.52, Florida 110 

Statutes, is amended to read: 111 

120.52 Definitions.—As used in this act: 112 

(3) “Agency head” means the person or collegial body in a 113 

department or other governmental unit statutorily responsible 114 

for final agency action. An agency head appointed by and serving 115 

at the pleasure of an appointing authority remains subject to 116 

the direction and supervision of the appointing authority, but 117 

actions taken by the agency head as authorized by statute are 118 

official acts. 119 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. SB 1312 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì383452&Î383452 

 

Page 1 of 1 

2/28/2012 4:53:59 PM 576-04250-12 

LEGISLATIVE ACTION 

Senate 

Comm: RCS 

03/02/2012 

 

 

 

. 

. 

. 

. 

. 

. 

House 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The Committee on Budget (Simmons) recommended the following: 

 

Senate Amendment to Amendment (590742) (with title 1 

amendment) 2 

 3 

Delete lines 695 - 775. 4 

 5 

================= T I T L E  A M E N D M E N T ================ 6 

And the title is amended as follows: 7 

Delete lines 994 - 1005 8 

and insert: 9 

permission for weatherization; amending s. 10 



Florida Senate - 2012 SB 1312 

 

 

 

By Senator Gaetz 

 

 

 

 

4-01009-12 20121312__ 

Page 1 of 27 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

A bill to be entitled 1 

An act relating to the administrative authority of the 2 

executive branch; affirming that Executive Orders 11-3 

72 and 11-211 are consistent with the law and public 4 

policy of this state; providing legislative intent; 5 

amending s. 20.02, F.S.; providing that gubernatorial 6 

appointees are generally subject to the oversight, 7 

direction, and control of the Governor; amending s. 8 

20.03, F.S.; redefining the term “agency head”; 9 

specifying that an agency head who is appointed by and 10 

serves at the pleasure of the Governor remains subject 11 

to the supervision, direction, and control of the 12 

Governor; defining the term “serve at the pleasure”; 13 

specifying that an appointee who serves at the 14 

pleasure of an appointing authority remains subject to 15 

the direction, supervision, and control of the 16 

appointing authority; amending s. 20.05, F.S.; 17 

specifying that certain statutory directives to heads 18 

of department are subject to the allocation of 19 

executive power under the State Constitution; creating 20 

s. 120.515, F.S.; specifying that ch. 120, F.S., does 21 

not limit or impinge upon the authority of an 22 

appointing authority to direct and supervise an 23 

appointee serving at the pleasure of the appointing 24 

authority; amending s. 120.52, F.S.; specifying that 25 

certain acts of an agency head who serves at the 26 

pleasure of an appointing authority are official acts, 27 

notwithstanding the authority of an appointing 28 

authority to direct and supervise the agency head; 29 

Florida Senate - 2012 SB 1312 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

4-01009-12 20121312__ 

Page 2 of 27 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

amending s. 14.34, F.S.; deleting the authority of the 30 

Executive Office of the Governor to adopt rules 31 

relating to the award of the Governor’s Medal of 32 

Merit; amending s. 15.16, F.S.; deleting the authority 33 

of the Department of State to adopt rules relating to 34 

apostilles conforming to the Hague Convention of 1961; 35 

amending s. 15.18, F.S.; deleting the authority of the 36 

Secretary of State to adopt rules relating to 37 

contracts that are primarily for promotional services 38 

and events; deleting a requirement that appropriated 39 

funds be expended in accordance with part I of ch. 40 

287, F.S.; amending s. 16.60, F.S.; deleting the 41 

authority of the Attorney General to adopt rules of 42 

procedure to govern its mediation proceedings; 43 

amending s. 17.0416, F.S.; deleting the authority of 44 

the Department of Financial Services to adopt rules 45 

relating to contractual agreements to provide 46 

accounting and payroll services on a fee basis; 47 

amending s. 17.59, F.S.; deleting the authority of the 48 

Chief Financial Officer to adopt rules for the 49 

management and maintenance of the collateral 50 

management service; repealing s. 25.371, F.S., which 51 

relates to the effect of rules adopted by the Supreme 52 

Court; repealing s. 28.43, F.S., which relates to the 53 

authority of the Department of Revenue to adopt rules 54 

relating to the clerks of court; repealing s. 35.07, 55 

F.S., which relates to the power of the district 56 

courts of appeal to make rules and regulations; 57 

amending s. 39.0137, F.S.; deleting the authority of 58 



Florida Senate - 2012 SB 1312 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

4-01009-12 20121312__ 

Page 3 of 27 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

the Department of Children and Family Services to 59 

adopt rules to ensure that the requirements of the 60 

Indian Child Welfare Act and the Multi-Ethnic 61 

Placement Act of 1994 are enforced; amending s. 62 

39.824, F.S.; deleting a request that the Supreme 63 

Court adopt rules of juvenile procedure; amending s. 64 

63.167, F.S.; deleting the authority of the Department 65 

of Children and Family Services to adopt rules 66 

relating to the establishment and operation of the 67 

state adoption information center; repealing s. 68 

88.9051, F.S., which relates to the authority of the 69 

Department of Children and Family Services to adopt 70 

rules to implement ch. 88, F.S.; amending s. 97.026, 71 

F.S.; deleting the authority of the Department of 72 

State to adopt rules relating to the provision of 73 

forms and ballots in alternative formats; amending s. 74 

97.0555, F.S.; deleting the authority of the 75 

Department of State to adopt rules specifying 76 

documentation that is sufficient for certain 77 

individuals to qualify for late registration to vote; 78 

amending s. 97.061, F.S.; deleting the authority of 79 

the Department of State to adopt rules relating to 80 

registration of persons to vote who are unable to read 81 

or write or who are disabled; amending s. 101.56062, 82 

F.S.; deleting the authority of the Department of 83 

State to adopt rules relating to standards for 84 

accessible voting systems; amending s. 103.101, F.S.; 85 

deleting the authority of the Department of State to 86 

promulgate rules relating to the conduct of the 87 

Florida Senate - 2012 SB 1312 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

4-01009-12 20121312__ 

Page 4 of 27 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

presidential preference primary ballot; amending s. 88 

106.165, F.S.; deleting the authority of the 89 

Department of State to adopt rules relating to 90 

requirements to use closed captioning and descriptive 91 

narratives in certain television broadcasts; amending 92 

s. 110.1099, F.S.; deleting the authority of the 93 

Department of Management Services to adopt rules 94 

relating to educational and training opportunities for 95 

state employees; amending s. 110.1228, F.S.; deleting 96 

the authority of the Department of Management Services 97 

to adopt rules relating to the participation of small 98 

counties, small municipalities, and district school 99 

boards located in small counties to participate in the 100 

state group health insurance program; amending s. 101 

110.12301, F.S.; deleting the authority of the 102 

Department of Management Services to adopt rules 103 

providing a process for verifying dependent 104 

eligibility in the state group insurance program; 105 

amending s. 112.1915, F.S.; deleting the authority of 106 

the State Board of Education to adopt rules relating 107 

to death benefits for teachers and school 108 

administrators; amending s. 118.12, F.S.; deleting the 109 

authority of the Department of State to adopt rules 110 

relating to the certification of a civil notary’s 111 

authority; amending s. 121.085, F.S.; deleting the 112 

authority of the Department of Management Services to 113 

adopt rules relating to the submission of information 114 

necessary to establish a member’s claim for creditable 115 

service; providing an effective date. 116 



Florida Senate - 2012 SB 1312 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

4-01009-12 20121312__ 

Page 5 of 27 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

 117 

WHEREAS, for the preservation of liberty and the protection 118 

of individual rights, the people of this state adopted a 119 

republican form of government delegating and limiting sovereign 120 

power to be exercised by their representatives in three 121 

separate, but equal, branches: the legislative, the executive, 122 

and the judicial, and 123 

WHEREAS, under Article IV of the State Constitution the 124 

people vested supreme executive power in the Governor and 125 

apportioned specific substantive powers among the other elected 126 

officers designated in that article, including the Lieutenant 127 

Governor, the Attorney General, the Chief Financial Officer, and 128 

the Commissioner of Agriculture, and 129 

WHEREAS, Alexander Hamilton stated in the Federalist No. 70 130 

that energy in the executive is a leading character in the 131 

definition of good government, and 132 

WHEREAS, Alexander Hamilton further stated in the 133 

Federalist No. 70 that a feeble executive implies a feeble 134 

execution of the government; that a feeble execution is but 135 

another phrase for a bad execution; and that a government ill-136 

executed, whatever it may be in theory, must be in practice a 137 

bad government, and 138 

WHEREAS, since the framing of Florida’s first constitution 139 

in 1838, the people have adhered to the principles expressed by 140 

Mr. Hamilton in the vesting of supreme executive power directly 141 

in the Governor but choosing to vest other specific executive 142 

powers directly in other denominated officials or entities, and 143 

WHEREAS, in uninterrupted consistency with their 144 

longstanding vesting of the supreme executive power in the 145 

Florida Senate - 2012 SB 1312 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

4-01009-12 20121312__ 

Page 6 of 27 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

Governor, the people in 1968 adopted s. 6, Art. IV of the State 146 

Constitution, generally directing and limiting the Legislature 147 

to allot the functions of the executive branch among not more 148 

than 25 departments and to place the administration of each 149 

department under the direct supervision of the Governor, the 150 

Lieutenant Governor, the Governor and Cabinet, a cabinet member, 151 

or an officer or board appointed by and serving at the pleasure 152 

of the Governor, and 153 

WHEREAS, each officer of state government is obligated to 154 

construe the language of the State Constitution consistent with 155 

its express and clearly implied intent, must give words their 156 

ordinary and customary meaning unless the context indicates 157 

otherwise, must construe all parts together to give them their 158 

full effect, and must not construe the terms of the State 159 

Constitution to yield an absurd result, and 160 

WHEREAS, consistent with s. 6, Art. IV of the State 161 

Constitution, the Legislature adopted and the Governor signed 162 

into law chapter 69-106, Laws of Florida, which restructured the 163 

executive branch into not more than 25 departments and 164 

designated their direct administration, and 165 

WHEREAS, at the time of adopting chapter 69-106, Laws of 166 

Florida, the Legislature was informed that, in submitting s. 6, 167 

Art. IV of the 1968 Constitution to the people for approval, the 168 

Legislature intended that the proposal ensure that the 169 

administration and policies of each executive branch department 170 

would be under the final authority and control of the Governor 171 

or one or more elected constitutional officers, and 172 

WHEREAS, in construing together ss. 1(a) and 6, Art. IV of 173 

the State Constitution, the Legislature understands that these 174 



Florida Senate - 2012 SB 1312 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

4-01009-12 20121312__ 

Page 7 of 27 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

sections create a general legal presumption against the creation 175 

of a class of unelected, subordinate officers exercising 176 

executive power independent of the direction and supervision of 177 

the Governor or one or more specified elected constitutional 178 

officers, and 179 

WHEREAS, s. 6, Art. IV of the State Constitution has not 180 

been amended since its ratification by the people of this state 181 

on November 5, 1968, and 182 

WHEREAS, an officer appointed by and serving at the 183 

pleasure of the Governor to administer a department exercises a 184 

portion of the sovereign power allocated under the State 185 

Constitution to the executive branch and remains subject to the 186 

direction and supervision of one or more elected constitutional 187 

officers who have the ultimate accountability to the people for 188 

the faithful discharge of such responsibility, and 189 

WHEREAS, Justice Polston stated in a dissenting opinion in 190 

Whiley v. Scott, 2011 WL 3568804, at *17 (Fla. 2011), that the 191 

Governor has the constitutional authority to act as this state’s 192 

chief administrative officer as well as the constitutional duty 193 

to faithfully execute this state’s laws and to manage and hold 194 

agencies under his charge accountable to state laws, including 195 

the Administrative Procedure Act, and that the Governor is given 196 

broad authority to fulfill his duty in taking care that the laws 197 

are faithfully executed, and 198 

WHEREAS, Chief Justice Canady stated in a dissenting 199 

opinion in Whiley v. Scott, 2011 WL 3568804, at *11 (Fla. 2011), 200 

that if the phrase “supreme executive power,” as used in s. 6, 201 

Art. IV of the State Constitution, “means anything, it must mean 202 

that the Governor can supervise and direct the policy-making 203 

Florida Senate - 2012 SB 1312 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

4-01009-12 20121312__ 

Page 8 of 27 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

choices - within the range of choices permitted by law - of the 204 

subordinate executive branch officers who serve at his 205 

pleasure,” and 206 

WHEREAS, the Legislature has not insulated discretionary 207 

executive policy decisions from the constitutional structure of 208 

accountability to elected officials established in Article IV of 209 

the State Constitution, and 210 

WHEREAS, the Legislature finds that exercise of delegated 211 

quasi-legislative power within the parameters of the 212 

Administrative Procedure Act and related statutes involves 213 

discretionary policy choices by executive branch officers, and 214 

that in the exercise of this power, the Legislature has imposed 215 

no restriction on the authority of the Governor or any other 216 

constitutional officer or collegial body to supervise and direct 217 

such policy choices made by subordinate executive branch 218 

officials in rulemaking, and 219 

WHEREAS, Florida law provides no specific process for 220 

carrying out the Governor’s executive duties with respect to 221 

holding his executive agencies accountable in their rulemaking 222 

functions, and 223 

WHEREAS, Chief Justice Canady correctly stated in a 224 

dissenting opinion in Whiley v. Scott, 2011 WL 3568804, at *11 225 

(Fla. 2011), “Given the constitutional structure establishing 226 

the power and responsibilities of the Governor, it is 227 

unjustified to conclude . . . that by assigning rulemaking power 228 

to agency heads, the Legislature implicitly divested the 229 

Governor of the supervisory power with respect to executive 230 

officials who serve at his pleasure,” and 231 

WHEREAS, a Governor’s actions are presumed to be in accord 232 



Florida Senate - 2012 SB 1312 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

4-01009-12 20121312__ 

Page 9 of 27 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

with the duties of that office, and 233 

WHEREAS, a statutory definition of “agency head” is not 234 

intended or effective to change the fundamental general 235 

principles of Article IV of the State Constitution that 236 

executive branch power may be exercised only under the direct or 237 

indirect supervision of one or more elected constitutional 238 

officers, and that the supervision of any executive agency not 239 

expressly allocated to one or more particular constitutional 240 

officers remains under the Governor’s supreme executive power, 241 

and 242 

WHEREAS, the Administrative Procedure Act is a uniform 243 

procedural statute ensuring full public access and participation 244 

in any exercise of delegated legislative authority by executive 245 

branch entities, and 246 

WHEREAS, the delegation of rulemaking authority by 247 

substantive statute and establishment of uniform procedures 248 

under the Administrative Procedure Act were intended by the 249 

Legislature to conform and comply with the separation of powers 250 

required under s. 3, Art. II of the State Constitution, with no 251 

general intrusion into the role and authority of the elected 252 

executive branch officers as established in Article IV of the 253 

State Constitution, and 254 

WHEREAS, continual review and assessment of existing and 255 

proposed rules is reasonably necessary to ensure that the laws 256 

of this state are faithfully executed without unduly burdening 257 

the state’s economy and imposing needless costs and requirements 258 

on residents, businesses, and local governments, and 259 

WHEREAS, fiscal accountability by all agencies is 260 

reasonably necessary to ensure integrity in state government, 261 

Florida Senate - 2012 SB 1312 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

4-01009-12 20121312__ 

Page 10 of 27 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

and 262 

WHEREAS, while agency heads and personnel bring expertise 263 

to a particular subject matter, they are not directly 264 

accountable to the electorate and do not necessarily have an 265 

incentive to take a systemic approach to regulatory problems, to 266 

budget constraints, or to the overall regulatory burden imposed 267 

by the state on residents and businesses, and 268 

WHEREAS, the elected constitutional officers of this state 269 

have a democratic mandate, are directly answerable to the 270 

people, and have the duty and power to assess the overall 271 

legality, efficiency, and operation of government within their 272 

constitutional and statutory jurisdictions, and 273 

WHEREAS, review and oversight of agency rulemaking are 274 

encompassed by the Governor’s powers and duties under ss. 1(a) 275 

and 6, Art. IV of the State Constitution to “take care that the 276 

laws be faithfully executed” and to serve as “the chief 277 

administrative officer of the state responsible for the planning 278 

and budgeting for the state,” and 279 

WHEREAS, the State Constitution and the Florida Statutes 280 

establish that many agencies of state government are 281 

administered by an officer appointed by and serving at the 282 

pleasure of the Governor, and in order to determine whether an 283 

officer continues to serve at the Governor’s pleasure, it is 284 

necessary for the Governor to set expectations and standards for 285 

that officer, and to measure agency performance against those 286 

expectations and standards, and 287 

WHEREAS, Executive Orders 11-01 and 11-72 established the 288 

Office of Fiscal Accountability and Regulatory Reform to ensure 289 

that agency rules, proposed and existing, are efficient, are not 290 



Florida Senate - 2012 SB 1312 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

4-01009-12 20121312__ 

Page 11 of 27 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

overly burdensome, and faithfully adhere to statutes as enacted 291 

by the Legislature, and 292 

WHEREAS, upon establishment of the Office of Fiscal 293 

Accountability and Regulatory Reform, all agencies under the 294 

direction of the Governor were required to obtain review by the 295 

office and receive approval before developing new rules or 296 

amending or repealing existing rules, and 297 

WHEREAS, the review process under the Office of Fiscal 298 

Accountability and Regulatory Reform has facilitated the 299 

Governor’s exercise of his power and duty to serve as the chief 300 

executive and administrative officer of the state, and 301 

WHEREAS, the review process of the Office of Fiscal 302 

Accountability and Regulatory Reform has facilitated the 303 

Governor’s planning and budgeting for the state, and 304 

WHEREAS, the Office of Fiscal Accountability and Regulatory 305 

Reform has reviewed thousands of rules and regulations and 306 

helped agencies identify more than 1,000 unnecessary and 307 

unauthorized rules and regulations and recommend that they be 308 

repealed, and 309 

WHEREAS, since January 4, 2011, the Office of Fiscal 310 

Accountability and Regulatory Reform has reviewed hundreds of 311 

proposed agency rulemaking actions, and 312 

WHEREAS, the review process of the Office of Fiscal 313 

Accountability and Regulatory Reform has thus far been 314 

successful in helping to ensure the efficient and effective 315 

performance of state government, and 316 

WHEREAS, a majority of five of the seven justices of the 317 

Supreme Court of Florida held in Whiley v. Scott, 2011 WL 318 

3568804, at *1 (Fla. 2011), that Executive Orders 11-01 and 11-319 

Florida Senate - 2012 SB 1312 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

4-01009-12 20121312__ 

Page 12 of 27 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

72 “impermissibly suspended agency rulemaking to the extent that 320 

[they] include a requirement that the Office of Fiscal 321 

Accountability and Regulatory Reform must first permit an agency 322 

to engage in the rulemaking that has been delegated by the 323 

Florida Legislature,” and 324 

WHEREAS, the majority opinion in Whiley failed to address 325 

and apply the plain meaning of ss. 1 and 6, Art. IV of the State 326 

Constitution, and thereby may be read to restrain the power of 327 

the Governor under general law with respect to the supervision 328 

of agency heads, and 329 

WHEREAS, the majority opinion in Whiley failed to address 330 

the implications of the Court’s precedent in Jones v. Chiles, 331 

638 So.2d 48 (Fla. 1994), which recognized the proper scope of 332 

executive power under the State Constitution, and 333 

WHEREAS, the majority opinion in Whiley failed to address 334 

the precedent set by dozens of executive orders issued by 335 

previous Florida governors, and 336 

WHEREAS, the majority opinion in Whiley failed to address 337 

the Court’s holding in Chiles v. Children A, B, C, D, E, and F, 338 

589 So.2d 260, 263 (Fla. 1991), that “[t]he principles 339 

underlying the governmental separation of powers antedate our 340 

Florida Constitution and were collectively adopted by the union 341 

of states in our federal constitution,” and, in light of that 342 

precedent, failed to consider that Executive Orders 11-01 and 343 

11-72 cannot be meaningfully distinguished from similar 344 

executive orders issued by the last four presidents of the 345 

United States and the governors of a least 29 other states, and 346 

WHEREAS, the majority opinion in Whiley unreasonably relied 347 

on a 1983 opinion of the Attorney General, which the Attorney 348 



Florida Senate - 2012 SB 1312 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

4-01009-12 20121312__ 

Page 13 of 27 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

General distinguished and limited to its facts in an amicus 349 

brief in Whiley, and 350 

WHEREAS, the opinions of the two dissenting justices in 351 

Whiley state the correct interpretation of the State 352 

Constitution and present persuasive reasoning and arguments in 353 

support of that interpretation, and 354 

WHEREAS, the Supreme Court withheld the writ sought by the 355 

plaintiff in Whiley, and 356 

WHEREAS, notwithstanding the other provisions of this 357 

preamble, the majority opinion in Whiley is to be afforded the 358 

deference due an advisory opinion of the Supreme Court as no 359 

writ or other final order was entered, NOW, THEREFORE, 360 

 361 

Be It Enacted by the Legislature of the State of Florida: 362 

 363 

Section 1. Executive Orders 11-72 and 11-211 are affirmed 364 

as being consistent with the law and public policy of the state. 365 

Section 2. The Legislature intends that the amendments to 366 

ss. 20.02, 20.03, and 20.05, Florida Statutes, made by this act 367 

which apply to the organizational structure of the executive 368 

branch, and that the creation of s. 120.515, Florida Statutes, 369 

and the amendment to s. 120.52, Florida Statutes, made by this 370 

act which apply to administrative procedure are to clarify that 371 

the placement of an executive department under the direct 372 

administration of an officer or board appointed by and serving 373 

at the pleasure of the Governor does not implicitly limit or 374 

restrict the Governor’s authority and responsibility to direct 375 

and supervise the actions, policies, and process of such officer 376 

or board. The Legislature further intends that the statutory 377 

Florida Senate - 2012 SB 1312 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

4-01009-12 20121312__ 

Page 14 of 27 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

changes serve as a rejection of any interpretation of the State 378 

Constitution or the Florida Statutes which concludes that an 379 

unelected agency head has authority to act independently of the 380 

direction and supervision of the Governor, except as may be 381 

clearly, expressly, and specifically provided by general law. 382 

Section 3. Present subsections (3) through (7) of section 383 

20.02, Florida Statutes, are renumbered as subsections (4) 384 

through (8), respectively, and a new subsection (3) is added to 385 

that section, to read: 386 

20.02 Declaration of policy.— 387 

(3) Unless otherwise expressly provided in this chapter, 388 

the administration of any executive branch department or entity 389 

placed under the direct supervision of an officer or board 390 

appointed by and serving at the pleasure of the Governor shall 391 

remain at all times under the executive authority of the 392 

Governor, pursuant to ss. 1(a) and 6, Art. IV of the State 393 

Constitution, and subject to the oversight, direction, and 394 

supervision of the Governor. 395 

Section 4. Subsections (4) and (5) of section 20.03, 396 

Florida Statutes, are amended, and subsection (13) is added to 397 

that section, to read: 398 

20.03 Definitions.—To provide uniform nomenclature 399 

throughout the structure of the executive branch, the following 400 

definitions apply: 401 

(4) “Head of the department” means the individual to whom 402 

or board to which direct administration in charge of the 403 

department is allocated by statute. An agency head who is 404 

appointed by and serves at the pleasure of the Governor remains 405 

subject to the Governor’s supervision, direction, and control 406 



Florida Senate - 2012 SB 1312 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

4-01009-12 20121312__ 

Page 15 of 27 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

under s. 1(a), Art. IV of the State Constitution. 407 

(5) “Secretary” means an individual who is appointed by the 408 

Governor to head a department and who is not otherwise named in 409 

the State Constitution. 410 

(13) “Serve at the pleasure” refers to an appointee who 411 

serves in the office until removed by the appointing authority. 412 

Consistent with ss. 1 and 6, Art. IV of the State Constitution, 413 

an appointee serving at the pleasure of the appointing authority 414 

remains subject to the direction, supervision, and control of 415 

the appointing authority and does not exercise any independent 416 

executive power, except as is clearly, expressly, and 417 

specifically provided by law. Unless otherwise expressly 418 

provided by law, the exercise of statutory authority by such 419 

appointee does not require approval of the appointing authority 420 

unless expressly required by the directive of the appointing 421 

authority. 422 

Section 5. Subsection (1) of section 20.05, Florida 423 

Statutes, is amended to read: 424 

20.05 Heads of departments; powers and duties.— 425 

(1) Each head of a department, subject to the allocation of 426 

executive power under Art. IV of the State Constitution, and 427 

except as otherwise provided by law, must: 428 

(a) Plan, direct, coordinate, and execute the powers, 429 

duties, and functions vested in that department or vested in a 430 

division, bureau, or section of that department; powers and 431 

duties assigned or transferred to a division, bureau, or section 432 

of the department must not be construed to limit this authority 433 

and this responsibility; 434 

(b) Have authority, without being relieved of 435 

Florida Senate - 2012 SB 1312 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

4-01009-12 20121312__ 

Page 16 of 27 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

responsibility, to execute any of the powers, duties, and 436 

functions vested in the department or in any administrative unit 437 

thereof through administrative units and through assistants and 438 

deputies designated by the head of the department from time to 439 

time, unless the head of the department is explicitly required 440 

by law to perform the same without delegation; 441 

(c) Compile annually a comprehensive program budget 442 

reporting all program and fiscal matters related to the 443 

operation of his or her department, including each program, 444 

subprogram, and activity, and other matters as required by law; 445 

(d) Reimburse the members of advisory bodies, commissions, 446 

and boards of trustees for their actual and necessary expenses 447 

incurred in the performance of their duties in accordance with 448 

s. 112.061; 449 

(e) Subject to the requirements of chapter 120, exercise 450 

existing authority to adopt rules pursuant and limited to the 451 

powers, duties, and functions transferred to the department; 452 

(f) Exercise authority on behalf of the department to 453 

accept gifts, grants, bequests, loans, and endowments for 454 

purposes consistent with the powers, duties, and functions of 455 

the department. All such funds must be deposited in the State 456 

Treasury and appropriated by the Legislature for the purposes 457 

for which they were received by the department; 458 

(g) If a department is under the direct supervision of a 459 

board, including a board consisting of the Governor and Cabinet, 460 

however designated, employ an executive director to serve at its 461 

pleasure; and 462 

(h) Make recommendations concerning more effective internal 463 

structuring of the department to the Legislature. Unless 464 



Florida Senate - 2012 SB 1312 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

4-01009-12 20121312__ 

Page 17 of 27 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

otherwise required by law, such recommendations must be provided 465 

to the Legislature at least 30 days before the first day of the 466 

regular session at which they are to be considered, when 467 

practicable. 468 

Section 6. Section 120.515, Florida Statutes, is created to 469 

read: 470 

120.515 Declaration of policy.—This chapter does not limit 471 

or impinge upon the allocation of executive power under Art. IV 472 

of the State Constitution, including the authority of an 473 

appointing authority to direct and supervise an appointee 474 

serving at the pleasure of the appointing authority. 475 

Section 7. Subsection (3) of section 120.52, Florida 476 

Statutes, is amended to read: 477 

120.52 Definitions.—As used in this act: 478 

(3) “Agency head” means the person or collegial body in a 479 

department or other governmental unit statutorily responsible 480 

for final agency action. While an agency head appointed by and 481 

serving at the pleasure of an appointing authority remains 482 

subject to the direction and supervision of the appointing 483 

authority, actions taken by the agency head as authorized by law 484 

are official acts. 485 

Section 8. Subsection (3) of section 14.34, Florida 486 

Statutes, is amended to read: 487 

14.34 Governor’s Medal of Merit.— 488 

(3) The Executive Office of the Governor, in consultation 489 

with the Adjutant General and other appropriate entities, may 490 

adopt rules pursuant to ss. 120.536(1) and 120.54 to implement 491 

this section. 492 

Section 9. Subsection (7) of section 15.16, Florida 493 

Florida Senate - 2012 SB 1312 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

4-01009-12 20121312__ 

Page 18 of 27 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

Statutes, is amended to read: 494 

15.16 Reproduction of records; admissibility in evidence; 495 

electronic receipt and transmission of records; certification; 496 

acknowledgment.— 497 

(7) The Secretary of State may issue apostilles conforming 498 

to the requirements of the international treaty known as the 499 

Hague Convention of 1961 and may charge a fee for the issuance 500 

of apostilles not to exceed $10 per apostille. The Secretary of 501 

State has the sole authority in this state to establish, in 502 

accordance with the laws of the United States, the requirements 503 

and procedures for the issuance of apostilles. The Department of 504 

State may adopt rules to implement this subsection. 505 

Section 10. Subsection (7) of section 15.18, Florida 506 

Statutes, is amended to read: 507 

15.18 International and cultural relations.—The Divisions 508 

of Cultural Affairs, Historical Resources, and Library and 509 

Information Services of the Department of State promote programs 510 

having substantial cultural, artistic, and indirect economic 511 

significance that emphasize American creativity. The Secretary 512 

of State, as the head administrator of these divisions, shall 513 

hereafter be known as “Florida’s Chief Cultural Officer.” As 514 

this officer, the Secretary of State is encouraged to initiate 515 

and develop relationships between the state and foreign cultural 516 

officers, their representatives, and other foreign governmental 517 

officials in order to promote Florida as the center of American 518 

creativity. The Secretary of State shall coordinate 519 

international activities pursuant to this section with 520 

Enterprise Florida, Inc., and any other organization the 521 

secretary deems appropriate. For the accomplishment of this 522 



Florida Senate - 2012 SB 1312 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

4-01009-12 20121312__ 

Page 19 of 27 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

purpose, the Secretary of State shall have the power and 523 

authority to: 524 

(7) Notwithstanding the provisions of part I of chapter 525 

287, promulgate rules for entering into contracts which are 526 

primarily for promotional services and events, which may include 527 

commodities involving a service. Such rules shall include the 528 

authority to negotiate costs with the offerors of such services 529 

and commodities who have been determined to be qualified on the 530 

basis of technical merit, creative ability, and professional 531 

competency. The rules shall only apply to the expenditure of 532 

funds donated for promotional services and events. Expenditures 533 

of appropriated funds shall be made only in accordance with part 534 

I of chapter 287. 535 

Section 11. Paragraph (a) of subsection (3) of section 536 

16.60, Florida Statutes, is amended to read: 537 

16.60 Public records mediation program within the Office of 538 

the Attorney General; creation; duties.— 539 

(3) The Office of the Attorney General shall: 540 

(a) Employ one or more mediators to mediate disputes 541 

involving access to public records. A person may not be employed 542 

by the department as a mediator unless that person is a member 543 

in good standing of The Florida Bar. The Office of the Attorney 544 

General may adopt rules of procedure to govern its mediation 545 

proceedings. 546 

Section 12. Section 17.0416, Florida Statutes, is amended 547 

to read: 548 

17.0416 Authority to provide services on a fee basis.— 549 

(1) The Chief Financial Officer, through the Department of 550 

Financial Services, may provide accounting and payroll services 551 

Florida Senate - 2012 SB 1312 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

4-01009-12 20121312__ 

Page 20 of 27 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

on a fee basis under contractual agreement with eligible 552 

entities, including, but not limited to, state universities, 553 

community colleges, units of local government, constitutional 554 

officers, and any other person or entity having received any 555 

property, funds, or moneys from the state. All funds collected 556 

by the department under these contracts shall be deposited into 557 

the General Revenue Fund. 558 

(2) The Department of Financial Services may adopt rules 559 

necessary to administer this section. 560 

Section 13. Subsection (3) of section 17.59, Florida 561 

Statutes, is amended, and present subsections (4) through (6) of 562 

that section are renumbered as subsections (3) through (5), 563 

respectively, to read: 564 

17.59 Safekeeping services.— 565 

(3) The Chief Financial Officer may adopt rules for the 566 

proper management and maintenance of the collateral management 567 

service. 568 

Section 14. Section 25.371, Florida Statutes, is repealed. 569 

Section 15. Section 28.43, Florida Statutes, is repealed. 570 

Section 16. Section 35.07, Florida Statutes, is repealed. 571 

Section 17. Subsection (2) of section 39.0137, Florida 572 

Statutes, is amended to read: 573 

39.0137 Federal law; rulemaking authority.— 574 

(2) The department shall adopt rules no later than July 1, 575 

2007, to ensure that the provisions of these federal laws are 576 

enforced in this state. The department is encouraged to enter 577 

into agreements with recognized American Indian tribes in order 578 

to facilitate the implementation of the Indian Child Welfare 579 

Act. 580 



Florida Senate - 2012 SB 1312 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

4-01009-12 20121312__ 

Page 21 of 27 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

Section 18. Section 39.824, Florida Statutes, is amended to 581 

read: 582 

39.824 Procedures and jurisdiction.— 583 

(1) The Supreme Court is requested to adopt rules of 584 

juvenile procedure by October 1, 1989, to implement this part. 585 

All procedures, including petitions, pleadings, subpoenas, 586 

summonses, and hearings in cases for the appointment of a 587 

guardian advocate shall be according to the Florida Rules of 588 

Juvenile Procedure unless otherwise provided by law. 589 

(2) The circuit court shall have exclusive original 590 

jurisdiction of a proceeding in which appointment of a guardian 591 

advocate is sought. The court shall retain jurisdiction over a 592 

child for whom a guardian advocate is appointed until 593 

specifically relinquished by court order. 594 

Section 19. Subsection (3) of section 63.167, Florida 595 

Statutes, is amended to read: 596 

63.167 State adoption information center.— 597 

(3) The department shall ensure equitable distribution of 598 

referrals to licensed child-placing agencies, and may promulgate 599 

rules as necessary for the establishment and operation of the 600 

state adoption information center. 601 

Section 20. Section 88.9051, Florida Statutes, is repealed. 602 

Section 21. Section 97.026, Florida Statutes, is amended to 603 

read: 604 

97.026 Forms to be available in alternative formats and via 605 

the Internet.—It is the intent of the Legislature that all forms 606 

required to be used in chapters 97-106 shall be made available 607 

upon request, in alternative formats. Such forms shall include 608 

absentee ballots as alternative formats for such ballots become 609 

Florida Senate - 2012 SB 1312 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

4-01009-12 20121312__ 

Page 22 of 27 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

available and the Division of Elections is able to certify 610 

systems that provide them. The department may, pursuant to ss. 611 

120.536(1) and 120.54, adopt rules to administer this section. 612 

Whenever possible, such forms, with the exception of absentee 613 

ballots, shall be made available by the Department of State via 614 

the Internet. Sections that contain such forms include, but are 615 

not limited to, ss. 97.051, 97.052, 97.053, 97.057, 97.058, 616 

97.0583, 97.071, 97.073, 97.1031, 98.075, 99.021, 100.361, 617 

100.371, 101.045, 101.171, 101.20, 101.6103, 101.62, 101.64, 618 

101.65, 101.657, 105.031, 106.023, and 106.087. 619 

Section 22. Section 97.0555, Florida Statutes, is amended 620 

to read: 621 

97.0555 Late registration.—An individual or accompanying 622 

family member who has been discharged or separated from the 623 

uniformed services or the Merchant Marine, or from employment 624 

outside the territorial limits of the United States, after the 625 

book-closing date for an election pursuant to s. 97.055 and who 626 

is otherwise qualified may register to vote in such election 627 

until 5 p.m. on the Friday before that election in the office of 628 

the supervisor of elections. Such persons must produce 629 

sufficient documentation showing evidence of qualifying for late 630 

registration pursuant to this section. The Department of State 631 

shall adopt rules specifying documentation that is sufficient to 632 

determine eligibility. 633 

Section 23. Subsection (1) of section 97.061, Florida 634 

Statutes, is amended to read: 635 

97.061 Special registration for electors requiring 636 

assistance.— 637 

(1) Any person who is eligible to register and who is 638 



Florida Senate - 2012 SB 1312 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

4-01009-12 20121312__ 

Page 23 of 27 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

unable to read or write or who, because of some disability, 639 

needs assistance in voting shall upon that person’s request be 640 

registered under the procedure prescribed by this section and 641 

shall be entitled to receive assistance at the polls under the 642 

conditions prescribed by this section. The department may adopt 643 

rules to administer this section. 644 

Section 24. Subsection (3) of section 101.56062, Florida 645 

Statutes, is amended to read: 646 

101.56062 Standards for accessible voting systems.— 647 

(3) The Department of State may adopt rules in accordance 648 

with s. 120.54 which are necessary to administer this section. 649 

Section 25. Subsection (5) of section 103.101, Florida 650 

Statutes, is amended to read: 651 

103.101 Presidential preference primary.— 652 

(5) The state executive committee of each party, by rule 653 

adopted at least 60 days before prior to the presidential 654 

preference primary election, shall determine the number, and 655 

establish procedures to be followed in the selection, of 656 

delegates and delegate alternates from among each candidate’s 657 

supporters. A copy of any rule adopted by the executive 658 

committee shall be filed with the Department of State within 7 659 

days after its adoption and shall become a public record. The 660 

Department of State shall review the procedures and shall notify 661 

the state executive committee of each political party of any 662 

ballot limitations. The Department of State may promulgate rules 663 

for the orderly conduct of the presidential preference primary 664 

ballot. 665 

Section 26. Section 106.165, Florida Statutes, is amended 666 

to read: 667 

Florida Senate - 2012 SB 1312 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

4-01009-12 20121312__ 

Page 24 of 27 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

106.165 Use of closed captioning and descriptive narrative 668 

in all television broadcasts.—Each candidate, political party, 669 

affiliated party committee, and political committee must use 670 

closed captioning and descriptive narrative in all television 671 

broadcasts regulated by the Federal Communications Commission 672 

that are on behalf of, or sponsored by, a candidate, political 673 

party, affiliated party committee, or political committee or 674 

must file a written statement with the qualifying officer 675 

setting forth the reasons for not doing so. Failure to file this 676 

statement with the appropriate qualifying officer constitutes a 677 

violation of the Florida Election Code and is under the 678 

jurisdiction of the Florida Elections Commission. The Department 679 

of State may adopt rules in accordance with s. 120.54 which are 680 

necessary to administer this section. 681 

Section 27. Subsection (5) of section 110.1099, Florida 682 

Statutes, is amended to read: 683 

110.1099 Education and training opportunities for state 684 

employees.— 685 

(5) The Department of Management Services, in consultation 686 

with the agencies and, to the extent applicable, with Florida’s 687 

public community colleges, public career centers, and public 688 

universities, shall adopt rules to administer this section. 689 

Section 28. Subsection (7) of section 110.1228, Florida 690 

Statutes, is amended to read: 691 

110.1228 Participation by small counties, small 692 

municipalities, and district school boards located in small 693 

counties.— 694 

(7) The Department of Management Services may adopt rules 695 

necessary to administer this section. 696 



Florida Senate - 2012 SB 1312 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

4-01009-12 20121312__ 

Page 25 of 27 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

Section 29. Section 110.12301, Florida Statutes, is amended 697 

to read: 698 

110.12301 Competitive procurement of postpayment claims 699 

review services.—The Division of State Group Insurance is 700 

directed to competitively procure the following: 701 

(1) Postpayment claims review services for the state group 702 

health insurance plans established pursuant to s. 110.123. 703 

Compensation under the contract shall be paid from amounts 704 

identified as claim overpayments that are made by or on behalf 705 

of the health plans and that are recovered by the vendor. The 706 

vendor may retain that portion of the amount recovered as 707 

provided in the contract. The contract must require the vendor 708 

to maintain all necessary documentation supporting the amounts 709 

recovered, retained, and remitted to the division.; and 710 

(2) A contingency-based contract for dependent eligibility 711 

verification services for the state group insurance program; 712 

however, compensation under the contract may not exceed 713 

historical claim costs for the prior 12 months for the dependent 714 

populations disenrolled as a result of the vendor’s services. 715 

The division may establish a 3-month grace period and hold 716 

subscribers harmless for past claims of ineligible dependents. 717 

The Department of Management Services shall submit budget 718 

amendments pursuant to chapter 216 in order to obtain budget 719 

authority necessary to expend funds from the State Employees’ 720 

Group Health Self-Insurance Trust Fund for payments to the 721 

vendor as provided in the contract. The Department of Management 722 

Services shall adopt rules providing a process for verifying 723 

dependent eligibility. 724 

Section 30. Subsections (4) and (5) of section 112.1915, 725 

Florida Senate - 2012 SB 1312 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

4-01009-12 20121312__ 

Page 26 of 27 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

Florida Statutes, are amended to read: 726 

112.1915 Teachers and school administrators; death 727 

benefits.—Any other provision of law to the contrary 728 

notwithstanding: 729 

(4) The State Board of Education shall adopt rules and 730 

procedures necessary to implement the provisions of this 731 

section, pursuant to ss. 120.536(1) and 120.54. 732 

(4)(5) State funding shall be provided annually in the 733 

General Appropriations Act. 734 

Section 31. Section 118.12, Florida Statutes, is amended to 735 

read: 736 

118.12 Certification of civil-law notary’s authority; 737 

apostilles.—If certification of a civil-law notary’s authority 738 

is necessary for a particular document or transaction, it must 739 

be obtained from the Secretary of State. Upon the receipt of a 740 

written request from a civil-law notary and the fee prescribed 741 

by the Secretary of State, the Secretary of State shall issue a 742 

certification of the civil-law notary’s authority, in a form 743 

prescribed by the Secretary of State, which shall include a 744 

statement explaining the legal qualifications and authority of a 745 

civil-law notary in this state. The fee prescribed for the 746 

issuance of the certification under this section or an apostille 747 

under s. 15.16 may not exceed $10 per document. The Department 748 

of State may adopt rules to implement this section. 749 

Section 32. Section 121.085, Florida Statutes, is amended 750 

to read: 751 

121.085 Creditable service.—The following provisions shall 752 

apply to creditable service as defined in s. 121.021(17): 753 

(1) The department shall adopt rules establishing 754 



Florida Senate - 2012 SB 1312 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

4-01009-12 20121312__ 

Page 27 of 27 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

procedures for the submission of evidence or information 755 

necessary to establish a member’s claim of creditable service. 756 

(2) No Creditable service that remains which remained 757 

unclaimed at retirement may not be claimed or purchased after a 758 

retirement benefit payment has been cashed or deposited. 759 

Section 33. This act shall take effect July 1, 2012. 760 











The Florida Senate 

BILL ANALYSIS AND FISCAL IMPACT STATEMENT 
(This document is based on the provisions contained in the legislation as of the latest date listed below.) 

Prepared By: The Professional Staff of the Budget Committee 

 

BILL:  CS/CS/SB 402 

INTRODUCER:  Budget Committee, Health Regulation Committee, and Senators Negron and Fasano 

SUBJECT:  Prescription Drug Abuse 

DATE:  March 2, 2012 

 

 ANALYST  STAFF DIRECTOR  REFERENCE  ACTION 

1. Wilson  Stovall  HR  Fav/CS 

2. Sneed  Sadberry  BJA  Favorable 

3. Sneed  Rhodes  BC  Fav/CS 

4.        

5.        

6.        

 

Please see Section VIII. for Additional Information: 

A. COMMITTEE SUBSTITUTE..... X Statement of Substantial Changes 

 B. AMENDMENTS........................  Technical amendments were recommended 

   Amendments were recommended 

   Significant amendments were recommended 

 

I. Summary: 

The bill creates the Statewide Task Force on Prescription Drug Abuse and Newborns within the 

Department of Legal Affairs. The purpose of the task force is to examine and analyze the 

emerging problem of neonatal withdrawal syndrome as it pertains to prescription drugs. The task 

force will research the impact of prescription drug use and neonatal withdrawal syndrome, 

evaluate effective strategies for treatment and prevention, and provide policy recommendations 

to the Legislature. 

 

This bill creates one undesignated section of law. 

II. Present Situation: 

Abuse of Prescription Drugs 

Prescription drug abuse is the intentional use of a medication without a prescription of one’s 

own; in a way other than as prescribed; or for the experience or feeling it causes. According to 

several national surveys, prescription medications, such as those used to treat pain, attention 

deficit disorders, and anxiety, are being abused at a rate second only to marijuana among illicit 

REVISED:         



BILL: CS/CS/SB 402   Page 2 

 

drug users.
1
 The consequences of this abuse are reflected in increased treatment admissions, 

emergency room visits, and overdose deaths. 

 

Although many types of prescription drugs are abused, there is currently a growing, deadly 

epidemic of prescription painkiller abuse. In 2008, drug overdoses in the United States caused 

36,450 deaths. Opioid pain relievers were involved in 14,800 deaths (73.8 percent) of the 20,044 

prescription drug overdose deaths. Opioid pain relievers now account for more overdose deaths 

than heroin and cocaine combined.
2
 In 2009, 1.2 million hospital emergency department visits 

(an increase of 98.4 percent since 2004) were related to misuse or abuse of pharmaceuticals, 

compared with 1.0 million emergency department visits related to use of illicit drugs such as 

heroin and cocaine.
3
 

 

Reports from the National Survey on Drug Use and Health combine four prescription-type drug 

groups into a category referred to as “psychotherapeutics.” The four categories of prescription-

type drugs (pain relievers, tranquilizers, stimulants, and sedatives) cover numerous medications 

that currently are or have been available by prescription. They also include drugs within these 

groupings that originally were prescription medications but currently may be manufactured and 

distributed illegally, such as methamphetamine, which is included under stimulants. Use of over-

the-counter drugs and legitimate use of prescription drugs are not included. 

 

The national findings from the 2010 National Survey on Drug Use and Health indicate that 

7.0 million persons aged 12 or older (2.7 percent of the population) were nonmedical users of 

psychotherapeutic drugs, including 5.1 million users of pain relievers, 2.2 million users of 

tranquilizers, 1.1 million users of stimulants, and 374,000 users of sedatives.
4
 According to the 

findings from the survey, the number and percentage of persons aged 12 or older who were 

current nonmedical users of psychotherapeutic drugs have remained about the same since 2002.
5
 

 

Drug Use by Pregnant Women 

According to the national findings from the 2010 National Survey on Drug Use and Health, 

4.4 percent of pregnant women aged 15 to 44 were current illicit drug users based on data 

averaged across 2009 and 2010.
6
 This was lower than the rate among women in this age group 

who were not pregnant (10.9 percent). The rate of current illicit drug use was 16.2 percent 

among pregnant women aged 15 to 17, 7.4 percent among pregnant women aged 18 to 25, and 

1.9 percent among pregnant women aged 26 to 44. Illicit drugs include marijuana/hashish, 

                                                 
1
 National Institute on Drug Abuse, Prescription Drugs: Abuse and Addiction. Found at: 

<http://drugabuse.gov/ResearchReports/Prescription/prescription2.html#whatis> (Last visited on November 29, 2011). 
2
 CDC, Vital Signs: Overdoses of Prescription Opioid Pain Relievers – United States, 1999 – 2008, Morbidity and Mortality 

Weekly Report (MMWR), November 4, 2011 / 60(43); 1487-1492. Found at: 

<http://www.cdc.gov/mmwr/preview/mmwrhtml/mm6043a4.htm?s_cid=mm6043a4_w> (Last visited on November 29, 

2011). 
3
 Id. 

4
 U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration, Results from 

the 2010 National Survey on Drug Use and Health: Summary of National Findings, page 12. Found at: 

<http://oas.samhsa.gov/NSDUH/2k10NSDUH/2k10Results.pdf> (Last visited on November 29, 2011). 
5
 Id., p. 12 and 13. 

6
 Id., p. 20. 



BILL: CS/CS/SB 402   Page 3 

 

cocaine (including crack), heroin, hallucinogens, inhalants, and prescription-type 

psychotherapeutics used nonmedically. 

 

Neonatal Withdrawal Syndrome 

Neonatal Withdrawal Syndrome (NWS), also commonly referred to as Neonatal Abstinence 

Syndrome is a group of problems that occur in a newborn who was exposed to addictive illegal 

or prescription drugs while in the mother’s womb. Drugs taken during pregnancy pass through 

the placenta – the organ that connects the baby to its mother in the womb – and reach the baby. 

The baby becomes addicted along with the mother. At birth, the baby is still dependent on the 

drug. Because the baby is no longer getting the drug after birth, symptoms of withdrawal occur.
7
 

 

The symptoms of NWS depend on the type of drug the mother used, how much of the drug she 

was taking, for how long she used the drug, and whether the baby was born full-term or early. 

Symptoms can begin within 1-3 days after birth, or they may take 5-10 days to appear. The 

symptoms may include: blotchy skin coloring, diarrhea, excessive crying or high-pitched crying, 

excessive sucking, fever, hyperactive reflexes, increased muscle tone, irritability, poor feeding, 

rapid breathing, seizures, sleep problems, slow weight gain, stuffy nose, sneezing, sweating, 

trembling, and vomiting. NWS can last from 1 week to 6 months.
8
 

 

According to the Florida Center for Health Information and Policy Analysis in the Agency for 

Health Care Administration, the number of cases of drug withdrawal syndrome in newborns 

jumped from 354 in 2006 to 1,374 in 2010.
9
 These numbers include all drugs, not just 

prescription drugs. However, recent media reports indicate that hospitals are experiencing a rise 

in the number of infants born withdrawing from opiate-based pills such as oxycodone and 

hydrocodone.
10

 

 

Task Forces 

Chapter 20, F.S., establishes provisions for the organizational structure of state government. 

Subsection 20.03(8), F.S., defines “committee” or “task force” to mean “an advisory body 

created without specific statutory enactment for a time not to exceed 1 year or created by specific 

statutory enactment for a time not to exceed 3 years and appointed to study a specific problem 

and recommend a solution or policy alternative with respect to that problem. Its existence 

terminates upon the completion of its assignment.” 

                                                 
7
 U.S. National Library of Medicine, PubMed Health, A.D.A.M. Medical Encyclopedia, Neonatal abstinence syndrome. 

Found at: <http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmedhealth/PMH0004566/> (Last visited on November 29, 2011). 
8
 Id. 

9
 The Florida Center for Health Information and Policy Analysis queried the Center’s hospital inpatient discharge data for the 

years 2006 through 2010 for the principal and secondary diagnosis fields for Drug Withdrawal Syndrome in Newborns with a 

diagnosis code of 779.5. 
10

 Ray Reyes, Number of babies born addicted to pain pills rising in Tampa Bay, The Tampa Tribune, July 25, 2011. Found 

at; < http://www2.tbo.com/news/breaking-news/2011/jul/25/number-of-babies-born-addicted-to-pain-pills-risin-ar-246186/> 

(Last visited on November 29, 2011). 

Donna Leinwand Leger, Doctors see surge in newborns hooked on mothers’ pain pills, USA Today. Found at: 

<http://yourlife.usatoday.com/parenting-family/babies/story/2011-11-13/Doctors-see-surge-in-newborns-hooked-on-mothers-

pain-pills/51186076/1> (Last visited on November 29, 2011). 



BILL: CS/CS/SB 402   Page 4 

 

III. Effect of Proposed Changes: 

The bill creates the Statewide Task Force on Prescription Drug Abuse and Newborns within the 

Department of Legal Affairs. The purpose of the task force is to research the impact of 

prescription drug use and neonatal withdrawal syndrome, evaluate effective strategies for 

treatment and prevention, and provide policy recommendations to the Legislature. The task force 

is charged with: 

 

 Collecting and organizing data concerning the nature and extent of neonatal withdrawal 

syndrome from prescription drugs in this state; 

 Collecting and organizing data concerning the costs associated with treating expectant 

mothers and newborns suffering from withdrawal from prescription drugs; 

 Identifying available federal, state, and local programs that provide services to mothers who 

abuse prescription drugs and newborns who have neonatal withdrawal syndrome; and 

 Evaluating methods to increase public awareness of the dangers associated with prescription 

drug abuse, particularly to women, expectant mothers, and newborns. 

 

The bill specifies the membership of the 14-member task force and provides for reimbursement 

for per diem and travel expenses of the members. The organizational meeting of the task force is 

to be held by May 1, 2012, and the task force must subsequently meet at least four times per 

year. The task force must submit an interim report of its recommendations to the President of the 

Senate and the Speaker of the House of Representatives by January 15, 2013, and a final report 

of its recommendations by January 15, 2015. 

 

The task force will consist of the following members, or their designees:  

 The Attorney General, who will serve as chair; 

 The Surgeon General, who will serve as vice chair; 

 The Secretary of Health Care Administration; 

 The executive director of the Department of Law Enforcement; 

 A legislator appointed by the President of the Senate; 

 A legislator appointed by the Speaker of the House of Representatives; and  

 A representative from the Florida Medical Association, Florida Hospital Association, an 

addiction and recovery association, Florida Osteopathic Medical Associations, March of 

Dimes, Health Start, and Florida Nurses Association (one representative per each 

organization); and  

 A Florida resident appointed by the Attorney General.    

 

The Department of Legal Affairs is directed to provide staff support to the task force. 

 

The effective date of the bill is upon the act becoming a law. 

IV. Constitutional Issues: 

A. Municipality/County Mandates Restrictions: 

The provisions of this bill have no impact on municipalities and the counties under the 

requirements of Article VII, Section 18 of the Florida Constitution. 



BILL: CS/CS/SB 402   Page 5 

 

B. Public Records/Open Meetings Issues: 

The provisions of the bill have no impact on public records or open meetings issues under 

the requirements of Article I, Section 24(a) and (b) of the Florida Constitution. 

C. Trust Funds Restrictions: 

The provisions of this bill have no impact on the trust fund restrictions under the 

requirements of Article III, Subsection 19(f) of the Florida Constitution. 

V. Fiscal Impact Statement: 

A. Tax/Fee Issues: 

None. 

B. Private Sector Impact: 

None. 

C. Government Sector Impact: 

The estimated fiscal impact to the Office of the Attorney General (OAG) will be 

minimal. The OAG has indicated that it will use existing employees to staff the task 

force, organize the meetings, and write the report. The four required task force meetings 

will cost the OAG approximately $14,500, or $3,600 per meeting. The OAG has 

identified a legal settlement that could cover all task force costs. 

VI. Technical Deficiencies: 

None. 

VII. Related Issues: 

None. 

VIII. Additional Information: 

A. Committee Substitute – Statement of Substantial Changes: 
(Summarizing differences between the Committee Substitute and the prior version of the bill.) 

CS/CS by the Budget Committee on February 29, 2012: 

The Committee Substitute adds a representative from the Florida Nurses Association to 

the task force membership. 

 

CS by Health Regulation on December 7, 2011: 

The Committee Substitute specifies four additional members of the task force and 

requires an interim and a final report to the President of the Senate and the Speaker of the 

House of Representatives. 



BILL: CS/CS/SB 402   Page 6 

 

 

B. Amendments: 

None. 

This Senate Bill Analysis does not reflect the intent or official position of the bill’s introducer or the Florida Senate. 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 402 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì508608:Î508608 

 

Page 1 of 1 

2/6/2012 11:46:23 AM 576-02738-12 

LEGISLATIVE ACTION 

Senate 

Comm: RCS 

03/02/2012 

 

 

 

. 

. 

. 

. 

. 

. 

House 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The Committee on Budget (Negron) recommended the following: 

 

Senate Amendment  1 

 2 

Between lines 51 and 52 3 

insert: 4 

15. A representative from the Florida Nurses Association. 5 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 402 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì627262&Î627262 

 

Page 1 of 2 

2/27/2012 11:29:03 AM 576-04061-12 

LEGISLATIVE ACTION 

Senate 

Comm: UNFAV 

03/02/2012 

 

 

 

. 

. 

. 

. 

. 

. 

House 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The Committee on Budget (Bogdanoff) recommended the following: 

 

Senate Amendment (with title amendment) 1 

 2 

Between lines 80 and 81 3 

insert: 4 

Section 2. Paragraph (a) of subsection (1) of section 5 

39.201, Florida Statutes, is amended to read: 6 

39.201 Mandatory reports of child abuse, abandonment, or 7 

neglect; mandatory reports of death; central abuse hotline.— 8 

(1)(a) Any person who knows, or has reasonable cause to 9 

suspect, that a child is abused, abandoned, or neglected by a 10 

parent, legal custodian, caregiver, or other person responsible 11 

for the child’s welfare, as defined in this chapter, or that a 12 

child is in need of supervision and care and has no parent, 13 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 402 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì627262&Î627262 

 

Page 2 of 2 

2/27/2012 11:29:03 AM 576-04061-12 

legal custodian, or responsible adult relative immediately known 14 

and available to provide supervision and care shall report such 15 

knowledge or suspicion to the department in the manner 16 

prescribed in subsection (2). However, a reporter listed in 17 

subparagraph (b)1. or 2. shall, before making a report, make a 18 

reasonable attempt to contact the prescribing physician, if any, 19 

to determine if a test, administered at birth, which indicated 20 

that the child’s blood, urine, or meconium contained the 21 

presence of a controlled substance that is a prescription drug, 22 

as defined in chapter 499, or metabolites of such substances, 23 

was the result of legitimate medical treatment administered to 24 

the mother or the newborn infant. 25 

 26 

================= T I T L E  A M E N D M E N T ================ 27 

And the title is amended as follows: 28 

Delete line 13 29 

and insert: 30 

Legislature; amending s. 39.201, F.S.; requiring 31 

certain persons who report children who are suspected 32 

of being abused, abandoned, or neglected, to attempt 33 

to determine if certain tests administered to the 34 

child at birth indicated the presence of a controlled 35 

substance; requiring the reporter to make a reasonable 36 

attempt to contact the prescribing physician to 37 

determine if the presence of a controlled substance 38 

was a result of a legitimate medical treatment; 39 

providing an effective date. 40 



Florida Senate - 2012 CS for SB 402 

 

 

 

By the Committee on Health Regulation; and Senators Negron and 

Fasano 

 

 

 

588-01576-12 2012402c1 

Page 1 of 3 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

A bill to be entitled 1 

An act relating to prescription drug abuse; creating 2 

the Statewide Task Force on Prescription Drug Abuse 3 

and Newborns; providing a purpose; providing 4 

membership of the task force; providing for 5 

reimbursement of per diem and travel expenses for 6 

members of the task force; requiring that the 7 

Department of Legal Affairs provide the task force 8 

with necessary staff; specifying a date for the task 9 

force’s organizational session; providing meeting 10 

times; providing the duties of the task force; 11 

requiring that the task force submit reports to the 12 

Legislature; providing an effective date. 13 

 14 

Be It Enacted by the Legislature of the State of Florida: 15 

 16 

Section 1. Statewide Task Force on Prescription Drug Abuse 17 

and Newborns.— 18 

(1) The Legislature declares that the purpose of this act 19 

is to create a task force to examine and analyze the emerging 20 

problem of neonatal withdrawal syndrome as it pertains to 21 

prescription drugs. 22 

(2)(a) There is created within the Department of Legal 23 

Affairs the Statewide Task Force on Prescription Drug Abuse and 24 

Newborns, a task force as defined in s. 20.03, Florida Statutes. 25 

The task force is created for the express purpose of researching 26 

the impact of prescription drug use and neonatal withdrawal 27 

syndrome, evaluating effective strategies for treatment and 28 

prevention, and providing policy recommendations to the 29 

Florida Senate - 2012 CS for SB 402 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

588-01576-12 2012402c1 

Page 2 of 3 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

Legislature. 30 

(b) The task force shall consist of the following members, 31 

or his or her designee: 32 

1. The Attorney General who shall serve as chair. 33 

2. The Surgeon General who shall serve as vice chair. 34 

3. The Secretary of Children and Family Services. 35 

4. The Secretary of Health Care Administration. 36 

5. The executive director of the Department of Law 37 

Enforcement. 38 

6. A legislator appointed by the President of the Senate. 39 

7. A legislator appointed by the Speaker of the House of 40 

Representatives. 41 

8. A representative from the Florida Medical Association. 42 

9. A representative from the Florida Hospital Association. 43 

10. A representative, appointed by the Attorney General, 44 

from an addiction and recovery association. 45 

11. A representative from the Florida Osteopathic Medical 46 

Association. 47 

12. A representative from the March of Dimes. 48 

13. A representative of Healthy Start. 49 

14. A resident of this state appointed by the Attorney 50 

General. 51 

(c) Members of the task force are entitled to receive 52 

reimbursement for per diem and travel expenses pursuant to s. 53 

112.061, Florida Statutes. 54 

(d) The Department of Legal Affairs shall provide the task 55 

force with staff necessary to assist the task force in the 56 

performance of its duties. 57 

(3) The task force shall hold its organizational session by 58 



Florida Senate - 2012 CS for SB 402 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

588-01576-12 2012402c1 

Page 3 of 3 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

May 1, 2012. Thereafter, the task force shall meet at least four 59 

times per year. Additional meetings may be held if the chair 60 

determines that extraordinary circumstances require an 61 

additional meeting. A majority of the members of the task force 62 

constitutes a quorum. 63 

(4) The task force shall: 64 

(a) Collect and organize data concerning the nature and 65 

extent of neonatal withdrawal syndrome from prescription drugs 66 

in this state; 67 

(b) Collect and organize data concerning the costs 68 

associated with treating expectant mothers and newborns 69 

suffering from withdrawal from prescription drugs; 70 

(c) Identify available federal, state, and local programs 71 

that provide services to mothers who abuse prescription drugs 72 

and newborns who have neonatal withdrawal syndrome; and 73 

(d) Evaluate methods to increase public awareness of the 74 

dangers associated with prescription drug abuse, particularly to 75 

women, expectant mothers, and newborns. 76 

(5) The task force shall submit an interim report of its 77 

recommendations to the President of the Senate and the Speaker 78 

of the House of Representatives by January 15, 2013, and a final 79 

report of its recommendations by January 15, 2015. 80 

Section 2. This act shall take effect upon becoming a law. 81 



















The Florida Senate 

BILL ANALYSIS AND FISCAL IMPACT STATEMENT 
(This document is based on the provisions contained in the legislation as of the latest date listed below.) 

Prepared By: The Professional Staff of the Budget Committee 

 

BILL:  CS/SB 1606 

INTRODUCER:  Budget Committee and Senator Bennett 

SUBJECT:  Study of the Higher Education Delivery System 

DATE:  March 1, 2012 

 

 ANALYST  STAFF DIRECTOR  REFERENCE  ACTION 

1. Harkey  deMarsh-Mathues  HE  Favorable 

2. Hamon  Rhodes  BC  Fav/CS 

3.        

4.        

5.        

6.        

 

Please see Section VIII. for Additional Information: 

A. COMMITTEE SUBSTITUTE..... X Statement of Substantial Changes 

 B. AMENDMENTS........................  Technical amendments were recommended 

   Amendments were recommended 

   Significant amendments were recommended 

 

I. Summary: 

The bill requires the Higher Education Coordinating Council to review and evaluate the state’s 

higher education governance structure and recommend to the Legislature potential revisions to 

the higher education delivery system to improve student services, access, affordability, and 

accountability. The council must consider the potential to create an intermediate structure of 

institutions that are not part of the Florida College System (FCS) or the State University System 

(SUS) by making university branch campuses independent, combining university branch 

campuses with colleges, transferring certain colleges to the intermediate structure, or creating 

new institutions. The council must report its findings and recommendations to the Governor, the 

President of the Senate, and the Speaker of the House of Representatives. 

 

This bill creates an undesignated section of law. 

REVISED:         



BILL: CS/SB 1606   Page 2 

 

II. Present Situation: 

Florida’s Public Postsecondary Institutions 

Florida’s public postsecondary education system could be said to have two tiers, though they are 

not described as such in the laws that create them. The 28 FCS institutions and the county areas 

they serve are established in s. 1000.21, F.S. The purpose of the FCS institutions is to maximize 

open access for students, respond to community needs for postsecondary academic education and 

career degree education, and provide associate and baccalaureate degrees that will best meet the 

state’s employment needs.
1
 The colleges are required to deliver the associate and baccalaureate 

degrees that they provide in a cost-effective manner that demonstrates substantial savings to the 

student and to the state over the cost of providing the degree at a state university.
2
 The 11 

institutions of the SUS, including 10 universities and one college, provide baccalaureate, 

master’s and doctoral degrees. Because FCS institutions and state universities are located in all 

the major geographic regions of the state, an FCS institution campus and a state university 

campus are often located in close proximity to each other. 

 

FCS institutions and state universities are administered by institutional boards of trustees. The 

FCS institutions are governed by rules of the State Board of Education. Under the State 

Constitution, state universities are governed by the Board of Governors (BOG).
3
 

 

While the bill refers to university branch campuses, as university campuses away from the main 

campus commonly are called, the BOG does not use the term “branch campus,” but, rather, 

“additional campus,” in order to avoid conflict with the definition used by the regional 

accrediting body, the Southern Association of Colleges and Schools. BOG Regulation 8.009, 

Educational Sites,
4
 defines and provides processes for establishing, reclassifying, relocating, and 

closing educational sites. Three types of additional campuses are defined in the regulation, each 

providing a range of enrollment to assist in determination of the appropriate classification. The 

regulation defines an additional campus as one that has received separate regional accreditation; 

is defined as an instructional and administrative unit of a university, apart from the main campus, 

that primarily offers students upper-division undergraduate and graduate programs, as well as a 

wide range of administrative and student support services appropriate for the number of student 

FTE served; and reflects a relatively permanent commitment by a university for the foreseeable 

future, not an occasional, time-limited, or transitory activity, in facilities which are university-

owned, university-leased, or jointly used with another public institution. According to the BOG, 

as of June 2010, there were 16 additional campuses in the state university system.
5
 

 

                                                 
1
 s. 1001.60(1), F.S. 

2
 s. 1001.60(2)(a), F.S. 

3
 Fla. Const., art IX, s. 7. 

4
 Readable at: http://www.flbog.edu/documents_regulations/regulations/8_009_2011_11_10__FINAL.pdf 

5
 BOG staff e-mail communication, February 7, 2012, on file with the committee. 



BILL: CS/SB 1606   Page 3 

 

The Higher Education Coordinating Council 

The Higher Education Coordinating Council
6
 was created by the 2010 Legislature to serve as an 

advisory board to the Legislature, State Board of Education, and the Board of Governors and to 

make recommendations consistent with the following guiding principles: 

 

 To achieve within existing resources a seamless academic educational system that fosters an 

integrated continuum of kindergarten through graduate school education for Florida’s 

students; 

 To promote consistent education policy across all educational delivery systems, focusing on 

students; 

 To promote substantially improved articulation across all educational delivery systems; 

 To promote a system that maximizes educational access and allows the opportunity for a 

high-quality education for all Floridians; and 

 To promote a system of coordinated and consistent transfer of credit and data collection for 

improved accountability purposes between the educational delivery systems. 

 

Members of the council represent both public and private postsecondary education sectors and 

well as private business.
7
 

 

The 2011 Legislature required the council to issue a report
8
 by December 31, 2011, addressing: 

 

 The primary core mission of public and nonpublic postsecondary education institutions in the 

context of state access demands and economic development goals; 

 Performance outputs and outcomes designed to meet annual and long-term state goals; 

 The state’s articulation policies and practices; and 

 A plan for workforce development education. 

III. Effect of Proposed Changes: 

The bill requires the Higher Education Coordinating Council to review and evaluate the state’s 

higher education governance structure and recommend to the Legislature potential revisions to 

the higher education delivery system to improve student services, access, affordability, and 

accountability. At a minimum, the council must consider academic offerings, fiscal efficiencies, 

and regional demographics. The council also must consider the potential to create an 

intermediate structure of institutions that are not part of the Florida College System or the State 

University System by making university branch campuses independent, combining university 

branch campuses with colleges, transferring certain colleges to the intermediate structure, or 

creating new institutions. The council must report its findings and recommendations to the 

Governor, the President of the Senate, and the Speaker of the House of Representatives. The bill 

does not establish a date by which the report must be published. 

                                                 
6
 1004.015 F.S., 

7
 Under s. 1004.015(2), F.S., the seven members of the council are the Commissioner of Education, the Chancellor of the 

State University System, the Chancellor of the Florida College System, the executive director of the Commission for 

Independent Education, the president of the Independent Colleges and Universities of Florida, and two representatives of the 

business community appointed by the Senate President and the Speaker of the House of Representatives.  
8
Readable at:  http://www.floridahighereducation.org/_doc/HECC-FINAL-REPORT-12-14-11.pdf. 



BILL: CS/SB 1606   Page 4 

 

IV. Constitutional Issues: 

A. Municipality/County Mandates Restrictions: 

None. 

B. Public Records/Open Meetings Issues: 

None. 

C. Trust Funds Restrictions: 

None. 

V. Fiscal Impact Statement: 

A. Tax/Fee Issues: 

None. 

B. Private Sector Impact: 

None. 

C. Government Sector Impact: 

The BOG and the Department of Education provide administrative support to the Higher 

Education Coordinating Council. 

VI. Technical Deficiencies: 

None. 

VII. Related Issues: 

None.  

VIII. Additional Information: 

A. Committee Substitute – Statement of Substantial Changes: 
(Summarizing differences between the Committee Substitute and the prior version of the bill.) 

CS by Budget on February 29, 2012: 

 

The committee substitute does not create a Postsecondary Education Study Committee 

but instead assigns the study of postsecondary education delivery systems to the Higher 

Education Coordinating Council. The council must report to the Governor, the Senate 

President and the Speaker of the House of Representatives regarding a possible 

restructuring of the higher education system. 



BILL: CS/SB 1606   Page 5 

 

B. Amendments: 

None. 

 This Senate Bill Analysis does not reflect the intent or official position of the bill’s introducer or the Florida Senate. 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. SB 1606 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì4053949Î405394 

 

Page 1 of 2 

2/28/2012 4:57:17 PM 576-04251-12 

LEGISLATIVE ACTION 

Senate 

Comm: RCS 

03/02/2012 

 

 

 

. 

. 

. 

. 

. 

. 

House 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The Committee on Budget (Lynn) recommended the following: 

 

Senate Amendment (with title amendment) 1 

 2 

Delete everything after the enacting clause 3 

and insert: 4 

Section 1. The Higher Education Coordinating Council, 5 

created pursuant to s. 1004.015, Florida Statutes, shall review 6 

and evaluate the current higher education governance structure 7 

in this state and shall make recommendations to the Legislature 8 

regarding potential revisions to the higher education delivery 9 

system to improve student services, access, affordability, and 10 

accountability. At a minimum, the council shall consider 11 

academic offerings, fiscal efficiencies, and regional 12 

demographics. The council shall consider the potential to create 13 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. SB 1606 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì4053949Î405394 

 

Page 2 of 2 

2/28/2012 4:57:17 PM 576-04251-12 

an intermediate structure of institutions that are not part of 14 

the Florida College System or the State University System by 15 

making university branch campuses independent, combining 16 

university branch campuses with colleges, transferring certain 17 

colleges to the intermediate structure, or creating new 18 

institutions. The council shall report its findings and 19 

recommendations to the Governor, the President of the Senate, 20 

and the Speaker of the House of Representatives. 21 

Section 2. This act shall take effect upon becoming a law. 22 

 23 

================= T I T L E  A M E N D M E N T ================ 24 

And the title is amended as follows: 25 

Delete everything before the enacting clause 26 

and insert: 27 

A bill to be entitled 28 

An act relating to postsecondary education; requiring 29 

that the Higher Education Coordinating Council review 30 

and evaluate the current higher education governance 31 

structure in this state and make recommendations to 32 

the Legislature for potential revisions to the higher 33 

education delivery system; requiring that the council 34 

report its findings and recommendations to the 35 

Governor and Legislature; providing an effective date. 36 



Florida Senate - 2012 SB 1606 

 

 

 

By Senator Bennett 

 

 

 

 

21-01174A-12 20121606__ 

Page 1 of 2 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

A bill to be entitled 1 

An act relating to postsecondary education; creating 2 

the Postsecondary Education Study Committee; providing 3 

a purpose; providing for membership; requiring that 4 

members serve without compensation, but are entitled 5 

to reimbursement for per diem and travel expenses; 6 

requiring that the committee prepare and submit a 7 

report to the Governor and the Legislature by a 8 

specified date; providing for future expiration; 9 

providing an effective date. 10 

 11 

Be It Enacted by the Legislature of the State of Florida: 12 

 13 

Section 1. Postsecondary Education Study Committee.— 14 

(1) The Postsecondary Education Study Committee is created 15 

for the purpose of evaluating and determining whether state 16 

university branch campuses should be combined with community 17 

college campuses to create a three-level postsecondary education 18 

system in the state. The goal of the committee is to create the 19 

most academically and financially efficient postsecondary 20 

education system possible. 21 

(2)(a) The committee shall be composed of 15 members, of 22 

which 5 shall be appointed by the Governor, 5 shall be appointed 23 

by the President of the Senate, and 5 shall be appointed by the 24 

Speaker of the House of Representatives. The Governor shall 25 

select a member to serve as chair. 26 

(b) Members of the committee shall serve without 27 

compensation, but are entitled to reimbursement for per diem and 28 

travel expenses pursuant to s. 112.061, Florida Statutes. 29 

Florida Senate - 2012 SB 1606 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

21-01174A-12 20121606__ 

Page 2 of 2 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

(3) By January 1, 2013, the committee shall prepare and 30 

submit to the Governor, the President of the Senate, and the 31 

Speaker of the House of Representatives a report detailing its 32 

findings and recommendations. 33 

(4) This section expires January 1, 2013. 34 

Section 2. This act shall take effect upon becoming a law. 35 





The Florida Senate 

BILL ANALYSIS AND FISCAL IMPACT STATEMENT 
(This document is based on the provisions contained in the legislation as of the latest date listed below.) 

Prepared By: The Professional Staff of the Budget Committee 

 

BILL:  CS/CS/SB 1404 

INTRODUCER:  Judiciary Committee, Banking and Insurance Committee, and Senator Altman 

SUBJECT:  Title Insurance 

DATE:  March 2, 2012 

 

 ANALYST  STAFF DIRECTOR  REFERENCE  ACTION 

1. Matiyow  Burgess  BI  Fav/CS 

2. Irwin  Cibula  JU  Fav/CS 

3. Betta  Rhodes  BC  Favorable 

4.        

5.        

6.        

 

Please see Section VIII. for Additional Information: 

A. COMMITTEE SUBSTITUTE..... X Statement of Substantial Changes 

 B. AMENDMENTS........................  Technical amendments were recommended 

   Amendments were recommended 

   Significant amendments were recommended 

 

I. Summary: 

This bill makes the following changes with regard to title insurance agents and agencies: 

 

 Provides changes to the continuing educational requirements for agents. 

 Allows the Department of Financial Services (DFS) to deny the renewal of licensure for 

failure to timely report data. 

 Requires attorneys to maintain separate trust accounts for title transactions. 

 Requires the Office of Insurance Regulation (OIR) to approve forms within certain time 

period from when they are submitted. 

 Requires title agents and agencies to maintain and submit records to the OIR. 

 

This bill substantially amends the following sections of the Florida Statutes:  626.2815, 

626.8437, 626.8473, 627.777, and 627.782. 

REVISED:         



BILL: CS/CS/SB 1404   Page 2 

 

II. Present Situation: 

Title Insurance 

Title insurance insures owners of real property or others having an interest in real property against 

loss by encumbrance, defective title, invalidity, or adverse claim to title.
 1
 Title insurance is a policy 

issued by a title insurer
2
 that, after performing a search of title, represents the disposition of that 

title and insures the accuracy of its search against claims of title defects. Title insurance is 

usually taken out by the purchaser of property or an entity that is loaning money on a mortgage. 

Purchasers of real property and lenders utilize title insurance to protect themselves against claims 

by others that claim to be the rightful owner of the property. Most lenders require title insurance 

when they underwrite loans for real property. Title insurance places on title insurers a duty to 

defend actions related to adverse claims against title, and an obligation to indemnify the 

policyholder for damage to the lender’s security interest created by a cloud on the title, 

unmarketable title, or adverse title that was not discovered by the insurer. 

 

Title Insurance Agencies and Agents 

In Florida, two entities provide regulatory oversight of the title insurance industry, the DFS, 

which regulates title agents and agencies, and the OIR, which regulates title insurers, including 

licensing and the promulgation of rates. Title insurance forms must be filed and approved by the 

OIR prior to usage
3
 and rates and premiums charged by title insurers are specified by rule by the 

Financial Services Commission (FSC).
4
 

 

Title insurance agencies must apply for and be licensed by the DFS, and are separately appointed 

by each title insurer they represent.
5
 To be licensed as a title insurance agent, a person must 

qualify for and pass a written examination given by the DFS.
6
 The examination must test the 

applicant’s ability, competence, and knowledge of title insurance and real property transactions 

and the duties and responsibilities of licensees.
7
 In addition to title insurance, topics to be 

covered on the test include abstracting, title searches, examination of title, closing procedures, 

and escrow handling.
8
 Prior to taking the test, an applicant must complete 40 hours of classroom 

work in title insurance in the four years immediately preceding the application date, or have had 

12 months experience working in the title insurance industry as a substantially full-time 

employee.
9
 Licensed title insurance agents are required to take ten hours of continuing education 

courses every two years.
10

  

                                                 
1
 Section 624.608(1), F.S. Title insurance is also insurance of owners and secured parties as to the existence, attachment, 

perfection and priority of a security interest in personal property under the Uniform Commercial Code. See Section 

626.608(2), F.S. 
2
 Section 627.7711(3), F.S.  

3
 Section 627.777, F.S. 

4
 Section 627.782(1), F.S. 

5
 See Section 626.172(1), F.S. (stating DFS licenses title insurance agencies); Section 626.015(3), F.S., (defining an 

appointment as the authority given by an insurer to a licensee to transact insurance on its behalf). 
6
 Section 626.221(1), F.S. 

7
 Section 626.241(1), F.S. 

8
 Section 626.241(7), F.S. 

9
 Section 626.8417(3)(a), F.S. 

10
 Section 626.2815(3)(d), F.S. 



BILL: CS/CS/SB 1404   Page 3 

 

III. Effect of Proposed Changes:  

Continuing Education  

The bill does not change the number of hours (ten) a licensed agent must complete every two 

years, but it does require the DFS to approve ten hours of courses specific to title insurance and 

escrow management. Additionally, three of the ten hours of courses approved by the DFS must 

be about ethics, rules, or compliance with state and federal regulations pertaining to title 

insurance and closing services. 

 

Submission of Data  

The bill requires each title insurance agency doing business in this state to maintain and submit 

to the OIR by March 31 of each year, information the OIR may determine necessary to assist in 

the analysis of title insurance rates, title search costs and the condition of the title insurance 

industry in this state. The bill also allows the DFS to suspend or revoke a license for failure to 

timely report data as requested by the OIR. 

 

Attorneys 

The bill requires attorneys acting in the capacity of a title insurance agent to keep in a separate 

trust account all escrowed funds collected from title insurance transactions.  These accounts are 

to be made available for audit by the insurer unless particular accounts for certain clients would 

violate applicable rules of The Florida Bar. 

 

Title Insurance Forms 

The OIR is required to approve or disapprove filed title insurance forms within 180 days of 

receipt. (Currently, there are no timeframes within which filed forms must be approved or 

disapproved.) When approving a form, the OIR must determine if the current rate applies or if 

the coverages require rulemaking. To prevent a competitive advantage to an insurer that has 

received approval of a filed form, the OIR is required to expeditiously approve forms filed by 

other insurers that contain identical coverages, rates, and approved deviations. 

 

This act shall take effect July 1, 2012. 

IV. Constitutional Issues: 

A. Municipality/County Mandates Restrictions: 

None. 

B. Public Records/Open Meetings Issues: 

None. 



BILL: CS/CS/SB 1404   Page 4 

 

C. Trust Funds Restrictions: 

None. 

V. Fiscal Impact Statement: 

A. Tax/Fee Issues: 

None. 

B. Private Sector Impact: 

Licensees may face revocation for failure to timely submit data to OIR. 

C. Government Sector Impact: 

None.  

VI. Technical Deficiencies: 

None. 

VII. Related Issues: 

The bill requires the OIR to approve or disapprove a form filed for approval within 180 days 

after receipt. The agency, however, does not appear to be subject to a consequence if it fails to 

act within the allotted time. For example, under s. 120.60(1), F.S., an application for a license is 

deemed approved if a state agency fails to approve or deny an application within a statutorily 

prescribed time. Similarly, the Legislature may wish to consider whether a form should be 

deemed approved if the OIR fails to act on the form within 180 days after receipt. 

VIII. Additional Information: 

A. Committee Substitute – Statement of Substantial Changes: 
(Summarizing differences between the Committee Substitute and the prior version of the bill.) 

CS by Judiciary on February 9, 2012: 
The CS increases the number of hours of continuing education which a title insurance 

agent must complete on the subject matter of ethics, rules, or compliance with state and 

federal regulations relating to title insurance and closing services from 1.5 to three hours. 

 

Additionally, the CS deletes a provision that would have exempted a title insurance 

agency or title agent from sanctions for failing to timely submit certain data to the 

Financial Services Commission (FSC) if the data had been submitted and the agent or 

agency filed a challenge to the rule specifying the form or substance of the data required. 

 

The CS also expands the rulemaking authority of the FSC by enabling the commission to 

adopt rules “relating to” the collection and analysis of data, rather than rules “to assist in” 

the collection and analysis of data. 



BILL: CS/CS/SB 1404   Page 5 

 

 

CS by Banking and Insurance on January 26, 2012: 

The CS changed the continuing educational requirements from 3 hours to 1.5 hours 

pertaining to ethics, rules and compliance with state and federal regulations of title 

services. 

 

The CS corrected an error in the originally filed bill that mistakenly referred to the 

“department” (DFS) and not the “office” (OIR). 

 

The CS also removed the following provisions from the original filed bill:  

 

 The definition of agent in charge and the outline of relevant responsibilities.  

 The section regarding applicant no longer having to deposit securities.  

 An increase in fidelity bonding that an agency must maintain.  

 The authority of the DFS to deny the renewal of licensure for certain offenses.  

 The process for labeling submitted documents as trade secrets. 

 A statement of settlement cost be required before funds can be dispersed. 

B. Amendments: 

None. 

This Senate Bill Analysis does not reflect the intent or official position of the bill’s introducer or the Florida Senate. 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for CS for SB 1404 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì685126,Î685126 

 

Page 1 of 2 

3/1/2012 2:09:14 PM 576-04407-12 

LEGISLATIVE ACTION 

Senate 

Comm: UNFAV 

03/02/2012 

 

 

 

. 

. 

. 

. 

. 

. 

House 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The Committee on Budget (Bennett) recommended the following: 

 

Senate Amendment (with title amendment) 1 

 2 

Between lines 112 and 113 3 

insert: 4 

Section 6. Section 627.7844, Florida Statutes, is created 5 

to read: 6 

627.7844 Supplemental coverage.— 7 

(1) If the current owner of real property borrows money 8 

secured by an interest in such property and a loan title 9 

insurance policy is issued at original title insurance rates 10 

pursuant to s.627.782, less any agreed rebates in connection 11 

therewith, the title agency, title insurer, or attorney-agent 12 

providing the loan title insurance policy must offer a 13 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for CS for SB 1404 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì685126,Î685126 

 

Page 2 of 2 

3/1/2012 2:09:14 PM 576-04407-12 

supplemental owner’s title insurance policy to the property 14 

owner in the amount of the loan title insurance policy, or such 15 

greater amount as requested by the property owner. 16 

(2) If a complete loss of title occurs, the owner of the 17 

real property shall be reimbursed for the full policy limits of 18 

the most recent owner’s policy based on the full market value of 19 

the property at the time of issuance, plus any additional 20 

supplemental policy limits issued thereafter. Policy limits 21 

shall be paid in accordance with the terms of each policy. 22 

(3) This section applies to all title insurance policies 23 

issued on or after July 1, 2012. 24 

 25 

================= T I T L E  A M E N D M E N T ================ 26 

And the title is amended as follows: 27 

Delete line 23 28 

and insert: 29 

to adopt rules; creating s. 627.7844, F.S.; requiring 30 

the owner of real property to be offered supplemental 31 

owner’s title insurance under certain circumstances; 32 

specifying the amount of reimbursement if a complete 33 

loss occurs; providing applicability; providing an 34 

effective date. 35 



Florida Senate - 2012 CS for CS for SB 1404 

 

 

 

By the Committees on Judiciary; and Banking and Insurance; and 

Senator Altman 

 

 

 

590-03217-12 20121404c2 

Page 1 of 4 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

A bill to be entitled 1 

An act relating to title insurance; amending s. 2 

626.2815, F.S.; specifying continuing education 3 

requirements for title insurance agents; amending s. 4 

626.8437, F.S.; specifying additional grounds to deny, 5 

suspend, revoke, or refuse to renew or continue the 6 

license or appointment of a title insurance agent or 7 

agency; amending s. 626.8473, F.S.; requiring an 8 

attorney serving as a title or real estate settlement 9 

agent to deposit and maintain certain funds in a 10 

separate trust account and permit the account to be 11 

audited by the applicable title insurer, unless 12 

prohibited by the rules of The Florida Bar; amending 13 

s. 627.777, F.S.; providing procedures and 14 

requirements relating to the approval or disapproval 15 

of title insurance forms by the Office of Insurance 16 

Regulation; amending s. 627.782, F.S.; requiring title 17 

insurance agencies and certain insurers to submit 18 

specified information to the office to assist in the 19 

analysis of title insurance premium rates, title 20 

search costs, and the condition of the title insurance 21 

industry; requiring the Financial Services Commission 22 

to adopt rules; providing an effective date. 23 

 24 

Be It Enacted by the Legislature of the State of Florida: 25 

 26 

Section 1. Paragraph (d) of subsection (3) of section 27 

626.2815, Florida Statutes, is amended, and paragraph (l) is 28 

added to that subsection, to read: 29 

Florida Senate - 2012 CS for CS for SB 1404 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

590-03217-12 20121404c2 

Page 2 of 4 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

626.2815 Continuing education required; application; 30 

exceptions; requirements; penalties.— 31 

(3) 32 

(d) Any person who holds a license as a customer 33 

representative, limited customer representative, title agent, 34 

motor vehicle physical damage and mechanical breakdown insurance 35 

agent, crop or hail and multiple-peril crop insurance agent, or 36 

as an industrial fire insurance or burglary insurance agent and 37 

who is not a licensed life or health insurance agent, must shall 38 

be required to complete 10 hours of continuing education courses 39 

every 2 years. 40 

(1) For compliance periods beginning on or after October 1, 41 

2014, any person who holds a license as a title insurance agent 42 

must complete a minimum of 10 hours of continuing education 43 

courses every 2 years in title insurance and escrow management 44 

specific to this state and approved by the department, which 45 

must include at least 3 hours on the subject matter of ethics, 46 

rules, or compliance with state and federal regulations relating 47 

specifically to title insurance and closing services. 48 

Section 2. Subsection (11) is added to section 626.8437, 49 

Florida Statutes, to read: 50 

626.8437 Grounds for denial, suspension, revocation, or 51 

refusal to renew license or appointment.—The department shall 52 

deny, suspend, revoke, or refuse to renew or continue the 53 

license or appointment of any title insurance agent or agency, 54 

and it shall suspend or revoke the eligibility to hold a license 55 

or appointment of such person, if it finds that as to the 56 

applicant, licensee, appointee, or any principal thereof, any 57 

one or more of the following grounds exist: 58 



Florida Senate - 2012 CS for CS for SB 1404 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

590-03217-12 20121404c2 

Page 3 of 4 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

(11) Failure to timely submit data as required by s. 59 

627.782. 60 

Section 3. Subsection (8) is added to section 626.8473, 61 

Florida Statutes, to read: 62 

626.8473 Escrow; trust fund.— 63 

(8) An attorney shall deposit and maintain all funds 64 

received in connection with transactions in which the attorney 65 

is serving as a title or real estate settlement agent into a 66 

separate trust account that is maintained exclusively for funds 67 

received in connection with such transactions and permit the 68 

account to be audited by its title insurers, unless maintaining 69 

funds in the separate account for a particular client would 70 

violate applicable rules of The Florida Bar. 71 

Section 4. Section 627.777, Florida Statutes, is amended to 72 

read: 73 

627.777 Approval of forms.— 74 

(1) A title insurer may not issue or agree to issue any 75 

form of title insurance commitment, title insurance policy, 76 

other contract of title insurance, or related form until it is 77 

filed with and approved by the office. The office may not 78 

disapprove a title guarantee or policy form on the ground that 79 

it has on it a blank form for an attorney’s opinion on the 80 

title. 81 

(2) The office shall approve or disapprove a form filed for 82 

approval within 180 days after receipt. 83 

(3) When the office approves any form, it shall determine 84 

if the current rate in effect applies or if the coverages 85 

require the adoption of a rule pursuant to s. 627.782. 86 

(4) The office may revoke approval of any form after 87 

Florida Senate - 2012 CS for CS for SB 1404 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

590-03217-12 20121404c2 

Page 4 of 4 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

providing 180 days’ notice to the title insurer. 88 

(5) An insurer may not achieve a competitive advantage over 89 

any other insurer, agency, or agent as to rates or forms. If a 90 

form or rate is approved for an insurer, the office shall 91 

expeditiously approve the forms of other insurers who apply for 92 

approval if those forms contain identical coverages, rates, and 93 

deviations which have been approved under s. 627.783. 94 

Section 5. Subsection (8) of section 627.782, Florida 95 

Statutes, is amended to read: 96 

627.782 Adoption of rates.— 97 

(8) Each title insurance agency and insurer licensed to do 98 

business in this state and each insurer’s direct or retail 99 

business in this state shall maintain and submit information, 100 

including revenue, loss, and expense data, as the office 101 

determines necessary to assist in the analysis of title 102 

insurance premium rates, title search costs, and the condition 103 

of the title insurance industry in this state. This information 104 

must be transmitted to the office annually by March 31 of the 105 

year after the reporting year. The commission shall adopt rules 106 

relating to the collection and analysis of the data from the 107 

title insurance industry. The commission may, by rule, require 108 

licensees under this part to annually submit statistical 109 

information, including loss and expense data, as the department 110 

determines to be necessary to analyze premium rates, retention 111 

rates, and the condition of the title insurance industry. 112 

Section 6. This act shall take effect July 1, 2012. 113 









The Florida Senate 

BILL ANALYSIS AND FISCAL IMPACT STATEMENT 
(This document is based on the provisions contained in the legislation as of the latest date listed below.) 

Prepared By: The Professional Staff of the Budget Committee 

 

BILL:  CS/CS/SB 1304 

INTRODUCER:  Budget Subcommittee on Finance and Tax; and Budget Subcommittee on Finance and 

Tax 

SUBJECT:  Tax Administration 

DATE:  February 29, 2012 

 

 ANALYST  STAFF DIRECTOR  REFERENCE  ACTION 

1. Fournier  Diez-Arguelles  BFT  Fav/CS 

2. Fournier  Rhodes  BC  Fav/CS 

3.        

4.        

5.        

6.        

 

Please see Section VIII. for Additional Information: 

A. COMMITTEE SUBSTITUTE..... X Statement of Substantial Changes 

 B. AMENDMENTS........................  Technical amendments were recommended 

   Amendments were recommended 

   Significant amendments were recommended 

 

I. Summary: 

CS/CS/SB 1304 (the bill) includes changes in tax administration that were recommended by the 

Department of Revenue and approved by the Governor and Cabinet and other changes in tax 

administration. It removes the statutory formula for the Department of Revenue to calculate the 

severance tax rate on phosphate rock and replaces it with a flat rate of $1.61 per ton except for 

the period from January 1, 2015 through December 31, 2022, when it will be $1.80 per ton. It 

clarifies the statute that provides for taxation of storage fees for towed vehicles, unless the 

vehicles were impounded by a law enforcement agency; clearly establishes the department’s 

authority to require security for certain individuals seeking to register new businesses; provides a 

sales tax exemption for handicapped-accessible taxicabs, and other vehicles for hire or for 

conversion of such a vehicle to accessibility; bans the sale, purchase, installation, transfer, or 

possession of automated sales suppression devices, zappers, and phantom-ware, and provides 

criminal penalties for these actions; provides an absolute defense to a claim for a refund if the 

retailer, dealer, or vendor collected and remitted the tax pursuant to an agreement with the 

Department of Revenue; corrects an error in the definition of “qualified capital expenditures” for 

purposes of apportionment by sales factor; allows department staff to verify the identity of 

business owners by using driver’s license photos; allows local option fuel taxes to be levied by 

REVISED:         



BILL: CS/CS/SB 1304   Page 2 

 

October 1 instead of July 1; provides an incentive for businesses to comply with requests for 

records for audit purposes; and reduces the interest rate imposed on unemployment tax 

deficiencies. 

 

The bill substantially amends the following sections of the Florida Statutes:  211.3103, 212.03, 

212.07, 212.08, 212.12, 212.14, 212.18, 213.13, 213.295, 213.756, 322.142, 336.021, 336.025, 

443.131, and 443.141. 

II. Present Situation: 

The Department of Revenue (department) is charged with ensuring that the taxes it administers 

are carried out in a fair and equitable manner. Each year the Executive Director seeks approval 

of proposed legislative concepts by the Governor and Cabinet, in their role as the head of the 

department. The department’s tax administration concepts are proposed to reduce the burden on 

taxpayers and to ensure that Florida’s tax laws are applied in a consistent, cost-effective, and 

equitable manner. 

 

(See section-by-section analysis below.) 

III. Effect of Proposed Changes: 

Section 1 

Present situation:  Section 211.3103, F.S., provides that the severance tax rate on phosphate rock 

will increase from $1.61 per ton to $2.54 per ton starting in FY2015-16.  

 

Proposed change:  This section lowers the tax rate to $1.80 per ton for the time period from 

January 1, 2015 until December 31, 2022. After that period, the rate will go back to the current 

rate of $1.61 per ton.  Revenue raised by the rate adjustment will be used to fund outstanding 

land reclamation projects while maintaining current revenues for all other trust fund 

distributions. 

 

Section 2 

Present Situation:  Storage fees for towed vehicles are taxable under current law, unless the 

vehicles were impounded by a law enforcement agency, but the statute does not mention these 

fees explicitly and the department’s rule on the issue has created confusion for some operators of 

storage lots. 

 

Proposed Change:  This section clarifies current law on the storage of towed vehicles, and 

provides a definition of “lawful impoundment.”  

 

Sections 3, 5 and 7  

Present situation:  Sections 212.07, 212.12, and 212.18, F.S., contain redundant and potentially 

confusing language concerning criminal penalties.  

 

Proposed change:  These sections are amended to clarify the criminal penalties imposed on a 

person who: 

 



BILL: CS/CS/SB 1304   Page 3 

 

 Willfully fails to register after receiving notice of the duty to collect a tax or fee. 

 Makes a false or fraudulent return with a willful intent to evade payment of taxes or fees. 

 Willfully fails to register after the department provides notice of the duty to register. 

 

No new penalties are being created by this language; the language is intended to clarify existing 

statutory penalties. These sections take effect upon becoming a law. 

 

Section 4 

Present situation:  Currently, there is no sales tax exemption for accessible taxicabs 

 

Proposed change:  This section amends s. 212.08, F.S., to add an exemption for the sale or lease 

of an accessible taxicab, provided that, should the accessible taxicab be an aftermarket 

conversion, only the price of the conversion is exempt from the tax. “Accessible taxicab” means 

a chauffeur driven taxi, limousine, sedan, van, or other passenger vehicle where the operator and 

the motor vehicle are hired and used for the transportation of persons for compensation, and 

which transports eight passengers or fewer and is equipped with a lift or ramp designed 

specifically to transport physically disabled persons, including persons who use wheelchairs, 

motorized wheelchairs, or similar mobility aids. The accessible taxicabs must comply with ADA 

accessibility requirements. 

 

Section 6 

Present situation:  Section 212.14(4), F.S., authorizes the Department of Revenue to require a 

cash deposit, bond, or other security as a condition to a person obtaining or retaining a sales tax 

dealer’s registration. Despite this requirement delinquent sales tax dealers are able to close down 

their businesses with tax liabilities, and to reopen under a new name, because the current 

provision does not clearly apply to all of the individuals who were responsible for prior 

delinquent tax accounts when they seek to register new businesses. 

 

Proposed change:  The bill revises s. 212.14(4) to authorize the department to require security for 

individuals who are responsible for prior delinquent accounts when they seek to register new 

businesses. 

 

Section 8  

Present situation:  Ch. 2010-162, L.O.F., changed the remittance date for funds collected by the 

Clerks of the Court from the 20
th

 day to the 10
th

 day of the month immediately after the month in 

which the funds are collected. Section 213.13, F.S., which governs the electronic remittance and 

distribution of funds by the Clerks of the Court, was not amended to conform to the change. 

 

Proposed change:  Section 213.13, F.S., is amended to conform to changes made by ch. 2010-

162, L.O.F. This section takes effect upon becoming a law. 

 

Section 9 

Present situation:  Section 213.756, F.S., provides that if a purchaser takes action to obtain a 

refund of taxes, fees, or surcharges collected by the retailer, the purchaser has the burden of 

proving its claim by clear and convincing evidence. The purchaser’s sole remedy is damages 

measured by the difference between what the retailer collected as a tax, fee, or surcharge and 

what the retailer paid to the taxing authority, plus any discount or collection allowance taken by 



BILL: CS/CS/SB 1304   Page 4 

 

the retailer. It is an affirmative defense to the action if the retailer remitted the amount collected 

from the purchaser to the taxing authority, less any discount or dealer collection allowance. 

 

Proposed change:  The bill amends this section to provide that it is an absolute defense to any 

claim for a refund if the retailer collected the amount pursuant to an agreement with the 

Department of Revenue and remitted the amount collected to the taxing authority, less any 

discount or dealer collection allowance. 

 

Section 10 

Present situation:  Automated sales suppression devices or “zappers” are software programs that 

falsify the records of electronic cash registers and other point-of-sale systems. These devices 

alter sales records to reduce the value of sales that are reported for tax purposes in order to evade 

state and federal taxes. In the case of sales tax the use of these devices results in the theft of taxes 

that have been collected from a business’s customers. 

 

Proposed change:  The bill creates s. 213.295, F.S., which makes an automated sales suppression 

device a contraband article under ss. 932.701-932.706, F.S., and makes it unlawful to willfully 

and knowingly sell, purchase, install, transfer, or possess in this state any automated sales 

suppression device, zapper, or phantom-ware. Any person convicted of violating this law is 

guilty of a third degree felony and is liable for all taxes, fees, penalties and interest due the state 

as a result of the use of the device and shall forfeit to the state as an additional penalty all profits 

associated with the sale or use of the device.  The bill provides definitions for “automated sales 

suppression device,” “zapper,” “electronic cash register,” “phantom-ware,” “transaction data,” 

and “transaction report.” This section takes effect upon becoming a law. 

 

Section 11 

Corrects a glitch in language that was enacted last year in s. 220.153(1)(b), F.S., which provides 

a definition of “qualified capital expenditure” for purposes of apportionment by sales factor.   

 

Section 12 

Present situation:  The Department of Revenue staff does not have a way to verify the identity of 

business owners prior to visiting businesses during audits and cannot be sure that the person with 

whom they are working during field visits is the business owner. Under s. 322.142, F.S., the 

Department of Highway Safety and Motor Vehicles maintains a file of the digital image and 

signatures of drivers’ license holders.  These records may be shared with the Department of 

Revenue for child support enforcement purposes but not for other purposes.  

 

Proposed change:  The bill amends s. 322.142, F.S., to allow the Department of Revenue to use 

drivers’ license images to establish positive identification for tax administration purposes. 

 

Sections 13 and 14 

Present situation:    Section 336.021, F.S. requires that the ninth-cent fuel tax on motor fuel and 

diesel fuel be levied by a county before July 1 of each year to be effective January 1 of the 

following year. Section 336.025 F.S., requires that the local option fuel tax on motor fuel and 

diesel fuel be levied before July 1 to be effective on January 1 of the following year. 

Proposed change:  The bill provides that these taxes must be levied before October 1 to be 

effective on January 1 of the following year. 



BILL: CS/CS/SB 1304   Page 5 

 

 

Section 15 

Present situation:  Florida law provides a standard unemployment tax rate, and allows many 

businesses to receive a lower rate if they meet certain criteria, including being in compliance 

with the law. Section 443.131, F.S., lists the criteria necessary for a business to be in compliance, 

but it does not explicitly state that a taxpayer must comply with records requests during audits to 

qualify for the reduced tax rate. 

 

Proposed change:  Section 443.131, F.S., is amended to create an additional condition for 

receiving a lower-than-standard unemployment tax rate. The condition is that the employer has 

produced records requested by AWI or the department for audit purposes. This section takes 

effect upon the bill becoming a law. 

 

Section 16 

Present situation:  Unemployment compensation tax contributions or reimbursements that are 

unpaid on the due date bear an interest rate of 1 percent per month, an effective annual rate of 12 

percent. Other taxes that are administered by the department have an interest rate of prime plus 4 

percent, not to exceed an effective rate of 1 percent per month. The interest rate is adjusted twice 

yearly. 

 

Proposed change:  Section 443.141, F.S. is amended to change the interest rate imposed on 

unemployment compensation tax deficiencies to prime plus 4 percent, not to exceed 1 percent 

per month, beginning January 1, 2013. This is the rate applied to other taxes administered by the 

Department of Revenue.  

 

Section 17 provides that except as otherwise expressly provided in this act, and except for this 

section, which shall take effect upon becoming a law, this act shall take effect July 1, 2012. 

IV. Constitutional Issues: 

A. Municipality/County Mandates Restrictions: 

None. 

B. Public Records/Open Meetings Issues: 

None. 

C. Trust Funds Restrictions: 

None. 

V. Fiscal Impact Statement: 

A. Tax/Fee Issues: 

The department anticipates that some provisions of this bill will improve enforcement 

and collection of state tax laws: 



BILL: CS/CS/SB 1304   Page 6 

 

 

 Banning the sale, purchase, installation, transfer, or possession of automated sales 

suppression devices, zappers, and phantom-ware, and providing criminal penalties for 

these actions, should improve the department’s ability to collect and enforce the sales 

tax statutes. 

  

 Improved compliance with unemployment tax reporting is expected to improve the 

department’s audit capability. 

 

The Revenue Estimating Conference has determined that: 

 decreasing the interest rate on unpaid unemployment taxes will reduce state trust 

fund revenue by $0.1 million in 2012-13 and recurring, 

 reducing the severance tax on phosphate will have no cash impact in FY20112-13 

but will reduce recurring General Rrvenue by $5.6 million, recurring state trust 

revenue by $3.4 million, and local revenue by $3.6 million, 

 a sales tax exemption for accessible vehicles for hire will reduce General 

Revenue by $0.2 million in FY 2012-13 and recurring. 

  

Other provisions of the bill are expected to have an indeterminate positive impact on state 

and local revenue.  

B. Private Sector Impact: 

This bill has the following effects on the private sector: 

 

 It reduces the tax rate for phosphate mining. 

 It clarifies that storage fees for towed vehicles are subject to sales tax.It provides a 

sales tax exemption for accessible vehicles for hire 

 It authorizes the department to require additional persons to provide a cash deposit, 

bond, or other security as a condition of obtaining or retaining a sales and use tax 

dealer’s certificate of registration. 

 It bans the sale, purchase, installation, transfer, or possession of automated sales 

suppression devices, zappers, and phantom-ware, and provides criminal penalties for 

these actions. 

 It provides that an employer may not qualify for a reduced unemployment tax rate 

unless the employer has produced all records that were requested by the department 

or the Agency for Workforce Innovation. 

 It reduces the interest rate imposed on unemployment tax deficiencies. 

C. Government Sector Impact: 

The bill is expected to improve tax administration by banning the sale, purchase, 

installation, transfer, or possession of automated sales suppression devices, zappers, and 

phantom-ware, and providing criminal penalties for these actions; by providing a means 

by which department staff can verify the identity of business owners prior to visiting the 

business during audits; and by improving compliance with requests for information from 



BILL: CS/CS/SB 1304   Page 7 

 

employers for unemployment tax purposes. It also allows counties additional time to levy 

local option fuel taxes. 

VI. Technical Deficiencies: 

None. 

VII. Related Issues: 

None.  

VIII. Additional Information: 

A. Committee Substitute – Statement of Substantial Changes: 
(Summarizing differences between the Committee Substitute and the prior version of the bill.) 

CS/CS by Budget Committee on February 29, 2012: 

The CS: 

 reduces the tax rate beginning in 1015-16 and changes the distribution of the 

severance tax on phosphate, 

 provides a definition of “lawful impoundment” for purposes of determining 

whether storage fees are taxable, 

 provides a sales tax exemption for accessible vehicles for hire, 

 provides an absolute defense to a claim for a refund if the retailer, dealer, or 

vendor collected and remitted the tax pursuant to an agreement with the 

Department of Revenue, and 

 allows local option fuel taxes to be levied by October 1 instead of July 1. The new 

tax rates will still take effect January 1. 

 

CS by Budget Subcommittee on Finance and Tax on January 24, 2012: 

The CS clarifies the statute that provides for taxation of storage fees for towed vehicles, 

unless the vehicles were impounded by a law enforcement agency, and corrects an error 

in the definition of “qualified capital expenditures” for purposes of apportionment by 

sales factor. 

B. Amendments: 

None. 

This Senate Bill Analysis does not reflect the intent or official position of the bill’s introducer or the Florida Senate. 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1304 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì708046,Î708046 

 

Page 1 of 2 

2/27/2012 1:24:29 PM 576-04084-12 

LEGISLATIVE ACTION 

Senate 

Comm: WD 

03/02/2012 

 

 

 

. 

. 

. 

. 

. 

. 

House 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The Committee on Budget (Bogdanoff) recommended the following: 

 

Senate Amendment (with title amendment) 1 

 2 

Between lines 56 and 57 3 

insert: 4 

Section 1. Subsection (1) of section 197.332, Florida 5 

Statutes, is amended to read: 6 

197.332 Duties of tax collectors; branch offices.— 7 

(1) The tax collector has the authority and obligation to 8 

collect all taxes as shown on the tax roll by the date of 9 

delinquency or to collect delinquent taxes, interest, and costs, 10 

by sale of tax certificates on real property and by seizure and 11 

sale of personal property. In exercising his or her power their 12 

powers to contract, the tax collector may perform such duties by 13 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1304 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì708046,Î708046 

 

Page 2 of 2 

2/27/2012 1:24:29 PM 576-04084-12 

use of contracted services or products or by electronic means. 14 

The use of contracted services, products, or vendors does not 15 

diminish the responsibility or liability of the tax collector to 16 

perform such duties pursuant to law. The tax collector may 17 

collect the cost of contracted services and reasonable attorney 18 

attorney’s fees and court costs, including costs for the 19 

electronic processing of tax deed applications, in actions on 20 

proceedings to recover delinquent taxes, interest, and costs. 21 

 22 

================= T I T L E  A M E N D M E N T ================ 23 

And the title is amended as follows: 24 

Delete line 3 25 

and insert: 26 

197.332, F.S.; authorizing the tax collector to 27 

collect costs for the electronic processing of tax 28 

deed applications; amending s. 212.03, F.S.; providing 29 

that charges for the storage 30 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1304 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì500824ÇÎ500824 

 

Page 1 of 10 

2/27/2012 3:30:22 PM 576-04103-12 

LEGISLATIVE ACTION 

Senate 

Comm: RCS 

03/02/2012 

 

 

 

. 

. 

. 

. 

. 

. 

House 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The Committee on Budget (Hays) recommended the following: 

 

Senate Amendment (with title amendment) 1 

 2 

Before line 57 3 

insert: 4 

Section 1. Section 211.3103, Florida Statutes, is amended 5 

to read: 6 

211.3103 Levy of tax on severance of phosphate rock; rate, 7 

basis, and distribution of tax.— 8 

(1) There is hereby levied an excise tax upon each every 9 

person engaging in the business of severing phosphate rock from 10 

the soils or waters of this state for commercial use. The tax 11 

shall be collected, administered, and enforced by the 12 

department. 13 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1304 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì500824ÇÎ500824 

 

Page 2 of 10 

2/27/2012 3:30:22 PM 576-04103-12 

(2) The tax rate shall be $1.61 per ton severed, except for 14 

the time period from January 1, 2015, to December 31, 2022, when 15 

the tax rate shall be $1.80 per ton severed. 16 

(2) Beginning July 1, 2004, the proceeds of all taxes, 17 

interest, and penalties imposed under this section shall be paid 18 

into the State Treasury as follows: 19 

(a) The first $10 million in revenue collected from the tax 20 

during each fiscal year shall be paid to the credit of the 21 

Conservation and Recreation Lands Trust Fund. 22 

(b) The remaining revenues collected from the tax during 23 

that fiscal year, after the required payment under paragraph 24 

(a), shall be paid into the State Treasury as follows: 25 

1. To the credit of the General Revenue Fund of the state, 26 

40.1 percent. 27 

2. For payment to counties in proportion to the number of 28 

tons of phosphate rock produced from a phosphate rock matrix 29 

located within such political boundary, 16.5 percent. The 30 

department shall distribute this portion of the proceeds 31 

annually based on production information reported by the 32 

producers on the annual returns for the taxable year. Any such 33 

proceeds received by a county shall be used only for phosphate-34 

related expenses. 35 

3. For payment to counties that have been designated a 36 

rural area of critical economic concern pursuant to s. 288.0656 37 

in proportion to the number of tons of phosphate rock produced 38 

from a phosphate rock matrix located within such political 39 

boundary, 13 percent. The department shall distribute this 40 

portion of the proceeds annually based on production information 41 

reported by the producers on the annual returns for the taxable 42 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1304 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì500824ÇÎ500824 

 

Page 3 of 10 

2/27/2012 3:30:22 PM 576-04103-12 

year. Payments under this subparagraph shall be made to the 43 

counties unless the Legislature by special act creates a local 44 

authority to promote and direct the economic development of the 45 

county. If such authority exists, payments shall be made to that 46 

authority. 47 

4. To the credit of the Phosphate Research Trust Fund in 48 

the Division of Universities of the Department of Education, 9.3 49 

percent. 50 

5. To the credit of the Minerals Trust Fund, 10.7 percent. 51 

6. To the credit of the Nonmandatory Land Reclamation Trust 52 

Fund, 10.4 percent. 53 

(3) Beginning July 1, 2003, and annually thereafter, the 54 

Department of Environmental Protection may use up to $2 million 55 

of the funds in the Nonmandatory Land Reclamation Trust Fund to 56 

purchase a surety bond or a policy of insurance, the proceeds of 57 

which would pay the cost of restoration, reclamation, and 58 

cleanup of any phosphogypsum stack system and phosphate mining 59 

activities in the event that an operator or permittee thereof 60 

has been subject to a final order of bankruptcy and all funds 61 

available therefrom are determined to be inadequate to 62 

accomplish such restoration, reclamation, and cleanup. This 63 

section does not imply that such operator or permittee is 64 

thereby relieved of its obligations or relieved of any 65 

liabilities pursuant to any other remedies at law, 66 

administrative remedies, statutory remedies, or remedies 67 

pursuant to bankruptcy law. The department shall adopt rules to 68 

implement this subsection, including the purchase and oversight 69 

of the bond or policy. 70 

(4) Funds distributed pursuant to subparagraphs (2)(b)3. 71 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1304 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì500824ÇÎ500824 

 

Page 4 of 10 

2/27/2012 3:30:22 PM 576-04103-12 

and (11)(e)4. shall be used for: 72 

(a) Planning, preparing, and financing of infrastructure 73 

projects for job creation and capital investment, especially 74 

those related to industrial and commercial sites. Infrastructure 75 

investments may include the following public or public-private 76 

partnership facilities: stormwater systems, telecommunications 77 

facilities, roads or other remedies to transportation 78 

impediments, nature-based tourism facilities, or other physical 79 

requirements necessary to facilitate trade and economic 80 

development activities. 81 

(b) Maximizing the use of federal, local, and private 82 

resources, including, but not limited to, those available under 83 

the Small Cities Community Development Block Grant Program. 84 

(c) Projects that improve inadequate infrastructure that 85 

has resulted in regulatory action that prohibits economic or 86 

community growth, if such projects are related to specific job 87 

creation or job retention opportunities. 88 

(5) Beginning January 1, 2004, the tax rate shall be the 89 

base rate of $1.62 per ton severed. 90 

(6) Beginning January 1, 2005, and annually thereafter, the 91 

tax rate shall be the base rate times the base rate adjustment 92 

for the tax year as calculated by the department in accordance 93 

with subsection (8). 94 

(3)(7) The excise tax levied by this section applies shall 95 

apply to the total production of the producer during the taxable 96 

year, measured on the basis of bone-dry tons produced at the 97 

point of severance. 98 

(8)(a) On or before March 30, 2004, and annually 99 

thereafter, the department shall calculate the base rate 100 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1304 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì500824ÇÎ500824 

 

Page 5 of 10 

2/27/2012 3:30:22 PM 576-04103-12 

adjustment, if any, for phosphate rock based on the change in 101 

the unadjusted annual producer price index for the prior 102 

calendar year in relation to the unadjusted annual producer 103 

price index for calendar year 1999. 104 

(b) For the purposes of determining the base rate 105 

adjustment for any year, the base rate adjustment shall be a 106 

fraction, the numerator of which is the unadjusted annual 107 

producer price index for the prior calendar year and the 108 

denominator of which is the unadjusted annual producer price 109 

index for calendar year 1999. 110 

(c) The department shall provide the base rate, the base 111 

rate adjustment, and the resulting tax rate to affected 112 

producers by written notice on or before April 15 of the current 113 

year. 114 

(d) If the producer price index for phosphate rock is 115 

substantially revised, the department shall make appropriate 116 

adjustment in the method used to compute the base rate 117 

adjustment under this subsection which will produce results 118 

reasonably consistent with the result that would have been 119 

obtained if the producer price index for phosphate rock had not 120 

been revised. However, the tax rate shall not be less than $1.51 121 

per ton severed. 122 

(e) If the producer price index for phosphate rock is 123 

discontinued, a comparable index shall be selected by the 124 

department and adopted by rule. 125 

(4)(9) The excise tax levied on the severance of phosphate 126 

rock is shall be in addition to any ad valorem taxes levied upon 127 

the separately assessed mineral interest in the real property 128 

upon which the site of severance is located, or any other tax, 129 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1304 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì500824ÇÎ500824 

 

Page 6 of 10 

2/27/2012 3:30:22 PM 576-04103-12 

permit, or license fee imposed by the state or its political 130 

subdivisions. 131 

(5)(10) The tax levied by this section shall be collected 132 

in the manner prescribed in s. 211.33. 133 

(11)(a) Beginning July 1, 2008, there is hereby levied a 134 

surcharge of $1.38 per ton severed in addition to the excise tax 135 

levied by this section. The surcharge shall be levied until the 136 

last day of the calendar quarter in which the total revenue 137 

generated by the surcharge equals $60 million. Revenues derived 138 

from the surcharge shall be deposited into the Nonmandatory Land 139 

Reclamation Trust Fund and shall be exempt from the general 140 

revenue service charge provided in s. 215.20. Revenues derived 141 

from the surcharge shall be used to augment funds appropriated 142 

for the rehabilitation, management, and closure of the Piney 143 

Point and Mulberry sites and for approved reclamation of 144 

nonmandatory lands in accordance with chapter 378. A minimum of 145 

75 percent of the revenues from the surcharge shall be dedicated 146 

to the Piney Point and Mulberry sites. 147 

(b) Beginning July 1, 2008, the excise tax rate shall be 148 

$1.945 per ton severed and the base rate adjustment provided in 149 

subsection (6) shall not apply. 150 

(c)1. Beginning July 1 of the 2010-2011 fiscal year, the 151 

tax rate shall be the base rate of $1.71 per ton severed. 152 

2. Beginning July 1 of the 2011-2012 fiscal year, the tax 153 

rate shall be the base rate of $1.61 per ton severed. 154 

3.  The base rate adjustment provided in subsection (6) 155 

shall not apply until the conditions of paragraph (d) are met. 156 

(d) Beginning July 1 of the fiscal year following the date 157 

on which a taxpayer’s surcharge offset equals or exceeds the 158 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1304 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì500824ÇÎ500824 

 

Page 7 of 10 

2/27/2012 3:30:22 PM 576-04103-12 

total amount of surcharge remitted by such taxpayer under 159 

paragraph (a), and each year thereafter, the excise tax rate 160 

levied on such taxpayer shall be adjusted as provided in 161 

subsection (6). The surcharge offset for each taxpayer is an 162 

amount calculated by the department equal to the cumulative 163 

difference between the amount of excise tax that would have been 164 

collected under subsections (5) and (6) and the excise tax 165 

collected under subparagraphs (c)1. and 2. from such taxpayer. 166 

(e) Beginning July 1 of the 2010-2011 fiscal year, the 167 

proceeds of all taxes, interest, and penalties imposed under 168 

this section shall be exempt from the general revenue service 169 

charge provided in s. 215.20, and shall be paid into the State 170 

Treasury as follows: 171 

1. To the credit of the Conservation and Recreation Lands 172 

Trust Fund, 21.9 percent. 173 

2. To the credit of the General Revenue Fund of the state, 174 

37.1 percent. 175 

3. For payment to counties in proportion to the number of 176 

tons of phosphate rock produced from a phosphate rock matrix 177 

located within such political boundary, 12 percent. The 178 

department shall distribute this portion of the proceeds 179 

annually based on production information reported by the 180 

producers on the annual returns for the taxable year. Any such 181 

proceeds received by a county shall be used only for phosphate-182 

related expenses. 183 

4. For payment to counties that have been designated a 184 

rural area of critical economic concern pursuant to s. 288.0656 185 

in proportion to the number of tons of phosphate rock produced 186 

from a phosphate rock matrix located within such political 187 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1304 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì500824ÇÎ500824 

 

Page 8 of 10 

2/27/2012 3:30:22 PM 576-04103-12 

boundary, 9.4 percent. The department shall distribute this 188 

portion of the proceeds annually based on production information 189 

reported by the producers on the annual returns for the taxable 190 

year. Payments under this subparagraph shall be made to the 191 

counties unless the Legislature by special act creates a local 192 

authority to promote and direct the economic development of the 193 

county. If such authority exists, payments shall be made to that 194 

authority. 195 

5. To the credit of the Nonmandatory Land Reclamation Trust 196 

Fund, 5.8 percent. 197 

6. To the credit of the Phosphate Research Trust Fund in 198 

the Division of Universities of the Department of Education, 5.8 199 

percent. 200 

7. To the credit of the Minerals Trust Fund, 8.0 percent. 201 

(6)(a)(f) Beginning July 1 of the 2011-2012 fiscal year, 202 

the proceeds of all taxes, interest, and penalties imposed under 203 

this section are exempt from the general revenue service charge 204 

provided in s. 215.20, and such proceeds shall be paid into the 205 

State Treasury as follows: 206 

1. To the credit of the Conservation and Recreation Lands 207 

Trust Fund, 25.5 percent. 208 

2. To the credit of the General Revenue Fund of the state, 209 

35.7 percent. 210 

3. For payment to counties in proportion to the number of 211 

tons of phosphate rock produced from a phosphate rock matrix 212 

located within such political boundary, 12.8 percent. The 213 

department shall distribute this portion of the proceeds 214 

annually based on production information reported by the 215 

producers on the annual returns for the taxable year. Any such 216 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1304 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì500824ÇÎ500824 

 

Page 9 of 10 

2/27/2012 3:30:22 PM 576-04103-12 

proceeds received by a county shall be used only for phosphate-217 

related expenses. 218 

4. For payment to counties that have been designated as a 219 

rural area of critical economic concern pursuant to s. 288.0656 220 

in proportion to the number of tons of phosphate rock produced 221 

from a phosphate rock matrix located within such political 222 

boundary, 10.0 percent. The department shall distribute this 223 

portion of the proceeds annually based on production information 224 

reported by the producers on the annual returns for the taxable 225 

year. Payments under this subparagraph shall be made to the 226 

counties unless the Legislature by special act creates a local 227 

authority to promote and direct the economic development of the 228 

county. If such authority exists, payments shall be made to that 229 

authority. 230 

5. To the credit of the Nonmandatory Land Reclamation Trust 231 

Fund, 6.2 percent. 232 

6. To the credit of the Phosphate Research Trust Fund in 233 

the Division of Universities of the Department of Education, 6.2 234 

percent. 235 

7. To the credit of the Minerals Trust Fund, 3.6 percent. 236 

(b) Notwithstanding paragraph (a), from January 1, 2015, 237 

until December 31, 2022, the proceeds of all taxes, interest, 238 

and penalties imposed under this section are exempt from the 239 

general revenue service charge provided in s. 215.20, and such 240 

proceeds shall be paid to the State Treasury as follows: 241 

1. To the credit of the Conservation and Recreation Lands 242 

Trust Fund, 22.8 percent. 243 

2. To the credit of the General Revenue Fund of the state, 244 

31.9 percent. 245 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1304 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì500824ÇÎ500824 

 

Page 10 of 10 

2/27/2012 3:30:22 PM 576-04103-12 

3. For payment to counties pursuant to subparagraph (a)3., 246 

11.5 percent. 247 

4. For payment to counties pursuant to subparagraph (a)4., 248 

8.9 percent. 249 

5. To the credit of the Nonmandatory Land Reclamation Trust 250 

Fund, 16.1 percent. 251 

6. To the credit of the Phosphate Research Trust Fund in 252 

the Division of Universities of the Department of Education, 5.6 253 

percent. 254 

7. To the credit of the Minerals Trust Fund, 3.2 percent. 255 

(c)(g) For purposes of this section, “phosphate-related 256 

expenses” means those expenses that provide for infrastructure 257 

or services in support of the phosphate industry, reclamation or 258 

restoration of phosphate lands, community infrastructure on such 259 

reclaimed lands, and similar expenses directly related to 260 

support of the industry. 261 

 262 

================= T I T L E  A M E N D M E N T ================ 263 

And the title is amended as follows: 264 

Delete line 2 265 

and insert: 266 

An act relating to tax administration; amending s. 267 

211.3103, F.S.; revising the excise tax rates levied 268 

upon each ton of phosphate rock severed; specifying 269 

the period during which the rates apply; revising the 270 

distribution of the revenues received; deleting 271 

obsolete provisions; amending s. 272 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1304 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì114152tÎ114152 

 

Page 1 of 1 

2/27/2012 9:14:18 AM 576-04009-12 

LEGISLATIVE ACTION 

Senate 

Comm: RCS 

03/02/2012 

 

 

 

. 

. 

. 

. 

. 

. 

House 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The Committee on Budget (Bogdanoff) recommended the following: 

 

Senate Amendment  1 

 2 

Delete lines 70 - 72 3 

and insert: 4 

(b) Charges for parking, docking, tie-down, or storage 5 

arising from a lawful impoundment are not taxable. As used in 6 

this paragraph, the term “lawful impoundment” means the storing 7 

of or having custody over an aircraft, boat, or motor vehicle 8 

by, or at the direction of, a local, state, or federal law 9 

enforcement agency which the owner or the owner’s representative 10 

is not authorized to enter upon, have access to, or remove 11 

without the consent of the law enforcement agency. 12 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1304 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì832714"Î832714 

 

Page 1 of 3 

2/28/2012 8:10:19 AM 576-04124-12 

LEGISLATIVE ACTION 

Senate 

Comm: RCS 

03/02/2012 

 

 

 

. 

. 

. 

. 

. 

. 

House 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The Committee on Budget (Altman) recommended the following: 

 

Senate Amendment (with title amendment) 1 

 2 

Between lines 162 and 163 3 

insert: 4 

Section 3. Paragraph (hhh) is added to subsection (7) of 5 

section 212.08, Florida Statutes, to read: 6 

212.08 Sales, rental, use, consumption, distribution, and 7 

storage tax; specified exemptions.—The sale at retail, the 8 

rental, the use, the consumption, the distribution, and the 9 

storage to be used or consumed in this state of the following 10 

are hereby specifically exempt from the tax imposed by this 11 

chapter. 12 

(7) MISCELLANEOUS EXEMPTIONS.—Exemptions provided to any 13 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1304 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì832714"Î832714 

 

Page 2 of 3 

2/28/2012 8:10:19 AM 576-04124-12 

entity by this chapter do not inure to any transaction that is 14 

otherwise taxable under this chapter when payment is made by a 15 

representative or employee of the entity by any means, 16 

including, but not limited to, cash, check, or credit card, even 17 

when that representative or employee is subsequently reimbursed 18 

by the entity. In addition, exemptions provided to any entity by 19 

this subsection do not inure to any transaction that is 20 

otherwise taxable under this chapter unless the entity has 21 

obtained a sales tax exemption certificate from the department 22 

or the entity obtains or provides other documentation as 23 

required by the department. Eligible purchases or leases made 24 

with such a certificate must be in strict compliance with this 25 

subsection and departmental rules, and any person who makes an 26 

exempt purchase with a certificate that is not in strict 27 

compliance with this subsection and the rules is liable for and 28 

shall pay the tax. The department may adopt rules to administer 29 

this subsection. 30 

(hhh) Accessible taxicabs.—The sale or lease of accessible 31 

taxicabs is exempt from the tax imposed by this chapter. As used 32 

in this paragraph, the term “accessible taxicab” means a 33 

chauffeur-driven taxi, limousine, sedan, van, or other passenger 34 

vehicle for which an operator is hired for the transportation of 35 

persons for compensation; which transports eight passengers or 36 

fewer; is equipped with a lift or ramp designed specifically to 37 

transport physically disabled persons or contains any other 38 

device designed to permit access to, and enable the 39 

transportation of, physically disabled persons, including 40 

persons who use wheelchairs, motorized wheelchairs, or similar 41 

mobility aids; which complies with the accessibility 42 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1304 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì832714"Î832714 

 

Page 3 of 3 

2/28/2012 8:10:19 AM 576-04124-12 

requirements of the Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990, 49 43 

C.F.R. ss. 38.23, 38.25, and 38.31, as amended, regardless of 44 

whether such requirements would apply under federal law; and 45 

meets all applicable federal motor vehicle safety standards and 46 

regulations adopted thereunder. If the lift or ramp or any other 47 

device is installed through an aftermarket conversion of a stock 48 

vehicle, only the value of the conversion is exempt from the tax 49 

imposed by this chapter. 50 

 51 

================= T I T L E  A M E N D M E N T ================ 52 

And the title is amended as follows: 53 

Delete line 11 54 

and insert: 55 

taxes or fees by the Department of Revenue; amending 56 

s. 212.08, F.S.; providing an exemption from the tax 57 

on sales, use, and other transactions for the sale or 58 

lease of accessible taxicabs; providing a definition 59 

of the term “accessible taxicab”; amending 60 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1304 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì665438EÎ665438 

 

Page 1 of 2 

2/27/2012 11:50:18 AM 576-04068-12 

LEGISLATIVE ACTION 

Senate 

Comm: RCS 

03/02/2012 

 

 

 

. 

. 

. 

. 

. 

. 

House 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The Committee on Budget (Bogdanoff) recommended the following: 

 

Senate Amendment (with title amendment) 1 

 2 

Between lines 500 and 501 3 

insert: 4 

Section 8. Paragraph (a) of subsection (2) of section 5 

213.756, Florida Statutes, is amended to read: 6 

213.756 Funds collected are state tax funds.— 7 

(2)(a) In any action by a purchaser against a retailer, 8 

dealer, or vendor to obtain a refund of or to otherwise recover 9 

taxes, fees, or surcharges collected by the retailer, dealer, or 10 

vendor from the purchaser: 11 

1. The purchaser in the action has the burden of proving 12 

all elements of its claim for a refund by clear and convincing 13 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1304 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì665438EÎ665438 

 

Page 2 of 2 

2/27/2012 11:50:18 AM 576-04068-12 

evidence; 14 

2. The purchaser’s sole remedy in the action is damages 15 

measured by the difference between what the retailer, dealer, or 16 

vendor collected as a tax, fee, or surcharge and what the 17 

retailer, dealer, or vendor paid to the taxing authority, plus 18 

any discount or collection allowance authorized by law and taken 19 

by the retailer, dealer, or vendor; and 20 

3. It is an affirmative defense to the action if when the 21 

retailer, dealer, or vendor remitted the amount collected from 22 

the purchaser to the appropriate taxing authority, less any 23 

discount or collection allowance authorized by law; and. 24 

4. It is an absolute defense to any claim if the retailer, 25 

dealer, or vendor collected the amount pursuant to an agreement 26 

with the Department of Revenue and remitted the amount collected 27 

from the purchaser to the appropriate taxing authority, less any 28 

discount or collection allowance authorized by law. 29 

 30 

================= T I T L E  A M E N D M E N T ================ 31 

And the title is amended as follows: 32 

Delete line 37 33 

and insert: 34 

Contraband Forfeiture Act; amending s. 213.756, F.S.; 35 

providing an absolute defense by a retailer against a 36 

purchaser’s claim for a refund; amending s. 220.153, 37 

F.S.; 38 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1304 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì290932(Î290932 

 

Page 1 of 5 

2/27/2012 4:46:57 PM 576-04096-12 

LEGISLATIVE ACTION 

Senate 

Comm: RCS 

03/02/2012 

 

 

 

. 

. 

. 

. 

. 

. 

House 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The Committee on Budget (Norman) recommended the following: 

 

Senate Amendment (with title amendment) 1 

 2 

Between lines 558 and 559 3 

insert: 4 

Section 10. Subsection (5) of section 336.021, Florida 5 

Statutes, is amended to read: 6 

336.021 County transportation system; levy of ninth-cent 7 

fuel tax on motor fuel and diesel fuel.— 8 

(5) All impositions of the tax shall be levied before 9 

October July 1 of each year to be effective January 1 of the 10 

following year. However, levies of the tax which were in effect 11 

on July 1, 2002, and which expire on August 31 of any year may 12 

be reimposed at the current authorized rate to be effective 13 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1304 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì290932(Î290932 

 

Page 2 of 5 

2/27/2012 4:46:57 PM 576-04096-12 

September 1 of the year of expiration. All impositions shall be 14 

required to end on December 31 of a year. A decision to rescind 15 

the tax may shall not take effect on any date other than 16 

December 31 and requires shall require a minimum of 60 days’ 17 

notice to the department of such decision. 18 

Section 11. Paragraphs (a) and (b) of subsection (1) and 19 

paragraph (a) of subsection (5) of section 336.025, Florida 20 

Statutes, are amended to read: 21 

336.025 County transportation system; levy of local option 22 

fuel tax on motor fuel and diesel fuel.— 23 

(1)(a) In addition to other taxes allowed by law, there may 24 

be levied as provided in ss. 206.41(1)(e) and 206.87(1)(c) a 1-25 

cent, 2-cent, 3-cent, 4-cent, 5-cent, or 6-cent local option 26 

fuel tax upon every gallon of motor fuel and diesel fuel sold in 27 

a county and taxed under the provisions of part I or part II of 28 

chapter 206. 29 

1. All impositions and rate changes of the tax shall be 30 

levied before October July 1 to be effective January 1 of the 31 

following year for a period not to exceed 30 years, and the 32 

applicable method of distribution shall be established pursuant 33 

to subsection (3) or subsection (4). However, levies of the tax 34 

which were in effect on July 1, 2002, and which expire on August 35 

31 of any year may be reimposed at the current authorized rate 36 

effective September 1 of the year of expiration. Upon 37 

expiration, the tax may be relevied if provided that a 38 

redetermination of the method of distribution is made as 39 

provided in this section. 40 

2. County and municipal governments shall use utilize 41 

moneys received pursuant to this paragraph only for 42 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1304 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì290932(Î290932 

 

Page 3 of 5 

2/27/2012 4:46:57 PM 576-04096-12 

transportation expenditures. 43 

3. Any tax levied pursuant to this paragraph may be 44 

extended on a majority vote of the governing body of the county. 45 

A redetermination of the method of distribution shall be 46 

established pursuant to subsection (3) or subsection (4), if, 47 

after July 1, 1986, the tax is extended or the tax rate changed, 48 

for the period of extension or for the additional tax. 49 

(b) In addition to other taxes allowed by law, there may be 50 

levied as provided in s. 206.41(1)(e) a 1-cent, 2-cent, 3-cent, 51 

4-cent, or 5-cent local option fuel tax upon every gallon of 52 

motor fuel sold in a county and taxed under the provisions of 53 

part I of chapter 206. The tax shall be levied by an ordinance 54 

adopted by a majority plus one vote of the membership of the 55 

governing body of the county or by referendum. 56 

1. All impositions and rate changes of the tax shall be 57 

levied before October July 1, to be effective January 1 of the 58 

following year. However, levies of the tax which were in effect 59 

on July 1, 2002, and which expire on August 31 of any year may 60 

be reimposed at the current authorized rate effective September 61 

1 of the year of expiration. 62 

2. The county may, prior to levy of the tax, establish by 63 

interlocal agreement with one or more municipalities located 64 

therein, representing a majority of the population of the 65 

incorporated area within the county, a distribution formula for 66 

dividing the entire proceeds of the tax among county government 67 

and all eligible municipalities within the county. If no 68 

interlocal agreement is adopted before the effective date of the 69 

tax, tax revenues shall be distributed pursuant to the 70 

provisions of subsection (4). If no interlocal agreement exists, 71 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1304 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì290932(Î290932 

 

Page 4 of 5 

2/27/2012 4:46:57 PM 576-04096-12 

a new interlocal agreement may be established before prior to 72 

June 1 of any year pursuant to this subparagraph. However, any 73 

interlocal agreement agreed to under this subparagraph after the 74 

initial levy of the tax or change in the tax rate authorized in 75 

this section may not shall under no circumstances materially or 76 

adversely affect the rights of holders of outstanding bonds that 77 

which are backed by taxes authorized by this paragraph, and the 78 

amounts distributed to the county government and each 79 

municipality may shall not be reduced below the amount necessary 80 

for the payment of principal and interest and reserves for 81 

principal and interest as required under the covenants of any 82 

bond resolution outstanding on the date of establishment of the 83 

new interlocal agreement. 84 

3. County and municipal governments shall use moneys 85 

received pursuant to this paragraph for transportation 86 

expenditures needed to meet the requirements of the capital 87 

improvements element of an adopted comprehensive plan or for 88 

expenditures needed to meet immediate local transportation 89 

problems and for other transportation-related expenditures that 90 

are critical for building comprehensive roadway networks by 91 

local governments. For purposes of this paragraph, expenditures 92 

for the construction of new roads, the reconstruction or 93 

resurfacing of existing paved roads, or the paving of existing 94 

graded roads shall be deemed to increase capacity and such 95 

projects shall be included in the capital improvements element 96 

of an adopted comprehensive plan. Expenditures for purposes of 97 

this paragraph may shall not include routine maintenance of 98 

roads. 99 

(5)(a) By July 1 of each year, the county shall notify the 100 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1304 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì290932(Î290932 

 

Page 5 of 5 

2/27/2012 4:46:57 PM 576-04096-12 

Department of Revenue of the rate of the taxes levied pursuant 101 

to paragraphs (1)(a) and (b), and of its decision to rescind or 102 

change the rate of a tax, if applicable, and shall provide the 103 

department with a certified copy of the interlocal agreement 104 

established under subparagraph (1)(b)2. or subparagraph (3)(a)1. 105 

with distribution proportions established by such agreement or 106 

pursuant to subsection (4), if applicable. A decision to rescind 107 

a tax may shall not take effect on any date other than December 108 

31 and requires shall require a minimum of 60 days’ notice to 109 

the Department of Revenue of such decision. 110 

 111 

================= T I T L E  A M E N D M E N T ================ 112 

And the title is amended as follows: 113 

Delete line 44 114 

and insert: 115 

of tax administration; amending s. 336.021, F.S.; 116 

revising the date for imposing the ninth-cent fuel 117 

tax; amending s. 336.025, F.S.; revising the date when 118 

impositions and rate changes of the local option fuel 119 

tax are levied; amending s. 443.131, F.S.; 120 



Florida Senate - 2012 CS for SB 1304 

 

 

 

By the Committees on Budget Subcommittee on Finance and Tax; and 

Budget Subcommittee on Finance and Tax 

 

 

 

593-02256-12 20121304c1 

Page 1 of 22 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

A bill to be entitled 1 

An act relating to tax administration; amending s. 2 

212.03, F.S.; providing that charges for the storage 3 

of towed vehicles are taxable, unless the vehicles are 4 

impounded by a local, state, or federal law 5 

enforcement agency; amending s. 212.07, F.S.; 6 

conforming a cross-reference to changes made by the 7 

act; subjecting a dealer to monetary and criminal 8 

penalties for the willful failure to collect certain 9 

taxes or fees after notice of the duty to collect the 10 

taxes or fees by the Department of Revenue; amending 11 

s. 212.12, F.S.; deleting provisions relating to the 12 

imposition of criminal penalties after notice by the 13 

Department of Revenue of requirements to register as a 14 

dealer or to collect taxes; making technical and 15 

grammatical changes to provisions specifying penalties 16 

for making a false or fraudulent return with the 17 

intent to evade payment of a tax or fee; amending s. 18 

212.14, F.S.; defining the term “person”; authorizing 19 

the Department of Revenue to adopt rules relating to 20 

requirements for a person to deposit cash, a bond, or 21 

other security with the department in order to ensure 22 

compliance with sales tax laws; making technical and 23 

grammatical changes; amending s. 212.18, F.S.; 24 

subjecting a person to criminal penalties for 25 

willfully failing to register as a dealer after notice 26 

of the duty to register by the Department of Revenue; 27 

making technical and grammatical changes; amending s. 28 

213.13, F.S.; revising the due date for funds 29 

Florida Senate - 2012 CS for SB 1304 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

593-02256-12 20121304c1 

Page 2 of 22 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

collected by the clerks of court to be transmitted to 30 

the Department of Revenue; creating s. 213.295, F.S.; 31 

providing definitions; subjecting a person to criminal 32 

penalties and monetary penalties for knowingly selling 33 

an automated sales suppression device, zapper, or 34 

phantom-ware; defining sales suppression devices and 35 

phantom-ware as contraband articles under the Florida 36 

Contraband Forfeiture Act; amending s. 220.153, F.S.; 37 

redefining the term “qualified capital expenditures” 38 

for purposes of apportionment by sales factor; 39 

amending s. 322.142, F.S.; authorizing the Department 40 

of Highway Safety and Motor Vehicles to release 41 

photographs or digital images to the Department of 42 

Revenue in order to identify individuals for purposes 43 

of tax administration; amending s. 443.131, F.S.; 44 

imposing a requirement on employers to produce records 45 

for the Department of Economic Opportunity or its tax 46 

collection service provider as a prerequisite for a 47 

reduction in the rate of unemployment tax; amending s. 48 

443.141, F.S.; providing a method to calculate the 49 

interest rate for past due contributions and 50 

reimbursements, and delinquent, erroneous, incomplete, 51 

or insufficient reports; providing for application; 52 

providing effective dates. 53 

 54 

Be It Enacted by the Legislature of the State of Florida: 55 

 56 

Section 1. Subsection (6) of section 212.03, Florida 57 

Statutes, is amended to read: 58 



Florida Senate - 2012 CS for SB 1304 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

593-02256-12 20121304c1 

Page 3 of 22 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

212.03 Transient rentals tax; rate, procedure, enforcement, 59 

exemptions.— 60 

(6)(a) It is the legislative intent that every person is 61 

engaging in a taxable privilege who leases or rents parking or 62 

storage spaces for motor vehicles in parking lots or garages, 63 

including storage facilities for towed vehicles, who leases or 64 

rents docking or storage spaces for boats in boat docks or 65 

marinas, or who leases or rents tie-down or storage space for 66 

aircraft at airports. For the exercise of this privilege, a tax 67 

is hereby levied at the rate of 6 percent on the total rental 68 

charged. 69 

(b) Charges for parking, docking, tie-down, or storage 70 

arising from a lawful impoundment by a local, state, or federal 71 

law enforcement agency are not taxable. 72 

Section 2. Effective upon this act becoming a law, 73 

subsections (1) and (3) of section 212.07, Florida Statutes, are 74 

amended to read: 75 

212.07 Sales, storage, use tax; tax added to purchase 76 

price; dealer not to absorb; liability of purchasers who cannot 77 

prove payment of the tax; penalties; general exemptions.— 78 

(1)(a) The privilege tax herein levied measured by retail 79 

sales shall be collected by the dealers from the purchaser or 80 

consumer. 81 

(b) A resale must be in strict compliance with s. 212.18 82 

and the rules and regulations, and any dealer who makes a sale 83 

for resale which is not in strict compliance with s. 212.18 and 84 

the rules and regulations is shall himself or herself be liable 85 

for and shall pay the tax. Any dealer who makes a sale for 86 

resale shall document the exempt nature of the transaction, as 87 

Florida Senate - 2012 CS for SB 1304 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

593-02256-12 20121304c1 

Page 4 of 22 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

established by rules promulgated by the department, by retaining 88 

a copy of the purchaser’s resale certificate. In lieu of 89 

maintaining a copy of the certificate, a dealer may document, 90 

before prior to the time of sale, an authorization number 91 

provided telephonically or electronically by the department, or 92 

by such other means established by rule of the department. The 93 

dealer may rely on a resale certificate issued pursuant to s. 94 

212.18(3)(d) s. 212.18(3)(c), valid at the time of receipt from 95 

the purchaser, without seeking annual verification of the resale 96 

certificate if the dealer makes recurring sales to a purchaser 97 

in the normal course of business on a continual basis. As used 98 

in For purposes of this paragraph, the term “recurring sales to 99 

a purchaser in the normal course of business” refers to a sale 100 

in which the dealer extends credit to the purchaser and records 101 

the debt as an account receivable, or in which the dealer sells 102 

to a purchaser who has an established cash or C.O.D. account, 103 

similar to an open credit account. For purposes of this 104 

paragraph, purchases are made from a selling dealer on a 105 

continual basis if the selling dealer makes, in the normal 106 

course of business, sales to the purchaser at least no less 107 

frequently than once in every 12-month period. A dealer may, 108 

through the informal protest provided for in s. 213.21 and the 109 

rules of the Department of Revenue, provide the department with 110 

evidence of the exempt status of a sale. Consumer certificates 111 

of exemption executed by those exempt entities that were 112 

registered with the department at the time of sale, resale 113 

certificates provided by purchasers who were active dealers at 114 

the time of sale, and verification by the department of a 115 

purchaser’s active dealer status at the time of sale in lieu of 116 



Florida Senate - 2012 CS for SB 1304 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

593-02256-12 20121304c1 

Page 5 of 22 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

a resale certificate shall be accepted by the department when 117 

submitted during the protest period, but may not be accepted in 118 

any proceeding under chapter 120 or any circuit court action 119 

instituted under chapter 72. 120 

(c) Unless the purchaser of tangible personal property that 121 

is incorporated into tangible personal property manufactured, 122 

produced, compounded, processed, or fabricated for one’s own use 123 

and subject to the tax imposed under s. 212.06(1)(b) or is 124 

purchased for export under s. 212.06(5)(a)1. extends a 125 

certificate in compliance with the rules of the department, the 126 

dealer is shall himself or herself be liable for and shall pay 127 

the tax. 128 

(3)(a) A Any dealer who fails, neglects, or refuses to 129 

collect the tax or fees imposed under this chapter herein 130 

provided, either by himself or herself or through the dealer’s 131 

agents or employees, is, in addition to the penalty of being 132 

liable for and paying the tax himself or herself, commits guilty 133 

of a misdemeanor of the first degree, punishable as provided in 134 

s. 775.082 or s. 775.083. 135 

(b) A dealer who willfully fails to collect a tax or fee 136 

after the department provides notice of the duty to collect the 137 

tax or fee is liable for a specific penalty of 100 percent of 138 

the uncollected tax or fee. This penalty is in addition to any 139 

other penalty that may be imposed by law. A dealer who willfully 140 

fails to collect taxes or fees totaling: 141 

1. Less than $300: 142 

a. For a first offense, commits a misdemeanor of the second 143 

degree, punishable as provided in s. 775.082 or s. 775.083. 144 

b. For a second offense, commits a misdemeanor of the first 145 

Florida Senate - 2012 CS for SB 1304 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

593-02256-12 20121304c1 

Page 6 of 22 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

degree, punishable as provided in s. 775.082 or s. 775.083. 146 

c. For a third or subsequent offense, commits a felony of 147 

the third degree, punishable as provided in s. 775.082, s. 148 

775.083, or s. 775.084. 149 

2. An amount equal to $300 or more, but less than $20,000, 150 

commits a felony of the third degree, punishable as provided in 151 

s. 775.082, s. 775.083, or s. 775.084. 152 

3. An amount equal to $20,000 or more, but less than 153 

$100,000, commits a felony of the second degree, punishable as 154 

provided in s. 775.082, s. 775.083, or s. 775.084. 155 

4. An amount equal to $100,000 or more, commits a felony of 156 

the first degree, punishable as provided in s. 775.082, s. 157 

775.083, or s. 775.084. 158 

(c) The department shall give written notice of the duty to 159 

collect taxes or fees to the dealer by personal service, by 160 

sending notice to the dealer’s last known address by registered 161 

mail, or by both personal service and mail. 162 

Section 3. Effective upon this act becoming a law, 163 

paragraph (d) of subsection (2) of section 212.12, Florida 164 

Statutes, is amended to read: 165 

212.12 Dealer’s credit for collecting tax; penalties for 166 

noncompliance; powers of Department of Revenue in dealing with 167 

delinquents; brackets applicable to taxable transactions; 168 

records required.— 169 

(2) 170 

(d) A Any person who makes a false or fraudulent return 171 

with a willful intent to evade payment of any tax or fee imposed 172 

under this chapter is; any person who, after the department’s 173 

delivery of a written notice to the person’s last known address 174 



Florida Senate - 2012 CS for SB 1304 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

593-02256-12 20121304c1 

Page 7 of 22 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

specifically alerting the person of the requirement to register 175 

the person’s business as a dealer, intentionally fails to 176 

register the business; and any person who, after the 177 

department’s delivery of a written notice to the person’s last 178 

known address specifically alerting the person of the 179 

requirement to collect tax on specific transactions, 180 

intentionally fails to collect such tax, shall, in addition to 181 

the other penalties provided by law, be liable for a specific 182 

penalty of 100 percent of any unreported or any uncollected tax 183 

or fee. This penalty is in addition to any other penalty 184 

provided by law. A person who makes a false or fraudulent return 185 

with a willful intent to evade payment of taxes or fees 186 

totaling: 187 

1. Less than $300: 188 

a. For a first offense, commits a misdemeanor of the second 189 

degree, punishable as provided in s. 775.082 or s. 775.083. 190 

b. For a second offense, commits a misdemeanor of the first 191 

degree, punishable as provided in s. 775.082 or s. 775.083. 192 

c. For a third or subsequent offense, commits a felony of 193 

the third degree, punishable as provided in s. 775.082, s. 194 

775.083, or s. 775.084. 195 

2. An amount equal to $300 or more, but less than $20,000, 196 

commits a felony of the third degree, punishable as provided in 197 

s. 775.082, s. 775.083, or s. 775.084. 198 

3. An amount equal to $20,000 or more, but less than 199 

$100,000, commits a felony of the second degree, punishable as 200 

provided in s. 775.082, s. 775.083, or s. 775.084. 201 

4. An amount equal to $100,000 or more, commits a felony of 202 

the first degree, punishable and, upon conviction, for fine and 203 

Florida Senate - 2012 CS for SB 1304 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

593-02256-12 20121304c1 

Page 8 of 22 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

punishment as provided in s. 775.082, s. 775.083, or s. 775.084. 204 

Delivery of written notice may be made by certified mail, or by 205 

the use of such other method as is documented as being necessary 206 

and reasonable under the circumstances. The civil and criminal 207 

penalties imposed herein for failure to comply with a written 208 

notice alerting the person of the requirement to register the 209 

person’s business as a dealer or to collect tax on specific 210 

transactions shall not apply if the person timely files a 211 

written challenge to such notice in accordance with procedures 212 

established by the department by rule or the notice fails to 213 

clearly advise that failure to comply with or timely challenge 214 

the notice will result in the imposition of the civil and 215 

criminal penalties imposed herein. 216 

1. If the total amount of unreported or uncollected taxes 217 

or fees is less than $300, the first offense resulting in 218 

conviction is a misdemeanor of the second degree, the second 219 

offense resulting in conviction is a misdemeanor of the first 220 

degree, and the third and all subsequent offenses resulting in 221 

conviction is a misdemeanor of the first degree, and the third 222 

and all subsequent offenses resulting in conviction are felonies 223 

of the third degree. 224 

2. If the total amount of unreported or uncollected taxes 225 

or fees is $300 or more but less than $20,000, the offense is a 226 

felony of the third degree. 227 

3. If the total amount of unreported or uncollected taxes 228 

or fees is $20,000 or more but less than $100,000, the offense 229 

is a felony of the second degree. 230 

4. If the total amount of unreported or uncollected taxes 231 

or fees is $100,000 or more, the offense is a felony of the 232 



Florida Senate - 2012 CS for SB 1304 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

593-02256-12 20121304c1 

Page 9 of 22 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

first degree. 233 

Section 4. Subsection (4) of section 212.14, Florida 234 

Statutes, is amended to read: 235 

212.14 Departmental powers; hearings; distress warrants; 236 

bonds; subpoenas and subpoenas duces tecum.— 237 

(4)(a) In all cases where it is necessary to ensure 238 

compliance with the provisions of this chapter, The department 239 

shall require a cash deposit, bond, or other security as a 240 

condition to a person obtaining or retaining a dealer’s 241 

certificate of registration under this chapter, if necessary, to 242 

ensure compliance with this chapter. The Such bond must shall be 243 

in the form and such amount as the department deems appropriate 244 

under the particular circumstances. A Every person who fails 245 

failing to produce such cash deposit, bond, or other security as 246 

required in this subsection may provided for herein shall not be 247 

entitled to obtain or retain a dealer’s certificate of 248 

registration under this chapter. If requested by the department, 249 

and the Department of Legal Affairs may is hereby authorized to 250 

proceed by injunction, when so requested by the Department of 251 

Revenue, to prevent the such person from doing business subject 252 

to the provisions of this chapter until the such cash deposit, 253 

bond, or other security is posted with the department. The, and 254 

any temporary injunction for this purpose may be granted by any 255 

judge or chancellor authorized by law to grant injunctions. The 256 

department may sell any security required to be deposited 257 

pursuant to this section may be sold by the department at public 258 

sale if it becomes necessary so to do in order to recover any 259 

tax, interest, or penalty due. Notice of the such sale may be 260 

served personally or by mail upon the person who deposited the 261 

Florida Senate - 2012 CS for SB 1304 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

593-02256-12 20121304c1 

Page 10 of 22 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

such security. Notice If by mail is sufficient if the, notice is 262 

sent to the last known address of the person as shown the same 263 

appears on the records of the department shall be sufficient for 264 

the purpose of this requirement. Upon the such sale, the 265 

department shall return the surplus, if any, above the amount 266 

due under this chapter shall be returned to the person who 267 

deposited the security. 268 

(b) As used in this subsection, the term “person” has the 269 

same meaning as defined in s. 212.02(12) and also includes: 270 

1. An individual or entity owning a controlling interest in 271 

an entity; 272 

2. An individual or entity who has acquired an ownership 273 

interest or a controlling interest in a business that would be 274 

otherwise liable for posting a cash deposit, bond, or other 275 

security, unless the department has determined that the 276 

individual or entity is not liable for taxes, interest, or 277 

penalties under s. 213.758; or 278 

3. An individual or entity seeking to obtain a dealer’s 279 

certificate of registration for a business that will be operated 280 

at the same location as a previous business that otherwise would 281 

have been liable for posting a cash deposit, bond, or other 282 

security, and the individual or entity does not provide evidence 283 

that the business was acquired for consideration in an arms-284 

length transaction. 285 

(c) The department may adopt rules to administer this 286 

subsection. 287 

Section 5. Effective upon this act becoming a law, 288 

subsection (3) of section 212.18, Florida Statutes, is amended 289 

to read: 290 



Florida Senate - 2012 CS for SB 1304 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

593-02256-12 20121304c1 

Page 11 of 22 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

212.18 Administration of law; registration of dealers; 291 

rules.— 292 

(3)(a) Every person desiring to engage in or conduct 293 

business in this state as a dealer, as defined in this chapter, 294 

or to lease, rent, or let or grant licenses in living quarters 295 

or sleeping or housekeeping accommodations in hotels, apartment 296 

houses, roominghouses, or tourist or trailer camps that are 297 

subject to tax under s. 212.03, or to lease, rent, or let or 298 

grant licenses in real property, as defined in this chapter, and 299 

every person who sells or receives anything of value by way of 300 

admissions, must file with the department an application for a 301 

certificate of registration for each place of business. The 302 

application must include, showing the names of the persons who 303 

have interests in the such business and their residences, the 304 

address of the business, and such other data reasonably required 305 

by as the department may reasonably require. However, owners and 306 

operators of vending machines or newspaper rack machines are 307 

required to obtain only one certificate of registration for each 308 

county in which the such machines are located. The department, 309 

by rule, may authorize by rule a dealer that uses independent 310 

sellers to sell its merchandise to remit tax on the retail sales 311 

price charged to the ultimate consumer in lieu of having the 312 

independent seller register as a dealer and remit the tax. The 313 

department may appoint the county tax collector as the 314 

department’s agent to accept applications for registrations. The 315 

application must be made to the department before the person, 316 

firm, copartnership, or corporation engages may engage in such 317 

business, and it must be accompanied by a registration fee of 318 

$5. However, a registration fee is not required to accompany an 319 

Florida Senate - 2012 CS for SB 1304 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

593-02256-12 20121304c1 

Page 12 of 22 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

application to engage in or conduct business to make mail order 320 

sales. The department may waive the registration fee for 321 

applications submitted through the department’s Internet 322 

registration process. 323 

(b) The department, upon receipt of the such application, 324 

shall will grant to the applicant a separate certificate of 325 

registration for each place of business, which certificate may 326 

be canceled by the department or its designated assistants for 327 

any failure by the certificateholder to comply with any of the 328 

provisions of this chapter. The certificate is not assignable 329 

and is valid only for the person, firm, copartnership, or 330 

corporation to which the certificate is issued. The certificate 331 

must be displayed at all times placed in a conspicuous place in 332 

the business or businesses for which it is issued and must be 333 

displayed at all times. Except as provided in this subsection, a 334 

no person may not shall engage in the business of selling or 335 

leasing tangible personal property or services or as a dealer or 336 

in leasing, renting, or letting of or granting licenses in 337 

living quarters or sleeping or housekeeping accommodations in 338 

hotels, apartment houses, roominghouses, tourist or trailer 339 

camps, or real property, or in selling as hereinbefore defined, 340 

nor shall any person sell or receiving receive anything of value 341 

by way of admissions, without a valid first having obtained such 342 

a certificate. A or after such certificate has been canceled; no 343 

person may not shall receive a any license from any authority 344 

within the state to engage in any such business without a valid 345 

certificate first having obtained such a certificate or after 346 

such certificate has been canceled. The engaging in the business 347 

of selling or leasing tangible personal property or services or 348 



Florida Senate - 2012 CS for SB 1304 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

593-02256-12 20121304c1 

Page 13 of 22 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

as a dealer, as defined in this chapter, or the engaging in 349 

leasing, renting, or letting of or granting licenses in living 350 

quarters or sleeping or housekeeping accommodations in hotels, 351 

apartment houses, roominghouses, or tourist or trailer camps 352 

that are taxable under this chapter, or real property, or the 353 

engaging in the business of selling or receiving anything of 354 

value by way of admissions, without such certificate first being 355 

obtained or after such certificate has been canceled by the 356 

department, is prohibited. 357 

(c)1. A The failure or refusal of any person who engages in 358 

acts requiring a certificate of registration under this 359 

subsection who fails or refuses to register, commits, firm, 360 

copartnership, or corporation to so qualify when required 361 

hereunder is a misdemeanor of the first degree, punishable as 362 

provided in s. 775.082 or s. 775.083. Such acts are, or subject 363 

to injunctive proceedings as provided by law. A person who 364 

engages in acts requiring a certificate of registration and who 365 

fails or refuses to register is also subject Such failure or 366 

refusal also subjects the offender to a $100 initial 367 

registration fee in lieu of the $5 registration fee required by 368 

authorized in paragraph (a). However, the department may waive 369 

the increase in the registration fee if it finds is determined 370 

by the department that the failure to register was due to 371 

reasonable cause and not to willful negligence, willful neglect, 372 

or fraud. 373 

2. A person who willfully fails to register as a dealer 374 

after the department provides notice of the duty to register 375 

commits a felony of the third degree, punishable as provided in 376 

s. 775.082, s. 775.083, or s. 775.084. The department shall give 377 

Florida Senate - 2012 CS for SB 1304 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

593-02256-12 20121304c1 

Page 14 of 22 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

written notice of the duty to register to the person by personal 378 

service, by sending notice by registered mail to the person’s 379 

last known address, or by both personal service and mail. 380 

(d)(c) In addition to the certificate of registration, the 381 

department shall provide to each newly registered dealer an 382 

initial resale certificate that is will be valid for the 383 

remainder of the period of issuance. The department shall 384 

provide each active dealer with an annual resale certificate. As 385 

used in For purposes of this section, the term “active dealer” 386 

means a person who is currently registered with the department 387 

and who is required to file at least once during each applicable 388 

reporting period. 389 

(e)(d) The department may revoke a any dealer’s certificate 390 

of registration if when the dealer fails to comply with this 391 

chapter. Before the Prior to revocation of a dealer’s 392 

certificate of registration, the department must schedule an 393 

informal conference at which the dealer may present evidence 394 

regarding the department’s intended revocation or enter into a 395 

compliance agreement with the department. The department must 396 

notify the dealer of its intended action and the time, place, 397 

and date of the scheduled informal conference by written notice 398 

notification sent by United States mail to the dealer’s last 399 

known address of record furnished by the dealer on a form 400 

prescribed by the department. The dealer is required to attend 401 

the informal conference and present evidence refuting the 402 

department’s intended revocation or enter into a compliance 403 

agreement with the department which resolves the dealer’s 404 

failure to comply with this chapter. The department shall issue 405 

an administrative complaint under s. 120.60 if the dealer fails 406 



Florida Senate - 2012 CS for SB 1304 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

593-02256-12 20121304c1 

Page 15 of 22 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

to attend the department’s informal conference, fails to enter 407 

into a compliance agreement with the department resolving the 408 

dealer’s noncompliance with this chapter, or fails to comply 409 

with the executed compliance agreement. 410 

(f)(e) As used in this paragraph, the term “exhibitor” 411 

means a person who enters into an agreement authorizing the 412 

display of tangible personal property or services at a 413 

convention or a trade show. The following provisions apply to 414 

the registration of exhibitors as dealers under this chapter: 415 

1. An exhibitor whose agreement prohibits the sale of 416 

tangible personal property or services subject to the tax 417 

imposed in this chapter is not required to register as a dealer. 418 

2. An exhibitor whose agreement provides for the sale at 419 

wholesale only of tangible personal property or services subject 420 

to the tax imposed in this chapter must obtain a resale 421 

certificate from the purchasing dealer but is not required to 422 

register as a dealer. 423 

3. An exhibitor whose agreement authorizes the retail sale 424 

of tangible personal property or services subject to the tax 425 

imposed in this chapter must register as a dealer and collect 426 

the tax imposed under this chapter on such sales. 427 

4. Any exhibitor who makes a mail order sale pursuant to s. 428 

212.0596 must register as a dealer. 429 

 430 

Any person who conducts a convention or a trade show must make 431 

his or her their exhibitor’s agreements available to the 432 

department for inspection and copying. 433 

Section 6. Effective upon this act becoming a law, 434 

subsection (5) of section 213.13, Florida Statutes, is amended 435 

Florida Senate - 2012 CS for SB 1304 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

593-02256-12 20121304c1 

Page 16 of 22 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

to read: 436 

213.13 Electronic remittance and distribution of funds 437 

collected by clerks of the court.— 438 

(5) All court-related collections, including fees, fines, 439 

reimbursements, court costs, and other court-related funds that 440 

the clerks must remit to the state pursuant to law, must be 441 

transmitted electronically by the 10th 20th day of the month 442 

immediately following the month in which the funds are 443 

collected. 444 

Section 7. Effective upon this act becoming a law, section 445 

213.295, Florida Statutes, is created to read: 446 

213.295 Automated sales suppression devices.— 447 

(1) As used in this section, the term: 448 

(a) “Automated sales suppression device” or “zapper” means 449 

a software program that falsifies the electronic records of 450 

electronic cash registers or other point-of-sale systems, 451 

including, but not limited to, transaction data and transaction 452 

reports. The term includes the software program, any device that 453 

carries the software program, or an Internet link to the 454 

software program. 455 

(b) “Electronic cash register” means a device that keeps a 456 

register or supporting documents through the use of an 457 

electronic device or computer system designed to record 458 

transaction data for the purpose of computing, compiling, or 459 

processing retail sales transaction data. 460 

(c) “Phantom-ware” means a hidden programming option 461 

embedded in the operating system of an electronic cash register 462 

or hardwired into the electronic cash register which can be used 463 

to create a second set of records or to eliminate or manipulate 464 



Florida Senate - 2012 CS for SB 1304 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

593-02256-12 20121304c1 

Page 17 of 22 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

transaction records, which records may or may not be preserved 465 

in a digital format, in order to represent the true or 466 

manipulated record of a transaction in the electronic cash 467 

register. 468 

(d) “Transaction data” includes data identifying an item 469 

purchased by a customer; the price for an item; a taxability 470 

determination for an item; a segregated tax amount for each 471 

taxed item; the amount of cash or credit tendered; the net 472 

amount returned to the customer in change; the date and time of 473 

the purchase; the name, address, and identification number of 474 

the vendor; and the receipt or invoice number of the 475 

transaction. 476 

(e) “Transaction report” means: 477 

1. A report that contains, but is not limited to, 478 

documentation of the sales, taxes, or fees collected; media 479 

totals; and discount voids at an electronic cash register, and 480 

that is printed on a cash register tape at the end of a day or a 481 

shift; or 482 

2. A report that documents every action at an electronic 483 

cash register and that is stored electronically. 484 

(2) A person may not knowingly sell, purchase, install, 485 

transfer, possess, utilize, or access any automated sales 486 

suppression device, zapper, or phantom-ware. 487 

(3)(a) A person who violates this section commits a felony 488 

of the third degree, punishable as provided in s. 775.082, s. 489 

775.083, or s. 775.084. 490 

(b) A person who violates this section is liable for all 491 

taxes, fees, penalties, and interest due the state as a result 492 

of the use of an automated sales suppression device, zapper, or 493 

Florida Senate - 2012 CS for SB 1304 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

593-02256-12 20121304c1 

Page 18 of 22 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

phantom-ware and shall forfeit to the state as an additional 494 

penalty all profits associated with the sale or use of an 495 

automated sales suppression device, zapper, or phantom-ware. 496 

(4) An automated sales suppression device, zapper, phantom-497 

ware, or any device containing such device or software is a 498 

contraband article under ss. 932.701-932.706, the Florida 499 

Contraband Forfeiture Act. 500 

Section 8. Paragraph (b) of subsection (1) of section 501 

220.153, Florida Statutes, is amended to read: 502 

220.153 Apportionment by sales factor.— 503 

(1) DEFINITIONS.—As used in this section, the term: 504 

(b) “Qualified capital expenditures” means expenditures in 505 

this state for purposes substantially related to a business’s 506 

production or sale of goods or services. The expenditure must 507 

fund the acquisition of additional real property (land, 508 

buildings, including appurtenances, fixtures and fixed 509 

equipment, structures, etc.), including additions, replacements, 510 

major repairs, and renovations to real property which materially 511 

extend its useful life or materially improve or change its 512 

functional use and the furniture and equipment necessary to 513 

furnish and operate a new or improved facility. The term 514 

“qualified capital expenditures” does not include an expenditure 515 

for a passive investment or for an investment intended for the 516 

accumulation of reserves or the realization of profit for 517 

distribution to any person holding an ownership interest in the 518 

business. The term “qualified capital expenditures” does not 519 

include expenditures to acquire an existing business or 520 

expenditures in excess of $125 million to acquire land or 521 

buildings. 522 



Florida Senate - 2012 CS for SB 1304 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

593-02256-12 20121304c1 

Page 19 of 22 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

Section 9. Subsection (4) of section 322.142, Florida 523 

Statutes, is amended to read: 524 

322.142 Color photographic or digital imaged licenses.— 525 

(4) The department may maintain a film negative or print 526 

file. The department shall maintain a record of the digital 527 

image and signature of the licensees, together with other data 528 

required by the department for identification and retrieval. 529 

Reproductions from the file or digital record are exempt from 530 

the provisions of s. 119.07(1) and shall be made and issued only 531 

for departmental administrative purposes; for the issuance of 532 

duplicate licenses; in response to law enforcement agency 533 

requests; to the Department of Business and Professional 534 

Regulation pursuant to an interagency agreement for the purpose 535 

of accessing digital images for reproduction of licenses issued 536 

by the Department of Business and Professional Regulation; to 537 

the Department of State pursuant to an interagency agreement to 538 

facilitate determinations of eligibility of voter registration 539 

applicants and registered voters in accordance with ss. 98.045 540 

and 98.075; to the Department of Revenue pursuant to an 541 

interagency agreement for use in establishing paternity and 542 

establishing, modifying, or enforcing support obligations in 543 

Title IV-D cases; to the Department of Revenue for use in 544 

establishing positive identification for tax administration 545 

purposes; to the Department of Children and Family Services 546 

pursuant to an interagency agreement to conduct protective 547 

investigations under part III of chapter 39 and chapter 415; to 548 

the Department of Children and Family Services pursuant to an 549 

interagency agreement specifying the number of employees in each 550 

of that department’s regions to be granted access to the records 551 

Florida Senate - 2012 CS for SB 1304 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

593-02256-12 20121304c1 

Page 20 of 22 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

for use as verification of identity to expedite the 552 

determination of eligibility for public assistance and for use 553 

in public assistance fraud investigations; or to the Department 554 

of Financial Services pursuant to an interagency agreement to 555 

facilitate the location of owners of unclaimed property, the 556 

validation of unclaimed property claims, and the identification 557 

of fraudulent or false claims. 558 

Section 10. Effective upon this act becoming a law, 559 

paragraph (h) of subsection (3) of section 443.131, Florida 560 

Statutes, is amended to read: 561 

443.131 Contributions.— 562 

(3) VARIATION OF CONTRIBUTION RATES BASED ON BENEFIT 563 

EXPERIENCE.— 564 

(h) Additional conditions for variation from the standard 565 

rate.—An employer’s contribution rate may not be reduced below 566 

the standard rate under this section unless: 567 

1. All contributions, reimbursements, interest, and 568 

penalties incurred by the employer for wages paid by him or her 569 

in all previous calendar quarters, except the 4 calendar 570 

quarters immediately preceding the calendar quarter or calendar 571 

year for which the benefit ratio is computed, are paid; and 572 

2. The employer has produced for inspection and copying all 573 

work records in his or her possession, custody, or control which 574 

were requested by the Department of Economic Opportunity or its 575 

tax collection service provider pursuant to s. 443.171(5); and 576 

3.2. The employer has entitled to a rate reduction must 577 

have at least one annual payroll as defined in subparagraph 578 

(b)1. unless the employer is eligible for additional credit 579 

under the Federal Unemployment Tax Act. If the Federal 580 



Florida Senate - 2012 CS for SB 1304 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

593-02256-12 20121304c1 

Page 21 of 22 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

Unemployment Tax Act is amended or repealed in a manner 581 

affecting credit under the federal act, this section applies 582 

only to the extent that additional credit is allowed against the 583 

payment of the tax imposed by the Federal Unemployment Tax Act. 584 

 585 

The tax collection service provider shall assign an earned 586 

contribution rate to an employer under subparagraph 1. the 587 

quarter immediately after the quarter in which all 588 

contributions, reimbursements, interest, and penalties are paid 589 

in full and all work records requested pursuant to s. 443.171(5) 590 

have been produced for inspection and copying to the Department 591 

of Economic Opportunity or the tax collection service provider. 592 

Section 11. Effective January 1, 2013, and applicable to 593 

contributions or reimbursements made on or after that date, 594 

paragraph (a) of subsection (1) of section 443.141, Florida 595 

Statutes, is amended to read: 596 

443.141 Collection of contributions and reimbursements.— 597 

(1) PAST DUE CONTRIBUTIONS AND REIMBURSEMENTS; DELINQUENT, 598 

ERRONEOUS, INCOMPLETE, OR INSUFFICIENT REPORTS.— 599 

(a) Interest.—Contributions or reimbursements unpaid on the 600 

date due bear interest at the rate calculated pursuant to s. 601 

213.235. However, the rate may not exceed of 1 percent per 602 

month. Interest shall accrue from and after that date until 603 

payment plus accrued interest is received by the tax collection 604 

service provider, unless the service provider finds that the 605 

employing unit has good reason for failing to pay the 606 

contributions or reimbursements when due. Interest collected 607 

under this subsection must be paid into the Special Employment 608 

Security Administration Trust Fund. 609 

Florida Senate - 2012 CS for SB 1304 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

593-02256-12 20121304c1 

Page 22 of 22 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

Section 12. Except as otherwise expressly provided in this 610 

act and except for this section, which shall take effect upon 611 

this act becoming a law, this act shall take effect July 1, 612 

2012. 613 





The Florida Senate 

BILL ANALYSIS AND FISCAL IMPACT STATEMENT 
(This document is based on the provisions contained in the legislation as of the latest date listed below.) 

Prepared By: The Professional Staff of the Budget Subcommittee on Finance and Tax  

 

BILL: CS/CS/SB 1256 

INTRODUCER: Budget Committee; and Budget Subcommittee on Finance and Tax 

SUBJECT: Administration of Property Tax 

DATE:  February 29, 2012 

 

 ANALYST  STAFF DIRECTOR  REFERENCE  ACTION 

1. Babin  Diez-Arguelles  BFT  Fav/CS 

2. Babin  Rhodes  BC  Fav/CS 

3.        

4.        

5.        

6.        

 

Please see Section VIII. for Additional Information: 

A. COMMITTEE SUBSTITUTE..... X Statement of Substantial Changes 

 B. AMENDMENTS........................  Technical amendments were recommended 

   Amendments were recommended 

   Significant amendments were recommended 

 

 

I. Summary: 

This bill clarifies ambiguous language and deletes obsolete statutory provisions in the property 

tax statutes. It also amends statutory requirements for scheduling value adjustment board 

hearings, and reduces the number of reports that must be submitted to the Department of 

Revenue. 

 

The bill also updates the list of military operations that qualify for the deployed service-member 

exemption.  The bill creates a property tax exemption for certain property that is owned by a 

municipality.   It revises statutes relating to the rental of homestead property.  The bill provides 

that tax collectors may collect costs associated with processing tax deed applications 

electronically.  Finally, the bill allows certain disabled veterans and other disabled persons to 

apply for property tax exemptions before they have received required documentation from 

certain agencies of the federal government. 

 

This bill substantially amends the following sections of the Florida Statutes: 192.001, 192.0105, 

193.114, 193.1554, 193.1555, 193.501, 193.503, 193.505, 194.032, 194.034, 195.072, 195.096, 

REVISED:         



BILL: CS/CS/SB 1256   Page 2 

 

195.099, 196.031, 196.061, 196.081, 196.082, 196.091, 196.101, 196.121, 196.173, 196.199, 

196.202, 196.24, 197.332, 200.065, 218.12, and 218.125. 

 

The bill repeals sections 192.117 and 195.0985, Florida Statutes.  

II. Present Situation: 

Section 195.002, F.S., provides that the Department of Revenue (department) has general 

supervision of the assessment and valuation of property, tax collection and all other aspects of 

the administration of property taxes. In its supervisory role, the department from time to time 

identifies statutory provisions that appear to contain drafting errors, inconsistencies, or 

inefficiencies. This bill contains recommendations, suggested by the department and approved 

by the Governor and Cabinet, to address some of these issues. 

 

In 2008, Florida voters approved Amendment 1 to the State Constitution, which increased the 

homestead exemption, provided portability of the Save Our Home tax limitation, and limited 

assessment increases for non-homestead property. The Legislature has also made significant 

changes to property tax statutes in recent years—imposing limitations on local millage rates, 

changing the value adjustment board (VAB) process, and changing the burden of proof in 

assessment challenges. Since these changes have been in effect, it has become apparent that 

some of the language implementing them contained drafting errors, left certain questions 

unanswered, or created administrative difficulties. Inconsistencies with other statutory provisions 

have also been uncovered, creating further challenges in implementing the constitutional and 

statutory changes. 

III. Effect of Proposed Changes: 

Section 1 

Present situation:  Section 192.001, F.S., defines terms used in the statutes imposing ad valorem 

taxes. Some of these definitions have not been amended to conform to other statutory and 

constitutional changes.  

 

Proposed change:  This bill amends the definition of ―assessed value of property‖ to make it 

consistent with Article VII of the Florida Constitution, as amended in 2008. It also amends the 

definition of ―complete submission of the rolls‖ to conform to s. 193.114, F.S., as amended in 

2008. 

 

Sections 2 and 10 

Present situation: Taxpayers are permitted to protest their property tax assessment through 

hearings before VABs.  Section 194.032(2), F.S., provides guidance regarding the scheduling of 

hearings, including the taxpayer’s ability to reschedule a hearing once for any reason.  The 

statute also includes an obsolete provision requiring taxpayers to wait a minimum of 4 hours for 

their VAB hearing before being able to file suit in circuit court. Section 192.0105, F.S., provides 

taxpayers certain rights with regard to the administration of property taxes, which includes the 

right to be heard within 4 hours of the scheduled hearing time. 

 



BILL: CS/CS/SB 1256   Page 3 

 

Proposed change: The bill repeals the obsolete statutory language providing the 4 hour waiting 

requirement before filing in circuit court, and it limits the waiting time for petitioners to a 

―reasonable time, not to exceed 2 hours.‖ Lastly, this section clarifies that if a taxpayer 

reschedules a hearing after waiting 2 hours, the taxpayer is not considered to have exercised his 

or her right to reschedule one time for any reason.  

 

Section 3 repeals s. 192.117, F.S., which created the Property Tax Administration Task Force. 

This task force was dissolved in 2004. 

 

Section 4 

Present situation:  Section 193.114(2), F.S., lists items that must be included on the real property 

assessment roll. When this section was amended in 2008, some of the changes made at that time 

used terms that are inconsistent with established practice and terminology, and this has led to 

confusion for the property appraisers. 

 

Section 193.114(2)(n), F.S., requires all sales data included on property tax rolls to be current, 

and property appraisers are required to decide whether a sale is a ―qualified sale‖ – meaning it is 

an arm’s length sale – within 3 months after the date of sale.  

 

Section 193.114(4), F.S., provides guidance to the property appraiser in documenting any 

adjustments made pursuant to s. 194.011, F.S.  Section 194.011, F.S., permits owners who object 

to the value placed on their property to informally confer with the property appraiser about the 

value and to present facts for consideration in adjusting the value. 

 

Proposed change: Section 193.114(2)(n), F.S., is amended to change the recorded selling price 

requirement from the two most recently recorded selling prices to the recorded selling prices 

required by s. 193.114, F.S., and to replace the term ―sale price‖ with ―recorded selling price‖ to 

clarify that the price submitted must be the amount indicated by the documentary stamps posted 

on the transfer document. The term ―sale‖ is replaced with ―transfer‖ to clarify that all real 

property transfers recorded or otherwise discovered during the period beginning 1 year before 

the assessment date, and up to the date the roll is submitted to the department, must be included 

on the assessment roll. ―Transfer date‖ is defined as the date on which the transfer document was 

signed and notarized, and sale qualification decisions must be recorded on the assessment roll 

within 3 months after the deed or other transfer instrument is recorded or otherwise discovered. 

 

Section 193.114(2)(n), F.S., is amended to clarify that property appraisers may change their 

decisions on sales qualifications if new evidence suggests a change is appropriate. Property 

appraisers are required to document the change in a manner acceptable to the Department of 

Revenue. 

 

Section 193.114(2)(p), F.S., is amended to delete the requirement that the assessment roll contain 

the name and address of a fiduciary responsible for payment of property taxes. 

 

 

Sections 5 and 6 

Present situation:  Amendment 1, approved by the voters in 2008, provided that the assessed 

value of certain property cannot increase by more than 10 percent over the prior year. Sections 



BILL: CS/CS/SB 1256   Page 4 

 

193.1554 and 193.1555, F.S., which implement this provision, require that property be assessed 

at just (full) value the first year the property is ―placed on the tax roll.‖ It is not clear from the 

statutory language that ―placed on the tax roll‖ is meant to include property that was already on 

the roll in a different classification, although the fiscal impact estimates provided at the time 

were based on that assumption.
1
  These sections also provide for assessment of combined or 

divided parcels, but do not specify how to assess parcels that are combined or divided after the 

assessment date but before the tax bills are sent.  

 

Proposed change:  These sections are amended to clarify that property must be assessed at full 

value when it is subject to a new limitation, and that parcels combined or divided after January 1 

are not considered combined or divided for purposes of assessment until the January 1 that the 

parcels are first assessed as combined or divided, even though they are combined or divided for 

purposes of the tax notice. These sections of the bill also clarify that increases in value due to 

dividing property are apportioned to each parcel pro rata based on just value, and increases in 

value of property when properties are combined are attributable to the combination.  

 

Sections 7, 8 and 9 

Present situation:  Sections 193.501, 193.503, 193.505, F.S., provide reduced assessments for 

lands subject to a conservation easement or other development limitation, historic property used 

for commercial or certain nonprofit purposes, or historically significant property when 

development rights have been conveyed or historic preservation restrictions have been 

covenanted, respectively. The statutes require repayment of the reduced tax liabilities if the use is 

not maintained for the required period, and local tax collectors are required to report this 

repayment information to the department. These repayments are rare and this information is not 

needed by the department. 

 

Proposed change:  These sections are amended to delete the reporting requirement. 

 

Section 11 

Present situation:  Section 194.034(2), F.S., requires the VAB clerk to notify taxpayer 

petitioners, property appraisers, and the department of board decisions. 

 

Proposed changes:  This subsection is amended to delete the requirement that the department be 

notified of every VAB decision. It allows the department to request notification or other 

information as provided in s. 194.037, F.S.  

 

Section 12 

Present situation: Section 195.072, F.S., requires state agencies to aid and assist the Department 

of Revenue as necessary to ensure the just and equitable administration of property taxes within 

Florida.  

Proposed change: Section 195.072, F.S., is amended to also require the Department of Revenue 

to provide procedural and valuation assistance to state agencies that are investigating property 

appraisers.  

                                                 
1
 Sommers v. Orange County Property Appraiser, et.al., a recent summary judgment issued by the Ninth Judicial Circuit 

Court, determined that the Sommers were entitled to the 10% assessment limitation on their previously homesteaded property 

without first reassessing the home to its full market value. The court based its ruling on constitutional language implemented 

in section 193.1554(3), F.S. This ruling is being appealed. 



BILL: CS/CS/SB 1256   Page 5 

 

 

Sections 13 and 14 

Present situation:  Sections 195.096 and 195.0985, F.S., require the department to report the 

results of its in-depth review of the assessment rolls of each county. The findings must be 

published and copies must be forwarded to legislative staff and county officials. The statutory 

reporting requirements contain different reporting dates and redundant requirements. 

Additionally, s. 195.096, F.S., requires that assessment rolls be statistically sampled to ensure a 

95 percent level of confidence that the sample is statistically valid. However, in some smaller 

jurisdictions, there is insufficient data to meet the 95 percent standard.    

 

Proposed change:  The bill amends subsections (2) and (3) of s. 195.096 to standardize reporting 

requirements for the in-depth assessment roll review, and repeals s. 195.0985, F.S., which 

contains a redundant requirement. In reviewing assessment rolls, the bill requires that generally 

accepted ratio standards be used when a 95 percent level of confidence cannot be obtained. 

 

Section 15 

Present Situation:  Section 195.099, F.S., requires the department to review the assessment of 

new, rebuilt, or expanded businesses in designated enterprise zones or ―brownfield‖ areas. 

 

Proposed change:  This section is amended to allow the department to review these assessments 

as the need arises for such review. 

 

Section 16 

Present Situation:  Section 196.031, F.S., specifies the order in which various exemptions are 

applied to homestead property. Under present law, the order of exemptions has the result that 

some properties are not able to take full advantage of all the exemptions. 

 

Proposed change:  This section is amended to require that after the two $25,000 homestead 

exemptions provided in s. 196.031(1), F.S., are applied, the remaining exemptions must be 

applied in a manner that results in the lowest taxable value.  

 

Sections 17 

Present situation: Section 196.061, F.S., provides that rental of an entire homestead dwelling 

constitutes abandonment of the dwelling as a homestead.  Owners sometimes rent the majority of 

the dwelling, but retain possession of a closet or similar limited space.  In these situations, some   

owners have attempted to retain homestead exemption on these properties claiming that they 

have not rented the ―entire‖ dwelling.  A recent court decision
2
 reviewed this type of situation 

and concluded that the owner had rented the ―entire‖ property even though possession of two 

locked closets was retained.  

 

Proposed change: This section is amended to clarify that rental of all or substantially all of the 

property constitutes abandonment of the property as a homestead. 

Sections 18-21  and 26-27  

Present situation:  Sections 196.081, 196.082, 196.091, and196.101, 196.202, and 196.24, F.S., 

provide property tax discounts and exemptions for disabled veterans, other disabled persons, 

                                                 
2
 Haddock v. Carmody, 1 So.3d 1133 (Fla. 1

st
 DCA 2009). 



BILL: CS/CS/SB 1256   Page 6 

 

widows, widowers, blind persons, persons permanently and totally disabled, and disabled 

servicemembers or surviving spouses under certain conditions. In order to qualify, a taxpayer 

must obtain a disability letter from the United States government, the United States Department 

of Veterans Affairs or its predecessor, or the Social Security Administration, and the person may 

not receive a discount or exemption until the letter is obtained. In some instances, taxpayers have 

lost the ability to claim discounts and exemptions because the documentation was delayed. 

 

Proposed change:  The bill amends these sections to allow a taxpayer to apply for the discount or 

exemption, with approval contingent upon the taxpayer providing the required documentation. 

Once the documentation is received by the property appraiser, the exemption is granted back to 

the date of the original application and a refund of excess tax payments is made. The refund is 

only permitted for years that are within the normal 4 year statute of limitations for refunds. 

 

Section 22 

Present situation:  Section 196.121, F.S., requires the department to furnish printed homestead 

exemption forms to the property appraisers. This requirement is obsolete since the forms are 

provided electronically and funding for printed forms has been eliminated. 

 

Proposed change:  The bill amends this section to delete the requirement for printed forms and 

clarify that the department will provide electronic funds.  

 

Section 23 

Present situation: Section 196.173, F.S., provides an exemption for servicemembers that are 

deployed outside the continental United States, Alaska, or Hawaii in support of certain named 

military operations.  Currently, the list of qualifying operations includes Operation Enduring 

Freedom, Operation Iraqi Freedom, and Operation New Dawn.  The beginning and ending dates 

for each operation are identified.  However, Operation New Dawn was continuing at the time the 

statute was last updated.  Thus, it does not include an ending date. 

 

Proposed change: Section 196.173, F.S., is amended to include an ending date for Operation 

New Dawn, which ended on December 15, 2011.  The statute is also amended to provide for two 

new qualifying operations – Operation Noble Eagle, which began on September 15, 2001, and 

Operation Odyssey Dawn, which began on March 19, 2011 and ended on October 31, 2011.  

 

Section 24 

Present situation:  Section 196.199, F.S., provide property tax exemptions for certain government 

property.  Generally, these exemptions provide an exemption for all state, federal, and municipal 

property when that property is both owned and used by the governmental unit for a governmental 

purpose.
3
  Property that is owned by the governmental unit but used by non-governmental 

entities is also exempt, but only in certain circumstances.
4
  

 

Proposed change:  The bill creates a new exemption for municipal property that is used as an 

essential ancillary function of a facility constructed with financing obtained by pledging 

convention development taxes authorized by s. 212.0305(4), F.S.  

                                                 
3
 See section 196.199(1)(a)-(c), F.S. 

4
 See section 196.199(2)-(10), F.S. 



BILL: CS/CS/SB 1256   Page 7 

 

 

Section 25 creates an undesignated section of law that makes the exemption created by section 

24 of this bill retroactive to January 1, 2012, thereby making the exemption available for the 

2012 tax roll. 

 

Section 28 

Present situation:  Section 197.332, F.S., requires tax collectors to collect all taxes shown on the 

tax roll, authorizes the use of contracted services, and authorizes the collection of costs to pay for 

contracted services.    

 

Proposed change:  Section 197.332, F.S., is amended to authorize collection of costs for 

processing tax deed applications electronically.  

 

Section 29 

Present situation:  In s. 200.065(5), F.S., the statutory language used to limit local governments’ 

millage rates contains a reference to the prior year’s rate. In an apparent drafting error, the phrase 

―is adopted‖ was used instead of ―was adopted‖ in referring to that rate, causing uncertainty in 

the phrase’s meaning. Also, s. 200.065(10), F.S., requires notice when a district school board 

levies additional tax pursuant to s. 1011.71(2), F.S.  Since, 2008, districts have also been able to 

levy additional tax pursuant to s. 1011.71(3), F.S. However, the notice requirements in s. 

200.065(1), F.S., do not reference those levies.    

 

Proposed change:  Section 200.065(5)(a), F.S., is amended in the bill to change the phrase from 

―is adopted‖ to ―was adopted,‖ and s. 200.065(10), F.S., is amended to also require notice when 

school districts levy additional property tax pursuant to s. 1011.71(3), F.S. 

 

Sections 30 and 31 

Present situation:  Sections 218.12 and 218.125, F.S., provide for distributions to fiscally 

constrained counties for tax losses due to constitutional changes approved by the voters in 2008. 

There is no provision in the statute for addressing what happens if a county fails to apply for the 

distribution. The statute also requires counties to report their maximum millage under ch. 200, 

F.S., but the citation to that chapter is not correct. Finally, distributions under both sections are 

calculated by multiplying the current year reduction in taxable value by the prior year’s millage 

rate, rather than the current year’s rate. 

 

Proposed change:  The bill amends these sections to specify that if a county fails to apply for 

distribution under these sections its share reverts to the fund from which the appropriation is 

made. The maximum millage calculation references are corrected, and the calculation of the 

distribution is based on the current year millage. 

 

Section 32 creates an undesignated section of law that provides, notwithstanding the application 

deadline in s. 196.173(5), F.S., that the deadline for a service-member to file a claim for an 

additional ad valorem tax exemption for a qualifying deployment during the 2011 calendar year 

is June 1, 2012, but requires that the applicant must file an application on or before the 25
th

 day 

after the property appraiser mails certain notices.  The bill provides that if the applicant 

demonstrates extenuating circumstances for not applying on time, the property appraiser may 

grant the exemption.  If the applicant is unable to demonstrate extenuating circumstances, the 



BILL: CS/CS/SB 1256   Page 8 

 

applicant may file a petition with the value adjustment board on or before the 25
th

 day after the 

property appraiser mails notice as provided in s. 194.011(1), F.S. Lastly, the bill waives the filing 

fees for these petitions and authorizes the value adjustment board to grant the exemption if the 

board judges the exemption warranted under the circumstances.  

 

Section 33 provides that sections 23 and 32 (relating to the deployed service-member 

exemption) shall take effect upon becoming a law and first apply to ad valorem tax rolls for 

2012. 

 

Section 34 provides that, except as otherwise provided, this act shall take effect upon becoming 

a law. 

IV. Constitutional Issues: 

A. Municipality/County Mandates Restrictions: 

Article VII, section 18(b), of the Florida Constitution, provides that ―[e]xcept upon 

approval of each house of the legislature by two-thirds of the membership, the legislature 

may not enact, amend, or repeal any general law if the anticipated effect of doing so 

would be to reduce the authority that municipalities or counties have to raise revenues in 

the aggregate, as such authority exists on February 1, 1989.‖ Since this bill would reduce 

a county or municipality’s authority to raise revenue in the aggregate, it may require a 

two-thirds vote of the membership of each house of the Legislature for passage if the 

magnitude of that reduction is found to be significant for the purposes of this provision. 

 

B. Public Records/Open Meetings Issues: 

None. 

C. Trust Funds Restrictions: 

None. 

 

D.  Other: 
 

Section 24 of this bill provides a tax exemption for municipal property used as an ―essential 

ancillary function‖ of a facility constructed with financing obtained by pledging proceeds of 

the convention development tax on transient rentals.  The proposed exemption appears to be 

drafted in an attempt to resolve a disagreement between the City of Miami and the Miami-

Dade County Property Appraiser regarding the taxation of a parking garage. 

 

The following discussion relies on information contained in the House of Representatives 

Staff Analysis for CS/HB 7097, dated February 23, 2012. 

 

On March 3, 2008, Miami-Dade County, the City and the Florida 

Marlins executed a ―Baseball Stadium Agreement‖ outlining the general 

terms and conditions under which they would design, develop, construct 



BILL: CS/CS/SB 1256   Page 9 

 

and operate a Major League Baseball stadium and related parking 

facilities. The agreement provided for the construction and operation of 

parking facilities to be made available to users of the baseball stadium.    

 

A ―City Parking Agreement‖ was entered into between the City of 

Miami and the Marlins on April 15, 2009. This 20-year contract gives 

the City the exclusive right, authority and responsibility to operate, 

manage, maintain and control the parking facilities, through the Miami 

Parking Authority, on a year-round basis. These rights and 

responsibilities include employing and supervising all personnel 

including cashiers, maintenance crews and security, and procuring and 

entering into contracts for the furnishing of all utilities, equipment, 

services and supplies necessary for the operation of the parking 

facilities.  The Marlins have exclusive use of 250 parking spaces, year 

round.  And, the contract also gives the Marlins prior and exclusive use 

of all of the spaces in the garages for Major League Baseball events, and 

other unspecified activities. The Marlins are required to pay the City an 

amount representing the purchase of the ―Available Number of Parking 

Spaces,‖ for each regular season game played at the stadium (81 home 

games a year). According to the contract, these spaces ―shall not exceed 

5,750.‖ The Marlins have agreed to pay the City $10.30 per parking 

space, and in turn, can set the price that the spaces are sold to fans, and 

retain all revenues. The Marlins, who have exclusive right to enter into 

agreements with respect to advertising rights, also must pay the City 50 

percent of all net revenues from advertising rights, excluding certain 

expenses.
5
    

 

The entire facility is scheduled to open this spring, and the Miami-Dade 

property appraiser has advised that the arrangement between the City 

and the Marlins amounts to a private enterprise operating on public 

property, and thus, the parking garages are subject to ad valorem 

taxation.  

 

Miami maintains that it should not have to pay property taxes on the four 

parking garages, arguing that the garages are integral to the stadium, that 

the garages should be considered a benefit to the public, and that the 

County agreed that the parking garages should be tax-exempt when the 

ballpark deal initially was negotiated. The City has no written records 

supporting that position, and Article 5.3 of the parking agreement 

provides that, except as otherwise provided, the City is responsible for 

the payment of all expenses and taxes relating to the parking premises. 

Additionally, the City has argued that the parking garages, located in an 

area in East Little Havana surrounded by dilapidated public housing and 

                                                 
5
 City Parking Agreement, the City of Miami, Miami-Dade County and Marlins Stadium Operator, LLC, April 2009.  



BILL: CS/CS/SB 1256   Page 10 

 

little or no commercial retail, are open to the public when not being used 

by the Marlins.
6
  

  

It has been estimated that the taxes will amount to $1.2 million. 

Apparently, the City and County agree that 53,000 square feet of 

commercial space in the parking garages anticipated to be leased for 

dining, drinking and retail establishments are subject to property taxes.
7
  

 

The structure of Florida’s property tax system is largely controlled by the Florida 

Constitution.  Among other restrictions, the constitution requires that property tax exemptions 

be founded upon explicit constitutional authority.  The Florida Supreme Court has determined 

that the ―Legislature is without authority to grant an exemption from property taxes [when] 

the exemption has no constitutional basis.‖
8
  

 

The bill expands the statutory exemption for government property to include all municipal 

property under certain circumstances.  The relevant constitutional provision, section (3)(a), 

Art. VII, Florida Constitution, provides, in part: 

  

All property owned by a municipality and used exclusively by it for municipal 

or public purposes shall be exempt from taxation. A municipality, owning 

property outside the municipality, may be required by general law to make 

payment to the taxing unit in which the property is located.   

 

The constitutional provision requires that exempt property must both be owned by a 

municipality and used exclusively by the municipality for municipal or public purposes. The 

―municipal or public purpose‖ requirement is the aspect that raises an issue regarding the City 

of Miami parking garage issue.   

 

―Municipal or public purposes‖ have been described by the Florida Supreme Court as 

activities that are essential to the health, morals, safety, and general welfare of the people 

within the municipality. Florida Dept. of Revenue v. City of Gainesville, 918 So.2d 250, 258 

(2005) (citing State ex rel. Harper v. McDavid, 200 So. 100 (Fla. 1941). 

 

In Sebring Airport Authority, the Florida Supreme Court analyzed a portion of s. 196.012(6), 

F.S., which provides that ―[t]he use by a lessee, licensee, or management company of real 

property or a portion thereof as a convention center, visitor center, sports facility with 

permanent seating, concert hall, arena, stadium, park, or beach is deemed a use that serves a 

governmental, municipal, or public purpose or function when access to the property is open to 

the general public with or without a charge for admission.‖ In that case, the Court held the 

quoited portion of s. 196.012(6), F.S., unconstitutional inasmuch as it created an ad valorem 

tax exemption for governmental property leased for use in profit-making endeavors.  

 

                                                 
6
 http://www.miamiherald.com/2011/12/24/v-print/2560785/miami-wrangles-over-marlins-stadium.html.  

7
 http://www.miamiherald.com/2011/11/21/v-fullstory/2515040/miami-may-have-to-pay-property.html. 

8
 See Sebring Airport Authority v. McIntyre, 783 So. 2d  238, 247 (Fla. 2001) (citing Archer v. Marshall, 355 So. 2d 781, 783 

(Fla. 1978). 



BILL: CS/CS/SB 1256   Page 11 

 

The bill raises an issue similar to the one analyzed in Sebring Airport Authority.  Whether the 

bill comports with the constitutional provision will depend on how a court applies the 

constitutional provision requiring exclusive use for municipal or public purposes to the 

specific facts of this case.  

 

V. Fiscal Impact Statement: 

A. Tax/Fee Issues: 

Proposed changes to ss. 196.081, 196.082. 196.091, and196.101, 196.202, and 196.24, 

F.S., are estimated to reduce local property taxes by $200,000, statewide.
9
 School taxes 

comprise $100,000 of the reduction. These changes would allow qualifying taxpayers to 

request limited refunds of property taxes that they paid after they applied for a disability-

related exemption, but before they received supporting documentation of disability from 

the government.     

 

 The proposed change to s. 196.031, F.S., is estimated to reduce local property taxes by 

$500,000, statewide.
10

  School taxes comprise $200,000 of the reduction.  This change 

proposes that property tax exemptions be applied in the order that maximizes the use of 

exemptions by the taxpayer.  

 

The proposed change to s. 196.173, F.S., expanding the list of military operations that 

qualify for the deployed service-member exemption, is estimated to reduce local property 

taxes by $100,000, statewide.
11

 School taxes comprise $30,000 of the reduction. 

 

The proposed change to s. 196.199, F.S., is estimated to reduce local property taxes by 

$2.8 million, statewide.
12

 School taxes comprise $1.1 million of the reduction. This 

change proposes an exemption for municipal property financed through convention 

development taxes.  

 

In total, the Revenue Estimating Conference has estimated that this bill will reduce local 

property taxes by $3.6 million, statewide. School taxes comprise $1.43 million of the 

reduction.  

                                                 
9
 Office of Economic and Demographic Research, The Florida Legislature, Revenue Estimating Conference for 2012 Regular 

Session –Retroactive Application, SB 1256 (December 19, 2011), available at 

http://edr.state.fl.us/content/conferences/revenueimpact/archives/2012/pdf/page153-162.pdf (last visited March 2, 2012). 
10

 Office of Economic and Demographic Research, The Florida Legislature, Revenue Estimating Conference for 2012 

Regular Session –Order of Exemptions, PCB FTC12-01 (February 1, 2012), available at 

http://edr.state.fl.us/content/conferences/revenueimpact/archives/2012/pdf/page369-373.pdf (last visited March 2, 2012). 
11

 Office of Economic and Demographic Research, The Florida Legislature, Revenue Estimating Conference for 2012 

Regular Session –Deployed Service Member Exemption, new operations  (January 24, 2012), available at 

http://edr.state.fl.us/content/conferences/revenueimpact/archives/2012/pdf/page316-320.pdf (last visited March 2, 2012). 
 
12

 Office of Economic and Demographic Research, The Florida Legislature, Revenue Estimating Conference for 2012 

Regular Session –Government Owned Property, HB 7097 (February 9, 2012), available at 

http://edr.state.fl.us/content/conferences/revenueimpact/archives/2012/pdf/page414-416.pdf (last visited March 2, 2012). 
 



BILL: CS/CS/SB 1256   Page 12 

 

 

B. Private Sector Impact: 

This bill has several provisions that clarify the process by which taxpayers apply for 

various property tax exemptions and other tax preferences. 

C. Government Sector Impact: 

This bill reduces the role of the Department of Revenue in receiving various reports and 

approving property tax refunds, and is expected to provide greater efficiency in its 

oversight of property tax administration. Other statutory corrections and clarifications 

should also reduce the department’s workload with respect to property tax oversight. 

VI. Technical Deficiencies: 

None. 

VII. Related Issues: 

None.  

VIII. Additional Information: 

A. Committee Substitute – Statement of Substantial Changes: 
(Summarizing differences between the Committee Substitute and the prior version of the bill.) 

CS/CS by Budget on February 29, 2012: 

 Clarifies the information required to be provided on tax rolls, 

 Provides that property appraisers may change sales qualification decision, when 

new evidence is obtained,  

 Removes language providing that only the Department of Revenue can review 

informal changes by property appraisers to determine whether the change is 

consistent with the law, and inserts amends another section of law to provide that 

the Department of Revenue must provide procedural and valuation assistance to 

agencies that are investigating property appraisers, 

 Removes unnecessary language regarding the treatment of combined and divided 

parcels for tax roll purposes,  

 Provides that the tow $25,000 exemptions for homestead property be applied 

before all other exemptions, but then remaining exemptions must be applied in the 

order that results in the lowest taxable value, 

 Updates the list of military operations that qualify for the deployed service-

member exemption, and provides retroactivity and additional application time,  

 Expands the property tax exemption for governmental property to include 

municipal property that is financed by convention development taxes, and 

provides that the exemption is retroactive to the 2012 tax roll; and 

 Allows tax collectors to recover costs for processing tax deed applications 

electronically. 



BILL: CS/CS/SB 1256   Page 13 

 

 

CS by Budget Subcommittee on Finance and Tax on January 24, 2012: 

This Committee Substitute includes 2 amendments adopted by the Subcommittee. The 

amendments: 

 Provide that rental of all or substantially all of a homestead constitutes 

abandonment of homestead use of the property, and 

 Provide that only the Department of Revenue, or another designated entity, may 

review whether an informal adjustment by a property appraiser is consistent with 

law. 

B. Amendments: 

None. 

This Senate Bill Analysis does not reflect the intent or official position of the bill’s introducer or the Florida Senate. 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1256 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì727222zÎ727222 

 

Page 1 of 1 

2/27/2012 10:11:57 AM 576-04018A-12 

LEGISLATIVE ACTION 

Senate 

Comm: RCS 

03/02/2012 

 

 

 

. 

. 

. 

. 

. 

. 

House 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The Committee on Budget (Norman) recommended the following: 

 

Senate Amendment  1 

 2 

Delete line 147 3 

and insert: 4 

value, the two most recently recorded selling prices, other 5 

ownership transfer data 6 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1256 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì274206ÈÎ274206 

 

Page 1 of 1 

2/27/2012 10:06:35 AM 576-04016A-12 

LEGISLATIVE ACTION 

Senate 

Comm: RCS 

03/02/2012 

 

 

 

. 

. 

. 

. 

. 

. 

House 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The Committee on Budget (Norman) recommended the following: 

 

Senate Amendment  1 

 2 

Delete line 211 3 

and insert: 4 

discovered. If, subsequent to the initial decision qualifying or 5 

disqualifying a transfer of property, the property appraiser 6 

obtains information indicating that the initial decision should 7 

be changed, the property appraiser may change the qualification 8 

decision and, if so, must document the reason for the change in 9 

a manner acceptable to the executive director or the executive 10 

director’s designee. Sale or transfer data must be current on 11 

all tax 12 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1256 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì430154{Î430154 

 

Page 1 of 1 

2/28/2012 8:07:21 AM 576-04140-12 

LEGISLATIVE ACTION 

Senate 

Comm: RS 

03/02/2012 

 

 

 

. 

. 

. 

. 

. 

. 

House 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The Committee on Budget (Bennett) recommended the following: 

 

Senate Amendment (with title amendment) 1 

 2 

Delete lines 225 - 229 3 

and insert: 4 

director’s designee. 5 

 6 

================= T I T L E  A M E N D M E N T ================ 7 

And the title is amended as follows: 8 

Delete lines 17 - 20 9 

and insert: 10 

assessment roll; 11 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1256 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì504124sÎ504124 

 

Page 1 of 2 

2/29/2012 11:36:03 AM 576-04313-12 

LEGISLATIVE ACTION 

Senate 

Comm: RCS 

03/02/2012 

 

 

 

. 

. 

. 

. 

. 

. 

House 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The Committee on Budget (Altman) recommended the following: 

 

Senate Substitute for Amendment (430154) (with title 1 

amendment) 2 

 3 

Delete lines 225 - 229 4 

and insert: 5 

director’s designee. 6 

 7 

Between lines 421 and 422 8 

insert: 9 

Section 12. Section 195.072, Florida Statutes, is amended 10 

to read: 11 

195.072 Cooperation with of other state agencies of state 12 

government.— 13 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1256 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì504124sÎ504124 

 

Page 2 of 2 

2/29/2012 11:36:03 AM 576-04313-12 

(1) The several departments and agencies of State agencies 14 

government are hereby authorized and directed to render such 15 

necessary aid and assistance to the Department of Revenue as is 16 

required to enable the department to carry out its functions of 17 

ensuring insuring just valuation and equitable administration of 18 

property taxes in this state. 19 

(2) The Department of Revenue shall render such aid and 20 

assistance as may be required in an active investigation of a 21 

property appraiser by a state agency by providing procedural and 22 

valuation assistance as it relates to the property appraiser’s 23 

property tax administrative duties. 24 

 25 

================= T I T L E  A M E N D M E N T ================ 26 

And the title is amended as follows: 27 

Delete lines 17 - 20 28 

and insert: 29 

assessment roll; 30 

 31 

Delete line 52 32 

and insert: 33 

technical and grammatical changes; amending s. 34 

195.072, F.S.; requiring the department to provide 35 

certain assistance in investigations of property 36 

appraisers; amending s. 37 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1256 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì1896146Î189614 

 

Page 1 of 2 

2/27/2012 10:09:04 AM 576-04017A-12 

LEGISLATIVE ACTION 

Senate 

Comm: RCS 

03/02/2012 

 

 

 

. 

. 

. 

. 

. 

. 

House 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The Committee on Budget (Norman) recommended the following: 

 

Senate Amendment  1 

 2 

Delete lines 270 - 278 3 

and insert: 4 

(c) A parcel that is combined or divided after January 1 5 

and included as a combined or divided parcel on the tax notice 6 

is not considered to be a combined or divided parcel until the 7 

January 1 on which it is first assessed as a combined or divided 8 

parcel. 9 

 10 

Delete lines 319 - 326 11 

and insert: 12 

(c) A parcel that is combined or divided after January 1 13 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1256 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì1896146Î189614 

 

Page 2 of 2 

2/27/2012 10:09:04 AM 576-04017A-12 

and included as a combined or divided parcel on the tax notice 14 

is not considered to be a combined or divided parcel until the 15 

January 1 on which it is first assessed as a combined or divided 16 

parcel. 17 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1256 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì663754=Î663754 

 

Page 1 of 2 

2/27/2012 10:43:30 AM 576-03687-12 

LEGISLATIVE ACTION 

Senate 

Comm: WD 

03/02/2012 

 

 

 

. 

. 

. 

. 

. 

. 

House 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The Committee on Budget (Altman) recommended the following: 

 

Senate Amendment (with title amendment) 1 

 2 

Between lines 326 and 327 3 

insert: 4 

Section 7. Subsection (2) of section 193.461, Florida 5 

Statutes, is amended to read: 6 

193.461 Agricultural lands; classification and assessment; 7 

mandated eradication or quarantine program.— 8 

(2) Any landowner whose land is denied agricultural 9 

classification by the property appraiser may appeal to the value 10 

adjustment board. The property appraiser shall notify the 11 

landowner in writing of the denial of agricultural 12 

classification on or before July 1 of the year for which the 13 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1256 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì663754=Î663754 

 

Page 2 of 2 

2/27/2012 10:43:30 AM 576-03687-12 

application was filed. The notification shall advise the 14 

landowner of his or her right to appeal to the value adjustment 15 

board and of the filing deadline. The board may also review all 16 

lands classified by the property appraiser upon its own motion. 17 

The property appraiser shall have available at his or her office 18 

a list by ownership of all applications received showing the 19 

acreage, the full valuation under s. 193.011, the valuation of 20 

the land under the provisions of this section, and whether or 21 

not the classification requested was granted. 22 

 23 

================= T I T L E  A M E N D M E N T ================ 24 

And the title is amended as follows: 25 

Delete line 34 26 

and insert: 27 

parcel of property; amending s. 193.461, F.S.; 28 

deleting a provision that authorizes the value 29 

adjustment board to review lands classified by the 30 

property appraiser upon its own motion; amending ss. 31 

193.501, 193.503, and 32 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1256 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì337722%Î337722 

 

Page 1 of 2 

2/27/2012 10:43:52 AM 576-03689-12 

LEGISLATIVE ACTION 

Senate 

Comm: WD 

03/02/2012 

 

 

 

. 

. 

. 

. 

. 

. 

House 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The Committee on Budget (Altman) recommended the following: 

 

Senate Amendment (with title amendment) 1 

 2 

Delete lines 343 - 346 3 

and insert: 4 

Section 8. Subsection (7) and paragraph (d) of subsection 5 

(9) of section 193.503, Florida Statutes, are amended to read: 6 

193.503 Classification and assessment of historic property 7 

used for commercial or certain nonprofit purposes.— 8 

(7) Any property owner who is denied classification under 9 

this section may appeal to the value adjustment board. The 10 

property appraiser shall notify the property owner in writing of 11 

the denial of such classification on or before July 1 of the 12 

year for which the application was filed. The notification shall 13 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1256 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì337722%Î337722 

 

Page 2 of 2 

2/27/2012 10:43:52 AM 576-03689-12 

advise the property owner of his or her right to appeal to the 14 

value adjustment board and of the filing deadline. The board may 15 

also review all property classified by the property appraiser 16 

upon its own motion. The property appraiser shall have available 17 

at his or her office a list by ownership of all applications 18 

received showing the full valuation under s. 193.011, the 19 

valuation of the property under the provisions of this section, 20 

and whether or not the classification requested was granted. 21 

 22 

================= T I T L E  A M E N D M E N T ================ 23 

And the title is amended as follows: 24 

Delete lines 34 - 37 25 

and insert: 26 

parcel of property; amending s. 193.501, F.S.; 27 

deleting a provision requiring that the tax collector 28 

report amounts of deferred tax liability to the 29 

Department of Revenue; amending s. 193.503, F.S.; 30 

deleting provisions that authorize the value 31 

adjustment board to review property classified by the 32 

property appraiser and require that the tax collector 33 

report amounts of deferred tax liability to the 34 

Department of Revenue; amending s. 193.505, F.S.; 35 

deleting a provision requiring that the tax collector 36 

report amounts of deferred tax liability to the 37 

Department of Revenue; amending s. 194.032, 38 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1256 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì968486^Î968486 

 

Page 1 of 2 

2/27/2012 10:14:57 AM 576-04019A-12 

LEGISLATIVE ACTION 

Senate 

Comm: RCS 

03/02/2012 

 

 

 

. 

. 

. 

. 

. 

. 

House 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The Committee on Budget (Norman) recommended the following: 

 

Senate Amendment (with title amendment) 1 

 2 

Delete lines 544 - 545 3 

and insert: 4 

and (b) shall be applied before and other homestead exemptions, 5 

which shall then be applied in the order that results in the 6 

lowest taxable value. as follows: 7 

 8 

================= T I T L E  A M E N D M E N T ================ 9 

And the title is amended as follows: 10 

Delete lines 69 - 71 11 

and insert: 12 

businesses; amending s. 196.031, F.S.; specifying the 13 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1256 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì968486^Î968486 

 

Page 2 of 2 

2/27/2012 10:14:57 AM 576-04019A-12 

order in which homestead exemptions from ad valorem 14 

taxation are applied; 15 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1256 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì460970,Î460970 

 

Page 1 of 2 

2/27/2012 9:34:04 AM 576-03829-12 

LEGISLATIVE ACTION 

Senate 

Comm: WD 

03/02/2012 

 

 

 

. 

. 

. 

. 

. 

. 

House 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The Committee on Budget (Benacquisto) recommended the following: 

 

Senate Amendment (with title amendment) 1 

 2 

Between lines 642 and 643 3 

insert: 4 

Section 22. Paragraph (d) is added to subsection (1) of 5 

section 196.199, Florida Statutes, to read: 6 

196.199 Government property exemption.— 7 

(1) Property owned and used by the following governmental 8 

units shall be exempt from taxation under the following 9 

conditions: 10 

(d) All property of a municipality is exempt from ad 11 

valorem taxation if used as an essential ancillary function of a 12 

facility constructed with financing obtained in part by pledging 13 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1256 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì460970,Î460970 

 

Page 2 of 2 

2/27/2012 9:34:04 AM 576-03829-12 

proceeds from the tax authorized under s. 212.0305(4) which is 14 

upon exempt or immune federal, state, or county property. 15 

 16 

================= T I T L E  A M E N D M E N T ================ 17 

And the title is amended as follows: 18 

Delete line 100 19 

and insert: 20 

appraisers; amending s. 196.199, F.S.; providing that 21 

property of a municipality is exempt from ad valorem 22 

taxation under specified circumstances; amending s. 23 

196.202, F.S.; authorizing an 24 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1256 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì688732:Î688732 

 

Page 1 of 4 

2/27/2012 10:04:09 AM 576-04044-12 

LEGISLATIVE ACTION 

Senate 

Comm: RCS 

03/02/2012 

 

 

 

. 

. 

. 

. 

. 

. 

House 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The Committee on Budget (Norman) recommended the following: 

 

Senate Amendment (with title amendment) 1 

 2 

Between lines 642 and 643 3 

insert: 4 

Section 22. Subsection (2) of section 196.173, Florida 5 

Statutes, is amended to read: 6 

196.173 Exemption for deployed servicemembers.— 7 

(2) The exemption is available to servicemembers who were 8 

deployed during the preceding calendar year on active duty 9 

outside the continental United States, Alaska, or Hawaii in 10 

support of: 11 

(a) Operation Noble Eagle, which began on September 15, 12 

2001; 13 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1256 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì688732:Î688732 

 

Page 2 of 4 

2/27/2012 10:04:09 AM 576-04044-12 

(b)(a) Operation Enduring Freedom, which began on October 14 

7, 2001; 15 

(c)(b) Operation Iraqi Freedom, which began on March 19, 16 

2003, and ended on August 31, 2010; or 17 

(d)(c) Operation New Dawn, which began on September 1, 18 

2010, and ended on December 15, 2011; or 19 

(e) Operation Odyssey Dawn, which began on March 19, 2011, 20 

and ended on October 31, 2011. 21 

 22 

The Department of Revenue shall notify all property appraisers 23 

and tax collectors in this state of the designated military 24 

operations. 25 

 26 

 27 

Between lines 880 and 881 28 

insert: 29 

Section 27. Notwithstanding the application deadline in s. 30 

196.173(5), Florida Statutes, the deadline for an eligible 31 

servicemember to file a claim for an additional ad valorem tax 32 

exemption for a qualifying deployment during the 2011 calendar 33 

year is June 1, 2012. Any applicant who seeks to claim the 34 

additional exemption and who fails to file an application by 35 

June 1 must file an application for the exemption with the 36 

property appraiser on or before the 25th day after the mailing 37 

by the property appraiser of the notices required under s. 38 

194.011(1), Florida Statutes. Upon receipt of sufficient 39 

evidence, as determined by the property appraiser, which 40 

demonstrates that the applicant was unable to apply for the 41 

exemption in a timely manner or otherwise demonstrating 42 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1256 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì688732:Î688732 

 

Page 3 of 4 

2/27/2012 10:04:09 AM 576-04044-12 

extenuating circumstances judged by the property appraiser to 43 

warrant granting the exemption, the property appraiser may grant 44 

the exemption. If the applicant fails to produce sufficient 45 

evidence demonstrating that the applicant was unable to apply 46 

for the exemption in a timely manner or otherwise demonstrating 47 

extenuating circumstances as judged by the property appraiser, 48 

the applicant may file, pursuant to s. 194.011(3), Florida 49 

Statutes, a petition with the value adjustment board which 50 

requests that the exemption be granted. Such petition must be 51 

filed during the taxable year on or before the 25th day after 52 

the mailing of the notice by the property appraiser as provided 53 

in s. 194.011(1), Florida Statutes. Notwithstanding s. 194.013, 54 

Florida Statutes, the applicant is not required to pay a filing 55 

fee for such petition. Upon reviewing the petition, if the 56 

applicant is qualified to receive the exemption and demonstrates 57 

particular extenuating circumstances as judged by the value 58 

adjustment board to warrant granting the exemption, the value 59 

adjustment board may grant the exemption for the current year. 60 

Section 28. Sections 22 and 27 of this act shall take 61 

effect upon this act becoming a law and shall first apply to ad 62 

valorem tax rolls for 2012. 63 

 64 

================= T I T L E  A M E N D M E N T ================ 65 

And the title is amended as follows: 66 

Delete lines 100 - 121 67 

and insert: 68 

appraisers; amending s. 196.173, F.S.; authorizing 69 

servicemembers who receive a homestead exemption and 70 

who are deployed in certain military operations to 71 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1256 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì688732:Î688732 

 

Page 4 of 4 

2/27/2012 10:04:09 AM 576-04044-12 

receive an additional ad valorem tax exemption; 72 

amending s. 196.202, F.S.; authorizing an applicant 73 

for an ad valorem exemption for widows, widowers, 74 

blind persons, or persons who are totally and 75 

permanently disabled to apply for the exemption before 76 

receiving certain documentation from the Federal 77 

Government; requiring refunds of excess taxes paid 78 

under certain circumstances; amending s. 196.24, F.S.; 79 

authorizing an applicant for an ad valorem tax 80 

exemption for disabled ex-servicemembers or a 81 

surviving spouse to apply for the exemption before 82 

receiving certain documentation from the Federal 83 

Government; requiring refunds of excess taxes paid 84 

under certain circumstances; amending s. 200.065, 85 

F.S.; deleting obsolete provisions; revising 86 

provisions relating to the calculation of the rolled-87 

back rate; correcting cross-references to certain 88 

additional taxes; amending ss. 218.12 and 218.125, 89 

F.S.; deleting obsolete provisions; providing for the 90 

reversion of funds appropriated to offset reductions 91 

in ad valorem tax revenue to a fiscally constrained 92 

county if the county fails to apply for a distribution 93 

of funds; providing a deadline for claiming tax 94 

exemptions for qualifying military deployments during 95 

the 2011 calendar year; providing procedures and 96 

requirements for filing applications and petitions to 97 

receive the tax exemption after the deadline; 98 

providing applicability; providing effective dates. 99 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1256 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì868778pÎ868778 

 

Page 1 of 2 

2/27/2012 10:45:39 AM 576-03691-12 

LEGISLATIVE ACTION 

Senate 

Comm: WD 

03/02/2012 

 

 

 

. 

. 

. 

. 

. 

. 

House 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The Committee on Budget (Altman) recommended the following: 

 

Senate Amendment (with title amendment) 1 

 2 

Between lines 642 and 643 3 

insert: 4 

Section 22. Subsection (1) of section 196.194, Florida 5 

Statutes, is amended to read: 6 

196.194 Value adjustment board; notice; hearings; 7 

appearance before the board.— 8 

(1) The value adjustment board shall hear disputed or 9 

appealed applications for exemption and shall grant such 10 

exemptions in whole or in part in accordance with criteria set 11 

forth in this chapter. It may review exemptions on its own 12 

motion or upon motion of the property appraiser. Review of an 13 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1256 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì868778pÎ868778 

 

Page 2 of 2 

2/27/2012 10:45:39 AM 576-03691-12 

exemption application upon motion of the board shall not be held 14 

until the applicant has had at least 5 calendar days’ notice of 15 

the intent of the board to review the application. 16 

 17 

================= T I T L E  A M E N D M E N T ================ 18 

And the title is amended as follows: 19 

Delete line 100 20 

and insert: 21 

appraisers; amending s. 196.194, F.S.; deleting 22 

provisions that authorize a value adjustment board to 23 

review applications for property tax exemptions; 24 

amending s. 196.202, F.S.; authorizing an 25 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1256 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì967692PÎ967692 

 

Page 1 of 2 

2/27/2012 4:58:38 PM 576-04113-12 

LEGISLATIVE ACTION 

Senate 

Comm: RCS 

03/02/2012 

 

 

 

. 

. 

. 

. 

. 

. 

House 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The Committee on Budget (Benacquisto) recommended the following: 

 

Senate Amendment (with title amendment) 1 

 2 

Between lines 642 and 643 3 

insert: 4 

Section 22. Paragraph (d) is added to subsection (1) of 5 

section 196.199, Florida Statutes, to read: 6 

196.199 Government property exemption.— 7 

(1) Property owned and used by the following governmental 8 

units shall be exempt from taxation under the following 9 

conditions: 10 

(d) All property of municipalities is exempt from ad 11 

valorem taxation if used as an essential ancillary function of a 12 

facility constructed with financing obtained in part by pledging 13 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1256 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì967692PÎ967692 

 

Page 2 of 2 

2/27/2012 4:58:38 PM 576-04113-12 

proceeds from the tax authorized under s. 212.0305(4) which is 14 

upon exempt or immune federal, state, or county property. 15 

Section 23. The exemption from ad valorem taxation created 16 

by the amendment in this act to s. 196.199, Florida Statutes, 17 

applies retroactively to the 2012 tax roll. 18 

 19 

================= T I T L E  A M E N D M E N T ================ 20 

And the title is amended as follows: 21 

Delete line 100 22 

and insert: 23 

appraisers; amending s. 196.199, F.S.; providing that 24 

property of a municipality is exempt from ad valorem 25 

taxation under specified circumstances; providing that 26 

the exemption applies retroactively to the 2012 tax 27 

roll; amending s. 196.202, F.S.; authorizing an 28 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1256 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì593480-Î593480 

 

Page 1 of 2 

2/28/2012 11:48:58 AM 576-04175A-12 

LEGISLATIVE ACTION 

Senate 

Comm: RS 

03/02/2012 

 

 

 

. 

. 

. 

. 

. 

. 

House 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The Committee on Budget (Bogdanoff) recommended the following: 

 

Senate Amendment (with title amendment) 1 

 2 

Between lines 695 and 696 3 

insert: 4 

Section 24. Subsection (1) of section 197.332, Florida 5 

Statutes, is amended to read: 6 

197.332 Duties of tax collectors; branch offices.— 7 

(1) The tax collector has the authority and obligation to 8 

collect all taxes as shown on the tax roll by the date of 9 

delinquency or to collect delinquent taxes, interest, and costs, 10 

by sale of tax certificates on real property and by seizure and 11 

sale of personal property. In exercising his or her power their 12 

powers to contract, the tax collector may perform such duties by 13 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1256 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì593480-Î593480 

 

Page 2 of 2 

2/28/2012 11:48:58 AM 576-04175A-12 

use of contracted services or products or by electronic means. 14 

The use of contracted services, products, or vendors does not 15 

diminish the responsibility or liability of the tax collector to 16 

perform such duties pursuant to law. The tax collector may 17 

collect the cost of contracted services, including costs for the 18 

electronic processing of tax deed applications, and reasonable 19 

attorney attorney’s fees and court costs in actions on 20 

proceedings to recover delinquent taxes, interest, and costs. 21 

 22 

================= T I T L E  A M E N D M E N T ================ 23 

And the title is amended as follows: 24 

Delete line 112 25 

and insert: 26 

under certain circumstances; amending s. 197.332, 27 

F.S.; authorizing tax collectors to collect costs for 28 

the electronic processing of tax deed applications; 29 

amending s. 200.065, 30 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1256 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì715646=Î715646 

 

Page 1 of 2 

2/28/2012 3:19:39 PM 576-04225-12 

LEGISLATIVE ACTION 

Senate 

Comm: RCS 

03/02/2012 

 

 

 

. 

. 

. 

. 

. 

. 

House 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The Committee on Budget (Bogdanoff) recommended the following: 

 

Senate Substitute for Amendment (593480) (with title 1 

amendment) 2 

 3 

Between lines 695 and 696 4 

insert: 5 

Section 24. Subsection (1) of section 197.332, Florida 6 

Statutes, is amended to read: 7 

197.332 Duties of tax collectors; branch offices.— 8 

(1) The tax collector has the authority and obligation to 9 

collect all taxes as shown on the tax roll by the date of 10 

delinquency or to collect delinquent taxes, interest, and costs, 11 

by sale of tax certificates on real property and by seizure and 12 

sale of personal property. In exercising his or her power their 13 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1256 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì715646=Î715646 

 

Page 2 of 2 

2/28/2012 3:19:39 PM 576-04225-12 

powers to contract, the tax collector may perform such duties by 14 

use of contracted services or products or by electronic means. 15 

The use of contracted services, products, or vendors does not 16 

diminish the responsibility or liability of the tax collector to 17 

perform such duties pursuant to law. The tax collector may 18 

collect the cost of contracted services, including costs for the 19 

electronic processing of tax deed applications. The tax 20 

collector shall collect and reasonable attorney attorney’s fees 21 

and court costs in actions on proceedings to recover delinquent 22 

taxes, interest, and costs. 23 

 24 

================= T I T L E  A M E N D M E N T ================ 25 

And the title is amended as follows: 26 

Delete line 112 27 

and insert: 28 

under certain circumstances; amending s. 197.332, 29 

F.S.; authorizing tax collectors to collect costs for 30 

the electronic processing of tax deed applications; 31 

amending s. 200.065, 32 



Florida Senate - 2012 CS for SB 1256 

 

 

 

By the Committees on Budget Subcommittee on Finance and Tax; and 

Budget Subcommittee on Finance and Tax 

 

 

 

593-02240-12 20121256c1 

Page 1 of 31 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

A bill to be entitled 1 

An act relating to the administration of property 2 

taxes; amending s. 192.001, F.S.; revising the 3 

definitions of the terms “assessed value of property” 4 

and “complete submission of the rolls”; amending s. 5 

192.0105, F.S.; providing that a taxpayer has a right 6 

to have a hearing before the value adjustment board 7 

rescheduled if the hearing is not commenced within a 8 

certain period after the scheduled time; repealing s. 9 

192.117, F.S., relating to the Property Tax 10 

Administration Task Force; amending s. 193.114, F.S.; 11 

revising the information that must be included on a 12 

real property assessment roll relating to the transfer 13 

of ownership of property; defining the term “ownership 14 

transfer date”; deleting a requirement to include 15 

information relating to a fiduciary on a real property 16 

assessment roll; limiting the review of changes in the 17 

assessed value of real property resulting from an 18 

informal conference with the taxpayer to a review by 19 

the Department of Revenue or a designated entity; 20 

amending s. 193.1554, F.S.; deleting obsolete 21 

provisions; providing for the apportionment of 22 

increases in the value of combined and divided parcels 23 

of nonhomestead residential property; providing for 24 

the application of an assessment limitation to a 25 

combined or divided parcel of nonhomestead residential 26 

property; amending s. 193.1555, F.S.; redefining the 27 

term “nonresidential real property” to conform a 28 

cross-reference to the State Constitution; deleting 29 

Florida Senate - 2012 CS for SB 1256 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

593-02240-12 20121256c1 

Page 2 of 31 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

obsolete provisions; providing for the apportionment 30 

of increases in the value of combined and divided 31 

parcels of property; providing for the application of 32 

an assessment limitation to a combined or divided 33 

parcel of property; amending ss. 193.501, 193.503, and 34 

193.505, F.S.; deleting provisions requiring that the 35 

tax collector report amounts of deferred tax liability 36 

to the Department of Revenue; amending s. 194.032, 37 

F.S.; requiring that a hearing before the value 38 

adjustment board be rescheduled if the hearing on the 39 

petitioner’s petition is not commenced within a 40 

certain time after the scheduled time; making 41 

technical and grammatical changes; amending s. 42 

194.034, F.S.; deleting an exception to a requirement 43 

that a value adjustment board render a written 44 

decision relating to the petitioner’s failure to make 45 

a required payment; deleting a requirement that the 46 

Department of Revenue be notified of decisions by the 47 

value adjustment board; requiring that the clerk 48 

notify the Department of Revenue of a decision of the 49 

value adjustment board or information relating to the 50 

tax impact of the decision upon request; making 51 

technical and grammatical changes; amending s. 52 

195.096, F.S.; authorizing the measures in the 53 

findings resulting from an in-depth review of an 54 

assessment roll of a county to be based on a ratio 55 

that is generally accepted by professional appraisal 56 

organizations in developing a statistically valid 57 

sampling plan under certain circumstances; revising 58 



Florida Senate - 2012 CS for SB 1256 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

593-02240-12 20121256c1 

Page 3 of 31 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

the requirements for the Department of Revenue to 59 

provide certain information concerning its review of 60 

assessment rolls to the Legislature, the appropriate 61 

property appraiser, and county commissions; requiring 62 

that copies of the review data and findings be 63 

provided upon request; repealing s. 195.0985, F.S., 64 

relating to a requirement that the department publish 65 

annual ratio studies; amending s. 195.099, F.S.; 66 

allowing the department discretion in determining 67 

whether to review the assessments of certain 68 

businesses; amending s. 196.031, F.S.; requiring that 69 

ad valorem tax exemptions be applied in the order that 70 

results in the lowest taxable value of a homestead; 71 

amending s. 196.061, F.S.; clarifying provisions 72 

relating to the rental of a homestead dwelling; 73 

amending s. 196.081, F.S.; authorizing an applicant 74 

for an ad valorem tax exemption for a disabled veteran 75 

or for a surviving spouse to apply for the exemption 76 

before receiving certain documentation from the 77 

Federal Government; requiring refunds of excess taxes 78 

paid under certain circumstances; amending s. 196.082, 79 

F.S.; authorizing an applicant for an ad valorem tax 80 

discount available to disabled veterans to apply for 81 

the discount before receiving certain documentation 82 

from the Federal Government; requiring refunds of 83 

excess taxes paid under certain circumstances; 84 

amending s. 196.091, F.S.; authorizing an applicant 85 

for an ad valorem tax exemption for disabled veterans 86 

confined to a wheelchair to apply for the exemption 87 

Florida Senate - 2012 CS for SB 1256 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

593-02240-12 20121256c1 

Page 4 of 31 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

before receiving certain documentation from the 88 

Federal Government; requiring refunds of excess taxes 89 

paid under certain circumstances; amending s. 196.101, 90 

F.S.; authorizing an applicant for an ad valorem tax 91 

exemption for totally and permanently disabled persons 92 

to apply for the exemption before receiving certain 93 

documentation from the Federal Government; requiring 94 

refunds of excess taxes paid under certain 95 

circumstances; amending s. 196.121, F.S.; authorizing 96 

the Department of Revenue to provide certain forms 97 

electronically; deleting a requirement that the 98 

department supply printed forms to property 99 

appraisers; amending s. 196.202, F.S.; authorizing an 100 

applicant for an ad valorem exemption for widows, 101 

widowers, blind persons, or persons who are totally 102 

and permanently disabled to apply for the exemption 103 

before receiving certain documentation from the 104 

Federal Government; requiring refunds of excess taxes 105 

paid under certain circumstances; amending s. 196.24, 106 

F.S.; authorizing an applicant for an ad valorem tax 107 

exemption for disabled ex-servicemembers or a 108 

surviving spouse to apply for the exemption before 109 

receiving certain documentation from the Federal 110 

Government; requiring refunds of excess taxes paid 111 

under certain circumstances; amending s. 200.065, 112 

F.S.; deleting obsolete provisions; revising 113 

provisions relating to the calculation of the rolled-114 

back rate; correcting cross-references to certain 115 

additional taxes; amending ss. 218.12 and 218.125, 116 



Florida Senate - 2012 CS for SB 1256 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

593-02240-12 20121256c1 

Page 5 of 31 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

F.S.; deleting obsolete provisions; providing for the 117 

reversion of funds appropriated to offset reductions 118 

in ad valorem tax revenue to a fiscally constrained 119 

county if the county fails to apply for a distribution 120 

of funds; providing effective dates. 121 

 122 

Be It Enacted by the Legislature of the State of Florida: 123 

 124 

Section 1. Subsections (2) and (18) of section 192.001, 125 

Florida Statutes, are amended to read: 126 

192.001 Definitions.—All definitions set out in chapters 1 127 

and 200 that are applicable to this chapter are included herein. 128 

In addition, the following definitions shall apply in the 129 

imposition of ad valorem taxes: 130 

(2) “Assessed value of property” means an annual 131 

determination of: 132 

(a) The just or fair market value of an item or property; 133 

or 134 

(b) The value of the homestead property as limited by 135 

pursuant to s. 4(d), Art. VII of the State Constitution; or, 136 

(c) The value of property in a classified use or at a 137 

fractional value if the a property is assessed solely on the 138 

basis of character or use or at a specified percentage of its 139 

value under, pursuant to s. 4(a) or 4(c), Art. VII of the State 140 

Constitution, its classified use value or fractional value. 141 

(18) “Complete submission of the rolls” includes, but is 142 

not necessarily limited to, accurate tabular summaries of 143 

valuations as prescribed by department rule; an electronic a 144 

computer tape copy of the real property assessment roll 145 

Florida Senate - 2012 CS for SB 1256 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

593-02240-12 20121256c1 

Page 6 of 31 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

including for each parcel total value of improvements, land 146 

value, the two most recently recorded selling prices, data 147 

required for an assessment roll under s. 193.114, the value of 148 

any improvement made to the parcel in the 12 months preceding 149 

the valuation date, the type and amount of any exemption 150 

granted, and such other information as may be required by 151 

department rule; an accurate tabular summary by property class 152 

of any adjustments made to recorded selling prices or fair 153 

market value in arriving at assessed value, as prescribed by 154 

department rule; an electronic a computer tape copy of the 155 

tangible personal property assessment roll, including for each 156 

entry a unique account number and such other information as may 157 

be required by department rule; and an accurate tabular summary 158 

of per-acre land valuations used for each class of agricultural 159 

property in preparing the assessment roll, as prescribed by 160 

department rule. 161 

Section 2. Paragraph (d) of subsection (2) of section 162 

192.0105, Florida Statutes, is amended to read: 163 

192.0105 Taxpayer rights.—There is created a Florida 164 

Taxpayer’s Bill of Rights for property taxes and assessments to 165 

guarantee that the rights, privacy, and property of the 166 

taxpayers of this state are adequately safeguarded and protected 167 

during tax levy, assessment, collection, and enforcement 168 

processes administered under the revenue laws of this state. The 169 

Taxpayer’s Bill of Rights compiles, in one document, brief but 170 

comprehensive statements that summarize the rights and 171 

obligations of the property appraisers, tax collectors, clerks 172 

of the court, local governing boards, the Department of Revenue, 173 

and taxpayers. Additional rights afforded to payors of taxes and 174 



Florida Senate - 2012 CS for SB 1256 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

593-02240-12 20121256c1 

Page 7 of 31 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

assessments imposed under the revenue laws of this state are 175 

provided in s. 213.015. The rights afforded taxpayers to assure 176 

that their privacy and property are safeguarded and protected 177 

during tax levy, assessment, and collection are available only 178 

insofar as they are implemented in other parts of the Florida 179 

Statutes or rules of the Department of Revenue. The rights so 180 

guaranteed to state taxpayers in the Florida Statutes and the 181 

departmental rules include: 182 

(2) THE RIGHT TO DUE PROCESS.— 183 

(d) The right to prior notice of the value adjustment 184 

board’s hearing date, and the right to the hearing at the within 185 

4 hours of scheduled time, and the right to have the hearing 186 

rescheduled if the hearing is not commenced within a reasonable 187 

time, not to exceed 2 hours, after the scheduled time (see s. 188 

194.032(2)). 189 

Section 3. Section 192.117, Florida Statutes, is repealed. 190 

Section 4. Paragraphs (n) and (p) of subsection (2) and 191 

subsection (4) of section 193.114, Florida Statutes, are amended 192 

to read: 193 

193.114 Preparation of assessment rolls.— 194 

(2) The real property assessment roll shall include: 195 

(n) The recorded selling For each sale of the property in 196 

the previous year, the sale price, ownership transfer sale date, 197 

and official record book and page number or clerk instrument 198 

number for each deed or other instrument transferring ownership 199 

of real property and recorded or otherwise discovered during the 200 

period beginning 1 year before the assessment date and up to the 201 

date the assessment roll is submitted to the department. The 202 

assessment roll shall also include, and the basis for 203 

Florida Senate - 2012 CS for SB 1256 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

593-02240-12 20121256c1 

Page 8 of 31 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

qualification or disqualification of a transfer as an arms-204 

length transaction. A decision qualifying or disqualifying a 205 

transfer of property as an arms-length transaction Sale data 206 

must be current on all tax rolls submitted to the department, 207 

and sale qualification decisions must be recorded on the 208 

assessment tax roll within 3 months after the sale date that the 209 

deed or other transfer instrument is recorded or otherwise 210 

discovered. Sale or transfer data must be current on all tax 211 

rolls submitted to the department. As used in this paragraph, 212 

the term “ownership transfer date” means the date that the deed 213 

or other transfer instrument is signed and notarized or 214 

otherwise executed. 215 

(p) The name and address of the owner or fiduciary 216 

responsible for the payment of taxes on the property and an 217 

indicator of fiduciary capacity, as appropriate. 218 

(4)(a) For every change made to the assessed or taxable 219 

value of a parcel on an assessment roll subsequent to the 220 

mailing of the notice provided for in s. 200.069, the property 221 

appraiser shall document the reason for such change in the 222 

public records of the office of the property appraiser in a 223 

manner acceptable to the executive director or the executive 224 

director’s designee. For every change made to the assessed or 225 

taxable value of a parcel on an assessment roll as the result of 226 

an informal conference under s. 194.011(2), only the department 227 

or a designated entity may review whether such change is 228 

consistent with the law. 229 

(b) For every change that decreases the assessed or taxable 230 

value of a parcel on an assessment roll between the time of 231 

complete submission of the tax roll pursuant to s. 193.1142(3) 232 



Florida Senate - 2012 CS for SB 1256 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

593-02240-12 20121256c1 

Page 9 of 31 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

and mailing of the notice provided for in s. 200.069, the 233 

property appraiser shall document the reason for such change in 234 

the public records of the office of the property appraiser in a 235 

manner acceptable to the executive director or the executive 236 

director’s designee. 237 

(c) Changes made by the value adjustment board are not 238 

subject to the requirements of this subsection. 239 

Section 5. Subsections (2), (3), and (7) of section 240 

193.1554, Florida Statutes, are amended to read: 241 

193.1554 Assessment of nonhomestead residential property.— 242 

(2) For all levies other than school district levies, 243 

nonhomestead residential property shall be assessed at just 244 

value as of January 1 of the year that the property becomes 245 

eligible for assessment pursuant to this section, 2008. Property 246 

placed on the tax roll after January 1, 2008, shall be assessed 247 

at just value as of January 1 of the year in which the property 248 

is placed on the tax roll. 249 

(3) Beginning in 2009, or the year following the year the 250 

nonhomestead residential property becomes eligible for 251 

assessment pursuant to this section is placed on the tax roll, 252 

whichever is later, the property shall be reassessed annually on 253 

January 1. Any change resulting from such reassessment may not 254 

exceed 10 percent of the assessed value of the property for the 255 

prior year. 256 

(7) Any increase in the value of property assessed under 257 

this section which is attributable to combining or dividing 258 

parcels shall be assessed at just value, and the just value 259 

shall be apportioned among the parcels created. 260 

(a) For divided parcels, the amount by which the sum of the 261 

Florida Senate - 2012 CS for SB 1256 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

593-02240-12 20121256c1 

Page 10 of 31 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

just values of the divided parcels exceeds what the just value 262 

of the parcel would be if undivided shall be attributable to the 263 

division. This amount shall be apportioned to the parcels pro 264 

rata based on their relative just values. 265 

(b) For combined parcels, the amount by which the just 266 

value of the combined parcel exceeds what the sum of the just 267 

values of the component parcels would be if they had not been 268 

combined shall be attributable to the combination. 269 

(c) A parcel that is created by combining or dividing a 270 

parcel and that is eligible for assessment pursuant to this 271 

section retains such eligibility and shall be assessed as 272 

provided in this subsection. A parcel that is combined or 273 

divided after January 1 and that is included as a combined or 274 

divided parcel on the tax notice is not considered to be a 275 

combined or divided parcel for purposes of this section until 276 

the January 1 on which it is first assessed as a combined or 277 

divided parcel. 278 

Section 6. Subsections (1), (2), (3), and (7) of section 279 

193.1555, Florida Statutes, are amended to read: 280 

193.1555 Assessment of certain residential and 281 

nonresidential real property.— 282 

(1) As used in this section, the term: 283 

(a) “Nonresidential real property” means real property that 284 

is not subject to the assessment limitations set forth in 285 

subsection 4(a), (b), (c), (d), or (g), Art. VII of the State 286 

Constitution s. 4(a), (c), (d), or (g), Art. VII of the State 287 

Constitution. 288 

(b) “Improvement” means an addition or change to land or 289 

buildings which increases their value and is more than a repair 290 



Florida Senate - 2012 CS for SB 1256 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

593-02240-12 20121256c1 

Page 11 of 31 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

or a replacement. 291 

(2) For all levies other than school district levies, 292 

nonresidential real property and residential real property that 293 

is not assessed under s. 193.155 or s. 193.1554 shall be 294 

assessed at just value as of January 1 of the year that the 295 

property becomes eligible for assessment pursuant to this 296 

section, 2008. Property placed on the tax roll after January 1, 297 

2008, shall be assessed at just value as of January 1 of the 298 

year in which the property is placed on the tax roll. 299 

(3) Beginning in 2009, or the year following the year the 300 

property becomes eligible for assessment pursuant to this 301 

section is placed on the tax roll, whichever is later, the 302 

property shall be reassessed annually on January 1. Any change 303 

resulting from such reassessment may not exceed 10 percent of 304 

the assessed value of the property for the prior year. 305 

(7) Any increase in the value of property assessed under 306 

this section which is attributable to combining or dividing 307 

parcels shall be assessed at just value, and the just value 308 

shall be apportioned among the parcels created. 309 

(a) For divided parcels, the amount by which the sum of the 310 

just values of the divided parcels exceeds what the just value 311 

of the parcel would be if undivided shall be attributable to the 312 

division. This amount shall be apportioned to the parcels pro 313 

rata based on their relative just values. 314 

(b) For combined parcels, the amount by which the just 315 

value of the combined parcel exceeds what the sum of the just 316 

values of the component parcels would be if they had not been 317 

combined shall be attributable to the combination. 318 

(c) A parcel that is created by combining or dividing a 319 

Florida Senate - 2012 CS for SB 1256 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

593-02240-12 20121256c1 

Page 12 of 31 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

parcel that is eligible for assessment pursuant to this section 320 

retains such eligibility and shall be assessed as provided in 321 

this subsection. A parcel that is combined or divided after 322 

January 1 and that is included as a combined or divided parcel 323 

on the tax notice is not considered to be a combined or divided 324 

parcel for purposes of this section until the January 1 on which 325 

it is first assessed as a combined or divided parcel. 326 

Section 7. Subsection (7) of section 193.501, Florida 327 

Statutes, is amended to read: 328 

193.501 Assessment of lands subject to a conservation 329 

easement, environmentally endangered lands, or lands used for 330 

outdoor recreational or park purposes when land development 331 

rights have been conveyed or conservation restrictions have been 332 

covenanted.— 333 

(7)(a) The property appraiser shall report to the 334 

department showing the just value and the classified use value 335 

of property that is subject to a conservation easement under s. 336 

704.06, property assessed as environmentally endangered land 337 

pursuant to this section, and property assessed as outdoor 338 

recreational or park land. 339 

(b) The tax collector shall annually report to the 340 

department the amount of deferred tax liability collected 341 

pursuant to this section. 342 

Section 8. Paragraph (d) of subsection (9) of section 343 

193.503, Florida Statutes, is amended to read: 344 

193.503 Classification and assessment of historic property 345 

used for commercial or certain nonprofit purposes.— 346 

(9) 347 

(d) The tax collector shall annually report to the 348 



Florida Senate - 2012 CS for SB 1256 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

593-02240-12 20121256c1 

Page 13 of 31 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

department the amount of deferred tax liability collected 349 

pursuant to this section. 350 

Section 9. Paragraph (c) of subsection (9) of section 351 

193.505, Florida Statutes, is amended to read: 352 

193.505 Assessment of historically significant property 353 

when development rights have been conveyed or historic 354 

preservation restrictions have been covenanted.— 355 

(9) 356 

(c) The tax collector shall annually report to the 357 

department the amount of deferred tax liability collected 358 

pursuant to this section. 359 

Section 10. Subsection (2) of section 194.032, Florida 360 

Statutes, is amended to read: 361 

194.032 Hearing purposes; timetable.— 362 

(2)(a) The clerk of the governing body of the county shall 363 

prepare a schedule of appearances before the board based on 364 

petitions timely filed with him or her. The clerk shall notify 365 

each petitioner of the scheduled time of his or her appearance 366 

at least no less than 25 calendar days before prior to the day 367 

of the such scheduled appearance. If the petitioner checked the 368 

appropriate box on the petition form to request a copy of the 369 

property record card containing relevant information used in 370 

computing the current assessment, the clerk shall provide the 371 

copy of the card along with the notice. Upon receipt of the 372 

notice this notification, the petitioner may shall have the 373 

right to reschedule the hearing a single time by submitting to 374 

the clerk of the governing body of the county a written request 375 

to reschedule, at least no less than 5 calendar days before the 376 

day of the originally scheduled hearing. 377 

Florida Senate - 2012 CS for SB 1256 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

593-02240-12 20121256c1 

Page 14 of 31 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

(b) A copy of the property record card containing relevant 378 

information used in computing the taxpayer’s current assessment 379 

shall be included with such notice, if said card was requested 380 

by the taxpayer. Such request shall be made by checking an 381 

appropriate box on the petition form. No petitioner may not 382 

shall be required to wait for more than a reasonable time, not 383 

to exceed 2 4 hours, after from the scheduled time for the 384 

hearing to commence.; and, If the hearing is not commenced 385 

within his or her petition is not heard in that time, the 386 

petitioner may inform, at his or her option, report to the 387 

chairperson of the meeting that he or she intends to leave.; 388 

and, If the petitioner leaves he or she is not heard 389 

immediately, the clerk shall reschedule the hearing, and the 390 

rescheduling is not considered to be a request to reschedule as 391 

provided in paragraph (a) petitioner’s administrative remedies 392 

will be deemed to be exhausted, and he or she may seek further 393 

relief as he or she deems appropriate. 394 

(c) Failure on three occasions with respect to any single 395 

tax year to convene at the scheduled time of meetings of the 396 

board is shall constitute grounds for removal from office by the 397 

Governor for neglect of duties. 398 

Section 11. Subsection (2) of section 194.034, Florida 399 

Statutes, is amended to read: 400 

194.034 Hearing procedures; rules.— 401 

(2) In each case, except if the when a complaint is 402 

withdrawn by the petitioner or if the complaint, is acknowledged 403 

as correct by the property appraiser, or is denied pursuant to 404 

s. 194.014(1)(c), the value adjustment board shall render a 405 

written decision. All such decisions shall be issued within 20 406 



Florida Senate - 2012 CS for SB 1256 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

593-02240-12 20121256c1 

Page 15 of 31 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

calendar days after of the last day the board is in session 407 

under s. 194.032. The decision of the board must shall contain 408 

findings of fact and conclusions of law and must shall include 409 

reasons for upholding or overturning the determination of the 410 

property appraiser. If When a special magistrate has been 411 

appointed, the recommendations of the special magistrate shall 412 

be considered by the board. The clerk, upon issuance of a 413 

decision the decisions, shall, on a form provided by the 414 

Department of Revenue, notify by first-class mail each taxpayer 415 

and, the property appraiser, and the department of the decision 416 

of the board. If requested by the Department of Revenue, the 417 

clerk shall provide to the department a copy of the decision or 418 

information relating to the tax impact of the findings and 419 

results of the board as described in s. 194.037 in the manner 420 

and form requested. 421 

Section 12. Effective July 1, 2012, paragraph (f) of 422 

subsection (2) and subsection (3) of section 195.096, Florida 423 

Statutes, are amended to read: 424 

195.096 Review of assessment rolls.— 425 

(2) The department shall conduct, no less frequently than 426 

once every 2 years, an in-depth review of the assessment rolls 427 

of each county. The department need not individually study every 428 

use-class of property set forth in s. 195.073, but shall at a 429 

minimum study the level of assessment in relation to just value 430 

of each classification specified in subsection (3). Such in-431 

depth review may include proceedings of the value adjustment 432 

board and the audit or review of procedures used by the counties 433 

to appraise property. 434 

(f) Within 120 days after following the receipt of a county 435 

Florida Senate - 2012 CS for SB 1256 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

593-02240-12 20121256c1 

Page 16 of 31 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

assessment roll by the executive director of the department 436 

pursuant to s. 193.1142(1), or within 10 days after approval of 437 

the assessment roll, whichever is later, the department shall 438 

complete the review for that county and publish the department’s 439 

forward its findings. The findings must include, including a 440 

statement of the confidence interval for the median and such 441 

other measures as may be appropriate for each classification or 442 

subclassification studied and for the roll as a whole, employing 443 

a 95-percent level of confidence, and related statistical and 444 

analytical details. The measures in the findings must be based 445 

on: 446 

1. A 95 percent level of confidence; or 447 

2. Ratio study standards that are generally accepted by 448 

professional appraisal organizations in developing a 449 

statistically valid sampling plan if a 95 percent level of 450 

confidence is not attainable to the Senate and the House of 451 

Representatives committees with oversight responsibilities for 452 

taxation, and the appropriate property appraiser. Upon releasing 453 

its findings, the department shall notify the chairperson of the 454 

appropriate county commission or the corresponding official 455 

under a consolidated charter that the department’s findings are 456 

available upon request. The department shall, within 90 days 457 

after receiving a written request from the chairperson of the 458 

appropriate county commission or the corresponding official 459 

under a consolidated charter, forward a copy of its findings, 460 

including the confidence interval for the median and such other 461 

measures of each classification or subclassification studied and 462 

for all the roll as a whole, and related statistical and 463 

analytical details, to the requesting party. 464 



Florida Senate - 2012 CS for SB 1256 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

593-02240-12 20121256c1 

Page 17 of 31 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

(3)(a) Upon completion of review pursuant to paragraph 465 

(2)(f), the department shall publish the results of reviews 466 

conducted under this section. The results must include all 467 

statistical and analytical measures computed under this section 468 

for the real property assessment roll as a whole, the personal 469 

property assessment roll as a whole, and independently for the 470 

following real property classes if whenever the classes 471 

constituted 5 percent or more of the total assessed value of 472 

real property in a county on the previous tax roll: 473 

1. Residential property that consists of one primary living 474 

unit, including, but not limited to, single-family residences, 475 

condominiums, cooperatives, and mobile homes. 476 

2. Residential property that consists of two or more 477 

primary living units. 478 

3. Agricultural, high-water recharge, historic property 479 

used for commercial or certain nonprofit purposes, and other 480 

use-valued property. 481 

4. Vacant lots. 482 

5. Nonagricultural acreage and other undeveloped parcels. 483 

6. Improved commercial and industrial property. 484 

7. Taxable institutional or governmental, utility, locally 485 

assessed railroad, oil, gas and mineral land, subsurface rights, 486 

and other real property. 487 

 488 

If When one of the above classes constituted less than 5 percent 489 

of the total assessed value of all real property in a county on 490 

the previous assessment roll, the department may combine it with 491 

one or more other classes of real property for purposes of 492 

assessment ratio studies or use the weighted average of the 493 

Florida Senate - 2012 CS for SB 1256 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

593-02240-12 20121256c1 

Page 18 of 31 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

other classes for purposes of calculating the level of 494 

assessment for all real property in a county. The department 495 

shall also publish such results for any subclassifications of 496 

the classes or assessment rolls it may have chosen to study. 497 

(b) If When necessary for compliance with s. 1011.62, and 498 

for those counties not being studied in the current year, the 499 

department shall project value-weighted mean levels of 500 

assessment for each county. The department shall make its 501 

projection based upon the best information available, using 502 

utilizing professionally accepted methodology, and shall 503 

separately allocate changes in total assessed value to: 504 

1. New construction, additions, and deletions. 505 

2. Changes in the value of the dollar. 506 

3. Changes in the market value of property other than those 507 

attributable to changes in the value of the dollar. 508 

4. Changes in the level of assessment. 509 

 510 

In lieu of the statistical and analytical measures published 511 

pursuant to paragraph (a), the department shall publish details 512 

concerning the computation of estimated assessment levels and 513 

the allocation of changes in assessed value for those counties 514 

not subject to an in-depth review. 515 

(c) Upon publication of data and findings as required by 516 

this subsection, the department shall notify the committees of 517 

the Senate and of the House of Representatives having oversight 518 

responsibility for taxation, the appropriate property appraiser, 519 

and the county commission chair or corresponding official under 520 

a consolidated charter. Copies of the data and findings shall be 521 

provided upon request. 522 



Florida Senate - 2012 CS for SB 1256 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

593-02240-12 20121256c1 

Page 19 of 31 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

Section 13. Section 195.0985, Florida Statutes, is 523 

repealed. 524 

Section 14. Section 195.099, Florida Statutes, is amended 525 

to read: 526 

195.099 Periodic review.— 527 

(1)(a) The department may shall periodically review the 528 

assessments of new, rebuilt, and expanded business reported 529 

according to s. 193.077(3), to ensure parity of level of 530 

assessment with other classifications of property. 531 

(b) This subsection shall expire on the date specified in 532 

s. 290.016 for the expiration of the Florida Enterprise Zone 533 

Act. 534 

(2) The department may shall review the assessments of new 535 

and expanded businesses granted an exemption pursuant to s. 536 

196.1995 to ensure parity of level of assessment with other 537 

classifications of property. 538 

Section 15. Subsection (7) of section 196.031, Florida 539 

Statutes, is amended to read: 540 

196.031 Exemption of homesteads.— 541 

(7) Unless the homestead property is totally exempt from ad 542 

valorem taxation, the exemptions provided in paragraphs (1)(a) 543 

and (b) and other homestead exemptions shall be applied in the 544 

order that results in the lowest taxable value. as follows: 545 

(a) The exemption in paragraph (1)(a) shall apply to the 546 

first $25,000 of assessed value; 547 

(b) The second $25,000 of assessed value shall be taxable 548 

unless other exemptions, as listed in paragraph (d), are 549 

applicable in the order listed; 550 

(c) The additional homestead exemption in paragraph (1)(b), 551 

Florida Senate - 2012 CS for SB 1256 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

593-02240-12 20121256c1 

Page 20 of 31 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

for levies other than school district levies, shall be applied 552 

to the assessed value greater than $50,000 before any other 553 

exemptions are applied to that assessed value; and 554 

(d) Other exemptions include and shall be applied in the 555 

following order: widows, widowers, blind persons, and disabled 556 

persons, as provided in s. 196.202; disabled ex-servicemembers 557 

and surviving spouses, as provided in s. 196.24, applicable to 558 

all levies; the local option low-income senior exemption up to 559 

$50,000, applicable to county levies or municipal levies, as 560 

provided in s. 196.075; and the veterans percentage discount, as 561 

provided in s. 196.082. 562 

Section 16. Section 196.061, Florida Statutes, is amended 563 

to read: 564 

196.061 Rental of homestead to constitute abandonment.—The 565 

rental of all or substantially all of a an entire dwelling 566 

previously claimed to be a homestead for tax purposes shall 567 

constitute the abandonment of such said dwelling as a homestead, 568 

and the said abandonment shall continue until such dwelling is 569 

physically occupied by the owner thereof. However, such 570 

abandonment of such homestead after January 1 of any year does 571 

shall not affect the homestead exemption for tax purposes for 572 

that particular year if so long as this provision is not used 573 

for 2 consecutive years. The provisions of this section do shall 574 

not apply to a member of the Armed Forces of the United States 575 

whose service in such forces is the result of a mandatory 576 

obligation imposed by the federal Selective Service Act or who 577 

volunteers for service as a member of the Armed Forces of the 578 

United States. Moreover, valid military orders transferring such 579 

member are shall be sufficient to maintain permanent residence, 580 



Florida Senate - 2012 CS for SB 1256 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

593-02240-12 20121256c1 

Page 21 of 31 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

for the purpose of s. 196.015, for the member and his or her 581 

spouse. 582 

Section 17. Subsection (5) is added to section 196.081, 583 

Florida Statutes, to read: 584 

196.081 Exemption for certain permanently and totally 585 

disabled veterans and for surviving spouses of veterans.— 586 

(5) An applicant for the exemption under this section may 587 

apply for the exemption before receiving the necessary 588 

documentation from the United States Government or the United 589 

States Department of Veterans Affairs or its predecessor. Upon 590 

receipt of the documentation, the exemption shall be granted as 591 

of the date of the original application, and the excess taxes 592 

paid shall be refunded. Any refund of excess taxes paid shall be 593 

limited to those paid during the 4-year period of limitation set 594 

forth in s. 197.182(1)(e). 595 

Section 18. Subsection (6) is added to section 196.082, 596 

Florida Statutes, to read: 597 

196.082 Discounts for disabled veterans.— 598 

(6) An applicant for the discount under this section may 599 

apply for the discount before receiving the necessary 600 

documentation from the United States Department of Veterans 601 

Affairs or its predecessor. Upon receipt of the documentation, 602 

the discount shall be granted as of the date of the original 603 

application, and the excess taxes paid shall be refunded. Any 604 

refund of excess taxes paid shall be limited to those paid 605 

during the 4-year period of limitation set forth in s. 606 

197.182(1)(e). 607 

Section 19. Subsection (4) is added to section 196.091, 608 

Florida Statutes, to read: 609 

Florida Senate - 2012 CS for SB 1256 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

593-02240-12 20121256c1 

Page 22 of 31 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

196.091 Exemption for disabled veterans confined to 610 

wheelchairs.— 611 

(4) An applicant for the exemption under this section may 612 

apply for the exemption before receiving the necessary 613 

documentation from the United States Government or the United 614 

States Department of Veterans Affairs or its predecessor. Upon 615 

receipt of the documentation, the exemption shall be granted as 616 

of the date of the original application, and the excess taxes 617 

paid shall be refunded. Any refund of excess taxes paid shall be 618 

limited to those paid during the 4-year period of limitation set 619 

forth in s. 197.182(1)(e). 620 

Section 20. Subsection (8) is added to section 196.101, 621 

Florida Statutes, to read: 622 

196.101 Exemption for totally and permanently disabled 623 

persons.— 624 

(8) An applicant for the exemption under this section may 625 

apply for the exemption before receiving the necessary 626 

documentation from the United States Department of Veterans 627 

Affairs or its predecessor. Upon receipt of the documentation, 628 

the exemption shall be granted as of the date of the original 629 

application, and the excess taxes paid shall be refunded. Any 630 

refund of excess taxes paid shall be limited to those paid 631 

during the 4-year period of limitation set forth in s. 632 

197.182(1)(e). 633 

Section 21. Subsection (1) of section 196.121, Florida 634 

Statutes, is amended to read: 635 

196.121 Homestead exemptions; forms.— 636 

(1) The Department of Revenue shall provide, by electronic 637 

means or other methods designated by the department, furnish to 638 



Florida Senate - 2012 CS for SB 1256 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

593-02240-12 20121256c1 

Page 23 of 31 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

the property appraiser of each county a sufficient number of 639 

printed forms to be filed by taxpayers claiming to be entitled 640 

to a homestead said exemption and shall prescribe the content of 641 

such forms by rule. 642 

Section 22. Section 196.202, Florida Statutes, is amended 643 

to read: 644 

196.202 Property of widows, widowers, blind persons, and 645 

persons totally and permanently disabled.— 646 

(1) Property to the value of $500 of every widow, widower, 647 

blind person, or totally and permanently disabled person who is 648 

a bona fide resident of this state is shall be exempt from 649 

taxation. As used in this section, the term “totally and 650 

permanently disabled person” means a person who is currently 651 

certified by a physician licensed in this state, by the United 652 

States Department of Veterans Affairs or its predecessor, or by 653 

the Social Security Administration to be totally and permanently 654 

disabled. 655 

(2) An applicant for the exemption under this section may 656 

apply for the exemption before receiving the necessary 657 

documentation from the United States Department of Veterans 658 

Affairs or its predecessor, or the Social Security 659 

Administration. Upon receipt of the documentation, the exemption 660 

shall be granted as of the date of the original application, and 661 

the excess taxes paid shall be refunded. Any refund of excess 662 

taxes paid shall be limited to those paid during the 4-year 663 

period of limitation set forth in s. 197.182(1)(e). 664 

Section 23. Section 196.24, Florida Statutes, is amended to 665 

read: 666 

196.24 Exemption for disabled ex-servicemember or surviving 667 

Florida Senate - 2012 CS for SB 1256 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

593-02240-12 20121256c1 

Page 24 of 31 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

spouse; evidence of disability.— 668 

(1) Any ex-servicemember, as defined in s. 196.012, who is 669 

a bona fide resident of the state, who was discharged under 670 

honorable conditions, and who has been disabled to a degree of 671 

10 percent or more by misfortune or while serving during a 672 

period of wartime service as defined in s. 1.01(14), or by 673 

misfortune, is entitled to the exemption from taxation provided 674 

for in s. 3(b), Art. VII of the State Constitution as provided 675 

in this section. Property to the value of $5,000 of such a 676 

person is exempt from taxation. The production by him or her of 677 

a certificate of disability from the United States Government or 678 

the United States Department of Veterans Affairs or its 679 

predecessor before the property appraiser of the county wherein 680 

the ex-servicemember’s property lies is prima facie evidence of 681 

the fact that he or she is entitled to the exemption. The 682 

unremarried surviving spouse of such a disabled ex-servicemember 683 

who, on the date of the disabled ex-servicemember’s death, had 684 

been married to the disabled ex-servicemember for at least 5 685 

years is also entitled to the exemption. 686 

(2) An applicant for the exemption under this section may 687 

apply for the exemption before receiving the necessary 688 

documentation from the United States Government or the United 689 

States Department of Veterans Affairs or its predecessor. Upon 690 

receipt of the documentation, the exemption shall be granted as 691 

of the date of the original application, and the excess taxes 692 

paid shall be refunded. Any refund of excess taxes paid shall be 693 

limited to those paid during the 4-year period of limitation set 694 

forth in s. 197.182(1)(e). 695 

Section 24. Effective July 1, 2012, subsection (5) and 696 



Florida Senate - 2012 CS for SB 1256 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

593-02240-12 20121256c1 

Page 25 of 31 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

paragraph (a) of subsection (10) of section 200.065, Florida 697 

Statutes, are amended to read: 698 

200.065 Method of fixing millage.— 699 

(5) Beginning in the 2009-2010 fiscal year and In each 700 

fiscal year thereafter: 701 

(a) The maximum millage rate that a county, municipality, 702 

special district dependent to a county or municipality, 703 

municipal service taxing unit, or independent special district 704 

may levy is a rolled-back rate based on the amount of taxes 705 

which would have been levied in the prior year if the maximum 706 

millage rate had been applied, adjusted for change in per capita 707 

Florida personal income, unless a higher rate was is adopted, in 708 

which case the maximum is the adopted rate. The maximum millage 709 

rate applicable to a county authorized to levy a county public 710 

hospital surtax under s. 212.055 and which did so in fiscal year 711 

2007 shall exclude the revenues required to be contributed to 712 

the county public general hospital in the current fiscal year 713 

for the purposes of making the maximum millage rate calculation, 714 

but shall be added back to the maximum millage rate allowed 715 

after the roll back has been applied, the total of which shall 716 

be considered the maximum millage rate for such a county for 717 

purposes of this subsection. The revenue required to be 718 

contributed to the county public general hospital for the 719 

upcoming fiscal year shall be calculated as 11.873 percent times 720 

the millage rate levied for countywide purposes in fiscal year 721 

2007 times 95 percent of the preliminary tax roll for the 722 

upcoming fiscal year. A higher rate may be adopted only under 723 

the following conditions: 724 

1. A rate of not more than 110 percent of the rolled-back 725 

Florida Senate - 2012 CS for SB 1256 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

593-02240-12 20121256c1 

Page 26 of 31 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

rate based on the previous year’s maximum millage rate, adjusted 726 

for change in per capita Florida personal income, may be adopted 727 

if approved by a two-thirds vote of the membership of the 728 

governing body of the county, municipality, or independent 729 

district; or 730 

2. A rate in excess of 110 percent may be adopted if 731 

approved by a unanimous vote of the membership of the governing 732 

body of the county, municipality, or independent district or by 733 

a three-fourths vote of the membership of the governing body if 734 

the governing body has nine or more members, or if the rate is 735 

approved by a referendum. 736 

(b) The millage rate of a county or municipality, municipal 737 

service taxing unit of that county, and any special district 738 

dependent to that county or municipality may exceed the maximum 739 

millage rate calculated pursuant to this subsection if the total 740 

county ad valorem taxes levied or total municipal ad valorem 741 

taxes levied do not exceed the maximum total county ad valorem 742 

taxes levied or maximum total municipal ad valorem taxes levied 743 

respectively. Voted millage and taxes levied by a municipality 744 

or independent special district that has levied ad valorem taxes 745 

for less than 5 years are not subject to this limitation. The 746 

millage rate of a county authorized to levy a county public 747 

hospital surtax under s. 212.055 may exceed the maximum millage 748 

rate calculated pursuant to this subsection to the extent 749 

necessary to account for the revenues required to be contributed 750 

to the county public hospital. Total taxes levied may exceed the 751 

maximum calculated pursuant to subsection (6) as a result of an 752 

increase in taxable value above that certified in subsection (1) 753 

if such increase is less than the percentage amounts contained 754 



Florida Senate - 2012 CS for SB 1256 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

593-02240-12 20121256c1 

Page 27 of 31 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

in subsection (6) or if the administrative adjustment cannot be 755 

made because the value adjustment board is still in session at 756 

the time the tax roll is extended; otherwise, millage rates 757 

subject to this subsection, s. 200.185, or s. 200.186 may be 758 

reduced so that total taxes levied do not exceed the maximum. 759 

 760 

Any unit of government operating under a home rule charter 761 

adopted pursuant to ss. 10, 11, and 24, Art. VIII of the State 762 

Constitution of 1885, as preserved by s. 6(e), Art. VIII of the 763 

State Constitution of 1968, which is granted the authority in 764 

the State Constitution to exercise all the powers conferred now 765 

or hereafter by general law upon municipalities and which 766 

exercises such powers in the unincorporated area shall be 767 

recognized as a municipality under this subsection. For a 768 

downtown development authority established before the effective 769 

date of the 1968 State Constitution which has a millage that 770 

must be approved by a municipality, the governing body of that 771 

municipality shall be considered the governing body of the 772 

downtown development authority for purposes of this subsection. 773 

(10)(a) In addition to the notice required in subsection 774 

(3), a district school board shall publish a second notice of 775 

intent to levy additional taxes under s. 1011.71(2) or (3). The 776 

Such notice shall specify the projects or number of school buses 777 

anticipated to be funded by the such additional taxes and shall 778 

be published in the size, within the time periods, adjacent to, 779 

and in substantial conformity with the advertisement required 780 

under subsection (3). The projects shall be listed in priority 781 

within each category as follows: construction and remodeling; 782 

maintenance, renovation, and repair; motor vehicle purchases; 783 

Florida Senate - 2012 CS for SB 1256 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

593-02240-12 20121256c1 

Page 28 of 31 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

new and replacement equipment; payments for educational 784 

facilities and sites due under a lease-purchase agreement; 785 

payments for renting and leasing educational facilities and 786 

sites; payments of loans approved pursuant to ss. 1011.14 and 787 

1011.15; payment of costs of compliance with environmental 788 

statutes and regulations; payment of premiums for property and 789 

casualty insurance necessary to insure the educational and 790 

ancillary plants of the school district; payment of costs of 791 

leasing relocatable educational facilities; and payments to 792 

private entities to offset the cost of school buses pursuant to 793 

s. 1011.71(2)(i). The additional notice shall be in the 794 

following form, except that if the district school board is 795 

proposing to levy the same millage under s. 1011.71(2) or (3) 796 

which it levied in the prior year, the words “continue to” shall 797 

be inserted before the word “impose” in the first sentence, and 798 

except that the second sentence of the second paragraph shall be 799 

deleted if the district is advertising pursuant to paragraph 800 

(3)(e): 801 

 802 

NOTICE OF TAX FOR SCHOOL 803 

CAPITAL OUTLAY 804 

 805 

The ...(name of school district)... will soon consider a 806 

measure to impose a ...(number)... mill property tax for the 807 

capital outlay projects listed herein. 808 

This tax is in addition to the school board’s proposed tax 809 

of ...(number)... mills for operating expenses and is proposed 810 

solely at the discretion of the school board. THE PROPOSED 811 

COMBINED SCHOOL BOARD TAX INCREASE FOR BOTH OPERATING EXPENSES 812 



Florida Senate - 2012 CS for SB 1256 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

593-02240-12 20121256c1 

Page 29 of 31 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

AND CAPITAL OUTLAY IS SHOWN IN THE ADJACENT NOTICE. 813 

The capital outlay tax will generate approximately 814 

$...(amount)..., to be used for the following projects: 815 

 816 

...(list of capital outlay projects)... 817 

 818 

All concerned citizens are invited to a public hearing to 819 

be held on ...(date and time)... at ...(meeting place).... 820 

A DECISION on the proposed CAPITAL OUTLAY TAXES will be 821 

made at this hearing. 822 

Section 25. Effective July 1, 2012, subsection (2) of 823 

section 218.12, Florida Statutes, is amended to read: 824 

218.12 Appropriations to offset reductions in ad valorem 825 

tax revenue in fiscally constrained counties.— 826 

(2) On or before November 15 of each year, beginning in 827 

2008, each fiscally constrained county shall apply to the 828 

Department of Revenue to participate in the distribution of the 829 

appropriation and provide documentation supporting the county’s 830 

estimated reduction in ad valorem tax revenue in the form and 831 

manner prescribed by the Department of Revenue. The 832 

documentation must include an estimate of the reduction in 833 

taxable value directly attributable to revisions of Art. VII of 834 

the State Constitution for all county taxing jurisdictions 835 

within the county and shall be prepared by the property 836 

appraiser in each fiscally constrained county. The documentation 837 

must also include the county millage rates applicable in all 838 

such jurisdictions for both the current year and the prior year; 839 

rolled-back rates, determined as provided in s. 200.065, for 840 

each county taxing jurisdiction; and maximum millage rates that 841 

Florida Senate - 2012 CS for SB 1256 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

593-02240-12 20121256c1 

Page 30 of 31 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

could have been levied by majority vote pursuant to s. 842 

200.065(5) s. 200.185. For purposes of this section, each 843 

fiscally constrained county’s reduction in ad valorem tax 844 

revenue shall be calculated as 95 percent of the estimated 845 

reduction in taxable value times the lesser of the 2007 846 

applicable millage rate or the applicable millage rate for each 847 

county taxing jurisdiction in the current prior year. If a 848 

fiscally constrained county fails to apply for the distribution, 849 

its share shall revert to the fund from which the appropriation 850 

was made. 851 

Section 26. Effective July 1, 2012, subsection (2) of 852 

section 218.125, Florida Statutes, is amended to read: 853 

218.125 Offset for tax loss associated with certain 854 

constitutional amendments affecting fiscally constrained 855 

counties.— 856 

(2) On or before November 15 of each year, beginning in 857 

2010, each fiscally constrained county shall apply to the 858 

Department of Revenue to participate in the distribution of the 859 

appropriation and provide documentation supporting the county’s 860 

estimated reduction in ad valorem tax revenue in the form and 861 

manner prescribed by the Department of Revenue. The 862 

documentation must include an estimate of the reduction in 863 

taxable value directly attributable to revisions of Art. VII of 864 

the State Constitution for all county taxing jurisdictions 865 

within the county and shall be prepared by the property 866 

appraiser in each fiscally constrained county. The documentation 867 

must also include the county millage rates applicable in all 868 

such jurisdictions for the current year and the prior year, 869 

rolled-back rates determined as provided in s. 200.065 for each 870 



Florida Senate - 2012 CS for SB 1256 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

593-02240-12 20121256c1 

Page 31 of 31 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

county taxing jurisdiction, and maximum millage rates that could 871 

have been levied by majority vote pursuant to s. 200.065(5) 872 

200.185. For purposes of this section, each fiscally constrained 873 

county’s reduction in ad valorem tax revenue shall be calculated 874 

as 95 percent of the estimated reduction in taxable value 875 

multiplied by the lesser of the 2010 applicable millage rate or 876 

the applicable millage rate for each county taxing jurisdiction 877 

in the current prior year. If a fiscally constrained county 878 

fails to apply for the distribution, its share shall revert to 879 

the fund from which the appropriation was made. 880 

Section 27. Except as otherwise expressly provided in this 881 

act, this act shall take effect upon becoming a law. 882 



The Florida Senate 

BILL ANALYSIS AND FISCAL IMPACT STATEMENT 
(This document is based on the provisions contained in the legislation as of the latest date listed below.) 

Prepared By: The Professional Staff of the Budget Committee 

 

BILL:  CS/CS/CS/SB 202 

INTRODUCER:  Budget Committee; Budget Subcommittee on Criminal and Civil Justice Appropriations; 

Children, Families, and Elder Affairs Committee; and Senator Flores 

SUBJECT:  Sexual Exploitation 

DATE:  March 3, 2012 

 

 ANALYST  STAFF DIRECTOR  REFERENCE  ACTION 

1. Preston  Farmer  CF  Fav/CS 

2. Sneed  Sadberry  BJA  Fav/CS 

3. Sneed  Rhodes  BC  Fav/CS 

4.        

5.        

6.        

 

Please see Section VIII. for Additional Information: 

A. COMMITTEE SUBSTITUTE..... X Statement of Substantial Changes 

 B. AMENDMENTS........................  Technical amendments were recommended 

   Amendments were recommended 

   Significant amendments were recommended 

 

I. Summary: 

The bill creates the ―Florida Safe Harbor Act‖ intended to provide a more coordinated response 

to address the child welfare service needs of sexually exploited children who are dependent. 

Specifically, the bill: 

 

 Provides legislative findings and intent and establishes legislative goals relating to the status 

and treatment of sexually exploited children in the dependency system; 

 Amends the definitions of the terms ―child who is found to be dependent‖ and ―sexual abuse 

of a child‖ to reference sexual exploitation;  

 Requires a law enforcement officer who takes a child alleged to be dependent for whom there 

is also probable cause to believe that he or she has been sexually exploited into custody to 

deliver the child to the department; 

 Provides a process for the assessment and placement of sexually exploited children in a safe 

house, if available; provides for placement updates to the court during judicial review 

hearings; and, provides for data collection relating to these placements by the Department of 

Children and Family Services (DCF or department); 

REVISED:         



BILL: CS/CS/CS/SB 202   Page 2 

 

 Provides a definition for the terms: ―child advocate,‖ ―safe house,‖ ‖secure,‖ ―sexually 

exploited child‖ and ―short-term safe house;‖ 

 Provides for services for sexually exploited children residing in a safe house; 

 Provides that training for law enforcement officers who might encounter sexually exploited 

children is permissive;  

 Increases the civil penalty for crimes related to prostitution from $500 to $5,000 and provides 

for the increase to be paid to the department to be used to fund safe houses and short-term 

safe houses; and, 

 Provides that a victim of child sexual exploitation shall not be ineligible for victim 

compensation.  

 

This bill substantially amends ss. 39.001, 39.01, 39.401, 796.07, 960.065, and 985.115 and 

creates ss. 39.524 and 409.1678 of the Florida Statutes. 

II. Present Situation: 

Background 

The United Nations defines human trafficking as the recruitment, transportation, transfer, 

harboring, or receipt of persons by improper means such as force, abduction, fraud, or coercion 

for an improper purpose including forced labor or sexual exploitation. The U.S. Government 

defines severe forms of human trafficking as: 

 

 Sex trafficking in which a commercial sex act is induced by force, fraud, or coercion, or in 

which the person induced to perform such act has not attained 18 years of age; or 

 The recruitment, harboring, transportation, provision, or obtaining of a person for labor or 

services, through the use of force, fraud, or coercion for the purpose of subjection to 

involuntary servitude, peonage, debt bondage, or slavery.
1
 

 

A victim need not be physically transported from one location to another in order for the crime to 

fall within these definitions. 

 

While the annual Trafficking in Persons report addresses three main types of exploitation of 

children,
2 

the National Center for Missing and Exploited Children states that there are many 

types of sexual exploitation involving children, including: 

 

 Possession, manufacture, and distribution of child pornography;  

 Child prostitution;  

 Sex tourism involving children;  

 Extra-familial child sexual molestation;  

 Online enticement of children for sexual acts;  

 Unsolicited obscene material sent to a child; 

 Misleading domain names; and,  

                                                 
1
 Trafficking Victims Protection Act of 2000, Public Law No. 106-386. 

2
 Those include child sex trafficking, forced child labor and child soldiers. U.S. Department of State, Trafficking in Persons 

Report 2011. Retrieved December 2, 2011, from http://www.state.gov/g/tip/rls/tiprpt/2011/.  



BILL: CS/CS/CS/SB 202   Page 3 

 

 Misleading words or digital images on the internet.
3
 

 

The United States not only faces an influx of international victims of sex trafficking, but also has 

its own problem of interstate sex trafficking of minors. While comprehensive research to 

document the number of children engaged in prostitution in the United States is lacking, it is 

estimated that about 293,000 American youth are currently at risk of becoming victims of 

commercial sexual exploitation.
4
 The majority of American victims of commercial sexual 

exploitation tend to be runaway or thrown away youth who live on the streets and become 

victims of prostitution.
5
 These children generally come from homes where they have been 

abused, or from families which have abandoned them, and often become involved in prostitution 

as a way to support themselves financially or to get the things they want or need.
6
  

 

Other young people are recruited into prostitution through forced abduction, pressure from 

parents, or through deceptive agreements between parents and traffickers.
7
 Once these children 

become involved in prostitution, they are often forced to travel far from their homes and as a 

result are isolated from their friends and family.
8
 Few children in this situation are able to 

develop new relationships with peers or adults other than the person who is victimizing them.
9
 

The lifestyle of such children revolves around violence, forced drug use and constant threats.
10

  

 

Among children and teens living on the streets in the United States, involvement in commercial 

sex activity is a problem of epidemic proportion. Approximately 55% of street girls engage in 

formal prostitution.
11

 Of the girls engaged in formal prostitution, about 75% worked for a pimp. 

Pimp-controlled commercial sexual exploitation of children is linked to escort and massage 

services, private dancing, drinking and photographic clubs, major sporting and recreational 

events, major cultural events, conventions, and tourist destinations.
12

 About one-fifth of these 

children become entangled in nationally organized crime networks and are trafficked nationally. 

They are transported around the United States by a variety of means – cars, buses, vans, trucks or 

planes, and are often provided counterfeit identification to use in the event of arrest.
13

 The 

average age at which girls first become victims of prostitution is 12-14. It is not only the girls on 

                                                 
3
 National Center for Missing and Exploited Children. Exploited Children Division. Retrieved December 2, 2011, from 

http://www.missingkids.com/missingkids/servlet/PageServlet?LanguageCountry=en_US&PageId=218. 
4
 Estes, R.J. and Weiner, N.A. Commercial Sexual Exploitation of Children in the U.S, Canada and Mexico, University of 

Pennsylvania, 2002. Retrieved December 2, 2011 from 

http://www.sp2.upenn.edu/restes/CSEC_Files/Exec_Sum_020220.pdf.  
5
 Id. 

6
 Id. 

7
 U.S. Department of Justice, Child Exploitation and Obscenity Section. Domestic Sex Trafficking of Minors. Retrieved 

December 3, 2011 from http://www.justice.gov/criminal/ceos/prostitution.html. Also see Miko, F.T. Trafficking in Women 

and Children: The U.S. and International Response, (Updated July 7, 2006). Retrieved December 3, 2011, from 

http://www.usembassy.it/pdf/other/RL30545.pdf. . 
8
 Id. 

9
 Id. 

10
 Id. 

11
 Estes, R.J. and Weiner, N.A. Commercial Sexual Exploitation of Children in the U.S, Canada and Mexico, University of 

Pennsylvania, 2002. Retrieved December 2, 2011 from 

http://www.sp2.upenn.edu/restes/CSEC_Files/Exec_Sum_020220.pdf.  
12

 Id. 
13

 Id. 



BILL: CS/CS/CS/SB 202   Page 4 

 

the streets that are affected. For boys and transgender youth, the average age of entry into 

prostitution is 11-13.
14

  

 

National Center for Missing and Exploited Children 

The National Center for Missing & Exploited Children (NCMEC) was started in 1984 as a not-

for-profit corporation, mandated by Congress and working in partnership with the U.S. 

Department of Justice to serve as the national resource center and clearinghouse on missing and 

exploited children. NCMEC operates the national missing children’s hotline, which has handled 

more than 2.4 million calls for service. NCMEC also operates the Congressionally-mandated 

CyberTipline, the ―911 for the Internet,‖ which has handled more than 793,900 reports of child 

sexual exploitation, and operates the Child Victim Identification Program, which has reviewed 

more than 31 million child pornography images and videos in order to identify and rescue child 

victims, and has disseminated more than 22,000 reports to prosecutors in support of their cases 

against child sexual predators. With regard to child prostitution and trafficking specifically, the 

center has received 8,408 leads and reports from the public through the CyberTipline, including 

1,703 reports of known missing children being prostituted.
15

 

 

In June 2003, the FBI in conjunction with the Department of Justice’s Child Exploitation and 

Obscenity Section and NCMEC launched the Innocence Lost National Initiative. Combined 

efforts were aimed at addressing the growing problem of domestic sex trafficking of children in 

the U. S. In the seven years since its inception, the initiative has resulted in the development of 

39 dedicated task forces and working groups throughout the U.S. involving federal, state and 

local law enforcement agencies working in tandem with U.S. Attorney's Offices.
16

 

 

To date, these groups have worked successfully to rescue nearly 1,200 children. Investigations 

have successfully led to the conviction of more than 600 pimps, madams, and their associates 

who exploit children through prostitution. These convictions have resulted in lengthy sentences 

including multiple 25-year-to-life sentences and the seizure of real property, vehicles, and 

monetary assets.
17

 

 

Federal Law 

In October 2000, the Victims of Trafficking and Violence Protection Act of 2000 (VTVPA)
18 

made human trafficking a federal crime and made certain victims of a severe form of human 

trafficking
19

 eligible for federally funded or administered benefits and services to the same extent 

as refugees. Prior to that, no comprehensive federal law existed to protect victims of trafficking 

or to prosecute their traffickers. The VTVPA was reauthorized and amended in 2003.
20 

Effective 

                                                 
14

 Id. 
15

 Statement Of Ernie Allen, President & CEO, The National Center For Missing & Exploited Children, to the 

Congressional Human Trafficking Caucus. Child Sex Trafficking in America. February 18, 2010 
16

 Federal Bureau of Investigation. Innocence Lost National Initiative, Retrieved December 3, 2011, from 

http://www.fbi.gov/about-us/investigate/vc_majorthefts/cac/innocencelost.  
17

 Id. 
18

 Victims of Trafficking and Violence Protection Act of 2000. Public Law No. 106-386. 
19

 Id. 
20

 Trafficking Victims Protection Reauthorization Act of 2003. Public Law No. 108-193. 



BILL: CS/CS/CS/SB 202   Page 5 

 

December 2003, the act extended the eligibility for federally-funded or administered benefits and 

services to certain family members of victims. 

To be eligible for benefits and services, an individual must be certified as a victim of a severe 

form of human trafficking. The U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Administration 

for Children & Families (ACF), Office of Refugee Resettlement (ORR) is the federal agency 

responsible for certifying trafficking victims. To receive certification, victims of trafficking must 

be willing to assist with the investigation and prosecution of traffickers. In addition, they must 

have completed a bona fide application for a T-Visa or they must have been granted continued 

presence status by U.S. Citizenship and Immigration Services for the purpose of contributing to 

the prosecution of the traffickers.
21

 

 

Children under 18 years of age who have been subjected to a severe form of trafficking do not 

need to be certified to receive benefits; ORR will issue a letter declaring them victims of a severe 

form of trafficking. The ORR provides information to state and local governments and service 

providers on the requirements for certification, the documents that victims of severe forms of 

trafficking are issued, and, the procedures agencies should follow in confirming eligibility for 

benefits.
22

 

 

Florida Law 

Criminal Law 

Florida law defines ―prostitution‖ as the giving or receiving of the body for sexual activity for 

hire but, excludes sexual activity between spouses.
23

 Current law also provides that: 

 

 Any parent, legal guardian, or other person having custody or control of a minor who sells or 

otherwise transfers custody or control of such minor, or offers to sell or otherwise transfer 

custody of such minor, with knowledge that, as a consequence of the sale or transfer, the 

minor will engage in prostitution, perform naked for compensation, or otherwise participate 

in the trade of sex trafficking, commits a felony of the first degree.
24

 

 Any person who knowingly recruits, entices, harbors, transports, provides, or obtains by any 

means a person, knowing that force, fraud, or coercion will be used to cause that person to 

engage in prostitution, commits the offense of sex trafficking, a felony of the second degree. 

A person commits a felony of the first degree if the offense of sex trafficking is committed 

against a person who is under the age of 14 or if such offense results in death.
25

 

 

In addition, there are a number of provisions in current law relating to penalties for crimes 

involving sexually related crimes and children, including, but not limited to: 

 

                                                 
21

 U.S. Department of Health and Human Services. Administration for Children and Families. Certification for Victims of 

Trafficking. Retrieved December 3, 2011 from http://www.acf.hhs.gov/trafficking/about/cert_victims.pdf.  
22

 Id. 
23

 s. 796.07, F.S. 
24

 s. 796.035, F.S. 
25

 s. 796.045, F.S. 



BILL: CS/CS/CS/SB 202   Page 6 

 

 It is a second degree felony to procure a minor for prostitution or cause the minor to be 

prostituted;
26

 

 It is a first degree misdemeanor to commit any act which causes, tends to cause, encourages, 

or contributes to a child becoming a delinquent or dependent child or a child in need of 

services; or induces or endeavors to induce, by act, threat, command, or persuasion, a child to 

commit or perform any act, follow any course of conduct, or live in a manner that causes or 

tends to cause such child to become or to remain a dependent or delinquent child or a child in 

need of services;
27

 

 It is a second degree felony for any person who, knowing the character and content thereof, 

employs, authorizes, or induces a minor to engage in a sexual performance or, being a parent, 

legal guardian, or custodian of such child, consents to the participation by such child in a 

sexual performance. It is also a second degree felony for any person who, knowing the 

character and content thereof, to produce, direct, or promote any performance which includes 

sexual conduct by a child less than 18 years of age;
28

 
 It is first degree felony for any parent, legal guardian, or other person having custody or 

control of a minor who sells or otherwise transfers custody or control of the minor, or offers 

to sell or otherwise transfer custody of the minor, either: (1)with knowledge that, as a 

consequence of the sale or transfer, the minor will be portrayed in a visual depiction 

engaging in, or assisting another person to engage in, sexually explicit conduct; or (2) with 

intent to promote either the engaging in of sexually explicit conduct by such minor for the 

purpose of producing any visual depiction of such conduct or the rendering of assistance by 

the minor to any other person to engage in sexually explicit conduct for the purpose of 

producing any visual depiction of such conduct; and, 
29 

 A person who encourages, forces, or entices any person less than 16 years of age to engage in 

sadomasochistic abuse, sexual bestiality, prostitution, or any other act involving sexual 

activity commits a second degree felony. 
30

 

 

Children 

Dependent Child 

The purposes of Chapter 39, F.S., proceedings relating to children, include, but are not limited 

to: 

 

 Providing for the care, safety, and protection of children in an environment that fosters 

healthy social, emotional, intellectual, and physical development; to ensure secure and safe 

custody; to promote the health and well-being of all children under the state's care; and to 

prevent the occurrence of child abuse, neglect, and abandonment; 

 Preserving and strengthening the child's family ties whenever possible, removing the child 

from parental custody only when his or her welfare cannot be adequately safeguarded 

without such removal; and,  

                                                 
26

 s. 796.03, F.S. 
27

 s. 827.04, F.S. 
28

 s. 827.071, F.S. 
29

 s. 847.0145, F.S. 
30

 s. 800.04, F.S. 



BILL: CS/CS/CS/SB 202   Page 7 

 

 Securing for the child, when removal of the child from his or her own family is necessary, 

custody, care, and discipline as nearly as possible equivalent to that which should have been 

given by the parents; and to ensure, in all cases in which a child must be removed from 

parental custody, that the child is placed in an approved relative home, licensed foster home, 

adoptive home, or independent living program that provides the most stable and potentially 

permanent living arrangement for the child, as determined by the court. All placements shall 

be in a safe environment where drugs and alcohol are not abused. 
31

 

 

Florida law defines a ―child who is found to be dependent" as a child who is found by the court:  

 

 To have been abandoned, abused, or neglected by the child's parent or parents or legal 

custodians;  

 To have been surrendered to the department, the former HRS, or a licensed child-placing 

agency for purpose of adoption;  

 To have been voluntarily placed with a licensed child-caring agency, a licensed child-placing 

agency, an adult relative, the department, or the former HRS, after which placement, under 

the requirements of this chapter, a case plan has expired and the parent or parents or legal 

custodians have failed to substantially comply with the requirements of the plan;  

 To have been voluntarily placed with a licensed child-placing agency for the purposes of 

subsequent adoption, and a parent or parents have signed a consent pursuant to the Florida 

Rules of Juvenile Procedure;  

 To have no parent or legal custodians capable of providing supervision and care; or  

 To be at substantial risk of imminent abuse, abandonment, or neglect by the parent or parents 

or legal custodians.
32

 

 

In addition, current Florida law addresses the needs of immigrant children who may be eligible 

for special immigrant juvenile status under federal law and who are defined as a child who:  

 

 Has been found dependent based on allegations of abuse, neglect, or abandonment;  

 Is eligible for long-term foster care;  

 Will have his or her best interest served by remaining in the United States; and,  

 Remains under the jurisdiction of the juvenile court.
33

 

  

Child in Need of Services (CINS) 

Current Florida law defines a "child in need of services" as a child for whom there is no pending 

investigation into an allegation or suspicion of abuse, neglect, or abandonment; no pending 

referral alleging the child is delinquent; or no current supervision by the Department of Juvenile 

Justice (DJJ) or the DCF for an adjudication of dependency or delinquency. The child must also, 

under this chapter, be found by the court:  

 

 To have persistently run away from the child's parents or legal custodians despite reasonable 

efforts of the child, the parents or legal custodians, and appropriate agencies to remedy the 

                                                 
31

 s. 39.001, F.S. 
32

 s. 39.01(15), F.S. 
33

 s. 39.5075, F.S. 



BILL: CS/CS/CS/SB 202   Page 8 

 

conditions contributing to the behavior. Reasonable efforts shall include voluntary 

participation by the child's parents or legal custodians and the child in family mediation, 

services, and treatment offered by DJJ or DCF;  

 To be habitually truant from school, while subject to compulsory school attendance, despite 

reasonable efforts to remedy the situation under ss. 1003.26 and 1003.27, F.S., and through 

voluntary participation by the child's parents or legal custodians and by the child in family 

mediation, services, and treatment offered by DJJ or DCF; or  

 To have persistently disobeyed the reasonable and lawful demands of the child's parents or 

legal custodians, and to be beyond their control despite efforts by the child's parents or legal 

custodians and appropriate agencies to remedy the conditions contributing to the behavior. 

Reasonable efforts may include such things as good faith participation in family or individual 

counseling.
34

 

 

Delinquent Child 

Current Florida law defines a ―child who has been found to have committed a delinquent act‖ as 

a child who is found by a court to have committed a violation of law or to be in contempt of 

court, except that this does not include an act constituting contempt of court arising out of a 

dependency proceeding or a proceeding concerning a child or family in need of services.
35

 

 

Current Placement Options in Florida  

Foster Care – The department licenses family foster homes to be used as placements for children 

who have been adjudicated dependent and cannot safely remain in their own homes. These are 

private residences in which children are provided 24-hour care. Such homes include emergency 

shelter family homes and specialized foster homes for children with special needs.
36 

 

 

Group Homes and Shelters – The department also licenses residential child-caring agencies to be 

used as placements for dependent children. These placements provide staffed 24-hour care and 

include, but are not limited to, maternity homes, runaway shelters, group homes that are 

administered by an agency, emergency shelters that are not in private residences, and wilderness 

camps. Residential child-caring agencies do not include facilities operated by a governmental 

agency for the training, treatment, or secure care of delinquent youth.
37

 

  

State Inpatient Psychiatric Placement (SIPP) – SIPP services are provided to children under 18 

years of age in an intensive residential setting and include: crisis intervention; bio-social and or 

psychiatric evaluation; close monitoring by staff; medication management; individual, family, 

and group therapy; and connection to community based services. These services are expected to 

be relatively short termed (less than six-months). Children must have a Diagnostic and Statistical 

Manual of Mental Disorders-IV (DSM-IV) diagnosis other than substance abuse, developmental 

                                                 
34

 ss. 984.03(9) and 985.03(7), F.S. 
35

 ss. 984.03(11) and 985.03(8), F.S. 
36

 s. 409.175(2)(e), F.S. 
37

 s. 409.175(2)(j), F.S. 



BILL: CS/CS/CS/SB 202   Page 9 

 

disability, or autism. The youth must be expected to benefit from residential treatment and a less 

restrictive setting is not available.
38

 

 

Children In Need of Services /Families in Need of Services (CINS/FINS) -CINS/FINS services 

are available for children and families for which services are needed but are not part of the 

formal delinquency or dependency systems. Currently DJJ has contracts for 28 youth shelters 

statewide. These shelter services are intended to be short-term, are primarily voluntary and 

include meeting the basic needs of the child and providing services, such as case management, 

and counseling. The purpose and function of the shelter is to provide respite from volatile family 

situations, to offer a safe place for children on the street and to work with the family for the 

child's safe return and improve family relationships. As a result of CINS petitions, the court may 

order the child to a longer stay in shelter-up to 120 days. There are 10 longer stay placements 

available statewide, one bed in each of 10 shelters, that have an additional youth care worker 

who provides one-to-one assistance and focus on the child's case plan. More intensive case 

management and counseling also occurs. These 10 placements are staff secure placements.
39

,
40

 

 

Children who have been adjudicated dependent are not eligible for CINS/FINS services, 

therefore children in foster care would not be eligible for these services.
41

  

 

Physically Secure Placements - These placements are provided through independent rate 

agreements with adolescent/child mental health treatment facilities. However, in recent years, 

funding to this service has been dramatically reduced, resulting in fewer than 10 children served 

per year, with no room currently to house additional children. In Florida, dependent children 

cannot be sheltered within a physically secure settings either long or short term.
42

 

  

Criminal Justice Placement Options – The Department of Juvenile Justice maintains detention 

centers which are facilities used for the placement of children pending court adjudication or 

disposition or execution of court order for the temporary care of a child alleged or found to have 

committed a violation of law. A detention center or facility may provide secure or nonsecure 

custody.
43

 Facilities are also available for the commitment of adjudicated delinquents and range 

from low-risk to maximum risk residential placements.
44

  

 

                                                 
38

 Advocacy Center for Persons with Disabilities, Florida's Youth Inpatient Psychiatric Program. Retrieved December 3, 

2011, from 

http://advocacycenter.org/resources/disability_topic_info/category/floridas_youth_inpatient_psychiatric_program/. Florida 

currently has 15 SIPP programs. 
39

 ss. 984.225 and 984.226, F.S.
 

40
 Department of Children and Families Staff Analysis and Economic Impact, SB 202. September 15, 2011. 

41
 Id. 

42
 Id. 

43
 s. 985.03(19), F.S. 

44
 s. 985.03(45), F.S. 



BILL: CS/CS/CS/SB 202   Page 10 

 

Other States 

Community-based initiatives 

The Prosecution Model 

Las Vegas, Nevada has one of the highest rates of teen prostitution in the U.S.,
45

 and police 

arrest and detain hundreds of children on prostitution charges each year. In Las Vegas, arrest and 

detention are the primary means for linking prostituted girls to services and getting their pimps 

off the streets.
46

 While prostitution is a misdemeanor in Nevada
47 

and youths picked up for 

misdemeanors are not usually held in detention, juvenile justice officials believe that the practice 

of detaining child prostitutes is necessary to protect the girls from the dangers of the streets and 

to obtain information that will lead to the arrest of their pimps.
48

 

 

In 1994, in collaboration with both governmental and nonprofit social service organizations, the 

Las Vegas Metropolitan Police Department started a program known as S.T.O.P. (Stop Turning 

Out Child Prostitutes) for the purposes of identifying, locating, arresting and prosecuting any 

individual responsible for pandering a child and to remove the child victim from the life of 

prostitution and provide them with an avenue to a successful life.
49

  

 

 In Las Vegas, children involved in prostitution are picked up by police and charged with 

prostitution or status offenses. A special unit of vice officers who work for the S.T.O.P. 

program interview every child who is suspected of being involved in prostitution within a 

half-hour of the time the child is booked into detention to assess whether the child is a victim 

of commercial sexual exploitation. Vice officers have long had an agreement with the 

detention center to automatically detain juveniles arrested for prostitution on a ―vice hold.‖  

 If a child is willing to leave the streets and cooperate in the prosecution of her pimp, the 

charge of prostitution is usually dropped and she is released from detention to a specialized 

program for victims of commercial sexual exploitation, such as Children of the Night
50

 

located in California. 

                                                 
45

 Las Vegas Review-Journal. Juvenile Prostitution: Trafficking in children on increase; Las Vegas among 14 U.S. cities 

where problem is most severe. March 19, 2006. Retrieved December 3, 2011, from 

http://www.reviewjournal.com/lvrj_home/2006/Mar-19-Sun-2006/news/6434154.html.  
46

 The Barton Child Law and Policy Clinic, Emory University School of Law, Commercial Exploitation of Children in 

Georgia: Service delivery and legislative recommendations for state and local policy makers. January 2008. Retrieved 

December 3, 2011, from http://bartoncenter.net/uploads/fall2011updates/status_other/CSEC-recs-for-policy-makers.pdf.  
47

 Nev. Rev Stat. s. 201.354 (2009). 
48

 The Barton Child Law and Policy Clinic. Emory University School of Law, Commercial Exploitation of Children in 

Georgia: Service delivery and legislative recommendations for state and local policy makers. January 2008. Retrieved 

December 3, 2011, from http://bartoncenter.net/uploads/fall2011updates/status_other/CSEC-recs-for-policy-makers.pdf.  
49

 Id. It is unclear whether this program is still in existence. 
50

 Children of the Night (COTN) is the oldest and appears to be one of the most influential treatment programs in the nation 

that works with children who are victims of prostitution. It is a private, non-profit program for children between the ages of 

11 and 17 that receives referrals from governmental and non-governmental agencies across the country and only accepts 

those children whom it believes are willing to leave prostitution and participate in long-term, comprehensive treatment. 

COTN provides services that help children testify in cases against their pimps, as well as services that help them recover 

from commercial sexual exploitation. COTN’s treatment services are extensive and the secure residence is a comfortable, 

homelike environment with 24 beds. Upon arrival, children receive fresh clothing and hygiene kits and are assigned to a 

bedroom with bath. They meet with a caseworker to develop an individual life plan. The caseworker coordinates medical 



BILL: CS/CS/CS/SB 202   Page 11 

 

Pros and Cons of the Prosecution Model 

Proponents of the prosecution model argue that, while it is not ideal to prosecute young girls who 

have been victimized by pimps, the ability to prosecute the girls is an essential tool in the fight 

against child prostitution. First, they believe arrest and detention is necessary to force prostituted 

children off the streets and link them to services. Second, they believe that the threat of 

prosecution, coupled with arrest and detention, is the only way to get most girls to cooperate in 

investigations of the pimps.
51

 

 

Opponents believe that detention sends the message that the girls are criminals deserving of 

punishment, rather than victims of sexual exploitation in need of help, and that the increase in the 

use of detention for girls over the past decade has magnified longstanding problems within 

detention systems:
52

 

 

The underlying assumptions of the prosecution model—that detention 

is helpful in keeping girls safe, providing services, and prosecuting 

pimps—remain unproven. While advocates of the prosecution model 

argue that detention increases the likelihood that girls will leave the 

streets and accept long-term treatment, independent, objective 

verification of this claim is needed. Additional research is also needed 

to determine whether girls are truly more likely to cooperate in the 

prosecution of their pimps when they are criminally charged than 

when they are not. Finally, by focusing on prostituted children who are 

arrested and detained, the prosecution model may allow children 

outside the juvenile justice system to fall through the cracks. At-risk 

children, as well as children who are already involved in prostitution, 

but have escaped arrest, may not receive the services they need. 

Youth-serving agencies that have contact with these children may be 

reluctant to identify them out of fear of subjecting the children to 

prosecution. Thus, even though the prosecution model allows 

authorities to force children off the streets who would not leave 

                                                                                                                                                                         
care, psychological care, academic assessments and other social services that the child needs. The children follow a highly 

structured program that includes attending an on-site school, where they study individually-tailored curricula that help them 

reach appropriate grade levels in all subjects before they leave COTN. They attend independent living classes, 12-step 

substance abuse meetings, and AIDS education classes, as well as craft and poetry workshops, yoga classes and varied 

sporting and recreational activities.  

Because COTN is a purely voluntary, private program, a child may stay at the home for as long as she needs. Many opt to 

stay for a year for optimum treatment. Once she turns eighteen, the youth can receive assistance in leasing apartments, getting 

into college or trade school, or securing jobs. All those who leave COTN are considered ―alumni‖ and can re-contact the 

group for services, such as free books and school supplies while they are in college, job recommendations, or crisis 

intervention. Children of the Night has existed since its inception through the sole support of private contributions from 

individuals, corporations, and foundations and runs on an annual budget of $2 M. Retrieved December 3, 2011, from 

http://www.childrenofthenight.org/index.html.  
51

 The Barton Child Law and Policy Clinic, Emory University School of Law, Commercial Exploitation of Children in 

Georgia: Service delivery and legislative recommendations for state and local policy makers. January 2008. Retrieved 

December 3, 2011, from http://bartoncenter.net/uploads/fall2011updates/status_other/CSEC-recs-for-policy-makers.pdf.  
52

 Francine T. Sherman, Annie E. Casey Foundation, Detention Reform and Girls, 13 Pathways To Juvenile Detention 

Reform, p. 10 (2005). Retrieved December 3, 2011, from 

http://www.aecf.org/upload/publicationfiles/jdai_pathways_girls.pdf.  



BILL: CS/CS/CS/SB 202   Page 12 

 

otherwise, a lack of inter-agency collaboration might actually result in 

fewer, rather than more, children being served.
53

 

 

The Child Abuse Model 

In Boston, Massachusetts, children involved in prostitution are now being treated as victims of 

child abuse, rather than as perpetrators of a crime. Although prostitution by a child is still a crime 

in Massachusetts,
54

 instead of pursuing prosecutions of these children, the District Attorney’s 

Office is now working with more than 30 community-based and government agencies, including 

the state’s child protective agency, juvenile justice services, law enforcement, health care 

providers and interested non-profit groups to create a model for dealing with prostituted children 

based on the model used for child abuse victims.
55 

 

 

In early 2000, the District Attorney’s Office began to take steps toward providing better services 

to all victims of abuse, including child victims of prostitution, and better prosecution of their 

abusers. In 2001, it created the Teen Prostitution Prevention Project (TPPP) to foster 

collaboration among the key players involved in serving prostituted children in Suffolk County 

and ―achieve prevention, intervention and prosecution of [adult] offenders.‖ Drawing on a 

multidisciplinary model that has been successful in helping other victims of child abuse, the 

TPPP recognizes that collaboration between agencies is key to successfully diverting prostituted 

youth away from those who would exploit them.
56

  

 

A memorandum of understanding signed by various Massachusetts branches of government and 

social service calls for the rapid referral of teen exploitation to the Department of Social Services 

- and subsequently to the district attorney's office - akin to the procedure for suspected neglect or 

abuse of a child. It also calls for treatment and services for the victim that are specifically 

intended to secure the victim's physical and emotional well-being.  

 

As a result, when prosecutors receive a child prostitution case, they treat the child as a 

victim/witness rather than as a defendant. Prosecutors work as part of a multidisciplinary team to 

provide services to the child and, if the child is willing, to build a case against her pimp. Because 

they work from a child abuse model, they do not use threats of criminal charges to pressure the 

child to cooperate in the prosecution of her pimp or withhold services until she does.
57

 

 

                                                 
53

 The Barton Child Law and Policy Clinic. Emory University School of Law, Commercial Exploitation of Children in 

Georgia: Service delivery and legislative recommendations for state and local policy makers. January 2008. Retrieved 

December 3, 2011, from http://bartoncenter.net/uploads/fall2011updates/status_other/CSEC-recs-for-policy-makers.pdf.  
54

 Mass. Gen. Laws ch 272, s. 53A (2007). 
55

 The Barton Child Law and Policy Clinic. Emory University School of Law, Commercial Exploitation of Children in 

Georgia: Service delivery and legislative recommendations for state and local policy makers. January 2008. Retrieved 

December 3, 2011, from http://bartoncenter.net/uploads/fall2011updates/status_other/CSEC-recs-for-policy-makers.pdf.  
56

 Suffolk County District Attorney’s Office. Teen Prostitution Prevention Project Named Among Top 50 Innovative 

Government Programs. April 4, 2007. Retrieved December 3, 2011, from http://www.mass.gov/dasuffolk/docs/4.4.07C.html.  
57

 In Boston, it is the filing of a mandatory child abuse reports that is the gateway to services for children victimized by 

commercial sexual exploitation. Like Florida, Massachusetts requires the reporting of suspected child abuse. Until recently, 

however, mandatory reporters were not filing reports when they suspected that a child was being prostituted. One of TPPP’s 

ongoing initiatives has been to educate mandated reporters that prostitution creates ―physical or emotional injury…which 

causes harm or substantial risk of harm to the child’s health or welfare…‖ and thus is child abuse. See Mass. Gen. Laws 

ch. 119, s. 51A. 



BILL: CS/CS/CS/SB 202   Page 13 

 

Pros and Cons of the Child Abuse Model 

One benefit that is already apparent in Boston is better identification of children involved in 

prostitution. By agreeing to treat prostituted children as victims rather than defendants, the 

District Attorney’s Office appears to have strengthened its relationship with child welfare 

agencies. In 2007, it was reported that this new collaboration has led to a dramatic increase in the 

number of child abuse cases involving prostituted teens. Before the collaborative initiative 

began, the state social services agency would rarely send cases to the district attorney because 

they were worried the girls would be prosecuted.
58

 

One challenge of the child abuse model is that it can only serve children who want help. For the 

child abuse model to work, therefore, it requires strong education and outreach efforts, and a 

staff-secured safe house and treatment facility.
59

 Because children involved in prostitution are 

not brought to services through arrest, they must be brought to services through education and 

outreach. The process of removing the pimp’s psychological hold on the child must take place on 

the streets, rather than in a holding cell.
60

  

 

Another concern with the child abuse model is that it may hinder the prosecution of pimps. Some 

argue that the threat of being prosecuted for prostitution is the only thing that will motivate many 

children to testify against their pimps. However, because the Boston model is so new, it may be 

too soon to know whether treating child prostitutes as victims rather than as offenders really 

results in fewer successful prosecutions of pimps.
61

 

 

The Hybrid Model 

San Francisco, like Las Vegas, uses arrest and detention as a way to remove prostituted children 

from the dangers of the street, link them to services, and build a case against their abusers. San 

Francisco differs, however, in that authorities have contracted with specialized community-based 

organizations to assess and counsel children who have been involved in prostitution while they 

are still in custody and upon their release. Because San Francisco relies on arrest and detention to 

bring children into the system, and couples that practice with a wide range of victim-centered 

services, it is referred to as a hybrid model.
62

 

 

In the past, children who live in San Francisco and were arrested on prostitution charges were 

only detained if they had committed other crimes or violated their probation. In 2003, when a 

young victim of prostitution was murdered on the street after being released by police, 

authorities instituted a new protocol. Today, all children arrested on prostitution are detained ―for 

their own safety.‖  

 

                                                 
58

 The Barton Child Law and Policy Clinic. Emory University School of Law, Commercial Exploitation of Children in 

Georgia: Service delivery and legislative recommendations for state and local policy makers. Retrieved December 3, 2011, 

from http://bartoncenter.net/uploads/fall2011updates/status_other/CSEC-recs-for-policy-makers.pdf. 
59

 Id. In keeping with the child abuse model, Boston’s residential treatment facility will not be locked, but located far from 

the city with electronically monitored entrances and exits and round-the-clock staff who can discourage the children from 

leaving when the urge to run strikes. 
60

 Id. 
61

 Id. 
62

 Id. 



BILL: CS/CS/CS/SB 202   Page 14 

 

Authorities use a procedure of ―informal probation‖ by which they drop the charges against the 

child in exchange for the child’s agreement to be held for up to 90 days and enter into probation. 

As part of her probation, the child must participate in gender-specific services provided by 

programs while in custody and after release that, according to the probation department, are 

―designed both to hold girls accountable for their actions but also to help them heal.‖ One such 

program is offered by an organization known as Standing Against Global Exploitation (SAGE), a 

non-profit group founded by a prostitution survivor, staffed by prostitution survivors, and 

dedicated to serving victims of commercial sexual exploitation.
63

 

 

In contrast to the Las Vegas detention model, this more victim-centered or ―survivor-focused‖ 

model in San Francisco relies on peer counselors who are former prostitutes, rather than vice 

officers, to assess and counsel the girls while they are detained.
64 

Children who are victims of 

commercial sexual exploitation continue to work with SAGE upon their release.  

 

The Benefits and Drawbacks of the Hybrid Model 

San Francisco’s hybrid model has many of the same drawbacks as the detention model used in 

Las Vegas. As mentioned earlier, detention of children who have been used by adults in the sex 

trade punishes the victim. The San Francisco model mitigates this problem by inserting a strong 

therapeutic element into the detention facility. The addition of these wraparound services may 

make San Francisco’s ―hybrid‖ model better-suited to meeting the needs of child victims of 

prostitution than Las Vegas’ prosecution model.
65

 

 

The San Francisco model, however, still struggles with the same problem faced in Boston 

through the use of the child abuse model: that of identifying child victims of prostitution who are 

not brought to attention through arrest.
66 

 

 

Legislative initiatives 

Very few states
67

 have enacted legislation relating to the sexual exploitation of children. 

However, New York has in recent years adopted two specific pieces of legislation designed to 

better protect and serve children who are victims of sexual exploitation: 

 

                                                 
63

 SAGE website. Retrieved December 3, 2011, from http://www.sagesf.org/.  
64

 In addition to its in-custody program, SAGE offers a number of other programs for prostituted youth, including an 

intensive case management program. Each girl works with a case manager to develop an individualized service plan with 

measurable objectives. The girls work with peer counselors in individual and group sessions, addressing such issues as sexual 

exploitation, relationships, neighborhood safety, substance abuse, anger management, vocational preparation, and 

communication. GED and computer training is available. Most girls participate in the program for between 6 and 14 months. 

SAGE also offers medical screening, vocational rehabilitation, a transgender program, and an arts collective and creative 

writing program. In 2005, SAGE opened a six-bed safe house to provide prostituted girls, ages 12 through 17, with a ―safe, 

nurturing environment that specializes in trauma recovery.‖ SAGE accepts referrals from juvenile probation, as well as from 

the child protective services’ shelter, family courts, defense attorneys and others. Girls must be ―interested in escaping 

prostitution.‖  
65

 The Barton Child Law and Policy Clinic. Emory University School of Law, Commercial Exploitation of Children in 

Georgia: Service delivery and legislative recommendations for state and local policy makers. Retrieved December 3, 2011, 

from http://bartoncenter.net/uploads/fall2011updates/status_other/CSEC-recs-for-policy-makers.pdf. 
66

 Id. 
67

 Illinois and California have enacted legislation related to the protection of children who are victims of sexual exploitation. 



BILL: CS/CS/CS/SB 202   Page 15 

 

 In June 2007, the New York State Legislature made many changes to New York law relevant 

to the commercial sexual exploitation of children, including defining the crime of sex 

trafficking without regard to the age of the victim; requiring anyone convicted of sex 

trafficking or attempted sex trafficking to register as a sex offender; requiring notification of 

social services for assessment if the victim is under the age of 18; and making victims of sex 

trafficking eligible for victim compensation funds. The legislation also created an 

interagency task force on human trafficking.
68

 

 In June 2008, the New York Legislature enacted what is known as the Safe Harbor Act. The 

Safe Harbor Act allows for the presumption that a person under 16 years of age, who is 

charged as a juvenile delinquent for a prostitution offense, is a severely trafficked person. 

This presumption permits the child to avoid criminal charges of prostitution and instead be 

considered a ―person in need of supervision.‖ The statute also provides support and services 

to sexually exploited youth who are under the age of 18. These services include safe houses, 

crisis intervention programs, community-based programs, and law-enforcement training to 

help officers identify sexually exploited youth.
69

 

 

While child advocates have praised New York’s Safe Harbor Act for its recognition of the 

specialized service needs of commercially sexually exploited children, critics allege that the 

statute is too narrowly drawn and will not cover all child victims of sexual exploitation, and that 

the commercial sexual exploitation of children has not been de-stigmatized by removing it from 

the definition of prostitution altogether. Also, while allowing courts to classify these children as 

persons in need of supervision rather than as delinquents, they can still be arrested and suffer the 

ill-effects of secure detention before that change in status is made.
70

Although the Safe Harbor 

legislation was enacted in June 2008, the April 1, 2010 effective date means it is too early to tell 

how effective it will be.
71

 

III. Effect of Proposed Changes: 

The bill creates the Florida Safe Harbor Act in s. 39.001(4), F.S., to provide special care and 

services to all sexually exploited children who are dependent.  

 

Legislative findings, intent, and establishment of goals for sexually exploited children 

The bill provides that it is the intent of the legislature that children who are victims of sexual 

exploitation should be cared for through the dependency system rather than the delinquency 

system and that the state shall provide dependency services to all children not receiving 

comparable services under the federal Trafficking Victims Protection Act.  

 

The bill states that it is a goal of the legislature to provide for the treatment of sexually exploited 

children as dependent children rather than as delinquents. The prostitution of children occurs in a 

variety of contexts, including parents advertising and prostituting their children over the Internet, 

                                                 
68

 The Barton Child Law and Policy Clinic. Emory University School of Law, Commercial Exploitation of Children in 

Georgia: Service delivery and legislative recommendations for state and local policy makers. January 2008. Retrieved 

December 3, 2011, from http://bartoncenter.net/uploads/fall2011updates/status_other/CSEC-recs-for-policy-makers.pdf. 
69

 Id. 
70

 Id. 
71

 Id. 



BILL: CS/CS/CS/SB 202   Page 16 

 

runaway and homeless children on city streets being recruited by pimps or engaging in ―survival 

sex,‖ and drug pushers forcing addicted teenagers to prostitute themselves as a condition for 

receiving drugs or a place to stay. But also, acting on their own initiative or in the company of 

friends, young people may engage in casual or even frequent prostitution for money or for 

adventure.
72

 Children in the latter categories may need intervention and services, but not as 

dependent children. 

 

Definitions 

The bill amends a number of definitions in chapter 39, F.S.: 

 

 The term ―child who is found to be dependent‖ is amended to include children that have been 

sexually exploited and have no parent, legal custodian, or responsible adult relative currently 

known and capable of providing the necessary and appropriate supervision and care. This 

change is redundant as this provision is currently within the same definition. 

 The term ―sexual abuse of a child‖ is amended to apply ―for purposes of finding a child to be 

dependent‖ and include participation in sex trafficking as an act of sexual exploitation of a 

child. The amended definition would also include the act of a child offering to engage in or 

engaging in prostitution, provided that the child is not under arrest or is not being prosecuted 

in a delinquency or criminal proceeding for a violation of any offense in ch. 796, F.S., based 

on such behavior. 

 

Children are adjudicated dependent as a result of action or inaction on the part of a parent, legal 

custodian, caregiver, or other person responsible for the child's welfare, as defined in ch. 39, F.S. 

Including "the act of a child offering to engage in or engaging in prostitution‖ in the definition of 

―sexual abuse of a child‖ removes a caregiver as perpetrator and in so doing creates an 

inconsistency in the Florida dependency system. 

 

Delivery to a short-term safe house 

The bill requires a law enforcement officer who takes a child alleged to be dependent for whom 

there is also probable cause to believe he or she has been sexually exploited into custody to 

deliver the child to the department. The department may then place the child in a short-term safe 

house if one is available.  

 

Safe-harbor placement 

The bill creates a new section of law relating to safe-harbor placement. The section requires any 

child 6 years of age or older who has been found to be a victim of sexual exploitation to be 

assessed by the department for placement in a safe house, and if such placement is determined to 

                                                 
72

 Finkelhor, D. and Ormrod, R. Delinquency Prevention. Prostitution of Juveniles: Patterns From NIBRS, U.S. Department 

of Justice, Office of Justice Programs, Office of Juvenile Justice and Delinquency Prevention. June 2004. Retrieved 

December 2, 2011, from http://www.ncjrs.gov/pdffiles1/ojjdp/203946.pdf. Also see Rasmusson, A. (1999). Commercial 

Sexual Exploitation of Children: A Literature Review. Minneapolis, MN: The Alliance for Speaking Truths on Prostitution 

and The Center for Urban and Regional Affairs. Retrieved December 3, 2011, from 

http://www.adultssavingkids.org/LitRev.html.  



BILL: CS/CS/CS/SB 202   Page 17 

 

be appropriate, the child shall be so placed, if a safe house is available. A definition for the term 

―available‖ is provided. The section also provides for: 

 

 Criteria to be included in the initial assessment for placement; 

 Information relating to the placement to be included in each judicial review; 

 Specific data to be maintained related to referrals for safe house placement; and, 

 An annual report to the legislature related to placement of sexually exploited children; 

 

Safe harbor for sexually exploited children 

The bill also creates a new section of law relating to safe harbor for children who are victims of 

sexual exploitation. Specifically, the section: 

 

 Creates a definition for ―child advocate‖ to mean an employee of a short term safe house who 

has been trained to work with and advocate for sexually exploited children;  

 Creates definitions for the terms ―safe house‖ and ―short-term safe house.‖ Both facilities 

would be required to be operated by a licensed residential child-caring agency under 

s. 409.175, F.S. A ―safe house‖ differs from a ―short-term safe house‖ in that the former has 

gender specific and separate living quarters for sexually exploited children who have been 

adjudicated dependent or delinquent and need to reside in a secure facility with 24-hour-

awake staff.  

 Creates a definition for the term ―sexually exploited child‖ to mean a dependent child who 

has suffered sexual abuse and who is ineligible for services under the federal Trafficking 

Victims Protection Act; 

 Creates a definition for the term ―secure‖ to mean that a child is supervised 24 hours a day by 

staff members who are awake while on duty; 

 Requires every circuit of the department to address the child welfare service needs of 

sexually exploited children as a component of the circuit’s master plan. This determination 

shall be made in consultation with local law enforcement, runaway and homeless youth 

program providers, local probation departments, local community-based care and social 

services, local guardians ad litem, public defenders, state attorney’s offices, and child 

advocates and services providers who work directly with sexually exploited youth; 

 Requires the lead agency, not-for-profit agency, or local government entity that is providing 

safe-house services to be responsible for security, crisis intervention services, general 

counseling and victim-witness counseling, a comprehensive assessment, residential care, 

transportation, access to behavioral health services, recreational activities, food, clothing, 

supplies, infant care, and miscellaneous expenses associated with caring for these children; 

for necessary arrangement for or provision of educational services, including life skills 

services and planning services to successfully transition residents back to the community; 

and for ensuring necessary and appropriate health and dental care; 

 Does not prohibit the safe house provider from billing Medicaid for services rendered, from 

contracting with local school districts for services, or from obtaining funding from additional 

sources; 

 Provides that the lead agency, not-for-profit agency, or local government entity providing 

safe-house services has the legal authority for children served in a safe-house program, as 

provided in chapter 39 or this chapter, as appropriate, to enroll the child in school, to sign for 



BILL: CS/CS/CS/SB 202   Page 18 

 

a driver’s license for the child, to cosign loans and insurance for the child, to sign for medical 

treatment of the child, and to authorize other such activities; 

 Requires that all of the services created under this section may, to the extent possible 

provided by law, be available to all sexually exploited children whether they are accessed 

voluntarily, as a condition of probation, through a diversion program, through a proceeding 

under chapter 39, or through a referral from a local community-based care or social service 

agency; and 

 Provides that the local circuit administrator may, to the extent that funds are available, in 

conjunction with local law enforcement officials, contract with an appropriate not-for-profit 

agency having experience working with sexually exploited children to train law enforcement 

officials who are likely to encounter sexually exploited children in the course of their law 

enforcement duties on the provisions of this section and how to identify and obtain 

appropriate services for sexually exploited children.  

 

The creation of the definition for the term ―secure‖ to mean that a child is supervised 24 hours a 

day by staff members who are awake while on duty is problematic.  

 

24 hour-awake staff is not currently part of the department’s 

operations for children unless they are housed due to mental health or 

substance abuse issues. In addition, children who are adjudicated 

dependent cannot be sheltered within a physically secure setting 

either long or short term in Florida.
73

  

 

In addition, a recent Florida District Court of Appeal opinion held that a dependent child cannot 

be placed in secure detention for his or her own best interest. This ruling would suggest that safe 

house placement would not be an option for these children.
74

 

 

The permissive language relating to law enforcement training could be problematic. It is 

generally agreed upon that one of the most important facets of efforts to successfully work with 

children who are victims of sexual exploitation is adequate training of all disciplines involved: 

 

Lois Lee, founder and president of Children of the Night, endorses the 

Las Vegas prosecution model and works closely with Las Vegas police 

and juvenile probation. However, while she believes detention is an 

appropriate way to get children off the streets and improve prosecution 

of pimps, she notes that the model only works if the police are 

specially trained, honest and compassionate—as she believes is the 

case in Las Vegas—and the charge of prostitution is eventually 

dropped, and the child linked to services. In her words, COTN is the 

―carrot‖ and law enforcement is the ―stick‖ that leads to the arrest of 

―vile pimps that force the children to prostitution for food and a place 

to sleep.‖
75

 

                                                 
73

 Department of Children and Families. Staff Analysis and Economic Impact. SB 202. September 15, 2011. 
74

 J.J. v. State of Florida. 2010 WL 1222667 (Fla.App. 3 Dist.). 
75

 The Barton Child Law and Policy Clinic. Emory University School of Law, Commercial Exploitation of Children in 

Georgia: Service delivery and legislative recommendations for state and local policy makers. January 2008. Retrieved 

December 3, 2011, from http://bartoncenter.net/uploads/fall2011updates/status_other/CSEC-recs-for-policy-makers.pdf.. 



BILL: CS/CS/CS/SB 202   Page 19 

 

 

A model state law drafted by the Freedom Network
76

 includes the 

following provision: Training shall be made available in all relevant 

local and state agencies, including, but not limited to, healthcare, 

hospital, law enforcement, labor, agriculture, housing, and social 

service, to educate officials on: 

 The phenomenon of human trafficking, state and federal laws on 

human trafficking, the rights and needs of trafficked persons, and 

the tools necessary to provide effective services to trafficked 

persons; 

 How to recognize and identify trafficking victims; 

 Methods for protecting trafficking victims and advising them of 

their rights; and 

 Procedures and techniques for handling specialized needs of 

victims who may face cultural, language and other barriers that 

impede ability to request and obtain available services.
77

 

 

Civil penalties 

The bill increases the civil penalty for violations related to prostitution from $500 to $5,000 with 

$500 of the proceeds to be paid to the court and the remaining $4,500 to be paid to DCF for the 

sole purpose of funding safe houses and short-term safe houses. 

 

The Florida Department of Law Enforcement (FDLE) believes the proposed funding may in fact 

be ―phantom funding.‖ The bill proposes to fund the ―safe harbor‖ approach by increasing the 

civil penalty from $500 to $5,000 and diverting $4,500 to fund ―safe harbor‖ when one is guilty 

of solicitation of prostitution or when one has a weapon during the commission of a prostitution 

related offense.  

 

It has been reported to FDLE that the experience statewide is that the current $500 is rarely 

successfully collected. If this is true, then increasing the penalty ten-fold will likely not make the 

rate of collection higher, and in reality the anticipated funds to fund the ―safe harbor‖ approach 

may not materialize. An analysis of current collection rates of the $500 penalty should be 

completed before assuming extra funds will be raised by the proposed ten-fold increase in the 

penalty. 

 

                                                 
76

 The Freedom Network USA established in 2001 is a coalition of 25 non-governmental organizations that provide services 

to, and advocate for the rights of, trafficking survivors in the United States. Their mission is to ensure that trafficked persons 

are treated as victims and not criminals, are able to have full access to justice, including the right to full compensation and 

restitution from the traffickers, and are provided with access to linguistically-appropriate and culturally-sensitive, victim-

centered social, mental health, medical, legal, educational, vocational and other services and to increase public awareness of 

the crime of trafficking through education, research, training and community outreach and organizing for the purpose of 

preventing trafficking and supporting the rights of trafficked persons. 
77

 State Model Law on Protection for Victims of Human Trafficking. Retrieved December 3, 2011, from 

http://www.urbanjustice.org/pdf/publications/FNStateModelLaw.pdf.  



BILL: CS/CS/CS/SB 202   Page 20 

 

Eligibility for Award under Victims Assistance Program 

The bill allows victims of sexual exploitation to be eligible for compensation (awards), 

regardless of whether or not the child is willfully engaging in prostitution. The Victims 

Assistance
78

 program is overseen by the Attorney General’s office and provides financial 

assistance for medical care, lost income, mental health services, funeral expenses and other out-

of-pocket expenses directly related to the injury, to persons who are eligible. 

IV. Constitutional Issues: 

A. Municipality/County Mandates Restrictions: 

None. 

B. Public Records/Open Meetings Issues: 

None. 

C. Trust Funds Restrictions: 

None. 

V. Fiscal Impact Statement: 

A. Tax/Fee Issues: 

None. 

B. Private Sector Impact: 

None. 

C. Government Sector Impact: 

State agencies have estimated the fiscal impact of the bill as follows. 

 

 The FDLE reports there will be minimal fiscal impact on the agency. 

 The Department of Juvenile Justice (DJJ) reports no fiscal impact on the agency. 

 The Office of the State Courts Administrator (OSCA) reported that there will be an 

increase in judicial or court workload. The amount of the increase and the resulting 

fiscal impact are indeterminate. 

 The DCF reports that it is unable to determine an estimated fiscal impact due to the 

lack of specificity in the bill. However, the department does have experience in 

procuring highly specialized residential placement. As such the department estimates 

that the daily operating cost minus the initial acquisition, construction, and start-up 

costs for a sexual exploitation bed is estimated to be somewhere around $350.00 per 

                                                 
78

 State of Florida. Office of the Attorney General. Retrieved December 2, 2011 from 

http://myfloridalegal.com/pages.nsf/main/1c7376f380d0704c85256cc6004b8ed3!OpenDocument.  



BILL: CS/CS/CS/SB 202   Page 21 

 

day per child. Approximately $180.00 of the estimated $350.00 daily cost could be 

covered through Medicare reimbursement for intensive mental health therapy in a 

therapeutic group home setting. However, this assumes that all of these children will 

have an assessed mental health diagnosis that requires placement into a therapeutic 

group home setting.  

 

There is the potential for a minimum estimated $170.00 dollar per day short fall in 

funding for these victims based on the current funding structure. The department 

estimates that the Year 1 cost of implementing this legislation will be approximately 

$4,183,471 and the Year 2 cost would be $8,366,942. In addition there would be 

anticipated costs for an increase in workload for assessment upon intake and Florida Safe 

Families Network (FSFN) modifications. 

 

Also, any child who spends at least 6 months living in the foster care system before 

reaching his or her 18th birthday is currently eligible for financial assistance up to the age 

of 23 through independent living transition services.
79

 Given that initial identification of 

most victims occurs when a child is between the ages of 16 -17 and that most established 

residential domestic minor sex trafficking programs currently operate a 12-18 month 

residential placement program there is a strong probability that most identified victims 

will become eligible for Road to Independence funding when they age out of the foster 

care system. These young adults will/could be eligible to receive a maximum monthly 

stipend of $1254.00 per month so long as they are enrolled in a full time educational 

program and remain in good standing within that educational program.  

The cost associated with this bill is not anticipated to have a direct fiscal impact on the 

department. However, it could have an impact on community based care (CBC) lead 

agencies. CBCs are required to serve all dependent children referred to their agency. 

Therefore any additional cost would have to be absorbed by current contract funds to the 

CBC. 

VI. Technical Deficiencies: 

There are a number of technical deficiencies and inconsistencies in the bill, including, but not 

limited to: 

 

 The newly created provisions in s. 39.001, F.S., relating to sexual exploitation services are 

not entirely clear that only children who have been adjudicated dependent would be eligible 

for services under the provisions of the bill. For example, the bill creates legislative intent for 

the state to provide services to all sexually exploited children in the state who are not 

otherwise receiving comparable services, such as those under the federal Trafficking Victims 

Protection Act.
80

  

 The provisions of the bill, relating to the assessment of a child who has been found to be a 

victim of sexual exploitation, are unclear. The child is to be assessed by the department or its 

agent for placement in a safe house. If the department is performing the assessment, it would 

                                                 
79

 State of Florida. Office of the Attorney General. Retrieved December 2, 2011 from 

http://myfloridalegal.com/pages.nsf/main/1c7376f380d0704c85256cc6004b8ed3!OpenDocument.  
80

 Benefits and services under the federal act are for certified trafficking victims who are non-U.S. citizens and their children 

who have been issued a letter by ORR declaring them victims of a severe form of trafficking. 



BILL: CS/CS/CS/SB 202   Page 22 

 

have to be done by a child protective investigator (CPI). It is unclear if this is part of the child 

protective investigation process, although it would appear to be a different assessment that 

would require skills other than those typically possessed by CPIs.  

 The bill requires data collection by the department relating to safe house placements. It is 

unclear whether this data is to be captured in the Florida Safe Families Network (FSFN) 

system.  

 The bill creates a definition for the term ―child advocate.‖ Since these individuals are not 

court appointed nor are they parties to a proceeding under ch. 39, F.S., it is unclear how they 

will carry out their duties prescribed by the bill. There are no specific qualifications required 

for these individuals. Additionally, case management functions for dependent children are 

the task of the case management organization, generally not the child-caring agencies or 

family foster home. 

 The bill requires safe houses to be operated by a licensed family foster home or a residential 

child-caring agency. It is unclear whether or not ―by‖ should be ―as.‖ 

 The bill requires safe houses to be licensed residential child-caring agencies and be 

accredited. There is currently no requirement for licensed residential child-caring agencies to 

be accredited, nor does the bill specify what accrediting entity must be used. 

 The bill provides authority to the entity providing safe house services to enroll the child in 

school, sign for a driver’s license, cosign loans and insurance, sign for medical treatment and 

authorize other such activities. Current law provides this authority to the department and the 

CBC lead agencies and it covers all dependent children in care. 

 The bill provides that all services provided by safe houses may, to the extent possible 

provided by law and with funding authorized, be available to all sexually exploited children 

whether they are accessed voluntarily, as a condition of probation, through a diversion 

program, through a proceeding under chapter 39, or through a referral from a local 

community-based care or social service agency. This would appear to include children other 

than those who are adjudicated dependent. 

VII. Related Issues: 

The bill provides for a significant change in statewide policy related to minors involved in 

prostitution. A number of entities are currently examining this issue in an attempt to find the best 

solution for these children in Florida: 

 

 DCF and DJJ are reportedly working on draft legislation that will not be ready for 

introduction until the 2013 legislative session;  

 The Human Trafficking Task Force
81

 appointed a subcommittee to deal with this policy issue 

as well as the approach taken by SB 718 from the 2010 session. After numerous meetings, 

there was no clear consensus on how this significant problem should be addressed and 

concerns raised over the 2010 legislation (which equally apply to 2011’s SB 718 and the 

2012 SB 202) were not resolved nor were recommendations for resolution made. Most 

serving on the group believed some sort of limited ―pilot project‖ approach would be wise 

before effecting a statewide significant policy change; and,  

                                                 
81

 The State Legislature created the Task Force in 2009 "to examine and analyze the problem of human trafficking and to 

plan for a coordinated, humane response for victims of human trafficking through a review of existing programs, a 

clarification of existing options for such victims, and revised policy efforts to coordinate governmental and private efforts." 



BILL: CS/CS/CS/SB 202   Page 23 

 

 The Legal Needs of Children Committee of the Florida Bar has formed a subcommittee on 

human trafficking with the goal of vetting and endorsing legislation.  

VIII. Additional Information: 

A. Committee Substitute – Statement of Substantial Changes: 
(Summarizing differences between the Committee Substitute and the prior version of the bill.) 

CS/CS/CS by Budget on March 1, 2012: 

 Removes the presumption that all sexually exploited children are to be treated as 

dependent children under ch. 39, F.S. 

 

CS/CS by Criminal and Civil Justice Appropriations Subcommittee on January 19, 

2012: 

 Restores the definition of sexual exploitation of a child to current law. 

 

CS by Children, Families, and Elder Affairs on December 7, 2011: 

 Removes a provision related to legislative intent; 

 Makes the requirement that law enforcement deliver a child for whom there is 

probable cause to believe he or she has been sexually exploited to a safe house 

permissive; and 

 Removes the provisions prohibiting juvenile probation officers and the state attorney 

from filing a petition for delinquency for an act related to prostitution unless the child 

has been previously adjudicated delinquent. 

B. Amendments. 

None. 

This Senate Bill Analysis does not reflect the intent or official position of the bill’s introducer or the Florida Senate. 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for CS for SB 202 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì855154+Î855154 

 

Page 1 of 21 

2/27/2012 5:52:55 PM 576-04071-12 

 

LEGISLATIVE ACTION 

Senate 

Comm: RCS 

03/02/2012 

 

 

 

. 

. 

. 

. 

. 

. 

House 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The Committee on Budget (Flores) recommended the following: 

 

Senate Amendment (with title amendment) 1 

 2 

Delete everything after the enacting clause 3 

and insert: 4 

Section 1. This act may be cited as the “Florida Safe 5 

Harbor Act.” 6 

Section 2. Subsections (4) through (12) of section 39.001, 7 

Florida Statutes, are renumbered as subsections (5) through 8 

(13), respectively, paragraph (c) of present subsection (7) and 9 

paragraph (b) of present subsection (9) are amended, and a new 10 

subsection (4) is added to that section, to read: 11 

39.001 Purposes and intent; personnel standards and 12 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for CS for SB 202 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì855154+Î855154 

 

Page 2 of 21 

2/27/2012 5:52:55 PM 576-04071-12 

screening.— 13 

(4) SEXUAL EXPLOITATION SERVICES.— 14 

(a) The Legislature recognizes that child sexual 15 

exploitation is a serious problem nationwide and in this state. 16 

The children at greatest risk of being sexually exploited are 17 

runaways and throwaways. Many of these children have a history 18 

of abuse and neglect. The vulnerability of these children starts 19 

with isolation from family and friends. Traffickers maintain 20 

control of child victims through psychological manipulation, 21 

force, drug addiction, or the exploitation of economic, 22 

physical, or emotional vulnerability. Children exploited through 23 

the sex trade often find it difficult to trust adults because of 24 

their abusive experiences. These children make up a population 25 

that is difficult to serve and even more difficult to 26 

rehabilitate. 27 

(b) The Legislature establishes the following goals for the 28 

state related to the status and treatment of sexually exploited 29 

children in the dependency process: 30 

1. To ensure the safety of children. 31 

2. To provide for the treatment of such children as 32 

dependent children rather than as delinquents. 33 

3. To sever the bond between exploited children and 34 

traffickers and to reunite these children with their families or 35 

provide them with appropriate guardians. 36 

4. To enable such children to be willing and reliable 37 

witnesses in the prosecution of traffickers. 38 

(c) The Legislature finds that sexually exploited children 39 

need special care and services in the dependency process, 40 

including counseling, health care, substance abuse treatment, 41 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for CS for SB 202 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì855154+Î855154 

 

Page 3 of 21 

2/27/2012 5:52:55 PM 576-04071-12 

educational opportunities, and a safe environment secure from 42 

traffickers. 43 

(d) The Legislature further finds that sexually exploited 44 

children need the special care and services described in 45 

paragraph (c) independent of their citizenship, residency, 46 

alien, or immigrant status. It is the intent of the Legislature 47 

that this state provide such care and services to all sexually 48 

exploited children in this state who are not otherwise receiving 49 

comparable services, such as those under the federal Trafficking 50 

Victims Protection Act, 22 U.S.C. ss. 7101 et seq. 51 

(8)(7) OFFICE OF ADOPTION AND CHILD PROTECTION.— 52 

(c) The office is authorized and directed to: 53 

1. Oversee the preparation and implementation of the state 54 

plan established under subsection (9) (8) and revise and update 55 

the state plan as necessary. 56 

2. Provide for or make available continuing professional 57 

education and training in the prevention of child abuse and 58 

neglect. 59 

3. Work to secure funding in the form of appropriations, 60 

gifts, and grants from the state, the Federal Government, and 61 

other public and private sources in order to ensure that 62 

sufficient funds are available for the promotion of adoption, 63 

support of adoptive families, and child abuse prevention 64 

efforts. 65 

4. Make recommendations pertaining to agreements or 66 

contracts for the establishment and development of: 67 

a. Programs and services for the promotion of adoption, 68 

support of adoptive families, and prevention of child abuse and 69 

neglect. 70 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for CS for SB 202 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì855154+Î855154 

 

Page 4 of 21 

2/27/2012 5:52:55 PM 576-04071-12 

b. Training programs for the prevention of child abuse and 71 

neglect. 72 

c. Multidisciplinary and discipline-specific training 73 

programs for professionals with responsibilities affecting 74 

children, young adults, and families. 75 

d. Efforts to promote adoption. 76 

e. Postadoptive services to support adoptive families. 77 

5. Monitor, evaluate, and review the development and 78 

quality of local and statewide services and programs for the 79 

promotion of adoption, support of adoptive families, and 80 

prevention of child abuse and neglect and shall publish and 81 

distribute an annual report of its findings on or before January 82 

1 of each year to the Governor, the Speaker of the House of 83 

Representatives, the President of the Senate, the head of each 84 

state agency affected by the report, and the appropriate 85 

substantive committees of the Legislature. The report shall 86 

include: 87 

a. A summary of the activities of the office. 88 

b. A summary of the adoption data collected and reported to 89 

the federal Adoption and Foster Care Analysis and Reporting 90 

System (AFCARS) and the federal Administration for Children and 91 

Families. 92 

c. A summary of the child abuse prevention data collected 93 

and reported to the National Child Abuse and Neglect Data System 94 

(NCANDS) and the federal Administration for Children and 95 

Families. 96 

d. A summary detailing the timeliness of the adoption 97 

process for children adopted from within the child welfare 98 

system. 99 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for CS for SB 202 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì855154+Î855154 

 

Page 5 of 21 

2/27/2012 5:52:55 PM 576-04071-12 

e. Recommendations, by state agency, for the further 100 

development and improvement of services and programs for the 101 

promotion of adoption, support of adoptive families, and 102 

prevention of child abuse and neglect. 103 

f. Budget requests, adoption promotion and support needs, 104 

and child abuse prevention program needs by state agency. 105 

6. Work with the direct-support organization established 106 

under s. 39.0011 to receive financial assistance. 107 

(10)(9) FUNDING AND SUBSEQUENT PLANS.— 108 

(b) The office and the other agencies and organizations 109 

listed in paragraph (9)(a) (8)(a) shall readdress the state plan 110 

and make necessary revisions every 5 years, at a minimum. Such 111 

revisions shall be submitted to the Speaker of the House of 112 

Representatives and the President of the Senate no later than 113 

June 30 of each year divisible by 5. At least biennially, the 114 

office shall review the state plan and make any necessary 115 

revisions based on changing needs and program evaluation 116 

results. An annual progress report shall be submitted to update 117 

the state plan in the years between the 5-year intervals. In 118 

order to avoid duplication of effort, these required plans may 119 

be made a part of or merged with other plans required by either 120 

the state or Federal Government, so long as the portions of the 121 

other state or Federal Government plan that constitute the state 122 

plan for the promotion of adoption, support of adoptive 123 

families, and prevention of child abuse, abandonment, and 124 

neglect are clearly identified as such and are provided to the 125 

Speaker of the House of Representatives and the President of the 126 

Senate as required above. 127 

Section 3. Subsections (2), (15), and (67) of section 128 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for CS for SB 202 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì855154+Î855154 

 

Page 6 of 21 

2/27/2012 5:52:55 PM 576-04071-12 

39.01, Florida Statutes, are amended to read: 129 

39.01 Definitions.—When used in this chapter, unless the 130 

context otherwise requires: 131 

(2) “Abuse” means any willful act or threatened act that 132 

results in any physical, mental, or sexual abuse, injury, or 133 

harm that causes or is likely to cause the child’s physical, 134 

mental, or emotional health to be significantly impaired. Abuse 135 

of a child includes acts or omissions. Corporal discipline of a 136 

child by a parent or legal custodian for disciplinary purposes 137 

does not in itself constitute abuse when it does not result in 138 

harm to the child. 139 

(15) “Child who is found to be dependent” means a child 140 

who, pursuant to this chapter, is found by the court: 141 

(a) To have been abandoned, abused, or neglected by the 142 

child’s parent or parents or legal custodians; 143 

(b) To have been surrendered to the department, the former 144 

Department of Health and Rehabilitative Services, or a licensed 145 

child-placing agency for purpose of adoption; 146 

(c) To have been voluntarily placed with a licensed child-147 

caring agency, a licensed child-placing agency, an adult 148 

relative, the department, or the former Department of Health and 149 

Rehabilitative Services, after which placement, under the 150 

requirements of this chapter, a case plan has expired and the 151 

parent or parents or legal custodians have failed to 152 

substantially comply with the requirements of the plan; 153 

(d) To have been voluntarily placed with a licensed child-154 

placing agency for the purposes of subsequent adoption, and a 155 

parent or parents have signed a consent pursuant to the Florida 156 

Rules of Juvenile Procedure; 157 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for CS for SB 202 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì855154+Î855154 

 

Page 7 of 21 

2/27/2012 5:52:55 PM 576-04071-12 

(e) To have no parent or legal custodians capable of 158 

providing supervision and care; or 159 

(f) To be at substantial risk of imminent abuse, 160 

abandonment, or neglect by the parent or parents or legal 161 

custodians; or 162 

(g) To have been sexually exploited and to have no parent, 163 

legal custodian, or responsible adult relative currently known 164 

and capable of providing the necessary and appropriate 165 

supervision and care. 166 

(67) “Sexual abuse of a child” for purposes of finding a 167 

child to be dependent means one or more of the following acts: 168 

(a) Any penetration, however slight, of the vagina or anal 169 

opening of one person by the penis of another person, whether or 170 

not there is the emission of semen. 171 

(b) Any sexual contact between the genitals or anal opening 172 

of one person and the mouth or tongue of another person. 173 

(c) Any intrusion by one person into the genitals or anal 174 

opening of another person, including the use of any object for 175 

this purpose, except that this does not include any act intended 176 

for a valid medical purpose. 177 

(d) The intentional touching of the genitals or intimate 178 

parts, including the breasts, genital area, groin, inner thighs, 179 

and buttocks, or the clothing covering them, of either the child 180 

or the perpetrator, except that this does not include: 181 

1. Any act which may reasonably be construed to be a normal 182 

caregiver responsibility, any interaction with, or affection for 183 

a child; or 184 

2. Any act intended for a valid medical purpose. 185 

(e) The intentional masturbation of the perpetrator’s 186 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for CS for SB 202 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì855154+Î855154 

 

Page 8 of 21 

2/27/2012 5:52:55 PM 576-04071-12 

genitals in the presence of a child. 187 

(f) The intentional exposure of the perpetrator’s genitals 188 

in the presence of a child, or any other sexual act 189 

intentionally perpetrated in the presence of a child, if such 190 

exposure or sexual act is for the purpose of sexual arousal or 191 

gratification, aggression, degradation, or other similar 192 

purpose. 193 

(g) The sexual exploitation of a child, which includes the 194 

act of a child offering to engage in or engaging in 195 

prostitution, provided that the child is not under arrest or is 196 

not being prosecuted in a delinquency or criminal proceeding for 197 

a violation of any offense in chapter 796 based on such 198 

behavior; or allowing, encouraging, or forcing a child to: 199 

1. Solicit for or engage in prostitution; or 200 

2. Engage in a sexual performance, as defined by chapter 201 

827; or 202 

3. Participate in the trade of sex trafficking as provided 203 

in s. 796.035. 204 

Section 4. Paragraph (b) of subsection (2) and paragraph 205 

(b) of subsection (3) of section 39.401, Florida Statutes, are 206 

amended to read: 207 

39.401 Taking a child alleged to be dependent into custody; 208 

law enforcement officers and authorized agents of the 209 

department.— 210 

(2) If the law enforcement officer takes the child into 211 

custody, that officer shall: 212 

(b) Deliver the child to an authorized agent of the 213 

department, stating the facts by reason of which the child was 214 

taken into custody and sufficient information to establish 215 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for CS for SB 202 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì855154+Î855154 

 

Page 9 of 21 

2/27/2012 5:52:55 PM 576-04071-12 

probable cause that the child is abandoned, abused, or 216 

neglected, or otherwise dependent. For such a child for whom 217 

there is also probable cause to believe he or she has been 218 

sexually exploited, the law enforcement officer shall deliver 219 

the child to the department. The department may place the child 220 

in an appropriate short-term safe house as provided for in s. 221 

409.1678 if a short-term safe house is available. 222 

 223 

For cases involving allegations of abandonment, abuse, or 224 

neglect, or other dependency cases, within 3 days after such 225 

release or within 3 days after delivering the child to an 226 

authorized agent of the department, the law enforcement officer 227 

who took the child into custody shall make a full written report 228 

to the department. 229 

(3) If the child is taken into custody by, or is delivered 230 

to, an authorized agent of the department, the agent shall 231 

review the facts supporting the removal with an attorney 232 

representing the department. The purpose of the review is to 233 

determine whether there is probable cause for the filing of a 234 

shelter petition. 235 

(b) If the facts are sufficient and the child has not been 236 

returned to the custody of the parent or legal custodian, the 237 

department shall file the petition and schedule a hearing, and 238 

the attorney representing the department shall request that a 239 

shelter hearing be held within 24 hours after the removal of the 240 

child. While awaiting the shelter hearing, the authorized agent 241 

of the department may place the child in licensed shelter care, 242 

or in a short-term safe house if the child is a sexually 243 

exploited child, or may release the child to a parent or legal 244 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for CS for SB 202 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì855154+Î855154 

 

Page 10 of 21 

2/27/2012 5:52:55 PM 576-04071-12 

custodian or responsible adult relative or the adoptive parent 245 

of the child’s sibling who shall be given priority consideration 246 

over a licensed placement, or a responsible adult approved by 247 

the department if this is in the best interests of the child. 248 

Placement of a child which is not in a licensed shelter must be 249 

preceded by a criminal history records check as required under 250 

s. 39.0138. In addition, the department may authorize placement 251 

of a housekeeper/homemaker in the home of a child alleged to be 252 

dependent until the parent or legal custodian assumes care of 253 

the child. 254 

Section 5. Section 39.524, Florida Statutes, is created to 255 

read: 256 

39.524 Safe-harbor placement.— 257 

(1) Except as provided in s. 39.407 or s. 985.801, a 258 

dependent child 6 years of age or older who has been found to be 259 

a victim of sexual exploitation as defined in s. 39.01(67)(g) 260 

must be assessed for placement in a safe house as provided in s. 261 

409.1678. The assessment shall be conducted by the department or 262 

its agent and shall incorporate and address current and 263 

historical information from any law enforcement reports; 264 

psychological testing or evaluation that has occurred; current 265 

and historical information from the guardian ad litem, if one 266 

has been assigned; current and historical information from any 267 

current therapist, teacher, or other professional who has 268 

knowledge of the child and has worked with the child; and any 269 

other information concerning the availability and suitability of 270 

safe-house placement. If such placement is determined to be 271 

appropriate as a result of this assessment, the child may be 272 

placed in a safe house, if one is available. As used in this 273 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for CS for SB 202 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì855154+Î855154 

 

Page 11 of 21 

2/27/2012 5:52:55 PM 576-04071-12 

section, the term “available” as it relates to a placement means 274 

a placement that is located within the circuit or otherwise 275 

reasonably accessible. 276 

(2) The results of the assessment described in subsection 277 

(1) and the actions taken as a result of the assessment must be 278 

included in the next judicial review of the child. At each 279 

subsequent judicial review, the court must be advised in writing 280 

of the status of the child’s placement, with special reference 281 

regarding the stability of the placement and the permanency 282 

planning for the child. 283 

(3)(a) By December 1 of each year, the department shall 284 

report to the Legislature on the placement of children in safe 285 

houses during the year, including the criteria used to determine 286 

the placement of children, the number of children who were 287 

evaluated for placement, the number of children who were placed 288 

based upon the evaluation, and the number of children who were 289 

not placed. 290 

(b) The department shall maintain data specifying the 291 

number of children who were referred to a safe house for whom 292 

placement was unavailable and the counties in which such 293 

placement was unavailable. The department shall include this 294 

data in its report under this subsection so that the Legislature 295 

may consider this information in developing the General 296 

Appropriations Act. 297 

Section 6. Section 409.1678, Florida Statutes, is created 298 

to read: 299 

409.1678 Safe harbor for children who are victims of sexual 300 

exploitation.— 301 

(1) As used in this section, the term: 302 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for CS for SB 202 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì855154+Î855154 

 

Page 12 of 21 

2/27/2012 5:52:55 PM 576-04071-12 

(a) “Child advocate” means an employee of a short-term safe 303 

house who has been trained to work with and advocate for the 304 

needs of sexually exploited children. The advocate shall 305 

accompany the child to all court appearances, meetings with law 306 

enforcement officials, and the state attorney’s office and shall 307 

serve as a liaison between the short-term safe house and the 308 

court. 309 

(b) “Safe house” means a living environment that has set 310 

aside gender-specific, separate, and distinct living quarters 311 

for sexually exploited children who have been adjudicated 312 

dependent or delinquent and need to reside in a secure 313 

residential facility with staff members who are awake 24 hours a 314 

day. A safe house shall be operated by a licensed family foster 315 

home or residential child-caring agency as defined in s. 316 

409.175, including a runaway youth center as defined in s. 317 

409.441. Each facility must be appropriately licensed in this 318 

state as a residential child-caring agency as defined in s. 319 

409.175 and must have applied for accreditation within 1 year 320 

after being licensed. A safe house serving children who have 321 

been sexually exploited must have available staff or contract 322 

personnel who have the clinical expertise, credentials, and 323 

training to provide services identified in paragraph (2)(b). 324 

(c) “Secure” means that a facility providing services is 325 

supervised 24 hours a day by staff members who are awake while 326 

on duty. 327 

(d) “Sexually exploited child” means a dependent child who 328 

has suffered sexual exploitation as defined in s. 39.01(67)(g) 329 

and is ineligible for relief and benefits under the federal 330 

Trafficking Victims Protection Act, 22 U.S.C. ss. 7101 et seq. 331 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for CS for SB 202 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì855154+Î855154 

 

Page 13 of 21 

2/27/2012 5:52:55 PM 576-04071-12 

(e) “Short-term safe house” means a shelter operated by a 332 

licensed residential child-caring agency as defined in s. 333 

409.175, including a runaway youth center as defined in s. 334 

409.441, that has set aside gender-specific, separate, and 335 

distinct living quarters for sexually exploited children. In 336 

addition to shelter, the house shall provide services and care 337 

to sexually exploited children, including food, clothing, 338 

medical care, counseling, and appropriate crisis-intervention 339 

services at the time they are taken into custody by law 340 

enforcement officials or department personnel. 341 

(2)(a) Notwithstanding any other law, pursuant to rules of 342 

the department, each circuit of the department shall address the 343 

child welfare service needs of sexually exploited children as a 344 

component of the circuit’s master plan. This determination shall 345 

be made in consultation with local law enforcement officials, 346 

runaway and homeless youth program providers, local probation 347 

departments, local community-based care and social services, 348 

local guardians ad litem, public defenders, state attorney’s 349 

offices, and child advocates and services providers who work 350 

directly with sexually exploited youth. 351 

(b) The lead agency, not-for-profit agency, or local 352 

governmental entity providing safe-house services is responsible 353 

for security, crisis-intervention services, general counseling 354 

and victim-witness counseling, a comprehensive assessment, 355 

residential care, transportation, access to behavioral health 356 

services, recreational activities, food, clothing, supplies, 357 

infant care, and miscellaneous expenses associated with caring 358 

for these children; for necessary arrangement for or provision 359 

of educational services, including life skills services and 360 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for CS for SB 202 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì855154+Î855154 

 

Page 14 of 21 

2/27/2012 5:52:55 PM 576-04071-12 

planning services for the successful transition of residents 361 

back to the community; and for ensuring necessary and 362 

appropriate health care and dental care. 363 

(c) This section does not prohibit any provider of these 364 

services from appropriately billing Medicaid for services 365 

rendered, from contracting with a local school district for 366 

educational services, or from obtaining federal or local funding 367 

for services provided, as long as two or more funding sources do 368 

not pay for the same specific service that has been provided to 369 

a child. 370 

(d) The lead agency, not-for-profit agency, or local 371 

governmental entity providing safe-house services has the legal 372 

authority for children served in a safe-house program, as 373 

provided in chapter 39 or this chapter, as appropriate, to 374 

enroll the child in school, to sign for a driver license for the 375 

child, to cosign loans and insurance for the child, to sign for 376 

medical treatment of the child, and to authorize other such 377 

activities. 378 

(e) All of the services specified in this section may, to 379 

the extent possible provided by law and with funding authorized, 380 

be available to all sexually exploited children whether they are 381 

accessed voluntarily, as a condition of probation, through a 382 

diversion program, through a proceeding under chapter 39, or 383 

through a referral from a local community-based care or social 384 

service agency. 385 

(3) The local circuit administrator may, to the extent that 386 

funds are available, in conjunction with local law enforcement 387 

officials, contract with an appropriate not-for-profit agency 388 

having experience working with sexually exploited children to 389 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for CS for SB 202 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì855154+Î855154 

 

Page 15 of 21 

2/27/2012 5:52:55 PM 576-04071-12 

train law enforcement officials who are likely to encounter 390 

sexually exploited children in the course of their law 391 

enforcement duties on the provisions of this section and how to 392 

identify and obtain appropriate services for sexually exploited 393 

children. Circuits may work cooperatively to provide such 394 

training, and such training may be provided on a regional basis. 395 

The department shall assist circuits in obtaining any available 396 

funds for the purposes of conducting law enforcement training 397 

from the Office of Juvenile Justice and Delinquency Prevention 398 

of the United States Department of Justice. 399 

(4) The department may adopt rules necessary to administer 400 

this section. 401 

Section 7. Section 796.07, Florida Statutes, is amended to 402 

read: 403 

796.07 Prohibiting prostitution and related acts, etc.; 404 

evidence; penalties; definitions.— 405 

(1) As used in this section: 406 

(a) “Prostitution” means the giving or receiving of the 407 

body for sexual activity for hire but excludes sexual activity 408 

between spouses. 409 

(b) “Lewdness” means any indecent or obscene act. 410 

(c) “Assignation” means the making of any appointment or 411 

engagement for prostitution or lewdness, or any act in 412 

furtherance of such appointment or engagement. 413 

(d) “Sexual activity” means oral, anal, or vaginal 414 

penetration by, or union with, the sexual organ of another; anal 415 

or vaginal penetration of another by any other object; or the 416 

handling or fondling of the sexual organ of another for the 417 

purpose of masturbation; however, the term does not include acts 418 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for CS for SB 202 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì855154+Î855154 

 

Page 16 of 21 

2/27/2012 5:52:55 PM 576-04071-12 

done for bona fide medical purposes. 419 

(2) It is unlawful: 420 

(a) To own, establish, maintain, or operate any place, 421 

structure, building, or conveyance for the purpose of lewdness, 422 

assignation, or prostitution. 423 

(b) To offer, or to offer or agree to secure, another for 424 

the purpose of prostitution or for any other lewd or indecent 425 

act. 426 

(c) To receive, or to offer or agree to receive, any person 427 

into any place, structure, building, or conveyance for the 428 

purpose of prostitution, lewdness, or assignation, or to permit 429 

any person to remain there for such purpose. 430 

(d) To direct, take, or transport, or to offer or agree to 431 

direct, take, or transport, any person to any place, structure, 432 

or building, or to any other person, with knowledge or 433 

reasonable cause to believe that the purpose of such directing, 434 

taking, or transporting is prostitution, lewdness, or 435 

assignation. 436 

(e) To offer to commit, or to commit, or to engage in, 437 

prostitution, lewdness, or assignation. 438 

(f) To solicit, induce, entice, or procure another to 439 

commit prostitution, lewdness, or assignation. 440 

(g) To reside in, enter, or remain in, any place, 441 

structure, or building, or to enter or remain in any conveyance, 442 

for the purpose of prostitution, lewdness, or assignation. 443 

(h) To aid, abet, or participate in any of the acts or 444 

things enumerated in this subsection. 445 

(i) To purchase the services of any person engaged in 446 

prostitution. 447 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for CS for SB 202 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì855154+Î855154 

 

Page 17 of 21 

2/27/2012 5:52:55 PM 576-04071-12 

(3)(a) In the trial of a person charged with a violation of 448 

this section, testimony concerning the reputation of any place, 449 

structure, building, or conveyance involved in the charge, 450 

testimony concerning the reputation of any person residing in, 451 

operating, or frequenting such place, structure, building, or 452 

conveyance, and testimony concerning the reputation of the 453 

defendant is admissible in evidence in support of the charge. 454 

(b) Notwithstanding any other provision of law, a police 455 

officer may testify as an offended party in an action regarding 456 

charges filed pursuant to this section. 457 

(4) A person who violates any provision of this section 458 

commits: 459 

(a) A misdemeanor of the second degree for a first 460 

violation, punishable as provided in s. 775.082 or s. 775.083. 461 

(b) A misdemeanor of the first degree for a second 462 

violation, punishable as provided in s. 775.082 or s. 775.083. 463 

(c) A felony of the third degree for a third or subsequent 464 

violation, punishable as provided in s. 775.082, s. 775.083, or 465 

s. 775.084. 466 

(5) A person who is charged with a third or subsequent 467 

violation of this section shall be offered admission to a 468 

pretrial intervention program or a substance-abuse treatment 469 

program as provided in s. 948.08. 470 

(6) A person who violates paragraph (2)(f) shall be 471 

assessed a civil penalty of $5,000 $500 if the violation results 472 

in any judicial disposition other than acquittal or dismissal. 473 

Of the proceeds from each penalty penalties assessed under this 474 

subsection, the first $500 shall be paid to the circuit court 475 

administrator for the sole purpose of paying the administrative 476 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for CS for SB 202 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì855154+Î855154 

 

Page 18 of 21 

2/27/2012 5:52:55 PM 576-04071-12 

costs of treatment-based drug court programs provided under s. 477 

397.334. The remainder of the penalty assessed shall be 478 

deposited in the Operations and Maintenance Trust Fund of the 479 

Department of Children and Family Services for the sole purpose 480 

of funding safe houses and short-term safe houses as provided in 481 

s. 409.1678. 482 

Section 8. Section 960.065, Florida Statutes, is amended to 483 

read: 484 

960.065 Eligibility for awards.— 485 

(1) Except as provided in subsection (2), the following 486 

persons shall be eligible for awards pursuant to this chapter: 487 

(a) A victim. 488 

(b) An intervenor. 489 

(c) A surviving spouse, parent or guardian, sibling, or 490 

child of a deceased victim or intervenor. 491 

(d) Any other person who is dependent for his or her 492 

principal support upon a deceased victim or intervenor. 493 

(2) Any claim filed by or on behalf of a person who: 494 

(a) Committed or aided in the commission of the crime upon 495 

which the claim for compensation was based; 496 

(b) Was engaged in an unlawful activity at the time of the 497 

crime upon which the claim for compensation is based; 498 

(c) Was in custody or confined, regardless of conviction, 499 

in a county or municipal detention facility, a state or federal 500 

correctional facility, or a juvenile detention or commitment 501 

facility at the time of the crime upon which the claim for 502 

compensation is based; 503 

(d) Has been adjudicated as a habitual felony offender, 504 

habitual violent offender, or violent career criminal under s. 505 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for CS for SB 202 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì855154+Î855154 

 

Page 19 of 21 

2/27/2012 5:52:55 PM 576-04071-12 

775.084; or 506 

(e) Has been adjudicated guilty of a forcible felony 507 

offense as described in s. 776.08, 508 

 509 

is ineligible shall not be eligible for an award. 510 

(3) Any claim filed by or on behalf of a person who was in 511 

custody or confined, regardless of adjudication, in a county or 512 

municipal facility, a state or federal correctional facility, or 513 

a juvenile detention, commitment, or assessment facility at the 514 

time of the crime upon which the claim is based, who has been 515 

adjudicated as a habitual felony offender under s. 775.084, or 516 

who has been adjudicated guilty of a forcible felony offense as 517 

described in s. 776.08 renders the person ineligible, shall not 518 

be eligible for an award. Notwithstanding the foregoing, upon a 519 

finding by the Crime Victims’ Services Office of the existence 520 

of mitigating or special circumstances that would render such a 521 

disqualification unjust, an award may be approved. A decision 522 

that mitigating or special circumstances do not exist in a case 523 

subject to this section does shall not constitute final agency 524 

action subject to review pursuant to ss. 120.569 and 120.57. 525 

(4) Payment may not be made under this chapter if the 526 

person who committed the crime upon which the claim is based 527 

will receive any direct or indirect financial benefit from such 528 

payment, unless such benefit is minimal or inconsequential. 529 

Payment may not be denied based on the victim’s familial 530 

relationship to the offender or based upon the sharing of a 531 

residence by the victim and offender, except to prevent unjust 532 

enrichment of the offender. 533 

(5) A person is not ineligible for an award pursuant to 534 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for CS for SB 202 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì855154+Î855154 

 

Page 20 of 21 

2/27/2012 5:52:55 PM 576-04071-12 

paragraph (2)(a), paragraph (2)(b), or paragraph (2)(c) if that 535 

person is a victim of sexual exploitation of a child as defined 536 

in s. 39.01(67)(g). 537 

Section 9. Paragraph (b) of subsection (2) of section 538 

985.115, Florida Statutes, is amended to read: 539 

985.115 Release or delivery from custody.— 540 

(2) Unless otherwise ordered by the court under s. 985.255 541 

or s. 985.26, and unless there is a need to hold the child, a 542 

person taking a child into custody shall attempt to release the 543 

child as follows: 544 

(b) Contingent upon specific appropriation, to a shelter 545 

approved by the department or to an authorized agent or short-546 

term safe house under s. 39.401(2)(b). 547 

Section 10. This act shall take effect January 1, 2013. 548 

 549 

================= T I T L E  A M E N D M E N T ================ 550 

And the title is amended as follows: 551 

 552 

Delete everything before the enacting clause 553 

and insert: 554 

 555 

A bill to be entitled 556 

An act relating to sexual exploitation; providing a 557 

short title; amending s. 39.001, F.S.; providing 558 

legislative intent and goals; conforming cross-559 

references; amending s. 39.01, F.S.; revising the 560 

definitions of the terms “abuse,” “child who is found 561 

to be dependent,” and “sexual abuse of a child”; 562 

amending s. 39.401, F.S.; authorizing delivery of 563 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for CS for SB 202 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì855154+Î855154 

 

Page 21 of 21 

2/27/2012 5:52:55 PM 576-04071-12 

children alleged to be dependent and sexually 564 

exploited to short-term safe houses; creating s. 565 

39.524, F.S.; requiring assessment of certain children 566 

for placement in a safe house; providing for use of 567 

such assessments; requiring an annual report 568 

concerning safe-house placements; creating s. 569 

409.1678, F.S.; providing definitions; requiring 570 

circuits of the Department of Children and Family 571 

Services to address child welfare service needs of 572 

sexually exploited children as a component of their 573 

master plans; providing duties, responsibilities, and 574 

requirements for safe houses and their operators; 575 

providing for training for law enforcement officials 576 

who are likely to encounter sexually exploited 577 

children; authorizing rulemaking; amending s. 796.07, 578 

F.S.; providing for an increased civil penalty for 579 

soliciting another to commit prostitution or related 580 

acts; providing for the disposition of proceeds; 581 

amending s. 960.065, F.S.; allowing victim 582 

compensation for sexually exploited children; amending 583 

s. 985.115, F.S.; conforming provisions; providing an 584 

effective date. 585 



Florida Senate - 2012 CS for CS for SB 202 

 

 

 

By the Committees on Budget Subcommittee on Criminal and Civil 

Justice Appropriations; and Children, Families, and Elder 

Affairs; and Senator Flores 

 

 

604-02081-12 2012202c2 

Page 1 of 27 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

A bill to be entitled 1 

An act relating to sexual exploitation; providing a 2 

short title; amending s. 39.001, F.S.; providing 3 

legislative intent and goals; conforming cross-4 

references; amending s. 39.01, F.S.; revising the 5 

definitions of the terms “abuse,” “child who is found 6 

to be dependent,” and “sexual abuse of a child”; 7 

amending s. 39.401, F.S.; authorizing delivery of 8 

children alleged to be dependent and sexually 9 

exploited to short-term safe houses; amending s. 10 

39.402, F.S.; providing for a presumption that 11 

placement of a child alleged to have been sexually 12 

exploited in a short-term safe house is necessary; 13 

providing requirements for findings in a shelter 14 

hearing relating to placement of an allegedly sexually 15 

exploited child in a short-term safe house; amending 16 

s. 39.521, F.S.; providing for a presumption that 17 

placement of a child alleged to have been sexually 18 

exploited in a safe house is necessary; creating s. 19 

39.524, F.S.; requiring assessment of certain children 20 

for placement in a safe house; providing for use of 21 

such assessments; providing requirements for safe 22 

houses receiving such children; requiring an annual 23 

report concerning safe-house placements; creating s. 24 

409.1678, F.S.; providing definitions; requiring 25 

circuits of the Department of Children and Family 26 

Services to address child welfare service needs of 27 

sexually exploited children as a component of their 28 

master plans; providing duties, responsibilities, and 29 

Florida Senate - 2012 CS for CS for SB 202 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

604-02081-12 2012202c2 

Page 2 of 27 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

requirements for safe houses and their operators; 30 

providing for training for law enforcement officials 31 

who are likely to encounter sexually exploited 32 

children; amending s. 796.07, F.S.; providing for an 33 

increased civil penalty for soliciting another to 34 

commit prostitution or related acts; providing for 35 

disposition of proceeds; amending s. 960.065, F.S.; 36 

allowing victim compensation for sexually exploited 37 

children; amending s. 985.115, F.S.; conforming a 38 

provision to changes made by the act; providing an 39 

effective date. 40 

 41 

Be It Enacted by the Legislature of the State of Florida: 42 

 43 

Section 1. This act may be cited as the “Florida Safe 44 

Harbor Act.” 45 

Section 2. Subsections (4) through (12) of section 39.001, 46 

Florida Statutes, are renumbered as subsections (5) through 47 

(13), respectively, paragraph (c) of present subsection (7) and 48 

paragraph (b) of present subsection (9) are amended, and a new 49 

subsection (4) is added to that section, to read: 50 

39.001 Purposes and intent; personnel standards and 51 

screening.— 52 

(4) SEXUAL EXPLOITATION SERVICES.— 53 

(a) The Legislature recognizes that child sexual 54 

exploitation is a serious problem nationwide and in this state. 55 

The children at greatest risk of being sexually exploited are 56 

runaways and throwaways. Many of these children have a history 57 

of abuse and neglect. The vulnerability of these children starts 58 



Florida Senate - 2012 CS for CS for SB 202 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

604-02081-12 2012202c2 

Page 3 of 27 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

with isolation from family and friends. Traffickers maintain 59 

control of child victims through psychological manipulation, 60 

force, drug addiction, or the exploitation of economic, 61 

physical, or emotional vulnerability. Children exploited through 62 

the sex trade often find it difficult to trust adults because of 63 

their abusive experiences. These children make up a population 64 

that is difficult to serve and even more difficult to 65 

rehabilitate. 66 

(b) The Legislature establishes the following goals for the 67 

state related to the status and treatment of sexually exploited 68 

children in the dependency process: 69 

1. To ensure the safety of children. 70 

2. To provide for the treatment of such children as 71 

dependent children rather than as delinquents. 72 

3. To sever the bond between exploited children and 73 

traffickers and to reunite these children with their families or 74 

provide them with appropriate guardians. 75 

4. To enable such children to be willing and reliable 76 

witnesses in the prosecution of traffickers. 77 

(c) The Legislature finds that sexually exploited children 78 

need special care and services in the dependency process, 79 

including counseling, health care, substance abuse treatment, 80 

educational opportunities, and a safe environment secure from 81 

traffickers. 82 

(d) The Legislature further finds that sexually exploited 83 

children need the special care and services described in 84 

paragraph (c) independent of their citizenship, residency, 85 

alien, or immigrant status. It is the intent of the Legislature 86 

that this state provide such care and services to all sexually 87 

Florida Senate - 2012 CS for CS for SB 202 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

604-02081-12 2012202c2 

Page 4 of 27 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

exploited children in this state who are not otherwise receiving 88 

comparable services, such as those under the federal Trafficking 89 

Victims Protection Act, 22 U.S.C. ss. 7101 et seq. 90 

(8)(7) OFFICE OF ADOPTION AND CHILD PROTECTION.— 91 

(c) The office is authorized and directed to: 92 

1. Oversee the preparation and implementation of the state 93 

plan established under subsection (9) (8) and revise and update 94 

the state plan as necessary. 95 

2. Provide for or make available continuing professional 96 

education and training in the prevention of child abuse and 97 

neglect. 98 

3. Work to secure funding in the form of appropriations, 99 

gifts, and grants from the state, the Federal Government, and 100 

other public and private sources in order to ensure that 101 

sufficient funds are available for the promotion of adoption, 102 

support of adoptive families, and child abuse prevention 103 

efforts. 104 

4. Make recommendations pertaining to agreements or 105 

contracts for the establishment and development of: 106 

a. Programs and services for the promotion of adoption, 107 

support of adoptive families, and prevention of child abuse and 108 

neglect. 109 

b. Training programs for the prevention of child abuse and 110 

neglect. 111 

c. Multidisciplinary and discipline-specific training 112 

programs for professionals with responsibilities affecting 113 

children, young adults, and families. 114 

d. Efforts to promote adoption. 115 

e. Postadoptive services to support adoptive families. 116 



Florida Senate - 2012 CS for CS for SB 202 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

604-02081-12 2012202c2 

Page 5 of 27 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

5. Monitor, evaluate, and review the development and 117 

quality of local and statewide services and programs for the 118 

promotion of adoption, support of adoptive families, and 119 

prevention of child abuse and neglect and shall publish and 120 

distribute an annual report of its findings on or before January 121 

1 of each year to the Governor, the Speaker of the House of 122 

Representatives, the President of the Senate, the head of each 123 

state agency affected by the report, and the appropriate 124 

substantive committees of the Legislature. The report shall 125 

include: 126 

a. A summary of the activities of the office. 127 

b. A summary of the adoption data collected and reported to 128 

the federal Adoption and Foster Care Analysis and Reporting 129 

System (AFCARS) and the federal Administration for Children and 130 

Families. 131 

c. A summary of the child abuse prevention data collected 132 

and reported to the National Child Abuse and Neglect Data System 133 

(NCANDS) and the federal Administration for Children and 134 

Families. 135 

d. A summary detailing the timeliness of the adoption 136 

process for children adopted from within the child welfare 137 

system. 138 

e. Recommendations, by state agency, for the further 139 

development and improvement of services and programs for the 140 

promotion of adoption, support of adoptive families, and 141 

prevention of child abuse and neglect. 142 

f. Budget requests, adoption promotion and support needs, 143 

and child abuse prevention program needs by state agency. 144 

6. Work with the direct-support organization established 145 

Florida Senate - 2012 CS for CS for SB 202 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

604-02081-12 2012202c2 

Page 6 of 27 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

under s. 39.0011 to receive financial assistance. 146 

(10)(9) FUNDING AND SUBSEQUENT PLANS.— 147 

(b) The office and the other agencies and organizations 148 

listed in paragraph (9)(8)(a) shall readdress the state plan and 149 

make necessary revisions every 5 years, at a minimum. Such 150 

revisions shall be submitted to the Speaker of the House of 151 

Representatives and the President of the Senate no later than 152 

June 30 of each year divisible by 5. At least biennially, the 153 

office shall review the state plan and make any necessary 154 

revisions based on changing needs and program evaluation 155 

results. An annual progress report shall be submitted to update 156 

the state plan in the years between the 5-year intervals. In 157 

order to avoid duplication of effort, these required plans may 158 

be made a part of or merged with other plans required by either 159 

the state or Federal Government, so long as the portions of the 160 

other state or Federal Government plan that constitute the state 161 

plan for the promotion of adoption, support of adoptive 162 

families, and prevention of child abuse, abandonment, and 163 

neglect are clearly identified as such and are provided to the 164 

Speaker of the House of Representatives and the President of the 165 

Senate as required above. 166 

Section 3. Subsections (2) and (15) and paragraph (g) of 167 

subsection (67) of section 39.01, Florida Statutes, are amended 168 

to read: 169 

39.01 Definitions.—When used in this chapter, unless the 170 

context otherwise requires: 171 

(2) “Abuse” means any willful act or threatened act that 172 

results in any physical, mental, or sexual abuse, injury, or 173 

harm that causes or is likely to cause the child’s physical, 174 



Florida Senate - 2012 CS for CS for SB 202 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

604-02081-12 2012202c2 

Page 7 of 27 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

mental, or emotional health to be significantly impaired. Abuse 175 

of a child includes acts or omissions. Corporal discipline of a 176 

child by a parent or legal custodian for disciplinary purposes 177 

does not in itself constitute abuse when it does not result in 178 

harm to the child. 179 

(15) “Child who is found to be dependent” means a child 180 

who, pursuant to this chapter, is found by the court: 181 

(a) To have been abandoned, abused, or neglected by the 182 

child’s parent or parents or legal custodians; 183 

(b) To have been surrendered to the department, the former 184 

Department of Health and Rehabilitative Services, or a licensed 185 

child-placing agency for purpose of adoption; 186 

(c) To have been voluntarily placed with a licensed child-187 

caring agency, a licensed child-placing agency, an adult 188 

relative, the department, or the former Department of Health and 189 

Rehabilitative Services, after which placement, under the 190 

requirements of this chapter, a case plan has expired and the 191 

parent or parents or legal custodians have failed to 192 

substantially comply with the requirements of the plan; 193 

(d) To have been voluntarily placed with a licensed child-194 

placing agency for the purposes of subsequent adoption, and a 195 

parent or parents have signed a consent pursuant to the Florida 196 

Rules of Juvenile Procedure; 197 

(e) To have no parent or legal custodians capable of 198 

providing supervision and care; or 199 

(f) To be at substantial risk of imminent abuse, 200 

abandonment, or neglect by the parent or parents or legal 201 

custodians; or 202 

(g) To have been sexually exploited and to have no parent, 203 

Florida Senate - 2012 CS for CS for SB 202 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

604-02081-12 2012202c2 

Page 8 of 27 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

legal custodian, or responsible adult relative currently known 204 

and capable of providing the necessary and appropriate 205 

supervision and care. 206 

(67) “Sexual abuse of a child” means one or more of the 207 

following acts: 208 

(g) The sexual exploitation of a child, which includes 209 

allowing, encouraging, or forcing a child to: 210 

1. Solicit for or engage in prostitution; or 211 

2. Engage in a sexual performance, as defined by chapter 212 

827; or 213 

3. Participate in the trade of sex trafficking as provided 214 

in s. 796.035. 215 

Section 4. Paragraph (b) of subsection (2) and paragraph 216 

(b) of subsection (3) of section 39.401, Florida Statutes, are 217 

amended to read: 218 

39.401 Taking a child alleged to be dependent into custody; 219 

law enforcement officers and authorized agents of the 220 

department.— 221 

(2) If the law enforcement officer takes the child into 222 

custody, that officer shall: 223 

(b) Deliver the child to an authorized agent of the 224 

department, stating the facts by reason of which the child was 225 

taken into custody and sufficient information to establish 226 

probable cause that the child is abandoned, abused, or 227 

neglected, or otherwise dependent. In the case of a child for 228 

whom there is probable cause to believe he or she has been 229 

sexually exploited, the law enforcement officer may deliver the 230 

child to the appropriate short-term safe house as provided for 231 

in s. 409.1678 if a short-term safe house is available. 232 



Florida Senate - 2012 CS for CS for SB 202 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

604-02081-12 2012202c2 

Page 9 of 27 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

 233 

For cases involving allegations of abandonment, abuse, or 234 

neglect, or other dependency cases, within 3 days after such 235 

release or within 3 days after delivering the child to an 236 

authorized agent of the department, the law enforcement officer 237 

who took the child into custody shall make a full written report 238 

to the department. 239 

(3) If the child is taken into custody by, or is delivered 240 

to, an authorized agent of the department, the agent shall 241 

review the facts supporting the removal with an attorney 242 

representing the department. The purpose of the review is to 243 

determine whether there is probable cause for the filing of a 244 

shelter petition. 245 

(b) If the facts are sufficient and the child has not been 246 

returned to the custody of the parent or legal custodian, the 247 

department shall file the petition and schedule a hearing, and 248 

the attorney representing the department shall request that a 249 

shelter hearing be held within 24 hours after the removal of the 250 

child. While awaiting the shelter hearing, the authorized agent 251 

of the department may place the child in licensed shelter care, 252 

or in a short-term safe house if the child is a sexually 253 

exploited child, or may release the child to a parent or legal 254 

custodian or responsible adult relative or the adoptive parent 255 

of the child’s sibling who shall be given priority consideration 256 

over a licensed placement, or a responsible adult approved by 257 

the department if this is in the best interests of the child. 258 

Placement of a child which is not in a licensed shelter must be 259 

preceded by a criminal history records check as required under 260 

s. 39.0138. In addition, the department may authorize placement 261 

Florida Senate - 2012 CS for CS for SB 202 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

604-02081-12 2012202c2 

Page 10 of 27 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

of a housekeeper/homemaker in the home of a child alleged to be 262 

dependent until the parent or legal custodian assumes care of 263 

the child. 264 

Section 5. Subsection (2) and paragraphs (a), (d), and (h) 265 

of subsection (8) of section 39.402, Florida Statutes, are 266 

amended to read: 267 

39.402 Placement in a shelter.— 268 

(2) A child taken into custody may be placed or continued 269 

in a shelter only if one or more of the criteria in subsection 270 

(1) apply applies and the court has made a specific finding of 271 

fact regarding the necessity for removal of the child from the 272 

home and has made a determination that the provision of 273 

appropriate and available services will not eliminate the need 274 

for placement. In the case of a child who is alleged to have 275 

been sexually exploited, there is a rebuttable presumption that 276 

placement in a short-term safe house is necessary. 277 

(8)(a) A child may not be held in a shelter longer than 24 278 

hours unless an order so directing is entered by the court after 279 

a shelter hearing. In the interval until the shelter hearing is 280 

held, the decision to place the child in a shelter or release 281 

the child from a shelter lies with the protective investigator. 282 

In the case of a child who is alleged to have been sexually 283 

exploited, there is a rebuttable presumption that placement in a 284 

short-term safe house is necessary. 285 

(d) At the shelter hearing, in order to continue the child 286 

in shelter care: 287 

1. The department must establish probable cause that 288 

reasonable grounds for removal exist and that the provision of 289 

appropriate and available services will not eliminate the need 290 



Florida Senate - 2012 CS for CS for SB 202 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

604-02081-12 2012202c2 

Page 11 of 27 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

for placement; 291 

2. The department must establish probable cause for the 292 

belief that the child has been sexually exploited and, 293 

therefore, that placement in a short-term safe house is the most 294 

appropriate environment for the child; or 295 

3.2. The court must determine that additional time is 296 

necessary, which may not exceed 72 hours, in which to obtain and 297 

review documents pertaining to the family in order to 298 

appropriately determine the risk to the child during which time 299 

the child shall remain in the department’s custody, if so 300 

ordered by the court. 301 

(h) The order for placement of a child in shelter care must 302 

identify the parties present at the hearing and must contain 303 

written findings: 304 

1. That placement in shelter care is necessary based on the 305 

criteria in subsections (1) and (2). 306 

2. That placement in shelter care is in the best interest 307 

of the child. 308 

3. That continuation of the child in the home is contrary 309 

to the welfare of the child because the home situation presents 310 

a substantial and immediate danger to the child’s physical, 311 

mental, or emotional health or safety which cannot be mitigated 312 

by the provision of preventive services. 313 

4. That based upon the allegations of the petition for 314 

placement in shelter care, there is probable cause to believe 315 

that the child is dependent or that the court needs additional 316 

time, which may not exceed 72 hours, in which to obtain and 317 

review documents pertaining to the family in order to 318 

appropriately determine the risk to the child. 319 

Florida Senate - 2012 CS for CS for SB 202 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

604-02081-12 2012202c2 

Page 12 of 27 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

5. That the department has made reasonable efforts to 320 

prevent or eliminate the need for removal of the child from the 321 

home. A finding of reasonable effort by the department to 322 

prevent or eliminate the need for removal may be made and the 323 

department is deemed to have made reasonable efforts to prevent 324 

or eliminate the need for removal if: 325 

a. The first contact of the department with the family 326 

occurs during an emergency; 327 

b. The appraisal of the home situation by the department 328 

indicates that the home situation presents a substantial and 329 

immediate danger to the child’s physical, mental, or emotional 330 

health or safety which cannot be mitigated by the provision of 331 

preventive services; 332 

c. The child cannot safely remain at home, either because 333 

there are no preventive services that can ensure the health and 334 

safety of the child or because, even with appropriate and 335 

available services being provided, the health and safety of the 336 

child cannot be ensured; 337 

d. The child has been sexually exploited; or 338 

e.d. The parent or legal custodian is alleged to have 339 

committed any of the acts listed as grounds for expedited 340 

termination of parental rights in s. 39.806(1)(f)-(i). 341 

6. That the court notified the parents, relatives that are 342 

providing out-of-home care for the child, or legal custodians of 343 

the time, date, and location of the next dependency hearing and 344 

of the importance of the active participation of the parents, 345 

relatives that are providing out-of-home care for the child, or 346 

legal custodians in all proceedings and hearings. 347 

7. That the court notified the parents or legal custodians 348 



Florida Senate - 2012 CS for CS for SB 202 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

604-02081-12 2012202c2 

Page 13 of 27 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

of their right to counsel to represent them at the shelter 349 

hearing and at each subsequent hearing or proceeding, and the 350 

right of the parents to appointed counsel, pursuant to the 351 

procedures set forth in s. 39.013. 352 

8. That the court notified relatives who are providing out-353 

of-home care for a child as a result of the shelter petition 354 

being granted that they have the right to attend all subsequent 355 

hearings, to submit reports to the court, and to speak to the 356 

court regarding the child, if they so desire. 357 

Section 6. Paragraph (f) of subsection (1) and paragraph 358 

(d) of subsection (3) of section 39.521, Florida Statutes, are 359 

amended to read: 360 

39.521 Disposition hearings; powers of disposition.— 361 

(1) A disposition hearing shall be conducted by the court, 362 

if the court finds that the facts alleged in the petition for 363 

dependency were proven in the adjudicatory hearing, or if the 364 

parents or legal custodians have consented to the finding of 365 

dependency or admitted the allegations in the petition, have 366 

failed to appear for the arraignment hearing after proper 367 

notice, or have not been located despite a diligent search 368 

having been conducted. 369 

(f) If the court places the child in an out-of-home 370 

placement, the disposition order must include a written 371 

determination that the child cannot safely remain at home with 372 

reunification or family preservation services and that removal 373 

of the child is necessary to protect the child. If the child is 374 

removed before the disposition hearing, the order must also 375 

include a written determination as to whether, after removal, 376 

the department made a reasonable effort to reunify the parent 377 

Florida Senate - 2012 CS for CS for SB 202 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

604-02081-12 2012202c2 

Page 14 of 27 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

and child. Reasonable efforts to reunify are not required if the 378 

court finds that any of the acts listed in s. 39.806(1)(f)-(l) 379 

have occurred. The department has the burden of demonstrating 380 

that it made reasonable efforts. 381 

1. For the purposes of this paragraph, the term “reasonable 382 

effort” means the exercise of reasonable diligence and care by 383 

the department to provide the services ordered by the court or 384 

delineated in the case plan. 385 

2. In support of its determination as to whether reasonable 386 

efforts have been made, the court shall: 387 

a. Enter written findings as to whether prevention or 388 

reunification efforts were indicated. 389 

b. If prevention or reunification efforts were indicated, 390 

include a brief written description of what appropriate and 391 

available prevention and reunification efforts were made. 392 

c. Indicate in writing why further efforts could or could 393 

not have prevented or shortened the separation of the parent and 394 

child. 395 

3. A court may find that the department made a reasonable 396 

effort to prevent or eliminate the need for removal if: 397 

a. The first contact of the department with the family 398 

occurs during an emergency; 399 

b. The appraisal by the department of the home situation 400 

indicates a substantial and immediate danger to the child’s 401 

safety or physical, mental, or emotional health which cannot be 402 

mitigated by the provision of preventive services; 403 

c. The child cannot safely remain at home, because there 404 

are no preventive services that can ensure the health and safety 405 

of the child or, even with appropriate and available services 406 



Florida Senate - 2012 CS for CS for SB 202 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

604-02081-12 2012202c2 

Page 15 of 27 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

being provided, the health and safety of the child cannot be 407 

ensured. There is a rebuttable presumption that any child who 408 

has been found to be a victim of sexual exploitation as defined 409 

in s. 39.01(67)(g) meets the terms of this sub-subparagraph; or 410 

d. The parent is alleged to have committed any of the acts 411 

listed as grounds for expedited termination of parental rights 412 

under s. 39.806(1)(f)-(l). 413 

4. A reasonable effort by the department for reunification 414 

has been made if the appraisal of the home situation by the 415 

department indicates that the severity of the conditions of 416 

dependency is such that reunification efforts are inappropriate. 417 

The department has the burden of demonstrating to the court that 418 

reunification efforts were inappropriate. 419 

5. If the court finds that the prevention or reunification 420 

effort of the department would not have permitted the child to 421 

remain safely at home, the court may commit the child to the 422 

temporary legal custody of the department or take any other 423 

action authorized by this chapter. 424 

(3) When any child is adjudicated by a court to be 425 

dependent, the court shall determine the appropriate placement 426 

for the child as follows: 427 

(d) If the child cannot be safely placed in a nonlicensed 428 

placement, the court shall commit the child to the temporary 429 

legal custody of the department. Such commitment invests in the 430 

department all rights and responsibilities of a legal custodian. 431 

The department shall not return any child to the physical care 432 

and custody of the person from whom the child was removed, 433 

except for court-approved visitation periods, without the 434 

approval of the court. Any order for visitation or other contact 435 

Florida Senate - 2012 CS for CS for SB 202 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

604-02081-12 2012202c2 

Page 16 of 27 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

must conform to the provisions of s. 39.0139. There is a 436 

rebuttable presumption that any child who has been found to be a 437 

victim of sexual exploitation as defined in s. 39.01(67)(g) be 438 

committed to a safe house as provided for in s. 409.1678. The 439 

term of such commitment continues until terminated by the court 440 

or until the child reaches the age of 18. After the child is 441 

committed to the temporary legal custody of the department, all 442 

further proceedings under this section are governed by this 443 

chapter. 444 

 445 

Protective supervision continues until the court terminates it 446 

or until the child reaches the age of 18, whichever date is 447 

first. Protective supervision shall be terminated by the court 448 

whenever the court determines that permanency has been achieved 449 

for the child, whether with a parent, another relative, or a 450 

legal custodian, and that protective supervision is no longer 451 

needed. The termination of supervision may be with or without 452 

retaining jurisdiction, at the court’s discretion, and shall in 453 

either case be considered a permanency option for the child. The 454 

order terminating supervision by the department shall set forth 455 

the powers of the custodian of the child and shall include the 456 

powers ordinarily granted to a guardian of the person of a minor 457 

unless otherwise specified. Upon the court’s termination of 458 

supervision by the department, no further judicial reviews are 459 

required, so long as permanency has been established for the 460 

child. 461 

Section 7. Section 39.524, Florida Statutes, is created to 462 

read: 463 

39.524 Safe-harbor placement.— 464 



Florida Senate - 2012 CS for CS for SB 202 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

604-02081-12 2012202c2 

Page 17 of 27 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

(1) Except as provided in s. 39.407, any dependent child 6 465 

years of age or older who has been found to be a victim of 466 

sexual exploitation as defined in s. 39.01(67)(g) must be 467 

assessed for placement in a safe house as provided in s. 468 

409.1678. The assessment shall be conducted by the department or 469 

its agent and shall incorporate and address current and 470 

historical information from any law enforcement reports; 471 

psychological testing or evaluation that has occurred; current 472 

and historical information from the guardian ad litem, if one 473 

has been assigned; current and historical information from any 474 

current therapist, teacher, or other professional who has 475 

knowledge of the child and has worked with the child; and any 476 

other information concerning the availability and suitability of 477 

safe-house placement. If such placement is determined to be 478 

appropriate as a result of this procedure, the child must be 479 

placed in a safe house, if one is available. As used in this 480 

section, the term “available” as it relates to a placement means 481 

a placement that is located within the circuit or that is 482 

otherwise reasonably accessible. 483 

(2) The results of the assessment described in subsection 484 

(1) and the actions taken as a result of the assessment must be 485 

included in the next judicial review of the child. At each 486 

subsequent judicial review, the court must be advised in writing 487 

of the status of the child’s placement, with special reference 488 

regarding the stability of the placement and the permanency 489 

planning for the child. 490 

(3) Any safe house that receives children under this 491 

section shall establish special permanency teams dedicated to 492 

overcoming the special permanency challenges presented by this 493 

Florida Senate - 2012 CS for CS for SB 202 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

604-02081-12 2012202c2 

Page 18 of 27 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

population of children. Each facility shall report to the 494 

department its success in achieving permanency for children 495 

placed by the department in its care at intervals that allow the 496 

current information to be provided to the court at each judicial 497 

review for the child. 498 

(4)(a) By December 1 of each year, the department shall 499 

report to the Legislature on the placement of children in safe 500 

houses during the year, including the criteria used to determine 501 

the placement of children, the number of children who were 502 

evaluated for placement, the number of children who were placed 503 

based upon the evaluation, and the number of children who were 504 

not placed. 505 

(b) The department shall maintain data specifying the 506 

number of children who were referred to a safe house for whom 507 

placement was unavailable and the counties in which such 508 

placement was unavailable. The department shall include this 509 

data in its report under this subsection so that the Legislature 510 

may consider this information in developing the General 511 

Appropriations Act. 512 

Section 8. Section 409.1678, Florida Statutes, is created 513 

to read: 514 

409.1678 Safe harbor for children who are victims of sexual 515 

exploitation.— 516 

(1) As used in this section, the term: 517 

(a) “Child advocate” means an employee of a short-term safe 518 

house who has been trained to work with and advocate for the 519 

needs of sexually exploited children. The advocate shall 520 

accompany the child to all court appearances, meetings with law 521 

enforcement, and the state attorney’s office and shall serve as 522 



Florida Senate - 2012 CS for CS for SB 202 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

604-02081-12 2012202c2 

Page 19 of 27 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

a liaison between the short-term safe house and the court. 523 

(b) “Safe house” means a living environment that has set 524 

aside gender-specific, separate, and distinct living quarters 525 

for sexually exploited children who have been adjudicated 526 

dependent or delinquent and need to reside in a secure 527 

residential facility with staff members awake 24 hours a day. A 528 

safe house shall be operated by a licensed family foster home or 529 

residential child-caring agency as defined in s. 409.175, 530 

including a runaway youth center as defined in s. 409.441. Each 531 

facility must be appropriately licensed in this state as a 532 

residential child-caring agency as defined in s. 409.175 and 533 

must be accredited by July 1, 2013. A safe house serving 534 

children who have been sexually exploited must have available 535 

staff or contract personnel with the clinical expertise, 536 

credentials, and training to provide services identified in 537 

paragraph (2)(b). 538 

(c) “Secure” means that a child is supervised 24 hours a 539 

day by staff members who are awake while on duty. 540 

(d) “Sexually exploited child” means a dependent child who 541 

has suffered sexual exploitation as defined in s. 39.01(67)(g) 542 

and is ineligible for relief and benefits under the federal 543 

Trafficking Victims Protection Act, 22 U.S.C. ss. 7101 et seq. 544 

(e) “Short-term safe house” means a shelter operated by a 545 

licensed residential child-caring agency as defined in s. 546 

409.175, including a runaway youth center as defined in s. 547 

409.441, that has set aside gender-specific, separate, and 548 

distinct living quarters for sexually exploited children. In 549 

addition to shelter, the house shall provide services and care 550 

to sexually exploited children, including food, clothing, 551 

Florida Senate - 2012 CS for CS for SB 202 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

604-02081-12 2012202c2 

Page 20 of 27 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

medical care, counseling, and appropriate crisis intervention 552 

services at the time they are taken into custody by law 553 

enforcement or the department. 554 

(2)(a) Notwithstanding any other provision of law, pursuant 555 

to regulations of the department, every circuit of the 556 

department shall address the child welfare service needs of 557 

sexually exploited children as a component of the circuit’s 558 

master plan. This determination shall be made in consultation 559 

with local law enforcement, runaway and homeless youth program 560 

providers, local probation departments, local community-based 561 

care and social services, local guardians ad litem, public 562 

defenders, state attorney’s offices, and child advocates and 563 

services providers who work directly with sexually exploited 564 

youth. 565 

(b) The lead agency, not-for-profit agency, or local 566 

government entity providing safe-house services is responsible 567 

for security, crisis intervention services, general counseling 568 

and victim-witness counseling, a comprehensive assessment, 569 

residential care, transportation, access to behavioral health 570 

services, recreational activities, food, clothing, supplies, 571 

infant care, and miscellaneous expenses associated with caring 572 

for these children; for necessary arrangement for or provision 573 

of educational services, including life skills services and 574 

planning services to successfully transition residents back to 575 

the community; and for ensuring necessary and appropriate health 576 

and dental care. 577 

(c) This section does not prohibit any provider of these 578 

services from appropriately billing Medicaid for services 579 

rendered, from contracting with a local school district for 580 



Florida Senate - 2012 CS for CS for SB 202 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

604-02081-12 2012202c2 

Page 21 of 27 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

educational services, or from obtaining federal or local funding 581 

for services provided, as long as two or more funding sources do 582 

not pay for the same specific service that has been provided to 583 

a child. 584 

(d) The lead agency, not-for-profit agency, or local 585 

government entity providing safe-house services has the legal 586 

authority for children served in a safe-house program, as 587 

provided in chapter 39 or this chapter, as appropriate, to 588 

enroll the child in school, to sign for a driver’s license for 589 

the child, to cosign loans and insurance for the child, to sign 590 

for medical treatment of the child, and to authorize other such 591 

activities. 592 

(e) All of the services created under this section may, to 593 

the extent possible provided by law, be available to all 594 

sexually exploited children whether they are accessed 595 

voluntarily, as a condition of probation, through a diversion 596 

program, through a proceeding under chapter 39, or through a 597 

referral from a local community-based care or social service 598 

agency. 599 

(3) The local circuit administrator may, to the extent that 600 

funds are available, in conjunction with local law enforcement 601 

officials, contract with an appropriate not-for-profit agency 602 

having experience working with sexually exploited children to 603 

train law enforcement officials who are likely to encounter 604 

sexually exploited children in the course of their law 605 

enforcement duties on the provisions of this section and how to 606 

identify and obtain appropriate services for sexually exploited 607 

children. Circuits may work cooperatively to provide such 608 

training, and such training may be provided on a regional basis. 609 

Florida Senate - 2012 CS for CS for SB 202 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

604-02081-12 2012202c2 

Page 22 of 27 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

The department shall assist circuits in obtaining any available 610 

funds for the purposes of conducting law enforcement training 611 

from the Office of Juvenile Justice and Delinquency Prevention 612 

of the United States Department of Justice. 613 

Section 9. Section 796.07, Florida Statutes, is amended to 614 

read: 615 

796.07 Prohibiting prostitution and related acts, etc.; 616 

evidence; penalties; definitions.— 617 

(1) As used in this section: 618 

(a) “Prostitution” means the giving or receiving of the 619 

body for sexual activity for hire but excludes sexual activity 620 

between spouses. 621 

(b) “Lewdness” means any indecent or obscene act. 622 

(c) “Assignation” means the making of any appointment or 623 

engagement for prostitution or lewdness, or any act in 624 

furtherance of such appointment or engagement. 625 

(d) “Sexual activity” means oral, anal, or vaginal 626 

penetration by, or union with, the sexual organ of another; anal 627 

or vaginal penetration of another by any other object; or the 628 

handling or fondling of the sexual organ of another for the 629 

purpose of masturbation; however, the term does not include acts 630 

done for bona fide medical purposes. 631 

(2) It is unlawful: 632 

(a) To own, establish, maintain, or operate any place, 633 

structure, building, or conveyance for the purpose of lewdness, 634 

assignation, or prostitution. 635 

(b) To offer, or to offer or agree to secure, another for 636 

the purpose of prostitution or for any other lewd or indecent 637 

act. 638 



Florida Senate - 2012 CS for CS for SB 202 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

604-02081-12 2012202c2 

Page 23 of 27 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

(c) To receive, or to offer or agree to receive, any person 639 

into any place, structure, building, or conveyance for the 640 

purpose of prostitution, lewdness, or assignation, or to permit 641 

any person to remain there for such purpose. 642 

(d) To direct, take, or transport, or to offer or agree to 643 

direct, take, or transport, any person to any place, structure, 644 

or building, or to any other person, with knowledge or 645 

reasonable cause to believe that the purpose of such directing, 646 

taking, or transporting is prostitution, lewdness, or 647 

assignation. 648 

(e) To offer to commit, or to commit, or to engage in, 649 

prostitution, lewdness, or assignation. 650 

(f) To solicit, induce, entice, or procure another to 651 

commit prostitution, lewdness, or assignation. 652 

(g) To reside in, enter, or remain in, any place, 653 

structure, or building, or to enter or remain in any conveyance, 654 

for the purpose of prostitution, lewdness, or assignation. 655 

(h) To aid, abet, or participate in any of the acts or 656 

things enumerated in this subsection. 657 

(i) To purchase the services of any person engaged in 658 

prostitution. 659 

(3)(a) In the trial of a person charged with a violation of 660 

this section, testimony concerning the reputation of any place, 661 

structure, building, or conveyance involved in the charge, 662 

testimony concerning the reputation of any person residing in, 663 

operating, or frequenting such place, structure, building, or 664 

conveyance, and testimony concerning the reputation of the 665 

defendant is admissible in evidence in support of the charge. 666 

(b) Notwithstanding any other provision of law, a police 667 

Florida Senate - 2012 CS for CS for SB 202 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

604-02081-12 2012202c2 

Page 24 of 27 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

officer may testify as an offended party in an action regarding 668 

charges filed pursuant to this section. 669 

(4) A person who violates any provision of this section 670 

commits: 671 

(a) A misdemeanor of the second degree for a first 672 

violation, punishable as provided in s. 775.082 or s. 775.083. 673 

(b) A misdemeanor of the first degree for a second 674 

violation, punishable as provided in s. 775.082 or s. 775.083. 675 

(c) A felony of the third degree for a third or subsequent 676 

violation, punishable as provided in s. 775.082, s. 775.083, or 677 

s. 775.084. 678 

(5) A person who is charged with a third or subsequent 679 

violation of this section shall be offered admission to a 680 

pretrial intervention program or a substance-abuse treatment 681 

program as provided in s. 948.08. 682 

(6) A person who violates paragraph (2)(f) shall be 683 

assessed a civil penalty of $5,000 $500 if the violation results 684 

in any judicial disposition other than acquittal or dismissal. 685 

Of the proceeds from each penalty penalties assessed under this 686 

subsection, $500 shall be paid to the circuit court 687 

administrator for the sole purpose of paying the administrative 688 

costs of treatment-based drug court programs provided under s. 689 

397.334 and $4,500 shall be paid to the Department of Children 690 

and Family Services for the sole purpose of funding safe houses 691 

and short-term safe houses as provided in s. 409.1678. 692 

Section 10. Section 960.065, Florida Statutes, is amended 693 

to read: 694 

960.065 Eligibility for awards.— 695 

(1) Except as provided in subsection (2), the following 696 



Florida Senate - 2012 CS for CS for SB 202 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

604-02081-12 2012202c2 

Page 25 of 27 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

persons shall be eligible for awards pursuant to this chapter: 697 

(a) A victim. 698 

(b) An intervenor. 699 

(c) A surviving spouse, parent or guardian, sibling, or 700 

child of a deceased victim or intervenor. 701 

(d) Any other person who is dependent for his or her 702 

principal support upon a deceased victim or intervenor. 703 

(2) Any claim filed by or on behalf of a person who: 704 

(a) Committed or aided in the commission of the crime upon 705 

which the claim for compensation was based; 706 

(b) Was engaged in an unlawful activity at the time of the 707 

crime upon which the claim for compensation is based; 708 

(c) Was in custody or confined, regardless of conviction, 709 

in a county or municipal detention facility, a state or federal 710 

correctional facility, or a juvenile detention or commitment 711 

facility at the time of the crime upon which the claim for 712 

compensation is based; 713 

(d) Has been adjudicated as a habitual felony offender, 714 

habitual violent offender, or violent career criminal under s. 715 

775.084; or 716 

(e) Has been adjudicated guilty of a forcible felony 717 

offense as described in s. 776.08, 718 

 719 

is ineligible shall not be eligible for an award. 720 

(3) Any claim filed by or on behalf of a person who was in 721 

custody or confined, regardless of adjudication, in a county or 722 

municipal facility, a state or federal correctional facility, or 723 

a juvenile detention, commitment, or assessment facility at the 724 

time of the crime upon which the claim is based, who has been 725 

Florida Senate - 2012 CS for CS for SB 202 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

604-02081-12 2012202c2 

Page 26 of 27 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

adjudicated as a habitual felony offender under s. 775.084, or 726 

who has been adjudicated guilty of a forcible felony offense as 727 

described in s. 776.08, renders the person ineligible shall not 728 

be eligible for an award. Notwithstanding the foregoing, upon a 729 

finding by the Crime Victims’ Services Office of the existence 730 

of mitigating or special circumstances that would render such a 731 

disqualification unjust, an award may be approved. A decision 732 

that mitigating or special circumstances do not exist in a case 733 

subject to this section does shall not constitute final agency 734 

action subject to review pursuant to ss. 120.569 and 120.57. 735 

(4) Payment may not be made under this chapter if the 736 

person who committed the crime upon which the claim is based 737 

will receive any direct or indirect financial benefit from such 738 

payment, unless such benefit is minimal or inconsequential. 739 

Payment may not be denied based on the victim’s familial 740 

relationship to the offender or based upon the sharing of a 741 

residence by the victim and offender, except to prevent unjust 742 

enrichment of the offender. 743 

(5) A person is not ineligible for an award pursuant to 744 

paragraph (2)(a), paragraph (2)(b), or paragraph (2)(c) if that 745 

person is a victim of sexual exploitation of a child as defined 746 

in s. 39.01(67)(g). 747 

Section 11. Paragraph (b) of subsection (2) of section 748 

985.115, Florida Statutes, is amended to read: 749 

985.115 Release or delivery from custody.— 750 

(2) Unless otherwise ordered by the court under s. 985.255 751 

or s. 985.26, and unless there is a need to hold the child, a 752 

person taking a child into custody shall attempt to release the 753 

child as follows: 754 



Florida Senate - 2012 CS for CS for SB 202 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

604-02081-12 2012202c2 

Page 27 of 27 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

(b) Contingent upon specific appropriation, to a shelter 755 

approved by the department or to an authorized agent or short-756 

term safe house under s. 39.401(2)(b). 757 

Section 12. This act shall take effect January 1, 2013. 758 















The Florida Senate 

BILL ANALYSIS AND FISCAL IMPACT STATEMENT 
(This document is based on the provisions contained in the legislation as of the latest date listed below.) 

Prepared By: The Professional Staff of the Budget Committee 

 

BILL:  CS/CS/SB 1382 

INTRODUCER:  Budget Committee; Children, Families, and Elder Affairs Committee; and Senator 

Bennett 

SUBJECT:  Service Animals 

DATE:  March 4, 2012 

 

 ANALYST  STAFF DIRECTOR  REFERENCE  ACTION 

1. Preston  Farmer  CF  Fav/CS 

2. Bradford  Rhodes  BC  Fav/CS 

3.        

4.        

5.        

6.        

 

Please see Section VIII. for Additional Information: 

A. COMMITTEE SUBSTITUTE..... X Statement of Substantial Changes 

 B. AMENDMENTS........................  Technical amendments were recommended 

   Amendments were recommended 

   Significant amendments were recommended 

 

I. Summary: 

The bill makes changes to the law relating to the rights of an individual with a disability and the 

use of a service animal, including the following: 

 

 Cites the act as the “Dawson and David Caras Act;” 

 Removes provisions relating to service animals from s. 413.08, F.S.; and  

 Creates s. 413.083, F.S., relating to the use of a service animal. The newly created section: 

o Creates definitions for the terms "individual requiring assistance", "owner", and "service 

animal" relating to the use of service animals;  

o Extends the use of service animals to a person with a psychological or neurological 

disability; 

o Provides that an individual with a disability or a person who trains service animals and is 

a student at a public or private school in this state has the right to be accompanied by a 

service animal; 

o Provides that if federal law, rule or agency requires a public accommodation to provide 

care, food, or a special location for an animal to relieve itself, that public accommodation 

must do so; 

REVISED:         



BILL: CS/CS/SB 1382   Page 2 

 

o Prohibits a person, firm or corporation, from denying or interfering with the renting, 

leasing, or purchasing of housing accommodations for an individual who requires 

assistance or for a service animal trainer. Penalties are imposed for a violation of this 

prohibition;  

o Provides that an individual with a service animal is entitled to full and equal advantages, 

facilities and privileges in all housing accommodations; 

o Provides that a trainer of service animals has the same rights, privileges and liabilities as 

an individual requiring assistance as it relates to a service animal; and  

o Creates a new second-degree misdemeanor for any person who knowingly and 

fraudulently misrepresents himself or herself as a service animal owner or trainer. 

 

There is no fiscal impact on the Department of Health. There is insignificant fiscal impact on 

local governments. 

 

This bill amends section 413.08, Florida Statutes. 

 

The bill creates section 413.083, Florida Statutes. 

 

The effective date of this legislation is July 1, 2012. 

II. Present Situation: 

Background 

The first systematic use of companion animals to assist individuals with disabilities was the 

training of dogs to assist people who are blind and visually impaired. The first guide dog in the 

United States was trained in 1929 at The Seeing Eye, Inc., in Morristown, New Jersey.
1
 For 

many years The Seeing Eye was the only training school for guide dogs in this country, which is 

why is it not uncommon to hear guide dogs called "seeing eye dogs." Since the 1960‟s, the 

practice of using companion animals to increase the physical mobility and personal 

independence of individuals with disabilities has become more widespread.
2
 

 

While guide dogs for the blind are the most commonly identified companions for people with 

disabilities, a number of other training programs have been initiated. In 1975, Canine 

Companions for Independence (CCI) pioneered the concept of the service dog, a highly trained 

canine able to provide specialized services to assist people with disabilities.
3
 CCI classifies 

specific types of service dogs by function:  

 

 Service dogs perform tasks such as operating light switches, retrieving items, pulling 

wheelchairs, and opening doors;  

 Hearing dogs assist people who are deaf or hearing impaired by alerting them to sounds such 

as telephone rings, crying infants, alarms, and people calling them by name; 

 Facility dogs work with a professional in a visitation, education or healthcare setting; and 

                                                 
1
The Seeing Eye, Inc. Retrieved February 2, 2012, from www.seeingeye.org.  

2
 Kelly Henderson, No Dogs Allowed?, Federal Policies On Access For Service Animals. Animal Welfare Information 

Center Newsletter, Summer 1996, http://www.nal.usda.gov/awic/newsletters/v7n2/7n2hende.htm.  
3
 Canine Companions for Independence. Retrieved February 2, 2012, from www.caninecompanions.org 



BILL: CS/CS/SB 1382   Page 3 

 

 Skilled companion dogs enhance independence for children and adults with physical, 

cognitive and developmental disabilities.  

 

More recently, there has been an increase in the use of what is being termed, “psychiatric service 

dogs” that are trained to work or perform tasks for the benefit of an individual disabled by 

mental illness. Psychiatric service dogs are being used with individuals diagnosed with major 

depression, bipolar disorder, schizophrenia, panic disorder, social anxiety disorder, agoraphobia, 

obsessive compulsive disorder and post-traumatic stress disorder. They are also finding their way 

into homes with autistic children.
4,5 

 

While dogs are by far the most common type of service animal, a wide variety of animals 

including cats, pot bellied pigs, capuchin monkeys, miniature horses, and birds are now being 

trained to assist individuals with disabilities. In 1979, Helping Hands, Monkey Helpers for the 

Disabled, trained and placed the first capuchin monkey as a helper and a companion to an 

individual who was paralyzed. From its inception, the organization‟s mission has been to provide 

assistance to people with the greatest needs: those individuals who have become quadriplegic as 

a result of an accident, injury, or disease.
6
 

 

Social animals, those used to address animal-assisted therapy goals, are trained and used in a 

wide variety of settings including hospitals, nursing facilities, schools, and other institutions. 

While several national organizations provide structured training and certification programs for 

these animals, most are not recognized as "service animals" under federal law.
7
 

 

                                                 
4
 The Psychiatric Dog Service Society defines a psychiatric service dog as dog that is individually trained to do work or 

perform tasks for the benefit of an individual disabled by severe mental illness. The society recommends that disabled 

individuals train their own dogs under the guidance of a „regular‟ professional dog trainer in private sessions. Retrieved 

February 3, 2012, from http://www.psychdog.org/brochures/consumer.pdf.  
5
 Heeling Allies privately trains Mental Health Service Dogs, Emotional Support Dogs and Skilled Companion Dogs that 

enrich the lives of individuals living with psychological, neurological and developmental impairments such as, Post 

Traumatic Stress Disorder (PTSD), Depressive and Anxiety Disorders, Asperger's Syndrome, and Tourette Syndrome. 

Retrieved February 3, 2012, from http://www.mentalhealthdogs.org/default.html.  
6
 Helping Hands raises, trains, and places capuchin monkeys to be service animals: the monkeys are born at a closed colony 

at Southwick's Zoo in the Boston area; they are raised in volunteer foster homes until they move to the training center. The 

monkeys are educated at the Helping Hands Carvel Foundation Training Center in Boston where they are taught essential 

helping tasks, then matched by personality and needs to a particular recipient, and finally prepared for tasks specific to the 

needs of the selected recipient. Monkeys are placed in the home of the recipient during a special placement week that 

includes eight days of set-up and on-site training by the placement team. Each monkey is supported post-placement by a 

placement specialist (including life-long health and behavioral support) and training for new tasks, when needed. Monkeys 

are provided with lifetime medical care overseen and paid for by Helping Hands, including all necessary care for chronic 

illnesses and geriatric care, by a specially selected network of veterinary and human doctors. Finally, the monkeys are given 

all necessary respite and retirement care, if needed. Retrieved February 5, 2012, from www.monkeyhelpers.org. 
7
 The Delta Society, for example, has a Pet Partners program that trains volunteers and screens volunteers and their pets for 

visiting animal programs in hospitals, nursing homes, rehabilitation centers, schools and other facilities. The Pet Partners 

program was established in 1990 to ensure that "both ends of the leash," people as well as animals, were well-prepared to 

participate in animal-assisted activity and animal-assisted therapy programs. Retrieved February 3, 2012, from 

http://www.deltasociety.org/Page.aspx?pid=259.  



BILL: CS/CS/SB 1382   Page 4 

 

Federal Law
8
 

As the use of service animals became increasingly popular, individual states and the federal 

government enacted legislation providing access rights for these animals.
9
 While all fifty states 

now have passed some legislation related to service animal access, nonetheless, when federal 

legislation provides greater protection for individuals with disabilities, it preempts local and state 

laws and regulations.
10

 The major federal legislation addressing individuals with disabilities who 

have service animals includes: 

 

Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA) 

The Americans with Disabilities Act defines an individual with a disability as someone who has 

a physical or mental impairment that substantially limits one or more major life activities; has a 

record of such an impairment; or is regarded as having such an impairment. The ADA provides 

that persons with disabilities shall not be discriminated against when applying for a job, and that 

public services and transportation shall accommodate such individuals.
11

 

 

The ADA provides that an individual with a disability is permitted to bring his or her service 

animal to publicly and privately owned businesses that serve the public such as restaurants, 

hotels, retail stores, taxicabs, theaters, concert halls, and sports facilities. The ADA requires 

these businesses to allow people with disabilities to bring their service animals onto business 

premises in whatever areas customers are generally allowed.
12

 

 

Effective March 15, 2011, the federal Department of Justice (DOJ) offered definitions relating to 

nondiscrimination on the basis of disability by public accommodations and in commercial 

facilities. According to DOJ's definitions, a service animal is "any dog that is individually trained 

to do work or perform tasks for the benefit of an individual with a disability. . ."Other species of 

animals are specifically excluded from the definition of service animals. According to DOJ, the 

"provision of emotional support, well-being, comfort, or companionship do not constitute work 

or tasks for the purposes of this definition."
13

 

 

Fair Housing Act 

The Fair Housing Act prohibits housing discrimination on the basis of race, color, religion, sex, 

disability, familial status, and national origin. Its coverage includes private housing, housing that 

receives federal financial assistance, and state and local government housing. It is unlawful to 

                                                 
8
 In addition to the Fair Housing Act and the Americans with Disabilities Act, the Air Carrier Access Act of 1986 (ACAA)  

was the first Federal legislation to directly address public access rights of people with disabilities who have service animals. 

The ACAA regulations provide one of the most specific statements of federal policy regarding accommodation of service 

animals. The act requires air carriers to permit service animals to accompany people with disabilities on flights. (14 CFR 

382.55 (a) (16).  
9
 Kelly Henderson, No Dogs Allowed?, Federal Policies On Access For Service Animals. Animal Welfare Information 

Center Newsletter, Summer 1996, http://www.nal.usda.gov/awic/newsletters/v7n2/7n2hende.htm. 
10

 U.S. Department of Justice, Civil Rights Division, Disability Rights Section. Commonly Asked Questions About Service 

Animals in Places of Business, Retrieved February 2, 2012, from http://www.ada.gov/qasrvc.htm.  
11

 42 U.S.C. 12101, et. seq. 
12

 Id. 
13

 28 C.F.R. s. 36.104. 



BILL: CS/CS/SB 1382   Page 5 

 

discriminate in any aspect of selling or renting housing or to deny a dwelling to a buyer or renter 

because of the disability of that individual, an individual associated with the buyer or renter, or 

an individual who intends to live in the residence.
14

 

 

The U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development investigates complaints of violations 

against the Fair Housing Act, including discrimination in housing.
15

 If someone is convicted of 

violating the Fair Housing Act he or she may be required to do the following: 

 

 Compensate the victim for actual damages, including humiliation, pain and suffering;  

 Provide injunctive or other equitable relief;  

 Pay the federal government a civil penalty to vindicate the public interest;
16

and  

 Pay reasonable attorney's fees and costs.
17

 

 

Florida Law 

In 2005, the Florida Legislature significantly amended the law related to service animals to more 

closely mirror the provisions of the federal Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990. 

Specifically, the legislation amended definitions and changed the manner in which state and local 

governments and public accommodation facilities must provide access to service animals that 

accompany individuals with disabilities.
18

 

 

Raising and Training Service Animals  

While the earliest formal training of guide dogs in the United States dates back 65 years, 

widespread training has only occurred during the last three decades. There are no universally 

accepted methods for training or certifying assistance dogs. However, Assistance Dogs 

International (ADI) has developed minimum training standards for its member organizations to 

follow. In addition to the training requirements, ADI has developed a Code of Standards and 

Ethics for its members and is creating minimum requirements for assistance dog partners and 

assistance dog trainers.
19

 

 

Likewise, service animal trainers are not "certified" and may be independent or affiliated with a 

service animal training school. In addition, individuals with disabilities sometimes train their 

own service animals. Although service animals are defined in the ADA, there are no criteria 

requiring identification or certification of a service animal. Public entities are prohibited from 

requiring certification of a service animal for the purpose of access.
20

 

 

                                                 
14

 42 U.S.C. s. 3601, et. seq. 
15

 U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development. Housing. Retrieved February 2, 2012, from 

http://portal.hud.gov/hudportal/HUD?src=/program_offices/fair_housing_equal_opp/enforcement.  
16

 The maximum penalties are $16,000 for a first violation and $65,000 for a third violation within seven years. 
17

 U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development. Housing. Retrieved February 2, 2012, from 

http://portal.hud.gov/hudportal/HUD?src=/program_offices/fair_housing_equal_opp/enforcement 
18

 Chapter 2005-63, L.O.F. 
19

 Assistance Dogs International. Training Standards. Retrieved February 5, 2012, from 

http://www.assistancedogsinternational.org/Standards/.  
20

 U.S. Department of Justice, Civil Rights Division, Disability Rights Section. Commonly Asked Questions About Service 

Animals in Places of Business, Retrieved February 2, 2012, from http://www.ada.gov/qasrvc.htm.  



BILL: CS/CS/SB 1382   Page 6 

 

The largest of service animal training organizations, CCI has five training centers across the 

United States, including one in Orlando, Florida.
21

 Other groups operate training facilities either 

nationally or regionally. Policies vary by organization although many facilities prepare dogs to 

serve both mobility-impaired individuals and those with hearing impairments. Although there are 

no set training criteria, service dogs, guide dogs, and hearing dogs trained by assistance animal 

schools do go through a similar pattern of training, as described below:
22

 

 

 Puppies are given to volunteer “puppy raisers” who will care for them until they are old 

enough to begin advanced training. During this phase, most puppies will be taken to 

obedience training to learn basic obedience commands. At the same time, they are socialized 

with other dogs and humans. Some puppy raisers take their puppies with them to school or 

work. The intent is to expose the dog to as many different experiences as possible so it will 

be well-mannered and not easily distracted by new sights, sounds, and smells. When in 

public, these puppies often wear capes identifying them as puppies in training. Some states 

allow puppies in training to have access to public accommodations including public 

transportation, but this varies by state.
23

 

 When puppies are 15-18 months of age they are returned to the training school to receive 

their assistance dog training. They are carefully evaluated to test their temperament and 

natural abilities. Dogs selected to continue in the training program spend additional time – 

typically 6-9 months – learning to perform specific tasks (e.g., guiding a person who is blind, 

responding to doorbells and telephones, fetching dropped items, pulling a wheelchair). Not 

every dog makes it through the training program, either because of temperament, health or 

physical problems.
24

 

 After a service dog completes its training program, it is matched with a human partner. 

Trainers attempt to match skills, physical size, and personality types of both the dog and 

human. Teams are then trained together for up to several weeks or longer, if needed, so they 

can bond and learn how to work with each other and develop proper public etiquette. During 

this phase the person also learns about caring for his or her dog, including veterinary care 

requirements, flea and tick control, grooming, and good nutrition. Once the trainer is satisfied 

the pair has sufficiently bonded and learned to work together, the team graduates. Some 

training organizations provide annual follow-up evaluations to ensure that no bad habits have 

developed and to correct any training deficiencies. At that time they also can retrain the dog 

or person if a person's functional abilities have changed.
25

 

 

While many federal laws grant access to a disabled person with their service animal, these laws 

do not apply to service animals in training or animals being fostered until they are old enough to 

begin training. Some states have implemented laws to bridge this gap in coverage to allow 

volunteers, who raise young animals for trainers or who are trainers, full access to places of 

public accommodation for the purposes of socializing and training. Some of these laws enacted 

                                                 
21

 Canine Companions for Independence. Retrieved February 5, 2012, from 

http://www.cci.org/site/c.cdKGIRNqEmG/b.4010989/k.C6DF/History.htm.  
22

 Canine Companions for Independence. Retrieved February 5, 2012, from 

http://www.cci.org/site/c.cdKGIRNqEmG/b.4011115/k.65BA/Training_assistance_dogs.htm.  
23

 Id. 
24

 Id. 
25

 Id. 



BILL: CS/CS/SB 1382   Page 7 

 

by states, however, have provisions limited to only one type of animal or to animals being raised 

or trained by “certified” centers or trainers.
26

 

 

The Animal Behavior College offers courses for people interested in becoming a certified dog 

trainer. Courses include, but are not limited to, a basic study of canines, learning theory, training, 

obedience and safety.
27

 Similar courses are also available for miniature horse trainers
28

 and 

monkey trainers.
29

 

III. Effect of Proposed Changes: 

The bill makes a number of changes to law relating to the rights of an individual with a disability 

and the use of a service animal. Specifically, the bill: 

 

 Cites the act as the “Dawson and David Caras Act;” 

 Removes provisions relating to service animals from s. 413.08, F.S.; and  

 Creates s. 413.083, F.S., relating to the use of a service animal. The newly created section: 

o Creates definitions for the terms "individual requiring assistance", "owner", and "service 

animal" relating to the use of service animals;  

o Extends the use of service animals to a person with a psychological or neurological 

disability; 

o Provides that an individual, with a disability or a person who trains service animals and is 

a student at a public or private school in this state, has the right to be accompanied by a 

service animal; 

o Provides that if federal law, rule or agency requires a public accommodation to provide 

care, food, or a special location for an animal to relieve itself, that public accommodation 

must do so; 

o Provides that an individual with a service animal is entitled to full and equal advantages, 

facilities and privileges in all housing accommodations; 

o Provides that a trainer of service animals has the same rights, privileges and liabilities as 

an individual requiring assistance as it relates to a service animal; and  

o Creates a new second-degree misdemeanor for any person who knowingly and 

fraudulently misrepresents himself or herself as a service animal owner or trainer. 

IV. Constitutional Issues: 

A. Municipality/County Mandates Restrictions: 

None. 

B. Public Records/Open Meetings Issues: 

None. 

                                                 
26

 Animal Legal and Historical Center. Michigan State College of Law, Table of State Assistance Animal Laws. Retrieved 

February 4, 2012, from http://animallaw.info/articles/ddusassistanceanimaltable.htm.  
27

 Animal Behavior College. Retrieved February 5, 2012, from http://www.animalbehaviorcollege.com/curriculum.asp.  
28

 The Guide Horse Foundation. Retrieved February 5, 2012, from http://www.guidehorse.com/training.htm.  
29

 Helping Hands, Monkey Helpers for the Disabled. Retrieved February 5, 2012, from 

http://www.monkeyhelpers.org/ourprograms/monkey-college/.  



BILL: CS/CS/SB 1382   Page 8 

 

C. Trust Funds Restrictions: 

None. 

V. Fiscal Impact Statement: 

A. Tax/Fee Issues: 

None. 

B. Private Sector Impact: 

None. 

C. Government Sector Impact: 

There is a 2nd misdemeanor penalty for those holding themselves out to be "owners" or 

"trainers" of service dogs and they are not. There is insignificant fiscal impact on local 

governments for this. 

VI. Technical Deficiencies: 

None. 

VII. Related Issues: 

None. 

VIII. Additional Information: 

A. Committee Substitute – Statement of Substantial Changes: 
(Summarizing differences between the Committee Substitute and the prior version of the bill.) 

CS/CS by Budget on March 2, 2012: 

The committee substitute: 

 Changes the language back to existing law relating to the penalty for interfering with 

the rights of an individual requiring assistance while accompanied by a service animal 

or the trainer of a service animal while engaged in the training of that animal; 

 Narrows the definition of one who knowingly and fraudulently represents himself or 

herself as an individual requiring assistance of a service animal or as the owner or 

trainer of a service animal to include the intent to receive benefits from the claim. 

 

CS by the Children, Families, and Elder Affairs Committee on February 9, 2012: 

The committee substitute is different from the original bill in that it: 

 

 Cites the act as the “Dawson and David Caras Act;” 

 Removes provisions relating to service animals from s. 413.08, F.S. and creates 

s. 413.083, F.S., relating to the use of a service animal. The newly created section: 

 



BILL: CS/CS/SB 1382   Page 9 

 

o Creates definitions for the terms "individual requiring assistance", "owner", and 

"service animal" relating to the use of service animals;  

o Provides that if federal law, rule or agency requires a public accommodation to 

provide care, food, or a special location for an animal to relieve itself, that public 

accommodation must do so; 

o Provides that a person, firm or corporation, may not deny or interfere with the 

renting, leasing, or purchasing of housing accommodations for an individual 

requiring assistance or a service animal trainer and provides penalties for 

violation;  

o Provides that a trainer of service animals has the same rights, privileges and 

liabilities as an individual requiring assistance as it relates to a service animal, but 

does not extend those rights, privileges, and liabilities to those who raise service 

animals;  

o Removes reference to “accredited school”, and 

o Removes criteria that must be met in order for trainers to have access to housing 

accommodations. 

B. Amendments: 

None. 

 This Senate Bill Analysis does not reflect the intent or official position of the bill‟s introducer or the Florida Senate. 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1382 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì610732{Î610732 

 

Page 1 of 1 

2/28/2012 1:44:07 PM 576-04208-12 

LEGISLATIVE ACTION 

Senate 

Comm: RCS 

03/03/2012 

 

 

 

. 

. 

. 

. 

. 

. 

House 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The Committee on Budget (Bennett) recommended the following: 

 

Senate Amendment  1 

 2 

Delete lines 245 - 252 3 

and insert: 4 

 5 

training of such an animal pursuant to subsection (5) commits a 6 

misdemeanor of the second degree, punishable as provided in s. 7 

775.082 or s. 775.083. 8 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1382 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì757156<Î757156 

 

Page 1 of 1 

2/28/2012 1:45:55 PM 576-04215-12 

LEGISLATIVE ACTION 

Senate 

Comm: RCS 

03/03/2012 

 

 

 

. 

. 

. 

. 

. 

. 

House 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The Committee on Budget (Bennett) recommended the following: 

 

Senate Amendment  1 

 2 

Delete lines 281 - 285 3 

and insert: 4 

(6) A person who knowingly and fraudulently represents 5 

himself or herself to a third party as an individual requiring 6 

assistance or as the owner or trainer of service animal with the 7 

intent to avail himself or herself of the benefits of this 8 

section commits a misdemeanor of the second degree, punishable 9 

as provided in s. 775.082 or s. 775.083. 10 



Florida Senate - 2012 CS for SB 1382 

 

 

 

By the Committee on Children, Families, and Elder Affairs; and 

Senator Bennett 

 

 

 

586-03230-12 20121382c1 

Page 1 of 11 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

A bill to be entitled 1 

An act relating to service animals; providing a short 2 

title; amending s. 413.08, F.S.; removing provisions 3 

related to service animals; creating s. 413.083, F.S.; 4 

providing definitions; specifying rights of an 5 

individual accompanied by a service animal; providing 6 

that documentation that a service animal is trained is 7 

not a precondition for providing certain services to 8 

an individual accompanied by a service animal; 9 

authorizing a public accommodation to make certain 10 

inquiries regarding the animal; providing restrictions 11 

for a public accommodation imposing a deposit or 12 

surcharge; providing for liability of an individual 13 

accompanied by or the trainer of a service animal 14 

under certain circumstances; providing responsibility 15 

for care and supervision of a service animal; 16 

providing conditions for exclusion or removal of a 17 

service animal from a public accommodation; providing 18 

penalties for denying or interfering with admittance 19 

to or enjoyment of a public accommodation; specifying 20 

rights to housing accommodations for an individual 21 

accompanied by a service animal; providing 22 

limitations; providing rights of housing to the owner 23 

or trainer of a service animal; providing a penalty 24 

for misrepresentation as an owner or trainer; amending 25 

s. 252.355, F.S.; conforming a cross-reference; 26 

providing an effective date. 27 

 28 

Be It Enacted by the Legislature of the State of Florida: 29 

Florida Senate - 2012 CS for SB 1382 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

586-03230-12 20121382c1 

Page 2 of 11 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

 30 

Section 1. This act may be cited as the “Dawson and David 31 

Caras Act.” 32 

Section 2. Section 413.08, Florida Statutes, is amended to 33 

read: 34 

413.08 Rights of an individual with a disability; use of a 35 

service animal; discrimination in public employment or housing 36 

accommodations; penalties.— 37 

(1) As used in this section and s. 413.081, the term: 38 

(a) “Housing accommodation” means any real property or 39 

portion thereof which is used or occupied, or intended, 40 

arranged, or designed to be used or occupied, as the home, 41 

residence, or sleeping place of one or more persons, but does 42 

not include any single-family residence, the occupants of which 43 

rent, lease, or furnish for compensation not more than one room 44 

therein. 45 

(b) “Individual with a disability” means a person who is 46 

deaf, hard of hearing, blind, visually impaired, or otherwise 47 

physically disabled. As used in this paragraph, the term: 48 

1. “Hard of hearing” means an individual who has suffered a 49 

permanent hearing impairment that is severe enough to 50 

necessitate the use of amplification devices to discriminate 51 

speech sounds in verbal communication. 52 

2. “Physically disabled” means any person who has a 53 

physical impairment that substantially limits one or more major 54 

life activities. 55 

(c) “Public accommodation” means a common carrier, 56 

airplane, motor vehicle, railroad train, motor bus, streetcar, 57 

boat, or other public conveyance or mode of transportation; 58 



Florida Senate - 2012 CS for SB 1382 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

586-03230-12 20121382c1 

Page 3 of 11 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hotel; lodging place; place of public accommodation, amusement, 59 

or resort; and other places to which the general public is 60 

invited, subject only to the conditions and limitations 61 

established by law and applicable alike to all persons. 62 

(d) “Service animal” means an animal that is trained to 63 

perform tasks for an individual with a disability. The tasks may 64 

include, but are not limited to, guiding a person who is 65 

visually impaired or blind, alerting a person who is deaf or 66 

hard of hearing, pulling a wheelchair, assisting with mobility 67 

or balance, alerting and protecting a person who is having a 68 

seizure, retrieving objects, or performing other special tasks. 69 

A service animal is not a pet. 70 

(2) An individual with a disability is entitled to full and 71 

equal accommodations, advantages, facilities, and privileges in 72 

all public accommodations. This section does not require any 73 

person, firm, business, or corporation, or any agent thereof, to 74 

modify or provide any vehicle, premises, facility, or service to 75 

a higher degree of accommodation than is required for a person 76 

not so disabled. 77 

(3) An individual with a disability has the right to be 78 

accompanied by a service animal in all areas of a public 79 

accommodation that the public or customers are normally 80 

permitted to occupy. 81 

(a) Documentation that the service animal is trained is not 82 

a precondition for providing service to an individual 83 

accompanied by a service animal. A public accommodation may ask 84 

if an animal is a service animal or what tasks the animal has 85 

been trained to perform in order to determine the difference 86 

between a service animal and a pet. 87 

Florida Senate - 2012 CS for SB 1382 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

586-03230-12 20121382c1 

Page 4 of 11 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

(b) A public accommodation may not impose a deposit or 88 

surcharge on an individual with a disability as a precondition 89 

to permitting a service animal to accompany the individual with 90 

a disability, even if a deposit is routinely required for pets. 91 

(c) An individual with a disability is liable for damage 92 

caused by a service animal if it is the regular policy and 93 

practice of the public accommodation to charge nondisabled 94 

persons for damages caused by their pets. 95 

(d) The care or supervision of a service animal is the 96 

responsibility of the individual owner. A public accommodation 97 

is not required to provide care or food or a special location 98 

for the service animal or assistance with removing animal 99 

excrement. 100 

(e) A public accommodation may exclude or remove any animal 101 

from the premises, including a service animal, if the animal’s 102 

behavior poses a direct threat to the health and safety of 103 

others. Allergies and fear of animals are not valid reasons for 104 

denying access or refusing service to an individual with a 105 

service animal. If a service animal is excluded or removed for 106 

being a direct threat to others, the public accommodation must 107 

provide the individual with a disability the option of 108 

continuing access to the public accommodation without having the 109 

service animal on the premises. 110 

(3)(4) A Any person, firm, or corporation, or the agent of 111 

any person, firm, or corporation, who denies or interferes with 112 

admittance to, or enjoyment of, a public accommodation or 113 

otherwise interferes with the rights of an individual with a 114 

disability or the trainer of a service animal while engaged in 115 

the training of such an animal pursuant to subsection (8), 116 



Florida Senate - 2012 CS for SB 1382 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

586-03230-12 20121382c1 

Page 5 of 11 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

commits a misdemeanor of the second degree, punishable as 117 

provided in s. 775.082 or s. 775.083. 118 

(4)(5) It is the policy of this state that an individual 119 

with a disability be employed in the service of the state or 120 

political subdivisions of the state, in the public schools, and 121 

in all other employment supported in whole or in part by public 122 

funds, and an employer may not refuse employment to such a 123 

person on the basis of the disability alone, unless it is shown 124 

that the particular disability prevents the satisfactory 125 

performance of the work involved. 126 

(5)(6) An individual with a disability is entitled to rent, 127 

lease, or purchase, as other members of the general public, any 128 

housing accommodations offered for rent, lease, or other 129 

compensation in this state, subject to the conditions and 130 

limitations established by law and applicable alike to all 131 

persons. 132 

(a) This section does not require any person renting, 133 

leasing, or otherwise providing real property for compensation 134 

to modify her or his property in any way or provide a higher 135 

degree of care for an individual with a disability than for a 136 

person who is not disabled. 137 

(b) An individual with a disability who has a service 138 

animal or who obtains a service animal is entitled to full and 139 

equal access to all housing accommodations provided for in this 140 

section, and such a person may not be required to pay extra 141 

compensation for the service animal. However, such a person is 142 

liable for any damage done to the premises or to another person 143 

on the premises by such an animal. A housing accommodation may 144 

request proof of compliance with vaccination requirements. 145 

Florida Senate - 2012 CS for SB 1382 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

586-03230-12 20121382c1 

Page 6 of 11 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

(6)(7) An employer covered under subsection (4) (5) who 146 

discriminates against an individual with a disability in 147 

employment, unless it is shown that the particular disability 148 

prevents the satisfactory performance of the work involved, or 149 

any person, firm, or corporation, or the agent of any person, 150 

firm, or corporation, providing housing accommodations as 151 

provided in subsection (5) (6) who discriminates against an 152 

individual with a disability, commits a misdemeanor of the 153 

second degree, punishable as provided in s. 775.082 or s. 154 

775.083. 155 

(8) Any trainer of a service animal, while engaged in the 156 

training of such an animal, has the same rights and privileges 157 

with respect to access to public facilities and the same 158 

liability for damage as is provided for those persons described 159 

in subsection (3) accompanied by service animals. 160 

Section 3. Section 413.083, Florida Statutes, is created to 161 

read: 162 

413.083 Use of a service animal; penalties.— 163 

(1) As used in this section and s. 413.081, the term: 164 

(a) “Individual requiring assistance” means any person who 165 

is deaf, hard of hearing as defined in s. 413.08(1)(b)1., blind, 166 

visually impaired, or physically disabled as defined in s. 167 

413.08(1)(b)2. or who has a psychological or neurological 168 

disability. 169 

(b) “Owner” means a person who owns a service animal or who 170 

is authorized by the owner to use a service animal. 171 

(c) “Service animal” means any domesticated animal that is 172 

individually trained to do work or perform tasks for the benefit 173 

of an individual with a disability, including a physical, 174 



Florida Senate - 2012 CS for SB 1382 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

586-03230-12 20121382c1 

Page 7 of 11 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

sensory, psychiatric, intellectual, or other mental disability. 175 

The work or tasks performed by a service animal must be directly 176 

related to the handler’s disability. Examples of work or tasks 177 

include, but are not limited to, assisting individuals who are 178 

blind or have low vision with navigation and other tasks, 179 

alerting individuals who are deaf or hard of hearing to the 180 

presence of people or sounds, providing nonviolent protection or 181 

rescue work, pulling a wheelchair, assisting an individual 182 

during a seizure, alerting individuals to the presence of 183 

allergens, retrieving items such as medicine or the telephone, 184 

providing physical support and assistance with balance and 185 

stability to individuals with mobility disabilities, and helping 186 

individuals with psychiatric or neurological disabilities by 187 

preventing or interrupting impulsive or destructive behaviors. 188 

The crime deterrent effects of an animal’s presence and the 189 

provision of emotional support, well-being, comfort, or 190 

companionship do not constitute work or tasks for the purposes 191 

of this paragraph. 192 

(2) An individual requiring assistance has the right to be 193 

accompanied by a service animal in all areas of a public 194 

accommodation that the public or customers are normally 195 

permitted to occupy. If an individual requiring assistance or an 196 

individual who trains service animals is a student at a private 197 

or public school in the state, that individual has the right to 198 

be accompanied by a service animal, subject to the conditions 199 

established under this section. 200 

(a) Documentation that the service animal is trained is not 201 

a precondition for providing service to an individual 202 

accompanied by a service animal. A public accommodation may ask 203 

Florida Senate - 2012 CS for SB 1382 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

586-03230-12 20121382c1 

Page 8 of 11 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

if an animal is a service animal or what tasks the animal has 204 

been trained to perform in order to determine the difference 205 

between a service animal and a pet. 206 

(b) A public accommodation may not impose a deposit or 207 

surcharge on an individual requiring assistance as a 208 

precondition to permitting a service animal to accompany the 209 

individual requiring assistance, even if a deposit is routinely 210 

required for pets. 211 

(c) An individual with a disability is liable for damage 212 

caused by a service animal if it is the regular policy and 213 

practice of the public accommodation to charge nondisabled 214 

persons for damages caused by their pets. 215 

(d) The care or supervision of a service animal is the 216 

responsibility of the owner. A public accommodation is not 217 

required to provide care, food, or a special location for the 218 

service animal or assistance with removing animal excrement 219 

unless required by any federal agency, federal law, or federal 220 

regulation. In such an instance, if a public accommodation has a 221 

secured area, the public accommodation must provide a special 222 

location for the service animal to relieve itself within that 223 

secured area. 224 

(e) A public accommodation may exclude or remove any animal 225 

from the premises, including a service animal, if the animal 226 

fails to remain under the control of the handler or if the 227 

animal displays inappropriate behavior, including, but not 228 

limited to, growling, excessive barking, or biting, or poses a 229 

direct threat to the health and safety of others. Allergies and 230 

fear of animals are not valid reasons for denying access or 231 

refusing service to an individual accompanied by a service 232 



Florida Senate - 2012 CS for SB 1382 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

586-03230-12 20121382c1 

Page 9 of 11 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

animal. If a service animal is excluded or removed for being a 233 

direct threat to others, the public accommodation must provide 234 

the individual requiring assistance the option of continuing 235 

access to the public accommodation without having the service 236 

animal on the premises. 237 

(3) A person, firm, or corporation, or the agent of any 238 

person, firm, or corporation, who denies or interferes with 239 

admittance to, or enjoyment of, a public accommodation, 240 

interferes with the renting, leasing, or purchasing of housing 241 

accommodations, or otherwise interferes with the rights of an 242 

individual requiring assistance while accompanied by a service 243 

animal or the trainer of a service animal while engaged in the 244 

training of such an animal pursuant to subsection (5): 245 

(a) For a first offense, commits a noncriminal violation 246 

punishable as provided in s. 775.083. The offender may contest 247 

the citation or may, within 30 days after receiving the 248 

citation, elect to pay a civil penalty of $50 plus court costs. 249 

(b) For a second or subsequent offense, commits a 250 

misdemeanor of the second degree, punishable as provided in s. 251 

775.082 or s. 775.083. 252 

(4) An individual requiring assistance who is accompanied 253 

by a service animal is entitled to full and equal advantages, 254 

facilities, and privileges in all housing accommodations and is 255 

entitled to rent, lease, or purchase, as are other members of 256 

the general public, any housing accommodation offered for rent, 257 

lease, or other compensation in this state, subject to the 258 

conditions and limitations established by law and applicable 259 

alike to all persons. 260 

(a) This section does not require any person renting, 261 

Florida Senate - 2012 CS for SB 1382 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

586-03230-12 20121382c1 

Page 10 of 11 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

leasing, or otherwise providing real property for compensation 262 

to modify her or his property in any way or provide a higher 263 

degree of care for an individual requiring assistance than for a 264 

person who does not have a disability. 265 

(b) An individual requiring assistance who has a service 266 

animal or an individual who is the trainer of a service animal 267 

is entitled to full and equal access to all housing 268 

accommodations provided for in this section, and that individual 269 

is not required to pay extra compensation for the service 270 

animal. However, the individual is liable for any damage done to 271 

the premises or to another individual on the premises by the 272 

service animal. A housing accommodation may request proof of 273 

compliance with vaccination requirements. 274 

(5) A person who trains a service animal, while engaged in 275 

the training of such an animal, has the same rights and 276 

privileges with respect to access to public facilities and 277 

housing accommodations and the same liability for damage as is 278 

provided for a person described in subsection (2) who is 279 

accompanied by a service animal. 280 

(6) A person who knowingly and fraudulently represents 281 

herself or himself, through her or his conduct or verbal or 282 

written notice, as the owner or trainer of a service animal 283 

commits a misdemeanor of the second degree, punishable as 284 

provided in s. 775.082 or s. 775.083. 285 

Section 4. Subsection (3) of section 252.355, Florida 286 

Statutes, is amended to read: 287 

252.355 Registry of persons with special needs; notice.— 288 

(3) A person with special needs must be allowed to bring 289 

his or her service animal into a special needs shelter in 290 



Florida Senate - 2012 CS for SB 1382 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

586-03230-12 20121382c1 

Page 11 of 11 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

accordance with s. 413.083 413.08. 291 

Section 5. This act shall take effect July 1, 2012. 292 













The Florida Senate 

BILL ANALYSIS AND FISCAL IMPACT STATEMENT 
(This document is based on the provisions contained in the legislation as of the latest date listed below.) 

Prepared By: The Professional Staff of the Budget Committee 

 

BILL:  CS/SB 1782 

INTRODUCER:  Environmental Preservation and Conservation Committee and Senator Latvala 

SUBJECT:  Fish and Wildlife Conservation Commission 

DATE:  March 3, 2012 

 

 ANALYST  STAFF DIRECTOR  REFERENCE  ACTION 

1. Wiggins  Yeatman  EP  Fav/CS 

2. Akhavein  Buford  AG  Favorable 

3. DeLoach  Rhodes  BC  Favorable 

4.        

5.        

6.        

 

Please see Section VIII. for Additional Information: 

A. COMMITTEE SUBSTITUTE..... X Statement of Substantial Changes 

 B. AMENDMENTS........................  Technical amendments were recommended 

   Amendments were recommended 

   Significant amendments were recommended 

 

I. Summary: 

This bill transfers and reassigns functions and responsibilities of the Division of Law 

Enforcement, excluding the Bureau of Emergency Response, within the Department of 

Environmental Protection (DEP) to the Division of Law Enforcement (DLE) within the Fish and 

Wildlife Conservation Commission (FWC). The bill provides for the transfer of additional 

positions to FWC if needed. The bill provides for a memorandum of agreement between the DEP 

and the FWC regarding the responsibilities of the FWC to the DEP. The bill also transfers and 

reassigns functions and responsibilities of sworn positions funded by the Conservation and 

Recreation Lands Program (CARL) and assigned to the Florida Forest Service within the 

Department of Agriculture and Consumer Services (DACS), and the investigator responsible for 

the enforcement of aquaculture violations in the DACS to the DLE within the FWC. 

 

The bill provides for transition of advisory working groups, assigning powers, duties, 

responsibilities, and functions for the enforcement of the laws and rules governing certain lands 

managed to the DEP and certain lands and aquaculture managed by the DACS to the FWC. The 

bill confers the full power to the law enforcement officers of the FWC to investigate and arrest 

for violations of rules of the DEP and the DACS to fill positions transferred to the FWC. 

 

REVISED:         



BILL: CS/SB 1782   Page 2 

 

 

This bill amends sections 20.255, 258.008, 258.501, 282.709, 316.003, 316.2397, 316.640, 

375.041, 376.065, 376.07, 376.071, 376.16, 376.3071, 379.3311, 379.3312, 379.3313, 379.333, 

379.341, 403.413, 784.07, 843.08, 870.04, and 932.7055 of the Florida Statutes. 

 

This bill creates section 258.601 of the Florida Statutes. 

II. Present Situation: 

Senate Bill 2160, passed by the 2011 Legislature, established the Law Enforcement 

Consolidation Task Force, to conduct a review of the conservation law enforcement activities 

and assets of the DACS, the DEP, and the FWC, and to evaluate if any duplication of law 

enforcement functions exists between the agencies. As part of the task force, the Environmental 

Unit Sub-Team conducted the review. The team determined that the patrols of state-owned and 

managed lands provided by the FWC, the DEP, and the DACS (in particular the CARL officer 

positions and Aquaculture positions) have elements that are duplicative and, in turn, have 

exacerbated a manpower shortage for the agencies. The duplication of functions is most notable 

in the existence of three separate management and support structures for the sole purpose of 

providing law enforcement patrol to all state-owned/managed lands and is most apparent when 

comparing the FWC and the DEP. The identified DACS positions, on the other hand, do not 

necessarily have a duplicative structure, but rather DACS provides duplicative management/ 

support services for its officers at the expense of attending to the agency’s primary duties and 

responsibilities. The DACS management support staff provides something that is already 

provided by both the FWC and the DEP, while diminishing to some degree the provision of 

those services to the DACS’ core functions. Consolidation of these management structures and 

functions into the existing structure at the FWC could eliminate this duplication.
1
 

 

The Environmental Unit Sub-Team also identified inefficiency with the current dispersal of 

patrol responsibilities among the three agencies, which leads to the appearance or even public 

perception of duplication of services. The inefficiency arises from having three different 

agencies providing separate law enforcement services based on the pretense, for law enforcement 

purposes, of state-owned/managed lands being divided into different types of properties (i.e., 

wildlife management areas, wildlife and environmental management areas, state parks, 

greenways and trails, coastal and aquatic managed areas, and state forests). Due to this, there 

may be an FWC officer patrolling a management area adjacent to a state park that is being 

patrolled by a DEP officer that is also adjacent to a state forest being patrolled by a DACS 

CARL officer. While state lands are managed differently based on their designated use, 

conservation law enforcement strategies remain essentially the same, independent of the 

prevailing land management approach. Consolidation of these artificial distinctions between all 

state-owned/managed lands as it relates to law enforcement services would allow a more 

efficient use of rank and file officers and provide a welcome opportunity to establish law 

enforcement coverage in areas of the state that have historically received little or no patrol due to 

staffing issues. The responsibilities and activities of these three agencies are closely aligned and 

similar enough in scope so that significant efficiencies in the delivery of law enforcement 

                                                 
1
 Recommendations for the Law Enforcement Consolidation Task Force, by Colonel Jim Brown, Division Director, Florida 

Fish and Wildlife Conservation Commission, Division of Law Enforcement, October 11, 2011. 



BILL: CS/SB 1782   Page 3 

 

services as well as cost savings can be realized by consolidating the functions as discussed 

below.
2
 

 

Findings of the Task Force 

 All three agencies have responsibility to provide law enforcement patrol, investigative, 

and forensic services on state-managed lands, which are frequently located within close proximity to 

each other. 

 The enforcement functions for each entity are established by the Legislature. 

 Investigative activities of the three agencies are similar in scope and approach. 

 The three bureaus (Park Police, Environmental Investigations, and Emergency Response) 

within the DEP Division of Law Enforcement (DLE) are interdependent resulting in value-added 

services that are not present when separated. 

 Integration of the DEP officers and the DACS CARL and Aquaculture officers in the the 

FWC will improve response time, increase personnel available for patrol coverage across 

conservation lands and state waters, and decrease the burden on local law enforcement agencies. 

 Consolidation will result in a streamlined agency with approximately 10 percent of sworn 

supervisory positions being reassigned to field positions leading to increased response time. 

 In 2008, the Office of Program Policy Analysis and Government Accountability 

(OPPAGA) provided the Legislature with four policy options related to environmental law 

enforcement. The third option was the centralization of environmental law enforcement under one 

state agency that currently has this function. The joint agency recommendation is a variation of the 

third option, capturing all of the advantages while minimizing adverse impacts. 
 

Recommendations 

The Environmental Unit Sub-Team recommended the following: 

 

 Integration of the DEP Division of Law Enforcement, in its entirety, into the FWC 

Division of Law Enforcement (175.5 positions and additional support positions). 

 Integration of the DACS Office of Agricultural Law Enforcement officers assigned to 

CARL Patrol and the investigator responsible for commercial aquaculture violations into the FWC 

Division of Law Enforcement (15 positions). 

 Enact statutory and administrative code changes where appropriate to integrate the 

functions. 

 

Conclusion 

The Task Force concluded that consolidating the three agencies will result in a highly effective, 

more efficient state law enforcement division with complete jurisdiction over the natural and 

historic resources and publicly-owned and managed lands and waters of the state having 

enhanced patrol capability response presence. 

 

 

 

                                                 
2
 Id. 



BILL: CS/SB 1782   Page 4 

 

 

Department of Environmental Protection, Division of Law Enforcement 

The DEP’s Division of Law Enforcement is Florida's oldest state law enforcement agency, 

dating back to 1913 when the Legislature created the shellfish commission to supervise the 

newly emerging commercial fishing industry. The Division oversees the following bureaus: 

 

Emergency Response- The Division of Law Enforcement's Bureau of Emergency Response 

(BER) responds to environmental pollution threats in every form. Responding to incidents 

involving petroleum spills caused by vehicle accidents to chemical plant explosions to coastal oil 

spills, the BER provides technical and on-site assistance to ensure threats to the environment and 

human safety are quickly and effectively addressed. In addition, the BER works with local public 

safety officials and emergency response contractors to minimize threats to the environment. The 

BER offices are located throughout the state with headquarters in Tallahassee. 

 

Criminal Investigations- Special agents from the Criminal Investigations Bureau are sworn 

state law enforcement investigators, with full powers of arrest in Florida and its jurisdictional 

waters. Special agents investigate crimes and violations that generally have a negative impact on 

Florida’s environment, including the improper storage, transport, or disposal of hazardous waste; 

destruction or illegal filling of wetlands; or the burying or burning of prohibited materials. Fraud, 

forgery, conspiracy, and organized crime are some of the traditional crimes that can be 

associated with environmental violations. These specialized criminal investigations are often 

long-term and complex, and are built upon the expert assessment and testimony of the DEP 

regulatory and scientific professionals. 

 

Park Police- The Division of Law Enforcement's Bureau of Park Police is comprised of state 

law enforcement officers with full powers of arrest and who patrol more than 800,000 acres of 

Florida's state-owned lands, providing law enforcement and public service within state parks, 

preserves, recreational areas, as well as greenways and trails. The officers also patrol more than 

four million acres of submerged coastal and aquatic managed areas that include 41 aquatic 

preserves, three national estuarine research reserves and the Florida Keys National Marine 

Sanctuary. Officers are called on to respond to hurricanes, civil disorder, or other threatening 

conditions that may endanger life, property, or Florida's natural resources, and they also provide 

assistance with search and rescue missions. 

 

Office of Training and Professional Standards- The Division of Law Enforcement's Office of 

Training and Professional Standards provides training courses for the DEP's 138 officers. The 

Office of Training and Professional Standards works closely with the Florida Department of Law 

Enforcement's Division of Law Enforcement Professionalism, the Florida Criminal Justice 

Standards and Training Commission, and other Florida law enforcement training centers to 

provide consistent and current law enforcement information and training to the DEP law 

enforcement officers. 

 

Department of Agriculture and Consumer Services  

Florida Forest Service- The Florida Forest Service mission is to protect and manage the forest 

resources of Florida, ensuring that they are available for future generations. Wildfire prevention 



BILL: CS/SB 1782   Page 5 

 

and suppression are key components in their efforts to protect homeowners from the threat of 

damage in a natural, fire-dependent environment. 

 

In addition to managing over one million acres of state forests for multiple public uses, including 

timber, recreation, and wildlife habitat, the Forest Service provides services to landowners 

throughout the state including technical information and grant programs. 

 

The Forest Service’s forestry programs are implemented by its field operations staff within 15 

field units across the state. Field personnel and equipment provide a more responsive and 

comprehensive approach to land management and wildfire control statewide. 

 

Bureau of Investigative Services- This bureau’s primary enforcement mission focuses on 

agricultural, consumer protection, and food safety related issues rather than environmental or 

resource protection. This bureau does, however, maintain one sworn investigator who is 

responsible for inspecting certain commercial aquaculture activities (farm-raised shellfish) and 

for investigating associated violations. 

 

Florida Fish and Wildlife Conservation Commission, Division of Law Enforcement 

The FWC officers provide protection to residents and visitors who enjoy Florida's natural 

resources, while enforcing resource protection and boating safety laws on land and on the waters 

of the state in keeping with the Division's core missions. The FWC officers have full police 

powers and statewide jurisdiction. They patrol rural, wilderness, and inshore and offshore areas, 

and are often the sole law enforcement presence in many remote parts of the state. The Division 

of Law Enforcement has cooperative agreements with the National Marine Fisheries Service and 

the U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service. Officers are also cross-deputized to enforce federal marine 

fisheries and wildlife laws, thus ensuring state and federal consistency in resource-protection 

efforts. The Division of Law Enforcement is divided into the following sections: 

 

 Operations:  The Operations section's six regions throughout the state are responsible for 

uniformed patrol and investigative law enforcement services of the FWC's 700-plus officer 

workforce. The officers and investigators protect fish, wildlife, and the citizens of Florida 

and provide boating safety patrols. Investigators are able to conduct both overt (uniform) and 

covert (plainclothes) investigations. They allow the FWC to target hard-core commercial 

violators by conducting long-term undercover investigations. Investigators are also 

responsible for inspecting personal and commercial native and exotic wildlife facilities as 

well as investigating, hunting and boating accidents. This section also provides statewide 

coordination of all aviation, offshore vessel, K-9, and Special Operations Group activities. 

Aviation assets play a vital role in the agency's effort to enforce conservation and boating 

laws, protect endangered and threatened species, and safeguard outdoor users. The Division's 

offshore patrol vessels concentrate on offshore fisheries and protected marine areas as well as 

public safety. The K-9 teams are specially trained in tracking and wildlife detection. The K-

9s receive no aggression training and are very "user-friendly." In addition to their law 

enforcement functions, they have proved to be a great community oriented policing relations 

tool. 

 

 



BILL: CS/SB 1782   Page 6 

 

 Law Enforcement Support: 

o Boating, Waterways and Program Coordination- The FWC manages state 

waterways, the markers and the signs, to protect boaters and wildlife. They coordinate 

the removal of derelict vessels and the development of boating infrastructure. They 

use many methods to promote boating safety, from education and outreach, to 

investigation and analysis of boating accident data. 

 

o Field Services- Officers provide support with radio technology and systems 

engineering; fleet management; research, testing and acquisition of new computer and 

telecommunications technology; and arrest/warning citation and disposition data 

management. They maintain the Computer Aided Dispatch (CAD) system which 

enhances officer safety and efficiency. 

 

o Training - Trainers provide professional basic recruiting and advanced training and 

career development programs to officers statewide. They train the FWC officers in 

the aspects of non-traditional policing as well as ensuring basic law enforcement 

standards are met and maintained. 

 

 Officers' Authority:  Sworn personnel are fully constituted police officers as provided under 

s. 379.3311, F.S. This gives them the authority to enforce all laws of the state, not just those 

relating to resource enforcement. The officers are also cross-deputized to enforce federal 

fisheries and wildlife laws. 

 

 Officers' Responsibilities: 
o Provide protection and enforce laws relating to all wild animal and aquatic resources 

of the state.  This includes game, non-game, furbearers, threatened and endangered 

wildlife and fish, and marine mammals; encompassing approximately 672 species of 

wildlife, 208 species of freshwater fish, and over 500 saltwater fish species.  In doing 

so, officers patrol over 37 million acres of public and private land, 8,246 miles of 

tidal coastline, 12,000 miles of rivers and streams, 3 million acres of lakes and ponds 

and 11,000 miles of canals. 

o Provide boating safety enforcement on the state’s waters in order to ensure the safe 

usage of resources.  Includes enforcement of boating under the influence laws, as well 

as laws relating to the safe and prudent operation of watercraft, investigating boating 

accidents, and search and rescue missions. 

o Provide general law enforcement protection to the human resources of the state. One 

aspect of this is providing general law enforcement patrol in rural, semi-wilderness, 

wilderness, and offshore areas where no other law enforcement agencies routinely 

patrol. Officers also respond to a variety of emergencies including natural disasters, 

civil disturbances, and search and rescue missions. These include such diverse 

phenomena as hurricanes, riots, wildfires, floods and providing protection for elected 

officials (governors and presidents). 

 

Type Two Transfer 

Section 20.06(2), F.S., defines a type two transfer as the merging into another agency or 

department of an existing agency or department or a program, activity, or function thereof or, if 



BILL: CS/SB 1782   Page 7 

 

certain identifiable units or subunits, programs, activities, or functions are removed from the 

existing agency or department, or are abolished, it is the merging into an agency or department of 

the existing agency or department with the certain identifiable units or subunits, programs, 

activities, or functions removed there from or abolished. 

 

(a) Any agency or department or a program, activity, or function thereof transferred by a type 

two transfer has all its statutory powers, duties, and functions, and its records, personnel, 

property, and unexpended balances of appropriations, allocations, or other funds, except 

those transferred elsewhere or abolished, transferred to the agency or department to which it 

is transferred, unless otherwise provided by law. The transfer of segregated funds must be 

made in such a manner that the relation between program and revenue source as provided by 

law is retained. 

(b) Unless otherwise provided by law, the head of the agency or department to which an existing 

agency or department or a program, activity, or function thereof is transferred is authorized to 

establish units or subunits to which the agency or department is assigned, and to assign 

administrative authority for identifiable programs, activities, or functions, to the extent 

authorized in this chapter. 

(c) Unless otherwise provided by law, the administrative rules of any agency or department 

involved in the transfer which are in effect immediately before the transfer remain in effect 

until specifically changed in the manner provided by law. 

III. Effect of Proposed Changes: 

Section 1 provides for a type two transfer of the Division of Law Enforcement (DLE), excluding 

the Bureau of Emergency Response, within the DEP to the Division of Law Enforcement within 

the FWC. This transfer includes all powers, duties, and related functions, including personnel, 

property and all related rules and functions and unexpended balances, appropriations, and 

allocations from the Division of Law Enforcement within the DEP to the Division of Law 

Enforcement within the FWC (transferred by a type two transfer as defined in s. 20.06 (2), F.S.). 

The section specifies the number of administrative, auditing, inspector general, attorney, and 

operational support positions proportionate to the number of Division of Law Enforcement full-

time equivalent and other personal services positions being transferred from the DEP to the 

FWC. A memorandum of agreement shall be developed between the DEP and the FWC detailing 

the responsibilities of the FWC to the DEP to include, at a minimum: 

 

 support and response for oil spills and natural disasters; 

 law enforcement patrol and investigative services for all state-owned lands; 

 law enforcement services, including investigative services, for all criminal law violations of 

chapters 258, 376, and 403, F.S.; 

 enforcement services for all civil violation of all department administrative rules related to 

the following programs; 

o Division of Recreation and Parks, 

o Office of Coastal and Aquatic Managed Areas, and 

o Office of Greenways and Trails. 

 

Section 2 provides for a type two transfer of the DACS sworn positions assigned to the Florida 

Forest Service and funded by the Conservation and Recreation Lands Program and the 



BILL: CS/SB 1782   Page 8 

 

investigator responsible for the enforcement of aquaculture violations (as of July 1, 2011) to the 

DLE within the FWC. 

 

Section 3 provides for transition advisory working groups. 

 

Section 4 confers full power to the law enforcement officers of the FWC to investigate and arrest 

for violation of laws and rules of the DEP, the Board of Trustees of the Internal Improvement 

Trust Fund, and the DACS, including state parks, coastal and aquatic managed areas, greenways 

and trails, CARL lands, and aquaculture lands. 

 

Section 5 provides for the retention and transfer of specified benefits for employees that are 

transferred from the DEP and the DACS to fill positions transferred to the FWC. The bill 

provides that the DLE within the FWC is authorized to use available funds to provide for general 

salary increases or pay additives for positions having the same job classification or job 

occupations in order to bring pay parity between positions of the FWC and the positions being 

transferred from the DEP and the DACS, and for those positions assuming significant additional 

duties or an increased work load as a result of this bill. 

 

Section 6 creates part IV of chapter 258, F.S., providing specific powers and duties of the FWC 

relating to state parks, aquatic preserves and wild and scenic rivers. 

 

Section 7 amends s. 20.255, F.S., to add the Office of Emergency Management to the list of 

established offices within the DEP. 

 

Sections 8-29 amends ss. 258.008, 258.501, 282.709, 316.003, 316.2397, 316.640, 375.041, 

376.065, 376.07, 376.071, 376.16, 376.3071, 379.3311, 379.3312, 379.3313, 379.333, 379.341, 

403.413, 784.07, 843.08, 870.04, and 932.7055, F.S., to provide conforming provisions to 

changes made by the bill. It removes references to DEP and replaces those references with FWC. 

 

Section 30 provides that this act shall take effect July 1, 2012. 

IV. Constitutional Issues: 

A. Municipality/County Mandates Restrictions: 

None. 

B. Public Records/Open Meetings Issues: 

None. 

C. Trust Funds Restrictions: 

None. 



BILL: CS/SB 1782   Page 9 

 

V. Fiscal Impact Statement: 

A. Tax/Fee Issues: 

None. 

B. Private Sector Impact: 

None. 

C. Government Sector Impact: 

The bill transfers 147.5 positions from the DEP and 15 positions from the DACS to the 

FWC. 

 

According to the FWC, there will be a cost savings of approximately $3.1 million over a 

five year period.  Duplicative positions with like functions can be eliminated with the 

consolidation.  The cost savings come from eliminating duplicative management 

positions and support staff while establishing additional patrol and first response 

capacity.   

 

The FWC estimates that a total $285,505 will be needed to support the pay parity issue 

and can be handled within existing budget. 

VI. Technical Deficiencies: 

None. 

VII. Related Issues: 

None.  

VIII. Additional Information: 

A. Committee Substitute – Statement of Substantial Changes: 
(Summarizing differences between the Committee Substitute and the prior version of the bill.) 

CS by Environmental Preservation and Conservation Committee on January 30, 

2012: The CS does not transfer the Bureau of Emergency Response from DEP and 

provides that the DLE within the FWC is authorized to use funds for general salary 

increases to bring pay parity for positions being transferred from DEP and DACS to 

FWC and for those positions assuming significant additional duties or an increased work 

load as a result of this CS. 

B. Amendments: 

None. 

This Senate Bill Analysis does not reflect the intent or official position of the bill’s introducer or the Florida Senate. 



Florida Senate - 2012 CS for SB 1782 

 

 

 

By the Committee on Environmental Preservation and Conservation; 

and Senators Latvala and Alexander 

 

 

 

592-02644-12 20121782c1 

Page 1 of 36 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

A bill to be entitled 1 

An act relating to the Fish and Wildlife Conservation 2 

Commission; transferring and reassigning functions and 3 

responsibilities of the Division of Law Enforcement, 4 

excluding the Bureau of Emergency Response, within the 5 

Department of Environmental Protection to the Division 6 

of Law Enforcement within the Fish and Wildlife 7 

Conservation Commission; reassigning the Bureau of 8 

Emergency Response within the Department of 9 

Environmental Protection to the Secretary of 10 

Environmental Protection, as the Office of Emergency 11 

Response, within the Department of Environmental 12 

Protection; providing for the transfer of additional 13 

positions to the commission; providing for a 14 

memorandum of agreement between the department and the 15 

commission regarding the responsibilities of the 16 

commission to the department; transferring and 17 

reassigning functions and responsibilities of sworn 18 

positions funded by the Conservation and Recreation 19 

Lands Program and assigned to the Florida Forest 20 

Service within the Department of Agriculture and 21 

Consumer Services and the investigator responsible for 22 

the enforcement of aquaculture violations at the 23 

Department of Agriculture and Consumer Services to the 24 

Division of Law Enforcement within the Fish and 25 

Wildlife Conservation Commission; providing for a 26 

memorandum of agreement between the department and the 27 

commission regarding the responsibilities between the 28 

commission and the department; providing for 29 

Florida Senate - 2012 CS for SB 1782 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

592-02644-12 20121782c1 

Page 2 of 36 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

transition advisory working groups; assigning powers, 30 

duties, responsibilities, and functions for 31 

enforcement of the laws and rules governing certain 32 

lands managed by the Department of Environmental 33 

Protection and certain lands and aquaculture managed 34 

by the Department of Agriculture and Consumer Services 35 

to the Fish and Wildlife Conservation Commission; 36 

conferring full power to the law enforcement officers 37 

of the Fish and Wildlife Conservation Commission to 38 

investigate and arrest for violations of rules of the 39 

Department of Agriculture and Consumer Services, the 40 

Department of Environmental Protection, and the Board 41 

of Trustees of the Internal Improvement Trust Fund; 42 

authorizing salary parity and other pay adjustments 43 

for positions transferred by the act; providing for 44 

the retention and transfer of specified benefits for 45 

employees who are transferred from the Department of 46 

Environmental Protection and the Department of 47 

Agriculture and Consumer Services to fill positions 48 

transferred to the Fish and Wildlife Conservation 49 

Commission; creating s. 258.601, F.S.; specifying 50 

powers and duties of the commission relating to state 51 

parks and preserves and wild and scenic rivers; 52 

amending ss. 20.255, 258.008, 258.501, 282.709, 53 

316.003, 316.2397, 316.640, 375.041, 376.065, 376.07, 54 

376.071, 376.16, 376.3071, 379.3311, 379.3312, 55 

379.3313, 379.333, 379.341, 403.413, 784.07, 843.08, 56 

870.04, and 932.7055, F.S.; conforming provisions to 57 

changes made by the act; providing an effective date. 58 



Florida Senate - 2012 CS for SB 1782 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

592-02644-12 20121782c1 

Page 3 of 36 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

 59 

Be It Enacted by the Legislature of the State of Florida: 60 

 61 

Section 1. (1) All powers, duties, functions, records, 62 

offices, personnel, property, pending issues and existing 63 

contracts, administrative authority, administrative rules, and 64 

unexpended balances of appropriations, allocations, and other 65 

funds relating to the Division of Law Enforcement within the 66 

Department of Environmental Protection, excluding the Bureau of 67 

Emergency Response, are transferred by a type two transfer, as 68 

defined in s. 20.06(2), Florida Statutes, to the Division of Law 69 

Enforcement within the Florida Fish and Wildlife Conservation 70 

Commission. 71 

(2) The Bureau of Emergency Response within the Department 72 

of Environmental Protection is reassigned to the Secretary of 73 

Environmental Protection, as the Office of Emergency Response, 74 

within the Department of Environmental Protection. 75 

(3) The Secretary of Environmental Protection shall 76 

transfer to the Fish and Wildlife Conservation Commission the 77 

number of administrative, auditing, inspector general, attorney, 78 

and operational support positions, including any related powers, 79 

duties, functions, property, and funding, proportionate to the 80 

number of Division of Law Enforcement full-time equivalent and 81 

other personal services positions being transferred from the 82 

department to the commission. 83 

(4) A memorandum of agreement shall be developed between 84 

the department and the commission detailing the responsibilities 85 

of the commission to the department, to include, at a minimum, 86 

the following: 87 

Florida Senate - 2012 CS for SB 1782 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

592-02644-12 20121782c1 

Page 4 of 36 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

(a) Support and response for oil spills, hazardous spills, 88 

and natural disasters. 89 

(b) Law enforcement patrol and investigative services for 90 

all state-owned lands managed by the department. 91 

(c) Law enforcement services, including investigative 92 

services, for all criminal law violations of chapters 161, 258, 93 

373, 376, and 403, Florida Statutes. 94 

(d) Enforcement services for all civil violations of all 95 

department administrative rules related to the following program 96 

areas: 97 

1. The Division of Recreation and Parks. 98 

2. The Office of Coastal and Aquatic Managed Areas. 99 

3. The Office of Greenways and Trails. 100 

(e) Current and future funding for positions and property 101 

being transferred from the department to the commission which 102 

are funded through any trust fund. 103 

Section 2. (1) All powers, duties, functions, records, 104 

property, pending issues and existing contracts, administrative 105 

authority, administrative rules, and unexpended balances of 106 

appropriations, allocations, and other funds relating to sworn 107 

positions funded by the Conservation and Recreation Lands 108 

Program and assigned to the Florida Forest Service within the 109 

Department of Agriculture and Consumer Services as of July 1, 110 

2011, and the investigator responsible for the enforcement of 111 

aquaculture violations at the Department of Agriculture and 112 

Consumer Services as of July 1, 2011, are transferred by a type 113 

two transfer, as defined in s. 20.06(2), Florida Statutes, to 114 

the Division of Law Enforcement within the Fish and Wildlife 115 

Conservation Commission. 116 



Florida Senate - 2012 CS for SB 1782 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

592-02644-12 20121782c1 

Page 5 of 36 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

(2) A memorandum of agreement shall be developed between 117 

the department and the commission detailing the responsibilities 118 

between the commission and the department, to include, at a 119 

minimum, the following: 120 

(a) Law enforcement patrol and investigative services for 121 

all state-owned forests managed by the department. 122 

(b) Current and future funding for positions and property 123 

assigned to the Conservation and Recreation Lands Program which 124 

are transferred from the department to the commission. 125 

Section 3. (1) The Secretary of Environmental Protection 126 

and the Executive Director of the Fish and Wildlife Conservation 127 

Commission shall each appoint three staff members to a 128 

transition advisory working group to review and determine the 129 

following: 130 

(a) The appropriate proportionate number of administrative, 131 

auditing, inspector general, attorney, and operational support 132 

positions and their related funding levels and sources and 133 

assigned property to be transferred from the Office of General 134 

Counsel, the Office of Inspector General, and the Division of 135 

Administrative Services, or other relevant offices or divisions 136 

within the Department of Environmental Protection, to the Fish 137 

and Wildlife Conservation Commission. 138 

(b) The development of a recommended plan addressing the 139 

transfer or shared use of buildings, regional offices, and other 140 

facilities used or owned by the Department of Environmental 141 

Protection. 142 

(c) Any operating budget adjustments that are necessary to 143 

implement the requirements of this act. Adjustments made to the 144 

operating budgets of the department and the commission in the 145 

Florida Senate - 2012 CS for SB 1782 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

592-02644-12 20121782c1 

Page 6 of 36 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

implementation of this act must be made in consultation with the 146 

appropriate substantive and fiscal committees of the Senate and 147 

the House of Representatives. The revisions to the approved 148 

operating budgets for the 2012-2013 fiscal year which are 149 

necessary to reflect the organizational changes made by this act 150 

shall be implemented pursuant to s. 216.292(4)(d), Florida 151 

Statutes, and subject to s. 216.177, Florida Statutes. 152 

Subsequent adjustments between agencies which are determined 153 

necessary by the department or commission and approved by the 154 

Executive Office of the Governor are authorized and subject to 155 

s. 216.177, Florida Statutes. The appropriate substantive 156 

committees of the Senate and the House of Representatives shall 157 

also be notified of the proposed revisions to ensure consistency 158 

with legislative policy and intent. 159 

(2) The Secretary of Environmental Protection, the 160 

Commissioner of Agriculture, and the Executive Director of the 161 

Fish and Wildlife Conservation Commission shall each appoint two 162 

staff members to a transition advisory working group to identify 163 

rules of the Department of Environmental Protection, the Board 164 

of Trustees of the Internal Improvement Trust Fund, the 165 

Department of Agriculture and Consumer Services, and the Fish 166 

and Wildlife Conservation Commission which need to be amended to 167 

reflect the changes made by this act. 168 

Section 4. (1) The Fish and Wildlife Conservation 169 

Commission is assigned all powers, duties, responsibilities, 170 

functions, positions, and property necessary for enforcement of 171 

the laws and rules governing: 172 

(a) Management, protection, conservation, improvement, and 173 

expansion of the state-owned lands managed by the Department of 174 



Florida Senate - 2012 CS for SB 1782 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

592-02644-12 20121782c1 

Page 7 of 36 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

Environmental Protection, including state parks, coastal and 175 

aquatic managed areas, and greenways and trails. 176 

(b) Conservation and recreation lands and commercial 177 

aquaculture managed by the Department of Agriculture and 178 

Consumer Services. 179 

(2) Law enforcement officers of the Fish and Wildlife 180 

Conservation Commission are conferred full power to investigate 181 

and arrest for any violation of the rules of the Department of 182 

Agriculture and Consumer Services, the Department of 183 

Environmental Protection, and the Board of Trustees of the 184 

Internal Improvement Trust Fund. 185 

Section 5. (1) Notwithstanding ss. 110.2035 and 216.251, 186 

Florida Statutes, the Division of Law Enforcement within the 187 

Fish and Wildlife Conservation Commission may use available 188 

funds to provide for general salary increases or pay additives 189 

for positions sharing the same job classification or job 190 

occupations in order to bring pay parity between positions of 191 

the Fish and Wildlife Conservation Commission and the positions 192 

transferring to the commission from the Department of 193 

Agriculture and Consumer Services and the Department of 194 

Environmental Protection and for those positions assuming 195 

significant additional duties or an increased work load as a 196 

result of this act. 197 

(2) Notwithstanding chapter 60K-5, Florida Administrative 198 

Code, or any provision of law to the contrary, employees who are 199 

transferred from the Department of Environmental Protection and 200 

the Department of Agriculture and Consumer Services to fill 201 

positions transferred to the Fish and Wildlife Conservation 202 

Commission shall retain and transfer any accrued annual leave, 203 

Florida Senate - 2012 CS for SB 1782 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

592-02644-12 20121782c1 

Page 8 of 36 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

sick leave, and regular and special compensatory leave balances. 204 

Section 6. Part IV of chapter 258, Florida Statutes, 205 

consisting of section 258.601, is created to read: 206 

PART IV 207 

MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS 208 

258.601 Enforcement of prohibited activities.—Prohibited 209 

activities under this chapter shall be enforced by the 210 

Department of Environmental Protection and the Division of Law 211 

Enforcement of the Fish and Wildlife Conservation Commission and 212 

its officers. 213 

Section 7. Subsections (5) through (8) of section 20.255, 214 

Florida Statutes, are renumbered as subsections (4) through (7), 215 

respectively, and present subsections (2), (3), and (4) of that 216 

section are amended to read: 217 

20.255 Department of Environmental Protection.—There is 218 

created a Department of Environmental Protection. 219 

(2)(a) There shall be three deputy secretaries who are to 220 

be appointed by and shall serve at the pleasure of the 221 

secretary. The secretary may assign any deputy secretary the 222 

responsibility to supervise, coordinate, and formulate policy 223 

for any division, office, or district. The following special 224 

offices are established and headed by managers, each of whom is 225 

to be appointed by and serve at the pleasure of the secretary: 226 

1. Office of Chief of Staff; 227 

2. Office of General Counsel; 228 

3. Office of Inspector General; 229 

4. Office of External Affairs; 230 

5. Office of Legislative Affairs; 231 

6. Office of Intergovernmental Programs; and 232 



Florida Senate - 2012 CS for SB 1782 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

592-02644-12 20121782c1 

Page 9 of 36 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

7. Office of Greenways and Trails; and. 233 

8. Office of Emergency Management. 234 

(b) There shall be six administrative districts involved in 235 

regulatory matters of waste management, water resource 236 

management, wetlands, and air resources, which shall be headed 237 

by managers, each of whom is to be appointed by and serve at the 238 

pleasure of the secretary. Divisions of the department may have 239 

one assistant or two deputy division directors, as required to 240 

facilitate effective operation. 241 

 242 

The managers of all divisions and offices specifically named in 243 

this section and the directors of the six administrative 244 

districts are exempt from part II of chapter 110 and are 245 

included in the Senior Management Service in accordance with s. 246 

110.205(2)(j). 247 

(3) The following divisions of the Department of 248 

Environmental Protection are established: 249 

(a) Division of Administrative Services. 250 

(b) Division of Air Resource Management. 251 

(c) Division of Water Resource Management. 252 

(d) Division of Law Enforcement. 253 

(d)(e) Division of Environmental Assessment and 254 

Restoration. 255 

(e)(f) Division of Waste Management. 256 

(f)(g) Division of Recreation and Parks. 257 

(g)(h) Division of State Lands, the director of which is to 258 

be appointed by the secretary of the department, subject to 259 

confirmation by the Governor and Cabinet sitting as the Board of 260 

Trustees of the Internal Improvement Trust Fund. 261 

Florida Senate - 2012 CS for SB 1782 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

592-02644-12 20121782c1 

Page 10 of 36 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

 262 

In order to ensure statewide and intradepartmental consistency, 263 

the department’s divisions shall direct the district offices and 264 

bureaus on matters of interpretation and applicability of the 265 

department’s rules and programs. 266 

(4) Law enforcement officers of the Department of 267 

Environmental Protection who meet the provisions of s. 943.13 268 

are constituted law enforcement officers of this state with full 269 

power to investigate and arrest for any violation of the laws of 270 

this state, and the rules of the department and the Board of 271 

Trustees of the Internal Improvement Trust Fund. The general 272 

laws applicable to investigations, searches, and arrests by 273 

peace officers of this state apply to such law enforcement 274 

officers. 275 

Section 8. Subsection (1) of section 258.008, Florida 276 

Statutes, is amended to read: 277 

258.008 Prohibited activities; penalties.— 278 

(1) Except as provided in subsection (3), any person who 279 

violates or otherwise fails to comply with the rules adopted 280 

under this chapter commits a noncriminal infraction for which 281 

ejection from all property managed by the Division of Recreation 282 

and Parks and a fine of up to $500 may be imposed by the 283 

division. Fines paid under this subsection shall be paid to the 284 

Fish and Wildlife Conservation Commission Department of 285 

Environmental Protection and deposited in the State Game Park 286 

Trust Fund as provided in ss. 379.338, 379.339, and 379.3395. 287 

Section 9. Subsection (16) of section 258.501, Florida 288 

Statutes, is amended to read: 289 

258.501 Myakka River; wild and scenic segment.— 290 



Florida Senate - 2012 CS for SB 1782 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

592-02644-12 20121782c1 

Page 11 of 36 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

(16) ENFORCEMENT.—Officers of The Fish and Wildlife 291 

Conservation Commission and the department shall have full 292 

authority to enforce any rule adopted by the department under 293 

this section with the same police powers given them by law to 294 

enforce the rules of state parks and the rules pertaining to 295 

saltwater areas under the jurisdiction of the Florida Marine 296 

Patrol. 297 

Section 10. Paragraph (a) of subsection (2) of section 298 

282.709, Florida Statutes, is amended to read: 299 

282.709 State agency law enforcement radio system and 300 

interoperability network.— 301 

(2) The Joint Task Force on State Agency Law Enforcement 302 

Communications is created adjunct to the department to advise 303 

the department of member-agency needs relating to the planning, 304 

designing, and establishment of the statewide communication 305 

system. 306 

(a) The Joint Task Force on State Agency Law Enforcement 307 

Communications shall consist of the following eight members, as 308 

follows: 309 

1. A representative of the Division of Alcoholic Beverages 310 

and Tobacco of the Department of Business and Professional 311 

Regulation who shall be appointed by the secretary of the 312 

department. 313 

2. A representative of the Division of Florida Highway 314 

Patrol of the Department of Highway Safety and Motor Vehicles 315 

who shall be appointed by the executive director of the 316 

department. 317 

3. A representative of the Department of Law Enforcement 318 

who shall be appointed by the executive director of the 319 

Florida Senate - 2012 CS for SB 1782 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

592-02644-12 20121782c1 

Page 12 of 36 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

department. 320 

4. A representative of the Fish and Wildlife Conservation 321 

Commission who shall be appointed by the executive director of 322 

the commission. 323 

5. A representative of the Division of Law Enforcement of 324 

the Department of Environmental Protection who shall be 325 

appointed by the secretary of the department. 326 

5.6. A representative of the Department of Corrections who 327 

shall be appointed by the secretary of the department. 328 

6.7. A representative of the Division of State Fire Marshal 329 

of the Department of Financial Services who shall be appointed 330 

by the State Fire Marshal. 331 

7.8. A representative of the Department of Transportation 332 

who shall be appointed by the secretary of the department. 333 

Section 11. Subsection (1) of section 316.003, Florida 334 

Statutes, is amended to read: 335 

316.003 Definitions.—The following words and phrases, when 336 

used in this chapter, shall have the meanings respectively 337 

ascribed to them in this section, except where the context 338 

otherwise requires: 339 

(1) AUTHORIZED EMERGENCY VEHICLES.—Vehicles of the fire 340 

department (fire patrol), police vehicles, and such ambulances 341 

and emergency vehicles of municipal departments, public service 342 

corporations operated by private corporations, the Department of 343 

Environmental Protection, the Fish and Wildlife Conservation 344 

Commission, the Department of Health, the Department of 345 

Transportation, and the Department of Corrections as are 346 

designated or authorized by their respective department or the 347 

chief of police of an incorporated city or any sheriff of any of 348 



Florida Senate - 2012 CS for SB 1782 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

592-02644-12 20121782c1 

Page 13 of 36 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

the various counties. 349 

Section 12. Subsections (3) and (9) of section 316.2397, 350 

Florida Statutes, are amended to read: 351 

316.2397 Certain lights prohibited; exceptions.— 352 

(3) Vehicles of the fire department and fire patrol, 353 

including vehicles of volunteer firefighters as permitted under 354 

s. 316.2398, vehicles of medical staff physicians or technicians 355 

of medical facilities licensed by the state as authorized under 356 

s. 316.2398, ambulances as authorized under this chapter, and 357 

buses and taxicabs as authorized under s. 316.2399 may are 358 

permitted to show or display red lights. Vehicles of the fire 359 

department, fire patrol, police vehicles, and such ambulances 360 

and emergency vehicles of municipal and county departments, 361 

public service corporations operated by private corporations, 362 

the Fish and Wildlife Conservation Commission, the Department of 363 

Environmental Protection, the Department of Transportation, the 364 

Department of Agriculture and Consumer Services, and the 365 

Department of Corrections as are designated or authorized by 366 

their respective department or the chief of police of an 367 

incorporated city or any sheriff of any county may are hereby 368 

authorized to operate emergency lights and sirens in an 369 

emergency. Wreckers, mosquito control fog and spray vehicles, 370 

and emergency vehicles of governmental departments or public 371 

service corporations may show or display amber lights when in 372 

actual operation or when a hazard exists provided they are not 373 

used going to and from the scene of operation or hazard without 374 

specific authorization of a law enforcement officer or law 375 

enforcement agency. Wreckers must use amber rotating or flashing 376 

lights while performing recoveries and loading on the roadside 377 

Florida Senate - 2012 CS for SB 1782 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

592-02644-12 20121782c1 

Page 14 of 36 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

day or night, and may use such lights while towing a vehicle on 378 

wheel lifts, slings, or under reach if the operator of the 379 

wrecker deems such lights necessary. A flatbed, car carrier, or 380 

rollback may not use amber rotating or flashing lights when 381 

hauling a vehicle on the bed unless it creates a hazard to other 382 

motorists because of protruding objects. Further, escort 383 

vehicles may show or display amber lights when in the actual 384 

process of escorting overdimensioned equipment, material, or 385 

buildings as authorized by law. Vehicles owned or leased by 386 

private security agencies may show or display green and amber 387 

lights, with either color being no greater than 50 percent of 388 

the lights displayed, while the security personnel are engaged 389 

in security duties on private or public property. 390 

(9) Flashing red lights may be used by emergency response 391 

vehicles of the Fish and Wildlife Conservation Commission, the 392 

Department of Environmental Protection and the Department of 393 

Health when responding to an emergency in the line of duty. 394 

Section 13. Paragraph (a) of subsection (1) of section 395 

316.640, Florida Statutes, is amended to read: 396 

316.640 Enforcement.—The enforcement of the traffic laws of 397 

this state is vested as follows: 398 

(1) STATE.— 399 

(a)1.a. The Division of Florida Highway Patrol of the 400 

Department of Highway Safety and Motor Vehicles; the Division of 401 

Law Enforcement of the Fish and Wildlife Conservation 402 

Commission; the Division of Law Enforcement of the Department of 403 

Environmental Protection; and the agents, inspectors, and 404 

officers of the Department of Law Enforcement each have 405 

authority to enforce all of the traffic laws of this state on 406 



Florida Senate - 2012 CS for SB 1782 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

592-02644-12 20121782c1 

Page 15 of 36 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

all the streets and highways thereof and elsewhere throughout 407 

the state wherever the public has a right to travel by motor 408 

vehicle. 409 

b. University police officers may shall have authority to 410 

enforce all of the traffic laws of this state when violations 411 

occur on or within 1,000 feet of any property or facilities that 412 

are under the guidance, supervision, regulation, or control of a 413 

state university, a direct-support organization of such state 414 

university, or any other organization controlled by the state 415 

university or a direct-support organization of the state 416 

university, or when such violations occur within a specified 417 

jurisdictional area as agreed upon in a mutual aid agreement 418 

entered into with a law enforcement agency pursuant to s. 419 

23.1225(1). Traffic laws may also be enforced off-campus when 420 

hot pursuit originates on or within 1,000 feet of any such 421 

property or facilities, or as agreed upon in accordance with the 422 

mutual aid agreement. 423 

c. Community college police officers may shall have the 424 

authority to enforce all the traffic laws of this state only 425 

when such violations occur on any property or facilities that 426 

are under the guidance, supervision, regulation, or control of 427 

the community college system. 428 

d. Police officers employed by an airport authority may 429 

shall have the authority to enforce all of the traffic laws of 430 

this state only when such violations occur on any property or 431 

facilities that are owned or operated by an airport authority. 432 

(I) An airport authority may employ as a parking 433 

enforcement specialist any individual who successfully completes 434 

a training program established and approved by the Criminal 435 

Florida Senate - 2012 CS for SB 1782 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

592-02644-12 20121782c1 

Page 16 of 36 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

Justice Standards and Training Commission for parking 436 

enforcement specialists but who does not otherwise meet the 437 

uniform minimum standards established by the commission for law 438 

enforcement officers or auxiliary or part-time officers under s. 439 

943.12. Nothing in This sub-sub-subparagraph does not shall be 440 

construed to permit the carrying of firearms or other weapons, 441 

nor shall such parking enforcement specialist have arrest 442 

authority. 443 

(II) A parking enforcement specialist employed by an 444 

airport authority may is authorized to enforce all state, 445 

county, and municipal laws and ordinances governing parking only 446 

when such violations are on property or facilities owned or 447 

operated by the airport authority employing the specialist, by 448 

appropriate state, county, or municipal traffic citation. 449 

e. The Office of Agricultural Law Enforcement of the 450 

Department of Agriculture and Consumer Services may shall have 451 

the authority to enforce traffic laws of this state. 452 

f. School safety officers may shall have the authority to 453 

enforce all of the traffic laws of this state when such 454 

violations occur on or about any property or facilities which 455 

are under the guidance, supervision, regulation, or control of 456 

the district school board. 457 

2. An agency of the state as described in subparagraph 1. 458 

is prohibited from establishing a traffic citation quota. A 459 

violation of this subparagraph is not subject to the penalties 460 

provided in chapter 318. 461 

3. Any disciplinary action taken or performance evaluation 462 

conducted by an agency of the state as described in subparagraph 463 

1. of a law enforcement officer’s traffic enforcement activity 464 



Florida Senate - 2012 CS for SB 1782 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

592-02644-12 20121782c1 

Page 17 of 36 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

must be in accordance with written work-performance standards. 465 

Such standards must be approved by the agency and any collective 466 

bargaining unit representing such law enforcement officer. A 467 

violation of this subparagraph is not subject to the penalties 468 

provided in chapter 318. 469 

4. The Division of the Florida Highway Patrol may employ as 470 

a traffic accident investigation officer any individual who 471 

successfully completes instruction in traffic accident 472 

investigation and court presentation through the Selective 473 

Traffic Enforcement Program as approved by the Criminal Justice 474 

Standards and Training Commission and funded through the 475 

National Highway Traffic Safety Administration or a similar 476 

program approved by the commission, but who does not necessarily 477 

meet the uniform minimum standards established by the commission 478 

for law enforcement officers or auxiliary law enforcement 479 

officers under chapter 943. Any such traffic accident 480 

investigation officer who makes an investigation at the scene of 481 

a traffic accident may issue traffic citations, based upon 482 

personal investigation, when he or she has reasonable and 483 

probable grounds to believe that a person who was involved in 484 

the accident committed an offense under this chapter, chapter 485 

319, chapter 320, or chapter 322 in connection with the 486 

accident. This subparagraph does not permit the officer to carry 487 

firearms or other weapons, and such an officer does not have 488 

authority to make arrests. 489 

Section 14. Subsection (4) of section 375.041, Florida 490 

Statutes, is amended to read: 491 

375.041 Land Acquisition Trust Fund.— 492 

(4) The department may disburse moneys in the Land 493 

Florida Senate - 2012 CS for SB 1782 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

592-02644-12 20121782c1 

Page 18 of 36 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

Acquisition Trust Fund to pay all necessary expenses to carry 494 

out the purposes of this act. The department shall disburse 495 

moneys from the Land Acquisition Trust Fund to the Fish and 496 

Wildlife Conservation Commission for the purpose of funding law 497 

enforcement services on state lands. 498 

Section 15. Subsection (5) of section 376.065, Florida 499 

Statutes, is amended to read: 500 

376.065 Operation of terminal facility without discharge 501 

prevention and response certificate prohibited; penalty.— 502 

(5)(a) A Any person who violates this section or the terms 503 

and requirements of such certification commits a noncriminal 504 

infraction. The civil penalty for any such infraction shall be 505 

$500, except as otherwise provided in this section. 506 

(b) A Any person cited for an infraction under this section 507 

may: 508 

1. Pay the civil penalty; 509 

2. Post a bond equal to the amount of the applicable civil 510 

penalty; or 511 

3. Sign and accept a citation indicating a promise to 512 

appear before the county court. 513 

 514 

The department employee officer authorized to issue these 515 

citations may indicate on the citation the time and location of 516 

the scheduled hearing and shall indicate the applicable civil 517 

penalty. 518 

(c) A Any person who willfully refuses to post bond or 519 

accept and sign a citation commits a misdemeanor of the second 520 

degree, punishable as provided in s. 775.082 or s. 775.083. 521 

(d) After compliance with the provisions of subparagraph 522 



Florida Senate - 2012 CS for SB 1782 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

592-02644-12 20121782c1 

Page 19 of 36 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

(b)2. or subparagraph (b)3., a any person charged with a 523 

noncriminal infraction under this section may: 524 

1. Pay the civil penalty, either by mail or in person, 525 

within 30 days after the date of receiving the citation; or 526 

2. If the person has posted bond, forfeit the bond by not 527 

appearing at the designated time and location. 528 

 529 

A person cited for an infraction under this section who pays the 530 

civil penalty or forfeits the bond has admitted the infraction 531 

and waives the right to a hearing on the issue of commission of 532 

the infraction. Such admission may not be used as evidence in 533 

any other proceedings. 534 

(e) A Any person who elects to appear before the county 535 

court or who is required to so appear waives the limitations of 536 

the civil penalty specified in paragraph (a). The court, after a 537 

hearing, shall make a determination as to whether an infraction 538 

has been committed. If the commission of the infraction is 539 

proved, the court shall impose a civil penalty of $500. 540 

(f) At a hearing under this subsection, the commission of a 541 

charged infraction must be proved by the greater weight of the 542 

evidence. 543 

(g) A person who is found by the hearing official to have 544 

committed an infraction may appeal that finding to the circuit 545 

court. 546 

(h) A Any person who has not posted bond and who fails 547 

either to pay the fine specified in paragraph (a) within 30 days 548 

after receipt of the citation or to appear before the court 549 

commits a misdemeanor of the second degree, punishable as 550 

provided in s. 775.082 or s. 775.083. 551 

Florida Senate - 2012 CS for SB 1782 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

592-02644-12 20121782c1 

Page 20 of 36 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

Section 16. Subsection (3) of section 376.07, Florida 552 

Statutes, is amended to read: 553 

376.07 Regulatory powers of department; penalties for 554 

inadequate booming by terminal facilities.— 555 

(3) The department shall not require vessels to maintain 556 

discharge prevention gear, holding tanks, and containment gear 557 

which exceed federal requirements. However, a terminal facility 558 

transferring heavy oil to or from a vessel with a heavy oil 559 

storage capacity greater than 10,000 gallons shall be required, 560 

considering existing weather and tidal conditions, to adequately 561 

boom or seal off the transfer area during a transfer, including, 562 

but not limited to, a bunkering operation, to minimize the 563 

escape of such pollutants from the containment area. As used in 564 

this subsection, the term “adequate booming” means booming with 565 

proper containment equipment which is employed and located for 566 

the purpose of preventing, for the most likely discharge, as 567 

much of the pollutant as possible from escaping out of the 568 

containment area. 569 

(a) The owner or operator of a terminal facility involved 570 

in the transfer of such pollutant to or from a vessel which is 571 

not adequately boomed commits a noncriminal infraction and shall 572 

be cited for such infraction. The civil penalty for such an 573 

infraction shall be $2,500, except as otherwise provided in this 574 

section. 575 

(b) A Any person cited for an infraction under this section 576 

may: 577 

1. Pay the civil penalty; 578 

2. Post bond equal to the amount of the applicable civil 579 

penalty; or 580 



Florida Senate - 2012 CS for SB 1782 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

592-02644-12 20121782c1 

Page 21 of 36 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

3. Sign and accept a citation indicating a promise to 581 

appear before the county court. 582 

 583 

The department employee officer authorized to issue these 584 

citations may indicate on the citation the time and location of 585 

the scheduled hearing and shall indicate the applicable civil 586 

penalty. 587 

(c) A Any person who willfully refuses to post bond or 588 

accept and sign a citation commits a misdemeanor of the second 589 

degree, punishable as provided in s. 775.082 or s. 775.083. 590 

(d) After compliance with subparagraph (b)2. or 591 

subparagraph (b)3., a any person charged with a noncriminal 592 

infraction under this section may: 593 

1. Pay the civil penalty, either by mail or in person, 594 

within 30 days after the date of receiving the citation; or 595 

2. If the person has posted bond, forfeit the bond by not 596 

appearing at the designated time and location. 597 

 598 

A person cited for an infraction under this section who pays the 599 

civil penalty or forfeits the bond has admitted the infraction 600 

and waives the right to a hearing on the issue of commission of 601 

the infraction. Such admission may not be used as evidence in 602 

any other proceedings. 603 

(e) A Any person who elects to appear before the county 604 

court or who is required to appear waives the limitations of the 605 

civil penalty specified in paragraph (a). The issue of whether 606 

an infraction has been committed and the severity of the 607 

infraction shall be determined by a hearing official at a 608 

hearing. If the commission of the infraction is proved by the 609 

Florida Senate - 2012 CS for SB 1782 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

592-02644-12 20121782c1 

Page 22 of 36 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

greater weight of the evidence, the court shall impose a civil 610 

penalty of $2,500. If the court determines that the owner or 611 

operator of the terminal facility failed to deploy any boom 612 

equipment during such a transfer, including, but not limited to, 613 

a bunkering operation, the civil penalty shall be $5,000. 614 

(f) A person who is found by the hearing official to have 615 

committed an infraction may appeal that finding to the circuit 616 

court. 617 

(g) A Any person who has not posted bond and who fails 618 

either to pay the civil penalty specified in paragraph (a) 619 

within 30 days after receipt of the citation or to appear before 620 

the court commits a misdemeanor of the second degree, punishable 621 

as provided in s. 775.082 or s. 775.083. 622 

Section 17. Subsection (2) of section 376.071, Florida 623 

Statutes, is amended to read: 624 

376.071 Discharge contingency plan for vessels.— 625 

(2)(a) A Any master of a vessel that which violates 626 

subsection (1) commits a noncriminal infraction and shall be 627 

cited for such infraction. The civil penalty for such an 628 

infraction shall be $5,000, except as otherwise provided in this 629 

subsection. 630 

(b) A Any person charged with a noncriminal infraction 631 

under this section may: 632 

1. Pay the civil penalty; 633 

2. Post bond equal to the amount of the applicable civil 634 

penalty; or 635 

3. Sign and accept a citation indicating a promise to 636 

appear before the county court for the county in which the 637 

violation occurred or the county closest to the location at 638 



Florida Senate - 2012 CS for SB 1782 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

592-02644-12 20121782c1 

Page 23 of 36 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

which the violation occurred. 639 

 640 

The department employee officer authorized to issue these 641 

citations may indicate on the citation the time and location of 642 

the scheduled hearing and shall indicate the applicable civil 643 

penalty. 644 

(c) A Any person who willfully refuses to post bond or 645 

accept and sign a citation commits a misdemeanor of the second 646 

degree, punishable as provided in s. 775.082 or s. 775.083. 647 

(d) After complying with the provisions of subparagraph 648 

(b)2. or subparagraph (b)3., a any person charged with a 649 

noncriminal infraction under this section may: 650 

1. Pay the civil penalty, either by mail or in person, 651 

within 30 days after the date of receiving the citation; or 652 

2. If the person has posted bond, forfeit the bond by not 653 

appearing at the designated time and location. 654 

 655 

A person cited for an infraction under this section who pays the 656 

civil penalty or forfeits the bond has admitted the infraction 657 

and waives the right to a hearing on the issue of commission of 658 

the infraction. Such admission may not be used as evidence in 659 

any other proceedings. 660 

(e) A Any person who elects to appear before the county 661 

court or who is required to appear waives the limitations of the 662 

civil penalty specified in paragraph (a). The court, after a 663 

hearing, shall make a determination as to whether an infraction 664 

has been committed. If the commission of the infraction is 665 

proved, the court shall impose a civil penalty of $5,000. 666 

(f) At a hearing under this subsection, the commission of a 667 

Florida Senate - 2012 CS for SB 1782 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

592-02644-12 20121782c1 

Page 24 of 36 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

charged infraction must be proved by the greater weight of the 668 

evidence. 669 

(g) A person who is found by the hearing official to have 670 

committed an infraction may appeal that finding to the circuit 671 

court. 672 

(h) A Any person who has not posted bond and who fails 673 

either to pay the civil penalty specified in paragraph (a) 674 

within 30 days after receipt of the citation or to appear before 675 

the court commits a misdemeanor of the second degree, punishable 676 

as provided in s. 775.082 or s. 775.083. 677 

Section 18. Subsection (4) of section 376.16, Florida 678 

Statutes, is amended to read: 679 

376.16 Enforcement and penalties.— 680 

(4) A Any person charged with a noncriminal infraction 681 

pursuant to subsection (2) or subsection (3) may: 682 

(a) Pay the civil penalty; 683 

(b) Post a bond equal to the amount of the applicable civil 684 

penalty; or 685 

(c) Sign and accept a citation indicating a promise to 686 

appear before the county court. 687 

 688 

The department employee officer authorized to issue these 689 

citations may indicate on the citation the time and location of 690 

the scheduled hearing and shall indicate the applicable civil 691 

penalty. 692 

Section 19. Paragraph (q) is added to subsection (4) of 693 

section 376.3071, Florida Statutes, to read: 694 

376.3071 Inland Protection Trust Fund; creation; purposes; 695 

funding.— 696 



Florida Senate - 2012 CS for SB 1782 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

592-02644-12 20121782c1 

Page 25 of 36 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

(4) USES.—Whenever, in its determination, incidents of 697 

inland contamination related to the storage of petroleum or 698 

petroleum products may pose a threat to the environment or the 699 

public health, safety, or welfare, the department shall obligate 700 

moneys available in the fund to provide for: 701 

(q) Enforcement of this section and ss. 376.30-376.317 by 702 

the Fish and Wildlife Conservation Commission. The department 703 

shall disburse moneys to the commission for such purpose. 704 

 705 

The Inland Protection Trust Fund may only be used to fund the 706 

activities in ss. 376.30-376.317 except ss. 376.3078 and 707 

376.3079. Amounts on deposit in the Inland Protection Trust Fund 708 

in each fiscal year shall first be applied or allocated for the 709 

payment of amounts payable by the department pursuant to 710 

paragraph (o) under a service contract entered into by the 711 

department pursuant to s. 376.3075 and appropriated in each year 712 

by the Legislature prior to making or providing for other 713 

disbursements from the fund. Nothing in this subsection shall 714 

authorize the use of the Inland Protection Trust Fund for 715 

cleanup of contamination caused primarily by a discharge of 716 

solvents as defined in s. 206.9925(6), or polychlorinated 717 

biphenyls when their presence causes them to be hazardous 718 

wastes, except solvent contamination which is the result of 719 

chemical or physical breakdown of petroleum products and is 720 

otherwise eligible. Facilities used primarily for the storage of 721 

motor or diesel fuels as defined in ss. 206.01 and 206.86 shall 722 

be presumed not to be excluded from eligibility pursuant to this 723 

section. 724 

Section 20. Section 379.3311, Florida Statutes, is amended 725 

Florida Senate - 2012 CS for SB 1782 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

592-02644-12 20121782c1 

Page 26 of 36 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

to read: 726 

379.3311 Police powers of commission and its agents.— 727 

(1) The Fish and Wildlife Conservation commission, the 728 

executive director and the executive director’s assistants 729 

designated by her or him, and each commission wildlife officer 730 

are constituted peace officers with the power to make arrests 731 

for violations of the laws of this state when committed in the 732 

presence of the officer or when committed on lands under the 733 

supervision and management of the commission, the department, 734 

the Board of Trustees of the Internal Improvement Trust Fund, or 735 

the Department of Agricultural and Consumer Services, including 736 

state parks, coastal and aquatic managed areas, and greenways 737 

and trails. The general laws applicable to arrests by peace 738 

officers of this state shall also be applicable to the said 739 

director, assistants, and wildlife officers. Such persons may 740 

enter upon any land or waters of the state for performance of 741 

their lawful duties and may take with them any necessary 742 

equipment, and such entry does shall not constitute a trespass. 743 

(2) Such officers may shall have power and authority to 744 

enforce throughout the state all laws relating to game, nongame 745 

birds, fish, and fur-bearing animals and all rules and 746 

regulations of the Fish and Wildlife Conservation commission 747 

relating to wild animal life, marine life, and freshwater 748 

aquatic life, and in connection with the said laws, rules, and 749 

regulations, in the enforcement thereof and in the performance 750 

of their duties thereunder, to: 751 

(a) Go upon all premises, posted or otherwise; 752 

(b) Execute warrants and search warrants for the violation 753 

of the said laws; 754 



Florida Senate - 2012 CS for SB 1782 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

592-02644-12 20121782c1 

Page 27 of 36 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

(c) Serve subpoenas issued for the examination, 755 

investigation, and trial of all offenses against the said laws; 756 

(d) Carry firearms or other weapons, concealed or 757 

otherwise, in the performance of their duties; 758 

(e) Arrest upon probable cause without warrant any person 759 

found in the act of violating any such of the provisions of said 760 

laws or, in pursuit immediately following such violations, to 761 

examine any person, boat, conveyance, vehicle, game bag, game 762 

coat, or other receptacle for wild animal life, marine life, or 763 

freshwater aquatic life, or any camp, tent, cabin, or roster, in 764 

the presence of any person stopping at or belonging to such 765 

camp, tent, cabin, or roster, when the said officer has reason 766 

to believe, and has exhibited her or his authority and stated to 767 

the suspected person in charge the officer’s reason for 768 

believing, that any of the aforesaid laws have been violated at 769 

such camp; 770 

(f) Secure and execute search warrants and in pursuance 771 

thereof to enter any building, enclosure, or car and to break 772 

open, when found necessary, any apartment, chest, locker, box, 773 

trunk, crate, basket, bag, package, or container and examine the 774 

contents thereof; 775 

(g) Seize and take possession of all wild animal life, 776 

marine life, or freshwater aquatic life taken or in possession 777 

or under control of, or shipped or about to be shipped by, any 778 

person at any time in any manner contrary to the said laws. 779 

(3) It is unlawful for a any person to resist an arrest 780 

authorized by this section or in any manner to interfere, either 781 

by abetting, assisting such resistance, or otherwise interfering 782 

with the said executive director, assistants, or wildlife 783 

Florida Senate - 2012 CS for SB 1782 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

592-02644-12 20121782c1 

Page 28 of 36 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

officers while engaged in the performance of the duties imposed 784 

upon them by law or regulation of the Fish and Wildlife 785 

Conservation commission, the department, the Board of Trustees 786 

of the Internal Improvement Trust Fund, or the Department of 787 

Agriculture and Consumer Services. 788 

(4) Upon final disposition of any alleged offense for which 789 

a citation for any violation of this chapter or the rules of the 790 

commission has been issued, the court shall, within 10 days 791 

after the final disposition of the action, certify the 792 

disposition to the commission. 793 

Section 21. Section 379.3312, Florida Statutes, is amended 794 

to read: 795 

379.3312 Powers of arrest by agents of Department of 796 

Environmental Protection or Fish and Wildlife Conservation 797 

commission.—Any certified law enforcement officer of the 798 

Department of Environmental Protection or the Fish and Wildlife 799 

Conservation commission, upon receiving information, relayed to 800 

her or him from any law enforcement officer stationed on the 801 

ground, on the water, or in the air, that a driver, operator, or 802 

occupant of any vehicle, boat, or airboat has violated any 803 

section of chapter 327, chapter 328, or this chapter, or s. 804 

597.010 or s. 597.020, may arrest the driver, operator, or 805 

occupant for violation of such said laws when reasonable and 806 

proper identification of the vehicle, boat, or airboat and 807 

reasonable and probable grounds to believe that the driver, 808 

operator, or occupant has committed or is committing any such 809 

offense have been communicated to the arresting officer by the 810 

other officer stationed on the ground, on the water, or in the 811 

air. 812 



Florida Senate - 2012 CS for SB 1782 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

592-02644-12 20121782c1 

Page 29 of 36 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

Section 22. Subsection (1) of section 379.3313, Florida 813 

Statutes, is amended to read: 814 

379.3313 Powers of commission law enforcement officers.— 815 

(1) Law enforcement officers of the commission are 816 

constituted law enforcement officers of this state with full 817 

power to investigate and arrest for any violation of the laws of 818 

this state and the rules of the commission, the department, the 819 

Board of Trustees of the Internal Improvement Trust Fund, and 820 

the Department of Agriculture and Consumer Services under their 821 

jurisdiction. The general laws applicable to arrests by peace 822 

officers of this state shall also be applicable to law 823 

enforcement officers of the commission. Such law enforcement 824 

officers may enter upon any land or waters of the state for 825 

performance of their lawful duties and may take with them any 826 

necessary equipment, and such entry will not constitute a 827 

trespass. It is lawful for any boat, motor vehicle, or aircraft 828 

owned or chartered by the commission or its agents or employees 829 

to land on and depart from any of the beaches or waters of the 830 

state. Such law enforcement officers have the authority, without 831 

warrant, to board, inspect, and search any boat, fishing 832 

appliance, storage or processing plant, fishhouse, spongehouse, 833 

oysterhouse, or other warehouse, building, or vehicle engaged in 834 

transporting or storing any fish or fishery products. Such 835 

authority to search and inspect without a search warrant is 836 

limited to those cases in which such law enforcement officers 837 

have reason to believe that fish or any saltwater products are 838 

taken or kept for sale, barter, transportation, or other 839 

purposes in violation of laws or rules adopted promulgated under 840 

this law. Any Such law enforcement officers officer may at any 841 

Florida Senate - 2012 CS for SB 1782 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

592-02644-12 20121782c1 

Page 30 of 36 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

time seize or take possession of any saltwater products or 842 

contraband which have been unlawfully caught, taken, or 843 

processed or which are unlawfully possessed or transported in 844 

violation of any of the laws of this state or any rule of the 845 

commission. Such law enforcement officers may arrest any person 846 

in the act of violating any of the provisions of this law, the 847 

rules of the commission, or any of the laws of this state. It is 848 

hereby declared unlawful for a any person to resist such arrest 849 

or in any manner interfere, either by abetting or assisting such 850 

resistance or otherwise interfering, with any such law 851 

enforcement officer while engaged in the performance of the 852 

duties imposed upon him or her by law or rule of the commission. 853 

Section 23. Subsections (1) and (2) of section 379.333, 854 

Florida Statutes, are amended to read: 855 

379.333 Arrest by officers of the Fish and Wildlife 856 

Conservation commission; recognizance; cash bond; citation.— 857 

(1) In all cases of arrest by officers of the Fish and 858 

Wildlife Conservation commission and the Department of 859 

Environmental Protection, the person arrested shall be delivered 860 

forthwith by the said officer to the sheriff of the county, or 861 

shall obtain from the such person arrested a recognizance or, if 862 

deemed necessary, a cash bond or other sufficient security 863 

conditioned for her or his appearance before the proper tribunal 864 

of the such county to answer the charge for which the person has 865 

been arrested. 866 

(2) All officers of the commission shall and the department 867 

are hereby directed to deliver all bonds accepted and approved 868 

by them to the sheriff of the county in which the offense is 869 

alleged to have been committed. 870 



Florida Senate - 2012 CS for SB 1782 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

592-02644-12 20121782c1 

Page 31 of 36 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

Section 24. Subsection (1) of section 379.341, Florida 871 

Statutes, is amended to read: 872 

379.341 Disposition of illegal fishing devices; exercise of 873 

police power.— 874 

(1) In all cases of arrest and conviction for use of 875 

illegal nets or traps or fishing devices, as provided in this 876 

chapter, the such illegal net, trap, or fishing device is 877 

declared to be a nuisance and shall be seized and carried before 878 

the court having jurisdiction of the such offense and the said 879 

court shall order the such illegal trap, net, or fishing device 880 

forfeited to the commission immediately after trial and 881 

conviction of the person in whose possession they were found. 882 

When any illegal net, trap, or fishing device is found in the 883 

fresh waters of the state, and the owner of same is shall not be 884 

known to the officer finding the same, the such officer shall 885 

immediately procure from the county court judge an order 886 

forfeiting the said illegal net, trap, or fishing device to the 887 

commission. The commission may destroy the such illegal net, 888 

trap, or fishing device, if in its judgment the said net, trap, 889 

or fishing device is not of no value in the work of the 890 

commission department. 891 

Section 25. Subsection (2) of section 403.413, Florida 892 

Statutes, is reordered and amended to read: 893 

403.413 Florida Litter Law.— 894 

(2) DEFINITIONS.—As used in this section: 895 

(f)(a) “Litter” means any garbage; rubbish; trash; refuse; 896 

can; bottle; box; container; paper; tobacco product; tire; 897 

appliance; mechanical equipment or part; building or 898 

construction material; tool; machinery; wood; motor vehicle or 899 

Florida Senate - 2012 CS for SB 1782 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

592-02644-12 20121782c1 

Page 32 of 36 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

motor vehicle part; vessel; aircraft; farm machinery or 900 

equipment; sludge from a waste treatment facility, water supply 901 

treatment plant, or air pollution control facility; or substance 902 

in any form resulting from domestic, industrial, commercial, 903 

mining, agricultural, or governmental operations. 904 

(h)(b) “Person” means any individual, firm, sole 905 

proprietorship, partnership, corporation, or unincorporated 906 

association. 907 

(e)(c) “Law enforcement officer” means any officer of the 908 

Florida Highway Patrol, a county sheriff’s department, a 909 

municipal law enforcement department, a law enforcement 910 

department of any other political subdivision, the department, 911 

or the Fish and Wildlife Conservation Commission. In addition, 912 

and solely for the purposes of this section, “law enforcement 913 

officer” means any employee of a county or municipal park or 914 

recreation department designated by the department head as a 915 

litter enforcement officer. 916 

(a)(d) “Aircraft” means a motor vehicle or other vehicle 917 

that is used or designed to fly but does not include a parachute 918 

or any other device used primarily as safety equipment. 919 

(b)(e) “Commercial purpose” means for the purpose of 920 

economic gain. 921 

(c)(f) “Commercial vehicle” means a vehicle that is owned 922 

or used by a business, corporation, association, partnership, or 923 

sole proprietorship or any other entity conducting business for 924 

a commercial purpose. 925 

(d)(g) “Dump” means to dump, throw, discard, place, 926 

deposit, or dispose of. 927 

(g)(h) “Motor vehicle” means an automobile, motorcycle, 928 



Florida Senate - 2012 CS for SB 1782 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

592-02644-12 20121782c1 

Page 33 of 36 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

truck, trailer, semitrailer, truck tractor, or semitrailer 929 

combination or any other vehicle that is powered by a motor. 930 

(i) “Vessel” means a boat, barge, or airboat or any other 931 

vehicle used for transportation on water. 932 

Section 26. Paragraph (d) of subsection (1) of section 933 

784.07, Florida Statutes, is amended to read: 934 

784.07 Assault or battery of law enforcement officers, 935 

firefighters, emergency medical care providers, public transit 936 

employees or agents, or other specified officers; 937 

reclassification of offenses; minimum sentences.— 938 

(1) As used in this section, the term: 939 

(d) “Law enforcement officer” includes a law enforcement 940 

officer, a correctional officer, a correctional probation 941 

officer, a part-time law enforcement officer, a part-time 942 

correctional officer, an auxiliary law enforcement officer, and 943 

an auxiliary correctional officer, as those terms are 944 

respectively defined in s. 943.10, and any county probation 945 

officer; an employee or agent of the Department of Corrections 946 

who supervises or provides services to inmates; an officer of 947 

the Parole Commission; a federal law enforcement officer as 948 

defined in s. 901.1505; and law enforcement personnel of the 949 

Fish and Wildlife Conservation Commission, the Department of 950 

Environmental Protection, or the Department of Law Enforcement. 951 

Section 27. Section 843.08, Florida Statutes, is amended to 952 

read: 953 

843.08 Falsely personating officer, etc.—A person who 954 

falsely assumes or pretends to be a sheriff, officer of the 955 

Florida Highway Patrol, officer of the Fish and Wildlife 956 

Conservation Commission, officer of the Department of 957 

Florida Senate - 2012 CS for SB 1782 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

592-02644-12 20121782c1 

Page 34 of 36 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

Environmental Protection, officer of the Department of 958 

Transportation, officer of the Department of Financial Services, 959 

officer of the Department of Corrections, correctional probation 960 

officer, deputy sheriff, state attorney or assistant state 961 

attorney, statewide prosecutor or assistant statewide 962 

prosecutor, state attorney investigator, coroner, police 963 

officer, lottery special agent or lottery investigator, beverage 964 

enforcement agent, or watchman, or any member of the Parole 965 

Commission and any administrative aide or supervisor employed by 966 

the commission, or any personnel or representative of the 967 

Department of Law Enforcement, or a federal law enforcement 968 

officer as defined in s. 901.1505, and takes upon himself or 969 

herself to act as such, or to require any other person to aid or 970 

assist him or her in a matter pertaining to the duty of any such 971 

officer, commits a felony of the third degree, punishable as 972 

provided in s. 775.082, s. 775.083, or s. 775.084; however, a 973 

person who falsely personates any such officer during the course 974 

of the commission of a felony commits a felony of the second 975 

degree, punishable as provided in s. 775.082, s. 775.083, or s. 976 

775.084.; except that If the commission of the felony results in 977 

the death or personal injury of another human being, the person 978 

commits a felony of the first degree, punishable as provided in 979 

s. 775.082, s. 775.083, or s. 775.084. 980 

Section 28. Section 870.04, Florida Statutes, is amended to 981 

read: 982 

870.04 Specified officers to disperse riotous assembly.—If 983 

any number of persons, whether armed or not, are unlawfully, 984 

riotously or tumultuously assembled in any county, city or 985 

municipality, the sheriff or the sheriff’s deputies, or the 986 



Florida Senate - 2012 CS for SB 1782 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

592-02644-12 20121782c1 

Page 35 of 36 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

mayor, or any commissioner, council member, alderman or police 987 

officer of the said city or municipality, or any officer or 988 

member of the Florida Highway Patrol, or any officer or agent of 989 

the Fish and Wildlife Conservation Commission, a Department of 990 

Environmental Protection, or beverage enforcement agent, any 991 

personnel or representatives of the Department of Law 992 

Enforcement or its successor, or any other peace officer, shall 993 

go among the persons so assembled, or as near to them as may be 994 

done with safety, and shall in the name of the state command all 995 

the persons so assembled immediately and peaceably to disperse; 996 

and if such persons do not thereupon immediately and peaceably 997 

disperse, such said officers shall command the assistance of all 998 

such persons in seizing, arresting and securing such persons in 999 

custody.; and If a any person present being so commanded to aid 1000 

and assist in seizing and securing such rioter or persons so 1001 

unlawfully assembled, or in suppressing a such riot or unlawful 1002 

assembly, refuses or neglects to obey such command, or, when 1003 

required by the such officers to depart from the place, refuses 1004 

and neglects to do so, the person shall be deemed one of the 1005 

rioters or persons unlawfully assembled, and may be prosecuted 1006 

and punished accordingly. 1007 

Section 29. Paragraphs (c) through (n) of subsection (6) of 1008 

section 932.7055, Florida Statutes, are redesignated as 1009 

paragraphs (b) through (m), respectively, and present paragraph 1010 

(b) of that subsection is amended to read: 1011 

932.7055 Disposition of liens and forfeited property.— 1012 

(6) If the seizing agency is a state agency, all remaining 1013 

proceeds shall be deposited into the General Revenue Fund. 1014 

However, if the seizing agency is: 1015 

Florida Senate - 2012 CS for SB 1782 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

592-02644-12 20121782c1 

Page 36 of 36 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

(b) The Department of Environmental Protection, the 1016 

proceeds accrued pursuant to the provisions of the Florida 1017 

Contraband Forfeiture Act shall be deposited into the Internal 1018 

Improvement Trust Fund. 1019 

Section 30. This act shall take effect July 1, 2012. 1020 











The Florida Senate 

BILL ANALYSIS AND FISCAL IMPACT STATEMENT 
(This document is based on the provisions contained in the legislation as of the latest date listed below.) 

Prepared By: The Professional Staff of the Budget Committee 

 

BILL:  CS/CS/SB 256 

INTRODUCER:  Budget Committee, Budget Subcommittee on Education Pre-K-12 Appropriations, and 

Senator Flores 

SUBJECT:  Youth and Student Athletes 

DATE:  March 3, 2012 

 

 ANALYST  STAFF DIRECTOR  REFERENCE  ACTION 

1. Brown  Matthews  ED  Favorable 

2. Wilson  Stovall  HR  Favorable 

3. Armstrong  Hamon  BEA  Fav/CS 

4. Hamon  Rhodes  BC  Fav/CS 

5.        

6.        

 

I. Summary: 

This bill requires independent sanctioning authorities of youth athletic teams, and the Florida 

High School Athletic Association (FHSAA), to adopt guidelines, bylaws or policies for: 

 

 Educating athletic coaches, officials, administrators, and student athletes and their parents on 

concussions and head injuries; 

 Requiring parents or guardians to sign a consent form that explains the nature and risk of 

concussion and head injury; 

 Requiring a youth or student athlete suspected of sustaining a concussion or head injury in a 

practice or competition to be immediately removed from the activity; and 

 Prohibiting a youth or student athlete who has been removed from a practice or competition 

from returning to practice or competition until the youth submits to the athletic coach written 

medical clearance from the appropriate health care practitioner trained in the diagnosis, 

evaluation, and management of concussions. 

 

The FHSAA is required to establish, through bylaw, a sports medicine advisory committee 

composed of medical doctors, a chiropractor, a podiatrist, a dentist, athletic trainers and a high 

school head coach.  

 

The Sports Medicine Advisory Committee would define and determine which medical 

professionals would qualify as an appropriate health care practitioner, for purposes of the 

medical clearance. 

 

REVISED:         



BILL: CS/CS/SB 256   Page 2 

 

This bill substantially amends sections 943.0438 and 1006.20, Florida Statutes. 

II. Present Situation: 

Independent Sanctioning Authorities 

An independent sanctioning authority is defined in statute as a private, nongovernmental entity 

that organizes, operates, or coordinates a youth athletic team in Florida if the team includes one 

or more minors and is not affiliated with a private school.
1
 An independent sanctioning authority 

is currently required to screen each current and prospective athletic coach against state and 

federal registries of sexual predators and sexual offenders. The independent sanctioning authority 

must disqualify any person from acting as an athletic coach if he or she is identified on one of 

these registries. 

 

The Florida High School Athletic Association 

The Florida High School Athletic Association (FHSAA), established in s. 1006.20, F.S., is the 

governing body of Florida public school athletics. Currently, the FHSAA is required to adopt 

bylaws to: 

 

 Establish eligibility requirements for all students; 

 Prohibit recruiting students for athletic purposes; and 

 Require students participating in athletics to satisfactorily pass an annual medical evaluation. 

 

Unless otherwise specifically provided by statute, the bylaws are the rules by which high school 

athletic programs in its member schools, and the students who participate in them, are governed. 

The bylaws are published in a handbook that is available online.
2
 Currently, the FHSAA governs 

almost 800 public and private member schools.
3
 

 

On June 14, 2011, the FHSAA Board of Directors adopted the FHSAA Concussion Action Plan, 

which is now Appendix B in the 2011-12 FHSAA Handbook; added language to the Consent 

and Release from Liability Certificate (FHSAA Form EL3) about the potential dangers of 

concussions and/or health and neck injuries in interscholastic athletics; and added a required 

course, Concussion in Sports – What You Need to Know, for all FHSAA-member school head 

coaches and paid/supplemental coaches.
4
 

 

Sports-related Head Injury 

The Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC) defines a concussion as a traumatic brain 

injury caused by a bump, blow, or jolt to the head that can change the way the brain normally 

works. Concussions can also occur from a blow to the body that causes the head to move rapidly 

                                                 
1
 See s. 943.0438, F.S. 

2
 Florida High School Athletic Association Handbook,  2011-2012 Edition. Found at: 

<http://www.fhsaa.org/sites/default/files/attachments/2010/09/16/node-235/complete_handbook_276pgs.pdf> (Last visited 

on November 29, 2011). 
3
 About the FHSAA. Found at: <http://www.fhsaa.org/about> (Last visited on November 29, 2011). 

4
 See 2012 Agency Legislative Bill Analysis for SB 256, Florida Department of Education, on file with the Florida Senate 

Health Regulation Committee. 



BILL: CS/CS/SB 256   Page 3 

 

back and forth. The risk of catastrophic injuries or death can be significant especially in youth 

athletes when a concussion or head injury is not properly evaluated or managed. In an effort to 

raise awareness and provide education to coaches, athletes and parents of athletes, the CDC has 

created free tools that provide important information on preventing, recognizing, and responding 

to a concussion.
5
 

 

According to the CDC: 

 

 Approximately 173,000 young people 19 years old or younger receive treatment in 

emergency department settings annually for nonfatal traumatic brain injuries resulting from 

sports and recreation activities; 

 Researchers observed a considerable increase in the number of emergency department visits 

for traumatic brain injuries in the years studied (2001-2009), from 153,375 to 248,418 visits, 

most significantly among males aged 10-19 years; and 

 From 2001-2009, the number of sports and recreation-related emergency department visits 

for traumatic brain injury among persons 19 years old or younger increased 62 percent and 

the rate of traumatic brain injury visits increased 57 percent.
6
 

 

For persons suspected of incurring a traumatic brain injury during sports play, the CDC 

recommends immediate removal from play with a blanket prohibition on return the same day, 

and return to play only after evaluation and clearance by a health care provider with specific 

expertise in diagnosing and managing traumatic brain injury.
7
 The CDC provides the following 

information to help coaches recognize a possible concussion in an athlete.
8
 To help recognize a 

concussion, a coach should watch for two things: 

 

 A forceful bump, blow, or jolt to the head or body that results in rapid movement of the head. 

 Any change in the athlete’s behavior, thinking, or physical functioning. 

 

The changes in the athlete’s behavior, thinking, or physical functioning include any of the 

following: 

 

Signs Observed by Coaching Staff Symptoms Reported by Athlete 

  

Appears dazed or stunned Headache or “pressure” in head 

Is confused about assignment or position Nausea or vomiting 

Forgets an instruction Balance problems or dizziness 

Is unsure of game, score, or opponent Double or blurry vision 

Moves clumsily Sensitivity to light 

                                                 
5
 CDC, Injury Prevention and Control: Traumatic Brain Injury, Concussion in Sports. Found at: 

<http://www.cdc.gov/concussion/sports/index.html> (Last visited on November 29, 2011). 
6
 Nonfatal Traumatic Brain Injuries Related to Sports and Recreation Activities Among Persons Aged Less Than or Equal to 

19 Years --- United States, 2001-2009, CDC, Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Report (MMWR), October 7, 

2011/60(39);1337-1342. Found at: <http://www.cdc.gov/mmwr/preview/mmwrhtml/mm6039a1.htm?s_cid=mm6039a1_w> 

(Last visited on November 29, 2011). 
7
 Id. 

8
 CDC, Injury Prevention and Control: Traumatic Brain Injury, Concussion in Sports. Found at: 

<http://www.cdc.gov/concussion/sports/recognize.html> (Last visited on November 29, 2011). 



BILL: CS/CS/SB 256   Page 4 

 

Signs Observed by Coaching Staff Symptoms Reported by Athlete 

Answers questions slowly Sensitivity to noise 

Loses consciousness (even briefly) Feeling sluggish, hazy, foggy, or groggy 

Shows mood, behavior or personality changes Concentration or memory problems 

Can’t recall events prior to hit or fall Confusion 

Can’t recall events after hit or fall Does not “feel right” or is “feeling down” 

 

The CDC has also developed online training for health care professionals that addresses 

concussion in sports among young athletes.
9
 The training includes a 5-step Return to Play 

progression for determining if an athlete should be cleared to return to athletic activities. 

 

The “Zackery Lystedt Law” 

Named for a young football player who sustained serious injury in 2006 after he returned to play 

too soon following a concussion, the “Zackery Lystedt Law” was enacted by the Washington 

State Legislature in 2009. The law took effect on July 26, 2009. The law provided for education 

on the dangers of concussions, removal of head-injured athletes from competition, and delayed 

return to play until a medical professional provides a clearance. 

 

On May 21, 2010, Roger Goodell, Commissioner of the National Football League, sent a letter to 

state governors urging their support of legislation that would better protect young athletes by 

mandating a more formal and aggressive approach to treatment of concussions.
10

 The letter cites 

the Zackery Lystedt Law. As of November 2011, thirty-four states have enacted legislation that 

targets youth sports-related head injuries.
11

 Most of these laws are similar in content to the 

Zackery Lystedt Law. 

 

Health Care Practitioners 

Health care practitioners are regulated under the general provisions of ch. 456, F.S., and specific 

licensing statutes for each type of practitioner. 

 

 Medical practice is governed by ch. 458, F.S., under the Board of Medicine within the 

Department of Health. 

 The practice of osteopathic medicine is governed by ch. 459, F.S., under the Board of 

Osteopathic Medicine within the Department of Health. 

 Nursing practice is governed by ch. 464, F.S., under the Board of Nursing within the 

Department of Health. Section 464.012, F.S., provides for the certification of registered 

nurses as advanced registered nurse practitioners. A nurse practitioner may perform certain 

acts within the framework of an established protocol with a physician. 

                                                 
9
 CDC, Heads Up to Clinicians: Addressing Concussion in Sports among Kids and Teens. Found at: 

<http://www.cdc.gov/concussion/headsup/clinicians.html> (Last visited on November 29, 2011). 
10

 NFL Commissioner Goodell’s Letter to New Jersey Governor Christie. Found at: 

<http://nflhealthandsafety.files.wordpress.com/2011/01/njgovernorletterrg-508.pdf> (Last visited on November 29, 2011). 
11

 National Conference of State Legislatures, State Laws on Traumatic Brain Injury: 2009-2011. Found at: 

<http://www.ncsl.org/default.aspx?tabid=18687> (Last visited on November 29, 2011). 



BILL: CS/CS/SB 256   Page 5 

 

 Physician assistants are governed by sections 458.347 and 459.022, F.S., under the Board of 

Medicine and the Board of Osteopathic Medicine within the Department of Health. Physician 

assistants perform certain medical services delegated by a supervising physician. 

 Athletic trainers are governed by part XIII, ch. 468, F.S., under the Board of Athletic 

Trainers within the Department of Health. Athletic trainers practice within a written protocol 

established between the athletic trainer and a supervising physician licensed under ch. 458, 

ch. 459, or ch. 460 (chiropractic medicine), F.S. 

 The practice of psychology is governed by ch. 490, F.S., under the Board of Psychology 

within the Department of Health. 

 

Each of these health care practitioners must be licensed in order to practice in this state. They 

must practice only within their specific scope of practice as established in the applicable 

licensing law and rules adopted by the applicable board. A health care practitioner may seek a 

declaratory statement from the applicable board if the practitioner is unclear about whether a 

specific act is within his or her scope of practice. 

III. Effect of Proposed Changes: 

The bill requires independent sanctioning authorities for youth athletic teams and the FHSAA to 

adopt guidelines to educate officials, administrators, athletic coaches, and youth athletes and 

their parents or guardians of the nature and risk of concussion and head injury. 

 

In addition, the bill requires independent sanctioning authorities and the FHSAA to adopt bylaws 

or policies requiring: 

 

 The parent or guardian of a minor, before the minor participates in a competition, practice, or 

other activity, to sign and return a consent form which explains the nature and risk of 

concussion and head injury, including the risk of continuing to play after a concussion or 

head injury has occurred; and 

 A youth or student athlete who is suspected of sustaining a concussion or head injury in a 

practice or competition to be immediately removed from the activity and prohibiting the 

youth or student athlete from returning to practice or competition until the youth submits to 

the athletic coach written medical clearance to return from an appropriate health care 

practitioner trained in diagnosis, evaluation, and management of concussions. 

 

The FHSAA is required to establish, through bylaw, a sports medicine advisory committee
12

 

composed of: 

 

 Eight medical physicians or osteopathic physicians (at least one physician must be an 

osteopath); 

 One chiropractor; 

 One podiatrist; 

 One dentist; 

                                                 
12

 The FHSAA already has in place a Sports Medicine Advisory Committee (SMAC). The SMAC has 13 members, including 

medical doctors, osteopaths, athletic trainers, and a former football head coach. Current members are listed at: 

http://www.fhsaa.org/gov/sportsmed.  



BILL: CS/CS/SB 256   Page 6 

 

 Three licensed athletic trainers; and  

 One current or retired high school head coach. 

 

The identification and scope of qualifying health care practitioners, for purposes of providing 

written medical clearance for a youth to return to play, is to be determined by the SMAC of the 

FHSAA.  

IV. Constitutional Issues: 

A. Municipality/County Mandates Restrictions: 

None. 

B. Public Records/Open Meetings Issues: 

None. 

C. Trust Funds Restrictions: 

None. 

V. Fiscal Impact Statement: 

A. Tax/Fee Issues: 

None. 

B. Private Sector Impact: 

Independent sanctioning authorities and the FHSAA may have some cost in the 

development of guidelines and bylaws or policies, if they have not already adopted such 

guidelines, bylaws or policies. 

 

The Department of Education indicates that on June 14, 2011, the FHSAA Board of 

Directors approved the following policies: 

 

 Adopted the FHSAA Concussion Action Plan, incorporated into the 2011-12 FHSAA 

Handbook; 

 Added language to the “Consent and Release from Liability Certificate” form 

regarding the potential dangers of concussions and head and neck injuries incurred in 

sports play; and 

 Added the required course of “Concussion in Sports – What You Need to Know”, for 

all FHSAA-member school head coaches and paid/supplemental coaches. 

 

Provisions of the bill relating to informed consent and a prohibition on athletes returning 

to play until they are medically cleared may reduce liability costs for sports-related 

injuries. In addition, the requirements in this bill may lessen the severity of sports-related 



BILL: CS/CS/SB 256   Page 7 

 

head injuries to children, with a possible reduction of long term personal medical and 

other related costs. 

C. Government Sector Impact: 

None. 

VI. Technical Deficiencies: 

None. 

VII. Related Issues: 

None. 

VIII. Additional Information: 

A. Committee Substitute – Statement of Substantial Changes: 
(Summarizing differences between the Committee Substitute and the prior version of the bill.) 

CS/CS by Budget on March 2, 2012: 

 

The committee substitute: 

 

 Requires that where a student athlete is immediately removed from play due to 

concussion or injury, the medical clearance required must be given by an 

appropriate health care practitioner; 

 Requires the FHSAA to adopt bylaws which establish a sports medicine advisory 

committee, composed of: 

o Eight licensed physicians; 

o One chiropractor; 

o One podiatrist; 

o One dentist; 

o Three licensed athletic trainers; and  

o One former or current high school head coach; and 

 Requires the Sports Medicine Advisory Committee to define and determine the 

scope of qualifying appropriate health care practitioners for purposes of the 

medical clearance. 

 

CS by Budget Subcommittee on Education Pre K-12 on January 31, 2012: 

 

The committee substitute: 

 

 Provides that a student athlete who is suspected of sustaining a concussion or 

head injury in practice or competition and who has been removed from that 

activity may not return until the youth receives written clearance from an 

appropriately licensed and trained physician who is qualified in the field of 

neurology. 



BILL: CS/CS/SB 256   Page 8 

 

 Removes references to specific statutes relating to the licensing of certain 

physicians. 

 Removes authority for a physician to delegate the performance of medical care of 

a student athlete who is suspected of sustaining a concussion or head injury in 

practice or competition and who has been removed from that activity. 

B. Amendments: 

None. 

This Senate Bill Analysis does not reflect the intent or official position of the bill’s introducer or the Florida Senate. 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 256 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì535120dÎ535120 

 

Page 1 of 4 

2/27/2012 10:29:08 AM 576-03960-12 

LEGISLATIVE ACTION 

Senate 

Comm: RCS 

03/03/2012 

 

 

 

. 

. 

. 

. 

. 

. 

House 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The Committee on Budget (Flores) recommended the following: 

 

Senate Amendment (with title amendment) 1 

 2 

Delete everything after the enacting clause 3 

and insert: 4 

Section 1. Paragraphs (e), (f), and (g) are added to 5 

subsection (2) of section 943.0438, Florida Statutes, to read: 6 

943.0438 Athletic coaches for independent sanctioning 7 

authorities.— 8 

(2) An independent sanctioning authority shall: 9 

(e) Adopt guidelines to educate athletic coaches, 10 

officials, administrators, and youth athletes and their parents 11 

or guardians of the nature and risk of concussion and head 12 

injury. 13 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 256 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì535120dÎ535120 

 

Page 2 of 4 

2/27/2012 10:29:08 AM 576-03960-12 

(f) Adopt bylaws or policies that require the parent or 14 

guardian of a youth who is participating in athletic competition 15 

or who is a candidate for an athletic team to sign and return an 16 

informed consent that explains the nature and risk of concussion 17 

and head injury, including the risk of continuing to play after 18 

concussion or head injury, each year before participating in 19 

athletic competition or engaging in any practice, tryout, 20 

workout, or other physical activity associated with the youth’s 21 

candidacy for an athletic team. 22 

(g) Adopt bylaws or policies that require each youth 23 

athlete who is suspected of sustaining a concussion or head 24 

injury in a practice or competition to be immediately removed 25 

from the activity. A youth athlete who has been removed from an 26 

activity may not return to practice or competition until the 27 

youth submits to the athletic coach a written medical clearance 28 

to return stating that the youth athlete no longer exhibits 29 

signs, symptoms, or behaviors consistent with a concussion or 30 

other head injury. Medical clearance must be authorized by the 31 

appropriate health care practitioner trained in the diagnosis, 32 

evaluation, and management of concussions as defined by the 33 

Sports Medicine Advisory Committee of the Florida High School 34 

Athletic Association. 35 

Section 2. Paragraphs (e), (f), (g), and (h) are added to 36 

subsection (2) of section 1006.20, Florida Statutes, to read: 37 

1006.20 Athletics in public K-12 schools.— 38 

(2) ADOPTION OF BYLAWS, POLICIES, OR GUIDELINES.— 39 

(e) The organization shall adopt guidelines to educate 40 

athletic coaches, officials, administrators, and student 41 

athletes and their parents of the nature and risk of concussion 42 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 256 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì535120dÎ535120 

 

Page 3 of 4 

2/27/2012 10:29:08 AM 576-03960-12 

and head injury. 43 

(f) The organization shall adopt bylaws or policies that 44 

require the parent of a student who is participating in 45 

interscholastic athletic competition or who is a candidate for 46 

an interscholastic athletic team to sign and return an informed 47 

consent that explains the nature and risk of concussion and head 48 

injury, including the risk of continuing to play after 49 

concussion or head injury, each year before participating in 50 

interscholastic athletic competition or engaging in any 51 

practice, tryout, workout, or other physical activity associated 52 

with the student’s candidacy for an interscholastic athletic 53 

team. 54 

(g) The organization shall adopt bylaws or policies that 55 

require each student athlete who is suspected of sustaining a 56 

concussion or head injury in a practice or competition to be 57 

immediately removed from the activity. A student athlete who has 58 

been removed from an activity may not return to practice or 59 

competition until the student submits to the school a written 60 

medical clearance to return stating that the student athlete no 61 

longer exhibits signs, symptoms, or behaviors consistent with a 62 

concussion or other head injury. Medical clearance must be 63 

authorized by the appropriate health care practitioner trained 64 

in the diagnosis, evaluation, and management of concussions as 65 

defined by the Sports Medicine Advisory Committee of the Florida 66 

High School Athletic Association. 67 

(h) The organization shall adopt bylaws for the 68 

establishment and duties of a sports medicine advisory committee 69 

composed of the following members: 70 

1. Eight physicians licensed under chapter 458 or chapter 71 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 256 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì535120dÎ535120 

 

Page 4 of 4 

2/27/2012 10:29:08 AM 576-03960-12 

459 with at least one member licensed under chapter 459. 72 

2. One chiropractor licensed under chapter 460. 73 

3. One podiatrist licensed under chapter 461. 74 

4. One dentist licensed under chapter 466. 75 

5. Three athletic trainers licensed under part XIII of 76 

chapter 468. 77 

6. One member who is a current or retired head coach of a 78 

high school in the state. 79 

Section 3. This act shall take effect July 1, 2012. 80 

 81 

================= T I T L E  A M E N D M E N T ================ 82 

And the title is amended as follows: 83 

Delete everything before the enacting clause 84 

and insert: 85 

A bill to be entitled 86 

An act relating to youth athletes; amending ss. 87 

943.0438 and 1006.20, F.S.; requiring an independent 88 

sanctioning authority for youth athletic teams and the 89 

Florida High School Athletic Association to adopt 90 

guidelines, bylaws, and policies relating to the 91 

nature and risk of concussion and head injury in youth 92 

athletes; requiring informed consent for participation 93 

in practice or competition; requiring removal from 94 

practice or competition under certain circumstances 95 

and written medical clearance to return; requiring the 96 

Florida High School Athletic Association to adopt 97 

bylaws for the establishment and duties of a sports 98 

medicine advisory committee; specifying membership; 99 

providing an effective date. 100 



Florida Senate - 2012 CS for SB 256 

 

 

 

By the Committee on Budget Subcommittee on Education Pre-K - 12 

Appropriations; and Senator Flores 

 

 

 

602-02667-12 2012256c1 

Page 1 of 3 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

A bill to be entitled 1 

An act relating to youth and student athletes; 2 

amending s. 943.0438, F.S.; requiring independent 3 

sanctioning authorities to adopt policies to inform 4 

certain officials, coaches, and youth athletes and 5 

their parents of the nature and risk of certain head 6 

injuries; requiring that a signed consent form be 7 

obtained before the youth participates in athletic 8 

practices or competitions; requiring that a youth 9 

athlete be immediately removed from an athletic 10 

activity following a suspected head injury; requiring 11 

written clearance from an appropriately licensed and 12 

trained physician who is qualified in the field of 13 

neurology before the youth resumes athletic 14 

activities; amending s. 1006.20, F.S.; requiring the 15 

Florida High School Athletic Association to adopt 16 

policies to inform certain officials, coaches, and 17 

student athletes and their parents of the nature and 18 

risk of certain head injuries; requiring that a signed 19 

consent form be obtained before a student athlete 20 

participates in athletic practices or competitions; 21 

requiring that a student athlete be immediately 22 

removed from an athletic activity following a 23 

suspected head injury; requiring written clearance 24 

from an appropriately licensed and trained physician 25 

who is qualified in the field of neurology before the 26 

student resumes athletic activities; providing an 27 

effective date. 28 

 29 

Florida Senate - 2012 CS for SB 256 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

602-02667-12 2012256c1 

Page 2 of 3 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

Be It Enacted by the Legislature of the State of Florida: 30 

 31 

Section 1. Paragraph (e) is added to subsection (2) of 32 

section 943.0438, Florida Statutes, to read: 33 

943.0438 Athletic coaches for independent sanctioning 34 

authorities.— 35 

(2) An independent sanctioning authority shall: 36 

(e)1. Adopt guidelines to educate officials, 37 

administrators, athletic coaches, and youth athletes and their 38 

parents or guardians of the nature and risk of concussion and 39 

head injury. 40 

2. Adopt bylaws or policies that require the parent or 41 

guardian of a minor who participates in athletic practices or 42 

competitions of the independent sanctioning authority, before 43 

the minor participates in a competition, practice, or other 44 

activity, to sign and return a consent form that explains the 45 

nature and risk of concussion and head injury, including the 46 

risk of continuing to play after a concussion or head injury has 47 

occurred. 48 

3. Adopt bylaws or policies that: 49 

a. Require a youth athlete who is suspected of sustaining a 50 

concussion or head injury in a practice or competition to be 51 

immediately removed from the activity; and 52 

b. Provide that a youth athlete who has been removed may 53 

not return to practice or competition until the youth receives 54 

written clearance to return from an appropriately licensed and 55 

trained physician who is qualified in the field of neurology. 56 

Section 2. Paragraphs (e), (f), and (g) are added to 57 

subsection (2) of section 1006.20, Florida Statutes, to read: 58 



Florida Senate - 2012 CS for SB 256 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

602-02667-12 2012256c1 

Page 3 of 3 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

1006.20 Athletics in public K-12 schools.— 59 

(2) ADOPTION OF BYLAWS.— 60 

(e) The organization shall adopt guidelines to educate 61 

officials, administrators, coaches, and student athletes and 62 

their parents or guardians of the nature and risk of concussion 63 

and head injury. 64 

(f) The organization shall adopt bylaws or policies that 65 

require the parent or guardian of a student who participates in 66 

interscholastic athletic competition or who is a candidate for 67 

an interscholastic athletic team, before the student 68 

participates in a competition, practice, or other activity, to 69 

annually sign and return a consent form that explains the nature 70 

and risk of concussion and head injury, including the risk of 71 

continuing to play after a concussion or head injury has 72 

occurred. 73 

(g) The organization shall adopt bylaws or policies that: 74 

1. Require a student athlete who is suspected of sustaining 75 

a concussion or head injury in a practice or competition to be 76 

immediately removed from the activity; and 77 

2. Provide that a student athlete who has been removed may 78 

not return to practice or competition until the student receives 79 

written clearance to return from an appropriately licensed and 80 

trained physician who is qualified in the field of neurology. 81 

Section 3. This act shall take effect July 1, 2012. 82 





















The Florida Senate 

BILL ANALYSIS AND FISCAL IMPACT STATEMENT 
(This document is based on the provisions contained in the legislation as of the latest date listed below.) 

Prepared By: The Professional Staff of the Budget Committee 

 

BILL:  CS/CS/CS/SB 2094 

INTRODUCER:  Budget Committee; Agriculture Committee; Communications, Energy, and Public 

Utilities Committee; and Communications, Energy, and Public Utilities Committee 

SUBJECT:  Energy 

DATE:  March 1, 2012 

 

 ANALYST  STAFF DIRECTOR  REFERENCE  ACTION 

1. Wiehle  Carter  CU  Fav/CS 

2. Weidenbenner  Buford  AG  Fav/CS 

3. Cote  Rhodes  BC  Fav/CS 

4.        

5.        

6.        

 

Please see Section VIII. for Additional Information: 

A. COMMITTEE SUBSTITUTE..... X Statement of Substantial Changes 

 B. AMENDMENTS........................  Technical amendments were recommended 

   Amendments were recommended 

   Significant amendments were recommended 

 

I. Summary: 

This bill includes the following provisions. 

 

 Requires that the Public Service Commission (PSC or Commission), in reviewing a ten-year 

site plan, also review specified information on renewable energy; 

 Authorizes a local government to use revenues from the local option infrastructure surtax to 

provide financial assistance to owners of residential or commercial property who make 

energy efficiency improvements to their  property and defines what is included in the term 

“energy efficiency improvement”; 

 Reinstates a sales tax exemption for equipment, machinery, and other materials used in the 

distribution of renewable fuels for motor vehicles, up to a limit of $1 million in tax each state 

fiscal year for all taxpayers, with payment on a first-come, first-served basis, based upon the 

date complete applications are received; 

 Amends the renewable energy technologies investment tax credit, limiting it to investments 

in renewable fuels for motor vehicles made between July 1, 2012 and June 30, 2016, 

increasing the limit on the tax credit from $6.5 million to $10 million per state fiscal year for 

REVISED:         



BILL: CS/CS/CS/SB 2094   Page 2 

 

all taxpayers, and providing that each applicant is eligible to receive up to $1 million in tax 

credits; 

 Amends the Florida renewable energy production credit such that each applicant is eligible to 

receive up to $1 million in tax credits per state fiscal year for electricity produced between 

January 1, 2013 and June 30, 2016, providing that the credits will be determined with 

priority, as specified, if the credits applied for exceed the $5 million limit; 

 Requires that the Department of Management Services (DMS) coordinate with the 

Department of Agriculture and Consumer Services (DACS) to further develop a state energy 

management plan; 

 Clarifies that any electrical utility company “as defined in s. 366.02(2), F.S.” is excluded 

from the definition of “target industry business”, and therefore the qualified target industry 

business tax refund is available to renewable energy producers who only sell electricity to a 

utility at wholesale, if they meet the other requirements; 

 Deletes language in section 366.92, F.S., relating to adopting rules for a renewable energy 

portfolio standard; 

 Exempts electric vehicle charging stations from regulation by the PSC under chapter 366; 

 Provides a definition for “alternative fuel” and uses that term in the definitions for “blended 

gasoline” and “unblended gasoline” so that other alternative fuels are accorded the same 

treatment as fuel ethanol in the state’s regulation of renewable fuels, and requires the DACS 

to compile a list of retail fuel stations that sell or offer unblended gasoline and post the 

information on its website; 

 Provides for permitting for the cultivation of algae and blue-green algae; 

 Requires the DACS to conduct a comprehensive statewide forest inventory; 

 Requires the Office of Energy, within the DACS, in consultation with specified entities, to 

develop a clearinghouse of information regarding cost savings associated with various energy 

efficiency and conservation measures and post the information on its website; and 

 Requires the PSC to evaluate and prepare a report on the Florida Energy Efficiency and 

Conservation Act statutes and determine whether they remain in the public interest. The bill 

appropriates $250,000 from the Florida Public Service Regulatory Trust Fund for the report. 

 

The bill takes effect July 1, 2012. 

 

The bill substantially amends the following sections of the Florida Statutes: 170.01, 186.801, 

212.055, 212.08, 220.192, 220.193, 255.257, 288.106, 526.203, and 581.083.  

 

The bill creates section 366.94, Florida Statutes. 

II. Present Situation: 

 

Ten-year site plan review 

Section 186.801, F.S., requires each electric utility to submit to the PSC a 10-year site plan in 

which the utility estimates its power-generating needs and the general location of its proposed 

power plant sites. The 10-year plan must be submitted and reviewed not less frequently than 

every 2 years. The PSC then has nine months to make a preliminary study of the plan and 



BILL: CS/CS/CS/SB 2094   Page 3 

 

classify it as “suitable” or “unsuitable” for planning purposes. The PSC may suggest alternatives 

to the plan. 

 

The commission’s findings are made available to the Department of Environmental Protection 

for its consideration at any subsequent electrical power plant site certification proceedings under 

the PPSA; however, it is expressly recognized that 10-year site plans submitted by an electric 

utility are tentative information for planning purposes only and may be amended at any time at 

the discretion of the utility upon written notification to the commission, and, a complete 

application for certification of an electrical power plant site under chapter 403, when such site is 

not designated in the current 10-year site plan of the applicant, constitutes an amendment to the 

10-year site plan. 

 

In its “preliminary study” of each 10-year site plan, the commission must review: 

 

 The need, including the need as determined by the commission, for electrical power in the 

area to be served. 

 The effect on fuel diversity within the state. 

 The anticipated environmental impact of each proposed electrical power plant site. 

 Possible alternatives to the proposed plan. 

 The views of appropriate local, state, and federal agencies, including the views of the 

appropriate water management district as to the availability of water and its recommendation 

as to the use by the proposed plant of salt water or fresh water for cooling purposes. 

 The extent to which the plan is consistent with the state comprehensive plan. 

 The plan with respect to the information of the state on energy availability and consumption. 

 

Local Government Infrastructure Surtax
1
 

Section 212.055(2)(a)1., F.S., provides that the Local Government Infrastructure Surtax must be 

levied at the rate of 0.5 or 1 percent pursuant to an ordinance enacted by a majority vote of the 

members of the county’s governing body and approved by voters in a countywide referendum. If 

the proposal to levy the surtax is approved by a majority of the electors, the levy takes effect. 

The levy may only be extended by voter approval in a countywide referendum. There is no state-

mandated limit on the length of levy for surtax ordinances enacted after July 1, 1993.
2
 

 

All counties are eligible to levy this surtax.
3
 During the 2012 calendar year, three counties

4
 will 

be levying at the 0.5 percent rate and 15 counties
5
 will be levying at the 1 percent rate.  

                                                 
1
 For more information see the 2011 Local Government Financial Information Handbook, by The Florida Legislature’s 

Office of Economic and Demographic Research, October 2011. 
2
 If the surtax was levied pursuant to a referendum held before July 1, 1993, the surtax may not be levied beyond the time 

established in the ordinance. If the pre-July 1, 1992, ordinance did not limit the period of the levy, the surtax may not be 

levied for more than 15 years.
.
 

3
 The Local Government Infrastructure Surtax is one of four surtaxes subject to a combined rate limitation. A county cannot 

levy this surtax and the Small County Surtax, Indigent Care and Trauma Center Surtax, and County Public Hospital Surtax in 

excess of a combine rate of 1 percent. 
4
 The following counties levy at the 0.5 percent rate: Duval, Flagler, and Hillsborough. 

5
 The following counties all levy at the 1 percent rate: Charlotte, Clay, Escambia, Glades, Highlands, Indian River, Lake, 

Leon, Monroe, Osceola, Pasco, Pinellas, Putnam, Sarasota, and Wakulla. 



BILL: CS/CS/CS/SB 2094   Page 4 

 

 

Generally, school districts, counties and municipalities may expend the proceeds of the Local 

Government Infrastructure Surtax and any accrued interest to finance, plan, and construct 

infrastructure, to acquire land for public recreation, conservation, or protection of natural 

resources, or to finance the closure of county-owned or municipally owned solid waste landfills 

that have been closed or are required to be closed by order of the Department of Environmental 

Protection.
6
 Additional spending authority exists for select counties.

7
 

 

Sales tax exemption 

Section 212.08, F.S., provides for specific sales and use tax exemptions. In 2008, the Legislature 

created s. 212.08(7)(ccc), F.S., a sales tax exemption for equipment, machinery, and other 

materials used in the distribution of biodiesel and ethanol fuels. It automatically expired on 

July 1, 2010. 

 

Renewable energy technologies investment tax credit 

Enacted in 2008, section 220.192, F.S., provides for the renewable energy technologies 

investment tax credit taken against corporate income tax. . The credit was for tax years beginning 

on or after January 1, 2007, and the credits could be used in years beginning January 1, 2007, 

and ending December 31, 2010, after which the credit expired. The credit was in an amount 

equal to the “eligible costs,” which were defined as seventy-five percent of all capital costs, 

operation and maintenance costs, and research and development costs incurred between July 1, 

2006, and June 30, 2010, up to a limit of: 

 

 $3 million per state fiscal year for all taxpayers in connection with an investment in 

hydrogen-powered vehicles and hydrogen vehicle fueling stations in the state, including, but 

not limited to, the costs of constructing, installing, and equipping such technologies in the 

state; 

 $1.5 million per state fiscal year for all taxpayers, and limited to a maximum of $12,000 per 

fuel cell, in connection with an investment in commercial stationary hydrogen fuel cells in 

the state, including, but not limited to, the costs of constructing, installing, and equipping 

such technologies in the state; and 

 $6.5 million per state fiscal year for all taxpayers, in connection with an investment in the 

production, storage, and distribution of biodiesel (B10-B100) and ethanol (E10-E100) in the 

state, including the costs of constructing, installing, and equipping such technologies in the 

state. Gasoline fueling station pump retrofits for ethanol (E10-E100) distribution qualify as 

an eligible cost. 

 

The terms “biodiesel” and “ethanol” are defined by cross-reference to former s. 212.08(7)(ccc), 

F.S., the now-expired sales tax exemption discussed above. 

 

                                                 
6
 Section 212.055(2)(d), F.S. 

7
 Section 212.055(2), F.S. 



BILL: CS/CS/CS/SB 2094   Page 5 

 

Florida renewable energy production credit 

Enacted in 2008, section 220.193, F.S., provides for the Florida renewable energy production 

credit taken against corporate income tax. The section applied to tax years beginning on and after 

January 1, 2007 and provided an annual credit against the corporate income tax based on the 

taxpayer’s production and sale of electricity from a new or expanded Florida renewable energy 

facility. For a new facility, the credit was based on the taxpayer’s sale of the facility’s entire 

electrical production. For an expanded facility, the credit was based on the increases in the 

facility’s electrical production that were achieved after May 1, 2006. The credit was $0.01 for 

each kilowatt-hour of electricity produced and sold by the taxpayer to an unrelated party during a 

given tax year. 

 

Credits could be earned between January 1, 2007, and June 30, 2010. The combined total amount 

of tax credits which could be granted for all taxpayers under this section was limited to $5 

million per state fiscal year. If the amount of credits applied for in a year exceeded $5 million, 

DOR was to award to each applicant a prorated amount based on each applicant’s increased 

production and sales and the increased production and sales of all applicants. If the credit was 

not fully used in one year because of insufficient tax liability on the part of the taxpayer, the 

unused amount could be carried forward for a period not to exceed 5 years. 

 

A taxpayer claiming credit under this section could not claim a credit under s. 220.192, F.S., 

discussed immediately above. A taxpayer claiming credit under s. 220.192 could not claim a 

credit under this section. 

 

Florida renewable fuel standards 

The Legislature has made a finding that it is vital to the public interest and to the state’s economy 

to establish a market and the necessary infrastructure for renewable fuels in this state by 

requiring that all gasoline offered for sale in this state include a percentage of agriculturally 

derived, denatured ethanol. The Legislature has also made a finding that the use of renewable 

fuel reduces greenhouse gas emissions and dependence on imports of foreign oil, improves the 

health and quality of life for Floridians, and stimulates economic development and the creation 

of a sustainable industry that combines agricultural production with state-of-the-art technology.
8
 

By definition in the Florida statutes, fuel ethanol is derived from the conversion of 

carbohydrates.
9
 This definition does not include biomass or other alternative fuels derived from 

agricultural sources, thereby precluding these types of fuels from participating in certain benefits 

accorded to ethanol fuel.  

 

Energy management in state buildings 

Section 255.257, F.S., requires each state agency to collect data on energy consumption and cost 

for state-owned facilities and metered state-leased facilities of 5,000 net square feet or more. The 

data is to be used to determine the effectiveness of the state energy management plan and the 

effectiveness of the energy management program of each of the state agencies. Collected data 

must be reported annually to the DMS in a format prescribed by the DMS. 

                                                 
8
 Section 102, ch. 2008-277, Laws of Florida. 

9
 Section 526.203(1)(c), F.S. 



BILL: CS/CS/CS/SB 2094   Page 6 

 

 

The DMS is required to develop a state energy management plan consisting of, but not limited 

to, the following elements: 

 

 Data-gathering requirements; 

 Building energy audit procedures; 

 Uniform data analysis procedures; 

 Employee energy education program measures; 

 Energy consumption reduction techniques; 

 Training program for state agency energy management coordinators; and 

 Guidelines for building managers. 

 

The plan must include a description of actions that state agencies are required to take to reduce 

consumption of electricity and nonrenewable energy sources used for space heating and cooling, 

ventilation, lighting, water heating, and transportation. 

 

All state agencies are required to adopt a sustainable building rating system or use a national 

model green building code for all new buildings and renovations to existing buildings. No state 

agency can enter into new leasing agreements for office space that does not meet Energy Star 

building standards, except when the appropriate state agency head determines that no other 

viable or cost-effective alternative exists. All state agencies must develop energy conservation 

measures and guidelines for new and existing office space where state agencies occupy more 

than 5,000 square feet. These conservation measures must focus on programs that may reduce 

energy consumption and, when established, provide a net reduction in occupancy costs. 

 

Tax refund program for qualified target industry businesses 

Section 288.106, F.S., on the tax refund program for qualified target industry businesses, 

provides a tax refund program for qualified target industry businesses. The legislative findings 

state that: 

 

 Retaining and expanding existing businesses in the state, encouraging the creation of new 

businesses in the state, attracting new businesses from outside the state, and generally 

providing conditions favorable for the growth of target industries creates high-quality, high-

wage employment opportunities for residents of the state and strengthens the state’s 

economic foundation; 

 Incentives that are narrowly focused in application and scope tend to be more effective in 

achieving the state’s economic development goals; and 

 Higher-wage jobs reduce the state’s share of hidden costs, such as public assistance and 

subsidized health care associated with low-wage jobs. 

 

Therefore, the Legislature declared that it is the policy of the state to encourage the growth of 

higher-wage jobs and a diverse economic base by providing state tax refunds to qualified target 

industry businesses that originate or expand in the state or that relocate to the state. 

 



BILL: CS/CS/CS/SB 2094   Page 7 

 

The amount of the refund is $3,000 multiplied by the number of jobs created or $6,000 

multiplied by the number of jobs if the project is located in a rural community or an enterprise 

zone. A qualified target industry business gets additional tax refund payments of: 

 

 $1,000 multiplied by the number of jobs if the jobs pay an annual average wage of at least 

150 percent of the average private sector wage in the area, or equal to $2,000 multiplied by 

the number of jobs if the jobs pay an annual average wage of at least 200 percent of the 

average private sector wage in the area; 

 $1,000 multiplied by the number of jobs if the local financial support is equal to that of the 

state’s incentive award; and 

 $2,000 multiplied by the number of jobs if the business falls within one of the designated 

high-impact sectors or increases exports of its goods through a seaport or airport in the state 

by at least 10 percent in value or tonnage in each of the years that the business receives a tax 

refund under this section. 

 

The statute does not expressly include renewable energy businesses either in the definition of the 

term “target industry business” or the substantive provisions, however, it does imply that they are 

included in that the definition includes a requirement that the market and resource must be 

independent, stating that “The location of industry businesses should not be dependent on Florida 

markets or resources as indicated by industry analysis, except for businesses in the renewable 

energy industry.” The definition goes on, however, to expressly exclude “any electrical utility 

company.” Reportedly, this exclusionary language has been interpreted to include any business 

that sells electricity, even to a utility at wholesale: this interpretation prevents a renewable 

energy producer from taking advantage of this tax refund in conjunction with either s. 366.051, 

F.S., (cogeneration; small power production) or s. 366.91(3) or (4), F.S., (standard offer purchase 

contract). 

 

Permitting process for introduction or release of nonnative plants 

Section 581.083, F.S., provides for the permitting process for the introduction or release of plant 

pests, noxious weeds, or organisms affecting plant life or cultivation of nonnative plants. The 

section prohibits the introduction into or release within this state of any plant pest, noxious weed, 

genetically engineered plant or plant pest, or any other organism which may directly or indirectly 

affect the plant life of this state as an injurious pest, parasite, or predator of other organisms, or 

any arthropod.  The introduction or release of nonnative plants is only allowed under a special 

permit issued by the Division of Plant Industry within DACS, which is the sole issuing agency 

for such special permits. 

 

Except for research projects approved by DACS, no permit for any organism can be issued 

unless DACS has determined that the parasite, predator, or biological control agent is specific to 

a target organism or plant and not likely to become a pest of plants or other beneficial organisms. 

DACS may rely on findings of the Department of Environmental Protection, the United States 

Department of Agriculture, and other agencies in making any determination about organisms 

used for biological control. 

 

A person may not cultivate a nonnative plant, including a genetically engineered plant or a plant 

that has been introduced, for purposes of fuel production or purposes other than agriculture in 



BILL: CS/CS/CS/SB 2094   Page 8 

 

plantings greater in size than 2 contiguous acres, except under a special permit. A permit is not  

required if the department determines, in conjunction with the Institute of Food and Agricultural 

Sciences at the University of Florida, that the plant is not invasive.. 

 

Each permitholder must maintain for each separate growing location a bond or a certificate of 

deposit in an amount determined by the department, but not less than 150 percent of the 

estimated cost of removing and destroying the cultivated plants. The amount of the bond or 

certificate of deposit may be increased or decreased, upon order of the department, at any time if 

the department finds such change to be warranted by the cultivating operations of the 

permitholder. 

 

Energy Efficiency and Conservation 

Florida Energy Efficiency and Conservation Act 

Sections 366.80-366.85 and 403.519 constitute the “Florida Energy Efficiency and Conservation 

Act (FEECA).” 

 

Energy conservation cost recovery is authorized in s. 366.82(11), F.S. Section 366.82, F.S.,
 

requires that the Commission adopt appropriate goals for increasing the efficiency of energy 

consumption and increasing the development of demand-side renewable energy systems,
10

 

specifically including goals designed to: 

 

 Increase the conservation of expensive resources, such as petroleum fuels, 

 Reduce and control the growth rates of electric consumption, 

 Reduce the growth rates of weather-sensitive peak demand, and 

 Encourage development of demand-side renewable energy resources.11 

 

The Commission may allow efficiency investments across generation, transmission, and 

distribution as well as efficiencies within the user base. 

 

In establishing the goals, the Commission must consider the: 

 

 Costs and benefits to customers participating in the measure; 

 Costs and benefits to the general body of ratepayers as a whole, including utility incentives 

and participant contributions; 

 Need for incentives to promote both customer-owned and utility-owned energy efficiency 

and demand-side renewable energy systems; and 

 Costs imposed by state and federal regulations on the emission of greenhouse gases. 

s. 366.82(3), F.S.12
 

 

                                                 
10

The term “demand-side renewable energy” is defined as a system located on a customer’s premises generating thermal or 

electric energy using Florida renewable energy resources and primarily intended to offset all or part of the customer’s 

electricity requirements provided such system does not exceed 2 megawatts. This element of the requirement was added in 

2008 by HB 7135; s. 39, ch. 2008-227, Laws of Florida. 
11

 These goals were added to the statute in 2008 by HB 7135; s. 39, ch. 2008-227, Laws of Florida. 
12

 These considerations were also added in 2008 by HB 7135; s. 39, ch. 2008-227, Laws of Florida. 



BILL: CS/CS/CS/SB 2094   Page 9 

 

Following adoption of goals, the Commission is to require each utility
13

 to develop plans and 

programs to meet the overall goals. If the Commission disapproves a plan, it must specify the 

reasons for disapproval, and the utility must resubmit its modified plan within 30 days. Prior 

approval by the Commission is required to modify or discontinue a plan, or part thereof, which 

has been approved. If any utility has not implemented its programs and is not substantially in 

compliance with the provisions of its approved plan at any time, the Commission must adopt 

programs required for that utility to achieve the overall goals. Utility programs may include 

variations in rate design, load control, cogeneration, residential energy conservation subsidy, or 

any other measure within the jurisdiction of the Commission which the Commission finds likely 

to be effective. 
 

The Commission may change the goals for reasonable cause. In addition, it may require 

modifications or additions to a utility’s plans and programs at any time it is in the public interest, 

and, in approving plans and programs for cost recovery, the Commission has the flexibility to 

modify or deny plans or programs that would have an undue impact on the costs passed on to 

customers.14 The time period to review the goals, however, cannot exceed 5 years. After the 

programs and plans to meet those goals are completed, the Commission must determine what 

further goals, programs, or plans are warranted and, if so, must adopt them. 
 

Each utility over which the Commission has ratesetting authority must estimate its costs and 

revenues for conservation programs and implementation of its plan for the immediately 

following 6-month period. Reasonable and prudent unreimbursed costs projected to be incurred, 

or any portion of such costs, may be added to the rates which would otherwise be charged by a 

utility upon approval by the Commission. Following each 6-month period, each utility must 

report the actual results for that period to the Commission, and the difference, if any, between 

actual and projected results must be taken into account in succeeding periods. 
 

The Commission may authorize financial rewards for those utilities that exceed their goals and 

financial penalties for those that fail to meet their goals.15 

 

Recent PSC Proceedings 

The PSC began the process of implementing this amended law on June 4, 2008.16 The parties to 

the proceedings to set the overall goals were: all of the seven FEECA utilities (Florida Power and 

Light Company (FPL), Progress Energy Florida (PEF), Tampa Electric Company (TECO), Gulf 

Power Company (Gulf), Florida Public Utilities Company (FPUC), Orlando Utilities Company 

(OUC), and Jacksonville Electric Authority (JEA)), the Natural Resources Defense Council 

(NRDC), the Southern Alliance for Clean Energy (SACE), ITRON (a company hired by the 

preceding nine parties to conduct an assessment of the technical potential for energy and peak 

demand savings from energy efficiency, demand response, and customer-scale renewable 

energy), the Florida Energy and Climate Commission (FECC), the Florida Industrial Power 

                                                 
13

 The utilities subject to FEECA are the five regulated utilities (FPL, PEF, Gulf, TECO, and FPUC) and the Orlando Utilities 

Commission and JEA. 
14

 s. 366.82(7), F.S., also added in 2008 by HB 7135; s. 39, ch. 2008-227, Laws of Florida. 
15

 s. 366.82(8),(9), F.S., added in 2008 by HB 7135; s. 39, ch. 2008-227, Laws of Florida. 
16

 The commission had already begun a series of workshops on new FEECA goals on November 29, 2007. 



BILL: CS/CS/CS/SB 2094   Page 10 

 

Users Group (FIPUG), and the Florida Solar Coalition (FSC). The final order17 addressed many 

issues, one of the most significant of which was the question of which cost-effectiveness tests 

were required under the amended statute. 
 

There were two primary points of contention relating to the applicable test. The first was whether 

to exclude “measures” (or proposed methods of achieving conservation or efficiency gains) that 

had a participant payback period of two years or less. Consideration of “free riders” is required 

under Rule 25-17.0021(3), F.A.C. Free riders are those who have an economic incentive to take 

the steps involved in the proposed measure without being paid an additional utility incentive; 

they are an issue because it is a given that program funds will always be limited and allowing 

free riders to receive utility incentive funds impairs the efficiency of the incentive program. The 

PSC has consistently allowed the use of a two-year payback exclusion to exclude free riders 

since October 25, 1994.18 Nonetheless, in this instance, due to concerns “that the utilities’ use of 

the two-year payback criteria [sic] had the effect of screening out a substantial amount of 

savings” the Commission ordered FPL, PEF, Gulf, and TECO to include in their residential goals 

“the top-ten energy savings measures that were screened-out by the two-year criterion.”19 
 

The second issue was whether to consider and apply the ratepayer impact measure test (RIM) or 

the total resource cost test (TRC). The Commission determined that the primary difference 

between the two was that the RIM test took into consideration the incentives and the utility’s lost 

revenues, whereas the TRC test does not. The effect of this is twofold.20 The RIM test addresses 

the potential for a disproportionate economic impact between participating and nonparticipating 

customers. This can happen because a participating customer will purchase less electricity due to 

participation in the conservation or efficiency program, and may also receive an additional 

financial incentive from the utility, while a non-participating customer will not have the same 

reduction in use; so with both paying the increased cost of electricity, the non-participating 

customer experiences a greater rate increase impact.21 Typically, it is those who are economically 

unable to participate in programs and who experience this disproportionate impact.22 The TRC 

test does not address this disparity. Additionally, the RIM test considers a utility’s lost revenues. 

Utilities have a fixed cost of providing safe, reliable service. When revenues go down because 

fewer kilowatt hours of electricity were consumed, the utility may have to make up the 

difference by requesting an increase in rates in order to maintain a reasonable return on equity.23 

The TRC test also leaves out this consideration. Ultimately, the Commission “approve[d] goals 

                                                 
17

 Order No. PSC-09-0855-FOF-EG, ISSUED: December 30, 2009, in the combined proceedings of In re: Commission 

review of numeric conservation goals (Florida Power & Light Company), Docket No. 080407-EG; In re: Commission review 

of numeric conservation goals (Progress Energy Florida, Inc.); Docket No. 080408-EG, In re: Commission review of numeric 

conservation goals (Tampa Electric Company), Docket No. 080409-EG; In re: Commission review of numeric conservation 

goals (Gulf Power Company), Docket No. 080410-EG; In re: Commission review of numeric conservation goals (Florida 

Public Utilities Company), Docket No. 080411-EG; In re: Commission review of numeric conservation goals (Orlando 

Utilities Commission), Docket No. 080412-EG; and In re: Commission review of numeric conservation goals (JEA), Docket 

No. 080413-EG. 
18

 Id., page 9. 
19

 Id. 
20

 Id., page14. 
21

 Id., page 25. 
22

 Id. 
23

 Id. 



BILL: CS/CS/CS/SB 2094   Page 11 

 

based on the unconstrained E-TRC test for FPL, PEF, TECO, Gulf, and FPUC” to achieve more 

“robust” conservation goals.24 

 

Upon setting the overall goals, the Commission addressed each individual utility’s proposed 

plan. It approved plans for the two large municipal utilities (OUC and JEA) and the three smaller 

investor-owned utilities (Gulf, TECO, and FPUC). However, in attempting to get final approval 

on the plans for the two larger investor-owned utilities (FPL and PEF), concerns over undue 

customer costs grew to the point that on July 26, 2011, the Commission rejected the proposed 

plans and approved modified plans. The Southern Alliance for Clean Energy has filed a notice it 

will appeal this decision to the Florida Supreme Court.25 
 

An issue not expressly acknowledged or directly addressed in the goal-setting proceedings lies at 

the heart of many of the other issues and disputes: what is the goal of FEECA? There are two 

positions. 

 

The first is represented by the historic application of the FEECA statute: a utility’s planning for 

additional generating resources was considered when setting FEECA goals and the goal was to 

offset some or all of that planned new generation with conservation or efficiency methods that 

could be implemented at a cost no higher than that to bring the planned electric plant into 

service. As stated by one expert witness, “In all five [of the previous] FEECA goals-setting 

proceedings, the Commission has recognized the desirability of establishing DSM goals based 

upon the utilities’ planning processes and has used the measures of avoided costs from those 

processes as the basis for measuring customer benefits.”
26

 Further, “Over the many years and 

numerous FEECA proceedings, the Commission has steadfastly maintained that DSM goals be 

established that minimize rate impacts, minimize cross-subsidies between customers, and 

integrate with utility-identified capacity needs.”
27

 The witness noted that: 

 

The legislative intent of FEECA placed special importance on reducing 

weather-sensitive peak demand over simply reducing growth rates of 

electric consumption. This indicates that the legislative authors were 

particularly focused on slowing the growth in peak demand, which defers 

the need for new capacity and offers other benefits besides managing fuel 

costs. This enables all customers to benefit, not just the program 

participants.
28, 29 

 

The second position is that the goal is a reduction of kilowatt hours of usage, that the amount of 

conservation and efficiency to be sought is not limited by the amount of planned resources to be 

offset, and that program cost is not a consideration as ultimately overall cost to the consumer will 

                                                 
24

 Id., page 15. 
25

 http://www.floridapsc.org/library/FILINGS/12/00349-12/00349-12.pdf  
26

 Direct Testimony & Exhibit of: James W. Dean, In re: Florida Power & Light Company’s Petition for Approval of 

Numeric Conservation goals, Docket No. 080407-EG, page 6. 
27

 Id., page 8. 
28

 Id. 
29

 This approach also acts as an analogue to the “full avoided costs” purchase price limitation for energy purchases from third 

party energy producers. The avoided cost limitation prevents ratepayers from paying a higher price that in effect subsidizes 

non-utility energy producers. This application of FEECA and the RIM test prevents some ratepayers from subsidizing a 

disproportionate benefit to other ratepayers. 



BILL: CS/CS/CS/SB 2094   Page 12 

 

be reduced. For example, NRDC/SACE argued that consideration of the impact on rates does not 

belong in the goal-setting process and that customers are more interested in their monthly utility 

bills than in rates and would benefit most if energy efficiency programs are widely available.
30

 

 

In its goal-setting order, the PSC appears to have shifted toward the second position by applying 

a cost test that will result in more conservation and efficiency measures and higher costs than in 

past proceedings, plus requiring use of some measures that have a payback period of two years 

or less. In the proceedings to approve the plans of FPL and PEF, however, it appears to have 

shifted back toward the first position. 

 

Efficiency and Conservation outside FEECA 

Most FEECA efficiency and conservation measures involve improving property owned by a 

single ratepayer. Additionally, many of the potential improvements fall within the “free rider” 

exclusion of a participant payback period of two years or less. Therefore, questions arise as to the 

relative costs and benefits of addressing these property owners directly, through education or 

incentives, instead of through FEECA, the utilities, and the PSC.31 

III. Effect of Proposed Changes: 

 

Section 1 amends s. 186.801, F.S., to require that the PSC, in reviewing a ten-year site plan, also 

review the following: 

 

 The amount of renewable energy resources the provider produces or purchases. 

 The amount of renewable energy resources the provider plans to produce or purchase over 

the 10-year planning horizon and the means by which such production or purchases will be 

achieved. 

 A statement indicating how the production and purchase of renewable energy resources 

impact the provider’s present and future capacity and energy needs. 

 

Section 2 amends s. 212.055, F.S., to authorize a local government to use revenues from the 

local option infrastructure surtax to provide financial assistance to owners of residential or 

commercial property who make energy efficiency improvements to  their property and to define 

what is included in the term ”energy efficiency improvement”. 

 

Section 3 amends s. 212.08, F.S., reinstating the sales tax exemption for equipment, machinery, 

and other materials used in the distribution of renewable fuels that automatically expired on 

July 1, 2010. It creates the exemption as a new paragraph (7)(hhh). The bill exempts from the 

sale or use tax materials used in the distribution of biodiesel (B10-B100) and ethanol (E10-E100) 

and other renewable fuels, including fueling infrastructure, transportation, and storage, up to a 

limit of $1 million in tax each state fiscal year for all taxpayers. Gasoline fueling station pump 

retrofits for biodiesel (B10-B100) and ethanol (E10-E100) and other renewable fuels distribution 

                                                 
30

 PSC goal-setting order, page 24. 
31

 For a discussion on this and related issues, see Issue Brief 2009-309, REVIEW OF FACTORS TO BE CONSIDERED IN 

MAKING FURTHER CHANGES TO ENERGY POLICY, The Florida Senate, Committee on Communications and Public 

Utilities, October 2008. 



BILL: CS/CS/CS/SB 2094   Page 13 

 

qualify for the exemption. Payment is on a first-come, first-served basis, based upon the date 

complete applications are received, and incomplete placeholder applications will not be accepted 

and will not secure a place in the first-come, first-served application line. This exemption expires 

July 1, 2016. 

 

Section 4 amends s. 220.192, F.S., reinstating the biofuel portion of the renewable energy 

technologies investment tax credit taken against corporate income tax for another four years, and 

expanding it to include materials used in the distribution of other renewable fuels, up to a limit of 

$10 million in taxes each state fiscal year for all taxpayers. The credit is capped at $1 million per 

taxpayer per fiscal year. 

 

The bill defines “renewable fuel” as fuel produced from biomass that is used to replace or reduce 

the quantity of fossil fuel present in motor fuel or diesel fuel. “Biomass” means biomass as 

defined in s. 366.91, F.S.. 

 

The credit can be used for tax years beginning on or after January 1, 2013, and will be granted in 

an amount equal to seventy-five percent of all capital costs, operation and maintenance costs, and 

research and development costs incurred between July 1, 2012 and June 30, 2016. In the event of 

insufficient tax liability on the part of the corporation, the unused amount may be carried forward 

and used until December 31, 2018. The Department of Agriculture and Consumer Services and 

the Department of Revenue are to jointly administer the program 

 

Section 5 amends s. 220.193, F.S., reinstating the Florida renewable energy production credit 

taken against corporate income tax for electricity produced and sold between January 1, 2013 

and June 30, 2016. The tax credit is equal to $0.01 for each kilowatt-hour of electricity produced 

and sold by a new or expanded Florida renewable energy facility during a given tax year up to a 

limit of $5 million in taxes each state fiscal year for all taxpayers. Each applicant is eligible to 

receive up to $1 million in tax credits per state fiscal year. 

 

The term “expanded facility” is amended to include a Florida renewable energy facility that 

increases its electrical production and sale by more than 5 percent above the facility’s electrical 

production and sale during the 2011 calendar year. The term “new facility” is amended to 

include a Florida renewable energy facility that has had an expansion operationally placed in 

service after May 1, 2006, and whose cost exceeded 50 percent of the assessed value of the 

facility immediately before the expansion. 
 

Beginning in 2014 and continuing until 2017, each taxpayer claiming a credit must first apply for 

an allocation of available credit. In the event of insufficient tax liability on the part of the 

corporation, the unused amount may be carried forward for a period not to exceed 5 years. The 

Department of Revenue is directed to administer the program. 

 

If the amount of credits applied for each year exceeds $5 million, credits will be awarded based 

on the following priority: 

 

1. An applicant who places a new facility in operation after May 1, 2012, will be granted credits 

first, up to a maximum of $250,000 each, with remaining credits to be granted pursuant to 

subparagraph 3., but if there are insufficient funds authorized to grant all credits, credits 



BILL: CS/CS/CS/SB 2094   Page 14 

 

granted under this subparagraph will be prorated based upon each applicant’s qualified 

production and sales as a percentage of total qualified production and sales of all applicants 

in this category for the year; 

 

2. An applicant who does not qualify under subparagraph 1., but who claims a credit of $50,000 

or less will be granted credits next, and if there are insufficient funds authorized to grant all 

credits, credits will be prorated based upon each applicant’s qualified production and sales as 

a percentage of total qualified production and sales of all applicants in this category for the 

year. 

 

3. An applicant who does not qualify under subparagraph 1. or subparagraph 2. and an applicant 

whose credits have not been fully awarded under subparagraph 1 will be awarded credits 

from remaining authorized funds. If there are insufficient funds to grant all remaining credits, 

credits will be prorated based upon each applicant’s remaining claims for qualified 

production and sales as a percentage of total remaining claims for qualified production and 

sales of all applicants in this category for the year. 

 

Section 6 amends s. 255.257, F.S., on energy management in buildings occupied by state 

agencies, to require that DMS coordinate with DACS to further develop the state energy 

management plan.  

 

Section 7 amends s. 288.106, F.S., on the tax refund program for qualified target industry 

businesses, to provide that the exclusion of “any electrical utility” from the definition of “target 

industry business,” and therefore the tax refund, only applies to a utility “as defined in 

s. 366.02(2),” thereby allowing renewable energy producers who only sell electricity to a utility 

at wholesale to be eligible for the tax refund, if they meet the other requirements. 

 

Section 8 amends s. 366.92, F.S., to delete definitions and language relating to adopting rules for 

a renewable energy portfolio standard. 

 

Section 9 creates s. 366.94, F.S., on electric vehicle charging stations, to provide that providing 

electric vehicle charging service to the public does not constitute the retail sale of electricity for 

the purposes of this chapter and the rates, terms and conditions of electric vehicle charging 

services are not subject to regulation under this chapter regardless of the provider. 

 

DACS is to adopt rules to provide definitions, methods of sale, labeling requirements and price 

posting requirements for electric vehicle charging stations to allow for consistency for consumers 

and the industry. 

 

The PSC is directed to conduct a study of the effects of the charging stations on energy 

consumption in the state as well as the effects on the grid. The PSC is also to investigate the 

feasibility of using off-grid solar photovoltaic power as a source of electricity for the electric 

vehicle charging stations. 

 

The bill provides for parking violations. 

 



BILL: CS/CS/CS/SB 2094   Page 15 

 

Section 10 amends s. 526.203, F.S., to define “alternative fuel” as fuel produced from biomass, 

as defined in s. 366.91, F.S., that is used to replace or reduce the quantity of fossil fuel present in 

a petroleum fuel, and that meets the specifications adopted by DACS. It adds this term to the 

statutory definitions for “blended gasoline” and “unblended gasoline.” DACS is required to 

compile a list of retail fuel stations that sell or offer to sell unblended gasoline and post the list 

on its website. 

 

Section 11 amends s. 581.083, F.S., on DACS permitting process for introduction or release of 

nonnative plants. The bill adds algae and blue-green algae to the list of plants a person may not 

cultivate in plantings greater in size than 2 contiguous acres without a DACS special permit. It 

deletes the language about cultivating such plants “for purposes of fuel production or purposes 

other than agriculture.” 

 

It amends the language on an exemption from the permit requirement to say that a permit isn’t 

required if, based on experience or research data, the nonnative plant, algae, or blue green algae, 

does not pose a known threat of becoming an invasive species or a pest of plants or native fauna 

under Florida conditions and subsequently exempts the plant by rule. 

 

The bill allows, in addition to a bond or a certificate of deposit, any other type of security 

allowed in adopted rule that will provide financial assurance of cost recovery for the removal of 

a planting. 

 

The bill decreases the bond requirement from “not less than 150 percent of the estimated cost” to 

“not more than 150 percent of the estimated cost.” It also provides specific guidance on 

reduction of a bond requirement, providing that the amount may be decreased or removed when 

a decrease in the cultivating operations of the permitholder occurs or research or practical field 

knowledge and observation indicates low risk of invasiveness by the nonnative species. Factors 

that may be considered for change include multiple years or cycles of successful large-scale 

contained cultivation, no observation of plant, algae, or blue green algae escape from managed 

areas, or science-based evidence that established or approved adjusted cultivation practices will 

provide a similar level of containment of the nonnative plant, algae, or blue green algae. 

 

Section 12 requires DACS to conduct a comprehensive statewide forest inventory analysis and 

study, utilizing Geographic Information System, to identify where available biomass is located, 

determine the available biomass resources, and ensure forest sustainability within the state. The 

department must submit the results of the study to the President of the Senate, the Speaker of the 

House of Representatives, and the Executive Office of the Governor no later than July 1, 2013. 

 

Section 13 requires the Office of Energy, within DACS, in consultation with the PSC, the 

Florida Building Commission, and the Florida Energy Systems Consortium, to develop a 

clearinghouse of information regarding cost savings associated with various energy efficiency 

and conservation measures. The department is required to post the information on its website by 

July 1, 2013. 

 

Section 14 requires the PSC to evaluate and prepare a report on the Florida Energy Efficiency 

and Conservation Act statutes and determine whether they remain in the public interest. The 

evaluation must consider the costs to ratepayers, the incentives and disincentives associated with 



BILL: CS/CS/CS/SB 2094   Page 16 

 

the statutes, and whether the programs create benefits without undue burden on the customer. 

The models and methods used to determine conservation goals shall be specifically addressed in 

the report. The commission must submit the report to the President of the Senate, the Speaker of 

the House of Representatives, and the Executive Office of the Governor no later than January 31, 

2013. The bill appropriates $250,000 from the Florida Public Service Regulatory Trust Fund for 

the report. 

 

Section 15 provides an effective date of July 1, 2012. 

IV. Constitutional Issues: 

A. Municipality/County Mandates Restrictions: 

None. 

B. Public Records/Open Meetings Issues: 

None. 

C. Trust Funds Restrictions: 

None. 

V. Fiscal Impact Statement: 

A. Tax/Fee Issues: 

The Revenue Estimating conference estimated the bill will reduce state and local 

government revenues by the following amounts: 

 

Sales and Use Tax Exemption for Renewable Technologies 
Impact FY 2012-13 

Cash 

FY 2012-13 

Annualized 

FY 2013-14 

Cash 

FY 2014-15 

Cash 

FY 2015-16 

Cash 

State Impact-GR ($0.8 m) ($0.8 m) ($0.8 m) ($0.8 m) ($0.8 m) 

Local Impact ($0.2 m) ($0.2 m) ($0.2 m) ($0.2 m) ($0.2 m) 

Total Impact ($1.0 m) ($1.0 m) ($1.0 m) ($1.0 m) ($1.0 m) 

 

Renewable Energy Technologies Investment Tax Credit  
Impact FY 2012-13 

Cash 

FY 2012-13 

Annualized 

FY 2013-14 

Cash 

FY 2014-15 

Cash 

FY 2015-16 

Cash 

State Impact-GR ($1.0 m) ($10.0 m) ($4.2 m) ($6.3 m) ($8.4 m) 

 

Florida Renewable Energy Production Credit 
Impact FY 2012-13 

Cash 

FY 2012-13 

Annualized 

FY 2013-14 

Cash 

FY 2014-15 

Cash 

FY 2015-16 

Cash 

State Impact-GR ($0.0 m) ($5.0 m) ($1.3 m) ($5.0 m) ($5.0 m) 

 



BILL: CS/CS/CS/SB 2094   Page 17 

 

B. Private Sector Impact: 

The requirement that DACS’ Office of Energy, in consultation with the PSC, the Florida 

Building Commission, and the Florida Energy Systems Consortium, develop a clearinghouse 

of information regarding cost savings associated with various energy efficiency and 

conservation measures and post it on the DACS website should educate consumers, both 

individuals and businesses, on their possible savings regarding energy efficiency. This may 

result both in savings to those who utilize the information and revenue for those selling the 

necessary products and services to accomplish the efficiency projects. 

 

The requirement that the PSC evaluate and report on the Florida Energy Efficiency and 

Conservation Act statutes and determine whether they remain in the public interest may 

result in changes to these statutes or their implementation, which may have an economic 

impact, positive or negative, on ratepayers. 

 

The clarification to the statute on the tax refund program for qualified target industry 

businesses, s. 288.106, F.S., will allow renewable energy producers who only sell electricity 

to a utility at wholesale to be eligible for the tax refund, if they meet the other requirements 

of the statute. 

 

The provisions exempting electric vehicle charging stations from regulation by the PSC 

under chapter 366 may allay fears of regulation and bring these stations on-line quicker. 

 

The provisions for DACS permitting for introduction or release of algae and blue-green 

algae should make it easier for entities wanting to use these plants as foodstocks for biofuels 

to do so, creating more businesses and jobs. 

 

 

The provisions reinstating and revising the tax exemption and tax credits has the potential to 

benefit eligible applicants in an amount up to $16 million in each state fiscal year during the 

existence of the programs. 

C. Government Sector Impact: 

DACS states that it currently has the resources to conduct the comprehensive statewide 

forest inventory, so long as it is done using the Geographic Information System method. 

 

Additional resources may be required to accomplish the requirements for: 

 

 The DMS and DACS to adopt rules and forms for the development of the state energy 

management plan including standard and uniform benchmarking requirements as a 

measure to evaluate the energy efficiency of state owned and leased buildings; and 

 The Office of Energy, within DACS, in consultation with the Florida Public Service 

Commission, the Florida Building Commission, and the Florida Energy Systems 

Consortium, to develop a clearinghouse of information regarding cost savings 

associated with various energy efficiency and conservation measures. 



BILL: CS/CS/CS/SB 2094   Page 18 

 

The bill provides an appropriation of $250,000 from the Florida Public Service 

Regulatory Trust Fund for the Public Service Commission, in consultation with the 

Department of Agriculture and Consumer Services, to contract for an independent 

evaluation of the Florida Energy Efficiency and Conservation Act. 

VI. Technical Deficiencies: 

None. 

VII. Related Issues: 

None.  

VIII. Additional Information: 

A. Committee Substitute – Statement of Substantial Changes: 
(Summarizing differences between the Committee Substitute and the prior version of the bill.) 

CS/CS/CS by Budget Committee on March 1, 2012: 

 removes the section of the bill authorizing municipalities to impose special 

assessments on property; 

 authorizes a local government to use revenues from the local government 

infrastructure surtax to provide loans, grants or rebates to both residential and 

commercial property owners for energy efficiency improvements; 

 amends the ending date for which investments in renewable fuels can be made in 

order to claim the renewable energy technologies investment tax credit; 

 limits the Florida renewable energy production credit to $1 million per applicant per 

state fiscal year and provides that the credits will be determined with priority, as 

specified, if the credits applied for exceed the $5 million limit; 

 requires DMS to coordinate with DACS to further develop a state energy 

management plan; 

 deletes language in section 366.92, F.S, relating to adopting rules for a renewable 

energy portfolio standard; 

 requires DACS to compile a list of retail fuel stations that sell or offer unblended 

gasoline and post the information on its website; and 

 provides an appropriation of $250,000 from the Florida Public Service Regulatory 

Trust Fund for the report on the Florida Energy Efficiency and Conservation Act 

statutes. 

  

CS/CS by Agriculture Committee on February 13, 2012: 

 defines “alternative fuel” as a fuel produced from biomass as defined in the Florida 

statutes and references this term in the definitions for “blended gasoline” and 

“unblended gasoline.” 

 

CS by Communications, Energy, and Public Utilities on February 6, 2012: 

 authorizes a municipality to pay a public utility the additional costs of renewable 

energy in excess of the utility’s full avoided costs; and 



BILL: CS/CS/CS/SB 2094   Page 19 

 

 authorizes a local government to provide financial assistance to owners of residential 

property who make energy efficiency improvements to or install renewable energy 

devices on the residential property and defines what is included in the term renewable 

energy devices. 

B. Amendments: 

None. 

This Senate Bill Analysis does not reflect the intent or official position of the bill’s introducer or the Florida Senate. 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for CS for SB 2094 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì9572546Î957254 

 

Page 1 of 43 

2/29/2012 1:00:36 PM 576-04162C-12 

LEGISLATIVE ACTION 

Senate 

Comm: RCS 

03/02/2012 

 

 

 

. 

. 

. 

. 

. 

. 

House 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The Committee on Budget (Hays) recommended the following: 

 

Senate Amendment (with title amendment) 1 

 2 

Delete everything after the enacting clause 3 

and insert: 4 

Section 1. Subsection (2) of section 186.801, Florida 5 

Statutes, is amended to read: 6 

186.801 Ten-year site plans.— 7 

(2) Within 9 months after the receipt of the proposed plan, 8 

the commission shall make a preliminary study of such plan and 9 

classify it as “suitable” or “unsuitable.” The commission may 10 

suggest alternatives to the plan. All findings of the commission 11 

shall be made available to the Department of Environmental 12 

Protection for its consideration at any subsequent electrical 13 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for CS for SB 2094 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì9572546Î957254 

 

Page 2 of 43 

2/29/2012 1:00:36 PM 576-04162C-12 

power plant site certification proceedings. It is recognized 14 

that 10-year site plans submitted by an electric utility are 15 

tentative information for planning purposes only and may be 16 

amended at any time at the discretion of the utility upon 17 

written notification to the commission. A complete application 18 

for certification of an electrical power plant site under 19 

chapter 403, when such site is not designated in the current 10-20 

year site plan of the applicant, shall constitute an amendment 21 

to the 10-year site plan. In its preliminary study of each 10-22 

year site plan, the commission shall consider such plan as a 23 

planning document and shall review: 24 

(a) The need, including the need as determined by the 25 

commission, for electrical power in the area to be served. 26 

(b) The effect on fuel diversity within the state. 27 

(c) The anticipated environmental impact of each proposed 28 

electrical power plant site. 29 

(d) Possible alternatives to the proposed plan. 30 

(e) The views of appropriate local, state, and federal 31 

agencies, including the views of the appropriate water 32 

management district as to the availability of water and its 33 

recommendation as to the use by the proposed plant of salt water 34 

or fresh water for cooling purposes. 35 

(f) The extent to which the plan is consistent with the 36 

state comprehensive plan. 37 

(g) The plan with respect to the information of the state 38 

on energy availability and consumption. 39 

(h) The amount of renewable energy resources the provider 40 

produces or purchases. 41 

(i) The amount of renewable energy resources the provider 42 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for CS for SB 2094 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì9572546Î957254 

 

Page 3 of 43 

2/29/2012 1:00:36 PM 576-04162C-12 

plans to produce or purchase over the 10-year planning horizon 43 

and the means by which the production or purchases will be 44 

achieved. 45 

(j) A statement describing how the production and purchase 46 

of renewable energy resources impact the provider’s present and 47 

future capacity and energy needs. 48 

Section 2. Paragraph (d) of subsection (2) of section 49 

212.055, Florida Statutes, is amended to read: 50 

212.055 Discretionary sales surtaxes; legislative intent; 51 

authorization and use of proceeds.—It is the legislative intent 52 

that any authorization for imposition of a discretionary sales 53 

surtax shall be published in the Florida Statutes as a 54 

subsection of this section, irrespective of the duration of the 55 

levy. Each enactment shall specify the types of counties 56 

authorized to levy; the rate or rates which may be imposed; the 57 

maximum length of time the surtax may be imposed, if any; the 58 

procedure which must be followed to secure voter approval, if 59 

required; the purpose for which the proceeds may be expended; 60 

and such other requirements as the Legislature may provide. 61 

Taxable transactions and administrative procedures shall be as 62 

provided in s. 212.054. 63 

(2) LOCAL GOVERNMENT INFRASTRUCTURE SURTAX.— 64 

(d) The proceeds of the surtax authorized by this 65 

subsection and any accrued interest shall be expended by the 66 

school district, within the county and municipalities within the 67 

county, or, in the case of a negotiated joint county agreement, 68 

within another county, to finance, plan, and construct 69 

infrastructure; to acquire land for public recreation, 70 

conservation, or protection of natural resources; to provide 71 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for CS for SB 2094 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì9572546Î957254 

 

Page 4 of 43 

2/29/2012 1:00:36 PM 576-04162C-12 

loans, grants, or rebates to residential property owners who 72 

make energy efficiency improvements to their residential 73 

property, if a local government ordinance authorizing such use 74 

is approved by referendum; or to finance the closure of county-75 

owned or municipally owned solid waste landfills that have been 76 

closed or are required to be closed by order of the Department 77 

of Environmental Protection. Any use of the proceeds or interest 78 

for purposes of landfill closure before July 1, 1993, is 79 

ratified. The proceeds and any interest may not be used for the 80 

operational expenses of infrastructure, except that a county 81 

that has a population of fewer than 75,000 and that is required 82 

to close a landfill may use the proceeds or interest for long-83 

term maintenance costs associated with landfill closure. 84 

Counties, as defined in s. 125.011, and charter counties may, in 85 

addition, use the proceeds or interest to retire or service 86 

indebtedness incurred for bonds issued before July 1, 1987, for 87 

infrastructure purposes, and for bonds subsequently issued to 88 

refund such bonds. Any use of the proceeds or interest for 89 

purposes of retiring or servicing indebtedness incurred for 90 

refunding bonds before July 1, 1999, is ratified. 91 

1. For the purposes of this paragraph, the term 92 

“infrastructure” means: 93 

a. Any fixed capital expenditure or fixed capital outlay 94 

associated with the construction, reconstruction, or improvement 95 

of public facilities that have a life expectancy of 5 or more 96 

years and any related land acquisition, land improvement, 97 

design, and engineering costs. 98 

b. A fire department vehicle, an emergency medical service 99 

vehicle, a sheriff’s office vehicle, a police department 100 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for CS for SB 2094 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì9572546Î957254 

 

Page 5 of 43 

2/29/2012 1:00:36 PM 576-04162C-12 

vehicle, or any other vehicle, and the equipment necessary to 101 

outfit the vehicle for its official use or equipment that has a 102 

life expectancy of at least 5 years. 103 

c. Any expenditure for the construction, lease, or 104 

maintenance of, or provision of utilities or security for, 105 

facilities, as defined in s. 29.008. 106 

d. Any fixed capital expenditure or fixed capital outlay 107 

associated with the improvement of private facilities that have 108 

a life expectancy of 5 or more years and that the owner agrees 109 

to make available for use on a temporary basis as needed by a 110 

local government as a public emergency shelter or a staging area 111 

for emergency response equipment during an emergency officially 112 

declared by the state or by the local government under s. 113 

252.38. Such improvements are limited to those necessary to 114 

comply with current standards for public emergency evacuation 115 

shelters. The owner must enter into a written contract with the 116 

local government providing the improvement funding to make the 117 

private facility available to the public for purposes of 118 

emergency shelter at no cost to the local government for a 119 

minimum of 10 years after completion of the improvement, with 120 

the provision that the obligation will transfer to any 121 

subsequent owner until the end of the minimum period. 122 

e. Any land acquisition expenditure for a residential 123 

housing project in which at least 30 percent of the units are 124 

affordable to individuals or families whose total annual 125 

household income does not exceed 120 percent of the area median 126 

income adjusted for household size, if the land is owned by a 127 

local government or by a special district that enters into a 128 

written agreement with the local government to provide such 129 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for CS for SB 2094 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì9572546Î957254 

 

Page 6 of 43 

2/29/2012 1:00:36 PM 576-04162C-12 

housing. The local government or special district may enter into 130 

a ground lease with a public or private person or entity for 131 

nominal or other consideration for the construction of the 132 

residential housing project on land acquired pursuant to this 133 

sub-subparagraph. 134 

2. For the purposes of this paragraph, the term “energy 135 

efficiency improvement” means any energy conservation and 136 

efficiency improvement that reduces consumption through 137 

conservation or a more efficient use of electricity, natural 138 

gas, propane, or other forms of energy on the property, 139 

including, but not limited to, air sealing; installation of 140 

insulation; installation of energy-efficient heating, cooling, 141 

or ventilation systems; installation of solar panels; building 142 

modifications to increase the use of daylight or shade; 143 

replacement of windows; installation of energy controls or 144 

energy recovery systems; installation of electric vehicle 145 

charging equipment; and installation of efficient lighting 146 

equipment. 147 

3.2. Notwithstanding any other provision of this 148 

subsection, a local government infrastructure surtax imposed or 149 

extended after July 1, 1998, may allocate up to 15 percent of 150 

the surtax proceeds for deposit in a trust fund within the 151 

county’s accounts created for the purpose of funding economic 152 

development projects having a general public purpose of 153 

improving local economies, including the funding of operational 154 

costs and incentives related to economic development. The ballot 155 

statement must indicate the intention to make an allocation 156 

under the authority of this subparagraph. 157 

Section 3. Paragraph (hhh) is added to subsection (7) of 158 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for CS for SB 2094 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì9572546Î957254 

 

Page 7 of 43 

2/29/2012 1:00:36 PM 576-04162C-12 

section 212.08, Florida Statutes, to read: 159 

212.08 Sales, rental, use, consumption, distribution, and 160 

storage tax; specified exemptions.—The sale at retail, the 161 

rental, the use, the consumption, the distribution, and the 162 

storage to be used or consumed in this state of the following 163 

are hereby specifically exempt from the tax imposed by this 164 

chapter. 165 

(7) MISCELLANEOUS EXEMPTIONS.—Exemptions provided to any 166 

entity by this chapter do not inure to any transaction that is 167 

otherwise taxable under this chapter when payment is made by a 168 

representative or employee of the entity by any means, 169 

including, but not limited to, cash, check, or credit card, even 170 

when that representative or employee is subsequently reimbursed 171 

by the entity. In addition, exemptions provided to any entity by 172 

this subsection do not inure to any transaction that is 173 

otherwise taxable under this chapter unless the entity has 174 

obtained a sales tax exemption certificate from the department 175 

or the entity obtains or provides other documentation as 176 

required by the department. Eligible purchases or leases made 177 

with such a certificate must be in strict compliance with this 178 

subsection and departmental rules, and any person who makes an 179 

exempt purchase with a certificate that is not in strict 180 

compliance with this subsection and the rules is liable for and 181 

shall pay the tax. The department may adopt rules to administer 182 

this subsection. 183 

(hhh) Equipment, machinery, and other materials for 184 

renewable energy technologies.— 185 

1. As used in this paragraph, the term: 186 

a. “Biodiesel” means the mono-alkyl esters of long-chain 187 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for CS for SB 2094 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì9572546Î957254 

 

Page 8 of 43 

2/29/2012 1:00:36 PM 576-04162C-12 

fatty acids derived from plant or animal matter for use as a 188 

source of energy and meeting the specifications for biodiesel 189 

and biodiesel blends with petroleum products as adopted by rule 190 

of the Department of Agriculture and Consumer Services. 191 

“Biodiesel” may refer to biodiesel blends designated BXX, where 192 

XX represents the volume percentage of biodiesel fuel in the 193 

blend. 194 

b. “Ethanol” means an anhydrous denatured alcohol produced 195 

by the conversion of carbohydrates meeting the specifications 196 

for fuel ethanol and fuel ethanol blends with petroleum products 197 

as adopted by rule of the Department of Agriculture and Consumer 198 

Services. “Ethanol” may refer to fuel ethanol blends designated 199 

EXX, where XX represents the volume percentage of fuel ethanol 200 

in the blend. 201 

c. “Renewable fuel” means a fuel produced from biomass that 202 

is used to replace or reduce the quantity of fossil fuel present 203 

in motor fuel or diesel fuel. “Biomass” means biomass as defined 204 

in s. 366.91, “motor fuel” means motor fuel as defined in s. 205 

206.01, and “diesel fuel” means diesel fuel as defined in s. 206 

206.86. 207 

2. The sale or use in the state of the following is exempt 208 

from the tax imposed by this chapter. Materials used in the 209 

distribution of biodiesel (B10-B100), ethanol (E10-E100), and 210 

other renewable fuels, including fueling infrastructure, 211 

transportation, and storage, up to a limit of $1 million in tax 212 

each state fiscal year for all taxpayers. Gasoline fueling 213 

station pump retrofits for biodiesel (B10-B100), ethanol (E10-214 

E100), and other renewable fuel distribution qualify for the 215 

exemption provided in this paragraph. 216 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for CS for SB 2094 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì9572546Î957254 

 

Page 9 of 43 

2/29/2012 1:00:36 PM 576-04162C-12 

3. The Department of Agriculture and Consumer Services 217 

shall provide to the department a list of items eligible for the 218 

exemption provided in this paragraph. 219 

4.a. The exemption provided in this paragraph shall be 220 

available to a purchaser only through a refund of previously 221 

paid taxes. An eligible item is subject to refund one time. A 222 

person who has received a refund on an eligible item shall 223 

notify the next purchaser of the item that the item is no longer 224 

eligible for a refund of paid taxes. The notification shall be 225 

provided to each subsequent purchaser on the sales invoice or 226 

other proof of purchase. 227 

b. To be eligible to receive the exemption provided in this 228 

paragraph, a purchaser shall file an application with the 229 

Department of Agriculture and Consumer Services. The application 230 

shall be developed by the Department of Agriculture and Consumer 231 

Services, in consultation with the department, and shall 232 

require: 233 

(I) The name and address of the person claiming the refund. 234 

(II) A specific description of the purchase for which a 235 

refund is sought, including, when applicable, a serial number or 236 

other permanent identification number. 237 

(III) The sales invoice or other proof of purchase showing 238 

the amount of sales tax paid, the date of purchase, and the name 239 

and address of the sales tax dealer from whom the property was 240 

purchased. 241 

(IV) A sworn statement that the information provided is 242 

accurate and that the requirements of this paragraph have been 243 

met. 244 

c. Within 30 days after receipt of an application, the 245 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for CS for SB 2094 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì9572546Î957254 

 

Page 10 of 43 

2/29/2012 1:00:36 PM 576-04162C-12 

Department of Agriculture and Consumer Services shall review the 246 

application and notify the applicant of any deficiencies. Upon 247 

receipt of a completed application, the Department of 248 

Agriculture and Consumer Services shall evaluate the application 249 

for the exemption and issue a written certification that the 250 

applicant is eligible for a refund or issue a written denial of 251 

such certification. The Department of Agriculture and Consumer 252 

Services shall provide the department a copy of each 253 

certification issued upon approval of an application. 254 

d. Each certified applicant is responsible for applying for 255 

the refund and forwarding the certification that the applicant 256 

is eligible to the department within 6 months after 257 

certification by the Department of Agriculture and Consumer 258 

Services. 259 

e. A refund approved pursuant to this paragraph shall be 260 

made within 30 days after formal approval by the department. 261 

f. The Department of Agriculture and Consumer Services may 262 

adopt by rule the form for the application for a certificate, 263 

requirements for the content and format of information submitted 264 

to the Department of Agriculture and Consumer Services in 265 

support of the application, other procedural requirements, and 266 

criteria by which the application will be determined. The 267 

Department of Agriculture and Consumer Services may adopt other 268 

rules pursuant to ss. 120.536(1) and 120.54 to administer this 269 

paragraph, including rules establishing additional forms and 270 

procedures for claiming the exemption. 271 

g. The Department of Agriculture and Consumer Services 272 

shall be responsible for ensuring that the total amount of the 273 

exemptions authorized do not exceed the limits specified in 274 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for CS for SB 2094 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì9572546Î957254 

 

Page 11 of 43 

2/29/2012 1:00:36 PM 576-04162C-12 

subparagraph 2. 275 

5. Approval of the exemptions under this paragraph is on a 276 

first-come, first-served basis, based upon the date complete 277 

applications are received by the Department of Agriculture and 278 

Consumer Services. Incomplete placeholder applications shall not 279 

be accepted and shall not secure a place in the first-come, 280 

first-served application line. The Department of Agriculture and 281 

Consumer Services shall determine and publish on its website on 282 

a regular basis the amount of sales tax funds remaining in each 283 

fiscal year. 284 

6. This paragraph expires July 1, 2016. 285 

Section 4. Subsections (1), (2), (4), (6), (7), and (8) of 286 

section 220.192, Florida Statutes, are amended to read: 287 

220.192 Renewable energy technologies investment tax 288 

credit.— 289 

(1) DEFINITIONS.—For purposes of this section, the term: 290 

(a) “Biodiesel” means biodiesel as defined in s. 291 

212.08(7)(hhh) former s. 212.08(7)(ccc). 292 

(b) “Corporation” includes a general partnership, limited 293 

partnership, limited liability company, unincorporated business, 294 

or other business entity, including entities taxed as 295 

partnerships for federal income tax purposes. 296 

(c) “Eligible costs” means: 297 

1. Seventy-five percent of all capital costs, operation and 298 

maintenance costs, and research and development costs incurred 299 

between July 1, 2006, and June 30, 2010, up to a limit of $3 300 

million per state fiscal year for all taxpayers, in connection 301 

with an investment in hydrogen-powered vehicles and hydrogen 302 

vehicle fueling stations in the state, including, but not 303 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for CS for SB 2094 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì9572546Î957254 

 

Page 12 of 43 

2/29/2012 1:00:36 PM 576-04162C-12 

limited to, the costs of constructing, installing, and equipping 304 

such technologies in the state. 305 

2. Seventy-five percent of all capital costs, operation and 306 

maintenance costs, and research and development costs incurred 307 

between July 1, 2006, and June 30, 2010, up to a limit of $1.5 308 

million per state fiscal year for all taxpayers, and limited to 309 

a maximum of $12,000 per fuel cell, in connection with an 310 

investment in commercial stationary hydrogen fuel cells in the 311 

state, including, but not limited to, the costs of constructing, 312 

installing, and equipping such technologies in the state. 313 

3. Seventy-five percent of all capital costs, operation and 314 

maintenance costs, and research and development costs incurred 315 

between July 1, 2012 2006, and June 30, 2016 2010, not to exceed 316 

$1 million per state fiscal year for each taxpayer and up to a 317 

limit of $10 $6.5 million per state fiscal year for all 318 

taxpayers, in connection with an investment in the production, 319 

storage, and distribution of biodiesel (B10-B100), and ethanol 320 

(E10-E100), and other renewable fuel in the state, including the 321 

costs of constructing, installing, and equipping such 322 

technologies in the state. Gasoline fueling station pump 323 

retrofits for biodiesel (B10-B100), ethanol (E10-E100), and 324 

other renewable fuel distribution qualify as an eligible cost 325 

under this section subparagraph. 326 

(d) “Ethanol” means ethanol as defined in s. 212.08(7)(hhh) 327 

former s. 212.08(7)(ccc). 328 

(e) “Renewable fuel” means a fuel produced from biomass 329 

that is used to replace or reduce the quantity of fossil fuel 330 

present in motor fuel or diesel fuel. “Biomass” means biomass as 331 

defined in s. 366.91, “motor fuel” means motor fuel as defined 332 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for CS for SB 2094 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì9572546Î957254 

 

Page 13 of 43 

2/29/2012 1:00:36 PM 576-04162C-12 

in s. 206.01, and “diesel fuel” means diesel fuel as defined in 333 

s. 206.86. 334 

(e) “Hydrogen fuel cell” means hydrogen fuel cell as 335 

defined in former s. 212.08(7)(ccc). 336 

(f) “Taxpayer” includes a corporation as defined in 337 

paragraph (b) or s. 220.03. 338 

(2) TAX CREDIT.—For tax years beginning on or after January 339 

1, 2013 2007, a credit against the tax imposed by this chapter 340 

shall be granted in an amount equal to the eligible costs. 341 

Credits may be used in tax years beginning January 1, 2013 2007, 342 

and ending December 31, 2016 2010, after which the credit shall 343 

expire. If the credit is not fully used in any one tax year 344 

because of insufficient tax liability on the part of the 345 

corporation, the unused amount may be carried forward and used 346 

in tax years beginning January 1, 2013 2007, and ending December 347 

31, 2018 2012, after which the credit carryover expires and may 348 

not be used. A taxpayer that files a consolidated return in this 349 

state as a member of an affiliated group under s. 220.131(1) may 350 

be allowed the credit on a consolidated return basis up to the 351 

amount of tax imposed upon the consolidated group. Any eligible 352 

cost for which a credit is claimed and which is deducted or 353 

otherwise reduces federal taxable income shall be added back in 354 

computing adjusted federal income under s. 220.13. 355 

(4) TAXPAYER APPLICATION PROCESS.—To claim a credit under 356 

this section, each taxpayer must apply to the Department of 357 

Agriculture and Consumer Services for an allocation of each type 358 

of annual credit by the date established by the Department of 359 

Agriculture and Consumer Services. The application form adopted 360 

by rule of the Department of Agriculture and Consumer Services 361 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for CS for SB 2094 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì9572546Î957254 

 

Page 14 of 43 

2/29/2012 1:00:36 PM 576-04162C-12 

must include an affidavit from each taxpayer certifying that all 362 

information contained in the application, including all records 363 

of eligible costs claimed as the basis for the tax credit, are 364 

true and correct. Approval of the credits under this section is 365 

on a first-come, first-served basis, based upon the date 366 

complete applications are received by the Department of 367 

Agriculture and Consumer Services. A taxpayer must submit only 368 

one complete application based upon eligible costs incurred 369 

within a particular state fiscal year. Incomplete placeholder 370 

applications will not be accepted and will not secure a place in 371 

the first-come, first-served application line. If a taxpayer 372 

does not receive a tax credit allocation due to the exhaustion 373 

of the annual tax credit authorizations, then such taxpayer may 374 

reapply in the following year for those eligible costs and will 375 

have priority over other applicants for the allocation of 376 

credits. 377 

(6) TRANSFERABILITY OF CREDIT.— 378 

(a) For tax years beginning on or after January 1, 2014 379 

2009, any corporation or subsequent transferee allowed a tax 380 

credit under this section may transfer the credit, in whole or 381 

in part, to any taxpayer by written agreement without 382 

transferring any ownership interest in the property generating 383 

the credit or any interest in the entity owning such property. 384 

The transferee is entitled to apply the credits against the tax 385 

with the same effect as if the transferee had incurred the 386 

eligible costs. 387 

(b) To perfect the transfer, the transferor shall provide 388 

the Department of Revenue with a written transfer statement 389 

notifying the Department of Revenue of the transferor’s intent 390 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for CS for SB 2094 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì9572546Î957254 

 

Page 15 of 43 

2/29/2012 1:00:36 PM 576-04162C-12 

to transfer the tax credits to the transferee; the date the 391 

transfer is effective; the transferee’s name, address, and 392 

federal taxpayer identification number; the tax period; and the 393 

amount of tax credits to be transferred. The Department of 394 

Revenue shall, upon receipt of a transfer statement conforming 395 

to the requirements of this section, provide the transferee with 396 

a certificate reflecting the tax credit amounts transferred. A 397 

copy of the certificate must be attached to each tax return for 398 

which the transferee seeks to apply such tax credits. 399 

(c) A tax credit authorized under this section that is held 400 

by a corporation and not transferred under this subsection shall 401 

be passed through to the taxpayers designated as partners, 402 

members, or owners, respectively, in the manner agreed to by 403 

such persons regardless of whether such partners, members, or 404 

owners are allocated or allowed any portion of the federal 405 

energy tax credit for the eligible costs. A corporation that 406 

passes the credit through to a partner, member, or owner must 407 

comply with the notification requirements described in paragraph 408 

(b). The partner, member, or owner must attach a copy of the 409 

certificate to each tax return on which the partner, member, or 410 

owner claims any portion of the credit. 411 

(7) RULES.—The Department of Revenue and the Department of 412 

Agriculture and Consumer Services shall have the authority to 413 

adopt rules pursuant to ss. 120.536(1) and 120.54 to administer 414 

this section, including rules relating to: 415 

(a) The forms required to claim a tax credit under this 416 

section, the requirements and basis for establishing an 417 

entitlement to a credit, and the examination and audit 418 

procedures required to administer this section. 419 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for CS for SB 2094 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì9572546Î957254 

 

Page 16 of 43 

2/29/2012 1:00:36 PM 576-04162C-12 

(b) The implementation and administration of the provisions 420 

allowing a transfer of a tax credit, including rules prescribing 421 

forms, reporting requirements, and specific procedures, 422 

guidelines, and requirements necessary to transfer a tax credit. 423 

(8) PUBLICATION.—The Department of Agriculture and Consumer 424 

Services shall determine and publish on its website on a regular 425 

basis the amount of available tax credits remaining in each 426 

fiscal year. 427 

Section 5. Section 220.193, Florida Statutes, is amended to 428 

read: 429 

220.193 Florida renewable energy production credit.— 430 

(1) The purpose of this section is to encourage the 431 

development and expansion of facilities that produce renewable 432 

energy in Florida. 433 

(2) As used in this section, the term: 434 

(a) “Commission” means shall mean the Public Service 435 

Commission. 436 

(b) “Department” means shall mean the Department of 437 

Revenue. 438 

(c) “Expanded facility” means shall mean a Florida 439 

renewable energy facility that increases its electrical 440 

production and sale by more than 5 percent above the facility’s 441 

electrical production and sale during the 2011 2005 calendar 442 

year. 443 

(d) “Florida renewable energy facility” means shall mean a 444 

facility in the state that produces electricity for sale from 445 

renewable energy, as defined in s. 377.803. 446 

(e) “New facility” means shall mean a Florida renewable 447 

energy facility that is operationally placed in service after 448 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for CS for SB 2094 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì9572546Î957254 

 

Page 17 of 43 

2/29/2012 1:00:36 PM 576-04162C-12 

May 1, 2006. “New facility” includes a Florida renewable energy 449 

facility that has had an expansion operationally placed in 450 

service after May 1, 2006, and whose cost exceeded 50 percent of 451 

the assessed value of the facility immediately before the 452 

expansion. 453 

(f) “Sale” or “sold” includes the use of electricity by the 454 

producer of such electricity which decreases the amount of 455 

electricity that the producer would otherwise have to purchase. 456 

(g) “Taxpayer” includes a general partnership, limited 457 

partnership, limited liability company, trust, or other 458 

artificial entity in which a corporation, as defined in s. 459 

220.03(1)(e), owns an interest and is taxed as a partnership or 460 

is disregarded as a separate entity from the corporation under 461 

this chapter. 462 

(3) An annual credit against the tax imposed by this 463 

section shall be allowed to a taxpayer, based on the taxpayer’s 464 

production and sale of electricity from a new or expanded 465 

Florida renewable energy facility. For a new facility, the 466 

credit shall be based on the taxpayer’s sale of the facility’s 467 

entire electrical production. For an expanded facility, the 468 

credit shall be based on the increases in the facility’s 469 

electrical production that are achieved after May 1, 2012 2006. 470 

(a) The credit shall be $0.01 for each kilowatt-hour of 471 

electricity produced and sold by the taxpayer to an unrelated 472 

party during a given tax year. 473 

(b) The credit may be claimed for electricity produced and 474 

sold on or after January 1, 2013 2007. Beginning in 2014 2008 475 

and continuing until 2017 2011, each taxpayer claiming a credit 476 

under this section must first apply to the department by 477 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for CS for SB 2094 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì9572546Î957254 

 

Page 18 of 43 

2/29/2012 1:00:36 PM 576-04162C-12 

February 1 of each year for an allocation of available credit. 478 

The department, in consultation with the commission, shall 479 

develop an application form. The application form shall, at a 480 

minimum, require a sworn affidavit from each taxpayer certifying 481 

the increase in production and sales that form the basis of the 482 

application and certifying that all information contained in the 483 

application is true and correct. 484 

(c) If the amount of credits applied for each year exceeds 485 

$5 million, the department shall award credits to qualified 486 

applicants based on the following priority: to each applicant a 487 

prorated amount based on each applicant’s increased production 488 

and sales and the increased production and sales of all 489 

applicants. 490 

1. An applicant who places a new facility in operation 491 

after May 1, 2012, shall be granted credits first, up to a 492 

maximum of $250,000 each, with remaining credits to be granted 493 

pursuant to subparagraph 3., but if there are insufficient funds 494 

authorized to grant all such credits, the credits granted under 495 

this subparagraph shall be prorated based upon each applicant’s 496 

qualified production and sales as a percentage of total 497 

qualified production and sales of all applicants in this 498 

category for the year. 499 

2. An applicant who does not qualify under subparagraph 1. 500 

but who claims a credit of $50,000 or less shall be granted 501 

credits next, and if there are insufficient funds authorized to 502 

grant all such credits, the credits shall be prorated based upon 503 

each applicant’s qualified production and sales as a percentage 504 

of total qualified production and sales of all applicants in 505 

this category for the year. 506 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for CS for SB 2094 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì9572546Î957254 

 

Page 19 of 43 

2/29/2012 1:00:36 PM 576-04162C-12 

3. An applicant who does not qualify under subparagraph 1. 507 

or subparagraph 2. and an applicant whose credits have not been 508 

fully awarded under subparagraph 1. shall be awarded credits 509 

from remaining authorized funds, and if there are insufficient 510 

authorized funds to grant all such remaining credits, the 511 

credits shall be prorated based upon each applicant’s remaining 512 

claims for qualified production and sales as a percentage of 513 

total remaining claims for qualified production and sales of all 514 

applicants in this category for the year. 515 

(d) If the credit granted pursuant to this section is not 516 

fully used in one year because of insufficient tax liability on 517 

the part of the taxpayer, the unused amount may be carried 518 

forward for a period not to exceed 5 years. The carryover credit 519 

may be used in a subsequent year when the tax imposed by this 520 

chapter for such year exceeds the credit for such year, after 521 

applying the other credits and unused credit carryovers in the 522 

order provided in s. 220.02(8). 523 

(e) A taxpayer that files a consolidated return in this 524 

state as a member of an affiliated group under s. 220.131(1) may 525 

be allowed the credit on a consolidated return basis up to the 526 

amount of tax imposed upon the consolidated group. 527 

(f)1. Tax credits that may be available under this section 528 

to an entity eligible under this section may be transferred 529 

after a merger or acquisition to the surviving or acquiring 530 

entity and used in the same manner with the same limitations. 531 

2. The entity or its surviving or acquiring entity as 532 

described in subparagraph 1. may transfer any unused credit in 533 

whole or in units of no less than 25 percent of the remaining 534 

credit. The entity acquiring such credit may use it in the same 535 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for CS for SB 2094 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì9572546Î957254 

 

Page 20 of 43 

2/29/2012 1:00:36 PM 576-04162C-12 

manner and with the same limitations under this section. Such 536 

transferred credits may not be transferred again although they 537 

may succeed to a surviving or acquiring entity subject to the 538 

same conditions and limitations as described in this section. 539 

3. In the event the credit provided for under this section 540 

is reduced as a result of an examination or audit by the 541 

department, such tax deficiency shall be recovered from the 542 

first entity or the surviving or acquiring entity to have 543 

claimed such credit up to the amount of credit taken. Any 544 

subsequent deficiencies shall be assessed against any entity 545 

acquiring and claiming such credit, or in the case of multiple 546 

succeeding entities in the order of credit succession. 547 

(g) Notwithstanding any other provision of this section, 548 

credits for the production and sale of electricity from a new or 549 

expanded Florida renewable energy facility may be earned between 550 

January 1, 2013 2007, and June 30, 2016 2010. The amount of tax 551 

credits that may be granted to each taxpayer under this section 552 

is limited to $1 million per state fiscal year. The combined 553 

total amount of tax credits which may be granted for all 554 

taxpayers under this section is limited to $5 million per state 555 

fiscal year. 556 

(h) A taxpayer claiming a credit under this section shall 557 

be required to add back to net income that portion of its 558 

business deductions claimed on its federal return paid or 559 

incurred for the taxable year which is equal to the amount of 560 

the credit allowable for the taxable year under this section. 561 

(i) A taxpayer claiming credit under this section may not 562 

claim a credit under s. 220.192. A taxpayer claiming credit 563 

under s. 220.192 may not claim a credit under this section. 564 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for CS for SB 2094 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì9572546Î957254 

 

Page 21 of 43 

2/29/2012 1:00:36 PM 576-04162C-12 

(j) When an entity treated as a partnership or a 565 

disregarded entity under this chapter produces and sells 566 

electricity from a new or expanded renewable energy facility, 567 

the credit earned by such entity shall pass through in the same 568 

manner as items of income and expense pass through for federal 569 

income tax purposes. When an entity applies for the credit and 570 

the entity has received the credit by a pass-through, the 571 

application must identify the taxpayer that passed the credit 572 

through, all taxpayers that received the credit, and the 573 

percentage of the credit that passes through to each recipient 574 

and must provide other information that the department requires. 575 

(k) A taxpayer’s use of the credit granted pursuant to this 576 

section does not reduce the amount of any credit available to 577 

such taxpayer under s. 220.186. 578 

(4) The department may adopt rules to implement and 579 

administer this section, including rules prescribing forms, the 580 

documentation needed to substantiate a claim for the tax credit, 581 

and the specific procedures and guidelines for claiming the 582 

credit. 583 

(5) This section shall take effect upon becoming law and 584 

shall apply to tax years beginning on and after January 1, 2013 585 

2007. 586 

Section 6. Subsection (3) of section 255.257, Florida 587 

Statutes, is amended to read: 588 

255.257 Energy management; buildings occupied by state 589 

agencies.— 590 

(3) CONTENTS OF THE STATE ENERGY MANAGEMENT PLAN.—The 591 

Department of Management Services, in coordination with the 592 

Department of Agriculture and Consumer Services, shall further 593 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for CS for SB 2094 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì9572546Î957254 

 

Page 22 of 43 

2/29/2012 1:00:36 PM 576-04162C-12 

develop the a state energy management plan consisting of, but 594 

not limited to, the following elements: 595 

(a) Data-gathering requirements; 596 

(b) Building energy audit procedures; 597 

(c) Uniform data analysis and reporting procedures; 598 

(d) Employee energy education program measures; 599 

(e) Energy consumption reduction techniques; 600 

(f) Training program for state agency energy management 601 

coordinators; and 602 

(g) Guidelines for building managers. 603 

 604 

The plan shall include a description of actions that state 605 

agencies shall take to reduce consumption of electricity and 606 

nonrenewable energy sources used for space heating and cooling, 607 

ventilation, lighting, water heating, and transportation. 608 

Section 7. Paragraph (q) of subsection (2) of section 609 

288.106, Florida Statutes, is amended to read: 610 

288.106 Tax refund program for qualified target industry 611 

businesses.— 612 

(2) DEFINITIONS.—As used in this section: 613 

(q) “Target industry business” means a corporate 614 

headquarters business or any business that is engaged in one of 615 

the target industries identified pursuant to the following 616 

criteria developed by the department in consultation with 617 

Enterprise Florida, Inc.: 618 

1. Future growth.—Industry forecasts should indicate strong 619 

expectation for future growth in both employment and output, 620 

according to the most recent available data. Special 621 

consideration should be given to businesses that export goods 622 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for CS for SB 2094 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì9572546Î957254 

 

Page 23 of 43 

2/29/2012 1:00:36 PM 576-04162C-12 

to, or provide services in, international markets and businesses 623 

that replace domestic and international imports of goods or 624 

services. 625 

2. Stability.—The industry should not be subject to 626 

periodic layoffs, whether due to seasonality or sensitivity to 627 

volatile economic variables such as weather. The industry should 628 

also be relatively resistant to recession, so that the demand 629 

for products of this industry is not typically subject to 630 

decline during an economic downturn. 631 

3. High wage.—The industry should pay relatively high wages 632 

compared to statewide or area averages. 633 

4. Market and resource independent.—The location of 634 

industry businesses should not be dependent on Florida markets 635 

or resources as indicated by industry analysis, except for 636 

businesses in the renewable energy industry. 637 

5. Industrial base diversification and strengthening.—The 638 

industry should contribute toward expanding or diversifying the 639 

state’s or area’s economic base, as indicated by analysis of 640 

employment and output shares compared to national and regional 641 

trends. Special consideration should be given to industries that 642 

strengthen regional economies by adding value to basic products 643 

or building regional industrial clusters as indicated by 644 

industry analysis. Special consideration should also be given to 645 

the development of strong industrial clusters that include 646 

defense and homeland security businesses. 647 

6. Positive economic impact.—The industry is expected to 648 

have strong positive economic impacts on or benefits to the 649 

state or regional economies. Special consideration should be 650 

given to industries that facilitate the development of the state 651 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for CS for SB 2094 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì9572546Î957254 

 

Page 24 of 43 

2/29/2012 1:00:36 PM 576-04162C-12 

as a hub for domestic and global trade and logistics. 652 

 653 

The term does not include any business engaged in retail 654 

industry activities; any electrical utility company as defined 655 

in s. 366.02(2); any phosphate or other solid minerals 656 

severance, mining, or processing operation; any oil or gas 657 

exploration or production operation; or any business subject to 658 

regulation by the Division of Hotels and Restaurants of the 659 

Department of Business and Professional Regulation. Any business 660 

within NAICS code 5611 or 5614, office administrative services 661 

and business support services, respectively, may be considered a 662 

target industry business only after the local governing body and 663 

Enterprise Florida, Inc., make a determination that the 664 

community where the business may locate has conditions affecting 665 

the fiscal and economic viability of the local community or 666 

area, including but not limited to, factors such as low per 667 

capita income, high unemployment, high underemployment, and a 668 

lack of year-round stable employment opportunities, and such 669 

conditions may be improved by the location of such a business to 670 

the community. By January 1 of every 3rd year, beginning January 671 

1, 2011, the department, in consultation with Enterprise 672 

Florida, Inc., economic development organizations, the State 673 

University System, local governments, employee and employer 674 

organizations, market analysts, and economists, shall review 675 

and, as appropriate, revise the list of such target industries 676 

and submit the list to the Governor, the President of the 677 

Senate, and the Speaker of the House of Representatives. 678 

Section 8. Section 366.92, Florida Statutes, is amended to 679 

read: 680 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for CS for SB 2094 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì9572546Î957254 

 

Page 25 of 43 

2/29/2012 1:00:36 PM 576-04162C-12 

366.92 Florida renewable energy policy.— 681 

(1) It is the intent of the Legislature to promote the 682 

development of renewable energy; protect the economic viability 683 

of Florida’s existing renewable energy facilities; diversify the 684 

types of fuel used to generate electricity in Florida; lessen 685 

Florida’s dependence on natural gas and fuel oil for the 686 

production of electricity; minimize the volatility of fuel 687 

costs; encourage investment within the state; improve 688 

environmental conditions; and, at the same time, minimize the 689 

costs of power supply to electric utilities and their customers. 690 

(2) As used in this section, the term: 691 

(a) “Florida renewable energy resources” means renewable 692 

energy, as defined in s. 377.803, that is produced in Florida. 693 

(a)(b) “Provider” means a “utility” as defined in s. 694 

366.8255(1)(a). 695 

(b)(c) “Renewable energy” means renewable energy as defined 696 

in s. 366.91(2)(d). 697 

(d) “Renewable energy credit” or “REC” means a product that 698 

represents the unbundled, separable, renewable attribute of 699 

renewable energy produced in Florida and is equivalent to 1 700 

megawatt-hour of electricity generated by a source of renewable 701 

energy located in Florida. 702 

(e) “Renewable portfolio standard” or “RPS” means the 703 

minimum percentage of total annual retail electricity sales by a 704 

provider to consumers in Florida that shall be supplied by 705 

renewable energy produced in Florida. 706 

(3) The commission shall adopt rules for a renewable 707 

portfolio standard requiring each provider to supply renewable 708 

energy to its customers directly, by procuring, or through 709 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for CS for SB 2094 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì9572546Î957254 

 

Page 26 of 43 

2/29/2012 1:00:36 PM 576-04162C-12 

renewable energy credits. In developing the RPS rule, the 710 

commission shall consult the Department of Environmental 711 

Protection and the Department of Agriculture and Consumer 712 

Services. The rule shall not be implemented until ratified by 713 

the Legislature. The commission shall present a draft rule for 714 

legislative consideration by February 1, 2009. 715 

(a) In developing the rule, the commission shall evaluate 716 

the current and forecasted levelized cost in cents per kilowatt 717 

hour through 2020 and current and forecasted installed capacity 718 

in kilowatts for each renewable energy generation method through 719 

2020. 720 

(b) The commission’s rule: 721 

1. Shall include methods of managing the cost of compliance 722 

with the renewable portfolio standard, whether through direct 723 

supply or procurement of renewable power or through the purchase 724 

of renewable energy credits. The commission shall have 725 

rulemaking authority for providing annual cost recovery and 726 

incentive-based adjustments to authorized rates of return on 727 

common equity to providers to incentivize renewable energy. 728 

Notwithstanding s. 366.91(3) and (4), upon the ratification of 729 

the rules developed pursuant to this subsection, the commission 730 

may approve projects and power sales agreements with renewable 731 

power producers and the sale of renewable energy credits needed 732 

to comply with the renewable portfolio standard. In the event of 733 

any conflict, this subparagraph shall supersede s. 366.91(3) and 734 

(4). However, nothing in this section shall alter the obligation 735 

of each public utility to continuously offer a purchase contract 736 

to producers of renewable energy. 737 

2. Shall provide for appropriate compliance measures and 738 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for CS for SB 2094 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì9572546Î957254 

 

Page 27 of 43 

2/29/2012 1:00:36 PM 576-04162C-12 

the conditions under which noncompliance shall be excused due to 739 

a determination by the commission that the supply of renewable 740 

energy or renewable energy credits was not adequate to satisfy 741 

the demand for such energy or that the cost of securing 742 

renewable energy or renewable energy credits was cost 743 

prohibitive. 744 

3. May provide added weight to energy provided by wind and 745 

solar photovoltaic over other forms of renewable energy, whether 746 

directly supplied or procured or indirectly obtained through the 747 

purchase of renewable energy credits. 748 

4. Shall determine an appropriate period of time for which 749 

renewable energy credits may be used for purposes of compliance 750 

with the renewable portfolio standard. 751 

5. Shall provide for monitoring of compliance with and 752 

enforcement of the requirements of this section. 753 

6. Shall ensure that energy credited toward compliance with 754 

the requirements of this section is not credited toward any 755 

other purpose. 756 

7. Shall include procedures to track and account for 757 

renewable energy credits, including ownership of renewable 758 

energy credits that are derived from a customer-owned renewable 759 

energy facility as a result of any action by a customer of an 760 

electric power supplier that is independent of a program 761 

sponsored by the electric power supplier. 762 

8. Shall provide for the conditions and options for the 763 

repeal or alteration of the rule in the event that new 764 

provisions of federal law supplant or conflict with the rule. 765 

(c) Beginning on April 1 of the year following final 766 

adoption of the commission’s renewable portfolio standard rule, 767 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for CS for SB 2094 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì9572546Î957254 

 

Page 28 of 43 

2/29/2012 1:00:36 PM 576-04162C-12 

each provider shall submit a report to the commission describing 768 

the steps that have been taken in the previous year and the 769 

steps that will be taken in the future to add renewable energy 770 

to the provider’s energy supply portfolio. The report shall 771 

state whether the provider was in compliance with the renewable 772 

portfolio standard during the previous year and how it will 773 

comply with the renewable portfolio standard in the upcoming 774 

year. 775 

(3)(4) In order to demonstrate the feasibility and 776 

viability of clean energy systems, the commission shall provide 777 

for full cost recovery under the environmental cost-recovery 778 

clause of all reasonable and prudent costs incurred by a 779 

provider for renewable energy projects that are zero greenhouse 780 

gas emitting at the point of generation, up to a total of 110 781 

megawatts statewide, and for which the provider has secured 782 

necessary land, zoning permits, and transmission rights within 783 

the state. Such costs shall be deemed reasonable and prudent for 784 

purposes of cost recovery so long as the provider has used 785 

reasonable and customary industry practices in the design, 786 

procurement, and construction of the project in a cost-effective 787 

manner appropriate to the location of the facility. The provider 788 

shall report to the commission as part of the cost-recovery 789 

proceedings the construction costs, in-service costs, operating 790 

and maintenance costs, hourly energy production of the renewable 791 

energy project, and any other information deemed relevant by the 792 

commission. Any provider constructing a clean energy facility 793 

pursuant to this section shall file for cost recovery no later 794 

than July 1, 2009. 795 

(4)(5) Each municipal electric utility and rural electric 796 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for CS for SB 2094 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì9572546Î957254 

 

Page 29 of 43 

2/29/2012 1:00:36 PM 576-04162C-12 

cooperative shall develop standards for the promotion, 797 

encouragement, and expansion of the use of renewable energy 798 

resources and energy conservation and efficiency measures. On or 799 

before April 1, 2009, and annually thereafter, each municipal 800 

electric utility and electric cooperative shall submit to the 801 

commission a report that identifies such standards. 802 

(5)(6) Nothing in this section shall be construed to impede 803 

or impair terms and conditions of existing contracts. 804 

(6)(7) The commission may adopt rules to administer and 805 

implement the provisions of this section. 806 

Section 9. Section 366.94, Florida Statutes, is created to 807 

read: 808 

366.94 Electric vehicle charging stations.— 809 

(1) The provision of electric vehicle charging to the 810 

public by a nonutility is not the retail sale of electricity for 811 

the purposes of this chapter. The rates, terms, and conditions 812 

of electric vehicle charging services by a nonutility are not 813 

subject to regulation under this chapter. This section does not 814 

affect the ability of individuals, businesses, or governmental 815 

entities to acquire, install, or use an electric vehicle charger 816 

for their own vehicles. 817 

(2) The Department of Agriculture and Consumer Services 818 

shall adopt rules to provide definitions, methods of sale, 819 

labeling requirements, and price-posting requirements for 820 

electric vehicle charging stations to allow for consistency for 821 

consumers and the industry. 822 

(3)(a) It is unlawful for a person to stop, stand, or park 823 

a vehicle that is not capable of using an electrical recharging 824 

station within any parking space specifically designated for 825 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for CS for SB 2094 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì9572546Î957254 

 

Page 30 of 43 

2/29/2012 1:00:36 PM 576-04162C-12 

charging an electric vehicle. 826 

(b) If a law enforcement officer finds a motor vehicle in 827 

violation of this subsection, the officer or specialist shall 828 

charge the operator or other person in charge of the vehicle in 829 

violation with a noncriminal traffic infraction, punishable as 830 

provided in s. 316.008(4) or s. 318.18. 831 

(4) The Public Service Commission is directed to conduct a 832 

study of the potential effects of public charging stations and 833 

privately owned electric vehicle charging on both energy 834 

consumption and the impact on the electric grid in the state. 835 

The Public Service Commission shall also investigate the 836 

feasibility of using off-grid solar photovoltaic power as a 837 

source of electricity for the electric vehicle charging 838 

stations. The commission shall submit the results of the study 839 

to the President of the Senate, the Speaker of the House of 840 

Representatives, and the Executive Office of the Governor by 841 

December 31, 2012. 842 

Section 10. Subsection (1) of section 526.203, Florida 843 

Statutes, is amended, and subsections (5) and (6) are added to 844 

that section, to read: 845 

526.203 Renewable fuel standard.— 846 

(1) DEFINITIONS.—As used in this act: 847 

(a) “Alternative fuel” means a fuel produced from biomass, 848 

as defined in s. 366.91, that is used to replace or reduce the 849 

quantity of fossil fuel present in a petroleum fuel that meets 850 

the specifications as adopted by the department. 851 

(b)(a) “Blender,” “importer,” “terminal supplier,” and 852 

“wholesaler” are defined as provided in s. 206.01. 853 

(c)(b) “Blended gasoline” means a mixture of 90 to 91 854 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for CS for SB 2094 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì9572546Î957254 

 

Page 31 of 43 

2/29/2012 1:00:36 PM 576-04162C-12 

percent gasoline and 9 to 10 percent fuel ethanol or other 855 

alternative fuel, by volume, that meets the specifications as 856 

adopted by the department. The fuel ethanol or other alternative 857 

fuel portion may be derived from any agricultural source. 858 

(d)(c) “Fuel ethanol” means an anhydrous denatured alcohol 859 

produced by the conversion of carbohydrates that meets the 860 

specifications as adopted by the department. 861 

(e)(d) “Unblended gasoline” means gasoline that has not 862 

been blended with fuel ethanol or other alternative fuel and 863 

that meets the specifications as adopted by the department. 864 

(5) This section does not prohibit a retail dealer as 865 

defined in s. 206.01 from selling or offering to sell unblended 866 

gasoline. 867 

(6) The Department of Agriculture and Consumer Services 868 

shall compile a list of retail fuel stations that sell or offer 869 

to sell unblended gasoline. This information shall be compiled 870 

by the department as part of its routine retail fuel station 871 

inspections, authorized under s. 525.07, and from information 872 

provided voluntarily by retail dealers. The Department of 873 

Agriculture and Consumer Services shall provide this information 874 

on its website to inform consumers of the options available for 875 

unblended gasoline. 876 

Section 11. Subsection (4) of section 581.083, Florida 877 

Statutes, is amended to read: 878 

581.083 Introduction or release of plant pests, noxious 879 

weeds, or organisms affecting plant life; cultivation of 880 

nonnative plants; special permit and security required.— 881 

(4) A person may not cultivate a nonnative plant, algae, or 882 

blue-green algae, including a genetically engineered plant, 883 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for CS for SB 2094 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì9572546Î957254 

 

Page 32 of 43 

2/29/2012 1:00:36 PM 576-04162C-12 

algae, or blue-green algae or a plant that has been introduced, 884 

for purposes of fuel production or purposes other than 885 

agriculture in plantings greater in size than 2 contiguous 886 

acres, except under a special permit issued by the department 887 

through the division, which is the sole agency responsible for 888 

issuing such special permits. A permit is not required to 889 

cultivate any plant or group of plants that, based on experience 890 

or research data, does not pose a threat of becoming an invasive 891 

species and is commonly grown in this state for the purpose of 892 

human food consumption, commercial feed, feedstuff, forage for 893 

livestock, nursery stock, or silviculture. The department is 894 

authorized to adopt additional exemptions to the permitting 895 

requirements of this section if the department determines, after 896 

consulting with the Institute of Food and Agricultural Sciences 897 

at the University of Florida, that based on experience or 898 

research data, the nonnative plant, algae, or blue-green algae 899 

does not pose a threat of becoming an invasive species or a pest 900 

of plants or native fauna under conditions in this state and 901 

subsequently exempts the plant or group of plants by rule Such a 902 

permit shall not be required if the department determines, in 903 

conjunction with the Institute of Food and Agricultural Sciences 904 

at the University of Florida, that the plant is not invasive and 905 

subsequently exempts the plant by rule. 906 

(a)1. Each application for a special permit must be 907 

accompanied by a fee as described in subsection (2) and proof 908 

that the applicant has obtained, on a form approved by the 909 

department, a bond in the form approved by the department and 910 

issued by a surety company admitted to do business in this state 911 

or a certificate of deposit, or other type of security adopted 912 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for CS for SB 2094 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì9572546Î957254 

 

Page 33 of 43 

2/29/2012 1:00:36 PM 576-04162C-12 

by rule of the department which provides a financial assurance 913 

of cost recovery for the removal of a planting. The application 914 

must include, on a form provided by the department, the name of 915 

the applicant and the applicant’s address or the address of the 916 

applicant’s principal place of business; a statement completely 917 

identifying the nonnative plant to be cultivated; and a 918 

statement of the estimated cost of removing and destroying the 919 

plant that is the subject of the special permit and the basis 920 

for calculating or determining that estimate. If the applicant 921 

is a corporation, partnership, or other business entity, the 922 

applicant must also provide in the application the name and 923 

address of each officer, partner, or managing agent. The 924 

applicant shall notify the department within 10 business days of 925 

any change of address or change in the principal place of 926 

business. The department shall mail all notices to the 927 

applicant’s last known address. 928 

2. As used in this subsection, the term “certificate of 929 

deposit” means a certificate of deposit at any recognized 930 

financial institution doing business in the United States. The 931 

department may not accept a certificate of deposit in connection 932 

with the issuance of a special permit unless the issuing 933 

institution is properly insured by the Federal Deposit Insurance 934 

Corporation or the Federal Savings and Loan Insurance 935 

Corporation. 936 

(b) Upon obtaining a permit, the permitholder may annually 937 

cultivate and maintain the nonnative plants as authorized by the 938 

special permit. If the permitholder ceases to maintain or 939 

cultivate the plants authorized by the special permit, if the 940 

permit expires, or if the permitholder ceases to abide by the 941 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for CS for SB 2094 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì9572546Î957254 

 

Page 34 of 43 

2/29/2012 1:00:36 PM 576-04162C-12 

conditions of the special permit, the permitholder shall 942 

immediately remove and destroy the plants that are subject to 943 

the permit, if any remain. The permitholder shall notify the 944 

department of the removal and destruction of the plants within 945 

10 days after such event. 946 

(c) If the department: 947 

1. Determines that the permitholder is no longer 948 

maintaining or cultivating the plants subject to the special 949 

permit and has not removed and destroyed the plants authorized 950 

by the special permit; 951 

2. Determines that the continued maintenance or cultivation 952 

of the plants presents an imminent danger to public health, 953 

safety, or welfare; 954 

3. Determines that the permitholder has exceeded the 955 

conditions of the authorized special permit; or 956 

4. Receives a notice of cancellation of the surety bond, 957 

 958 

the department may issue an immediate final order, which shall 959 

be immediately appealable or enjoinable as provided by chapter 960 

120, directing the permitholder to immediately remove and 961 

destroy the plants authorized to be cultivated under the special 962 

permit. A copy of the immediate final order must shall be mailed 963 

to the permitholder and to the surety company or financial 964 

institution that has provided security for the special permit, 965 

if applicable. 966 

(d) If, upon issuance by the department of an immediate 967 

final order to the permitholder, the permitholder fails to 968 

remove and destroy the plants subject to the special permit 969 

within 60 days after issuance of the order, or such shorter 970 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for CS for SB 2094 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì9572546Î957254 

 

Page 35 of 43 

2/29/2012 1:00:36 PM 576-04162C-12 

period as is designated in the order as public health, safety, 971 

or welfare requires, the department may enter the cultivated 972 

acreage and remove and destroy the plants that are the subject 973 

of the special permit. If the permitholder makes a written 974 

request to the department for an extension of time to remove and 975 

destroy the plants that demonstrates specific facts showing why 976 

the plants could not reasonably be removed and destroyed in the 977 

applicable timeframe, the department may extend the time for 978 

removing and destroying plants subject to a special permit. The 979 

reasonable costs and expenses incurred by the department for 980 

removing and destroying plants subject to a special permit shall 981 

be reimbursed to the department by the permitholder within 21 982 

days after the date the permitholder and the surety company or 983 

financial institution are served a copy of the department’s 984 

invoice for the costs and expenses incurred by the department to 985 

remove and destroy the cultivated plants, along with a notice of 986 

administrative rights, unless the permitholder or the surety 987 

company or financial institution object to the reasonableness of 988 

the invoice. In the event of an objection, the permitholder or 989 

surety company or financial institution is entitled to an 990 

administrative proceeding as provided by chapter 120. Upon entry 991 

of a final order determining the reasonableness of the incurred 992 

costs and expenses, the permitholder has shall have 15 days 993 

after following service of the final order to reimburse the 994 

department. Failure of the permitholder to timely reimburse the 995 

department for the incurred costs and expenses entitles the 996 

department to reimbursement from the applicable bond or 997 

certificate of deposit. 998 

(e) Each permitholder shall maintain for each separate 999 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for CS for SB 2094 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì9572546Î957254 

 

Page 36 of 43 

2/29/2012 1:00:36 PM 576-04162C-12 

growing location a bond or a certificate of deposit in an amount 1000 

determined by the department, but not more less than 150 percent 1001 

of the estimated cost of removing and destroying the cultivated 1002 

plants. The bond or certificate of deposit may not exceed $5,000 1003 

per acre, unless a higher amount is determined by the department 1004 

to be necessary to protect the public health, safety, and 1005 

welfare or unless an exemption is granted by the department 1006 

based on conditions specified in the application which would 1007 

preclude the department from incurring the cost of removing and 1008 

destroying the cultivated plants and would prevent injury to the 1009 

public health, safety, and welfare. The aggregate liability of 1010 

the surety company or financial institution to all persons for 1011 

all breaches of the conditions of the bond or certificate of 1012 

deposit may not exceed the amount of the bond or certificate of 1013 

deposit. The original bond or certificate of deposit required by 1014 

this subsection shall be filed with the department. A surety 1015 

company shall give the department 30 days’ written notice of 1016 

cancellation, by certified mail, in order to cancel a bond. 1017 

Cancellation of a bond does not relieve a surety company of 1018 

liability for paying to the department all costs and expenses 1019 

incurred or to be incurred for removing and destroying the 1020 

permitted plants covered by an immediate final order authorized 1021 

under paragraph (c). A bond or certificate of deposit must be 1022 

provided or assigned in the exact name in which an applicant 1023 

applies for a special permit. The penal sum of the bond or 1024 

certificate of deposit to be furnished to the department by a 1025 

permitholder in the amount specified in this paragraph must 1026 

guarantee payment of the costs and expenses incurred or to be 1027 

incurred by the department for removing and destroying the 1028 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for CS for SB 2094 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì9572546Î957254 

 

Page 37 of 43 

2/29/2012 1:00:36 PM 576-04162C-12 

plants cultivated under the issued special permit. The bond or 1029 

certificate of deposit assignment or agreement must be upon a 1030 

form prescribed or approved by the department and must be 1031 

conditioned to secure the faithful accounting for and payment of 1032 

all costs and expenses incurred by the department for removing 1033 

and destroying all plants cultivated under the special permit. 1034 

The bond or certificate of deposit assignment or agreement must 1035 

include terms binding the instrument to the Commissioner of 1036 

Agriculture. Such certificate of deposit shall be presented with 1037 

an assignment of the permitholder’s rights in the certificate in 1038 

favor of the Commissioner of Agriculture on a form prescribed by 1039 

the department and with a letter from the issuing institution 1040 

acknowledging that the assignment has been properly recorded on 1041 

the books of the issuing institution and will be honored by the 1042 

issuing institution. Such assignment is irrevocable while a 1043 

special permit is in effect and for an additional period of 6 1044 

months after termination of the special permit if operations to 1045 

remove and destroy the permitted plants are not continuing and 1046 

if the department’s invoice remains unpaid by the permitholder 1047 

under the issued immediate final order. If operations to remove 1048 

and destroy the plants are pending, the assignment remains in 1049 

effect until all plants are removed and destroyed and the 1050 

department’s invoice has been paid. The bond or certificate of 1051 

deposit may be released by the assignee of the surety company or 1052 

financial institution to the permitholder, or to the 1053 

permitholder’s successors, assignee, or heirs, if operations to 1054 

remove and destroy the permitted plants are not pending and no 1055 

invoice remains unpaid at the conclusion of 6 months after the 1056 

last effective date of the special permit. The department may 1057 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for CS for SB 2094 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì9572546Î957254 

 

Page 38 of 43 

2/29/2012 1:00:36 PM 576-04162C-12 

not accept a certificate of deposit that contains any provision 1058 

that would give to any person any prior rights or claim on the 1059 

proceeds or principal of such certificate of deposit. The 1060 

department shall determine by rule whether an annual bond or 1061 

certificate of deposit will be required. The amount of such bond 1062 

or certificate of deposit shall be increased, upon order of the 1063 

department, at any time if the department finds such increase to 1064 

be warranted by the cultivating operations of the permitholder. 1065 

In the same manner, the amount of such bond or certificate of 1066 

deposit may be adjusted downward or removed decreased when a 1067 

decrease in the cultivating operations of the permitholder 1068 

occurs or when research or practical field knowledge and 1069 

observations indicate a low risk of invasiveness by the 1070 

nonnative species warrants such decrease. Factors that may be 1071 

considered for change include multiple years or cycles of 1072 

successful large-scale contained cultivation; no observation of 1073 

plant, algae, or blue-green algae escape from managed areas; or 1074 

science-based evidence that established or approved adjusted 1075 

cultivation practices provide a similar level of containment of 1076 

the nonnative plant, algae, or blue-green algae. This paragraph 1077 

applies to any bond or certificate of deposit, regardless of the 1078 

anniversary date of its issuance, expiration, or renewal. 1079 

(f) In order to carry out the purposes of this subsection, 1080 

the department or its agents may require from any permitholder 1081 

verified statements of the cultivated acreage subject to the 1082 

special permit and may review the permitholder’s business or 1083 

cultivation records at her or his place of business during 1084 

normal business hours in order to determine the acreage 1085 

cultivated. The failure of a permitholder to furnish such 1086 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for CS for SB 2094 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì9572546Î957254 

 

Page 39 of 43 

2/29/2012 1:00:36 PM 576-04162C-12 

statement, to make such records available, or to make and 1087 

deliver a new or additional bond or certificate of deposit is 1088 

cause for suspension of the special permit. If the department 1089 

finds such failure to be willful, the special permit may be 1090 

revoked. 1091 

Section 12. The Department of Agriculture and Consumer 1092 

Services shall conduct a comprehensive statewide forest 1093 

inventory analysis and study, using a geographic information 1094 

system, to identify where available biomass is located, 1095 

determine the available biomass resources, and ensure forest 1096 

sustainability within the state. The department shall submit the 1097 

results of the study to the President of the Senate, the Speaker 1098 

of the House of Representatives, and the Executive Office of the 1099 

Governor by July 1, 2013. 1100 

Section 13. The Office of Energy within the Department of 1101 

Agriculture and Consumer Services, in consultation with the 1102 

Public Service Commission, the Florida Building Commission, and 1103 

the Florida Energy Systems Consortium, shall develop a 1104 

clearinghouse of information regarding cost savings associated 1105 

with various energy efficiency and conservation measures. The 1106 

department shall post the information on its website by July 1, 1107 

2013. 1108 

Section 14. For the 2012-2013 fiscal year, the nonrecurring 1109 

sum of $250,000 is appropriated from the Florida Public Service 1110 

Regulatory Trust Fund for the purpose of the Public Service 1111 

Commission, in consultation with the Department of Agriculture 1112 

and Consumer Services, contracting for an independent evaluation 1113 

of the Florida Energy Efficiency and Conservation Act to 1114 

determine if the act remains in the public interest. The 1115 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for CS for SB 2094 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì9572546Î957254 

 

Page 40 of 43 

2/29/2012 1:00:36 PM 576-04162C-12 

evaluation must consider the costs to ratepayers, the incentives 1116 

and disincentives associated with the provisions in the act, and 1117 

if the programs create benefits without undue burden on the 1118 

customer. The models and methods used to determine conservation 1119 

goals must be specifically addressed in the report. The 1120 

commission shall submit the report to the President of the 1121 

Senate, the Speaker of the House of Representatives, and the 1122 

Executive Office of the Governor by January 31, 2013. 1123 

Section 15. This act shall take effect July 1, 2012. 1124 

 1125 

================= T I T L E  A M E N D M E N T ================ 1126 

And the title is amended as follows: 1127 

Delete everything before the enacting clause 1128 

and insert: 1129 

A bill to be entitled 1130 

An act relating to energy; amending s. 186.801, F.S.; 1131 

adding factors for the Public Service Commission to 1132 

consider in reviewing the 10-year site plans submitted 1133 

to the commission by electric utilities; amending s. 1134 

212.055, F.S.; providing for a portion of the proceeds 1135 

of the local government infrastructure surtax to be 1136 

used for financial assistance to homeowners who make 1137 

energy efficiency improvements or install renewable 1138 

energy devices; defining the term “energy efficiency 1139 

improvement”; amending s. 212.08, F.S.; providing 1140 

definitions for the terms “biodiesel,” “ethanol,” and 1141 

“renewable fuel”; providing for tax exemptions in the 1142 

form of a rebate for the sale or use of certain 1143 

equipment, machinery, and other materials for 1144 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for CS for SB 2094 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì9572546Î957254 

 

Page 41 of 43 

2/29/2012 1:00:36 PM 576-04162C-12 

renewable energy technologies; providing eligibility 1145 

requirements and tax credit limits; authorizing the 1146 

Department of Revenue and the Department of 1147 

Agriculture and Consumer Services to adopt rules; 1148 

directing the Department of Agriculture and Consumer 1149 

Services to determine and publish certain information 1150 

relating to exemptions; providing for expiration of 1151 

the exemption; amending s. 220.192, F.S., providing 1152 

definitions; reestablishing a corporate tax credit for 1153 

certain costs related to renewable energy 1154 

technologies; providing eligibility requirements and 1155 

credit limits; providing rulemaking authority to the 1156 

Department of Revenue and the Department of 1157 

Agriculture and Consumer Services; directing the 1158 

Department of Agriculture and Consumer Services to 1159 

determine and publish certain information; providing 1160 

for expiration of the tax credit; amending s. 220.193, 1161 

F.S.; reestablishing a corporate tax credit for 1162 

renewable energy production; providing definitions; 1163 

providing a tax credit for the production and sale of 1164 

renewable energy; providing requirements relating to 1165 

the priority and proration of such tax credits under 1166 

certain circumstances; providing for the use and 1167 

transfer of the tax credit; limiting the amount of tax 1168 

credits that may be granted to all taxpayers during a 1169 

specified period; providing rulemaking authority to 1170 

the Department of Revenue; providing for expiration of 1171 

the tax credit; amending s. 255.257, F.S.; directing 1172 

the Department of Management Services, in coordination 1173 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for CS for SB 2094 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì9572546Î957254 

 

Page 42 of 43 

2/29/2012 1:00:36 PM 576-04162C-12 

with the Department of Agriculture and Consumer 1174 

Services, to further develop the state energy 1175 

management plan; amending s. 288.106, F.S.; redefining 1176 

the term “target industry business,” for purposes of a 1177 

tax refund program, to exclude certain electrical 1178 

utilities; amending s. 366.92, F.S.; deleting an 1179 

obsolete directive to the Public Service Commission to 1180 

adopt rules for a renewable portfolio standard; 1181 

deleting related definitions; creating s. 366.94, 1182 

F.S.; providing that the provision of electric vehicle 1183 

charging to the public by a nonutility is not the 1184 

retail sale of electricity; providing that the rates, 1185 

terms, and conditions of electric vehicle charging 1186 

services by a nonutility are not subject to regulation 1187 

under ch. 366, F.S.; requiring the Department of 1188 

Agriculture and Consumer Services to develop rules for 1189 

sales at electric vehicle charging stations; 1190 

prohibiting the obstruction of a parking space at an 1191 

electric vehicle charging station; providing a 1192 

penalty; requiring that the Public Service Commission 1193 

study the effects of charging stations on energy 1194 

consumption in the state and the effects on the grid 1195 

and report the results to the President of the Senate, 1196 

the Speaker of the House of Representatives, and the 1197 

Executive office of the Governor; amending s. 526.203, 1198 

F.S.; revising the definitions of the terms “blended 1199 

gasoline” and “unblended gasoline”; defining the term 1200 

“alternative fuel”; authorizing the sale of unblended 1201 

fuels for certain uses; directing the Department of 1202 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for CS for SB 2094 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì9572546Î957254 

 

Page 43 of 43 

2/29/2012 1:00:36 PM 576-04162C-12 

Agriculture and Consumer Services to compile a list of 1203 

retail fuel stations that sell or offer to sell 1204 

unblended gasoline and provide that information on the 1205 

department’s website; amending s. 581.083, F.S.; 1206 

prohibiting the cultivation of certain algae in 1207 

plantings greater in size than 2 contiguous acres; 1208 

providing exceptions; providing for exemption from 1209 

special permitting requirements by rule; revising 1210 

certain bonding requirements; requiring the Department 1211 

of Agriculture and Consumer Services to conduct a 1212 

statewide forest inventory; requiring the Department 1213 

of Agriculture and Consumer Services to work with 1214 

other specified entities to develop information on 1215 

cost savings for energy efficiency and conservation 1216 

measures and post it on the department’s website; 1217 

providing an appropriation from the Florida Public 1218 

Service Regulatory Trust Fund for the purpose of the 1219 

Public Service Commission, in consultation with the 1220 

Department of Agriculture and Consumer Services, to 1221 

contract for an independent evaluation of the Florida 1222 

Energy Efficiency and Conservation Act; requiring 1223 

reports to the Legislature and the Executive Office of 1224 

the Governor; providing an effective date. 1225 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for CS for SB 2094 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì979666aÎ979666 

 

Page 1 of 2 

2/29/2012 3:36:33 PM 576-04340-12 

LEGISLATIVE ACTION 

Senate 

Comm: FAV 

03/02/2012 

 

 

 

. 

. 

. 

. 

. 

. 

House 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The Committee on Budget (Bogdanoff) recommended the following: 

 

Senate Amendment to Amendment (957254) (with title 1 

amendment) 2 

 3 

Delete lines 72 - 73 4 

and insert: 5 

loans, grants, or rebates to residential or commercial property 6 

owners who make energy efficiency improvements to their 7 

residential or commercial 8 

 9 

================= T I T L E  A M E N D M E N T ================ 10 

And the title is amended as follows: 11 

Delete line 1137 12 

and insert: 13 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for CS for SB 2094 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì979666aÎ979666 

 

Page 2 of 2 

2/29/2012 3:36:33 PM 576-04340-12 

used for financial assistance to residential and 14 

commercial property owners who make 15 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for CS for SB 2094 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì794782JÎ794782 

 

Page 1 of 4 

3/1/2012 12:40:00 PM 576-04394-12 

LEGISLATIVE ACTION 

Senate 

Comm: TP 

03/02/2012 

 

 

 

. 

. 

. 

. 

. 

. 

House 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The Committee on Budget (Bennett) recommended the following: 

 

Senate Amendment to Amendment (957254) (with title 1 

amendment) 2 

 3 

Between lines 842 and 843 4 

insert: 5 

Section 10. Section 377.705, Florida Statutes, is amended 6 

to read: 7 

377.705 Solar Energy Center; development of solar energy 8 

standards.— 9 

(1) SHORT TITLE.—This act shall be known and may be cited 10 

as the “Solar Energy Standards Act.” of 1976. 11 

(2) LEGISLATIVE FINDINGS AND INTENT.— 12 

(a) Because of increases in the cost of conventional fuel, 13 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for CS for SB 2094 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì794782JÎ794782 

 

Page 2 of 4 

3/1/2012 12:40:00 PM 576-04394-12 

certain applications of solar energy are becoming competitive, 14 

particularly when life-cycle costs are considered. It is the 15 

intent of the Legislature in formulating a sound and balanced 16 

energy policy for the state to encourage the development of an 17 

alternative energy capability in the form of incident solar 18 

energy. 19 

(b) Toward this purpose, the Legislature intends to provide 20 

incentives for the production and sale of, and to set standards 21 

for, solar energy systems. Such standards shall ensure that 22 

solar energy systems manufactured or sold within the state are 23 

effective and represent a high level of quality of materials, 24 

workmanship, and design. 25 

(3) DEFINITIONS.— 26 

(a) “Center” is defined as the Florida Solar Energy Center 27 

of the Board of Governors. 28 

(b) “Solar energy systems” is defined as equipment that 29 

which provides for the collection and use of incident solar 30 

energy for water heating, space heating or cooling, or other 31 

applications that which normally require or would require a 32 

conventional source of energy such as petroleum products, 33 

natural gas, or electricity and that perform which performs 34 

primarily with solar energy. In such other systems in which 35 

solar energy is used in a supplemental way, only those 36 

components that which collect and transfer solar energy are 37 

shall be included in this definition. 38 

(4) FLORIDA SOLAR ENERGY CENTER TO SET STANDARDS, REQUIRE 39 

DISCLOSURE, SET TESTING FEES.—A solar energy system 40 

manufactured, sold, or installed in this state must meet only 41 

the safety and performance standards established by Underwriters 42 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for CS for SB 2094 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì794782JÎ794782 

 

Page 3 of 4 

3/1/2012 12:40:00 PM 576-04394-12 

Laboratories, Inc. 43 

(a) The center shall develop and promulgate standards for 44 

solar energy systems manufactured or sold in this state based on 45 

the best currently available information and shall consult with 46 

scientists, engineers, or persons in research centers who are 47 

engaged in the construction of, experimentation with, and 48 

research of solar energy systems to properly identify the most 49 

reliable designs and types of solar energy systems. 50 

(b) The center shall establish criteria for testing 51 

performance of solar energy systems and shall maintain the 52 

necessary capability for testing or evaluating performance of 53 

solar energy systems. The center may accept results of tests on 54 

solar energy systems made by other organizations, companies, or 55 

persons when such tests are conducted according to the criteria 56 

established by the center and when the testing entity has no 57 

vested interest in the manufacture, distribution or sale of 58 

solar energy systems. 59 

(c) The center shall be entitled to receive a testing fee 60 

sufficient to cover the costs of such testing. All testing fees 61 

shall be transmitted by the center to the Chief Financial 62 

Officer to be deposited in the Solar Energy Center Testing Trust 63 

Fund, which is hereby created in the State Treasury, and 64 

disbursed for the payment of expenses incurred in testing solar 65 

energy systems. 66 

(d) All solar energy systems manufactured or sold in the 67 

state must meet the standards established by the center and 68 

shall display accepted results of approved performance tests in 69 

a manner prescribed by the center. 70 

 71 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for CS for SB 2094 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì794782JÎ794782 

 

Page 4 of 4 

3/1/2012 12:40:00 PM 576-04394-12 

================= T I T L E  A M E N D M E N T ================ 72 

And the title is amended as follows: 73 

Delete line 1198 74 

and insert: 75 

Executive Office of the Governor; amending s. 377.705, 76 

F.S.; removing the requirement that the Florida Solar 77 

Energy Center set standards for and approve solar 78 

energy systems; requiring that a solar energy system 79 

manufactured, sold, or installed in the state meet the 80 

safety and performance standards established by 81 

Underwriters Laboratories, Inc.; amending s. 526.203, 82 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for CS for SB 2094 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì364270ÆÎ364270 

 

Page 1 of 2 

3/1/2012 11:24:45 AM 576-04392-12 

LEGISLATIVE ACTION 

Senate 

Comm: UNFAV 

03/02/2012 

 

 

 

. 

. 

. 

. 

. 

. 

House 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The Committee on Budget (Siplin) recommended the following: 

 

Senate Amendment to Amendment (957254) (with title 1 

amendment) 2 

 3 

Between lines 1091 and 1092 4 

insert: 5 

Section 12. Section 717.108, Florida Statutes, is amended 6 

to read: 7 

717.108 Deposits held by utilities.— 8 

(1) Any deposit, including any interest thereon, made by a 9 

subscriber with a utility to secure payment or any sum paid in 10 

advance for utility services to be furnished, less any lawful 11 

charges, which that remains unclaimed by the owner for more than 12 

1 year after termination of the services for which the deposit 13 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for CS for SB 2094 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì364270ÆÎ364270 

 

Page 2 of 2 

3/1/2012 11:24:45 AM 576-04392-12 

or advance payment was made is presumed unclaimed. 14 

(2) The unclaimed deposits shall be deposited annually into 15 

the Grants and Donations Trust Fund within the Department of 16 

Economic Opportunity to supplement funds of the Low-Income Home 17 

Energy Assistance Program which are used to assist low-income 18 

households in meeting the costs of home heating and cooling 19 

bills. These funds shall be administered through the local 20 

provider agencies that administer the Low-Income Home Energy 21 

Assistance Program. 22 

 23 

================= T I T L E  A M E N D M E N T ================ 24 

And the title is amended as follows: 25 

Delete line 1211 26 

and insert: 27 

certain bonding requirements; amending s. 717.108, 28 

F.S.; requiring that any unclaimed deposits held by a 29 

utility be deposited annually into the Grants and 30 

Donations Trust Fund in the Department of Economic 31 

Opportunity to supplement funds of the Low-Income Home 32 

Energy Assistance Program; requiring the local 33 

provider agencies that administer the Low-Income Home 34 

Energy Assistance Program to administer the funds; 35 

requiring the Department 36 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for CS for SB 2094 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì6952545Î695254 

 

Page 1 of 4 

2/24/2012 6:12:11 PM 576-03995-12 

LEGISLATIVE ACTION 

Senate 

Comm: WD 

03/02/2012 

 

 

 

. 

. 

. 

. 

. 

. 

House 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The Committee on Budget (Bennett) recommended the following: 

 

Senate Amendment (with title amendment) 1 

 2 

Between lines 877 and 878 3 

insert: 4 

Section 10. Section 377.705, Florida Statutes, is amended 5 

to read: 6 

377.705 Solar Energy Center; development of solar energy 7 

standards.— 8 

(1) SHORT TITLE.—This act shall be known and may be cited 9 

as the “Solar Energy Standards Act.” of 1976. 10 

(2) LEGISLATIVE FINDINGS AND INTENT.— 11 

(a) Because of increases in the cost of conventional fuel, 12 

certain applications of solar energy are becoming competitive, 13 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for CS for SB 2094 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì6952545Î695254 

 

Page 2 of 4 

2/24/2012 6:12:11 PM 576-03995-12 

particularly when life-cycle costs are considered. It is the 14 

intent of the Legislature in formulating a sound and balanced 15 

energy policy for the state to encourage the development of an 16 

alternative energy capability in the form of incident solar 17 

energy. 18 

(b) Toward this purpose, the Legislature intends to provide 19 

incentives for the production and sale of, and to set standards 20 

for, solar energy systems. Such standards shall ensure that 21 

solar energy systems manufactured or sold within the state are 22 

effective and represent a high level of quality of materials, 23 

workmanship, and design. 24 

(3) DEFINITIONS.— 25 

(a) “Center” is defined as the Florida Solar Energy Center 26 

of the Board of Governors. 27 

(b) “Solar energy systems” is defined as equipment that 28 

which provides for the collection and use of incident solar 29 

energy for water heating, space heating or cooling, or other 30 

applications that which normally require or would require a 31 

conventional source of energy such as petroleum products, 32 

natural gas, or electricity and that perform which performs 33 

primarily with solar energy. In such other systems in which 34 

solar energy is used in a supplemental way, only those 35 

components that which collect and transfer solar energy are 36 

shall be included in this definition. 37 

(4) FLORIDA SOLAR ENERGY CENTER TO SET STANDARDS, REQUIRE 38 

DISCLOSURE, SET TESTING FEES.—A solar energy system 39 

manufactured, sold, or installed in this state must meet only 40 

the safety and performance standards established by Underwriters 41 

Laboratories, Inc. 42 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for CS for SB 2094 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì6952545Î695254 

 

Page 3 of 4 

2/24/2012 6:12:11 PM 576-03995-12 

(a) The center shall develop and promulgate standards for 43 

solar energy systems manufactured or sold in this state based on 44 

the best currently available information and shall consult with 45 

scientists, engineers, or persons in research centers who are 46 

engaged in the construction of, experimentation with, and 47 

research of solar energy systems to properly identify the most 48 

reliable designs and types of solar energy systems. 49 

(b) The center shall establish criteria for testing 50 

performance of solar energy systems and shall maintain the 51 

necessary capability for testing or evaluating performance of 52 

solar energy systems. The center may accept results of tests on 53 

solar energy systems made by other organizations, companies, or 54 

persons when such tests are conducted according to the criteria 55 

established by the center and when the testing entity has no 56 

vested interest in the manufacture, distribution or sale of 57 

solar energy systems. 58 

(c) The center shall be entitled to receive a testing fee 59 

sufficient to cover the costs of such testing. All testing fees 60 

shall be transmitted by the center to the Chief Financial 61 

Officer to be deposited in the Solar Energy Center Testing Trust 62 

Fund, which is hereby created in the State Treasury, and 63 

disbursed for the payment of expenses incurred in testing solar 64 

energy systems. 65 

(d) All solar energy systems manufactured or sold in the 66 

state must meet the standards established by the center and 67 

shall display accepted results of approved performance tests in 68 

a manner prescribed by the center. 69 

 70 

================= T I T L E  A M E N D M E N T ================ 71 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for CS for SB 2094 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì6952545Î695254 

 

Page 4 of 4 

2/24/2012 6:12:11 PM 576-03995-12 

And the title is amended as follows: 72 

Between lines 63 and 64 73 

insert: 74 

377.705, F.S.; removing the requirement that the 75 

Florida Solar Energy Center set standards for and 76 

approve solar energy systems; requiring that a solar 77 

energy system manufactured, sold, or installed in the 78 

state meet the safety and performance standards 79 

established by Underwriters Laboratories, Inc.; 80 

amending s. 81 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for CS for SB 2094 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì7822284Î782228 

 

Page 1 of 2 

2/27/2012 9:07:30 AM 576-03917A-12 

LEGISLATIVE ACTION 

Senate 

Comm: WD 

03/02/2012 

 

 

 

. 

. 

. 

. 

. 

. 

House 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The Committee on Budget (Siplin) recommended the following: 

 

Senate Amendment (with title amendment) 1 

 2 

Between lines 1105 and 1106 3 

insert: 4 

Section 12. Section 717.108, Florida Statutes, is amended 5 

to read: 6 

717.108 Deposits held by utilities.— 7 

(1) Any deposit, including any interest thereon, made by a 8 

subscriber with a utility to secure payment or any sum paid in 9 

advance for utility services to be furnished, less any lawful 10 

charges, which that remains unclaimed by the owner for more than 11 

1 year after termination of the services for which the deposit 12 

or advance payment was made is presumed unclaimed. 13 



Florida Senate - 2012 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for CS for SB 2094 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì7822284Î782228 

 

Page 2 of 2 

2/27/2012 9:07:30 AM 576-03917A-12 

(2) The unclaimed deposits shall be deposited annually into 14 

the Grants and Donations Trust Fund within the Department of 15 

Economic Opportunity to supplement funds of the Low-Income Home 16 

Energy Assistance Program which are used to assist low-income 17 

households in meeting the costs of home heating and cooling 18 

bills. These funds shall be administered through the local 19 

provider agencies that administer the Low-Income Home Energy 20 

Assistance Program. 21 

 22 

================= T I T L E  A M E N D M E N T ================ 23 

And the title is amended as follows: 24 

Between lines 70 and 71 25 

insert: 26 

amending s. 717.108, F.S.; requiring that any 27 

unclaimed deposits held by a utility be deposited 28 

annually into the Grants and Donations Trust Fund in 29 

the Department of Economic Opportunity to supplement 30 

funds of the Low-Income Home Energy Assistance 31 

Program; requiring the local provider agencies that 32 

administer the Low-Income Home Energy Assistance 33 

Program to administer the funds; 34 



Florida Senate - 2012 CS for CS for SB 2094 

 

 

 

By the Committees on Agriculture; Communications, Energy, and 

Public Utilities; and Communications, Energy, and Public 

Utilities 

 

 

575-03312-12 20122094c2 

Page 1 of 40 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

A bill to be entitled 1 

An act relating to energy; amending s. 170.01, F.S.; 2 

authorizing a municipality to collect special 3 

assessments to pay the additional costs to purchase 4 

renewable energy for the municipality; amending s. 5 

186.801, F.S.; adding factors for the Public Service 6 

Commission to consider in reviewing the 10-year site 7 

plans submitted to the commission by electric 8 

utilities; amending s. 212.055, F.S.; providing for a 9 

portion of the proceeds of the local government 10 

infrastructure surtax to be used for financial 11 

assistance to homeowners who make energy efficiency 12 

improvements or install renewable energy devices; 13 

defining the terms “renewable energy devices” and 14 

“energy efficiency improvement”; amending s. 212.08, 15 

F.S.; providing definitions; providing a sales tax 16 

exemption for materials used in the distribution of 17 

biodiesel, ethanol, and other renewable fuels; 18 

specifying duties of the Department of Agriculture and 19 

Consumer Services in evaluating and approving 20 

applications for the exemption; authorizing the 21 

department to adopt rules; providing for future 22 

expiration of the tax exemption; amending s. 220.192, 23 

F.S., relating to the renewable energy technologies 24 

investment tax credit; revising definitions and 25 

defining the term “renewable fuel”; increasing the 26 

amount of available tax credit each fiscal year; 27 

extending the period during which the renewable energy 28 

technologies investment tax credit is available; 29 

Florida Senate - 2012 CS for CS for SB 2094 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

575-03312-12 20122094c2 

Page 2 of 40 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

deleting provisions authorizing a credit for hydrogen-30 

powered vehicles and fuel cells; authorizing the 31 

Department of Agriculture and Consumer Services to 32 

adopt rules; amending s. 220.193, F.S., relating to 33 

the Florida renewable energy production credit; 34 

extending the period during which the credit is 35 

available; specifying the amount that each applicant 36 

is eligible to receive in tax credits; amending s. 37 

255.257, F.S.; requiring the Department of Management 38 

Services to adopt rules for the state energy 39 

management plan, in coordination with the Department 40 

of Agriculture and Consumer Services; revising the 41 

requirements for the state energy management plan; 42 

requiring standard and uniform benchmark measures; 43 

amending s. 288.106, F.S.; redefining the term “target 44 

industry business,” for purposes of a tax refund 45 

program, to exclude certain electrical utilities; 46 

creating s. 366.94, F.S.; exempting from regulation 47 

under ch. 366, F.S., the sale of electricity to the 48 

public for the purpose of electric vehicle charging 49 

stations; requiring the Florida Building Commission, 50 

in coordination with the Department of Agriculture and 51 

Consumer Services and the Public Service Commission, 52 

to adopt rules to provide uniform standards for 53 

building electric vehicle charging stations; providing 54 

that the development of uniform standards is preempted 55 

to the state; requiring the Department of Agriculture 56 

and Consumer Services to develop rules for sales at 57 

electric vehicle charging stations; requiring that the 58 



Florida Senate - 2012 CS for CS for SB 2094 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

575-03312-12 20122094c2 

Page 3 of 40 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

Public Service Commission study the effects of 59 

charging stations on energy consumption in the state 60 

and the effects on the grid; prohibiting the 61 

obstruction of a parking space at an electric vehicle 62 

charging station; providing a penalty; amending s. 63 

526.203, F.S.; defining the term “alternative fuel” 64 

and revising the definitions of the terms “blended 65 

gasoline” and “unblended gasoline”; amending s. 66 

581.083, F.S.; including algae and blue-green algae in 67 

provisions on permitting related to nonnative plants; 68 

clarifying exemption provisions; providing greater 69 

flexibility in reducing the amount of bond required; 70 

requiring the Department of Agriculture and Consumer 71 

Services to conduct a statewide forest inventory; 72 

requiring the Department of Agriculture and Consumer 73 

Services to work with other specified entities to 74 

develop information on cost savings for energy 75 

efficiency and conservation measures and post it on 76 

the department’s website; requiring the Public Service 77 

Commission to evaluate the provisions in the Florida 78 

Energy Efficiency and Conservation Act; requiring 79 

reports to the Legislature and the Executive Office of 80 

the Governor; providing an effective date. 81 

 82 

Be It Enacted by the Legislature of the State of Florida: 83 

 84 

Section 1. Subsection (1) of section 170.01, Florida 85 

Statutes, is amended to read: 86 

170.01 Authority for providing improvements and levying and 87 

Florida Senate - 2012 CS for CS for SB 2094 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

575-03312-12 20122094c2 

Page 4 of 40 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

collecting special assessments against property benefited.— 88 

(1) Any municipality of this state may, by its governing 89 

authority: 90 

(a) Provide for the construction, reconstruction, repair, 91 

paving, repaving, hard surfacing, rehard surfacing, widening, 92 

guttering, and draining of streets, boulevards, and alleys; for 93 

grading, regrading, leveling, laying, relaying, paving, 94 

repaving, hard surfacing, and rehard surfacing of sidewalks; for 95 

constructing or reconstructing permanent pedestrian canopies 96 

over public sidewalks; and in connection with any of the 97 

foregoing, provide related lighting, landscaping, street 98 

furniture, signage, and other amenities as determined by the 99 

governing authority of the municipality; 100 

(b) Order the construction, reconstruction, repair, 101 

renovation, excavation, grading, stabilization, and upgrading of 102 

greenbelts, swales, culverts, sanitary sewers, storm sewers, 103 

outfalls, canals, primary, secondary, and tertiary drains, water 104 

bodies, marshlands, and natural areas, all or part of a 105 

comprehensive stormwater management system, including the 106 

necessary appurtenances and structures thereto and including, 107 

but not limited to, dams, weirs, and pumps; 108 

(c) Order the construction or reconstruction of water 109 

mains, water laterals, alternative water supply systems, 110 

including, but not limited to, reclaimed water, aquifer storage 111 

and recovery, and desalination systems, and other water 112 

distribution facilities, including the necessary appurtenances 113 

thereto; 114 

(d) Pay for the relocation of utilities, including the 115 

placement underground of electrical, telephone, and cable 116 



Florida Senate - 2012 CS for CS for SB 2094 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

575-03312-12 20122094c2 

Page 5 of 40 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

television services, pursuant to voluntary agreement with the 117 

utility, but nothing contained in this paragraph shall affect a 118 

utility’s right to locate or relocate its facilities on its own 119 

initiative at its own expense; 120 

(e) Provide for the construction or reconstruction of parks 121 

and other public recreational facilities and improvements, 122 

including appurtenances thereto; 123 

(f) Provide for the construction or reconstruction of 124 

seawalls; 125 

(g) Provide for the drainage and reclamation of wet, low, 126 

or overflowed lands; 127 

(h) Provide for offstreet parking facilities, parking 128 

garages, or similar facilities; 129 

(i) Provide for mass transportation systems; 130 

(j) Provide for improvements to permit the passage and 131 

navigation of watercraft; and 132 

(k) Pay the additional costs of renewable energy, as 133 

defined in s. 366.91, which are in excess of a public utility’s 134 

full avoided costs, as defined in s. 366.051, pursuant to an 135 

agreement with the public utility; and 136 

(l)(k) Provide for the payment of all or any part of the 137 

costs of any such improvements by levying and collecting special 138 

assessments on the abutting, adjoining, contiguous, or other 139 

specially benefited property. 140 

 141 

However, offstreet parking facilities, parking garages, or other 142 

similar facilities and mass transportation systems must be 143 

approved by vote of a majority of the affected property owners. 144 

Any municipality that which is legally obligated for providing 145 

Florida Senate - 2012 CS for CS for SB 2094 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

575-03312-12 20122094c2 

Page 6 of 40 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

capital improvements for water, alternative water supplies, 146 

including, but not limited to, reclaimed water, water from 147 

aquifer storage and recovery, and desalination systems, or sewer 148 

facilities within an unincorporated area of the county may 149 

recover the costs of the capital improvements by levying and 150 

collecting special assessments for the purposes authorized in 151 

this section on the specially benefited property; however, 152 

collections of the special assessment may shall not take place 153 

until the specially benefited property connects to the capital 154 

improvement. 155 

Section 2. Subsection (2) of section 186.801, Florida 156 

Statutes, is amended to read: 157 

186.801 Ten-year site plans.— 158 

(2) Within 9 months after the receipt of the proposed plan, 159 

the commission shall make a preliminary study of such plan and 160 

classify it as “suitable” or “unsuitable.” The commission may 161 

suggest alternatives to the plan. All findings of the commission 162 

shall be made available to the Department of Environmental 163 

Protection for its consideration at any subsequent electrical 164 

power plant site certification proceedings. It is recognized 165 

that 10-year site plans submitted by an electric utility are 166 

tentative information for planning purposes only and may be 167 

amended at any time at the discretion of the utility upon 168 

written notification to the commission. A complete application 169 

for certification of an electrical power plant site under 170 

chapter 403, when such site is not designated in the current 10-171 

year site plan of the applicant, shall constitute an amendment 172 

to the 10-year site plan. In its preliminary study of each 10-173 

year site plan, the commission shall consider such plan as a 174 



Florida Senate - 2012 CS for CS for SB 2094 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

575-03312-12 20122094c2 

Page 7 of 40 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

planning document and shall review: 175 

(a) The need, including the need as determined by the 176 

commission, for electrical power in the area to be served. 177 

(b) The effect on fuel diversity within the state. 178 

(c) The anticipated environmental impact of each proposed 179 

electrical power plant site. 180 

(d) Possible alternatives to the proposed plan. 181 

(e) The views of appropriate local, state, and federal 182 

agencies, including the views of the appropriate water 183 

management district as to the availability of water and its 184 

recommendation as to the use by the proposed plant of salt water 185 

or fresh water for cooling purposes. 186 

(f) The extent to which the plan is consistent with the 187 

state comprehensive plan. 188 

(g) The plan with respect to the information of the state 189 

on energy availability and consumption. 190 

(h) The amount of renewable energy resources the provider 191 

produces or purchases. 192 

(i) The amount of renewable energy resources the provider 193 

plans to produce or purchase over the 10-year planning horizon 194 

and the means by which the production or purchases will be 195 

achieved. 196 

(j) A statement describing how the production and purchase 197 

of renewable energy resources impact the provider’s present and 198 

future capacity and energy needs. 199 

Section 3. Paragraph (d) of subsection (2) of section 200 

212.055, Florida Statutes, is amended to read: 201 

212.055 Discretionary sales surtaxes; legislative intent; 202 

authorization and use of proceeds.—It is the legislative intent 203 

Florida Senate - 2012 CS for CS for SB 2094 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

575-03312-12 20122094c2 

Page 8 of 40 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

that any authorization for imposition of a discretionary sales 204 

surtax shall be published in the Florida Statutes as a 205 

subsection of this section, irrespective of the duration of the 206 

levy. Each enactment shall specify the types of counties 207 

authorized to levy; the rate or rates which may be imposed; the 208 

maximum length of time the surtax may be imposed, if any; the 209 

procedure which must be followed to secure voter approval, if 210 

required; the purpose for which the proceeds may be expended; 211 

and such other requirements as the Legislature may provide. 212 

Taxable transactions and administrative procedures shall be as 213 

provided in s. 212.054. 214 

(2) LOCAL GOVERNMENT INFRASTRUCTURE SURTAX.— 215 

(d) The proceeds of the surtax authorized by this 216 

subsection and any accrued interest shall be expended by the 217 

school district, within the county and municipalities within the 218 

county, or, in the case of a negotiated joint county agreement, 219 

within another county, to finance, plan, and construct 220 

infrastructure; to acquire land for public recreation, 221 

conservation, or protection of natural resources; to provide 222 

financial assistance to owners of residential property who make 223 

energy efficiency improvements to, or purchase and install 224 

renewable energy devices in, the residential property; or to 225 

finance the closure of county-owned or municipally owned solid 226 

waste landfills that have been closed or are required to be 227 

closed by order of the Department of Environmental Protection. 228 

Any use of the proceeds or interest for purposes of landfill 229 

closure before July 1, 1993, is ratified. The proceeds and any 230 

interest may not be used for the operational expenses of 231 

infrastructure, except that a county that has a population of 232 



Florida Senate - 2012 CS for CS for SB 2094 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

575-03312-12 20122094c2 

Page 9 of 40 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

fewer than 75,000 and that is required to close a landfill may 233 

use the proceeds or interest for long-term maintenance costs 234 

associated with landfill closure. Counties, as defined in s. 235 

125.011, and charter counties may, in addition, use the proceeds 236 

or interest to retire or service indebtedness incurred for bonds 237 

issued before July 1, 1987, for infrastructure purposes, and for 238 

bonds subsequently issued to refund such bonds. Any use of the 239 

proceeds or interest for purposes of retiring or servicing 240 

indebtedness incurred for refunding bonds before July 1, 1999, 241 

is ratified. 242 

1. For the purposes of this paragraph, the term 243 

“infrastructure” means: 244 

a. Any fixed capital expenditure or fixed capital outlay 245 

associated with the construction, reconstruction, or improvement 246 

of public facilities that have a life expectancy of 5 or more 247 

years and any related land acquisition, land improvement, 248 

design, and engineering costs. 249 

b. A fire department vehicle, an emergency medical service 250 

vehicle, a sheriff’s office vehicle, a police department 251 

vehicle, or any other vehicle, and the equipment necessary to 252 

outfit the vehicle for its official use or equipment that has a 253 

life expectancy of at least 5 years. 254 

c. Any expenditure for the construction, lease, or 255 

maintenance of, or provision of utilities or security for, 256 

facilities, as defined in s. 29.008. 257 

d. Any fixed capital expenditure or fixed capital outlay 258 

associated with the improvement of private facilities that have 259 

a life expectancy of 5 or more years and that the owner agrees 260 

to make available for use on a temporary basis as needed by a 261 

Florida Senate - 2012 CS for CS for SB 2094 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

575-03312-12 20122094c2 

Page 10 of 40 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

local government as a public emergency shelter or a staging area 262 

for emergency response equipment during an emergency officially 263 

declared by the state or by the local government under s. 264 

252.38. Such improvements are limited to those necessary to 265 

comply with current standards for public emergency evacuation 266 

shelters. The owner must enter into a written contract with the 267 

local government providing the improvement funding to make the 268 

private facility available to the public for purposes of 269 

emergency shelter at no cost to the local government for a 270 

minimum of 10 years after completion of the improvement, with 271 

the provision that the obligation will transfer to any 272 

subsequent owner until the end of the minimum period. 273 

e. Any land acquisition expenditure for a residential 274 

housing project in which at least 30 percent of the units are 275 

affordable to individuals or families whose total annual 276 

household income does not exceed 120 percent of the area median 277 

income adjusted for household size, if the land is owned by a 278 

local government or by a special district that enters into a 279 

written agreement with the local government to provide such 280 

housing. The local government or special district may enter into 281 

a ground lease with a public or private person or entity for 282 

nominal or other consideration for the construction of the 283 

residential housing project on land acquired pursuant to this 284 

sub-subparagraph. 285 

2. For the purposes of this paragraph, the term “renewable 286 

energy devices” means any of the following equipment that, when 287 

installed in connection with a dwelling unit or other structure, 288 

collects, transmits, stores, or uses solar energy, wind energy, 289 

or energy derived from geothermal deposits: 290 



Florida Senate - 2012 CS for CS for SB 2094 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

575-03312-12 20122094c2 

Page 11 of 40 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

a. Solar energy collectors. 291 

b. Storage tanks and other storage systems, excluding 292 

swimming pools used as storage tanks. 293 

c. Rockbeds. 294 

d. Thermostats and other control devices. 295 

e. Heat exchange devices. 296 

f. Pumps and fans. 297 

g. Roof ponds. 298 

h. Freestanding thermal containers. 299 

i. Pipes, ducts, refrigerant handling systems, and other 300 

equipment used to interconnect such systems, excluding 301 

conventional backup systems of any type. 302 

j. Windmills. 303 

k. Wind-driven generators. 304 

l. Power conditioning and storage devices that use wind 305 

energy to generate electricity or mechanical forms of energy. 306 

m. Pipes and other equipment used to transmit hot 307 

geothermal water to a dwelling or structure from a geothermal 308 

deposit. 309 

3. For the purposes of this paragraph, the term “energy 310 

efficiency improvement” means any energy conservation and 311 

efficiency improvement that reduces consumption through 312 

conservation or a more efficient use of electricity, natural 313 

gas, propane, or other forms of energy on the property, 314 

including, but not limited to, air sealing; installation of 315 

insulation; installation of energy-efficient heating, cooling, 316 

or ventilation systems; building modifications to increase the 317 

use of daylight; replacement of windows; installation of energy 318 

controls or energy recovery systems; installation of electric 319 

Florida Senate - 2012 CS for CS for SB 2094 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

575-03312-12 20122094c2 

Page 12 of 40 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

vehicle charging equipment; and installation of efficient 320 

lighting equipment. 321 

4.2. Notwithstanding any other provision of this 322 

subsection, a local government infrastructure surtax imposed or 323 

extended after July 1, 1998, may allocate up to 15 percent of 324 

the surtax proceeds for deposit in a trust fund within the 325 

county’s accounts created for the purpose of funding economic 326 

development projects having a general public purpose of 327 

improving local economies, including the funding of operational 328 

costs and incentives related to economic development. The ballot 329 

statement must indicate the intention to make an allocation 330 

under the authority of this subparagraph. 331 

Section 4. Paragraph (hhh) is added to subsection (7) of 332 

section 212.08, Florida Statutes, to read: 333 

212.08 Sales, rental, use, consumption, distribution, and 334 

storage tax; specified exemptions.—The sale at retail, the 335 

rental, the use, the consumption, the distribution, and the 336 

storage to be used or consumed in this state of the following 337 

are hereby specifically exempt from the tax imposed by this 338 

chapter. 339 

(7) MISCELLANEOUS EXEMPTIONS.—Exemptions provided to any 340 

entity by this chapter do not inure to any transaction that is 341 

otherwise taxable under this chapter when payment is made by a 342 

representative or employee of the entity by any means, 343 

including, but not limited to, cash, check, or credit card, even 344 

when that representative or employee is subsequently reimbursed 345 

by the entity. In addition, exemptions provided to any entity by 346 

this subsection do not inure to any transaction that is 347 

otherwise taxable under this chapter unless the entity has 348 



Florida Senate - 2012 CS for CS for SB 2094 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

575-03312-12 20122094c2 

Page 13 of 40 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

obtained a sales tax exemption certificate from the department 349 

or the entity obtains or provides other documentation as 350 

required by the department. Eligible purchases or leases made 351 

with such a certificate must be in strict compliance with this 352 

subsection and departmental rules, and any person who makes an 353 

exempt purchase with a certificate that is not in strict 354 

compliance with this subsection and the rules is liable for and 355 

shall pay the tax. The department may adopt rules to administer 356 

this subsection. 357 

(hhh) Equipment, machinery, and other materials for 358 

renewable energy technologies.— 359 

1. As used in this paragraph, the term: 360 

a. “Biodiesel” means the mono-alkyl esters of long-chain 361 

fatty acids derived from plant or animal matter for use as a 362 

source of energy and meeting the specifications for biodiesel 363 

and biodiesel blends with petroleum products as adopted by rule 364 

of the Department of Agriculture and Consumer Services. 365 

Biodiesel may refer to biodiesel blends designated BXX, where XX 366 

represents the volume percentage of biodiesel fuel in the blend. 367 

b. “Ethanol” means an anhydrous denatured alcohol produced 368 

by the conversion of carbohydrates meeting the specifications 369 

for fuel ethanol and fuel ethanol blends with petroleum products 370 

as adopted by rule of the Department of Agriculture and Consumer 371 

Services. Ethanol may refer to fuel ethanol blends designated 372 

EXX, where XX represents the volume percentage of fuel ethanol 373 

in the blend. 374 

c. “Renewable fuel” means a fuel that has been approved by 375 

the United States Environmental Protection Agency, that is 376 

produced from biomass as defined in s. 366.91(2)(a), and that is 377 

Florida Senate - 2012 CS for CS for SB 2094 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

575-03312-12 20122094c2 

Page 14 of 40 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

used to replace or reduce the quantity of fossil fuel present in 378 

a transportation fuel. 379 

2. The sale or use of the following materials in the state 380 

is exempt from the tax imposed by this chapter. Materials used 381 

in the distribution of biodiesel (B10-B100), ethanol (E10-E100), 382 

and other renewable fuels, including fueling infrastructure, 383 

transportation, and storage, are exempt up to a limit of $1 384 

million in tax each state fiscal year for all taxpayers. 385 

Gasoline fueling station pump retrofits for biodiesel (B10-386 

B100), ethanol (E10-E100), and other renewable fuels 387 

distribution qualify for the exemption provided in this 388 

paragraph. 389 

3. The Department of Agriculture and Consumer Services 390 

shall provide to the department a list of items eligible for the 391 

exemption provided in this paragraph. 392 

4.a. The exemption provided in this paragraph is available 393 

to a purchaser only through a refund of previously paid taxes. 394 

An eligible item is subject to refund one time. A person who has 395 

received a refund on an eligible item must notify the next 396 

purchaser of the item that the item is not eligible for a refund 397 

of paid taxes. The notification must be provided to each 398 

subsequent purchaser on the sales invoice or other proof of 399 

purchase. 400 

b. To be eligible to receive the exemption provided in this 401 

paragraph, a purchaser must file an application with the 402 

Department of Agriculture and Consumer Services. The application 403 

shall be developed by the Department of Agriculture and Consumer 404 

Services, in consultation with the department, and must require: 405 

(I) The name and address of the person claiming the refund. 406 



Florida Senate - 2012 CS for CS for SB 2094 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

575-03312-12 20122094c2 

Page 15 of 40 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

(II) A specific description of the purchase for which a 407 

refund is sought, including, when applicable, a serial number or 408 

other permanent identification number. 409 

(III) The sales invoice or other proof of purchase showing 410 

the amount of sales tax paid, the date of purchase, and the name 411 

and address of the sales tax dealer from whom the property was 412 

purchased. 413 

(IV) A sworn statement that the information provided is 414 

accurate and that the requirements of this paragraph have been 415 

met. 416 

c. Within 30 days after receipt of an application, the 417 

Department of Agriculture and Consumer Services shall evaluate 418 

the application and notify the applicant of any deficiencies. 419 

Upon receipt of a completed application, the Department of 420 

Agriculture and Consumer Services shall evaluate the application 421 

for the exemption and issue a written certification that the 422 

applicant is eligible for a refund or issue a written denial of 423 

the certification. The Department of Agriculture and Consumer 424 

Services shall provide the department a copy of each 425 

certification issued upon approval of an application. 426 

d. Each certified applicant is responsible for forwarding a 427 

certified copy of the application and copies of all required 428 

documentation to the department within 6 months after 429 

certification by the Department of Agriculture and Consumer 430 

Services. 431 

e. A refund approved pursuant to this paragraph must be 432 

made within 30 days after approval by the department. 433 

f. The Department of Agriculture and Consumer Services may 434 

adopt by rule the form for the application for a certificate, 435 

Florida Senate - 2012 CS for CS for SB 2094 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

575-03312-12 20122094c2 

Page 16 of 40 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

requirements for the content and format of information submitted 436 

to the Department of Agriculture and Consumer Services in 437 

support of the application, other procedural requirements, and 438 

criteria by which the application will be determined. The 439 

department may adopt all other rules pursuant to ss. 120.536(1) 440 

and 120.54 to administer this paragraph, including rules 441 

establishing additional forms and procedures for claiming the 442 

exemption. 443 

g. The Department of Agriculture and Consumer Services 444 

shall ensure that the total amount of the exemptions authorized 445 

do not exceed the limits specified in subparagraph 2. 446 

5. Approval of the exemptions under this paragraph is on a 447 

first-come, first-served basis, based upon the date complete 448 

applications are received by the Department of Agriculture and 449 

Consumer Services. Incomplete placeholder applications will not 450 

be accepted and will not secure a place in the first-come, 451 

first-served application line. The Department of Agriculture and 452 

Consumer Services shall determine and publish on its website on 453 

a regular basis the amount of sales tax funds remaining in each 454 

fiscal year. 455 

6. This paragraph expires July 1, 2016. 456 

Section 5. Subsections (1), (2), (6), (7), and (8) of 457 

section 220.192, Florida Statutes, are amended to read: 458 

220.192 Renewable energy technologies investment tax 459 

credit.— 460 

(1) DEFINITIONS.—For purposes of this section, the term: 461 

(a) “Biodiesel” means biodiesel as defined in s. 462 

212.08(7)(hhh) former s. 212.08(7)(ccc). 463 

(b) “Corporation” includes a general partnership, limited 464 



Florida Senate - 2012 CS for CS for SB 2094 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

575-03312-12 20122094c2 

Page 17 of 40 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

partnership, limited liability company, unincorporated business, 465 

or other business entity, including entities taxed as 466 

partnerships for federal income tax purposes. 467 

(c) “Eligible costs” means: 468 

1. Seventy-five percent of all capital costs, operation and 469 

maintenance costs, and research and development costs incurred 470 

between July 1, 2006, and June 30, 2010, up to a limit of $3 471 

million per state fiscal year for all taxpayers, in connection 472 

with an investment in hydrogen-powered vehicles and hydrogen 473 

vehicle fueling stations in the state, including, but not 474 

limited to, the costs of constructing, installing, and equipping 475 

such technologies in the state. 476 

2. Seventy-five percent of all capital costs, operation and 477 

maintenance costs, and research and development costs incurred 478 

between July 1, 2006, and June 30, 2010, up to a limit of $1.5 479 

million per state fiscal year for all taxpayers, and limited to 480 

a maximum of $12,000 per fuel cell, in connection with an 481 

investment in commercial stationary hydrogen fuel cells in the 482 

state, including, but not limited to, the costs of constructing, 483 

installing, and equipping such technologies in the state. 484 

3. seventy-five percent of all capital costs, operation and 485 

maintenance costs, and research and development costs incurred 486 

between July 1, 2012, and July 1, 2016 July 1, 2006, and June 487 

30, 2010, up to a limit of $10 $6.5 million per state fiscal 488 

year for all taxpayers, in connection with an investment in the 489 

production, storage, and distribution of biodiesel (B10-B100), 490 

and ethanol (E10-E100), and renewable fuel in the state, 491 

including the costs of constructing, installing, and equipping 492 

such technologies in the state. Gasoline fueling station pump 493 

Florida Senate - 2012 CS for CS for SB 2094 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

575-03312-12 20122094c2 

Page 18 of 40 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

retrofits for ethanol (E10-E100) distribution qualify as an 494 

eligible cost under this subparagraph. Each applicant is 495 

eligible to receive up to $1 million in tax credits. 496 

(d) “Ethanol” means ethanol as defined in s. 212.08(7)(hhh) 497 

former s. 212.08(7)(ccc). 498 

(e) “Renewable fuel” means a fuel that has been approved by 499 

the United States Environmental Protection Agency, that is 500 

produced from biomass as defined in s. 366.91(2)(a), and that is 501 

used to replace or reduce the quantity of fossil fuel present in 502 

a transportation fuel. 503 

(e) “Hydrogen fuel cell” means hydrogen fuel cell as 504 

defined in former s. 212.08(7)(ccc). 505 

(f) “Taxpayer” includes a corporation as defined in 506 

paragraph (b) or s. 220.03. 507 

(2) TAX CREDIT.—For tax years beginning on or after January 508 

1, 2013 January 1, 2007, a credit against the tax imposed by 509 

this chapter shall be granted in an amount equal to the eligible 510 

costs. Credits may be used in tax years beginning January 1, 511 

2013 January 1, 2007, and ending December 31, 2016 December 31, 512 

2010, after which the credit shall expire. If the credit is not 513 

fully used in any one tax year because of insufficient tax 514 

liability on the part of the corporation, the unused amount may 515 

be carried forward and used in tax years beginning January 1, 516 

2013 January 1, 2007, and ending December 31, 2018 December 31, 517 

2012, after which the credit carryover expires and may not be 518 

used. A taxpayer that files a consolidated return in this state 519 

as a member of an affiliated group under s. 220.131(1) may be 520 

allowed the credit on a consolidated return basis up to the 521 

amount of tax imposed upon the consolidated group. Any eligible 522 



Florida Senate - 2012 CS for CS for SB 2094 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

575-03312-12 20122094c2 

Page 19 of 40 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

cost for which a credit is claimed and which is deducted or 523 

otherwise reduces federal taxable income shall be added back in 524 

computing adjusted federal income under s. 220.13. 525 

(6) TRANSFERABILITY OF CREDIT.— 526 

(a) For tax years beginning on or after January 1, 2014 527 

January 1, 2009, any corporation or subsequent transferee 528 

allowed a tax credit under this section may transfer the credit, 529 

in whole or in part, to any taxpayer by written agreement 530 

without transferring any ownership interest in the property 531 

generating the credit or any interest in the entity owning such 532 

property. The transferee is entitled to apply the credits 533 

against the tax with the same effect as if the transferee had 534 

incurred the eligible costs. 535 

(b) To perfect the transfer, the transferor shall provide 536 

the Department of Revenue with a written transfer statement 537 

notifying the Department of Revenue of the transferor’s intent 538 

to transfer the tax credits to the transferee; the date the 539 

transfer is effective; the transferee’s name, address, and 540 

federal taxpayer identification number; the tax period; and the 541 

amount of tax credits to be transferred. The Department of 542 

Revenue shall, upon receipt of a transfer statement conforming 543 

to the requirements of this section, provide the transferee with 544 

a certificate reflecting the tax credit amounts transferred. A 545 

copy of the certificate must be attached to each tax return for 546 

which the transferee seeks to apply such tax credits. 547 

(c) A tax credit authorized under this section that is held 548 

by a corporation and not transferred under this subsection shall 549 

be passed through to the taxpayers designated as partners, 550 

members, or owners, respectively, in the manner agreed to by 551 

Florida Senate - 2012 CS for CS for SB 2094 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

575-03312-12 20122094c2 

Page 20 of 40 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

such persons regardless of whether such partners, members, or 552 

owners are allocated or allowed any portion of the federal 553 

energy tax credit for the eligible costs. A corporation that 554 

passes the credit through to a partner, member, or owner must 555 

comply with the notification requirements described in paragraph 556 

(b). The partner, member, or owner must attach a copy of the 557 

certificate to each tax return on which the partner, member, or 558 

owner claims any portion of the credit. 559 

(7) RULES.—The Department of Revenue in coordination with 560 

the Department of Agriculture and Consumer Services shall have 561 

the authority to adopt rules pursuant to ss. 120.536(1) and 562 

120.54 to administer this section, including rules relating to: 563 

(a) The forms required to claim a tax credit under this 564 

section, the requirements and basis for establishing an 565 

entitlement to a credit, and the examination and audit 566 

procedures required to administer this section. 567 

(b) The implementation and administration of the provisions 568 

allowing a transfer of a tax credit, including rules prescribing 569 

forms, reporting requirements, and specific procedures, 570 

guidelines, and requirements necessary to transfer a tax credit. 571 

(8) PUBLICATION.—The Department of Agriculture and Consumer 572 

Services shall determine and publish on its website on a regular 573 

basis the amount of available tax credits remaining in each 574 

fiscal year. 575 

Section 6. Section 220.193, Florida Statutes, is amended to 576 

read: 577 

220.193 Florida renewable energy production credit.— 578 

(1) The purpose of this section is to encourage the 579 

development and expansion of facilities that produce renewable 580 



Florida Senate - 2012 CS for CS for SB 2094 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

575-03312-12 20122094c2 

Page 21 of 40 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

energy in Florida. 581 

(2) As used in this section, the term: 582 

(a) “Commission” shall mean the Public Service Commission. 583 

(b) “Department” shall mean the Department of Revenue. 584 

(c) “Expanded facility” shall mean a Florida renewable 585 

energy facility that increases its electrical production and 586 

sale by more than 5 percent above the facility’s electrical 587 

production and sale during the 2011 2005 calendar year. 588 

(d) “Florida renewable energy facility” shall mean a 589 

facility in the state that produces electricity for sale from 590 

renewable energy, as defined in s. 377.803. 591 

(e) “New facility” shall mean a Florida renewable energy 592 

facility that is operationally placed in service after May 1, 593 

2012 2006. 594 

(f) “Sale” or “sold” includes the use of electricity by the 595 

producer of such electricity which decreases the amount of 596 

electricity that the producer would otherwise have to purchase. 597 

(g) “Taxpayer” includes a general partnership, limited 598 

partnership, limited liability company, trust, or other 599 

artificial entity in which a corporation, as defined in s. 600 

220.03(1)(e), owns an interest and is taxed as a partnership or 601 

is disregarded as a separate entity from the corporation under 602 

this chapter. 603 

(3) An annual credit against the tax imposed by this 604 

section shall be allowed to a taxpayer, based on the taxpayer’s 605 

production and sale of electricity from a new or expanded 606 

Florida renewable energy facility. For a new facility, the 607 

credit shall be based on the taxpayer’s sale of the facility’s 608 

entire electrical production. For an expanded facility, the 609 

Florida Senate - 2012 CS for CS for SB 2094 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

575-03312-12 20122094c2 

Page 22 of 40 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

credit shall be based on the increases in the facility’s 610 

electrical production that are achieved after May 1, 2012 2006. 611 

Each applicant is eligible to receive up to $500,000 in tax 612 

credits. 613 

(a) The credit shall be $0.01 for each kilowatt-hour of 614 

electricity produced and sold by the taxpayer to an unrelated 615 

party during a given tax year. 616 

(b) The credit may be claimed for electricity produced and 617 

sold on or after January 1, 2013 2007. Beginning in 2014 2008 618 

and continuing until 2017 2011, each taxpayer claiming a credit 619 

under this section must first apply to the department by 620 

February 1 of each year for an allocation of available credit. 621 

The department, in consultation with the commission, shall 622 

develop an application form. The application form shall, at a 623 

minimum, require a sworn affidavit from each taxpayer certifying 624 

the increase in production and sales that form the basis of the 625 

application and certifying that all information contained in the 626 

application is true and correct. 627 

(c) If the amount of credits applied for each year exceeds 628 

$5 million, the department shall award to each applicant a 629 

prorated amount based on each applicant’s increased production 630 

and sales and the increased production and sales of all 631 

applicants. 632 

(d) If the credit granted pursuant to this section is not 633 

fully used in one year because of insufficient tax liability on 634 

the part of the taxpayer, the unused amount may be carried 635 

forward for a period not to exceed 5 years. The carryover credit 636 

may be used in a subsequent year when the tax imposed by this 637 

chapter for such year exceeds the credit for such year, after 638 



Florida Senate - 2012 CS for CS for SB 2094 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

575-03312-12 20122094c2 

Page 23 of 40 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

applying the other credits and unused credit carryovers in the 639 

order provided in s. 220.02(8). 640 

(e) A taxpayer that files a consolidated return in this 641 

state as a member of an affiliated group under s. 220.131(1) may 642 

be allowed the credit on a consolidated return basis up to the 643 

amount of tax imposed upon the consolidated group. 644 

(f)1. Tax credits that may be available under this section 645 

to an entity eligible under this section may be transferred 646 

after a merger or acquisition to the surviving or acquiring 647 

entity and used in the same manner with the same limitations. 648 

2. The entity or its surviving or acquiring entity as 649 

described in subparagraph 1. may transfer any unused credit in 650 

whole or in units of no less than 25 percent of the remaining 651 

credit. The entity acquiring such credit may use it in the same 652 

manner and with the same limitations under this section. Such 653 

transferred credits may not be transferred again although they 654 

may succeed to a surviving or acquiring entity subject to the 655 

same conditions and limitations as described in this section. 656 

3. In the event the credit provided for under this section 657 

is reduced as a result of an examination or audit by the 658 

department, such tax deficiency shall be recovered from the 659 

first entity or the surviving or acquiring entity to have 660 

claimed such credit up to the amount of credit taken. Any 661 

subsequent deficiencies shall be assessed against any entity 662 

acquiring and claiming such credit, or in the case of multiple 663 

succeeding entities in the order of credit succession. 664 

(g) Notwithstanding any other provision of this section, 665 

credits for the production and sale of electricity from a new or 666 

expanded Florida renewable energy facility may be earned between 667 

Florida Senate - 2012 CS for CS for SB 2094 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

575-03312-12 20122094c2 

Page 24 of 40 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

January 1, 2013 2007, and June 30, 2016 2010. The combined total 668 

amount of tax credits which may be granted for all taxpayers 669 

under this section is limited to $5 million per state fiscal 670 

year. 671 

(h) A taxpayer claiming a credit under this section shall 672 

be required to add back to net income that portion of its 673 

business deductions claimed on its federal return paid or 674 

incurred for the taxable year which is equal to the amount of 675 

the credit allowable for the taxable year under this section. 676 

(i) A taxpayer claiming credit under this section may not 677 

claim a credit under s. 220.192. A taxpayer claiming credit 678 

under s. 220.192 may not claim a credit under this section. 679 

(j) When an entity treated as a partnership or a 680 

disregarded entity under this chapter produces and sells 681 

electricity from a new or expanded renewable energy facility, 682 

the credit earned by such entity shall pass through in the same 683 

manner as items of income and expense pass through for federal 684 

income tax purposes. When an entity applies for the credit and 685 

the entity has received the credit by a pass-through, the 686 

application must identify the taxpayer that passed the credit 687 

through, all taxpayers that received the credit, and the 688 

percentage of the credit that passes through to each recipient 689 

and must provide other information that the department requires. 690 

(k) A taxpayer’s use of the credit granted pursuant to this 691 

section does not reduce the amount of any credit available to 692 

such taxpayer under s. 220.186. 693 

(4) The department may adopt rules to implement and 694 

administer this section, including rules prescribing forms, the 695 

documentation needed to substantiate a claim for the tax credit, 696 



Florida Senate - 2012 CS for CS for SB 2094 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

575-03312-12 20122094c2 

Page 25 of 40 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

and the specific procedures and guidelines for claiming the 697 

credit. 698 

(5) This section shall take effect upon becoming law and 699 

shall apply to tax years beginning on and after January 1, 2013 700 

2007. 701 

Section 7. Section 255.257, Florida Statutes, is amended to 702 

read: 703 

255.257 Energy management; buildings occupied by state 704 

agencies.— 705 

(1) ENERGY CONSUMPTION AND COST DATA.—Each state agency 706 

shall collect data on energy consumption and cost. The data 707 

gathered shall be on state-owned facilities and metered state-708 

leased facilities that are used by the state and are 5,000 709 

square feet or more of conditioned space of 5,000 net square 710 

feet or more. These data will be used in the computation of the 711 

effectiveness of the state energy management plan and the 712 

effectiveness of the energy management program of each of the 713 

state agencies. Collected data shall be reported annually to the 714 

department in a format prescribed by the department. 715 

(2) ENERGY MANAGEMENT COORDINATORS.—Each state agency, the 716 

Florida Public Service Commission, the Department of Military 717 

Affairs, and the judicial branch shall appoint a coordinator 718 

whose responsibility shall be to advise the head of the state 719 

agency on matters relating to energy consumption in facilities 720 

under the control of that head or in space occupied by the 721 

various units comprising that state agency, in vehicles operated 722 

by that state agency, and in other energy-consuming activities 723 

of the state agency. The coordinator shall implement the energy 724 

management program agreed upon by the state agency concerned and 725 

Florida Senate - 2012 CS for CS for SB 2094 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

575-03312-12 20122094c2 

Page 26 of 40 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

assist the department in the development of the State Energy 726 

Management Plan. 727 

(3) CONTENTS OF THE STATE ENERGY MANAGEMENT PLAN.—The 728 

Department of Management Services, in coordination with the 729 

Department of Agriculture and Consumer Services, shall adopt 730 

rules and forms for the development of the develop a state 731 

energy management plan consisting of, but not limited to, the 732 

following elements: 733 

(a) Data-gathering requirements; 734 

(b) Standard and uniform benchmark requirements as a 735 

measure to evaluate the energy efficiency of state-owned and 736 

state-leased buildings; 737 

(c)(b) Building energy audit procedures; 738 

(d)(c) Standard and uniform data analysis and reporting 739 

procedures; 740 

(e)(d) Employee energy education program measures; 741 

(f)(e) Energy consumption reduction techniques; 742 

(g)(f) Training program for state agency energy management 743 

coordinators; and 744 

(h)(g) Guidelines for building managers. 745 

 746 

The plan shall include a description of actions that state 747 

agencies shall take to reduce consumption of electricity and 748 

nonrenewable energy sources used for space heating and cooling, 749 

ventilation, lighting, water heating, and transportation. 750 

(4) ADOPTION OF STANDARDS.— 751 

(a) Each All state agency agencies shall adopt a standard 752 

and uniform statewide sustainable building rating system or use 753 

a national model green building code for all new buildings and 754 



Florida Senate - 2012 CS for CS for SB 2094 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

575-03312-12 20122094c2 

Page 27 of 40 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

renovations to existing buildings. 755 

(b) A No state agency may not shall enter into new leasing 756 

agreements for office space that does not meet Energy Star 757 

building standards, except when the appropriate state agency 758 

head determines that no other viable or cost-effective 759 

alternative exists. 760 

(c) Each All state agency agencies shall develop energy 761 

conservation measures and guidelines for new and existing office 762 

space where state agencies occupy more than 5,000 square feet or 763 

more of conditioned space. These conservation measures shall 764 

focus on programs that may reduce energy consumption and, when 765 

established, provide a net reduction in occupancy costs. 766 

Section 8. Paragraph (q) of subsection (2) of section 767 

288.106, Florida Statutes, is amended to read: 768 

288.106 Tax refund program for qualified target industry 769 

businesses.— 770 

(2) DEFINITIONS.—As used in this section: 771 

(q) “Target industry business” means a corporate 772 

headquarters business or any business that is engaged in one of 773 

the target industries identified pursuant to the following 774 

criteria developed by the department in consultation with 775 

Enterprise Florida, Inc.: 776 

1. Future growth.—Industry forecasts should indicate strong 777 

expectation for future growth in both employment and output, 778 

according to the most recent available data. Special 779 

consideration should be given to businesses that export goods 780 

to, or provide services in, international markets and businesses 781 

that replace domestic and international imports of goods or 782 

services. 783 

Florida Senate - 2012 CS for CS for SB 2094 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

575-03312-12 20122094c2 

Page 28 of 40 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

2. Stability.—The industry should not be subject to 784 

periodic layoffs, whether due to seasonality or sensitivity to 785 

volatile economic variables such as weather. The industry should 786 

also be relatively resistant to recession, so that the demand 787 

for products of this industry is not typically subject to 788 

decline during an economic downturn. 789 

3. High wage.—The industry should pay relatively high wages 790 

compared to statewide or area averages. 791 

4. Market and resource independent.—The location of 792 

industry businesses should not be dependent on Florida markets 793 

or resources as indicated by industry analysis, except for 794 

businesses in the renewable energy industry. 795 

5. Industrial base diversification and strengthening.—The 796 

industry should contribute toward expanding or diversifying the 797 

state’s or area’s economic base, as indicated by analysis of 798 

employment and output shares compared to national and regional 799 

trends. Special consideration should be given to industries that 800 

strengthen regional economies by adding value to basic products 801 

or building regional industrial clusters as indicated by 802 

industry analysis. Special consideration should also be given to 803 

the development of strong industrial clusters that include 804 

defense and homeland security businesses. 805 

6. Positive economic impact.—The industry is expected to 806 

have strong positive economic impacts on or benefits to the 807 

state or regional economies. Special consideration should be 808 

given to industries that facilitate the development of the state 809 

as a hub for domestic and global trade and logistics. 810 

 811 

The term does not include any business engaged in retail 812 



Florida Senate - 2012 CS for CS for SB 2094 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

575-03312-12 20122094c2 

Page 29 of 40 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

industry activities; any electrical utility company as defined 813 

in s. 366.02(2); any phosphate or other solid minerals 814 

severance, mining, or processing operation; any oil or gas 815 

exploration or production operation; or any business subject to 816 

regulation by the Division of Hotels and Restaurants of the 817 

Department of Business and Professional Regulation. Any business 818 

within NAICS code 5611 or 5614, office administrative services 819 

and business support services, respectively, may be considered a 820 

target industry business only after the local governing body and 821 

Enterprise Florida, Inc., make a determination that the 822 

community where the business may locate has conditions affecting 823 

the fiscal and economic viability of the local community or 824 

area, including but not limited to, factors such as low per 825 

capita income, high unemployment, high underemployment, and a 826 

lack of year-round stable employment opportunities, and such 827 

conditions may be improved by the location of such a business to 828 

the community. By January 1 of every 3rd year, beginning January 829 

1, 2011, the department, in consultation with Enterprise 830 

Florida, Inc., economic development organizations, the State 831 

University System, local governments, employee and employer 832 

organizations, market analysts, and economists, shall review 833 

and, as appropriate, revise the list of such target industries 834 

and submit the list to the Governor, the President of the 835 

Senate, and the Speaker of the House of Representatives. 836 

Section 9. Section 366.94, Florida Statutes, is created to 837 

read: 838 

366.94 Electric vehicle charging stations.— 839 

(1) Providing electric vehicle charging service to the 840 

public is not the retail sale of electricity for the purposes of 841 

Florida Senate - 2012 CS for CS for SB 2094 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

575-03312-12 20122094c2 

Page 30 of 40 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

this chapter and the rates, terms, and conditions of electric 842 

vehicle charging services are not subject to regulation under 843 

this chapter regardless of the provider. This section does not 844 

affect the ability of an individual, business, or governmental 845 

entity to acquire, install, or use an electric vehicle charger 846 

for its own use for its own vehicle. 847 

(2) The Florida Building Commission, in coordination with 848 

the Department of Agriculture and Consumer Services and the 849 

Public Service Commission, shall develop rules to provide 850 

uniform standards for building and electric codes, local 851 

permitting, and the installation of electric vehicle charging 852 

stations. The development of these standards is expressly 853 

preempted to the state and any local governmental entity 854 

enforcing the subject areas of the standards established by this 855 

section must use the standards set forth pursuant to this 856 

section. 857 

(3) The Department of Agriculture and Consumer Services 858 

shall adopt rules to provide definitions, methods of sale, 859 

labeling requirements, and price-posting requirements for 860 

electric vehicle charging stations in order to provide 861 

consistency for consumers and the industry. 862 

(4) The Public Service Commission shall conduct a study of 863 

the effects of the charging stations on energy consumption in 864 

this state and the effects on the grid. The Public Service 865 

Commission shall also investigate the feasibility of using off-866 

grid solar photovoltaic power as a source of electricity for 867 

electric vehicle charging stations. 868 

(5) It is unlawful for a person to stop, stand, or park a 869 

vehicle that is not capable of using an electrical recharging 870 



Florida Senate - 2012 CS for CS for SB 2094 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

575-03312-12 20122094c2 

Page 31 of 40 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

station within any parking space specifically designated for 871 

charging an electric vehicle. If a law enforcement officer finds 872 

a motor vehicle in violation of this subsection, the officer or 873 

specialist shall charge the operator or other person in charge 874 

of the vehicle in violation with a noncriminal traffic 875 

infraction, punishable as provided in s. 316.008(4) or s. 876 

318.18. 877 

Section 10. Subsection (1) of section 526.203, Florida 878 

Statutes, is amended to read: 879 

526.203 Renewable fuel standard.— 880 

(1) DEFINITIONS.—As used in this act: 881 

(a) “Alternative fuel” means a fuel that is produced from 882 

biomass as defined in s. 366.91, that is used to replace or 883 

reduce the quantity of fossil fuel present in a petroleum fuel, 884 

and that meets the specifications adopted by the department. 885 

(b)(a) “Blender,” “importer,” “terminal supplier,” and 886 

“wholesaler” are defined as provided in s. 206.01. 887 

(c)(b) “Blended gasoline” means a mixture of 90 to 91 888 

percent gasoline and 9 to 10 percent fuel ethanol or other 889 

alternative fuel, by volume, that meets the specifications as 890 

adopted by the department. The fuel ethanol or other alternative 891 

fuel portion may be derived from any agricultural source. 892 

(d)(c) “Fuel ethanol” means an anhydrous denatured alcohol 893 

produced by the conversion of carbohydrates that meets the 894 

specifications as adopted by the department. 895 

(e)(d) “Unblended gasoline” means gasoline that has not 896 

been blended with fuel ethanol or other alternative fuel and 897 

that meets the specifications as adopted by the department. 898 

Section 11. Subsection (4) of section 581.083, Florida 899 

Florida Senate - 2012 CS for CS for SB 2094 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

575-03312-12 20122094c2 

Page 32 of 40 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

Statutes, is amended to read: 900 

581.083 Introduction or release of plant pests, noxious 901 

weeds, or organisms affecting plant life; cultivation of 902 

nonnative plants; special permit and security required.— 903 

(4) A person may not cultivate a nonnative plant, algae, or 904 

blue-green algae, including a genetically engineered plant, 905 

algae, or blue-green algae or a plant that has been introduced, 906 

for purposes of fuel production or purposes other than 907 

agriculture in plantings greater in size than 2 contiguous 908 

acres, except under a special permit issued by the department 909 

through the division, which is the sole agency responsible for 910 

issuing such special permits. The Such a permit is shall not be 911 

required if the department determines, after consulting in 912 

conjunction with the Institute of Food and Agricultural Sciences 913 

at the University of Florida, that, based on experience or 914 

research data, the nonnative plant, algae, or blue-green algae 915 

does not pose a known threat of becoming an is not invasive 916 

species or a pest of plants or native fauna under conditions in 917 

this state, and if the department and subsequently exempts the 918 

plant by rule. 919 

(a)1. Each application for a special permit must be 920 

accompanied by a fee as described in subsection (2) and proof 921 

that the applicant has obtained, on a form approved by the 922 

department, a bond in the form approved by the department and 923 

issued by a surety company admitted to do business in this 924 

state, or a certificate of deposit, or other type of security 925 

adopted by rule of the department which provides a financial 926 

assurance of cost-recovery for the removal of a planting. The 927 

application must include, on a form provided by the department, 928 



Florida Senate - 2012 CS for CS for SB 2094 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

575-03312-12 20122094c2 

Page 33 of 40 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

the name of the applicant and the applicant’s address or the 929 

address of the applicant’s principal place of business; a 930 

statement completely identifying the nonnative plant to be 931 

cultivated; and a statement of the estimated cost of removing 932 

and destroying the plant that is the subject of the special 933 

permit and the basis for calculating or determining that 934 

estimate. If the applicant is a corporation, partnership, or 935 

other business entity, the applicant must also provide in the 936 

application the name and address of each officer, partner, or 937 

managing agent. The applicant shall notify the department within 938 

10 business days after of any change of address or change in the 939 

principal place of business. The department shall mail all 940 

notices to the applicant’s last known address. 941 

2. As used in this subsection, the term “certificate of 942 

deposit” means a certificate of deposit at any recognized 943 

financial institution doing business in the United States. The 944 

department may not accept a certificate of deposit in connection 945 

with the issuance of a special permit unless the issuing 946 

institution is properly insured by the Federal Deposit Insurance 947 

Corporation or the Federal Savings and Loan Insurance 948 

Corporation. 949 

(b) Upon obtaining a permit, the permitholder may annually 950 

cultivate and maintain the nonnative plants as authorized by the 951 

special permit. If the permitholder ceases to maintain or 952 

cultivate the plants authorized by the special permit, if the 953 

permit expires, or if the permitholder ceases to abide by the 954 

conditions of the special permit, the permitholder shall 955 

immediately remove and destroy the plants that are subject to 956 

the permit, if any remain. The permitholder shall notify the 957 

Florida Senate - 2012 CS for CS for SB 2094 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

575-03312-12 20122094c2 

Page 34 of 40 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

department of the removal and destruction of the plants within 958 

10 days after such event. 959 

(c) If the department: 960 

1. Determines that the permitholder is no longer 961 

maintaining or cultivating the plants subject to the special 962 

permit and has not removed and destroyed the plants authorized 963 

by the special permit; 964 

2. Determines that the continued maintenance or cultivation 965 

of the plants presents an imminent danger to public health, 966 

safety, or welfare; 967 

3. Determines that the permitholder has exceeded the 968 

conditions of the authorized special permit; or 969 

4. Receives a notice of cancellation of the surety bond, 970 

 971 

the department may issue an immediate final order, which shall 972 

be immediately appealable or enjoinable as provided by chapter 973 

120, directing the permitholder to immediately remove and 974 

destroy the plants authorized to be cultivated under the special 975 

permit. A copy of the immediate final order must shall be mailed 976 

to the permitholder and to the surety company or financial 977 

institution that has provided security for the special permit, 978 

if applicable. 979 

(d) If, upon issuance by the department of an immediate 980 

final order to the permitholder, the permitholder fails to 981 

remove and destroy the plants subject to the special permit 982 

within 60 days after issuance of the order, or such shorter 983 

period as is designated in the order as public health, safety, 984 

or welfare requires, the department may enter the cultivated 985 

acreage and remove and destroy the plants that are the subject 986 



Florida Senate - 2012 CS for CS for SB 2094 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

575-03312-12 20122094c2 

Page 35 of 40 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

of the special permit. If the permitholder makes a written 987 

request to the department for an extension of time to remove and 988 

destroy the plants that demonstrates specific facts showing why 989 

the plants could not reasonably be removed and destroyed in the 990 

applicable timeframe, the department may extend the time for 991 

removing and destroying plants subject to a special permit. The 992 

reasonable costs and expenses incurred by the department for 993 

removing and destroying plants subject to a special permit shall 994 

be reimbursed to the department by the permitholder within 21 995 

days after the date the permitholder and the surety company or 996 

financial institution are served a copy of the department’s 997 

invoice for the costs and expenses incurred by the department to 998 

remove and destroy the cultivated plants, along with a notice of 999 

administrative rights, unless the permitholder or the surety 1000 

company or financial institution object to the reasonableness of 1001 

the invoice. In the event of an objection, the permitholder or 1002 

surety company or financial institution is entitled to an 1003 

administrative proceeding as provided by chapter 120. Upon entry 1004 

of a final order determining the reasonableness of the incurred 1005 

costs and expenses, the permitholder has shall have 15 days 1006 

after following service of the final order to reimburse the 1007 

department. Failure of the permitholder to timely reimburse the 1008 

department for the incurred costs and expenses entitles the 1009 

department to reimbursement from the applicable bond or 1010 

certificate of deposit. 1011 

(e) Each permitholder shall maintain for each separate 1012 

growing location a bond or a certificate of deposit in an amount 1013 

determined by the department, but not more less than 150 percent 1014 

of the estimated cost of removing and destroying the cultivated 1015 

Florida Senate - 2012 CS for CS for SB 2094 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

575-03312-12 20122094c2 

Page 36 of 40 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

plants. The bond or certificate of deposit may not exceed $5,000 1016 

per acre, unless a higher amount is determined by the department 1017 

to be necessary to protect the public health, safety, and 1018 

welfare or unless an exemption is granted by the department 1019 

based on conditions specified in the application which would 1020 

preclude the department from incurring the cost of removing and 1021 

destroying the cultivated plants and would prevent injury to the 1022 

public health, safety, and welfare. The aggregate liability of 1023 

the surety company or financial institution to all persons for 1024 

all breaches of the conditions of the bond or certificate of 1025 

deposit may not exceed the amount of the bond or certificate of 1026 

deposit. The original bond or certificate of deposit required by 1027 

this subsection must shall be filed with the department. A 1028 

surety company shall give the department 30 days’ written notice 1029 

of cancellation, by certified mail, in order to cancel a bond. 1030 

Cancellation of a bond does not relieve a surety company of 1031 

liability for paying to the department all costs and expenses 1032 

incurred or to be incurred for removing and destroying the 1033 

permitted plants covered by an immediate final order authorized 1034 

under paragraph (c). A bond or certificate of deposit must be 1035 

provided or assigned in the exact name in which an applicant 1036 

applies for a special permit. The penal sum of the bond or 1037 

certificate of deposit to be furnished to the department by a 1038 

permitholder in the amount specified in this paragraph must 1039 

guarantee payment of the costs and expenses incurred or to be 1040 

incurred by the department for removing and destroying the 1041 

plants cultivated under the issued special permit. The bond or 1042 

certificate of deposit assignment or agreement must be upon a 1043 

form prescribed or approved by the department and must be 1044 



Florida Senate - 2012 CS for CS for SB 2094 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

575-03312-12 20122094c2 

Page 37 of 40 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

conditioned to secure the faithful accounting for and payment of 1045 

all costs and expenses incurred by the department for removing 1046 

and destroying all plants cultivated under the special permit. 1047 

The bond or certificate of deposit assignment or agreement must 1048 

include terms binding the instrument to the Commissioner of 1049 

Agriculture. Such certificate of deposit shall be presented with 1050 

an assignment of the permitholder’s rights in the certificate in 1051 

favor of the Commissioner of Agriculture on a form prescribed by 1052 

the department and with a letter from the issuing institution 1053 

acknowledging that the assignment has been properly recorded on 1054 

the books of the issuing institution and will be honored by the 1055 

issuing institution. Such assignment is irrevocable while a 1056 

special permit is in effect and for an additional period of 6 1057 

months after termination of the special permit if operations to 1058 

remove and destroy the permitted plants are not continuing and 1059 

if the department’s invoice remains unpaid by the permitholder 1060 

under the issued immediate final order. If operations to remove 1061 

and destroy the plants are pending, the assignment remains in 1062 

effect until all plants are removed and destroyed and the 1063 

department’s invoice has been paid. The bond or certificate of 1064 

deposit may be released by the assignee of the surety company or 1065 

financial institution to the permitholder, or to the 1066 

permitholder’s successors, assignee, or heirs, if operations to 1067 

remove and destroy the permitted plants are not pending and no 1068 

invoice remains unpaid at the conclusion of 6 months after the 1069 

last effective date of the special permit. The department may 1070 

not accept a certificate of deposit that contains any provision 1071 

that would give to any person any prior rights or claim on the 1072 

proceeds or principal of such certificate of deposit. The 1073 

Florida Senate - 2012 CS for CS for SB 2094 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

575-03312-12 20122094c2 

Page 38 of 40 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

department shall determine by rule whether an annual bond or 1074 

certificate of deposit will be required. The amount of such bond 1075 

or certificate of deposit shall be increased, upon order of the 1076 

department, at any time if the department finds such increase to 1077 

be warranted by the cultivating operations of the permitholder. 1078 

In the same manner, the amount of such bond or certificate of 1079 

deposit may be decreased or removed when a decrease in the 1080 

cultivating operations of the permitholder occurs or when 1081 

research or practical field knowledge and observations indicate 1082 

a low risk of invasiveness by the nonnative species warrants 1083 

such decrease. Factors that may be considered to decrease or 1084 

remove the bond or certificate-of-deposit requirements include 1085 

multiple years or cycles of successful large-scale contained 1086 

cultivation; observation of plant, algae, or blue-green algae 1087 

that do not escape from managed areas; or science-based evidence 1088 

that established or proved adjusted cultivation practices 1089 

provide a similar level of containment of the nonnative plant, 1090 

algae, or blue-green algae. This paragraph applies to any bond 1091 

or certificate of deposit, regardless of the anniversary date of 1092 

its issuance, expiration, or renewal. 1093 

(f) In order to carry out the purposes of this subsection, 1094 

the department or its agents may require from any permitholder 1095 

verified statements of the cultivated acreage subject to the 1096 

special permit and may review the permitholder’s business or 1097 

cultivation records at her or his place of business during 1098 

normal business hours in order to determine the acreage 1099 

cultivated. The failure of a permitholder to furnish such 1100 

statement, to make such records available, or to make and 1101 

deliver a new or additional bond or certificate of deposit is 1102 



Florida Senate - 2012 CS for CS for SB 2094 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

575-03312-12 20122094c2 

Page 39 of 40 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

cause for suspension of the special permit. If the department 1103 

finds such failure to be willful, the special permit may be 1104 

revoked. 1105 

Section 12. The Department of Agriculture and Consumer 1106 

Services shall conduct a comprehensive statewide forest 1107 

inventory analysis and study, using a geographic information 1108 

system, to identify where available biomass is located, 1109 

determine the available biomass resources, and ensure forest 1110 

sustainability within the state. The department shall submit the 1111 

results of the study to the President of the Senate, the Speaker 1112 

of the House of Representatives, and the Executive Office of the 1113 

Governor by July 1, 2013. 1114 

Section 13. The Office of Energy within the Department of 1115 

Agriculture and Consumer Services, in consultation with the 1116 

Public Service Commission, the Florida Building Commission, and 1117 

the Florida Energy Systems Consortium, shall develop a 1118 

clearinghouse of information regarding cost savings associated 1119 

with various energy efficiency and conservation measures. The 1120 

department shall post the information on its website by July 1, 1121 

2013. 1122 

Section 14. The Public Service Commission shall evaluate 1123 

and prepare a report on the Florida Energy Efficiency and 1124 

Conservation Act and determine if the act remains in the public 1125 

interest. The evaluation must consider the costs to ratepayers, 1126 

the incentives and disincentives associated with the provisions 1127 

in the act, and if the programs create benefits without undue 1128 

burden on the customer. The models and methods used to determine 1129 

conservation goals must be specifically addressed in the report. 1130 

The commission shall submit the report to the President of the 1131 

Florida Senate - 2012 CS for CS for SB 2094 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

575-03312-12 20122094c2 

Page 40 of 40 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

Senate, the Speaker of the House of Representatives, and the 1132 

Executive Office of the Governor by January 31, 2013. 1133 

Section 15. This act shall take effect July 1, 2012. 1134 

















CourtSmart Tag Report 
 
Room: KN 412 Case:  Type:  
Caption: Senate Budget Committee Meeting Judge:  
 
Started: 2/29/2012 2:05:50 PM 
Ends: 2/29/2012 5:28:38 PM Length: 03:22:49 
 
2:05:55 PM Sen. Alexander (Chair) 
2:06:07 PM  
2:06:53 PM Sen. Alexander 
2:06:59 PM S 378 
2:07:06 PM Sen. Richter 
2:07:40 PM Sen. Alexander 
2:07:48 PM Am. 813362 
2:07:55 PM Sen. Simmons 
2:16:29 PM Sen. Norman 
2:17:10 PM Sen. Alexander 
2:17:12 PM Sen. Simmons 
2:18:11 PM Sen. Alexander 
2:18:13 PM Sen. Norman 
2:18:33 PM Sen. Alexander 
2:18:35 PM Sen. Simmons 
2:19:23 PM Sen. Alexander 
2:19:25 PM Sen. Richter 
2:20:12 PM Sen. Alexander 
2:20:15 PM Sen. Simmons 
2:24:20 PM Sen. Alexander 
2:24:23 PM Sen. Richter 
2:31:04 PM Sen. Alexander 
2:31:15 PM Sen. Thrasher 
2:31:52 PM Sen. Alexander 
2:31:57 PM Sen. Simmons 
2:35:37 PM Sen. Alexander 
2:35:40 PM Sen. Bennett 
2:36:15 PM Sen. Alexander 
2:36:21 PM Sen. Richter 
2:37:29 PM Sen. Alexander 
2:37:33 PM Sen. Simmons 
2:38:50 PM Sen. Richter 
2:39:35 PM Sen. Alexander 
2:39:56 PM Sen. Negron 
2:40:00 PM Sen. Alexander 
2:40:27 PM Leslie Kroeger, Attorney, Florida Justice Association 
2:45:33 PM Sen. Alexander 
2:45:38 PM Sen. Richter 
2:46:00 PM Sen. Alexander 
2:46:17 PM L. Kroeger 
2:46:20 PM Sen. Alexander 
2:46:31 PM Teye Reeves, Policy Director, Florida Chamber of Commerce 
2:46:32 PM Sen. Alexander 
2:46:43 PM George Meros, Attorney, Gray Robinson, U.S. Chamber 
2:49:35 PM Sen. Alexander 
2:49:54 PM Bill Ceroone, State Attorney Eighth Circuit, Florida Prosecuting Attorney's Association 
2:53:47 PM Sen. Alexander 
2:53:50 PM Sen. Montford 
2:53:57 PM Sen. Alexander 
2:54:02 PM B. Ceroone 
2:54:16 PM Sen. Alexander 
2:54:19 PM Sen. Thrasher 



2:54:24 PM Sen. Alexander 
2:54:25 PM Sen. Thrasher 
2:55:21 PM B. Ceroone 
2:55:36 PM Sen. Alexander 
2:55:41 PM William Large, President, Florida Justice Reform Institute 
2:56:15 PM Sen. Alexander 
2:56:29 PM Greg Miller, Attorney, Florida Justice Reform Institute 
2:59:42 PM Sen. Alexander 
2:59:51 PM Sen. Bennett 
3:00:05 PM Sen. Alexander 
3:00:22 PM Sen. Negron 
3:00:29 PM Sen. Alexander 
3:00:34 PM Sen. Hays 
3:00:46 PM Sen. Alexander 
3:00:57 PM Sen. Joyner 
3:00:59 PM Sen. Alexander 
3:01:04 PM Sen. Joyner 
3:01:19 PM G. Miller 
3:01:49 PM Sen. Alexander 
3:01:59 PM Sen. Bennett 
3:04:16 PM Sen. Alexander 
3:04:23 PM Sen. Richter 
3:06:22 PM Sen. Alexander 
3:06:26 PM Sen. Simmons 
3:08:22 PM Sen. Alexander 
3:09:00 PM Sen. Richter 
3:09:11 PM Sen. Alexander 
3:09:30 PM S 378 
3:09:54 PM  
3:10:38 PM Sen. Alexander 
3:10:50 PM Sen. Negron 
3:10:53 PM S 1470 
3:11:07 PM Sen. Negron 
3:11:14 PM Sen. Norman 
3:12:01 PM Sen. Negron 
3:12:09 PM Leticia Adams, Director of Infrastructure & Governance Policy, Florida Chamber of Commerce 
3:12:27 PM S 1470 
3:13:15 PM Sen. Negron 
3:13:21 PM S 1312 
3:13:26 PM Sen. Gaetz 
3:13:32 PM Sen. Negron 
3:13:33 PM Am. 590742 
3:13:37 PM Sen. Gaetz 
3:14:12 PM Sen. Negron 
3:14:21 PM Am. 383452 
3:14:26 PM Sen. Simmons 
3:15:30 PM Sen. Negron 
3:15:36 PM Sen. Gaetz 
3:15:37 PM Sen. Negron 
3:15:45 PM Am. 174152 
3:15:50 PM Sen. Gaetz 
3:16:03 PM Sen. Negron 
3:16:12 PM Am. 590742 
3:16:14 PM Sen. Negron 
3:16:37 PM Cindy Huddleston, Attorney, Florida Legal Services 
3:18:29 PM Sen. Negron 
3:18:41 PM Sen. Joyner 
3:18:53 PM C. Huddleston 
3:19:01 PM Sen. Joyner 
3:19:03 PM C. Huddleston 
3:19:13 PM Sen. Joyner 
3:19:39 PM C. Huddleson 



3:19:45 PM Sen. Joyner 
3:19:46 PM Sen. Negron 
3:19:51 PM L. Adams 
3:19:54 PM Sen. Negron 
3:20:00 PM B. Pitts 
3:22:25 PM Sen. Negron 
3:22:37 PM Sen. Joyner 
3:25:29 PM Sen. Negron 
3:25:35 PM Sen. Gaetz 
3:27:41 PM Sen. Negron 
3:27:47 PM S 1312 
3:28:29 PM Sen. Negron 
3:28:34 PM S 1606 
3:28:36 PM Sen. Bennett 
3:29:23 PM Sen. Negron 
3:29:34 PM Am. 405394 
3:29:37 PM Sen. Negron 
3:29:47 PM B. Pitts 
3:29:50 PM Sen. Negron 
3:29:51 PM Sen. Wise 
3:30:10 PM Sen. Negron 
3:30:12 PM Sen. Bennett 
3:30:20 PM Sen. Negron 
3:30:24 PM Sen. Lynn 
3:30:30 PM Sen. Negron 
3:30:34 PM Sen. Lynn 
3:30:44 PM Sen. Negron 
3:31:04 PM S 1606 
3:31:44 PM Sen. Negron 
3:31:50 PM S 1404 
3:31:56 PM Sen. Altman 
3:32:25 PM Sen. Negron 
3:32:47 PM S 1404 
3:32:50 PM Sen. Negron 
3:33:02 PM S 1304 
3:33:12 PM Sen. Norman 
3:34:42 PM Sen. Negron 
3:34:52 PM Am. 500824 
3:34:54 PM Sen. Hays 
3:35:08 PM Sen. Negron 
3:35:11 PM Sen. Norman 
3:35:16 PM Sen. Negron 
3:35:24 PM Am. 114152 
3:35:25 PM Sen. Negron 
3:35:29 PM Sen. Bogdanoff 
3:35:41 PM Sen. Negron 
3:35:43 PM Sen. Norman 
3:35:45 PM Sen. Negron 
3:35:46 PM Am. 832714 
3:35:48 PM Sen. Negron 
3:35:56 PM Am. 832714 
3:35:59 PM Sen. Negron 
3:36:06 PM Am. 665438 
3:36:08 PM Sen. Bogdanoff 
3:36:25 PM Sen. Negron 
3:36:26 PM Sen. Norman 
3:36:28 PM Sen. Negron 
3:36:34 PM Am. 290932 
3:36:37 PM Sen. Negron 
3:36:38 PM Sen. Norman 
3:36:46 PM Sen. Negron 
3:36:50 PM Am. 832714 



3:36:54 PM Sen. Negron 
3:36:56 PM Sen. Altman 
3:37:12 PM Sen. Negron 
3:37:18 PM Sen. Altman 
3:37:38 PM Sen. Negron 
3:37:43 PM Sen. Altman 
3:37:58 PM Sen. Negron 
3:38:03 PM Sen. Lynn 
3:38:17 PM Sen. Negron 
3:38:20 PM Sen. Lynn 
3:38:20 PM Sen. Negron 
3:38:27 PM Sen. Lynn 
3:38:31 PM Sen. Negron 
3:38:32 PM Sen. Altman 
3:38:38 PM Sen. Negron 
3:38:41 PM Sen. Benacquisto 
3:39:08 PM Sen. Negron 
3:39:10 PM Sen. Lynn 
3:39:33 PM Sen. Negron 
3:39:42 PM Sen. Altman 
3:40:47 PM Sen. Negron 
3:40:56 PM Sen. Benacquisto 
3:41:16 PM Sen. Negron 
3:41:20 PM Sen. Lynn 
3:42:00 PM Sen. Negron 
3:42:03 PM Sen. Altman 
3:42:11 PM Sen. Negron 
3:42:17 PM Sen. Altman 
3:42:57 PM Sen. Negron 
3:42:59 PM Sen. Lynn 
3:43:19 PM Sen. Negron 
3:43:25 PM Sen. Altman 
3:43:28 PM Sen. Negron 
3:43:43 PM Sen. Lynn 
3:44:18 PM Sen. Negron 
3:44:23 PM Sen. Altman 
3:44:39 PM Sen. Lynn 
3:44:41 PM Sen. Negron 
3:44:50 PM Sen. Margolis 
3:45:02 PM Sen. Negron 
3:45:04 PM Sen. Altman 
3:46:04 PM Sen. Negron 
3:46:09 PM Sen. Margolis 
3:46:27 PM Sen. Negron 
3:46:37 PM Sen. Sobel 
3:46:57 PM Sen. Negron 
3:47:00 PM Sen. Altman 
3:47:06 PM Sen. Negron 
3:47:14 PM Sen. Altman 
3:47:48 PM Sen. Negron 
3:47:55 PM Sen. Sobel 
3:48:00 PM Sen. Altman 
3:48:16 PM Sen. Negron 
3:48:32 PM Sen. Lynn 
3:48:38 PM Sen. Negron 
3:48:49 PM Sen. Norman 
3:49:42 PM Sen. Negron 
3:49:45 PM Sen. Gaetz 
3:51:04 PM Sen. Negron 
3:51:06 PM Sen. Altman 
3:51:07 PM Sen. Negron 
3:51:24 PM B. Pitts 



3:51:25 PM Sen. Negron 
3:51:47 PM S 1304 
3:52:26 PM Sen. Negron 
3:52:31 PM Sen. Alexander 
3:52:34 PM S 402 
3:52:37 PM Sen. Alexander 
3:52:41 PM Sen. Negron 
3:53:07 PM Sen. Alexander 
3:53:09 PM Am. 508608 
3:53:11 PM Sen. Alexander 
3:53:13 PM Sen. Negron 
3:53:19 PM Sen. Alexander 
3:53:28 PM Chris Snow, Lobbyist, Florida Nurses Association 
3:53:30 PM Sen. Alexander 
3:53:38 PM Am. 627262 
3:53:44 PM Sen. Bogdanoff 
3:56:14 PM Sen. Alexander 
3:56:42 PM Kimberly Case, Legislative Director, Attorney General's Office 
3:57:00 PM Nick Cox, Statewide Prosecutor, Attorney General's Office 
3:58:18 PM Sen. Alexander 
3:58:22 PM Sen. Lynn 
3:58:50 PM Sen. Bogdanoff 
4:00:23 PM Sen. Alexander 
4:00:24 PM Sen. Montford 
4:00:37 PM Sen. Bogdanoff 
4:01:44 PM Sen. Alexander 
4:01:46 PM Sen. Joyner 
4:02:13 PM Sen. Bogdanoff 
4:03:04 PM Sen. Joyner 
4:04:01 PM N. Cox 
4:05:12 PM Sen. Alexander 
4:05:15 PM Sen. Bogdanoff 
4:06:36 PM Sen. Alexander 
4:06:49 PM Sen. Bogdanoff 
4:06:53 PM Sen. Alexander 
4:07:04 PM Sen. Bogdanoff 
4:07:52 PM Sen. Alexander 
4:07:53 PM Sen. Thrasher 
4:08:21 PM Sen. Bogdanoff 
4:09:15 PM Sen. Alexander 
4:09:17 PM Sen. Norman 
4:10:04 PM N. Cox 
4:10:15 PM Sen. Norman 
4:10:18 PM Sen. Alexander 
4:10:19 PM Sen. Lynn 
4:10:25 PM N. Cox 
4:10:35 PM Sen. Lynn 
4:10:40 PM N. Cox 
4:11:02 PM Sen. Lynn 
4:11:11 PM N. Cox 
4:12:29 PM Sen. Alexander 
4:12:34 PM Sen. Siplin 
4:12:47 PM N. Cox 
4:12:57 PM Sen. Alexander 
4:13:07 PM Dr. Peter Digre, Deputy Secretary, Department of Children and Families 
4:14:24 PM Sen. Siplin 
4:14:47 PM Dr. Digre 
4:15:30 PM Sen. Alexander 
4:15:31 PM Sen. Montford 
4:15:33 PM Sen. Alexander 
4:15:37 PM Sen. Negron 
4:17:10 PM Sen. Bogdanoff 



4:18:18 PM Sen. Alexander 
4:18:42 PM B. Pitts 
4:18:50 PM Sen. Negron 
4:19:22 PM Sen. Alexander 
4:19:35 PM S 402 
4:20:13 PM Sen. Alexander 
4:20:32 PM S 1256 
4:20:33 PM Sen. Norman 
4:21:20 PM Sen. Alexander 
4:21:25 PM Am. 727222 
4:21:28 PM Sen. Alexander 
4:21:30 PM Sen. Norman 
4:21:36 PM Sen. Alexander 
4:21:42 PM Am. 274206 
4:21:43 PM Sen. Alexander 
4:21:44 PM Sen. Norman 
4:21:53 PM Sen. Alexander 
4:22:02 PM Am. 504124 
4:22:08 PM Sen. Altman 
4:22:30 PM Sen. Alexander 
4:22:34 PM Sen. Bennett 
4:22:55 PM Sen. Alexander 
4:23:05 PM Am. 189614 
4:23:09 PM Sen. Alexander 
4:23:10 PM Sen. Norman 
4:23:15 PM Sen. Alexander 
4:23:22 PM Am. 663754 
4:23:27 PM Sen. Altman 
4:23:29 PM Sen. Alexander 
4:23:34 PM Am. 337722 
4:23:38 PM Sen. Altman 
4:23:47 PM Sen. Alexander 
4:23:56 PM Am. 968486 
4:23:59 PM Sen. Norman 
4:24:05 PM Sen. Alexander 
4:24:13 PM Am. 688732 
4:24:17 PM Sen. Norman 
4:24:29 PM Sen. Alexander 
4:24:34 PM Am. 868778 
4:24:38 PM Sen. Altman 
4:24:39 PM Sen. Alexander 
4:24:44 PM Am. 967692 
4:24:51 PM Sen. Benacquisto 
4:24:56 PM Sen. Alexander 
4:24:59 PM Sen. Bogdanoff 
4:25:42 PM Sen. Alexander 
4:25:56 PM Am. 715646 
4:26:04 PM Sen. Bogdanoff 
4:26:34 PM Sen. Alexander 
4:27:02 PM S 1256 
4:27:40 PM Sen. Alexander 
4:28:03 PM Sen. Benacquisto 
4:28:07 PM Sen. Alexander 
4:28:09 PM Sen. Benacquisto 
4:28:18 PM Sen. Alexander 
4:28:22 PM Sen. Bogdanoff 
4:28:29 PM Sen. Alexander 
4:28:33 PM Sen. Thrasher 
4:28:40 PM Sen. Alexander 
4:29:06 PM Am. 616172 
4:29:22 PM Sen. Negron 
4:30:44 PM Sen. Alexander 



4:30:47 PM Am. 884922 
4:31:02 PM Sen. Negron 
4:31:36 PM Sen. Alexander 
4:31:45 PM Am. 930134 
4:31:54 PM Sen. Bennett 
4:32:01 PM Sen. Alexander 
4:32:31 PM Sen. Joyner 
4:32:35 PM Sen. Alexander 
4:32:39 PM Sen. Bennett 
4:32:50 PM Sen. Alexander 
4:32:54 PM Sen. Richter 
4:33:37 PM Sen. Alexander 
4:33:40 PM Sen. Negron 
4:34:02 PM Sen. Alexander 
4:34:05 PM Sen. Joyner 
4:34:19 PM Sen. Alexander 
4:34:29 PM Sen. Bennett 
4:35:09 PM Sen. Alexander 
4:35:20 PM Am. 588602 
4:35:29 PM Sen. Bennett 
4:35:37 PM Sen. Alexander 
4:35:44 PM Am. 283150 
4:35:46 PM Sen. Alexander 
4:35:54 PM Sen. Bennett 
4:36:03 PM Sen. Alexander 
4:36:14 PM Am. 588602 
4:36:17 PM Sen. Bennett 
4:37:05 PM Sen. Alexander 
4:37:20 PM Sen. Negron 
4:37:23 PM Sen. Alexander 
4:37:29 PM Sen. Bennett 
4:38:04 PM Sen. Alexander 
4:38:17 PM Am. 588602 
4:39:22 PM Sen. Alexander 
4:39:32 PM Am. 283150 
4:39:40 PM Sen. Bogdanoff 
4:39:58 PM Sen. Alexander 
4:40:06 PM Sen. Negron 
4:40:19 PM Sen. Alexander 
4:40:21 PM Sen. Rich 
4:40:27 PM Sen. Alexander 
4:40:28 PM Sen. Bogdanoff 
4:40:50 PM Sen. Alexander 
4:40:59 PM Sen. Margolis 
4:41:09 PM Sen. Alexander 
4:41:15 PM Sen. Bogdanoff 
4:41:45 PM Sen. Alexander 
4:41:57 PM Ramon Maury, CEO, Florida Society of Acupuncture and Oriental Medicine 
4:42:00 PM Sen. Alexander 
4:42:12 PM Sen. Negron 
4:42:23 PM Sen. Alexander 
4:42:26 PM Sen. Bogdanoff 
4:42:30 PM Sen. Alexander 
4:42:42 PM Am. 380020 
4:42:52 PM Sen. Bennett 
4:42:55 PM Sen. Alexander 
4:43:06 PM Am. 233818 
4:43:12 PM Sen. Margolis 
4:43:41 PM Sen. Alexander 
4:43:48 PM Sen. Negron 
4:43:58 PM Sen. Alexander 
4:44:07 PM Am. 737834 



4:44:14 PM Sen. Altman 
4:45:07 PM Sen. Alexander 
4:45:08 PM Sen. Negron 
4:45:15 PM Sen. Alexander 
4:45:19 PM Sen. Joyner 
4:45:34 PM Sen. Alexander 
4:45:49 PM Am. 616172 
4:45:56 PM Sen. Alexander 
4:46:25 PM Am. 380020 
4:46:31 PM Sen. Bennett 
4:46:54 PM Sen. Alexander 
4:47:05 PM Am. 616172 
4:47:11 PM Sen. Alexander 
4:47:40 PM Marc Cederberg, Attorney, representing self from Orlando, FL 
4:51:38 PM Sen. Alexander 
4:51:54 PM Jason Lamoureux, Attorney, Brandon, FL 
4:54:17 PM Sen. Alexander 
4:54:39 PM Rutledge Bradford, Attorney, Orlando, FL 
4:55:37 PM Sen. Alexander 
4:55:50 PM Alice Vickers, Attorney, Florida Cosumer Action Network 
4:57:31 PM Sen. Alexander 
4:57:36 PM Chris Nuland, Florida Chapter, American College of Physicians/American College of Surgeons 
4:58:09 PM Sen. Alexander 
4:58:13 PM Toni Large, FL College of Emergency Physicians & FL Orthopedic Society  (waives in support) 
4:58:20 PM Sen. Alexander 
4:58:38 PM Dr. Jeff Morrison, Chiropractor, Bradenton, FL 
4:59:58 PM Sen. Alexander 
5:00:12 PM Dr. Chip Smith, Chiropractor, Winter Haven, FL 
5:00:49 PM Sen. Alexander 
5:01:04 PM Ken Dougherty, D.C., Chiropractic Physician, New Smyrna Beach, FL 
5:02:02 PM Sen. Alexander 
5:02:03 PM Paul Lambert, Florida Chiropractic Association 
5:02:48 PM Sen. Alexander 
5:03:00 PM Sen. Rich 
5:04:08 PM Sen. Alexander 
5:04:11 PM Sen. Gaetz 
5:05:18 PM Sen. Alexander 
5:05:22 PM Sen. Sobel 
5:06:22 PM Sen. Alexander 
5:06:25 PM Sen. Joyner 
5:10:12 PM Sen. Alexander 
5:10:15 PM Sen. Siplin 
5:10:27 PM Sen. Alexander 
5:10:30 PM Sen. Montford 
5:11:27 PM Sen. Alexander 
5:11:35 PM Sen. Simmons 
5:14:57 PM Sen. Alexander 
5:14:58 PM Sen. Bennett 
5:16:24 PM Sen. Alexander 
5:16:26 PM Sen. Negron 
5:17:07 PM Sen. Alexander 
5:17:19 PM Sen. Negron 
5:17:26 PM Sen. Alexander 
5:17:32 PM Am. 675780 
5:17:36 PM Sen. Flores 
5:17:52 PM Sen. Alexander 
5:17:55 PM Sen. Negron 
5:17:57 PM Sen. Alexander 
5:18:07 PM  
5:18:10 PM Sen. Alexander 
5:18:13 PM Am. 253974 
5:18:18 PM Sen. Flores 



5:18:29 PM Sen. Alexander 
5:18:31 PM Sen. Negron 
5:18:33 PM Sen. Alexander 
5:18:39 PM Am. 878070 
5:18:42 PM Sen. Flores 
5:18:52 PM Sen. Alexander 
5:18:53 PM Sen. Negron 
5:18:54 PM Sen. Alexander 
5:19:00 PM Am. 671694 
5:19:09 PM Sen. Bennett 
5:19:25 PM Sen. Alexander 
5:19:27 PM Sen. Negron 
5:19:42 PM Sen. Alexander 
5:19:48 PM Sen. Bennett 
5:20:45 PM Sen. Alexander 
5:21:24 PM Am. 635522 
5:21:31 PM  
5:21:34 PM Sen. Montford 
5:21:48 PM Sen. Alexander 
5:22:52 PM Sen. Montford 
5:22:54 PM Sen. Joyner 
5:22:58 PM Sen. Alexander 
5:23:08 PM Sen. Richter 
5:24:07 PM Sen. Alexander 
5:24:13 PM Am. 635522 
5:24:17 PM Am. 394864 
5:24:33 PM Sen. Alexander 
5:25:13 PM Sen. Bennett 
5:26:00 PM Sen. Alexander 
5:26:01 PM Sen. Negron 
5:26:46 PM Sen. Alexander 
5:26:57 PM S 1860 
5:27:59 PM Sen. Alexander 
5:28:23 PM Sen. Sobel 
5:28:35 PM Sen. Alexander 
5:28:39 PM  


	Bill and Amendment List Report
	Expanded Agenda (Long)
	S0378
	BC Bill Analysis 3/2/2012
	813362
	0378__
	Appearance Cards
	Agenda Request

	S1470
	BC Bill Analysis 2/27/2012
	1470__
	Appearance Cards

	S1860
	BC Bill Analysis 3/2/2012
	635522
	394864
	344314
	611128
	811080
	402646
	310400
	101792
	616172
	884922
	930134
	588602
	283150
	380020
	734834
	233818
	671694
	835420
	675780
	465220
	731792
	626062
	253974
	878070
	1860c1
	Appearance Cards
	Agenda Request

	S1312
	BC Bill Analysis 3/2/2012
	590742
	174152
	383452
	1312__
	Appearance Cards
	Agenda Request

	S0402
	BC Bill Analysis 3/2/2012
	508608
	627262
	0402c1
	Appearance Cards
	Agenda Request
	Vote Disclosures

	S1606
	BC Bill Analysis 3/2/2012
	405394
	1606__
	Appearance Cards

	S1404
	BC Bill Analysis 3/2/2012
	685126
	1404c2
	Appearance Cards
	Agenda Request

	S1304
	BC Bill Analysis 3/5/2012
	708046
	500824
	114152
	832714
	665438
	290932
	1304c1
	Appearance Cards

	S1256
	BC Bill Analysis 3/5/2012
	727222
	274206
	430154
	504124
	189614
	663754
	337722
	968486
	460970
	688732
	868778
	967692
	593480
	715646
	1256c1

	S0202
	BC Bill Analysis 3/5/2012
	855154
	0202c2
	Appearance Cards
	Agenda Request

	S1382
	BC Bill Analysis 3/5/2012
	610732
	757156
	1382c1
	Appearance Cards
	Agenda Request

	S1782
	BC Bill Analysis 3/3/2012
	1782c1
	Appearance Cards
	Agenda Request

	S0256
	BC Bill Analysis 3/4/2012
	535120
	0256c1
	Appearance Cards
	Agenda Request

	S2094
	BC Bill Analysis 3/6/2012
	957254
	979666
	794782
	364270
	695254
	782228
	2094c2
	Appearance Cards
	Agenda Request

	Comment
	Tag Report




